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PREFACE.

The history of the aboriginal races of the American Continent is an

interesting study, not only to the people of this Union, but also to those

of other lands, who regard them as the congeners of the nomadic hordes,

which in times long past swarmed over the plains of now civilized

Europe. In many respects there is a very close resemblance between

the characters and final fate of all the primitive tribes and nations of

the world— their mode of government, habits, customs, &c., being

somewhat similar— and their recession before the onward march of

civilization, as well as their final absorption or disappearance, following

an inexorable natui-al law, which decrees the submission of the animal

to intellectual development. From the study of past events alon-e can

an opinion be formed of the causes which gave origin to them, and for

this reason should every American citizen, who desires to understand

the true history of his country, peruse with attention the records of the

former owners of that soil, which ere long will no more give sustenance

to any of their descendants.

No ordinary task is it for the faithful chronicler to trace the history

of a people who have no written annals, and no written language

;

whose only records axe of a pictographic character ; and whose traditions

are so vague and unconnected as to be veiy unreliable. Such are the

difficulties he has to encounter anterior to the discovery of America by

Columbus; and even subsequent to that period, owing to the unsettled

condition of the country until within the last half century, years of

research acd comparison are rendered necessary in order to reconcile

conflicting statements, and unravel the tangled web of confused narra-

tives. Believing, however, that the end to be attained,—that of giving

to the world a reliable history of the Indians of the North American

(3)
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Continent— was one which justified the author in making any sacrifice

of time and labor in its accomplishment, he, for many years, toiled

unremittingly to accomplish this purpose ; sparing neither trouble nor

expense in the collection of facts and their sectional arrangement.

Whether he has succeeded in accordance with his hopes he does not

pretend to say; leaving to the judgment of the intelligent reader the

decision of the question, after a thorough and attentive perusal of the

work.

The Indian has been traced through all his misfortunes, wanderings,

and forced transmigrations, to his present home on the western shores

of the Mississippi, where there is every prospect of his speedy absorp-

tion in the Anglo-Saxon current which is so steadily flowing toward the

setting sun ; and the last remnant of the race will soon in spirit, if not

in words, echo the language of a poetic writ-er, who thus portrays the

Bole survivor as apostrophizing the Deity

:

"Where is my home — my forest home? the proud land of my sires?

Where stands the wigwam of my pride? where gleam the council fires'!

Where are my fathers' hallowed graves? my friends so light and free?

Gone, gone, — forever from my view! Great Spirit! can it be?"
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—

Curious anecdote of him—His death, 512
Chap. III. Washington's embassy to the French
on the Ohio—Battle near Great Meadows, and
death of Jumonville—Chiefs met with by
Washington— Shingis— Monacatoocha—Half-

king—Juskakaka— White-thunder—Allitjuipa

—Capt. Jacobs—Hendrick—His history—Cu-
rious anecdote of Logan—Cresap's war—Bat-
tle of Point Pleasant—Logan's famous speech

—Cornstalk— His history—Red-hawk—Ellinip-

sico—The barbarous murder of these three

—

Melancholy death of Logan—Pontiac—A re-

nowned warrior—Colonel Roger's account of
liim—His policy—Fall of Michilimakinak—Me-
nehwehna—Siege of Detroit—Pontiac's strata-

gem to surprise it—Is discovered—Official ac-

count of the affair at Bloody Bridge—Pontiac

abandons the siege—Becomes the friend of the

English—Is assassinated, 530

Chap. IV. Capt. Pipe—Situation of affairs on
the frontiers at the period of the revolution

—

Sad condition of the Moravian Indians at this

period—Half-king engages to take them to Can-
ada—His speech to them—They remonstrate

—

Half-king Inclines not to molest them, but Capt.

Pipe's counsel prevails, and they are seized

—

Pipe's conduct thereupon—Missionaries taken

to Detroit and examined—Pipe goes to accuse

them—Changes his conduct towards them, and

they are acquitted—Remarkable deliverance

—

Captain White-eyes opposes the conduct of

Pipe—His speech to his people—Colonel Broad-

head's expedition—Brutal massacre of a chief

—

Gelelemend— Buokongahelas — Reproves the

murder of Major Trueman and others—In the

battle of Presq'Isle—His death—His intre-

pidity—Further particulars of Captain Pipe

—

His famous speech—Expedition and defeat of

Colonel Crawford, who is burnt at the stake

—

Chiktommo— King-crane— Little-turtle— De-
feats General St. Clair's army—Incidents in that

affair—Little-turtle's opinion ofGeneral Wayne
—Visits Philadelphia—His interview with C.

F. Volney—Anecdotes—Blue-jacket—Defeated

by Gen. Wayne in the battle of Presq'Isle,.. 554

Chap. V. Life of Thayandaneca, called by the

whites Brant—His education—Visits England

—Commissioned there—His sister a companion

to Sir Wm. Johnson—His letter to the Oneidas

—Affair with Herkimer at Unadilla—Cuts off

Herkimer and 20(1 men at Oriskana—Anecdote

of Herkimer-Burns Sprinefield-Horrid affair

of Wyoming—Incidents-Destroys Cherry Val-

ley—Barbarities of the tories—Sullivan's dep-

reiintions among the Five Nations—Brant de-

feated by the Americans at Newtown—De-

struction of Minisiiik, and slaughter of 100 [)eo-

ple—Destruction of Harpersfiold—Brant's letter

to M'Causland—Marriage of his daughter—Her

;^:(band killc<l—Brant becomes the friend of

peace—Visits Philadelphia—His marriage

—

Lands granted him by the king— His death—His
son John—Traits of character—One of his sons

killed ky hirri, in an attempt to kill his father-

Account of Brant's arrival in England—Soiuo
account of his children, 5T7

Chap. VI. Facts in the history of the Seneca

nation—SagoyowBtha, or Red-jacket—His fa-

mous speech to a missionary—His interview
with Colonel Snelling—British invade his coun
try—Resolves to repel them—His speech upon
the event—Governor Clinton's account of him
—Witchcraft affair—Complains of encroacii-

ments—One of his people put to death for being
a witch—He defends the executioner—His in-

terview with Lafayette—Council at Canandai-
gua—Farmers-brother—Red-jacket visits Phil-

adelphia—His speech to the governor of Penn-
sylvania—Speech of Agwelondongwas, or Good-
peter—Narrative of his capture during the rev-

olutionary war—Farmers-brother, or Honaya-
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Visits France—Account of his death—Memo-
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the secretary of war—Notice of several other
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town—Kiandogewa, or Big-tree—Gyantwaia,
or Corn-plant—Address of the three latter to

President Washington—Grant of land to Big-

tree—His visit to Philadelphia, and death

—

Further account of Corn-plant—His own ac-

count of himself—Interesting events in his life

—His sons, 593

Chap. VII. Tecumseh—His great exertions to

prevent the whites from overrunning his coun-
try—His expedition on Hacker's Creek—Co-
operation of his brother, the Prophet—Rise of

the difficulties between Tecumseh and Gover-

nor Harrison—Speech of the former in a coun-

cil at Vincennes—Fearful occurrence in that

council—Winnemak—Tecumseh visited by
Governor Harrison at his camp—Determination
of war the result of the interview on both sides

—Characteristic anecdote of the chief—Deter-
mines, in the event of war, to prevent barbar-

ities—Battle of Tippecanoe—Battle of the

Thames, and death of Tecumseh—Description

of his person—Important events in bis life

—

Pukeesheno, father of Tecumseh—His death

—

Battle of Magaugo—Specimen of the Shawanee
language—Particular account of Ellskwatawa,
or the Prophet—Account of Kound-head—Cap-
ture and massacre of General Winchester's
army at the River Raisin—Myeerali, or the

Crane, commonly called Walk-in-the-Water

—

Black-bird — VVawnahton — Black-thunder —
Ongpatonga, 616

Chap. VIII. Black-hawk's war—Historical ac-

count of the tribes engaged in it—Treaty be-

tween them—Murders among the Sioux and
Chippewas— Red-bird—Black-hawk— Indians

insulted—Their country sold without their coti-

sent—This occasions the war, 637

Chap. IX. March of Major Stillnian—Kills

some of Black-hawk's men—Stillman's defeat

—Menomonies join the whites—Settlement de-

stroyed—Captivity of two young women—Con-
gress orders out troops—Indians cut off by Gen-
eral Dodge—Snider's defeat—Stevenson's de-

feat—Defeat of Major Dement—Battle of the

Ouisconsin—Battle of the 2d of August, and end
of the war, 644

Chap. X. History of the chiefs under Black-

hawk—Noapopc—Surrender of Black-hawk

—

Wahokicskie— Indians at Washington, 654

Chap. XL Observations on the causes of the

war—Indians visit the Atlantic States, 661

Chap. XII. From the time Black-hawk was set

at liberty in his own country, in IS33, to his

death, on October 3d, 1838, with other impor-
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west, 672
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AN

ALPHABETICAL ENUMERATION

OF

THE INDIAN TRIBES AND NATIONS

An attempt is made, in the following Table, to locate the various bands of

Aborigines, ancient and modern, and to convey the best information respect-

ing their numbers our multifarious sources will warrant. Modern writers

have been, for several years, endeavoring to divide North America into cer-

tain districts, each of which should include all the Indians speaking the same,

or dialects of the same, language ; but whoever has paid any attention to thf

subject, must undoubtedly have been convinced that it can never be done

with any degree of accuracy. This has been undertaken in reference to an

approximatioji of the great question of the origin of this people, from a com-
parison of the various languages used among them. An unwritten language

is easily varied, and there can be no barrier to innovation. A continual in-

termixing of tribes has gone on from the period of their origin to the present

time, judging from what we have daily seen ; and when any two tribes unite,

speaking different languages, or dialects of the same, a new dialect is pro-

duced by such amalgamation. Hence the accumulation of vocabularies

would be like the pursuit of an infinite series in mathematics ; with this

difference, however— in the one we recede from the object in pursuit, while

in the other we approach it. But I would not be understood to speak dispar-

agingly of this attempt at classification ; for, if it be unimportant in the main
design, it will be of considerable service to the student in Indian history on

other accounts. Thus, the Uchees are said to speak a primitive language,

and they were districted in a small territory south of the Cherokees ; but.

some 200 years ago,— if they then existed as a tribe, and their tradition be

true,— they were bounded on the north by one of the great lakes. And
they are said to be descended from the Shawanees by some of themselvea.

We know an important community of them is still in existence in Florida.

Have they created a new language in the course of their wanderings? or

have those from whom they separated done so ? Such are the difficulties we
meet with at every step of a classification. But a dissertation upon these

matters cannot now be attempted.

In the following analysis, the names of the tribes have been generally given

in the singular number, for the sake of brevity ; and the word Indians, after

such names, is omitted from the same cause. Few abbreviations have been

used :— W. R., west of the Rocky Mountains ; m., miles ; r., river ; 1., lake

;

and perhaps a few others. In some instances, reference is made to the body
of the work, Avhere a more extended account of a tribe is to be found. Such
references are to the Book and Page, the same as in the Index.

Abekas, probably Muskogees, under the French at Tombeckbee in 1750.

Abenakies, over Maine till 1754, then went to Canada ; 200 in 1689 ; 150 in 1780.

Absoroka, (Minetare,) S. branch Yellowstone ; lat. 46°, Ion. 105° ; 45,000 in 1834.

AccOKESAW, W. side Colorado, about 200 m. S. W. Nacogdoches, in 1805.

ACOMAK, one of the six tribes in Virginia when settled by the English in 1607.

Abaize, 4 m. from Nachitoches, on Lake Macdon ; 40 men in 1805.

Adisondaks, (Algonkin,) along the N. shore St. Lawrence ; 100 in 1786.
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Affagoula, small clan in 1783, on Mississippi r., 8 m. above Point Coup*-.
Agawom, (Wampanoags,) at Sandwich, Mass. ; others at Ipswich, in 1620, &c.
Ahwahaway, (Minetare,) S. W. Missouri 1820, 3 m. above Mandans ; 200 in lO'^''-.

Ajoues, S. of the Missouri, and N. of the Padoucas ; 1,100 in 1700.

Alansar, (Fall,) head branches S. fork Saskashawan ; 2,500 in 1804.

ALGONKIN, over Canada ; from low down the St. Lawrence to Lake of the Woods.
Aliatan, three tribes in 1805 among the Rocky Mountains, on heads Platte.
Aliche, near Nacogdoches in 1805, then nearly extinct; spoke Caddo.
Allakaweah, (Paunch,) both sides Yellowstone, heads Big Horn r. ; 2,300 in 1805.

Allibama, (Creeks,) formerly on that r., but removed to Red River in 1764.

Amalistes, (Algonkins,) once on St. Lawrence; 500 in 1760.

Anasaguntakook, (Abenaki,) on sources Androscoggin, in Maine, till 1750.
And.vstes, once on S. shore Lake Erie, S. W. Senecas, who destroyed them in 1672.
Apaches, (Lapane,; between Rio del Norte and sources of Xuaces r. ; 3,500 in 1817
Apalachicola, once on that r. in W. Florida ; removed to Red River in 1764.
Appalousa, aboriginal in the country of their name ; but 40 men in 1805.

Aquanuschioni, the name by which the Iroquois knew themselves.
Arapahas, S. side main Canada River ; 4,000 in 1836, on Kanzas River.
ARMOUCHiauois, or Marachite, (Abenaki,) on River St. John, New Brunswick.
Arrenamuse, on St. Antonio River, near its mouth, in Texas ; 120 in 1818.

AssixXABOiN, (Sioux,) between Assinn. and Missouri r. ; 1,000 on Ottawa r. in 1836.

Atexas, in a village -with the Faculli in 1836, west of the Rocky Mountains.
Athapascow, about the shores of the great lake of their name.
Atxas, (Ojibewas,) next S. of the Athapascow, about lat. 57° N., in 1790.

Attacapas, in a district of their name in Louisiana ; but 50 men in 1805.

Attapulgas, (Seminoles,) on Little r., a branch of Oloklikana, 1820, and 220 souls.

Attikamigues, in N. of Canada, destroyed by pestilence in 1670.

Aucosisco, (Abenaki,) between the Saco and Androscoggin River in 1630, &c.
Aughquaga. on E. branch Susquehannah River; 150 in 1768; since extinct.

Ayauais, 40 leagues up the Des Moines, S. E. side ; 800 in 1805.

.\yutans, 8,000 in 1820, S. W. the Missouri, near the Rocky Mountain^.

Bayagoula, W. bank Mississippi, opposite the Colipasa ; important in 1699

Bedies, on Trinity River, La., about 60 m. S. of Nacogdoches ; 100 in 180-5.

Big-devils, (Yonktons,) 2,500 in 1836; about the heads of Red River.

BiLoxi, at Biloxi, Gulf Mex., 1699 ; a few on Red r., 1804, where they had removed.
Blackfeet, sources Missouri ; 30,000 in 1834 ; nearly destroyed by small-pox, 1838.

Blanche, (Bearded, or White,) upper S. branches of the Missouri in 1820.

Blue-mud, W., and in the vicinity of the Rocky Mountains in 1820.

Brotherton, near Oneida Lake ; composed of various tribes ; 350 in 1836.

Caddo, on Red River in 1717, powerful ; on Sodo Bay in 1800 ; in 1804, 100 men.
C.vdodache, (Nacogdochet,) on Angelina r., 100 m. above the Nechez ; 60 in 1820.

C.viw.^s, or Kaiwa, on main Canada River, and S. of it in 1830.

Calasthocle, N. Columbia, on the Pacific, next N. the Chillates ; 200 in 1320.

Callimix, coast of the Pacific, 40 m. N. Columbia River; 1,200 in 1820.

C.\M.\NCHES, (Shoshone,) warlike and numerous; in interior of Texas.
Caxarsee, on Long Island, N. Y., in 1610, from tlie W. end to Jamaica.
C.\.NCES, (Kansas,) 1805, from Bay of St. Bernard, over Grand r., toward Vera Cruz.

C.\.NIBAS, (Abenaki,) numerous iii 1607, and after ; on both sides Kennebeck River.

C.YRANKOUA, ou pcuinsula of Bay of St. Bernard, Louisiana ; 1,500 in 1805.

CvREE, on the coast between the Nuaces and Rio del Norte ; 2,600 in 1817.

Carriers, (Nateotetains,) a name given the natives of N. Caledonia by traders.

Castahana, between sources Padouca fork and Yellowstone ; 5,000 in 1805.

Cataka, between N. and S. forks of Chien River ; about 3,000 in 1804.

Catawba, till late, on their river in S. Carolina ; 1,500 in 1743, and 450 in 1764.

Cathlacumups, on main shore Columbia River, S. W. Wapjiatoo i. ; 450 in 1820.

Cathlakahikit, at the rapids of the Columbia, 160 m. up ; 900 in 1820.

Cathlakamaps, 80 m. up Columbia River ; about 700 in 1820.

Cathlamat, on the Pacific, 30 m. S. mouth of Columbia River ; 600 in 1820.

Cathlanamenamen, on an island in mouth of Wallaumut River ; 400 in 1820.

Cathlanauuiah, (Wappatoo,) S. W. side Wappatoo Island; 400 in 1820.

Cathlapootle, on Columbia River, opposite the Cathlakamaps ; 1,100 in 1820.

Cathlapooya, 500 in 1820, on the Wallaumut River, 60 m. from its mouth.
Cathlasko, 900 in 1820, ou Columbia River, opposite the Cliippauchikchiks.

Cathlatula, 900 in 1820, on Columbia River, opposite the Cathlakahikits.

Cathlath, 500 in 1820, on the Wallaumut River, 60 ni. from its niouth.

Cattanahaw, between the Saskashawan and Missouri Rivers, in IS'J.5.

Caughnewaoa, places where Christians lived were so called.

CiiACTOO, on Red River; in 1805, but 100; indigenous; always lived there.

Chaouanons, the French so called the Shawancse ; (Chowuns r)

Cheeoke, (Cherokees,) 50 to 80 m. S. of them ; culled also Mid. Settlemeat, 1780.

Chehavv.s, small tribe on Flint River, destroyed by Georgia militia in 1817.

Chi:peyax, claim from lat. 60" to 65°, Ion. 100° to 110"^ W. ; 7,500 in 1812.

Cherokee, in Georgia, S. Carolina, &c., till 1836; then forced beyond the MwsiM.
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dHESKiTALOWA, (Seminoles,) 580 in 1820, W. side Chattahoochee.
Chien, (Dog,) near the sources Chien River ; 300 in 1805 ; 200 in 1820.

Chiheeleesh, 40 m. N. of Columbia River ; 1,400 in 1820.

Chickasaw, between heads of Mobile River in 1780; once 10,000; now in Ark.»''<"*8,

Chippanchikchiks, 60 in 1820, N. side Columbia River, 220 m. from its mouth.
Chikahomini, on Matapony River, Va., in 1661 ; but 3 or 4 in 1790 ; now extinct.

Chiilamaugas, on Tennessee River, 90 m. below the Cherokees, in 1790.

Chillates, 150 in 1820, on the Pacific, N. Columbia River, beyond the Quieetsos.

Chillukitteutjau, on the Columbia, next below the Narrows ; 1,400 in 1820.

Chiltz, N. of Columbia River, on the Pacific, next N. of the Killaxthocles.

Chimnahpum, on Lewis River, N. W. side of the Columbia ; 1,800 in 1820.

Chinnook, on N. side Columbia River ; in 1820, about 400 in 28 lodges.

Chippewas, about Lake Superior, and other vast regions of the.N., very numerous.
Chitimicha, on W. bank Miss. River in 1722; once powerful, then slaves.

Choktaw, S. of the Creeks ; 15,000 in 1812 ; in 1848 in Arkansas.
Chopunnish, on Kooskooskee River; 4,300 in 1806, in 73 lodges.

Chowanok, (Shawanese ?) in N. Carolina, on Bejinet's Creek, in 1708; 5,000 in 1630.

Chowans, E. of theTuscaroras in N. Carolina ; 60 join the Tuscaroras in 1720.

Cheistenaux, only another spelling of Knistenaux, which see.

ClahCLELLAH, 700 in 1820, on the Columbia River, below the rapids.

Clakstar, W. R., on a river flowing into the Columbia at Wappatoo Island.

Clamoctomich, on the Pacific, next N. of the Chiltz ; 260 in 1820.

Clanimatas, on the S. W. side of Wappatoo Island ; 200 in 1820, W. R.
Clannarminimuns, S. W. side of Wappatoo Island; 280 in 1820, W. E.
Clatsops, about 2 m. N. of the mouth of Columbia River; 1,300 in 1820.

Clakkames, on a river of their name flowing into the Wallaumut ; 1,800 in 1820.

Cneis, on a river flowing into Sabine Lake, 1690 ; the Coenis of Hennepin, probably
Cohakies, nearly destroyed in Pontiak's time ; in 1800, a few near Lake Winnebago.
CoLAPissAS, on E. bank Mississippi in 1720, opposite head of Lake Pontchartrain.
CoNCHATTAS came to Appalousas in 1794, from E. the Mississ. ; in 1801, on Sabine.
CoNGAREES, a Small tribe on Congaree River, S. Carolina, in 1701 ; long since gone.
CoNOTS. perhaps Kanhawas, being once on that river ; (Canais, and variations.)

CooKKOO-oosE, 1,500 in 1806, coast of Pacific, S. of Columbia r., and S. of Killawats,
CoopSPELLAR, on a river falling into the Columbia, N. of Clark's ; 1,600 in 1806
CoosADAS, (Creeks,) once resided near the River Tallapoosie.
Copper, so called from their copper ornaments, on Coppermine River, in the north.

CoRBBS, (Tuscaroras,) on Neus River, N. Carolina, in 1700, and subsequently.
CoRONKAWA, on St. Jacintho River, between Trinity and Brazos ; 350 in 1820.

CowLiTSiCK, on Columbia River, 62 m. from its mouth, in 3 villages ; 2,400 in 1820.

Creeks, (Muscogees,) Savannah r. to St. Augustine, thence to Flint r., 1730.

Crees, (Lynx, or Cat,) another name of the Knistenaux, or a part of them.
Crows, (Absorokas,) S. branches of the Yellowstone River ; 45,000 in 1834.

CuTSAHNiM, on both sides Columbia River, above the Sokulks ; 1,200 in 1820.

Dahcota, or DocoTA, the name by which the Sioux know themselves.
Delaware, (Lenna-leuape,) those once on Delaware River and Bay ; 500 in 1750.

Dinondadies, (Hurons,) same called by the French Tionontaties.
DoEGS, small tribe on the Maryland side Potomac River, in 1675.

DoGRiBS, (Blackfeet,) but speak a different language.
Dogs, the Chiens of the French. See Chien.
DoTAME, 120 in 1805 ; about the heads of Chien River, in the open country.

Eamuses. See Emusas.
EcHEMiNS, (Canoe-nien,) on R. St. Johns; include Passamaquoddie.? and St. Johns.
Edistoes, in S. Carolina in 1670 ; a place still bears their name there.

Emusas, (Seminoles,) W. side Chattahoochee, 2 m. above the Wekisas ; 20 in 1820.

Eneshures, at the great Narrows of the Columbia; 1,200 in 1820, in 41 lodges.
Eries, along E. side of Lake Erie, destroyed by the Iroquois about 1654.

EsAWS, on River Pedee, S. Carolina, in 1701 ; then powerful ; Catawhas, probably.
EsKELOOTS, about 1,000 in 1820, in 21 lodges, or clans, on the Columbia.
ESGUIMAUX, all along the northern coasts of the frozen ocean, N. of 60° N. lat.

Etohussewakkes, (Semin.,) on Chattahoochee, 3 m. above Ft. Gaines ; 100 in 1820.

Factjllies, 100 in 1820; on Stuart Lake, W. Rocky Mount. : lat. 54=, Ion. 125o W.
Fall, so called from their residence at the falls of the Kooskooskee See Alan'.sabs.
Five Nations, Mohawks, Senecas, Cayugas, Onondagas, and Oneidas ; which see.

Flat-Heads, (Tutseewas,) on a large river W. R. ; on S. fork Columbia r.

FoLLES AvoiNES, the French so called the Menominies.
Fond du Lac, roam from Snake River to the Sandy Lakes.
FowL-TOWNS, (Seminoles,) 12 m. E. Fort Scott; about 300 in 1820.

Foxes, (Ottagamies,) called Renards by the French ; dispossessed by B. Hawk's wat

Ganawese, on the heads of Potomac River ; same as Kanhaways, probably.
Gathead, Martha's Vineyard ; 200 in 1800 ; in 1820, 340.

Grand River, on Grand r., N. side L. Ontario ; Mohawks, Senecas, and oth. ; 2,000.
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Gko«- Ventres, W. Mississippi, on Maria River, in 180G ; in 1834, 3,000.

Hare-foot, ue.vt S. of the Esquimau.x, and in perpetual war with them.
Hallibees, a tribe of Creeks, destroyed in 1813.

Hannakallal, 600 in 1820, on Pacific, S. Columbia, next beyond the Luckkarsa
Has.Sanamesits, a tribe of Nipmuks, embraced Christianity in 1660.

HiHiGHENiMMO, 1,300 in 1820, from mouth of Lastaw River, up it to the forks.

Hellwits, 100 m. along the Columbia, from the falls upward, on the N. side.

Heruing Pond, a remnant of Wampanoags, in Sandwich, Mass. ; about 40.

Hietans, (Carnanches,) erratic bands ; from Trinity to Brazos, and Red River.
HiNi, (Cadodache,) 200 in 1820, on Angelina r., between Red r. and Rio del Norte.
HiTCHiTTEEs, once on Chattahoochee r. ; 600 now in Arkansas ; speak Muskogee.
H0HILP0.S, (Tushepahas,) 300 in 1820, above great falls on Clark's River.
Humas, (Oumas,) ' Red nation," in Ixsussees Parish, La., in 1805, below Manchak.
HuRONS, (Wyandots, Quatoghies,) adjacent, and N. gt. lakes; siibd. by Iroq., 1650

Illinois, "the lake of men," both sides Illinois r. ; 12,000 in 1670; 60 towns in 170C
Inies, or Tachies, [Texas ?] branch Sabine ; 80 men in 1806; speak Caddo.
Ioways, on loway River before Black Hawk's war ; 1,100 beyond the Mississippi.
iRoauoiS, 1606, on St. Lawrencfi, below Quebec; 1687, both'sides Ohio, to Miss.
ISATi.s, sometimes a name of tl'e Sioux before 1755.

Ithkyemamits, coo in 1820, on N. side Columbia, near the Cathlaskos.

Jelan, one of the three tribes of Carnanches, on sources Brazos, Del Norte, &c.

Kadapav?, a tribe in N. Carolina in 1707.
Kahunkles, 400 in 1820, W. Rocky Mountains ; abode unknown.
Kaloosas, a tribe found early in Florida, long since extinct.
Kanenavish, on the Padoucas' fork of the Platte ; 400 in 1805.

Kanhawas, Ganawese or Canhaways ; on the River Kanhawa, formerly.
Kansas, on the Arkansas River; about 1,000 in 1836 ; in 1820, 1,8.50.

Kask.\skia.s, (Illin.) on a river of same name flowing into the Mississ. ; 2-50 in 1797.
K.4.SKAYAS, between sources of the Platte and Rocky Mountains ; 3,000 in 1836.
KATTEK..V, (Padoucas,) not located by travellers. See Padoucas.
Keekatsa, (Crows, J both sides Yellowstone, above mouth Big Horn r. ; 3,500 in 1805.
Keyche, E. branch Trinity River in 1806; once on the Sabine; 260 in 1820.

KlAWAS, on Padouca River, beyond the Kites ; 1,000 in 1806.

Kigene, on the shore of Pacific Ocean in 1821, under the chief Skittcgates.
KiK.\.P00, formerly in Illinois ; now about 300, chiefly beyond the Mississippi.
KiLLAMUK, a branch of the Clatsops, on the coast of the Pacific Ocean ; about 1,000
KiLLAW.VT, in a large town on the coast of the Pacific, E. of the Luktons.
Killaxthocles, 100 in 1820, at the mouth of Columbia River, on N. side.

KiMOENi.M?, a band of the Chopunnish, on Lewis's River; 800 in 1820, in 33 clans.
KiNAi, about Cook's Inlet, on the coast of the Pacific Ocean.
Kites, (Staetans,) between sources Platte and Rocky Mountains; about 500 in 1820.
KiSKAKONs inhabited Michilimakinak in 1680; a Huron tribe.

Knistenaux, on Assinnaboin River; 5,000 in 1812; numerous; women comely.
KoN.^GENis, Esquimaux, inhabiting Kadjak Island, lat. 58°, Ion. 1520 AV.
KoOK-KOO-ooSE, on the coast of the Pacific, S. of the Killawats ; 1,500 in 1835.
JvusKARAWAOKS, one of six tribes on E. shore of Cacsupeak in 1607

;
(Tuscaroras ?">

Lahanna, 2,000 in 1820, both sides Cohuabia, above the mouth of Clark's River.
Lapanne. See Apaches.
Lartielo, 600 in 1820, at the falls of Lastaw River, below Wayton Lake.
Leaf, (Sioux,) 600 in 1820, on the Missouri, above Prairie du Chieu.
Lrech River, about .3.50 in 1820, near Sandy Lake, lat. 46° 9' N.
Lenna Lenape, once from Hudson to Delaware River ; now scattered in the West
LiPANis, 800 in 1816, from Rio Grande to the interior of Texas ; light hair.

LoucHEfx, next N. of the Esquimaux, or S. of lat. 67° 1-5' N.
LiJKAWis, 81)0 in 1820, W. of the Rocky Mounlains; abode unknown.
LuKKARso, 1.200 in 1820, coast of Pacific, S. of Columbia r., beyond the Shallalah.
Luktons, 20 in 1820, W. of the Rocky Mountains ; abode unknown.

Machapunoas, in N. Carolina in 1700; i)ractised circumcision.
Mandans, l,2i30 in 1805, 1200 m. fm. mouth of Misso. ; 1838, reduced to 21 by sm. pox
Manooags, or Tuteloks, (Iroquois,) Nottoway River, formerly ; now extinct.
Manhattans, (Mohicans,) once on the islaud'whcre New York city now stands.
Mannaiioaks, once on the upper waters of the Rappahannock r. ; extinct long ago
Marachites, ( Abenakies,) on the St. .John's ; a remnant remains.
Marsapeagues, once on Long Island, S. side of Oyster Bay ; extinct.
Marshpees, (Wampanoags,) 315 in 1832; Barnst.alile Co., Mass.; mixed with blacks.
Mascoutins, or Fire Ind., bctw. Mississ. and L. Michigan, 1665; (Sacs and Foxes?)
Massachusetts, the state perpetuates their name.
Massawomes, (Iroquois,) once spread over Kentucky.
Mathi.anobs, .500 in 1820, on an island in the mouth of Wallaumut River, W. R.
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Mayes, 600 iu 1805, St. Gabriel Creek, mouth of Guadaloupe River, Louisiaaa.
Mexominies, (Algonkins,) once on Illinois r. ; now 300 W. Mississippi.
Messassagnes, 2,000 in 1764, N. of, and adjacent to, L. Huron and Superior.
MiAMiS, (Algonkins,) once on the r. of their name ; now 1,500, beyond the Mississ.
MiKASAUKiES, (Seminoles,) about 1,000 in 1821 ; very warlike.
MiKMAKS, (Algonkins,) 3,000 in 1760, in Nova Scotia; the Suriquois of the French.
MiKSUKSEALTON, (Tushepaha,) 300 in 1820, Clark's River, above great falls, W. tt.

MiNETARES, 2,500 in 1805, 5 m. above the Mandans, on both sides Knife River.
MiNDAWARCAETON, in 1805, on both sides Mississippi, from St. Peter's upward.
MiNGOES, once such of the Iroquois were so called as resided upon the Scioto River.
MiNSi, Wolf tribe of the Lenna Lenape, once over New Jersey and part of Penn.
MiSSOURiES, once on that part of the River just below Grand r., in 1820.
MiTCHiGAMiES, One of the five tribes of the Illinois ; location uncertain.
Mohawks, head of Five Nations ; formerly on Mohawk r. ; a few now in Canada.
MoHEGANS, or MoHEAKUNNUKS, in 1610, Hudson r. from Esopus to Albany.
MONACANS, (Tuscaroras,) once near where Richmond, Virginia, now is.

MoNGOuiATCHES, On the W. side of the Mississippi. See Bayagoulas.
MONTAGNES, (Algonkins,) N. side St. Law., betw. Saguenayand Tadousac, in 1609.
MoNTAUKS, on E. end of Long Island, formerly ; head of 13 tribes of that island.
MORATOKS, 80 iu 1607 ; 40 in 1669, in Lancaster and Richmond counties, Virginia.
MosQUiTOS, once a numerous race on the E. side of the Isthmus of Darien.
MuLTNOMAHS. (Wappatoo,) 800 in 1820, mouth of Multnomah River, W. R.
MuNSEYS, (Delawares,) in 1780, N. branch Susquehannah r. ; to the Wabash in 1808.
MusKOGEES, 17,000 in 1775, on Alabama and Apalachicola Rivers. See B. iv.

N.^BEDACHES, (Caddo,) on branch Sabine, 15 m. above the Inies ; 400 in 1805.
N.vBiJOS, between N. Mexico and the Pacific ; live in stone houses, and manufacture.
Nandakoes, 120 in 1805, on Sabine, 60 m. W. of the Yattassees ; (Caddo.)
Naxtikokes, 1711, on Nantikoke River; 1755, at Wyoming; same year went west.
Narcotah, the name by which the Sioux know themselves.
Narragansets, S. side of the bay which perpetuates their name ; nearly extinct.
Nashuays, (Nipmuks,) on that river from its mouth, in Massachusetts.
Natchez, at Natchez ; discovered, 1701 ; chiefly destroyed by French, 1720.

Natchitoches, once at that place ; 100 in 1804 ; now upon Red River.
Nateotetains, 200 in 1820, W. R., on a river of their name, W. of the Facullies.
Natiks, (Nipmuks,) in Massachusetts, in a town now called after them.
Nechacoke, (Wappatoo,) 100 in 1820, S. side Columbia, near Quicksand r., W. R.
Neekeetoo, 700 in 1820, on the Pacific, S. of the Columbia, beyond the Youicone.
Nemaluuinner, (Wappatoo,) 200 in 1820, N. side Wallaumut River, 3 m. up.
Niaxtiks, a tribe of the Narragansets, and in alliance with them, p. 131.

NiCARiAGAS, once about Michilimakinak
;
joined Iroquois in 1723, as seventh nation

NiPissiNS, (original Algonkins,) 400 in 1764, near the source of Ottoway River.
Nipmuks, eastern interior of Mass.; 1,500 in 1775 ; extinct. See p. 82, "104, 164, 27&.

NoRRiDGEWOKS, (Abenakies,) on Penobscot River. See Book iii. 303, 311.
Nottoways, on Nottoway River, in A'irginia ; but 2 of clear blood in 1817.
Ny'acks, (Mohicans,) or Manhattans, once about the Narrows, in New York.

Oakmulges, (Muskogees,) to the E. of Flint River ; about 200 in 1834.

OCAMECHES, in Virginia in 1607 ; had before been powerful ; then reduced,
Ochees. See Uchees. — Perhaps Ochesos ; 230 in Florida in 1826, at Ochee Bluff.

OcoNAS, (Creeks.) See Book iv. 369.

Ojib-nvas, (Chippeways,) 30,000 in 1836, about the great lakes, and N. of them.
Okatiokinans, (Seminoles,) 580 in 1820, near Fort Gaines, E. side Mississippi.
Osiahas, 2,200 in 1820, on Elkhorn River, 80 m. from Council Bluffs.

Oneidas, one of the Five Nations ; chief seat near Oneida Lake, New York.
Oxondagas, one of the Five Nations ; formerly in New York ; 300 in 1840.

OoTLASHOOTS, (Tushepalias,) 400 in 1820, on Clark's River, W. Rocky Mountains.
OsAGES, 4,000 in 1830, about Arkansas and Osage Rivers ; many tribes.

Otagamies, (Winnebagoes,) 300 in 1780, betw. Lake of the Woods and the Missis*.
Otoes, 1,500 in 1820; in 1805, 500; 15 leagues up the River Platte, on S. side.

Ottawas, 1670, removed from L. Superior to Michilimakinak ; 2,800 in 1820.

Ouiatanons, or Waas, (Kikapoos,) mouth of Eel r.,Ind., 1791, in a village 3 m. long
OuMAS, E. bank Mississippi in 1722, in 2 villages, quarter of a mile from the river.

OWASSISSAS, (Seminoles,) 100 in 1820, on E. waters of St. Mark's River.

OzAS, 2,000 in 1750 ; on Ozaw River in 1780, which flows into the Mississippi.

OziMiES, one of the six tribes on E. shore of Maryland and Virginia in 1607-

Pacanas, on Quelquechose River, La. ; 30 men in 1805 ; 40 m. S. W. Natchitoches.
Padoucas, 2,000 warriors in 1724, on the Kansas ; dispersed before 1805.

Padowagas, by some the Senecas were so called ; uncertain.

Pailsh, 200 in"1820, on coast of the Pacific, N. Columbia r., beyond the Potooshe.
Palaches, a tribe found early in Florida, but long since extinct.

Pamlico, but 15 in 1708, about Pamlico Sound, in N. Carolina ; extinct.

Pancas, once on Red River, of Winnipec 1. ; afterwards joined the Omahas.
Panis, (Tonicas,) 49 villages in 1750, S. br. Missouri ; 70 villages on Red r., 1755.

2
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Fanneh. S( e Allakawe.vh, 2,300 in 1805, on heads B.g Horn River.

Pascataways, once a considerable tribe on the Maryland side Potomac River.

Pascagoulas, 25 men in 1805, on Red r., 60 m. below Natchitoches ; from Florida.

Passamaquoddie, on Schoodak r.. Me., in Perry Pleasant Point, a small number.
Paunee, 10,000 in 1820, on the Platte and Kansas ; Republicans, Loupes, and Picts.

Pawistucienemuk, 500 in 1820 ; small, brave tribe, in the prairies of Missouri.

P.\"WTUCKETS, (Nipmuks,) on Merrimac River, where Chelmsford now is ; extinct.

Pegans. (Nipmuks,) 10 in 1793, in Dudley, Mass., on a reservation of 200 acres.

Pelloatpallah, (Chopunnish,) 1,600 in 1820, on Kooskooskee r., above forks, W. R
Penobscots, (Abenakies,) 330, on an island in Penobscot r., 12 m. above Bangor.

Pennakook.8, (Nipmuks,) along Merrimac r., where is now Concord, N. H., &c.

Peorias, 97 in 1820, on Current River ; one of the five tribes of the Illinois.

Pequakbts, (Abenakies',) on sources Saco River ; destroyed by English in 1725.

Pequots, about the mouth of Connecticut River ; subdued in 1637.

Phillimees, (Seminoles,) on or near the Suane River, Florida, in 1817.

PiANKASHAWS, 3,000 once, on the Wabash ; in 1780, but 950 ; since driven west.

PiANKATANK, a tribe in Virginia when first settled ; unlocated.

PiNESHOw, (Sioux,) 150 in 1820, on the St. Peter's, 15 m. from its mouth.
PiSHQUiTPAH, 2,600 in 1815, N. side Columbia River, at Muscleshell Rapids, W. R.

PoTOASH, 200 in 1820, coast Pacific, N. mouth Columbia, beyond Clamoctomichs.
PoTTOWATTOMiE, 1671, on Noquet i., L. Michigan ; 1681, at Chicago.

PowHATANS, 32 tribes spread over Virginia when first discovered by the English.

PuANS, the Winnebagoes were so called by the French at one period.

QuABAOGS, (Nipmuks,) at a place of the same name, now Brookfield, Mass.
QuAPAW, 700 in 1820, on Arkansas r., opp. Little Rock ; reduced by sm. pox in 1720

QuATHLAHPOHTLES, on S. VV. side Columbia, above mouth Tahwahnahiook River.

QuATOGHlE, (Wyandots,) once S. side L. Michigan ; sold their lands to Eng. in 1707

QuESADAS. See Coosadas.
QuiEETSOS, on the Pacific; 250 in 1820; N. Columbia r., next N. of the Quiniilts.

QuiNiiLTS, on coast of the Pacific, N. of Columbia r. ; 250 in 1820 ; next the Pailshs.

QuiNNECHART, coast Pacific, next N. Calasthocles, N. Columbia r. ; 2,000 in 1820.

QuiNNlPiSSA are those called Bayagoulas by the Chevalier Tonti.

QuoDDiES. See Passamaquoddie.— 3 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. iii. 181.

Rapids. See Pawistucienemuks.
Redground, (Seminoles,) 100 in 1820, on Chattahoochie r., 12 m. above Florida line.

Redknife, so called from their copper knives ; roam in the region of Slave Lake.

Red-stick, (Seminoles,) the Baton Rouge of the French.

Red-tving, (Sioux,) on Lake Pepin, under a chief of their name ; 100 in 1820.

Ricaree, (Paunees,) before 1805, 10 large vill. on Missouri r. ; reduced by small pox.

River, (Mohegans,) S. of the Iroquois, down the N. side of Hudson r.

Round-heads, (Hurons,) E. side Lake Superior; 2,500 in 1764.

Ryawas, on the Padouca fork of the Missouri; 900 in 1820.

Sachdaouohs, (Powhatans,) perhaps the true name of the Powhatans.

Sankhikans, the Delawares knew the Mohawks by that name.

Santees, a small tribe in N. Carolina in 1701, on a river perpetuating their name.

Saponies, (Wanamies,) Sapona River, Carolina, in 1700
;
joined Tuscaroras, 1720

Satanas, a name, it is said, given the Shawanees by the Iroquois.

Sauke, or Sac, united with Fox before 1805 ; then on Mississ., above Illinois

Sautedrs, or Fall Indians of the French, about the falls of St. Mary.

Savannahs, so called from the river, or the river from them
;
perhaps Yamasees

SCATTAKOOKS, upper part of Troy, N. Y. ; went from New England about 1672.

Si;.minole8 have been established in Florida a hundred years.

Senegas, one of the Five Nations ; " ranged many thousand miles " in 1700.

Bepones, in Virginia in 1775, but a remnant. See Saponies.

Bekhanna, (Savannahs ?) in Georgia ; nearly destroyed by the Westoes about 1670.

Bewbes, a small tribe in N. Carolina, mentioned by Lawson in 1710.

Shallalah, 1,200 in 1816, on the Pacific, S. Columbia r. ne\t the Cookkoo-oosee.

BuALLATTOOS, On Columbia River, above the Skaddals ; 100 in 1820.

Bhanwappone, 400 in 1820, on the heads of Cataract and Taptul Rivers.

Bhawane, once over Ohio ; 1672, subdued by Iroquois ; 1,383 near St. Louis in 1820

Sheastukle, 900 in 1820, on the Pacific, S. Columbia r., next bcvond the Youitz.

Shinikook.8, a tribe of Long Island, about what is now South Hampton.
Shoshonee, 30,000 in 1820, on plains N. Missouri ; at war with the Blackfcot.

Shoto, (Wappatoo,) 460 in 1820, on Columbia River, opposite mouth of Wallaumut.

Sicaunies, 1,000 in 1820, among the spurs of the Rocky Mountains, W. of the Rapid*

Sioux, discovered by French, 1660 ; 33,000 in 1820, St. Peter's, Mississ., and Misso. t

8188ATONB8, upper portions of Red r., of L. Winnipec and St. Peter's, in 1820.

SlTIMACHA. See CUITIMICHA.
81TKA, on King George III. Islands, on the coast of the Pacific, about lat. 07'^ N.

Six NationiJ, (Iroquois,) Mohawk, Seneca, Onondaga, Oneida, Cayuga, Shawane
Skaddalh, on Catsrpct River, 25 m. N. of the Big Narrows ; 200 in 1820.

BxEExeoMiBH, 2,000 V,i 1820, on a river of their name flowing into the Lastaw.
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SK.ILLOOT, on Columbia River, from Sturgeon Island upward ; 2,500 in 1820.

Skunnemoke, or Tuckapas, on Vermilion River, La., 6 leagues W. of N. Iberia.

Smokshop, on Columbia r., at the mouth of the Labiche ; 800 in 1820, in 24 clans.

Snake. See Aliatans, or Shoshonees.
SoK-OKiE, on Saco River, Maine, until 1725, when they withdrew to Canada.

SoKULK, on the Columbia, above mouth of Lewis's River ; 2,400 in 1820.

SoxJRiQTJOis, (Mikmaks,) once so called by the early French.

SouTiES, (Oltowas,) a band probably mistaken for a tribe by the French.

SoTENNOM, (Chopunnish,) on N. side E. fork of Lewis's River; 400 in 1820; W. R.

Spokain, on sources Lewis's River, over a large tract of country, W. Rocky Mts.

SauANNAROO, on Cataract r., below the Skaddals ; 120 in 1820; W. Rocky Mts.

Staetans, on heads Chien r., with the Kanenavish ; 400 in 1805 ; resemble Kiawas.

STOCK.BRIDGE, New, (Mohegans and Iroquois,) collected in N. Y., 1786 ; 400 in 1820.

Stockbridge, Mass., (Mohegans,) settled there in 1734; went to Oneida in 1786.

St. John's, (Abenakies,) abc^it 300 still remain on that river.

SxJsauEHANNOK, on W. shore of Md. in 1607 ; that river perpetuates their name.
StrssEES, near sources of a branch of the Saskashawan, W. Rocky Mountains.
Stmerons, a numerous race, on the E. side of the Isthmus of Darien.

Tacullies, " people who go upon water; " on head waters of Frazier's River, La.

Tahsagroudie, about Detroit in 1723
;
probably Tsonothouans.

Tahuacana, on River Brazos ; 3 tribes ; 180 m. up ; 1,200 in 1820.

Tallahasse, (Seminoles,) 15 in 1820, between Oloklikana and Mikasaukie.

Tallewheana, (Seminoles,) 210 in 1820, on E. side Flint River, near the Chehaws.
Tamaronas, a tribe of the Illinois

;
perhaps Peorias afterwards.

Tamatles, (Seminoles,) 7 m. above the Ocheeses, and numbered 220 in 1820.

Tarratines, E. of Pascataqua River ; the Nipmuks so called the Abenakies.

Tattowhehallys, (Seminoles,) 130 in 1820; since scattered among other towns.

Tatjka-ways, on the sources of Trinity, Brazos, De Dios, and Colorado Rivers.

Tawakenoe, "Three Canes," W. side Brazos r., 200 m. W. of Nacogdoches, 1804.

Tawaws, (Hurons,) on the Mawme in 1780, 18 m. from Lake Erie.

Telmockesse, (Seminoles,) W. side Chattahoochee, 15 m. above fork; 100 in 1820.

Tenisaw, once on that river which flows into Mobile Bay ; went to Red r. in 1765.

Tetons, (Sioux,) " vile miscreants," on Mississ., Misso., St. Peter's; " real pirates."

Tionontaties, or Dinondadies, a tribe of Hurons, or their general name.
TocKWOGHS, one of the six tribes on the Chesapeak in 1607.

TONICAS, 20 warriors in 1784, on Mississippi, opp. Point Coupe ; once nnmerous.
ToNKAHANS, a nation or tribe of Texans, said to be cannibals.

ToNKAWA, 700 in 1820, erratic, about Bay St. Bernardo.
ToTEROS, on the mountains N. of .the Sapones, in N. Carolina, in 1700.

Totuskeys. See Moratoks.
TowACANNO, or TowoASH, one of three tribes on the Brazos. See Tahuacana.
TsoNONTHOUANS, Hennepin so called the Senecas ; by Cox, called Sonnontovans.
TuKABATCHE, on Tallapoosie River, 30 m. above Fort Alabama, in 1775.

Ttjnica, (Mobilian,) on Red River, 90 m. above its mouth ; but 30 in 1820.

TuNXiS, (Mohegans,) once in Farmington, Conn. ; monument erected to them, 1840.

Ttjshepahas, and Ootlashoots, 5,600 in 1820, on Clark's and Missouri Rivers.

Tuscarora, on Neus r., N. Carolina, till 1712 ; a few now in Lewiston, Niagara r.

TuTELOES. See Mangoaks, or Mangoaqs.
Tutseewa, on a river W. Rocky Mts., supposed to be a branch of the Columbia.
Twightwees, (Miamies,) in 1780, on the Great Miami ; so called by the Iroquois.

UcHEE, once on Chattauchee r., 4 towns ; some went to Florida, some west.

Ufallah, (Seminoles,) 670 in 1820, 12 m. above Fort Gaines, on Chattahoochee r.

Ugaljachmutzi, a tribe about Prince William's Sound, N. W. coast.

Ulseah, on coast of the Pacific, S. Columbia, beyond the Neekeetoos ; 150 in 18a>

Unalachtgo, one of the three tribes once composing the Lenna Lenape.
Unamies, the head tribe of Lenna Lenape.
TJnchagoos, a tribe anciently on Long Island, New York.
Upsaroka, (Minetare,) commonly called Crows.

Waakicum, 30 m. up Columbia River, opposite the Cathlamats ; 400 in 1836

Wabinga, (Iroquois,) between "W. branch of Delaware and Hudson r.

"Waco, (Panis,) 800 in 1820, on Brazos River, 24 m. from its mouth.
Wahowpums, on N. branch Columbia River, from Lapage r. upward ; 700 in 1806.

Wahpatone, (Sioux,) rove in the country on N. W. side St. Peter's River.

Wahpacoota, (Sioux }) in the country S. W. St. Peter's in 1805 ; never stationary.

Wamesits, (Nipmuks,) once on Merriraac River, where Lowell, Mass., now is.

"Wampanoag, perhaps the 3d nation in importance in N. E. when settled by the Eag
Wappings, at and about Esopus in 1758 ; also across the Hudson to the Minsi.

Warananconguins, supposed to be the same as the "Wappings.
AVashaws, on Barrataria Island in 1680, considerable ; 1805, at Bay St. Fosh, 5 onlj.

"Watanons, or "Weas. See Ouiatinons.
Waterees, once on the river of that name in S. Carolina, but long since extinct.

Watepaneto, on the Padouca fork of the Platte, near Rocky Mts. ; 900 in 1820.
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Wawenoks, (Abenakies,) once from Sagadahock to St. George River, iu Maine.

Waxsaw, once in S. Carolina, 45 m. above Camden ; name still continues.

Weas, or Waas, (Kikapoos.) See Ouiatanons.
Wekisa, (Semin.,) 250 in 1820, "W. side Chattahoochee, 4 m. above the Cheskitaloas.

Welch, said to be on a southern branch of the Missouri.

Westoes, in 1670, on Ashley and Edisto Rivers, in S. Carolina.

Wetepahato, with the Kiawas, in 70 lodges in 1805, Padouca fork of Platte River.

Wheelpo, on Clark's River, from the mouth of the Lastaw ; 2,500 in 1820 ; W. R.

Whirlpools, (Chikamaugas,) so called from the place of their residence.

White, W. of Mississippi River ; mentioned by many travellers.

WiGHCOMOCOS, one of the six tribes in Virginia in 1607, mentioned by Smith.

WiLLEWAHS, (Chopunnish,) 500 in 1820, on Willewah r., which falls into LewU's.

Winnebago, on S. side Lake Michigan until 1832 ; Ottagamies, &c.

Wolf, Loups of the French; several nations had tribes so called.

WoKKON, 2 leagues from the Tuscaroras in 1701 ; long sinfce extinct.

WoLLAWALLA, on Columbia r., from above Muscleshell Rapids, W. Rocky Mts.

Wyandots, (Hurons,) a great seat at Sandusky in 1780 ; warlike.

Wycomes, on the Susquehannah in 1648, with some Oneidas, 250.

Wyniaws, a small tribe in N. Carolina in 1701.

Yamacraw, at the bluff of their name in 1732, near Savannah, about 140 men.

Yamasee, S. border of S. Carolina ; nearly destroyed in 1715 by English.

Yamperack, (^Camanches,) 3 tribes about sources Brazos, del Norte, &c. ; 1817, 30,000l

Yanktons, in the plane country adjacent to E. side of the Rocky Mountains.

Yattassee, in Louisiana, 50 m. from Natchitoches, on a creek falling into Red r.

Yazoos, formerly upon the river of their name ; extinct in 1770.

Yeahtentanee, on banks St. Joseph's r., which flows into L. Michigan, in 1760.

Yehah, above the rapids of the Columbia in 1820 ; 2,800, with some others.

Yeletpoo, (Chopunnish,) 250 in 1820, on Weancum r., under S. W. Mountain.

TouiCONB, on the Pacific, next N. of the mouth of Columbia River ; 700 in 1830.
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BOOK 1.

ORIGIN, ANTIQUITIES, MANNERS AND CUSTOMS
&c. OF THE AMERICAN INDIANS.

O could their ancient Incaa rise a^in,
How would they take up Israel's taunting strain !

Art thou too fallen, Iberia ? Do we see

The robber and the murderer weak as we ?

Thou, that hast wasted earth, and dared despise

Alike the wrath and mercy of the skies,

Thy pomp is in the grave, thy glory laid

Low in the pits thine avarice has made.
We come with joy from our eternal rest.

To see the oppressor in his turn oppressed.

Art thou the God, the thunder of whose hand
Rolled over all our desolated land.

Shook principalities and kingdoms down.
And made the mountains tremble at his frown.'

The sword shall light upon thy boasted powers,

And waste them as they wasted ours

•Tis thus Omnipotence his law fulfils.

And vengeance executes what justice wills.—Cowrut

CHAPTER I.

Origin of tht name Indian.— Why applied to the people found in America.—Ancient
authors supposed to have referred to America in their writings— Theopompus—
Voyage of Hanno—Diodorus Siculus—Plato—Aristotle—Seneca.

The name Indian was erroneously applied to the original man of America*
by its first discoverers. The attempt to arrive at the East Indies by sailing

west, caused the discovery of the islands and continent of America. When
they were at first discovered, Columbus, and many after him, supposed they
had arrived at the eastern shore of the continent of India, and hence the peo-
ple they found there were called Indians. The error was not discovered until

the name had so obtained, that it could not well be changed. It is true, that it

matters but little to us by what name the indigenes of a country are known,
and especially those of America, in as far as the name is seldom used among
us but in application to the aboriginal Americans. But with the people of
Europe it was not so unimportant. Situated between the two countries, India
and America, the same name for the inhabitants of both must, at first, have
produced considerable inconvenience, if not confusion ; because, in speaking
of an Indian, no one would know whether an American or a Zealander was
meant, unless by the context of the discourse. Therefore, in a historical point
of view, the error is, at least, as much to be deplored as that the name of the
continent itself should have been derived from Americus instead of Columbus.

* So named from VespvXius Americus, a Florentine, who made a discovery of some part
of the coast of South America in 1499, two years after Cahot had explored the coast of Norm
America: but Americus had the fortune to confer his name upon both



26 ON THE ORIGIiN OF THE INDIANS. [Book 1

It has beeti the practice of almost every writer, who has written about the

primitive inhabitants of a country, to give some wilfl theories of others, con
cerning their origin, and to close the account with his own ; which generally

nas been more visionary, if possible, than those of his predecessors. Long,
laborious, and, we may add, useless disquisitions have been daily laid before

the world, from the discovery of America by Columbus to the present time, to

endeavor to explain by what means the inhabitants got from the old to the

new world. To act, therefore, in unison with many of our predecessoi-s, we
vdll begin as far back as they have done, and so shall commence with Theo-
pompus and othei"S, from intimations in whose writings it is alleged the an-
cients had knowledge of America, and therefore peopled it.

Thtopompus, a learned historian and orator, who flourished in the time of
Alexander the Great, in a book entitled Thaumasia, gives a sort of dialogue

between Midas the Phrygian and Silenus. The book itself is lost, but Strabo

refers to it, and Mlianus has given us the substance of the dialogue which fol-

lows. After much conversation, Silenus said to Midas, that Europe, Asia and
Africa were but islands surrounded on all sides by the sea ; but that there was
a continent situated beyond these, which was of immense dimensions, even
without limits; and that it was so luxuriant, as to produce animals of prodi

gious magnitude, and men grew to double the height of themselves, and that

they lived to a far greater age ;* that they had many great cities ; and then'

usages and laws were different from ours ; that in one city there was more
than a million of inhabitants ; that gold and silver were there in vast quanti-

ties.! This is but an abstract from Mlianus^s extract, but contains all of it that

can be said to refer to a countiy west of Europe and Africa.]: JElian or .5CZt-

anvs lived about A. D. 200.

Hanno flourished when the Carthaginians were in their greatest prosperity,

but the exact time is unknown. Some place his times 40, and others 140,

years before the founding of Rome, which would be about 800 years before

our ei-a.§ He was an officer of great enterprise, having sailed around and ex-

plored the coast of Africa, set out from the Pillars of Hercules, now called

the Straits of Gibraltar, and sailed westward 30 days. Hence it is infeired by
many, that he must have visited America, or some of its islands. He wrote a

book, which he entitled Periplus, giving an account of his voyages, which was
translated and published about 1533, in Greek.

||

Many, and not without tolerably good reasons, believe that an island or con-

tinent existed in the Atlantic Ocean about this period, but which disappeared

afterwards.

* Buffon and Roynal either had not read this story, or they did not believe it to have been
America ; for they taught that all animals degenerated here. Many of tiie first adventurers

to the roEists of unknown countries reported them inhabited by giants. Swi/l wrote Gvilwer's

Travels to bring such accounts into ridicule. How well he succeeded is evident from a

comparison of books of voyages and travels before cind after his time. Dubartas has Uiis

passage :

—

Our fearless sailors, in far voyages
(More led by gain's hope than llieir compasses),

On th' Indian siiore have sometime noted some
Whose bodies covered two broad acres room

;

And in the South Sea they have also seen

Some like high-topped and huge-armed treon
;

And other some, wliosc monstrous backs did bear
Two mighty wheels, with whirling spokes, that were
Much like the winged and wide-spreading sails

Of any wind-mill turned with merry gaJes.

'

Divine Weeks, p. 117, ed. Uo, 1613.

t i^lian, Variar. Historiar. Jib. iii. chap. viii.

X Since the text was written, (here has come into my hands a copy of a translation of xEli-

niys work, " in I'^^nglislie (as well according to the triiih of the Grccke texte, as of the Latinc),

by Ahraham F/eining." London, 1576, 4lo. It differs not materially from the above, whict

is given from a French version of it.

S Encyclopeedia Pcrthensis.

\\
Tlie" best account of Hanno and his voyages, witti which we are acquainted, is to be

found in Mariana's Hist, of Spain, vol. i. ^3, l09, 119, 122, 133, and 166, ed. I'aris, 1726.

6 vols. 4to.
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Diodorus Sicvivs says that sorne " Phoenicians were cast upon a most fertile

island opposite to Africa." Of this, he says, they Itept the most studied secrecy,

which was doubtless occasioned by their jealousy of the advantage the discov-
ery might be to the neighboring nations, and which they wished to secure
wholly to themselves. Diodorus Siculus lived about 100 years before Christ

Islands lying west of Em-ope and Africa are certainly mentioned by Homer
and Horace. They were called Atlantides, and were supposed to be about
10,000 furlongs from Africa. Here existed the poets' fabled Elysian fields.

But to be more particular with Diodorus, we will let him speak for himself
" After having passed the islands which lie beyond the Herculean Strait, we
will speak of those which lie much farther into the ocean. Towards Africa,

and to the west of it, is an immense island in the broad sea, many days' sail

from Lybia. Its soil is very fertile, and its surface variegated with mountains
and valleys. Its coasts ai-e indented with many navigable rivers, and its fields

are well cultivated ; dehcious gardens, and various kinds of plants and trees."

He finally sets it down as the finest country known, where the inhabitants

have spacious dwellings, and every thing in the greatest plenty. To say the

least of this account of Diodorus, it corresponds very well with that given of
the Mexicans when fiist known to the Spaniards, but perhaps it will compare
as well with the Canaries.

Plato's account has more weight, perhaps, than any of the ancients. He
Uved about 400 years before the Christian era. A part of his account is as

follows :—" In those first times [time of its being first known], the Atlantic

was a most broad island, and there were extant most powerful kings in it,

who, with joint forces, appointed to occupy Asia and Europe : And so a most
grievous war was carried on ; in which the Athenians, with the common
consent of the Greeks, opposed themselves, and they became the conquerors
But that Atlantic island, by a flood and earthquake, was indeed suddenly
destroyed, and so that wai'like people were swallowed up." He adds, in an-
other place, " An island in the mouth of the sea, in the passage to those straits,

called the Pillars of Hercules, did exist ; and that island was greater and larger

than Lybia and Asia ; from which there was an easy passage over to othei

islands, and from those islands to that continent, which is situated out of that

region." * " JVeptune settled in this island, from whose son, Atla^, its name
was derived, and divided it among his ten sons. To the youngest fell the

extremity of the island, called Gadir, which, in the language of the country,

signifies fertile or abounding in sheep. The descendants of JVeptune reigned
here, from father to son, for a great number of generations in the order of
primogeniture, during the space of 9000 years. They also possessed several

other islands ; and, passing into Europe and Africa, subdued all Lybia as far

as Egypt, and all Europe to Asia Minor. At length the island sunk under
water ; and for a long time afterwards the sea thereabouts was full of
rocks and shelves." f This account, although mixed with fable, cannot, we
think, be entirely rejected; and that the ancients had knowledge of countries

westward of Europe appears as plain and as w^ll authenticated as any passage
of history of that period.

Aristotle, or the author of a book which is generally attributed to him,|
speaks of an island beyond the Straits of Gibraltar ; but the passage savors

something of hearsay, and is as follows:—" Sotne say that, beyond the Pillars

of Herades, the Carthaginians have found a veiy fertile island, but without
inhabitants, full of forests, navigable rivers, and fruit in abundance. It is

several days' voyage from the main land. Some Carthaginians, charmed by
the fertility of the counti-y, thought to marry and settle there ; but some say

that the government of Carthage forbid the settlement upon pain of death,

from the fear that it would increase in power so as to deprive the mother-
country of her possessions there." If Aristotle iiad uttered this as a prediction,

* America known to the Ancients, 10, 8vo. Boston, J773.

\ Encvclopsedia Perthensis, art. Atlantis.
{ De mirabil. auscultat. Opera, vol. i. Voltaire says of this book, " On en fesait honneui

aiix Cartbaffinois, et on citait un livre d'Aristote qu'il n'a pas compos^."' Essai sur let

Maeurs el resprit des nations, chap. cxlv. p. 703. vol. iv of his works. Edit. Paris, ISl"^,

Ti 8vo.
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tltat such a thing would take place in regai'd to some futui-e nation, no one,
perhaps, would have called him a false prophet, for the American revolution
would have been its fulfilment. This philosopher hved about 384 years before
Christ.

Seneca lived about the commencement of the vulgar era. He WTOte trage
dies, and in one of them occurs this passage :

—

" Venient annis

Seecula seris, quibus oceanus
Vincula rerum laxet, et ingens

Pateat tellus, T^'phisque novos
Detegat orbes ; nee sit terris

Ultima Thule."
Medea, Act 3. v. 375.

This is nearer prophecy, and may be rendered in English tbus :—" The
time will come when the ocean will loosen the chains of nature, and we shall

behold a vast country. A new Typhis shall discover new worlds : Thule
;hall no longer be considered the last country of the known world."
Not only these passages fi'om the ancient authoi's have been cited and re-

cited by moderns, but many more, though less to the point, to show that, in

some way or other, America must have been peopled from some of the eastern

continents. Almost every country has claimed the honor of having been its

first discoverer, and hence the progenitor of the Indians. But since the recent

discoveries in the north, writers upon the subject say but little about getting

over inhabitants from Europe, x\sia, or Africa, through the diflScult way of the
Atlantic seas and islands, as it is much easier to pass them over the narrow chan-
nels of the north in canoes, or upon the ice. Grotius, C. Mather, Hubbard, and
after them Robertson, are glad to meet with so easy a method of solving a

question which they consider as having puzzled their predecessors so much.

90g>eie

CHAPTER II.

Of modern theorists upon the peopling oj Jimerica—Ht. Gi(!>ory—Herrera— T.

Morton— Williamson— JVood— Jossdyn— Thorowgood—Adair—R. IViUiams— C.

Mather— Hubbard— Robertson Smith— Voltaire— Mitchdl—jW CuUoch— I.nrd

Kaim—Siointon— Cabrera.

St. Gregory, who flourished in the 7th century, in an epistle to St. C/em«i/,

said that beyond tin; ocean there was another world.*

Herrera argues, that the new world could not have been known to the

ancients ; and that what Seneca has said was not true. For that God had kept

it hid from the old world, giving them no curtain knowledge of it ; and that,

in the secrecy and incomprehensibility of his i)rovidcnce, he has been pleased

to give it to the Castilian nation. That Seneca's prediction (if so it may be

considered) was a lalse one, because he said tliat a new world would be dis-

covered in the north, and that it was foinid iti the west, f Herrera wrote

about l.'iDS,}: before which time little knowledge was obtained of North

America. This may account for his impeachment of Seneca^s prophecy.

Thomas Morton, who came to N('W lOngland in I()"?2, published in 1637 an

account of its natural history, with much other cmioiis matter. Id speaking

upon the peopling of Atnerica, he thinks it altogether out of the question to

* " S. Grcffoirc sur I'cpislrc dc S. Clemcni, clii que passe I'orcan, il y a vn autre moiiH."'

[Herrera, I Decade, 2.) This is tiic wiiole passage.

t Ibid. 3.

t He died 27 March, 1G25. at the age of aboivl fiG years. His name was TordesiUas Anionic

de Herrera—one of llic l)est Spanisii iiisiorians. His history of the voyages to, and selliemenl

of .\merira is very minute, and very vaUiable. Tiic original in SpanisB is very rare. Acos-

fa's Iranslalion (into French) 3 v. 4to., lG(iO, is also scarce and valuable. It is tWs we eilo.
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suppose that it was peopled by the Tartars from the north, because " a people,

once settled, must be removed by compulsion, or else tempted thereunto in

hopes of better fortunes, upon commendations of the place unto whicli they

should be drawn to remove. And if it may bo thought that these people came
over the frozen sea, then would it be by compulsion. If so, then by whom,
or when ? Or what part of this main continent may be thought to border

upon the country of the Tartars ? It is yet unknown ; and it is not like that a

people well enough at ease, will, of their own accord, undertake to travel ovei

a sea of ice, considering how many difficulties they shall encounter with. As,

1st, wh^l"«- there he any land at the end of their unknown way, no land

being in view; then want of food to sustain life in the mean time upon that

sea of ice. Or how shall they do for fuel, to keep them at night from freezing

to deatl) ? which will not be had in such a place. But it may perhaps be

granted, that the natives of this countiy might originally come of the scattered

Trojans ; for after that Brutus, who was the fourth from Eneas, left Latium

upon the conflict held vvrith the Latins (where although he gave them a great

overthrovi', to the slaughter of their gi-and captain and many others of the

heroes of Latium, yet he held it more safely to depart unto some other place

and people, than, by staying, to run the hazard of an unquiet life or doubtful

conquest; which, as history maketh mention, he performed.) This people

was dispersed, there is no question, but the people that lived with him, by

reason of their conversation with the Grecians and Latins, had a mixed lan-

guage, that participated of both."* This is the main ground of Morton, but

he says much more upon the subject ; as that the similarity of the languages

of the Indians to the Greek and feoman is very great. From the examples he

gives, we presume he knew as little about the Indian languages as Dr. Mather,

Adair, and Boudinot, who thought them almost to coincide with the Hebrew.

Though Morton thinks it very improbable that the Tartars came over by the

north from Asia, because they could not see land beyond the ice, yet he finds

no difficulty in getting them across the wide Atlantic, although he allows them

no compass. That the Indians have a Latin origin he thinks evident, because

he fancied he heard among their words Pasco-pan, and hence thinks, v' hout

doubt, their ancestors were acquainted with the god Pan.\

Dr. Williamsonl says, " It can hardly be questioned that the Indians of South

America ai-e descended fi-om a class of the Hindoos, in the southern parts of

Asia," That they could not have come from the north, because the South

American Indians are unlike those of the north. This seems to clash with

the more rational views of Father Venegas.§ He writes as follows :
" Of all

the parts of America hitherto discovered, the Califomians lie nearest to Asia.

We are acquainted with the mode of writing in all the eastern nations. We
can distinguish between the characters of the Japanese, the Chinese, the

Chinese Tartars, the Mogul Tartars, and other nations extending as far as the

Bay of Kamschathka ; and leai-ned dissertations on them, by Mr. Boyer, are

to be found in the acts of the imperial academy of sciences at Petei-sburg.

What discovery would it be to meet with any of these characters, or others

like them, among the American Indians nearest to Asia ! But as to the Cali-

fomians, if ever they were possessed of any invention to perpetuate their me-
moirs, they have entirely lost it; and all that is now found among them,

amounts to no more than some obscure oral traditions, jn-obably more and

more adulterated by a long succession of time. They have not so much as

retained any knowledge of the particular country from which they emi-

grated." This is the account of one who lived many years among the Indians

of California.

Mr. William Wood,\\ who left New England in 1633,11 after a short stay, says,

"Of their language, which is only peculiar to themselves, not inclining to any

of the refined tongues : Some have thought they might be of the dispersed

* New Canaan, book i, pages 17 and 18. t Ibid. 18.

t In his Hisi. N. Carolina, i. 216.

6 Hist. California, i. 60. His work was published at Madrid, in 1758.

11 The author of a work entitled New England's Prospect, published in London, 1634, lU

Uf>. It is a very rare, and, in some respects, a curious and valuable work.

H Prospect, 51
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Jews, because some of their words be near unto the Hebrew ; but by the satii

rule, they nnay conclude theui to be some of the gleanings of all nations, be-

cause they have words which sound after the Greek, Latin, French, and other

tongues."*

Mr. John Josselyn, who resided some time in New England, from the ynar

1638, says, " The Mohawks are about 500 : their speech a dialect of the Tar-
tars (as also is the Turkish tongue)."t In another work,| he says, " N. Eng-
land is by some affirmed to be an island, bounded on the norili with the Kiver
of Canada (so called from Monsieur Cane), on the south with the River Mou-
liegan or Hudson's River, so called because he was the first that discovered it.

Some will have America to be an island, which out of question must needs be.

if there be a north-east passage found out into the South Sea. It contains

1,152,400,000 acres. The discovery of the north-west passage (which lies witli-

in the River of Canada) was undertaken with the help of some Protestant

Frenchmen, which left Canada, and retired to Boston about the year 1669.

Tlje north-east people of America, that is, N. England, &c., are judged to be
Tartars, called Samoades, being alike in complexion, shape, habit and man-
ners." We have given here a larger extract than the immediate subject re-

quired, because we would let the reader enjoy his curiosity, as well as we
ours, in seeing how people understood things in that day. Barlow, looking

but a small distance beyond those times, with great elegance says,

—

" In those blank periods, where no man can trace

The gleams of thought that first illumed his race,

His errors, twined with science, took their birth,

And forged their fetters for this child of earth,

And when, as oft, he dared expand his view,

And work with nature on the line she drew,

Some monster, gendered in his fears, unmanned
His opening soul, and marred the works he planned.

Fear, the first passion of his helpless state.

Redoubles all the woes that round him wait,

Blocks nature's path, and sends him wandering wide.

Without a guardian, and without a guide."

Columbiad, ix. 137, &c.

Reveicpd Thomas Thorotcgood published a small quarto, in 1652,<§ to prove

that the xnolans were the Jews, who had been "lost in the world for the space

of near 20C0 ysar.?." Btit %\"hoeve)" has read Adair or Boudinot, has, beside a

good deal that is irrational, read ail thtit iti Thorowgood can be termed rationaL

Reverend Roger Williams was, at one time, as appears from Tliorotvgood''.^

work,
II
of fiie saute ojiinion. Being written to for his ojiinion of the origin ol'

the natives, "he kindly answers to those letters from Salem in N. Eng. 20tli

of the 10th month, more than 10 yeers since, in heec vej-ba." That they did

not come into America from the north-east, as some had imagined, he thought

evident for these reasons: 1. their ancestors affirm they came from the south-

west, and return thence when they die: 2. because they "separate their wo-

men in a little wigwam by themselves in their feminine seasons:" and y. "be-

side their god Kvttand to the S. West, they hold that JVanawUnatvil^ {a gou

over head) mad(^ the heavens and the earth ; and some tast of affinity with

the Hebrew I have foinid."

Doctor Cotton JMather is an aiuhor of such singular qualities, that we almost

hesit&te to na.'ne him, lest we be thought without seriousness in so weighty a

matter. But Asf will assiu-e the reader, that he is an author with whom wo
woviid in no wis.' part ; and if .sometimes we apj)ear not serious in om- intro-

ducivon of him, \vlii;t is of more inii)nrtanee, we believe Aim really to be so

\nd we are pfcrsua.Vd that we should not he pardoned ditl we not allow hitw

Co bpeak upon thf? mi.M.^r before us.

• Ibid. U:\ ed. MC^.

t tils accoi.'il o( 'w "> \oyaj.t;s to New lOngland, printed London, 1673, page 124.

t Sew England Uorit-cn 4, ."i, printed Lon<Ion, 1672.
'

Its title cominei.'CfcS, ' Di^vs Dei : New Discoveries, teith sure Arffumeni* topr&vt," iJte

?agcs 5 and 6.

(wrtannitmoit is (rod i » i\ 'oware^—Heckeweiof
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He saye, " It should not pass without remai-k, that three most memorable
things which have borne a very great aspect upon human affairs, did, near the

eanie time, namely, at the conclusion of the Jijleenth, and the beginning of the

sixteenth, century, arise linto the world : the first was the Resurrection of
Literature ; the second was the opening of America ; the thir*^! was the

Reformation of Religion.'" Thus far we have an instructive view of the sub
ject, calculated to lead to the conclusion that, in the dark ages, when literature

was neglected and forgotten, discoveries might have been also, and hence the
knowledge of America lost for a time. The reader must now summon his

giavity. " But," this author continues, "as probably the Dew//, seducing the
rirst inhabitants of America into it, therein aimed at the having of them and
their posterity out of the sound of the silver trumpets of the gospel, then to be
heard through the Roman empire.* If the Devil had any expectation, that, by
tlie f)eopling of America, he should utterly deprive any Europeans of the two
benefits, literature and religion, which dawned upon the miserable world, (one
just before, the other just after,) the first famed navigation hither, 'tis to bt
hoped he will be disappointed of that expectation ."f The learned doctor,

having forgotten what he had written in his first book, or wishing to inculcate

his doctrine more iirinly, nearly repeats a passage which he had at first given,

in a distant part of his work ;| but, there being considerable addition, we re-

cite it : " The natives of the country now possessed by the Newenglanders,
had been forlorn and wretched heathen ever since their first herding here ; and
though we know not ivhen or hoiv these Indians first became inhabitants of
this mighty continent, yet we may guess that probably the Devil decoyed those
miserable salvages hither, in hopes that the gospel of the Lord Jesus Christ

would never come here to destroy or disturb his absolute empire over them.
But our Eliot was in such ill terms with the Devil, as to alarm him with
sounding the silver trumpets of heaven in his territories, and make some noble
and zealous attempts towards outing him of ancient possessions here. There
were, I think, 20 several nations (if I may call them so) of Indians upon that

spot of ground which fell under the influence of our Three United Colonies

;

and our Eliot was willing to rescue as many of them as he could from tb it

old usurping landlord of America, who is, by the tvrath of God, the prince jf

this workl." In several places he is decided in the opinion that Indians tu'e

Scythians, and is confirmed in the opinion, on meeting with this passage of
Julius Ccesar: ^^ Difficilius Invenire quam inier^cere," which he thus renders,

"It is harder to find them than to foil them." At least, this is a happy appli-

cation of the passage. Caesar was speaking of the Scythians, and our histo-

rian applies the passage in speaking of the sudden attacks of the Indians, and
their agility in hiding themselves from pursuit.§ Doctor Mather wrote at the
close of the seventeenth century, and his famous book, Magnalia Christi

Americana, was published in 1702.

Adair, who resided 40 years (he says) among the southern Indians, previ-

ous to 1775, published a huge quarto upon their origin, history, &c. He tor-

tures every custom and usage into a like one of the Jews, and almost ever\'

word in their language into a Hebrew one of the same meaning.
Doctor Boudinot, in his book called "The Star in the West," has followed

up the theory of Adair, vrith such certainty, as he thinks, as that the "long
lost ten tribes of Israel" are clearly identified in the American Indians. Such

* This, we apprehend, is not entirely original with our author, but borders upon plcigiarism.
Ward, the celebrated author of the " Simple CoMer of Aggaicam," says of the Irish,
'• These Irish (anciently called anthropophagi, man-ealcrs) have a tradition among' them, that

when the Devil showed our Saviour all the kingdoms of the earth, and their glory, that he
would not show him Ireland, but reserved it for himself. It is, probably, true ; for he hath
kept it ever since for his own peculiar: the old fox foresaw it would eclipse the glory of all

the rest : he thought it wisdom to keep the land for a Boggards for his unclean spirits employed
in this hemisphere, and the people to do his son and heir (the Pope) that service for whicb
Lewis the XI kept his Barbor Oliver, which makes them so bloodthirsty."

—

Simple Cobler.
86, 87. Why so much gall is poured out upon the poor Irish, we cannot satisfactorily account
The circumstance of his writing in the time of Cromwell will explain a part, if not the whole
of the enigma. He was the first minister of Ipswich, Massachusetts, but was born and die¥
in England.

+ Magnalia Christ. Amer. b. i. t Ibid. b. iii. ^ See Magnnlia, t>. v

3
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theories have gained many supportei"s. It is of much higher antiquity than

Adair, and was treated as such visionaiy speculations should be by authors as

far back as the historian Hubbard, who wrote about 1680, and has this among
otlier passages : " If any observation l)e made of their manners and disposi-

tions, it's easier to say fiom what nations they did not, than from whom they

did, derive their original. Doubtless their conjecture who fancy them to Ije

descended from the ten tril>es of tlie Israelites, carried captive by Salamaneser

and Esarhaddon, hath the least show of reason ri' rmy other, there bemg no

footsteps to be obsei-ved of their propinquity to tiieni more than to any other of

the tribes of the earth, either as to their language or manners."* This authoi-

was one of the bust historians of his times; and, generally, he \\Tites with as

much discernment upon other matters as upon this.

That because the natives of one country and those of another, and each un-

known to the other, have some customs and practices in couunon, it has been

urged by some, and not a few, tliat they must have had a conunon origin ; but

this, in our apprehension, does not necessarily follow. Who will pretend that

different people, when placed under similar circumstances, will not have simi-

lar wants, and hence similar actions? that like wants will not ]jrompt like ex-

ertions? and like causes produce not like effects? This mode of reasoning

we think sufficient to show, that, although the Indians may have some customs
in common with the Scytliians, the Tartars, Chinese, Hindoos, Welsh, and
indeed every otlier nation, still, the former, for any reason we can see to the

contrary, have as good right to claim to themselves priority of origin as either

or all of the latter.

Doctor Robertson should have proved that people of color produce others

nf no color, and the contrary, before he said, " We know with infallible

certainty, that all the human race spring from the same source,"f meaning
Adam. He founds this broad assertion upon the false notion that, to admit
iiny other would be an inroad upon the voity of the holy Scriptures. Now,
in our view of the subject, we leave them equally inviolate in assuming a very

different ground ;]: namely, that all habitable partsof the world may have been
peopled at the same time, and by different races of men. That it is so peo-

pled, we knoiv: that it i^^as so peopled as far back as we have any account,

we see no reason to disbelieve. Hence, when it icas not so is as futile to

inquire, as it would be impossible to conceive of the annihilation of space.

When a new country was discovered, much inquiry was made to ascertain

from whence came the inhabitants found upon if—not even asking whence
caine the other animals. The answer to us is plain. Man, the other animals,

trees and plants of eveiy kind, were placed there by the supreme directing

hand, which carries on every operation of nature by fixed and undeviating

laws. This, it must be plain to every reader, is, at least, as reconcilable to the

Bible history as the theory of Robertson, which is that of Grotius, and all those

who have followed them.
When it has been given in, at least by all who have thought upon the sub-

ject, that climate does not change the comjdcxion of the human race, to hold

up the idea still that all must have sprung from the same source, {Adam,) only

rt^minds us of our grandmothers, who to this day laugh tit us when we tell

them that the earth is a globe. Who, we ask, will argue that the negro

(•hanges his color by living among us, or by changing his latitude? Who
liave ever becom(! negroes by living in their country, or among them ? Has the

Indian ever changed his complexion by living in London? Do those change
wliicli adopt our manners and customs, and are surroimded by us? Until

these questions can be answered in the afHrmative, we discard altogether that

unitarian system of peoi)ling the world. We would indeed i>refer Omd^.t

UK ihod :

—

" Ponere duritiem ropperc, suiuaque rigorrm
iMollirifiiio mora, inollila(|iie ducerc foriniim.

iMox iilii rroviTiiiit. iialiira(|uc inilii)r illis

Coiitij^il." iS:c. \n
Afrlamor. lib i. fab. xi.

* Hisi. Now England, 27. t Hisi. .America, book iv.

J Why talk of a tiicnry's clasliinp; with lioly writ, and sav untiling; of the ccrlaiiKy of the

•cicures of gco^^raphy. astronomy, geology, &r. ?
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That is, Deucalion and Pyrrha i)erforined the office by travelling over tlie

country and picking up stones, which, as they cast them over their heads,

became young people as they struck the earth.

We mean not to be understood that the exterior of the skin of people is not

changed by climate, for this is very evident ; but that the children of persons

would be any lighter or darker, w^hose residence is in a climate different fronj

that in which they were bom, is what we deny, as in the former case. As
astonishing as it may appear to the succinct reasoner, it is no less true, that

Dr. Sarmid Stanhope Smith has put forth an octavo book of more than 400
pages to prove the unity, as he expresses it, ' of the human race,' that is, that

all were originally descended from one man. His reasoning is of this tenor :

"The American and European sailor reside equally at the pole, and under the

equator." Then, in a triumphant air, he demands^-" Why then should we,
without necessity, assume the hypothesis that originally there existed differen*

species of the human kind ? " * What kind of argument is contained here we
leave the reader to make out ; and again, when he would prove that all the

human family are of the same tribe, he says that negro slaves at the south,

who live in white families, are gi-adually found to conform in features to the

whites with whom they live If Astonishing! and we wonder who, if any,

knew this, beside the author. Again, and we have done with our extraordi-

nary philosopher. Hc'is positive that deformed or disfigured pereons will, in

process of time, produce offspring marked in the same way. That is, if a

man practise flattening his nose, his offspring will have a flatter nose than he
would have had, had his progenitor not flattened his ; and so, if this offspring

repeat the process, his offspring will have a less prominent nose ; and so on,

until the nose be driven entirely off the face ! In this, certainly, our author
has taken quite a roundabout way to vanquish or put to flight a nose. We
wish he could tell us how many ages or generations it would take to make
this formidable conquest. Now, for any reason we can see to the contrarj-, it

would be a much less tedious business to cut off a member at once, and thus

accomplish the object in a short period; for to wait severe! generations for

a fashion seems absurd in the extreme. A man must be n lonstrously blind

to his prejudices, to maintain a doctrine like this. As well might he argue
that colts would be tailless because it has long been the pi ictice to shorten

the tails of horses, qf both sexes ; but we have never heard tl at colts' tails are

in the least affected by this practice which has been perforn ed on the horee

so long, t Certainly, if ever, we should think it time to dis over something
of it ! Nor have we ever heard that a female child has ever *)een born with
its ears bored, although its ancestoi-s have endured the pain/ il operation for

many generations—and here we shall close our examination of Mr. Smiih^i

400 pages. §
People delight in new theories, and often hazard a tolerabk reputation for

the sake of exhibiting their abilities upon a subject on which they have very
vague, or no clear conceptions. Had Dr. Smith read the m ritings of Sir

Thomas Broton, he could hardly have advanced such absurd c linions as we
have before noticed ; if, indeed, he were possessed of a san ; mind. Dr.
Brown was of the age previous to that in which Buffon lived. In speakini;

of complexion, he says, "If the fervor of the sun were the sole ••-ause hereof,

in Ethiopia, or any land of negroes, it were also reasonable tha. inhabitants

of the same latitude, subjected unto the same vicinity of the Si\n, the same
diurnal arch and direction of its rays, should also partake of tie same hu."

and complexion, which, notwithstanding, they do not. For the inhabitants

of the same latitude in Asia ai*e of a different complexion, as are il\3 ivihabit-

ants of Cambogia and Java ; insomuch that some conceive the xisgro is

projjerly a native of Africa ; and that those places in Asia, inhabit* ^ now b*

* Smith on Complexion, N. Brunswick, N. J. 1810, p. 11. t Ibid. 170, 17!.

t The author pleads not guilty to the charge of plagiarism ; for it wets not until some month?
afler the text was written, that he knew that even this idea had occurred to any one. He has
i^ince read an extract very similar, in Dr. Lawrence's valuable Lectures on Zoology, &x.

§ On reflection, we have thought our remarks rather pointed, as Mr. Smith is not a living

iulhor ; but what called them forth must be their apology.
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Moors, are but the intrusions of negroes, arriving first ti'om Africa, as we
generally conceive of Madagascar, and the adjoining islands, who retain the

same complexion unto this day. But this defect [of latitude upon complex-

ion] is more remarkable in America, wiiich, although subjected unto both the

tropics, yet arc not the inlialjitants black between, or near, or under either

:

neither to the southward in Brazil, Chili, or Peru ; nor j'et to the northwai'd

in Hispaniola, Castilia, del Oro, or Nicaragua. And although in many parts

thereof, there be at present, swarms of negi'oes, serving under the Spaniard,

yet were they all transported from Africa, since the discovery of Columbus,
and are not indigenous, or proper natives of America."*
Hence it is evident, that 200 years before Dr. Smith wrote, the notion that

situation of place affected materially the color of the human species, was
very justly set down among the "vulgar and common errors" of the times.

Another theory, almost as wild, and quite as ridiculous, respecting the

animals of America, as that advanced by Dr. S. S. Smith, seems here to pre-

sent itself. VVc have refen^jice to the well-known assertions of Buffon and

Raynal,^ two philosophers, who were an honor to the times of Franklin,

which are, that man and other aninuils in America degenerate. J This has

been met in such a masterly manner by 'Sh: Jefferson, § tliat to repeat any
thing here would be entirely out of place, since it has been so often copied

into works on both sides of the Atlantic. It may even be found in some of

the best English EncyclopEedias.
||

.Smith'i] doss not deal fairly with a passage of Voltaire, relating to the peo
pling of America ; as he takes only a pai't of a sentence to conunent upon.

Perhaps he thought it as much as he was capalile of managing. ** The com-
plete sentence t<> wliich we lefer we translate as follows:—" There are found

men and animals all over the habitable earth: who has put them upon it?

^Ve have already said, it is he who has made the grass grow in the fields

;

and we should bo no more surprised to find in America men, than we should

to find flies." II We can discover no contradiction between this passage and
another in a distant part of the same work ; and which seems more like the

passage Mr. Smith has cited:—"Some do not wish to believe that the cater-

pillars and the snails of one part of the world should be originally from an-

other part: wherefore be astonished, then, that there should be in America
some kinds of animals, and some races of men like our own ? "

|t

Foltaire has written upon the subject in a manner that will ahvays be

attracting, however unich or little credence may be allowed to what he has

written. VVc will, therefore, extract an entire article wherein he engages

more professedly upon the question than in other parts of his works, in which

he has rather incidentally spoken upon it. The chapter is as follows :§§—
"Since many Hid not to make systems upon the manner in which America

has been |ieo|)led, it is letl only for us to say, that he who creaied flies in

those regions, created man there also. However pleasant it may be to dis-

.pute, it cannot be denied that the Supreme Being, who lives in all nature,
|{{{

has created about the 48° two-legged anim.ils without feathers, the color of

whose skin is a mixtiu-o of white and carnation, with long beards approaching

to red ; about the line, in Africa and its islands, negroes witliout beards ; and

* " Psewiodoxiu Kpidi-mica : or Inquiries iiilo very iiiniiy Received Tenents, and rnjiimon-

ly received Trullis; together with the Kki.igio .^iV.Diri. By Thomas Brown, Kl. iM. D."'

Page 373, G edition, 4lo. l-oiidon. lf)72.

t After sp<!akinp of the v(\\'r\ of the climate of the old world in producing- man ;uid other

animals in prrfection, he adds, "Combien, au contraire, la nature paroil avoir ueglig^

noiwcau niond I I.es hommos v sonl nioins forts, moins courageux ; sans barbe el sans poll.''

fiC—Histoii" Fhilo.1. des dnrr Tiidf.i. viii. 210. F,d. Cenex a. 1781. 12 vols. 8vo.

X VW/ui/Y does not ^ay f|uite as much but says this:—"La nature enfin avail donn^ aux

Amcricanes bcaucoup nioins d'industrie iju aiix homtncs de I'ancicn mondo. Toules ccs causes

ensemble ont pu nuire bcaucoup A la population."

—

[CEiiiies, iv. 19.] This is, however, only

til reference to the Indians.

vS In bis Notes <n Virginia, Qucr. vii. H Perthensis, i. fi37. (Art. Amkr. ^ .38.)

II l^amnel Stinilh, who published a history of New .ler.sey, in Hfif), printed nt HHrlihgton.

'• See Hist. N. J. 8. tt Fssai sur lcs"Mopurs et rF.spVil dcs Nations. ((F.uvres. Iv. 18
)

tt Ibid. 70«. 6^S rF.uvres, t. vii. I!)7, 198.

ill Will the reader of llii-; call Vnl/airr an atheist ?
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in the same latitude, othei- negroes with beards, some of them having wool
and some hair on their heads ; and among them other animals quite white,

having neither hair nor wool, but a kind of while silk. It does not very
deai'ly appear what should have prevented God from placing on another
continent animals of the same species, of a copper color, in the same latitude

in which, in Africa and Asia, they are found black ; or even from making them
without beards in the very same latitude in which others possess them. To
what lengths are we carried by the rage for systems joined with the tyi-anny

of prejudice ! We see these animals ; it is agreed that God has had the
power to place them where they ai'e

;
yet it is not agreed that he lias so

placed them. The same pereons who readily admit that the beavers of Canada
are of Canadian origin, assert that the men must have come there in boats,

and that Mexico must have been peopled by some of the descendants of
Magog. As well might it be said, that, if there be men in the moon, they
must have been taken there by Astolpho on his hippogi-iff, when he went to

fetch Roland^s senses, which were corked up in a bottle. If America had
been discovered in his time, and there had then been men in Euroj)e system-

atic enough to have advanced, with the Jesuit Lqfitau,* that the Caj-ibbee.s

descended from the inhabitants of Caria, and the Hurons from the Jews, he
would have done well to have bi'ought back the bottle containing the wits of
these reasoners, which he would doubtless have found in the moon, along
with those of Angelica's lover. The first thing done when an inhabited island

is discovered in the Indian Ocean, or in the South Sea, is to inquire, Whence
came these people ? but as for the trees and the tortoises, they are, without
any hesitation, pronounced to be indigenous ; as if it were more difficult for

nature to make men than to make tortoises. One thing, however, which
seems to countenance this system, is, that there is scarcely an island in the

eastern or western ocean, which does not contain jugglers, quacks, knaves,
luid fools. This, it is probable, gave rise to the opinion, that these animals
tre of the same race with ourselves."

Some account of what the Indians themselves have said upon the subject

of their origin may be very naturally looked for in this place. Then- notions

in this respect can no more be relied upon than the fabled stories of the gods
in ancient mythology. Indeed, their accounts of primitive inhabitants do not
agree beyond their own neighborhood, and often disagi-ee with themselves at

different times. Some say their ancestors came from the north, others from
the north-west, others from the east, and others from the west ; some from
the regions of the air, and some from under the earth. Hence to raise any
theoiy upon any thhig coming from them upon the subject, would show
only that the theorist himself was as ignorant as his informants. We might
as well ask the forest trees how they came planted upon the soil in which
they grow. Not that the Indians are unintelligent in other affairs, any further

than the necessaiy consequence growing out of their situation impjies ; nor
are they less so than many who have written upon their history.

" In one grave maxim let us all ag^ree

—

Nature ne'er meant her secrets should be found,

And man's a riddle, which man can't expound !

"

Paine's Ruling Passion.

The different notions of the Indians will be best gathered from their lives

in their proper places in the following work.
Dr. S. L. Mitchiil, of New York, a man who wrote learnedly, if not Avisely,

on almost every subject, has, in his opinion, like hundreds before him, set the

gi-eat question, Hoio was Amenca peopled"} at rest. He has no doubt but the
Indians, in the first place, are of the same color originally as the north-eastern

nations of Asia, and hence sprung from them. What time he settles them in

the country he does not tell us, but gets them into Gfreenland about the year 8
or 900. Thinks he saw the Scandinavians as far as the shores of the St.

Lawrence, but what time this was he does not say. He must of course make

* He wrote a history of the savages of America, and maintained that the Caribbee lau

ruage was radically Hebrew.
3*
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these people the builders of the mounds scattered all over the western coun-
try. After all, we apprehend the doctor would have short time for his emi-
grants to do all that nature and art have done touching these matters. In the

first place, it is evident that many ages passed away from the time these
tumuli were begun until they were finished : 2d, a multitude of ages must
have passed since the use for whicli they were reared has been known ; for

trees of the age of 200 years grow from the ruins of others which must have
had as great age : and, 3d, no Indian nation or tribe has the least tradition

concerning them.* This could not have happened had the ancestors of the

present Indians been the erectors of them, in the nature of things, f

The observation of an author in Dr. iJees's Encyclopedia, J although saying
no more than has been already said in our synopsis, is, nevertheless, so happy,
that we should not feel clear to omit it:—"As to those who pretend that the
human race has only of late found its way into America, by crossing the sea
at Kamschatka, or the Straits of Tschutski, either upon the fields of ice or in

canoes, they do not consider that this opinion, besides that it is extremely
difficult of comprehension, has not the least tendency to diminish the prodi-

gy; for it would be surprising indeed that one half of our planet should have
remained without inhabitants during thousands of years, while the other half
was peopled. What renders this opinion less probable is, that America is

supposed in it to have had animals, since we cannot bring those species oi"

animals from the old world which do not exist in it, as those of the tapir, tht-

glama, and the tajactu. Neither can we admit of the recent organization ol"

matter for the western hemisphere ; because, independently of the accumu-
lated difficulties in this hypothesis, and which can by no means be solved,

we shall observe, timt the fossil bones discovered in so many jiarts of Ameri-
ca, and at such small depths, prove that certain species of animals, so far from
having been recently organized, have been annihilated a long while ago."

Before we had known, that, if we were in error, it was in the company of
philosophers, such as we have in this chapter introduced to our readers, we
felt a hesitancy in avowing our opinions upon a matter of so great moment.
But, after all, as it is only matter of honest opinion, no one should be intoler-

ant, although he may be allowed to make himself and even his friends merry
at our expense. When, in the days of Chrysostom, some ventured to assert their

opinions of the rotundity of the earth, that learned father " did laugh at them." §
And, when science shall have progressed sufficiently, (if it be possible,) to set-

tle this question, there is a possibility that the Chrifsostoms of these days will

not have the same excuse for their infidelity. But as it is a day of prodigies,

there is some danger of treating lightly even the most seemingly absurd con-

jectures. We therefore feel very safe, and more especially as it required con-
siderable haidihoofi to laugli even at the theory of the late Mr. Si/mmes.

When we lately took up a hook entitled ^^ Rcsearchea, Philosophical and Ardi-

qtiarinn, concerning the Jlboriginal Histori/ of America, by J. H. M'Culloh, Jr

M. D."
II
we did think, from the inii)Osing appearance of it, that some new

matters on the subject had been discovered; and more particularly when we
read in the preface, that "Ins first object was to explain the origin of the men
and animals of America, so far as that question is involved with the apparent
physical impediments that have so long kept tlic snhjoct in total obscurity."

Now, with what success this has been done, to do the author justice, he shall

speak for himself, and the reader then may judge for himself.

"B<!fore we attempt to explain in what manner the men and animals of
America reached this continent, it is necessary to ascertain, if possible, the

circumstanc<s of their original creation ; for upon this essential particular de-

pends the great interest of our present investigation. [We are not able to

discover that he has said any thing further upon it.] It must be evident that

we can arrive at no satisfactory conclusion, if it be doubtful wln;ther the Crea-

tor of the imiverse made man and the animals but in one locality, from

• Or none but such as arc at variance with all history and rationalily.

t Archn>ologia Americana, i. 325, 32(5, "MX, &c. t Art. Amkkica.
!See Acosta's Hisl. E. and W. Indies, p. I. ed. London, 1604.

Published at Baltimore, 1829, in 8\ o.
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whence they were dispersed over the earth ; or whether he created them in

each of those various situations where we now find them living. So far as

this inquiry respects mankind, there can be no reasonable ground to doubt
the one origin of the species. This fact may be proved both physically and
morally. [If the reader can discover any thing that amounts to proof in

what follows, he will have made a discovery that we could not.] That
man, notwithstanding all the diversities of their appearance, are but of one
species, is a truth now universally admitted by every physiological naturalist,

[That is, notwithstanding a negro be black, an Indian brown, a E\iropeaii

white, still, they are all men. And then follows a quotation fi-om Doctor
Laiwence* to corroborate the fact that men are all of one species.] It is true,

this physiologist does not admit that the human species had their origin but
from one pair; for he observes, the same species might have been created at

the same time in very different parts of the earth. But when we have
analyzed the moral history of mankind, to which Mr. Lawrence seems to have
paid little attention, [and if our author has done it, we would thank liim to

show us where we can find it,] we find such strongly-marked analogies in

abstract matters existing among nations the most widely separated from each
other, that we cannot doubt there has been a time, when the whole human
family have intimately participated in one common system of things, whethei
t be of truth or of error, of science or of prejudice. [This does not at all

agree with what he says afterwards, ' We have been unable to discern any
traces of Asiatic or of European civilization in America prior to the discovery
of Columbus.' And again : ' In comparing the barbarian nations of America
with those of the eastern continent, we perceive no points of resemblance
between them, in their moral institutions or in their habits, that are not appar-
ently founded in the necessities of human life.' If, then, there is no affinity,

other than what would accidentally happen from similar circumstances, where-
fore this prating about ^strongly-marked analogies,^ &c. just copied?] As re-

spects the origin of animals, [we have given his best proofs of the origin of man
and their transportation to America,] the subject is much more refractory.

We find them living all over the surface of the earth, and suited by their phys-
ical conformity to a great variety of climates and peculiar localities. Every
one will admit the impossibility of ascertaining the history of their original

creation from the mere natural history of the animals themselves." Now,
as " refractory " as this subject is, we did not -tpect to see it fathered off

upon a miracle, because this was the easy and convenient fnauner in which
the superstitious of every age accounted for eveiy thing which they at once
could not comprehend. And we do not expect, when it is gravely announced,
that a discovery in any science as to be shown, that the undertaker is going
to tell us it is accomplished by i. miracle, and that, therefore, " he knows not
why he should Ije called upon to answer objections," &c.
As it would be tedious to the reader, as well as incompatible with our plan,

to quote larger from Mr. MCulloh^s book, we shall finish with him after a few
remarks.
We do not object to the capacity of the ark for all animals, but we do

object to its introduction in the question undertaken hy Mi: M^ Cvlloh ; for

every child knows that affair to have been miraculous ; and if any part of the
question depended upon the truth or falsity of a miracle, why plague the world
with a book of some 500 pages, merely to promulgate such a belief, when
a sentence would be all that is required ? No one, that admits an overruling
power, or the existence of God, will doubt of his ability to create a myriad of
men, animals, and all matter, by a breath ; or that an ark ten feet square could
contain, comfortably, ten thousand men, as well as one of the dimensions
given in Scripture to contain what that did. Therefore, if one in these days
should make a book expressly to explain the cause of the different lengths of
days, or the changes of the seasons, and find, afler he had Avritten a vast deal,

that he could in no wise unravel the mystery, and, to close his account, de-
clares it was all a miracle, such an author would be precisely in the predica-
ment of Mr. JWCidloh.

* The celebrated author of Lectures on Physiology, Zoology, and the Natural History or

Mai
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We do not pretend that the subject can be pursued with the certainty of
mathematical calculations; and so long as it is contended that the whole spe-

cies of man spring from one pair, so long will the subject admit of conti-o-

vrisy: therefore it makes but little or no difference whether the inhabitants

are got into America by the north or the south, the east or the west, as it

regards the main question. For it is very certain that, if there were but one
pair originally, and these placed upon a certain spot, all other places wlicre

people are now found must have been settled by people from the primitive

spot, who found then- way thither, some how or other, and it is very unimpor-
tant how, as we have just observed.

Lord Kaimes, a writer of great good sense, has not omitted to say some-
thing ujmn this subject.* He very judiciously asks those who maintain that

America was peopled from Kamskatka, whether the inhabitants of that region
speak the same language with theii* American neighbors on the opposite
sliores. That they do not, he observes, is fully confirmed by recent accounts
from thence; and "whence we may conclude, with great certainty, that the
latter are not a colony .of the former."f We have confirmation upon confirma-
tion, that these nations speak languages entirely different; and for the satisfac-

tion of the curious, we will give a short vocabulary of words in botli, with

the English against them.

English. Kamskadale. .ileoviean.\.

God Nionstichtchitch Aghogoch.
Father Iskh Athan.
Mother Nas-kh Anaan,
Son Pa-atch L'laan.

Daughter Souguing Aschkinn
Brother Ktchidsch Koyota.
Sister Kos-Khou Angiui.
Husband Skoch Ouglinn.
Woman Skoua-aou Ai-yagar.
Girl Kh-tchitchou Ougegliilikiiuu

Young boy Pahatch Auckthok.
Child Pahatchitch Ouskolik.
A man Ouskaams Toyoch.
The people Kouaskou.
Persons Ouskaamsit.
The head T-Khousa Kamgha.
The face Koua-agli Soghinmgiun.
The nose Kaankang Aughosinn.
The nostrils Kmmga Gouakik.
The eye Nanit Thack.

After observing that "there are several cogent arguments to evince that tiie

Americans arc not descended from any |)eopl(! in the noith of Asia, or in the
noith of Europ(>," Lord Kaimes continues,—"I venture still further; which is,

to coniectme, tiiat America has not been pcojiled from any |)art of the old
world. ' IJiit although this last conjecture is in unison with those of many
others, yet his lordship is greatly out in some of flu; proofs which he adduces
in its sup[)nrt. As we have no ground on which to controvert this opinion,
we mav he excused from examining its proofs; but this we will olwerve, that

Lord Kaimes is in the same error about the bcardlessness of the Ameiicans as
some other learned Euro|)eans.
The learned Doctor Stvinlon,§ in a dissertation upon the ])eopling of Ameri-

* StT liis " i<ki-lclies of the History of Aluu," a work wliicli he pul)lislicil in 1774, al Edin-
iiur^^h, in 2 vols. 4lo.

t Vol. ii. 71.

\ The Alconleans inhabit tho chain of islands which stretch from the norlli-wost jioint of
America into ihc neiphhorliood of Kamskatka. It must l>e remembered that those names are
in the French orlhoiiraphy, being taken from a Freiicli translation of liiltitiss's voyape into

those regions, from 178.5 to WJ-i.

$ Doctor John Siin'nton, the eminent author of many parts of the Ancient I'niversiil f/t*-

'ory. lie .lird in 1777. asjed 74.
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ca,* after stating the different opinions of various authors who liave advocated
in favor of the " dispersed people," the Phoenicians, and other eastern nations,

observes, "that, therefore, the Americans in general were descended from
some people who inhaljited a country not so far distant from them as Egypt
and Phoenicia, our readers will, as we apj)rehend, readily admit. Now, no
country can be pitched ujjon so proper and convenient for this ])urpose as the

nortli-eastern part of Asia, particularly Great Tartary, Siberia, and more espe-

cially the peninsula of Kamtschatka. That probably was the tract through
which many Taitarian colonies passed into America, and peopled the most
considerable part of the new world."

This, it is not to be denied, is the most rational way of getting inhabitants

into America, if it must be allowed that it was jjeopled from the " old world."

But it is not quite so easy to account for the existence of equatorial animals
in America, when all authors agi'ee that they never could have passed that

way, as they could not have survived the coldness of the climate, at any sea-

son of the year. Moreover, the vocabulary we have given, if it prove any
thing, proves that either the inhabitants of North America did not come in

from the north-west, or that, if they did, some unknown cause must have, lor

ages, suspended all communication between the emigrants and then- ancestors

upon the neighboring shores of Asia.

In 1892, there appeared in London a work which attracted some attention,

as most works have upon similar subjects. It was entitled, " Description of
the ruins of an ancient city, discovered near Palenque, in the kingdom ol"

Guatemala, in Spanish America : translated from the original manuscript re-

po)t of Capt. Don .Antonio Del Rio : followed by a critical investigation and
research into the History of the Americans, by Dr. Paul Felix Cabrera, of the

city of New Guatemala."
Captain Del Rio was ordered by the Spanish king, in the year 1786, to

make an examination of whatever ruins he might find, which he accordhigly
did. From the manuscript he left, which afterwards fell into the hands of
Doctor Cabrera, his woik was composed, and is that part of the work which
concerns us in our view of systems or conjectures concerning the peopling of
America. We shall be short with this author, as his system differs very little

from some which we have already sketched. He is very confident that he
has settled the question how South America received its inhabitants, namely,
from the Phoenicians, who sailed across the Atlantic Ocean, and that the ruined

city described by Captain Del Rio was built by the first adventurers.

Doctor Cabrera calls any system, which, in his view, does not harmonize with
the Scriptures, an innovation upon the "holy Catholic religion;" and rather

than resort to any such, he says, "It is better to believe his [God's] woi-ks

miraculous, than endeavor to make an ostentatious display of our talents by

the cimning invention of ncM' systems, in attributing them to natural causes."-)

The same reasoning will apply in this case as in a former. If we are to at

tribute every thing to miracles, wherefore the necessity of investigation ?

These authors are fond of investigating matters in their way, but are (lis

pleased if others take the same liberty. And should we follow an author in

his theories, who cuts the whole business short by declaring all to be a mira-

cle, when he can no longer grope in the labyrinth of his own forming, oui

reader would be just in condemning such waste of time. When every thing

which we cannot at first sight understand or comprehend must not be in

quired into, from superstitious doubts, then and there will be fixed the bounds
of all science ; but, as Lord Byron said upon another occasion, not till then.

"If it be allowed (says Dr. Lawrea'ce)! that all men are of the same
species, it does not follow that they ai-e all descended from the same family

We have no data for determining this point : it could indeed only be settled

by a knowledge of facts, which have long ago been involved in the impene
trable dai-kness of antiquity." That climate has nothing to do with the con>

plexion, he offers the following in proof:

—

* Universal History, xx. 162, 163.—See Malone's edition of Boswell's Life Dr. Johmon
V. 271. ed. in 3 v. 12mo. London, 1821

t Page 30 t Lectures on Zoology, &c. 442. ed. 8vo. Salem, 182.°
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"The establish incuts of the Europeans iu Asia and America have now sub-
sisted about three centuries. Vasquez de Gama landed at Calicut in 1498

;

and the Portuguese empire in India was founded in the beginning of the fol-

lowing century. Brazil was discovered and taken possession of by the same
nation in the very first year of the 16th century. Towards the end of the
15th, and the beginning of the 16th century, Columbus, Cortez, and Pizan-o,
subjugated for the Spaniards the West Indian islands, with the empires of
Mexico and Peru. Sir Walter Ralegh planted an English colony in Vu-ginia
iu 1584 ; and the French settlement of Canada has rather a later date. The
colonists have, in no instance, approached to the natives of these countries,
and their descendants, where the blood has been kept pure, have, at this time,
the same characters as native Europeans." *

The eminent antiquary De JVitl Clinton] supposed that the ancient works
found in this country were similar to those supposed to be Roman by Pennant
in Wales. He adds, " The Danes, as well as the nations which erected our
fortifications, were in all probability of Scythian origin. According to Pliny,
the name of Scythian was common to all the nations living in the north of
Asia and Europe." f

fi0^i

CHAPTER III.

Jinecdotes, j\'arratlves, ^c. illustrative of the Maimers and Customs, Jlnliquititi and
Traditions, of the Indians.

Jt'it.—An Ottaway chief, known to tlie French by the name of Jf'hitejohti,

wus a great drunkard. Count Frontenac asked him what he thought brandy

to be made of; he replied, that it must be made of hearts and tongues

—

"For," said he, "when I have drunken plentifully of it, my heart is a thousand

sljong, and I can talk, too, with astonishing freedom and raj)idity." J

Honor.—A chief of the Five Nations, who fought on the side of the English

in the French wars, chanced to meet in battle his own father, who was fight-

ing on the side of the French. Just as he was al>out to deal a deadly blow
upon his head, he discovered who he was, and said to him, "You have once

given nie life, and now I give it to you. Let me meet you no more ; for I

have j)aid the debt I owed you." §

Recklessness.—In Connecticut River, aliout "200 miles from Long Island

Sound, is a narrow of 5 yards only, formed by two shelving nicuntains of
solid rock. Through this chasm are compelled to jiass all the waters which
in tiie time of the floods bury the nonhern country." It is a frightful jiassage

of aiiout 400 yards in length. No boat, or, as my autlior expresses it, "no
living creature, was ever known to jiass through this narrow, except an Indian

woman." This woman had undertaken to cross the river just above, and
although she had the god Bacchus by her side, yet Ne|)tiuie prevailed in spite

of tiicir united efforts, and the canoe was hurried down the frightful gulf.

While this Indian woman was tiius hurrying to certain destruction, as she had
every reason to expect, she seized u])ou her bottle of rum, and did not take it

from her mouth until the last drop was quafted. She was marvellously pre-

served, and was actually )>icke(l iqi several miles below, floating in the canoe,

p'lill quite drunk. Wiien it was known wliat she had done, and being asked

how she dared to drink so much rum with the |)rospect of certain death before

her, she answered that she knew it was too much for one time, but she was
unwilling that any of it should be lost.

||

• Lecliircs on Zoology, ice. 4M, 4(>3. cH. 8vo. Salem, 18'28.

1 A Mfinoir on the Aiuiquitie.i of ih" Wcstent Parts of the Slate of N. York, pages 9, 10

8vo. All.any, 1818.

! Universal Museum for I7(>3. ^ Ibid.
[j

Pelers's Hisl. Conneclicui
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Justice.—^A miseionaiy residing among a certain tril)e of Indians, was one

day, after he had been preacliing to them, invited by their chief to visit his

wigwam. After havtng been kindly entertained, and being about to depart,

the chief took him by the hand and said, " I have very bad squaw. Siie had
two little chikh'en. One she loved well, the other she hated. In a cold night,

when I was gone hunting in the woods, she shut it out of the wigwam, and
it froze to death. What must be done with her?" The missionary replied,

" She must be hanged." " Ah !

" said the chief, " go, then, and hang youi

God, whom you make just like her."

Magnanimity.—A hunter, in his wanderings for game, fell among the back
settlements of Virginia, and by reason of the inclemency of the weather, was
induced to seek refuge at the house of a planter, whom he met at his door.

Admission was refused him. Being both hungry and thirety, he asked for a

morsel of bread and a cup of water, but was answered in every case, " No

!

you shall have nothing here ! Get you gone, you Indian dog!" It happened,

in process of time, that this same planter lost himself in the woods, and, after

a fatiguing day's travel, he came to an Indian's cabin, into which he was
welcomed. On inquiring the way, and the distance to the white settlements,

being told by the Indian that he could not go in the night, and being kindly

offered lodging and victuals, he gladly refreshed and reposed himself in the

Indian's cabin. In the moniing, he conducted him through the wilderness,

agreeably to his promise the night bsfore, until they came in sight of the

habitations of the whites. As he was about to take his leave of the planter,

he looked him full in the face, and asked him if he did not know him.
Horror-struck at finding himself thus in the power of a man he had so

inhumanly treated, and dumb with shame on thinking of the manner it was
requited, he began at length to make excuses, and beg a thousand pardons,

vvhen the Indian interrupted him, and said, "When you see poor Indians

lainting for a cup of cold water, don't say again, ' Get you gone, you Indian

.log
!
' " He then dismissed him to return to his friends. My author adds,

•'It is not difficult to say, which of these two had the best claim to the name
of Christian."*

Deception.—The captain of a vessel, having a desire to make a present to a

lady of some fine oranges which he had just brought from "the sugar islands,"

gave tliem to an Indian in his employ to carry to her. Lest he should not
perform the office punctually, he wrote a letter to her, to be taken along with
the present, that she might detect the bearer, if he should fail to deliver the

whole of what he was intrusted with. The Indian, during the journey,

loflected how he should refresh himself with the oranges, and riot be found
out. Not having any apprehension of the manner of communication by
writing, he concluded that it was only necessary to keep his design secret'

from the letter itself, supposing that would tell of him if he did not; he there-

fore laid it upon the gi'ound, and rolled a large stone upon it, and retired to

.some distance, where he regaled himself with several of the oranges, and then

]troceeded on his journey. On delivering the remainder and the letter to the

hdy, she asked him where the rest of the oranges were ; he said he had
delivered all ; she told him that the letter said there were several moie sent

;

to which he answered that the letter lied, and she must not believe it. But he
was soon confronted in his falsehood, and, begging forgiveness of the oflTence,

was pardoned, f

Shreiodness.—As Governor Joseph Dudley of Massachusetts was superin

tending some of his workmen, he took notice of an able-bodied Indian, who,
half-naked, would come and look on, as a pastime, to see his men work. The
governor took occasion one day to ask him why he did not loork and get some
rlothes, ivhcrewith to cover himself. The Indian answered by asking him why
he did not work. The governor, pointing with his finger to his head, said, "/
work head toork, and so have no need to work with my hands as you should."

The Indian then said he would work if any one would employ him. The

* Carey's Museum, vi. 40.

t Uring's Voyag^e to N. England in 1709, 8vo. London. 172)').
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governor told him he wanted a calf killed, and that, if he would go and do it,

he would give Ijim a shilling. He accepted the olfer, and went inimediateiy

and killed the calf, and then went sauntering about as before. The governor,
on observing what he had done, asked him why lie did not dress the caU
before he left it. The Indian answered, "JVb, no, Coponoh ; that was not in

the bargain : I was to have a shilling for killing him. Am he no dead, Copon-
oh'^'''' [governor.] The governor, seeing himself thus outwitted, told him to

dress it, and he would give him another shilling.

Tliis done, and in possession of two shillings, the Indian goes directly to a
grog-shoj> for rum. After a short stay, he returned to the governor, and told

him he had given him a bad shilling-piece, and presented a brass one to be
exchanged. The governor, thinking possibly it might have been the case,

gave him another. It was not long before he returned a second time with
another brass shilling to be exchaiiged ; the governor was now convinced of
his knavery, but, not caring to make words at the tiine, gave him another-
and thus the fellow got four shillings for one.

The governor determined to have the rogue corrected for his abuse, and,
meeting with hitn soon after, told him he must take a letter to Boston for him
[and gave him a half a crown for the service.] * The letter was directed to the

keeper of bridewell, ordering him to give the bearer so many lashes ; Imt,

mistrusting tliat all was not exactly agreeable, and meeting a servant of the
governor on the road, ordered him, in the name of his master, to cany the

letter immediately, as he was in haste to return. The consequence was, this

servant got egregiously whipped. When the governor learned what had
taken place, he felt no little chagrin at being thus twice outwitted by the
[udian.

He did not see the fellow for some time after this, but at length, falling in

with him, asked him by what means he had cheated and deceived him so
many times. Taking the governor again in his own play, he answered,"

pointing with his finger to his head, " Head work, Coponoh, head tvork

!

" The
governor was now so well pleased that he forgave the whole offence.f

Equality.—An Indian chief, on being asked whether his people were free,

answered, "Why not, since I myselfam free, although their king?"|

Matrimony.—"An aged Indian, who for many years had sjient much time
among the white people, both in Pennsylvania and New Jersey, one day,

about the year 1770, observed that the Indians had not only a much easier

way of getting a wife than the whites, but also a more certain way of getting

a good one. 'For,' said he in broken English, 'white man court—court

—

may be one whole year!—may be two years before he marry! Well—may
be then he get very good wife—but may be not—may be very cross! We^
now suppose cross! scold so soon as get awake in the morning! scold a.

day!—scold until sleep!—all one—he must keij) him!—White peojjic have
law forl)idding throw away wife he be ever so cross—must keep him always!
Well, how does Indian do? Indian, when he sec industrious squaw, he
go to him, jilacc his two fore-fingors close aside each other make two like,

one—then look squaw in the face—see him smile—this is all one he say
yes!—so he take him home—no danger he be cross I No, no—squaw know
too well what Indian do if he cross! tln-ow him away and take another!

—

Squaw love to eat meat—no husband no meat. Squaw do every thing to

please husband, he do every thing to jilease squaw—live happy.' "§

Toleration.—In the year 17f)l, two Creek chiefs accompanied an American
to England, where, as usual, they attracted groat attention, and many flocki-d

aroun(l them, as well to learn their ideas of certain things as to behold "the
savages." Being asked their opinion of religion, or of what religion they were,
one made answer, that they liad no ])riests in their country, or established

religion, for they thought, that, u|)on a subject v/here there was no possibility

of people's agreeing in opinion, and as it was altogether matter of mcrt

* A scnlcnce added in a version of this aiiccdoic in (J'arey's Museum, vi. 201-.

t Uring, ul supra. 120. { (\irfi/s Museum, vi. 482.

^ Heckewelder's Hisl. Ind. Nations.



i;hap. hi.] INDIAN ANECDOTES AND NARRATIVES. 37

opinion, " it was best that every one should paddle his canoe his own way."
Here is a volume of instruction in a short answer of a savage!

Justice.—A white trader sold a quantity of powder to an Indian, and im
posed upon liim by making him believe it was a grain which grew like wheat,
by sowing it upon the ground. He was greatly elated by the prospect, not

only of raising his own powder, but of being able to supply others, and there-

l)v becoming inniiensely rich. Having prepared his ground with great care,

he sowed his powder with the utmost exactness in tiie spring. Month aftei

month passed away, but his powder did not even sprout, and winter came
before he was satisfied that he had been deceived. He said nothing; but

some time after, when the trader had forgotten the trick, the same Indian suc-

ceeded in getting credit of him to a large amount. The time set for jiayment
having expired, he sought out the Indian at his residence, and demanded pay-

ment for his goods. The Indian heard his demand with gi-eat complaisance;
then, looking him shrewdly in the eye, said, "./lie pay you ivhen my powder
grow." This was enough. The guilty white man quickly retraced his steps,

satisfied, we apprehend, to balance his account with the chagrin lie had re

ceived.

Hunting.—The Indians had methods to catch game which served them ex-

tremely well. The same month in which the Mayflower brought over the

forefathers, November, 1620, to the shores of Plimouth, several of thera

ranged about the woods near by to learn what the country contained. Having
wandered farther than they were apprized, in their endeavor to return, they
say, " We were shrewdly puzzled, and lost our way. As we wandered, we
came to a ti'ee, where a young sprit was bowed down over a bow, and some
iicorns strewed underneath. Stephen Hopkins said, it had been to catch some
deer. So, as we were looking at it, fFilliam Bradford being in the rear, when
he came looking also upon it, and as he went about, it gave a sudden }erk up,

and he was immediately caught up by the legs. It was (they continue) a very
pretty device, made with a rope of their own making, [of bark or some kuid
of roots probablvj] and having a noose as artificially made as any roper in

England can make, and as like ours as can be ; which we brought away
\\\\h us."*

Preaching against Practice.—John Simon was a Sogkonato, who, about the

year 1700, vvas a settled minister to that tribe. He was a man of strong mind,
generally temperate, but sometimes remiss in the latter particular. The fol-

lowing anecdote is told as characteristic of his notions of justice. Simon,
on account of his deportment, was created justice of the peace, and when dif
liculties occurred involving any of his people, he sat with the English justice

to aid in making up judgment. It happened that Si)no7i's squaw, with some
others, had committed some offence. Justice Almy and Simon, in making uj>

their minds, estimated the amount of the offence differently; ./^Zm?/ thought
each should receive eight or ten stripes, but Simon said, " No, four or five art

enough—Poor Indians are ignorant, and it is not Christian-like to punish so

hardly those ivho are ignorant, as those who have knowledge." Simon's judg-
ment prevailed. When Mr. Almy asked John how many his wife should
receive, he said, " Double, because she had knowledge to have done better

;

" but

Colonel Almy, out of regard to JohiVs feeUngs, wholly remitted his wife's

punishment. John looked very serious, and made no reply while in presence
of the court, but, on the firet fit opportimity, remonstrated very severely

against his judgment, and said to him, " To what purvose do ive preach a reli-

gion of justice, if we do uwighteousncss in judgment^^

Sam Hide.—There are few, we imagine, who have not heard of this per-

sonage ; but, notwithstanding his gi-eat notoriety, we might not be though
serious in the rest of our work, were we to enter seriously into his biography
tor the reason, that from his day to this, his name has been a by-word in all

New England, and means as much as to say the greatest of liars. It is on
account of the following anecdote that he is noticed.

* Mnurl'5 Kfliiihin
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Savi Hide was a notorious cider-drinker as well as liar, and used to travel tlie

country to and fro begging it from door to door. At one time lie happened
:n a region of country where cider was very hard to be procured, either from
its scarcity, or from Saul's frequent visits. However, cider he was determined
tO have, if lying, in any shape or color, would gain it. Being not far from
the house of an acquaintance, who he knew had cider, but he knew, or was
well satisfied, that, in the ordinary way of begging, he could not get it, he set

his wits at work to lay a plan to insure it. This did not occupy him long.
On arriving at the house of the gentleman, instead of asking for cider, he in-

quired for the man of the house, whom, on appearing, Sam requested to go
aside with him, as he had something of imjjortance to communicate to him.
When they were by themselves, Sam told him he had that morning shot a fine

deer, and that, if he would give him a crown, he would tell him where it was.
The gentleman did not incline to do this, but offered half a crown. Finally,
Sam said, as he had walked a great distance that morning, and was very dry,
for a half a crown and a mug of cider he would tell him. This was agreed
upon, and the price paid. Now Sam was required to point out the spot whei-c
the deer was to be found, which he did in this manner. He said to his friend,

You know of such a meadoiv, describing it—Yes

—

You know a big ash tree, loith

a big top by the little brook—Yes

—

Jfell, under that tree lies the deer. This was
satisfactory, and Sam departed. It is unnecessaiy to mention that the meadow
was found, and the tree by the brook, but no deer. The duped man could
hardly contain himself on considering what he had been doing. To look
afler Sam for satisfaction would be worse than looking aflf-r the deer , so the
farmer concluded to go home contented. Some years after, he happened to

fall in with the Inilian ; and he immediately began to rally him for deceiving
him so, and demanded back his money and pay for his cider and trouble.

fVhy, said Sam, looidd you Jind faidt if Indian told truth half the time'?—No— Well, nays Sam, you find liim meadow?—Yes

—

You fml him tree'^—Yes

—

What for then you find fault Sam Hide, when he told you two truth to one lie'}

The affair ended here. Sam heard no more from the farmer.
This is but one of the numerous anecdotes of Sa7n Hide, which, could th(\v

be collected, would fill many pages. He died in Dedhani, 5 January, 1739
at the great age of 105 years. He was a great jester, and |)assed for an un
common wit. In all the wars against the Indians during his lifetime, he
served the English faithfidly, and had the name of a brave soldier. He had
himself killed 19 of the enemy, and tried hard to make up the 20th, but was
unable.

Characters contrasted.—"An Indian of the Kennebeck tribe, remarka-
ble for his good conduct, received a grant of land from the state, and fixed

himself in a new township where n number of families were settled. Though
not ill treated, yet the common prejudice against Indians prevented any sym-
I>athy with him. This was shown at the death of his only child, when none
of the peo|)le came near him. Shortly afterwards he went to some of the
inhabitants and said to them, JVhcn white viands child die, Indian man he sorry—he help bury him.— If^Tien my child die, no one speak to me—/ make his grave
alone. I can no live here. He gave u]) his farm, dug up the body of his child,

and carried it with him 200 milts through the forests, to join the Canada
Indians ! "*

^ ludicroiis Error.—There was published in London, in 17(^, "The
American Gazetteer," &:c.t in which is the following accoimt of Bristol,
R. I. " A county and town in N. England. The ca))ital is nMuarkable for the

King of Spnin^s having a palace in it, and being killed there; and also for

Crown the poet's begging it of Charles II." The blunder did not rest here,

but is found in "The N. American and the West Inhian Gazetteer," t «S:c.

Thus Philip of Spain seems to have had the misfortune of being mistaken for

Philip of the Wampanoags, alias Pomctacom of Pokanoket.

* Tiidor's I.cllers on (lie Ecnsierii Slates, "204. \ 3 vols. l'2mo. wilhoiu iiaino.

t 2cl ediiioti, 12ii)o, Loixlon, 1188, also aiujiymous



i.HAP. Ill] OF CU«'l'OJMS AJND MANNERS. 39

Origin orMemmig of the J^ame Canada.—It is said, that Canada was discov-

ered by the Spaniards, before the time of Cartier, and that the Bay of Cha-
leurs was discovered by them,' and is the same as the Baye des Espugnolts

;

and that the Spaniards, not meeting with any appearances of mines of the

precious metals, said to one another, aca nada, which in their language signi-

fied, nothing here, and forthwith departed from the country. The Indians,

having heard these words, retained them in their memories, and, when the

French came among them, made use of them, probably by way of salutation,

not understanding their import; and they were 8up|)ost'd by the voyagers to

be the name of the country. It was ordy necessary to drop the first lettej',

and use the two words as two syllables, and the word Canada was complete.*

Put as long ago as when Father Charlevoix wrote his admirable History
OF JVew France, he added a note upon the derivation of the name Canada^

m which he said some derived it from an Iroquois word meaning an assem-
blage of nouses.f Doctor /. R. Forster has a learned note upon it also, in his

valuable account of Voyages and Discoveries in the JVorth. He objects to the

<ica JVada origin, because, in Spanish, the word for here is not aca, but aqni,

and that to form Canada from Aquinada woidd be forced and minatural. Yet
he says, " In ancient maps we often find Ca : da JVada,'" that is, Cape Nothing.
" But from a Canadian [Indian] vocabulary, annexed to the original edition

of the second voyage of Jaques Cartier, Paris, 1545, it appears, that an assem-
blage of bouses, or habitations, i. e. a town, was by the natives called Canada,
CaHier says, Hz appellent luie Ville—Canada'"'' Mr. Heckewelder is of much
the same opinion as Charlevoix and Forster. He says, that in a prayer-book
in the Mohawk language, he read " A^e KANADA-g-ong-Zi Konwayatsk JVazareth,"

which was a translation of "in a city called Nazareth."

Origin of the JVame Yankee.—Anbury, an author who did not respect the

Americans, any more than many others who have been led captive by them, haa
the following pai'agraph upon this word|—"The lower class of these YaU'
kees—apropos, it may not be amiss here just to observe to you the etymology
of this term : it is dei-ived from a Cherokee word, eankke, which signifies

cowai'd and slave. This epithet of yankee was bestowed upon the inhabitants

of N. England by the Virginians, for not assisting them in a war with the
Cherokees, and they have always been held in derision by it. But the name
has been more prevalent since [1775] the commencement of hostilities ; the
soldiery at Boston used it as a term of reproach ; but after the aflfair at Bun-
ker's Hill, the Americans gloried in it. Yankee-doodle is now their pecan, a
favorite of favorites, played in their army, esteemed as warlike as the grena-
dier's march—it is the lover's spell, the nurse's lullaby. After our rapid suc-
cesses, we held the yankees in great contempt ; but it was not a little n;orti-

fying to hear them play this tune, when their army marched down to our sur-
render." §
But Mr. Heckewelder thinks that the Indians, in endeavoring to pronounce

the name English, could get that sound no nearer than these lettei*s give it,

yengees. This was perhaps the true origin of Yankee.

A singidar Stratagem to escape ToHure.—"Some years ago the Shawano
Indian^:, being obliged to remove from their habitations, in their way took a
Muskohge warrior, known by the name of old Scrany, prisoner ; they bas-
tinadoed him severely, and condemned him to the fiery torture. He under-

* The authors who have aJcpled this opinion, are Doctor Mather, [Mag-nalia, B. viii. 71 ;]

Harris, [Voyages, ii. 349 ;] Moll, Rieog. ii. 194;] J. Long, [Vojag-es and Travels, 2 ;] Boz-
man, [Maryland, 35 ;] Moulton, [N. York, i. 131 ;] Martin, [Louisiana, i. 7.]

Josselijn and Jeff'njs seem to be without company as well as authorities for their derivations.
The former [N. England Rarities, .5] says, Canada was " so called from Monsieur Cane."
The latter [Hist. America, 1] says, " Canada, in the Indian language, signifies the Mouth of
the Country, from can, mouth, and ada, the country."

t Quelques-unes derivent ce nom du mot Iroquois Kannata, qui se prononce Canada, el sig-
uifie un amas de cabannes. Hist. Nouv. France, i. 9.

t Travels through the Interior Parts of North America, 1776, &c. vol. ii. 46,47. Ajiburv
was an officer in General Biirgoyne's army, and was among the captives surrendered ar

Saratoga.

$ This derivation is almost as ludicrous as thai given by Irriut: in his Knirkerbncker
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went a great deal witlioiit sliowing any concern ; his countenance and beha-
vior were as it' he sutft-ixd not the least pain. He told his. persecutors with a
bold voice, that he was a warrior ; that he had gained most of his nsartial

reputation at the expense of their nation, and \\as desirous of showuig them,
in the act of dying, that he was still as much their superior, as when he headet"
his gallant countrymen : that although he had fallen into their hands, and for-

feited tlie protection of the divine power by some impurity or other, when
carrying the holy ark of war against his devoted enemies, yet he had so much
remaining virtue as would enable him to punish himself more exquisitely than
all their despicable, ignorant crowd possibly could ; and that he would do so,

if they gave him liberty by untying hinj, and handing him one of the red-hot
gun-barrels out ofthe fire. The proposal, and his method of address, appeared
60 exceedingly bold and uncommon, that his request was granted. Then
suddenly seizing one end of the red-hot barrel, and brandishing it from side
to side, leaped down a prodigious steep and high bank into a branch of the
river, dived through it, ran o\'er a small island, and passed the other branch,
amidst a shower of bullets ; and though numbers of his enemies were in close

pursuit of him, he got into a bramble-swamp, through which, though naked
and in a mangled condition, he reached his own countiy."

^n unparalleled Case of Suffenng.—"The Shawano Indians captured a
warrior of the Anantoocah nation, and put him to the stake, according to their

usual cruel solemnities: having unconcernedly suffered much torture, he told

them, with scorn, they did not know how to punish a noted enemy; therefore
lie was willing to teach them, and would confirm the truth of his assertion if

they allowed him theopportunitj'. Accordingly lie requested of them a pipe
and some tobacco, which was given him ; as soon as he had lighted ir, he sat

down, naked as he was, on the women's burning torches, that were within his

circle, and continued smoking his pipe without the least discomposure : On
this a head warrior leaped np, and said, they saw^ |)lain enough that he was a
warrior, and not afraid of dying, nor should he have died, only that he was
both spoiled by the fire, and devoted to it by their laws ; however, though he
was a very dangerous enemy, and his nation a treacherous people, it should
be seen that they paid a regard to bruveiy, even in one who was marked with
war streaks at the cost of many of the lives of their beloved kindred; and then

by way of favor, he with his friendly tomahawk instantly put an end to all his

pains." *

Ignorance the Offspring of absurd Opinions.—The resolution and courage of
the Indians, says Colonel Rogers, " luider sickness and pain, is truly surpris-

ing. A young woman will be in labor a whole day without uttering one
groan or cry ; should she betray such a weakness, they would innnediately

say, that she was unworthy to be a mother, and that her ofi'spring could not
fail of being cowards." f

j1 M)rtlitrn Custom.—When ]\lr. Hearne was on the Coppermine Iliver, in

1771, some of the Copy)er Indians in his company killed a number of lOsqui-

maux, by which act they considered themselves unclean ; and all concerned
in the murder were not allowed to cook any provisions, either for themselves
or others. They were, however, allowed to eat of others' cooking, but uot
until they had painted, with a kind of red earth, all the space between their

nose and chin, as well as a greater |)art of their cheeks, almost to their ears.

N'either would they use any other dish or pil)e, than their own. J

Jlnolher Pocahontas.—While Lewis and Clarke were on the shore of the

Pacific Ocean, in 1805, one of their men went one evening into a village of
the Killamuk Indians, alone, a small distance from his jtarty, and on the

opposite side of a creek from that of the encami)nicnt. A strange Indian
happened to be there also, \\ ho expressed great respect and love lor the white

• The two preceding relations are from l.oni/s \'iui,'ges and 'rrareis,12 and 73. a book of
iiiiall preloiisioDs, l>ui one of the best on Iiidinn liisUir\ . Its autlior lived among tlic Indiiini

o( ilie Norlli-VVesi, as an Indian trader, abont 19 ycais.

t Concise Account of N. Amnica, 2I'2. f Jmtrveii In the IVotfhern Oaan, 205.
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man ; but in reality he meant to murder him for the articles he had about him
This happened to come to the knowledge of a Chinnook Avoman, and she
determined at once to save his life : therefore, when the white man was about
to retuj-u to his companions, the Indian was going to accompany him, and kill

liim in the way. As they were about to set out, the woman caught the white
man by the clothes, to prevent his going with the Indian. He, not under-
standing her intention, pulled away from her ; but as a last resort, she ran out

and shrieked, which raised the men in every direction ; and the Indian
became alai-med for his own safety, and made his escape before the while
man knew he had been in danger.

Self-comtnand in Time of Danger.—Thex-e was in Carolina a noted chief of
the Yamoisces, who, in the year 1702, with about 600 of his countrymen,
went with Colonel Daniel and Colonel Moore against the Spaniards in Flori-

da. His name was Arratommakaio. When the English were obliged to

abeuidon their undertaking, and as they were retreating to their boats, they
became alai-med, supposing the Spaniards were upon them. Arratommakaw,
having arrived at the boats, was reposing himself upon his oars, and was fast

asleep. The soldiers rallied him for being so slow in his retreat, and ordered
him to make more haste: "But he replied, 'No

—

though your governor
LEAVES TOU, I WILL NOT STIR TILL I HAVE SEEN ALL MY MEN BEFORE ME.'

"

Indifference.—Archihau was a sachem of Maryland, whose residence was
upon the Potomack, when that countiy was settled by the English in 1633-4.
The place of his residence Avas named, like the river, Potomack. As usual
with the Indians, he received the English under Governor Calvert with great

attention. It should be noted, that Archihau was not head sachem of the
Potomacks, but governed instead of his nephew, who was a child, and who,
like the head men of Virginia, was. called weroivance. From this place the

colonists sailed 20 leagues farther up the river, to a place called Piscattaway.
Here a werowance went on board the governor's pinnace, to treat with him.
On being asked whether he was willing the English should settle in his

country, in case they found a place convenient for them, he made answer,
" / ivill not bid you go, neither loill I bid you stay, but you may use your oivn

discretion." *

Their JVotions of the Learning of the JVhites.—At the congress at Lancaster,
in 1744, between the government of Virginia and the Five Nations, the
Indians were told that, if they would send some of their young men to Vir-

ginia, the English would give them an education at their college. An orator

replied to this offer as follows :—" We know that you highly esteem the kind
of learning taught in those colleges, and that the maintenance of our young
men, while with you, would be very expensive to you. We are convinced,
therefore, that you mean to do us good by your proposal, and we thank you
heartily. But you who are wise must know, that different nations have differ-

ent conceptions of things ; and you will therefore not take it amiss, if our ideas
of this kind of education happen not to be the same with yours. We have
had some experience of it : several of our young people were formerly brought
up at the colleges of the northern provinces ; they were instructed in all your
sciences ; but when they came back to us, they were bad runners ; ignorant
of every means of living in the woods; unable to ''car either cold or hunger;
knew neither how to build a cabin, take a deer, or kill an enemy ; sjioke our
language imperfectly ; were therefore neither fit for hunters, warriors, or
counsellors ; they were totally good for nothing. We are, however, not the
less obliged by your kind offer, though we decline accepting it: and to show
our grateful sense of it, if the gentlemen of Virginia will send us a dozen of
their sons, we will take great care of their education, instruct them in all we
know, and make men of them." f

Success of a Missionary.—Those who have attempted to Christianize the

Indians complain that they are too silent, and that their taciturnity was the

greatest difficulty with which they have to contend. Theu- notions of pro

* Oldmixrm. [Hist. Marylanrl.] f Fninklhi's Essavs
4*
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priety upon malters of conversation are so nice, that tliej deem it improper,
in tlie highest degree, even to deny or contradict any thing that is said, at the
time ; and hence the difficulty of knowing what effect any thing has upon
then- minds at the time of delivery. In this they have a proper advantage

;

for how often does it happen that people would answer very differently upon
a matter, were they to consider upon it but a short time! The Indians seldom
answer a matter of importance the same day, lest, in so doing, they should be
thought to have treated it as though it was of small consequence. JVe oftener
repent of a hasty decision, than that we have lost time in maturing our judg-
ments. Now for the anecdote: and as it is from the Essays of Dr. Fra \klm,

it shall be told in his own way.
"A Swedish minister, having assembled the ciiiefs of the Susquehannah

Indians, made a sermon to them, acquainting them with the principal historical

facts on which oiw religion is founded ; such as the fall of our first parents by
eating an apple ; the coming of Christ to repair the mischief; his miracles
and sufferings, &c.—When he had linished, an Indian orator stood up to

thank liim. ' What you have told us,'' said he, ' is all vtri/ good. It is indeed
bad to eat apples. It is better to make them all into cider. JVe are much obliged
by your kindness in coming so far to tell us those things, which you have heard

from your mothers.^

"When the Indian had told the missionary one of the legends of his nation,

now they had been supplied with maize or corn, beans, and tobacco,* he
treated it with contempt, and said, ' What I delivered to you were sacred
truths ; but what you tell me is mere fable, fiction, and falsehood.' The
Indian felt indignant, and replied, ^ My brother^ it seems your fnends have not

done you justice in your education ; they have not well instructed you in the ndes

of common civility. You see that we, who understand and practise those ndes,

.

believe all your stories : wby do you refuse to believe ours ?
'

"

Curiosity.—" When any of tlie Indians come into our towns, our people are

apt to crowd round them, gaze upon them, and incommode them where they

desire to be private; this tiiey esteem great rudeness, and tiie effect of the

want of instruction in the rubs of civility and good manners. ' fVe have,'' say

they, ' as much curiosity as you, and when you come into our towns, we ivish for
opportunities of looking at you ; but for this purpose we hide ourselves behind

bushes where you are to pass, and never intrude ourselves into your company.^ "

Rules of Conversation.—"The business of the women is to take exact notice

of what passes, imprint it in their memories, (for they have no writing,) and
communicate it to their children. They are the records of the council, and
they preserve tradition of the stipulations in treaties a hundred years back,
which, when we compare with our writings, we always find exact. He that

would speak rises. The rest observe a profound silence. When he has
finished, and sits down, they leave him five or six minutes to recollect, that, if

he has omitted any thing he intended to s.iy, or has any thing to add, he may
rite again, and deliver it. To interrupt another, even in common convei-sa-

ticn, is reckoned highly itulect lit. How different this is from the conduct of
a i/olite British House of Commons, where scarce a day jiasses without some
confusion, that makes the speaker hoarse in calling to order ; and how different

from the mode of conversation in many polite companies of Europe, where,
if you do not deliver your seiitinc(^ with great rapidity, you are cut otf in the

middle of it by the impjitient loquacity of those yoii converse with, and never
suffered to finish it!"—Instead of being better since the days of J-yanklin, we
apprehend it has grown worse. The modest and unassuming ofien find it

exceeding difficult to gain a hearing at all. Ladies, and many who consider

themselves examples of good manners, transgress to an insufferable degree, in

breaking in upon the conversjitions of otlicrs. Some of these, like a ship

* Tlic story of iho licmitifiil wom.nn, wlio Hescpiided to ilie carili, and was fed hy the

Inilians, Btack-Ilawk is made lo tell, in liis life, paM 78. It is die same often told, and
alluded to by Franklin, in llic text. To reward llie Indians for llicir kindness, she raused
corn lo (jrow wlierc iier rig'ht linnd lourlieil die carlh, beans where ilie left rested, and tobacco
where she was sealed
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driven by a north-wester, bearing down the small cratt in her course, come
upon us by surprise, and if we attempt to proceed by raising our voices a
little, we are sure to be drowned by a much greater elevation on their part.

It is a want of good breeding, which, it is hoped, every young person whose
eye this may meet, will not be guilty of through life. There is great oppor-
tunity for many of mature years to profit by it.

Lost Confidence.—An Indian runner, arriving in a village of his countrymenj
requested the immediate attendance of its inhabitants in council, as he wanted
their answer to important information. The people accordingly assembled,
but when the messenger had with great anxiety delivered his message, and
waited for an answer, none was given, and he soon observed that he was like-

ly to be left alone in his place. A stranger present asked a principal chief the

meaning of this strange proceeding, who gave this answer, " He once told

us a lie,"

Comic.—An Indian having been found frozen to death, an inquest of his

countrymen was convened to determine by what means he came to such a

death. Their verdict was, "Death from the freezing of a great quantity of
water inside of him, which they were of opinion he had drunken for rum."

A seiious (Question.—About 1794, an officer presented a western chief with

a medal, on one side of which President Washington was represented as armed
with a sword, and on the other an Indian was seen in the act of burying the

hatchet. The chief at once saw the wrong done his countrymen, and very
wisely asked, " Why does not the President bury his sword too ? " *

Self-esteem.—A white man, meeting an Indian, accosted him as brother. The
red man, with a great expression of meaning in his countenance, inquired

how they came to be brothers; the white man replied, O, by way of Adam, i

suppose. The Indian added, "Me thank him Great Spirit we no nearer brothers."

A Preacher taken at his Word.—A certain clergyman had for his text on a

time, " Vmo and pay unto the Lord thy vows." An Indian happened to be

present, who stepped up to the priest as soon as he had finished, and said to

him, " Now me voiv me go home with you, Mr. Minister." The priest, having

no language of evasion at command, said, " You must go then." When he had
arrived at the home of the minister, the Indian vowed again, saying, " Now
me vow me have supper." When this was finished he said, "Me vow me stay

all night." The priest, by this time, thinking himself sufficiently taxed, re-

plied, " It may be so, but I vojf you shall go in the morning." The Indian,

judging from the tone of his host, that more voivs would be useless, departed

in the morning sans ch'imonie.

A case of signal Barbarity.—It is related by Black Hawk, in his life, that

some time before the war of 1812, one of the Indians had killed a French-
man at Prairie des Chiens. " The British soon after took him prisoner, and
said they would shoot him next day ! His family were encamped a short dis-

tance below the mouth of the Ouisconsin. He begged permission to go and
see them that night, as he was to die the next day '. They permitted him to go
after promising to return the next morning by sunrise. He visited his family,

which consisted of a wife and six children. I cannot describe their meeting
and parting, to be understood by the whites ; as it appears that their feelings

are acted upon by certain rules laid down by \heir preachers

!

—whilst ours are

governed only by the monitor within us. He parted from his wife and chil-

dren, hurried thi-ough the prairie to the fort, and arrived in time ! The sol-

diers were ready, and immediately marched out and shot him down!!"—If tins

were not cold-blooded, deliberate murder, on the part of the whites, I have
no conception of what constitutes that crime. What were the circumstances
)f the murder we are not informed ; but whatever they may have been, they

cannot excuse a still greater barbarity. I would not by any means be under-

stood to advocate the cause of a murderer; but I will ask, whether crime is

to be prevented by crime : murder for murder is only a brutal retaliation, ex-

cept where the safety of a community requires the sacrifice.

' Elliot's Works 178.
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Mourning much in a sfiort Time.—" A young widow, whose husband had
been dead about eight clays, was hastening to finish her grief, in order that

she might be married to a young warrior: she was determined, therefore, to

gi-ieve much in a short time ; to this eud she tore her hair, drank spirits, and
beat her breast, to make the tears flow abundantly, by which means, on the
evening of the eighth clay, she was ready again to marry, having grieved suf-

fieiently." *

How to evade a hard (^mslion.—" When iVIr. Gist wint over the Alleganies,
in Feb. 1751, on a tour of discovery for the Ohio Company, 'an Indian, who
spoke good English, came to him, and said that their gn at man, the Beaver,\ and
Captain Oppamyluah, (two chiefs of the Delawares,) desired to know where
the Indians' land lay; for the French claimed all the land on one side of the
Ohio River, and the English on the other.' This cpiestiou Mr. Gist found it

hard to answer, and he evaded it by saying, that the Indians and white men
were all subjects to the same king, and all had an equal privilege of taking
up and possessing the land in conformity with the conditions prescribed by
the king."t

Credulity its own Punishment.—The traveller fVansey, according to his own
account, would not enter into conversation with an eminent chief, because he
had heard that it had been said of him, that he had, in his time, "shed blood
enough to swim in." He had a great desire to become acc|uainted with the
Indian character, but his credulity debarred him effectually from the gratifi-

cation. The chief was a Creek, named Flamingo, who, in company with
another called Double-head^ visited Philadelphia as ambassadors, in the sum-
mer of 1794. Few travellej-s discover such scrupulousness, especially those
who come to America. That Flamingo was more bloody than other Indian
warriors, is in no wise probable ; but a mere report of his being a great shed-
der of blood kept Mr. fVansey from saying any more about him.

Just Indignation.—Hatuay, a powerful chief of Hispaniola, having fleil

fi'oin thence to avoid slavery or death when that island was ravaged by the

Spaniards, was taken in 1511, when they conquered Cuba, and burnt at the

Btake. After being bound to the stake, a Franciscan friar labored to couveit

him to the Catholic faith, by promises of immediate and eternal bliss in the

world to come if he would believe ; and that, if he would not, eternal tor-

ments were his only portion. The cazique, with seeming composure, asked
if there were any Spaniards in those regions of bliss. On being answered
that there were, he replied, " Then I will not go to a place where 1 may mctt

with one of that accursed race."

Hamdess Deception.—In a time of Indian troubles, an Indian visited the

house of Governor Jenks, of Rhode Island, when the governor took occasion
to request him, that, if any strange Indian should come to his wigwam, to let

him know it, which the Indian promised to do; but to secure his fidelity, the

governor told him that when ho should give him such information, he would
give him a mug of fli|). Some time after the Indian came again : " Well, Mr.
Gubenor, strange Indian come my house last night!" "Ah," says the govern-
or, "and what did he say?" "lie no speak," replied the Indian. "What, no
apeak at all ?" added the governor. " No, he no speak at all." "That certaiidy

looks sus|jicious," said his excellency, and inquired if he were still there, and
being tol<l that he was, ordered the promised nnig of flip. When this was
disposed of, and the Iwdian was about to dcjjart, he mildly siful, "Mr. Gube-
nor, my squaw have child last night; "and thus the governor's alarm was
suddenly changed into disappointment, and the strange Indian into a new-
born pap|)oose.

.Mammoth Bones.—The followiiiL' very interesting tradition concerning
these bones, among the In<lians, will always be read with interest. The ani-

mal to which they once belonged, they called the Big Buffalo ; and on the

• Acroiml of llic United Slates by Mr. Isaac Hnlmfs, 3().

t Probably the same we iiavc iiotipcfl in Book V. as Kini^ ftenn-r

I Sparks's Wasliiiigton, ii, 1.').

J
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early maps of the country of the Ohio, we see marked, " Elephants' bones said

to be found here." They were, for some time, by many supposed to liave been
the bones of that animal ; but they are pretty generally now believed to have

belonged to a species of animal long since extinct. They have been found

in various parts of the country ; but in the greatest abundance about the salt

Jicks or springs in Kentucky and Ohio. There has never been an entire

skeleton found, although tlie one in Peale^s museum, in Philadelphia, was so

near perfect, that, by a little ingenuity in supplying its defects with wood-
work, it passes extremely well for such.

The tradition of the Indians concerning this animal is, that he was carniv-

orous, and existed, as late as 1780, in the northern parts of America. Some
Delawares, in the time of the revolutionary war, visited the governor of Vir-

ginia on business, which having been finished, some questions were put to

them concerning their countiy, and especiallj' what they knew or had heard
respecting the animals whose bones had been found about the salt licks on
the Ohio River. " The chief speaker," continues our author, Mr. Jefferson,

"immediately put himself into an attitude of oratory, and, with a pomp suited

to what he conceived the elevation of his subject," began and repeated as

follows :—" In ancient times, a herd of these tremendous animals came to the

Big-bone Licks, and began an universal destruction of the bear, deer, elks, buffa-

loes, and other animals, which had been created for the use of the Indians : the

great man above, looking down and seeing this, ivas so enraged, that he seized his

lightning, descended to the earth, and seated himself on a neighboring mountain,
on a rock of which his seat and the print of his feet are still to be seen, and hurled

his bolts among them till the tvhole were slaughtered, except the big bull, tvho,

presenting his forehead to the shafts, shook them off as they fell ; but missiiig one

at length, it wounded him in the side ; whereon, springing round, he bounded over

the Ohio, over the Wabash, the Illinois, and, finally, over the great lakes, where he

is living at this day.^'

Such, say the Indians, is the account handed down to them from their

ancestors, and they could furnish no other information.

JVarrative of the Captivity and bold Exploit of Hannah Duston.—The rela-

tion of this affair forms the XXV. article in the Decennium Luctuosum of the
Magnalia Christi Americana, by Dr. Cotton Mather, and is one of the best-

written articles of all we have read from his pen. At its head is this signifi-

cant sentence—Dux Fsemina Facti.

On the 15 March, 1697, a band of about 20 Indians came unexpectedly
upon Haverhill, in Massachusetts ; and, as their numbers were small, they

made their attack with the swiftness of the whirlwind, and as suddenly disap-

peared. The war, of which this iiTuption was a part, had continued nearly
ten years, and soon afterwards it came to a close. The house which this

party of Indians had singled out as their object of attack, belonged to one Mr.
Thomas * Duston or Duflstan,] in the outskirts of the town. \ Mr. Duston was
at work, at some distance from his house, at the time, and whether he was
alarmed for the safety of his family by the shouts of the Indians, or other
cause, we are not informed ; but he seems to have arrived there time enough
before the amval of the Indians, to make some arrangements for the preserva-

tion of his children ; but his wife, who, but about a week before, had been
confined by a child, was unable to rise from her bed, to the distraction of her
agonized husband. No time was to be lost ; Mr. Duston had only time to

direct his children's flight, (seven in number,) the extremes of whose ages were
two and seventeen, and the Indians Avere upon them. With his gun, the

distressed father mounted his horse, and rode away in the direction of tlic

children, whom he overtook but about 40 rods from the house His finsT

intention was to take up one, if possible, and escape with it. He had no
sooner overtaken them, than this resolution was destroyed ; for to rescue either

to the exclusion of the rest, was worse than death itself to him. He therefore

faced about and met the enemy, who had closely pursued him ; each fired

* Mr. Myrick's Hist. Haverhill, 86. t Hutchinson.

X Eight houses were destroyed at this time, 27 persons killed, and 13 carried away capiivp
In Mr. B. L Myrick's History of Haverhill, are the names of the slain. &r.
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upon the other, and it is almost a miracle that none of the little retreating

paity were hurt. The Indians did not pursue long, from fear of raising the

neighboring English before they could complete their object, and hence this

part of the family escaped to a place of safety.

We are now to enter fully into the relation of this very tragedy. There
was living in the house of Mr. Dusion, as nurse, Mrs. Mary J^eff",* a widow,
whose heroic conduct in sharing the fate of her mistress, when escape was
in her power, will always be viewed with admiration. The Indians were
now in the undisturbed possession of the house, and having driven the

sick woman from her bed, compelled her to sit quietly in tiie corner of the

fii'e-place, while they completed the pillage of the house. This business

being finished, it was set on fire, and Mrs. Duston, who before considered

herself unable to walk, was, at the apjuoach of night, obliged to march
into the wilderness, and take her bed upon the cold ground. Mrs. A''eff too

iate attempted to escape with the infant child, but was intercepted, the child

taken from her, and its brains beat out against a neighboring apple-tree, while

its nurse was compelled to accompany her new and frightful masters also

The captives amounted in all to 13, some of whom, as they became unable to

travel, were murdered, and left exposed upon the way. Although it was neai

night when they quitted Haverhill, they travelled, as they judged, 12 miles

before encam})ing ; "and then," says Dr. Mather, "kept up with their new
masters in a long travel of an hundred and fifty miles, more or less, within a

few days ensuing." f

After journeying awhile, according to their custom, the Indians divided their

prisoners. Mrs. Duston., Mrs. JVeff, and a boy named Samuel Leonardson, \ who
had been captivated at Worcester, about 18 months before, fell to the lot of

an Indian family, consisting of twelve persons,—two men, three women, and
eeven children. These, so far as our accounts go, were very kind to their

prisoners, but told them there was one ceremony which tJiey could not avoid,

and to which they would be subjected when they should arrive at their place

of destination, which was to run the gantlet. The place where this was to be
performed, was at an Indian village, 250 miles from Haverhill, according to

the reckoning of the Indians. In their meandering course, they at length

aiTived at an island in the mouth of Contookook River, about six miles above

Concord, in New Hampshire. Here one of the Indian men resided. It had

been detennined by the captives, before ihcir arrival, that an eftbrt

should be made to free themselves from their wretched captivity ; and not

only to gain their liberty, but, as we shall presently see, something by way of

remuneration from those who held them in bondage. The heroine, Duston,

had resolved, upon the first opportunity that offered any chance of success, to

kill her ca|)tors and scalp them, and to return home with such trophies as

would clearly establish her re|)utation lor heroism, as well as insure her a

bounty from the public. She therefore conununicated her design to Mrs.

J^eff and the English boy, who, it would seem, readily enough agreed to it.

To the art of killing and scal|»ing she was a stranger ; and, that there should

be no faihno in the business, Mrs. Diuiton instructed the boy, who, from his

long residence with them, had bcconx' as one of the Indians, to inquire of one

of the men how it was done. lie did so, and the Indian showed him, with-

out mistrusting the origin of the inquiry. It was now March the 31, and in

the dead of the night following this bloody tragedy was acted. When the

Indians wer(! in the most sound slee[), these three captives arose, and softly

arming themselves with the tomahawks of their mastei-s, allotted the number
each should kill ; and so truly did they direct their blows, that but one escai)e(l

that they designed to kill. This was a woman, whom they badly wounded,

and one boy, for some reason they did not wish to harm, and accordingly he

was allowed to esca|)e iinhm't. Mrs. Ditstou killed her master, and Leonard-

son killed the man who had so freely told him, but one day before, where to

deal a deadly blow, and how to take off" a scalp.

* She was a (lnu<!jlitcr of George Cnrtiss, niul married iVilliam Neff, who went after llie

army, and died at I'enininqnid, Feb. 1G88. Mtjrirlc, Hist. Havl. 87.

\ Their course was |irol>iil>lv very indirecl. lo eliifl» xnrsuit. } Hisl. Haverhill. 89
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All was over before tlje dawn of day, and all things were got ready for

leaving this place of blood. All the boats but one were scuttled, to prevent

being pursued, and, with what provisions and arms the Indian camp afforded,

they embarked on board the otlier, and slowly and silently took the course of

the Merrimack River for their homes, where they all soon after arrived with-

out accident.

The whole country was astonished at the relation of the affair, the truth of

which was never for a moment doubted. The ten scalps, and the arms of the

Indians, were evidences not to*be questioned ; and the general court gave

them fifty pounds as a reward, and numerous other gratuities were showered
upon them. Colonel JVicholson, governor of Maryland, hearing of the transac-

tion, sent them a generous present also.

Eight other houses were attacked besides Duston^s, the owners of which,

says the historian of that town, Mr. Mynck, in every case, were slain while

defending them, and the blood of each stained his own door-sill.

JVarrative of the Destruction of Schenectady*—This was an event of great

distress to the whole country, at the time it happened, and we are able to give

some new facts in relation to it from a manuscript, which, we believe, has

never before been published. These facts are contained in a letter from Gov-
3rnor Bradstreet, of Massachusetts, to Governor Hinckley, of Plimouth, dated

about a month after the affair. They are as follow :—" Tho' you cannot but

have heard of the horrid massacre committed by the French and Indians at

Senectada, a fortified and well compacted town 20 miles above Albany (which

we had an account of by an express,) yet we think we have not discharged

our duty till you hear of it from us. 'Twas upon the Eiglilh of February

[1689-90] at midnight when those poor secure wretches were surprised by
the enemy. Their gates were open, no watch kept, and hardly any order

obsei*ved in giving and obeying commands. Sixty of them were butchered in

the place ; of whom Lieut. Talmage and four more were of Capt. BulVs com-
pany, besides five of said company carried captive. By this action tlie French
have given us to understand what we may expect from them as to the fron-

tier towns and seaports of New England. We are not so well acquainted

what number of convenient Havens you have in your colony, besides those of

Plimouth and Bristol. We hope your prudence and vigilance will lead you
to take such measures as to prevent the landing of the enemy at either of
those or any such like place." f

We now proceed to give such other facts as can be gathered from the

numerous printed accounts. It appears that the government of Canada had
planned several expeditions, previous to the setting out of this, against variouB

important points of the English frontier,—as much to gain the warriors of the

Five Nations to their interest, as to distress the English. Governor De jVoJt-

vUle had sent over several chief sachems of the Iroquois to France, wheiie,

as usual upon such embassies, great pains were taken to cause them to enter-

tain the highest opinions of the glory and greatness of the French nation.

Among them was Taiveraket, a reno^vned warrior, and two othei-s. It appears
that, during their absence in France, the great war between their countrymen
and the French had ended in the destruction of Montreal, and other places, as

will be seen detailed in our Fifth Book. Hence, when Count Frontenac

arrived in Canada, in the fall of 1689, instead of finding the Iroquois ready to

join him and his forces which he had brought fi-om France for the conquest
of New York, he found himself obliged to set about a reconciliation of them.
He therefore wisely despatched Taweraket, and the two others, upon that

design. The Five Nations, on being called upon by these chiefs, would take

no step without first notifying the English at Albany that a council was to be

called. The blows which had been so lately given the French of Canada,
had lulled the English into a fatal security, and they let this council pass with
too littie attention to its proceedings. On the other hand, the French werj

* This was the German name of a pine barren, such as stretches itself betsveen Albany and
Schenectady, over which is now a rail-road.

t French ships, with leind forces and munitions, had, but a short time before, hovered upon
(be coast
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fully and ably represented ; and tlie result was, the existing breach was set in

a fair way to be closed up. This great council was begun 22 Januarj', 1690
and consisted of eighty sachems. It was opened by Sadekanaghtie,* a great

Oneida chief.

Meanwhile, to give employment to the Indians who yet remained their

friends, the expedition was begun which ended in tiie destruction of Schenec-
tady. Chief Justice Sm{th\ wrote his account of that affair from a manuscript
letter left by Colonel Schuyler, at that time mayor of Albany ; and it is the
most particular of any account yet published. It is as follows, and beai's date
15 February, 1689:—
After two-and-twenty days' march, the enemy fell in with Schenectady,

Februaiy 8. There were about 200 French, and perliaps 50 Caughnewaga
Mohawks, and they at first intended to have surprised Albany ; but their

march had been so long and tedious, occasioned by the deejiness of the snow
and coldness of the weather, that, instead of attempting any thing offensive,

they had nearly decided to surrender themselves to the first English they

should meet, such was their distressed situation, in a camp of snow, but a few
miles from the devoted settlement. The Indians, however, saved them from
the disgrace. They had sent out a small scout from their party, who entered

Schenectady without even exciting suspicion of their errand. When they hari

staid as long as the nature of their business required, they withdrew to their

fellows.

Seeing that Schenectady offered such an easy prey, it put new courage into

the French, and they came upon it as above related. The bloody tragedy
commenced between 11 and 12 o'clock, on Saturday night ; and, that every
house might be surprised at nearly the same time, the enemy divided them-
selves into parties of six or seven men each. Although the to^^^l was impaled,
no one thought it necessary to close the gates, even at night, presuming the

severity of the season was a sufficient security ; hence the fii-st news of the

approach of the enemy was at every door of every house, which doors were
broken as soon as the profound slumbers of those they were intended to guiu'd.

The same inhuman barbarities now followed, that were afterwards perj)etrated

upon the wretched inhabitants of Montreal. | "No tongue," said Colonel
Schuyler, " can express the cruelties that were committed." Sixty-three

houses, and the church, § were immediately in a blaze. Encicnte women,
in their expiring agonies, saw their infants cast into the flames, being hrst

delivered by the knile of the midnight assassin! Sixty-three
||

persons were
[)Ut to death, and twenty-seven were carried into captivity.

A few ])ersons fled towards Albany, with no other covering but their night-

clothes; the horror of whose condition was greatly enhanced by a great lall

of snow ; 25 of whom lost their limbs fiom the severity of the frost. With
tl>cse ])Oor fugitives came the intelligence to Al!)any, and that |)lacc was in

dismal confusion, having, as usual upon such occasions, sui)po'8ed the eneuiy
to have been seven times more numerous than they really were. About noon,
the next day, the enemy set off from Schenectady, taking all the |)hmder I hey
could carry with them, among which were forty of the best hoi-ses. The rost,

with all the cattle and other domestic animals, lay slaughtered in the streets.

One of the most considerable men of Schenectady, at this time, was Cai)tain

Alexander G7e??. If He lived on the opposite side of the river, and was sufii-red

to esca|)e, because he had delivered many French j)risonors fiom torture and
slavery, who had been taken by the Indians in the former wars. They had
passed his house in the night, and, during the massacre, he had taken the

alarm, and in the morning he was fouud ready to det'cnd himself 15('l<)re

l(!aving the village, a I'^rcnch ollicer suunnonccl him to a c;uncil, upon the

shore of the ri\cr, with the tender of jnusonal safety, lie at length adventured
iiovvn, and had tlit^ great satisfaction of having all his captured friends and
relatives delivered to him ; and the enemy departed, keeping good their

promise that no injury should be done him.
||

* Saclas^eeyias^litie in Pownal on tlic Colonies, I. 398. t Hist. N. York
( Sec Hook V. ^ Spaford. \\ColJen.]}:)
11 Cliiirliioij- cjilU liini Tin Sii'iir Ciuiilif.
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The great Mohawk castle was about 17 miles from Scheiiectadj', and they

did not hear of the massacre until two days after, owing to the state of
travelling. On receiving the news, they immediately joined a party of men
from Albany, and pursued the enemy. After a tedious pursuit, they fell upon
their rear, killed and took 25 of them, and did them some other damage. Sev-

eral chief sachems soon assembled at Albany, to condole with the people, and
animate them against leaving the place, which, it seems, they were about to

do. From a speech of one of the chiefs on this occasion, the following extract

is preserved :

—

" Brethren, we do not think that what the French have done can be called

a victory ; it is only a further proof of their cruel deceit. The governor of
Canada sent to Onondago, and talks to us of peace with our whole house ; but

war was in his heart, as you now see bj' woful experience. He did the same
formerly at Cadaracqui, * and in the Senecas' country. This is the third time
he lias acted so deceitfully. He has broken open our house at both ends

;

formerly in he Senecas' country, and now here. We hope to be revenged
on them."

Accordingly, when messengers came to renew and conclude the treaty

which had been begun by Taweraket, before mentioned, they were seized and
handed over to the English. They also kept out scouts, and harassed the

French in every direction.

We will now proceed to draw from Charlevoix^ account of this affair, which
is very minute, as it respects the operations of the French and Indians. Not-
withstanding its great importance in a correct history of the sacking of Sche-
nectady, none of our historians seem to havegiven themselves the trouble of
Ifiying it before their readers.

Governor Frontenac, having determined upon an expedition, gave notice to

M. de la Durantaye, who then commanded at Michilimakinak, that he might
assure the Hurons and Ottawas, that in a short time they would see a great

change in affairs for the better. He prepared at the same time a large convoy
to reinforce that post, and he took measures also to raise three war parties,

who should enter by tliree different routes the country of the English. The
first assembled at Montreal, and consisted of about 110 men, French and
Indians, and was put under the command of MM. (TMlebout de Mantel, and
le Moine de St. Helene, two lieutenants, under whom MM. de Repentigny.

d'Iberville, de Bonrepos, de la Brosse, and de Montigni, requested permis-
sion to serve as volunteers.

This party marched out before they had determined against what part of
the English frontier they would carry their arms, though some part of New
York was understood. Count Frontenac had left that to the two commanders.
After they had marched five or six days, they called a council to determine
upon what place they would attempt. In this council, it was debated, on the

part of the French, that Albany would be the smallest place they ought to

undertake; but the Indians would not agree to it. They contended that, with
their small force, an attack upon Albany would be attended with extreme
hazard. The French being strenuous, the debate grew warm, and an Indian
chief asked them "how long it was since they had so much courage." To
this severe rebuke it was answered, that, if by some past actions they had
discovered cowardice, they should see that now they would retrieve their

character ; they would take Albany or die in the attempt. The Indians, how-
ever, would not consent, and the council broke up without agreeing upon any
thing but to proceed on.

They continued their march until they came to a place where their path

divided into two ; one of which led to Albany, and the other to Schenectady:
here Mantel gave up his design upon Albany, and they marched on harmoni-
ously for the former village. The weather was very severe, and for the nine

following days the little army suffered incredible hardships. The men were
often obliged to wade through water up to their knees, breaking its ice at

every step.

* See Book V.



50 a)E8TRUCTI0N OF SCHENECTADY. [Book I

At 4 o'clock ill the moniing, tlie beginning of February, thej' amved within
two leagues of Schenectady. Here tiiey halted, and the Great Agnier, chief
of the Iroquois of the Falls of St. Louis, made a speech to them. He exhorted
every one to forget the hardships they had endured, in the hope of avenging
the wrongs they had for a long time suffered from the perfidious English,
who were the authors of them ; and in the cluse added, that they could not
doubt of the assistance of Heaven against the enemies of God, in a cause
so just.

Hardly had they taken uj) their line of march, when they met 40 Indian
women, who gave them all the necessary information for appioaching the

place in safety. A Canadian, named Gigniere, was detached immediately with
nine Indians upon discovery, wlio acquitted himself to the entire satisfaction

of his officers. He reconnoitred Schenectady at his leisure, and then rejoined
his comrades.

It had been determined hy the party to put off the attack one day longer

;

but on the arrival of the scout under Giguiere, it was resolved to proceed
without delay.

Schenectady was then in form like that of a long square, and entered by
two gates, one at each eud. One oj)ened towards Albany, the other upon the

great road leading into the back country, and which was now possessed by
the French and Indians. Mantd and St. IlcUne charged at the second
gate, which the Indian women before mentioned had assured them was
always open, and they found it so. D^Iberville and Repentigni passed to the

left, in order to enter by the other gate, but, after losing some time in vainly

endeavoring to find it, were obliged to return and enter ^^itll their comrades.
The gate was not only open but unguarded, and the a\ hdle ))arty entered

without being discovered. Dividing themselves into several parties, they

waylaid every portal, and then the war-whoo|) was raised. Mantd Ibrmed
and attacked a garrison, where the oidy resistance of any account was made.
The gate of it was soon forced, and all of the English fell by the sword, and
the garrison was burned. Montigni was wounded, in forcing a house, in his

arm and body by two blows of a lialberd, which put him hors du combat; but

iS^. Helene being come to his assistance, the house was taken, and the wounds
of Montigni revenged by the death of all who had shut themselves up in it.

Nothing was now to be seen but massacre and ])iilage in eveiy place. At
the end of about two hoiu-s, the chiefs, believing it due to their safety, posted

bodies of guards at all the avenues, to prevent surprise, and the rest of the

night was spent in refreshing themselves.

Mantd had given ordei-s that the minister of the place should be spared,

whom he had intended for his own j)risoner; but he was found among tlie

promiscuous dead, and no one knew when he was killed, and all his papers

were burned.

After the place was destroyed, the chiefs ordered all the casks of intoxicat-

ing liquors to be staved, to i)revciit their men from getting drunk. They
next set all the houses on fire, exee|)ting that of a widow, into winch Montigni

had been carried, and another belonging to Major Coudre : they were in num-
1)er about 40, all well built and furnished ; no booty hut that which coidd be
easily transported was saved. The lives of about (30 persons were spared;

chiefly women, childn n, and old men, who had escapeil the fury of the onset,

and 30 Indians who happened to be then in the i)lace. The lives of the

Indians W( re s])ared that they might carry the news of what had happened to

their countrymen, whom they were requested to inlurm, that it w'as not

against them that they intended any harm, but to the English only, whom
they had now despoiled of i)roi)crty to the amount of four hundred thousand

pounds.
They were too near All)any to remain long among the ruins, and they

ile.anq)ed about noon. The i)lumler

—

Montigni, whom it was necessary

to carry—the prisoners, who w«'re to the number of 40—and the want of

provisions, with which they had in their hurry neglected to provide them-

selves—retarded much then* retreat. ISlany would have even died of famine,

^lad they not had 50 horses, of which there remained but six when they
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arrived at Montreal, upon the 27 March following.* Their want of provisions

obliged them to separate, and in an attack which was made upon one party,

three Indians and six Frenchmen were killed or taken ; an attack, which, for

•want of proper caution, cost the army more lives than the capture of Sche-
nectady ; in which they lost but two men, a Frenchman and an Indian.

Murder of Miss Jane McCrea.—This young lady " was the second daughter
of James McCrea, minister of Lamington, New Jersey, who died before the

revolution. After his death, she resided with her brother, Colonel John McCrea
of Albany, who removed in 1773 to the neighborhood of Fort Edwai-d. His
house was in what is now Northumberland, on the west side of the Hudson,
three miles north of Fort Miller Falls. In July or August, 1777, being on a visit

to the family ofMrs. McJVeil, near Fort Edward, at the close of the week, she was
asked to remain until Monday. On Sunday morning, when the Indians came
to the house, she concealed herself in the cellar; but they dragged her out by
the hair, and, pl.-'-'-rsr her on a horse, proceeded on the road towai-ds Sandy
Hill. They soo, rw^ another party of Indians, returning from Argyle, where
they had killed the family of Mr. Bains ; these Lidians disapproved the pur-

pose of taking the captive to the British camp, and one of them struck her
with a tomahawk and tore off her scalp. This is the account given by her
nephew. The account of Mrs. McJVeil is, that her lover, anxious for her
safety, employed two Indians, with the promise of a barrel of rum, to bring

her to him ; and that, in consequence of their dispute for the right of conduct-
ing lier, one of them murdered her. Gen. Gates, in his letter to Gen. Bur^oyne
of 2 September, says, ' she was dressed to receive her promised husband.'

" Her brother, on hearing of her fiite, sent his family the ne.Kt day to Albany,
and, repairing to the American camj), buried his sister, with one Lieutenant

Van Vechten, three miles south of Fort Edward. She was 23 years old, of an
amiable and virtuous character, and highly esteemed by all her acquaintance.

It is said, and was believed, that she was engaged in marriage to Captain
David Jones, of the British army, a loyalist, who survived her only a few
years, and died, as was supposed, of grief for her loss. Her nephew, Colonel
James McCrea, lived at Saratoga, in 1823." f

Under the name of Lucinda, Barlow has dwelt upon this murder in a strain

that may be imitated, but not surpassed. We select from him as follows:

—

"One deed shall tell what fame great Albion draws
From these auxiliars in her barb'rous cause,

—

Lucinda's fate. The tale, 3'e nations, hear ;

Eternal ages, trace it with a tear."

The poet then makes Lucinda, during a battle, wander from her home to

watch her lover, whom he calls Heartly. She distinguishes him in the con-
flict, and, when his squadron is routed by the Americans, she proceeds to the

contested ground, fancying she had seen him fall at a certain point. But

" He hurries to his tent ;—oh, rag-e ! despair !

No glimpse, no tidings, of the frantic fair

;

Save that some carmen, as a-camp they drove,
Had seen her coursing for the western grove.
Faint with fatigue, and choked with burning thirst,

Forth from his friends, with bounding leap, he burst,

Vaults o'er the palisade, with ej'es on flame.

And fills the welkin with Lucinda's name."
"The fair one, too, of every aid forlorn.

Had raved and wandered, till officious mom
Awaked the Mohawks from their short repose,
To glean the plunder ere their comrades rose.

Two Mohawks met the maid historian, hold!"^
" She starts—with eyes upturned and fleeting breath.

In their raised axes views her instant death.

Her hair, half lost along the shrubs she passed,
Rolls, in loose tangles, round her lovely waist

;

Her kerchief torn betrays the globes of snow,
That heave responsive to her weight of woe.

* There is no doubt but that they were obliged to subsist chiefly upon their horses.

t President Allen's American Biographical Dictionary, 574.
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With calculating- pause and demon grin

They seiz<3 her hands, and, through lier lace divine,

Drive the descending axe !—the .'ilirieiv she sent
Attained her lover's car; he thither bent

With all tlie speed his wearied limbs could yield,

Whirled his keen blade, and stretched upon the field

The j'elling fiends, who there disputing stood
Her gory scalp, their horrid prize of blood I

He sunk, delirious, on her lifeless cla}-,

And passed, in slarls of sense, the dreadful day."

In a note to the above passages, Mf. Barlow says this tragical story of Miss
McCrea is detailed almost literallj.

^^ Extraordinary instance offemale heroism, extracted from a letter tvrilten by

Col. James Perry to the Rev. Jordan Dodge, dated .Yelsoyi Co., Kij., 20 .Ipril,

1788."—"On the first of vVpril inst., a ntimbor of Indians surrounded the
house of one John Mernl, which was discovered by the barking of a dog.
Merril stepped to the door to see what he could discover, and received three
musket-balls, which caused him to fail back intotiie house with a bioken leg

and arm. Tiie Indians rushed on to the door ; but it beiug instantly fastened

by his wife, who, wnth a girl of about 15 years of age, .stood against it, the
savages could not immediately enter. They broke one part of the door, and
one of them crowded partly through. The heroic mother, in the midst of her

screaming children and groaning husband, stMzed an ax(% and gave a fatal

blow to the savage ; and he falling headlong into the house, the others, sup-

posing they had gained their end, rushed after him, until four of them fell in

like manner before they discovered their mistake. The rest retreated, which
gave opportunity again to secure the door. The conquerors rejoiced in their

victory, hoping they had killed the whole company ; l)ut their expectations

were soon dashed, by finding the door again attacked, which the hold mother
endeavored once more to secui'e, with the assistance of the yoinig woman.
Their fears now caujc on them like a flood ; and they soon heard a noise on
tho top of the house, and then found the Indians were coming down the

chimney. All hopes of deliverance seemed now at an end ; but the wounded
man ordered his little child to tumble a couch, that was filled with hair and
feathers, on the fire, which made such a smoke that two stout Indians came
tumbling down into it. The wountled man, ;it this critical niomcnt, seized a

l)iilet of wood, wounded as he was, and with it succeeded in despatching the

half-smothered Indians. At the .same moment, the door was attempted by
another; but the heroiiit^'s arm had becomt; too enfeebled by her over-exertions

to d(;al a deadly blow. She however caused him to retreat woimiled. They
then again set to work to make; their house more secure, not knowing but

another attack would be made; but they were not fmMher disttn-bed. This
aflTair happened in the evening, and the victors carefully watched with th(>ir

new family until morning. A |)nsoner, that escaped inmiediately after, said

the Indian last mentioned was the only one that escaped. He, on retiu"ning to

his friend.s, was asked, 'What news?' said, ' IMagiiy bad news, ibr the s(]uaws

fight worse than the long-knives.' This .-dliiir happened at Newbanlstown,
about \5 miles from Sandy Creek, and may be d('j)ended upon, as I had the

pleasure! to assist in tumbling them into » hole, atler they were strijiped of

their head-dresses, and about 20 dollars' worth of silver tiirnitm-e."

Wr.i.sn OR White Indians.

" JVorro^ire of Capt. Isaac Stiuirt, of the Provincial Cavalry of Suuth Carolina,

taken from his own mouth, Ity I. C, lls(|., March, 1782.

"I was taken prisoner, id)out .10 miles to the westward of l-'ort I'ilt, about

18 years ago, by the Indians, and carried to ihi- Wal)asli, with odter white
men. They were executed, with circiunstances of liorrifl barbarity : but it

was my good fortime to call forth the .sympathy of a good woman of the

village, who was permitted to redeem me fiom those who held me prisoner,

by giving them a horse as a ransom. Alter remaining two years in bondage,
M S|)amard came to the n.-ilion, having been sent from Mexico on discoveries
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He made application to the chiefs of the Indians for hiring me, and another

white man who was in the like situation, a native of Wales, and named John

Davey, which was complied with. We took our departure and travelled to

the westward, crossing the Mississippi near Red River, up which we travelled

upwards of 700 miles. Here we came to a nation of Indians remarkably

white, and wliose hair was of a reddish color, at least, mostly so. They lived

on a small river which emptied itself into Red River, which they called the

River Post ; and in the morning, the day after our arrival, the Welshman
informed me that he was determined to remain with the nation of Indians,

giving as a reason that he understood tlieir language, it being very little dif-

ferent from the Welsh. My curiosity was excited very much by this informa-

tion, and I went with my companion to the chief men of the town, who in-

formed him, in a language that I had no knowledge of, and which had no affin-

ity with that of any other Indian tongue that! ever heard, that the forefathers

of this nation came from a foreign country, and landed on the east side of the

Mississippi ('describing particularly the country now called West Florida); and
that, on the Spaniards taking possession of tlie country, they fled to their then

abode ; and, as a proof of what they advanced, they brought out rolls of parch-

ment wrote with blue ink, at least it had a bluish cast. The characters I did

not understand, and the Welshman being unacquainted with letters of any

language, I was not able to know what the meaning of the writing was. They
were a bold, hardy, intrepid people, very warlike, and their women were beau-

tiful, compared with other Indians."

Thus we have given so much of Captain Stuart^s narrative as relates to the

White Indians. The remainder of it is taken up in details of several ex-

cursions, of many hundred miles, in the interior of the continent, without any
extraordinary occurrence, except the finding of a gold mine. He returned by
way of the Mississippi, and was considered a man of veracity by the late

Lieutenant-colonel Cruger, of South Carolina, who recommended him to the

gentleman who communicated his narrative.

I had determined formerly to devote a chapter to the examination of the

subject of the White Indians; but, on reference to all the sources of informa-

tion in my possession, I found that tiie whole rested upon no other authority

than such as we have given above, and therefore concluded to give the most

interesting parts of the accounts without comment, and let the reader draw
his own conclusions. There seem to have been a good many accounts con-

cerning the White Indians in circulation about the same period, and the next

we shall notice is found in Mr. Charles Beatty's journal, the substance of which
is as follows :

—
At the foot of the Alleghany Mountains, in Pennsylvania, Mr. Beatty stopped

at the house of a Mr. John Miller, where he "met with one Benjamin Sutton,

who had been taken captive by the Indians, and had been in different nations,

and lived many years among them. When he was with the Choctaws, at the

Mississippi River, he went to an Indian town, a very considerable distance

from New Orleans, whose inhabitants were of different complexions, not so

tawny as those of the other Indians, and who spoke Welsh. He saw a book

among them, which he supposed was a Welsh Bible, which they carefully kept

wrapped up in a skin, but they could not read it ; and he heard some of those

Indians afterwards, in the lower Shawanee town, speak Welsh with one Lewis,

a Welshman, captive there. This Welsh tribe now live on the west side of

tlie Mississippi, a great way above New Orleans."

At Tuscarora valley he met with another man, named Levi Hicks, who had

been a captive from his youth with the Indians. He said he was once attend-

ing an embassy at an Indiai 'own, on the west side of the Mississippi, where

the inhabitants spoke Welsh, as he was told, for he did not understand them "

Jiimself. An Indian, named Joseph Peepy, Mr. Beatty's interpreter, said he once

saw some Indians, whom he supposed to be of the same tribe, who talked

Welsh. He was sure th'-y talked Welsh, for he had been acquainted with

Welsh people, and knew some words they used.

To the above Mr. Beatty adds :
" I have been informed, that many years

ago, a clergyman went from Britain to Virginia, and having lived some time

i^iere, went from thence to S. Carolina; but after some time, for some reason
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he regolved to return to Virginia, and accordingly set out by land, accom-
panied with some other persons. In travelling throngli the back parts of the

country, which was then very thinly inhabited, he fell in with a party of In-

dian warriors, going to attack the inhabitants of Virginia. Upon examining
the clergyman, and finding he was going to Virginia, they looked upon him
and his companions as belonging to that province, and took them all prisoners,

and told them they must die. The clergyman, in preparation for another
world, went to prayer, and, being a Welshman, prayed in the Welsh language.
One or more of the Indians was much surprised to hear him pray in their own
language. Upon this they spoke to him, and finding he could understand
them, got the sentence of death reversed, and his life was saved. They
took him with them into their country, where he found a tribe whose native

language was Welsh, though the dialect was a little different from his own,
which he soon came to understand. They showed him a book, which he
found to be the Bible, but which they could not read ; and on his reading and
explaining it, their regard for him was much heightened." After some time,

the minister proposed to these people to return to his own country, and prom-
ised to return again to them with others of his friends, who would instruct

them in Christianity ; but not long after his return to England, he died, which
put an end to his design.

It is very natural to inquire how these Indians, though descended from the

Welsh, came by books ; for it is well known that the period at which the

Welsh must have come to America, was long before printing was discovered,

or that any writings assumed the form of books as we now have them. It

should be here noted that Mr. Bealty travelled in the autumn of 1766.

Major i?o^e?'s, in his "Concise Account of North America," published in

1765, notices the White Indians ; but the geography of their country he leaves

any where on the west of the Mississippi
;
probably never having visited them

himself, although he tells us he had travelled very extensively in the interior.

"This fruitful country," he says, "is at present inhabited by a nation of Indi-

ans, called by the others the White Indians, on account of their complexion;

they being much the fairest Indians on the continent. They have, liowever,

Indian eyes, and a certain guilty Jewish cast with them. This nation is very

numerous, being able to raise between 20 and 30,000 fighting men. They
have no weapons but bows and arrows, tomahawks, and a kind of wooden
pikes, for which reason they often suffer greatly from the eastern Indians, who
have the use of fire-arms, and frequently visit the Wiiite Indians on the banks
of the easterly branch, [of Muddy River?] and kill or captivate them in great

numbers. Such as full alive into their hands, they generally sell for slaves.

These Indians live in large towns, and have commodious houses; they raise

corn, tame the wild cows, and use both their milk and flesh; they keep great

numbers of dogs, and are very dexterous in hunting ; they have little or no

commerce witli any nation that we at present are acquainted with."

In the account of Kentucky, written in 1784, by an excellent writer, Mr.

John Fitson, wc find as follows:— Aflor noticing the voyage of .-l/arfoc, whc
with his ten ships witii emigrants sailed west about 1170, and who were, ac-

cording to the Welsh historians, never heard of after, he prococds: — "This
account has at several times drawn the attention of tlie world; but as no ves-

tiges of them had then been found, it was concluded, perhaps too rashly, to be

a fable, or at least that no remains of the colony existed. Of late years, how-

ever, the western settlers have received frequent accounts of a nation, inhab-

iting at a great distance up the Missouri, in manners and appearance resem-

bling the other Indians, but speaking Welsh, and retaining some ceremonies

of the Christian worship; ami at length this is universally believed there to be

a fact. Capt. Jlbmhnm Chaplain, of Kentucky, a gentleman whose veracity

may bo entirely depended upon, assured the author that in the late war [revo-

lution] being with his com|)any in garrison, at Kaskaskia, some Indians came
there, and, sjjeakmg the Wi'lsh dialect, were perfectly understood and con-

versed with by two Welshmen in his company, and that t'ley informed thoin of

the situation of their nation as mentioned above."

//enriy Ker, who travelled among 13 tribes of Indians in 1810, &c., namea
one near a great mountain which he calls Mnacedeus. He said Dr. SihleV
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had told him, when at Natchitoches, that a number of travellers had assured

him, that there was a strong similarity between the Indian language and

many words of the Welsh. Mr. Ker found nothing among any of the Indians

to indicate a Welsh origin until he arrived among the Mnacedeus. Here
he found many customs which were Welsh, or common to that people, and

he adds; "I did not understand the Welsh language, or I should have been

enabled to have thrown more light upon so interesting a subject," as they

had "printed books among them which were preserved with great care,

they having a tradition that they were brought there by their forefathers."

Upon this, in another place, he observes, " The books appeared very old, and

were evidently printed at a time when tliere had been very little improvement
made in the casting of types. I obtained a few leaves from one of the chiefs,

sufficient to have thrown light on the subject; but in my subsequent disputes

with the Indians, I lost them, and all my endeavors to obtain more were inef-

fectual."

How or at what time these Indians obtained " printed books," Mr. Ker does

not give us his opinion ; although he says much moro about them.

There are a great number of others who have nv;_ced those Indians; but

after an examination of them all, I am unable to add much to the above stock

of information concerning them. Upon the whole, we think it may be pretty

safely said, that the existence of a race of Welsh about the regions of the

Missouri does not rest on so good authority as that which has been adduced
to establish the existence of the sea-serpent. Should any one, however, choose

to investigate the subject further, he will find pretty ample references to au-

thors in which the subject has been noticed, in a note to the life of Madoka-
wando, in our third book. In addition to which, he may consult the authorities

of Movlton, as pointed out in his history of New York.

CHAPTER IV.

American Antiq.uities—Few Indian .Antiquities— Of Mounds and their con-

tents—Account of those in Cincinnati—In the Miami country— Works sup-

posed to have been built for defences or fortifications—Some at Piqua—Keat
Hamilton—Milford—Deerfield— Six miles above Lebanon— On Paint Creek—
At Marietta—M Circleville— Their age uncertain— Works on Licking River—
Ancient excavations or wells near J^ewark— Various other works.

To describe the antiquities of America would not require a very great

amount of time or space, if we consider only those which are in reality such.

And as to Indian antiquities, they consist in nothing like monuments, says

Mr. Jefferson ;
" for," he observes, " I would not honor with that name, arrow-

points, stone hatchets, stone pipes, and half-shapen images. Of labor on the

large scale, I think there is no remain as respectable as would be a common
ditch for the draining of lands, unless indeed it would be the Barrows, of

which many are to be found all over in this country. These are of differ-

ent sizes, some of them constructed of earth, and some of loose stones. That
they were repositories of the dead, has been obvious to all ; but on what par-

ticular occasion constructed, was a matter of doubt. Some have thought they

covered the bones of those who have fallen in battles fought on the spot of
interment. Some ascribe them to the custom, said to prevail among the In-

dians, of collecting at certain periods the bones of all their dead, wheresoever
deposited at the time of death. Others again suppose them the general sepul-

chres for towns, conjectured to have been on or near these grounds ; and this

opinion was supported by the quality of the lands in which they are found,

'tiose constructed of earth being generally in the softest and most fertile

meadow-grounds on river sides,) and by a tradition, said to be handed down
from the aboriginal Indians, that when they settled in a town, the first person
who died was placed erect, and earth put about him, so as to cover and support

him; and that when another died, a narrow passage was dug to the first, the
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second reclined against him, and the cover of earth replaced, and so on. There
heiucr one of these in mj' neighborhood, I wished to satisfy myself whether

any, and which of these opinions were just. For this purpose, I determined

to open and examine it thoroughly. It was situated on the low grounds of the

Rivanna, about two miles above its principal fork, and opposite to some hills,

on which had been an Indian town. It was of a spheroidal form, of about 40
feet diameter at the base, and had been of about 12 feet altitude, though now
reduced by the plough to seven and a half, having been under cultivation about

a dozen years. Before this it was covered with trees of 12 inches diameter,

and round the base was an excavation of five feet deptli and width, from

whence the earth had been taken of which the hillock was formed."

In this mound my author found abundance of human bones, which, from

their position, it was evident had been thrown or piled promiscuously there

together ; bones of the head and feet being in contact ;
" some vertical, some

oblique, some horizontal, and directed to every point of the compass." These
bones, when exposed to the air, crumbled to dust. Some of the skulls, jaw-

bones, and teeth, were taken out nearly in a perfect state, but would fall to

pieces on being examined. It was evident that this assemblage of bones was
made up from persons of all ages, and at ditferent periods of time. The
mound was composed of alternate strata of bones, stones, and eartii. Hence
it would seem that barrows, or mounds, as they are most usually called, were
formed by the Indians, whose custom it was to collect the bones of their de-

ceased friends at certain periods, and deposit them together in this manner.
" But," Mr. Jefferson observes, " on whatever occasion they may have been

made, they are of considerable notoriety among tlie Indians : for a party pass-

ing, about 30 years ago, through the part of the country where this barrow is,

went through the woods directly to it, without any instructions or inquiry, and
having staid about it some time, with expressions whicli were construed to be
those of sorrow, they returned to the high road, which they had left about half

a dozen miles to pay this visit, and pursued their journey."

In these tumuli are usually found, with the bones, such instruments only as

appear to have been used for superstitious purposes, ornaments or war. Of
the latter kind, no more formidable weapons have been discovered than toma-
hawks, spears and arrow-hc;ids, which can be supposed to have been deposited

before the arrival of Europeans in America. What Mr. Jefferson found in

the barrow lie dissected besides bones, or whether any thing, lie does not

inform us. In several of tliese depositories in the city of Cincinnati, which
Dr. Daniel Drake examined, numerous utensils were found. He has given a

most accurate account of them, in which he has shown himself no less a piii-

losopher than antiquary. He divides them into two classes, ancienc and mod-
ern, or ancient and more ancient. " Among the latter," he says, ''there is not

a single edifice, nor any ruins wliich prove the existence, in Ifbi-mer ages, of a

building composed of imperishable materials. No fragment Oi a cohmin, no
bricks, nor a single hewn stone large enough to have been incorporated into

a wall, lias been discovered."

Tliere were several of these mounds or tumuli, 20 years ugo, witiiin a short

space in and about Cincinnati; but it is a remarkable fact, that the plains on
the opposite side of tlio River Ohio liave no vestiges of the kind. The largest

of those in Cincinnati was, in 17!l4, about 35 feet in height; but at tliis time

it was cut down to 27 by order of General JVaijne, to make it serve as a watch-

tower for a sentinel. It was about 440 leet in circumference.

Almost every traveller of late years has said something upon the mounds
or fortifications, scattered over the south and west, from Florida to the lakes,

and from the Hudson to Mexico and tiie Pacific Ocean. By some they arc

reckoned at several tliousaiids. Mr. Brackcnridge supposes there may be

3000; but it would not outrage probability, I presume, to set them down at

twice that number. Indeed no one can form any just estimate in respect to

the number of mounds and fortifications wliicii iiave been built, any mort; than

of the period of time which lias passed since they were originally ercctv-d, for

several obvious reasons ; one or two of which may be mentioned :— the

lilough, excavations and level lings for towns, roads, and var jus other works,

iiave entirely destrovcd hundreds of them, which hid i.'t'j. oeen described
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and whose sites cannot now be ascertained. Another great destruction ot

them has been effected, by the changing of tlie course of rivers.

There are various opinions about the uses for which these ancient remains

were constructed : while some of them are too much like modern fortifications

to admit of a doubt of their having been used for defences, others, nearly sim-

ilar in design, from their situation entirely exclude the adoption of such an

opinion. Hence we find four kinds of remains formed of earth : two kinds

of mounds or barrows, and two which have been viewed as fortifications.

The barrows or burial piles are distinguished by such as contain articles

which were inhumed with the dead, and those which do not contain them.

From what cause they differ in this respect it is ditficult to determine. Some
have supposed the former to contain bones only of warriors, but in such

mounds the bones of infants are found, and hence that hypothesis is over-

thrown ; and indeed an hypothesis can scarcely be raised upon any one matter

concerning them without almost a positive assurance that it has been created

to be destroyed.

As a specimen of the contents of the mounds generally, the following may
be taken; being such as Dr. Drake found in those he examined:— 1. Cylin-

drical stones, such as jasper, rock-crystal, and granite; with a groove near one

end. 2. A circular piece of cannel coal, with a large opening in the centre,

as though made for the reception of an axis ; and a deep groove in the circum-

ference, suitable for a band. 3. A smaller article of the same shape, but

composed of polished argillaceous earth. 4. A bone, ornamented with several

carved lines, supposed by some to be hieroglyphics. 5. A sculptural repre-

sentation of the head and beak of some rapacious bird. 6. Lumps of lead ore.

7. Isinglass (mica membranacea). This article is very common in mounds,

and seems to have been held in high estimation among the people that con-

structed them ; but we know not that modern Indians have any particular

attachment to it, A superior article, though much like it, was also in great

esteem among the ancient Mexicans. 8. Small pieces of sheet copper, with

perforations. 9. Larger oblong pieces of the same metal, with longitudinal

grooves and ridges. 10. Beads, or sections of small hollow cylinders, appar-

ently of bone or shell. 11. Teeth of carnivorous animals. 12. Large marine

shells, belonging, perhaps, to the genus buccinum ; cut in such a manner as

to serve for domestic utensils. These, and also the teeth of animals, are

generally found almost entirely decomposed, or in a state resembling chalk.

13. Earthern ware. Tliis seems to have been made of the same material as

that employed by the Indians of Louisiana within our recollection, viz. pounded

muscle and other river shells, and earth. Some perfect articles have been

found, but they are rare. Pieces, or fragments, are very common. Upon
most of them, confused lines are traced, which doubtless had some meaning

;

but no specimen has yet been found having glazing upon it like modern pot-

tery. Some entire vases, of most uncouth appearance, have been found. Mr.

Alwater of Ohio, who has pretty fully described the western antiquities, gives

an account of a vessel, which seems to have been used as a jug. It was found

in an ancient work on Cany Fork of Cumberland River, about four feet below

the surface. The body of the vessel is made by three heads, all joined to-

gether at their backs. From these places of contact a neck is formed, which

rises about three inches above the heads. The orifice of this neck is near two

inches in diameter, and the three necks of the heads form the legs of the ves-

sel on which it stands when upright. The heads are all of a size, being about

four inches from the top to the chin. The faces at the eyes are about three

inches broad, which increase in breadth all the way to the chin.

Of the works called fortifications, though already mentioned in general

terms, their importance demands a further consideration.

At Piqua, on the western side of the Great Miami, there is a circular wall

of earth inclosing a space of about 100 feet in diameter, with an opening on

iJie side most remote from the river. " The adjacent hill, at the distance of

tialf a mile, and at the greater elevation of about 100 feet, is the site of a stone

wall, nearly circular, and inclosing perhaps 20 acres. The valley of the rivei

on one side, and a deep ravine on the other, render the access to three fourths

of this fortification extremely difficult. The wnll was carried generally along
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the brow of tlie hill, in one place descending a short distance so as to include
a spring. The silicious limestone of which it was built, must have been trans-

ported from the bed of the river, which, for two miles opposite these works,

does not at present afford one of 10 pounds weight. They exhibit no marks
of the hammer, or any other tool. The wall was laid up without mortar, and
is now in ruins.

" Lower down the same river, near the mouth of Hole's Creek, on the plain,

there are remains of great extent. The principal wall or bank, which is of
earth, incloses about 160 acres, and is in some parts nearly 12 feet high.

Also below Hamilton, there is a fortification upon the top of a high hill, out of
view from the river, of very difficult approach. This incloses about 50 acres.

Adjacent to this work is a mound 25 feet in diameter at its base, and about
seven feet perpendicular altitude.

" On the elevated point of land above the confluence of the Great Miami
and Ohio, there are extensive and complicated traces, which, in the opinion of
military men, eminently qualified to judge, are the remains of very strong de-
fensive works."

In the vicinity of Milford, on the Little Miami, are fortifications, the largest

of which are upon the top of the first hill above the confluence of the East
Fork witli the Miami. "On the opposite side of the Miami River, above
Round Bottom, are similar antiquities of considerable extent. On the East
Fork, at its head waters, other remains have been discovered, of which the

principal bears a striking resemblance to those above mentioned ; but within,

it diflfers from any which have yet been examined in this quarter, in having
nine parallel banks or long parapets united at one end, exhibiting very exactly

the figure of a gridiron.

"Further up the Little Miami, at Deerfield, are other interesting remains;
but those which have attracted more attention than any others in the Miami
country, are situated six miles from Lebanon, above the mouth of Todd's
Fork, an eastern branch of the Miami. On the summit of a ridge at least 200
feet above the valley of the river, there are two irregular trapezoidal figures,

connected at a point where the ridge is very much narrowed by a ravine. The
wall, which is entirely of earth, is generally eight or ten feet high ; but in one
place, where it is conducted over level ground for a short distance, it rises to

18. Its situation is accurately adjusted to the brow of the hill ; and as there

is, in addition to the Miami on the west, deep ravines on the north, the south-

east, and south, it is a position of great strength. The angles in this wall,

both retreating and salient, are numerous, and generally acute. The openings
or gateways are not less than 80 ! They are rarely at equal distances, and are

sometimes within two or three rods of one another. They are not opposite to,

or connected with any existing artificial objects or topographical peculiarities,

and present, therefore, a paradox of some difficulty." These works inclose

almost 100 acres, and one of the state roads from Cincinnati to Chillicothe

passes over its northern part.

On Paint Creek, 10 miles from Chillicothe, are also very extensive as well aa

wonderful works. " The wall, which had been conducted along the verge of

the hill, is by estimation about a mile and a half in length. It was formed en-

tirely of undressed freestone, brought chiefly from the streams 250 feet below,

and laid up without mortar or cement of any sort. It is now, like all the walls

of a similar kind which Jiave been discovered in tlie western country, in a state

of ruins. It exliibits the appearance of having been shaken down by an
earthquake, not a single stone being found upon another in such a manner as

to indicate that to iiave been its situation in the wall. In several places there

are openings, iimnediatcly opposite which, inside, lie piles of stone."

Dr. Harris, in 1803, very accurately described the remains at Marietta, at

the confluence of the Muskingum and Ohio Rivers. "The largest square
FORT," he observes, " by some called the town, contains 40 acres, encompassed
by a wall of earth from (J to 10 feet high, and from 25 to 36 in breadth at the

base. On each side are three openings at equal distances, resembling 12 gate-

Ways. The entrances at the middle are the largest, particularly that on tho

Bide next the Muskingum. From this outlet is a covert way, formed of two
parallel walls of earth, 231 feet distant from each other, measuring from cen-
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tre to centre. The walls at the most elevated part on the inside are 21 feet in

height, and 42 in breadth at the base, but on the outside average only of five

feet high. This forms a passage of about 360 feet in length, leading by a

gradual descent to the low grounds, where it, probably, at the time of its con-

struction, reached the margin of the river. Its walls commence at 60 feet

from the ramparts of the fort, and increase in elevation as the way descends

tawards the river; and the bottom is crowned in the centre, in the manner of

a well-formed turnpike road. Within the walls of the fort, at the north-west

corner, is an oblong, elevated square, 188 feet long; 132 broad, and nine feet

high; level on the summit, and nearly perpendicular at the sides. At the

centre of each of the sides the earth is projected, forming gradual ascents to

the top, equally regular, and about six feet in width. Near the south wall ia

another elevated square, 150 feet by 120, and eight feet high. At the south-

east corner is the third elevated square, 108 by 54 feet, with ascents at the

ends.. At the south-east corner of the fort is a semicircular parapet, crowned
with a mound, which guards the opening in the wall. Towards the south-east

is A SIMILAR FORT, Containing 20 acres, with a gateway in the centre of each

side and at each corner. These openings are defended with circular mounds."
There are also other works at Marietta, but a mere description of them can-

not interest, as there is so much of sameness about them. And to describe

all that may be met with would fill a volume of no moderate size : for Dr.

Harris says, " You cannot ride 20 miles in any direction without finding some
of the mounds, or vestiges of the ramparts." We shall, therefore, only notice

the most prominent.

Of first importance are doubtless tlie works upon the Scioto. The most
magnificent is situated 26 miles south from Columbus, and consists of two
nearly exact figures, a circle and a square, which are contiguous to each other.

A town, having been built within the former, appropriately received the name
of Circleville from that circumstance. According to Mr. Jllwattr, who has

surveyed these works with great exactness and attention, the circle was origi-

nally 1138i feet in diameter, from external parallel tangents, and the square

was 907i feet upon a side
;
giving an area to the latter of .3025 square rods,

and to the circle 3739 nearly ; both making almost 44 acres. The rampart
of the circular fort consists of two parallel walls, and were, at least in the

opinion of my author, 20 feet in height, measuring from the bottom of the

ditch between the circumvallations, before the town of Circleville was built.

"The inner wall was of clay, taken up probably in the northern part of the

fort, where was a low place, and is still considerably lower than any other

part of the work. The outside wall Avas taken from the ditch which is be-

tween these walls, and is alluvial, consisting of pebbles worn smooth in water
and sand, to a very considerable depth, more than 50 feet at least." At the

time Mr. Atwater wrote his account, (about 1819,) the outside of the walls was
but about five or six feet high, and the ditch not more than 15 feet deep. The
walls of the square fort were, at the same time, about lO feet high. This fort

had eight gateways or openings, about 20 feet broad, each of which was de-

fended by a mound four or five feet high, all within the fort, arranged in the

most exact manner ; equidistant and parallel. The circular fort had but one
gateway, which was at its south-east point, and at the place of contact with

the square. In the centre of the square was a remarkable mound, with a

semicircular pavement adjacent to its eastern half, and nearly facing the pas-

sage way into the square fort. Just without the square fort, upon the north

side, and to the east of the centre gateway, rises a large mound. In the op-

posite point of the compass, without the circular one, is another. These,
probably, were the places of burial. As the walls of the square fort lie pretty

nearly in a line with the cardinal points of the horizon, some have supposed
they were originally projected in strict regard to them; their variation not

being more than that of the compass; but a single fact of this kind can estab-

lish nothing, as mere accident may have given them such direction. " What
surprised me," says my authority, " on measuring these forts, was the exact

manner in which they had laid down their circle and square ; so that aftef

every effort, by the most careful survey, to detect some error in their meas'ire-

naent, we found that it was impossible."
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As it IS not my design to waste time in conjectures upon the authors of

those antiquities, or the remoteness of the period in which they were con-

Btructed, I will continue my account of them, after an observation upon a

single circumstance. I refer to the fact of the immense trees found growing
upon the mounds and other ancient works. Their having existed for a thou-

sand years, or at least some of them, can scarcely be questioned, when we
know from unerring data that trees have been cut upon them of tlie age of

near 500 years ; and from the vegetable mould out of which they spring, tliere

is every appearance of several generations of decayed trees of the same kind

;

and no forest trees of the present day appear older than those upon the very

works under consideration.

There are in the Forks of Licking River, above Newark, in the county of

Licking, very remarkable remains of antiquity, said by many to be as much so

as any in the west. Here, as at Circleville, the same singular fact is observa-

ble, respecting the openings into the forts ; the square ones having several, but

the round ones only one, with a single exception.

Not far below Newark, on the south side of the Licking, are found numer-
ous wells or holes in the earth. " There are," says Mr. Alwaler, " at least a
thousand of them, many of which are now more than 20 feet deep." Though
called wells, my author says they were not dug for that purpose. They have
the appearance of being of the same age as the mounds, and were doubtless

made by the same people ; but for what purpose they could have been made,
few seem willing to hazard a conjecture.

Four or five miles to the north-west of Somerset, in the county of Perry, and
southwardly from the works on the Licking, is a stone fort, inclosing about 40
acres. Its shape is that of a heart, though bounded by straight lines. In or

near its centre is a circular stone mound, which rises like a sugar-loaf from
12 to 15 feet. Near this large work is another small fort, whose walls are of

earth, inclosing but about half an acre. I give these the name of forts, al-

though Mr. Atwattr says he does not believe tliey were ever constructed for

defence.

There are curious remains on both sides of the Ohio, above and opposite the

mouth of the Scioto. Those on the north side, at Portsmouth, are the most
extensive, and those on the other side, directly opposite Alexandria, are

the most regular. They are not more remarkable than many already de-

scribed.

What the true height of these ruined works originally was, cannot be very
well ascertained, as it is almost impossible to know the rate of their diminu-

tion, even were the space of time given ; but there can be no doubt that most
of them are much diminished from the action of tempests which have swept
over them for ages. That they were the works of a different race from tiie

present Indians, has been pretty confidently assorted ; but as yet, proof is en-

tirely wanting to support such conclusion. In a few instances, some European
articles have been found deposited in or about some of the works ; but few
persons of intelligence pronounce them older tlian others of the same kind
belonging to the period of the French wars.

As it respects inscriptions upon stones, about which inucii has been said

and written, I am of the opinion, tliat such are purely Indian, if they were
not made by some white maniac, as some of tliem most unquestionably have
been, or other persons who deserve to be classed among sucli; but I would
not be understood to include those of Soutii America, for there the inhabitants

evidently had a jiieroglyphic language. Among tin? inscriptions upon stone

in New England, the " Inscribed Rock," as it is called, at Dighton, Mass., ia

doubtless tiie most remarkable. It is in Taunton River, about six miles below
the town of Taunton, and is partly immersed by the tide. If this inscri|)tion

was made by tiie Indians, it doubtless had some meaning to it ; but I doubt
\\iiether any of them, except such as happened to know what it was done
for, knew any thing of its import. The divers faces, figures of half-formed

animals, and zigzag lines, occupy a space of about 20 square feet. The wiiim-

cical conjectures of many persons auout the origin of the inscription might
amuEc, but could not instruct; and it would be a waste of time to give an
account of tliem.
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A stone, once thought to contain some marvellous inscription, was deposit-

ed a few years since in the Antiquarian Hall, at Worcester, Mass. ; and it was
with some surprise, that, on examining' it, I found nothing but a few lines of

quartz upon one of its surfaces. The stone was singular in no respect beyond
what may be found in half the farmers' fields and stone fences in New Eng-
land.

In a cave on the bank of the Ohio River, about 20 miles below the mouth
of the Wabash, called Wilson's or Murderer's Cave, are figures engraven upon
stone, which have attracted great attention. It was very early possessed by
one Wilson, who lived in it with his family. He at length turned robber, and,

collecting about 40 other wretches like himself about him, took all the boats

which passed on the river with any valuable goods in them, and murdered the

crews. He was himself murdered by one of his own gang, to get the reward
which was ofl^ered for his apprehension. Never having had any drawings of

the hieroglyphics in this cave, we cannot form any very conclusive opinion

upon them. As a proof of their antiquity, it has been mentioned, that among
those unknown characters are many figures of animals not known now to be
in existence ; but in my opinion, this is in no wise a conclusive argument of
their antiquity ; for the same may be said of the uncouth figures of the Indian

manitos of the present day, as well as those of the days of Powhatan.
At Harmony, on the Mississippi, are to be seen the prints of two feet imbed-

ded in hard limestone. The celebrated Rappe conveyed the stone containing

them from St. Louis, and kept it upon his premises to show to travellers.

They are about the size of those made by a common man of our times, unac-
customed to shoes. Some conclude them to be remains of high antiquity.

They may, or may not be : there are arguments for and against such conclu-

sion ; but on which side the weight of argument lies is a matter not easily to

be settled. If these impressions of feet were made in the soft earth before it

was changed into fossil stone, we should not expect to find impressions, but a

formation filling them of another kind of stone (called organic) from that in

which the impressions were made ; for thus do organic remains discover them-
selves, and not by their absence.

A review of the theories and opinions concerning the race or races anterior

to the present race of Indians would perhaps be interesting to many, and it

would be a pleasing subject to write upon : but, as I have elsewhere intimated,

my only object is to present facts as I find them, without wasting time in com-
mentaries ; unless where deductions cannot well be avoided without leaving

the subject more obscure than it would evidently be without them.

Every conjecture is attended with objections when they are hazarded upon
a subject that cannot be settled. It is time enough to argue a subject of the

nature of this we are upon when all the facts are collected. To write volumes
about Shem, Ham, and Japhet, in connection witli a few isolated facts, is a

most ludicrous and worse than useless business. Some have said, it is an
argument that the first population came from the north, because the works of

which we have been speaking increase in importance as we proceed south
;

but why they should not begin until the people who constructed them had ar-

rived within 40" of the equator, (for this seems to be their boundary north,) it

is not stated. Perhaps this people came in by way of the St. Lawrence, and

did not need any works to defend them before arriving at the 40° of north

latitude. The reader will readily enough ask, perhaps. For what purpose

could fortifications have been built by the first people ? To defend themselves

from wild beasts, or firom one another ? With this matter, however, we have

nothing to do, but were led to these remarks, preparatory to a comparison be-

tween the antiquities of the north with those of the south-

On the other hand, it is said the original people of North America must have

come from the south, and that their progress northward is evident from the

same works ; with this difference, that as the people advanced, they dwindled

into insignificance ; and hence the remains which they left are proportionate

to their ability to make them. But there is nothing artificial among the ancient

ruins of North America that will compare with the artificial mountain of Ana-
huac, called Cholula, or Chlolula, which to this day is about 164 feet in perpen-

dicular height, whose base occupies a square, the sides of which measure 14rifl

r.
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feet. Upon this the Mexicans had an immense wooden temple when Cortez

overrun their empire. A city now bears the name of Cholula, in Puebla,

60 miles east of Mexico. Yet it appears from Dr. Beckys Gazetteer of Illinoia,

that there is standing between Belleville and St. Louis, a mound 600 yards in

circumference at its base, and 90 feet in height. Mount Joliet, so naiKed from
the Sieur Joliet, a Frenchman, who travelled upon the Mississippi in 1673, is

a most distinguished mound. It is on a plain about 600 yards west of the

River Des Plaines, and 150 miles above Fort Clark. Mr. SchJoolcraJl computed
its height at 60 feet, its length about 450 yards, and its width 75. Its sides

are so steep that they are ascended with difficulty. Its top is a beautiful plain,

from which a most delightful prospect is had of the surrounding country. It

seems to have been composed of the earth of the plain on which it stands.

Lake Joliet is situated in front of it ; being a small body of water about a mile

in length.

Although the remains of the ancient inhabitants of South America differ

considerably from those of North America, yet I have no doubt but that the

people are of the same race. The condition even of savages changes. No
nation remains stationary. The Avestern Indians in the neighborhood of the

lakes do not make pottery at the present day, but earthen utensils are still in

use among the remote tribes of the west, which is similar to that dug up in

Ohio, and both are similar to that found in South America.
In speaking of ancient pottery, Mr. Schoolcraft observes, " It is common, in

digging at these salt mines, [in Illinois,] to find fragments of antique pottery,

and even entire pots of a coarse earthenware, at great depths below the sur-

face. One of these pots, which was, until a very recent period, preserved by
a gentleman at Shawaneetown, was disinterred at a depth of 80 feet, and was
of a capacity to contain eight or ten gallons."

We see announced from time to time, in the various newspapers and other

periodicals, discoveries of wonderful things in various places ; but on examina-
tion it is generally found that they fall far short of what we are led to ex-

pect from the descriptions given of them. We hear of the ruins of cities in

the banks of the Mississippi ; copper and iron utensils found at great depths

below the surface, and in situations indicating that they must have been de-

posited there for three, four, or five hundred years ! Dr. McMurtrie relates, in

his " Sketches of Louisville," that an iron hatchet was found beneath the roots

of a tree at Shippingsport, upwards of 200 years old. He said he had no doubt

that the tree had grown over the hatchet after it was deposited there, because
" no human power could have placed it in the particular position in which it

was found."

Upon some other matters about which we have already remarked, the same
author says, " That walls, constructed of bricks and hewn stones, have been
discovered in the western country, is a fact as clear as that the sun shines

when he is in his meridian splendor ; the dogmatical assertion of writers to the

contrary notwithstanding." My author, however, had not seen such remains
himself, but was well assured of their existence by a gentleman of undoubted
veracity. Unfortunately for the case he relates, the persons who discovered

the ruins came upon tlicm in digging, at about 18 feet below the surface of the

ground, and when about to make investigation, water broke in upon them, and
they were obliged to make a hasty retreat.

" A fortified town of considerable extent, near the River St. Francis," upon
the Mississippi, was said to have been discovered by a Mr. Savage, of Louis-

ville. He found its walls standing in some places, and " part of the walla of
a citadel, built of bricks, cemented by mortarJ^ Upon some of these ruins were
trees growing whose annual rings numbered 300. Some of the bricks, says

Dr. McMurtrie, were at Louisville when he wrote his Sketches ; and tliey were
" composed of clay, n)ixed with chopped and twisted straw, of regular figures,

hardened by tiie action of fire or the sun."

Mr. Priest, in his " American Antiquities," mentions the ruins of two cities

within a few miles of each other, nearly opposite St. Louis ; but from what he
says of them I am unable to determine what tliose ruins are composed of.

Alter pointing out the sight of them, he continues, "Here is situated one of

those pyramids, which is 150 rods in circumference at its base, and 100 feet
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nigh." He speaks of " cities," but describes pyramids and mounds. If there

be any thing like the works of men, at the places he points out, different from

what "is common in the west, it is very singular that they should not have at-

tracted the notice of some one of the many thousands of people who have for

50 years passed by them. Mr. Brackenridge speaks of the antiquities at this

place, but does not say any thing about cities. He observes, " The most re-

markable appearances are two groups of mounds or pyramids, the one about

10 miles above Cahokia, the other nearly the same distance below it, which, in

all, exceed 150, of various sizes. The western side also contains a considera-

ble number.
" A more minute description of those about Cahokia, which I visited in the

fall of 1811, will give a tolerable idea of them all. I crossed the Mississippi

at St. Louis, and after passing through the wood which borders the river, about

half a mile in width, entered an extensive open plain. In 15 minutes I found

myself in the midst of a group of mounds, mostly of a circular shape, and at

a distance resembling enormous haystacks scattered through a meadow. One
of tlie largest which I ascended was about 200 paces in circumference at tlie

bottom, tlie form nearly square, though it had evidently undergone considerable

alteration from the washing of the rains. The top was level, with an area suf-

ficient to contain several hundred men."

When Mr. Bariram travelled into South Carolina, Georgia and Florida, be-

tween tlie years 1773 and 1776, he saw many interesting antiquities. At the

Cherokee town of Cowe, on the Tennessee River, which then contained about

100 houses, he noticed that " The council or town-house was a large rotunda,

capable of accommodating several hundred people : it stands on the top of an

ancient artificial mount of earth, of about 20 feet perpendicular, and the ro-

tunda on the top of it being about 30 feet more, gives the whole fabric an
elevation of about 60 feet from the common surface of the ground. But," Mr.
Bartram continues, " it may be proper to observe, that this mount, on which the

rotunda stands, is of a much ancienter date than the building, and perhaps was
raised for another purpose. The Cherokees themselves are as ignorant as we
are, by what people or for what purpose these artificial hills were raised ; they

have various stories concerning them, the best of which amount to no more
than mere conjecture, and leave us entirely in the dark ; but they have a tra-

dition common with the other nations of Indians, that they found them in much
the same condition as they now appear, when their forefathers arrived from the

west and possessed themselves of the country, after vanquishing the nations

of red men who then inhabited it, who themselves found these mounts when
they took possession of tlie country, tlie former possessors delivering the same
story concerning them."

Hence it is to be observed that the mounds in tlie south are not only the

same as those in the north, but Indian traditions concerning them are the same
also.

At Ottasse, an important town of the Cherokees, the same traveller saw a

most singular column. It stood adjacent to the town, in the centre of an ob-

long square, and was about 40 feet high, and only from two to three feet thick

at its base, and tapered gradually from the ground to its top. What is very

remarkable about this pillar is, that, notwithstanding it is formed of a single

stick of pine timber, the Indians or white traders could give no account for

what purpose it was erected ; and to the inquiries which Mr. Bartram made of

the Indians concerning it, the same answer was given as when questioned about

the mounds ; viz., that their ancestors found it there, and the people that those

ancestors dispossessed knew nothing of its origin. This is not singular when
reference is had to mounds of eartli, but when the same account is given con-

cerning perishable material, the shade, at least, of a suspicion is seen lurking

in the back ground. As another singular circumstance, it is observed that no
trees of the kind of which this column was made {pin. palustris) were to be

found at that time nearer than 12 or 15 miles.

In the great council-houses at Ottasse were observed, upon the pillars and
walls, various paintings and sculptures, supposed to be hieroglyphics of his-

torical legends, and political and sacerdotal affairs. " They are," observes

Mr. Bartram, " extremely picturesque or caricature, as men in a variety of at-
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titudes, some ludicrous enough, others having the head of some kind of ani-

mal, as those of a duck, turkey, bear, fox, wolf, buck, &c., and again those
kind of creatures are represented liaving the human head. These designs are

not ill executed ; the outlines bold, free and well proportioned. The pillars

supporting the front or piazza of the council-house of the square are ingenious-

ly formed in the likeness of vast speckled serpents, ascending upwards ; the

Ottasses being of the Snake tribe."

In the fourth book of this work mention has been made of the great high-

ways in Florida, Mr. Bartram mentions tliem, but not in a very particular

manner, upon tlie St. John's River. As his sentiments seem to be tliose of a

man of intelligence, I will oifer here his concluding remarks upon the Indian

antiquities of tlie country he visited. "I deem it necessary to observe, as my
opinion, that none of them that I have seen discover the least signs of the arts,

sciences, or architecture of the Europeans or other inhabitants of the old world,

yet evidently betray every sign or mark of the most distant antiquity."

The above remark is cited to show how different different people make up
their minds upon the same subject; it shows how futile it is for us to spend
time in speculating upon such matters. And, as I have before observed, it is

time enough to build theories after facts have been collected. It can add noth-

ing to our stock of knowledge respecting our antiquities, to talk or write forever

about Nebuchadnezzar and the lost tribes of Jews ; but if tlie time which has

been spent in this manner had been devoted to some useful pursuit, some use-

ful object would have been attained. As the matter now stands, one object^

nevertheless, is clearly attained, namely, that of misleading or confounding tlie

understandings of many uninformed people. I am led to make these observa-

tions to put the unwary upon their guard.

In the preceding chapter I have given various accounts of, or accounts from
various authors, who imagine that a colony of Welsh came to America 7 or 800
yeaio 3,'2fo. It is as truly astonishing as any thing we meet witli to observe

how many persons had found proofs of the existence of tribes of Welsh In-

dians, about the same period. As a case exactly in point with tliat mentioned
at tlie beginning of tlie last paragraph, I offer what Mr. Brackeiiridge says upon
this matter. "That no Welsh nation exists," he observes, " at present, on this

continent, is beyond a doubt. Dr. Barton has taken great pains to ascertain

the languages spoken by those tribes east of tlie Mississippi, and the Welsh
finds no place amongst them ; since the cession of Louisiana, the tribes wc-:t

of the Mississippi have been sufficiently known; we have had intercourse with

them all, but no Welsh are yet found. In the year 17!J8, a young Welshman
of the name of Evans ascended tlie Missouri, in company witii jMakey, and
remained two years in tliat country ; he spoke both the ancient and modern
Welsh, and addressed himself to every nation between that river and New
Spain, but found no Welshmen." This, it would seem, is conclusive cnougii.

Mr. l*eck, in his "Gazetteer of Illinois," lias aimed so happy a stroke at tlie

writers on our antiquity, that, had I met with his rod before I had made the

previous remarks, I should most certainly have made use of it. I shall never-

theless use it. Alter saying souiething upon tiie antiquities of Illinois, he pro-

ceeds : " Of one thing tlie writer is satished, that very imperfect and incorrect

data have been relied upon, and very erroneous conclusions drawn, upon west-

ern antiquities. Whoever lias time and patience, and is in other respects qual-

ified to explore this field of science, and will use his spade and eyes togetJier,

and restrain his imagination from running riot amongst mounds, fortifications,

horseshoes, medals, and whole cabinets of relics of tlie ' olden time,' will find

very little more than the indications of rude savages, the ancestors of the

present race of Indians."

K.NU OP BOOK KIR3T.
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BIOGRAPHY AND HISTORY OF THE NORTHERN
OR NEW ENGLAND INDIANS.

" 'Tis good to muse on nations passed away
Forever from the land we call our own."

Yauotoen.

CHAPTER I.

Conduct of the early voyagers towards the Indians—Some account of the individ'

uals Donacona—Agona— Tasquantum, or Squanto—Dehamda—Skettwarroes—
Jissacumet—Manida—^Pechmo—Monopet—Pekenimne—Sakaweston—Epanow—
Manawet— Wanape— Coneconam.

The first voyagers to a country were anxious to confirm the truth of their

accounts, and therefore took from their newly-discovered lands whatever
seemed best suited to that object. The inhabitants of America earned off

by Europeans were not, perhaps, in any instance, taken away by voyagera

merely for this object, but that they might, in time, learn from them the value

of the country from whence they took them. Besides those forcibly carried

away, there were many, doubtless, who went through overpersuasion, and
ignorance both of the distance and usage they should meet with in a land of

strangers ; which was not always as it should have been, and hence such as

were ill used, if they ever returned to their own country, were prepared to

be revenged on any strangers of the same color, that chanced to come among
them.

In the first voyage of Columbus to America, he took along with him, on his

return to Spain, a considerable number of Indians ; how many we do not

know ; but several died on their passage, and seven were presented to the king.

Fincente Yanez Pinzon, a captain under Columbus, kidnapped four natives,

whom he intended to sell in Spain for slaves ; but Columbus took them from
him, and restored them to their friends. In this first voyage to the islands of

the new world, the blood of several Indians was shed by the hostile arms of

the Spaniards.*

There were three natives presented to Henry VII. by Sebastian Cabot, in

1502, which he had taken from Newfoundland. What were their names, or

what became of them, we are not informed ; but from the notice of historians,

we learn that, when found, "they were clothed witli the skins of beasts, and
lived on raw flesh ; but after two years, [residence in England,] were seen in

the king's court clothed like Englishmen, and could not be discerned from
Englishmen." f These were the first Indians ever seen in England.J They

* My present concern not being with the Indians of South America, I beg leave to

refer the reader to a little work lately published, entitled The Old Indian Chronicle,
in which all the prominent facts concerning the atrocities of the Spaniards towards
them will be found stated.

t Rapin's Hist. England, i. 685. ed. fol. See also Piirchas, 738.

J This is upon the authority of Berkely. Instead of England, however, he says jBm-

rope ; but, by saying the six, which Cohtmbus had before taken from St. Salvador, made
their escape, he shows his superficial knowledge of those affairs. Hear Herrera :

—
" En suitte de cela, \that is, after Columbus had replied to the king's letter about a sec-

ond voyage,'] il lColu7nbus] partit pour alter ii Barcelone auec sept Indiens, parce que les

nutres estoient morts eti chemin. II Jit porter aueqiie luy des perroquets verds, et d«
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were brought to the English court " in their country habit," and " spoke a lan-

guage never heard before out of their own country." *

The French discovered the river St. Lawrence in 1508, and the captain of
the ship who made the discovery, carried several natives to Paris, which were
the first ever seen in France. What were their names, or even how many
they were in number, is not set down in the accounts of this voyage. The
name of this captain was Thomas Aubert.\

John Verazzini, in the service of Francis L, in 1.524, sailed along the Amer-
ican coast, and landed in several places. At one place, which we judge to be
some part of the coast of Connecticut, "20 of his men landed, and went
about two leagues up into the country. The inhabitants fled before them,

but they caught an old woman who had hid herself in the high grass, with a

young woman about 18 years of age. The old woman carried a child on her
back, and had, besides, two little boys with her. The young woman, too,

carried three children of her own sex. Seeing themselves discovered, they

began to shriek, and the old one gave them to understand, by signs, that the

men were fled to the woods. They offered her something to eat, which she

accepted, but tJie maiden refused it. This girl, who was tall and well shaped,

they were desirous of taking along with them, but as she made a violent

outcry, they contented themselves with taking a boy away with them." J

The name of New France was given to North America in this voyage. In

another voyage here, Verazzini was killed, and, as some say, eaten by the

Indians.

In the year 1576, Capt. Martin, afterwards Sir Martin, Frobishcr sailed from

England for the discovery of a north-west passage ;
" the only thing of the

world," says a writer of his voyage, " that was left yet vndone." After the

usual vicissitudes attending such an undertaking, at this early period of Eng
lish navigation, he discovered a strait which has ever since borne his name.
About 60 miles within that strait, he went on shore to make discovery of the

country, and was suddenly attacked by the natives, " who had stolen secretly

behinde the rockes ;" and though he "bent himselfe to his halberd," he narrowly

escaped with his life.

Hence there was a well-grounded suspicion in all future communications

with the Indians in this region ;
yet, after considerable intercourse, Frobisher^s

men became less wary, and five of them, going on shore from a boat, were sur-

prised and carried off", and never heard of again. After this "the subtile trai-

tours were so wary, as they would after that never come within our men's

danger." Notwithstanding, Frobisher found means to entice some of them
alongside of his ship, and after considerable manucevering, one of them had

his fears so far overcome by tlie alluring sound of a cow-bell, that he came so

near in his canoe, to obtain one of them, that " the captain, being ready pro-

vided, let the bell fall, and caught the man fast, and plucked him with maine
force, boat and all," into his ship. Whereupon this savage finding himself in

captivity, " for very choler and disdaine he bit his tongue in twaine within his

mouth: notwithstanding he died not thereof, but lined vntil he came in Eng-
land, and then he died of cold which he had taken at sea."

The next year (1577) Frobisher made another voyage to the same coasts of

America, and on some excursion on land ho was attacked and wounded by the

Indians. In York Sound he attacked a party, and killed five or six of them,

and shortly after took two women prisoners.

Such were the impressions given and received between the Europeans and
Indians in that early day of American history.

This was indeed a comparatively barbarous age. Few of the early voyagers

were better than demi-savages ; tor they measured the conduct of the Indians

by their own scale of justice ; in which might was too often taken for right

But we of this age— what will be said of us by generations to come,— by

rouyes, et d'autres choses digncs d'admiradon qui n'aiioieiit iantais est^ feiifs en Espagne."

Hist, dea Indcs Occident, i". 102. Ed. 1660, 3 tomes, 4to. See also Harris, Voyages, ii.

15. ed. 1764. 2 v. fol. ; Robertson, America, i. 91. ed. 1778, 4to.

* Bcrkely's Naval Hist. Brit. 268. ed. 1756, fol. and Harris, Voyages, ii. 191.

t Forster, 432. J Ibid. 434, 435.
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the enlightened of distant ages,— when tliey inquire for tiie causes and reasons

for our conduct in our wars with the Indians in our own times?

The next early voyager we shall notice is Capt. Hendrick Hudson. From
Robert JueVs journal of his voyage it appears that Hudson discovered the river

which bears his name, Sept. 6, 1609, and explored it probably as high up al

least as the present site of fVest Point, before he left it. During his stay in

the river Manna-hata, as it was called by the natives, the conduct of his men
towards those people was most unjust, savage, and cruel. We are told that

their first interviews with the natives were friendly, but we are not told how
they became immediately otherwise. The same day Hudson entered the river,

he sent out John Colman to make soundings, in which service he was shot in

his throat with an arrow and killed ; and the next day he was buried on a point

of land which has ever since borne his name. What provocation, if any, led

to this misfortune, is not mentioned, nor does it appear that there was any sus-

pension of intercourse, though a few days after several Indians were taken

captive by the ship's crew as they came to trade, and were confined on board.

Tiiey escaped soon after, however, by jumping overboard.

By the 15th of September, Hudson had reached considerably above West
Point, and on the 1st of October he began to descend, but came to an anchor
" seven miles below the mountains." An Indian in a canoe, while many others

were around the ship, came under the stern, climbed up by the rudder, entered

the cabin window, which had been left open, and stole some trifling articles.

Being discovered, he was pursued and killed by the mate, " by a shot through

his breast." By this rash act several were so frightened that they jumped
into the river. As a boat from the ship was pursuing them, one in the water

caught hold of the side of the boat; whereupon the cook cut off" his hands

with a sword, and he was drowned. The next day two canoes approached

the ship, and shot at it with their bows and arrows ;
" in recompense whereof,"

says Juet, " we discharged six muskets, and killed two or three of them,"

Soon after, about 100 Indians appeared on a point of land, " to shoot at us ;

"

then " I shot a falcon at them," says this author, whom I take to have been
the gunner of the ship, "and killed two of them. Yet they manned off" another

canoe with nine or ten men, which came to meet us ; so I shot at it also a fal-

con, and shot it through, and killed one of them. Then our men with their

muskets killed three or four more of them."

This must truly ever be looked upon as a sad beginning of an acquaintance

between the Indians and white people on the southern boundary of New Eng-
land. The former could not view the latter in any other light than a race far

more barbarous than themselves ; inasmuch as they had seen a score of their

people, one after another, sacrificed, while they had killed but a single white

man, probably in a quarrel. We now turn to the northern boundary for

another example or two of early intercourse.

Donacona, a chief upon the River St. Croix, was met with, in 1535, by the

voyager James Cartier, who was well received and kindly treated by him and
his people ; to repay which, Cartier, " partly by stratagem and partly by force,"

carried him to France, where he soon after died.* Notwithstanding, Cartier

was in the country five years after, where he found Agona, the successor of

Donacona, and exchanged presents with him, probably reconciling him by some
plausible account of the absence of Donacona.

Tasqiuintum, or Tisquantum, was one of the five natives carried from the

coast of New England, in 1605, by Capt. George Waymouth, who had been
sent out to discover a north-west passage. This Indian was known after-

wards to the settlers of Plimouth, by whom he was generally called 'SguaiUo,

or ^Squantum, by abbreviation. The names of the other four were Manida,
Skettwarroes, Dehamda and Assacumet.

Although Gorges does not say Dehamda was one brought over at this time, it

is evident that he was, because, so far as we can discover, there were no othe

natives at that time in England, but these five.

Sit Ferdinando Gorges says, JVayinouth, "falling short of his course, [in seek-

ing the N. W. passage,] happened into a river on the coast of America, called

Pemmaquid, from whence he brought five of the natives." " And it so pleased

• Foster, ^ 10—142.



70 CONDUCT OF EARLY VOYAGERS [Book IF.

our great God that" TVayinouth, on his return to England, " came into the harbor

of Plymouth, where I then commanded." Three * of wliose natives, namely,

Manida, Skettwarroes and Tasquantiim, " I seized upon. They were all of one na-

tion, but of several parts, and several families. This accident must be acknowl-

edged the means, under God, of putting on foot and giving life to all our plan-

tations."

Paying great attention to these natives, he soon understood enough by them
about the country from whence they came to establish a belief that it was of
great value ; not perhaps making due allowance for its being their home. And
Sir Ferdinando adds, " After I had those people sometimes in my custody, I ob-

served in them an inclination to follow the example of the better sort ; and in

all their carriages, manifest shows of great civility, far from the rudeness of
our common people. And the longer I conversed with them, the better hope
they gave me of those parts where they did inhabit, as proper for our user;

;

especially when I found what goodly rivers, stately islands, and safe harbors,

those parts abounded with, being the special marks I leveled at as the only

want our nation met with in all their navigations along that coast. And hav-

ing kept them full three years, I made them able to set me down what great

rivers run up into the land, what men of note were seated on them, what power
they were of, how allied, what enemies they had," &c.
Thus having gained a knowledge of the country. Sir Ferdinando got ready " a

Bhip furnished with men and all necessaries" for a voyage to America, and sent

as her captain Mr. Henry ChaUoung,\ with whom he also sent two of his Indians.

The names of these were Assacumet and Manida. Chalons, having been taken

sick in the beginning of the voyage, altered his course, and lost some time in

the West Indies. After being able to proceed northward, he departed from

Porto Rico, and was soon after taken by a Spanish fleet, and carried into Spain,
" where their ship and goods were confiscate, themselves made prisoners, the

voyage overthrown, and both my natives lost." One, however, Assacumet, was
afterwards recovered, if not the other. This voyage of Chalons was in 1606.

It appears that the Lord Chief Justice Popham | had agreed to send a vessel

to the aid of Chalons, which was accordingly done before the news of his being

taken was known in England. For Sir Ferdinando Gorges says, " It pleased

the lord chief justice, according to his promise, to despatch Capt. [Martin]

Prin from Bristol, with hope to have found Capt. Challounge

;

" " but not hear-

ing by any means what became of him, after he had made a perfect discovery

of all those rivers and harbors," " brings with him the most exact discovery of

that coast that ever came to my hands since, and, indeed, he was the best able

to perform it of any I met withal to this present [time,] which, with his relation

of the country, wrought such an impression in the lord chief justice, and us all

that were his associates, that (notwithstanding our first disaster) we set up our

resolutions to follow it with effect."

Dehamda and Skettwarroes were with Prin § in this voyage, and were, with-

out doubt, his most efficient aids in surveying the coast. It appears from

Gorges, that Dehamda was sent by the chief justice, who we suppose had con-

sidered him his property,|| and Skettwarroes by himself They returned again

to England with Prin,

* It seems, from this part of his narrative, that he had but three of them, but from
subsequent passages, it appears he had them all. See also America painted to the Life.

-|- CluiUons, by some. Gon/es has sometimes, C/ialow/is. C/ia/o)i, \c.

j 'J'he same who presided at the trial of Sir ]V. ltah'(/h and liis associates, in 1603.

See Prince's Worthies of Devon, 672, 673. Fuller, in his Worthies of England, ii. 284,

says, " Travelers owed their safety to this judj^e's severity many years after his death,

which happened Anno Domini 16**," thinking, no doubt, he had much enlightened
his reader by detinitely stating that Sir John Popham died some time within a hundred
years. The severity referred to has reference to his importuning King James not to

pardon so many robbers and tliieves, wliicli, he said, tended to render the judges con-

temptible, and " which made him more sparing afterward."

{ Gori/es, one of the main springs of these transactions, who wrote the account we
give, makes no mention of any other captain accompanying liim ; yet Dr. Holmes's

authorities. Annals, i. 12.5, led iiim to record Thomas Ilanant as the performer of this

voyage. And a writer of 1622 says, Ilanam, or, as he calls him. Human, went com-
mander, and Prinne master. See 2 Col. Mass. Hist. Soc. ix. 3. This agrees with the

account of Gorues the younger.
II lie had luiibably liocn given to him bv Sir Ferdinando.
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The next year, 1607, these two natives piloted the first New England colony

to the mouth of Sagadahock River, since tlie Kennebeck. They left England
30 May, and did not arrive here until 8 August following. " As soon as the

president had taken notice of the place, and given order for landing the pro-

visions, he despatched away Captain Gilbert, with Skitwarres his guide, for the

thorough discovery of the rivers and habitations of the natives, by whom he
was brought to several of them, where he found civil entertainment, and kind

respects, far from brutish or savage natures, so as they suddenly became famil-

iar friends, especially by the means of Dehamda and Skitwarrers.'" " So as the

president was earnestly intreated by Sassenow, Aberemet, and others, the princi

pal Sagamores, (as they call their great lords,) to go to the Bashabas, who it

seems was their king." They were prevented, however, by adverse weather,

from that ^ourney, and thus the promise to do so was unintentionally broken,
" much to the grief of those Sagamores that were to attend him. The Bashe-
bas, notwithstanding, hearing of his misfortune, sent his own son to visit him,

and to beat a trade with him for furs."

Several sad and melancholy accidents conspired to put an end to this first

colony of New England. The first was the loss of their store-house, contain-

ing most of their supplies, by fire, in the winter following, and another was the

death of Lord Popham. It consisted of 100 men, and its beginning was auspi-

cious ; but these calamities, together with the death of their president, broke

down their resolutions. So many discouragements, notwithstanding a ship

with supplies had arrived, determined them to abandon the country, which
they did in the spring.* What became of Dehamda and Skettwarroes there is

no mention, but they probably remained in the country with their friends, un-

less the passage which we shall hereafter extract be construed to mean differ-

ently.f

To return to Tisquantum. There is some disagreement in the narratives of

the contemporary writers in respect to this chief, which shows, either that some
of them are in error, or that there were two of the same name—one carried

away by Waymouth, and the other by Hunt. From a critical examination of

the accounts, it is believed there was but one, and that he was carried away by
Waymouth, els Sir Ferdinando Gorges relates, whose account we have given

above.! !* is impossible that Sir Ferdinando should have been mistaken in

the names of those he received from Waymoidh. The names of those carried

oflf by Hunt are not given, or but feyf of them, nor were they kidnapped until

nine years after WaymoutKs voyage. It is, therefore, possible that Squantum,
having returned home from the service of Gorges, went again to England with

Bome other person, or perhaps even with Hunt. But we are inclined to think

there was but one of the name, and his being carried away an error of inad-

vertence.

Patuxe:, afterward called Plimouth, was the place of residence of Squantum,
who, it is said, was the only person that escaped the great plague of which we
shall particularly speak in the life of Massasoit ; where, at the same time, we
shall take up again the life of Squantum, whose history is so intimately con-

nected with it.

It was in 1611 that Captain Edtoard Harlow^ was sent " to discover an He
supposed about Cape Cod," who " falling with Monahigan, they found onely

Cape Cod no He but the maine ; there [at Monhigon Island] they detained

three Saluages aboord them, called Pechmo, Monopet and Pekenimne, but

Pechmo leapt ouerboard, and got away ; and not long after, with his consorts,

cut their Boat from their sterne, got her on shore, and so filled her with sand

and guarded her with bowes and arrowes, the English lost her."||

This exploit of Pechmo is as truly brave as it was daring. To have got

They had " seated themselves in a peninsula, which is at the mouth of this river,

[Sagadahock,] where they built a fortress to defend themselves from their enemies,
which they named St. George." America Paintedto the Life, by Ferd. Gorges, Esq, p. 19.

+ See life Massasoit.

J It is plain, from Prince Chron. 134, that his authors had confounded the names of

these Indians one with another.
4 Sir Fred. Gorges is probably wrong in calling him Henry Harley.

\ Capt. Smith's Gen. Hist. N. Eng., ii. 174.



72 HUNT'S VOYAGE. fBooK 1

under the stern of a ship, in the face of armed men, and at the same time to

have succeeded in his design of cutting away and carrying off the boat, was
an act as bold and daring, to say the least, as that performed in the harbor of
Tripoli by our countryman Decatur.

From Monhigon Harlow, proceeding southward, fell in with an island

called then by the Indians JVohono. From this place " they tooke Sakawes-
ton, that after he had lived many years in England, went a soldier to the wars
of Bohemia."* Whether he ever returned we are not told. From this

island they proceeded to Capawick, since called Capoge, [Martha's Vineyard.]
Here " they tooke Coneconam and Epenow^'' and " so, with fine Saluages, they
returned for England."
Epenow, or, as some wrote, Epanow, seems to have been much such a

character as Pechmo — artful, cunning, bold and daring. Sir Ferdinando Gorges
is evidently erroneous in part of his statement about this native, in as far as it

relates to his having been brought away by Hunt. For Harlow's voyage was
in 1611, and Epanow was sent over to Cape Cod with Captain Hobson, in

1614, some months before Hunt left.

As it is peculiarly gratifying to the writer to hear such old venerable writers

as Smith, Gorges, &c. speak, the reader perhaps would not pardon him were
he to withhold what the intimate acquaintance of the interesting Epanow says
of him. Hear, then. Sir Ferdinando :—

" While I was laboring by what means I might best continue life in my
languishing hopes, there comes one Henry Harley t unto me, bringing with him
a native of the Island of Capawick, a place seated to the southward of Cap,e

Cod, whose name was Epenewe, a person of goodly stature, strong and well

proportioned. This man was taken upon the main, [by force] with some 29 J

others by a ship of London that endeavored to sell them for slaves in Spaine,
out being understood that they were Americans, and being found to be unapt
for their uses, they would not meddle with them, this being one of them they
refused, wherein they exprest more worth than those that brought them- to the
market, who could not but known that our nation was at that time in travel for

setling of Christian colonies upon that continent, it being an act much tending
to our prejudice, when we came into that part of the countries, as it shall

further appear. How Capt. Harley came to be possessed of this savage, I

know not, but I understood by others how he had been shown in London for

a wonder. It is true, (as I have said) he was a goodly man, of a brave aspect,

stout and sober in his demeanor, and had learned so much English as to bid

those that wondered at him. Welcome, welcome ; this being the last and best

use they could make of him, that was now grown out of the people's wonder.
The captain, falling further into his familiarity, found him to be of acquaintance
and friendship with those subject to the Bashaba, whom the captain well knew,
being himself one of the plantation, sent over by the lord chief justice,

[Popham,] and by that means understood much of his language, found out
the place of his birth," &c.

Before proceeding with the history of Epanow, the account of Capt. Thomas
Hunt's voyage should be related ; because it is said that it was chiefly owing
to his perfidy that the Indians of New England were become so hostile to the

voyagers. Nevertheless, it is plain, that (as we have already said) Hunt did

not commit his depredations until after Epanow had escaped out of the hands
of the English. Capt. John Smith was in company with Hunt, and we will

hear him relate the whole transaction. After stating that they arrived at Mon-
higon in April, 1614, § spent a long time in trying to catch whales without
success ; and as " for gold, it was rather the master's device to get a voyage,
that projected it;" that for trifles they got "near 11000 beaver skins, 100

* Capt. Smith's Gen. Hist. N. Eng. ii. 174.

t Perhaps not the Capt. Harlow before mentioned, though Prince thinks Gorges
means him.

X If in this he refers to those taken by Hunt, as I suppose, he sets the number
higher than others. His grandson, F. Gorges, in America Painted, &c., says 24 was the
number seized by Hunt.

{ Smith had an Indian named Tantum with him in this voyage, whom he set on
ihore at Cape Cod.
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martin, and as many otters, the most of them within the distance of 20 leagues,"

and his own departure for Europe, Capt. Smith proceeds :
—

" The other ship staid to fit herself for Spain with the dry fish, which was
sold at Malaga at 4 rials the quintal, each hundred weight two quintals and a

half.—But one Thomas Hunt, the master of this ship, (when I was gone,)

thinking to prevent that intent I had to make there a plantation, thereby to

keep tliis abounding country still in obscurity, that only he and some few mer-

chants more might enjoy wholly the benefit of the trade, and profit of this

country, betrayed four and twenty of those poor salvages aboard his ship, and

most dishonestly and inhumanly, for their kind usage of me and all our men,
carried them with him to Malaga ; and there, for a little private gain, sold these

silly salvages for rials of eight; but this vile act kept him ever after from any
more employment to those parts."

F. Gorges, the younger, is rather confused in his account of Hunfs voyage,

as well as the elder. But the former intimates that it was on account of Hunt's

selling the Indians he took as slaves, the news of which having got into Eng-
land before Epanoic was sent out, caused this Indian to make his escape, and
consequently the overthrow of the vogage ; whereas the latter, Sir Ferdinando,

does not attribute it to that. We will now hear him again upon this interest-

ing subject :
—

" The reasons of my undertaking the. employment for the island of Capawick,

" At the time this new savage [Epanow] came unto me, I had recovered

Assacumet, one of the natives I sent with Capt. Chaloumes in his unhappy em-
oloyment, with whom I lodged Epeimw, who at the first hardly understood

one the other's speech, till after a while ; I perceived the diflTerence was no
more than that as ours is between the northern and southern people, so that I

was a little eased in the use I made of my old servant, whom I engaged to give

account of what he learned by conference between themselves, and he as

faithfiilly performed it."

There seems but little doubt that Epanow and Assacum.et had contrived a

plan of escape before they left England, and also, hy finding out wl>at the Eng-
lish most valued, and assuring them that it was in abundance to be had at a

certain place in their own country, prevailed upon them, or by this pretended

discovery were the means of the voyage being undertaken, of which we are

now to speak. Still, as will be seen. Sir Ferdinando does not speak as though

he had been quite so handsomely duped by his cunning man of the woods.

Gold, it has been said, was the valuable commodity to which Epanow was to

pilot the English. Gorges proceeds :
—

" They [Capt. Hobson and those who accompanied him] set sail in June, in

Anno 1614, being fully instructed how to demean themselves in every kind,

carrying with them Epenow, Assacomet, and Wanape,* another native of those

parts sent me out of the Isle of Wight,t for my better information in the parts

of the country of his knowledge: when as it pleased God that they were
arrived upon the coast, they were piloted from place to place, by the natives

themselves, as well as their hearts could desire. And coming to the harbor

where Epenow M^as to make good his undertaking, [to point out the gold mine,

no doubt,] the principal inhabitants of the place came aboard; some of them
being his brothers, others his near cousins, [or relatives,] who, after they had

communed together, and were kindly entertained by the captain, departed in

their canoes, promising the next morning to come aboard again, and bring

some trade with them. But Epenow privately (as it appeared) had contracted

with his friends, how he might make his escape without performing what he

had undertaken, being in truth no more than he had told me he was to dc

though with loss of his life. For otherwise, if it were found that he had dis-

* Doubtless the same called by others Manawet, who, it would seem from Mr. Hiib-

bard, (Hist. N. Eng. 39,) died before Epanoto escaped, " soon after the ship's arrival."

t How he came there, we are at a loss to determine, unless natives were carried o£F,

of whom no mention is made. This was unquestionably the case, for when it came to

be a common thing for vessels to bring home Indians, no mention, of course, would be

made of them, especially if they went voluntarily, as, no doubt, manv did.

7
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covered the secrets of his country,* he was sure to have his brains knockt out
as soon as he came ashore

; f for that cause I gave the captain strict charge to

endeavor by all means to prevent his escaping from them. And for the more
surety, I gave order to have three gentlemen of my own kindred to be ever at

liand with him ; clothing him with long garments, fitly to be laid hold on, if

occasion should require. Notwithstanding all this, his friends being all come
at tlie time appointed with twenty canoes, and lying at a certain distance with
their bows ready, the captain calls to them to come aboard ; but they not mov-
ing, he speaks to Epenow to come unto him, where he Avas in the forecastle

of the ship, he being then in the waste of the ship, between the two gentle-

men that had him in guard ; starts suddenly from them, and coming to the cap-
tain, calls to his friends in English to come aboard, in the interim slips himself
overboard : And although he were taken hold of by one of tlie company, yet,

being a strong and heavy man, could not be stayed, and was no sooner in the

water, but the natives, [his friends in the boats,] sent such a shower of arrows,

and came withal desperately so near the ship, that they carried him away in

despight of all the musquetteers aboard, who were, for the number, as good as

our nation did afford. And thus were my hopes of that particular [voy-

age] made void and frustrate."

From the whole of this narration it is evident that Epanow was forcibly

retained, if not forcibly carried off, by English. And some relate:} that he
attacked Capt Denner and his men, supposing they had come to seize and
carry him back to England. It is more probable, we think, that he meant
to be revenged for his late captivity, and, according to real Indian custom,

resolved that the first whites should atone for it, either with their life or liberty.

Gorges does not tell us what his brave " musquetteers " did when Epaiiow
escaped, but from other sources we learn that they fired upon his liberators,

killing and wounding some, but how many, they could only conjecture. But
there is no room for conjecture about the damage sustained on the part of the

ship's crew, for it is distinctly stated that when they received the " shower of

arrows," Capt Hobson and many of his men were wounded.§ And Smith
\\

says, " So well he had contrived his businesse, as many reported he intended

to have surprised the ship ; but seeing it could not be effected to his liking,

before them all he leaped ouer boord."

We next meet with Epanow in 1619. Capt Thomas Dormer, or Dermer, in

the employ of Sir F. Gorges, met with him at Capoge, the place where,

five years before, he made his escape from Capt Hobson. Gorges writes,

" This savage, speaking some English, laughed at his owne escape, and re-

ported the story of it Mr. Dormer told him he came from me, and was one of

my servants, and that I was much grieved he had been so ill used as to be
forced to steal away. This savage was so cunning, that, after he had ques-

tioned him about me, and all he knew belonged unto me, conceived he was
come on purpose to betray him ; and [so] conspired with some of his fellows

to take the captain ; thereupon they laid hands upon him. But lie being a

brave, stout gentleman, drew his sword and freed hi^nself, but not without 14

wounds. This disaster forced him to make all possible haste to Virginia to be
cured of his wounds. At the second return [he having just come from there]

he had the misfortune to fall sick and die, of the infirmity many of our nation

are subject unto at their first coming into those parts."

The ship's crew being at the same time on shore, a fight ensued, in which
some of Epanoio's company were slain. " This is the last time," says a writer

in the Historical Collections, " that the soil of Martha's Vineyard was stained

with human blood ; for from tiiat day to the present [1807] no Indian has been

killed by a white man, nor white man by an Indian."

Ir relation to the fight which Deruicr and his men had with the Indians at

the Vineyard, Morion H relates that tiic English went on shore to trade with

them, when they were assaulted and all the men slain but one that kept the

• The secrets of the sandy island Capoge, or the neighboring shores of Cape Cod,
whatever they arc now, existed only in faith of such sanguine minds as Sir Ferdinando
and his adherents.

t We need no better display of the craft of Epaiww, or proof of his cunning in deep
plots. t lit/knap, Anicr. Biog. i. 362. i Smith's N. England, ii. 178.

y Ibid. Ii N. Eng. Memorial, 58, 69.
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boat "But the [captain] himself got on board very sore wounded, and they

had cut off his head upon the cuddy of the boat, had not his man rescued him
with a sword, and so they got him away." Squanto was with Capt. Dermer at

this time, as will be seen in the life of Massasoii.

CHAPTER II.

Arrival and first Proceedings of the English who settle at Plimcuth— Their first

discovery of Indians— Their first battle with them—Samoset—Squanto—Massa-
soiT

—

Jyanough—^spinet— Cauneconam—Caunbitant—Wittuwamet—Pek-
suoT—HoBOMOK

—

Tokamahamon— Obbatinewat—Nanepashamet—Squaw- Sa-
chem of Massachusetts

—

JVebcoicet.

In 1620 some determined white people, with the most astonishing and in-

vincible fimmess, undertook to wander 3000 miles from the land of their birth,

and, in the most hazardous manner, to take up a permanent abode upon the

borders of a boundless wilderness,— a wilderness as great, or far greater, for

aught they knew, than the expanse of ocean which they were to pass. But
all dangers and difficulties, there to be encountered, weighed nothing in com-
parison with the liberty of conscience which they might enjoy when once
beyond the control of their bigoted persecutors.

These singular people had liberty from their oppressor, James I., to go and
settle in this wilderness, and to possess themselves of some of the lands of

the Indians, provided they paid him or some of his friends for them. No one

seems then to have questioned how this king came by the right and title to

lands here, any more than how he came by his crown. They were less scru-

pulous, perhaps, in this matter, as the king told them, in a charter* which he

granted them, though not till after they had sailed for America, " that he had
BEEN GIVEN CERTAINLY TO KNOWE, THAT WITHIN THESE LATE TEARE3
THERE HATH, BY GOD's VISITATION, RAIGNED A WONDERFUL PLAGUE, TO-

GETHER WITH MANY HORRIBLE SLAUGHTERS AND MURTHERS, COMMITTED
AMOUNGST THE SAUAGES AND BRUTISH PEOPLE THERE HEERTOFORE INHABIT-

ING, IN A MANNER TO THE UTTER DESTRUCTION, DEVASTACION AND DEPOP-
ULACION OF THAT WHOLE TERRITORYE, SO THAT THERE IS NOT LEFT, FOU
MANY LEAGUES TOGETHER IN A MANNER, ANY THAT DOE CLAIME OR CHAL-
LENGE ANY KIND OF INTERESTS THEREIN." f This WaS, doubtlcSS, aS Wel

known, if not better, to the Pilgrims (as they were aptly called) as to King James
After numerous delays and disappointments, the Pilgrims, to the number of

41, with their wives, J children, and servants, sailed from Plimouth, in England,
in one small ship, called the Mayflower, on Wednesday, the 6th of September.

Their passage was attended with great peril ; but they safely arrived at Cape
Cod, 9 Nov. following, without the loss of any of their number. They now
proceeded to make the necessary discoveries to seat themselves on the barren

coast. One of the first things they found necessary to do, to preserve order

among themselves, was, to form a kind of constitution, or general outline of

government. Having done this, it was signed by the 41, two days after their

arrival, viz. 11 Nov. The same day, 15 or 16 of their number, covered with

armor, proceeded to the land, and commenced discoveries. The Indians did

not show themselves to the English until the 15th, and then they would have
nothing to say to them. About 5 or 6 at first only appeared, who fled into the

woods as soon as they had discovered themselves. The Englishmen followed

them many miles, but could not overtake them.
First Battle ivith the Indians.—This was upon 8 Dec. 1620, and we will give

the account of it in the language of one that was an actor in it. " We went
ranging up and down till the sun began to draw low, and then we hasted out

* This charter bears date 3 Nov. 1620. Chalmers, Polit. Annals, 81.

t Hazard's Hist. Collections, I, 10.5, where the entire charter may be seen. It wa»
afterwards called The Grand Plimouth Patent. Chalmers, ib.

J There were, in all. "23 females.
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of the woods th;it we might come to our shallop. By that time we had done,

and our shallop come to us, it was within night [7 Dec], and we betook us to

onr rest, after we had set our watch.
" About midnight we heard a great and hideous cry, and our Sentinell called

Arm, arm. So we bestirred ourselues, and shot off a couple of Muskets, and
[the] noyse ceased. We concluded that it was a company of Wolues and Foxes,
for one [of our company] told vs he had heard such a noyse in jYew-found-land.
About fiue a clocke in the morning [8 Dec] wee began to be stirring. Vpon a

sudden we heard a great and strange cry, which we knew to be the same
voyces, though they varied their notes. One of our company, being abroad,

came running in and cryed, They are men, Indians, Indians ; and withall their

arrowes came flying amongst vs. Our men ran out with all speed to recovei

their armes. The cry of our enemies was dreadfull, especially when our men
ran out to recover their Armes. Their note was after this manner, Woath,

ivoach, ha ha hack woach. Our men were no sooner come to their Armes, but

the enemy was ready to assault them. There was a lusty man, and no whit

lesse valiant, who was thought to bee their Captain, stood behind a tree, within

half a musket shot of vs, and there let his arrawes fly at vs. Hee stood three

shots of a musket. At length one of vs, as he said, taking full ayme at him,

he gave an extraordinary cry, and away they went all."

It is not certain that any blood was shed in this battle ; but it was pretty

strongly presumed that the big captain of the Indians was wounded. The
Indians having retreated, the conquerors were left in possession of the battle-

ground, and they proceeded to gather together the trophies of this their first

victory. They picked up 18 arrows, which they sent to their friends in Eng-
land by the return of the Mayflower. Some of these were curiously " headed
with brasse, some with Harts' home, and others witli Eagles' clawes." *

It appeared afterwards that this attack was made by the Nauset Indians,

whose chief's name was Aspind. Whetlier he was the leader in this fight, is not

known ; but he probably was. The place where the affair happened was called

by the Indians JSTainskdiet ; but the English now called it The First Encounter.

The ELEVENTH OF DECEMBER, ever memorable in the history of

New England, was now come, and this was the day of the LANDING OF
THE PILGRIMS. A place upon the inhospitable shore had been fixed upon,

and was this day taken possession of, and never again deserted. The ship

until then had been their permanent abode, which now tliey gladly exchanged
for the sandy shore of the bay of Cape Cod.
Welcome, Englishmen! Welcome, Englishmen! are words so inseparably

associated with the name of Samoset, that we can never hear the one without

the pleasing recollection of the other. These were the first accents our pil-

grim fathers hoard, on the American strand, from any native. We mean intel-

ligible accents, for when they were attacked at Namskeket, on tlieir first

arrival, they heard only the frightful war-whoop.
The first time Indians were seen by the pilgrims, was upon 15th Nov. 16*20.

" They espied fiue or sixe people, with a Dogge, coming towards them, who were
Savages ; who, wlien they saw them, ran into the Wood, and whistled the Dogge
after them."f And though the ICnglish ran towards them, when the Indians

perceived it " they ran away might and main," and the English "could not

come near them." Soon after this, Morton says the Indians "got all the

powaws in the country, who, for three days together, in a horid and devilish

manner did curse and execrate them with their conjurations, which assembly

Mmirt's Relation, in 1 Mass. Hist. Col. VIII, 218, 219 ; or, original cd. p. 19 & 20.

t lielatimi or Journal of a Plantation settled at Pli/moitth, in N. E. usually cited

Moiirt's Relation. It was, no doubt, written by several of the company, or the writer

was assisted by several. Mourt seems to have been the publisher. He appears not to

have written any part of it but the " To the Reader," and I am inclined to believe that

this G. Mourt, l)eing zealous in tlie cause of the I'ilgrims, may have publislicd the work
at his own expense. He published, at least, one other kindred work. I have no scru-

ple but that liiehard Gardner was the principal author. About the early settlement of

any country, there never was a more important document. It was printed in 1()2'2, and
is now reprinted in the Mass. Hist. Col., and we hope soon to see it printed in a volume
by itself in a style worthy of its importance. As it stands in the Hist. Collections, i*.

IS very difficult to consult, a part of it being contained in one volume, and the remain-

der in another.
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and service they held in a dai-k and dismal swamp. Behold how Satan labor

ed to hinder the gospel from coming into New England !

"

It was on Friday, 16th 3Iarch, 1621, that Samoset suddenly appeared at

Plimouth, and, says Mourt, " He very boldly came all alone, and along the

houses, strait to the rendezvous, where we intercepted him, not suffering him
to go in, as undoubtedly he would, out of his bokhiess." He was naked, "only
a leather about his waist, with a fringe about a span long." The Aveather was
very cold, and this author adds, " We cast a horseman's coat about him." To
reward them for their hospitality, Samoset gave them whatever information
they desired. " He had, say they, learned some broken English amongst the

Englishmen that came to fish at Monhiggon, and knew by name the most of

the captains, commandere, and masters, that usually come [there]. He was a

man free in speech, so far as he could express his mind, and of seemly car-

riage. We questioned him of many things : he was the first savage we could
meet withal. He said he was not of those parts, but of Moratiggon, and one
of the sagamores or lords thereof: had been 8 months in these parts, it lying

hence [to the eastward] a day's sail with a gi-eat wind, and five days by land.

He discoursed of the whole country, and of every province, and of their sag-

amores, and their number of men, and strength." " He had a bow and two
arrows, the one headed, and the other unheaded. He was a tall, strait man

;

the hair of his head black, long behind, only short before ; none on his face at

all. He asked some beer, but we gave him strong water, and biscuit, and
butter, and cheese, and pudding, and a piece of a mallard ; all which he liked

well." " He told us the place where we now live is called Patuxet, and that

about 4 years ago all the inhabitants died of an extraordinaiy plague, and there
is neither man, woman, nor child remaining, as mdeed we have found none

:

so as there is none to hinder our possession, or lay claim unto it. All the
afternoon we spent in communication with him. We would gladly been rid'

of him at night, but he was not willing to go this night. Then we thought to

caiTy him on ship-board, wherewith he was well content, and went into the
shallop ; but the wind was high and water scant, that it could not return back.
We lodged [with him] that night at Stephen Hopkins^ house, and watched
him."
Thus, through the means of this innocent Indian, was a correspondence

happily begun. He left Plimouth the next morning to return to Massasoit.
who, he said, was a sachem having under him 60 men. The English having
left some tools exposed in the woods, on finding that they were missing, rightly

judged the Indians had taken them. They complained of this to Samoset in

rather a threatening air. "We willed hun (say they) that they should be
brought again, otherwise we would right ourselves." When he left them " he
promised within a night or two to come again," and bring some of MassasoWi
men to trade with them in beaver skins. As good as his word, Samoset came
the next Sunday, " and brought with him 5 other tall, proper men. They hac

i

every man a deer's skin on him ; and the principal of them had a wild cat's

skin, or such like, on one ai-m. They had most of them long hosen up to their

groins, close made ; and aboue their groins, to their waist, another leather
they were altogether like the Irish trousers. They are of complexion like oui
English gipsies ; no hair, or very little, on then- faces ; on their heads long haii

to their shoulders, only cut before ; some trussed up before with a feather
broadwise like a fan ; another a fox-tail hanging out." The English had
charged Samoset not to let any who came with him bring their arms ; these
therefore, left "their bows and arrows a quarter of a mile from our town
We gave them entertainment as we thought was fitting them. They did eal

liberally of our English victuals," and appeared very friendly; "sang and
danced after their manner, like anticks." "Some of them had their fac<\s

painted black, from the forehead to the chin, four or five fingers broad : othei>
after other fiishions, as they liked. They brought three or four skins, but wi-

would not truck with them all that day, but wished them to bring more, and
we would truck for all ; which they promised within a night or two, and
would leave these behind them, though we were not willing they should ; and
they brought all our tools again, which were taken in the woods, in our
abser.ce. So, because of the day [Sunday], we dismissed them so soon as wo

7*
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could. But Samoset, our first acquaintance, either was sick, or feigned himself

BO, and would not go with them, and stayed with us till Wednesday morning.

Then we sent him to them, to know the reason tliey came not accorduig to

their words ; and we gave hun a hat, a pair of stockings and shoes, a shirt, and
a piece of cloth to tie about his waist."

Samoset returned again, the next day, bringing with him Squanto, mentioned
in the last chapter. He was "the only native (says Modrt's Relation) of
Patuxet, where we now inhabit, who was one of the 20 [or 24] captives, that

by Hunt were can-ied away, and had been in England, and dwelt in Comhill
with master John Slaine, a merchant, and could speak a little English, with

three others." They brought a few articles for trade, but the more important

news "that their great sagamore, Massasoyt, was hard by," whose introduc-

tion to them accordingly followed.

In June, 1621, a boy, John Billington, having been lost in the woods, several

English, with Squanto and Tokamahamon, undertook a voyage to Nauset in

search for him. Squanto was theu' interpreter ;
" the other, Tokamahamon, a

special friend." The weather was fair when they set out, "but ere they had
been long at sea, there arose a storm of wind and rain, with much lightning

and thunder, insomuch that a [water] spout arose not far from them." How-
ever, they escaped danger, and arrived at night at Cununaquid. Here they

met with some Indians, who informed them that the boy was at Nauset.

These Indians treated them with great kindness, invitmg them on shore to eat

with them.
lyanough was sachem of this place, and these were his men. " They brought

us to their sachim (says Mourt) or governor, whom they call lyanough^'" who
then appeared about 26 yeai's of age, " but very personable, gentle, courteous,

and fair-conditioned, indeed, not like a savage, save for his attire. His enter-

taumient was answerable to his parts, and his cheer plentiful and various."

Thus is portrayed the amiable character, lyanough, by those who knew him.

We can add but little of him except his wretched fate. The severity executed

upon JVittuwamet and Peksuot caused such consternation and dread of the

English among many, tliat they forsook their wonted habitations, fled into

swamps, and lived in unhealthy places, in a state of stanation, until many died

with diseases which they hail thus contracted. Among such victims were
lyanough, Aspimt, Coneconam, and many more. Hence tlie English supposed

they were in PeksuoVs conspiracy, as will be more particularly related here-

after.

While the English were with lyanough, at Cummaquid, they relate that

there was an old woman, whom they judgeil to be no loss than 100 yeai-s old,

who came to see them, because siie had never seen English; "yet (say they)

[she] could not i)ohold us without breaking forth into great passion, weeping
and crying excessively." They inquired the reason of it, and were told that

ehe had tlm^o sons, "who, when iniuster Huiit was in these parts, went aboard

nis ship to trade with him, and he carried them captives into Spain." Squanto

being j)res('nt, who was canii'd away at the same time, was acijuaintcd with

the circumstances, and thus the Knglish became knowing to her distress, and
told her they were sorry, that Hunt was a had man, but that all the other Eng-
lish were well disposed, and would nt>ver injure her. They then giive her a

few trinkets, which considiralily appeased her.

Our voyagers now proce(><l to Nauset. accompanied by lyanough and two
of his men. Aspintt was the sachem of this place, to whom Squanto was sent,

lyanough and his men having gone before. Squnyito having informed Aspind
tliat his I'nglish friends had come for the hoy, he "came (they relate) with a

great train, anil brought the hoy with him," one carrying him through the

water. This being at or near the place wliere an attack was made on the

Knglish, on their first arrival in the country, us has been related, caused them
to be on their guard at this time.

At this time, Jlipincl iiad in his company "not less than an hmnh-ed ;" half

of whom attended the hoy to the l)oat, and the rest "stood aloof," with their

l)Ows and arrows, looking on. Jlspimt delivered up the boy in a tormal man-
ner, "hehung with beads, and made peace with us ; we bestowing a knife on

him, an<i likewise on another, tliat first entertained the boy, and bnuight him
thifJter."
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Fyanoiigh did not accompany the expedition in their return from Nauset, but
went home by land, and was ready to enteitain the company on their return.

From contrary winds and a want of fresh water, the voyagere were obUged to

touch again at Cummaquid. " There (say they) we met again with lyanough,
and the most of his town." "He, being still willing to gratify us, took a rund-
et, and led our men in the dark a great way for water, but could find none
good, yet brought such as there was on his neck with them. In the meantime
the women joined hand in hand, singing and dancing before the shallop ;* the
men also showing all the kindness they could, lyanough himself taking a
bracelet from about his neck, and hanging it about one of us."

They were not able to get out of the harbor of Cummaquid from baffling

winds and tides, which lyanough seeing, the next morning he ran along tlie

shore after them, and they took him mto their shallop, and returned with him
to Ills town, where he entertained them in a manner not inferior to what he had
done before. They now succeeded in getting water, and shortly after returned
home in safety.

While at Nauset, the English heard that Massasoit had been attacked and
carried off by the Nan*agansets, which led to the expedition of Standish and
Allerton against Caunbitant, as will be found related in his life.

About this time, six sachems of the neighboring countiy had their fidelity

tested, by being called upon to sign a treaty subjecting themselves to King
James, as will be found, also, in that life. But to return again to Aspinet, and
other sachems of Cape Cod.
By the improvidence of a company settled at Wessaguscus, under the direc-

tion of Mr. Thomas Weston, in 1622, they had been brought to the very brink
of starvation in the winter of that year. In fact, the Plimouth people were but
very little better off; and but for the kindness of the Indians, the worst of
consequences might have ensued to both these infant colonies.

As the winter progressed, the two colonies entered into articles of agreement
to go on a trading voyage among the Indians of Cape Cod to buy corn, and
whatever else might conduce to their livelihood. Squanto was pilot in this

expedition; but he died before it was accomplished, and the record of his

death stands thus in Winslow's Relation :

—

"But here [at Manamoyk, since Chatham], though they had determined to

make a second essay [to pass within the shoals of Cape Cod]
;
yet God had

otherwise disposed, who struck Tisquantum with sickness, insomuch as he
there died, which crossed their southward trading, and the more, because the
master's sufficiency was much doubted, and the season very tempestuous, and
not fit to go upon discovery, having no guide to du-ect them." His disorder,
according to Prince, was a fever, "bleeding much at the nose, which the
Indians reckon a fatal symptom." He desired the governor would pray for
bun, that he might go to the Englishmen's God, "bequeathing his things to
sundry of his English friends, as remembrances of his love ; of whom we
have a gi-eat loss."

Thus died the famous Sqtianto, or Tasquantum, m December, 1622. To
him the pilgrims were greatly indebted, although he often, through extreme
folly and shortsightedness, gave them, as well as himself and others, a great
deal of trouble, as m the life of Massasoit and Hobomok will appear.
Thus, at the commencement of the voyage, the pilot was taken away by

death, and the expedition came near being abandoned. However, before
Sqitanto died, he succeeded in introducing his friends to the sachem of Mana-
moick and his people, where they were received and entertained in a manner
that would do honor to any people in any age. It is the more worthy of
remark, as none of the English had ever been there before, and were utter
strangers to them. After they had refreshed them "with store of venison and
other victuals, which tliey brought them m great abundance," they sold thein
" 8 hogsheofls of com and beans, though the people tvere but few."
From Manamoick they proceeded to Massachusetts, but could do nothing

* It was a custom with most Indian nations to dance when strangers came among them.
Baron Lahontan says it was liie manner of the Iroqt'ois to dance " lorsque les elrangers
mr'ent dans leur pais, ou que leurs eiinemis envoie7it des jmbassadeurs pour /aire des propo-
tit< IS de paix."—M'tnoires de L'Amerir/ue, ii. 110.
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there, as Mr. WestovUs men bad ruined the market by giving " as mvich for a

quart of corn, as we used to do for a beaver's skin." Therefore they returned

again to Cape Cod, to Nauset, " where the sachem Aspinet used the governor
very kindly, and where tliey bought 8 or 10 hogsheads of com and beans : also

at a place called Mattachiest, where they had like kind entertainment and com
also." While here, a violent storm drove on shore and so damaged their pinnace,

that they could not get theu* corn on board the ship : so tliey made a stack of it,

and secured it from the weather, by covering it with jnats and sedge. Aspinet
was desu'ed to watch and keep wild annuals from destroying it, until they
could send for it ; also, not to suffer their boat to be concerned with. All this

he faithfully did, and the governor returned home by land, "receiving great

kuidness from the Indians by the way." At this time there was a great sick-

ness among the Massachusetts Indians, " not unlike the plague, if not the

same ;" but no particulai*s of it are recorded.

Some time after, Standish went to bring the com left at Nauset, and, as usual,

gets himself into difficulty with the Indians. One of Aspinefs men happening
to coine to one of Standish's boats, which being left entirely without guard, he
took out a few trmkets, such as " beads, scissors, and other trifles," which when
the English captain found out, "he took certain of his company with him, and
went to the sachem, telling him what had happened, and requii'ing the same
again, or the pai1y that stole them," " or else he ivoidd revenge it on them bejkre

his departure" and so departed for the night, "refusing whatsoever kindness they

offered." However, the next moniing, Aspinet, attended by many of his men,
went to the English, " m a stately manner," and restored all the " ti-ifles ;" for

the exposing of which the English deserved ten tmies as much reprehension
as the man for taking them.

Sqtmnto being the only person that escaped the great sickness at Patuxet,

inquirers for an account of that calamity will very reasonably expect to find it

in a history of his life. We therefore will relate all that is known of it, not

elsewhere to be noticed in our progress. The extent of its ravages, as near as

we can judge, was from Nairaganset Bay to Konnebeck, or perhaps Penob-
scot, and was supposed to have commenced about 1617, and the length of its

duration seems to have been between two and tin-ee years, as it was nearly

abated in 161i). The Indians gave a frightful account of it, saying that they

died so fast "that the living were not able to biu-\' the dead." When the Eng-
lish arrived in the country, their bones were thick upon the gi-ound in many
places. This they looked upon as a great providence, inasmuch as it had
destroyed " multitudes of the barbarous heathen to make way for the chosen
people of God."

" Some had expired in fight,—the brcinds

Still rusted in their bony hands,

—

In plague and famine some."

—

Cahfbell.

All wars and disasters, in those days, were thought to be preceded by some
strange natural appearance, or, as appeared to them, unnatural appearance or

phenomenon ; hence the appearance of a comet, in 1618, was considered by
some the precursor of this pestilenoe.*

We will give here, from a curious work.f in tiie language of the author, an
interesting passage, relating to this melancholy period of the history of the

people of Massasoit, in which he refers to Squanto. After relating the fate of

a French ship's crew among the Wampanoags, as extracted in the life of Mas-
sasoit, in continuation of the account, he proceeds thus: "But contrary wise,

[the Indians havinp; said "they were so many that God could not kill them,"
when one of the Frenchmen rebuked them fur their "wickedness," telling

them God would destroy them,] in siiort time after, the hand of God fell

heavily upon them, with such a mortall stroake, that they died on heaps, as

they lay in their houses, and the living, that were able to shift for themselves,

would runne away and let them dy, and let their curkases ly above the ground

* The year 1618 sconis to have been very fruitful iu cometP, "as therein no less than

four were observed." /. Muthtr'a Ditcoiirae concerning Comet*, 108. Boston, 12mo. 1683.

There may be seen a curious passage concerning the comet of 1618 in Buahworth'i Hitt,

Col. of that year.

t New English Canaan, 23, by Thomnn }fnrinu, It". Aiuslcrdam, 1C37.
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without buriall. Foi- in a place where many inhabited, there hath been but

one left alive to tell what became of the rest ; the living being (as it seems) not

able to bury the dead. They were left for crowes, kites, and vermine to pray
upon. And the bones and skulls, upon the several! places of their habitations,

made such a spectacle, after my comming into those parts,* that, as I travailed

in that forrest nere the Massachussets, it seemed to me a new-found Golgotha."
Sir Ferdinando Gorges, as we have seen, was well acquainted with the coast

of New England. After his design failed at Sagadahock, he tells us that he
sent over a ship upon his own account, which Avas to leave a company under
one Vines,] to remain and trade in the counti-y. These were his own servants,

and he ordered " them to leave the ship and ship's company, for to follow their

business in the usual place, (for, he says, I knew they would not be drawn to

seek by any means,) by these, and the help of those natives formerly sent over,

I come to be truly uiformed of so much as gave me assurance that in time I

should want no undertakers, though as yet I was forced to hire men to stay

there the winter quarter, at extreme rates, and not without danger, for that the

war| had consumed the Bashaba, and the most of the great sagamores, with
such men of action as followed them, and those that remained were sore

afflicted with the plague ; for that the country was in a manner left void of
inhabitants. Notwithstanding, Vines, and the rest with him that lay in the

cabins with those people that died, some more, some less, mightily, (blessed be
God for it) not one of them ever felt their heads to ache while they stayed

there." Here, although we are put in possession of several of the most impor-
tant facts, yet our venerable author is deficient in one of the mam particulars

—

I mean that of dates. Therefore we gain no further data as to the time or

contmuance of this plague among the Indians ; for Sir Ferdinando adds to the

above, " and this course I held some years together, but nothing to my private

profit," &c.
In Capt. SmiWs account of New England, published in 1631, he Iieis a

passage about the plague, which is much like that we have given above from
Morton. The ship cast away, he says, was a fishing vessel, and the man that

they kept a prisoner, on telling them he feared his God would destroy them,
their king made him stand on the top of a hill, and collected his people about
it that the man might see how numerous they were. When he had done this,

he demanded of the Frenchman whether his God, that he told so much about,

had so many men, and whether they could kill all those. On his assuring the

king that he could, they derided him as before. Soon after, the plague cairied

off* all of the Massachusetts, 5 or 600, leaving only 30, of whom 28 were killed

by their neighbors, the other two esfaj^ing until the English came, to whom
they gave their country. The English told the Indians that the disease was
the plague. Capt. Smith says this account is second hand to him, and the refore

begs to be excused if it be not true in all its particulars.

We have now come to one of the most interesting characters in Indian

history.

Massasoit, chief of the Wampanoags, resided at a place called Pokanoket
or Pawkunnawkut, by the Indians, which is now included in the town of Bris-

tol, Rhode Island. He was a chief renowned moi*e in peace than war, and
was, as long as he lived, a friend to the English, notwithstanding they committed
repeated usurpations upon his lands and liberties.

This chief's name has been written with great variation, as Woosamequin, Asuh-
mequin, Oosamequen, Osamekin, Owsamequin,Owsamequine,Ussamequen, Wasam-
egin, &c. ; but the name by which he is generally known m histoiy, is that with

which we commence his life.§ Mr. Prince, in his Annals, says of that name,

* Mr. 3forton first came over in 1622. He settled near Weymouth. After great trouble

and losses from those of a different religion, he was banished out of the country, and had his

properly sequestered, but soon after returned. He died in York, 3Ie., 1646. If it be pretended

that Morton had no religion, we say, " Judge not." He professed to have.

t Mr. Richard Vines. Am-^rica painted to the Life, by Ferd. Gorges, Esq. 4to. Lond. 165^'.

\ A great war among the Indians at this time is mentioned by most of the first writers, bi.i

'he particulars of it cannot be known. It seems to have been between the Tarratines ar 'j

tibes to the west of Pascataqua.

^ Some have derived the name of Massachusetts from this chief, but that conjecture is n<.s

to be heeded. If any man knew, we maj' be allowed to suppose that Roger Williams nu\

F
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" the printed accounts generally spell him Massasoit ; Gov. Bradford writes
him Massasoyt, and Massasoyet ; but I find the ancient people, from their

fathers in Plimouth colony, pronounced his name Ma-sas-so-it" Still we find

no inclination to change a letter iu a name so venerable, and which has been so
long established ; for if a writer suffer the spirit of innovation in himself, he
knows not where to stop, and we pronounce him no antiquary.

It has often been thought strange, that so mild a sachem as JV/assa5oi7 should
have possessed so great a countr}', and oiu- wonder has been mcreased when
we consider, that Indian possessions are generally obtained by prowess and
great personal courage. We know of none who could boast of such extensive
Otjminious, where all were contented to consider themselves his friends and
children. Potvhatan, Pontiac, lAttle-turtle, Tecumseh, and many more that we
could name, have swayed many trilies, but theirs was a temporary union, in an
emergency of war. Thar Massasoit should be able to liold so many tribes

together, without constant ^var, required qualities belonging only to few. That
he was not a wan-ior no one will allow, when the testimony of Annawon is so

dh'ect to the point For tliat gi'eat chief gave Capt. Church "an account of
what mighty success he had had formerly, in the ware against many nations

of Indians, when he sensed Asuhmequin, Philip^s father."

The limits of his country towards the Nipmuks, or inland Indians, are not

precise, but upon the east and west we are sure. It is evident, however, from
the following extract, that, in 1647, the Nipmuks were rather uncertain about

their sachem, and probably belonged at one tune to Massasoit, and at anotlier

to the Narragansets, or othei-s, as circumstances impelled. "The Nopnat
(Nipnet, or Nipmuk) Indians having noe sachem of their own are at liberty

;

pait of them, by their own choice, doe appertaiue to the Narragansct sachem,

and parte to the Mohegens." * And certainly, in 1660, tliose of Quabaog
belonged to Massasoit or JVassamegin, as he was then called (if he be tlie

same), as will be evident from facts, to be found in the life of Uncos. He
owned Cape Cod, and all that pai-t of Massachusetts and Rhode Island between
Narraganset and Massachusetts bays; extending inland between PaAvtucket

and Charles rivers, a distance not satisfactorily ascertained, as was said befoi-e,

together with all the contiguous islands. It was filled with many tribes or

nations, and all looking up to him, to sanction all their expeditious, and settle

all their diflSculties. And we may remark, further, with regard to tlie

Nipmuks, that at one time they were his tributaries. And this seems the more
probal)le, for in Philip^s war th(!re was a constant intercoui-se between them,

and when any of his men made an escape, their course was directly uito die

country of the Nipnudvs. No such mtercourse subsisted between the Narra-

gansets and either of these. But, on the contrary, when a messenger from the

Narragansets arriv('d in the country of the Nipmuks, with tiie lieads of some
of the English, to show that they had joined in the war, Le was at fii-st fired

U])on, though aftenvards, when two additional heads were brought, he was
received with them.

Massasoit had several ])laces of n^sidence, but the principal wtus Mount Hope,

or Pokanoket. The English early gave it the nanje of Mount Hoj»c, but from
what circumstance we have not learned. Some suppose the words Moutit Hope
corrupted from the Indian words Mon-top,\ but with what reason we are not

informed. Since we have thus early noticed tlie seat of the ancient chiefs, be-

fore proceeding with the life of the fii-st of tiie VVampanoags, we will give a

description of it. It ap])cai-s to the best advantage from the village of Fall

River, in the town of Troy, I\lassachusettB, frou) which it is distiuit a'wut four

miles. From this place, its top veiy much resembles the dome of tlie state-

He learned from the Indian lliemselves, "that the Massac liiisetts were calhd scfrom the Dlut

Hills." In the vocabulary of Indian words, by Rev. John Cotton, the defiiiitiOh of Massa-

chusitt is, " an hill in th,- form of an arrow'^ h»ad."

•Records of the U. ("ol. ii Itazard, ii. 95.

t Ahlen's Collection of l',|)ii,i|)lis, iv. (;85. President Stiles, in h:i notes to llie second

edition of Church's Hist. Philip's War, p. 7, cpelis it Mont-lvwp : but it is not so in the

text of either edition. Moreover, we have n-»'. been able to disco .'cr that Mon-top is derived

from Indian word or words, and do no' ho9it.ite lu pro.iouiv.e it a corruption of llie twc

Rna^-Iish words commonly usetl in naming it.
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house in Boston, as seen from many places in the vicinity, at four or five miles
distance. Its height by admeasurement is said to be about 200 feet.* It is

very steep on the side towards Pocasset, and its appearance is very regular

To its natural appearance a gentleman of Bristol has contributed to add
materially, by placing upon its summit a circular summer-house, and tliis is a

principal reason why it so much resembles the Massachusetts State-house.

This mount, therefore, since some time previous to 1824, does not appear as in

the days of Massasoit, and as it did to his early friends and visitors, Winsloie

and Hamden. It was sufficiently picturesque without such addition, as an
immense stone originally formed its summit, and completed its domelike
appearance. The octagonal summer-house being placed upon this, completes
the cupola or tun-eL From this the view of Providence, Wari'en, Bristol, and,

indeed, the whole sm-rounding country, is very beautiful.

This eminence was known among the Narragansets by the name Pokanoket,
which signified in their language the tvood or land on the other side of the water,

and to the Wampanoags by the name Sowwams. And it is worthy remark here
that Kuequenaku was the name of the place where Philadelphia now stands.

Mr. Heckewelder says, it signified the grove of the long pine trees. There was a
place ui Middleborough, and another in Raynham, where he spent some pai-t

of paiticular seasons, perhaps the summer. The place in Raynham was near
Fowlmg Pond, and he no doubt had many others.

Sh' Francis Drake is the first, of whom we have any account, that set foot

upon the shores of New England. This was in 1586, about seven years after

he had taken possession, and named the same countiy New England or New
Albion, upon the western side of the continent It is an error of long standing,

that Prince Charles named the country New England, and it even now so

stands upon the pages of histoiy. But it is very clear that Su- Francis is justly

entitled to the credit of it. American historians seem to have looked no fur-

ther than Prince and Robertson, and hence assert that Capt. Smith named the
country New England. We will now hear Smith f on this matter. " New
England is that part of vVmerica, in the Ocean sea, opposite to JVoua Albion, in

tlie South Sea, discovered by the most memoi'able Sir Francis Drake, m his

voyage about the world, in regard whereof, this is stiled New England."
Capt. Smith, in 1614, made a suivey of the coast of what is now New Eng-

land, and because the comitiy was already named New England, or, which is

the same. New Albion, upon its western coast, he thought it most proper to

stamp it anew upon the eastern. Therefore Capt. Smith neither takes to him-
self the honor of naming New England, as some wiiters of authority assert, nor
does he give it to King Charles, as Dr. Robertson and many others, copying him,
have done.

The noble and generous minded Smith, unlike Americus, would not permit
or suffer his respected friend and cotemporaiy to be deprived of any honor
due to him in his day ; and to which we may attribute the revival of the name
New England in 1614.

It was uj)on some part of Cajje Cod that the great circumnavigator landed,
lie was visited by the "king of the country," who submitted his territories to

him, as Hioh had done on the western coast. After sevei-al days of mutual
tiade, and exchange of kmdnesses, during which time the natives became
greatly attached to Sii* Francis, he departed for England. Whether the " king
of the country " here mentioned were Massasoit, we have not the means of
kno^ving, as our accounts do not give any name ; but it was upon his domin-
ions that this first landing was made, and we have therefore thought it proper
to be thus paiticular, and which, we venture to predict, vdll not be unaccepta-
ble to our readers.^

* Yamoyden, 259.

t See his " Description of N. England," and the error may henceforth be dis|Kiise(l with.

I The first authority which we found for these interesting facts, (interesting to evenj son o(

New England,) is a work entitled " Naval Biograpiiy," &.c. of Great Britain, 2 vols. 8vo
London, 1805, and is in these words :

—' The first attempt towards a regular colonization of
N England, occurs in the year 1606. It will easily be recollected, that this part of the Amer-
ican continent was first distinguished by the captains Barlow and Amidas ; that Sir Francis
Drake, when he touched here on his return from the West Indies, in 1586, was the first Eng-
lishman "ho landed in these parts, and to whom one of the Indian kings submitted his territory

;
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Smith landed iii many places ujjon the shores of Massasoit^s dominions, one
of which places he named Plimovih, which happened to be the same which
now bears that name.
Our accounts make Capt. Bartholomew Gosnold the next visitor to the shores

of Massasoit, after Sir Francis Drake. His voyage was in 1602, and he was
the first who came in a direct course from Old to New England. He landed
in the same place where Su- Francis did 16 years before. The route liad hith-

erto been by the Canaries and West India Islands, and a voyage to and from
New England took up neai'ly a year.

We can know nothing of the early times of Massasoit. Our next visitor to

his coimtry, that we shall here notice, was Capt. Thomas Dermer. This was
in May, 1619. He sailed for Monhigon ; thence, in that mouth, for Virginia,

in an open pinnace ; consequently was obliged to keep close in shore. He
found places which had been inhabited, but at that time contamed no people

;

and farther onwai'd nearly all were dead, of a great sickness, which was then

prevailing, but nearly abated. When he came to Plimouth, all were dead.

From thence he traveled a day's journey into the country westward, to Na-
masket, now Middleborough. From this place he sent a messenger to visit

Massasoit. In this expedition, he redeemed two Frenchmen from Massasoifs
people, who had been cast away on the coast three yeai's before.

But to be more particulaj* with Capt. Dermer, we will hear him in his own
manner, which is by a letter he wrote to Samuel Purchas, the compiler of the

Pilgrimage, dated 27 Dec. 1619.
" When I an-ived at my savage's [Squanto^s] native coimtry, (finding all

dead,) I travelled alongst a day's jouraey, to a place called JVummastaqiiyt,

where finding mhabitants, I despatched a messenger, a day's journey farther

west, to Pocanokit, which bordereth on the sea ; whence came to see me two
kings, attended with a guai-d of 50 armed men, wlio being well satisfied with

that my savage and I discoursed unto them, (being desirous of novelty,) gave

me content in whatsoever I demanded ; where I foimd that former relations

were true. Here I redeemed a Frenchman, and afterwards another at Massta-

aiid that Capt. Gosiwll, who made a hllle stay in the same place, gave such a report of N.

England as to attract the attention of his adventurous countrymen, some of whom immediately

procured a charter," &c.—Vol. I. p. 337, 338 If we could know from whence the above was
taken (that is, the authority the writer of that work made use of), it might at once, perhaps,

settle the question. Oldmixon, I. 25, has the same fact, though not quite so circumstanlially

related. Mr. Bancroft, in his 1. Vol. of the Hist. United Stales, supposes Oldmixon, through

carelessness, mistakes Drake's landing in California, in 1579, for that in N. England, in 158(i,

because, as we suppose, he had not seen the fact elsewhere stated. But Drake was 40 days

from Virginia to Plymouth, which would give him time enough lo have visited N. England.

See "The Life and Dangerous Voyages of Sir Francis Drake," &c., small 12mo., London,
(without date), imgc 133. Sec also Slitli's Virginia, n. 16.

What is said in Bloiiie's account of America, p. 210, is not ver^' conclusive. His words
are, "The year following (1585), Sir Richard Greenvile conveyed an English colony thither

[this author mistakes the situation of the places he describes, in a wretched manner], under the

government of Mr. Ralph Lane, who continued there [yet he is speaking of N. Eng.] till the

next year (158G), but, upon some extraordinary occasion, returned, with Sir Francis Drake,

into England, being accounted b^- some the iirsl discoverer thereof." Blame's work was
printed ui 1G87, an<rmnv have been (Vdmixon's iuilliorily. In the Gent. Mag., Vol. XX\'..

p. 291, it is said, " Sir Francis Drake, who made a discent on the coast, contiinied there but a

very sfiorl time, so that whatever had liecn known of this country was so much forgotten in 1602.

that Gosnold fell in with the coast by accident, as he was pursuing another design." Forster's

error about Sir Francis's being on the coast in 1685, is surprising; but it is still more surpris-

ing that any one, pretending to be an historian, should copy it. See Forster, 295, and Anspach.

Newfoundland, 71. In Prince's \{'orthies of Devon, an accoimt of Sir Bernard Drake's

expedition to the New England sea<, in 1585, may be seen ; also in Purchase, v. 1882. Queen
Elisabeth sent over Sir liernard. with a naval force, to <lispossess any Portuguese, or others,

that he miglit find fishing there, lie found many vessels employed in that business, some of

which he captured, and dispersed the rest, and returned lo England with several Portuguese

prizes. Now it is not at all improbable that Klizaheth had instructed Sir Francis to coast up

into these seas, when he had finished his designs in South America and Virginia, to see if there

were any vessels of other nations usurping the rights of her citizens ; and hence inattentive

writers have confounded the names of Sir Bernard and Sir Francis, they being both distin-

guished admirals at that lime, and both having the same surname, and originally of the same
family. The expedition of Sir Bernard was the year before that of Sir Francis, and hence

arose" the anachronism. Several English navigators had been on this coast before 1600. Capt.

Georsxe Drake made a voyage lo the river St. Lawrence in 1693; but whether any of lliem

'anded in wliat is now New England, is at present unknown.
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cliusit, who tliree years since escaped shipwreck at the uonh-east of Cape
Cod."
We have mentioned his interview with Massasoit, whom we suppose was

one of the kings mentioned in the letter, and Qiiadequina was no doubt the

other.

In another letter, Mr. Dermer says the Indians would have killed him at

Namasket, had not Squanto entreated hard for him. " Their desu-e of revenge
(he adds) was occasioned by an Englishman, who, having many of them on
board, made great slaughter of them with then- murderers and small shot, when
(as they say) they offered no injuiy on their parts."

Mr. Thomas Morton,* the author who made himself so merry at the expense
of the Pilgrims of Plimouth, hcis the following passage concerning these
Frenchmen :—" It fortuned some few yeares before the English came to

uihabit at new Plimmouth in New England, that, upon some distast given in

tlie Massachussets Bay, by Frenchmen, then trading there with the natives for

beaver, they set upon the men, at such advantage, that they killed mania of
them, burned their shipp, then riding at anchor by an island there, now called

PeddocKs Island, in memory of Leonard Peddock that landed there, (where
many wilde anckiesf haunted that time, which hee thought had bin tame,) dis-

tributing them unto five sachems which were lords of the severall territories

adjoyning, they did keep them so long as they lived, only to sport themselves
at them, and made these five Frenchmen fetch them wood and water, which is

the generall worke they require of a sei-vaut. One of these five men outliving
the rest, had learned so much of their language, as to rebuke them for their

bloudy deede : saying that God would be angry with them for it ; and that he
would in his displeasm'e destroy them ; but the salvages (it seems, boasting
of then" strength) replyed, and said, that they were so many that God could not
kill them." This seems to be the same story, only diftereudy told from that

related above from Smith,

Dec. 1 1, O. S.,t 1620, the pilgrims had arrived at Plimouth, and possessed
themselves of a portion of MassasoWs country. With the nature of their

proceedings, he was at first unacquainted, and sent occasionally some of his

men to observe their strange motions. Very few of these Indians, however,
were seen by the pilgi-ims. At length he sent one of his men, who had been
some time with the English fishing vessels about the country of the Kenne-
•jeck, and had learned a little of their language, to observe more strictly what
vas progressing among the strangers at his place of Patuxet, which these
ntruders now called Plimouth. This was in March, 1621.

* In his " New Canaan." 22, 23.

t Modern naturalists do not seem to have been acquainted with this animal

!

X The length of a year was fixed by Julius Caesar at 365 days and 6 hours, or 365J days.
This ^ of a day being omitted for 4 years amounted to a whole day, and was then added to
the 365 in the month of February, which 4th year was called leap year, because it leaped
forward one day. But by this supputation it was perceived that the year was too long, and
consequently the seasons were getting out of place. Pope Gregory found, in 1582, that the
vernal equino.x, which at the time of the Nicene council, A. D. 325, fell on 21 March, fell now
10 days beyond it ; therefore he ordered 10 days to be struck out of October, 1582 ; and to
prevent the recurrence of the difficulty in future, decreed that 3 days should be abated in ever>'
400 \'ears, by restoring leap years to common j'ears at the end of 3 successive centuries, and
making leap year agani at the close of every 4th century. Thus 1700, 1800, 1900, 2100, &c.
though divisible by 4, are common years, but 2000, 2400, 2800, &c. are leap years. This
method of keeping the 3'ear is called New Style, and that before the reformation by
Gregory, Old Style. Even this correction does not set the year exactly right ; but the error
is so small that it amounts to scarce a day and a half in 5000 years, and we need not
trouble ourselves about a nearer approximation.

Because this correction had a Catholic or Popish origin, Protestants would not for a long
time adopt it. At length, in the year 1751, the English Parliament enacted, that the 3d of
Sept. of that year should be called the 14th, thereby striking out 11 days, which their calendar
at that late period required, to reduce it to the Gregorian. And hence the reason of our
calling the 11 Dec. O. S., the 22 N. S. The reason also of our adding 11 days instead of 10
is obvious, because, in adopting the Catholic method 170 years after it had been introduced
by Gregory, xnother day was gained, and therefore 10-(-lr=ll.
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We have, in speaking of Saynoset and Squanto, observed that it was through

the agency of tlie former that a knowledge was gained by the pilgrims of Alas-

lasoit. It was upon 22 March, 1621, that they brought the welcome news to

Plimouth, that their chief was near at hand ;* " and they brought with them
(say the Pilgrims) some few skins to truck, and some red herrings, newly taken

and dried, but not salted ; and signified unto us, that their great sagamore,

Massasoit, was hard by, with ^Qiiadequinn, his brother. They could not well

express in English what they would ; but after an hour the king came to the

top of an hill '[supposed to be that now called Watson's, on the south side of
Town-brook] over against us, and had in his train 60 men, that we could

well behold them, and they us. We were not willing to send our governor
to them, and they unwilling to come to us: so Squanto went again unto him,

who brought word that we should send one to parley with him, which we did,

which was Edward Winslow, lo know his mind, and to signify the mind and
will of our governor, which was to have trading and peace with him. We
sent to the king a pair of knives, and a copper chain, with a jewel in it. To
Quftdequina we sent lik( wise a knife, and a jewel to hang in his ear, and
withal a pot of strong water, a good quantity of biscuit, and some butter,

which were all willingly accepted."

The Englishman then made a speech to him about his king's love and good-
ness to him and his people, and that he accepted of him as his friend and ally

"He liked well of the speech, (say the English,) and heard it attentively, though
the interpreters did not well express it. After he had eaten and drunk himself,

and given the rest to his company, he looked upon our messenger's sword and
armor, which he had on, with intimation of his desire to buy it ; but, on the

other side, oin- messenger showed his unwillingness to part with it. In the

end he left him in the custody of Q^uadequina, his brother, and came over the

brook, and some 20 men following him. We kept six or seven as hostages for

our messenger."
As Massasoit proceeded to meet the English, they met him with six soldiers,

who saluted each other. Several of his men were with him, but all left their

bows and arrows behind. They were conducted to a new house which was
partly finished, and a green rug was spread upon the floor, and several cush-

ions for jMassasoit and his chiefs to sit down upon. Then came the English

governor, followed liy a drummer and tnunpeter and a few soldiers, and after

kissing one another, all sat down. Some strong water being brought, the

governor drank to Massasoit, who in his turn "drank a great draught, that

made him sweat all the while after."

They now proceeded to make a treaty, which stipulated, that neither ^irtssa-

soit nor any of his people should do liifrt to the English, and that if they

did they should be given up to be punished by them ; and that if the English

did any harm to him or any of his people, they (the Eno;Ush) would do the like

to them. That if any did unjustly war against him, the English were to aid

him, and he was to do the same in his turn, and by sodoingKing James would
esteem him his friend and ally.

"All which (they say) the king seemed to like well, and it was applauded
of his followers." And they add, " All the while he sat by the governor, he
trembled for fear."

At this time he is described as "a very lusty man, in his best years, an able

body, grave of countenance, and spare of speech ; in his attire little or nothing

diftering from the rest of his followers, only in a great chain of white bone
beads about his neck; and at it, behind his neck, hangsa little bag of tobacco,

which he drank, and gave us to drink.f His face was painted with a sjul red

• Mmtrt's narrative is here continued from the last extract in p. 10, wiihout any omission.

t \ presimic that liy " drinkinEf tobacco," smoking is meant. The pilj^j-rims were prolialijy

not ac(iiiaintt'(l willi the practice of smokiufj nt all, and hence this sort of misnomer is not

straiif^c, tlioiifjh il may oe thought a little odd. How long^ smokiitf; went hy the name ol

ilrinkiniC at Plimontli I do not 'cam , but in 16 K) this entry is found in the Plimouth records ;—" Anthony Thaclier and (iews^e Pole were chosen a committee to draw up an cvdcr con-

cerning disorderly drinki;-.? of Totjwcco."

Rosier Wtiiiair^ >«/», '' ••!» •'-cy, " Ocnera.lly all the men throughout the country have a

lobacco-bag, with a pipe in it. hanging at their Imck." .

Dr. 77i<jc/icc says, that an aiji'd man in t liinouth who was a ffreal sinokor. used to term
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like murrey, and oiled both head and face, that he lookt'd greasily. All his

followers likewise were, in theu" faces, in part or in whole, painted, some black,

some red, some yellow, and some white ; some with crosses and other antic

works ; some had skins on them, and some naked ; all strong, tall men in ap-

peai-ance. The king had in his bosom, hanging in a string, a great long knife.

He marvelled mnch at our tnimpet, and some of his men would sound it as

well as they could. Samoset and Squanto stayed all night with us." Massasoit

retired into the woods, about half a mile from the English, and there encampeti
at night with his men, women and children. Thus ended 3Iarch 22d, 16'21.

During his first visit to the English, he expressed gi-eat signs of fear, and
during the treaty could not refrain from trembling.* Thus it is easy to see

how much hand he had in making it, but would that there had never been worse

ones made.
It was agi-eed that some of his people should come and plant near by, in a

few days, and live there all summer. "That night we kept good watch, but

there was no appearance of danger. The next morning divers of their people

came over to us, hoping to get some victuals, as we imagined. Some of them
told us the king would have some of us come to see him. Capt. Standish and
Isaac Alderton went venterously, who were welcomed of him after their man-
ner. He gave them three or four ground nuts and some tobacco. We cannot

yet conceive, (they continue,) but that he is willing to have peace with us ; for

they have seen our people sometimes alone two or three hi the woods at work
and fowling, when as they offered them no harm, as they might easily havf
done ; and especially l^ecause he hath a potent adversary, the Narrohigansets,t

that are at war with him, against whom he thinks we may be some strength to

him ; for our pieces are terrible unto them. This morning they stayed till 10
or 11 of the clock; and our governor bid them send the king's kettle, eind filled

it with peas, which pleased them well ; and so they went their way." Thus
ended the first visit of Massasoit to the pilgrims. We should here note that he
ever after treated the English with kindness, and the peace now concluded
was undisturbed for nearly 40 years. Not that any writing or articles of a
treaty, of which he never had any adequate idea, was the cause of his friendly

behavio)-, but it was the natural goodness of his heart.

The pilgrims report, that at this time he was at war with the Narragansets.

But if this were the case, it could have been nothing more than some small

skirmishing.

3Ieanwhile Squanto and Samoset remained with the English, instructing them
how to live in then- countiy ; equal in all respects to Robinson Crusoe's man
Friday, and had De Foe lived in that age he might have made as good a story

from their history as he did from that oi Alexaiider Selkirk.—^^ Squanto went to

fish [a day or two after Massasoit left] for eels. At night he came home vnth

as many as he could lift in one hand, which our people were glad of. They
were fat and sweet. He trod them out with his feet, and so caught them with
his hands, without any other instrument."

It drinking tobacco. Hist. Plim. 34. This we infer was withi^ the recollection of the au-

thor.

The notion that tobacco is so called from the island Tobago, is erroneously entertained by

many. When Sir Francis Drake discovered the country to the north of California, in 157!J,

the writer of the account of his voyage says, the Indians presented the admiral witii a small

basket made of rushes, filled with an herb they called tabah. From another passage it

appears, that the Indians of that re^-ion, like those of New England, had bags in which tobacco

was carried. Burney's Voijaires. 1. 344—7.
* Ana, with this fact before him, the author of •' Tales of the Indians" says, the treaty was

madtj with deliberation and cheerfulness on the part of Massasoit .'

fFew Indian names have been spelt more ways than this. From the nature of the Indian

language, it is evident that no / should be used in it. Nahigonsik and Naiitigansick. R.

Williams.—Nechegansitt, Gookin.—Nantyggansiks, Calleiuler.—Nanohigganset, Winslow's

Good Newsfrom N. Eng.—Nanhyganset, Judge Johnson's Life of Gen. Greene.—These are

5u\ few of tne permutations without the r, and those with it are still more numerous.

The meaning of the name is still uncertain. Madam Knight, in her Journal, 22 and 23,

says, at a place where she happened to put up for a night in that country, she heard some of

the " town topers " disputing about the origin of the word Narraganset- " One said it was so

named by Indians, because there grew a brier there of a prodigious height and bigness, who
quoted an Indian of so barbarous a name for his author that she could not write it.' Another

said it meant a celebrated spring, which was very cold in summer, and " as hot as could be

imasrined inthe winter."
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This Squanto became afterwards an iniportaiit persouage in Indian politics,

and some of his manoeuvres remind us of some managing politicians of oui

own times. In 1622, he forfeited his life by i)]otting to destroy that of Massa-
soil, as will be found related in the life of Hobomok. On that occasion, Massasoif
went himself to Plimouth, " being much offended and enraged against Tisquan-
tum

;

" but the governor succeeded in allaying his wrath for that time. Soon
after, he sent a messenger to entreat the governor to consent to his being put tc

death ; the governor said he deserved death, but as he knew not how to get

along without hmi in his intercourse with the Indians, he would spare him.
Determined in his purpose, Mnssasoit soon sent the same messenger again,

accompanied by many others, who offered many beaver skins that Tisquanlum
might be given up to them. They demanded him in the name of Massasoif,

as being one of his subjects, whom, (says Winsloiv,) by our fii-st articles of
peace, we could not retain. But out of respect to the English, they woidd not

seize him without tlieir consent. Massnsoit had sent his o^vn knife to be used
ui cutting off his head and hands, which were to be brought to him.
Meantime Squanto came and delivered himself up to the governor, charging

Hobomok with his overthrow, and telling him to deliver him or not to the mes-
sengers of Massasoif, as he thought fit. It seeiris from the narrative that, as

the governor was aboiit to do it, they grew imi)atient at the delay, and went
off in a rage. The delay was occasioned by the appearance of a boat in the

harbor, which the governor pretended might be that of an enemy, as there had
been a rumor that the French had naeditated breaking up the settlement of the

English in this region. This, however, was doubtless only a pretence, and
employed to wear out the patience of his unwelcome visitors. Hence that

Massasoif should for some time after " seem to frown " on the English, as they
complain, is certainly no wonder.
The next smnmer, in June or Jidy, Massasoif was visited by several of the

English, among whom was Mi*. Edivard IVinslow, Mr. Stephen Hopkins, and
Squanfo as their mterpreter. Their object was to find out his place of resi-

dence, in case they should have to call upon him for assistance ; to keep good
the friendly correspondence commenced at Plimouth ; and especially to cause

him to prevent his men from hanging about them, and living upon them,
which was then considered veiy burdensome, as they had begun to grow short

of provisions. That their visit might be acceptable, they took along, for a
present, a trooper's red coat, with some lace upon it, and a copper chain ; with
these Massasoif was exceedingly well pleased. The chain, they told him, he
must send as a signal, when any of his men wished to visit them, so that they

might not be imposed upon by strangers.

When the English arrived at Pokanoket, Massasoif was absent, but w;us

immediately sent for. Being informed that he was coming, the English began
to prepare to shoot oft' their guns ; this so frightened the women and children,

that they ran away, and would not return until the interpreter assured theni

that they need not fear ; and when Massasoif arrived, they saluted him by a
discharge, at which he was veiy much elated ; and "who, after their manner,
(says one of the comf»any,) kindly welcomed us, and took us into his house,

and set us down by him, where, having delivered our message and [)resents,

and having put the coat on his back, and the chain about his neck, he was not

a little |)roud to behold himself, and his men also, to see their king so bravely

attired." * A new treaty was now held with him, and he very good-naturedly
Jissented to all that was desired. He then made a speech to his men, many of
them being assembled to see the English, which, as near as they could learn its

meaning, acquainted them with what couree they might jiursue in regard to

the English. Among other tilings, he said, "^hi I iinf Massasoif, rommaruffr

of fhe country abouf »5? Is 7}of such and such places inine, and the people of
llinn "? They shall take their skins to the Ens^lish, This his people apphunled.
In his speech, "he named at least lliirty places," over which he had control.

"This behig ended, he lighted tobacco for us, iiiid fell to discom-sing of l''iig-

liiiid and ol the king's majesty, marvelling that he should live without a wife.'

He seems to have l)een emliittered against the French, and wished "us not to

Kuffer them to come to Narraganset, for it was King Jameses countrj', and he

* Moiirl's Kelnlion. in Cvt. Muss. Ilhl. Sor.
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was King James's man." He had uo victuals at tliis time to give to the Eng-
lish, and night coming on, they retired to rest supperless. He had but one
bed, if so it might be called, " being only planks laid a foot from the gi'ound,

and a tliin mat upon them."* "He laid us on the bed w^ith hunself and his

wife, they at the one end, and we at the other. Two more of his men, for

want of room, pressed by and upon us ; so that we were worse weary of oiu-

lodging than of our journey." •

" The next day, many of then- sachims or petty governors came to see us,

and many of their men also. There they went to their manner of games for
skins and knives." It is amusing to learn that the English tried to get i?

chance in this gambling affair. They say, "There we challenged them to

shoot with them for skins," but they were too cunning for them, " only they
desired to see one of us shoot at a mark ; who shooting with hail shot, they
wondered to see the mark so full of holes."

The next day, about one o'clock, Massasoit brought two large fishes and
boiled them ; bu-t the pilgrims still thought their chance for refreshment very
small, as "there were at least forty looking for a share in them ;" but scanty as

it was, it came very timely, as they had fasted two nights and a day. The
English now left him, at which he was very sorrowful.

" Veiy importunate he was (says our author) to have us stay with them
longer. But we desired to keep the sabbath at home, and feared we should
either be light-headed for want of sleep ; for what with bad lodging, the sav-
ages' barbarous singing, (for they used to sing themselves asleep,) lice and fleas

within dooi-s, and musketoes without, we could hardly sleep all the time of our
beuig there ; we much fearing, that if we should stay any longer, we should
not be able to recover home for want of strength. So that, on Friday morn-
ing, before sunrising, we took our leave, and departed, Massasoyt being both
giieved and ashamed, that he could no better enteitain us. And retaining

Tisquantum to send from place to place to procure truck for us, and appointing
another, called Tokamahamon, in his place, whom we had found faithful before
and after upon all occasions."

This faithful servant, Tokamahamon, was in the famous " voyage to the
kingdom of Nauset," and was conspicuous for his courage hi the expedition
against Caunbitant.

In 1623, Massasoit sent to his friends in Plimouth to inform them that he
was very dangerously sick. Desu'ing to render him aid if possible, the gov-
ernor despatched Mr. Winsloio again, with some medicines and cordials, and
Hobbomok as interpreter ; " having one Master John Hamden, a gentleman of
London, who then wintered with us, and desired much to see the country, for

my consort." f In their way they found many of his subjects were gone to

Pokanoket, it being their custom for all friends to attend on such occasions.
" When we came thither (says Mr. Winslow) we found the house so full of
men, as we could scarce get in, though they used their best diligence to make
way for us. There were they in the midst of their charms for him, making
such a hellish noise, as it distempered us that were well, and, therefore, unlike
to ease him that was sick. About him were six or eight women, who chafed
his arms, legs and thighs, to keep heat in him. When they had made an end
of their charming, one told him that his friends, the English, were come to see
him. Having understanding left, but his sight was wholly gone, he asked, who
was come. They told him Wlnsnow, (for they cannot pronounce the letter I,

* La Salle says ( Expedition in America, p. 11.) of the Indians' beds in general, that " they
are made up with some pieces of wood, upon which they lay skins full of wool or straw, but,
for their covering, they use the finest sort of skins, or else mats finely wrought."

t Winslow's tielation. The Mr. Hamden mentioned, is supposed, by some, to be the

celebrated John Hamden, famous in the time of Charles 1., and who died of a wound received
in an attempt to intercept Prince Rupert, near Oxford, while supporting the cause of the
parliament. See Rapin's England, ii. 477, and Kennet, iii. 137.

It would be highly gratifjnng, could the certainty of this matter be known ; but, as yet, we
must acknowledge that all is mere speculation. Nevertheless, we are pleased to meet with
the names of such valued martyrs cf liberty upon any page, and even though they should
sometimes seem rather mat apropoi to the ci.se in hand. We cannot learn that any of
Hamden's biographers have discovered that he visited America. Still there is a presumptioc

" The village Hampden, that, with dauntless breast,
The little tyrant of his fields witt.stood."—Grit's Elkct
8*
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but ordinarily n in the place thereof.)* lie desired to speak witli me. When
I canie to hiin, and they told him of it, he put fortli his hand to me, which I

took. Then he said twee, though very inwardly, Keen Winsnow ? which is to

say, Art thou Window 9 I answered, Mhe, that is. Yes. Then he doubled

these words : Matta neen wonckanet namen, Winsnoiv !—that is to say, O Wins-
loiv, I shall never see thee again

!

" But contrary to his own expectations, as

well as all his friends, by the kind exertions of Air. Window, he in a short time
entirely recovered. This being a passage of gi-eat intei-est in the life of the great

Massasoit, we will here go more into detail concerning it. When he had become
able to speak, he desired Mr. Winslow to provide him a broth from some kind

of fowl : " so (says he) I took a man with me, and made a shot at a couple of
ducks, some sixscore paces off, and killed one, at which he wondered : so we
returned forthwith, and dressed it, making more broth therewith, which he

much desired ; never did I see a man so low brought, recover in that measure
in so short a time. The fowl being extraordinaiy fat, I told Hobbamock I must
take off the top thereof, saying it would make him very sick again if he did eat

it ; this he acquainted Massassotvai therewith, who would not be persuaded to

it, though I pressed it very much, showing the strength thereof, and the weak-
ness of his stomach, which could not possibly bear it. Notwithstanding, he
made a gi-oss meal of it, and ate as much as would well have satisfied a man in

health." As Winslow had said, it made him veiy sick, and he vomited with

such violence that it made the blood stream from his nose. This bleeding

caused them great alarm, as it continued for four hours. When his nose ceased

bleeding, he fell asleep, and did not awake for 6 or 8 hours more. Afler he

awoke, Mr. Winsloiv washed his face " and supplied his beard and nose with a
linnen cloth," when taking a quantity of water into his nose, by fiercely eject-

ing it, the blood began again to flow, and again his attendants tliought he could

not recover, but, to their great satisfaction, it soon stopped, and he gained

strength rapidly.

For this attention of the English he was very gi-ateful, and always believed

that his preservation at this time was owing to the benefit he received from

Mr. Winslow. In his way on his visit to Massasoit, Mr. Winslow broke a bottle

containing some preparation, and, deeming it necessary to the sachem's recov-

ery, wrote a letter to the governor of Plimouth for another, and some chickens

in which he gave him an accoimt of his success thus far. The intention was
no sooner made laiown to Massasoit, than one of his men was sent off, at two
o'clock at night, for Plimouth, who returned again with astonishing quickness.

The chickens being alive, Massasoit was so pleased with them, and, being

better would not suffer them to be killed, and kept them with the idea of rais-

ing more. While at MassasoiVs residence, and just as they were about to

depart, the sachem told Hobomok of a plot laid by some of his subordinate

chiefs for the purpose of cutting o?i the two English plantations, which he
charged him to acquahit the English with, which he did. Massasoit stated

that he had been urged to join in it, or give his consent thereunto, but had
always refused, and used his endeavors to prevent it. The particulars of the

evils which that plot brought upon its authors will be found in the history of

WUluwamet.
At this time the English became more sensible of the real virtues of Massa-

soit than ever before. His great anxiety for the welfare of his people was
manifested by his desiring Mr. Winslow, or, as Winsloio himself expresses it,

" Ho caused me to go from one to another, [in his village,] requesting me to

wash their moutlis also, [many of his peojjle being sick at that time,] and give

to each of them some of the same I gave him, saying they were good folk
"

• Every people, and roiisciiueiillv every language, have ihoir peculiarities, l^aron I.nhon-

tan, Memoires de la Amerique, ii. ik>, 2^7, says, " Je dirai de la larivtie dfs Iliiroris el des

Iroquois une chose assez cnneiise, qui est qn'il ue s'y trouve point de leltres lahiales ; c'est a dire,

de b, f, m, p. Cependant, celte tarifpie des Hurons parott Hre fort belle et de un son tout a

fait beau; quoi qu'ils Tiefernuml jamnis leurs /rrres en parlant." .\n<l "fat pass)' qnatrejours

h vmiloirfaire prononcer h des Hurons les letlres lahiales, mats je n'ai pii y r<'flssiV, et je croi*

qu'en dix aiis ih ne pourroul dire ces mots, lion, fils. Monsieur, Pomrharlrain ; car an lieu de

dire bon, Us diroiriU ouon, (im lieii de fils, Us pronom-eroienl rils ; an lieu de monsieur, raouil-

sieur, au lieu de I'oiitcliartrain. Concharlrnin." Hence it seems iheir langvages are asalo

goui.
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An account of his character as given by Hohomok will be found in the lift; of

ihat chief or paniese.
" 3Iany whilst we were there (says Winslow) came to see him ; some, by

their report, from a place not less than 100 miles from thence."

In 1632, a short war was carried on between Massasoit and Canonicxis, the

sachem of the Narragansets, but the English interfering with a force under
the spirited Captain Standish, ended it with very Httle bloodshed. Massasoit

expected a serious contest ; and, as usual on such occasions, changed his name,
and was ever after known by the name of Otcsamequin, or Ousamequin. Our
historical records furnish no particulai-s of his war with the Nari-agansets, fur

ther than we have stated.

We may mfer from a letter wi'itten by Roger Williams, that some of
Plimouth instigated Massasoit, or Ousamequin, as we should now call him, to

lay claim to Providence, which gave that good man some trouble, because, in

that case, his lands were considered as belonging to Plimouth, in whose juris-

diction he was not suflfered to reside ; and, moreover, he had bought and paid

for all he possessed, of the NaiTaganset sachems. It was in 1635 that Mr.
Williams fled to that countiy, to avoid being seized and sent to England. He
found that Canonicus and Miantunnomoh were at bitter enmity with Ousame-
quin, but by his great exertions he restored peace, without which he could not

have been secure, in a border of the dommion of either. Ousamequin was
well acquainted with 3Ir. Williams, whom he had often seen during his two
years' residence at Plimouth, and was a gi-eat friend to him, and therefore he
listened readily to his benevolent instructions

;
givmg up the land in dispute

between himself and the Nan-aganset sachems, which was the island now
called Rhode Island, Prudence Island, and perhaps some others, together with
Providence. " And (says Mr. Williams) I never denied him, nor Meantinomy,
whatever they desired of me." Hence their love and attachment for him, for

this is their own mode of living.

It appears that, before Miantunnomoh^s reverses of fortune, he had, by some
means or other, got possession of some of the dominions of Ousamequin.
For at the meeting of the Commissioners of the United Colonies, in the

autumn of 1643, they order, " That Plymouth labor by all due means to restore

Woosamequin to his full liberties, in respect of any encroachments by the

Nanohiggansetts, or any other natives ; that so the properties of the Indiana

may be preserved to themselves, and that no one sagamore encroach upon the

rest as of late : and that Woosamequin be reduced to those former terms and
agreements between Plymouth and him." *

Under date 1638, Gfov. Winthrop says, " Owsamekin, the sachem of Acoome-
meck, on this side Connecticut, came to [him] the governor, and brought a
present of 18 skins of beaver from himself and the sachems of Mohegan
beyond Connecticut and Pakontuckett." They having heard that the English
were about to make war upon them was the cause of their sending this

present. The governor accepted it, and told Ousamequin, that if they had not
wronged the English, nor assisted their enemies, they had nothing to fear

;

and, giving him a letter to the governor of Connecticut, dismissed him well

Batisfied.f

In 1649, Ousamequin sold to MUes Standish, and the other inhabitants of
Duxbury, " a tract of land usually called Saughtu^ket," seven miles square.

This was Bridgewater. It had been before granted to them, only, however, iti

preemption. They agreed to pay Ousamequin seven coats, of a yard and a
half each, nine hatchets, eight hoes, twenty knives, four moose skins, and ten

and a half yards of cotton cloth.

By a deed bearing date 9th March, 1653, Ousemaquin and his son Wamsitto,

[WamsuMa,] afterwards called Alexander, sold to the English of Plimouth "all

those sevei-all parcells of land lyeing on the south-easterly side of Sinkunke,
alias Rehoboth, bounded by a little brooke of water called Moskituash westerly,

and soe runing by a dead swamp eastward, and soe by marked trees as Ousa-
mequin and Wamsitto directed, unto the gi-eat riuer, and all the meadow about

" Records of the IJ. Colonies. f Journal, i. 264.
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the sides of both, and about the neck called Chachacust, also Papasquash neck;
also the meadow from the bay to Keecomewett," &c. For this the considera-

tion was " £35 sterling."

By a \vriting bearing date " this twenty-one of September, 1657," Oiisame-
quin says, " I Vssamequen do by these presents ratify and allow the sale of a
certain Island called Chesewauocke, or Hogg Island, which my son Wamsitta
sold to Richard Smith, of Portsmouth in R. I., with my consent, which deed
of sale or bargain made the 7th of Februaiy in the year 1653, 1 do ratify, own
and confirm."

In 1656, Roger Williams says that Ousam^quin, by one of his sachems,
" was at daily feud with Pumham about the title and lordship of Warwick ;

"

and that hostility was daily expected. But we are not informed that any thing
serious took place.

This is the year in which it has been generally supposed that Ousavitquin
died, but it is an error of Hutchinson^s transplanting from Mr. Hubbard's work
into his own. That an error should flourish in so good a soil as that of the
" Histoiy of the Colony of Massachusetts Bay," is no w onder ; but it is a

wonder that the "accurate Hutchinson " should set down that date, from that

passage of the Indian Weu"s, which was evidently made without reflection.

It being at that time thought a circumstance of no consequence.
That the sachem of Pokanoket should be scarcely known to our records

between 1657 and 1661, a space of only about three years, as we have shown,
is not very surprising, when we reflect that he was entirely subservient to the
English, and nearly or quite all of his lands being before disposed of, or given
up to them. This, therefore, is a plain reason why we do not meet with his

name to deeds and other instruments. And, besides this consideration, another
sachem was known to be associated with him at the fonner period, who seems
to have acted as Ousamequin^s representative.

He was alive in 1661, and as late in that year as September.* Several
months previous to this, Oneko, with about seventy men, fell upon a defence-
less town within the dominions of Ousamequin, killing three pei-sons, and car-

rying away six others captive. He complained to the General Court of
Massachusetts, which interfered in his behalf, and the matter was soon
setded. t
From the " Relation " of Dr. /. Mather, it is clear that he lived until 1662.

His words are, "^/exa/irfer being dead, [having died in 1662,] his brother PAi/?^,

of late cursed memory, rose up in liis stead, and he was no sooner styled

sachem, but immediately, in the year 1662, there were vehement suspicions of
his bloody treachery against the English." i

Hence, as we do not hear of Alexander as sachem until 1662, which is also

the year of his death, it is fair to conclude that he could not have been long in

office at the time of his death ; nor could he have been styled " chief sachem "

until after the death of his fatiier.

Whether Massasoit had more than two sons, is not certain, although it is

confidently believed that he had. It is probable that his family was large. A
company of soldiers from Bridgcwater, in a skirmish with Philip, took his

sister, and killed a brother of Ousamequin, whose name was Unkompoen, § or

Akkompoin.
||

Tliat he had another brother, called Quadequina^ lias been
mentioned.

Gov. Winlhrop gives the following anecdote of Ousamequin. As Mr. Ed-
ward fVinsloio was retimiing from a trading voyage southward, having left his

vessel, he traveled home; by land, and in the way stopped with his old friend

Massasoit, who agreed to accompany iiini the rest of the way. In the mean
time, Ousamequin sent one of his mi n forward to Plimoutli, to sur|)rise the

p( opie with the news of Mr. Winsloiv's death. By his manner of relating it,

and the particular circumstances attending, no one doubted of its truth, and
every one was grieved and mourned exceedingly at their great loss. But

* Some records wliich Mr. DafrziU roiisultcd in preparing his Jfislon/ot Auleborough, led

him lo conclude thai Massasoit died previous lo June, 1G60.

t Origincil 7iianuscnpt documenis. The particulars of these matters will be g^ven at largcv

«'hen we come lo treat of the H/e of f'rinis.

t Relation. 72. ^ A Matlier, 44. ||
Church. 38. edit. 4io
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presently they were as much surprised at seeing him coming in company
with Ousanequin. When it was known among tlje people that the sachem
had sent this news to them, they demanded why he should thus deceive them.
He replied that it was to make him the more welcome when he did return,

and that this was a custom of his people.

One of the most renowned captains within the dominions of Massasoit was
Caunbitant,* whose residence was at a place called Mettapoiset, in the
present town of Swansey. His character was much the same as that of the
famous Metacomet. The English were always viewed by him as intruders
and enemies of his race, and there is little doubt but he intended to wrest
the counti-y out of their hands on thfe first opportunity.

In August, 1621, Caunbitant was supposed to be in the interest of the Nar-
ragansets, and plotting with them to overthrow Massasoit ; and, being at

Namasket seeking, say the Pilgrims, " to draw the hearts of MassasoyVs sub-
jects fi'om him ; speaking also disdainfully of us, storming at the peace be-
tween Nauset, Cummaquid and us, and at Tisquantum, the worker of it

;

also at Tokamahamon, and one Hohomok, (two Indians or Lemes, one of
which he would treacherously have murdered a little before, being a special
and trusty man of Massasoyfs,) Tokamahamon went to him, but the other
two would not

;
yet put their lives in their hands, privately went to see if

they could hear of their king, and, lodging at Namaschet, were dicovered to

Couhaiant, who set a guard to beset the house, and took Tisquantum, (for he
had said, if he were dead, the English had lost their tongue.) Hobbamok see-
ing that Tisquantum was taken, and Coubatant held [holding] a knife at his

breast, behig a strong and stout man, brake fi'om them, and came to New Pli-

mouth, full of fear and sorrow for Tisquantum, whom he thought to be slain."

Upon this the Plimouth people sent an expedition, under Standish, of 14
men,f " and Hobbamok for their guide, to revenge the supposed death of
Tisquantum on Coubatani our bitter enemy, and to retain JYepeof, another
sachem, or governor, who was of this confederacy, till we heard what was
become of our friend Massasoyt."
After much toil, the little army arrived near the place they expected to find

Caunbitant. " Before we came to the town (says the narrator) we sat down
and eat such as our knapsacks afforded ; that being done, we threw them
aside, and all such tilings as might hinder us, and so went on and beset the
house, according to our last resolution. Those that entered, demanded if

Coubatant were not thei-e ; but fear had bereft the savages of speech. We
charged them not to stir, for if Coubatant were not there, we would not med
die with them ; if he were, we came principally for him, to be avenged on
him for the supposed death of Tisquantum, and other matters : but howso-
ever, we would not at all hurt their women or children. Notwithstanding,
some of them pressed out at a private door, and escaped, but with some
wounds. At length perceiving our principal ends, they told us Coubatant
was returned [home] with all his train, and that Tisquanium was yet living,

and in the town
;
[then] offering some tobacco, [and] other, such as tliey

had to eat."

In this hurley hurley, (as they call it,) two guns were fired " at random,"
to the great terror of all but Squanto and Tokamahamon, "who, though they
knew not our end in coming, yet assured them [so frightened] of our honesty,
[and] that we would not hurt them." The Indian boys, seemg the squaws
protected, cried out, JVeensquaes ! JVeensquMes ! that is, / am a squMiv ! I am a
squaw ! and the women tried to screen themselves in HobomoKs presence,
reminding him that he was their friend.

This attack upon a defenceless house was made at midnight, and must
have been terrible, in an inconceivable degree, to its inmates, especially the
sound of the English guns, which few, if any of them, had ever heard before.

The relator proceeds : " But to be short, we kept them we had, and made
them make a fire that we might see to search the house ; in the meantime,

* Corbitant, Coubatant, and Conbitant, were ways of writing his name also, by his con
lemporaries.

t Ten, says the Relation.
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Hobhamtk gat on the top of the house, and called Tisquantum and Tofcama-
hamon.^^ They soon came, with some others with them, some armed and
others naked. The English took away the bows and aiTows from those that

were armed, but promised to return them as soon as it was day, which they
probably did.

They kept possession of the captured wigwam until daylight, when they
re\ased their prisoners, and marched into the town (as they call it) of the

Ndmaskets. Here, it appears, Squanto had a house, to which they went, and
t jok breakfast, and held a court afterward, Irom which they issued forth the
following decree against Caunbitant

:

—
" Thither came all whose hearts were*upright towai'ds us, but all Couba-

tanfs faction were fled away. There in the midst of them we manifested
again our intendment, assuring them, that, although Coubitard had now
escaped us, yet there was no place should secure liim and his from us, if he
continued his threatening us, and provoking others against us, who had
kindly entertained him, and never intended evil towards him till he now so

justly deserved it. Moreover, if Massasoyt did not return in safety from Nar-
rohigganset, or if hereafter he should malce any insurrection against him, or

ofter violence to Tisquantum, Hobomok, or any of Massasoyfs subjects, we
would revenge it upon him, to the overthrow of him and his. As for those

[wlio] were wounded, [how many is not mentioned,] we were sorry lor it,

though themselves procured it in not staying in the house at our command

:

yet, if they would return home with us, our surgeon should heal them. At
this offer one man and a woman that were wounded went home with us,

Tisquantum and many other knoAvn friends accompanyuig us, and offering

all helj) that might be by carriage of any thing we had to ease us. So that

by God's good providence we safely returned liome the morrow night after

we set forth." *

Notwithstanding these rough passages, Caunbitant became in appearance
reconciled to the English, and on the 13tli Sei)L following (1621) went to

Piinioutli and signed a treaty of amity. It was through the intercession of
Massasoit that he became again reconciled, but the English always doubted
his sincerity, as most probably they had reason to. The treaty or submission
was in these words :

—

" Know all men by these presents, that we whose names are undenvritten,

do acknowledge ourselves to be tlie royal subjects of King James, king of
Great Britain, France and Ireland, defender of the faith, &c. Li witness

whereof, and as a testimonial of the same, we have subscribed our names, or

marks, as fblloweth :

—

OhQUAMEHUD, NaTTAWAHUNT, QUADAqCINA,
Cawnacome, Caunbatant, Hcttmoiden,
Obbatinnua, Cuikkatabak, Apannow."

Of some of these sachems nothing is known beyond this transaction, and
of otliers very little.

Obhaiimta is suj)po8cd to have i>een sachem of Shawmut, where Boston
now stands.

Cuwnacortie and Apannow may be the same before spoken of as Coneconam
and Epanoic, though I iini rather of opinion that Apannoic means Jlspinet of

Niiusft.t JStattawahunt \\v .sliall again meet with, under the name JVaslioonon.

Coneconam was sach(-m oi' Manomet, on Caj)e Cod.
Wlii'U, in tlie winter of 1()23, tlie Englisli traversed the coinitry to trade

witli the Indians for corn, tiiey visited liim among other chiefs; who, tiie\

say, " it seemed was of good resj)ect, and authority, amongst the Indians.

For whilst the governor was there, within night, in bitter cold weather, came
two men from Manamoyck, before Kj>oken of, and having set aside their bows

* From Mourt, vt sttpra, and signed only with the capital letter A, which is supposed to

land for Isaac Allerton, wiio accompanied Standish perhaps. From the use of the pronoun

ui tlie first person, the writer, whoever he was. masl have been preseut
* See chapter i. of b. ii.
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and quivers, according to their manner, sat down by the fire, and took a pipe
of tobacco, not using any words in that time, nor any other to them, but all

remained silent, expecting when they would speak. At length they looked
toward Canacum; and one of them made a short speech, and delivered a
present to him, from his sachim, which was a basket of tobacco, and many
beads, which the other received thankfidly. After which he made a long
speech to him," the meaning of which Hobomok said was, that two of their

men fell out in a game, " for they use gaming as much as any where, and
will play away all, even their skin from their backs, yea then- wive's skins
also," and one killed the other. That the murderer was a powow, " one of
special note amongst them," and one whom they did not like to part with

;

yet they were threatened with war, if they did not kill the murderer. That,
therefore, their sachem deferred acting until the advice of Coneconam was
first obtained.

After consulting with this chief, and some of his liead men, these messen-
gers desired HobomoKs judgment upon the matter. With some deference
he replied, that " he thought it was better that one should die than many,
since he had desei-ved it

;
" " whereupon he passed the sentence of death

upon him."
We shall have occasion again to notice this chief, at whose house the first

act of a tragic scene was acted, which in its course brought ruin upon its

projectors.

When Mr. Edward Winslow and Mr. John Hamden went to visit MassasoU
in his sickness, in 1623, they heard by some Lidians, when near Caunbitanfs
residence, that Massasoit was really dead : they, therefore, though with much
hesitation, ventured to his house, hoping they might ti-eat with him, he being
then thought the successor of Massasoit. But he was not at home. The
squaw sachem, his wife, treated them with great kindness, and learning here
that Massasoit was still alive, they made all haste to Pokanoket. When they
returned, they staid all night with Caunhitant, at his house, who accompanied
them there from Massasoifs.

Mr. Winslow gives the account in these words :
—" That night, through the

earnest request of Conbaiant, who, till now, remained at Sowaams, or
Puckanokick, we lodged with him at Mattapuyst. By the way, I had much
conference with him, so likewise at his house, he being a notable politician,

yet full of merry jests and squibs, and never better pleased than when the
like are returned again upon him. Amongst other things he asked me, if in

case he were thus dangerously sick, as Massasoit had been, and should send
word thereof to Patuxet, for maskiest,* [that is, physic,] whether their master
governor would send it; and if he would, whether I would come therewith
to him. To both which I answered, yea ; whereat he gave me many joyful

thanks." He then expressed his surprise that two Englishmen should ad-
venture so far alone into their country, and asked them if they were not
afraid. Mr. Winsloio said, "where was true love, there was no fear." "But,''
said Caunbitant, '^ ifyour love be such, and it bring foHh suchfruits, how cometh
it to pass, that tvhen we come to Patuxet, you stand upon your guard, with the

mouth ofyour pieces presented toioards US'}" Mr. Winsloiv told him that was a
mark of respect, and that they received their best friends in that manner:
but to this he shook his head, and answered, that he did not like such salu
tations. f

When Caunbitant saw his visiters crave a blessing before eating, and
retm-n thanks afterwards, he desired to know what it meant. " Hereupon I

took occasion (says our author) to tell them of God's works of creation and
preservation, of the laws and ordinances, especially of the ten comi.iand
ments." They foimd no particular fault with the commandments, except
the seventh, but said there were many inconveniences in that a man should
be tied to one woman. About which they reasoned a good while.
When Mr. Winslow explained the goodness of God in bestowing on them

al] their comforts, and that for this reason they thanked and blessed hinij

* In Williams's Key, Maskit is translated, " Give me some physic."

t Good News from N. England, Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc.
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"this all of them concluded to be very well ; and said they believed alii.ost

all the same things, and that tlie same jiower that we call God they called

Kichtan.'^ " Here ^ve remained only that night, but never had better entei-

tainnient amongst any of them."
What became of this chief is unknown. His name appearing no more in

our records, leads us to suppose that he either fled his country on the mur
tier of IVittuwamet, Peksuot, and others, or that he died about that time.

WiTTUWAMET was a Massachusetts chief, as was his companion Peksvof,

but their i)articular residence has not been assigned. Wittincamet was a des-

perate and bold fellow, and, like most other warriors, delighted in shedding
the blood of his enemies. It is not improbable but that he became exasper-
ated against the English from the many abuses some of them had practised

upon his countrjTnen. This will account, perhajis, for all the severity and
malignity portrayed by the foreiiithers in his chai-acter. He was one of those,

they say, who murdered some of the crew of the French ship, cast away
upon Cape Cod, as we have before mentioned.
That fVittuwamel, Peksuot, and some other chiefs, intended to have freeil

their coimtry of intruders in the year 1623, there can be no doubt, and in re-

lating the rise, progress and termination of their league to effect this object,

we shall, to avoid the charge of partiality, adhere closely to the record.

We have before, in speaking of Caunecum, or Coneconam, mentioned the

voyage of the governor of Plimouth to that sachem's counti-y to trade for

corn ; that was in January, 1623. Not being able to bring away all he ob-

tained. Captain Jlf{/es Standishwas sent the next month to take it to Plimouth,
also to purchase more at the same place, but he did not meet witli very good
reception, which led him to apprehend there was mischief at hand. And
immediately after, while at Coneconam's house with two or three of his com-
pany, " in came two of the Massachusetts men. The chief of them was
called Wittutvamat, a notable insulting villain, one who had formerly imbrued
his hands in the blood of English and French, and had oil boasted of his

own valor, and derided their Aveakuess, especially because, as he said, tliey

died crying, making sour faces, more like children than men. This villain

took a dagger fi-om about his neck, which he had gotten of Master Jf'eston^s

people, and jjresented it to the sachem, [Coneconam,] and after made a long
speech in an audacious manner, framing it in such sort as the captain, though
he be the best linguist among us, could not gatlier any thing from it. The
end of it was afterwards discovered to be as Ibllowetli. The Massaclui-
seucks formerly concluded to ruinate Mr. JFeston^s colony ; and thought
themselves, being about 30 or 40 men, strong enough to execute the same :

yet they durst not attemjit it, till such time as they had gathered more
strength to themselves, to make their i)art\' good against us at Plimouth

:

concluding that if we remained, though they had no other arguments to use

against us, yet we would never leave the death of our coiuitrymen uiue-
venged ; and therefore their safety could not be without the overthrow of
both plantations. To.this end they had formerly solicited this sachem, as

also the other, called lanongh^ iiuii many others, to assist them; and now
again came to ])rosecute the same ; and since there was so fair an opj)ortu-

nity offered by the captain's j)rcsence, they thought best to make sure ol'him
and his cojupany."

Coneconam, alter this speech, treated Standi^h with neglect, and was very
partial to JVittuwamet, which much increased the jealousy of the former.
Tiiese Indians meantime contrived to kill Standish, having employed a "lusty
Indian of Paomct " to execute the plan. 'J'lie weather was severely cold,

and Standish lodged on slion; at night, and this was the time he was to have
been killed. Ihit the extreme coldness of the night ke])t him from sleeping,
and thus he avoided assassination.

We have had occasion, in the life ofMassasoit, to mention that that chief
had been solicited to engage in this confederacy, and of his charging Hohomok
lo warn the English of it. The iieojile of the places named at that time by
Massasoit, as in the plot, were Naiiset, Paoniet, Succonet, Mattaciiiesi, Mano
met, Agowaywani, and the Island of ra|)awack. "Therefore, (i^ays 3Ir
If'msloir in his Helation.) as we respected the lives of oin- rountrvmen and
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OUT own safety, he advised us to kill the men of Massachuset, who were the
authors of this intended mischief. And whereas we were wont to say, we
would not strike a stroke till they first began, It', said he, [Massasoit to

Hobomok,] upon this intelligence, they make that answer, tell them, when
their countrymen at Wichaguscusset are killed, they not being able to defend
themselves, that then it will be too late to recover their lives," and it would
be with difficulty that they preserved their own ;

" and tlierefore he coun-
selled, without delay, to take away the principals, and then the plot woukl
cease."

Meanwhile Weston's men had fallen into a miserable and wretched condi-
tion ; some, to procure a daily sustenance, became servants to the Lidians,
" fetching them wood and water, &c., and all for a meal's meat." Those
who were thus degraded, were, of course, only a few who had abandoned
themselves to riot and dissipation, but whose conduct had affected the well
being of the whole, notwithstanding. Some of these wretches, m their ex-
tremities, had stolen corn from the Lidians, on whose complaint they had
been put in the stocks and whipped. This not giving the Indians satisfac-

tion, one was hanged. This was in February, 1623.

About this capital punishment much has been wi'itten ; some doubting the
fact that any one was hanged, others that it was the real offender, &c. But
in our opinion the facts are incontestable that one was hanged ; but whether
the one really guilty or not, is not quite so easily settled. The fact that one
was hanged for another appears to have been of common notoriety, both in

Old and New England, from shortly after the affair until the beginning of
the next century.*

Mr. Hubbard] has this passage upon the affair:—"Certain it is, they [the

Lidians] were so provoked with their filching and stealing, that they thicct-

ened them, as the Philistines did Samson's father-in-law, after the loss of their

corn ; insomuch that the company, as some report, pretended, in way of satis-

faction, to punish him that did the theft, but, in his stead, hanged a poor, de-
crepit old man, that was unserviceable to the company, [an old bed-rid

weaver,!] and burdensome to keep alive, which was the ground of the story

with which the merry gentleman, that wrote the poem called Hudibras, did,

in his poetical fancy, make so much sport." And from the same author it a\i-

pears that the circumstance was well known at Plimouth, but they pretended
that the right person was hanged, or, in our author's own words, " as if the

person hanged was really guilty of stealing, as may be were many of the rest,

and if they were driven by necessity to content the Lidians, at that time, to

do justice, there being some of Mr. Weston's company living, it is possible it

might be executed not on him that most deserved, but on him that could be
best spared, or who was not like to live long if he had been let alone."

It will now be expected that we produce the passage of Hudibras. Here
it is :

—

" Though nice and dark the point appear, The mighty Tottipottymoy

,

(Quoth Ralph,) it may hold up, and clear. Sent to our Elders an Envoy,
That Sinners may supply the place Complaining sorely of the Breach
Of suffering- Saints, is a plain Case. Of League, neld forth by Brother Patch,
Justice gives Sentence, many times, Against the Articles in force,

On one Man for another's crimes. Between both churches, his cuid ours,

Our Brethren of New England use For which he craved the Saints to render
Choice Malefactors to excuse. Into his Hands, or hang th' Offender:
And hang the Guiltless in their stead. But they, maturely having weighed.
Of whom the Churches have less need : They had no more but him o' tn' Trade,
As lately 't happened : In a towm (A Man that served them in a double
There lived a Cobbler, and but one, Capacity, to Teach and Cobble,)
That out of Doctrine could cut Use, Resolved to spare him

;
yet to do

And mend Men's Lives, as well £is Shoes. The Indian Hoghan Moghgan, too,

This precious Brother having slain, Impartial Justice, in his stead, did
In times of Peace, an Indian, Hang an old Weaver that was Bed-rid.
(Not out of Malice, but mere Zeal, Then wherefore may not you be skipp'd,

Because he was an infidel,) And in your Room another Whipp'd \
"

* See Col. N. H. Hist. Soc. iii. 148. and b. i. chap. iii. ante.

i Hist. N. F,ng. 77. t Col. N. H. Hist. Soc. iii. 14S

9 r;
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The following note was early printed to this passage :—" The history of
the cobbler had been attested by persons of good credit, who were upon the
place when it was done." Mi". Butler wrote this part of liis Hudibras
before 1663.

Thomas Morton, who was one of the company, though perhaps absent at

the time, pretends that there was no plot of the Indians, and insinuates that

the Plimoutheans caused all the trouble, and that then- rashness caused the
Indians to massacre some of their men, as we shall presently relate from a
book which 3Ir. Morton published.*

"Master fVeston's plantation being settled at Wessaguscus, his servants,

many of them lazy persons, that would use no endeavor to take the benefit

of the counti-y, some of them fell sick and died.
" One amongst the rest, an able-bodied man, that ranged the woods, to see

what it would afford, lighted by accident on an Indian barn, and from thence
did take a cap full of corn. The salvage owner of it, fiuding by the loot

[track] some English had been there, caiije to the plantation, and made com-
plaint after this manner. The chief commander of the company, on this

occasion, called a Parliament of all his people, but those that were sick and
ill at ease.f And wisely now they must consult, upon this huge complaint,

that a privy [paltry] knife or string of beads would well enough have quali-

fied: And Edward lohnson was a special judge of this business. The fact

was there in repetition, construction made, that it was feilony, and by the

laws of England punished with death, and this in execution nuist be put for

an example, and likewise to appease the salvage ; when straightways one
arose, moved as it were with some compassion, and said he could not well

gainsay the former sentence
;
yet he had conceived, within the compass of

his brain, an embrio, that was of special consequence to be delivered, and
cherished, he said ; that it would most aptly serve to pacify the salvage's

complaint, and save the life of one that might (if need should be) stand them
in some good stead ; being young and strong, fit lor resistance against an

enemy, which might come unexpectedly, for any thing they knew.
•'The oration made wns liked of ever)' one, and he intreated to show the

means how this may be performed. Says he, you all agree that one must
die, and one sliall die. This young man's clothes we will take off, and put

upon one that is old and impotent, a sickly person that cannot escape death;

such is the disease on him confirmed, that die he must. Put the young
man's clothes on this man, and let the sick person be hanged in the other's

stead. Amen, says one, and so says many more. And this had like to have

proved their final sentence ; and being there confii-med by act of Parliament

to after ages for a precedent. But that one, with a ravenous voice, begun to

croak and bellow for revenge, and put by that conclusive motion ; alleging

such deceits might be a means hereafter to exasperate the minds of the com-
plainuig salvages, and that, by liis death, the salvages should see their zeal

to justice, and, therefore, he should die. This was concluded
;
yet, never-

theless, a scruple was made ; now to countermand this act did represent

itself unto their minds, which was how they sliould do to get the man's good
will : this was indeed a special obstacle : for without that (they all agreed) it

would be dangerous, for any man to attenqjt the execution of it, lest mis-

chief siiould befall them every man. He was a person that, in his ^vrath,

did seem to be a second Sampson, able to beat out their brains with the jaw-

bone of an ass: therefore they called the man, and l)y persuasion got him
fast bound in jest, and then hanged him up hard by in good eainest, who
with a weapon, and at liberty, would have put all these wise judges of this

Parliament to a pittifid Twn pliia, (as it hath been credibly reported,) and
made the chiefjudge of them all bn,ci\le to iiim."

This is an entire chapter of the New Canaan, which, on account of its

great rarity, wo hav<! given in fiill. Li his next ciia|)ter Mr. Motion proceeds

to narrate the circumstances of the " massacre" of Wxttuwamel, Ptksuot, and
other Massachusetts Indians, and the consequences of it. But we shall now

* Entitlcil NewEnarlish Canaan, 4io. Anislerdam, 1637.

+ Against this seiiieucc, in liic margin, is
—" A poor comp'aint."
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draw from the Plimouth historian, and afterwards use Morton's chapter aa
we find occasion.

Mr. Winslow says that Mr. TVestori's men " knew not of this conspiracy of
the Indians before his [John Sanders, their 'overseer '] going; neither was it

known to any of us till our return from Sowaams, or Puckanokick : at which
time also another sachim, called Wassapineivat, brother to Obtakiest, the
sachim of the Massachusets, who had formerly smarted for partaking with
Conhatant, and fearing the like again, to purge himself, revealed the same
thing," [as Massasoit had done.]

It was now the 23d March, 1623, " a yearly com-t day " at Plimouth, en
which war was proclaimed, " in public court," against the Massachusetts
Lidians, "We came to this conclusion, (says Winslow,) that Captain Standish
should take so many men, as he thought sufficient to make his party good
against all the LicUans in the Massachusetts Bay ; and as because, as all

men know that have to do with them in that kind, it is unpossible to deal
with them upon open defiance, but to take them in such traps as they lay
for others : therefore he should pretend trade as at other times : but first go
to the English, [at Wessaguscus,] and acquaint them with the plot, and the
end of their own commg, that, comparing it with then* own cai-riages

towards them, he might better judge of the certainty of it, and more fitly

take opportunity to revenge the same: but should forbare, if it were
possible, till such time as he could make sure Wittmuamat, that bloody and
bold villain before spoken of; whose head he had order to bring with him,
that he might be a warning and terror to all that disposition."

We will now hear a word of what Mr. Morton has to say upon this trans-

action. " After the end of that Parliament, [which ended in the hanging
of one,*] some of the plantation there, about three persons, went to live

with Checataivback and his company, and had very good quarter, for all tlie

former quarrel with the Plimouth planters.f They are not like Will Som-
mers, | to take one for another. There they pm'posed to stay until Master
Weston's ai'rival : but the Plimouth men intending no good to him, (as

appeared by the consequence,) came in the mean time to Wessaguscus, and
there pretended to feast the salvages of those parts, bringing with them
pork, and things for the purpose, which they set before the salvages. They
eat thereof without suspicion of any mischief, [and] who were taken upon
a watchword given, and with their own knives (hanging about their necks)
were, by the Plimouth planters, stabbed and slain. One of which was
hanged up there, after the slaughter."§ When this came to the knowledge
of Chiliatauhufs people, they murdered the three English who had taken up
their residence with tliem, as they lay asleep, in revenge for the murder of
their countrymen.

||

After Standish was ready to proceed against Jfittmoamet, but before he
set out, one arrived from Wessaguscus almost famished,ir and gave the

people of Plimouth a lamentable account of the situation of his fellows

;

that not the least of then* calamities was then- bemg insulted by the Indians,
" whose boldness increased abundantly ; insomuch as the victuals they got,

* As mentioned in our last extract from this author.

t Referring, it is supposed, to the quarrel with Caunbitani.

\ The person who proposed hanging a sick man instead of the reaJ offender.

« New English Canaan, 111.
||

Ibid.

ir His name was Phiiuhas Prat. An Indian followed him to kill him, but, by losing the

direct path, the Indian missed him. In 1662, the general court of Massachusetts, in answer
to a petition of Phinehas Prat, then of Charlestown, which was accompanied " with a nar-

rative of the straights and hardships that the first planters of this colony underwent in their

endeavors to plant themselves at Plimouth, and since, whereof he was one^ the court judgeth
it meet to grant him 300 acres of land, where it is to be had, not hir dering a plcmtation.''

MS. amo7)^ tliejiles in our state-hmtse.

I have not been able to discover the narrative of Prat, aSier long soarch. Mr. Hubbard
probably used it in compiling his Hist, of New Engleind.
At the court, 3 May, 1665, land was ordered to be laid out for Prat, "in the wilderness on

the easi of the 3Ierrimack R'-er, near the upper end of Nacook Brook, on the south-east of it."

•Court Files, nt supra.

Prat married, in Plimouth, a daughter of Cuthbert Cuthbertson, in 1630. See 2 Col. Hist.

Jgor. vii. t'22.
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they [tlie Indians] would take it out of their pots, and eat [it] betbre tiieir

faces," and that if they tried to prevent tiiem, they Avould hold a knile at

their breasts: and to satisfy them, they had hanged one of their company:
" That they had sold their clothes lor corn, and were ready to stan e both

>vith cold and hunger also, because they could not endure to get victuals b\

reason of their nakedness."
This truly was a wretched picture of this second colony of Massachusetts,

the knowledge of which (says Winslow) " gave us good ejicouragement tc

proceed in our intendments." Accordingly, the next day, Standish^ Avith

Hobomok and eight Englishmen, set out upon the ex})edition. His taking so

few men shows how a few English guns A\ere } et I'eared by the Indians.

Nevertheless, the historians would have us luiderstand that Standish v. oiild

take no more, because he would not have the Indians mistrust that he came
to fight them ; and they would insinuate tliat it was owing to his gi-eat a alor.

When Standish arrived at Wessaguscus, he found the people scattered

about, apprehending no danger whatever, engaged in their ordinary aflairs.

When he told them of the danger they were in liom the Indians, they said

"they feared not the Indians, but lived, and suftered them to lodge with
them, not having sword or gun, or needing the same." Standish now in-

formed them of the plot, which was the first intimation, it appears, they had
of it. He ordered them to call in their men, imd enjoined secrecy of his

intended massacre. But it seems I'rom Winshid's Relation, that the Indians

got word of it, or mistrusted his design
;
probably some of the Wessagus-

cus men warned them of it, who did not believe there was any j)lot.

Meantime, an Indian came to trade, and aftenvards went away in friend-

ship. Standish^ more sagacious than the rest, said he saw treachery in his

eye, and suspected his end in coming there was discovered. Shortly after,

PeA-»iM)<, " who was a paniese,* being a man of a notable s])irit," came to

Hobomok, and told him. He understood the captain was come to kill him and the

rest of the Indians there. "Tell him, (said Peksuot,) we know it, but (ear him
not, neither will we shun him ; but let him begin when he dare [s], he will

not take us unawares."

The Indians now, as we might expect, began to j)rei)are to meet the

danger, and the English say many of them came divers times into their

presence, and " would whet and sharpen the i)oint of their knives," " and
use many other insulting gestures and speeches. Amongst the rest, Jf'ittu-

it>07Jia/braggedof the excellency of his knife. On the end of the handle there

was ])icturod a woman's lace ; but, said he, I have another at home, icherewith J

have killed both French and English, and that hath a man^sface on it ; and by and
by these two must inarry.'" To this he added, Hinnaim namen, H^^•NAIM Mi-

CHEN, MATTA CUTS : that is, By and by it shotdd sie, and by and by it shoidd eat,

but not speak. "Also PecA.s«o<, (continues /rnis/ow,) being a man of greater

stature tlian the captain, told him tiiough he wore a great captain, yet he was
but a little man : and, said he, though I be no sachem, yet I am a 7nan of great

strength and courage. These things the ca])tain observed, yet bare with pa-

tience for the present."

It will be seen, in what we have related, as well as what we are about to

add, that Thomas Morton^s account, in sonic of the main facts, agrees with

that of IVinsloiv. Fromtiie latter it apjjcars that Standish, nilcr considerable

manaiivering, coidd get advantage over but few of tiie Indians. At length

having got PeA'SHo/ and Jfittmramat ^^\)0\]\ together, with another mail, and
a youth of sonic eighteen years ol" age, which was brotiier to ft'ittuwamat,

and, villain like, trod in his stejis, daily putting many tricks uj)on the wcokei
sort of men, and having about as many of his own company in a room with

them, gave tlu; word to his men, and, tlie door being fast shut, began hinisell"

with Pecksuot, and, snatching his oini knife from his neck^ though with much

• " The Pnniesps are men of lyrcal courage aiiH wiscilonie, and to these also the Dcuiii

appearclh more familiarly than to otlirr-i, and as wrc roiireine, makclh rouenant «iih them Ic

prescriic them from drnOi l>y woiiiuls with arrows, knives, hatrliets, &c." H7n,s7otp'« Rela-

tion. In speaking of the origin of calutiift, Cliarlrroix says, some Indians told him tliat

'

«ns given t>y Uie sun to Pams, a nation upon the Missouri. Voyage dans I'Ameriqu.
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Bti-uggling, and killed him therewith—the point whereof he had made as sharp
as a needle, and ground the back also to an edge. Wittuwaniet and the other
man the rest killed, and took the youth, ivhom the captain caused to be hanged."
We could now Avish this bloody tale were finished, but we have promised

to keep close to the record. Mr. Winsloiv continues, " But it is incredible

how many woimJs these two panieses received before they died, not making any
fearfid noise, but catchiiig at their weapons, and striving to the last.

" Hobbumock stood by all this time,* and meddled not, observing how our
men demeaned themselves in this action." After the affray was ended, he
said to Standish, "Yesterday Pecksuot bragged of his own strength and
stature, said, though you were a great captain, yet you were but a httle man
but to-day I see you are big enough to lay him on the ground."

Standish was now sent to a company of Weston^s men, who ordered them
to kill the Lidians that were among them. They killed two. Himself with
some of his men killed andther, at another place. As they were pursuing
this business, intending to kill all they could lay hands upon, " through the
negligence of one man, an Indian escaped, who discovered [disclosed] and
crossed their proceedings."

Joined by some of ]\Ir. Weston^s men, Standish discovered a few Indians,

and pursued them. Standish gained a hill which the Indians also strove to

occupy, and who, after shooting a few arrows, fled. " Whereupon Hobba-
mock cast off his coat, and being a known paniese, theirs being now killed,

chased them so fast, as our people were not able to hold way with him."
One who made a stand to shoot Standish had his arm broken by a shot,

which is all the advantage claimed by the English. The Indians got into a
swamp, and after some bravadoing on both sides, the paities separated.
After assisting the settlers of Wessaguscus to leave the place, the English
retui'ned to Plimouth, taking along the head of fVittuivamet, which they set

up in their fort.

Meanwhile the Indian that followed Prat from Wessaguscus, as he returned
from Manomet, called at Plimouth in a ft-iendly manner, and was there
seized and put in irons. Being asked if he knew the head of Wittuwamet,
said he did, and "looked piteously" upon it. "Then he confessed the
plot," and said his sachem, Obtakies't, had been ch-awn into it by the impor-
tunity of all the people. He denied any hand in it himself, and begged hia
life might be spared. Said he was not a Massachuset, but only resided as a
stranger among them. Hobomok " also gave a good report of him, and be-
sought for him ; but was bribed so to do it." They finally concluded to spare
iiim, " the rather, because we desired he might carry a message to Obtakiest."
The message they charged him wth was this, that they had never intended
to deal so with him, until they were forced to it by their treachery, and,
thei-etbre, they might thank themselves for their o^vn overthrow ; and as he
had now began, if he persisted in his course, " his country should not hold
him :

" that he should forthAvith send to Plimouth " the three Englishmen he
had, and not kill them."t
The English heard nothing fi-om Obtakiest for a. long time ; at length lie

sent a wjman to them, (probably no man would venture,) to tell them he
was sorry that the English were killed, before he heard fi-om them, also
that he wished for peace, but none of his men durst come to treat about it.

The English learned from this woman, that he was in great consternation,
"haying forsaken his dwelling, and daily removed fi-om place to place, ex-
pecting when we would take further vengeance on him." The terror was
now general among them, and many, as we have elscAvhere said, died through
fear and want To this dismal narrative Mr. IVinslow adds, " And certainly

* This, we suppose, is the affair to which President Allen alludes, in his American Biog-
raphy, (2d ed.) when he says, "he [Hobomok] fought bravely by his [StandislVs] side, in

1623." If standing and looking on be fighting, then did Hobomok fight bravely on this

occasion.

t Morton, in his New Canaan, 111, says, these three men went to reside wilh Chikataubut

;

hence Morton very reasonably suggests, that if the Plimouth people intended the men of
Wessa^scus any good, wliy did they not first see that all of them were out of danger, befort
Beginning war ?

9*
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it is strange to hear how many of late have, and still daily die amongat
them; neither is there any likelihood it will easily cease ; hecause through
fear they set little or no corn, which is the staff of life, and without which
they cannot long preserve health and strength."

These affairs call for no commentary, that must accomj)any every mind
through every stej) of the relation. It would he weakness, as ajjpears to us,

to attempt a vindication of the rash conduct of the English. Amid their

sufferings, some poor Indians resolved to attempt to appease the wrath of
the English governor by presents. Four set out by water in a boat for

Plimouth, but by accident were overset, and three of them were drowned

;

the other returned back.

When Mr. Robinson, the father of the Plimouth church, heard how his

people had conducted in this affair with the Indians, he ^vrote to them, to

consider of the disposition of Ca})tain Standish, " who was of a warm tem-
per," but he hoped the Lord had sent him amofig them for a good end, if

they used him as they ought. "He doubted," he said, "whether there was
not wanting that tenderness of the life of man, made after God's image,"
which was so necessary ; and above all, that " it would have been happy- if

they had converted some befoi'e they had killed any."

The reader has now passed through a period of Indian history of much
interest, wherein he will doubtless have found much to admire, and more
that he could have wished otherwise. Our business, however, we wll
here remind him, is that of a dealer in facts altogether, and he nuist take

them, dry as they are, without any labored conmientaries from us. Although
we have had occasion to introduce Hobomok several times, yet there remain
transactions of considerable interest in his life yet to be noticed.

HoBOMOK, or Hobbamock, was a great j)aniese or war captain among the

Wampanoags, as we have already had occasion to observe. He came to

Plimouth about the end of July, 1621, and continued with the English as

long as he lived. He was a principal means of the lasting friendship of
Massasoii, which Morton says, he " much furthered ; and that he was a

proper lusty young man, and one tliat was in account among the Indians in

those parts for his valor." He was of the greatest service in learning then>

how to cultivate such fruits as were peculiar to the country, such as corn,

beans, &c. The account of his mission to Massasoit, to learn the truth of a

report that the Narragansets had made war uj)on him, and his interruption

and trouble from Caunbitant are already related.

Being a favorite of Massasoii, and one of his chief captains, the pilgrims

found that they need not apjjrclicnd any treachery on his ])art, as Hobomok
was so completely in their interest^ and also in that of the great sachem,
that he would advise them if any thing evil were on foot against them.

What strengthened them in this opinion was the ibllowing circumstance.

The Massacluisetts Indians had (or some time been inviting the English

into their country to trade for fins. When, in March, 1()22, they began to

make ready for the voyage, Hobomok "told us, (says JVinslow,) that he feared

the Massachusetts, or Massachnscuks, flir they so called the j)eoj>le of that

Rlace, were joined in confederacy with the Nanohigganncuks, a people of
anoliigganset, and that they, therefore, would take this opportunity to cut

off Cnpt. Standish and his company abroad ; but howsoever, in the mean-
time, it was to be feared, [lie said,] that the Nanohiggancuks would assault

the town at home; giving many reasons for his jealousy; as also that Tis-

quanium was in the conli'deracy, who, [he said,] we should find, would use

many persuasions to draw us from our shallops to the Indians' houses for

tlieir better advantage."

Nevertheless, they proceeded on their voyage, and when they had turned

the point called the GnnieCs jVosc, u fidse messenger came running into

Plimouth town, apparently in a great fi-iglit, out of breath, and bleeding

from a wound in his fiice. He told ilicm that Caunhilanl,\\'nh many of the

Niu-ragansets, and he belicvi'd jMnssasoit with them, were coming to de-

stroy the English. No one doubted of his sincerity, and the first thought of

tlie people was to bring iiack their military hauler, who had just gone in

the boat with Hobomok. A piece of cannon was immediately discharged
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which, to iheir great joy, soon caused the boat to return, not having got out

of hearing. They had no sooner arrived, than Hobomok told them there was
no truth in the report, and said it was a plot of Squanto, who was then with

them, and even one of those in the boat ; that he knew Massasoit would not

undertake such an enterprise without consulting him. Hobomok was confi-

dent, because he was himself a gi'eat chief, and one of Massasoit^s counsel-

lors. Squa7ito denied all knowledge of any plot, and thus ended the affair.

The English, however, seemed well satisfied that Squanto had laid this shal-

low plot to set them against Massasoit, thinking the}' would destroy him, by
which means he expected to become chief sachem himself; and tliis seems
the more probable, as Massasoit was for some time irreconcilable because
they withheld him from him, when he had forfeited his life, as in our nar-

ration has been set forth. But entirely to satisfy the English, Hobo)nok sent

his wife to Pokanoket privately to gain exact intelligence, and her return

only verified what her husband had said.

" Thus by degrees (continues JVinslow) we began to discover Tisquantum,
whose ends were only to make himself great in the eyes of his coimtrymen,
by means of his nearness and favor with us ; not caring who fell, so he
stood. In general, his course was, to persuade them he could lead us to

peace or war at his pleasiue ; and would oft thi'eaten the Indians, sending
them word, in a private manner, we were intended shortly to kill them, that

thereby he might get gifts to himself, to work their peace, insomuch as they
had him in greater esteem than many of their sachems

,
yea, they them-

selves sought to him, who promised them peace in respect of us
;
yea, and

protection also, so as they would i-esort to him. So that whereas divers

were wont to rely on Massassowai for protection, and resort to his abode,
now they began to leave him, and seek after Tisquantum. But when we
understood his dealings, we certified all the Indians of our ignorance and
innocency therein ; assuring them, till they begun with us, they should have
no cause to fear : and if any hereafter should raise any such reports, they
should punish them as liars, mid seekers of their and oiu* disturbance; which
gave the Indians good satisfaction on all sides." " For these and the like

abuses, the governor sharply reproved him, yet was he so necessary and
profitalile an instrument, as at that time w^e could not miss him."
To the end that he might possess his countrjinen with great fear of the

English, Tisquantum told them the English kept the plague buried in their

store-house, and that they could send it, at any time, and to any place, to

destroy whatever persons or people they would, though they themselves
stirred not out of doors. Among the rest, he had made Hobomok believe

this tale, who asked the English if it were true, and being informed that it

was not, it exploded like his other impostures.
There is but little doubt that Squanto was in the interest of Caunbitant,

and lived among the English as a spy, while Hobomok was honestly, as he
pretended, a strong fi-iend to them ; but for some time it was nearly impos-
sible for them to know which Avas their best friend, as each seemed emu-
lous to outvie the other in good offices. They were, however, at this time
satisfied ; for, HobomoKs wife having told Massasoit what had happened, and
that it was one of Squanto's men that gave the alarm, satisfied him that that

sagamore had caused it, and he therefore demanded him of the English,
that he might put him to death, according to their law, as has been related.

But the English, regarding the benefit resulting to them fi-om saving his
life, more than keeping inviolate the treaty before made with Massasoit,
evaded the demand, and thus Squanto was permitted to escape.
Hobomok was greatly beloved by Massasoit, notwithstanding he became a

professed Christian, and Massasoit was always opposed to the English religion

himself. It has been told m the life of the great Massasoit, how valuable
was the agency of Hobomok, in faithfully revealing the mischievous plot of
Caunbitant, which terminated in the death of Wittivwamet and Peksuot. He
was the pilot of the English when they visited Massasoit in his sickness,
whom before their arrival they considered dead, which caused great mani-
festations of grief in Hobomok. He olten exclaimed, as they were on
their way, " JVeen womasu Sagimus, neen ivomasu Sagimvs" &c., which is,
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" My loving Sachem, my loving Sachem ! many have I kno\vn, but never any
like thee." Then, turning to Mr. JVinsloic, said, "While jou live jou will

never see his like among the Indians ; that he was no liar, nor bloody and
iruel like other Indians. Li anger and jtassion he was soon reclaimed ; easy

to be reconciled towards such as had offended him ; that his reason wa?
such as to cause him to receive advice of mean men ; and that he governed
liis people better with few blows, than others did with many."

In the division of the land at Plimoutli among the inhabitants, Hobomok
received a lot as his share, on which he resided after tlie English manner
and died a Christian among them. The year of his death does not appeal",

but was jnevious to 1G42.

It has already been mentioned that the pilgrims made a voyage to Massa-
chusetts in the antunm of 1621. It was in this voyage that they became
acquainted with the fame of JSPan^pashemet. The English had heard that

the Indians in the Massachusetts had threatened them, and they went (says

Moufii) "partly to see the couutn', partly to make peace \v\x\\ them, and
partly to procure their truck."

Squanto was pilot in this voyage. They went ashore in the bottom of the

bay, and landed under a clit^' wliich some* have supposed was what has
been since called Co[i])'s Hill,t now the north i)art of Boston. This was on
20th Sept. 1621. They saw no Indians until some time at\er they went
ashore, but found a parcel of lobsters which they had collected, with which
tJiey refreslied themselves. Soon after, as they were proceeding on an
excursion, " they met a woman coming for her lobsters." They told her
what they iiad done, and paid her ibr them. She told them where to find

Lidians, and Squanto went to them to prepare them for meeting with the

English.

Obbatineivat now received the voyagers. This sachem (if he be the
same) had made peace with the English at Plimoutli only seven days pre-

vious, as we have had occasion to notice. He told them he was sachem of
the place, and was suliject to Massasoit ; and tiiat he dared not remain long
in any place, from fear of the Tarratines, who were " wont to come at har-

vest and take away their corn, and many times kill them." Also that Squmv-
Soc^m of Massachusetts was his enemy. This Squaw-Sacheni, I as we be-

lieve, was chief of those inland Indians since denominated the Nijincts, or

Nipmucks, and lived at this time near Wachuset Mountain. The English
intended § to have visited her at this time, but found the distance too great

to proceed. They received the greatest kindness from all the Indians they
met with, and mentioned that of Obbatineivat in particular. And they say,
" We told him of divers sachims that had acknowledged themselves to be
King James his men, and if he also irovhl subrnit himself, \\

we would be his

safeguard from his enemies, whicli he did."

At another place, "having gone three miles, in arms, up in the country,

we came (say tliej') to a |)lace where corn had been newly gatliered, a house
pulled down, and tlie peo])le gone. A mile from hence, Aanepashemet,
their king, in his life-time had lived.H His house was not like otiiers, but a
scaffold was largely built, with poles and planks, some six loot fioni [the]

ground, and the house upon that, being situated on the top of a hill. Noi
iiir from hence, in a bottom, wc came to a fort," built by X^anepasheniet. It

' Dr. Belknap appear^ lo have licoii the firsi whu suj:^>jostcii this. See his Bioij. ii. 2*1.

t We had supposed this eminenco to have beou so called from a copse or clump of trees,

which for a loii<^ time reinaiiied upon ii, alter it l>ecaine known to the whites ; but Shaw.
iJrscrip. Brslnn. Ii7, says it was namfd from one Copp, n siioem.iker. And Snoir, Hisf.

Hosloii. lOo. says William Copp was the proprietor of" a portion of the hill."

t " Sachems or saj-ainnres.—which are hut one and the same title,—the first more usual
wiih the southward, the other with the northward Indians, lo express the title of him thai hath

the chief command of a place or people.'' Hist. N. E. fiO.

^ SluUtuck (Hisl. Concord, 2) says she was visited at this time by these voyagers, but I

am not able to arrive at any such conclusion from any source of information in my pos-

session.

II
It does not seem from this that he is the same who before had submitted at Plimouth, aa

Mr. Prince sitppose.t,

V Mr. ShatlHck in bis Ifist. Concord, says, this " was in Medford, near Mystic Pond "
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was made, with " poles some 30 or 40 foot long, stuck in the groimd, as thick

as they could be set one by another, and with these they enclosed a ring

some 40 or 50 foot over. A trench, breast high, was digged on each side.*

One way there was to get into it with a bridge. In the midst of this pali-

sado stood tlie frame of an house, wherein, being dead, he lay buried.

About a mile from hence, we came to such another, but seated on the top

of an hill. Here JVa.Tiepashemet was killed, none dwelling in it since the

time of his death."

According to Mr. Lends, N'anepashemel was killed about the year 1619, and
his widow, who was Squaw-Sachem before named, continued the government.f

He left five children,^ four of whose names we gather from the interestmg

History of Lynn ; viz. 1. Montoicampate, called by the English Sagainore

James. He was sachem of Saugus. 2. Abigail, a daughter. 3. Wonohaqtia-

ham, called Sagamore John, sachem of Winnesimet. 4. Winnepurkitt, called

Sagamore George, or George Rumneymxirsh, the successor of Montowampaie at

Saugus. Of most of these we shall speak in detail hereafter.

Sqtunv-Sarhem, accoi'ding to the authority last mentioned, was the spouse

of Wappacoivet,if or Webcoivit, in 1635. She and her husband, four years

after, 1639, deeded to Jotham Gibbones "the reversion of all that parcel of
land which lies against the ponds of Mystic, together with the said ponds,

all which we reserved from Charlestown and Cambridge, late called New-
town, after the death of me, the said Squaw-Sachem." The consideration was,

"the many kindnesses and benelits we have received fi-om the hands of
Captain Edward Gibbones, of Boston."

Tlie Squa-Sachem's mark ^^^

Webcowit's mark -—»-

fFebcowit was a powwow priest, or magical physician, and was considered
next in importance to JVanepashemet among the subjects of that chief, after

his death ; as a matter of coiu-se, his widow took him to her bed. It does
lOt appear, that he was either much respected or thought much of; especial-

ly by his wife, as in the above extract from their deed, no provision seems
to have been made for him after her death, if he outlived her. At all

events, we may conclude, without hazard we think, that if breeches had
been in fashion among Indians, the wife of Webcount would have been ac-

countable for the article in this case.

In 1643, Massachusetts covenanted with " Wassamequin, JVashoonon, Kutch-
amxtquin, Massaconomet, and Squaw-Sachem"^^ to the end that mutual bene-
fit might accrue to each party. The sachems put themselves under the

government of the English, agreeing to observe their laws, in as far as they
should be made to understand them. For this confidence and concession
of their persons and lands into their hands, the English on their part agreed
to extend the same protection to them and theh people as to their English
subjects.il

What had become of Webcount at this time does not appear
; perhaps he

ivas off powwowing, or at home, doing the ordinaiy labor of the household.
We hear of him, however, fom* years after, (1647,) " taking an active part"
m the endeavors made by the English to Christianize his countrymen. " He
asked the English why some of them had been 27 years in the land, and
never taught them to know God till then. Had you done it sooner, (said

he,) we might have known much of God by this time, and much sin might
have been prevented, but now some of us are grown [too] old in sin."

* Might not, then, the western mounds have been formed by Indians ?

t Hist. Lynn, 16.

i Shatiuck, ib. who fixes her residence at Concord j she, doubtless, had several places of
residence.

^ His name is spelt Webcowits to MS. deed in my possession, and in Mr. Shattuck's MSS
WibbMOiuitts, as appears from his History.

II
In the History of the Nari-aganset Country, these names are written Wassamegun,

^ashawanon, Cutshamacke, Massanomell, and Sana-Sachem. See 3 Col. Mass. Hist. Soe
i. 212.

M See Gonkin's MS. Hist. Praying Irtdiens.
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The English said they repented of their neglect ; but recollecting themselves
answered, "You were not willing to heare till now," and that God had not

turned their heaits till then.*

Of the sachems wlio made the covenant above named, the first we suppose
to have been Massasoit, on the pai't of the Wampanoags, who at this time
was, perhaps, among the Nipmuks ; JVashoonon, a Nipmuk cliief, wth whom
Massasoit now resided. His residence was near what was since Magus Hill,

in Worcester county. He was probably at Plimouth, 13 Sept, 1G21, where
he signed a treaty with eight others, as we have set down in the life of Caun-
hUant His name is there spelt JVattaivahunt. In Wirdhrop's Jom-nal,

it is JVashacotvavi, and we suppose he was father of J^assowanno, mentioned
by ffhitney.j Kvichamaquin was sachem of Dorchester and vicinity, and
Massaconomet was Mascononomo.

CHAPTER m.

Somt account of the Massachusetts—Geography of their countnj—Chikataubct—
Wampatuck—his war with the Mohawks—Mascononomo—Canonicus—Mon-
TOWAMPATE

—

Small-pox distresses the Indians—Wonohaqpaham—Winnepur-
KIT MaNATAHQUA SCITTERYGUSSET NATTAH ATTA WANTS WaHGCMACUT-
Jack-Straw—James.

Not long before the settlement of Plimouth, the Massachusetts had been
a numerous people, but were greatly reduced at this time

;
partly from the

great plague, of which we have already spoken, and subsequently fi-om their

wars with the Tarratines. Of this war none but the scanty records of the

first settlers are to be had, and in them few particulars are presers'ed
; J

therefore it wll not be expected that ever a complete account of the territo-

ries and power of the Massachusetts can be given ; broken down as they

were at the time they became known to the Europeans ; for we have seen that

their sachems, when first visited by the Plimouth peojile, were shifting for

their lives—not daring to lodge a second night in the same place, from their

fear of the Tarratines. Hence, if these Indians had existed as an independ-
ent tribe, their history was long since swept away " in gloomy tempests,"

and obscured in "a night of clouds," and nothing but a meagre tradition re-

mained. For some time after the countiy was settled, they would fly for

protection from the Tariatines to the houses of the English.

It is said, by Mr. Gookin, that " their chief sachem held dominion over

many other i)etty governors ; as those of Weechagaskas, Neponsitt, Punka-
paog, Nonantum, Nashaway, some of the Ni})muck people, as far as Pokom-
takuke, as tlie old men of Massachusetts affirmed. This people could, in

former times, arm for war about 3000 men, as the old Indians derhire.

They were in hostility very often with the Narragansitts ; but held amity,

for the most jnu-t, with the Pawkunnawkutts.''^ Near the mouth of Charles

River " used to be tiie general rendezvous of all tlie Lidians, both on the

south and north side of the country."!! Hutchinson^ says, "That circle

which now makes the harlwrs of Boston and Charlestown, roiuid by 3Ial-

den, Chelsea, Nantaskct, Hingham, Weymouth, Braintrec, and l)orciie.><tt'r,

was the ca])ital of a great sarlieni,** much revered by all tlie |)lantations

round al)out. The tradition is, tiiat tliis saciiem had his principal .«oat upon-

a small hill, or rising uphuui, in tiie midst of a body of salt marsh in the

township of Dorchester, near to a i)lacc called Squaiitum."tt Hence it will

• Hist. Conrord, 25. t Hist. Worcester Co. 174.

\ This war was raiisod, says Mr. IFiMard, " anna llie nccoiiiit of some trearhery"on
the part of the westorii trilics, 1. c. tlic tribes west of the Merrimark. Hist. Neir Ens;. 30.

& 1 Coll. Mnss. Ilisi. Soc. 1. 148.
||

Hist. N. Eng. 32

tI From AVu/'.s- Ifist. IV. Eng^j probably, wliicli see.
*• It will be a good while before the present possessors of the country can boast of sim!}i a

:aiiital.

ft Hist. Mass. i. 4r>0. An>l here it was, I suppose, that the Plimouili people landed intbeii
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be observed, that among the accounts of the earliest writers, the dominions
of the different sachems were considered as comprehended within very
liifferent limits ; a kind of general idea, therefore, can only be had of the

extent of their possessions. It is evident that the Massachusetts were either

subject to the Narragan setts, or in alliance Avith them ; for when the latter

were at war with the Pequots, Chikataubut and Sagamore John both went
with many men to aid Carwnicus, who had sent for them. This war began
in 1632, and ended in 1635, to the advantage of the Pequots.

We shall now proceed to speak of the chiefs agreeably to our plan.

Chikataubut, or Chikkaiabak,—in English, a kouse-a-Jire,—was a sachem of
considerable note, and generally supposed to have had dominion over the
Massachusetts Indians. Thomas Morton mentions him in his New Canaan,
as sachem of Passonagesit, (about Weymouth,) and says his mother was
buried there. I need make no comments upon the authority, or warn the
reader concerning the stories of Morton, as this is done in almost every
book, early and late, about New England ; but shall relate the following
from him.

In the first settling of Plimouth, some of the company, in wandering about
upon discovery, came upon an Indian grave, which was that of the mother
of Chikataubut. Over the body a stake was set in the ground, and
two bear-skins, sewed together, spread over it; these the English took
away. When this came to the knowledge of Chikataubut, he complained to

his people, and demanded immediate vengeance. When they were as-

sembled, he thus harangued them : " When last the glorious light of all the
sky was imderneath this globe, and birds grew silent, I began to settle, as
my custom is, to take repose. Before mine eyes were fast closed, me tho't

I saw a vision, at which my spirit was much troubled, and trembling at that
doleful sight, a spirit cried aloud, ' Behold ! my son, whom I have cherished

;

*ee the paps that gave thee suck, the hands that clasped thee warm, and fed
»hee oft ; canst thou forget to take revenge of those wild people, that hath
my monument defaced in a despiteful manner ; disdaining our ancient anti-

juities, and honorable customs. See now the sachem's gi-ave lies like unto
Jie common people, of ignoble race defaced. Thy mother doth complain,
mplores thy aid against this thievish people new come hither ; if this be
suffered, I shall not rest in quiet within my everlasting habitation.' "*

Battle was the unanimous resolve, and the English were watched, and
followed from place to place, until at length, as some were going ashore in

a boat, they fell upon them, but gained no advantage. After maintaining
the fight for some time, and being diiven from tree to tree, the chief captain
was wounded in the arm, and the whole took to flight. This action caused
the natives about Plimouth to look upon the English as invincible, and this

was the reason why peace was so long maintained between them. Of the
time and circumstances of this battle or fight we have detailed at length in

a previous chapter.

MourPs Relation goes far to establish the main facts in the above account-
It says, " We brought sundry of the prettiest things away with us, and cov-
ered tb? corpse up again," and, " there was variety of opinions amongst us
aho-ut the embalmed person," but no mention of the bear-skins.
From a comparison of the different accounts, there is but little doubt, that

the English were attacked at Namskekit, in consequence of their depreda-
tions upon the graves, corn, &c. of the Indians.

In 1621, Chikataubut, with eight other sachems, acknowledged, by a writ-
ten instrument, which we have already given, themselves the subjects of
King James. Ten years after this, 23 March, 1631, he visited Governor
Winthrop at Boston, and presented him with a hogshead of corn. Many of
"his sannops and squaws" came with him, but were most of them sent
away, " after they had all dined," although it thimdered and rained, and the
governor urged their stay ; Chikataubut probably feared they would be

yoyag-e to Massachusetts before spoken of, and from SqvMnto who was with them it probably
received its name.

* If this be fiction, a modern compiler has deceived some of his readers. The article in

the AnaJectic Magazine may have been his source of information, but the orig-inal may be
seep V ^f-'-'^r.'^ \\,„ rnnnnr, MV\ nnH 107
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burdensome. At this time he wore English clothes, and sat at the govern-

or's table, " wliere he behaved himself as soberly, &c. as an Englishman."
Not long after, he called on Governor fVinthrop, and desired to buy clothes

for himself; the governor informed him that " English sagamores did not

use to truck ; * but he called his tailor, and gave him order to make him a

suit of clothes ; whereupon he gave the governor two large skins of coat

beaver." In a few days his clotVes were ready, and the governor " put him
into a very good new suit from head to foot, and after, he set meat before

them ; but he would not eat till the governor had given thanks, and after meat
he desired him to do tlie like, and so departed."

June 14, 1631, at a court, Chikatavhut was ordered to pay a small skin of
beaver, to satisfy for one of his men's hanng killed a pig,—which he com-
plied with. A man by the name of Plastoive, and some others, having stolen

corn from him, the same year, the court, Sept. 27, ordered that Plastowe should
restore "two-fold," and lose his title of gentleman, and pay £5. This I sup-
pose they deemed equivalent to four-fold. His accomplices were whipped,
to the same amount. The next year we find him engaged with other sacliems

in an expedition against the Pequots. The same year two of his men were
convicted of assaulting some persons of Dorchester in their houses. "They
were put in the bilboes," and himself required to beat them, which he did.f

The small-pox was very prevalent among the Indians in 1633, in which
year, some time in November, Ckikataubut died.

The residence of the family of CMkataubut was at Tehticut, now included

in Middleborough. He was in obedience to Massasoit, and, like other chiefs,

had various places of resort, to suit the different seasons of the year

;

sometimes at Wessaguscusset, sometimes at Neponset, and especially upon
that part of Namasket J called Tehticut. This was truly a river of saga-

mores. Its abundant stores of fish, in the spring, drew them from all parts

of the realm of the chief sachem.
In deeds, given by the Indians, the place of their residence is generally

mentioned, and from what we shall recite in the progress of this article, it

will be seen that the same chief has difl^erent residences assigned to him.

August 5, 1665, Quincy, then Braintree, was deeded by a son of Chikatait-

btU, in these terms :

—

§ "To all Indian people to whom these presents shall come ; h'ampatuck,

alias Josiah Sagamore, of Massathusetts, in Newengland, the son of Chtkatau-

but deceased, sendeth greeting. Know yoo that the said ff'ampatuck, being
of full age and power, according to the order and custom ot the natives,

bath, with the consent of his wise men, viz. Sqnainog, his brother Daniel,

and Old Hahatun, and ff'illiam Mananiomotl, Job jyassott, Manuntago William

J^ahanton^" "For divers goods and valuable reasons therunto ; and in

special for "£21 10*. in hand. It was subscribed and witnessed thus:

—

Josiah, alias Wampatuck, his |0 marke.

Daniel Sqdamog, and a marL
Old Nahatun, and a mark.

William Mandnion, and a mark.
Job Noistenns.
Robert, alias Mamuntago, and a marL
William Hahatdn.

In presence of
Thomas Ketahodnsson, and a mark O.
Joseph Ma.nonion, his |— mark.

Thomas Weymous, his O mark.

* However iriie iliis miglit liavc been of the governor, at least, we think, he should not

have used the plural.

t
'' The most usual custom amongst ihcm in oxcrcising punishments, is, for the sachera

either to beat, or whip, or put to death with his own hand, to which the common sort most

quietly submit." V\ illiams.

\ Namauasuck signified in their lanffuao;e_^i/i««, and some early wrote Namasrheuck.

^ History of (iuincy, by Rev. Mr. tVhUiuy, taken from the original in the possession of tl.

Hon. J. Q. Adams.
Vt M'lhaton, or Alialon, and the same sometimes written AWioirfc/i. Sec WorlhingU) t

Ha'. DfdJi.xw V, M.^' >'<'. 1 HM.s i,.,,i. t'larlp:. Hivpr "n IfiPO <h
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There is a quit-claim deed from " Charles Josias, alias Josius Jf'nmputiick.

grandson of Chikataubut, dated 19 Mar. 1695, of Boston and the adjacent
country, and the islands in the harbor, to the " proprietated inhabitants of the
town of Boston," to be seen among the Suffolk records.* Wampatuck says,

or some onefor him, " Forasmuch as I am informed, and well assured from
several ancient Indians, as well those of my council as others, that, upon
the first coming of the English to sit down and settle in those parts of New
England, my above-named grandfather, Chikataubut, by and with the advice
of his council, for encoiu-agement thereof moving, did give, grant, sell, alien-

ate, and confij-m unto the English planters," the lands above named.
Besides Josias, there signed this deed with him, Maivton, sen., ffyiiam Ha-

haion, and Robert Momentauge.
Josias, or Josiah Wampatuck, was sachem of Mattakeesett,f and, fi-om

the deeds which he gave, must have been the ovsmer of much of the lauds
southward of Boston. In 1653, he sold to Timothy Hatherly, James Cudworth,
Joseph Tilden, Humphrey Turner, William Hatch, John Hoare, and James Tor-
rey, a large tract of land in the vicinity of Accord Pond and North RiVer.

In 1662, he sold Pachage Neck, [now called Ptchade,] "lying between
Namassakett riuer and a brook falling into Teticutt riuer, viz. the most
westerly of the three small brookes that do fall into the said riuer ; " like-

wise all the meadow upon said three brooks, for £21. Also, another tract
boimded by Plimouth and Duxbury on one side, and Bridgewater on the
other, extending to the great pond Mattakeeset

;
provided it included not the

1000 acres given to his son and George Wampey, about those ponds. This
deed was witnessed by George Wampey and John Wampowes.
After the death of his father, Josias was often called Josias Chikataubut.

In the Plimouth Records we find this notice, but without date: "Memoran-
ilum, that Josias Chickabutt and his wife doe owTie the whole necke of Pun-
Kateesett to beloing vnto Plymouth men," &c.
In 1668, "Josias C%tc^a<a6Mii, sachem of Namassakeesett," sold to Robert

Studson of Scituate, a tract of land called JVanumackeuitt, for a " valuable
consideration," as the deed expresses it. This tract was bounded on the
east by Scituate.

Josias had a son Jeremy ; and " Charles Josiah, son of Jeremy, was the last of
the race."| Of Josiah, Mr. Gookin gives us important information.
War between the Massachusett Indians and Mohawks. In the year 1669, " the

war having now continued between the Maquas and our Indians, about six

j^ears, divers Indians, our neighbors, united their forces together, and made
an army of about 6 or 700 men, and marched into the Maquas' country, to
take revenge of them. This enterprise was contrived and undertaken
without the privity, and contrary to the advice of their English friends. Mr.
Eliot and myself, in particular, dissuaded them, and gave them several
reasons against it, but they would not hear us." Five of the Christian
Indians went out with them, and but one only retiu-ned alive. " The chief-

est general in this expedition was the principal sachem of Massachusetts,
named Josiah, alias Chekatabutt, a wise and stout man, of middle age, but a
veij vicious person. He had considerable knowledge in the Christian
religion ; and sometime, when he was younger, seemed to profess it for a
time ;—for he was bred up by his uncle, Kucham^kin, who was the first

sachem and his people to whom Mi-. Eliot preached." §
Of those who went out with Wampatuk from other tribes we have no rec-

ord ; but there were many, probably, as usual upon such expeditions.
This army arrived at the Mohawk fort after a journey of about 200 miles

when, upon besieging it some time, and having some of their men killed in

sallies, and sundry others sick, they gave up the siege and retreated. Mean-
while the Mohawks pursued them, got in their firont, and, from an ambush,

* Printed at length in Snmo's Hist. Boston, 389, el cet.

f Dearie's Hist. Scituate, 144.

X Ibid. Squamaug was a brother of Josiah, and ruled " as sachem during the minofity "

of Jeremy. Dr. Harris, Hist. Dorchester, 16, 17.

§ 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. See. i. 166.

10
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attacked them in a defile, and a great fight ensued. Finally the Mohawks
were put to flight by the extraordinary bravery and prowess of Chikataubut
and his captains. But what was most calamitous in this disastrous expedi-
tion, was, the loss of tiie great chief Chikataubut, who, after performing prodi-
gies of valor, was killed in repelling the Mohawks Ln their last attack, with
almost all liis captains, in number about 50, as was supposed.* This was a

severe stroke to these Indians, and they suffered much from chagrin on
their return home. The Mohawks considered themselves their masters,
and altiiough a peace was brought about between them, by the mediation of
the English and Dutch on each side, yet the Massachusetts and others often

suffered from their incursions.

A chief of much the same importance as Chikataubut and his sons, was
Mascononomo, or Masconomo, sachem of Agawam, since called Ipswich.

When the fleet which brought over the colony that settled Boston, in 1630,
anchored near Cape Ann, he welcomed them to his shores, and spent some
time on board one of the ships.t

On the 28th June, 1638, Mascononomet J executed a deed of " all his lands
in Ipswich," to Johii Ji'inthrop, jr., for the sum of £20. §
At a court in July, 1631, it was ordered, that "the sagamore of Agawam is

banished from coming into any Englishman's house for a year, under penalty
often beaver-skins."

||
This was probably done in retaliation for his having

committed acts of violence on the Tarratines, Avho soon after came out
with great force against Mascononomo; he having, "as was usually said,

treacherously killed some of those Tarratine families."1[ It would seem
that he expected an attack, and had therefore called to his aid some of the

sachems near Boston ; for it so happened that Montowampate and fVonoha-

quaham were at Agawam when the Tarratines made an attack, but whether
by concert or accident is not clear.

To the number of 100 ni«n, in three canoes, the Tarratines came out on
this cntcr])rise, on the 8 August following. They attacked Mascononomo and
his guests in bis wigwam in the niglit, killed seven men, wounded Mascono-
nomo himself, and Montoicampate, and Wonohaquaham, and several others who
afterwards dif-d. They took the wife of Montowampate captive, but it so hap-
pened that Abraham Shurd of Pemmaquid ransomed her, and sent her home,
where she arrived on the 17 September the same autumn.** From Mr. Cob-
beVs account, it apj)ears that they came against the English, who, but for an
Indian, named Robin, would have been cut oft', as the able men at this time,

belonging to Ipswicli, did not exceed 30; and most of these were from home
on the day the attack was to have been made. Robin, having by some means
fotmd out their intentions, went to John Perkins,jj ami told him that on such
a day four Tarratines would come and invite the English to trade, "and draw
them down the hill to the water side," when 40 canoes full of armed Lidians
would be ready, under " the brow of the hill," to fall upon them. It turned
out as Robin had reported ; but the Indians were frightened off by a false

show of nunibtrs, an old drum, and a few guns, witliout eftecting their

objecLtl
We hear no more of him until 1644, March 8, when, at a court held in

Boston, " Cutshamekin and Squaio-Sachem^ Masconomo, JVashacotcain and ff'as-

samao^n, two sachems near the great hill to the west, called ff'achusdt, came
into the court, and, according to their former tender to the governor, desired

to be received under our i)rotection'§§ and government, upon the same terms

• 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. i. 167.

t Hist. N. England.

\ I'liis is doubtless ilie most correct spelling of his Doine. It is scarce spelt twice alike ip

the MS. records.

^ Krrords of Grn. Coiirl, v. 381.
||
Priuce, 357.

U Ihil'hard's N. E. 145.
•• W'inth rap's Jour.

—

Lnris's Hist. Lynn, 39, 40.—Felt't Hist. Ipswich, 3.

ti (^iinricr-mastcr, " living then in a little hut upon his father's island on this side of Jeof

ry's Nork." MS. Narrativt.

t{ Cohhet's MS. Narrnlive.

^^ They desired (his from their great fear of the Mohawks, it is said.
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that Pumham and Sacononoco were. So we causing them to understand the

articles, and all the ten commandments of God, and they freely assenting to

all,* they were solen^nly received, and then presented the couit with twenty-

six fathom of wampum, and the court gave each of them a coat of two yards

of cloth, and their dinner ; and to them and thek men, every one of them, a

cup of sac at their departure ; so they took leave, and went away very joyfuL"-|

In the Town Records of Ipsvdch, under date 18 June 1658, a grant is made to

the widow of Mascononomo, of " that parcel of land which her husband had
fenced in," so long as she should remain a widow. Her husband was the last

of the sachems of Agawam, and with him, says Mr. Felt, descended " his feble

and broken scepter to the grave." He died on the 6 March, 1658, and was
buried on Sagamore Hill, now within the bounds of Hamilton. His gun and
other valuable implements were interred Avith him. " Idle curiosity, wanton,
sacrilegious sport, prompted an individual to dig up the remains of this chief,

and to caiTy his scuU on a pole through Ipswich streets. Such an act of bar-

barity was severely frowned upon, and speedily visited with retributive civil

justice." I

MONTOWAMPATE, sagamore of Lynn and Marblehead, was kno\vn more
generally among the whites as Sagamore James. He was son of JVanepashemet,

and brother of Wonohaquaham and Winnepurkitt.^ He died in 1633, of the

small-pox, " with most of his people. It is said that these two promised, if

ever they recovered, to live with the English, and serve their God."||

Montowampate, having been defrauded of 20 beaver-skins, by a man named
Waits, who had since gone to England, he went to Gov. Winthrop on the 26
March, 1631, to know how he should obtam recompense. The governor gave
him a letter to Emanuel Downing, Esq. of London, from which circumstance
it would seem that the chief determined to go there ; and it is said that he
actually visited England and received his due.1I The histories of those times
give a melancholy picture of the distresses caused by the small-pox among the
" wretched natives." " There are," says Mather, " some old planters surviving

to this day, who helped to bury the dead Indians ; even whole families of
them all dead at once. In one of the wig^vams they found a poor infant suck-
ing at the breast of the dead mother."** The same author observes that, before

the disease began, the Indians had begun to quaiTel with the English about
the bounds of their lands, " but God ended the controversy by sending the

small-pox among the Indians at Saugus, who were before that time exceeding-
ly numerous."
We have mentioned another of the family of J^Tanepashemet, also a sachem.

This was Wonohaquaham, called by the English Sagamore John, of Wmisimet.
His residence was at what was then called Rumneymarsh, part of which is

now in Chelsea and part in Saugus.§ As early as 1631, he had cause to com-
plain that some of the English settlers had burnt two of his wig\vams.
" Which wigwams," says Governor Diulley,]] " were not inhabited, but stood in

a place convenient for their shelter, when, upon occasion, they should travel

that way." The court, upon examination, found that a servant of Sir R. Sal-

tonstall had been the means of the mischief, whose master was ordered to

make satisfaction, " which he did by seven yards of cloth, and that his seiTant
pay him, at the end of his time, fifty shillings sterling."}:| Sagamore John died
at Winisimet, in 1633, of the small-pox.§§ He desired to become acquainted
with the Englishmen's God, in his sickness, and requested them to take his

two sons and uistinict them in Christianity, which they did.||||

JVinnepurkitt,%^ who married a daughter of Passaconaivay, makes considera-

ble figure also in our Indian annals. He was bom about 1616, and succeeded
Montowampate at his death, in 1633. The English called hun George Rumney-

* The articles which they subscribed, will be seen at large when the Manuscript Hist, of the

Praying Indians, btj Daniel Gookin, shall be published. Thej' do not read precisely ai
rendered by Winthrcrp.

^ Winthrov's io\irn3\.
:f
Hist. Ipswich, 5. S Letcw'* Hist. Lynn, 16, 17.

8 Hist, of "New England, 195. TT History of Lynn, 38. ** Relation, &c. 23.

tt Letter to the Countess of Lincoln, 25, edition 1696.

XX Prince's Chronolo|^-. §§ History of New England, 195, 650.

y II
Wonder-working Providence. IfH Spelt also IVinnaperket
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marsh, and at one time he Avas proprietor of Deer Island, in Boston harbor
In the latter part of liis life, he went to Barbadoes. It is supposed that he

was carried tliere with the prisoners who were sold for slaves, at the end of

Philip's war. He died soon after his return, in 1684, at the house of Mumin-
quaslu, aged 68 years." Ahawatjetsquaine, daughter of Poquanum, is also men-
tioned as his wife, by whom he had several children.*

Manatahqua, called also Black-ivilliam, was a sachem, and proprietor o* N;i-

liant, when the adjacent countiy was settled by the whites. His father .ved

at Swampscot, and was also a sagamore, but probablj' was dead befor. the

I'^nglish settled in the country.f A traveller in this tiien J wilderness w irld,

thus notices fVilliam, and his possessing Nahant. " One Bktck-icilliam, an
Indian Duke, out of his generosity gave this place in general to the plantation

of Saugus, so that no other can appropriate it to himself." He was a great

friend to the whites, but his friendship was repaid, as was that of many others

of that and even much later times. There was a man by the name of Walter

Bagnall, nicknamed Great Wot, " a wicked fellow," who had much wronged
the Indians,§ killed near the mouth of Saco River, probably by some of
those whom he had defrauded. This was in October, 1631. As some vessels

v^ere upon the eastern coiist in search of pirates, in January, 1633, they put in

at Richmond's Island, where tliey fell in witli Black-william. This W4\s the

Elace where Bagnall had been killed about two yeai-s l)efore ; but whether he
ad any tiling to do with it, does not appear, nor do I find that any one, even

his murderere, pretended he was any way implicated ; but, out of revenge for

BagnalVs death, these pirate-hunters hanged Black-tmlliam. On the contrary,

it was particularly mentioned
||
that Bagnall was killed by Squidrayset and his

men, some Indians belonging to that part of the countiy.

Tliis Squidrayset, or Scitterygusset, for vvliose act Manatahqua suffered, was
the first sachem who deeded land in Falmouth, Maine. A creek near the

mouth of Presumpscot River perpetuates his name to this day. Afr. fVillis

6up})oses he was sachem of the Aucocisco tribe, who inhabited L ^t^nen the

Androscoggin and Saco rivers; and that from Aucocisco come. O.^sco.H

There can be but little doubt that Bagnall deserved his fate,** if anj ceserve

such ; but the other was the act of white men, and we leave the rv rter to

draw the parallel l)etween tlie two ; perhaps he will inquire. Were the mw ierers

of Manatahqua brought to justice^ All we can answer is, The records are si-

lent. Perhaps it was considered an offset to the murder of Bagnall.

jYattahattawanls, in tlie year 1642, sold to Simoyi JVillanl, in behalf of "Mr.
fVinthrop, Mr. Dudley, Mr. N'oicell, and Mr. Alden," a large trart of land u|)on

both slues Concord River. "Mr. JVinihrop, our pri'sent governor, 1260 acres,

Mr. Dudley, 1500 acres, on the S. E. side of the river, Mr. JVoioeW, 500 acres,

and Mr. Mien, 500 acres, on the N. E. side of tlie river, and in consideration

hereof the said Simon giueth to the said jYaltahattaicants sL\ fadom of waom-
pampcge, one waste.oat, and one breeches, and the said .Yattahattawants doth

covenant and bind himself, that hee nor any other Indians shall set traps w iih-

in this ground, so Jis any cattle might recieve hurt thereby, and what cattle

shall receive hurt by this meanes, hee shall be lyable to make it good." [In

the deed, JVattahattaivanis is called sachem of that land.]

Witnessed by The mark of # Natahattawants.
three whites. The mark of # Win.mpi.n, an Indian

tliat tradedfor him.\]

The name of this chief, as amicars from dociunents copied by Mr. Shattuck,^

was understood Tahattnwnn, Tahattawanls, Attnioan, Attawanee, and Ahatnwa-
nee. He was saehmii of Musketaiiuid, since Concord, and a supporter and

•Hisl. Lynn. t Hist. N. Eng.

{ 1G;53. 'Williiim W'oinl. author of New Eng. Prospect.

\ Wititlirop's Journal, i. (;2 113.
||
Winthrop, ib.

TFCol. Maine Hisl. Soo. i. 08.
** He liail, in al>oiit llirce yfa's, liy extortion, as we infer from Winthrop, arrumulated

about ilUK) from anion;; llie Indians. See .Journal ut .mpra.

tt Suffolk Records of Deeds, vol. i. No. 3t. {{ Hisl. Concord, Ma^v. pnssim chap. i.
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Propagator of Christianity among his people, and an honest and upright man.

'he celebrated fVaban maiTied his eldest daughter. John Tahattawan was his

son, who lived at Nashoba, where he was chief ruler of the praying Indians

—

a deserving Indian. He died about 1670. His widow was daughter of John,

sagamore of Patucket, upon the Men-imack, who married Oonamog, another

mler of the praying Indians, of Marlborough. Her only son by Tahattawan *

was killed by some white ruffians, who came upon them while in their wig
wams, and his mother was badly wounded at the same time. Of this affair

we shall have occasion elsewhere to be more particular. JVaannshquaw, ap

other daughter, married JVaanishcow, called John Thomas, who died at Natick,

aged 110 years.

We know very little of a sachem of the name of JFahgumacut,] except that

he lived upon Connecticut River, and came to Boston in 1631, with a request

to the governor " to have some English to plant in his country ;

" and as an

inducement, said he would " find them corn, and give them, yeai-ly, 80 skins

of beaver." The governor, however, dismissed him without giving him any
encouragement ; doubting, it seems, the reality of his friendship. But it is

more probable that he was sincere, as he was at this time in great fear of the

Pequols, and judged that if some of the English would reside with hiin, he

should be able to maintain his country.

There accompanied Wahgumacui to Boston an Indian named Jackstrawl

who was his interpreter, and Sagamore John. We have laboi"ed to find some
further particulars of him, but all tliat we can ascertain with ceitainty, is, that

he had lived some time in England with Sir Walter Ralegh.^ How Sir Walter

* Mr. Gookin writes this name Tohatooner, that of the father Tahaltawarre. MS. Hut.
Pratfing Indians, 105.

t Waliginnacut, according to Mr. Savage's reading of Winthrop. Our text is according
to Prince, who also used WiTithrop in MS. It is truly diverting to see how the author of

Tales of the Indians has displa^yed his invention upon the passage in Winthrop's Journal

bringing to our knowledge this chief. We will give the passage of Winthrop, that the reader

may judge whether great ignorance, or misrepresentation ''of set purpose" be chargeable
io him. "He [Gov. Winthropi discovered after [Wahginnacut was gone], that the said

sagamore is a very treacherous man, and at war wth the Pekoath (a far greater sagamore.")
Now, every child that has read about the Indians, it seems to us, ought to know that the

meaning of Pekoath was mistaken by the governor, and no more meant a chief than the

Massasoits meant what the Plimouth people first supposed it to mean. In the one case, the

name of a tribe was mistaken for that of a chief, and in the other the chief for the tribe.

Mistakes of this kind were not uncommon before our fathers became acquainted with the

•.ountry. Winthrop says, too, the Mohawks was a great sachem. Now, who ever thought
there was a chief of that name ?

\ Probably so ncimed from the Maidstone minister, who flourished in Wat Tyler's rebellion,

and whose real name was John Ball, but aflerweuds nick-named Jack Straw. He became
chaplain to Wat's army, they having let him out of prison. A text which he made great use
of m preaching to his liberators was this :

—

When Adam dalfe and Eve span,
AVho was then a gentleman .•"

This we apprehend was construed, Down with the nobility! See Rapin's Eng. i. 467. In
Kennet, i. 247, John Wraw is called Jack Straw. He was beheaded.

§ " The imputation of the first bringing in of tobacco into England lies on this heroic knight."
Winstanley's Worthies, 239. " Besides the consumption of the purse, and impairing of our
inward parts, the immoderate, vain and phantastical abuse of the hellish weed, corrupteth the
natural sweetness of the breath, stupifieth the brain ; and indeed is so prejudicial to the
general esteem of our country." Ibid. 211. Whether Jack-straw were the servant who
acted a part in the often-told anecdote of Sir Walter Ralegh's smoking tobacco, on its first

being taken to England, we shall not presume to assert ; but, for the sake of the anecdote, we
will admit the fact ; it is variously related, but is said to be, in substance, as follows. At one
time, it was so very unpopular to use tobacco in any way in England, that many who had got
attached to it, used it only privately. Sir Walter wais smoking m bis study, at a certain time,
an3, being thirsty, called to his servant to bring him a tankard of beer. Jack hastily obeyed
the summons, and Sir Walter, forgetting to cease smoking, was in the act of spouting a
volume of smoke from his mouth when his servant entered. Jack, seeing his meister smoking
prodigiously at the mouth, thought no other but he was all on fire inside, having never seen
such a phenomenon in all England before ; dashed the quart of liquor at once in his face, anil

ran out screaming, " Massa's a fire ! Massa's a fire !

"

Having disnriis:!ed the servant, every one might reasonably expect a few words conceminu
his master. Sir Walter Ralegh may truly be said to have lived in an age fruitful in great an'

I

worthy characters. Captain John Smith comes to our notice through his agency, and ili«

10* H
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came by Jiiin, does tiot saustactorily appear. Captains Amidas and Barlow
sailed to America in his emi)loy, and on theii- return carried over two natives

from Virginia, whose names were Wanchese and Manteo.* It is barely possible

that one of these was afterwards Jack-straw.

A Nipmuck Indian, of no small note in his time, it may in the next place be
proper to notice.

James Printer, or James-the-printer, was the son of Muoas, brother of Tuka-
veunllin\ and Anaweakin. When a child, he was instructed at the Indian

charity school, at Cambridge. In 1G59, he was put ajjprentice to Samuel
Green, to learn the printer's business

; \ and he is spoken of as having run
away from his master iu 1675. If, after an a])preuticeship of 16 yeai-s, one
could not leave his master without the charge of absconding, at least, both the

master and apprentice shoidd be pitied. In relation to this matter, ]Mr. Hub-

renowned first EnglUli circumnavigator was his conteniporarv. He, like ilie last named, weis

born in the comity of Devonshire, la 1552, in the parish of tiudle}-. Sir Iluiiipltrey Gilbert,

so well known in our annals, was his half-brother, his father having married Sir Humphreu's
mother, a widow*, by whom he had Waller, a fourth son.f The great successes and dis-

coveries of the celebrated admiral Sir Francis Drake gave a new impetus to the English
nation in maritime afl'airs, and consequent thereupon was the settlement of North America;
as great an era, to say the least, as was ever recorded in histor}-. No one shone more
conspicuous in those undertakings than Sir Waller Ralegh. After persevering a long lime,

he established a colony in Virginia, in IfiO?. He was a man of great valor and address, and
a favorite with the great Queen Elizaheth, the promoter of his undertakings, one of whoso
"maids of honor" he married. In this alTair some charge him with having first dishonored

that lady, and was for a time under the queen's displeasure in consequence, but marrying her

restored him to favor. The city of Ralegh in Virginia was so named iiy his tlirection. He
was conspicuous with Drake and Howard in the destruction of the Spanish armada in 1588.

On the death of the queen, he was imprisoned almost 1.3 years in the tower of London, upon
the charge of treason. It was duririir his imprisonment that he wrote his great and learned

work, lite His/on/ of llie World. The alleged crime of treason has long" since been viewed
by all the world as without foundation, and the punishment of liaU^h reflects all its blackness

upon the character of James I. The ground of the char2;e was, that Ralegh and others were
in a conspiracy against the ^-/j;^, and were designing to place on the throne Arabella Stewart.*,

He was never pardoned, although the king set him at liberty, and permitted him to go on an
expedition to South America in search of a gold mine of which he had gained some intima-

tions in a previous visit to those countries. His attempt to find gold failed, but he took the

town of St. Thomas, and established in it a garrison. This was a depredation, as Spain
and England were then at ])eace, but Ralegh had the king's commission. The Spanish
ambassailor complaineil loudly against the transaction, and tlie miserable James, to e.\lricate

himself, and appease the Spanish king, ordered Ralegh to be seized on his return, who, imon
the old charge of treason, was sentenced to be beheaded, which was executed upon him SlDih

Oct. 1018.^ " I shall only hint," says Dr. Rolivhele,\\ ''that the execution of this great man,
whom James was advised to sacrifice to the advancement of the peace with Spain, lialh lell an
indelible stain on the memory- of that misguided monarch." It appears from another account IT

thai Sir Waller, on arriving at the mouth of the Oronoko, was taken " desperately sick," and
sent forward a company under one of his captains in search of the gold mine. That they

*erfc met by the Sjianiards, who attacked them, and that this was the cause of their assault-

in^' St. Thomas, and being obliged to descend the river without cflecling the object they

were upon.

The following circumstance respecting the celebrated History of the World, not being

gipnerally known, cannot but be acceptable to the reader. The first volume (which is what
wc have of it) was published before he was imprisoned the last lime. .Inst before his execu-

tion, he sent for the publisher of it. When he came. Sir Waller look him by the hand, and,
" after some discourse, askt him how that work of his sold. Mr. Biirre [the name of the

pu!)lisher] relumed this answer, that it had sold so slowly that it had inidoiie him. At which
words of his, Sir Walter Ralegh, stepping to his desk, reaches his other part of his history to

Mr. ffitrre, which he had bronjjlit down to the times he lived in ; clai)ping his hand on his

breast, he took the oilier unprinled part of his «orks into his hand, witli a sigh, sHving, ' .\h,

my friend, hath the fir>t oarl undone thee, the second volume shall undo no more; this

ungrateful world i.^ unworthy of it.' When, immediately going to the fire-side, threw it in

and set his fool on it till it was consumed."''*
• Sec Cayhy's Life Sir W. Ralegh, i. 70. ed. Lond. IRlfi, 2 vols. 8vo.

f Some author of Indian tales might delight himself for a long time in ringing changes on

•Jim Indian preacher's name, without invoiiling an}' new ones ; tor il is not, as 1 remember,

ipcll twice alike in our auihorities. } Thomas, Hist. Priming.

• "Of Otho OiUrl, of Conipton, E.ti|." Polirhelr's llu^t. Devon, W. 219.

Stith, lli<t. Virsinin, 7. Becond son, frvs Mr. rnhrhrlr, Devon, ii. 219.

Rapin'.i Kng. il. Itil. fiTlndal's notes In Kapm, ii. 195.

jlllist. ncvdiLihire, i. 0.'>'.l. ft Wiiistanley, Worthies, 256.

• Winstnnley, Worthies "5.'>7.
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Irrd says,* "He had attained some skill iii printing, and might have attained

iiT 16; had he not, like a false villain, ran away from his master before his

t'me was out" And the same author observes that the name printer jvaa

:uperadded to distinguish him from others named James,

Dr. I.Mather \ has this record of James-printer. "July 8, [1676.] Wheieas
the council at Boston had lately emitted a declaration, signifying, that such
Indians as did, within 14 days, come ui to the English, might hope for mercy,
divers of* them did this day return from among the Nipmucks. Among
others, James, (vn Indian, who could not only read and write, but had learned

the art of printing, notwithstanding his apostasy, did venture himself upon the

mercy and truth of the English declaration, which he had seen and read,

promising for the future to venture his life against the common enemy. He
and the other now ome in, affirm that very many of the Indians are dead
since this war began and I.-at more have died by the hand of God, in respect

of diseases, fluxes and fevera, which have been amongst them, than have been
killed with the sword."
Mr. Thomas says, \ it was owing to the amor patria of James-printer that he

left his master and joined in Philip''s war. But how much amor patrice he
must have had to have kept him an apprentice 16 yeare is not mentioned.

It was in 1685 that the second edition of the famous Indian Bible was
completed. From the foUowuig testimony of Mr. Eliot will be seen how
much the success of that undertaking was considered to depend on James-
the-printer. In 1683, in writing to the Hon. Robert Boyle at London, Mr. Eliot

says, " I desu'e to see it done before I die, and I am so deep in years, that I

cannot expect to live long; besides, we have but one man, viz. the Indian
Printer, that is able to compose the sheets, and coiTect the press with under-
standing." In another, from the same to the same, dated a year after, he says,
" Our slow progress needeth an apologj'. We have been much hindered by
the sickness the last year. Oui* workmen have been all sick, and we have but
few hands, (at printing,) one Englishman, and a boy, and one Indian," &cl

This Indian was undoubtedly James-the-printer. And Mr. Thomas adds,
" Some of Jameses descendants were not long since living in Grafton ; they
bore the surname of Printer."^

There was an Indian named Job JVesutan, who was also concerned in the

first edition of the Indian Bible. He was a valiant soldier, and went with the
English of Massachusetts, in the first expedition to Mount Hope, where he
was slain in battle. " He was a veiy good linguist in the English tongue, and
was JMr. Eliofs assistant and intei-preter in his translation of the Bible and
other books in the Indian language."||

In a letter of the commissioners of the U. C, of New England, to the
corporation in England, we find this postscript.—" Two of the Indian youths
formerly brought up to read and UTite, are put apprentice ; the one to a
cai-penter, the other to 3Ir. Green the printer, who take their trades and
follow then" business veiy well." James-the-printer was probably one of these.

Mesutan, we presume, was only an interpreter. The above-mentioned letter

was dated 10th Sept. 1660.

In 1698, James was teacher to five Indian families at Hassinammisco.H
In 1709, he seems to have got through with his apprenticeship, and to have
had some interest in carrying on the printing business. For, in the title

pages of the Indian and English Psalter, printed in that year, is this imprint

;

"BOSTON, N. E. Upprinthomimne au B. Green, & J. PRINTER, ivutche

guhtiantanuue Chapanukke ut JVeiv England, &c. 1709."

We shall now pass to notice a Massachusetts sachem, who, like too many
others, does not appear to the best advantage ; nevertheless, we doubt not but
as much so as he deserves, as by the sequel will be seen. We mean

Kutchmakin, knowTi also by several other names, or variations of the same
name ; as, Kutshamaquin, Cutshamoquen, Cutchamokin, and many more, as, in

» Narraiive, 96. t Brief Hisi. 89. t Hist. Printing, i. 290.

§ Hist. Priming-, i. 292, 293.
||
Gookin, Hist. Praying Indians.

II Information from Mr. E. Tuckennan, Jr.—Hassinammisco, Hjissanamesit, &c. signified

a p/tice of stones. Thomas, ut supra.
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different parts of our work, extracts will necessarily show. He was one of
those sachems who, m 1643—4, signed a submission to the English, as has
been mentioned in a preceding chapter.

In 163G, Kidshamakin sold to the people of Dorchester, Uncataquisset,
being the part of that town since called Milton. This, it appears, was at some
period his residence. Though he was a sachem under Woosamequin, yet, like

Caunbitant, he was opposed to the settlement of the Enghsh in his couutiy.
He soon, however, became reconciled to it, and became a Christiau. When
Air. Eliot desired to know why he was opposed to his jjeople's becoming
Christians, he said, then they would pay him no tribute.

When the English of Massachusetts sent to Canonicus, to inquire into the
cause of the murder of John Oldham, Kidshamakin accompanied them aa
interpreter, fighter, or whatever was required of him.
As no satisfaction could be had of the Pequots, for the murder of Mr. Old-

ham, it was resolved, in 163G, to send an army into then- country " to fight with
them," if what, in the opinion of the English, as a recompense, were not to be
obtained without. The armament consisted of about 90 men. These first

went to Block Island, where they saw a few Indians before they landed, who,
aft;er shooting a few arrows, which wounded two of the English, fled. The
Indians had here "two plantations, three miles in sunder, and about 60
wigwams, some very lai'ge and fair, and above 200 acres of corn." This the
English destroyed, "staved seven canoes," and afl;er two days spent in this

business, and hunting for Indians without success, sailed to the main land,

where Kidshamakin performed his part in hastening on the Pequot calamity.

Having waylaid one of that nation, he shot and scalped him. The scalp lie

Bent to Canonicus, who sent it about among all his sachem friends; thus
expressiiig his approbation of the murder, and willingness to engage his

friends to fight for the English. As a further proof of his approval of the act,

he not only thanked the English, but gave Kutslmmxikin four fathom of
wampum.

Cant. lAon Gardener gives us some particulars of this affair, which are very
valuable for the light they throw on this part of our eai'ly transactions wth the

Pequots. The afiau* we have just mentioned happened immediately after

Endicott, Turner, and UnderhUl arrived at Saybrook, from Block IsUmd. Capt.

Gardener then commanded the fort, who spoke to them as follows of then-

undertakuig : " You come hither to raise these wasps about my ears, and then

you will take wing and flee away." It so came to pass ; and although he was
much opposed to theii- going, yet they went, agreeably to their instructions.

Gardener instructed them how to proceed, to avoid being surprised ; but the

huiians played them a Yankee trick, as in the sequel will appeal*.

On coming to the Pequot town, tliey inquired for the saciiem,* wishing to

parley with him: his people said "he was from home, but within three houi-s

he would come ; and so from three to six, and thence to nine, there came
none." But the Indians came fearlessly, in gi-eat munbers, and spoke to them,

through the interpreter, Kidshamakin, for some time. This delay was a strata-

gem which succeeded well ; for they rightly guessed that the English had
conie to injure them in their persons, or jiroperty, or both. Therefore, while

some were entertaining the English with words, others carried off their effects

and hid them. When they had done this, a signal was given, and all the

Indians ran av/ay. The English then fill to burning and destroying every

thing they could meet with. Gardener had sent some of his men with the

othere, who v/ere unaccountal)ly lell on shore when thi^ others reembarked,

and weie puroued, and two of them woimded by the Indians.

"The iiay-incn killed not a man, save that one, Kichomiquim, an Indian

sachem of the IJay, killed a Pequit; and thus began the wiu* between the

Indians and us, in these parts."! The Pequots henceforth used every means
'0 kill the Englisli, and many were taken by ihem, and some tortured in their

iiianner. "Thus far," adds Gardener, "I had written in a book, that all men

* Sassacus, says W'iiifhrnj) (i. 11)1.) ; bul being told he was poiio to Long Island, the gene-

ral (Jemaiuled to see " the oilier sachem, itr." wTiicli was donbtless MononoUo.

\ 3 Coll. Hist. Soc. iii. HI, &.c.
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and posterity might know how and why so many honest men had their blood

shed, yea, and some flayed alive, others cut m pieces, and some roasted alive,

only because Kichamokin, a Bay Indian, killed one Pequot."

To say the least of our author, he had the best possible means to be correctly

informed of these matters, and we know not that he had any motive to mis-

represent them.
Governor JVinihrop mentions, under date 1646, that 3Ir. Eliot lectured

constantly "one week at the wigwam of one JVabon, a new sachem near

Watertown mill, and the other the next week in the wigwam of Cutshamekin,
near Dorchester mill." We shall have occasion in another chapter to speak
of Kutshamakin.

In 1648, Cutchamekin, as he was then called, and Jojeuny appear as witnesses

to a deed made by another Indian called Cato, alias Goodman. Lane and

Griffin were tlije grantees " in behalf of the rest of the people of Sudbury."
The tract of land sold adjoined Sudbury, and was five miles square; for

which Cato received five pounds. Jojeuny was brother to Cato.*

CHAPTER IV.

Of the great nation of the Narragansets— Geography of their country—Canonicds
—MiANTUNNOMOH

—

His relations—Aids the English in destroying the Pequots—
Sells Rhode Island—His difficulties with the English— Visits Boston—His mag-
nanimity and independence—Charged with a conspiracy against the tchites—Mly
repels it—Waiandance becomes his secret enemy—His speech to Waiandance ana
his people—His war with Uncas—His capture and death— Circumstances of his

execution—Participation of the lohites therein—Impartial vieio of that affair—
Traditions—Ninigret—-Mexam, alias Mexano—Affair of Cuttaquin and Uncas— Character of Ascassassotick—Kinigret visits the Dutch—Accused by the English

of plotting icith them—Ably defends himself—J^otices of various other Indians—
JVar between JVinigret and Ascassassotick—Present condition of his descendants—
Further account of Pessacus—Killed by the Mohawks.

The bounds of Narraganset were, as described in the times of the sachems, f
" Pautuckit River, Quenebage[Q,uinebauge]andNipmuck,"northerly;" westerly

by a brook called Wequapaug, not far | from Paquatuck River ; southerly by
the sea, or main ocean ; and easterly by the Nanhiganset Bay, wherein lieth

many islands, by deeds bought of the Nanhiganset sachems." Coweesett and
Niantick, though sometimes applied to this country, were names only of places
within it. According to Mr. Gookin, " the territory of their sachem extended
about 30 or 40 miles from Sekunk River and Nairagansitt Bay, including
Rhode Island and other islands in that bay." Pawcatuck River separated
them from the Pequots. This nation, under Canonicus, had, in 1642, arrived
at the zenith of its greatness, and was supposed to have contained a population
of thiiiy thousand. This estimate was by Richard Smith, jr., who, with his

father, lived in their country.

In 1766, or about that year, Mr. Samuel Drake made a catalogue of the
Xan-aganset Indians. This catalogue contained the names of about 315 per-
sons. Mr. Drake spent 14 years among them, chiefly in the capacity of a
schoolmaster. He wrote an account of them, but whether it was ever pub-
lished I cannot learn. §
A census of those calling themselves a remnant of the Nan-agansets, taken

Feb. 1839, was 315 ; only seven of whom were unmixed. The Indians
themselves make theii- number 364.

||

Of the early times of this nation, some of the first English inhabitants
learned from the old Indians, that they had, previous to their arrival, a sachem
named Tashtassuck, and their encomiums upon his wisdom and valor were

* Suffolk Reg. Deeds. There is no name signed to the deed, but in the place thereof, is the
picture of some four-legged animal drawn on his back.
tSee 3 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. i. 210. \ Four or five miles, says Gookin.
5 See Beatty's Journal, 106.

||
MS. letter of Rev. Mr. Ely.
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miicli tlio same as the Delawares reported of their great chief Tamany , that

jiiice, tliere liad not been his equal, &c. Tashtassuck had l)ut two children, a

sfin and daughter ; these he joined in marriage, because lie could find none

worthy of them out of his family. The product of this marriage was four

eons, of whom Canonicus was the oldest.*

CANONicus,t the great sachem of the Narragansets, was contemporary with

Miantunnomoh, who was his nephew. We know not the time of his birth, l)ut

a son of his was at Boston in 1631, the next year after it was settled. But the

time of his death is mmutely recorded by Governor JVinthrop, in liis "Journal,"

thus: "June 4, 1647. Caiwnlcus, the great sachem of Narraganset, died, a

very old man." He is generally supposed to have been about 85 years of age

when he died.

The Wampanoags were in gi'eat fear of the Narragansets about the time the

English came to Flimouth, and at one time war actually existed, and Massasoii

fled before Canonicus, and applied to the English for protection.

Edward Winslow relates, in his Good News from New England, that, in

Feb. 1622, Canonicus sent into Plimouth, by one of his men, a bundle of

aiTOWs, bound with a rattlesnake's skin, and there left them, and retired. The
Narragansets, who were reported at this time " many thousand strong," hearing

of the weakness of the English, " began, (says the above-named author,) to

breath forth many threats against us," although they had the last sunnner
"desired and obtained peace with us."—"Insomuch as the common talk of

our neighbor Indians on all sides was of the preparation they made to come
against us." They were now imboldened from the circumstance that the

English had just added to their numbers, but not to their arms nor provisions.

The ship Fortune had, not long before, landed 35 persons at Plimouth, and
the Narragansets seem to have been well informed of all the circumstances.

This, (says 3Ir. Winslow,) " occasioned thetn to slight and brave us with so

many threats as they did. At length came one of them to us, who was sent

by Conaucus, their chief sachem or king, accomimnied with one Tokainahamon,
a friendly Indian. This messenger inquired for Tisquantum, our interpreter,

who not being at home, seemed rather to be glad tlian sorry ; and leaving for

him a bundle of new arrows, lapjjed in a rattlesnake's skin, desired to depart

with all expedition."

When Squanto was made acquainted with the circumstance, he told the

English that it was a cliallenge for wai*. Governor Bradford took the rattle-

snake's skin, and filled it with powder and shot, and returned it to Cayionicus

;

at the same time instructing the messenger to bid him defiance, and invite him
to a trial of strength. The messenger, and iiis insulting carriage, had the

desired effect upon Canonicus, for he would not receive the skin, and it was
cast out of every community of the Indians, until it at last was returned to

Plimouth, and all its contents. This was a demonstration that he was awed
into silence and respect of the English, by the decided stand and hostile

attitude they assumed.
In 1(521, soon after the war with Caunbilant was over, among those who

sought the fricndshi]) of the English, was Canonicus himself, notwithstanding

he was now courting war again so soon. He had doubtless nearly got rid of
the ft;ar that the news of Stayulisli's conduct fii-st inspired, and had taken up
again his old resolution of fighting the strangera at Plimouth.

He is mentioned with great respect by Rev. Ro!i:er lf'illinms,l in the year

1654. After observing that ma7iif hundreds of the English were witnesses to

the friendly disposition of the Narragansets, he says, "Their late famous long-

lived Caunoniciis so lived and died, and in the same most honorable maimer
and solenuiity, (in their way,) as you laid to sleej) yotir prudent peace-maker,

Mr. fVinthrop, did they honor this their pnident and peaceable prince ; yea,

"Hutchinson, i. 458, who met with this account in MS. ; but wc do nol give implicit credit

to it, as, <-il host, il is Iradilion.

t This spelliiifj does not convey the true pronunciation of the name ; other spellii ^a will be

nolicod in the course of his liioijrnpliy. Its sound approached so near the Latin wor 1 canoni-

rus, that il became confounded with it. Qimnoune was early written.

t Manuscript letter to the ijovernor of INIassachuseits.
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through all their towns and countries how frequently do many, and oft times,

our Englishmen travel alone with safety and loving kindness ?"

The following statement of Roger JVilliams is in a deposition, dated Narra-

ganset, 18 June, 1682, and, although varying a little from the above, contains

facts veiy pertinent to our purpose. He says, " I testify that it was the general

and constant declaration, that Canonicus his father had three sons, whereof
Canonicus was the heu', and his youngest brother's son Meantinomy (because

of his youth) was his marshal and executioner, and did nothing without his

uncle Canonicus^ consent. And therefore I declare to posterity, that were it

not for the favor that God gave me with Canoninis, none of these parts, no,

not Rhode Island, had been purchased or obtained ; for I never got any thing

of Canonicus but by gift."

When Mr. John Oldham was killed near Block Island, and an investigation

set on foot by the English to ascertain the murderers, they were fully satisfied

that Canonicus and Miantunnomoh had no hand in the affair, but that " the six

other Narraganset sachems had." No wonder he took great offence at the

conduct of the English concerning the death of Miantunnomoh. The Warwick
settlers considered it a great piece of injustice, and Mr. Samuel Gorton wrote a
letter for Canonicus to the government of Massachusetts, notifying them that

he had resolved to be revenged upon the Mohegans. Upon this the English
despatched messengers to Narraganset to inquire of Canonicus whether he
authorized the letter. He treated them with great coldness, and would not

admit them into his wigwam for the space of two hours after their amval,
although it was exceedingly rainy. When they were admitted, he frowned
upon them, and gave them answers foreign to the purpose, and referred them
to Pessacus. This was a veiy cold reception, compared with that which the

messengers received when sent to him for uiformation respecting the death
of Mr. Oldham. " They returned with acceptance and good success of their

business ; observing in the sachem much state, great command of his men,
and marvellous wisdom in his answers; and in the carriage of the whole
treaty, clearing himself and his neiglibors of the murder, and offering revenge
of it, yet upon very safe and wary conditions."

This sachem is said to have governed in great harmony with his nephew.
"The chiefest government in the countiy is divided between a younger sachem,
Miantunnomu, and an elder sachem, Caunaunacus, of about fourscore years old,*

this young man's uncle ; and their agreement in the government is remarkable.
The old sachem will not be offended at what the young sachem doth ; and the

young sachem will not do what he conceives will displease his uncle."f With
this passage before him, Mr. Durfee versifies as follows, in his poem called

Whatcheer

:

—
" Two mighty chiefs, one cautious, wise, and old,

One young, and strong, and terrible in fight,

All Narraganset and Coweset hold

;

One lodge they build—one counsel fire they light."

" At a meeting of the commissioners of the United Colonies at Boston, vij

Sept., 1643," it was agreed that Massachusetts, in behalf of the other colonies,

"give Conoonacus and the Nanohiggunsets to understand, that from time to

time " they have taken notice of their violation of the covenant between them,
notwithstanding the great manifestations of their love to them by the English

;

that they had concurred with Miantunnomoh in his late mischievous plots, by
which he had mtended " to root out the body of the English " from the coun-
try, by gifts and allurements to other Indians ; and that he had invaded Uncus,
conti-ary to the "tripartie covenant" between hmiself. Uncus, and Connecticut.
Therefore, knowing " how peaceable Conanucus and Mascus, the late father of
Myantenomo, governed that great people," they ascribed the late "tumults and
outbreakings " to the malicious, rash and ambitious spirit of Miantunnomoh,
more than to " any affected way of their own."

Notwithstanding, Miuntunnomoh being now put to death, tne English and
their confederate Indian sachems, namely, " Vncus, sagamore of the Mohegins,

"This was vvrillen ;i:)oiil 164.3. t *"'>! R. 1. iiisl. ."^oc xo'. i.
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and his people, fFoosamequine and his people, Sacanocoe and his people, Pumr
ham and his people, were disposed, they said, still to have peace witli the

NaiTagansets ; but should expect a more faitlifld observance of their agree-
ment than tljey had shown hitherto." This determination was to be imme-
diately laid before them, and a prompt answer demanded.

In a grave assembly, upon a certain occasion, Canonicus thus addressed
Roger Williams: "I have never suffered any MTong to be offered to the
Enghsh smce they landed, nor never will

;
" and often I'epeated the word

JVunnaunewayean. " If the Englishman speak true, if he mean truly, then
shall I go to my grave in jjeace, and hopj that the English and my posterity

shall live in love and peace together."

When Blr. Williams said he hoped he had no cause to question the English-
men's tounnaumivauonck, that is, faithfulness, having long been acquauited with
it, Canonicus took a stick, and, breaking it into ten pieces, related ten instances

wherein thej^ liad proved false ; laying down a piece at each instance. Mr.
iVilliams satisfied him that he was mistaken in some of them, and as to others
lie a^eed to uitercede with the governor, who, he doubted not, would make
satisfaction for them.

In 1635, Rev. Roger Williams found Canonicus and Miantitnnomoh carrj'uig

on a bloody war against the Wainpanoags. By his intercession an end was
put to it, and he grew much in favor with all the sachems ; cspeciall)' Canonicus
whose " heart (he says) was stirred up to love me as his son to his last gasp.*"

He sold the Island of Rhode Island to William Coddington, Roger Williams,

and others. A son of Canonicus, named Mriksah, is named by Williams as

inheriting his father's spirit. This son is also called Meika, who, after his

father's death, was chief sachem of the NaiTagansets, and was said to have
been his eldest son. Many particulars of him will be found in our progress
onward.
At the time of the Pequot war, much pains was taken to secure the friend-

ship of Canonicus more firmly. IMr. Williams wrote to Governor Winthrop
concerning bun as follows: "Sir, if any thing be sent to the princes, I find

Canounicvs would gladly accept of a box of eight or ten pounds of sugai', and
uideed he told me he would thank Mr. Governor for a box full." In another
letter which Mr. ff^lliams sent to the same i)y Miantunnomoh himself, he says,

" I am bold to request a word of advice of you concerning a proposition made
by Caunounicus and Mianiunnomu to me some half year since. Caunounicus
gave an island in this bay to Mr. Oldham, by name Chibachuwese, upon
condition, as it should seem, that he would dwell there near unto them." The
death of Mr. Oldham, it appears, prevented his accepting it, and they offered

it to Mr. WUliams upon the same conditions; but he first desired to know
whether, in so doing, it would l)e perfectly agreeable to Massachusetts, and
that he had no idea of accepting, without paying the chiefs for it ; said he told

them "once and again, that for the |)resent he mind not to remove; but if he
had it, would give tliem satisfaction for it, and build a little house and put in

some swine, as understanding tlie ])lace to have store of fish and good feeding

for swine." When Miantunnomoh heard that some of the Massachusetts men
thought of orru|)ying some of th<! islands, Canonicus, he says, desired he
would accept of half of it, "it being spectacle-wise, and between a mile oi

two in circuit;" but Mr. JVilliams wrote to inform them that, if he had anj
he desired tho wholi'. This was not long before the Pequot war, which
probably put a sto]) to further n(>gotiation upon the subject.

There was another chief (if tin- same name; in Philip^s war, which Mr.
Hubbard denominates "the great sachem of the Nnrragansets," and who,
"distrusting the protfers of tie- liUglish, was slain in the woods by the

Mohawks, his squaw siuTcnderiiig herself: by this means her life was
spared." lie was proliably a younger son of Cano7iicus, or an immediate
descendant.

In UJ32, a war broke nut iH^ween the Narragausets and the IVquots, on
iiccount of disputed right to the lands i)etween I'aucatuck River and Wecapaug
IJrook.* It was a tract of consideraiile consequence, being about ten miles

''Tlie iialivo iirc vurv cxart aiul |niiicliuil in the IkumI- .> ilit- r l.r.i U, la'lun^iui; lo thil
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wide, and fifteen or tweuty long. Canonicus drew along with him, besides hia

own men, several of the JMassachusetts sagamores. This was maintained with
ferocity and various success, until 1635, when the Pequot^ were driven from it,

but who, it would seem, considered themselves bnt little worsted ; for Canonicus,

doubting his ability to hold possession long, and ashamed to have it retaken from
hun, made a present of it to one of his captains, who had fought heroically iu

conqueinng it ; but he never held possession : liowever, alter the Pequots were
subdued by the English, these lands were possessed by tlie Narragansets again.

The name of this Pequot captain was Soec&c, sometimes called Soso, Sosoa,

&c. He had killed one of his countrymen and fled to the NaiTagansets, who
protected him. This tract of country was afterwards in dis])ute between the

English. Sokoso having deeded it to some of them, (9 June, 1660,) an English-
man afterwards testified, that Sokoso had acknowledged, that, although he had
received money for it, he never o\ATied it. But, according to the testimony of
Wawaloam, the wfe of Miantunnomoh, there was doubtless some false swearing
about it. It was reckoned to contain 20,000 acres, and the following is attested

concerning it :—" I, Wawaloam, do aftirm it to he Sochd's or his assigns', and
farther, whereas my uncle JVenegrad sayeth that it is his land, I do utterly deny
it before all men ; for it was conquered by my husband Miantonomy, and my
uncle Canonicus, long before the English had any wars with the Pequots; and
my uncle JVinegrad had no hand in the war. This land was given and past

over to the valiant Captain Socho, for sei-vice done for us before the English
had any wars with the Pequots." *

It is said that, in the w£ir between Uncas and Miantunnomoh, two of the
eons of Canonicus fought on the side of Miantunnomoh, and were wounded
when he was taken prisoner at Sachem's Plain.

Canonicus has been the subject of a poem which was published at Boston,
in 1803. f Among the tolerable passages ai-e the following :

—

" A mighty prince, of venerable age,

A peerless warrior, but of peace the friend;

His breast a treasury of maxims sage

—

His arm, a host—to punish or defend."

Canonicus, at the age of 84 years, is made to announce his approaching
dissolution to his people thus :

—

" I die.—My friends, you have no cause to grieve :

To abler hands my regal power I leave.

Our god commands—to fertile realms I haste,

Compared with which your gardens are a waste.

There in full bloom eternal spring abides,

And swarming fishes glide through aziu'e tides
3

Continual sunshine gilds the cloudless skies,

No mists conceal Keesuckquand from our eyes."

About 1642, a son of Canonicus died, at which his grief was very great
;

insomuch that, " having buried his son, he burned his own palace, and sJl his

goods in it, to a great value, in solemn remembrance of his son."

Like other men ignorant of science, Canonicus was superstitious, and was
greatly in fear of the English, chiefly, perhaps, from a belief in their ability to

hurt him by enchantment, which belief, very probably, was occasioned by the

story that Squanto circulated, of which, in a previous chapter, we have spoken.

When Roger Williams fled into his country, he at first viewed him with dis-

trust, and would only frown upon him ; at length he accused him, as well as

the other English, of sending the plague among the Indians ; but, as we have
said before, he soon became reconciled to him, gave him lands, and even
protected him. They became mutual helps to each other, and, but for ani-

mosities among the English themselves, it may be fair to conclude, friendship

would have continued with the Narragansets through several generations.

or that prince or pecole, even to a river, brook, &c. And I have known them make bargain
and sale amongst themselves, for a small piece, or quantity of ground ; notwithstanding a
linful opinion amongst manv. that Christians have right to heathen's lands." R. Williams.
*Sec Potter's History of Narraganset, in Col. R. I. Hist. Soc. iii. 248.
* Bv John Lathrop, A. RI. in 8vo.
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MiANTUNNOMOH * w.os the son of a chief called Mascus, nephew of Canoni-
cus, brother or brother-in-law to JVinigret,^ and brother of Otash. And, from
a manuscript! among the papers of the late Dr. Trumbidl, it appears that

Mossup, or Mosipe,^ and Canjanaguo7id,\\ were also his brothers.

"This Miantonimo" says Mr. /iruWa?'^/, " was a veiy good personage, [that

is, well made,] of tall stature, subtil and cunning hi his contrivements, as well

as haughty in his designs,"!!

As eai'ly as 3 Aug. 1632, this chief came with his wife to Boston, where he
staid two nights. He was then known by the name of Mecuvieh. While here
he went to church with the English, and in the mean while, some of his men,
twelve of whom had accompanied him, it seems, broke uito a house, and
committed a theft, on 5 March. Complaint was made to the English gov-
ernor, who "told the sachem of it, and widi some difficulty caused him to

make one of his sannaps ** beat them." The authors of the mischief were
immediately sent out of town, but Miantunnomoh and the othei-s, the governor
took to his house, "and made much of them."ft
The English seem always to have been more favorably inclined towards

other tribes than to the Narragansets, as appears from the stand they took in

the wars between them and then- enemies. And so long as other tribes suc-

ceeded against them, the English were idle spectators; but whenever the

scale turned m their favor, they were not slow to intercede.

In the Life of Canonicus, the })art Miantunnomoh exercised in the govern-

ment of the great nation of the NaiTagansets is related.

In 1634, Captains Stone and Norton were killed by the Pequots, and in 1636,

Mr. John Oldham, by the Indians " near Block Island." Miantunnomoh did all

m his power to assist in apprehending the murderers, and was at much pains

and trouble in furnishing the English with facts relative thereto, from time to

time. And when it was told at Boston that there was a cessation of hostilities

between the Nan*agansets and Pequots, Miantunnomoh was immediately or-

dered to appear there, which he did without delay, and agi-eed to assist them
in a war against the Pequots ; without whose aid and concurrence, the English

would hardly have dared to engage in a war against them at that time.

Early in 1637, (March 21,) to show the governor of Massachusetts that he
kept his promise of warring against the Pequots, Miantunnomoh sent him, by
26 of his men, a Pequot's hand and 40 fathom of wampom. The war with

them now commenced, and though of short duration, destroyed them to such.

a degree, that they a|)peared no more as a nation. One hundred of the Nar-
ragansets joined themselves with tiie English in hs accomplishment, and re-

ceived a part of the prisoners as slaves for their sei-viccs.jl When the war
was over, Miantunnomoh still adhered to the English, and seized upon such
of the Pequots as had made their escape from bondage, and returned them to

their English mastei-s; gave up to them his claim of Block Island, and other

places where the English had found Pequots, and which they considered as

i»elonging to them by right of conquest.

About the same time, or in tlie course of the year 1638, troubh^s had grown
to an alarming height between the Narragansets and Mohegans, and, as usual,

*'l'his spellinfj is acrorcling to VVinllnop: we prefer lV7//?ams's melliod. as more correct,

which is Miantumiomu ; but, havins; employed the former in jar f.rst edition, il is retained in

this. It is, however, oftcner written Minxnlonimo now, which only shows another pronuncia

lion. The accent is usually upon the ])eniiltimate syllable. Gee Calknder^s Cent. Dit
course, paf^e 1

.

t MSS. of R. Williams. J Now published in the Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc.

il

Called also Cussiisquevch, or Siicqnaneh, and Paticus ; that is, Pe.isactis. He "was
ed by the Moqui, [Mohawks.] in ihe wilderness, about 20 railes above Pisalaqua, in hi*

travel eastward, in tiie time of llie Indian wars, and ether Indians v/ith him, and were buried

by order of Major IVaJdroti." 3 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc.

||"Receaued this First of luly, 1G59, of Maj', Humfrey Aderton. [Atherton,] and the rest

of his friends, the siime of 7.5 poinids in Wampam pea^ wi> seacral other thiners as pratuitv

for certaine lands giuen ye said Mnjf. Aderton and his frionds, as may ap->eare by two seuerali

deeds of gift. 1 say receaned by me.
OooiNAIlOAV .„^ his nutrk.*

[MS. Donimentt.

t Hist. New Em;. 446. ** A name Ihe sachems gave their aliendnnls.

tt yVinthrop's Jonrnal. ft Miantunnomoh received eighty. MntUrr's Rdation, 39.
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Roger Williams exercised all his skill to restore traiiquillit3\ Many of the
Pequots who had escaped the sword of the war of 1637, were among the
Mohegans, and seem to have taken part with them against MiantunnomoK
They did this, no doubt, that the Mohegans might screen them from the
English, who were still seizing on all of that nation against whom they could
find any cause of suspicion of having been engaged in murderuig the English,
or in arms against them.
Miantunnomoh, it is probable, had been ordered before the magistrates of

Connecticut, to give some account of the Pequot refugees iji the hands of the
Mohegans, as well as of those in his nation ; which may have been a. main
cause of the war they had now waged against him. For, when he set out for
Haitford, he had a guard of " upwards of 150 men, and many sachems, and
his wife and children." Mr. Williams was with him, and strongly in-ged him
not to venture upon the journey, even with this force, because of the hostility

of the Mohegans ; but the sachem would not be dissuaded, although he had
uo doubt that the Mohegans and their Pequots were in great force not far off.

And while they were on their mai'ch, "about 660" of them fell upon the
Wunnashowatuckoogs, a tribe under Canonicus, where they committed exten-
sive robberies, and destroyed " about 23 fields of com."

Notwithstanding this great Mohegan army had prepared* an ambush to

intercept and cut off J[Eantunnomah, and gave out a threat that they ivovld hoil

him in a kettle, yet he went to, and returned safe from, Connecticut.*
On this occasion he discovers gi-eat braveiy, if it border not too closely

upon temerity ; for, when Williams urged him to retreat, they had perfomied
half their journey, or about 50 miles ; and MiantunnomoKs answer was, after
holdmg a council with his chiefs, " that no mmi should turn back, resolving
rather all to die."

The Mohegan sachem. Uncus, was at the same time ordered to appear at

Hartford, to give an account of the Pequot wanlors, or murderei-s, as the
English called them, in his keeping, as well as to effect a reconciliation of
differences between him and Miantunnomoh; but, instead of appearmg, he
sent a messenger, with word that he was lame and could not come. The
governor of Connecticut, Mr. Haynes, at once saw through the aitifice, and
obsen'ed that it was a lame excuse, and immediately sent for him to come
without delay.

Whether cured of his lameness or not before coming, we are not informed

;

but, in a few days after, the subtle sachem appeared, not daiiug to forfeit the
friendship of the English, which, it seems, he prefen-ed to hiding longer his
guilty face from the presence of the magnanimous Miantunnomoh.
Now before the English, Uncos was charged with the depredations, some

of which were too well attested to admit of a denial, and others were dis-

OAvned in part. The inquiiy seems to have ended after the parties were tired

of it, without any advantage to the injured Nan-agansets, and we hear of no
measures taken for their relief.

The next thing in order was a call upon Uncas for an account of the
Pequots which he was sheltering, which resulted only in a new series of
falsehoods from him. When he was requested to give their names, he said he
kneio none of them, and that there were but 20 in his dominions. Whereupon
witnesses were called, whose testimonies proved, in his presence, that his

statement was false. " Then he acknowledged that he had 30." At length
Mr. Haynes dismissed him, with orders to bring in their names in 10 days, or
he would take those Indians by force out of his country. But, when Mian-
tunnomoh was called upon for the names of those with him, nothing was
withheld.

At this time, at the request of the English, Miantunnomoh consented to lay
aside all animosities, and take Uncas by the hand. When he had done this,

he ui-ged Uncas to dine with him ; but the guilty sachem would not, though
pressed by the English for some time to do so ; and thus all efforts to bring
about a peace vanished, f

*CoIl. R. I. Ilisi. Soc. ili. 145. flbid. iii. 146, 147.
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Rev. Samuel Gorton and his associates purchased Sliaoiiiet, afterwards

called Warwick, from the Earl of Wai-wick, of Miantunnomoh ; but, as

Goiion could do nothing right in the eyes of the Puritans of 3Iassachu setts,

Pumham was instigated to claim said tract of country; and, although a

Bachem under JMiantimnomoh,* did not hesitate, when supported by the Eng-
lish, to assert his claim as chief sachem. And the government of Massachu-
setts, to give to their interference the appearance of disinterestedness, which it

\\ould seem, from theh own vindication, they thought there was a chance ta

doubt, •' Send for the foresaid sachems, [who had complained of Mr. Gorton

and others, through the instigation of the English,] and upon examination

find, both by English and Indian testimony, that Miantonomo was only a

usurper, and had no title to the foresaid lands." f This is against the testi-

mony of eveiy record, and could no more have been believed then, than that

Philip was not sachem of Pokanoket. In all cases of purchase, in those

times, the chief sachem's grant was valid, and maintained, in almost eveiy

instance, by the purchaser or grantee. It was customary, generally, to make
the inferior sachems, and sometimes all their men, jiresents, but it was by no
means a law. The chief sachems often permitted those tuider them to

dispose of lanc^ also, without being called to account. This >vas precisely

the situation of things in the Warwick controversy, of which we shall have
occasion again to speak, when we come to the life of Pumham.

In March, 1638, Miantunnomoh, with four other sachems, sold to William

Coddin^on and others, the island now called Rhode Island, also most of the

othei"s m Narraganset bay, " for the full payment of 40 fathom of white peag,

to be equally divided " between them. Hence Miantunnomoh received eight

fathom. He was to " have ten coats and twenty hoes to give to the present in-

habitants, that they shall remove themselves from the island before next winter."

The deed of this purchase, a copy of which is in my possession, is dated

24th March, and runs thus: "We, Canonicas and Meantinomie, the two chief

sachems of Nai-agansets, by virtue of our general command of this Bay, as

also the particular subjecting of the dead sachems of Aquednick, Kitacka-

mucknut, themselves and lands unto us, have sold unto Mr. Coddington and
his friends * * the great Island of Aquidnick, lying from hence [Providence]

eastward * * also the marshes, grass upon Qunnonigat and the rest of the

islands in the bay, excepting Chabatewece, formerly sold unto Mr. JVinthrop,

the now Gov. of Mass. and Mr. Williams of Providence, also tlie grass

upon the rivers and coves about Kitackamuckqut, and from thence to Pau-
pasquat."

" The mark of ^ Cononicus.
The mark of @ Yotwesh, [Otash,

brother of Miantunnomoh.]
The mark of ^ Meantinomie.
The mark of ,

—^ Asotamnet.
The mark of ^-«^^ Meihammoh,

Canonicus his S07u

" This witnesseth that I, Wanamatanamet, the present sachem of the island,

have received five fathom of warnpum and consent to the contents.

Hie mai-k of 4^ Wanamatanamet.
"Memorandum. I, Osemxqtion, freely consent" that they may "make use

of any grass or trees on the main land on Pocasicke side," having receiued

five fathom of wampum also.

T%e mark of A Osamequen.

As late as 21 Sept 1638, the hand of Miantunnomoh is set to an instrument,

with that of Uncos. Said instrument was a treaty of peace, a bond for tlie

fiettling of difiiculties between tliese two sachems and their men, and an

* " Tlie law of ihe hulians in all America is, that the inferior sachems and subjects shall

plant and remove at the pleasure of the highest and supreme sachems." Roger WilHami
This is authority, and we need no other commentary ou the arbitrary proceedings of the court

pf Massachusetts.

t In manuscript on file, at the state-house, Boston.
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obligation from both to appeal to the English when any difficulty slioiild arise

between them. This treaty was done at Hartford, the substance of which
follows

:

1st. Peace and friendship is established between Miantunnomoh on the part

of the Nan-agansets, and Poquim, as Uncos was then sometimes called, on the

part of the Mohegans. And all former injuries and wi'ongs to be forgiven,

and never to be renewed.
2d. Each of the sachems agree, " that if there fall out injuries " from either

side, they will not revenge them, but that they will appeal to the English,

whose decision shall stand ; and if either paity i-efuse to submit, " it shall be
lawful for the English to compel him."

3d. The sachems further covenant with the English, that they nor none of
their people shall harbor any Indians who shall be enemies to them, or shall

have murdered any white people. They further agree that they will, "as
soon as they can, either bring the chief sachem of our late enemies the

Peaquots, that had the chief hand in killing the English, to the sd English, or

take of " his head. As to the "murders that are now agreed upon amongst
us that are living, they shall, as soon as they can possibly, take off their

heads."

4th. And whereas it is agi'eed that there are now among llie Nai-ragansets

and Mohegans, 200 Pequot men, besides squaws and papooses ; this article is

to provide, that the Narragansets have enough of them to make up 80, with
the 11 they have ab*eady, " and Poquime his number, and that after they, the

Peaquots, shall be divided as above, shall no more be called Peaquots, but
Narragansets and Mohegans." They agree to pay for every sanop one fathom
of wampom, and for every youth half as much—"and for every sanop
papoose one hand to be paid at killmg-time of corn at Connecticut yearly,

and shall not suffer them for to live in the country that was formerly theirs,

but is now the English's. Neither shall the Narragansets or Mohegans
possess any part of the Pequot countiy without leaue of them."

John Haines, Miantinommy, »,

Rog'r Ludlow, Poquiam, alias Unkas. -f-"
Edw'rd Hopkins.

The wife of Miantunnomoh, named Wawaloaji, was alive as late as 1661,
as appeal's by an information which she gave, dated 25 June, concernuig the

right of Sokoso to sell the lands adjacent to Wecapaug.
On a time previous to 1643, Roger fVillia ms delivered a discourse to some

Indians at their residence, as he was passing through their country. Mian-
tunnomoh was present, and seemed inclined to believe in Christianity. Mr.
Williams, being much fatigued, retired to rest, while Miantunnomoh and others

remained to converse upon what they had heard. One said to the chief^
" Our fathers have told us that our souls go to the south-west ; " Miantunno-
moh rejomed, "How do you know your souls go to the south-west? did yon
ever see a soul go that way ? " (Still he was rather uiclined to believe, as Mr.
Williams had just said, that they went up to heaven or dowii to hell.) The
other added, "When did he (meaning Williams) ever see a soul go up to

heaven or down to hell ?
"

We have given the above anecdote, which is thought a good illustration

of the mind of man under the influence of a superstitious or prejudiced
education.

U'hen it was reported, in 1640, that Miantunnomoh was plotting to cut off
the English, as will be found mentioned in the account of JVinigret, aiul

several English were sent to him in July, to know the truth of the matter, he
would not talk with them through a Pequot interpreter, because he was then
at war with that nation. In other respects he complied with then* wishes,

and treated them respectfully, agi-eeing to come to Boston, for the gratification

of the government, if they would allow Mr. Williams to accompany him.
This they would not consent to, and yet he came, agreeably to their desires,

We shall presently see who acted best the part of civilized men in this affair

11*
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He had refused to use a Pequot interpreter for good reasons, but when he was
at Boston, and surrounded by armed men, he was obliged to submit. "The
governor being as resolute as he, refused to use any other interpreter, thinking

it a dishonor to us to give so much way to thejn !
" The great wisdom of the

government now displayed itself in the person of Governor Thomas Dudley.

It is not to be expected but that Miantunnomoh should resent their proceedings

;

for to the above msult they added others ; " would show him no countenance,
nor admit him to dine at our table, as formerly he had done, till he had
acknowledged his failing, &c., which he readily did." * By their ov/n folly,

the English had made themselves jealous of a powerful chief, and they appear
ever ready afterwards to credit evil reports of him.
That an independent chief should be obliged to conform to ti'ansitory

notions upon such an occasion, is absolutely ridiculous ; and the justness of
the follomng remark Irom him was enough to have shamed good men into

their senses. He said, " When your people come to me, they are permitted to use

their oion fashions, and I expect the same liberty when I come to you."

In 1642, Connecticut became very suspicious of Miantunnomoh, and urged
Massachusetts to join them in a war against him. Theii* feare no doubt grew
out of the consideration of the probable issue of a wai* with Uncos in his

favor, which was now on the point of breaking out. Even Massachusetts did

not think their suspicions well founded
;

yet, according to their request, they

sent to Miantunnomoh, who, as usual, gave them satisfactory answei-s, and,

agreeably to their request, came again to Boston. Two days were employed
by the court of Massachusetts in deliberating with him, and we are aston-

islied at the wisdom of the great chief, even as reported by his enemies.

That a simple man of nature, who never knew courts or law, should cause

such acknowledgments as follow, from the civilized and tvise, will always be
contemplated with intense admiration. "When he came," says Winthrop,
" the court was assembled, and before his admission, we considered how to

treat with him, for we knew him to be a very subtle man." When lie was
admitted, " he was set down at the lower end of the table, over against the

governor," but would not at anj' time speak upon business, unless some of his

counsellors were present; saying, "he would have them present, that they

might bear witness with him, at his return home, of all his sayings." The
same author further says, " In all his answers he was very deliberate, and
showed good understanding in the principles of justice and equity, and
ingenuity withal."

He now asked for his accusers, urging, that if they could not establish their

allegations, they ought to suffer what he expected to, if tliey did ; but the

court said they kneio of none ; that is, they knew not whom they were, and
therefore gave no credit to the reports until they had advised him according

to a former agreement. He then said, "If you did not give credit to it, why
then did you disarm the Indians?" Miissachusetts having just then disarmed
some of the Merrimacks under some pretence. " He gave divers reasons,"

says Governor Winthrop,] "why WG should hold him free of any such con-

spiracy, and why we should conceive it was a rejiort raised by Uncas, &c.
and therefore ofi'eri'd to me»!t Uncas, and would prove to his face his treachery

a^^ainst the English, &c., and told us he would come to us at any time," al-

tlmugli he said some had tried to dissuade him, saying that the Englisli would
put liim to death, yet he feared notiiiiig, as he was innocent of the charges

against him.}.

Tlie |)unisliment due to those who had raised the accusations, bon; heavily

npnii his brejist, and "he put it to our consideration what damage it had been

to him, in that he was forced to keep his men at home, and not sufier them to

go forth on hunting, &r., till he had given the English satisfaction." After

two days spent in talk, the council issued to the satisfaction of the English.

During the council, a table was set by itself for the Indians, which Mian-

• IVinlkrop's Journal. t See book ill. chap. vii.

t Here, the reader may with propriety exclaim, was anotiier Michael Senrliis

:

—" Pour-
aiinif. .'tfesseigneurs, je demande que mon faulx accusatetir xoit jjiini poena taiionis," &c
Rosfoe's Leo X. iv. 457.
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tunnomoh appears not to have liked, and " would not eat, until some food had
been sent him from that of the gov^enior's."

That wisdom seems to have dictated to Massachusetts, in her answei to

Connecticut, must be acknowledged ; but, as justice to JMKantunnomoh abun-
dantly demanded such decision, credit in this case is due only to them, as to

him who does a good act because it was his interest so to do. They urged
Connecticut not to commence wai- alone, "alleging how dishonorable it would
be to us all, that, while we were upon treaty with the Indians, they should
make war upon them ; for they would account their act as our own, seeing
we had formerly professed to the Indians, that we were all as one ; and hi our
last message to Miantunnomoh, had remembered hhn again of the same, and
he had answered that he did so account us. Upon receipt of this oiu- answer,
they forbare to enter into a war, but (it seemed) unwillingly, and as not well
pleased with us." The main consideration which caused Massachusetts to

decide against war was, " That all those informations [furnished by Connecti-
cut] might arise from a false ground, and out of the enmity which was
between the Nai-raganset and Mohigan " sachems. This was no doubt one
of the real causes; and, had Miantunnomoh overcome Uncas, the English
would, from policy, as gladly have leagued with him as with the latter ; for it

was constantly pleaded in those days, that then- safety must depend on a
union with some of the most powerful tribes.

There can be no doubt, on fairly examining the case, that Uncas used many
arts, to influence the English in his favor, and against his enemy. In the
progress of the wai- between the two gi-eat chiefs, the English acted precisely

as the Indians have been always said to do—stood aloof, and watched the
scale of victory, determined to join the conquerors: and we wiW here digress

for a moment, to introduce a character, more fully to illustrate the cause of the
operations of the English against the chief of the Narragansets.
Miantunnomoh had a wretched enemy in Waiandance, a Long Island

sachem, who had assisted in the destruction of the Pequots, at their last

retreat. He revealed the plots and plans of Miantunnomoh ; and, says lAon
Gardener, " he told me many years ago," as all the plots of the Nairagausets
had been discovered, they now concluded to let the English alone until they
had destroyed Uncas and himself, then, with the assistance of the Mohawks.
"and Indians beyond tlie Dutch, and all the northern and eastern Indians,
would easily destroy us, man and mother's son."

Mr. Gardener next relates that he met with Miantunnomoh at Meanticut,
Waiandance's country, on the east end of Long Island. That Miantunnomoh
was there, as Waiandance said, to break up the intercourse with those Indians.
There were others with Miantunnomoh, and what they said to Waiandance was
as follows :

—

" You must give no more wampum to the English, for they are no sachems, nor
none of their children shall be in their place if they die. They have no tribute

given them. There is but one king in England, ivho is over them all, and if you
should send hirn 100,000 fathovi of wampum, he would not give you a knifefor it,

nor thank you.'" Then said Waiandance, " They will come and kill us all, as
they did the Pequits;" but replied the Nan-agausets, " .Yo, the Pequots gave
them luampum and beaver, which they loved so ivell, but they sent it them again,
and killed them because they had killed an Englishman ; but you have killed none,

therefore give them nothing."

Some time after, Miantunnomoh went again, " with a trocp of men, to the
same place, and, instead of receiving presents as formerly, he gave presents
to Waiandance and his people, and made the foUowmg speech :—

"Brothers, we must be one as the English are, or we shall soon all l>e

destroyed. You know our fathers had plenty of deer and skins, and our
plains were full of deer and of turkeys, and our coves and rivei-s were full of
fish. But, brothers, since these English have seized upau ^ui country, they
cut (lo\vn the grass with scythes, and the trees with axes. Their cows and
horses eat up the gi'ass, and their hogs spoil our beds of clams ; and finally

we shall starve to death ! Therefore, stand not in your o\vn light, I beseech
you, but resolve with us to act like men. All the sachems both to the east

and west have joined with us, and we are all resolved to fall upon them, at a
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day apijointed, and therefore I have come secretly to you, because you can
persuade the Indians to do what you will. Brothers, I will send over 50
Indians to Manisses, and 30 to you from thence, and take an 100 of
Southampton Indians, with an 100 of your own here. And, when you
Bee the three fires that will be made at the end of 40 days hence, in a
clear night, then act as we act, and the next day fall on and kill men, women
and children, but no cows; they must be killed as we need them for pro-
visions, till the deer come agaui."

To this speech all the old men said, " Wioregen," i. e. "It is well." But
lliis great plot, if the account given by JFaiandance be true, was by him
brought to the knowledge of the English, and so failed. " And the plotter,"

says Gardener, "next spring after, did as Ahab did at Ramoth-Gilead.—So he
to Mohegan,* and there had his fall."f

Capture and death of Miantunnomoh.—The wai* brought on Ijetween Uncus
and Miantunnomoh was not within the jurisdiction of the English, nor is it to

be expected that they could with certainty detei-mine the justness of its cause.

The broil had long existed, but the open rupture was brought on by Uncus'
making war upon Sequasson, one of the sachems under Miantunnomoh. The
English accounts say, (and we have no other,) that about 1000 waiTioi^s were
raised by Miantunnortwh, who came \\\ion Uncus unprepared, having only
about 400 men

;
yet, after an obstinate battle, in which many were killed on

bf)th sidf*s, the Narragansets were put to flight, and Miantunnomoh taken
prisoner; that he endeavored to save himself by flight, but, havuig on a coat

of mail, was known from the rest, and seized by two | of his own men, who
hoped by their treachery to save then- own lives. Whereupon they imme-
OLitely delivered him up to the conqueror. C7nccw slew them both instantly

;

probably with his own hand. This specimen of his bravery must have had a
salutary effect on all such as afterwards chanced to think of acting the part

of traitors in their wars, at least among the Nan-agansets.
The English of Rhode Island rather favored the cause of the Narragansets,

nor could a different coui-se be expected of them, satisfied as they were, that

that nation were greatly wronged ; while, on the other hand, Connecticut and
Massachusetts rather favored the Mohegans. That JSRantunnomoh should not

suffer in his pei-sou, in battles which, it was now seen, were inevitable, Samuel
Gorton furnished him with a heavy old English armor, or coat of mail ; and
this, instead of being beneficial, as it was intended, proved the destruction of
his friend. For, when a retreat became necessary, not being used to this kind
of caparison, it both obstructed liis efforts at resistance and his means of flight.

About 30 of his men were killed, and many more were wounded.
Being brought before Uncus, he remained without spi aking a word, until

Uncus sjjoke to him, and said, " If you hud tuken me, I ivoidd have besought you
for my life." He then took his prisoner to Hartford, and at his request left

him a prisoner with the English, until the mind of the United Colonies should
be known as to what disposition should be made of him.
The sorrowful part of the tale is yet to be told. The commissionei-s of the

United Colonies, having convened at Boston, "taking into serious considera-

tion, they say, what was safest and best to be done, were all of opinion that it

M'ould not be safe to set him at liberty, neither had we sufficient ground for us
to put him to death." § The awful design of putting to death their friend they

had not yet fixed u|)on ; but, calling to their aid in council "five of the most

judicious elders," "they all agreed that he ought to be put to death." This was
the final decision ; and, to complete the deed of darkness, secrecy was enjoin-

ed upon all. And their deternnnation was to be made known to Uncas

*This i^oos to show ilial Miantunnomoh was not killed above Harllbrd, as Winthrop states;

for ilie coiiiilry at some distance from tlie mouth of Pcquot River was called Mohegan. Il

prohably included Wimlsor.

t3 Coll. Ma.i.t. Hist. Sor. iii. ISf).

{ In the records, (Ilmnitt, ii. 4S,) lutt one person is monlioned as having taken Miantunno

moll, whose name was Taiiloquesnn ; and there he is called a Rlohegan captain. That there-

fore the Narragansets tried to kill him -, came upon him once in the night, and daiigerousl)

wounded him, as he lay in his wigwam asleep. See vote in the Life of Ninigret.

^ Winthrop, ii. 131
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privately, with dii-ectioii that lie should execute him within his own jurisdic-

tion, and without torture.

From their own account of this affair, the English (of the United Colonics)

stand condemned in the trial of time at the bar of histoiy. It is allowed that

Uncos had made wai- upon Sequasson, in July, 1643, and done him much
injury ; * and that, according to a previous agi'eement with the English, Mian-
tunnomoh had complained to the governor of 3Iassachusetts of the conduct
of Uncus, and had received answer from him, " that, if Uncus had done him
or his friends wrong, and would not give satisfaction, he was left to take his

own coui-se." No account is given that Sequasson had injured Uncos, but that

Uncos " set upon Sequasson, and killed 7 or 8 of his men, wounded 13, burnt

his wigwams, and carried away the booty." *

We will now go to the record, which will enable \Xii to judge of the justness

of this matter. When the English had determined that Uncus should execute

Miantunnomoh, Uncos was ordered to be sent for to Hartford, " with some
considerable number of his best and trustiest men," to take him to a place for

execution, " carrying him into the next part of his own government, and there

put him to death: provided that some discreet and faithful persons of the

English accompany them, and see the execution, for our more full satisfac-

tion ; and that the English meddle not with the head or body at all."f

The commissionei-s at the same time ordered, " that Hartford furnish Uncus
with a competent strength of English to defend him against any present fuiy

or assault, of the Nanohiggunsetts or any other." And "that in case Uncus
shall refuse to execute justice upon Myunlenomo, that then Myonteiwmo be sent

by sea to the Massachusetts, there to be kept in safe durance till the com-
missionei-s may consider further how to dispose of him."

|

Here, then, we see fuUy developed the real state of the case. The Mohe-
gans had, by accident, captured Miantunnomoh, after which event, they were
more in fear of his nation than before ; which proves, beyond doubt, that they
would never have dared to put him to death, had they not been promised the

protection of the English
No one can read this account without being reminded of the fate of IN'opo-

leon. We do not say diat the English of New England dreaded the power
of Miantunnomoh as much as those of Old England did that of JVapoleon
afterwards ; but that both were sacrificed in consequence of the fears of those
into whose power the fortune of wai's cast them, will not, we presume, be
denied.

When the determination of the commissioners and elders was made known
to Uncus, he "readily undertook the execution, and taking Miantunnomoh
along with him, in the way between Hartford and Windsor, (where Uncos
hath some men dwell,) Uncus' brother, following after Miantunnomoh, clave

his head Avith an hatchet." | Mather says, they "very fairly cut off his

head." §
Dr. Trumbidl

\\
records an account of cannibalism, at this time, which ^\e

ought to caution the reader against receiving as true history, as it no doubt
rests on the authority of tradition, which is wont to transfer even the transac-
tions of one continent to another, which is this :—" Uncus cut out a large piece
of his shoulder, and ate it in savage triumph;" saying, "'it was the sweetest
meat he ever ate ; it made his heart strong.' " H

* Hubbard, N. E. 450. t Records of the U. Colonies.

I Winthrop's Journal, ii. 134. As to the place of Miantunnomoh's execution, Winthrop
seems lo have been in a mistake. It is not very likely that he was taken in the opposite
direction, from Unca<,'s own country, as Windsor was from Hartford. It is also unlikely that

Uncas had men dwell so far from his country upon the Thames.
A gentleman who lately visited his sepulchre, says the wandering Indians have made a

heap of stones upon his ffrave. It is a well-known custom of the race, to add to a monu-
mental pile of the dead whenever they pass by it. See 3 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. iii. 135. and
Jefferson's Notes. [)!? Some wretchedly ignorant neighbors to this sacred pile (whites, of
course) have, not long since, taken stones from it to make wall ! but enough remain to mark
the spot. It is in the east part of Norwich. Colls. Ibid.

^ Magnalia.
||
History of Connecticut, i. 136.

IT That this is tradition, may be inferred from the circumstance of an eminently obscure
writc's publishing nearly the same story, which he says, in his book, look place upon iin

I
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We arc now certain that what Dr. Trumhull has given us as unquestionable
history, from a "manuscript of Mr. Hyde" is only tradition. Having been put
in possession of a copy of that manuscript,* we deem it highly important that

it should be laid before the world, that its ti-ue weight may be considered by
all who would be correctly informed in this important transaction.

By way of preliminary to his communication, Mr. Hyde says, " The follow-

ing facts being communicated to me from some of the ancient fathers of this

town, who were contemporary with Uncas" &c. "That before the settlement

of Norwich, the sachem of the Narragansct tribe [Miantunnovioh] had a per-

sonal quarrel with Uveas, and proclaimed war with the Moheg[an]s: and
marched with an anny of 900 fighting men, equipped with bows and arrows
and hatciiets. Uncas be[ing] informed by spies of their march towards his

seat, Uncas called his warrioi-s together, about 600, stout, hard men, light of
foot, and skilled in the use of the bow ; and, upon a conference, Uncas told

his men that it would not do to let y Nairagansets come to their tow^i, but
they must go and meet them. Accordingly, they marched, and about three

miles, on a large plain, the armies met, and both halted within bow-shot. A
parley was sounded, and gallant Uncas proposed a conference with the Narra-
ganset sachem, wlio agi'eed. And being met, Uncas saith to his enemy word[s]
to this effect :

' You have got a number of brave men with you, and so have I.

A''nt it ri. pity that such brave men should be killed for a quarrel between you and
/? Oidy come like a man, as you pretend to be, and we willfght it out. If you
kill me, my men shall he yours ; but if I kill you, your men shall be mine.'' Upon
which the Narraeanset sachem replied: ^My men came to fisiht, and they shall

figW
" Tineas having before told his men, that if his enemy should refuse to fight

him, he would fall down, and then they were to discharge their artilleiy

[arrows] on them, and fall right on them as fast as they could;" tiiis was
done, and the Mohegans rushed u|)on .Miantunnomoh''s army "like lions," pui

them to flight, and killed " a number on the spot." They "pursued the rest

driving some down ledges of rocks." The foremost of Uncases men goi

ahead of Miantunnomoh, and impeded his flight, drawing him back as they
passed him, "to give Uncas opportunity to take him himself."

" In the pui-suit, at a place now called Sachem''s Plain, Uncas took him by
the shoulder. He then set down, knowing Uncas. Uncas then gave a whoop,
and his men returned to him ; and in a council then held, 'twas concluded by
them, that Uncas, with a guard, should caiTj' said sachem to Hartford, to the

governor and magistrates, (it being before the charter,) to advise what they
should do with him." " Uncas was told by them, as there was no war with
the English and Narragansets, it was not jiroper for them to intermeddle, in

the affair, and advised him to take his own way. Accordingly, they brought
said NaiTaganset sachem back to the same si)ot of ground where he was took:

where Uncas killed him, and cut out a large piece of his shoulder, roasted,

and eat it; and said, '/< was the sweetest meeif he ever eat; it made him have
strong hart.'' There they bury him, and made a pillar, which I have seen but
a few yeare since."

This communication was in the form of a letter, and dated at Norwich, 9
Oct. 1769, and si^cd Richard Hiile. The just remark of Mr. Ely upon it I

caimot withhold, in justice to my subject.

"The above ^Manuscript of Mr. Hyde,* as a <rarfih'on, is a valuable paper,

and worthy of preservation
;

yet, being written 125 years after the event
which it describes, it is surprising that Dr. Trumbull should have inserted it,

in his History of Connecticut, in its principal particulars, as matter of fact."|

In the proceedings of the commissionei-s of the United Colonies, tlie main

tfcalh of Philip. Onfko, \\o savs, cut out a pound of Philip's bkoiiliif; body and al<! il.

The hook is by mw lirnn/ Trumhull, and |}urporls to be a history of liie discovery of Amer-
ioa, thp Indiaii wars, &c The reader will find it about stalls b^' tlie street-side, but rarely in

B resperiable hook-store. Il has been forced through many editions, but there is scarce a

'Word of true history in it.

* By Rev. Wm. Ehi, of Connecticut.

t 'Pnimhiill says meni, bill the IMS. is plain, and means vital.

,' Manuscript letter, 1 Mar. 1833.
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facts in reference to the death of Miantunnomoh, contained in the above
account, are corroborated. The records of tlie commissioners say, that UncaSy

before the battle, told Miantunnomoh, that he had many ways sought his life,

and now, if he dared, he would fight him in single combat; but that ^laTi-

tunnomohf " presuming upon his numbers of men, would have nothing but a

battle." *

It does not appear from these records, that Uncos had any idea of putting

Miantunnomoh to death, but to extort a great price from his countrymen, for

his ransom. That a large amount in wampum was collected for this purpose,
appeai-s certain ; but, before it was paid, Uncos received the decision of the
English, and then pi-eteuded that he had made no such agi-eement, or that the

quantity or quality was not as agreed upon, as will more at length be seen in

the life of Uncas.
NINIGRET was often called J^nicrajl, and sometimes JVenekunat,} JVini-

glud, JVenegelett ; and his name was written almost as many other ways as

times mentioned, by some eai'ly writers. Janemo\ was the fii*st name by
which he was known to the English. He was generally styled sachem of the

Nianticks, a tribe of the Narragansets, whose principal residence was at We-
kapaug, now Westerly, in Rhode Island. He was cousin to Miantunnomoh, §
and is commonly mentioned in history as the chief sachem of the Nianticks,

which always made a part of the great nation of the Narragansets. JVinigret

married a sister of Cashawashett, otherwise called Harmon Garret, who was
his uncle.

The relation in which the Nianticks stood to the Narragansets is plain, fi-om

the repi-esentation given by Miantunnomoh to the government of Massachu-
setts in 1642. In treating with him, at that time. Governor Winthrop says,
" Some difficulty we had, to bring him to desert the Nianticks, if we had just

cause of wai* with them. They were," he said, "as his own flesh, being allied

by continual intermarriages, &c. But at last he condescended, that if they
should do us wrong, as he could not draw them to give us satisfaction for, nor
himself could satisfy, as if it were for blood, &c. then he would leave them
to us."

On the 12 July, 1637, ^yanemo, as his name was written by Governor
Winthrop at this time, came to Boston with 17 men. The objects of his visit

being stated to the governor, he promised him an answer the next day ; but
the governor, imderstanding meanwhile, that he had received manj'^ of the
Pequots, who had taken refuge in his country after their defeat at Mystic, fii-st

demanded theii- delivery to the English. JVinigret was very loath to comply
with the demand ; but, finding he could get no answer to his propositions
without, he consented to give up the Pequots, after a day's consideration.
The govenior shortly after dismissed him, with instructions to treat with the
English captains then in tlie Pequot country.

On the 9 Mar. 1638, "Miantunnomoh came to Boston. The governor,
deputy and treasurer ti'eated with him, and they parted upon fair terms."
"We gave him leave to right himself for the wrongs which Janemoh and
Wequash Cook had done him ; and, for the wrong they had flone us, we
would right ourselves, in our owti time."|| Hence, it appeal's that, at this

period, they were not so closely allied as they were afterwards.
The next year, Jannmo was complained of by the Long Island Indians, who

paid tribute to the English, tliat he had committed some robberies upon them.
Captain Mason yv-\s sent from Ci)nuecticut with seven men to requke satisfac-

tion. Janemo went immediately to the English, and the matter was amicably
settled. II

When it was rumored that Miantunnomoh was plotting to cut off the

* See Hazard's Historical Collections, ii. 7, 10.

t So uriileu by Roger Williams.

X Mr. Prince, in his edition of Hubbard's Narrative, probably mistook Winthrop's MS.,
and wrote AgMiemo instead of Ayaiteiiia. See the edition 1775, of Nar. p. 40, and Winthrop,
Jour. i. 232.

^Prince says he was uncle to MiaJitunnomoh, (Chronology, ii. 53.) but tlial couid n«4
nave been.

II
Winthrop's Journal, i. 243. H Ibid. i. 267.
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English, and using his endeavors to unite other tribes in the entcr{)rise, the

English sent deputies to him, to learn the truth of the repoi-t, as will be found

elsewhere fully stated. The deputies were well satisfied with the can-iage of

Miantunnomoh ; but, they say, ^^Janemoh, the Niantick sacheni, carried himself

proudly, and refused to come to us, or to yield to any thing ; only, he said, he

would not harm us, except we invaded him." * Thus we cannot but form an
exalted o[)inioii of J^inigret, in the person of Janemo.

A Dutch and Indian war raged at this time, and was conducted with

unrelenting barbarity by the former party. It grew out of a single murder,

an Indian having killed a Dutchman in a drunken frolic. The murderer was
immediately demanded, but could not be obtained; and the governor was
urged to retaliate, and often called upon to take revenge. He waived the

subject, foreseeing, no doubt, that retaliation was a bad course to pui'sue for

satisfaction, especially with Indians. However, it soon happened that the

Mohawks fell upon those Indians, killed about 30 of them, and the rest fled

their country ; many of whom sought protection from the Dutch themselves.

Some evil-minded pereous now thought to revenge themselves on these

Indians, without the danger of suffering from resistance. It is reported that

an inhuman monster, named Marine, a Dutch captain, obtained the consent of

the governor to kill as many of them as he pleased ; and, acting under that

authority, surprised and murdered 70 or 80 of them, men, women, and
children. No sooner was this blow of assassination struck, than the Indians

flew to their arms, and began hostilities of the same kind ; and, with such

fury was their onset made, that they cut off 20 persons or more, before the

alarm could spread ; and they were soon masters of then- settlements, and the

Dutch were confined to their fort. By employing Captain Underhill, however,

an experienced English ofKcer in the Indian wars, and some othei-s of the

English, the Dutch were enabled to maintain their ground ; and, fortunately,

^oon after, Roger Williams accidentally arrived there, through whose mediation

a peace was effected, and an end was put to a bloody war. This Marine, who
was the principal cause of it, quarrelled with the governor, on account of his

employuig Underhill instead of him, and even attempted his life on the

accoimt of it. He presented a pistol at his breast, which, being turned aside

by a bystander, the governor's life was preserved. A servant of Mariners

then discharged a gun at the governor, but missing him, one of the governor's

guard shot the servmit dead, and Marine was made prisoner, and forthwith

sent into Holland. Williams, having been denied a passage through N. Eng-
land by the law of banishment, was forced to take passage for England at N.

York in a Dutch ship, by way of Holland ; and this was the reason of his

being there in the time of this war.

Before this war was brought to a close. Captain Underhill, with his company
of Dutch and English, killed about 300 Indians on the main, and 120 more on

Long Island. The Dutch governor's em[)loying the English was charged

upon him as a "plot" to engage the English in his quarrel with the Indians

;

" which," says Winlhrop,] " we had wholly declined, as doubting of the justice

of the cause."

It was about the beginning of this war, Se))t. 1643, that " the Indians killed

and drove away all the English" on the coast, from Manhattan to Stamford,

the extent of the Dutch claim to the eastward. They then passed over " to

Long Island, and there assaulted the \jm\y Moodeij in her house divers times;"

but she, having about 40 men at her place at that time, was able to defend

herself. "Tiiese Indians at the same time," continues /^T«</i7o/J,t "set upon

the Dutch witii an implacable fury, and killed all they could come by, Jind

burnt their houses, and killed tluMr cattle without any resistance, so as the

governor and such as escai)ed, betook themselves to their fort at Monhaton,

and there lived and eat up their cattle."

Among the English peo|)le who were murdered when this war began, was

a Mra. Ann Hidchinson, from whom wjis tlesccnded the historian of Massa-

chusetts. She, having given oflence to tlie Puritans of the Bay state, (as

Massachusetts was then called,) by her peculiar religious notions, to avoid

* Wintlirop's Jouruol, ii. «. f ll>i<l. ii. 157. } Ihid. ii. 136.
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persecution, fled fii'st to Rhode Island, and afterwards to the Dutch posses-

sions, not far bejond Stamford. This was iii 1649. ^Vlien the Indians
broke up the settlements there, in Sept. 1643, they fell upon the family of
this woman, killed her, a Mr. Collins, her son-in-law, and all her family ex-
cept one daughter eight years old, whom they carried into captivity, and such
of two other families, Throckmorton and Cornhill's, as were at home ; in

all 16 persons. They then collected their cattle into the houses and set

them on fii-e and burned them alive ! A greater slaughter would have been
made at this time and place, but for the arrival of a boat while the tragedy
was acting, into which several women and children escaped. But two of
the boat's crew were killed in their humane exertions to save these distressed

people. The daughter of Mrs. //iticMTison remained a prisoner four years,
^vhen she was delivered to the Dutch governor at New York, who restored
her to her friends. She had forgotten her native language, and was unwilling
to be taken from the Indians. This governor, with a kindness not to be for-

gotten, sent a vessel into Connecticut River, where its captain contrived
to get several Pequots on board, whom he secured as prisoners. He then
informed their friends, that they would not be set at liberty mitil the captive
girl was delivered to him. This had the desired effect, and she was
accordingly rescued.

Notwithstanding a peace was brought about in the manner before stated,

yet it was of short dm-ation, and the sparks of war which had for a short time
laid hid in its own embers, was by sordid spirits fanned again into a flame.
The series of murde'-ous acts which followed, are nowhere recorded within
my researches, but an end was not put to it until 1646. It ended m a san-
guinaiy battle at Strickland's Plain, near what is since Horse Neck in New
York, about 37 miles fi'om the city. .The numbers engaged on each side are
not known, nor the numbers slam, but their graves are still pointed out to

the curious traveller.

To return to our more immediate subject.

We hear little ofjYimgret until after the death ofMiantunnomoh. In 1644,
the Nan-agansets and Nianticks united against the Mohegans, and for some
time obliged Uncas to confine himself and men to his fort.

This affair probably took place eai-ly in the spring, and we have elsewhere
given all the })articulars of it, both authentic and traditionary. It appears,
by a letter from T%o. Peters, addressed to Governor Winthrop, written about
the time, that there had been some hard fighting ; and that the Mohegans
had been severely beaten by the Narragansets. Mr. Peters wi'ites :

—

" I, with your son, [John Winthrop of Con.,] were at Uncas' fort, where 1

dressed seventeen men, and left plasters to dress seventeen more, who were
wounded in Uncas' brother's Avigwam before we came. Two captains and
one common soldier were buried, and since we came thence two captams
and one common man more, ai'e dead also, most of which are wounded with
bullets. Uncas and his brother told me, the Nan'agansets had 30 guns which
won them the day, else would not care a rush for them. They drew Uncas'
forces out by a wile, of 40 appearing only, but a thousand [lay hid] in am-
bush, who pursued Uncas' men into their own land, where the battle was
fought vario marte, till God put fresh spirit into the Moheagues, and so drave
tlie Narragansets back again." So it seems that Uncas had been taken in his

own play. The letter goes on :—" 'Twould pity your hearts to see them
[Uncas' men] lie, like so many new cu'cumcised Sechemites. in their blood.
fiu; whatever information you have, I dare boldly saj', the Narragansets first

lirake the contract they made with the English last year, for I helped to cme
one Tanfiquieson, a Moheague captain, who first fingered [laid hands on]
Miaiitinotnio. Some cunning squaws of Narraganset led two of them to

Tantiquieson's Avigwam, where, in the night, they struck him on the breast
rlnough the coat wdth an hatchet, and had he not fenced it with his arm, no
hope could be had of his life," &c. *

'^ The English thought it their concern," says Dr. /. Mailier,^ " not to suffer

Uim to be swallowed up by those adversaries, since he had, (though for his

' Winthrop's Jour. a. 380,331. . t Relation, 58.
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own ends,) approved himself faithful to the English from time to time." An
army was accordingly raised for the relief of Uncas. " But as they were
just marchiug out of Boston, many of the princi})al Narraganset Indians, viz.

Pesseciis, Mexano, * and Witawash, sagamores, aud Aivasequin, deputy for the

Nianticks ; these, with a large train, came to Boston, suing for jieace, being
willing to submit to what terms the English should see cause to impose
upon them. It was demanded of them, that they should defray the charges
they had put the English to, f and that the sachems should send their sons
to be kept as hostages in the hands of the English, until such time as the
money should be paid." After remarking that from this time the Narragan-
sets harbored venom in tlieir hearts against the English, Mr. Mather pro-

ceeds :
—" In the first place, they endeavored to play legerdemain in their

sending hostages ; for, instead of sachems' children, they thought to send
some other, and to make the , English believe that those base papooses were
of a royal pi-ogeny ; but they had those to deal with, who were too wise to be
so eluded. After the expected hostages were in the hands of the English,,

the Narragansets, notwithstanding that, were slow in the performance of
what they stood engaged for. And when, upon an impartial discharge of
the debt, their hostages were restored to them, they became more backward
than formerly, until they were, by hostile preparations, again and again
territied into better obedience. At last, Capt. Atherton, of Dorchester, was
sent with a small party | of 20 English soldiers to demand what was due.

He at first entered into the wigwam, where old JVmigret resided, with oidy
two or tlnee soldiers, appointing the rest by degrees to follow him, two or

three dropping in at once ; when his small company were come about him, the

Indians in the mean time supposing that there had been many more beliind,

he caught the sachem by the hair of his head, and setting a pistol to his

breast, protesting whoever escaped he should surely die, if he did not forth-

with comply with what was required. Hereupon a great trembling and
consternation surprised the Indians ; albeit, multitudes of them were then
present, with spiked arrows at their bow-strings ready to let fly. The event
was, the Indians submitted, and not one drop of blood was shed."§ This, it

must be confessed, was a high-handed proceeding.
" Some space after that, JVinigret was raising new trouble against us,

amongst his Nianticks and other Indians ; but upon the speedy sending up
of Capt. Davis, with a party of horse to reduce him to the former peace,

who, upon the news of the captain's ajjproach, was put into such a panic
fear, that he dui-st not come out of his wigwam to treat with the ca[)tain, till

secured of his life by him, which he was, if he quietly yielded to his message,
about which he was sent from the Bay. To which he freely consenting, that

(rtorm was graciously blown over."
|]

Thus having, through these extracts, summarily glanced at some prominent
passages in the life oi' JVinigret, we will now go more into jjarticulars.

The case of the Narragansets, at the period of the treaty before spoken of,

had become rather desj)erate ; two years having passed since they agreed to

pay 2000 liuliom of "good white wamj)um," as a renumeration lor the

trouble and damage they had caused the English and Mohegans, and they

were now jjressecl to iidfil their engagements. JVinigret, then called Jauemo,
was not at Boston at tiiat time, but Aumsaaquen was his deputy, and signed

the treaty then made, with Pessacus and others. At their meeting, in July,

1647, Pessacus aud others, chiefs of the Narragansets and Nianticks, were

* The editor of Johnson's Wonder-working Providence, in Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. makes a

great mistake in noting tliis rliioC as Miantumwmoh. Mriksah, Mi.raiino, Meika, &c.. are

names of the same person, vviio was tlie eldest son of Canonicus. Aller the death of his lather,

ho was chief sachem of the Narraraiiscls. He married a sister of A'iuii^ret, who was " a

woman of great power," and no oilier llian llie famous Qiiaiapen, at one lime called Matan-

Itu-lc, from wliich, probably, was derived Martins. By some writers mistaking him for Mian-

tunnomoh, an error has spread, that has occasioned much confusion in accouiiis of their gene-

t A yearly tribute in wampum was agreetl upon. Manuscript Narrative of the Rev. T
Cobbet, which places the affair in 16i5.

t MS. document among our state papers.

\ Relation of tiie Troubles, &.C., 4io. 1G77. I| Cobbet's MS. Narrative
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Bent to by the English commissioners, as will be found in the life of Pessacus.
Being warned to come to Boston, Pessacris, not being willing to get any fur-

ther into trouble by being obliged to sign whatever articles the English might
draw up, feigned himself sick, and told the messengers he had agreed to

leave all the business to JVinigret This seems to have been well understood,

and we shall next see witli what gi-ace JVinigret acted his part with the com-
missioners, at Boston. Their record runs thus :

—

" August 3d, [1647,] Ninegralt, with some of the Nyantick Indians and two
o? PessacKs men, came to Boston, and desiring Mr. John fFinthrop, that came
from Pequatt plantation, might be present, they were admitted. The com-
missioners asked JVinegratt for whom he came, whither as a publick person
on the behalf of Pessack^s and the rest of the Narragansets' confederates, or

only for himself as a particular sagamore.'* He at first answered that he had
spoke with Pessack, but had no such commission from him;" and said there

had not been so good an understanding between them as he desired ; but,

from 3Ir. Winthrop's testimony, and the answer Thos. Stanton and Benedict

Arnold brought from Pessacus, and also the testimony of Pessacits^ two men,
"it appeared to the commissioners that whatever formality might be wanting
in Pessack^s expressions to JVinegratt, yet Pessack had fully engaged himself
to stand to whatsoever JVinegratt should conclude." Therefore they pro-

ceeded to demand of him why the wampum had not been paid, and why the
covenant had not been observed in other particulars. JVinigret pretended he
did not know what covenants had been made. He was then reminded that

his deputy executed the covenant, and that a copy was carried into his coun-
try, and his ignorance of it was no excuse for him, for IMr. Williams was at

all times ready to explain it, if he had taken the pains to request it of him.
" There could, therefore, be no truth in his answere."

JVinigret next demanded, " For ivhat are the .Yarragansets to pay so much
wampum ? / knoio not that they are indebted to the English

!

" The commis-
sioners then repeated the old charges—the breach of covenant, ill treating

messengers, and what he had said himself to the English messengers, namely,
that he knew the English would try to l)iiug about a peace at their meeting at

Hartford, but he was resolved on war, nor would he inquire who began it

—

that if the English did not withdraw then' men from assisting Uncas, he would
kill them and their cattle, &c. According to the records of the commissioners,
JVinigret did not deny these charges with a very good face. He said, however,
their messengers provoked him to say what he did.

In order to waive the criminating discourse, A'lnigret called for documents;
or wished the English to make a statement of their account against him, that

he might know "how the reckoninge stood." The English answered, that

they had received of Pessacus, 170 fathom of wampum at one time:—After-
wards some kettles and about 15 fathom ??iore, "which beinge a contemptible

some, was refused." As to the kettles, they said, " The Nan-aganset messen-
gers had sould them to Mr. Shrimpton,* a brasier in Boston," for a shilling a

pound. Their weight was 285 lbs., (not altogether so contemptible as one
might be led to imagine,) which came to ] 4£. 5s., and the wampum to 4£. 4s.

6rf.f Of the amount in Mr. Shrimpton^s hands, the messengers took up 1£.
probably to defray their necessary expenses while at Boston. The remainder
an Englishman attached to satisfy " for goods stollen from him by a NaiTagan-
set Indian."

JVinigret said the attachment was not valid, "for that neither the kettles nor
wampum did belonge to Pessacks himself, nor to the Indian that had stollen

the goods," and therefore must be deducted from the amount now due. " The
commissionei-s thought it not fit to press the attachment," but reckoned the

kettles and wampum at 70 fathom, and acknowledged the receipt of 240
fathom, [in all,] besides a parcel sent by JVinigret himself to the goveraor

;

"md though this was sent as a present, yet, as it was not accepted by the

governor, they lefl: it to JVinigret to say whether it should be now so con-

* Samuel Shnmpton, probably, who bought a house and lands of Ephraim Turner, brasier,

situated in Boston, in 1671.

t Hence 4£. 4s. 6rf. -^ 15= 5.s. 7-5-^.= value of a fathom of wampum in 1647.
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sidered, or wli(;tlier it should be taken in payment of the debt. JVinigrd said

the governor should do as he pleased about it. It was then inquiied liow
much he had sent

;
(it being deposited in CuishamokiiVs hands, as we have

elsewhere stated ;) he said he had sent 30 fathom of black, and 45 of white, in

value together 105 fathom. Cutshainokin was sent for to state what he had
received in trust. He had produced two girdlcr>, "with a string of wampum,
ail which himself rated at 45 fatliorn, attirmtng He had received no more,
except 8s. Avliich he had used, and would repay." He was brought before
JVinigret and questioned, as there ai)pi^ai-ed a great difference in their ac-
counts. "He at first percisted," says oiu- record, " and added to his lyes, but
was at last convinced [confronted] by JVinigret, and his messengers who then
brought the present, and besides Cnlshajnokin Lad sent him at the same time
10 fathom as a present also."' It still rcriaiied to be settled, whether this
wampum should be received as a part of ihe debt, or as a present; and
Ninigret v'a3 urged to eay ho\,- ii s.^jtilj co. With great magnanimity he
answered:

—

"My tongut skali not belie nvj heart. Whether the debt be paid or not, I in-

tended it as a p-r.itnt to the governor.''^

It is unpleasant to contrast the characters of the two chiefs, Cutshamokin
and Ninigret, because the former had long had the advantage of a civilized

neighborhood, and the latter was from the depths of the forest, where he saw
an Englishman but seldom. We could say much upon it ; but, as it is

thought by many that such disquisitions are unprofitable, we decline going
into them here.

What we have related seems to have finished the business of the day, and
doubtless the shades of night were very welcome to Cutshamokin. The next
day, JVinigret came into court, with the deputies of Pessacits, and spoke to the

following effect :

—

"Before I came here I expected the burden had been thrown upon me,
Pessacus not having done what he agreed to do. However, I have considered
upon the treaty of 1645, and am resolved to give the English satisfaction in

all things. I will send some of my men immediately to Narraganset and
Niantick, to raise the wampum now due to them, and hope to hear what they
will do in three days. In fen days I think the \^ampum will arrive, and 1

\vill stay here until it comes. I will tell this to the Narraganset confederates.

But if there should not enough at this time be raised, I desire some forbear-

ance as to time, as I assure you that the remainder shall be shortly paid, and
you shall see me true to the English, hencefoitli."

This speech gave the commissioners great satisfaction, and they proceeded
to other business.

The messengei-s sent out by JVinigret did not return so s6on as was ex-

pected ; but, on the 16 August, notice was given of their arrival; sadly,

however, to the disappointment of the commissioners, for they brouglit only
200 fathom of wampum. The feelings of the court were somewhat changed,
juid they rather stenily demanded "what the reason was, that, so much being
due, so little was brought, and from whom this 200 fathom came." Minigre:
answered that he was disapjK)inted that more had not been brought, but sai<l,

if he had been at home, more would have been obtained: that 100 fiithom

was sent l)y Pessacus, and the other 100 tiy his |)eople.

The commissioners say, that, "not thinking it meet to begin a present wai',

if satisfaction, (though with a little forbearance, may be had otiienvise,)" told

JVinigret, that, since he had said the wampum would have been gathered and
paid if he had been at honn' himself, they would now give him 20 days to go
and get it in ; and, if he could not proctuv enough by 500 fathom, still they

would not molest him tuUil "next sprinir planting time." That, as .so mucli

was still due, they would reckon the present before mentioned ; but, if they

did not bring 1000 fiithom in twi nty days, the connuissionei-s would send no
more messengers into his country, "but tnk(^ coiuse to right themselves."

That, if they were " forced to s(>ek -satisfaction by arms, he and his confede-

rates must not ex|)ect to make their peace, as lately they had done, by a little

wam[)Um. In the mean time, though for i)reach o. covenants they might put

their hostages to death, yet the commissioners would forthwith deliver the
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childi'en to J^inigret,* expecting from him the more care to see engage-
rneuts fully satisfied. And, if they find him real in his performance, they will

cheirge all former neglects upon Pessaciw," and " in such case they expect
from JSlinigret his best assistance, when he shall be required to recover the

whole remainder from him. All which JVinigret cheerfully accepted, and
promised to perform accordingly."

Notwithstanding all their promises, the Narragansets bad not discharged

their debt at the end of two yeai-s more, though in that time they had paid

about 1100 fathom of wampum. At their meeting this year, 1649, at Boston,

"the commissioners were minded of the continued complaint of Uncos"
against the Narragansets, that they were "still vndermining his peace and
seeking his mine," and had lately endeavored " to bring in the Mowhaukes
vppon him," which failing, they next tried to take away his life by witchcraft.

A Narragauset Indian, named Cuttaquin, " in an English vessel, in Mohegan
River, ran a sword into his breast, wherby hee receeved, to all appearance, a

mortal wound, which raurtherus acte the assalant then confessed hee was, foi

a considerable sum of wampum, by the Narragansett and Nianticke sachems,
hired to attempt."

Meanwhile JVinigrd, understanding what was to be urged against him,
appeared suddenly at Boston before the commissioners. The old catalogue

of delinquencies was read over to him, with several new ones appended. As
it respected Cuitaquin's attempt upon the life of Uncos, Ninigret said that

neither he nor Pessacus had any hand in it, but that "he [CvUaquin] was
drawn thereunto by torture from the Mohegans ; " " but he was told, that the

assailant, before he came into the hands of the Mohegans, presently after the

fact was committed, laycd the charge upon him, with the rest, which he
confirmed, the day following, to Capt, Mason, in the presence of the English
that were in the bark with him, and often reiterated it at Hartford, though
BJnce he hath denied it : that he was presented to Uncos under the notion of
one appertaining to Vssomequin, whereby he was acknowledged as his friend,

and no provocation given him." Cuttaquin had affirmed, it was said, that his

desperate condition caused him to attempt the life of Uncas, " through his

great engagement to the said sachems, having received a considerable quan-
tity of wampum, which he had spent, who otherwise would have taken away
his life."

The judgment of the court was, that the sachems were guilty, and we next
find them engaged in settling the old account of wampum. JVmigref had
got the commissioners debited more than they at first were willing to allow.

They say that it appeared by the auditor's account, that no more than 1529^
fathom hath been credited, " nor could J\/tnigret by any evidence make any
more to appear, only he alleged that about 600 fathom was paid by measiu-e
which he accoimted by tale, wherein there was considerable difi^erence. The
commissioners, not willing to adhere to any strict terms in that particular,

{and though by agreement it was to be paid by measure and not by tale,)

were willing to allow 62 fathom and half in th<it respect, so that there remains
due 408 fathom. But JVinigret persisting in his former affirmation, and not
endeavoring to give any reasonable satisfaction to the commissioners in the
premises, a small inconsiderable parcel of beaver being all that was tendered
to them, though they understood he was better provided." They therefore
gave him to understand that they were altogether dissatisfied, and that he
might go his own way, as they were determined to protect Uncas according
to their treaty with him.
The commissioners now expressed the opinion among themselves, that

affairs looked rather turbulent, and advised that each colony should hold itself

in readiness to act as circumstances might require, " which they the rather
present to consideration, from an information they received since their sitting,

of a marriage shortly intended betwixt JVinigrefs daughter, and a brother or
brother's son of Sassaquas, the malignant, fiuious Pequot, whei-eby probably

* GlaH, no doubt, to rid themselves of the expense of keeping them , for it must be remem-
bered, that the Eng'lish took them upon the condition that they should support them at their
own expense.
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their aims are to gather together, and reunite the scattered conquered Pe-
quates into one body, and set them up again as a distinct nation, which hath
always been witnessed against by the English, and may hazai'd the peace
of the colonies."

Tlie four yeare next succeeding are full of events, but as they happened
chiefly among the Lidians themselves, it is very difficult to learn the particu-
lars. JS/inigret claimed dominion of the Indians of a part of Long Island, as
did his predecessors ; but those Indians, seeing the English domineering
over the Narragansets, became altogether independent of them, and even
waged wars upon them.

Ascassasotick was at this period the chief of tliose Indians, a warlike and
courageous chief, but as treacherous and barbai-ous as he was brave. These
islanders had, from the time of the Pequot troubles, been protected by the
English, which much increased their insolence. A^ot only had JVinigret, and
the rest of the Narragansets, suffered from his insults, but the Mohegaus had
also, as we shall more fidly make appear hereafter.

When the English commissioners had met at Hartford in 1650, Uncas
came with a complaint to them, " that the Mohansick sachem, in Long
Island, had killed som of his men ; be\vitched diners others and himself
also," which was doubtless as true as were most of his charges against the

Narragansets, "and desired the commissioners that hee might be righted
theriu. But because the said sachem of Long Island was not there to an-
swer for himself," several Englishmen were appointed to examine into it,

and if they found him guUty to let him know that they " will bring trouble
upon themselves."
At the same meeting an order was passed, " that 20 men well armed be

sent out of the jurisdiction of the Massachusetts to Pessicus, to demand the
said wampum, [then in arrears,] which is 308 fathom;" but in case they
could not get the wampum, they were ordered " to take the same, or the
vallew therof, in the best and most suitable goods they can find." Or, if

they could not find enough to satisfy all demands, they were ordeied to seize

and " bring away either Pessncus or his children, or such other considerable
sachem or persons, as they prize, and may more probably bow them to

reason."

From Pessacus, they were ordered to go to JVini^et, and inform iiim that

the commissioners had heard " that he had given hs daughter in marriage to

Sasecos his brother, who gathers Pequots under him, as if either he woidd become
their sachem^ or again possess the Pequot country," which was contrary to
" engagements," and what they would not allow, and he must inform them
whether it were so. To inform him also that Jf'equash Cook " complains of
sundry wrongs." And diat, as to his hunting in the Pequot country, to inform
him he had no right to do so, as that country belonged to the English. The
termination of this exjiodition, in which JVinigret was taken "by the hau-,"

has been previously mentioned in our extract from Dr. Mather.
We have in the life of Miantunnomoh given some account of the acts of a

chief called Waiandance, especially relating to the disorganization of the

plans of that great chief. We come, in this place, to a parallel act in relation

to Ninigrct. About a year after tlu; death of Miantunnomoh, JVinigi-et under-
took to organize a plan for expatriating the English ; luid sent a messenger
to Waiandance, the Long Island sachem, to engage him in it. Instead of
listening to his message, Waiandance seized upon jVinigrefs messenger,
bound him, and sent him to Captain Gardener at Saybrook fort. From thence
he was sent, under a guard of 10 men, for Hartford. But tliey were wnd-
bound in their pasj^agc, and were obliged to i)ut in to Shelter Island, where
an old sachem lived, who was Waiandance^s elder brother. Here they let

JVinigrefs ambassador escape, and thus he had knowledge that his plan was
discovered and overthrown.

Since we have here introduced the sachem Waiandance, we will add the

account of his last acts and death. One William Hammond bi>ing killed "by
a giant-like Indian" near New York, about I()87, C-aptnin Gardener told

Waiandance that he nnist kill that Indian ; but this being against the advice

of the great sachem, his Itrother, he declined it, and told the cajjlain that that
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Indian was a mighty great man, and no man dai-ed meddle with him, and
that he had many friends. Some time after, he killed anotJier, one Tliomas
Farrington, and in the mean time, fFaiandance^s brother having died, lie

undertook his execution, which he accomplished. This was his last act in

the service of the English ; "for in the tune of a great mortality among them,
he died, but it was by poison ; also two-thirds of the Indians upon Long
Island died, else the Narragansets had not made such havoc here as they
have."

J^nigret passed the -winter of 1652—3 among the Dutch of New York
This caused the English great suspicion, especially as they were enemies to

the Dutch at that time ; and several sagamores who resided near the Dutch
hafl reported that the Dutch governor was trj'iug to hire them to cut off the

English ; consequently, there was a special meeting of the English commis-
sioners at Boston, in April, 1653, occasioned by a rumor that the Narragansets
had leagued with the Dutch to break up the English settlements. Where-
upon a letter was sent by them to their agent at Nanaganset, Thomas Stanton,

containing " divers queries," by him to be interpreted " to JVinegrett, Pessicus
and Meeksam, three of the chiefest Narraganset sachems," and then- answers
to be immediately obtained and reported to the commissioners.
The questions to be put to the sachems were, in substance, as follows :

—

1. Whether the Dutch had engaged them* to fight against the English.

—

2. Whether the Dutch governor did not endeavor such a conspiracy.

—

3. Whether they had not received arms and munitions of war from the

Dutch.—4. What other Indians are engaged in the plot.—5. Whether, con-
trary to their engagenjent, they were resolved to fight against the English.

—

6. If they are so resolved, what they think the English will do.—7. Whether
they had not better be true to the English.—8. Similar to the first.—9. What
were their grounds of war against the English.—10. Whether they had not
better come or send messengers to treat with the English.—11. Whether they
had hired tlie Mohawks to help them.

" The answare of the sachems, viz. J\inigrett, Pessecus and JiExam, vnto the

queries and letters sent by the iiiessengers, Sarjeant Waite and Sarjeant John
Barrell, the 18th of the second month, 1653."

Mexam seems to have been the first that answered ; and of the fii-st query
he said :

—

" I speak unfeignedly, from my heart, and say, without dissunulation, that I

know of no such plot against the English, my friends ; implicating either the

Dutch governor or any other person. Though I be poor, it is not goods,
guns, powder nor shot, that shall draw me to such a plot as this against the
English, my friends, f If the Dutch governor had made known any such
intention to me, I would have told it, without delay, to the English, my
friends. With respect to your second question, I answer, JVb. What do the
English sachems, my friends, think of us?—do thej^ think we should prefer

goods, guns, powder and shot, before our lives? our means of living? both
of us and ours ? As to the 4th query, I speak from iny heart, and say, I know
of no such plot by the Dutch governor. There may come false news and
reports against us; let them say what they will, they are false. It is un-
necessarj'^ to say more. But in answer to the 10th queiy I will say. It is just

messengers should be sent to treat with the English sachems, but as for

myself, I am old, and caimot travel two days together, but a man shall be sent
to speak with the sachems. I have sent to Mr. Smith, and VoU t his man,
to speak to Mr. Brown, and to say to him, tliat I love the English sachems,
and all Englishmen in the Bay : And desire Mr. Brown to teU the sachenxs

* The third person singular, he, is used throughout, in the orig-inal, as it was supposed by
the propounders that each chief would be questioned separately.

t Every one njust be forcibly reminded of the answer given by one of our revolutionary
worthies, Joseph Reed, Esq., to a British agent, on reading this answer of the chief Mexam,
though not under circumstances exactly similar. Mr. Reed was promised a fortune if he
«vould exert himself on the side of the king. Viewing it in the light of a bribe, he repHed <

" I am not worth purchasing, but, such as I am, the Icing of Great Britain is not rich enougf-
to do it." Dr. Gordon's America, iii. 172. ed. London, 4 vols. 8vo. 1788

X ValUrUine Whitman, an interpreter, elsewhere named.
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of the Bay, that the child that is now born, or that is to be born ui tune to

come, shall see no war made by us against the English."
PessacAis spoke to this pui-pose :

—

"I am veiy thankful to these two men that came from the Massachusetts,
and to you Thomas, and to you Poll* and to you Mr. Smith, you that are
come so far as from tlie Bay to bring us this message, and to inform us of
these things we knew not of before. As for the governor of the Dutch, we
are loath to invent any falsehood of him, though we be far from him, to please
the English, or any otliei-s that bring these reports. For what I speak with
my mouth I speak from my heart. The Dutch governor did never propound
any such tiling unto us. Do you think we are mad.? and that we have
foj-gotten our writing that we had in the Bay, which doth bind us to the
English, our friends, in a way of friendship.? Shall we throw away that
writing and oui-selves too.? Have we not reason in us .? How can the Dutch
shelter us, being so remote, against the power of the English, our friends

—

we living close by the doors of the English, our friends ? We do profess, we
abhor such things."

Lastly, we come to the chief actor in this affair, JVinigret. He takes up
each queiy in order, and answers it ; which, for bi-evity's siike, we will give in

a little more condensed form, omitting nothing, however, that can in any
degree add to our acquaintance with the great chief. He thus commences :

—

" I utterly deny that there has been any agreement made between the Dutch
governor and myself, to fight against the English. I did never hear the
Dutchmen say they would go and fight against the English ; neither did I

hear the Indians say they would join with them. But, while I was there at

the Indian wigwams, there came some Indians that told me there was a ship
come in from Holland, which did report the English and Dutch were lighting
together in their own country, and there were several other ships coming with
ammunition to fight against the English here, and that there would be a great
blow given to the English when they came. But this I had from the Indians,

and how true it is I cannot tell. I know not of any wrong the English have
done me, therefore wnr should I fight against thern ? Why do the English
sachems ask me the same questions over and over again ? Do they think we
are mad—and would, for a few guns and swords, sell our lives, and the lives

of our wives and children? As to their tenth question, it being indifferently

spoken, whether I may go or send, though I know nothing myself, wherein I

have wronged the English, to prevent my going
;
yet, as I said before, it being

left to my choice, that is, it being indifferent to the commissionei-s, whether 1

will send some one to speak with them, I will send." f

To the letters which the English messengers carried to the sachems, Mexam
and" Pessacus said, " JVe desire there may be no mistake, but that we may be

understood, and that there may be a true understanding on both sides. We desire

to hxow ivhere you had this news, that there was such a league made betioixt the

Dutch and us, and also to knoiv our accusers."

JVinigret, though of the most importance in this affair, is last mentioned in

the records, and his answer to the letter brought him by the messengers is as

follows :

—

" You are kindly welcome to us, and I kindly thank the sachems of Massa-
chusetts that they should think of me as one of the sachems worthy to be
inquired of concerning this matter. Had any of the otlier sachems been at

the Dutch, I should have feared their fblly might have done some hurt, one
way or other, but they have not been there, /am the man. I have been
there myself I alone am answerable for wliat I have done. And, as I have
already declared, I do utterly deny and protest that I know of no such plot as

has been apprehended. What is the story of these groat rumors that I hear at

Pocatocke—that I should be cut off, and that the English had a quaiTel against

* So printed in Hazard, but probal)ly means the same as Voll ; V, in the latter case, having
been taken for P. We have known such instances.

t The preceding' sentence of our text, the author of Tales of the Tndiatis thinks, " would
puzzle the most myslififins politician of modern times." Indeed! VVHiat! a Philadelphia

lawyer ? Really, we cannot conceive that it ought in the least to puzzle even a Boston
lawyer. If a ptizzh exist anv where, wo apprehend it is in some myslifyiiiff «ord.
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rae ? I know of no such cause at all for my part. Is it because i went
thither to take physic for my health ? or what is the cause ? I found no such
entertainment from the Dutch governor, when I was there, as to give me anj'

encouragp'nent to stir me up to such a league against the English, iny friends.

It was v^'Uter time, and I stood, a great part of a winter day, knocking at

the go^'^tnor's door, and he would neither open it, nor sutler others to open
it, to hi. me in. I was not wont to find such carriage from the English, my
frien'^«.''

Not long after the return of the English messengers, who brought tlie above
vp »tion of their mission, Awashaw arrived at Boston, as " messenger " of
** nigret, Pessacus, and Mexam, with " three or four " others. An inquisition

ras immediately held over him, and, from his cross-examination, we gather

be following answers :

—

"JVinigret told me that he went to the Dutch to be cured of his disease,

nearing there was a Frenchman there that couid cm'e him \ and Mr. John
Winthrop knew of his going. He earned 30 fathom of v/ampum, gave the

doctor 10, and the Dutch governor 15, who, in lieu thereof, gave him coats

with sleeves, but not one gun, though the Indians there gave him two guns.

That, while Ninigret was there, he crossed Hudson's River, ajid iliere an
Indian told him about the an*ival of the Dutch ships. As to the com sent to

the Dutch by Ninigret, it was only to pay his passage, the Dutch havmg
brought him home m a vessel. Five men went with Ninigret. Four came
home with him in the vessel, and one came by land before. One of his

company was a Mohegan, and one a Conecticott Indian, v;ho lived on the

other side of Hudson's River. A canoe was furnished with 60 fathom of
wampum, after JVinigrefs return from Monhatoes, to be sent there to pay for

the two guns, but six fathom of it was to have been paid to the doctor, which
was then due to him. There were in it, also, two raccoon coats, and two
beaver skins, and seven Indians to go with it. They and the canoe were
captured by Uncas."

An Indian named " JVeivcom-Matuxes, sometunes of Rhode Island," was
one that accompanied Awashaw. " One John lAghtfoot, of Boston," said

Matuxes told him, in Dutch, (he had lived among them at Southhold, and
learned their language,) that the Dutchmen would " cut off" the English of
Long Island. '^jVewcom also coufesseth [to him] that Ninigret said that he
heard that some ships were to come from Holland to the Monhattoes to cut off

the English." " That an Indian told him that the Dutch would come against

the English, and cut them off", but they would save the women and children

and guns, for themselves. But Capt. Simkins and the said lAghifooi do both

affirm that the said Netvcom, told them that the Dutchmen told Mm, as before

[stated,] though he now puts it off", and saith an Indian told him so." Simkins
affirmed also that Neivcom told him that if he would go and serve the Dutch,
they would give him £100 a year.

On examining Newcom, the commissioners gave it as their opinion that he
was guilty of perfidy, and that they should not have let him escape without
punishment, but for his being considered as an ambassador. They, there-

fore, desired Awashaw to inform Ninigret of it, that he might send him to

them again, " the better to clear himself." This we apprehend was not done.
Awashaw next notified the court that he had not done with them, " where-
upon he was sent tor to speak what he had further to propound." He de-
manded how they came by then' information " of all these things touching
Ninigret." They said from several Lidians, particularly " the Monheage Li-

dian and the Narraganset Indian, which were both taken by Uncos his men,
who had confessed the plot before Mr. Haines at Hartford." Awashaw also

demanded restitution of the wampum taken by Uncos. The commissioners
told him that they had not as yet understood of the truth of that action, but
when they had thoroughly examined it, he should have an answer.

So, all this legislating was about NinigreVs going to the Dutch ; for as to a
plot there appeai-s no evidence of any ; but when Uncos had committed a
great depredation upon Ninigret, why—" that altered the case "—they must
inquire into it, which doubtless was all right so far ; but if a like complaint
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bad ])een jireferred against JVinigret by Uncos, we have reason to think it

would have been forthwitli " inquired uito," at least, without an if.

A storj', it cannot be called evidence, told by Uncos, relatuig to J^PmigreVs
visit to the Dutch, is recorded by the commissioners, and which, if it amoimt
to any thing, goes to i)rove himself guilty, and is indeed an acknowledgment
of his o\vn perfidy in taking JVinigreVs boat and goods, as charged by Awo-
shaiv. It is as follows :

—

" Uncas, the Mohegan sachem, came lately to Mr. Hams' house at Hartford,
and informed him that JVinnigrett, sachem of the Niantick Narragansetts
went this winter to the Mouhatocs" and made a league with the Dutch gov
ernor, and for a large present of wampum received 20 guns and a great box
of powder and bullets. J^nigret told him of the great injm-ies he had
sustained from Uncos and the English. That on the other side of Hudson's
River, JVinigret had a conference with a great many Lidiau sagamores, and
desired their aid to cut off theMohegans and English. Also, that, about two
yeai's since, JVinigret " sent to the Monheage sachem, and gave him a present
of wampum, jiressing him to pi-ocure a man skilful in magic workings, and
an artist in poisoning, .and send unto him ; and he should receive more one
hundredth lathom of wampum, which was to have been conveyed to the
Monheage sachem, and the powaugh at the retiu*n of him that was to bruig
the poison. Uncas having intelligence of these things, caused a narrow
watcli to be set, by sea and land, for the apprehending of those persons; and
accordingly took them r. tm-ning in a canoe to the number of seven : whereof
four of them were Narragansets, two strangers and one Pequatt. This was
done in his absence, while he was with Mr. Haints, at Couecticott, and carried

by those of his men that took them to Mohegan. Being there examined, two
of them, the [Wampeagc*] sachem's brother, and one Narraganset freely con-
fessed the whole plot formerly expressed, and that one of their company was
that powaugh and prisoner, pointmg out the man. Upon this, his men in a
rage slew him, fearing, as he said, least he should make an escape, or other-

wise do either mischief to Uncas or the English, in case they should carry

him with the rest before them, to Conecticott to be fuither examuied. And
being brought to Conecticott before Mr. Haines, and examined, did assert

these particulars."

An Indian squaw also informed " an inhabitant of Wetherefield, that the

Dutch and Indians generally were" confederating to cut off the English, and
that election day, [1G54,] was the time set, "because then it is apprehended
the plantations will be left naked and unable to defend themselves, the strength

of the English colonies being gathered from the several towns. And tlie

aforesaid squaw advised the said inhabitants to acquaint the rest of tlie Eng-
lish witli it, desiring they would remember how dear tlieir slighting of her
former information of the Pequots coming upon the English cost them."t

It would seem, from a careful examination of the records, that somethuig
had been suggested either by tlie Dutch or Indians, about "cutting off the

Eugiisli," which justice to JVinigret requires us to state, migiit have been the

case without his knowledge or participation. For, the testimony of the mes-
sengers of " nine Lidian sagamores wlio live about the 3Ionhatoes" no how
implicates him, and, therefore, cannot be taken into account, any more than

' See declaralion onward In the records, (//«;. ii. 'Zi'i.)

t Referring to au allair of l(Jo7, wiiiili Dr. /. Mather relates as follows: " In the interim,

[while Capt Mrnton was )>rotrriin;j Savlirook fort,] many of the Pequods went to a place

now called Welhersjielil on donneclicnt River, and having confederated with the Indians of
that place, (as it was generally thought,) they laid in ambush for the English people of that

place, aiid divers of llicm going to their labor in a large field adjoining to the town, were set

upon by the Indians. Nine of the English were slain upon the place, and some horses, and
two young women were taken cajitive.'' lidation of Uie Troubles, Si,c.^(>.—Dr. Tntmbidl
says this happened in April. Hist. Con. i. 77.

'I'hc cause of this act of the Pequots, according to Winthrop, i. iJGO, was this. An Indian

called Sequin had given the Endish lands at Wethersfield, that he might live by them and be
oroteeled from other Indians, nut when he came there, aiid had set down his wigwam, the

English drove him awav by force. And henco it was supposed that he had plotted the'f

destruction, as above related, with the Pequots.
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what an Indian named Ronnessoke told JVicholas Tanner, as interpreted by
another Indian called Addam ; the latter, though relating to JVinigreVs visit,

was only a heai-say affair. Ronnessoke was a sagamore of Long Island.

Addatn also interpreted the story of another Indian, called Powanege, " who
saith he came from the Indians who dwell over the river, over against the

Monhatoes, where tJie plot is a working, that was this : that the Dutchmen
asked the Lidians whether they would leave them at the last cast, or stand up
with them. And told tiie Indians they should fear nothing, and not be dis-

couraged because the plot was discovered," «fec.

Addam the intei^preter had also a storj' to tell. He said, " this spring [1653,

O. S.] the Dutch governor went to Fort Aurauia, [smce Albany,] and first

went to a place called Ackicksack, [Hackinsack,] a gi-eat place of Indians, from
thence to Monnesick, [Minisink,] thence to Opingona, thence to Wairanoke,
thence to Fort Aurania : And so fai* he went in his own person. From
thence he sent to Pocomtock, [Deerfield, on the Connecticut,] and he earned
with him many note of sewan, that is, bags of wampinn, and delivered them
to the sagamores of the places, and they were to distribute them amongst their

men ; and mthal he carried powder, shot, cloth, lead and guns ; and told them
he would get all the gi-eat Lidians under him, and the English should have the

scum of the Indians, and he would have those sagamores with their men t'>

cut off the English, and to be at his conmiaud whenever he had use of them,
and he was to find them powder and shot till he had need of them. Further
he sent one Govert, a Dutchman, to Marsey, on Long Island, to JVittanahom,

the sagamore, to assist him and to do for him what he would have [him] do

:

But the sagamore told him he would have nothing to [do] with it : whereupon
Govert gcve the sagamore a great kettle to be silent. JS/ittanaham told him he
had but 20 men, and the English had never done him wrong, [and] he had no
cause to fight against them. Further, he saith that Ninnegrett, the fiscal,* and
the Dutch governor were up two days in a close room, with other sagamores

;

and there was no speaking with any of them except when they came for a coal

of fire, f or the like. And much sewan was seen at that time in JVinnegret s

hand, and he cairied none away with him ;
" and that Ronnesseoke told him that

the governor bid him fly for his life, for the plot was now discovered.

Nevertheless, as for any positive testimony that JS/inigret was plotting against

the English, there is none. That he was in a room to avoid company, Avhile

his physician was attending him, is verj' probable.

In a long letter, dated 26th May, 1653, which the governor ofNew Amster-
dam, Peter Stiiyvesant, wrote to the English, is the following passage :—" It is

in part true, as your worehips conclude, that, about January, there came a
strange Lidian from the north, called Ninnigrett, commander of the Narragta-
sets. But he came hither with a pass from Mr. John Winthrop. Upon which
pass, as we remember, the occasion of his comuig was expressed, namely, to

be cured and healed ; and if, upon the othei- side of the river, there hath been
any assembly or meeting of the Indians, or of their sagamores, we know not
[of it.] We heard that he hath been upon Long Island, about Nayacke, where
he hath been for the most part of the %vinter, and hath had several Indians
with him, but what he hath negotiated with them remains to us unknown

:

only this we know, that what your worships lay unto our charge ai'e false

reports, and feigned informations."

The war with Ascassasotic, of which we shall give all the particulars in our
possession, was the next affau* of any considerable moment in the life of
.Yinigret.

In 1654, the government of Rhode Island communicated to Massachusetts,
that the last summer, JVinigret, without any cause, " that he doth so much as
allege, fell upon the Long Island Indians, our friends and tributaries," and
Ivilled many of them, and took others prisoners, and would not restore them.
*' This summer he hath made two assaults upon them ; in one whereof he
killed a man and woman, that lived upon the land of the English, and Avithii.

* A Dulch officer, whose duty is similar to that of treasurer amonff the English,

t To light their pipes, doubtless—the Dutch asrreeing' well, in the particular of smvking,
writh the Indian«.
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one ol" their townships; and another Indian, that kept the cows of the Eng-
lish." He had drawn many of the foreign Indians doA\'ii from Connecticut
and Hudson Rivers, who rendezvoused upon Winthrop's Island, where they
killed some of his cattle.* This wai* began in 1653, and continued " several

years." t

The commissioners of the United Colonies seemed blind to all complaints
against Uncos ; but the Nan-agansets were watched and harussed without
ceasing. Wherever we meet with an unpublished document of those timrs,

the fact is veiy apparent. The chief of the writers of the history of that

jjeriod copy from the records of the United Colonies, which accounts tor

their making out a good case for the English and Mohegans. The spuit

which actuated the gi"ave commissioners is easily discovered, and I need only

refer my readers to the case of Miantunnomoh. Desperate errors require

others, oftentimes still more desperate, until the first appear small compai-ed
with the magnitude of the last! It is all along discoverable, that those
venerable records are made up from one kind of evidence, and that when a

Narraganset appeared in his own defence, so many of his enemies stood

ready to give him the lie, that his indignant spirit could not stoop to contra-

dict or parley with them ; and thus his assumed guilt passed on for histor}'.

The long-silenced and borne-down friend of the Indians of Moosehausic,t no
longer sleeps. Amidst his toils and perils, he found time to raise his pen in

their defence ; and though his letters for a season slept with him, they are now
awaking at the voice of day.

When the Englisli had resolved, in 1654, to send a force against the Nar-
ragansets, because they had had difficulties and wars with ^scassasotic, as we
have related, Mr. Williams expressed his views of the matter in a letter to the

governor of Massachusetts as follows :
—" The cause and root of all the present

mischiefs is the pride of two barbai'ians, Ascassasotick, the Long Island sachem,
and J^entkunat of the Narigeuset. The former is proud and toolish, the latter

is proud and fierce. 1 have not seen Inm these many years, yet, from their

sober men, I hear he pleads, 1st. that Ascassasutick, a very inferior sachem,
(bearing hunself upon the English,) hath slain three or four of his peoj)le,

and since that sent him challenges and darings to figiit and mend himself.

2d. He, JV*ejie/:una<, consulted by solemn messengers, with the chief of the Eng-
lish governors, Maj. Endicot, then governor of the Massachusetts, who sent him
an implicit consent to right himself: upon which they al! plead that the English

have just occasion of displeasure. 3d. Alter he had taken revenge upon tbe

Long Lilanders, and brought away about 14 captives, (divers of them chief

women,) yet he restored them all again, upon the mediation and desire of the

English. 4th. After this peace [was] made, the Long Islanders pretending

to visit JVenekunat at Block Island, slaughtered of his Narragansets near 30
l)ersons, at midnifrht ; two of them of oeat note, especially IVepitcammocKs
son, to whom JVcnckunat was uncle. 5th. In the prosecution of this war,

although he had drawn down the in];uidei-s to his assistance, yet, upon pro-

testation of the English against his proceedings, he retreated and dissolved liis

army. §
The great Indian apostle looked not so much into these particulars, being

entirely engaged in the cause of the praying Indians ; but yet we occasionally

meet witii iiim, and will here introduce him, as an evidence against the

proceedings of Unca^f, and his friends the commissioners:
" The case of the Nipuuik Indians, so far as by the best and most credible in

telligence, I have understood, presented to the honored general court, [of Mas-
sachusetts,] 1. Unras his men, at unawares, set upon an unarmed })oor people,

and slew eight persons, and carried ca|)tive twenty-four women and chiidron.

2. Some of these were subjects to Massachusetts govermnent, by being the

subjects of Jo.iia.i.
\\

3. They sued for relief to the worshi|)ful governor and
magistrat(!S. 4. They were i)lea8cd to send, (by some Indians,) a commission
to Capt. Deniso7i, [of Stonington,] to demand these cajjtives. 5. Uncas his

* Manuscript documents. t H'cik/'s Hist. Loiijf Island. f Providence.

S'l

From llie oiiffinal letter, in miinuscript. aiiioii'; llie (lies in our sl;ilf"-l)ouse

."Son of Chikiitiiuhiil

i
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answer was, (as I lieard,) insolent. 6. They did not only abuse the women
by filthiness, but have, since this demand, sold away (as I hear) some or all

of those captives. 7. The poor bereaved Indians wait to see what you please to

do. 8. You were pleased to tell them, you would present it to the free court,

and they should expect their answer from them, which they now wait for.

9. JVenecroJl, yea, all the Lidians of the counti-y, wait to see the issue of this

matter." *

This memorial is dated 12th May, 1659, and signed by John Eliot ; from
which it is evident there had been great delay in relieving those distressed

by the haughty Uncas. And yet, if he were caused to make remuneration in

any Avay, we do not fmd any account of it.

In 1660, " the general court of Connecticut did, by their letters directed to

the commissioners of the other colonies, this last summer, represent an
intolerable affront done by the Narraganset Indians, and the same was now
complained of by the English living at a new plantation at Mohegan, viz

:

that some Lidians did, m the dead time of the night, shoot eight bullets into

an English house, and fired the same ; wherein five Englishmen were asleep.

Of which insolency the Narraganset sachems have so far taken notice, as to

send a slight excuse by Maj. Atherton, that they did neither consent to nor

allow of such practices, but make no tender of satisfaction." f But they

asked the privilege to meet the commissioners at their next session, at which
time they gave them to understand that satisfaction should be made. This
could not have been other than a reasonable request, but it was not granted

;

and messengers were forthwith ordered to " repair to JVinigret, Pessicus,

JVoquacanoose, and the rest of the Narraganset sachems," to demand " at least

four of the chief of them that shot into the Englisli house." And in case

they should not be delivered, to demand five hundred fathoms of wampum.
They were directed, in particular, to " charge JVinigret with breach of cove-

nant, and high neglect of their order, sent them by Maj. fVillard, six yeai's

since, not to invade the Long Island Indians ; and [that they] do account the

surprising the Long Island Indians at Gull Island, and murdering of them,

to be an insolent carriage to the English, and a barbarous and inhuman act."

These are only a few of the most prominent charges, and five hundred and
ninety-five | fathoms ofwampum was the price demanded for them ; and " the

general court of Connecticut is desired and empowered to send a convenient
company of men, under some discreet leader, to force satisfaction of the

same above said, and the charges of recovering the same ; and in case the

persons be delivered, they shall be sent to Barbadoes," § and sold for slaves.

It appeai-s that the force sent by Connecticut could not collect the wampum,
Qor secure the oflfenders ; but for the payment, condescended to take a mortgage
of all the Narraganset country, with the provision that it should be void, if it

were paid in four mouths. Quissoquus,
\\
JVeneglud, and Scuttup, M signed the

deed.

JVinigret did not engage with the other Narraganset chiefs, in Philip^s war.

Dr. J\Iather ** calls him an " old crafty sachem, who had with some of his men
withdi'awn himself from the rest." He must at this time have been " an old

sachem," for we meet with him as a cliief, as early as 1632.

Although JVinigret was not personally engaged in Philip's war, still he
must have sufl'ered considerably from it ; often being obliged to send his

people to the English, to gratify some whim or caprice, and at other times
to appear huuself On 10 Sept. 1675, eight of his men came as ambassadors
to Boston, " having a certificate from Capt. Smii/i," ft who o^vned a large

* Manuscript state paper. \ Record of the United Colonies, in Hazard.

X The additional ninety-five was for another offence, viz. " for the insolencies committed a»

Mr. Brewster's, in killing an Indian servant at Mrs. Brewster's feet, to her great affrightment,

uid steaHng corn, &c., and other eiffronts." Hazard, ii. 433.
6 Records of the United Colonies, in Hazard.

ll
The same called Quequegunent, the son of Magnzis. Newcom and Awashars wer«'

witnesses. The deed itself may be seen on file among our State Papers.
IT Grandson of Canonicus, son of Magnus, and brother of Qu-;quegn)ieii'.
** Brief History, 20.

ft Captain Richard Smith, probably, who settled quite early in that coimlry. We fiiio

him there 15 years before this.

13 K



146 NIMGRET.—DIVISION OF THE PLuuUlS. [tJooK If.

estate in Nanaganset. After having finished their business, they received
a pass from the authorities to return to their own country. This certificate

or pass was fastened to a staff and carried by one in front of the rest. As
they were going out of Boston " a back way," two men met them, and seized
upon him that carried the pass. These men were brothers, wlio had had a
brother killed by Philip's men some time before. This Indian they accused
of killing him, and in court swore to his identity, and he was in a few days
hanged.*

Notwithstanding these affairs, another embassy was soon after sent to

Boston. On the 15 September " the authority of Boston sent a party " to order
JVinigret to appear there in person, to give an account of his sheltering
Qiiaiapen, the squaw-sachem of Narraganset. He sent word that he would
come " provided he might be safely returned back." Mr. Smith, " living near
him, offered himself, wife and children, and estate, as hostages " for his safe

return, and the embassy forthwith departed for Boston. A son, f however, of
JVinigret, was deputed prime minister, "he himself being very aged."

Captain Smith accompanied them, and when they came to Roxbury they
were met by a company of English soldiers, whose martial appearance so

frightened tliem, that, had it not been for the presence of Mr. Smith, they

would have escaped as from an enemy.
Tliey remained at Boston several days, until " by degrees they came to this

agreement: That they were to deliver the squaw-sachem within so many
days at Boston ; and the league of peace was then by them confirmed, which
was much to the general satisfaction ; but many had hard thoughts of them,

fearing they will at last prove treacherous." I

JVinigret was opposed to Christianity ; not perhaps so much from a disbelief

of it, as from a dislike of the ])ractices of those who professed it. When Mr.
Mayhew desired JVinigret to allow him to preach to his people, the sagacious

chief "bid him go and make the English good first, and chid Mr. Mayhew ior

hindering him from his business and labor." §

There were other Niantick sachems of this name, who succeeded J\tnigrct.

According to the author of the " Memoir of the Mohegans,"
||
one would

suppose he was alive in 171G, as that writer himself supposed ; but if the

anecdote there given be true, it related doubtless to Charles J^ini^ret, who, I

suppose, was his son. He is mentioned by JMason, in his history ot the Pequot

war, as having received a part of the goods taken from Captain Stone, at the

time he was killed by the Pequots, in 1G34. The time of his death has not

been ascertained.

The burying-places of the family of JVinigret are in Charlcsto^vn, R. 1. It

is said that the old chief was buried at a place called Burying Hill, "a milo

from the street." A stone iu one of the places of interment has this inscrip-

tion :

—

" Here leth the Body of George, the son of Charles A''inigret, King of the

JVaiives, and of Hannah his IVifv. Died Decern', y 22, 1732 : aged 6 mo.^'

" George, the last king, was brother of Mary Sachem, who is now, [1832,]

sok heir to the crown. Mary does not know lier age ; but from data given by

her husband, John Harnj, slie must be al)out (iti. Her motlier's father wjis

George JVinigret. Thomas his son was the next king. Esther, sister of Thomas.

George, the brother of Mary above named, and the last khig crowned, died

aged about 20 years. George was son of Esther. Maiy has daughtei-s, but no
sons." H
On a division of the captive Pe(iuots, in 1037, AnuVn/ was to have twenty

" when lie siiould satisfy for a mare oi' Ellweed** Pomroye's killed by his men "

This remained unsettled in U\~)i\ a space of twenty-two years. This debt

cirtainly was oidlawed ! Poquiii, or Poquoiam, was the name of the man who
killed the mare.ft He was a Pecpiot, and brother-in-law to Miantunnomon,

and was among those captives assigned to him at their final dispersion, when

• Old Indian Cliroiiiclo, 30. t Probahlv Catapa:at.

t Old lii.iiaii Cliroiii(lo,32. $ Douglas's 8uminary, ii- i)8.

II
hi I Co/l. Mass. Hist. Soc. ix. 83. Tf MS. communicalion ol Rev. Wm. idy.

" l'';niiilr«rlv called Klty, probably from Lltwood. ft Hazard, ii. 188, 189.
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the Pequot wai* was ended ; at which time Pomeroy states " all sorts of horses
were at an high price." Miantunnotnoh had agreed to pay the demand, l)Ut

his death prevented him. JVinigi-et was called upon, as he inherited a

considerable part of Miantunnomoh's estate, especially his part of the Pequots,

of whom Poquoiam was one. He was afterwards called a Niantick and
brother to .Yinigret.*

Pessaci , often mentioned in the preceding pages, though under a variety

of names, s born about 1623, and, consequently, was about 20 years of age

when his b/other, Miantunnomoh, was killed, f The same arbitrary com-se, as

we have seen already in the present chapter, was pursued towards him by the

English, as had been before towards Miantunnomoh, and still contmued
towards JVinigret, and other Narraganset chiefs. Mr. Cohhet\ makes this

record of him: "In the year 1645, proud Pessacus with his Narragansets, with
whom JVinigret and his Niantigs join ; so as to provoke the English to a just

war against them. And, accordingly, forces were sent from all the towns to

meet at Boston, and did so, and had a party of fifty hoi-se to go with them
under Mr. Leveret, as the captain of the horse." Edward Gibbons was
commander in cliief, and Mr. Thompson, pastor of the church in Braintree,
" was to sound the silver trumpet along with his array." § But they were
met by deputies from Pessacus and the other chiefs, and an accommodation
took place, as mentioned in the account of JVinigret.

The commissioners, having met at New Haven in September 1646, expected,

according to the treaty made at Boston with the Narragansets, as particu-

larized in the life of Uncas, that they would now meet them here to settle the

remaining difficulties with that chief. But the time having nearly expired,

and none appearing, " the commissioners did seriously consider what course

should be taken with them. They called to minde their breach of couenant
in all the articles, that when aboue 1300 fadome of wampan was due they

sent, as if they would put a scorne vpon the [English,] 20 fathome, and a few
old kettles." The Narragansets said it was owing to the backwardness of
the Nianticks that the wampum had not been paid, and the Nianticks laid it

to the Narragansets. One hundred fathom had been sent to the governor
of Massachusetts as a present by the Nianticks, they promising " to send

what Avas due to the colonies uery speedily," but he would not accept of it.

He told them they might leave it witli Cuchamakin, and when they had
performed the rest of their agreement, " he would consider of it." The
commissionei-s had understood, that, in the mean time, the Narraganset
sachems had raised wampum among then- men, "and by good euideuce it

appeared, that by presents ofwampum, they ai-e practisinge with the Mohawkes,
and with the Indyans in those parts, to engage them hi some designe against

the English and Vncus." Therefore, " the commissionei-s haue a cleare way
open to right themselues, accordinge to iustice by war; yet to shew how highly

they prize peace with all men, and ])aiticulai-ly to manifest their forbearance and
long sufFeriuge to these barbarians, it was agreede, that fu-st the forenientioned

present should be returned," and then a declaration of war to follow.

At the same court, complaint was brought against the people of Pessacus by
" Mr. Pelham on behalf of Richard Woody and Mr. Pincham,'" [Pirxhon,] that

they had connnitted sundry thefts. Mr. Brotvn, on behalf of Wni. Smith of
Rehoboth, preferred a similar charge ; but the Indians having no knowledge of
the procedure, it was suspended.
Thus the NaiTagansets were suffered to remain unmolested until the next

year, and we do not hear that the story about their hiring the Mohawks and
others to assist them against Uncas and the English, turned out to be any
thing else but a sort of bugbear, probably invented by the Mohegaus. " One
principall cause of the comissioners meetinge together at this time, [26 July,

1647,] being," say the records, " to consider what course should be held with
the Narraganset Indyans ; " the charges being at this time nnich the same as

at the previous meeting. It was therefore ordered that Thomas Stanton,

* See Hazard, ii. 152.

t MS. leUer, subscribed with the mark of the sachem Pumham, on the file at our capital.

|Ma.ss.)

t Ms Narrative. ^ Mather's Relation, and Hazard.
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Benedict Arnold, and Sergeant Waite should be sent to Pessacks, J^enegraU
and JVebetamuk, to know why they had not paid the wampum as they agreed,
and why they did not come to New Haven ; and that now they might meet
Uncos at Boston ; and therefore were advised to attend there without delay

;

but "yf they refuse or delay, they intend to send no more," and they must
abide the consequences. When the English messengers had delivered their

message to Pessaciis, he spoke to them as follows :

—

" The reason I did not meet the English sachems at New Haven last year,

is, they did not notify me. It is true I have broken my covenant these two
years, and that now is, and constantly has been, the grief of my spirit. And
the reason I do not meet them now at Boston is because I am sick. If I were
but pretty well I would go. I have sent my mind in full to JVinigret, and
what he does I will abide by. I have sent Potvpynamett and Pomumsks to go
and hear, and testify that I have betrusted my full muid with JVenegratt. You
know well, however, that when I made that covenant two years ago, I did it

in fear of the army that I did see ; and though the English kept their cove-
nant with me, yet they were ready to go to Narraganset and kill me, and
the commissioners said they would do it, if I did not sign what they had
written."

Moyanno, another chief, said he had confided the business with Ninigrtt last

spring, and would now abide by whatever he should do.

When the English messengers returned and made knovra what had been
done, the commissioners said that Pessacus' speech contained " seuerall pas-

sages of vntruth and guile, and [they] were vnsatisfyed."

What measures the Whites took "to right themselues," or whether any,

immediately, is not very distinctly stated ; but, the next year, 1648, there were
some military movements of the English, and a company of soldiers was sent

into Narraganset, occasioned by the non-payment of the tribute, and some
other less important matters. Pessacus, having knowledge of their approach,
fled to Rhode Island. "JVinicraft entertained them courteously, (there they
staid the Lord's day,) and came back with them to Mr. WUliams', and then
Pessacus and Canonicus' son, being delivered of their fear, came to them ; and
being demanded about hiring the 3Iohawks against Uncas, they solemnly
denied it ; only they confessed, that the Mohawks, being a great sachem, and
their ancient friend, and being come so near them, they sent some 20 fathom
of wampum for him to tread upon, as the manner of Indians is."* The
matter seems to have rested here ; Pessacus, as usual, having promised what
was desired.

This chief was killed by the Mohawks, as we have stated in the life of Ca-
nonmis. His life was a scene of almost jierpetual troubles. As late as Sep-
tember, 1668, his natne stands first among othei-s of his nation, in a complaint
Bent to them by Massachusetts. The messengers sent with it were, Rich'.

Wayt, Captain W. Wright, and Captain Sam'. Mosely ; and it was in terms
tlius :

—

" Whereas Capt. Wm. Hudson and John Viall of Boston, in the name of
themselves and othei-s, proprietors of lands and farms in the Niuraganset

country, have complained unto us, [the court of Mass.,] of the great insolen-

cies and injuries offered unto them and their people by several, as l)uniing

their hay, killing sundry horses, and in special manner, about one month since,

forced some of their people from their labors in mowing grass upon their own
land, and assaulted others in the high way, as they rode about their occasions

;

by throwing many stones at tliem and their horses, and beating their horses as

they rode upon them," &c. Tlie remonstrance then goes on warning them to

desist, or otherwise they might expect severity. Had Mostly been as well

known then among the Indians, as he was aflerwards, his presence would
rioubtless have been enough to liave caused quietness, as pernai)8 it did even
ut this time.

* Winthrop's Journa).
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CHAPTER V.

Uncas—i/fcs character—Connections— Geography of the Mohegun country— General

account of that nation— Uncas joins the English against the Pequots— Captures a

chief at Sachem's Head— Visits Boston—His speech to Governor Winthrop— Speci-

men of the Moficgan language—Sequasson— The war beticeeti Uncas and Miantunno-

moh—Examination of its cause— The Narragansets determine to avenge thei?

sachem's death—Forces raised to protect Uncas—Pessacus— Great distress of Uncas
— Timely relief from Connecticut— Treaty of 1645

—

Frequent complaints against

Uncas— IVequash— Obechickwod—Nowequa— Woosamequin.

Uncas, called also Poquin, Poquoiam, Poquim, sachem of the Mohegans, of

whom we have already had occasion to say considerable, has left no very

favorable character upon record. His life is a sei-ies of changes, without any
of those brilliant acts of magnanimity, which throw a veil over numerous
erroi-s. Mr. Gookin gives us this character of him in the year 1674 : (Mr.

James Fitch having been sent about this time to preach among the Mohegans:)
" I am aj)t to fear," says he, " that a great olistruction unto his labors is in the

fiachem of those Indians, whose name is Unkas ; an old and wicked, wilful

man, a drunkard, and otherwise very vicious ; who hath always been an
o])poser and underininer of praying to God." * Nevertheless, the charitable

ftlr. Hubbard, when he wrote his Narrative, seems to have had some hopes
that he was a Christian, with about the same grounds, nay better, perhaps,

than those on which Bishop Warburton declared Pope to be such.

Uncas lived to a great age. He Was a sachem before the Pequot wars, and
was alive in 1680. At this time, Mr. Hubbard makes this remark upon him

:

"He is alive and well, and may probably live to see all his enemies buried

before him."t
From an epitaph on one of his sons, copied in the Historical Collections,

we do not infer, as the \vi*iter there seems to have done, " that the race of
Uncas " was " obnoxious in collonial histoi-y ; " but rather attribute it to some
waggish Englishman, who had no other design than that of making sport for

himself and othere of like humoi*. It is upon his tomb-stone, and is as

follows :

—

" Here lies the body of Sunseeto
Own son to Uncas grandson to Oneko X

Who were ihe famous sachems of Mohegan
But now they are all dead I think it is werheegen." §

The connections of Uncas were somewhat numerous, and the names of
several of them will be found as we proceed ^vith his life, and elsewhere.
Oneko, a son, was the most noted of them.

In the beginning of August, 1675, Uncas was ordered to appear at Boston,
and to sim-ender his arms to the English, and give such other security for hia

neutrality or cooperation in the war now begun between the English and
Wampanoags, as might be requii-ed of him. The messenger who was sent to

make this requisition, soon returned to Boston, accompanied by three sous of
Uncas and about 60 of his men, and a quantity of arms. The two younger
sons were taken into custody as hostages, and sent to Cambridge, where they
were remaining as late as the 10 November following. They are said to have
been at this time not far from 30 years of age, but their names are not men-

* 1 Coll. ATass. Hist. Sac. i. 208. Moheek, since Montville, Connecticut, about 10 miles
north of New London, is the place " where UnAas, and his sons, and yVajiuko, are sachems."
Ibid.

t Hist. New Eng. 464.—" Allhoush he be a friend to the English, yet he and all his men
continue pagans still," 1676. Dr. L Mather, Brief Hist. 45.

X The writer or sculptor no doubt meant the contrary of this, if, indeed, he may be said to

have meant any thing.

§ A genuine Indian word, and, as it is used here, means, simply, well. " Then they bid
me stir mj' instep, to see if that were frozen : I did so. When they saw that, ihey said that

was wurrege.'i." Stockivell's Nar. of his Captivity among the hidians in 1677.
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tioued.* Oneko was employed with his 60 men, and proceeded on an expe*

ditiou, as will be found stated elsewhere.

Uncus was originally a Peqiiot, and one of the 26 war captains of that

famous, but ill-fated nation. Upon some intestine commotions, he revolted

against his sachem, and set up for himself This took place about the time

that nation became known to the English, perhaps in 1634 or 5 ; or, as it

would seem from some circumstances, in the beginning of the Pequot war.

Peters, f an author of not much authority, says, that the " colonists declared

him King of Mohegan, to reward him for deserting Sassaciis." We are told,

by the same author, that, after the death of Uncos, Oneko would not deed any
lands to the colony ; upon which he was deposed, and his natural brother,

Mimileck, was, by the English, advanced to the ofiice of chief sachem.
Oneko, not acknowledging the validity of this procedure, sold, in process of
time, all his lands to two individuals, named Mason and Harrison. But,

meantime, AhimUeck sold the same lands to the colony. A lawsuit followed,

and was, at first, decided m favor of the colony ; but, on a second trial. Mason
and Harrison got the case

—

hut not the property; for, as Peters tells us, "the
colony kept possession under AhimUeck, their created King of Mohegan," and
"found means to confound the claim of those competitoi-s without establishing

their own."
By the revolt of Uncas, the Pequot territories became divided, and that part

called Moheag, or Mohegan, fell generally under his dominion, and extended

from near the Connecticut River on the south, to a space of disputed country

on the north, next the NaiTagansets. By a recurrence to our account of the

dominions of the Pequots and Narragansets, a pretty clear idea may be had
of all three.

This sachem seems early to have courted the favor of the English, which,

it is reasonable to suppose, was occasioned by the fear he was in from his

potent and warlike neighbors, both on the north and on the south. In May,
1637, he was prevailed upon to join the English in their war upon the

Pequots. Knowing the relation in which he stood to them, the English at

first were nearly as afraid of Uncas and his men, as they were of the Pequots.

But when, on the 15 of the same month, they had arrived at Saybrook fort, a

circumstance happened that tended much to remove their suspicions, and is

related by Dr. Mather as follows : " Some of Uncas his men being then at

Saybrook, in order to assisting the English against the Pequots, espied seven

Indians, and slily encompassing them, slew five of them, and took one prison-

er, and brought him to the English fort, which was great satisfaction and en-

couragement to the English ; who, before that exploit, had many fears touch-

ing the fidelity of the Moheag Indians. He whom they took prisoner was a

f»erfidious villain, one that could speak English well, having in times past

ived in the fort, and knowing all the English there, hail been at the slaughter-

ing of all the English that were slaughtered thereabouts. He was a contin-

ual spy about the fort, informing Sassacus of what he could learn. When
this bloody traitor was executed, his limbs were by violence pulled from one
another, and burned to ashes. Some of the Indian exccutionei-s biu-barously

taking his flesh, they gave it to one another, and did tat it, withal singing

about the fire." J

Notwithstanding, both Uncas and Miantunnomnh were accused of harboring

fugitive Pequots, after ihe Mystic fight, us our accounts will abundantly prove.

It is true they had agreed not to harbor them, but |)erhaps the i)hilanthropist

will not judge them harder for erring on the score of mercy, than their Eng-
lish friends for their strictly religious pt-rseverancc in rev»nigo.

A traditionary story of Uncas pursuing, overtaking, and ex«>cuting a Pequot
sachem, as given in the Historical Collections, may not be unqualifiedly true.

It was after Mystic fight, and is as follows: Most of the English forces piu*-

sued the fugitives by water, westward, while some followed by land with

Uncas and his Indians. At a point of land in Guilford, they came upon a

great Pequot sachem, and a few of his men. Knowing tliey were piu-sued,

* Old Indian Cliroiiirlc, 15. t I" his Hist, of Coniirciiiiii.

X Relation of ilic Troiihles, Si.c. 40.
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they had gone into an aljacent peninsula, "hoping their pursuers would
have passed by tlieni. Bui Uncos knew Indian's cratt, and ordered some ol

his men to search that point. The Pequots perceiving tliat they were pur
sued, swam over the mouth of the harbor, which is narrow. But they wert
waylaid, and taken as they landed. The sachem was sentenced to be shot tc

death. Uncos shot him with an aiTOW, cut oti" his head, and stuck it up in

the crotch of a large oak-tree near the haibor, vvliere the skull rejnained for

a great many years." * This was the origin of Sachem's Head, by which
name tiie harbor of Guilford is well-known to coasters.

Dr. Mather records the expedition of the English, but makes no mention of
Uncos. He says, they set out from Saybrook fort, and "sailed westwaj'd in

pm-suit of the Pequots, who were fled that way. Sailing along to the westward
of Mononowuttuck, the wind not answermg their desu'es, they cast anchor.''

" Some scattering Pequots were then taken and slain, as also the Pequot
sachem, before expressed,! ha*i ^lis head cut off, whence that place did bear

the name of Sachem's Head."|
Uncos^s fear of the Pequots was doubtless the cause of his hostility to

them ; and when he saw them vanquished, he probably began to relent his

miprovoked severity towards his countiymen, many of whom were his near

relations ; and this may account for his endeavors to screen some of them
from their more vindictive enemies. The next spruig after the war, 5 March,
1638, " Unkus, alias Okoco, the Monahegan sachem in the twist of Pequod
River, came to Boston with 37 men. He came from Connecticut with Mr.
Haynes, and tendered the governor a present of 20 fathom of wampum.
This was at com-t, and it was thought fit by the council to refuse it, till he
bad given satisfaction about the Pequots he kept, «fcc. Upon this he was
much dejected, and made account we would have killed him ; but, two days

after, having received good satisfaction of his innocency, &c. and he promis-
ing to submit to the order of the English, touching the Pequots he had, and
the differences between tlie Narragansetts and him, we accepted his present.

And about half an hour after, he came to the governor," and made ti.e follow-

ing speech. Laying his hand upon his breast, he said,

" This heart is not mine, but yours. I have no men : they are all yours. Com-
mand me any difficult thing, I will do it. I will not believe any hvhoms' words
against the English. If any man shall kill on Englishman, I will put him to

death, were he never so dear to me."

"So the governor gave him a fair red coat, and defrayed his and his men's
diet, and gave tliem corn to relieve them homeward, and a letter of protection

to all men, &c. and he departed very joyful." §
For the gratification of the curious, we give, from Dr. Edioards's " Observa-

tions on the Muhkekaneew [3Iohegan] Language," tlie Lord's prayer in that

dialect. " JVogh-nuh, ne spummuck oi-e-on, tough mou-tveh wneh ivtu-ko-se-auk

ne-an-ne on-nu-woi-e-on. Tough ne aun-chu-wut-am-mun iva-weh-tu-seek ma-
tveh noh pum-mek. JVe oe-noi-hit-teeh mau-weh aw-ou-neek noh hkey oie-cheek,

ne aun-chu-wut-am-mun, ne ou-noi-hit-teet neek spum-muk oie-cheek. Mtn-e
nau-nuh noo-nooh wuh-hom-auk tquogh nuh uh-huy-u-tam-auk ngum-mau-weh
Ohq-u-ut-a-mou-iue-nau-nuh au-neh mu-ma-choi-e-au-keh he anneh ohq-u-ut-a-

mou-woi-e-auk num-peh neek mu-mo-cheh an-neh-o-quau-keet. Cheen hqu-uk-
quau-cheh-si-u-keh on-neh-e-henau-nuh. Pon-nee-weh htou-we-nau-nuh neen
maum-teh-keh. Ke-ah ng-weh-cheh kwi-ou-ivau-weh mau-weh noh pum-meh; kt-

an-woi ; es-tah aw-aun lo-tin-noi-yu-wun ne au-noi-e-yon ; han-wee-weh ne kt-

in-noi-een."

Such was the language of the Mohegans, the Pequots, the Narragansets and
Nipmucks ; or so near did they approach one another, that each could under-
stand the other through the united extent of their teiTitories.

Uticos was said to have been engaged in all the wars against his country-
men, on the part of the English, during his life-time.jj He shielded some of
the infant settlements of Connecticut hi times of troubles, especially Norwich

* Hist. Guilford, in 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. 100.

t His name is noi mentione I.
i_

Relation, 49.

{ Winthrop, Jour. i. 265-6 l| MS. con.miuiicalioii of Rov. Mr. Ely
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T<t the luhabitajits of this to\vii the INIohegans seemed more particulai'ly

attached, probably from the circumstance of some of its settlers having
relieved them when besieged by JVinigret, as will be found related in the

ensuing histoiy. The remnant of the Mohegans, in 1768, was settled in the

north-east corner of New London, about five miles south of Norwich ; at

which place they had a reservation.

The Mohegans had a burying-jjlace called the Royal hurying-ground, and
tJiis was set apart for the family of Uncas. It is close by the tails of the stream
called Yantic River, in Norwich city ;

" a beautiful and romantic spot," The
ground contauiing the grave of Uncas is at present OAvned by C. Goddard, Esq.
of Norwich. This gentleman has, very laudably, caused an inclosure to be
set about it.*

When the commissioners of the United Colonies had met in 1643, com-
plaint was made to them bj^ Uncas, that Miantunnomoh hud employed a Pequot
to kill him, and that this Pequot was one of his own subjects. He shot Uncas
with an arrow, and, not doubting but that he had accomplished his purpose,
" fled to the Nanohiggansets, or their confederates," and proclaimed that he
had killed him. " But when it was known Vncas was not dead, though
wounded, the traitor was taught to say that Uncus had cut through his own
arm with a flint, and hired the Pequot to say he had shot and killed him.
Myantinomo being sent for by the governor of the Massachusetts upon another
occasion, brought the Pequot with him : but when this disguise would not
serve, and that the English out of his [the Pcquot's] own mouth found him
guilty, and would have sent him to Uncus his sagamore to be proceeded
against, Myantinomo desired he might not be taken out of his hands, promising
[that] he would send [him] himself to Vncus to be examined and punished

;

but, contrary to his promise, and fearing, as it appears, his own treachery

might be discouered, he within a day or two cut off the Peacott's head, that

he might tell no tales. After this some attempts were made to poison Vncus,

and, as is reported, to take away his life by sorcery. That being discovered,

some of Sequasson's company, an Indian sagamore allied to, and an intimate

confederate with Myantinomo, shot at Uncus as he was going down Concctacatt

River with a arrow or two. Vncus, according to the foresaid agreement,"
which was, in case of dithculty between them, that the English should be
applied to as umpires, comi)lained to them. They endeavored to bring about
a peace between Uncas and Sequasson ; l)iit Sequasson would hear to no over-

tures of the kind, and intimated that he should bt; borne out in his resolution

by Miantunnomoh. The result was the war of which we have given an
account in the life of Miantunnomoh. We have also spoken there of the

agency of the English in the affair of Miantimnornoh^s death; but that no light

"jiay be withheld whicli can in any way reflect upon that important as well as

mfciiuicholy event, w(^ will give all that the commissioners have recorded in

thoir ;*j( ords concerning it. But fii-stly, wc should notice, that, aHer Mia7Uun-
nonwu vaa taken iirisoucr, the Indians aflirmed, (the adherents of Uncas
doubtless,) tti'it Miantunnomoh had engaged the Mohawks to join him in hi?

wai-s, and that ihey wrrc tli<ii < iicam|)ed only a day's journey from the fron-

tiei-s, waiting for him to attain ids liberty. The record then proceeds:

—

"These things being duly weighed and considered, the commissioner
apparently seo that l^ncus cvLiuwi be safe while Myantenomo lives; but that,

either by secret treachery or open force, his life will be still in danger.

Wherefore they think he may justly put such a false and blood-thirsty enemy
to death ; but in his own jurisdiction, not in the English plantations. .\iid

advising that, in the manner of his diath, all mercy and moderation be showed,
contrary to the |)ractic(! of the Indians who exercisi; tortun^s and cruelty.

And Vncus having hitherto shown himself a friend to the English, and in this

craving their advice; [thirei'ore,] if the Nanohiggansitts Indiiuis or others

Bhall unjustly assault Viicus for this execution, upon notice and request die

English promise to assist and protect him, as far as they may, against such

violence."

We presume not to commentate upon this affair, but we would ask whether

* 3 ('oil Mass. Hisl. Soo. iii. 135.
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it does not appear as probable, that Uncas had concerted the plan with his

Pequot subject for the destruction of JMiantunnomoh, as that the latter had
plotted for the destruction of the former. Else, why did Miantunno7noh put

the Pequot to death ? The commissioners do not say that the Pequot had by
his confession any how implicated J\Eantunnomoh. Now, if this Pequot had
been employed by him, it does not seem at all likely that he would have put

him to death, especially as he had not accused him. And, on the other hand,

if he had acknowledged himself guilty of attempting the life of his own
sachem, that it might be charged upon others, it is to us a plain reason why
MiajUunnomoh should put him to death, being fully satisfied of his guilt upon
his o^vn confession. It may be concluded, therefore, that the plot against

Uncas was of his own or his Pequot subject's planning. The Pequot's going
over to Miantunnomoh for protection is no evidence of that chief's participation

in his plot. And it is highly probable that, after they had left the English

court, his crime was aggravated, in Miantunnomoh^s view, by some new con-

fession or discovery, which caused him to be forthwith executed.

As though well assured that the justness of tlieir interference would be
called in question, the commissioners shortly after added another clause to

their records, as much in exoneration of their conduct as they could find

words in which to express themselves. They argue that, " whereas Uncas
was advised [by them] to take away the life of Miantunnotnoh whose lawful

captive he was, they [the Narragansets] may well understand that this is with-

out violation of any covenant between them and us ; for Uncas being in con-
federation with us, and one that hath diligently observed his covenants before

mentioned, for aught we know, and requiring advice from us, upon serious

consideration of the premises, viz. his treacherous and murderous disposition

against Uncas, &c. and how great a disturber he hath been of the common
peace of the whole country, we could not in respect of the justice of the case,

safety of the country, and faithfulness of our friend, do otherwise than approve
of the lawfidness of his death ; which agreeing so well with the Indians' own
manners, and concuning with the practice of other nations with whom we
are acquainted ; we persuaded ourselves, however his death may be giievous
at present, yet the peaceable fruits of it will yield not only matter of safety to

the Indians, but profit to all that inhabit this continent."

It is believed that the reader is now put in possession of eveiy thing that

the English could say for themselves, upon the execution of Miantunnomoh,
He will therefore be able to decide, whether, as we have stated, then- judg-
ment was made up of one kind of evidence ; and whether the Narragansets
oad any lawyers to advocate their cause before the commissioners.

After Miantunnomoh was executed, the Narragansets demanded satisfaction

of Uncas for the money they had raised and paid for the redemption of their

chief. This demand was through the English commissioners ; who, when
they were met, in Sept. 1644, deputed Thomas Stanton to notify both parties

to appear before them, that they might decide upon the case according to

the evidence which should be produced.
It appears that Kienenw,* the Niantick sachem, immediately deputed

JVedotvisse, a sachem, Paivpiamet and Pummumshe, captains, from the Narra-
gansets, with two of their men, to maintain their action before the conmiis-
sioners, and to complain of some insolences of Uncas besides-f On a full

hearing, the commissioners say, that nothing was substantiated by them.
" Though," they say, " several discourses had passed from Uncas and his

men, that for such quantities ofwampum and such parcels of other goods to

a great value, there might have been some probability of sparing his life."

Hence it appears that Uncas had actually entered upon a negotiation with
the Narragansets, as in the life of Miantunnomoh has been stated ; and it does
not, it is thought, require but a slight acquaintance with the general drift of

these afiairs, to discern, that Uncas had encouraged the Narragansets to send

* The same afterwards called Ninigret. Janemo was doubtless the pronunciation, J being
at that time pronounced ji ; therefore Jianemo miffht have been sometimes understood Kiane-
mo. Winthrop writes the name Ayanemo in one instance.

t The author of Tales of the Indians seems dismally confused in attempting to narrate
these affairs, but see Hazard, ii. 25 and 26.
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wampum, that is, their money, givhig them to understand that iie would not
be hai'd with them ; in so far, that they had trusted to his generositj", and sent
him a considerable amount. The very face of it shows clearly, that it was a
ti'ick of Uncos to leave the amount indefinitely stated, which gave him the
chance, (that a knave will always seize upon,) to act according to the caprice
of his oAvn mind on any pretence afterwards.
The commissioners say, that " no such parcels were brought," though, in

a few lines atler, in their records, we read : " And for that wampums aiid

goods sent, [to Uncas,'\ as they were but small parcels, and scarce considerable
for such a purpose," namely, the redemption of their chief: and still, they
add ; " But Uncos denieth, and the Narraganset deputies did not alledge,

much less piove that any ransom was agreed, nor so much as any treaty

begun to redeem their imprisoned sachem." Therefore it appears quite

clear that Uncos had all the English in his favor, who, to preserve his friend-

ship, caressed and called him their friend ; while, on the other hand, the
agents from the Narragansets were froAvued upon, and no doubt labored under
the disadvantage of not being personally known to the English.
As to the goods which Uncos had received, the commissioners say, "A

part of them [wore] disposed [of] by Miantunnomoh himself, to Uricas' coun-
sellors and captains, for some favor, either past or hoped lor, and part were
given and sent to Uncos, and to his squaw for pi'eservmg his life so long, and
using him courteously during his imprisonment."
Here ended this matter ; but before the Nairagauset deputies left the court,

the English made them sign an agreement, that they would not make war
upon Uncos, " vntill after the next planting of corn." And even tlien, that

they should give 30 days' notice to the English before commencing hostili-

ties. Also that if "any of the Nayantick Pecotts should make any assault

upon Uncos or any of his, they would deliver tiiem up to the English to be
punished according to their demerits. And that they would not use any
means to procure the Mawhakes to come against Uncas during this truce."

At the same time the English took due cai-e to notify the Narraganset com-
missioners, by way of awing them into terms, that if they did molest the
Mohegans, all the English would be upon them.
The date of this asreement, if so we may call it, is, " Hartford, the xviijth

of September, 1644," and was signed by four Indians ; one besides thosf

named above, called Chimough.
That no passage might be left open for excuse, in case of war, it was als(

mentioned, that " proof of the ransom charged " must be made satisfactorj

to the English before war was begun.
The power of Pessociis and JVinigret at this time was much feared by thf

English, and they were ready to believe any reports of the hostile doings of

the Narragansets, who, since the subjection of the Pequots, had made tliem

selves masters of all their neighbors, except the English, as the Pequots had
done before tiiem. The Mohegans were also in great fear of them, as well
after as before the death of Miantunnomoh ; but for whose misfortune in

being made a j)risoner by a stratagem of Uncas, or his captains, the English
might have seen far greater troubles from them than they did, judging liora

the known abilities of that great chief.

There was "a meetuig extraordinary" of the commissioners of the United
Colonies, in July, 1645, at IJoston, "concerning the French business, and the

wars between Pissicus and Vncus being begun." Their fii"st business was to

despatch away messengers to request the apjjearance of the head men of the
belligerents to ajjpear themselves at Boston, or to send some of their chiel

men, that the difficulties between them might be settled.

These messengei-s. Sergeant John Domes, [Davis ?] Benedict Arnold, and
Francis Smyth, on their first arrival at Narraganset, were welcomed by the

sachems, who offered them guides to conduct them to Uncas ; but, eithei

liaving understood tiieir intentions, or judging from their aj)pearance thai

the English messengers meant them no good, changed their deportment
altogether, and in the mean time secretly despatched messengers to the

Nianticks before tlieui, giving them to understand what was going forward.

After this, say the messengers, " tiiere was nothing but proud and insolent
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passages [from JVinigret.'] The Indian guides which they had brought with
them from Pumham and Sokakanoco were, by frowns and threatening speeches,
discouraged, and i-eturned ; no other guides could be obtained." The
sachems said they Itnew, by what was done at Hartford last year, that the
English would urge peace, "6m< they were resolved, they said, to have no peace
vnthout Uncas his head." As to who began the war, they cared not, but they
were resolved to continue it ; that if the English did not withdraw their

soldiers from Uncas, they should consider it a breach of former covenants,
and would procure as many Mohawks as the English had soldiers to bring
against them. They reviled Uncas for having wounded himself, and then
charging it upon them, and said he was no friend of the English, but would
now, if he durst, kill the English messengers, and lay that to them. There-
fore, not being able to proceed, the English messengers returned to the Nar-
ragansets, and acquainted Pessacus of what had passed, desiring he would
furnish them vnth guides; "he, (in scorn, as they apprehended it,) offered

them an old Peacott squaw."
The messengers now thought themselves in danger of being mas-

sacred ;
" three Indians with hatchets standing behind the intei-preter in. a

suspicious manner, while he was speaking with Pessacus, and the rest, frowning
and expressing much distemper in their countenance and carriage." So,
without much loss of time, they began to retrace their steps. On leaving
Pessa/MS, they told him they should lodge at an Eaglish trading house not far

off that night, and if he wanted to send any word to the English, he might send
to them. In the morning, he invited them to return, and said he would furnish
them with guides to visit Uncas, but he would not suspend hostilities. Not daring
to risk the journey, the messengei-s returned home. Arnold, the interpreter,

testified that this was a true relation of what had passed, which is necessary to
be borne in mind, as something may appear, as we proceed, impeaching the
veracity of Arnold.

Meanwhile the commissioners set forth an armament to defend Uncas, at all

hazards. To justify this movement, they declare, that, " considering the great

provocations offered, and the necessity we should be put unto of making war
upon the NaiTohiggin, &c. and being also careful m a matter of so gi*eat

weight and general concernment to see the way cleared and to give satisfaction

to all the colonists, did think fit to advise with such of the magistrates and
elders of the Massachusetts as were then at hand, and also with some of the
chief military connnanders there, who being assembled, it was then agreed :

First, that our engagement bound us to aid and defend the Mohegan sachem.
Secondly, that this aid could not be intended only to defend him and his, in

his fort or habitation, but, (according to the common acceptation of such
covenants or engagements considered with the ground or occjision thereof,) so
to aid him as bee might be preserved in his liberty and estate. Thn-dly, that

this aid must be speedy, least he might be swallowed up in the mean time,
and so come too late."

" According to the counsel and determination aforesaid, the commissioners,
considering the present danger of Uncas the Mohegan sachem, (his fort having
been divers times assaulted by a gi-eat army of the Narrohiggansets, &c.)
agreed to have 40 soldiers sent with all expedition for his defense." Lieu-
tenant Atherton and Sergeant John Davis led this company, conducted by two of
" Cutchamakin^s" Indians as guides. Atherton was ordered not to make an
"attempt upon the town otherv/ise than in Uncos' defence." Captain Mason
of Connecticut was to join him, and take the chief command. Forty men
were ordered also from Connecticut, and 30 from New Haven under Lieu-
tenant SeaZ?/. In their instructions to Mason, the commissioners say, "We so
now aim at the protection of the Mohegaus, that we would have no opportunity
neglected to weaken the Narragansets and their confederates, in theLr number
of men, their cane canoes, wigwams, wampum and goods. We look upon
the Nianticks as tlie chief incendiaries and causes of the war, and s.bould be
glad they might first feel the smart of it." The Nianticks, therefore, were
particularly to be had in view by Mason, and he was informed at the same
time that Massachusetts and Plimouth were forthwith to send " another army
to invade the Nan-agransets."
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The commissioners now proceeded to make choice of a commander in

chief of the two armies. Major Edivard Gibbons was unanimously elected.

In his instructions is this passage :
" Wheioas the scope and cause of this

expedition is not only to aid the Mohegans, but to offend the Narragansets,
Nianticks, and other their confederates." He was directed also to conclude a
peace with them, if they desired it, provided it were made with special
reference to damages, &c. And they say, "But withal, according to oiu-

engagements, you are to provide for Uncas^ future safety, that his plantations

be not invaded, that his men and squaws may attend their planting and fishing

and other occasions without fear or injury, and Vssamequine, Pomham,
Sokakonoco, Cutchamakin, and other Indians, fi-iends or subjects to the English,
be not molested," «fec.

Soon after the death of Miantunnomoh, which was in September, 1643, his

brother Pessacus, " tiie new sachem of Narraganset," then " a yoimg man
about 20," sent to Governor fVinthrop of Massachusetts, as a present, an otter

coat, a girdle of wampum, and some of that article besides, in value about
£15. The messenger, named Washose,* also a sachem, told the governor that

his chief desired to continue in peace with the English; but that he was
about to make war upon Uncos, to avenge the death of his brother, and hoped
they would not interfere, nor aid Uncos. The governor said they wished to

be at peace with all Indians, and that all Indians would be at peace among
themselves, and that they must agi-ee to this, or they could not accept their

present. Waskose said he was instructed no further than to make known his

mission and leave the present, which he did, and returned to his own country.

This was in February, 1644, N. S. Within the same month, the same messenger
appeared again at Boston ; and " his errand was, (says Governor JVinlhrop,) that,

seeing they, at our request, had set still this year, that now this next year we
would grant their request, and suffer them to fight with Onkus, %vith many
arguments." But he was answered, that the English would not allow such a
proceeding, and if they persisted all the English would fall upon them.

Planting time, and 30 days besides, had passed before the English sent an
army to invade the Narragansets. Pessacus and the other chiefs had done all

they could do to cause the English to remain neutral, but now determined to

wait no longer, and hostile acts were conmiitted on both sides.

The traditionary account of Uncas's being besieged in his fort by the
Narragansets will very properly be looked for in this connection, as it has
not only adorned some tales of the Indians, but has been seriously urged as

truth in more imposing forms. What we are about to give is contained in

a letter, dated at New Haven, 19 September, 1796, by Wm. Leffingwell, and di-

rected Dr. Trumbvll.
"At the time the Mohegan tribe of Indians were besieged by the Narragan-

set tribe, in a fort near the River Thames, between Norwich and New
London, the provisions of tlie besieged being nearly exhausted, Uncas, their

sachem, found means to inform the settlers at Saybrookof their distress, and the

danger they would be in from the Narragansets, if the 3Iohegan tribe were cut

off. Ensign Thomas Ijcffingwell, one of the first settlers there, loaded a canoe
with beef, com and peas, and in the night time paddled from Saybrook into the

Thames, and had the address to g<t the whole into the fort of the besieged ;

—

received a deed from Uncas of the town of Norwich, and made his escape
that very night. In consequence of which, the besiegers, finding Uncas had
procured relief, raised the siege, and the Mohegan tribe were saved, and have
ever proved strict friends to the N. England settlers." f

The above agrees very well with Mr. Hijde's account. " When Uncas and
tribe were attacked by a potent enemy, and blocked up in their fort on a hill,

by the side of the great river, and almost starved to death, Lieut. Thos.

Leffingwell, Capt. Benj. Brewster, of said Norwich, and others, secretly carried

* Perhaps tlie sairiC as Airashers.

t Copiea from tlie original, for the author, by Rev. yVm. Ely, who thus remarks upon it :

"This tradition, from a iiiglily respeoiable source. Trumbiill slates as history
;
yet, in some

minor points, at least, it would seem obvious that tne tradition could not have Been strictly

proserve<l for 150 years." MS. letter

1
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their provision, in the night seasons, upon which the enemy raised the siege."*

In consideration of which, " Uncos gave sundry donations of land," &c.t
At the congress of the commissionei-s at Boston, in 1645, above mentioned,

it was ascertained that the present from Pessacus still remained among them,

and therefore he might think it was probable that the English had complied

with their desii'es, as they had not returned it. Lest this should be so under-

stood, Captain Harding, M\: IFelbome, and Benedict Arnold, were ordered and
commissioned ,to repair to the NaiTaganset country, and to see, if possible,

" Piscus, Canownacus, Janemo,''^ and other sachems, and to return the present

before mentioned, and to inform them that the English were well aware of

their beginning and prosecuting a war upon Uncas, and their " having

wounded and slain divers of his men, seized many of his canoes, taken some
prisoners, spoiled much of his corn," refused to treat with him, and threaten-

ed the English. Nevertheless, if they would come themselves forthwith to

Boston, they should be heard and protected in their journey, but that none
except themselves would be treated with, and if they refused to come, the

English were prepared for wai*, and would proceed immediately against

them.
Harding and TVelborne proceeded to Providence, where Arnold was to join

them. But he was not there, and they were informed that he dared not

venture among the Narragansets. Whether he had been acting the traitor

with them, or something quite as much to merit condemnation, we will leave

the reader to judge from the relation. The two fonner, therefore, made use of
Reverend Mr. }f^liams as interpreter in their business, but were reprimanded
by the commissioners for it on their return. On going to the Narraganset
sachems, and opening their business, it appeared that all they were ordered
to charge them with was not true; or, at least, denied by them. These
charges, it appears, had been preferred by Arnold, and sworn to upon oath.

The chiefs said " that lanevio, the Nyantick sachem, had been ill divers days,

but had now sent six men to present his respects to the English, and to declare

his assent and submission to what the Narrohiggenset sachems and the Eng-
lish should agree upon."

It was in the end agreed, that the chiefs, Pessacus, Mexam, and divers

others, should prcceed to Boston, agreeably to the desire of the English,
which they did, in company with Harding and Welhome, who brought back
the old present, and for which they also received the censure of the congress.

They arrived at Boston just as the second levy of troops were marchuig out
for their country, and thus the expedition was stayed until the result of a
treaty should be made known.

It appeared, on a conference with the commissioners, that the sachems did
not fully understand the nature of all the charges against them before leaving
their country, and in justice to them it shoidd be observed, that, so far as the
record goes, their case appears to us the easiest to be defended of the three
pai-ties concerned. They told the commissioners of sundry charges they had
against Uncas, but they said they could not hear them, for Uncas was not

* Some very beautiful verses appeared several years since in the Connecticut Mirror, to

which it seems the above had given rise. They were prefaced with the following among
other observations :

" In the neighborhood of Mohegan is a rude recess, environed by rocks,
which still retains the name of the 'chair of Uncas;! and that the people of Uncas were
perishing with hunger when Lefingwell brought him relief. We give the following stanzas
from it:

—

" The monarch sat on his rocky throne,

Before him the waters lay
;

His guards were shapeless columns of stone.

Their lofty helmets with moss o'ergrown,
And their spears of the bracken gray.

" His lamps were the fickle stars, that beamed
Through the veil of their midnight shroud,

And the reddening flashes that fitfully gleamed
When the distant fires of the war-dance streamed
Where his foes in frantic revel screamed

'Neath their canopy of cloud," &.c.

t MS letter to Dr. TruTnbidl, before cited, and life of Miantunnomoh.
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tljere lo sjjcak for himself; and that they hud hhidered his being notified of
their coiiuug. As to a breach of covenant, they maintained, for some time,

they had coaimitted none, and that their treatment of the EngUsh had been
misrepresented. "But, (says our record,) after a long debate and some
priuate confcrrence, they had with Serjeant Cullicutt, they acknowledged
they had brooken promise or couenant in the afore menconed warre,

and ofterred to make another truce with Vncas, either till next planting

tyme, as they had done last yeare at Hartford, or for a yeai-e, or a yeare and
a quarter."

They had been induced to make this admission, no doubt, by the persua-
sion of Cullicut, who, probably, was instructed to inform them that the safetj'

of their country depended upon their compliance with the wishes of the Eng-
lish at this time. An army of soldiers was at that moment parading the

streets, in all the pomposity of a modern training, which must have reminded
them of the horrible destruction of their kindred at Mystic eight years
before.

The proposition of a truce being objected to by the English, "one of the

sachems offered a stick or a wand to the commissioners, expressing himself,

that therewith tliey put the power and disposition of the war into then- hands,
and desired to know what the English tvovld require of them,y They were
answered that the expenses and trouble they had caused the English were
very great, " besides the damage Vncas had sustained

;
yet to show their

vioderacon, they would require of them but twoo thousand fathome of white
wamj)on for their owne satisfaccon," but that they should restore to Uncas all

the captives and canoes taken from him, and make restitution for all the corn
they had spoiled. As for the last-mentioned offence, the sachems asserted

there had been none such ; for it was not the manner of the Indians to de-

stroy com.
This most excellent and indirect reproof must have had no small effect on

those who heard it, as no doubt some of the actors as well as the advisers of
the destruction of the Indians' corn, previous to and during the Pequot wai",

were now present: Block Island, and the fertile fields upon the shores of tin-

Connecticut, must have magnified before their imaginations.

Considering, therefore, tiiat this charge was merely imaginary, and that

Uncas had taken and killed some of their people, the EngUsh consented that

Uncas "migM" restore such captives and canoes as he had taken from them.
Finally, they agreed to pay the wampum, " craning onely some ease in the

manner and tynies of payment," and on the evening of "the xxvijiA of the 6
month, (August,) 1G4.5," articles to the following effect were signed by tlie

principal Indians present :

—

1. That the Narragansets and Nianticks liad made war upon the Mohegans
contrary to former treaiiis; that the English had sent messengers to them
without success, wliich had made them prepare for war.

2. That chiefs duly authorized were now at Boston, and having acknowl-
edged their breach of treaties, having " tliereby not only endamaged Vncas,
but had lirought mucii charge and trouble vpon all the English colonics,

wliich thoy confcst were just they should satisfy."

3. That the sachems agree for tJuir nations to pay to the English 2000
fathom " of good white wampum, or a third jjart of good black wami)om-
peage, in four payments, namely," 500 fathom hi 20 days, 500 in foiu- months,
500 at or l)efore next planting time, and 500 hi two years, which the EngUsh
agree to accejjt as full " satisfaccon."

4. That each party of the Indians was to restore to the other all things

taken, and where canoes were destroyed, others "in the roomc of them, full

ns good," were to be given in return. The English obligated themselves for

Uncas.

5. Tiiat as many matters cannot be treated of on account of the absence of
Uncas, they are to hv delerred until the next meeting of tli(> commissioners
at Hartford, in Se[)t. 1()4(), where both parties should l)o heard.

6. Tlie Narraganset and Niantic sachems l)ind themselves to keep peace
with the English and their successors, "and with Vncas the Mohegan sachem
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and his men, with Fssamequin,* Pomham, Sokaknooco, Cutchamakin, SJwanan,^

Passaconawcy, and all others. And that, in case difficulties occur, they are

to apply to the English.

7. They promise to deliver up to the English all fugitives who shall at any

time be found among them ; to jjay a yearly tribute, " a month before Indian

harvest, every year after this, at Boston," "for all such Pecotts as live amongst
them," according to the ti*eaty of 1638 ;| "namely, one fathom of white

wampum for each Pequot man, and half a fathom for each Peacott youth,

and one hand length of wampum for each Peacott man-child ; and if JFeek-

wash Cake^ refuse to paj' this tribute for any Peacotts with him, the NaiTo-
higganset sagamores promise to assist the English against him ; " and to yield

up to the English the whole Pequot country.

8. Tiie sachems promise to deliver four of their children into the hands of
the English, " \'iz*. Pissacus his eldest sonn, the sonn of Tassaquanatvitt,

brother to Pissacus, Awashanoe his sonn, and Eioangeso's sonn, a Nyantick, to

be kept as pledges or hostages," until the wampum should be all paid, and they

had met llncas at Hartford, and Janemo and Wypetock
\\
had signed these arti-

cles. As the children were to be sent for, Witowash, Pomamse, Jaiocussoe, and
Waughwamino offered their persons as security for their deliveiy, who were
accepted.

9. Both the securities and hostages were to be supported at the charge of
the English.

10. That if any hostilities were committed while this treaty was making,
and before its provisions were known, such acts not to be considered a viola-

tion thereof.

11. They agree not to sell any of their lands without the consent of the

commissioners.
12. If any Pequots should be found among them who had murdered Eng-

lish, they were to be delivered to the English. Here follow the names, with
a mark to each.

Pessecps,
AUMSAAQUEN, H (Icputy

for the NiaiUvcks^

Abdas,
POMMUSH,
cutchamakins,
Weekesanno,
WiTTOWASH.

We do not see MexaitCs or Mixanno's name among the signers, althougn
he is mentioned as being present, imless another name was then applied to

him. There were four intei-preters employed upon the occasion, namely,
Sergeant Cullicut and his Indian man, Cutchamakin and Josias.**

From this time to the next meeting of the commissioners, the connti^
seems not to have been much disturbed. In the mean time, however. Uncos,
without any regard to the promise and obligations the English had laid them-
selves under for him, undertook to chastise a Narraganset sachem for some
alleged offence. On opening then- congress, at New Haven, letters from Mr.
Morton and Mr. Peters, at Pequot, were read by the commissioners, giving
accounts of Uncases perfidy. The complainants were sent to, and informed
that Uncas was shortly to be tiiere, and that they should bring their proof in

order to a trial.

Meanwhile Uncas came, who, afler waiting a few days, and his accusers
not appearing, was examined and dismissed. It appears that the English at

Nameoke, since Saybrook, were the suffering party, as their neighborhood
was the scene of Uncas's depredations. Of some of the charges he acknowl-
edged himself guilty, especially of fighting J\/'eckwash [Wequash] Cooke so
near to the plantation at Pequot ; although he alleged that some of the Eng-
lish there had encouraged fVequash to hunt upon his lands. He was informed

* Ousamequin. t Perhaps Shoshanim, or Sholan.

t See page 61, anie § Wequash Cook.
||
Wefiteamock,

% Awasequin. ** Son of Chikataubtit, probably.
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that his brother had also been guilty of some offence, h|Ut neither the accusal
nor the accused were present, and, therefore, it could not be acted upon. So,

after a kind of reprimand, Uncus was dismissed, as we have just mentioned.
But before he had left the town, Mr. Wm. Morion arrived at court, with three

Indians, to maintain the action against him ; he was, therefore, called in, and a

hearing was had, " but the commissioners founde noe cause to alter the former
writinge giuen him." This was as regarded the aifau* with Wequash. ^\r.

Morion then produced a Pequot powwow, named Wampushtt, who, he said,

had charged Uncus with having hired him to do violence to another Indian, or

to procure it to be done, which accordingly was effected, the Indian being
wounded with a hatchet. This crime was at first laid to the charge of Wt-
quash, as Uncos had intended. " But after [wards,] tlie Pequat's powwow,
troubled in conscience, could have no rest till he had discoured Vncus to hv

the author." He first i-elated his guilt to Robin* an Indian servant of 31)-.

Winthrop ; but, to the surprise of the whole court, JFampvshet, the only wit-

ness, on being questioned through Mr. Stantoji, the mterpreter, told a story

diametrically the reverse of what he had before stated. " He cleared Vncvs,

and cast the plot and guilt vpon JVeckwash Cooke and Robin

;

" " and though
the other two Pequats, whereof the one was Robin^s brother, seemed much
offended," and said Uncus had hired him to alter his charge, "yet he persisted,

and said J\'eckivash Cooke and Robin had giuen him a payre of breeches, and
promised him 25 fadome of wampum, to cast the plot upon Vncus, and that the

English plantacon and Pequats knew it. The commissioners abhorring this

diuilish falshoode, and advisinge Vncus, if he expected any favoure and respect

from the English, to haue no hand in any such designes or vniust wayes."

Hence it appears that the court did not doubt much of the villany of Uncus,

but, for reasons not required here to be named, he was treated as a fond

parent often treats a disobedient child ; reminded of the end to which such

crimes lead ; and seem to threaten chastisement in their words, while their

deportment holds out quite different language.

At the congress of the United Colonies, at Boston, in July, 1647, Mr. John
Winthrop of Connecticut presented a petition, "in the name of many Pequatts,"

in the preamble of which Casmumon and Obechiquod are named, requesting

that they might have liberty to dwell somewhere under the protection of the

English, which they might ajjpoint. They acknowledged that their sachems
and people had done very ill against the English formerly, for which they had

justly suffered and been rightfully conquered by the English ; but that they had

had no hand, by consent or otherwise, in shedding the blood of tlie English,

and that it was by the advice of JVecquush f that tliey fled from their country,

being i)romised by him that the English would not hurt them, if they did not

join agauist them. The names of 62 craving pardon and protection were at

the same time communicated.
In answer the commissioners say, that while Wequash lived he had made no

mention of " such innocent Pequats, or from any other person since ;" and on
" enquiry from Thomas Stunton, from Foxo7i, one of Uncus his men, and at last

by confession of the Pequats j)resent, found that some of the |)etitioners were
in Mistick fort in fight against the English, and fled away in the smoke," and

that others were at other times in arms against the English and Mohegans,

and, therefore, the ground of tlieir petition was false and deceitful.

It appears tliat tlusy had taken refuge under Uncus, who had promised them
good usagi', whi(;h was probably on condition tliat they should pay him a

tribute. They resided at this lime at Namyok.
At the same court, Obechiquod complained that Uncus had forcibly taken

away his wife, and criminally ol)liged her to live with him. " Foxon being

present, as Uncas''s dejiuty, was questioned about this base and unsufterable

outrage ; he denied that Uncus either took or kept away Obechiquod's wife by

force, and aflirmod that [on] Obechiquod^s withdrawing, with other Pequots,

• His Indian name was ('iixiiKunmi, perhaps the same as Cassassinnamon, or Casajitni'inon,

t Wequash, the traitor. He became a noted praying Indian, after ilic Poquoi war, atid v
was supposed to have died by poi xin. Frequent mention will be found of him elsewhere in- ^
oar work.
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from Uncus, his wife refused to go with him ; and that, among the Indians, it ia

usual when a \v\fe so deserts her husband, another may take her. Obechiquod
affirmed that Uncos had dealt criminally before, and still kept her against

her will."

Though not satisfied in point of proof, the commissioners said, " Yet ab-
horing that lustful adulterous carriage of Uncas, as it is acknowledged and
mittigated by Foxon" and ordered that he should restore the wife, and that

Obechiquod have liberty to settle under the protection of the English, where
they should direct.*

Complaints at this time were as thick upon the head of Uncas as can wel
be conceived of, and still we do not imagine that half the crimes he was guilty

of, are on record. Another Indian named Sanaps, at the same time, complain-
ed that he had dealt in like manner with the wife of another chief, since dead

5

that he had taken away his com and beans, and attempted his life also. The
court say they found no proof, " first or last, of these charges," still, as to the
corn and beans, " Foxon conceives Uncus seized it because Sannop, with a

Pequot, in a disorderly manner withdrew himself from Uncus" Hence il

seems not much evidence was required, as Uncases deputy unifonnly pleaded
guilty; and the court could do no less than order that, on investigation, he
should make restitution. As to Sannop, who was " no Pequot," but a " Con-
necticut Indian," he had libeity to live under the protection of the English
also.

To the charges of the Pequots against Uncas, of "his vnjustice and tyranny,
drawinge wampam from them vj)on new pretences," " they say they haue
giuen him wampam 40 times since they came vnder him, and that they haue
sent wampam by him to the English 25 times," and had no account that he
ever delivered it ; it was answered by Foxon, that Uncas had received wam-
pum divers times as tribute, but denied that, in particular, any had been given
him for the English, and that "he thinks the nomber of 25 times to be
altogether false."

There were a long train of charges against Uncas for his oppression of the
Pequots, which when the commissioners had heai*d through, they " ordered
that Vncus be duly reproved, and seriously enformed that the English camiot
owne or protect him in any vnlawful, much lesse trecherous and outrageous
courses." And notwithstanding the commissioners seem not to doubt of the
rascality of their ally, yet nothing seems to have been done to relieve the
distressed Pequots, because that " after the [Pequot] warre they spared the
lines of such as had noe hand in the bloude of the English." To say the least

of which, it is a most extraordinary consideration, that because some innocent
people had not been destroyed in war, they miglit be harassed according as
the caprice of abandoned minds might dictate.

Mr. John Winthrop next prefers a complaint against Uncas from another
quarter : the Nipmuks had been attacked, in 1646, by 130 Mohegans, under
JVoioequa, a brotlier of Uncas. It does not appear that he killed any of them,
but robbed them of efl^ects to a great amount ; among which are enumerated
35 fathom of wampum, 10 copper kettles, 10 " great hempen baskets," many
bear skins, deer skins, &.c. Of this charge Foxon said Uncas was not guilty,

for that he knew nothing of jYoiDcqua^s proceedings in it ; that at the time of
it [September] Uncas, with his chief counsellors, was at New Haven with the
commissioners of the United Colonies ; and that JVowequa had at the same
time robbed some of Uncases o\vn people.

It was also urged by Winthrop, that not long before the meeting of the com-
missioners in September, 1647, this same JVbivequa had been with 40 or 50 men
to Fisher's Island, where he had broken up a canoe belonging to him, and greatly
alarmed his man and an Indian who were there at that time. That JVowequa
next "hovered against the English plantation, in a suspicious manner, with 40
or 50 of his men, many of them armed with gunns, to the aflTrightment not
onely of the Indians on the shore (soe that some of them began to bring their

goods to the English houses) but divers of the English themselues."

* This chief is the same, we believe, called in a later part of the records (HazEird, ii. 413)
Abbachickwood. He was fined, with seven others, ten fathom of wampum for going to 6ghi
the Pocomptuck Indians with Uncas, in the summer of 1659.
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These charges being admitted by Foxon, the commissioners "ordered that

Vnciis from them be fully informed, that lie must either regulate and continue
his brother in a righteous and jjeaceable frame for tiie future vnderstandiuge,
and providing that vpon due ijroof due restitution to be made to such as haue
been wronged by him, or else wholy disert and leaue him, that the Narragen-
sett and othei-s may requere and recouer satisfaction as they can."

We pass now to the year 1651, omitting to notice some few events more or
less connected with om* subject, which, in another chapter, may properly pass
under review.

Last year, Thomas Stanton had been ordered "to get an account of the num-
ber and names of the several Pequots hving among the Narragansets, Nianticks,
or Mohegan Indians, &c. ; who, by an agreement made after the Pequot war, are

justly tributaries to the English colonics, and to receive the tribute due for this

fast year." Stantoti now appeared as intei-pretcr, and with him came also

Uncas and several of his men, Weqitash Cook and some of " A'lnnacrq/lf's " men,
" Robert, a Pequot, sometimes a servant to Mr. fVinthrop, and some with him,
and some Pequots living on Long Island." They at this time delivered 312
fathom of wampum. Of this Uncas brought 79, jYinigrefs men 91, &zv.

"This wampum being laid down, Uncas and others of the Pequots
demanded why this tribute was required, liow long it was to continue, and
whether the cliildren to be born hereafter were to pay it." They were
answered that the tribute had been due yearly from the Pequots since 16.38j

on account of their murders, wars, &c. upon the English. " Wherefore the

commissioners -might have required both account and payment, as of a just

debt, for time past, but are contented, if it be thankfully accepted, to remit

what is past, accounting only from 1650, when Thomas Stanton's employment
and salary began." Also that the tribute should end in ten years more, and
that children hereafter born should be exempt. Hitherto all male children

were taxed.

The next matter with which we shall pioceed, has, in the life of Ousame-
quin, been merely glanced at, and resei-ved for this place, to which it more
oroperly belongs.

We have now arrived to the year 1661, and it was in the spring of this year

that a war broke out between Uncas and the old sachem before named. It

seems veiy clear that the Wampanoags had been friendly to the Narragansets,

for a long time ])revious; Ijeing separated from them, were not often

involved in their troubles. They saw how Uncas was favored by the English,

and were, therefore, careful to have nothing to do with the Mohegans, from
whom they were still farther removed. Of the rise, ))rogress and termination

of their war upon the Quabaogs, a tril)e of Nipmuks belonging to ffasamagin,

the reader may gather the most important facts from some documents,* which
we shall in the next place lay before him.

"Mercurius de Quabaconk, or a declaration of the dealings of Uncas
and the IMohegin Indians, to certain Indians the inhabitants of Quabaconk,
21,3dmo. 166L

" About ten weeks since Uncas^ son, accom[)anied with 70 Indians, set upon
the Indians at Quabaconk, and slew thn-p jxu-sons, and carried away six pris-

oners; among which were one squaw and her two children, whom when he
had !)rought to the fort, Uncas dismissed the squaw, on conditions that she

would go home and bring him £25 hi jieag, two guns and two blankets, for

the release of herself and her cliildren, which as yet she hath not done, being

retained by the sagamore of Weshakeim, in hojies that their league with the

Englisli will free them.
"At the same time ho carried away also, in stiifF and money, to the value

of £37, and at such time as Unras received notice of the displeasiin- of the

English in the IM.issachnsctts by the woi-shiptid Mr. Ji'itilhrop, Im insolently

laughed them to scorn, and profossed that he would still go on as he had

begun, and assay who dares to coiitroll him. Moreover, four days since

there came home a jjiisoncr that escaped; two yet remaining, whom Uncas

* III niiiiiuscript, and never before published.

A
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threatens, the one of them to kill, and the other to sell away as a slave, and
fitill threatens to continue his war against them, notwithstanding any prohibi-

tion whatsoever ; whose very threats are so teiTible, that our Indians dai'e not

wander far from the towns about the Indians for fear of surprise.

From the relation of
Pambassua,

and testimony of
Wasamagin,
quaquequunset,

and others."

From this narrative it is very plain that Uncas cared very little for the dis-

pleasure of the English : it is plain, also, that he knew as well as they what
kept them from dealing as severely with him as with the Narragausets, his

neighboi-s. They must succumb to him, to keep him in a temper to aid in

fighting their battles when called upon. Hence, when he had committed the

grossest insults on other Indians, the wheels of justice often moved so slow,

that they arrived not at their object until it had become quite another matter.

It must, however, be considered, that the English were very peculiarly sit-

uated—upon the very margin of an unknown wilderness, inclosed but on one
side by Indians, whose chief business was war. They had destroyed the

Pequots, but this only added to their fears, for they knew that revenge lurked

still in the breasts of many, who only were waiting for an opportunity to

gratify it; therefore, so long as one of the most numerous tribes.could possi-

bly be kept on their side, the English considered themselves in safety. They
had made many missteps in their proceedings with the Indians, owing some-
times to one cause and sometimes to another, for which now there was no
remedy; and it is doubtful whether, even at this day, if any set of men were
to go into an unknown region and settle among wild men, that they would
get along with them so much better than our fathers did with the Indians

here, as some may have imagined. These are considerations which must be

taken into account in estimating the " wrongs of the Indians." They seem
the more necessary in this place ; for, in the biography of Uncas, there is as

much, perhaps, to censure regarding the acts of the English, as in any other

article of Indian histoiy.

The narrative just recited, being sent in to the court of Massachusetts, was
referred to a select committee, who, on the 1 June, i-eported,

That letters should be sent to Uncas, signifying how sensible the court was
of the injuries he had done them, by his outrage upon the Indians of Quaba-
conk, who lived under their sagamore, Wassamagin, as set forth m the

nan-ative. That, therefore, they now desired him to give up the captives and
make restitution for all the goods taken from them, and to forbear for time to

come all such unlawful acts. That, if Wassamagin or his subjects had or

should do him or his subjects any wrong, the English would, upon due
proof, cause recompense to be made. Also that Uncas be given to under-

stand and assured, that if he refuse to comply with the request, they were
then resolved to right the injuries upon him and his, and for all costs they

might be put to in the service. "That for the encouragement and safety of
the sayd Wassamagin and his subjects, there be by order of Major Willard

tliree or four armed men, well accomodate m all respects, with a proporcon
of powder, bulletts and match sent from Lancaster to Quabaconk vnto the

sayd Wassamagin, there to stay a night or two, and to shoote of their mus-
quets so often, and in such wise, as the major shall direct, to terrific the

enemies of Wassamagin, and so to return home agaui." To inform Wassama-
gin and his subjects, that the authorities of Massachusetts would esteem it an
acknowledgment of their regard, if they would permit them to nave the

captives to be recovered from Uncas, to bring them up in a proper manner,
that they might be serviceable to their friends, &c. Also, "aduice and re-

quire Wassamagin and his men to be verie carefidl of iniuring or any ways
prouoking of Vncas, or any of his men, as he will answer our displeasure
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therein, and incurr due punishment for the same." That if Uncos committed
any other hostile acts, he must complain to them, &c.* Thus Wassamegin
was as much threatened as Uncos.

Matters seem to liave remained tlius until the meeting of the commission-
ers in September following ; when, in due course, the business was called up,

and acted u))on as follows :

—

" Vpon complaint made to the comissionai*s of the Massachusetts against

Vnkas, this following message was sent to him :

—

" Vncas, wee haue receiued information and complaint from the generall

court of the Massachusetts of youer hostile invading of Wosamtquin and the

Indians of Quabakutt, whoe are and longe haue bine subjects to the English,

killing some and canying away others ; spoyling tlieire goods to the valine of
331b. as they allege." That he had done this contrary to his covenants, and
had taken no notice of the demands of the Massachusetts, though some time
since they had ordered him to deliver up the captives, make remuneration,

&c. And to all he had returned no answer ;
" which," continues the letter,

" seemes to bee an insolent and proud carriage of youei-s- We cannot but

wonder att it, and must beare witness against it." He was, as before, requhed
to return the captives, &c. and give reasons for his operations ; and if he
neglected to do so, the Massachusetts were at liberty to right themselves.

In the mean time, as we apprehend, a letter from UvA:as was received, writ-

ten by Captain Mason, which was as follows :

—

" Whereas there was a warrant sent from tlie court of Boston, dated in my
last to Vncas, sachem of Mohegen, wherin it was declared vpon the com-
plaint of fVesamequen, f a sachem subject to the Massaclmsetts, that the said

Vncas had offered gi-eat violence to theire subjects at Quabauk, killing some and
taking others captiue ; which warrant came not to Uncos, not aboue 20 daies

before these presents, who, being summoned by INIajor John Mason, in full

scope of the said warrant, wherein he was deeply chiu'ged if he did not return

the captiues, and £33 damage, then the Massachusetts would recouer it by
force of amies, which to him was uery giieuous : professing he was altogether

ignorant that they were subjects belonging to the Massachusetts ; and further

said that they were none of JVesomequen's men, but belonguig to Onopequin, his

deadly enemie, whoe was there borne ; one of the men then taken was his

ovni cousin, who had formerly fought against him in his own person ; and yett

sett him att libertie ; and fm'ther saith that all the captiues were sent home.
Alsoe that Wesamequin[^s] son J and diuers of his men had fought against him
diuers times. This he desired might bee returned as his answare to the

comissionors.

^^Mlexander allis Wamsutto, sachem of Sowamsett, being now att Plymouth,
hee challenged Quabauke Indians to belong to him ; and furtlier said that hee
did wai-r against Vncas this summer on that account §

Signed by
John Mason."

* Here end our MSS. relating to this affair.

t By lliis it would seem ilial Massasoit had, for some time, resided among the Nipmucks.

He had, probably, giviMi up Pokanokct to his sons.

X There can scarce be a doul)t ihai this refers to Alexander, and that the next paragraph

confirms it; hence A/aMaso!< was alive in May, 1661, as we have before stated. And the

above letter of Masmi was probably written in September, or while the commissioners were

in session.

6 It seems always to have been uncertain to whom the Nipmucks belonged. Roger

WiUiavis savs, in Kina, " That all the Nccpmucks were unquestionably subject to the Nan-

higonsel sachems, and, in a special manner, to Mejksah, the son of Caunounicus, aiid late

husband to this old Siiiimo-Sdrln'm, now only surviving. 1 have abundant and daily proof of

it," &c. MS. letter. Soo life Afassasoit, b. ii. ch. ii.

At one time, Kutshamalrin claimed some of the Nipmucks, or consented to be made a tool

of by some of them, for some private end. But Mr. Pynchon said they would not own him a»

a sachem any longer " than the sun shined upon him.'' Had ihejf belonged to him, Massa-

chusetts must have owned them, which would have involved iliem in much difficulty in 1648

by reason of several murders among them.
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The particulars of the issue of these troubles were not recorded, and the

presumption is, tliat Uncas complied with the reasonable requests of the Eng-
lish, and the old, peaceable Ousajnequin, being unwilling to get into difficulty,

put up with the result without avenging his wrongs. His son, IVamsuUa, as

will be seen, about this time found himself involved in difficulties nearer

home, which probably prevented him fi'om continuing the war against Uncas,

had he been otherwise disposed.

9i>i>e>e

CHAPTER VI.

Of the Pequot nation—Geography of their country—Sassacus, their first chief, known
to the English— Tassaquanott—War— The cause of it—We^uash—Canonicus and
Miantunnomoh accused of harboring fugitive Peqxiots—Sassamon—Mononotto—
Otash—Cassassinnamon.

" But since I've mentioned Sassaais' great name,
That day so much a terror wliere it came

;

Let me, in prosecution of my story,

Say sometliing of his pride and kingdom's glory."

—

Wolcott.

It is said by Mr. Hubbard,* that the Pequots, f
" being a more fierce, cruel,

and warlike people than the rest of the Indians, came down out of the more
inland parts of the continent, and by force seized upon one of the goodliest

places near the sea, and became a terror to all their neighbors." The time of
their emigration is unknown. They made all the other tribes " stand in awe,
though fewer in number than the Narragansets, that bordered next upon
them." I

Then* country, according to Mr. Gookin,§ "the English of Connecticut
jurisdiction, doth now, [1674,] for the most part, possess." Then* dominion,
or that of their chief sachem, was, according to the same author, " over divers

petty sagamores ; as over part of Long Island, over the Mohegans, and over
the sagamores of Quinapeake, [now New Haven,] yea, over all the people that

Iwelt upon Connecticut River, and over some of the most southerly inhabit-

ints of the Nipmuck countiy, about Quinabaag." The principal seat of the

sagamores was near the mouth of Pequot River, now called the Thames,
where New London stands. " These Pequots, as old Indians relate, could, in

former times, raise 4000 men fit for war."
||

The first great chief of this

nation, known to the English, was
Sassacus, whose name was a terror to all the neighboring tribes of Indians.

From the fruitful letters of the Reverend Roger fVilliams, we learn that he had
a brother by the name of Puppoynpogcs, whose residence was at Monahiganick,
probably Mohegan. Although Sassacus's principal residence was upon the

Thames, yet, in his highest prosperity, he had under him no less than 26
sachems, and his dominions were from Narraganset Bay to Hudson's River,
in the direction of the sea-coast. Long Island was also under him, and his

authority was undisputed far into the country.

A brother of Sassacus, named Tassaquanott, survived the Pequot war, and
was one of those complained of by Uncas in 1647, for giving his counti*ymen
"crooked counsell" about a present of wampum, which he had advised to be
given to the English instead of him. It appears that on the death of a child
of Uncas, the Pequots had presented him with 100 fathom of wampimi,ir
which, when Tassaquanott knew, he disapproved of it, politicly urging, that

if the English were conciliated by any means towards them, it mattered not
much about Uncas.

* Narraiive, i. 116.

t We believe this name meant Gray foxes, hence Gray-fox InHicms, or Pequots.

i Hist. New England, 33.

§ See his Collections in I Coll. Mass. Hist. Soe. i. 147. H Ibid.

*! Hazard, Hist. Col. ii. 90.
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We are informed,* that Connecticut was claimed by right of conquest at

jne time by the first white settlers, who found much of it cultivated and set-

tled by its Indian inhabitants, although they endeavored that it should be

understood otherwise. The numbers of the natives in that region were
"thousands, who had three kings, viz. Connedkote, Quinnipiog, and Sassa-

cus." Conneclicote was " emperor," or chief of chiefs, an elevation in which
he and his ancestors had stood for about 400 years, according to their ti-a-

ditions.

About the time the English had determined on the subjugation of the Pe-

quots, Roger fVilliams wrote to Governor Winthrop of Massachusetts, giving

him important directions how they should proceed to advantage, and what
was very important then, gave the Ibllowing rude draft of their country :

—

River Qunnihticut.t

O a fort of the NiantaquitJ men, confederate with the Pequta.

Mohiganic River.

Ohom- I .

I

. owaul;e,$ thfl

O Weinsliauks, where swamp
| | | | 3 or 4 miles from

Sasacous, the chief sacliim, is.

Mis- O tick, where is Mamoho,\\ another chief aachim.

River.

Nayan- O taquit,! where is Wepiteammok anil our friends

River.

In the same letter, Mr. Williams urges the necessity of employing faithful

guides for the English forces; "as shall be best liked of [to] be taken along

to direct, especially two Pequts ; viz. fVequash, [whose name signified a swan,!

and Wvkackquiackommin, valiant men, especially the latter, who have lived

these three or four years with the Nanhiggonticks, and know eveiy pass and
passage amongst them, who desire armor to enter their houses."

In 1634, as has been before incidentally mentioned, one Captain Stone was
killed by the Pequots, wiiile upon a trading expedition in Connecticut River.

Without knowing the reason of their killing Stone, the English demanded the

murderers soon after, and as Sassacus was involved in troubles with the Nar-

ragansets and all his neighbors, he thouglit it not best entirely to slight the

demand of the English ; he therefore sent messengers to Boston, where they

arrived 6 November, with offers of peace, which, after considerable delibera-

tion on the part of the English, were accepted, and a treaty was entered into

on the 9th following.

A messenger had been sent, in October, upon the same errand, but was
dismissed with orders to inform Sassacus, that he must send persons of greater

quality, and then the English would treat with him. " He brought," says

iVirUhrop, " two bundles of sticks, whereby he signified how many beaver and
otter skins he would give us for that end, and great store of wam])omi)eagc,^

(about two bushels, by his descri|)tion.) " He had a small present with him,

which was accepted by the English, who gave him in return, "a moose coat

of as good value."

The treaty entered into on the 9 November, 1634, between the Pequots and
English, stipulated that the iniu'derers of Captain Stone should be given up to

the English, of whom there were at that time left but two, as attested by the

atnhassadorsof Srtjsacits, who further observed in explanation, that the sjichem

in whose time the act was committed, was dead, having been slain in a war
with the Dutch, and that all the men concerned in it, except two, hud also

died of the small-po.x. This, together with the facts given in concerning the

death of Stone, inclined the English to believe the account altogether ; and,

but for what happened afterwards, it is probable that the historian j of that

* But with what Iriilh I know not, for it rc^^ls upon llie aulhorily of Petns.

I CoiiiKTiirut. t Ni;iiiiirk. \S A name sig'nifvinp; an Girl's nesl. t> tmr letter

II
I'rolialily Munonotlo.
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period would have relied more upon the Pequots' own account than the gen-

eral rumor. Such are the events of time—a circumstance may change the

fate, nay, the character of a nation, for a period, in the eyes of many genera
tions ! But

" O Time ! the beautifier of the dead !

Adorner of the ruin I—roniforler,

And only healer, when the heart haih bled !

Time, the correcter where our judgments err."

In the progress of the treaty, the Pequot ambassadors said, that if the twc
men then living who had been concerned in Stone''s death, " were worthy of
death, they would move their sachem to deliver them " to the English, but that

as to themselves, they had no power to do so, and at once urged the justness

of their act without qualification. Stone, they said, came into their river and
seized upon two of their men, and bound them hand and foot, and, in that

situation, obliged them to pilot him up the river. When he had gone up as

far as he desired, himself and two other white men, and the two manacled
Indians, went on shore. Meanwhile they had been watched by nine Indians,

who, when they found the Englishmen asleep on the following night, fell upon
them and massacred them.

Considering the state of the Indians, no blame could be attached to them for

this act ; two of their countrymen were in the hands of an unknown people,

who, from every appearance, were about to put them to death, and it was by
an act of pure benevolence and heroism that they delivered them out of the

hands of an invading foe.

Therefore, being satisfied with the account, the English agreed to have
peace with them, provided they would give up the two men when they should
send for them; "to yeld up Connecticut;" to give 400 fathom of wampom,
and 40 beaver and 30 otter skins ; and that the English should immediately
send a vessel with a cargo of cloth to trade with them.
The names of these ambassadors are not recorded ; but one signed the treaty

with the mark of a bow and arrow, and the other with that of a hand.
The same day about 2 or 300 Narragansets were discovered at Neponset,

who had marched out for the purpose of killing these ambassadors. This
discovery being made before the treaty was concluded, the English met them
at Roxbury, and there negotiated a treaty between the Pequots and them. For
the furtherance of which, the Pequots instructed the English to present them
with a portion of the wampom which they were to give to them ; but not as

coming from them, because they disdained to purchase peace of that nation

The Narragansets readily conceding to the wishes of the English, all partieti

retired satisfied.

Distrust soon grew again into antipathy ; it having been reported that Stone
and those with him were treacherously surprised by the Pequots who had
gone on board his vessel in a friendly manner to trade ; and seeing Captain
Stone asleep in his cabin, they killed him, and the other men one after the other,

except Captain JVbrton, who, it seems, was with him ; he being a resolute man,
defended himself for some time in the cook-room, but at length, some powder,
which for the more ready use he had placed in an open vessel, took fire and
exploded, by which he was so seriously injured, especially in his eyes, that he
could hold out no longer, and he was forthwith despatched by them.
This matter at length having become fixed in the minds of the English

according to the latter relation, they were the more ready to charge other

circumstances of a like nature upon the Pequots. On the 20 July, 1636, as

Mr. John Oldham was on his passage passing near 3Ianisses, that is, Block
Island, in a small pinnace, 14 Narraganset Indians attacked and killed him, and
made his crew prisoners, which consisted only of two boys and two Narraganset
Indians. The same day, as John Gallop was on his passage from Connecticut,

in a bark of 20 tons, an adverse wind drove him near the same island. Oti

seeing a vessel in possession of Indians, he bore down upon her, and im
mediately knew her to be Captain Oldham's. He hailed those on board, but

received no answer, and soon saAV a boat pass from the vessel to the shore
full of men and goods. As Gallop neared the suspicious vessel, she slipped

her fastening, and the wind being off the land drifted her towards Narragan-
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set. Notwitiistanding some of the Indians were armed with gmis and sworda,
Gallop, being in a stouter vessel, resolved on running them down ; he there-

fore made all sail, and immediately stemmed the pirate vessel on the quarter

with such force as nearly to ovei-set her, and in their fi'ight six Indians jumped
overboard and were drowned. The rest standing upon the defensive, and
being yet far superior in numbers to Gallop's crew, whicli consisted of two little

boys and one man, to board them was thought too hazardous ; Gallop therefore

stood off to repeat his broadside method of attack. Meanwhile he contrived

to lash his anchor to his bows in such a manner, tliat when he came down
upon the Indians a second lime, the force was sufficient to drive the fluke of
the anchor through then- quarter ; which, holding there, both vessels floated

along together. The Indians had now become so terrified, that they stood not
to the fight, but kept in the hold of the pinnace. Gallop fired in upon them
sundry times, but without much execution, and meantime the vessels got loose

iTom one another, and Gallop stood ofl' again for a thii'd attack. As soon as he
was clear of them, four more of the Indians jumped overboard, and were also

drowned. Gallop now ventured to board his prize. One of the remaining
Indians came up and surrendered, and was bound ; another came up and
submitted, whom they also bound, but fearing to have both on board, this last

was cast into the sea. Two out of the 14 now remained, who had got posses-

sion of the hold of the pinnace, and there successfully defended themselves
with their swords against their enemy. Captain Oldham was found dead in

the vessel, concealed under an old seine, and as his body was not entu-ely cold,

it was evident that he had been killed about the time his pinnace was discov-

ered by Gallop,

From the condition in which Oldham^s body was found, it was quite uncer-

tain whether he had fallen in an affray, or been murdered deliberately ; but it

is very probable tliat the fonner was the fact, because it was imconnnon for

the Indians to disfigure the slain, unless killed as enemies, and Oldhaiii's body
was shockingly mangled. But Captain Oldham had been killed by the Indians,

and the cry of vengeance was up, and cool investigation must not be looked

for. The murder had been committed by the Indians of Manisses, but Ma-
nisses was under the Narragansets ; therefore it was believed that the Narra-

gansets liad contrived his death because he was carrying into effect the articles

of the late treaty between the Pequots and English.

The two boys who were with IMr. Oldham were not injured, and were
immediately given up and sent to Boston, where they aiTived the 30th of the

same month. As soon as Miantunnomok heard of the affair of Captain Oldham,
he ordered J^inigret to send for the boys and goods to Block Island. The
boys he caused to be delivepM to Mr. ff'illiams, and the goods he held subject

to the order of the English of Massachusetts.

Meanwhile, 26 July, the two Indians who were in Mr. Oldham*s pinnace

when she was taken, were sent by Canonicus to Governor Vane. They
brought a letter from Roger If'illiams, which gave an account of the whole
affair, and t-ome circumstances led the English to !)elieve these messengera
were accessory to the death of Oldham ; but we know not if any thing further

were ever done about it. The sam(^ letter informed the governor that JMian-

lunnomoh had gone, with 200 men in 17 canoes, "to take revenge, &c."
These events and transactions soon caused the convening of the governor

and council of Mas^sachusetts, who forthwith declared war against the Indians

of Manisses. Accordingly 90 men were raised and put under the connnanc'

of Captain John Endecott, who was general of the expedition. John UndcrhiU
and J^athaniil Turner W(>re captains, and Je7iyson and Davenport ensigns.

EndecotCs instructions were to i)ut to death the men of Block Island, but to

make ca|)tives of the women and ciiildrtMi. This armament set forth in three

pinnaces, with two Indians as guides, 25 S(>pt(Mnb( r, 1(53(5.

On arriving at Manisses they saw niany Indians, but could not get near

them. At Pequot harbor, a part of tlw armament seized a quantity of coru

l)e!onging to the Pe(|uots, and were attacked and obliged to fly. However, the

Nan-agansets reported that tliere were 13 Pequots killed during the expedition.

Tlie English were satisfied that they had harbored the murderers of Oldham,
which occasioned their sailing to Pequot harl)or. It being now late in the

W!Tson, the expedition was given n]>, to lie resumed early in the spring.
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The Pequots, being now left to themselves, commenced depredations wher-
ever they dai'ed appear. About the beginning of October, as five men fi"om

Saybrook were collecting hay at a meadow four miles above that place, they
were attacked, and one of them, named Butterfield, was taken and killed ; from
which circumstance the meadow still bears his name. About 14 days after,

two men were taken in a cornfield two miles from Saybrook fort. There were
six of the whites, and they were surrounded by 2 or 300 Indians, yet all escaped
but two. Thus imboldened by success, they carried their depredations within
bowshot of Saybrook fort, killing one cow and shooting arrows into sundry
others.

On the 21 October, Miantimnomoh, fearing Ibr the safety of his English friends,

came to Boston, accompanied by two of Canonicvs's sons, another sachem, and
about 20 men. Kidshamakin had given notice of his coming, and a company
of soldiers met him at Roxbury and escorted him into the town. Here he entered

into a treaty with the English, by which it was mutually agreed that neither

should make peace with the Pequots without the consent of the other ; and to

put to death or deliver up murderers.
About the same time, John Tilley was taken and killed, and tortured in a

most barbarous manner. As he was sailing down Connecticut River in hia

bfirk, he landed about three miles above Saybrook foi-t, and having shot at some
fowl, the report of his gun directed the Indians to the spot. They took him
prisoner at firet, and then cut oft" his hands and feet. He lived three days after

his hands were cut off", and bore this torture without complaint, which gained
him the reputation of being " a stout man " among his tormentors. These
facts were reported by the Indians themselves. Another man who was with
Tilky was at the same time killed.

On the 22 February, Lieutenant Gardner and nine men went out of Saybrook
fort, and were drawn into an ambush, where four of them were killed, and the rest

escaped with great difficulty.

On April 12, six men and three women were killed at Weathersfield. They at

the same time killed 20 cows and a horse, and carried away two young women.
Alarm was now general throughout the English plantations. Miantunnomoh

having sent a messenger to Boston to notify the English that the Pequots had
sent away their women and children to an island, 40 men were immediately
sent to Nan-agauset to join others raised by Miantunnomoh, with the intention

of falling upon them by surprise.

In the mean time, Captain Mason, with a company of 90 men, had been
raised by Connecticut and sent into the Pequot country. He was accom-
panied by Uiicas and a large body of his warriors, who, in their march to

Saybrook, 15 May, fell upon about 30 Pequots and killed 7 of them. One
being taken alive, to their everlasting disgrace it will be remembered, that the

English caused him to be tortured ; and the heads of all the slain wei'e cut off,

and set up on the walls of the fort.*

Immediately after Captains Mason and Underhill set out to attack one of the

forts of Sassacus. This fort was situated upon an eminence in the present
to\vn of Groton, Connecticut. The English arrived in its vicinity on the 25th
ofMay ; and on the 26th, before day, with about 500 Indians, encoinpassed it,

and began a furious attack. The Mohegans and Narragansets discovered great

fear on approaching the fort, and could not believe that the English would
dare to attack it. When they came to the foot of the hill on which it was
situated, Captain Mason was apprehensive of being abandoned by them, and,

making a halt, sent for Uncas, who led the Mohegans, and Wequash, their pilot,

who was a fugitive Pequot chief,f and urged them not to desert him, but to

follow him at any distance they pleased. These Indians had all along told the

EngUsh they dared not fight the Pequots, but boasted how they themselves
would fight Mason told them now they should see whether Englishmen

* Winthrop's Journal, and Mason's Hist. Pequot War.—Dr. Mather's account of this affaii

Bas been given in the life of Uncas.

t The same, it is believed, elsewhere called Waqnash Cook ; " which Wequash (says Dr
T. Mather) was by birth a sachem of that place [where Sassacus lived], but upon some dfisgust

*ceived, he went from the Pequots to the Narragansets, and became a chief captain under
Miantunnomoh ."— Relatirm , 47.
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would fight oi- not. Notwithstanding their boastings, they could not oveicome
the terror which tlie name of Sassacus had inspired in them, and they kept at

a safe distance tuitil the fight was over; but assisteil considerably in repelling

the attacks of the Pequots, in the retreat from the fort ;—for their warriors, on
recovering from their consternation, collected in a considerable body, and
fought the confederates for many miles.

The English had but 77 men, which were divided into two companies, one
led by Mason, and the other by Underhill. The Indians were all within their

fort, asleep in their wigwams, and the barking of a dog was the fii-st notice

they had of the approach of the enemy, yet very few knew the cause of the
alarm, until met by tiie naked swords of the foe. The fort had tAvo entrances

at opposite points, into which each party of English were led, swoi'd in hand.
^^Wanux! fVanux!"* was the cry of Sassacus^s men; and such was their

surprise, that they made veiy feeble resistance. Having only their own
missile weapons, they could do nothing at hand to hand with the English
rapiers. They were ])ureued from wigwam to wigwam, and slaughtered in

every secret place. Women and children were cut to pieces, while endeavor-
ing to hide themselves in and under their beds. At length fire was set in the

mats that covered the wigwams, which furiously sjiread over the whole fort,

and the dead and dying were together consumed. A part of the English had
formed a circumference upon the outside, and shot such as attempted to fly.

Many ascended the pickets to escape the flames, but were shot down by those

stationed for that purpose. About 600 pei-sous were supposed to have perish-

ed in this fight; or, perhaps I should say, massacre. f There were but two
English killed, and but one of those by the enemy, and about 20 wounded.
Sassacus himself was in another fort ; and, being informed of the ravages of
the English, destroyed his habitations, and, with about 80 others, fled to the

Mohawks, who treacherously beheaded him, and sent his scalp to the English.

The author of the following lines in " Yamoyden," alludes to this melan-
choly event happily, though not truly:

—

" And SassacOus, now no more,
Lord of a thousand bowmen, fled

j

And all the chiefs, his boast before,

Were mingled with the unhonored dead.
Sannap and Sagamore were slain,

On Mystic's banks, in one red night:

The once far-dreaded king in vam
Sought safety in inglorious flight

;

And reft of all his regal pride,

By the fierce Maqua's hand he died."

One of the most unfeeling passages flows fi-om the pen of Hubbard, in his

account of this war ; which, together with the fact he records, forms a most
distressing picture of depravity. We would gladly turn from it, but justice

to the Indians demands it, and we give it in his own words :

—

The Nan-agansets had sun-ounded "some hundreds" of the Pequots, and
kept them imiil some of Captain Stoughion's soldiers "made an easy con-

quest of them." "The men among thcim to the number of 30, were presently

turned into Charon's ferry-boat, under the command of Skipper Gallop, who
dispatched them a little without the harbor!"
Thus were 30 Indians taken into a vessel, carried out to sea, murdered, and,

in the agonies of death, thrown overboard, to be buried under the silent

waves! Whereabouts they were captured, or " without" what "harbor" they

perished, we are not informed ; but, from the natin-e of the circumstances, it

would seem that they were taken on the borders of the Narraganset country,

and murdered at the mouth of some of the adjacent harbors.

That these poor wretches were thus revengefully sjicrificed, should have
been enough to allay the hatred in the human breast of all who knew it,

especially tlie Aj5<ori«7i .' But he must imagine that, in their piu^sagc to their

grave, they did not go in a vessel of hiunan contrivance, but in a boat belong-

ing to a river of hell ! thereby forestalling his reader's mind that they had
been sent to that abode.

* Allen's History of the I'equol War. It signified, Em^lishmen! Ens;lishmen! In Mason's

history, il i» written Oioanux Allen merely copied from Mason, with a few such variations.

t "It was supposed," says Mutlier, " that no less than 500 or 600 Pcquot souls were brought

down to hell that day." Relation, 47. We in charity suppose, that by hell the doctcr onljr

meant death.
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Notwithstanding the great slaughter at Mistick, there were great numbers
of Pequots in the country, who were hunted from swamp to swamp, and their

numbers thinned continually, imtil a remnant promised to appear no more as
a nation.

The English, under Captain Stoughton, came into Pequot River about a
fortnight after the Mistick fight, and assisted in the work of their extemiina-
aon. After his arrival in the enemy's country, he wi-ote to the governor of
Massachusetts, as follows: "By this pinnace, you shall receive 48 or 50
women and children, unless there stay any here to be helpful, &c. Concern-
ing which, there is one, I formerly mentioned, that is the fairest and largest

that I saw amongst them, to whom I have given a coate to cloathe her. It is

my desire to have her for a servant, if it may stand with your good liking, else

not. There is a little squaw that steward CvJacut desireth, to whom he hath
given a coate. Lieut Davenport also desireth one, to wit, a small one, that

hath three strokes upon her stomach, thus : —
1 1

1 -|— He desireth her, if it

will stand with your good liking. Sosomon, the Indian, desireth a young little

squaw, which I know not.

" At present, Mr. Haynes, Mr. Ludlo, Captain Mason, and 30 men are with
us in Pequot River, and we shall the next week joine in seeing what we can
do against Sassacus, and another great sagamore, Monoioattuck, [MononoUo.]
Here is yet good work to be done, and how dear it will cost is unknown.
Sassacus is resolved to sell his life, and so the other with their company, as
dear as they can." *

Perhaps it will be judged that Stoughton was looking more after the profit

arising from the sale of captives, than for warriors to fight with. Indeed,
Mason^s account does not give him much credit.

Speaking of the English employed in this expedition, Wolcott thus im-
mortelizes them :

—

" These were the men, this was the little band,
That durst tlie force of the new world withstand.

These were the men that by their swords made way
For peace and safety in America."

Vacant Hours, 44.

There was a manifest disposition on the part of Uncas, Canonicus,
Mxantunnomoh and J^inigret, and perhaps other chiefs, to screen the poor,

denounced, and flying Pequots, who had escaped the flames and swords
of the English in their war with them. Part of a correspondence about
these sachems' harboring them, between R. Williams and the governor of
Massachusetts, is preserved in the Collections of the Massachusetts Historical

Society ; from which it appears, that Massachusetts had requested Mr.
Williams to explain to the chiefs the consequences to be depended upon, if

they did not strictly observe their agreement in regard to the fugitive Pequots.

Otash] carried to Mr. Williams a letter from the Massachusetts governor upon
this subject. After he had obeyed its contents, as far as he was able, he
answered, that he went with Olash " to the Nanhiggonticks, and having got

Canounicus and Miantunnomu, with their council, together, I acquainted them
faithfully with the contents of your letter, 6o<?i grievances and threatenings

;

and to demonstrate, I produced the copy of the league, (which Mr. [Sir

Henry] Vane sent me,) and, with breaking of a straw in two or three places, I

showed them what they had done."

These chiefs gave Mr. WillianiS to understand, that, when Mr. Governor
understood what they had to say, he would be satisfied with their conduct;
that they did not wish to make trouble, but they " could relate many particulars

wherein the English had broken their promises " since the war.
In regard to some squaws that had escaped from the English, Canonicus

said he had not seen any, but heard of some, and immediately ordered them to

be carried back again, and had not since heard of them, but would now have
the country searched for them, to satisfy the governor.

Miantunnomxih said he had never heard of but six, nor saw but four of them

* Map'"..,cnpt letter of Captain Stoiighton, on tile among our state papers.
* Motaash, Mr. IVilliams writes his name.
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which being brought to him, he was angry, and asked those who brought them
why they did not carry them to Mr. JViUiams, that lie might convey them to

the English. They told him the squaws wore lame, and could not go ; upon
which Miantunnomoh sent to Mr. Williams to come and take them. Mr. pFil-

liams could not attend to it, and in his turn ordered Miantunnomoh to do it,

who said lie was busy and could not ; " as indeed he was (says ffllliams) in a
strange kind of solemnity, wherein the sachims eat nothing but at night, and
all the natives round about the country were feasted." In the mean time the
squaws escaped.

Miantunnomoh said he was son-y that the governor should think he wanted
these squaws, for he did not. Mi', ffllliam^ told him he knew of his sending
for one. Of this charge he fairly cleared himself, saying, the one sent for was
not for himself, but for Sassamun,* who was lying lame at his house ; that

Sassamun fell in there in his way to Pequt, whither he had been sent by the

governor. The squaw he wanted was a sachem's daughter, who had been a
particular friend of Miantunnomoh during his lifetime ; therefore, in kindness
to his dead friend, he wished to ransom her.

Moreover, Miantunnomoh said, he and his people were tnie "to the English
in life or death," and but for which, he said, Okase [Uyikus] and his Mohiga-
neucks had long smce proved false, as he still feared they would. For, he
said, they had never found a Pequot, and added, " Chenock ejuse ivetompati-

mucks'} that is, "Did ever friends deal so with friends?" 3Ir. Williams

requiring more particular explanation, Miantunnomoh proceeded :

—

"My brother, Yotaash, had seized upon PuUaquppuuncIc, Q^uame, and 20
Pequots, and 60 squaws ; they killed three and bound the rest, whom they
watched all night. Then they sent for the English, and delivered them in

the morning to them. I came by land, according to promise, with 200 men,
killing 10 Pequots by the way. I desired to see the great sachem Puttaquppu-
unck, whom my brother had taken, who was now in the English houses, but

the English thrust at me with a pike many times, that I durst not come near
the door."

Mr. Williams told him they did not know him, else they would not ; but

Miantunnomoh answered, "All my company were disheartened, and they all,

and Cutshamoquene, desired to be gone." Besides, he said, " two of my men,
Wagonckwhut f and Maunamoh [Meihamoh] were their guides to Sesquankit,

from the river's mouth." Upon whicli, Mr. Williams adds to the governor

:

" Sir, I dare not stir coals, but I saw them too much disregarded by many."
Mr. Williams told the sachems " they received Pequts and wampom without

Mr. Governor's consent. Cannounicus re})lied, that although he and JiEantun-

nomu had paid many hundred fathom of wampum to their soldiei-s, as Mr.
Governor did, yet he liad not received one yard of beads nor a Pequt. Nor,
saith Miantuniiomu, did I, but one small present from four women of Long
Island, which were no Pequts, but of that isle, being afraid, desired to put
themselves under my |>rotection."

The Pequot war has generally been looked upon with regret, by all good
men, since. To exterminate a people before they had any opportunity to

become enlightened, that is, to be made acquainted with the reason of other

usages towards their fellow beings than those in which they had been brought
up, is a great cause of lamentation ; and if it proves any thing, it proves that

great ignorance and barbarism lurked in the hearts of their exterminators.

We do not mean to exclude by this remark the great body of the present

inhabitants of the earth from the charge of such barbarism.
In the records of the; United Colonies for the year 1G47, it is mentioned that

" Mr. John Winthrop malung claim to a great quantity of land at Niantic by
purchase from the Indians, gave in to tiie commissioners a petition in tliose

words :—'Whereas I had the land of Niantick by a deed of gift and purchase

from the sachem [Sassacus] before the [Pequot] wars, I desire the comniis-

Bioners will be pleased to confirm it unto ine, and clear it from any claim of

• Probably the s;ime mcniioned afterwards. He might have been the famous John Soita-

mon, or his brother [lowland.

\ Perhaps Waltgttmanit , or IValifinnncut.
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English and Indians, according to tlie equity of the case.' " JVinthrop had no
writing from Sassacus, and full ten years had elapsed since the transaction, but

Promatush, fVamberquaske, and Aniuppo testified some time after, tliat " upon
their knowledge before the wars were against the Pequots, Sassacus tlieii

sachem of Niantic did call them and all his men together, and told that he was
resolved to give his country to the governor's son of the Massachusetts, who
lived then at Pattaquassat alias Connecticut River's mouth, and all his men
declared themselves willing therewith. Thereupon he went to him to Patta-

quassets, and when he came back he told them he had granted all his country
to him the said governor's son, and said he was his good friend, and he hoped
he would send some English thither some time hereafter. Moreover, he told

him he had received coats from him for it, which they saw him bring home."
This was not said by those Indians themselves, but several English said they

heard them say so. The commissioners, however, set aside his claun with
considerable appearance of independence.

Dr. Dwight thus closes his poem upon the destruction of the Pequots :

—

" Undaunted, on their foes they fiercely flew
;

As fierce the dusky warriors crowd the fight

;

Despair inspires ; "to combat's face they glue
;

With groans and shouts, they rage, unknowing flight,

And close their sullen eyes, in shades of endless night.

Indulge, my native land, indulge the tear

That steals, impassioned, o'er a nation's doom.
To me, each twig from Adam's stock is near,

And sorrows fall upon an Indian's tomb."

And, O ye chiefs ! in yonder starry home.
Accept the humble tribute of this rhyme.
Your gallant deeds, in Greece, or haughty Rome,
By Marc sun^, or Homer's harp sublime.

Had charmed the world's wide round, and triumphed over time.'"

Another, already mentioned, and the next in consequence to Sassacus, was
MoNONOTTO. Hubbard calls him a " noted Indian," whose wife and children

fell into the hands of the English, and as " it was known to be by her media-
tion that two English maids (that were taken away from Weathersfield, upon
Connecticut River) were saved from death, in requittal of whose pity and
humanity, the life of herself and children was not only granted her, but she
was in special recommended to the care of Gov. JVinthrop, of Massachusetts."
Mononotto fled with Sassactts to the Mohawks, for protection, with several

more chiefs. He was not killed by them, as Sassacus was, but escaped from
them wounded, and probably died by the hands of his English enemies. He
is thus mentioned by Governor Wolcott, in his poem upon fVinthrop^s agen-
cy, &c.

" Prince Mononotto sees his squadrons fly,

And on our general having fi.xed his eye.

Rage and revenge his spirits quickening.

He set a mortal arrow in the string."

On the 5 August, 1637, Governor Winthrop makes the following entry in hia

journal :—" Mr. Ludloio, Mr. Pincheon, and about 12 more, came by land from
Connecticut, and brought with them a part of the skin and lock of hair of
Sasacus and his brother and 5 other Pequod sachems, who being fled to the
Mohawks for shelter, with their wampom (being to the value of £500) were
by them surprised and slain, with 20 of their best men. Mononottoh was also
taken, but escaped wounded. They brought news also of divers other Pequods
which had been slain by other Indians, and their heads brought to the English

;

60 that now there had been slain and taken between 8 and 900."
The first troubles with the Pequots have already been noticed. It was

among the people of Mononotto, that the English caused the blood of a Pequot
to flow. Some English had been killed, but there is no more to excuse the
murder of a Pequot than an Englishman. The English had injured the
Indians of Block Island all in their power, which, it seems, did not satisfy

them, and they next undertook to make spoil upon them in their own country

o *
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upon Oonnecticut River. "As they were sailing up the river, says Dr. /.

Mather, many of the Pequots on both sides of the river called to them, desirous

to know what was their end iu coming thither." * They answered, that they

desired to speak with Sassacus ; being told tliat Sassacus had gone to Long
[sland, they then demanded that Mononotto should appear, and they pretended

he was from home also. However, they went on shore and demanded the

murderers of Captain Stone, and were told that if they would wait they would
send for them, and that Mononotto would come immediately. But veiy wisely

the Petjuots, in the mean time, "transported their goods, women and children

to another place." f One of them then told the English that Mononotto would
not come. Then the English began to do what mischief they could to them,
and a skirmish followed, whereui one Indian was killed, and an Englishman
was wounded." I

The name of Mononotto^s wife appeare to have been Wincumbone. She
shoadd not be overlooked in speaking of Mononotto, as she was instrumental in

saving the life of an Englishman, as disinterestedly as Pocahontas saved that

of Captain Smith. Some English had gone to trade with the Pequots, and to

recover some horses which they had stolen, or picked up on their lands. Two
of the English went on shore, and one went into the sachem's wigwam and
demanded the horses. The Indians within slyly absented themselves, and
Jf'incumbone, knowing their intention, told him to fly, for the Indians were
rnaking preparations to kill him. He barely escaped to the boat, being follow-

ed by a crowd to the shore.

Cassassinnamon was a noted Pequot chief, ofwhom we have some account
as early as 1659. In that year a difficulty arose about the limits of Southerton,

since called Stoiihigton, in Connecticut, and several English were sent to settle

the difficulty, which was concerning the location of Wekapauge. "For to

help us (they say) to undei-stand where Wekapauge is, we desired some Po-
quatucke Indians to go with us." Cassassinnainon was one who assisted.

Tlicy told the English that " Cashmvctssft (the governor of Wekapauge) did

charge them that they should not go any furtiior than the east side of a little

swamp, near the east end of the first great jjond, where they did pitch down a
stake, and told us [the English] that Cashawasset said that that very place M'as

Wekapauge ; said that he said it and not them ; and if they should say that

Wekapauge did go any further, Cashawasset would be angry." Cashawasset
after this had confirmed to him and those under him, 8000 acres of land in the

Pequot countiy, with the provitsion that they contmued subjects of Massachu-
setts, and should "not sfll or alienate the said lands, or any j)art thereof, to any
English man or men, without the court's apj)robation."

The neck of land called Quinicuntaus;e was claimed by both j)arties ; but

Cassassinnamon said that when a whale was some time before cast ashore
there, no one disputed Cashmenssefs claim to it, which, it is believed, settled

tlie question : Cashawasset was known generally by the name of Harmon
Garrett. §
We next meet Avith Cassassinnamon in Philip's war, in which he command-

ed a company of Pequots, and accompanied Ca|)tain Denison in his successful

career, and was present at the caj)ture of Cnnonchet.
||

In Novemlicr, 1651, Cassassinnamon and eight others executed a sort of an
agreement "with the townsmen of Pequot," afierward called J^ftw London.
What kind of agreement it was we are not told. His name was subscribed
Casesxjinamon. Among the other names we see Ohbarhickwood, JVecsoiiweegun

alias Daniel, Cuichamaquin and Mahmawamham. Cassassinnamon, it is said,

signed "in his own behalf and the behalf of the rest of Nameeag Indians."

H

" Kelalioii, 44. t ll'i<l.

{ Ibid. Captain Lion Gardener, who liad some iiien in Uiis affair, gives qjite a ilifll-reul

Bccoiinl. Sec life of Kutshaiiivfiiiin, iUias Ktitslianuxkin.

A Several manuscript doruineuts.
||
Hubbard,

f 1 CoU. Mass. Hist. Soc. x. 101.
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CHAPTER VII.

Of the Praying or Christian Indians in JVew England—Difficult to Christianize

them—Labors of John Eliot

—

Wauban the first Christian sagamore—Indian laws

—Uncas protests against the attempt to convert his people—Ninigret refuses to

receive missionaries— The Indian Bible—Piambouhou—Speen—Pennahannit—
TOKAPEWILLI N OONAMOG AhaTAWANCE WaTTASSACOMPONUM HiACOOMES
MiOHQSOO OCCUM TiTUBA.

It must be exceedingly difficult, as all experience has shown, to cause any
people to abandon a belief or faith in a matter, unless it be one on which the

reasoning powers of the mind can be brought to act. The most ignorant

people must be convinced, that many effects which they witness are produced
by obvious causes ; but there are so many others for which they cannot dis-

cover a cause, that they hesitate not to deny any natural cause for them at

once. And notwithstanding that, from day to day, causes are developing

themselves, and showing them, that many results which they had viewed as

proceeding from a super natural cause hitherto, was nothing but a natural

one, and which, when discovered, appeared perfectly simple, too, yet, for the

want of the means of investigatiou, they would be looked upon as mu*aculous.

These facts have been more than enough, among the scientific world, to

cause them to look upon the most latent causes, with a hope that, in due
time, they would unfold themselves also ; and, fuially, leave nothing for any
agent to perform but nature itself When the Lidian, therefore, is driven by
reason, or the light of science, from his strong-hold of ignorance, or, in

other words, superstition, he is extremely lialjle to fall into the o])posite

extreme, to which allusion has just been made, because he will unhesitatingly

say, what once appeared past all discovery has been shown to be most plain,

and therefore it is not only possible, but even probable, that others will be
disclosed of a like character.

It so happejis, that in attemjiting to substitute one faith for another, in the

minds of Indians, that the one proposed admits of no better demonstration
tlian the one ah-eady possessed by them ; for then* manner of transmitting

things to be remembered, is the most impressive and sacred, as will be else-

where observed in our work. That any thing false should be handed down
from their aged matrons and sires, could not be for a moment believed ; and
hence, that the stories of a strange people should be credited, instead of what
they had heard from day to day from their youth up, from those who could
have no possible motive to deceive them, could not be ex])ected ; and there-

fore no one will wonder for a moment that the gospel has met with so few
believers among ihe Indians. All this, aside from their dealei's in mysteries,

the powwows, conjurers or priests, as they are variously denominated, whose
office is healing the sick, appeasing the wrath of the invisible sj)irits by
charms and unmtelligible mummei-y. These characters took upon them-
selves, also, the important afi'air of determining the liappiness each was to

enjoy after death ; assuring the brave and the virtuous that they should go to

a place of perpetual spring, where game in the greatest plenty abounded, and
every thing that the most perfect happiness required. Now, as a belief in

any other religion promised no more, is it strange that a new one should be
slow in gaining credence ?

Considerations of this nature inevitably press in upon us, and cause us not
to wonder, as many have done, that, for the fii-st thirty years after the settle-

ment ofNew England, so little was effected by the gospel among the Indians.
The great difficulty of coimnunicating with them by interpreters must have
been slow in the extreme; and it must be considered, also, that a great length
of time must have been consumed belbre any of these could perform their

office with any degree of accm-acy; tlie Indian language being unlike every
other, and bearing no analogy to any known tongue whatever ; and then, the
peculiar custom of the Indians must be considered ; their long delays before
they would answer to any proposition ; but more than all, we have to con
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sider the natural distrust that nuist necessarily arise in the minds of every
people, at tlie sudden influx ol" strangers among them. When any new
theory was presented to their minds, tlie first (juestions that would present

themselves, would most unquestionably be, \Vliat are the reed motives of this

new people ?—Do they really love us, as they pretend ?—Do they really love

one another? or do they not live, many of them, upon one another?—Is not

this new state of things, which they desire, to enable them to subsist by us,

and in time to enslave us, or deprive us of our possessions ?—Does it not

appear that these strangers are full of selfishness, and, therefore, have every

motive which that passion gives rise to for deceiving us ?—Hence, we repeat,

that it can hardly be thought strange that Christianity has made so slow
|)rogress among the Indians.

Notwithstandmg one of the ostensible objects of nearly all the royal char-

ters and patents issued for British North America was the Christianizing of

the Lidians, few could be found equal to the task on arriving here ; where
wants of every Idud required nearly all their labors, few could be found
willing to forego every comfort to engage in a work which presented so

many difficulties. Adventurers were those, generally, who emigrated with a

view to bettei-ing their own condition, instead of that of othei-s.

At length Mi*. John Eliot, seeing that little or nothing could be effected

through the medium of his own language, resolved to make himself mastei

of the Indian, and then to devote himself to their service. Accordingly he
hired * an old f Indian, named Job JYesutan, \ to live in ])is family, and to teach

him his language. When he had accomplished this arduous rask, which he
did in "a few months,"§ he set out upon his first attempt; having given

notice to some Indians at JVonanhim,\\ since Newton,ir of his intention. With
three others he met the Indians for the first time, 28 October, 1646. Waau-
bon,** whose name signified zmnd,\\ " a wise and grave man, though no
Sachem, with five or six Lidians met them at some distance from their wig-

wams, and bidding them welcome, conducted them into a large apartment,

where a great number of the natives W( re gathered together, to hear this new
doctrine." H After prayers, and an explanation of the ten commandments, Mr.

Eliot informed them "of the dreadful curse of God that would fall upon all

those that brake them : He then told them who Jesiis Christ was, wheie he
was now gone, and how he would one day come again to judge the world in

flamii>g fire."

After about an hour spent in this manner, the Indians had liberty to ask

any questions in relation to what had been said. Whereupoti one stood up
and asked, Hoiv he could know Jesus Chrisf?—Another, mielhtr Englishmen
were ever so ignorant of hiiri as the Indians "^—A third, fnielhir Jesus Christ

coiUd understand prayers in Indian ?—Another, How there coidcl be an image of
God, since it ivas forbidden tn the second commandment '?—Another, Whether,

according to the second commandment, the child must suffci; though ht be good^

for the sins of its parents ?—And lastly, How all the world became fidl ofpiople,

if they were all once drotvned in theflood ?

The second meetino; was ui)on 11 November, following. 3Ir. Eliot met tlie

Indians again, and after catechising the children, and [ireaching an hour to

the congregation, heard and answered, among othei-s, tlie ibllowiug (|ues-

lions.

—

How the English came to differ so much from the Indians in their knowl-

edge of Clod and Jesus Christ, since tliey had all at first hut one Father ?—An-
otlier desired to know. How it came to pass that sea-water was salt and river

waterfresh")—And another. That if the loater was higher than the earth, how it

happened that it did not overflow it "/

The third meeting took place soon afler, namely, on 26 of the same montJj,

» Neal, Hist. N. Eiicf. i. 2'22. t N. Ku^. Hioir. Diciioiiarv, ait. Eliot.

X See p 51 of this l>ook. imte. ^ Xt-al. Tlist. N. ling. i. 123.

II
"Near Wiilorlowii mill, upon ihe south side ot ("liarles River, about four or live milef

Iroin liis own house, [in l{iixl>nrv.] where liveii at that time Waban, one of their principal

men, and some Indian.s wiih him." (lookin, (Hisl. Col.) 168.

Ti Nonantuni, or Noonalouion, signified a place of rejoicing, or rejoicing. Neat, i. 216.
•* Wauhan, Matrnalia, iii. I'Jfi.

....
^ j^^.^

tl na.v-breaking of the Gospel in N. Eng., in Neat. i. 22.*?.

jdb.
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but was not so well attended. The powwows and sachems Jiad dissuaded

some, and by threats deterred others from meeting upon such occasions.

Still there wei"e considerable numbers that got attached to Mr. Eliot, and in a

few days after, JVampas, "a wise and sage Indian," and two others, with eome
of his children, came to the English. He desired that these might be edu-

cated in the Christian faith. At the next ineeting all the Indians present
" offered their children to be catechised and instructed by the English, who
upon this motion resolved to set up a school among them."

Mr. Eliot, notwithstanding his zeal, seems well to have understood, that

something beside preaching was necessary to relbrm tlie lives of the Indians

;

and that was, tiieir civilization by education. It is said that one of his noted
sayings was. The Indians must be civilized as well as, i/" 7iot in order to their

being. Christianized.* Therefore, the request of the Indians at Nonantum
was not carried into effect until a place could be fixed upon where a regular

settlement should be made, and the catechumens had shown their zeal for

the cause by assembling themselves there, and conforming to the English
mode of living. In tlie end this was agreed upon, and Natick was fixed as

the place for a town, and the following short code of laws was set up and
agreed to :—I. If any man be idle a week, or at most a fortnight, he shall pay
five shillings.—IL If any unmari-ied man shall lie with a young woman
unmarried, he shall pay twenty shillings.—HI. If any man shall beat his wife,

his hands shall be tied behind him, and he shall be carried to the place of
justice to be severely punished.—IV. Every young man, if not another's

servant, and if unmarried, shall be compelled to set up a wigwam, and plant

for himself, and not shift up and down in other wigwams.—V. If any woman
shall not have her hair tied up, but hang loose, or be cut as men's hair, she
shall pay five shillings.—VI. If any woman shall go ^vith naked breasts, she
shall pay two shillings.—VII. All men that wear long locks shall pay five

shillings.—VIE. If any shall kill their lice between their teeth, they shall pay
five shillings.

In January following another company of praying Indians was established

at Concoid ; and there were soon several other places where meetings were
held throughout the country, from Cape Cod to Narragansetf Of these, Mr.
Eliot visited as many and as often as he was able. From the following pas-

sage in a letter which he wrote to Mr. Winslow of Plimoiuh, some idea maj
be formed of the hardships he underwent in his pious labors. He says, " 1

have not been dry night nor day, from the third day of the week unto the

sixth, but so travelled, and at night pull off my boots, wring my stockings,

and on with them again, and so continue. But God steps in and helps."t
The chiefs and powwows would not have suffered even so much ground

to have been gained by the gospel, but for the awe they were in of the Eng-
lish power. "Nor is this to be wondered at," says the very good historHn,
Mr. J^eal, "for if it be very difficult to civilize barbarous nations, 'tis m. eh
more so to make them Christians : All men have naturally a veneratior for

the religion of their ancestors, and the prejudices of education § are insupera-

ble without the extraordinary grace of God."
" The Mouhegin Indians were so jealous of the general court's obliginji

them to pray to God, that Uncas, their sachem, went to the court at Hartford
to protest agahist it. Cutshamoquin, another sache.n, came to the Indian
lectm'e, and openly protested against their building a town, telling the Eng-
lish, that all the sachems in the counti-y were against it. He was so honest
as to tell Mr. Eliot the reason of it ; for (says he) the Indians that pray to God
do not pay me tribute, as formerly they did ; which was in part true, for

whereas before the sachem was absolute master of his subjects ; their lives

and fortunes being at his disposal ; they gave him now no more than they
thought reasonable ; but to wipe off the reproach that Cutshamoquin had laid

upon them, those few praying Indians present, told Mr. Eliot what they had

* Hutchinson, Hist. Mass. i. J63. t Neal, i. 226—230. i Magnalia, iii. 196.

§ This word, when applied lo the education of the Indieuis among themselves, is to be u)i

derstood in an opposite sense from its common acceptation : thus, to instruct in superstition >

Mid idolatry, is what is not meant by education among us.



178 PRAYING INDIANS.—INDIAN BIBLE. [Book II.

done for their sachem the two last years, leaving him to judge whether their

prince had any reason to complain." They said they had given him 26
bushels of corn at one time, and six at another; that, m hunting for him two
days, they had killed lum 15 deers ; broke up for hirn two acres of land

;

made him a great wigwam ; " made him 20 rods of fence with a ditch and
two rails about it ;" paid a debt for him of £3, 10s. " One of them gave him
a skin of beaver of two pomids, besides many days works in planting com
altogether; yea, they said they would willingly do more if he would govern
them jusdy by the word of God. But the sachem swelling with indignation,

at this unmannerly discourse of his vassals, turned his back upon the com-
pany and went away in the greatest rage imaginable ; thougli upon better

consideration, himself turned Christian not long after."

Mr. Experience Mm/hew met with similar occurrences many years after.

Upon a visit to the Narragansets, he sent for JVinigret, the sachem, and
desired of him leave to preach to his people ; but the sachem told him to go
and make the English good first ; and observed, further, that some of the
English kept Saturday, others Sunday, and othere no day at all for worship

;

so that if his people should have a mind to turn Christians, they could not

tell what i-eligion to be of. JVinigret further added, that Mr. Mayheto might
try his skill lirst with the Pequots and Mohegans, and if they submitted to the

Christian religion, possibly he and liis people might, but they would not be
the first.*

In the meanwliile, Mr. Eliot had translated tlie whole Bible into Indian, f
also Baxter's Call, Mr. Shepherd's Sincere Convert, and his Sound Be-
liever,! besides some other jierformances, as a Ghanimar, Psalter, Primers,

Catechisms, the Practice of Piety, &c. §
It is amusing to hear what our old valued friend. Dr. C. Mather, says of

Eliofs Bible. "This Bible," he says, "was printed here at our Caniljridge
;

and it is the only Bible that ever was printed in all America, fi-om the very

foundation of the world."
||

The same author obsei-ves, that " the whole
translation was wi*it with but one pen, which pen had it not been lost, would
have certainly deserved a richer case than was bestowed upon that pen, with

which Holland^ writ his translation o^ Plutarch"

It was long since inquired, " What benefit has all this toil and suffering

E
reduced .'—Is there a vestige of it remaining ?—Were the Indians in reality

ettered by the great cftbrts of their friends.'" "Mr. Eliot," says Dr. Doug-
lass, " with immense labor translated and printed our Bible uito Lidian. It

was done with a good, pious design, but it must be recoued among the Otio-

lorum hominum negotia: It was done in the Natick [Nipnnik] language. Of
the Naticks, at present, there are not 20 families subsisthig, and sciu-ce any
of these can read.

—

Cui boni!"**
By the accounts left us, it will be perceived, that for many years after the

exertions of Eliot, Gookin, Mai/heiv and others, had been jjut in operation,

there was no inconsiderable i)rogress made in the great underuikiiig of

Christianizing the Indians. Natick, the oldest praying town, contained, in

1674, 2<J lainilies, in which i)erhaps were about 145 persons. The name
Mdick signified a place of hills. JVaban was the chief man here, " who,"

says IMr. Gookin, " is now about 70 years of age. He is a person of great

prudence and piety : I do not know any Indian that excels him."

Pakeinitt, or Punkajjaog, (" which takes its name from a spring, that riseth

out of red earth,") is the next town in order, and contained 12 fuuiilies, or

• Nea/'s N. England, i. 257. t See book 11. chap. iii. p. 57, ante.

X Moore's Life Eliot, lU. ^ Mascfialia, h. iii. 197.
||

Iliid.
_

TT Philemon Holland was called the tran.slator-sciicral ol his age ; he wrote several of hil

translations with one pen, upon wliicii he made the I'oilowing verses:

with one sole pen I writ this book,
Made of a grey goose quill

;

A pen it was, when I it took,

And a pen I leave it still.

Fuller's Worthies of England.
•* Douglass, Hist. America, i. 172, note. See also Halket, Hist. Notes, 243, &o. Doug-

lass wrote about 1745.
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about 60 persons. It was 14 miles south of Boston, and is now included in

Stoughton. The Indians here removed from the Nepouset. Hassanamesil
is the thu'd town, and is now hicluded In Grai'ton, and contained, lilce the
second, 60 souls. Okonnnakamesit, now in Marlborough, contained about
50 people, and was the fourth town. Wamesit, since included in Tewks-
bury, the fifth town, was upon a neck of land in Meri'imack River, and
contained about 75 souls, of five to a family. Nashobah, now Littleton, was
the sixth, and contained but about 50 inhabitants. Magimkaquog, now Hop-
kinton, signified a place of great trees. Here were about 55 persons, and
this was the seventli town.
There were, besides these, seven other towns, which were called the new

praying towns. These wei'e among the Nipniuks. The first was ManchagCj
since Oxlbrd, and contained about 60 inhabitants. The second was about
six miles from the first, and its name was Chabanakongkomun, since Dudley,
and contained about 45 persons. The third was Maanexit, in the north-east
part of Woodstock, and contained about 100 souls. The fourth was Quan-
tisset, also in Woodstock, and containing 100 persons likewise. Wabquissit,
the fifth town, also in Woodstock, (but now included in Connecticut,) con-
tained 150 souls. Pakachoog, a sixth town, partly in Worcester and partly

in Ward, also contained 100 people. Weshakim, or Nashaway, a seventh,
contained about 75 persons. Waeuntug was also a praying town, included
now by Uxbridge ; but the number of people there is not set down by Mr.
Gookin, our chief authority.

Hence it seems there were now supposed to be about 1150 praying Indiana
in the places enumerated above. There is, however, not the least probability,

that even one fourth of these were ever sincere believers in Christianity.

This calculation, or rather supposition, was made the year before Philip's

war began ; and how many do we find who adhered to their profession

through that war ? That event not only shook the faith of the common sort,

but many that had been at the head of the praying towns, the Indian minis-
ters themselves, were found in arms against their white Christian neighbors.
At the close of Philip's war, in 1(377, Mr. Gookin enumerates "seven

places Avhere they met to worship God and keep the sabbath, viz. at

Nonatum, at Pakemit, or Punkapog; at Cowate, alias the Fall of Charles
River, at Natik and Medfield, at Concord, at Namekeake, near Chelmsford."
There were, at each of these places, he says, "a teacher, and schools for the
youth." But, notwithstanding they had occupied seven towns in the spring
of 1676, on their retmni from imprisonment upon the l)leak islands in Boston
hai'bor, they were too ieel)le long to maintain so many. The appearance of
some straggling Mohawks greatly alarmed these Indians, and they were glad
to come within the protection of the English ; and so the remote towns soon
became abandoned.
We have seen that 1150 praying Indians were claimed before the war, in

the end of the year 1674, but not half this number could be found when it

was proclaimed that all such must come out of their towns, and go by
themselves to a place of safety. Mr. Gookin says, at one time there were
about 500 upon the islands ; but when some had been employed in the army,
and other ways, (generally such as were indifferent to religion,) there were
but about 300 remaining. Six years after that disastrous war, Mr. Eliot

could claim but four towns! viz. "Natick, Punkapaog, Wamesit, and
Chachaubunkkakowok."

Before we pass to notice other towns in Plimouth colony, we Avill give an
account of some of the most noted of the praying Indians.

Wauban we have several times inti'oduced, and will now close our account
of him. He is supposed to liave been originally of Concord ; but, at the
time 3Ir. Eliot began his labors, he resided at Nonantum, since Newton.
At Natik, or Natick, he was one of the most efficient officers until his

death.

When a kind of civil connnunity was established at Natik, Jfauban was
made a niler of fifty, and subsequently a justice of the peace. The follow-

ing is said to be a copy of a warrant which he issued against some of ino
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Lransgressors. " You, you big constable, quick you catch urn Jeremiah Offscow
strong you Jwld um, safe you bring urn, afore me, Wahtxn, justice peace." *

A young justice asked fVauban what he would do when Indians got drunk
and quarrelled ; he replied, " Tie um all up, and whip um plaintiff, and whip
umfendant, and ivhip um witness."

We have not learned the precise time of fFauban's death, f but he waa
certainly alive in the end of the year 1676, and, we think, in 1677. For he
vyas anjong those sent to Deer Island, 30 October, 1G75, and was among the
sick that returned in May, 1676 ; and it is particularly mentioned that he was
one that recovered.

PiambouhouX was the next man to JVauban, imd the next after him that
received the gospel. At the second meeting at Nonantum, he brought a
great many of his people. At Natik he was made ruler of ten. When
tlie church at Hassanamesit was gathered, he was called to be a ruler in it.

When that town was broken up in PhUip's war, he returned again to Natik,
where he died. He was one of tliosef also confined to Deer Island ; hence,
he lived until after the war. The ruling elder of Hassanamesit, called by
some Piambow, was the same person.

John Speen was another teacher, contemporary wtli Piambo, and, like him,
was a "grave and pious man." In 1661, Timothy Dwight, of Dedham, sued
John Speen and his brother, Thomas, for the recovery of a debt of sixty

pounds, and Mr. Eliot bailed them. This he probably did vvith safety, as
John Speen and "his kindred" owned neai-ly all the Natik lauds, when the
Christian commonwealth was established there. This valuable possession
he gave up freely, to be used in common, in 1650. Notwithstanding "he
was among the first that prayed to God " at Nonantum, and " was a diligent

reader," yet he died a drunkard ; having been some time before discarded
from the church at Natik.

Pennahannit, called Captain Josiah, was " Marshal General " over all tlie

praying towns. He used to attend the couits at Natik; but his residence
was at Nashobah.

TukapewiUin was teacher at Hassanamesit, and his brother, Anaiveakin,
rider. He was, according to Major Gookin, "a pious and able man, and apt
to teach." He suffered exceedingly in Philip's war; bimsi'lf and his

congregation, together with those of the two praying to^vus, " Magunkog
and Chobonekonhonom," having been enticed away by Philip^s Ibllowers.

His father, J\/'aoas, was deacon of his church, and among the number.
They, however, tried to make their escape to the English soon after, agree-
ably to a i»lan concerted with Job Kattcnanit, when he was among Philip^s

peoi)le as a spy ; but, as it happened, in the attemjit, they fell in with an
English scout, under Captain Gibbs, who treated thoni as prisoners, and with
not a little barbarity; robbing them of every thing they had, even tiie minis
ter of a j)ewtcr cup which he used at sacraments. At ftlarlborough, though
under the protection of officers, they were so insulted and abused, "espe-
cially by women," that TukapewUlin^s wife, from fear of being murdered,
escaped into the woods, leaving a sucking child to be taken care of by its

father. With her went also her son, 12 years old, and two othci-s. The
others, JVaons and Tukapeimllin, with six or "oven children, were, soon
after, sent to Deer Island. Mtoas was, at this time, about 80 years old.

Oonamog wjis rul(>r at Marlborough, and a sachem, who died in the

summer of 1674. His death "was a great blow to the i)lace. He was a

pious and discreet man, and the very soul, as it were, of the place." The
troubles of the war fell very heavily upon his family. A barn containing

corn and hay was bunit at Chelmsford, by some of die war party, as it

proved afterwards; but some of the violent English of that place determined
to make the Wamcsits suffer for it. Accordingly, about 14 men armed

• ^//en's niog. Diet. urf. Wa BAN.
t Dr. Homer, Ilisl. Newton, says lie (lic<l in \C\1V, luii gives no auliioriiy. We have died

teveral authorities, sliowinjr tliat lie was alive a year later, (sec l>. iii. p|>. 1(1 and 7!>.)

X Piam Boolian, Gookii?s Hist. Coll. 181-.

—

iHamliow, liis Hist. Prayin;? Indians.
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themselves, and, under a pretence of scouting, went to the wigwams of the
Wamesits, and ordered them to come out. They obeyed witliout hesitation,

being chiefly helpless women and children, and not conceiving any harm
could be intended them ; but they were no sooner out than fired upon, when
five were wounded and one killed. Whether the courage of the bi-ave Eng-
lish now failed them, or whether they were satisfied with what lilood was
already shed, is not clear ; but they did no more at this time. The one slain

was a little son of Tahatooner ; and Oonamog's widow was severely wounded,
whose name was Sarah, " a woman of good report for religion." She waa
daughter of Sagamore-John, who lived and died at the same place, before the
war, " a great friend to the English." Sarah had had two husbands : the first

was Oonamog, the second Tahatooner, who was son of Tahattaivan, sachem of
Musketaquid. This affair took place on the 15 November, 1675.

JVuinphoto was ruler of the praying Indians at Wamfesit, and Samuel, his son,

was teacher, "a young man of good parts," says Mr. Gookin, "and can speak,

read and write English and Indian competently;" being one of those taught at

the expense of the corporation. JVumphow experienced wretched trials in the

time of the war ; he with his jjcople having fled away from their homes
immediately after the horrid barbarity of which we have just spoken, fearing

to be murdered if they should continue there. However, after wandering a
while up and down in the woods, in the dismal month of December, they
returned to Wamesit, in a forlorn condition, and hoped the carriage of their

neighbors would be such that they might continue there. It did not turn out
so, for in February they again quitted their habitations, and went off" towards
Canada. Six or seven old persons remained behind, who were hindered from
going by infirmity. These poor blind and lame Indians were all burnt to

death in their wigwams. This act, had it occurred by accident, would have
called forth the deepest pity from the breast of every human creature to whose
knowledge it should come. But horror, anguish and indignation take the
place of pity, at being told that the flames which consumed them wei'e lighted

by the savage hands of white men ! ! It was so—and whites are only left to

remember in soiTow this act of those of their own color ! But to return

—

During tlie wanderings of JVumphow and his friends, famine and sicknesa
destroyed many of them. Himself and Mistic George, or George Mistic, a
ceacher, were numbered with the dead. The others, having joined Wannalan-
cet to avoid falling in with war parties on both sides, at the close of the war,
surrendered themselves to the English, at Dover, in August, 1676. New
troubles now came upon them. Some English captives testified that some of
them had been in arms against them, and such were either sold into slavery,

or executed at Boston. Several shared the latter fate. JVumphow''s son Samuel
barely escaped, and another son, named Jonathan George, was pardoned ; also

Symon Betokam.
JVumphoio was in some public business as early as 1656. On 8 June that

vear, he, Johii Line and George JVIistic, were, upon the part of the " Indian
court," employed to run the line from Chelmsford to Wamesit.* And 23
years after he accompanied Captain Jonathan Danforth of Billerica in renew-
ing the bounds of Brenton^s Farm, now Litchfield, N. H.f

Wannalancd, whose history will be found spoken upon at large in our next
i)ook, countenanced religion, and it was at his wigwam that Mr. Eliot and Mr.
Gookin held a meeting on the 5 May, 1674. His house was near Pawtucket
Falls, on the 3Ierrimack. " He is," said Major Gookin, " a sober and grave
pei-son, and of years, between 50 and 60."

Joh7i Jlhatatvance was ruler of Nashobah, a pious man, who died previous to

1674. After his decease, Pennahannit was chief John Thomas was their

teacher. " His father was murdered by the Maquas in a secret manner, as he
was fishing for eels at his wear, some years since, during the war" with them.

Wattasacompanum, called also Captain Tom, is thus spoken of by Mr. Gookin,
who was with him at Pakachoog, 17 September, 1674. " My chief assistant

was Wattasacompanum, ruler of the Nipmuk Indians, a grave and pious man,
of the chief sachem's blood of the Nipmuk country. He resides at Hassana-

* Allen's Hist. Chelmsford. t MS. leUer of Jilm Farmer, Esq.

16
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iTiesit ; but by former apyjolntment, calleth here, togetlier with some otliers."

Captain Tom was among Tukapeivillin^s company, tliat went off with the
enemy, as in speaking of him we have made mention. In that company there

wei'e about 200, men, women and children. The enemy, being about 300
strong, obliged the praying Indians to go off with, or be killed by them. There
were, however, many who doubtless preferred their company to that of their

friends on Deer Island. This was about the beginning of December, 1675.

Captain Tom afterwards fell into the hands of the Englisli, and, being tried

and condemned as a rebel, was, on 26 June, 1676, executed at Boston ; much
to the grief of such excellent men as Gookin and Eliot.

Although something had been done towards Christianizing the Indians in

riimouth colony, about a year before Mr. Eliofs first visit to Nonantum, yet

for some yeais after, Massachusetts was considerably in advance ui this respect.

Be me of the principal congregations or praying towns follow :

—

At Meeshawn, since Provincetown or Truro, and Punonakanit, since Bil-

lingsgate, were 72 ])ersons ; at Potanuniaquut, or Nauset, in Eastham, 44 ; at

Mouamoyik, since Chatham, 71 ; at Sawkattukett, in Harwich ; Nobsqassit, in

Yarmouth ; at Matakees, in Barnstable and Yarmouth ; and Wee(|uakut, in

Bai-nstable, 122 ; at Satuit, Pawpoesit, Coatuit, in Barnstable, Mashpee, Wako-
quet, near Mashpee, 95 ; at Codtanmut, in Mash])ee, Ashinniit, on the west
line of Masiipee, Weesquobs, in S;mdwich, 22 ; Pispogutt, Wawayoutat, in

Wareham, Sokones, in Falmouth, 36. In all these places were 462 souls; 142
of whom could read, and 72 write Indian, and 9 could read English. This
account was furnished Major Gookin in 1674, by the Rev. Richard Bourne of
Sandwich. Philip's war broke uj) many of these communities, but the work
continued long after it dwindled to almost nothing in Massachusetts. In 1685
there were 1439 considered as Christian Indians in Plimouth colony.

Mr. Thomas Mai/heiv Jr. setded in Martha's Vineyard, called by the Indians

JVope, in 1642. lie was accompanied by a few English families, who made
liim their minister; but not being satisfied with so limited usefulness, he learn-

ed the Indian language, and began to preach to them. His first convert was
Hiacoomes, in 1643, a man of small repute among his own |)cople, whose

residence was at Great Harboi-, nrar where the English fii"st settletl. He was
regularly ordained 22 August, 1670, but he began to preach in 1646. John
Tokinosh was at the same time ordained teacher. His residence was at Num-
pang, on the east end of the island. He died 22 January, 1684, and Hiacoomes
pfeached his funeral sermon. For some years before his death Hiacoomes was
ijnable to preach. He was supposed to have been about 80 yeare old at the

time of his death, which hapi)cued about ]6i)0.

Pahkehpunnassoo, sacliem of Clia|)j)equiddik, was a great opposcr of the

gospel, and at one titnc beat Hiacoomes for j)rofessing a belicif of it. Not long

after, as himself and anotlu-r were at work U|)on a chimney of their cabin, they

Were both knocked down by lightning, and the latter killed. Pahkehpunnassoo
fell j)artly in the fire, and but lor his friends would have perished. Whether
this esca|)e awakened him, is not mentioned; but he soon after became a

Christian, and Mr. Mayhetv aptly observes that "at last he was a brand plucked
out of the fire."

Miohqsno, or M)/oxeo, was another noted Indian of Nope. He was a convert

of Hiacoomes, whom be liad sent ("or to in<iuire of him about his God. He
asked Hiaroomes how many gods lie bad, and on being told but ONE, inune-

diately reckoned up 37 of his, and desinnl to know whether he should throw
them all away for one. On being told by Hiacoomes that he had thrown away all

those and many more, and was better oiri)y so (\o'\ug, .Miohqsoo said, he woidd
forthwith throw away his, which he did, and became one of the most eminent
of the Indian converts. One of his children, a son, sailed for England in

1657, with Mr. Thomas Mayhcw Jr., in a >bip commaiuled by Captain James
Garrclt, and was never heard of after. The tinie of the" tieatli of Miohqsou is

unknown, but Ik; lived to a great age.

Among the Mohegans and Narragansets nothing of any aceoiuit was effect-

ed, in tlu! way of Christiani/iiig them, lor a long time. The chief sachems of

Uiose nations were determintMl and fixed against it, and though it was from

time to timt! urged upon them, yet very little uas ever done.
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Sa:mpson OccriM, or, as his name is spelt in a sermon * of his, Occo.n, was a
Mohegan, of the family of Benoni Occum, who resided near New London, in

Connecticut. He was the first of that tribe who was conspicuous in rehgion,

if not the only one. He was born in 1723, and becoming attached to the Rev.
Eleazar Wheelock^ the minister of Lebanon in Connecticut, in 1741 he became
a Christian.f Possessing talents and gi-eat piety, Mr. If'Tieelock enteitained

sanguine hopes that he would be able to effect much among his countrymen
a.s a preacher of the gospel. He went to England in 1765 to procure aid for

tl'.e keeping up of a school for the instruction of Indian children, which was
liegun by Mr. JVheelock, and furthered by a Mr. Moore, by a donation of a

•school house and land, about 1763. While in England he was introduced to

Lord Dartmouth, and other eminent persons. He preached there to crowds
of people, and returned to America in September, 1768, having landed at

Boston on his return. | It is said he was the first Indian that preached
in England. He was ordained, in 1759, a preacher to the Montauks on L.

Isl;uid. About this time he visited the Cherokees. He finally settled among
the Oneida Indians, with many of his Mohegan brethren, about 1768 ; they

having been in^^ted by the Oneidas. He died in July, 1792, at N. Stock-

bridge, N. York, aged 69.

Tituba is noticed in the annals of New England, from her participation in

the witch tragedies acted here in 1691. In a valuable work gixing a histoiy of
that horrible delusion, § mention is thus made of her. " It was the latter end of
February, 1691, when divers young persons belonging to [Rev.] Mr. Parris'

||

family, and one more of the neighborhood, began to act after a strange and
unusual manner, viz., as by getting into holes, luid creeping under chau-s and
stools, and to use other sundry odd postures, and antic gestures, uttering fool-

ish, ridiculous speeches, which neither they themselves nor any others could
make sense of" "March the 11th, Mr. Parris invited several neighboring
ministers to join with him in keeping a solemn day of prayer at his own
house ; the time of the exercise those pei-sons were, for the most part, silent,

out after any one prayer was ended, they would act and sjieak strangely, and
ridiculously, yet were such as had been well educated and of good behavior,

the one a girl of 11 or 12 years old, would sometimes seem to be in a convul-

sion fit, her limbs being twisted several ways, and very stiff", but presently her

fit would be over. A few days before this solemn day of prayer, Mr. Parris
Indian man and woman, made a cake of lye meal, with the children's water,

and baked it in the ashes, and, as it is said, gave to the dog ; this was done as

a means to discover witchcrafts Soon after which those ill-affected or afflicted

persons named several that tney said they saw, wnen in their fits, afflicting of
them. The first complained of, wf 5 the said Indian woman, named Tituba.

She confessed that the devil urged her to sign a book, which he presented to

her, and also to work mischief to the children, &c. She was afterwards com-
mitted to prison, and lay there till sold for her fees. The account she since

gives of it is, that her master did beat her, and otherwise abuse her, to make
her confess and accuse (such as he called) her sister witches ; and that what-
soever she said by way of confessing or accusing others, was the effect of
such usage ; her master refused to pay her fees, unless she would stand to

what she had said,"

We are able to add to our information of Tituba from another old and
curious work,1I as follows :—That when she was examined she " confessed
the making a cake, as is above mentioned, and said her mistress in her own
country was a witch, and had taught her some means to be used for the

discovery of a witch and for the prevention of being bewitched, &c., but said

"that she herself was not a witch." The children who accused her said "that
she did pinch, prick, and grievously torment them ; and that they saw her here

• At the e.xecution of Mnses Paul, for murder, at New Haven, 2 September, 1772. To Lis

elter to Mr. Keen, his name is Occum.
t Life Dr. Wlieelock. 16. } His Letter to Mr. Keen, in Life Wlieelock, 175.

j Wonders of the Invisible World, by R. Calef, 90, 91, 4to. London, 1700.

J
" Samuel Paris, pastor of the church in Salem-village." Modest Enquiry into the NtUurt

pf Witclicrafl . by John Hale, pastor of the church in Beverly, p. 23, 16mo. Boston, 17QZ.

IT Modest Enquiry, 6cc. 25.



184 TITUBA.—WITCHCRAFT. [Book .'L

and there, where nobody else could. Yea, tliey could tell where she was, and
what she did, when out of their human sight." Whether the author was a
witness to this he does not say ; but probably he was not. Go through the
whole of our early writers, and you will scarce find one who witnessed such
matters : (Dr. Cotton Mather is nearest to an exception.) But they generally
preface such mai-vellous accounts by observing, " I am slow to believe rumoi-s
of this nature, nevertheless, some things I have had certain information of" *

Tlie Rev. Mr. Felt f gives the followuig extract from the " Quarterly Court
Pa})ers." "March 1st. Sarah Osbom, Sarah and Dorothy Good, Titvha, servant
of Mr. Parrvt, Martha Cory, Rebecca JVurse, Sarah Cloyce, John Proctor and his

wife Elizabt^,, 1 of Salem village, are committed to Boston jail on charge of
witchcraft."

The other servant of 31r. Parris was the husband of Titvha, whose name
was John. It was a charge against them that they had tried means to discover
witches. But there is little probability that these ignorant and simple Indians
would ever have thought of " trying a project " for the detection of witches,

had they not learned it from some more miserably superstitious white pereons.

We have the very record to justify this stricture. | Take the words. ^^ Mary
Sihly having confessed, that she innocently counselled John, the Indian, to

attempt a discovery of witches, is permitted to commune with Mr. Parris'

church. She had been previously disciplined for such counsel and appeared
well." We are not told tvho disciplined her for the examination. Was it Mr.
Parris ?

This is the only instance I have met with of Indians being implicated in

white witchcraft.

• r. Mather's Brief Hist. Philip's War, 34.

t In his valuable Annals of Salem, 303.

t Danvers Records, published by the author last cited.

BND Of ^O'lB SECOND.
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BIOGRAPHY AND HISTORY OF THE NEW ENG-

LAND INDIANS CONTINUED.

CHAPTER I.

Life of Alkxander alias Wamsutta—Events which led to the war with Philip—
Weetamoo his wife—Early events in tur life—Petananuet, her second husband— JVeetamoo's latter career and death—JVinigret—Death of Alexander—John Sas-
SAMON

—

His country and connections—Becomes a christian—Schoolmaster—Min-
ister—Settles at Assaioomset—Felix marries his daughter—Sassamun discovers

the plots of Philip—Is murdered—Proceedings against the murderers— They are

condemned and executed.

Alexander was the English name, of the elder son of Massasoit. His real

name appears at first to have been Mooanam, and aftenvards Wamsutta, and
lastly Altxander. The name of Mooanam he bore as early as 1639 ; hi KMl
we find him noticed under the name Wamsutta. About the year 1656, he and
his younger brother, Metacomet, or rather Pometacom, were brought to the

court of Plimouth, and being solicitous to receive English names, the gov-
ernor called the elder Alexander, and the younger Philip, probably from the

two 3Iacedonian heroes, which, on being explamed to them, might have flat-

tered their vanities ; and which was probably the intention of the governor.

Alexander appears pretty early to have set up for himself, as will be seen in

the course of this chapter ; occasioned, perhaps, by his marrying a female
sachem of very considerable authority, and in great esteem among her
neighboi-s.

Namumpom, afterwards called Weetamoo, squaw-sachem of Pocasset, was
the wife of Alexander ; and who, as says an anonymous writer,* was more
willing to join Philip when he began war upon the English, being persuaded
by him that they had poisoned her husband. This author calls her " as potent
a prince as any round about her, and hath as much com, land, and men, at

her command."
Alexander having, in 1653, sold a tract of the territory acquired by his wife,

as has been related in the life of Massasoii, about six years after, Weetamoo
came to Plimouth, and the following account of her business is contauied in

the records.

" I, JSTamumpum, of Pokeesett, hauing, hi open court, June last, fifty-nine,

[1659,] before the govemour and majestrates, surrendered up all that right and
title of such lands as Woosamequin and Wamsetta sould to the purchasers ; as

appeeres by deeds giuen vnder theire hands, as alsoe the said JVamumpum
promise to remoue the Indians of fiom those lands ; and alsoe att the same
court the said Wamsutta promised JVamumpum the third part of the pay, as is

* Old Indiaui Chronicle, p. (>
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expressed in the deed of which payment JVamumpum liaue receiued of John
Cooke, this 6 of Oct. 1659 : these particulars as followeth : item ; 20 yards blew

trading cloth, 2 yards red cotton, 2 paire of shooes, 2 paire stockings, 6 broade

hoes and 1 axe ; And doe aclcnovvledge receiued Ijy me, Namcmpum."
Witnessed by Squabsen, Wahatunchquatt, and two EngHsh.

Tlius this land affair seems to have been amicably settled ; but the same
year o£ Alexander''s death, whether before or after we are not assured, JVamum-
pum appeai'ed at Plimouth, and complained that Wamsutta had sold some of
her land without her consent. " The court agreed to doe what they could

in conuenient tune for her relief."

We apprehend there was some little difficulty between Alexander and his

wife about this tune, especially if her complaint were before his death, and
we are rather of the opinion that it was, for it was June when her complaint
was made, and we should assign a little later date for the death of her husband

;

and therefore all difficulty was settled in his death.

On the 8 April, 1G61, Wamsutta deeded the tract of country since called

Rehoboth to Thomas Willet " for a valuable consideration."* What that was
the deed dues not inform us ; but we may venture to question the fact, for if

the consiileration had in truth been valuable, it would have appeai-ed ui the

deed, and not have been kept out of sight.

AVhat time JVamumpum deeded land to John Sanford and John Archer, we
are not mformed, but it was probably aljout the beginnhig of 1G62. It was a
deed of gift, and aj)pears to have been only deeded to them to prevent her
husband's selluig it ; but these men, it seems, attempted to hold the land in

violation of their promise ; however, being a woman of perseverance, she so

managed the matter, that, in the year 1668, she found witnesses who deposed
to the tioie meaning of the deed, and thus was, we presume, restored to her
rightful possessions.

Since we have been thus paiticular in acquainting the reader with the wife

of Wamsutta, we wUl, before proceeding with our account of the husband,
say all that we have to say of the interesting Weetamoo.
Soon after the death of Alexander, we find JVamumpum, or Weetamoo, asso-

ciated with another husband, named Petonowotvet. He was well known to

the English, and went by the familiar name of Ben. Now, unless Peto-noiv-

owet, or Pe-tan-a-nuet has been corrupted into Peter Nunnuit, we must
allow her to have had a thu'd husband in 1G75. We, however, are well satis-

fied that these two names are, as they appear to be, one and the same name.
This husband of Weetamoo does not appear to have been of so much impor-

tance as her first, Wamsidta ; and as he only ajjpears occasionally in the

crowd, we are of opinion that she took good cai'e in taking a second husband,
and fixed upon one that she was better able to manage than she was tlie de-

termmed Wamsutta.
On the 8 May, 1673, Tatavwmock, Petonowowett, and William alias l^asocke,

sold to JVathaniel Paine of Rf'hoboth, and Hugh Cole of Swansey, a lot of
land in Swansey, near Mattapoiset, and Showamet neck, for £35 5s. Weetamoo,
Philip alias Wagusoke, and Steven alias JVucano, were the Indian witnesses.

About the same time, one Pioivant was uitruded upon by some othoi's

claiming his lands, or othei-wise molesting hijn, and tJie business seems to

have undergone a legal scrutiny ; in this affair both Weetamoo and her hus-
band apjx'ar upon our records. They testify that the tract of land bounded
by a small river or brook called Mastuckselt, which compasseth said tract to

Assonett River, and so to Taunton Hiver, [by trees, &c.] h.nth for many yeara
been in the possession oi' Piowant. The place of the bounds on Taunton Kivor
was called Chippascuilt, which was a little south of Mastucksett. Pantauset,
(^uanoivin, JVesca7ioo, and Panowivin, testified the same.

It does not appear that Peta-nan-u-it was at all concerned in Philip's war
against the English, l)ut, on tiie contrary, forsook his wife and joined them
against her. Under sucli a leader as Church, he must have been employed
against his countrymen with great advantage. At the time he came over to

• See llie Hisi. of Atilfl)i)rou;,'!i, f>y JoJin Daggett, Esq., p. 6, wliere ihe deed is preserved.
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tlie English, he no doubt expected his wife would do the same, as she gave
Church to undei-staud as much. After the war he was honored with a com-
mand over the prisoners, who were permitted to reside in the countiy be-
tween Sepecan and Dai-tmouth. JVumpus, or JVompash, and Isaac were also
in the same office.

After Mr. Church left Awashonks' council, a few days before the war broke
out, he met witli both Weetamoo and her husband at Pocasset. He first met
with the husband, Petananuet, who had just arrived in a canoe from Philip's
nead quailei-s at Mount Hope. He told Church there would certainly be wai-,

for that Philip had held a war dance of several weeks, and had entertained
the young men from all parts of the countiy. He said, also, that Philip ex-
pected to be sent for to Plimouth, about Sassamon's death, knowing hunself
guilty of contriving that murder. Petananuet fuitlier said, that he saw Mr.
James Brown of Swausey, and Mr. Samuel Gorton, who was an intei-jireter,

and two other men that brought a letter from the governor of Plimouth to
Philip. Philip's young warriors, he said, would have killed Mr. Brown, but
Philip told them they must not, for his father had charged him to show kind-
ness to him ; but to satisfy them, told them, that on the next Sunday, when
the English had gone to meeting, they might plunder their houses, and after-
wards kill their cattle.

Meanwhile Weetamoo was at her camp just back from Pocasset shore, on
the high hill a little to the north of what is now Howland's ferry, and Petana-
nuet requested Mr. Church to go up and see her. He did so, and found her in
rather a melancholy mood, all her men having left her and gone to Philip's
war dance, much, she said, against her will.

Church, elated with his success at AwashonW camp, and thinking both
" queens " secured to the English interest, hastened to Plimouth to give the
governor an account of his discoveries.—This was a day big to Philip ; he
immediately took measures to reclaim Weetamoo, and had nearly drawn off
Aiuashonks with the vivid hopes of conquest and booty.

Weetamoo could no longer remain neutral ; the idea still harrowed upon her
mind, that the authorities of Plimouth had poisoned her former husband,* and
was now sure that they had seduced her present one ; therefore, from tlie

power of such arguments, when urged by the artful Philip, there was no
escape or resistance. Hence his fortune became her own, and she moved
with him fi-om place to place about her dominions, in the countiy of Pocasset,
until the 30 July, when all the Wampanoags escaped out of a swamp, and
retired into the country of the Nipmuks. From this time Weetamoo's opera-
tions become so blended with those of her allies, that the life of Philip takes
up the narration.

When, by intestine divisions, the power of Philip was destroyed among the
Nipmucks, Weetamoo seems to have been deserted by almost all her foUowere,
and, like Philip, she sought refuge again in her own countiy. It was upon the
6 August, 1676, when she anived upon the western bank of Tehticut River in
Mettapoiset, where, as was then supposed, she was drowned by accident, in
attempting to cross the river to Pocasset, at the same point she had crossed
the year before in her flight with Philip.

Her company consisted now of no more than 26 men, whereas, in the be-
ginning of the war, they amounted to 300 ; and she was considered by the
English " next unto Philip in respect of the mischief that hath been done."-'
The English at Taunton were notified by a deserter of her situation, who
offered to lead any that would go, m a way that they might easily surprise her
and her company. Accordingly, 20 men volunteered upon this enterprise,
and succeeded in capturing all but Weetamoo, " who," according to Mr. Huh-
hardX " intending to make an escape from the danger, attempted to get over a
river or ami of the sea near by, upon a raft, or some pieces of broken wood

;

but whether tired and spent with swimming, or starved with cold and hunger
she was found stark naked in Metapoiset, not far from the water side, which
made some think she was first half drowned, and so ended her wretched life."

" Her head being cut off and set upon a pole in Taunton, was knovm by some

Old Indian Chronicle, p. 8. +i. Mather. % Narrative, 103 and 109.
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Indians then prisoners [there,] which set tliem into a liorrible lamentation."
Mr. Mather improves upon this passage, giving it ui a style more to suit the
taste of the times : " They made a most horid and diabolical lamentation^
crying out that it was their queen's head."
The authors of Yamotden thus represent Philip escaping from the cold

grasp of the ghostly form of Weetamoo

:

—
" As from the water's depth she came, Her hollow scream he heard behind
With dripping- lorks and bloated frame, Come minglhig- with the howling wind :

Wild her discolored arms she threw ' Why fly from Wetamoe ? she died
To grasp him ; and, as swift he flew, Bearnig the war-axe on thy side.'"

Although Weetamoo doubtless escaped from Pocasset with Philip^ yet it

a])pears that instead of flying to the Nipmuks she soon went down into the
Niantic coimtry, and the English unmediately had news of it, which occa-
sioned then- sending for Ninigret to answer for liarboring then* enemy, as in

his life has been related.

In this connection it should be noted, that tlie tune had expired, in which
JVinigrtt by his deputies agreed to deliver up Weetamoo, some time previous to

the great fight m Narraganset, and hence this was seized upon, as one pretext

for invadmg the Narragansets. And moreover, it was said, that if she were
taken by that formidable army of a 1000 men, " her lands would more than

pay all the charge " the English had been at in the whole war.*

Weetamoo, it is presumed, left Ninigret and jomed the hostile Narragansets

and the Wampanoags in their strong fort, some time previous to the English
expedition agahist it, in December. And it was about this time that she

connected herself with the NaiTaganset chief Quinnapin, as will be found
related in his life. She is mentioned by some WTitei*s as Philip^s kinswoman,
which seems to have been the case in a two-fold manner; first from her
bemg sister to his wife, and secondly from her marryhig Alexander, his brother.

To return to Wamsutta.
A lasting and permanent uiterest will always be felt, and peculiar feelings

associated \v 'th the name of this chief. Not on account of a cai'eer of battles,

devastations or murders, for there were few of these,f but there is left for us

to relate the n^elancholy account of his death. Mr. Hubbard's account of this

event is in the hands of almost every reader, and cited by every wi'iter upon
om* early historj', and hence is too extensively known to be repeated here.

Dr. /. Mather aj^rees veiy neai'ly in his account with Mr. Hubbard, but being
more minute, and rarely to be met with, we give it entire :

—

" In A. D. 1663, Plimouth colony was in some danger of being involved in

trouble by the Wampanoag Indians. After Massasoit was dead, his two sons,

called Wamsutta and Metacomet, came to the comt at Plimouth, pretending
higli respect for the English, and, therefore, desired Englisli names might be
imposed on them, whereupon the court there named Wamsutta, the elder

brother, Alexander, and Metacomet, the younger brother, Philip. This Alexaiv-

der, Philip's uumediate predecessor, was not so faithful and friendly to the

English as his father had been. For some of Boston, havuig been occasionally

at Narraganset, wrote to Mr. Prince, who was then governor of Pliinouth, that

Alexander was contriving mischief against the English, and that he had solicit-

ed the Narragansets to engage with him m his designed rebellion. Hereupon,
Capt. Willet, who lived near to IMount Hope, the place where Alexaiuler did

reside, was appointed to speak with iiim, and to desire him to attend the next
court in Plimouth, for their satisfaction, and his own vindication. He
seemed to take the message in good part, professing that the Ntu-ragansets,

whom, he said, were his enemies, had put an abuse upon him, and he readily

promised to attend at the next court. But when the day for iiis appearance
was come, instead of that, he at that veiy time went over to the Narragansets,

Ins pretended enemies, which, comptu'ed with other circumstances, caused
the gentlemen at Plimouth to suspect there was more of trnth in the infor-

* Old Indian Chronicle, p. 31, 3'2.

f In IGGl, he was forced into a war with Unras, the account of which, properly belonging
to the life of that chief, will be found there related.

i



-CHAP I.] ALEXANDER. 191

{nation given, than at first they were aware of. Wherefore the governor and
magistrates there ordered Major Winslotv, (who is since, and at this day [1677]
governor of tliat colony,) to take a party of men, and fetch down Alexander,

The major considering that semper nocuit deferre paratis, he took but 10 ai-med

men with him fi*om Marshfield, intending to halve taken more at the towns
that lay nearer Mount Hope. But Divine Providence so ordered, as that when
they were about the midway between Plimouth and Bridgewater,* observing

an himting house, they rode up to it, and there did they find Alexander and
many of his menf well armed, but their guns standing together without the

house. The major, with his small party, possessed themselves of the Indians'

arms, and beset the house ; then did he go in amongst them, acquainting the

sachem with the reason of his coming in such a way ; desiring Alexander
with his interpreter to walk out with him, who did so a little distance from the

house, and then understood what commission the major had received con-
cerning hun. The proud sachem fell into a raging passion at this surpinse

saying the governor had no reason to credit rumore, or to send for him in

such a way, nor would he go to Plimouth, but when he saw cause. It was
replied to him, that his breach of word touching appearance at Plimouth
court, and, instead thereof, going at the same time to his pretended enemies,
augmented jealousies concerning him. In fine, the major told him, that his

order was to bring him to Plimouth, and that, by the help of God, he would
do it, or else he would die on the place ; also declaring to hun that if he would
submit, he might expect respective usage, but if he once more denied to go,

he should never stir from the ground whereon he stood ; and with a pistol at

the sachem's breast, required that his next words should be a positive and
clear answer to what was demanded. Hereupon his interpreter, a discreet

Indian, brother to John Sausaman,X being sensible of Alexander's passionate

disposition, entreated that he might speak a few words to the sachem before

he gave his answer. The prudent discourse of this Indian prevailed so far as

tliat Alexander yielded to go, only requesting that he might go like a sachem,
with his men attending him, which, although there was some hazard in it,

they being many, and the English but a few, was granted to him. The
weather being hot, the major offered him an horse to ride on, but his squaw
and divers Indian women being in company, he refused, saying he could go on
foot as well as they, entreating only that there might be a complying with
their pace, which was done. And resting several times by the way, Alexan-
der and his Indians wei'e refreshed by the English. No other discourse hap-
pening while they were upon their mai-ch, but what was pleasant and amicable.

The major sent a man before, to entreat that as many of the magistrates of
that colony as could would meet at Duxbury. Wherefore having there had
some treaty with Alexander, not vsdlling to commit him to prison, they en-

treated Major fVinslow to receive him to his house, untU the governor, who
then lived at Eastham, could come up. Accordmgly, he and his train were
courteously entertained by the major. And albeit, not so much as an angry
word passed between them whilst at Mai'shfield

;
yet proud Alexander, vexing

and fretting in his spirit, that such a check was given him, he suddenly fell

sick of a fever. He was then nursed as a choice fi'iend. Mr. Fuller, the

physician, coming providentially thither at that time, the sachem and his men
earnestly desired that he would administer to him, which he was unwUling to

do, but by their importunity was prevailed with to do the best he coidd to

help him, and therefore gave him a portion of working physic, which the

Indians thought did him good. But his distemper aflei-wards prevailing, they
entreated§ to dismiss him, in order to a return home, which upon engagement

* Within six miles of the English towns. Hubbard, 10, (Edition, 1677.) Massasoit, and
/ikewise Philip, used to have temporary residences in eh'gible places for fishing, at various
sites between the two bays, Narragansel and Massachusetts, as at Rajoiham, Namasket, Titi-

cut, [in Middleborough,] and Munponset Pond in Halifax. At which of these places he was,
we cannot, with certainty, decide : that at Halifax would, perhaps, agree best with Mr. Hub-
bard's account.

t Eighty, says Hubbard, 6.

i He had a brother by the name of Roland.

$ "Entreating those that held him prisoner, that he might have liberty to return home.
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of appearance at the next court was granted to hiin. Soon after his being
returned home he died." *

Thus ends Dr. Mather's "relation " of the short reign of Alexander. And
although a document lately published by Judge Davis of Boston sets the con-
duct of the English in a veiy favorable light, yet it is very difficult to con-
ceive how Mather and Hubbard could have been altogether deceived in then
information. We mean in respect to the treatment Alexander received at the

hands of his captors. They both wrote at the same tune, and at different

places, and neither knew what the other had wiitten. Of this we are confi-

dent, if, as we ai*e assured, there was, at this time, x-ather a misimderstanduig
between these two reverend authors.

This affair caused much excitement, and, judging from the writers of that

time, paiticularly Hubbard, some recrijnination upon tlie conduct of the gov-
ernment of Plimouth, by some of tlie English, who were more in the habit of
using or recommending mild measures towards Indians than the Plirooutli

people appeal- to have been, seems to have been indulged in. After thus
premising, we will offer the document, which is a letter written by the Rev.
John Cotton, of Plimouth, to Dr. /. Mather, and now printed by Judge Davis,
in his edition of Morton^s Memorial. There is no date to it, at least the editor

gives none ; but if it were written in answer to one from Mr. Mather to

him, desiring infonnation on that head, dated 21st April, 1677,f we may
conclude it was about this time ; but Mr. Mather's " Relation " would not lead

us to suppose that he was in possession of such information, and, there-

fore, he either was not in possession of it when he published his account, or

tliat he had other testimony which invalidated it.

The letter begins, "Major Bradford, [who was with Mr. Winslow when
Alexander was surprised,] confidently assures me, that hi the narrative de

Alexandra J there ai'e many mistakes, and, fearing lest you should, through
mismformation, print some mistakes on that subject, from his mouth I tiiis

writ 3. Reports beuig here that Alexander was plotting or privy to plots,

against the English, authority sent to him to come down. He came not.

Whereupon Major Wiiislow was sent to fetch him. Major Bradford, witli

some others, went with him. At Munponset River, a place not many miles

hence, they found Alexander with about eight men and sundry squaws. He
was there about getting canoes. He and his men were at breakfast under
then- shelter, their guns being without. They saw tlie English coming, but
continued eating ; and Mr. Winslow telling their business, Alexander, freely

and readily, without the least hesitancy, consented to go, giving his reason

why he came not to the court before, viz., because he waited for Captain
WilleVs return from the Dutch, being desirous to speak with him first They
brought him to Mr. Collier's that day, and Governor Prince living remote at

Eastham, those few magistrates who were at hand issued the matter peace-

ably, and immediately dismissed Alexander to return home, which he did

part of the way ; but, in two or three days after, he returned and went to

Major Winslow's house, intenduig thence to travel into the hay and so home
;

but, at the major's house, he was taken veiy sick, and was, by water, con-

veyed to Major Bradford's, and thence carried upon the shoulders of his men
to Tethquet River, and tlience m canoes home, and, about two or three days
after, died."

Tlius it is evident that there is error somewhere, and it would be very sat-

isfactory if we could erase it from our history ; but, at present, we are able

only to agitate it, and wait for the further discoveiy of documents before

Alexander's true history can be given ; and to suspend judgment, although

promising to return again if he recovered, and to send his son as hostage till he could so do.

On that consideration, he was fairly dismissed, but died before he got half way home."—
Hubbard.

* It is a pity that such an able historian as Grahame should not have been in possession of

other authorities upon this matter than those who have copied from the above. See liis HisU
N. America, i. 401.

t Sec his Memorial, 288.

X A paper drawn up by the authorities of Plimouth, and now, 1 believe, among the MSS.
\y the lil)rary of lhi> llisl. Soc. of Mits.s- This was. probaMy, Mr. IJuMnnl's authority.
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some may readily decide that the evidence is hi favor of the old printed

accomits. It is the business of a historian, where a pouit is in dispute, to

exliibit existuig evidence, and let the reader make up his own judgment.
We are able, from the first extract given upon this head, to lunit the time

of his sachemship to a portion of the year l<]i62.

It will have appealed already, that enough had transpired to inflame the

minds of the Indians, and especially that of the sachem Philip, if, indeed,

the evidence adduced be considered valid, regardmg the blamableness of the

Eiiglisii. Nevertheless, our next step onvvai'd will more fully develop the

causes of PhUip^s deep-rooted animosities.

We come now to speak of John Sassamon, Avho deserves a particidar

notice ; more especially as, from several manuscripts, we are able not only to

correct some important errors in former histories, but to give a more minute
account of a character which must always be noticed in enterhig upon the

study ol this part of our history. Not that he would otherwise demand
more notice than many of his brethren ahnost silently passed over, but for his

agency in bringing about a war, the interest of which mcreases in proportion

as time carries us from its period.

John Sassamon was a subject of Philip, an unstable-minded fellow ; and,

living in the neighborhood* of the English, became a convert to Christianity,

learned their language, and was able to read and write, and had tianslated

some of the Bible into Indian. Being rather insinuatuig and artful, he was
employed to teach his countrymen at Natick, in the capacity of a school-

master. How long before the war this was, is not mentioned, but must have
been about 1660, as he was Philip^s secretary, or interpreter, in 1662, and this

was after he had become a Christian. He left the English, from some dislike,

and went to reside with Alexander, and afterwards with Philip, who, it ap-

pears, employed hmi on account of his learnmg. Always restless, Sassamon
did not remain long with Philip before he returned agam to the English ;

" and
he manifested such evident signs of repentance, as that he was, after his re-

turn from pagan Philip, reconciled to the prayuig Indians and baptized, and
received, as a member, into one of the Indian churches

;
yea, and employed

as an instructor amongst them every Lord's day."t

Previous to the war, we presume in the winter of 1672, Sassamon was sent

to preach to the Namaskets,J and other Indians of Middleborough, who, at

this tune, were very numerous. The famous Watuspaquin was then the

chief of this region and who appeal's to have been disposed to encourage
the new religion taught by Sassamon. For, in 1674, he gave him a tJ< ct of
land near his own residence, to mduce him to remain among his people. The
deed of gift of this land was, no doubt, drawn by Sassamon, and is in these

words :

—

" Know all men by these presents, that I, Old Watuspaquin, doe grauut
\Tito John Sassamon, allies fVassasoman, 27 acrees of land for a home lott at

Assowamsett necke. This is my gift, giuen to him the said John Sassamon,
by me the said Watuspaquin, in Anno 1673, [or 1674, if between 1 Jan. and
25 March.]

Old WATusPAquiN (D his marke.
William TusPAQUiN dV his marke.

Witness, alsoe, Naneheunt § -\- his marke."

As a further inducement for Sassamon to settle here. Old Tuspaquin and
his son deeded to Felix, an Indian who married Sassamx>n^s daughter, 58 and
an half acres of land ; as " a home lott," also. This deed was dated 11

March, 1673, O. S., which doubtless was done at the same time with the other

* " This Sassamon was by birih a Massachuselt, his father and mother living in Dorchester,,

ind they both died Christians."—/. Mather.

•t Mather's Relation, 74.

J The inhabitants of the place call it Nemasket. In the records, it is almost always written

Namassakett.

4 Spelt also Memeheutt.

17 ^'
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This daughter of Sassamon was called by the English name Betty,* but her orig-

inal name was Assowetough. To his son-in-law, Sassamon gave his land, by a

kind of will, which he wrote himself, not long before his death
;
probably

about the time he became tired of his new situation, which we suppose was also

about the time that he discovered the design of Philip and his captains to

brhig about their war of extermmation.
Old Tuspaquin, as he called himself, and his son, not only confirmed Sassa-

mon^s will, but about the same time made a bequest themselves to his daugh-
ter, which, they say, was " with the consent of all the chiefFe men of Asso-
wameett." This deed of gift from them was dated 23 Dec. 1673. It was of
a neck of land at Assowamsett, called Nahteawamet. The names of some
of the nhces which bounded this tract were Mashquomoh, a swamp, Sason-
kuiusett, a pond, and another large pond called Chupipoggut. Tobias, Old
Thonti'^, Pohonoho, and Kankunuki, were upon this deed as witnesses.

Felix served the English in Philip^s war, and was living in 1679, in which
year Governor JVinsloiv ordered, " that all such lands as were formerly John
SassamoJi's in our colonic, shall be settled on Felix his son-in-law," and to re-

main his and his heii-s " foreuer." Felixes wife survived him, and willed her
laud to a daughter, named Mercy. This was in 1696, and Isacke Wanno wit-

nessed said will. There was at a later period an Indian preacher at Titicutf

named Thomas Felix, perhaps a son of the former.^ But to return to the

more immediate subject of our discourse.

There was a Sassaman, or, as my manuscript has it, Sosomon, known to the

English as early as 1637 ; but as we have no means of knowing how old Johi
Sassamon was when he was murdered, it cannot be decided with probability,

whether or not it were he. This Sosomon, as will be seen in the life of Sassa-
cus, went with the English to fight the Pequots

Sassamon acted as uiteqji-eter, witness or scribe, as the case required, on
many occasions. When Philip and Wootontkanuske his wife, sold, in 1664,

Mattapoisett to William Brenton, Sassamon was a witness and interpreter.

The same year he was Philip's agent " in settling the bounds of Acushenok,
Coaksett, and places adjacent." Again, in 1665, he witnessed the receipt of
£10 paid to Philip on account of settling the bounds the year before.

There was a Rowland Sassamon, who I suppose was the brother of John.

His name appeare but once in all the manuscript records I have met with, and
then only as a witness, with his brother, to Philip^s deed of Mattapoisett,

above mentioned.
The name Sassamon, like most Lidian names, is variously spelt, but tJie

way it here appears is nearest as it was understood in his last years, judging
from the recoi'ds. But it was not so originally. Woosansaman was among
tlie first modes of writing it.

This detail may appear dry to the general reader, but we must occasion-

ally gratify oiu- antiquarian friends. We now proceed in our narrative.

While living among the Namaskets, Sassamon learned what was going
forward among his countrymen, and, when he was convinced jiat their

design was war, went immediately to Plimouth, and communicated his dis-

covery to the governor. "Nevertheless, his information," says Dr. I. Mather,§

"(because it had an Indian original, and one can haidly believe them when
they do speak the truth,) was not at first much regarded."

It may be noticed here, that at this time if any Lidian appeared friendly,

all Indians were so declaimed agtainst, that scaixely any one among the Eng-
lish could be found tiiat would allow that an Indian could be faithful or

honest in any aftair. And although some others besides Sassamon had inti-

mated, and that rather strongly, that a "rising of the Lulians" was at hand,

still, as Dr. Mather observes, because Indians said so, little or no attention

* The English soinelimcs added her surname, and hence, in ihe account of Mr. Bennel, (1

Col. Mass. tiist. Soc. iii. 1.) Betty Sasemore. The noted place now called Betty's Neck,

in Middleborough, was named from her. In 1793, there were eight families of Indians there.

t Cotuhticnt, Kclchiquut, Tehticut, Kekettkut, Kelicut, Teisrhtaquid, Tetvhquet, are spell-

ings of this name in the various books and records I have consulted.

t Backiut's Middleborouiih, in 1 Col. .Mass. Hist. Soc. iii. 150.

A Relation of the Troubles, &c., 74
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was paid to their advice. Notwithstanding, Mr. Gookin, in his MS. histoiy,*

says, that, previous to the war, none of the Christian Ladians had " been
justly charged, either with unfaithfuhiess or treachery towards the English."
" But, on tlie contrary, some of them had discovered the treachery, particu-

lai'ly Walcut the ruler, of Philip before he began any act of hostility." In

another place the same author says, that, in April, 1675, Wauhan " came to

one of the magistrates on purpose, and informed him that he had ground to

fear that sacliem Philip, and other Indians his confederates, intended aome
mischief shoitly." Again in May, about six weeks before the war, he came
and said the same, adding that Philip's men were only waiting for the trees

to get leaved out, that they might prosecute their design with more effect.

To return to Sassamon

:

In the mean time, some circumstances happened that gave lUi'ther grounds
of suspicion, that war was meditated, and it was intended that messengers
should be sent to Philip, to gain, if possible, the real state of the case. But
before this was effected, much of the winter of 1674 had passed away, and
the Rev. Sassamo7i still resided with the Namaskets, and others of his

countiymen in that neighborhood. And notwithstanding he had enjoined
the strictest secrecy upon his English friends at Plimouth, of what he had
revealed, assuring them that if it came to Philip's knowledge, he should be
immediately murdered by him, yet it by some means got to the chief's

knowledge, and Sassamo7i was considered a traitor and an outlaw ; and, by
the laws of the Lidians, he had forfeited his life, and was doomed to suffer

death. The manner of effecting it was of no consequence with them, so
long as it was brought about, and it is probable that Philip had ordei-ed any
of his subjects who might meet with him, to kill him.
Early in the spring of 1675, Sassamon was missing, and, on search being

made, his body was found in Assawomset Pond, in Middleborough.t Those
that killed him not caring to be known to the English, left his hat and gun
upon the ice, that it might be supposed that he had di'owned himself; but
from several marks upon his body, and the fact that his neck was broken,
it was evident he had been murdered. I Several persons were suspected,
and, upon the information of one called Patuckson, Tobias § one of Philip's

counsellors, his son, and Matta^hinnamy, were apprehended, tried by Ji jm*y,

consisting of half Indians,
||
and in June, 1675, were all executed at Plimouth;

"one of them before his execution confessing the mui'der," but the other
two denied all knowledge of the act, to theu- last breath. The truth of
their guilt may reasonably be called in question, if the circumstance of the
bleeduig of the dead body at the approach of the murderer, had any influence
upon the juiy. And we are fearful it was the case, for, ifthe most learned were
misled by such hallucinations in those days, we are not to suppose that the
more ignorant were free from them. Dr. Increase Mather wrote within two
years of the affair, and he has this passage : " When Tobias (the suspected
murderer) came near the dead body, it fell a bleeding on fresh, as if it had
been newly slain ; albeit, it was buried a considerable time before that." ^

Notliing of this i)ait of the story is upon record among the manuscripts,
as we can find, but still we do not question the authenticity of Dr. Mather,
who, we believe, is the first that printed an account of it. Nor do the
records of Plimouth notice Sassamon until some time after his death. The
first record is in these words : " The court seeing cause to require the per-

* Not yet published, but is now, (April, 183G,) printing- with notes by the author of this

work, under llie direction of the American Antiquarian Society. It will form a lasting monu-
ment of one of the best men of those days. The author was, as Mr. Eliot expresses himself,
'' a pillar in our Indian work." He died in 1G87, aged 75.

t Some would like to know, perhaps, on what authority Mr. Grahame (Hist'. N. Amer. i.

402.) slates thai Sasxamon's body wasfound in a field.

X Goolcin's MS. Hist, of Christian Indians. This author says, " Sassamand was the first

Christian martyr," and that " it is evident he suffered death upon the account of his Christian
profession, and fidelity to the English."

His Indian name was Poggapanossoo.
Mather's Relation, 74. Judge Davis retains the same account, {Morton's Memorial,

I.) which we shall presently show to be erroneous.

H Mather's Relation. 75.
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Bonal appearance of an Indian called Tobias before the court, to make fur-

ther answer to such interrogatories as shall be required of him, in reference
to the sudden and violent death of an Indian called John Sa^samon, late

deceased." This was in March, 1674, O. S.

It appears that Tobias was present, although it is not so stated, from the
fact that Tuspaquin and his son William entered into bonds of £100 for the
appearance of Tobias at the next court in June following. A mortgage
of land was taken as security for the £100.
June having arrived, three instead of one are arraigned as the murderers

of Sassainoru There was no intimation of any one but Tobias being guilty

at the previous court. Now, JVampapaquan, the son of Tobias, and Matta-
shunannamo * are arraigned with him, and the bill of indictment runs as fol-

lows : " For that being accused that they did with joynt consent vpon the

29 of January ann° 1674, [or 1675, N. S.l att a Y>^ace called .^ssowamsett Pond,
wilfully and of sett purpose, and of mallice fore thought, and by force and
armes, mm-der John Sassamon, an other Indian, by laying violent hands on
him, and striking him, or twisting his necke vntill hee was dead ; and to hyde
and conceale this theire said murder, att the tyme and place aforesaid, did
cast his dead body through a hole of the iyce into the said pond."
To this they pleaded " not guilty," and put themselves on trial, say the

records. The jiu-y, however, were not long in fuiding them guiltj', wliich

they express in these words : "Wee of the jury one and all, both English
and Indians doe joyntly and with one consent agree upon a verdict."

Upon this they were immediately remanded to prison, " and from thence
[taken] to the place of execution and there to be hanged by the head f vntill

theu'e bodies are dead." Accordingly, Tobias and Mattashunannamo were
executed on the 8 June, 1675. " But the said Wampapaquan, on some con-
siderations was reprieued until a month be expired." He was, however, shot
within the month.

It is an error that the jury that found them guilty was composed of half
Indians ; there were bftt four, while there were twelve Englishmen. We
will again hear the record :

—

"Itt was judged very expedient by the court, that, together with this

English jury aboue named, some of the most indiffereiitest, grauest and
sage Lidians should be admitted to be with the said jin-y, and to healp to

consult and aduice with, of, and concerning the premises: there names
are as foUoweth, viz. one called by an English name Hope, and Maskippague,
Wannoo, George Wavipye and Acanootus ; these fully concurred with the

jury in theire verdict."

The names of the jm-ymeu were William Sabine, William Crocker, Edward
Stxirgis, Williain Brookes, JVaih'. Winslow, John Wadswoiih, Andrew Ringe,

Robert Vixon, John Done, Jon\ Bangs, Jon"^. Shaw and Be7ij". Higgins.

That nothing which can throw light uj)Ou this important affair be passed
ovei-, we will here add, from a hitherto exceeduig scai'ce tract, the following

particulars, although some parts of them arc evidently erroneous : "About
five or six years since, there was brought uj), amongst others, at the college

at Cambridge, (Mass.) an Lidian, named Sosomon ; who, after some time he
had spent in preaching the gospel to Uncas, a sagamore Christian in his ter-

ritories, was, by tlie authority of New Pliniouth, sent to preach in like nuui-

ner to King Philip, and his Indians. But King Philip, (heathen-like,)

instead of receiving the gosjjel, would innnediately have killed this Sosomon,

but by the persuasion of some about him, did not do it, but sent him by the

bands of three men to prison ; who, as he was going to prison, exhorted

and taught them in tlie Christian religion. They, not liking his discourse,

immediately murthered him aller a most barbarous manner. They, return-

ing to King Philip, acquainted him with what they had done. About two
or three months after this murther, being discovered to the authority of

* The same called Mattashinnaviy. His name in the records is spell four ways.

t This old phraseology reminds us of ihe Frendi mode of expression, couper le cou, that is,

to cut off the neck instead of the head ; but tlie French say, U sera pendu par son cou, and so

do modern hangmen, a.\\as jurists, of our times.
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New Pliniouth, Josiah Winsloiv being then governor of that colony, care was
taken to find out tlie niiirtherers, who, ujion search, were found and appre-

hended, and, after a fan* trial, were all hanged. This so exasperated King
Philip, that, from that day after, he studied to be revenged on the English

—

judging that tlie English authority had nothing to do to hang an Lidian for

killhig another." *

CHAPTER 11.

Life of KING PHILIP

—

His real name—The name of his loife—Makes frequent

sales of his lands—Account of them—His first treaty at Plimouth—Expedition to

JVantucket—Events of 1671

—

Begins the WAR of 1675

—

First acts of hostility—
Swamp Fight at Pocasset—Narrowly escapes out of his own country—is pursued
by Oneko—Fight at Rehoboth Plain— Cuts off a company of English under Captain
Beers—Incidents—Fight at Sugar-loaf Hill, and destructioii of Captain Lathrop's

company—Fights the English under Mosely—English raise 1500 men—Philip

retires to JVarraganset—Strongly fortifies himself in a great sicamp—Description

of his fortress—English march to attack him—The great Fight at Narraganset—
Again flies h is country— Visits the Mohawks—Ill-devised stratagem—Events of 1676—Returns again to his country—Reduced to a icretched condition—Is hunted by Church
—His chief counsellor , Akkompoin, killed, and his sister captured—His wife and son

fall into the hands of Church—Flies to Pukanoket— Is surprised and slain.—Speci-

men of the Wampanoag Language—Other curious matter.

Ix regard to the native or Indian name of Philip, it seems a mistake has al-

ways prevailed, in printed accounts. Pometacom gives as near its Indian sound
as can be approached by our letters. The first syllable was dropped in familiar

discourse, and hence, in a short time, no one imagined but what it had always

been so ; in nearly every original deed executed by him, which we have seen,

and they are many, his name so appears. It irf true that, in those of different

years, it is spelt with some little variation, all which, however, couvej-ed very
nearly the same sound. The variations are Pumatacom, Pamatacom, Pometa-
come, and Pometacom ; the last of which prevails in the records.

We have another important discov ery to communicate : f it is no other than

the name of the wife of Pometacom—the innocent Wootonekanuske ! This
was the name of her who, with her little son, fell into tlie hands of Captain

Church. No wonder that Philip was "now ready to die," as some of his trai-

torous men told Churchy and that " his heart was now ready to break !
" All

that was dear to hmi was now swallowed up in the vortex ! But they still

lived, and this most harrowed his soul—lived for what ? to serve as slaves Lu

an unkno\vn land ! could it be otherwise tlian that madness should seize upon
him, and despair torment him in every place ? that in his sleep he should hear

the anguishing cries and lamentations of ffootonekanuske and his son ? But
we must change the scene.

It seems as though, for many years before the war of 1675, Pometacom, and
nearly all of his people sold off' then- lands as fast as purchasers presented them-
selves. They saw the prosperity of the English, and they were just such phi-

losophere as are easily captivated by any show of ostentation. They were forsa-

king their manner of life, to wiiich tlie proximity of the whites was a deadly

poison, and were eager to obtain such things as their neighboi"S possessed ; these

were only to be obtained by paitiiig with their lands. That the reader may
fonn some idea of the rapidity with which the Indians' lands in PUmouth
colony were disposed of, we add the followmg items :

—

* Present State of New England, by a merclianl of Boston, in respect to tlie present

Bloody Indian Wars, page 3, folio, London, 1676. This, with four other tracts upon
Philip's War, (covering the whole period of it, with notes by myself, accompanied by a
Chronology of all Indian events in America from its discovery to the present time, (March
7th, 1836,) has just been published under the title of the Old Indian Chronicle.

t The author feels a peculiar satisfaction that it has fallen to his lot to be the first to publish

the real name of the great sachem of the Wampanoags, and also that of the shsu'er of hil

perils, Wootovekanusie

.

17*



198 PHILIP.—SALES OF HIS LANDS. [Book III

In a deed dated 23 June, 1664, " JVilliam Brenton, of Newport, R. I. mer-
chant," " for a valuable consideration " paid by him, buys Matapoisett ofPhilip
This deed begins, " I, Pumatacom alias Philip, chief sachem of Mount Hope,
Cowsumpsit and of all territories thereunto belonging." Philip and his wife
both signed this deed, and Tockomock, Jfecopauhim,* JVesetaquanon, Pompa-
quase, Jlperniniate, Taquanksicke, Paquonack, JVatapatahue, Aquetaquish, John
Sassamon the interpreter, Rowland Sassamon, and two Englishmen, signed as

witnesses.

In 1665, he sold the country about Acushena, [now New Bedford,] and
Coaxet, [now m Compton.] Philip^s father having previously sold some of
the same, £10 was now given him to prevent any claim from him, and to pay
for his marking out the same. John Woosansman [one of the names of Sassa
tnon] witnessed this deed.

The same year the court of Plimouth presented Philip with a horse, but on
what account we are not informed.

In 1662, Wrentham was [)urchased of Philip by the English of Dedham.
It was then called Wollomonopoag, and, by the amount assessed, appears to have
cost £24 I O5., and was six miles square. For this tract of land the English had
been endeavorhig to negotiate five yeai-s.f " In Nov. 1669, upon notice ofPhilip,
Sagamore ofMount Hope, now at Wollomonopoag, offering a treaty of his lands

thereabouts, not yet purchased," the selectmen appoint five persons to negotiate

with hun " for his remaining right, provided he can show that he has any." J

Whether his right were questionable or not, it seems a piu'chase was made, at

that time, of the tract called fVoollommonuppogue, " within the town boimds [of

Dedham] not yet purchased." What the full consideration was, our documents
do not state, but from a manuscript order which he drew on Dedham afterwards,

and the accompanying receipt, some estimate may be formed. The order re-

quests them " to pay to this hearer,for the use q/*KiNG Philip, £5, 5s. m money,
and £5 in trucking cloth at money price." In a receipt signed by an agent of
Philip, named Peter, the following amount is named : " In reference to thepayment
©/"King Philip of Mount Hope, the full and just sum of £5, 5s. in money, and
12 yards of trucking cloth, 3 lbs. of -powder, and as much lead as ivill make it up ;

which is infull satisfaction ivith £10 that he is to receive of JVathanicl Paine." §
We next meet with a shigular record of Philip, the authorship of which we

attribute to John Sassamo7i, and which, besides extending our knowledge of
Philip into his earlier times, serves to inake us acquainted with Sassamon's ac-

quu'ements in the language of the pilgrims.
" Know all men by these presents, that Philip haue giuen power vnto JVa-

tuchpoo
II
and Sampson and theire brethren to hold and make sale of to whom

they will by my consent, and they shall not haue itt without they be willing to

lett it goe it shal be sol by my consent, but without my knowledge they cminot
safely to : but with my consent there is none that can lay claime to that land

which "Jiey haue marked out, it is theires foreuer, soe tiierefore none can safely

purchase any otherwise but by Watachpoo and Sampson and their bretheren.

Philip 1666."

Whether the following letter were written earlier or later than this we have
no means of knowing ; it is plain, however, from its contents, that it was written

at a time when he was strongly opposed to selling his lands, and that the peo-
ple of Plimouth were endeavoring to get him to their court, where they had
reason to believe they could succeed belter in getting them than by a negotia-

tion in his own country. The letter follows:

—

" To the much honored Govemer, Mr. Thomas Prince, dwelling at Plimouth.

"King Philip desire to let you understand that he could not come to the

court, for Tom, his interpreter, has a pain ui his back, that he could not travil

* Perhaps Uncompoin.

t Worthini^ton's Hist. Dedham, 20—from whicli work it would sccin that ilie negotiation had
been carried on with Philip, but Philip was not sachem until this year,

j Ibid.

ft General Court Files.

Il
Sometimes Tukpoo by ablireviation

Tatoton.

A further account of him will be found in the life of
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80 far, and Philip sister is very sick. Philip would intreat that favor of you,
and any of the majestrats, if aney Enghsh or Engians speak about aney land, he
pray you to giue them no ansewer at all. This last suniiiier he maid that

promis wth you that he would not sell no land in 7 years time, for that he
would have no English trouble him before that time, he has not forgot that

you promis him. He will come a suns as posseble he can to speak with you,
and so I rest,

your very loveing friend

Philip p
dwelling at mount hope nek." *

In 1GG7, Philip sells to Constant Southivorth, and others, all the meadow
lands from Dartmouth to 31atapoisett, for which he had £15. Particular
bounds to all tracts ai'e mentioned in the deeds, but as tliey were generally or
onen stakes, trees, and heaps of stones, no one at this time can trace many of
them.
The same year, for " £10 sterling," he sells to TTios. JVilht and others, " all

that tract of land lying between the Riuer Wanascottaquett and Cawatoquissett,
being two miles long and one broad." Pmvsaquens, one of Philip's counsel
lors, and Tom alias Sawsuett, an interpreter, were witnesses to the sale.

In 1668, " Philip Pometacom, and Tatamumaque f alias Casheioashed, sachems,"
for a "valuable consideration," sell to sundiy English a tract of some square
miles. A part of it was adjacent to Pokanoket. In describing it, Memeuuck-
quage and Towansett neck are mentioned, which we conclude to be in Swan-
sey. Besides two Englishmen, Sompointeen, alias Tom, and JVananuntneiv, son
of Thomas Piants, were wtnesses to this sale.

The next year, the same sachems sell 500 acres in Swansey for £20. Wanueo,
a counsellor, and Tom the interpreter, were witnesses.

In 1668, Philip and Uncompawen laidclahn to apart ofNew-meadows neck,
alleging that it was not intended to be conveyed in a former deed, by Ossame-
quin and Wamsutta, to certain English, " although it appears, says the record,
prettj' clearly so expressed in said deed," " yet that peace and friendshij) may
be continued," " Capt. Willd, Mr. Brown and John Mkn, in thebehalf of them-
selves and the rest," agree to give Philip and Uncompawen the sum of £11 in

goods.

Philip Nanuskooke Xhis ]\ mark,
Vncompawen his X mark.

Tom Sansuwest, interpreter,

And NiMROD.

The same year, we find the following record, which is doubly interesting,

from the plan with Avhich we are able to accompany it, draAvn by Philip him-
self. He contracts or agrees, by the following writing under his hand, in these
words :

" this may inform the honoiu-ed court [of Plimouth,] that I Philip ame
willing to sell the land withm this draught ; but the Indians that are vpon it

may hue vjwn it still; but the land that is [waste]§ may be sould, and JVattach-

{100 is of the same minde. I have sed downe all the principall names of the
and wee are willing should bee sould."

" From Pacanaukeit Phillip p his marked
the 24 of the 12 mo. 1668."

* 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. ii. 40. The original was owned by a Mr. White of Plimouth,
about 30 years ago. It is probably another production of John Sassamon.

t Written in another deed, Ahinkamomake. This deed was in the next year. It was of
600 acres of land, " more or lesse," in Swansey ; and £20 the consideration. Hugh Cole,
Josias iViJislmc, John Coggeshall, and Constant Southworth were the purchasers, BxialVanueo,
a counsellor, one of the witnesses.

X This double name, we suppose, was meant to stand for the signature of himself and wife

$ So in the records.
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Wauascohochett. Wewenset.

Bdoe m.

Ascopompamocke

Panhaoet.

Patantatonet.

Ascoochames.

Macliapquake.

Apoiiecelt.

This is a path.

Aiieqiieassetl.

CoUoyowsekeesett.

" Osamequen " having, " for valuable considerations," in the year 1641, sold
to John Brown and Edward Winslow a tract of land eight miles square, situ-

ated on both sides of Palmer's River, Philip, on the 30 Mar. 1668, was re-

quired to sign a quit-claim of the same. This he did in presence of Umpta-
kisoke, Phillip, and Peebe,* counsellors, Sonconewhew, Phillip^s brother, and
Tom the interpreter.f This tract includes the present town of Rehoboth.
Also in 1669, for £10 " and another valuable and sufficient gratuity," he sella

to John Cook of Akusenag in Dartmouth,! "one whole island uere the towne,"
called Nokatay.
The same year, Philip and Tuspaquin sell a considerable tract of land in

Middleborough, for £1.3. Thomas the interpreter, ff'illiam, the son of Tu3-
paquin, and Benjamin Church, were witnesses.

In 1671, Philip and " Monjokmn of Mattapoisett," for £5, sell to Hugh Cole, of
Swansey, shii)wright, land lying near a place called Acashetvah, in Dartmouth.

In 1672, Philip sold to fyHliam Brenton and others, of Taunton, a tract to

the southward of that town, containing twelve square miles, for £143; and,
a few days after, adjoining it, ibur square miles more, to Constant Soitihworlh,
Otliers were concerned in tiie sale of the larger tract, as is judged by the
ticeds being signed by JVimkampahoonett, Umnathum, alias JVimrod, Chee-
mfntghli))t, and Captain Jlnnawam, besides one Philip. Thomas, alias Sank-
suit, was among the witnesses. The sale of the last tract was witnessed by
Munnshum, alias ATimrod, JVoackompaivhnn,^ and Captain Annotcan.
These are but a part of the sales of land by Pometacom : many other chiefs

sold very largely, particularly JVatuspanuin and Josias Wanvpatuck.
At tlic court of Plimouth, 1673, "Mr. Peter Talmon of Rhode Iland com

|tlainc(l against Philip allies Weivasoioanuett, sacliem of Mount Ilojie, brother
or i)redecessor oi' Pakanatvketl as heirc adminnostrator or successor vnto his
brother or predecessor Ifamsitta, Sopaquitt,\\ or Alexander deceased, in an
action on the case, to the damage of £800 forfeiture of a bond of such a value,
bearing date, June the 28th, 1661, giuen to the said Peter Talman, obliging

* Called, in Mr. Hubbard's liislur}-, Tlief>e ; ho was afterwards killed at Swansey, in tlit

bcofinniiig- of llic war. Tliere is a pond in Narraganset of the same name.
f Mr. Bliss, in lii.s History ok UmonoTii, (U, G5, has printed this deed from tho

original.

{ The place where Cook lived is n<»w included in New Bedford.
& Probably " Philip's old uncle Akkompoin."

(I
That is, nicknamed Alexander, according to the French mode of expression ; ott par sobri-

fuet Alexander, as I imag:ine. Mr. Uuhburd says of Philip, (Narrative, 10,) that, ' for hi*

tinbitious and hau<;;hly spirit, [he was] nicknamed' King Philip.''
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nim the said Wamsitta allies Alexander to make good to him, his heires and a
deed of gift of a considerable track of land att Sapowett and places adjacent,
as in the said deed is more particularly expressed ; for want wherof the
complainant is greatly damnifyed."
Whether the conduct of the people of Plimouth towards Wamsvtta^

Pometaconi's elder brother, and other neighboring Lidians, made them always
suspicious of the chief sachem, as it had their neighbors before in the case
of Miantunnomoh, or whether Pkihp were in reality " contrivmg mischief,"
the same year of his coming in chief sachem, remains a question, to this day,
with those best acquainted with the histoiy of those times.

The old benevolent sachem Massasoit, alias fVoosamequin, having died in

the winter of 1661-2, as we believe, but tew months after died also Alexander,
Philip's elder brother and predecessor, when Philip himself, by the order of
succession, came to be chief of the Wampanoags.

Philip having by letter complained to the court of Plimouth of some in-

juries, at their October term, 1668, they say, " In answer unto a letter from
Philip, the sachem of Pokanokett, &c., by way of petition requesting the
court for justice against Francis Wast, \^JVest,~\ for vsTong done by him to one
of his men about a gun taken from him by the said Wast; as also for wrong
done luito some swine of the said Indian's. The court have ordered the
case to be heard and determined by the selectmen of Taunton ; and in case
it be not by them ended, that it be referred unto the next March court at

Plimouth to be ended." How the case turned we have not found. But for

an Indian to gain his point at an English court, unless his case were an ex-
ceeding strong one, was, we apprehend, a rare occurrence.
"He was no sooner styled sachem," says Dr. /. Mather,* "but immediately,

ill the year 1662, there were vehement suspicions of his bloody treacherj'

against the English." This author wrote at the close of Philip's war, when
veiy few could speak of Indians, without discovering great bitterness. Mr.
Mortonj is the first who mentions Metaconiet in a printed work, which, being
before any difficulty with him, is in a more becoming manner. "This year,"

(1662,) he observes, "upon occasion of some suspicion of some plot intended
by the Indians against the English, Philip, the sachem of Pokanoket, other-

wise called Metacom, made his appeaiance at the court held at Plimouth,
August 6, did earnestly desire the continuance of that amity and friendship
that hath formerly been between the governor of Plimouth and his deceased
father and brother."

The court expressing their willingness to remain his friends, he signed the
articles prepared by them, acknowledging himself a subject orf the king of
England, thus :

—

" The mark of '^ Phillip, sachem

of Pocanakett,

The mark of <] Vncdmpowett,
vnkell to the ahoue said sachem."

The following persons were present, and witnessed this act of Philip, and
his great captain Uncompoin :—

"John Sassamon,
Tlie mark rii q/" Francis, sachem ofN'auset,
The mark DI of Nimrod alias Pi'mpasa,
TTie mark y o/'Punckquaneck,
The mark ^ o/"Aquetequesh."J

Of the uneasiness and concern of the English at this period, from the
hostile movements of Philip, Mr. Hubbard, we presume, was not informed

;

or so important an event would not have been omitted hi his minute and
valuable history. Mr. Morton, as we before stated, and Mr. Mather mention
it, but neither of these, or any writer since, to this day, has made the matter
appear in its true light, from their neglect to produce the names of those
that appeared with the sachem.

* Rslation, 72. f In his N. England's Memorial. t From the records in manuscript.
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For about nine years succeeding 166S, vei^ little is recorded concerning
Philip. During this time, he became more ultimately acquamted with liia

English neighbors, learned their weakness and his own strength, which
rather increased than diminislied, until his fatal war of 1675. For, during
this ])eriod, not only their additional numbers gained them power, but their

arms were greatly strengthened by the English instruments of war put into

their hands. Roger ^Villiams had early brought the Narragansets into fi'iend-

ship with Massasoit, which alliance gained additional strength on the acces-

sion of tlie yoimg Metacomet. And here we may look for a main cause of that

war, although the death of Alexander is generally looked upon by the early

historians, as almost the only one. The continual broils between the Eng-
lish and Narragansets, (we name the English first, as they were generally

the aggressors,) could not be unknown to Philip ; and if his countrymen
were wronged he knew it. And what friend will see another abused, with-
out feeling a glow of resentment in his breast? And who will wonder, if,

when these abuses had followed each other, repetition upon repetition, for

a series of years, that they should at last break out into open war.' The
Narraganset chiefs were not conspicuous at the period of which we speak

;

there were several of them, but no one appears to have had a general com-
mand or ascendency over the rest ; and there can be little doubt but thai

they unanimously reposed tlieir cause in the hands of Philip. Ninigret was
at this time grown old, and though, for many years after the murder of
Miantunnomoh, he seems to have had the chief authority, yet pusillanimity

was always rather a predominant trait in his charactei*. His age had prob-
ably caused his withdrawal from the others, on their resolution to second
Philip. Canonchet was at this i)eriod the most conspicuous ; PumJmm next

;

Potok, Magnus, the squaw-sachem, whose husband, Mriksah, had been dead
several years ; and lastly Mattatoag.

Before proceeding with later events, the following short narrative, illus-

trative of a peculiar custom, may not be improperly introduced. Philip, as

tradition reports, made an expedition to Nantucket in 1665, to jjunish an
Indian who had profaned the name of Massasoit, his fsitlier ; and, as it was
an observance or law among them, that whoever should speak evil of the

dead should be put to death, Philip went there with an armed force to exe-

cute this law upon Gibbs. He was, however, defeated in his design, for one
of Gibbs^s friends, understanding Philip's intention, ran to him and gave him
notice of it, just in time for him to escape ; not, however, without great ex-

ertions, for Philip came once in 'sight of him, after pursuing him some time
among the English from house to house ; but Gibbs, by leaping a bank, got
out of sight, and so escaped. Philip \\ou\A not leave the island until the

English had ransomed John a\ tlie exorbitant price of nearly all the money
upon the island.* Gibbs was a Christian Indian, and his Indian name was
Jissasamoogh. He was a preacher to his countrymen in 1674, at which time
there were belonging to his church 30 members.
What grounds the English had, in the spring of the year 1671, for suspect-

ing that a i)lot was going forward lor their destruction, cannot satisfactorily

be ascertained ; but it is evident there were some warlike preparations made
by the great chief, which very much alarmed the English, as in the life of
Aivashonks we sliall have occasion again to notice. Their suspicions were
further confirmed when they sent for him to come to Taunton and make
known the causes for his operations ; as he discovered " shyness," and a re-

luctance to comply. At length, on the 10th of April, this year, he came to a

place about four miles from Taunton, accornjianied with a band of his war-
riors, attired, armed and painted as for a warlike expedition. From this

place he sent messengers to Taunton, to invite the English to come and
treat with him. The governor either was afraid to meet the chief, or thought
it beneath his dignity to com])ly with his request, and therefore sent several

• For some of wliat wo have given above, see 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. iii. 159, furnislied

for thai work by Mr. Zaccheus Mactj, wliosc aiiceslor, it is said, assisted in secreting

Assasanwogh.
In a late work. Hist. Naiiluckclt by Obed Macy, an account of the affair is given, but witk

tome variation from llie above.
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persons, among whom was Roger Jfllliams, to inform him of their determi-
nation, and theii- good disposition towards him, and to urge his attendance at

Taunton. He agreed to go, and hostages were left in the liands of hi.-*

wainiors to warrant his safe return. On coming near the village with a few
of his warriors, he made a stop, which appears to have been occasioned by
the warlUie parade of ihc English, many of whom were for immediately at-

tacking him. These were the Plimouth people that recommended this rash-

ness, but they were prevented by the commissioners from Massachusetts, who
met here with the governor of Plimouth to confer with Philip.

In the end it was agreed that a council should be held in the meeting-
house, one side of which should be occupied by the Indians, and the other by
the English. Philip had alleged that the English injured the planted lands
of his people, but this, the English say, was in no wise sustained. He said

his wai-like preparations Avere not against the English, but the Narragansets,
which the English also say was proved to his face to be false ; and that this

so confounded him, that he confessed the whole plot, and "that it was the

naughtiness of his o^vn heai't that put liim upon that rebellion, and nothing
of any provocation from the English." * Therefore, with four of his counsel-

lors, whose names were Tavoser, Captain Wispoke, Woonkaponehunt, \Unkom-
voin,'\ and JVimrod, he signed a submission, and an engagement of frienaship,

which also stipulated that he should give up all the arms among his people,

into the hands of the governor of Plimouth, to be kept as long as the govern-
ment should " see reason." f
The English of Massachusetts, having acted as umpires in this affair, were

looked to, by both parties, on the next cause of complaint. Philip having
delivered the arms which himself and men had with them at Taunton, |

promised to deliver the rest at Plimouth by a certain time. But they not

being delivered according to agreement, and some other differences occuri'ing,

a messenger was sent to Boston from Plimouth, to make complaint ; but

Philip, perhaps, understanding what was intended, was quite as early at Bos-
ton m person ;§ and, by his addi-ess, did not fail to be well received, and a

favorable report of him was retm-ned to Plimouth ; and, at the same time,

proposals that commissioners from all the United Colonies should meet
Philip at Plimouth, where all difficulties might be settled. This meeting took
place the same year, September, 1671, and the issue of the meeting was verj'

nearly the same as that at Taunton. "The conclusion was," says Mr.
Mather,\\ '^Philip acknowledged his offence, and was appointed to give a sum
of money to defray the chm'ges which his insolent clamors had put the colo-

ny unto."

As usual, several articles were drawn up by the English, of what Philip

was to submit to, to which we find the names of three only of his captains or

counsellors, Uncompaen, who was his uncle,1f Wotokom, and Samkama.
Great stress in those days was laid on the Indians submitting themselves

as "subjects to his majesty the king of England." This they did only to get

rid of the importunity of the English, as theu* course immediately afterwards
invariably showed.
The articles which the government of Plimouth drew up at this time, for

Philip to sign, were not so illiberal as might be imagined, were we not to

produce some of them. Article second reads,

—

" I [Philip] am willing, and do promise to pay unto the government of Plim-
outh £100, in such things as I have ; but I would entreat the favor that I

might have three years to pay it in, forasmuch as I cannot do it at present."

And in article thu*d, he promises " to send unto the governor, or whom he shall

appoint, five wolves' heads, if he can get them; or as many as he can procui'e,

* Hubbard, I -iian Wars, 11, Isl edition.

t Tlie ariicJes ol this Ireatj' may be seen in Hubbard, Matlier, and Hutchinson's histories

they amount to little, and we therefore omit them.
t Mather's Relation, 73.

§ Perhaps this was the time Mr. Josselyn saw him there richly caparisoned, as will here
after be mentioned.

{{
Mather's Relation, 73.

IT Called by Church, Akkompoin. Hist. King Philip's War, 110 of my edition.
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until they come to five wolves' heads yearly." These articles were dated*
29 S jpt. 1671, and were signed by

The mark P of Phillip ;

TTie mark T o/'Wohkowpahenitt
;

The mark V o/Wuttakooseeim;
The mark T q/"SoNKANUHOO

;

The mark 2 ©/"Woonashum,
alias NiMROD

;

The mark Y o/^Woospasuck,
alias Captain.

On the 3 Nov. following, Philip accompanied Takanumma to Plimouth, to

make his submission, which he did, and acknowledged, by a writing, that he
would adhere to the articles signed by Philip and the others, the 29 Sept.

before. Tokamona was brother to Awashonks, and, at tliis time, was sacliem

of Seconet, or Saconett. He was afterwards killed by the Narragansets.t

A general disarming of the neighboring Lidians was undertaken during the

spring and summer of 1671, and nothing but trouble could have been expect-
ed to follow.

That nothing may be omitted which can throw light upon this important
era in the biography of Philip, we will lay before the reader all the unpub-
lished uiformation furnished by the records.f Having met in June, 1671,
" The court [of Plimouth] determins all the guns in our hands, that did be-

long to Philip, are justly forfeit; and do at the present order the dividing of
them, to be kept at the several tovvTis, according to their equal proportions,

until October court next, and then to be at the court's dispose, as reason may
appear to them, and then to belong unto the towns, if not otherwise disposed
of by the court.

" That which the court grounds their judgment upon is,—For that at the

treaty at Taunton, Philip and his council did acknowledge that they had been
in a preparation for war against us ; and that not grounded upon any injm'y

sustamcd from us, nor provocation given by us, but from their naughty liearts,

and because he had formerly violated and broken solemn covenants made
and renewed to us ; he then freely tendered, (not being in a capacity to be
kept faithful by any other bonds,) to resign up all his English arms, for our
future security in that respect. He failed greatly in the i)erforniance thereof,

by secret[ly] conveying away, and caiTying home several guns, that might and
should have been then delivered, and not giving tliem up since, according to

his engagement ; nor so far as is in his power ; as appears in that many guns
are known still to be amongst the Indians that live by him, and [he] not so

much as giving order to some of his men, that are under his immediate com-
mand, about the bringing in of their arms.

" In his endeavoring, since the treaty [at Tainiton,] to render us odious to

our neighbor colony by fjilse reports, complaints and suggestions; and his

refusing or avoiding a treaty with us concerning tliose and otiicr matters that

ai*e justly offensive to us, notwitlistanding liis late engagement, a» well as for

nier, to submit to tlie king's authority, and the autliority of this colony.

"It was also ordered by tlie coiu't that tiie anr j of tiie Indians of Namas-
sakett and Assowarnsett, tiiat were fetciied in by 3Iajor Jflnslow, and those that

were witii iiini, are confiscated, and forfeit, from the said Indians, lor the
grounds above expressed ; they being in a comjjliance with Phillipe in his

late plot: And yet would neitlier by our governor's order, nor by Phillipe's

desire, bring in tlieir arms, as was engaged by the treaty; and tlie said guns
arc ordered by the court to the major and his company for tlieir satisfaction,

in that expedition.

"This court iiave agreed and voted " to send "some" forces to " Saconett to

rfotch in " the arms among the Indians there.

• There is no dale, but the year, set to any printed copy of this treaty. Mr. Hubbard by
mistake omilled it, and those who have since written, have not given themselves the pleasure
>;' recurriiic' to the records.

+ See Church, 3D. t Pliinoutli Colony Records, in manuscript.
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If then, therefore, these Indians had not already become hostile, no one would
marvel had it now become the case. Bows and arrows were almost entii'ely

out of use. Guns had so far supei-seded them, that undoubtedly many scarce
could use them with effect, in procuring themselves game : Nor could it be
expected othervdse, for the English had, by nearly 40 years' uitercourse, ren-
dered their arms far more necessary to the existence of the Indians than to tlieir

own : hence their unwilluigness to part with them. Philip, it is said, du-ected
the Middleborough Indians to give up their guns. His object m this was to

pacify the English, judguig that if war should begin, these Indians would joui
the English, or at least many of them ; and, therefore, it affected his cause but
little which party possessed them ; but not so with his immediate followers, as
we have just seen in the record.

A council of war having convened at Plimouth, 23 August, 1671, the follow-

ing, besides the mattei-s ah-eady expressed, they took into consideration : Philip's
" entertaining of many strange Indians, which might portend danger towards
us. In special by his entertaining of divers Saconett Indians, professed ene-
mies to this colony, and this against good counsel given hun by his friends.

The premises considered [the council] do unanimously agi-ee and conclude,
that the said Phillip hath violated [the] covenant plighted with this colony at

Taunton in Apinl last.

"2. It is unanimously agreed and concluded by the said comicil, that we ai-e

necessai-ily called to cause the said sachem to make his personal appearance to
make his purgation, in reference to the premises ; which, in case of his refusal,

the council, according to what at present appears, do determin it necessary to

endeavor his reducement by force ; masmuch as the controvei-sy which hath
seemed to he more immediately between him and us, doth concern all the Eng-
lish plantations. It is, therefore, determined to state the case to our neighbor
colonies of the Massachusetts and Rhode Island ; and if, by then- weighty ad-
vice to the conti-ai-y, we are not diverted fi-om oiu" present determuiations, to

signify unto them, that if they look upon themselves concerned to engage in the
case with us against a common enemy, it shall be well accepted as a neigh-
borly kindness, which we shall hold ourselves obliged to repay, when Provi-
dence may so disjjose that we have opportunity.

" Accordingly, lettei-s were despatched and sent from the council, one unto
the said Phillip the said sachem, to require his personal appeai-ance at Plymouth,
on the 13th day of September next, hi reference to the particulars above men-
tioned against him. This letter was sent by Mr. James Walker, one of the
council, and he was ordered to request the company of Mr. Roger Williams
and 3Ir. James Broivn, to go with him at the delivery of the said letter. And
another letter was sent to the governor and council of the Massachusetts by the
hands of IMr. John Freeman, one of our magistrates, and a third was directed to

the governor and council of Rhode Island, and sent by Mr. Thomas Hinckley
and Mr. Constant Southworth, two other ofour magistrates, who are ordered by
our council with the letter, to imfold our present state of matters I'elatingto the
premises, and to certify them, also, more certahily of the time of the meeting
together, in reference to engagement with the Indians, if there be a going forth,

which will be on the 20 of September next.
" It was further ordered by the council, that those formerly pressed shall

remain under the same impressment, until the next meetuig of the said coun-
cil, on the 13 day of Sept. next, and so also until the uitended expedition is

issued, unless they shall see cause to alter them, or add or detract from them,
as occasion may require : And that all other mattere remain as they were,
in way of preparation to the said expedition, untU we shall see the mind of
God further by the particulars forenamed, improved for that purpose.

" It was fmther ordered by the council, that all the towns within this jurisdic-

tion shall, in the interim, be solicitously careful to provide for their safety, by
convenient watches and wardhigs, and carrying their ai-ms to the meetings on
the Lord's days, in such manner, as will best stand with their particulars, and
the common safety.

" And in particular they order, that a guard shall be provided for tlie safety

of the governor's person, during the time of the above-named troublee and ex-
peditions.

18
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" And the council were summoned by the president, [the governor of Plim-
outh,] to make their pei'sonal appearance at Plymouth, on the 13th day of
Sept. next, to attend such further business as shall be then presented by Piovi-
dence, in reference to the premises. [Without any intermediate enti7, the
records proceed

:]
" On the 13 Sept. 1671, the council ofwar appeai-ed, according to their sum-

mons, but Phillip the sachem appeared not; but instead thereof repaired to the
Massachusetts, and made complaint against us to divers of the gentlemen in

place there ; who wrote to our governor, by way of pereuasion, to advise the
council to a compliance with the said sachem, and tendered theu- help in tlie

achievuig thereof; declaring, in sum, that they resented not his offence so
deejjly as we did, and that tliey doubted whether the covenants and engage-
ments that Phillip and his predecessors had plighted with us, would plainly

hnpoi't that he had subjected himself, and peojile, and country to us any further
than as in a neighborlj'^ and friendly correspoiidoncy."

Thus, whether Philip had been able by misrepresentation to lead the comt
of Massachusetts into a conviction that his designs had not been fairly set forth

by Phmouth, or whether it be more reasonable to conclude that tliat body were
thorouglily acquamted with the whole gi-ounds of complaint, and, therefore,

considered Plimouth neai'ly as much in error as Philip, by assuming authority
not belonging to them, is a case, we apprehend, not difficult to be settled by the
reader. The record continues :

—

" The council having deliberated upon the premises, despatched away letters,

declaring then- thanlcful acceptance of theu- kind proffer, and invited the com-
missioners of the Massachusetts and Connecticut, they [the latter] then being
there in the Bay, [Boston,] and some other gentlemen to come to Plymouth and
afford us their help: And, accordingly, on the 24 of Sept. 1671, Mr. John Win-
throp, Gov. of Connecticut, Maj. Gen. Leverett, Mr. Thos. Danforth, Capt. JVm.
Davis, with divers othei-s, came to Plimouth, and had a fair and deliberate

hearing of the controversy I)etween our colony and the said sachem Phillip, he
being pei-sonally present ; there being also competent interpreters, both English
and Indians. At which meeting it was proved by sufficient testunony to the
conviction of the said Phillip, and satisfaction of all that audience, both [to] the
said gentlemen and others, that he had broken his covenant made widi our
colony at Taunton in April last, in divei's particulai-s : as also cai'ried very un-
kindly unto us divers ways.

" 1. Li that lie " had neglected to bring in his arms, although " competent
time, yea his tune enlarged " to do it in, as before stated. " 2. That he had
earned insolently and proudly towards us on several occasions, in refusing to

coine down to our court (when sent for) to have speech with him, to procure
a right underatanding of matters in difference betwixt us."

This, to say the least, was a wretchedly soiry comi)laint. That an independ-
ent chief should refuse to obey his neighbors whenever they had a muid to

command him, of the justness of whose mandates he was not to inquire, surely
calls for no comment of ours. Besi<les, did Philip not do as he agreed at

Taunton ?—which was, that in case of future troubles, bodi parties should lay

their coni|ilaints before Massachusetts, and abide by their decision.?
Tlie 3d charge is only a repetition of what was stated by the council of war,

namely, harboring and abetting divers Indians not liis own men, but " vaga-
bonds, our profc.ssed enemies, who leaving tlieii- o\vn sachem were luubored
by him."

The 4tli has likewise been stated, which contains the comjjlaint of his going
to Massiichusetts, " with several of liis council, endeavoring to insinuate him-
selfinto the magistrates, and to misrepresent mattei-s unto them," which amoinits
to little else but an accusation against Massachusetts, as, from what has been
before stated, it seems that the "gentlemen in place there " had, at least in part,

been convinced that Philip was not so much in fault as their friends of Plim-
outh had pretended.

"5. That he had shewed great incivility to divers of ours at several times; in

special unto Mr. James Broiim, who wtus .sent by the court on special occasion,
as a messenger unto him ; and unto Ihtgh Cole at another time, &c.

" The gentlemen forenamed taking notice of the premises, having fully heard
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what tlie said Phillip could say for himself, havuig free libeity so to do without
interruption, adjudged that he had done us a great deal of wrong and uijury,

(respecting tlie premises,) and also abused them by carrymg lies and falsa

stories to them, and so misrepresenting matters unto them ; and they persuaded
him to make an acknowledgment of his fault, and to seek for reconciliaiion,

expressing themselves, that there is a great difference between what he asserted

to the government in the Bay, and what he could now make out concerning
his pretended ^vrongs ; and such had been the wrong and damage that he had
done and procured unto the colony, as ought not to be borne without compe-
tent reparation and satisfaction

;
yea, that he, by his msolencies, had (in proba-

bility) occasioned moi*e mischief from the Indians amongst them, than had
fallen out m many yeai-s before ; they persuaded him, therefore, to humble him-
self unto the magistrates, and to amend his ways, if he expected peace ; and
that, if he went on in his refractory way, he must expect to smart for it."

The commissionei-s finally drew up the treaty of which we have before spo-

ken, and Philip and his counsellors subscribed it ; and thus ended the chief
events of 1671.

A very short time before the war of 1675 commenced, the governor of
Massachusetts sent an ambassador to Philip, to demand of him why he would
make war upon the English, and requested him, at the same time, to enter into

a treaty. The sachem made him this answer :

—

" Your governor is but a subject of King Charles * of England. I shall not

treat ivith a subject. I shall treat ofpeace ordy urith the king, my brother, ffhen

he comes, I am ready." \

This is litei'al, although we have changed the order of the words a little, and
is worthy of a place upon the same page with the speech of the famous Porus,
when taken captive by Alexander. X

We meet Avith nothing of importance until the death of Sassamon, in 1674,

the occasion of which was charged upon Philip, and was the cause of bruiging

about the war with him a year sooner than he had expected. This event pre-

maturely discovered his intentions, which occasioned the partial recantation of
the Narragansets, who, it is reported, were to furnish 4000 men, to be ready to

fall upon the English in 1676. Concert, therefore, was wanting ; and although

nearly all the Nan-agansets ultimately joined against the English, yet the pow-
erful effect of a general simultaneous movement was lost to the Indians.

Philip's own people, many of whom were so disconcerted at the unexpected
beginning of the war, contmued some time to waver, doubting which side to

show themselves in favor of; and it was only from their being without the

vicinity of the English, or unprotected by them, that determined their coui*se,

which was, m almost all cases, in favor of Philip. Even the praying Lidians,

had they been left to themselves, would, no doubt, many of them, have declared

in his favor also, as a great many really did.

Until the execution of the three Indians, supposed to be the murderere of
SassamMn, no hostility was committed by Philip or his warrioi's. About the

tune of their trial, he was said to be marching his men " up and down the

country m ainns," but when it was known that they were executed, he could
no longer restrain many of his young men, who, having sent then- wives and
children to Narraganset, upon the 24th of June, provoked the people of Swan-
eey, by killing their cattle, and other injuries,^ until they fired upon them and

* Charles II., whose reig^ was from 1660 to 1676.

t Old Indian Chronicle, G8.

f The conqueror asked him how he would be treated, who, in two words, replied, " Like a
king." Being asked if he had no other request to make, he said, " No. Every thing is

comprehended in that." {Plutarch's Life of Alexander.) We could wish, that the Enghsh
conquerors had acted with as much magnanimity towards the Indians, as Alexander did

towards those he overcame. Porus was treated as he had desired

§ " In the mean time King Philip mustered up about 500 of his men, and arms them com-
pleat ; and had gotten about 8 or 900 of his neighboring Indians, and likewise arms them coi»
pleat; (i. e. guns, powder and bullets;) but how man}- he hath engaged to be of his party,

IS unknown to any among us. The last spring, several Indians were seen in small parties,

about Rehoboth and Swansey, which not a little affrighted the inhabitants. Who demanding
the reason of them, wherefore it was so ? Answer was made. That they were only on their

iiwn defence, for they understood that the English intended to cut them off. About the 20lh
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KUled one, which was a signal to commence the war, and what they had de-

sired ; for the superstitious notion prevailed among the Lidians, that the party

who fired the first gun would be conquered.* They had probably been made
to believe this by the English themselves.

It was upon a fast day tliat this great drama was opened. As the people

were returning from meeting, they were fired upon by the Indians, when one
was killed and two wounded. Two others, going for a surgeon, were killed

on their way. Li another part of the to\vn, six othei-s were killed the same
day. Swansey was in the midst of Philip^s country, and his men were as well

acquainted with all the walks ofthe English as they were themselves.

It is not supposed that Philip directed this attack, but, on the other hand, it

has been said that it was against his wishes. But there can be no doubt of his

hostility and great desire to rid his countiy of the white intrudei-s ; for had he
not reason to say,

" Exarsere ignes animo ; subit ira, cadentem
Ulcisci patriam, et sceleralas sumere poenas '!

"

The die was cast. No other alternative appeared, but to ravage, bum and
destroy as fast as was in his power. There had been no considerable war for

a long time, either among themselves or with the English, and, therefore, nu-
merous young waiTiors from the neighboring tribes, entered into his cause

with great ardor ; eager to perform exploits, such as had been recounted to

them by their sii-es, and such as they had long waited an opportunity to achieve.

The tune, they conceived, had now arrived, and their souls expanded in pro-

portion to the greatness of the undertaking. To conquer the English ! to lead

cajJtive their haughty lords ! must have been to them thoughts of vast magni-
tude, and exhilarating in the highest degree.

TovvTi after towii fell before them, and when the English forces marched in

one direction, they were burnuig and laying waste in another. A part of
Taunton, Middlehorough, and Dartmouth, in the vicinity of Pocasset, upon
Narraganset Bay, soon followed the destruction of Swansey, which was burnt
immediately after the 24th of June, on being abandoned by the inhabitants.

Though now m gi'eat consternation, the people of Swansey and its vicinity

did not forget to make known their distressed situation by sending runnei-s with
the utmost despatch to Boston and Plimouth for assistance. "But," Siiys our
chronicler of that day, " before any came to them, they of both towns, Rcho-
both and Swansey, were gathered together into tin-ee houses, men, women, and
children, and there had all provisions in common, so that they who had nothing
wanted nothing. Immediately after notice hereof came to Boston, drums beat

up for volunteers, and in 3 hours time were mustered upal)out 110 men, Capt.

Samtiel Mosely being their commander. This Capt. Moselij hath been an
old privateer at .lamaira, an excellent soldier, and an undaunted spirit, ono
whose memory will be honorable in New England for his many eminent ser-

vices he hath done the public.

"There wiu-c also among these men, about 10 or 12 privateers, that had been
there some time before. They carried with them several dogs, that proved
serviceable to them, in finding out the enemy in their swamps ; one whereof
would, for several days together, go out and bring to them 6, 8 or 10 young
pigs of King Philip^s herds. There went out also amongst these men, one
CorneUu,^,ii Dutchman, who had lately been condemned to die for piracy, but
afterwards received a i)ardon ; he, willing to show his gratitude therefor, went
out and did several good services abroad against the enemy."

All who have sought after truth in matters of this kind, are well aware of tho

of June last, seven or eight of King Philip's men came to Swansnj on the Lord's day, and
would grind a hatrhcl at an inhaMlaiit's house there; the master told them, it was the sab-

bath day, and llieir God would he very angry if he sliould lot thcin do it. Tiiey returned

this answer : They knew not wlio his God was, and that tiioy would do it, for all him, or his

God either. From thence lliev went to another house, and took away some victuals, but hurl

no man. Immediately they met a man travelling on the road, kept him in custody a short

lime, then dismist him ([uielly
;
giving him this caution, that he should not work on his God'a

day, and that he should tell no lies." Chronicle, 8, 9.

" Cillendar's Discourse on the Hist, of R. Island.
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extreme difiiciilty of investigation. Twenty persons may write an account of
on affair, to the passage of which all may have been witnesses, and no two of

them agi-ee in many of its particulars. The author of the tracts which we cite

under the name of The Old Indian Chronicle, wrote his accounts in Boston,

and Ave have no doubt of his bitention to record every event with the strictest

regard to truth ; if he had erred, it is doubtless from his recording the first news
of an event, which often vai'ies in point of fact afterwards. Hvhhard and Ma-
ther, two contemporary historians, had the advantage of a comparison of re-

poits, and of revising their works in their passage through the press; whereas
the author of the tracts wi'Ote them as letters to a friend in London, where they

were immediately pruited. With allowances for these circumstances, as full

credit should be given to his relation, as to either of the others. His accounts
of the fii-st events at Swansey are detailed in his own words in a previous note,

and we here proceed with another portion of his narrative.
" By this tune the Indians liave killed several of our men, but the first tfiat

was killed was June 23, a man at Swansey ; that he and his famUy had left his

house amongst the rest of the inhabitants, and adventuring with his wife and
son (about twenty years old) to go to his house to fetch them corn, and such
like thuigs: (he having just before sent his wife and son away) as he was going
out of the house, was set on and shot by Indians. His wife being not far off,

Jieai-d the guns go off, went back," and fell into their hands. Dishonored, and
aflei"wards scalped by them, she immediately died, and her son was at the same
time scalped. "They also the next day [24 June] killed six or seven men at

Swansey, and two more at one of the garrisons ; and as two men went out of
one of the garrisons to draw a bucket of water, they wei-e shot and carried

away, and afterwards were found with their fingers and feet cut off, and the

skin of their heads flayed off," that is, scalped.
" About ] 4 days after that they sent for more help ; whereupon the authority

of Boston made Capt. Thomas Savage the major general in that expedition,

wno, with 60 horse, and as many foot, went out of Boston ; having pressed horse?^

for the footmen, and six carts to cany provisions with them." " They traveled

day and night till they came to their garrisons, and withhi three days after

marched, horse and foot, leavmg guards in the gairisons, towards Mount Ho])e,

where King Philip and his wife was. They came on him at unawares, so that

he was forced to rise from dinner, and he and all with him fled out of that land
called 3Iount Hope, up fiu'ther into the countiy. They pursued them as far as

they could go for swamps, and killed 15 or 16 in that expedition, then returned
and took what he had that was worth takmg, and spoiled the rest ; taking all his

cattle and hogs that they could find, and also took possession of Mount Hope,
which had then a thousand acres under com, which is since cut dowai by the

English, and disposed of according to their discretion. Cornelius [before men-
tioned] was in this exploit, and pursued Philip so hard, that he got his cap off

his head, and now wears it."

It was June 26, that the English marched out of Boston for Swansey ; and
they arrived there two days after, namely, June 28, a little before night.*

Twelve men immediately marched out to invade Philip^s ten'itories, who were
attacked by about the same number of Philip^s men. The invaders were re-

pulsed, having one killed, and one wounded, and his horse killed imder him.
Of the Indians two were killed.

The next day, June 29, the Indians appeared boldly in view of the English,
and by their shouts, it would seem, dared them to come out and fight. Mosely
sallied out at the head of a company of volunteers, and rushed furiously upon
them. They fled to their coverts, but even here made a stand only for a mo-
ment ; for allter one fire they all fled. One of the English, Ensign Savage, was
wounded, the ball lodging in his thigh, and another passed through the brim
of his hat.f Mosely pursued the Indians above a mile, and killed five or six of
them, as they were making their retreat into a swamp. It was in this pursuit
that the exploit of Comeliiis took place, just related, and Philip was not seen at

*• Hubbard, Narrative, 18.

t Church, who was in this action, says Savage was wounded by his own party : haviiij

divided themselves into two wing's, in their confusion one fired upon the other.
1Q * r\
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Mount Hope again until the next year. Tiie next day the English forces trav

ei-s6d Mount Hope Neck, found Philip^s wigwam, but himself and all his peo-
ple had made good their retreat. They found the heads of eight of the English
that had been killed, set upon poles, at Keekamuit, which they took do\vn and
interred.

On the morning of July 1, as Lieutenant Oakes was returning to head-quar-
ters at Swansey, having encamped at Rehoboth the preceding night, he dis-

covered a company of Indians, and attacked them. How many were killed is

not stated, but two of Philip''s chief captains were among the number, one of
whom was named Thebe, " a sachem of Mount Hope." Of the English one
was killed. The scalps of three Indians that were killed were taken off by the
English and sent to Boston, which were the first taken by them in this war.*
At the solicitation of Benjamin Church, a company of 36 men were put

under him and Captahi Puller, who, on the 8 July, maixhed down into Pocas-
eet Neck. Church, wlio was well acquainted with the Indians, had urged the
officei-s of the army to pursue Philip on the Pocasset side, being fully persua-
ded that there were no Intlians in Mount Hope Neck, the part of the countiy
they were taking so much pains to guard and fortify ; but they would not heat

to his advice, and the consequence was, Philip burned and destroyed the towns
towards Plimouth.—But to return to the force under Church and Fuller. This,
though but small at firet, was divided into two. Church had 19 men, and Fuller

the remaining 17. The party under Church proceeded into a point of land
called Punkateeset, now the southerly extremity of Tiverton, where they
were attacked by a great body of Indians, 300, as Church learned afterward.*,

who nearly encompassed them ; but after a few minutes fight, the English re-

treated to the sea shore, and thus saved themselves from immediate destruc-

tion. Church gave orders for a retreat the very moment he discovered that

the object of the Indians was to surround them. This proved their safet}

although, as they were now situated, they could expect but little else than
to sell their lives at the price of a greater number of their enemies. These
Indians were well armed, " their bright guns glittering in the sun," which gave
them u formidable appearance. Thus hemnied in, Church had a double duty
to perform ; that of preserving the spirits of his famished followers, many of
whom were ready to give up all for lost, and erecting defences of stones to

defend them. Many were the hair-breadth escapes of individuals in this little

band on this trying occasion. In the language of Church, " they were beset

with multitudes of Indians, who possessed themselves of every rock, and
stump, ti-ee or fence, that was in sight," from which they fired without ceasing.

Boats had been appointed to attend ujjon the English in this expedition,

but they had grounded on the Rhode Island shore, and coidd not come to their

assistance ; at length, however, one got ofl^, and came towards them, which gave
them hopes of escape, but these were of short duration : the Indians fired into

it, and prevented their lauding. Church ordered those in it to ride olf beyond
musket shot, and to send a canoe ashore ; but they dai'cd not even to do this.

When Church saw that, in a moment of vexation, he ordered the boat to be

gone in an insiant or he would fire upon it; she immediately left, and tlio

peril of the English was greatly increased ; for now the Indians were en-

couraged, and they fired " thicker and faster than before."

Niglit was now almost enshrouding them, their annnunition nearly .spent,

and the Indians had possessed themselves of a stone house that overlooked
them, but as though preserved i)y a miracle, not one of the English in all this

time was wounded. But fortune's si)ort was now nearly ended : a sloop was
discovered bearing down towards them, and soon aftei'. Church announced
that relief was coming, for that the vessel was connnanded by " Capt. Gold-
iwe, whom he knew to be a man lor business." True, it was Golding. He
Bent his canoe ashore, but it was so small that it would talte but two at a time

to the vessel. The embarkation immediately commenced, and meantime
the Indians plied their shot with such efllct that the colons, sail.s, and stern

of tlie sloop were (idl of bullet-holes. Church was the last man to embark,

* I deduce Ihe facts in this sentence from a comparison of litibbard, 20, with th-

rMRONUI.K, 13.
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who, as he was retreating backward to the boat, a ball grazed the hau* of
his head, two others struck the canoe as he entered it, and a fourth lodged
in a stake, which accidentally stood just before "the middle of his breast !

"

Thus this little baud, after a fight of about six hours, escaped. The party
under Captain Fuller met with similar fortime ; they were attacked by great
numbers, but escaped by getting possession of an old house close upon the
water's edge and were early taken off by boats. But two of the party were
woimded. Some of the Indians were killed and wounded this day, but how
many is not kno^vn.

The same daj' this fight took place, a boat's crew went from Rhode Island
to Pocasset to look after some cattle, and were fired upon by the Indians, and
one of their number, a servant of Captain Church, was severely wounded.
Some of the acts of the English, in retrospect, do not discover that judg-

ment the ch-cumstauces seem to have elicited, especially that in relation to

the Narragansets. They had now driven Philip out of Mount Hope Neck,
and, not knowing exactly where to find him, the forces in that quaner re-

mained doubtmg what next to do. At this juncture Captain Hutchinson
ai'rived from Boston w-ith orders from the govermnent there, " for them to

pass into Narragauset, to treat wth the sachems, and if it might be, to pre-
vent their joinmg with Philip.^'' Accordingly they marched into that country,
but all the cliief men and warriors fled on their approach. The historical

conclusion is, therefore, that this act was viewed by them as a declaration of
war, and it is rational that they should have so considered it ; because the
armj' assumed a most hostile attitude, " resolving they would go to make
peace with a sword in theu* hands.'' Having arrived in the Narraganset
country, three or four days were spent in finding Indians with whom to

treat
;
(for they could find none to fight ;) at length, four men were found, whom

the English styled sachems, and a treaty was drawn up at great length and
signed by the parties. To ensm-e its observance the following hostages were
taken into custody by the army : John Wobequob, Weowthim,* Pewkes,
and Weenew, "four of the sachems neai* kmsmen and choice friends."

Among the stipulations of the treaty we find these

:

The said sachems shall carefully seize all and every of Philip's subjects,

and deliver them up to the English, alive or dead ; that they shall use all

acts of hostility against Philip and his subjects, to kill them wherever they
can be fomid ; that if they seize Philip, and deliver liim alive to the English,
they shall receive 40 trucking cloth coats ; and for his head alone, 20 of
«aid coats ; and for eveiy subject of said sachem 2 coats, if alive, and one if

dead. This treaty is dated Petaquanscot, 15 Judy, 1675

;

In presence of and signed by the marks of
Daniel Henchman, Tawageson,
Thomas Prentice, Tattson,
Nidvolas Paige, Agamadg,
Joseph Stanton, Interpreter. Wampsh, alias

Henry Haivlaws, ? [Indians, Corma>'.
Pecoe Bucow, \ probably.]
Job Mff.

Philip commanded in person upon Pocasset, where, upon the 18th of July,
'le was discovered in a " dismal swamp." He had retired to this place,
which is adjacent to Taunton River, with most of his Wampanoags, and
iuch others as had joined him, to avoid falling in with the English army,
which was now pursuing him. From then* numbers, the English were
nearly able to encompass the swamp, and the fate of Philip they now thought
sealed. On Eu-riraig at its edge, a few of PhUip^s warriors showed them-
selves, and the English rushed in upon them with ardor, and by this feint

were drawn fai- into an ambush, and "about 15 were slain." The leavea
upon the trees were so thick, and the horn- of the day so late, that a friend
could not be distinguished fi-om a foe, " whereby 'tis verily feared," says Dr.
Mather, " that [the English themselves] did sometimes unhappily shoot Eng-

* Probalily the same called in another place Nowequ.\.
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lishmen instead of Indians." A retreat was now ordered, and, considering
Philip's escape impossible, the most of the forces left the place, a few only
remaining, " to starve out the enemy." That Philip's force was great at thia

time is certain, from the fact that a hundred wigwams Avere found neai- the
edge of the swamp, newly constructed of green bark. Li one of those the
English found an old man, who informed them that Philip was tliere. He
lost but few men in the encounter, though, it is said, he had a brother
killed.*

The idle notion of building a fort here to starve out Philip, was suffi-

ciently censured by the historians of that day. For, as Captain Church ex-
presses it, <o build afort/or nothing to cover the peopleJrom nobody,\ was rather

a ridiculous idea. This observation he made upon a fort's being built upon
Mount Hope Neck, some time after every Indian had leit that side of the
country, and who, in fact, were laying waste the towns before mentioned.
The swamp where Philip was now confined, was upon a piece of country

which projected into Taunton River, and was nearly seven miles in extent.

After beuig guarded here 13 days, which, in the end, was gi'eatly to his advan-
tage, and afforded him sufficient time to provide canoes m which to make his

escape, he passed the river with most of his men, and made good his reti'eal

into the countiy upon Connecticut River. In effecting this retreat, an acci-

dent happened which deprived him of some of his choicest and bravest cap-

tains, as we shall proceed to relate.

About the 26 July, 1675, Oneko, with two of his brothers, and about 50 men,
came to Boston, by direction of Uncas, his father, and declared their desu'e to

assist the English against the Wampanoags. A few English and three Naticks
were added to their company, and immediately despatched, by way of Pli-

mouth, to the enemy's country. This cu'cuitous route was taJcen, perhaps,

that they might have their instructions immediately from the governor of
that colony ; Massachusetts, at that time, probably, supposing the war might
be ended without their direct interference. This measure, as it proved,
was veiy detrimental to the end in view ; for if they had proceeded directly

to Seekonk, they would have been there in season to have met Philip in his

retreat from Pocasset ; and this force, being joined with the other English
forces, then in the vicinity, they in all probabilit}' might have finished the

wai- by a single fight with him. At least, his chance of escape would have
been small, as he had to cross a large extent of clear and open country,

where many of his men must have been cut down in flight, or fought man
to man with their pursuers. Whereas Oneko was encamped at some dis

tance, having arrived late the night before, and some time was lost in rally-

ing]: after Philip was discovered. They overtook him, however, about 10
o'clock in the morning of the 1st of August, and a smart fight ensued.

Philip having brought his best men into the rear, many of them were slain ;

among these was JVimrod, alias Woonashum, a great captain and counsellor,

who had signed the treaty at Taunton, four years before.

From what cause the fight was suspended is unknown, though it would
seem from some relations, that it was owing to Oneko's men, who, seeing

themselves in possession of considerable phmdcr, fell to loading themselves
with it, and thus gave Philip time to escape. From this view of the case,

it would ap])eiu- that the Mohegans were the chief actors in the oflensive.

It is said that the Naticks urged immediate and finther i)ursuit, which did

not take place, in consequence of the extreme heat of the weather ; and
thus the main body were permitted to escape.

Mr. JVtwman, of Rchoboth, gave an account of the affair in a letter, in

which he said that "14 of tl^e enemy's principal men were slain." He also

mentioned, in terms of great j)raise, the Naticks and Mohegans inuU^r Oneko.

Philip having now taken a position to annoy the back seiilenients of

• This is upon the authority of the anonymous author of the " Present State," &c., of

which we shall elsewhere have occasion to lake notice. That author seems to have coi>«

founded the fight between Thebe and Lieut. OaJccs with thai of Rehoboth Plain.

t Hist. Philip's War, p. 6. cd. 4to.

i Ga'kin's MS. Ilisl. Praying Indians.

I
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Massachusetts, his warriors fell vigorously to the work. On 14 July, five

people ai-e killed at Mendon, in Mass., which is the first blood shed in the

colony in this war. Those that were killed were about their work in the

field, and knew not then* niui'derers ; and whether they were killed by
Philip's men is unknown.
Soon after the wai- began, Massachusetts, fearing the Niprauks might join

with Philip, sent messengers to treat with them. The young Indians were
found " siu"ly," but the old men were for a renewal of friendship ; but the

pp' ^ou or persons sent upon this business did not acquit themselves in a

manner that gave satisfaction ; and Philip, being now in the coiuitry of the

Nipmuks, it was concluded by the authorities of Massachusetts to make a
further test of their intentions. Accordingly, on the 28 July, Captains
Hutchinson and Jflieeler, with a company of 20 mounted men, and 3 Christian

Indians as pilots and interpreters, viz. Memecho, JosepJi, and Sampson, went
with some of the inhabitants of Brookfield, agreeably to appointment, to

meet the Nipmuk sachems. It had been agreed by these sachems to

meet the English in a treaty at a certain tree at Quabaog on the 2 August,
on a plain 3 miles from Brookfield village. Having ari'ived here according
to agreement, the English found no Indians to treat with. It was now a
question with all but the Brookfield men, whether or not they should pro-

ceed to a certain place where they believed the Indians to be ; at length the

confidence of the Brookfield people in the pacific disposition of the Indians,

prevailed, and they marched on. The way was so bad that they could march .

oiily in single file, as they approached the place where they expected to find

tlie Indians, and when they came near Wil^abaug Pond, between a swamp
on the left and a very abrupt and high hill on the right,* suddenly 2 or 300
Indians rose up, encompassed, and fired upon them. Eight were killed out-

right, and three fell mortally wounded. Of the latter number was Captain
Hutchinson, who, though carried otf by the survivors, died on the 19 August
fbllowmg. Captain Wheeler had his horse shot under him, and himself was
shot through the body ; but his life was saved through the bravery and presence
of mind of.a son then with him. This son, though his own arm was broken
by a bullet, seeing the peril of his father, dismounted from his horse, and suc-

ceeded in mounting his father upon it. A retreat now began, and, by cutting

then- way through the Indians, the small remnant of English got back to

Brookfield. f

Tlie three Christian Indians of whom ^^'e have spoken, rendered most
eminent service on this day ; for had they not been there, there had been no
possibility of one Englishman's escaping. One of them, George Memecho,
fell into the hands of the Indians : the other two, by skill and bravery, led

the Englisli, by an unknown route, in safety to Brookfield. Yet these In-

dians were afterwards so badly treated by the Englisli, that they were forced
to fly to Philip for protection. Sampson was afterwards Idlled in a fight by
the English Indians, and Joseph was taken in Plimouth colony, and sold for

a slave, and sent to Jamaica- He afterwards was suffered to return, at the

intercession of Mr. Eliot. Memecho escaped from his captors, and brought
beneficial intelligence to the English of the state of Philip's affairs. |

The English having now arrived at Brookfield, as just related, the In-

<lians pursued them, and arrived almost as soon ; fortunately, however, there
Nvas barely time to alarm the inhabitants, who, to the number of about 80,

riocked into a garrison house, where, through persevering efforts, they were
enabled to maintain themselves until a force under Major Willard came
to their relief, August 4. He was in the vicinity of Lancaster, with 48 dra-

goons and four friendly Indians, wlien he received the intelligence of the
perilous condition of Brookfield, and had just taken up his line of march to

sm-prise a lodge of Indians not far fi-om that place. He now quickly

* According to all tradiiion this place is at the north end of Wickaboag pond, and the hill

'vas a cemetery for the IndicLns; for when cultivated afterwards by the whites, numerous bones
were exhumed. Fool's Hist. Brookfield, 30.

\ Narratire of the atTair by Captain Wheeler himself, p. 1 to 5.

X Gookin's MS. History of the Praying Indians.

—

Joseph and Sampson were brothers
»ons of "old Robin Petuhanit, deceased, a good man." lb.
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"hanged his course for Brookfield, distant about 30 miles, which, by a forced
march, he reached in safety the nigiit following. That lie was not attacked
as he approached the distressed garrison, is most extraordinary, for the
hostile Indians are said to have guarded every passage to it ; and there are
different reasons stated for that neglect: one is, that the guard through
which the English passed, suffered them to proceed, expecting another
guard stationed still nearer t/ie garrison would attack them in front while
they should fall on them in the rear ; another is, that they were deceived
as to the numbers of the English, thinking them many more than they
really were, and dared not attack them. It would seem, however, more
probable, that the Indians had no guard at all at the jioint in which they
approached at the time they arrived ; for a drove of cattle, which had been
frightened from Brookfield into the Avoods, followed the rear of Willard's

company to the garrison, and were not attacked, which would not have been
the case, in all probability, had the Indians been aware of their approach.
No sooner was it known to the besiegers that relief was come, but they

fell with more fury, if possilile, upon the devoted garrison than before

;

shooting continually from all quarters upon it, which shows that they had
accidentally let the reinforcement get into the garrison. Thus to a most
fortunate circumstance did this assemblage of English owe their safety.

At the very time Willard arrived at Brookfield the Lidians were con-
triving some machinery to set the garrison on fire ; and this may account
for their remissness in suffering him to come in unmolested. They first

endeavored by fire arrows, and rags dip])ed in brimstone tied to long poles

spliced togetlier, to fire the garrison, but not succeeding, tliose witliin fii-ing

upon them often with such deadly effect, they next, in the language of Mr
Hubbard, " used this devilish stratagem, to fill a cart with hemp, flax, and
other combustible matter, and so thrusting it backward with i)oles together

spliced a great length, after they had kindled it ; but as soon as it had begun
to take fire, a storm of rain, unexpectedly falling, ])ut it out." *

During this siege several of the whites were wounded, though but one
was killed. Of the Indians 80 were su])posed to have been killed,f but this

was doubtless setting the number much too high, although they exposed
themselves beyond what was common on similar occasions. On the 5
August they quitted the place, satisfied they could not take it, and joined
Philip, who was now about G miles from the j)lace where Hutchinson was
ambushed.

Afler George Memecho's return to the English, he gave the following in-

formation : " Upon Friday, August 5, Philip and his company came to us at

a swam]), G miles from the swamp where tlie.y killed our men. Philip

brought with him about 48 men, but women and children many more.
Philip's men were, about 30 of them, armed with guns, the rest had bows
and arrows. He observed there were about 10 of' Philip''s men wounded.
Philip was conducted to the swamp by two Indians, one of them [was]

Caleb of Tatumasket, beyond Mendon. The Indians told Philip, at his first

coming, what they had done to the EnuTish at Q,uabaog ; then he ])resentcd

and gave to three Sagamores, viz. John, alius Apequinash, Quanainsit, and
Mawtamps, to each of them about a peck of unstnmg wotnpom, which
they arccfited. Philip, as I understood, told Quabaog and Nipmiick Indians,

that when he first came towards the Nipmuck country, and letl his own., he
had in his company about 2r)0 men, besides women and children, including

the S(iuaw-Sachem [jyeetamoo] and her coni])any; but now they had left

him, and some of them were killed and ho was reduced to 40 men. 1

lieard also that Philip said if the English had charged upon him and his

people at the swamp in his own country [18 .Inly] one or two days more,

they had been all taken, for their powder was almost spent He also said,

• Captain Wheeler does not mciitlun llic rain, bill says ihey succccdcHi in setting the lioiise

on fire, whirh was cxtingnislieil at great peril by those within, who liad two of their men
wounded.

+ Ilcyt's Indian Wars, 101.
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that if the English had pursued him closely," as he retreated to the Nip-
muck country, "he must needs have been taken."

-

A considerable number of partly christianized Indians belonged to the

neighborhood of Hadley, near which they had a wooden fort to protect them
from any hostile Indians. On the breaking out of the calamities in that

region, these, with all other Indians, were watched, and suspected of con-
niving Avitn Philip, and an intention of joining with him. To test their pre-

tensions, Captains Lothrop and Beers, who, with a force of 180 men, were
•low at Iladley, ordered them to surrender their arms to them. They hes-

itated to do so then, but intimated that they would immediately
;
yet on the

following night, 25 August, they left their fort and fled up the river to-

wards Pecompiuk^ since Deerfield, to join Philip. The next day Lothrop
and Beers pin-sued and overtook them near a swamp a short distance to the

south of Sugarloaf Hill, opposite to the present town of Sunderland. The
Indians bravely stood their ground, and a sharp and bloody contest ensued.

They were finally routed, having 26 of theii* immber slain, while the whites
are reported to have lost but 10 in killed, and their number wounded is not
mentioned, f

A garrison being established at Northfield, Captain Richard Beers, of Water-
town, t with 36 men, was attacked while on their way to reinforce it, SejJt

3, and 20 of the 36 were killed. Robert Pepper, of Roxbury, was taken cap-

tive, and the others effected their escape. Philip's men had the advantage
of attacking them in a place of their own choosing, and their first fire was
very destructive. Beers retreated with his men to a small eminence, and
maintained tlie unequal fight until their ammunition was spent, at which
time a cart containing ammunition fell into the hands of the Lidians, and,

the captain being killed, all who were able took to flight. The hill to which
the English fled, at the beginning of the fight, was known afterwards by the

name of Beers's Mountain. " Here," says Mr. Hubbard, " the barbarous vil-

lains showed their insolent rage and cruelty, more than ever before ; cutting

off the heads of some of the slain, and fixing them upon poles near the

highway, and not only so, but one, if not more, was found Avith a chain
hooked into his under-jaw, and so hung up on the bough of a tree, ('tis feared
he was hung up alive,) by which means they thought to daunt and discoui'age

any that might come to their relief."

The place where this fight occurred was within about two miles of the gar-

rison at Squakkeag, (Nortlifield,) and the plain on which it began is called

Beers's Plain. IMeanwhile the garrison was reduced to the brink of ruin, and,

like that at Brookfield, was saved by the arrival of a company of soldiers.

Two days after Captain Beers was cut off. Major Treat arrived there with 100
men, and conveyed the garrison safe to Hadley.

Philip probably conducted both affairs ; this of Captain Beers, and that of
Captain Thomas Lothrop, about to be related, although it is not positivel}

known to be the fact.

Some time in the month of August, "King Philip^s men had taken a young
lad alive, about 14 years old, and bound him to a tree two nights and two
days, intending to be merry with him the next day, and that they would roast

him alive to make sport with him ; but God, over night, touched the heart of
one Lidian, so that he came and loosed him, and bid liim run grande, (i. e. run
apace,) and by that means he escaped." §
About this time, some English found a single Indian, an old man, near

Quabaog, whom they captured. As he would not give them any information
respecting his countrymen, or, perhaps, such as they desired, they pro-
nounced him worthy of death ; so " they laid him down, Cornelius, the Dutch-
man, lifting up his sword to cut off his head, the Indian lifted up his hand be-

tween, so that his hand was first cut off, and partly his head, and the second
blow finished the execution."

||

* Hutchinson's Hist Mass. I, 293—4. n.

t Hubbard, Nar.36, 37.—Chronicle, 'H&.—Hoyt, 102, 103.

X Manuscript documents.

$ Chronicle, 25.
||
Manuscript in library of Mass. Hist. Soc.
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It was about this time, as the author of the "Present State" relates, that
" Kiug Philip, now beginning to want money, having a coat made all of
wampampeag, (i. e. Indian money,) cuts his coat to pieces and distributes it

plentifully among the Nipmoog sachems and others, as well as to the east-

ward as southward, and all round about." *

On the 18 Sept. Captain Lothrop, of Beverly, was sent from Hadley with
about 88 men, to bring away the corn, grain, and other valuable articles,

fi'om Deerfield. Having loaded their teams and commenced then- march
homcAvard, they were attacked at a place called Siigarloaf Hill, where almost
every man was slain. This company consisted of " choice young men, the
very flower of Essex county, 'none of whom were ashamed to speak with the
enemy in the gate.'"t Eighteen of the men belonged to Deei-field.J Cap-
tain jMosely, being not far off, u})on a scout, was drawn to the scene of action

by the rej)ort of the guns, and, hav.ing with him 70 men, charged the Indians
with great resolution although he computed their numbers at 1000. He
had two of his men killed and eleven wounded. The Indians dared him to

begin the fight, and exultingly said to him, " Come, Moseli/, come, you seek In-

dians, you want Indians; litre is Indians enough for ymi." ^ On this occasion
the conduct ofMosely^s lieutenants. Savage and Pickering, are mentioned in

high terms of praise, "as deserving no little part of the honor of that day's

service." After continuing a fight with tliem, iiom eleven o' clock until

almost night, he was obliged to retreat.
||

The Indians cut open the bags of
wheat and the feather-beds, and scattered their contents to the winds. §
After Mostly had commenced a retreat, Rlajor Treat, with 100 English and
60 Mohegans, came to his assistance. Their united forces obliged the Indians
to retreat in their turn.H The Lidians were said to have lost, in the various

encounters, 96 men. It was a great oversight, that Captain Lothrop should
have suffered his men to stroll about, while ]i;;ssing a dangerous defile.

" Many of the soldiers having been so foolish and secure, as to put their arms
in the carts, and step aside to gather grapes, which proved dear and deadly

grapes to them."** The same author observes, "This was a black and fatal

day, wherein there were eight j)ersons made widows, and six-and-twenty

children made fatherless, all in one little plantation and in one day ; and
above sixty persons buried in one dreadfid grave !"

The place of this fight and ambush is in the southerly part of Deerfield, on
which is now the village called Bloody Brook, so named from this memora-
ble tragedy. A brook wliich passes througli the village is crossid by the

road not lar from the centre of it, and it was at the point of crossing that it

happened, ft

Until this period the Indians near Springfield remained friendly, and re

fused the solicitations of Philip, to undertake in his cause. But, now thai

Northfield and Deerfield had fallen into his hands, they were watched closer

by the whites, whose cause these great successes of Philip had occasioned

them to look upon as rather precarious. They therefore, about 40 in number,
on the night of tlie 4 Oct., admitted about 300 oi' Philip''s men into their fort,

which was situated at a place called Longhill, about a mile below tiie village

of Si)ringfield, and a plan was concerted for the destruction of that place.

But, as in many cases afterwards, one of their number betrayed them. Toto,}]:

* Old Iiid. Chronicle. If lliis were the case, Philip must have had aii immense hig coal-
yea, even bigger than Ur. Johnson's great coal, as represented by Boswell ; llic side poiktls

ol' which, he said, were large enough each lo conUan one of ihe huge volumes of his folio

dirlionary

!

t Hubbard's Narrative, 38. t These were ihe leamslers.

f Manuscripl lellcr. wrilten al (he linic.

11

" Wiiereupoii, aller having killed several of the Indians, he was forced to relreat, and con-

tinued fightintf for all the lime that he and his men were relrealin;;; nine miles. Capt. Mosely

'osl out of his company [), and l:i wounded."—Old. Ind. Chrnn. 'i!1. This author has

DJended the two arct>unts o( Brers and Lothrop together, and relates them us one.

U /. Mather's Hisloryof the War. 12. *• Ibid.

tt Last year, (183.'J), a splendid celebration was held at Bloody Rrook, "hi commemoration

»f the event, and an oration was jironoimced by our Prince of Orators, the present governor

>f this commonwealth, His Excellency EuvVARD Evkrett, LL. D.

tt Uubhnrd.—Top, Hutchinson.
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an Iiidiuu at Windsor, revealed the plot, and the people of Springfield had
time only to escape into their garrisons. The whole force of the Indians
came like a torrent upon the place the next day, and bunit the deserted
houses and barns, in all 57 buildings. In this business, however, some of
then* number were killed * by the people in the garrisons ; but it is not known
how many. They would have succeeded against the lives of the English as
well as against their property, had not a force ai'rived about the same time
for their relief.

Animated by his successes, Philip aimed his next blow at the head- quar-
ters of tlie whiles in this region. With 7 or 800 of his men he fell upon
Hatfield on the 19 Oct., which, had it not been well provided with men, would
have shared the fate of Springfield ; but Captain Mostly and Captain Poole,

with their companies, were in the place, and Captain Samuel Appleton Avas at

Hadley on the opposite side of the river ; and against such commanders they
could hardly have expected success. However, they made a bold attempt
on all sides at once ; but theu* greatest force fell on the point where Captain
Appleton commanded. His sergeant was mortally wounded by his side, and
a bullet passed through the hair of his own head; "by that whisj)er telling

him," says Hubbard, "that death was very near, but did him no other harm.
Night coming on, it could not be discerned what loss the eneiny sustained

;

divers were seen to fall, some I'un through a small river, [now called Mill
River,] others cast their guns into the water, (it being their manner to ven-
ture as much to recover the dead bodies of their friends, as to defend them
when alive.)" And thus they were di'iven fi-om the place, after killing but
three, and wounding 10 of the whites, and burning a small number of
buildings. They had, before their attack on the town, killed three belonging
to some scouts, and seven others of Captain Mosely^s men. This was among
tlieir last important efforts on the Connecticut River before retu-ing to the
country of the Narragansets.
The Nipmuck sachems had well contrived then* attack on Hatfield ; having

made fires in the woods about seven miles from it, to draw out the soldiers,

for whom they had prepared ambushes ; but only ten of Mosely's men were
sent out to learn the cause of the fii-es. These were all cut off iexcept one,
according to the Chronicle, but according to Hubbard, seven only were
killed. The Indians probably supposed the main body was cut off, and
therefore proceeded directly to the assault of the town, where a new force
Iiad just arrived ; and hence they met with a brave resistance and final defeatf
The Narragansets had not yet heartily engaged in the war, though there is

no doubt but they stood pledged so to do. Therefore, having done all that
could be expected upon the western frontier of Massachusetts, and conclu-
ding that his presence among his allies, the Narragansets, was necessary to

keep them from abandoning his cause, Philip was next known to be in their
countrj'.

An army of 1500 English was raised by the three colonies, Massachusetts,
Plimouth, and Connecticut, for the pui-pose of breaking down the power of
Philip among the Narragansets. They determined upon this course, as they
had been assured that, the next spi-ing, that nation would come with all their
force upon them. It was not known that Philip was among them when this

resolution was taken, and it was but a rumor tnat they had taken pait with
him. It was true, that they had promised to deliver up all the Wampanoags,
who should flee to them, either alive or dead ; but it is also true, that those
who made this promise, had it not in their power to do it ; being persons,
chiefly in subordinate stations, who had no right or authority to bind any but
themselves. And, therefore, as doubtless was foreseen by many, none of
Philip's people were delivered up, although many were known to have been
among them. Thus, in few words, have we exhibited the main grounds of
the mighty expedition against the Narragansets in the winter of 1675.

* A pewter plaUer is still exhibited in Springfield with a hole throug^h the middle of it, made
by a ball from the garrison at this time. An Indian had taken it (lom one of the deserted
houses, and wore it before his breast as a shield. Thus shielded, !ie ventured toweu'ds Iks
garrison, and was shot. Hoyt, 110.

+ Old Indian ChkoHicle, 36, 37.
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Upon a small island, in an immense swamp, in South Kingston, Rhode
Island, Philip had fortified himself, in a mdunei" superior to what was com-
mon among his countrymen. Here he intended to pass the winter, with tlie

chief of his friends. They had erected about 500 wigwams of a superio'
construction, in which was dej)osited a great store of provisions. Baskets
and tubs of corn* were piled one upon another, about the hiside of them,
which rendered them bullet proof. It was supposed that about 3000 persons
had here taken up their residence.

_
But, to be more particular upon the situation of " the scene of the destruc-

tion of the Narragansets," we will add as follows from the notes of a gen-
tleman lately upon the spot, for the express pui-pose of gaining information.
" What was called TTie Island is now an upland meadow, a few feet higher
than the Ioav meadow with which it is surromided. The island, by my esti-

mate, contains from three to four acres. One fomth of a mile west, is the
Usquepaug ; a small stream also at a short distance on the east," The cele-

brated island on which the fort was built is now in the farm of J. G. Clark,

Esq. a descendant of Jolm Clark, of R, I. and about 30 rods west of the line

of the " Pettyswamscot Purchase." Water still surrounds it ui wet seasons.
It was cleared by the father of the present possessor about 1780, and, although
improved from that time to the present, chai-red corn and Indian implements
are yet ploughed up.f

President Stiles, in his edition of Church's History of Philip's War,
states that the Nai'raganset fort is seven miles neai'ly due west fi'om the
South Ferry. This agrees with data fm-nished by Mr. Ely, in stating the
returning march of the English army. Pine and cedar were said to have
been the former growth.J An oak 300 years old, standing upon the island,

was cut down in 1782, two feet in diameter, 11 feet from tlie ground. From
another, a bullet was cut out, surrounded by about 100 annvli, at the same
time. The bullet was lodged there, no doubt, at the time of the fight We
will now return to our nairative of the expedition to this place in Decem-
ber, 1675.

After nearly a month from then- setting out, the English ai-my ai-rived in

the Narraganset country, and made then- head-quarters about 18 miles from
Philip's fort. Tliey had been so long ujjon their march, that the Indians
were well enough apprized of their approach, and had made the best ar-

rangements in their ])ower to wthstand them. The army had already suf
fered much from the severity of the season, being obliged to encamp in tlif

open field, and without tents to cover them

!

The 19th of December, 1675, is a memorable day in the annals of New
England. Cold, in the extreme,—the air filled with snow,—the English
were obliged, fi-om the low state of their provisions, to march to attack
Philip in his fort.

, Treachery hastened his ruin. One of his men, by iiope

of reward, betrayed his country into tlieir hands. This man had, ])robably,

lived among the English, as he had an Englisli name. He was called Peter,^

and it was by accident that himself, with thirty-five others, had just before
fallen into the hainls of the fortunate Ca])tain Mosely. No Englishman was
acquainted with the situation of Philip's fort ; and, but for their pilot, Peter,

there is very little probability that they cotdd have even found, much less

effected any thing against it. For it was one o'clock on that short day of
the year, before they arrived within the vicinity of the swamp. There was
but one point where it could be assailed with the least probability of suc-
cess; and this was fortified by a kind of block-house, directly in front of
the entrance, and had also Hankers to cover a cross fire. Besides high pal-

isades, an immense hedge of fallen ti'ees, of nearly a rod in thickness,

* 500 bushels, says Dr. /. Matlur. Hollow trees, cut ofT nboul the length of a barrel, were
nsed by the Indians for lu'ns. In such they secured their corn and olher grains.

t Ms. communicalion of Uovcrend Mr. Elij, accompanied l)y a drawing of the island. Its

shape is very similar lo the siiell of an oyster. Average rectangular lines through it measure,
one 35 rods, anotiier "10.

\ Holmes's Aiuials, i. 37G.

$ The name of I'eter among the Indians was so common, that it is perhaps past determine
lion who liiis one was. Mr. Iliibbard calls him a fugitive frpm the Narragansets.
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surrounded it, encompassing an area of about five acres. Between the

fort and the main land was a body of water, over which a great tree liad

been felled, on which all must pass and repass, to and from it. On coming
to this place, the English soldiers, as many as could pass upon the ti-ee,

which would not admit two abreast, rushed forward upon it, but were swept
oflT in a moment by the fire of Philip's men. Still, the English soldiers, led

by their captains, supplied the places of the slain. But again and again

were they swept from the fatal avenue. Six captains and a great many men
had fallen, and a partial, but momentary, recoil from the face ofdeath took place.

Meanwhile, a handful, under the fortunate Mosely, had, as miraculous as

it may seem, got within the fort. These were contending hand to hand
with the Indians, and at learful odds, when the C17 of " They run ! they

run ! " brought to their assistance a considerable body of their fellow-soldiers.

They were now enabled to drive the Lidians from their main breastwork,

and their slaughter became immense. Flying fi-om wig^vam to wigwam

—

men, women and childi'eu, indiscriminately, were hewn down, and lay in

heaps upon the snow. Being noAV masters of the fort, at the recommenda-
tion of Mr, Church, who led the second party that entered the fort, General
Winslou; was about to quarter the army in it for the present, which oflfered

comfortable habitations to the sick and wounded, besides a plentiful supply
of provisions. But one of the captains * and a surgeon opposed the meas-
ure

;
probably from the apprehension that the woods was full of Indians,

wlio would continue their attacks upon them, and drive them out in their

turn. There was, doubtless, some reason for this, which was strengthened

from the fact that many English were killed after they had possessed

themselves of the fort, by those whom they had just dispossessed of it.

Notwithstanding, had Churches advice been followed, perhaps many of the

lives of the wounded would have been saved ; for he was seldom out in his

judgment, as his continued successes proved afterwards.

Afi;er fighting three hours, the English were obliged to march 18 miles,

before the womided could be diessed, and in a most dismal and boisterous

night. Eighty English were killed in tlie fight, and 150 wounded, many of
whom died afterwards. The shattered army left the ground in considerable

haste, leaving eight of their dead in the Ibrt.

Philip, and such of his warriors as escaped uuhm't, fled into a place of

safety, until the enemy had retired ; when they retm-ned again to the fort.

The English, no doubt, apprehended a pursuit, but Philip, not knowing
their distressed situation, and, perhaps, judging of their loss from the few
dead which they left behind, made no attempt to harass them in their

retreat. Before the fight was over, many of the wigAvams were set on fire.

Into these, hmidreds of innocent women and childien had crowded them-
selves, and perished in the general conflagration ! And, as a writer of that

day expresses himself, "no man kuoweth how many." The English learned

atterwards, from some that fell into their hands, that in all about 700
perished.f

Tlie sufierings of the English, after the fight, are almost without a par-

allel in histoi-y. The horrors of Moscow will not longer be lemembered.
The mjTiads of modern Europe, assembled there, bear but small propor-

* Probably Mosely, who seeras always to have had a large share in the direction of all af-

fairs when present.

t There is printed in Hutchinson's Hist. Mass. i. 300. a letter which gives the particulars of

the Narragansei fight. I have compared it with the original, and find it correct in the main
pailicuiars. He mistakes in ascribing it to Major Bradford, for it is signed by James Oliver,

a Massachusetts captain. Hutchinson copied from a copy, which was without signature.

He omits a passage concerning Tift, or Tiffe, who, Oliver says, confirmed his narrative.

That man had " married an Indian, a Wompanoag—and, says Oliver, he shot 20 times at ns

in the swamp—was taken at Providence, [by Captain Fenner,'\ Jan. 14th—brought to us the

16ih—executed the ISth ; a sad wretch. He never heard a sermon but once this 14 years ; he
never heard of the name of Jesus Christ. His father going to recall him, lost his head, and
lies unburied." Hubbard says, (Narrative, 59,) that "Tie was condemned to die the death of

a traitor," and traitors of those days were quartered. "'As to his religion, he weis found as

gnorant as an heathen, which, no «toubt, caused the fewer tears to be shed at his fureral."

A sorrowful record I
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tloiitothe number of tluir countrymen, compared witii that of the armj
of New England and theirs, at the iight in Narraganset.

Colonel Church, then only a volunteer, was in this fight, and we vnW heai
a few of his observations. " By this time, the English people in the fort had
begun to set fire to the wigwams and houses, which Mr. Church labored
hard to prevent ; they told him they had orders from the general to burn
them; he begged them to forbear until he had discoursed the general."
Then, hastening to him, he ui-ged, that "the wigwams were musket-proof,
being all lined with baskets and tubs of grain, and other provisions, suffi-

cient to supply the vvhole army until the spring of the year ; and every
bounded man might have a good warm house to lodge in ; which, other-
wise, would necessarily perish with the storms and cold. And, moreover,
tliat the army had no other provision to trust unto or depend upon ; that he
knew that Plymouth forces had not so much as one biscuit left." The gen-
eral was for acceding to Church's proposition, but a captain and a doctor
])revented it, as we have before observed ; the former threatening to shoot
the general's horse under him, if he attempted to march in, and the latter

said, Chwxh shoidd bleed to death like a dog, (he having been badly wounded
on entering the fort,) before he would di-ess his wounds, if he gave such
advice. CAitrc/i then proceeds : "And, burning up all the houses and pro-
visions in the fort, the army returned the same night in the storm and cold.

And, I suppose, every one that is acquainted with the cu'cunistances of that

night's march, deeply laments the miseries that attended them ; especially
the wounded and dying men. But it mercifully came to pass that Capt.
Andrew Belcher arrived at Mr. Smiths, [in Narraganset,] that very night from
Boston, with a vessel loaden with provisions for the army, who must other-
wise have perished for want." *

After the English army had gone into quarters at Wickford, the Connecticut
troops returned home, which was considered very detrimental to the service
by the other colonies ; and soon after a reinforcement of 1000 men was as-

sembled at Boston and ordered to the assistance of their countrymen, ti
their march to Narraganset in the beginning of Jan. 167G, they suffered intol-

erably from the cold ; no less than 11 men were frozen to death, and many
others were taken sick by reason of their exposure in that severe season.
Meanwhile the Lidians had sent deputies to the connnmider-in-cliief to treat

of peace; but it was judged that they were insincere in their overtures, and no
terms were settled. While matters were thus progressing, Philip removed his

])rovisions, women and children to a strong place i)rotected by rocks, in a

swamp, about 20 miles from the late battle-ground in Narraganset, into

the country of the Nipnuiks. At length, the weather havhig become mild, and
the Connecticut forces returned, together with a body of Mohegans under
Uncas, it was resolved to su|)rise Philip in his rocky fortress. Accordingly
the army, consisting now of ItJOO men, marched out on this enterjnise. On
its approach, the Indians abandoned their position and fied farther northward.
They were i)ursued a small distance, and about GO or 70 of them killed and
taken, ([)rc)bably women and children.) The army soon atler returned home,
and was chiefly disbanded.
On 27 Jan., wiiile the army was pursunig the main body of the Indians,

n party of al)out 300 attacked Mr. /fi//ia»i Car/)en<er's plantation, and attempted
to burn his house, which they set on fire, but those within succeetled in put-
ting it out. In the skirmish, one of their number was killed, and two of the
whites were wounded. Tiie assaulting l)arty collected and drove olf from
this place 180 sheep, 50 large catllc, and 15 horses, and from a Mr. Harris
another drove of cattle, and killed his negro servant.f

Soon aller this, Philip, with many of his fbllowei-s, left that part of the

* " Our woiiiuled nieii, (in numlier cil>i)Ul 150, | being dressed, were sent into Rhode Island,

as the l>csl jilaro for tlirir arronunodatiun ; wiicre, accordingly, they were kindly rcceivea
bj the governor and odicrs, only some cinirlisli Quakers were not free to entertain thcin, until

iDinpeiled l)y the governor. ()( so iiilnunnne, peevish and untoward a disposition arc these

iVoZia/s, as not to vouchsafe rivihty lo those thai liad ventured their lives, and received dangeroiw
wounds in their defence." O/fl lad. (^hronirle, T-t.

Old Indian Chronicle, .';R, h<.\.—H„hh.inl, 59.
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country, and resided in different places upon Connecticut River. Some report
that he took up his j-esideuce near Albany, and that lie solicited the Mohawks
to aid him against the English, but without success.

The story of the foul stratagem said to have been resorted to by Philip
for this object, is, if true, the deepest stain upon his character. According
to one of tlie historians * of the war, it was reported at Boston, in the end of
June, or beginning of July, 1676, that "those Indians who are known by the

name of Mauquawogs, (or Mohawks, i. e. man-eaters,) had lately fallen upon
Philip, and killed 40 of his men. And if the variance between Philip and
the Mauquawogs came to pass, as is commonly reported and apprehended,
there was a marvellous finger of God in it. For we hear that Philip, being
this winter entertained in the Mohawks' country, made it his design to breed
a quarrel between the English and them ; to effect vvhich, divers of our
returned captives do report, that he resolved to kill some scattering Mohawks,
and then to say that the English had done it ; but one of these, whom he
thought to have killed, was only wounded, and got away to his countrymen,
giving them to understand that not the English, but Philip, had killed the
men that were murdered ; so that, instead of bi'inging the Mohawks upon
the English, be brought them upon himself."

The author of the anonymous " Letters to London" has this passage

^

concerning Philip's visit to the Mohawks. " King Philip, and some of these
northern Indians, being wandered up towards Albany, the Mohucks marched
out very strong, in a warlike posture, upon them, putting them to flight, and
pursuing them as far as Hassicke Rivei*, which is about two days' march
from the east side of Hudson's River to the north-east, killing divers, and
bringing away some prisoners with great pride and triumph, which ill suc-

cess on that side, where they did not 9cq)ect any enemy, having lately en-
deavored to make up the ancient animosities, did very much daunt and dis-

courage the said northern Indians, so that some hundi'eds came in and sub-
mitted themselves to the English at Plimouth colony, and Philip himself is

nm skulking away into some swamp, with not above ten men attending him."
Although Philip was supposed to be beyond the frontier by son)e, and by

others to be " snugly stowed away in some swamp," yet his warriors, whether
directed by him in person or not, is immaterial, as every thing was done
against the English that could well be under such broken circumstances as

he now labored. On the 10 Feb. 1676, they surprised Lancaster with com-
plete success, the particulars of which we shall fully naiTate in our next
chapter. Eleven days after, (21 Feb.) about 300 Indians attacked Medfield,
and in spite of200 soldiers stationed there to guard it, burnt about 50 houses,
killed 18 of its inhabitants, and wounded 20 others. Among the slaiii were
Lieutenant Adams and his wife : the latter was killed accidentally by Cap-
tain Jacob. She was in bed in a chamber, under which was a room occupied
by the soldiers ; as Captain Jacob was about to leave the house, his gun went
off, the ball from which passed through the chamber floor and killed her.

The Indians managed this attack with their usual skill ; having placed some
of their number prepared with fire implements in various parts of the to^vn,

they set the houses on fire, " as it were," says Major Gookin, " in one instant

of tune." And as the people issued out of them, parties lay ready and shot

them down. As soon as the whites were mustered to oppose them, they
retired over the bridge towai'ds Sherburne, and set it on fire, so that the sol-

diere could not pm-sue them. In the pride of theu- success, they now wrote
a letter to the whites, and stuck it up on a post of the bridge. It reads,

" Know by this paper, that the Indians that thou hast provoked to ivrath and
anger will war this 21 years ifyou will. There are many Indians yet. We come
300 at this time. You must consider the Indians lose nothing but their life. You
must lose yourfair houses and cattle."].

On the 13 March, the entire town of Groton, cousisthig of 40 houses,

was burnt, except one garrison,^ by shots from which several Indians were
«aid to have been killed.

* Dr. /. Matlier, Brief Hist. 38. f Chronicle, 99.

i Gookin's MS. Hist. Praying Indians.—The above letter was doubtless written by some ol

the Christian Indians who had joined Philip.

^ In our Chronicle, 80, it is said that Groton was burnt on the 1-4 th ; that ftlajor WUlanPi
19*
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Philip had for some time directed matters with such address that hia

enemies could not tell where or how to meet him, or whether he actually

were in the vicinity of the frontiers or not. But there can he little doubt of
his special agency and direction in all the important enterprises. On the 18
March, Northampton was assaulted, but not with quite as good success as

was anticipated by the besiegers ; for they lost eleven men, while the whites
had but three killed and six wounded.
On the 27 Mai'ch, a large body of 300 Indians, as was supposed, were

discovered encamped not far from Marlborough, which they had burnt the

day before. A company of men belonging to that town, attached themselves
to a number of soldiers under one Lieutenant Jacobs, wlio, falling upon them
in the night while they were asleep in their wigwams, killed and wounded
about 40 of them, without any loss to themselves.

The Lidians seem to have resolved that this midnight assassination should
not go long unrequited, and events so determined, as what we are about to

relate will fully exemplify. On the morning of the 20 April, the lai-gest

body of Indians which had at any time appeared, attacked Sudbury, and
before resistance could be made, set fii-e to several buildings, which were
consumed. The inhabitants, however, made a brave stand, and were soon
joined by some soldiers from Watertown, under Captain Hugh Mason ; and
the Indians retreated over the bridge, and were prevented from doing any
further mischief during the day, against Sudbury.
Some of the people of Concord hearing of the distress at Sudbury, sallied

forth for its protection. As they approached a garrison house, they discovered
a few Indians, and piu"sued them. These, as it proved, were a decoy, and
they soon found themselves ambushed on every side. They fought with
desperation, but were all, except orfe, cut off, being eleven in number. This
affair took ]ilace immediately after Captain Wadsworth had marched from
Sudbury with 70 men to strengthen the garrison at Marlborough ; and the

news of the situation of the place he had just left reached his destination as

soon as he did ; and although he had marched all the day and night before, and
his men almost exhausted with fatigue, yet, taking Captain Brocklebank and
about ten men from the garrison at Marlborough, he marched directly back
for Sudbury. On the morning of the 21st, they arrived within about a mile
and a half of the town, near where a body of about 500 Indians had pre-

pared an ambush behind the hills. From thence they sent out two or threo

of their party, who crossed the march of the English, and, being discovered
by them, affected to fly through fear, to decoy them into a jiursuit. This
Btratageiu succeeded, and with great boldness the Indians began the attack.

For some time the English maiutaijied good order, and, having recreated to

an adjaccjit hill, lost but five men for near f6ur hours. Meantime the Indians
had lost a great number, which so increased their rage that they resolved to

put in practice another stratagem, which it seems they had not before thought
of They inunediately set the woods on fire to windward of the English,
which spread with great ra[)idity, owing to an exceeding high wind and
the dryness of the gra.ss and other combustibles. This stratagem likewise
succeeded, even better than the first ; that, although it served to bring on the

attack, was near proving fiital to its originators, but this was crowned with
complete success. The fury of the flames soon drove the English from their

advantageous position, which gave the Indians an opportunity to fall upon
them with their tomahavvks! Many were now able to f.ill upon oi>e, and
resistance fiist diminished. All l)ut about twenty were killed or fell into the

hands of llie conquerors ; among the former were the two captains; some
of those that escaped took shelter in a mill not far off, and were saved by
the amval of a few men imder Cai)tain Prentice, and a company under
Ca|)tain Crowell. IJotli of these officers ami their men very narrowly es-

caped the fiite of Wadsworth.* As the former was about to fall into a fatal

liouso was burnt first, and that " afterwards they destroyed 65 more there, leaving but six

houses standiu<r in the whole Iovmi."
* " So insolent were the Indians grown upon their first success against Captain Wadstcorth,

thai they sent us word, to provide store of good cheer; for they intended to dine with us fal

Boston] ou the election day." Chronicle, 95.
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snare, he was rescued by a company from a garrison ; und as the latter ap-

proached Sudbury, he saved himself by pursuhig an unexpected route ; and,

though attacked, he succeeded in fighting his way tlu'ough the Indians with

a loss only of six or seven of his men. Captain CrowdVs arrival at this time

was accidental, though fortunate ; being on his return from Q,uabaog, whither

he had been sent to reuiforce that garrison.* With this great achievement
ended tiie chief operations in Massachusetts ; and we have now to return

towards Plimoulh.
When success no longer attended Philip in Massachusetts, those of his

allies whom he had seduced uito the war, upbraided and accused him of
bringing all their misfortunes upon them ; that they had no cause of war
agamst the English, and had not engaged m it but for his solicitations ; and
many of the tribes scattei-ed themselves in different directions. With all

that would follow him, as a last retreat, Philip retm-ned to Pokanoket. The
Pecomptuck or Deei-field Indians were among the fii'st who abandoned his

cause, and many of the other Nipmucks and Narragansets soon followed
their example.
On the 11th of July, he attempted to surprise Taunton, but was repulsedf.

His camp was now at Matapoiset. The English came upon him here, under
Captain Church, who captured many of his people, but he escaped over
Taunton River, as he had done a year before, but in the opposite direction,

and screened himself once more in the woods of Pocasset. He used many
stratagems to cut off Captain Church, and seems to have watched and fol-

lowed him fi'om place to place, until the end of this month; but he was
continually losing one company of his men after another. Some scouts
ascertained that he, and many of his men, were at a certain place upon
Taunton River, and, from appearances, were about to repass it. His camp
was now at this place, and the chief of his warriors with him. Some sol-

diei-s from Bridgewater fell .upon them here, on Sunday, July 30, and killed

ten warriors ; but Philip, having disguised himself, escaped.^ His uncle,

Akkompoin, was among the slain, and his own sister taken prisoner.

The late attempt by Philip upon Taunton had caused the people of Bridge-
vTater to be more watchful, and some were continually on the scout. Some
time in the day, Saturday, 29 July, fom- men, as they were ranging the woods,
discovered one Lidian, and, rightly judguig there were more at hand, made
all haste to uiform the other inhabitants of Bridgewater of their discovery
Comfort Willis and Joseph Edson were " pressed " to go " post " to the govern-
or of Plimouth, at Mai'shfield, who "went to Plimouth with them, the
next day, [30 July,] to send Captain Church with his company. And Captain
Church came with them to Monponset on the sabbath, and came no fm-ther
that day, he told them he would meet them the next day." Here Willis and
Edson left him, and arrived at home in the evening. Upon hearing of the
arrival of Church in then- neighborhood, 21 men " went out on Monday, sup-
posing to meet with Captain Church ; but they came upon the enemy and
fought with them, and took 17 of them alive, and also much plunder. And
they all returned, and not one of them fell by the enemy ; and received no
help from Church." This account is given from an old manuscript, but who
its author was is not certain.§ Churches accoimt differs considerably from it
He say.s, that on the evening of the same day he and his company marched
from Plimouth, "they heai-d a smart firing at a distance from them, but it

• Old Indian Chronicle 79, 92, ^Z.—Hubbard, 80.—Gooki?t's MS. Hist.—A son of Captain
VVadsworth caused a monument to be erected upon the place of this fight, with an inscription
upon it, which lime has discovered to be erroneous in some of its historical particulars. It
was recently standing to the west of Sudbury causeway, about a quarter of a mile from the
great road that leads from Boston to Worcester. Hoyt, 122. Holmes, i. 380.

^
t A captive ne^o made his escape from Philip's men, and rave notice of their intention

;
'• whereupon the mhabitants stood upon their guard, and souldiers were limously sent in to
them for their relief and defence." PrevaleTtcy of Prayer, 8.

t " 'Tis said that he had newly cut off his hair, that he might not be known." Hvibara,
Nar. 101.

§ It is published by Mr. Mitchell, in his valuable account of Bridgewater, and supposed to hav«
V^en written by Comfort Willis, named above. See 2 Coll. Mass. Hi-jt. Soc. vii. 157.
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I eing near night, and the firing of short continuance, they missed ilie place,

(md went into Bridgewater town."
On the 1 August, tlie intrepid Church came upon Philip's head-quarters,

killed and took about 130 of his people, Philip himself very naiTowly escap-
ing. Such was his precipitation, that he left all his wampum behind, and his

wife and son fell into the hands of Church.

No sooner had the story of the destruction of the Indians begun to attract

fittention, (vvhich, however, was not until a long time after they had been
destroyed,) much inquiry was made concerning the fate of this son of the
fmnous Metacojnet ; and it was not until considerable time had elapsed, that

it was discovered that he was sold into slavery! It is gratifying to learn

what did become of him, although the knowledge of the fact must cause pam
in every humane breast ; not more for the lot of young Metacomet, than for

the wretched depravity of the minds of those who advised and executed the
decree «f slavery upon him.

Great numbers of Philip^s people were sold for slaves in foreign countries.

In the beginning of the war Captain Mostly captured 80, Avho were confined
at Plimouth. In September following, 178 were put on board a vessel com-
manded by Captain Sprague, who sailed from Plimouth with them for Spain.

Church* relates the attack of Aug. 1 upon the flying chief as follows:

—

" Next morning, [after the skirmish in which Akkompoin was killed,] Cant.

Church moved vei-y early with his company, which ^vas increased by many of
Bridgewater that listed under him for that expedition, and, by then- jiiloting,

he soon came, very still, to the top of the great tree which the enemy had
fallen across the river; and the captain spied an Indian sitting upon the

stump of it, on the other side of the river, and he clapped his gun up, and had
doubtless despatched him, but that one of his own Lidians called hastily to

him not to fire, for he believed it was one of his own men ; upon which the

Indian upon the stump looked about, and Capt. ChurcKs Indian, seeing his

face, perceived his mistake, for he knew him to be Philip; clapped up his

gun and fired, but it was too late ; for Philip inmiediately threw himself off

the stump, leaped down a bank on the side of the river, and made his escape.

Cajjt. Church, as soon as j)ossible, got over the river, and scattered in quest of
Philip and his company, but the enemy scattered and fli d every way ; but he
picked up a considerable many of their women and children, among which
were Philip's wife and son of about nine years old." The remainder of the

day was spent m pursuing the flying Philip, who, with his Narraganscts, was
still Ibrmidable. They picked up many prisoners, fiom whom they leai'ned

the force of those of whom they were in pursuit. At night, Church was under
obligation to return to his men he had left, but commissioned LigMfoot, cap-
tain, to lead a i)arty on discovery. Light/hot returned in the morning with
good success, having made an im])ortant discovery, and taken 13 i)risoners.

Church immediately set out to follow uj) their advantage. He soon came
where they had made fires, and shortly alter overtook their women and chil-

flren, who "were faint and tired," and who informed them "that Philip, with
{I great munber of the enemy, were a little before." It was almost sunset
when they came near enough to observe them, and "Philip soon came to a

stoj), and fell to breaking and chojjping wood, to make fires ; and a great

noise tiny made." Church, concentrating his followers, formed them into a

circle, and set down " without any noise or fire." Their prisoners showed
jrrcat signs of fear, but were easily j)ut in confidence by the conciliatory con-
duct of Churclu Thus stood matters in Chtirch''s camj) through the night of
the 2 August, 1G7G. At dawn of day, he told liis prisoners they nuist remain
Still where they were, initil the figiit was over, (for he now had every reason

to expect a severe one shortly to follow,) "or, as soon as the firing censed,

they must follow the tracks of his comjjany, and come to them. (An Indian

is next to a bloodiiound to follow n track.) "f
It being now light enough to make tlie onset. Church sent forward two

Kildiers to learn Philip^s position. Philip, no less wary, had, at the same
time, sent out two spies, to see if any were in pursuit of liim. The re-

* Hisi. PhUipi War, 38. e<l. 4io. t Ilii.l. 39.
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spective spies of the two lainous chiefs gave the alarm to both camps at the

same time ; but, unhappily for Philip, his antagonist was prepai-ed for the

event, wlaile lie was not. " All fled at the first tidings, [of the spies,] left

then- kettles boiling, and meat roasting upon their wooden spits, and run
into a swamp with no other breakfast, than what Capt. Church afterwards
treated them with." Church sent his lieutenant, Mr. Isaac Howland, on one
side of the swamp, while himself ran upon the other, each with a small

party, hoping, as the swamp was small, to prevent the escape of any. Ex-
pecting that when Philip should discover the English at the farther extremi-

ty of the swamp, he would turn back in his own track, and so escape at the
same place he entered, Church had, therefore, stationed an ambush to entrap
him in such an event. But the wariness of Philip disappointed him. He,
thinking that the English would pursue him into the swamp, had formed an
ambush for them also, but was, in like manner, disappointed. He had, at

the same time, sent forwai-d a band of his warriors, who fell into the hands of
Church and Howland. They, at fii'st, attempted to fly, and then ofifered re-

sistance ; but Church ordered Matthias * to tell them the impracticability of
such a step. He accordingly called to them, and said, "J/" they fired one gun
they were all dead men,^' This tlu-eat, with the presence of the English and
Indians, so amazed them, that they sufiered " the English to come and take

the guns out of their hands, when they were both charged and cocked."
Having secured these with a guard, armed with the gims just taken from
them. Church presses through the swamp in search of Philip, towards the

end at which that chief had entered. Having waited until he had no hopes
of ensnai-ing Captain Church, Philip now moved on after the company he
had sent forward, and thus the two paities met. The English had the ad-

vantage of the first discovery, and, covered by U'ees, made the first fire.

Philip stood his ground for a time, and maintained a desperate fight ; but, a

main body of his wai-riors havuig been captured, which, by this time, he
began to apprehend, as they did not come to his aid, he, therefore, fled back
to the point where he entered the swamp, and thus fell into a second am-
bush. Here the English were worsted, having one of their number slain,

viz. Tliomas Lucas, f of Plimouth : thus escaped, for a few days, Philip and
some of his best captains : such were Tuspaquin and Tatoson. This was
August the 3d, and Philip's numbers had decreased, since the 1st, 173, by
the exertions of Church. J

Philip, having now but few followers left, v/as di-iven from place to place,

and lastly to his ancient seat near Pokauoket. The English, for a long time,

had endeavored to kill him, but could not find liim oflf his guard ; for he
AVKs always the fii'st who was apprized of then* approach. He havmg put to

death one of his own men for advising him to make peace, this mi..n's

brother, whose name was Alderman, fearing the same fate, deserted hmri,

and gave Captain Church an account of his situation, and ofiered to lead iiini

to his camp. Early on Satm'day morning, 12 Aug., Church came to the
swamp where Philip was encamped, and, before he was discovered, had
placed a guard about it, so as to encompass it, except a small place. He
then ordered Captain Golding^ to rush into the swamp, and fall upon Philip

in his camp; which he immediately did—but was discovered as he ajj-

proached, and, as usual, Philip was the first to fly. Having but just awaked
fi"om sleep, and having on but a part of his clothes, he fled with all his

might. Coming directly upon an Englishman and an Indian, who composed
a part of the ambush at the edge of the swamp, the Englisiiman's gun missed
fire, but Alderman, the Indian, whose gun was loaded with two balls, " sent

* One of Church's Indian soldiers^ but of whom he makes no mention.

t An improvident fellow, given to intoxication, and, from Church's expression about hif

being killed, " not being so careful as he might have been," it leaves room to doubt whethe.
he were not, at this time, under the effects of liquor. He had been often fined, and once
whipped, for getting drunk, beating his wife and children, defaming the cheiracterof deceasea
magistrates, and other misdemecmors.

X Church, 'i\. In the account of Tatoson, Church's narrative is continued.

i Captain Roger Goulden, of R. I. Plimouth granted him 100 acres of land oa Pocasset,
in 1676, for his eminent services. Plim. Records.

P
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one tlirough liif heart, and another not above two inches from it He fell

upon his face i) the mud and water, with his gun under him."

" Cold, wiih the beast he slew, he sleeps

;

O'er him no filial spirit weeps

;

Even that he lived, is for his conqueror's tongue
j

By foes alone his dealh-sou"' must be siuig
;

No chronicles but theirs sTiall tell

His mournful doom to future times

;

Mav these upon his virtues dwell,

And in his fate forget his crimes."

—

Sprague.

The name of the man stationed with Alderman was Caleb Cook,* who had
shai-ed in many of Church's hazai'dous expeditions before the present. See-
ing that he could not have the honor of killing Philip, he was desu'ous, if

possible, of havmg a nieinento of the mighty exploit. He therefore pz'evailed

upon Mderman to exchange guns with him. This gun was kept in the family
until the present centmy, when the late Isaac Lothrop, Esq. of Plimouth ob-
tained tliR look of it from Mr. Sylvanus Cook, late of Kingston. Sylvanus
was great-gi-andson of Caleb.\ The stock and barrel of the gun are still re-

tained by the descendants of the name of Cook.l There is a gun-lock shown
in the library of the Mass. Hist. Soc. said to be the same which Alderman
used in shooting Philip. This Alderman was a subject of TVeetamoo, who, in

the commencement of this war, went to the governor of Plimouth, and de-
sired to remain in peace with the English, and immediately took up his resi-

dence upon an island, remote from the tribes engaged in it. But, after Philip

hud returned to his own country, Alderman, upon some occasion, visited

him. It was at this time that he learned the fate of his brother before

spoken of; or he may have been killed in his presence. This caused his

flight to the English, which he thought, probably, the last resort for ven-

geance. He " came down from thence, says Church ;
(where Philip's camp

now was,) on to Sand Point over against Trips, and hollow'd, and made
signs to be fetch'd over" to the island. He was immediately brought over,

and gave the information desired. Captain Church had but just arrived upon
Rhode Island, and was about eight miks from the upper end, where Alder-

man lauded. He had been at home but a few minutes, when " they spy't!

two horsemen coming a great pace," and, as he prophesied, "lliey came witli

tydings." Major Sanford and Capt. Golding were the hoi-semcn, "who
inunediately ask'd Capt. Church what he would give to hear some neivs of Philip.

He reply'd, That tvas what lie wanted." The expedition was at once entered

upon, and Alderman went as their pilot. But to return to the fall of Philip :—
"By this time," continues Church, "the enemy perceived they were way-

laid on the east side of the swamp, tacked short about," and were led out of
tlieir dangerous situation l)y the great Captahi Annaivon. "The man that

had shot down Philip ran with all speed to Capt. Church, and informed him
of his exploit, who commanded him to be silent about it, and let no man
more know it until they had drove the swamp clean ; but when they hail

drove the swamp through, and found the enemy had escaped, or at least the

most of them, and the sun now up, and the dew so gone that they could not

easily track them, the whole company met together at the place where the

enemy's night shelter was, and ihen Capt. Church gave them the news of
Philip's death. Upon which the whole armyj gave tliree loud huzzas.

Capt. Cliurch ordered his body to be pulled out of tlie mire on to the upland.

So some of Capt. Church's Lidiaus took hold of him by his stockings, and

* Baylies, in his N. Plynioutli, ii. 168, says his name was Francis; but as he gives no author-

ity, we adhere to older authority.

t This Caleb Cool; was son of Jacob, of Plimouth, and was bom there 29 Mar. 1651. He
had two or more brothers; Jacob, born 14 May. 1653, and Francis, 5 Jan. 1G63—!. Hence
•t is not probable (hat Francis was a soldier at tnis time, as he was only in his 13th year.

X Col. Mass. Hist. Soc. iv. 6:5.

§ Eighteen English and twcniy-two Indians constituted his army a week before; but we
know not how many were nt the taking of /Vii7i;j, though we may .suppose about tlie same

number. Hence this evt>>1ition cost the colony JCD.
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some by his small breeches, being otherwise naked, and drew him through
the mud into the upland ; and a doleful, great, naked dhty beast, he looked
like." Captain Church then said, " Forasmuch as he has caused many an Eng-
lishman's body to lie unbuned and rot above givund, not one of his bones shall ht

buned

!

"

With the great chief, fell five of his most trusty followers, one of whom
was his chief captain's son,* and the very Indian who fired the first gmi at

the commencement of the wai-.

" Philip having one very remarkable hand, being much scarred, occasicued
by the splitting of a pistol in it formerly, Capt. Church gave the head and
tliat hand to Alderman, the Indian who shot him, to show to such gentlemen
as would bestow gratuities upon hun ; and accordingly he got many a
penny by it." f

The barbarous usage of beheading and quartering traitors was now exe-
cuted upon the fallen Philip. Church, "calling his old Indian executioner,

bid him behead and quarter hun. Accordingly, he came with his hatchet,

and stood over him, but before he struck, he made a small speech, dhecting
it to Philip," saying, " You have been a very great man, and have made many a
man afraid of you ; but so big as you be I will now chop your assfor you." He
then proceeded to the execution of his orders.

His head was sent to Plimouth, where it was exposed upon a gibbet for

20 yeai-s, and one of his hands to Boston, where it was exhibited in savage
triumph, and his mangled body was denied the right of sepultm-e. It having
been quartered, was hung upon four trees, and there left as a monument of
Bhocking barbarity.

Church and his company returned to the island the same day, and ai-rived

with the prisonei-s at Plimouth two days after, namely, Tuesday, August 15,
" /anging thi-ough all the woods in theh way." They now " received their

premium, which was 30 shillings per head," for all enemies killed or taken,
" instead of all wages, and Philip's head went at the same price." Hiis
a:ru)unted to only four and sixpence a-piece, " which was all the reward they
had, except the honor of killing Philip."

Having in the year 1824 visited the memorable retreat of the Wampanoag
sachems, we can give the reader some idea of its situation. There is a
natural angular excavation, in an almost perpendicular rock, about 6 or 7 feet

from its base, where it is said Philip and some of his chief men were sur-

prised on the morning of the 12 August. We have in the Life of Massasoit
described Mount Hope, and it is at the north pai-t of it that the high rock is

situated ; variously estimated from 30 to 50 feet in height, and is nearly 2
miles from the village of Bristol. From the seat, or throne of King Philip,
as some have called it, a fine view of Mount Hope Bay opens upon us. Near
the foot of the rock is a fine spring of water, known to this day by the
name of Philip's Spring.

Mr. Alden, the curious collector of epitaphs, says " the late Lieut. Gov.
Bradford, [who died at Bristol in 1808,] in early life, knew an aged squaw,
wJio was one of Philip's tribe, Avas well acquainted with this sagamore in

her youthful days, and had often been in his wigAvam. The intbrmatiou,
through her, is, therefore, very direct, as to the identical spot, where he fixed
iiis abode. It was a few steps south of Capt. James De Wolfe's summer
house, near the brow of a hill, but no vestige of the wigwam remains.
The eastern side of this hill is veiy steep, vastly more so than that at Horse
Neck, dovra which the intrepid Putnam trotted his sure-footed steed, in a
manner worthy of a knight of the tenth centuiy." "When ChurcKs vasn
were about to rush upon Philip, he is said to have evaded them by spring-
ing from his Avigwam as they were entering it, and rolling, like a hogshead,
(loAvu the precipice, which looks towards the bay. Having reached the
loAver part of this frightful ledge of rocks, without breakmg his bones, he
^'ot upon. his feet, and ran along the shore in a north-eaflteni direction, about
100 rods, and endeavored to screen himself in a swamp, then a quagmire,
but now terra firma,"

\ irv ].r(iSahly a son of Uncumpoin, or \Voonashum. t P'liHu's War.
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How much of the above is apocryphal is uncertain, but that a part of it

is I have no doubt. Tliat Philip's camp was neai- the top of Moimt Hope at

the time lie was surprised, is contraiy to rational conclusion, but seems
rather to have been fixed there by the imagination of some one, for the
pleasure it might afford them in contemplating the manner of the chiers
escape by rolling down a rugged precipice.

During the bloody contest, the pious fathers wrestled long and often with
their God, in pi-ayer, that he would prosper their arms and deliver their

eneaiies mto their hands ; and when, upon stated days of prayer, the Indiana
gained advantage, it was looked upon as a rebuke of Providence, and ani-

mated them to greater sincerity and fei-vor ; and on the contrary, when their

arms prevailed upon such days, it was viewed as an immediate interposition

in their favor. The philosophic mind will be shocked at the expressions of
some, very eminent in that day for piety and excellence of moral life. Dr.
Increase Mather,* in speaking of the efficacy of prayer, in bringing about the
destruction of the Indians, says, "Nor could they [the English] cease crying
to the Lord against Philip, until they had prayed the bullet into his heart."

And in speaking of the slaughter of Philip's people, at Narraganset, he says,
" We have heard of two-and-twenty Indian captains, slain all of them, and
brought down to hell in one day." Again, in speaking of a chief who had
sneered at the English rehgion, and who had, " withal, added a most hideous
blasphemy, iimnediately upon which a bullet took him in the head, and
dashed out his bi'ains, senduig his cui'sed soul in a moment amongst the

devils, and blasphemers, in hell forever." f

The low and vulgar epithets J sneeringly east upon the Indians by their

English contemporaries are not to be atti-ibuted to a single individual, but to

the English in general.§ It is too obvious that the eai-ly historians viewed
the Indians as inferior beings, and some went so far as hardly to allow them
to he human.

Like Massasoit, Philip always opposed the introduction of Christianity

among his peojjje. When Mr. Eliot urged upon him its great importance,

he said he cared no more for the gospel than he did for a button upon his

coat.
II

This does not very well agree with the account of Mr. Gookin,

respecting Philip^s feelings upon i-eligious matters; at least, it shows that

there was a time when he was willing to listen to such men as the excellent

and benevolent Gookin. In speaking of the Wampanoags, he says, " There
are some that have hopes of their greatest and chiefest sachem, named Philip,

living at Pawkunnawkutt. Some of his chief men, as I heai-, stand well

inclined to hear the gospel : and himself is a person of good understanding
and knowledge in the best things, I have heard him spesik very good woi'ds,

arguing that his conscience is convicted : but yet, though his will is bowed to

embrace Jesus Christ, his sensual and carnal lusts are strong bands to hold

him fast under Satan^s dominions." IT And Dr. Mather adds, " It was not long,

before the hand which now writes, [1700,] upon a certain occasion took off

the jaw from the exi)Osed skull of that blasphemous leviathan; and tlie re-

nowned Samuel Lee hath since been a pastor to an English congregation,

sounding and showing the praises of heaven, upon that very spot of ground,

where Philip and his Indians were lately worshipping of the devil." **

The error that Philip was grandson to Massasoit, is so well known to be

such, that it would hardly seem to have required notice, but to inform the

• In his " Pfvalency of Prayer," page 10. t Ibid, page 7.

X Such as dogs, wolves, hlood-lwunds, demons, devils-incarnate, caitiffs, lielt-lwunas, Jiends,

numsters, beasts, &.c. Occasional quotations will show what aulliors have used these.

§ The author of " Indian Tales " has fathered all he could think of upon Mr. Hubbard. He
may be called upon to point out the passage in thai valuable author'.^ works where he has

called one or any of the Indians " hell-koumls." Such loose, gratuitous expressions will not

do at the bar of history.

Jl
Magnalia.

IT 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. i. 200.
** 3Ir. Lee was taken by the French in a vo3'a'^e to England, and carrietl into their country,

where he died, in Ifi'JL This event, it was thought. Iiastened his end. Perhaps the sur-

viving natives did not attribute the disaster to his usurping their territory, and teaching a

religion they could not believe ; but might they "ol with equal propriety 1
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reader of its origin. The following jiassage from John Josselyri's work *

will, besides proving him to be the author ot the eiTor, at least the first writer

that so denominates him, furnish some valuable hiformation. Speaking of
the Indians in general, he saj^s, " Their beads are then- money ; of these,

there are two sorts, blue beads and white beads ; the first is theii* gold, the

last then- silver. These they work out of certain shells, so cunnmgly, that

neither Jew nor Devil can counterfeit, f They drill them and string them,
and make many curious works with them, to adorn the persons of thek sag-

amores and principal men, and young women, as belts, gu-dles, tablets, bordera
for their women's hair, bracelets, necklaces, and links to hang in their ears.

Prince Philip, a little before 1 came for England, [1671,] coming to Boston,
had a coat on and buskins set thick with these beads, in pleasant wild works,
and a broad belt of the same ; his accoutrements were valued at £20. The
English merchant giveth them 10s. a fathom for their white, and as much
more, or near upon, for then* blue beads." " The roytelet now of the Pocan-
akets is prince Philip, alias Metacon, the gi-andson of Massasoit." J

While ]\Irs. Roiolandson was a captive in the wilderness with the allies of
Philip, she mentions meeting with him ; and although she speaks often with
bitterness of the Lidians in general, yet of him nothing of that nature appears
in her journal. The party she was with v\sited Philip on the west side of
the Connecticut, about five miles above Northfield, then called Squakeag.
Having arrived at the point of crossing, Sirs. Rowlandson says, " We must go
over the river to Philip^s crew. When I was in the canoe, I could not but be
amazed at the numerous crew of pagans that were on the bank on the other
side." She was much afi^aid they meant to kill her here, but, being assured
to the coutraiy, become more resigned to her fate. " Then came one of
them, (she says,) and gave me two spoonfuls of meal (to comfort me,) and
another gave me half a pint of peas, which was worth more than many
bushels at another time. Then I went to see Kuig Philip ; he bade me come
in and sit doAvn ; and asked me whether I would smoke it

;
(a usual compli-

ment now a days, among the saints and sinners ;) but this no ways suited
me." §

" Dm'ing ray abode in this place, Philip spake to me to make a shirt for

his boy, which I did ; for which he gave me a shilling." " Afterward he
asked me to make a cap for his boy, for which he invited me to dinner , I

went, and he gave me a pancake, about as big as two fingers ; it was made
of parched wheat, beaten and fried in bears' grease ; but I thought I never
tasted pleasanter meat in my life."

||

It is extremely gratifying to heai- any testimon)'^ in favor of the humanity
of a chief who in his time was so much execrated. To say the least of
Philip^s humanity, it was as great towards captives, so far as we have any
knowledge, as was that of any of the English to the captive Indians.

As the Indians were returning from thek recesses upon the Connecticut,
(in what is now New Hampshire and Vermont,) towards Wachuset, "ha\ang
indeed my life, (says Mrs. Rowandson,) but little spirit, Philip, who was in the
company, came up, and took me by the hand, and said, ' Two weeks more and
ijou shall he mistress again.'' I asked him if he spoke true : he said, ' Yes, and
quickly you shall come to your master H again,'' who had been gone fi-om us
tlu-ee weeks." **

Li bringing our account of this truly great man towards a close, we must
not forget to present the reader wth a specimen of the language in which he
spoke. The following is the Lord's prayer in Wampanoag :

—

JVoo-shun kes-uk-qiU, qid-tian-at-am-unch koo-iue-su-onk, kuk-ket-as-soo-tam-
oonk pey-au-moo-vtch, kut-te-nan-tam-oo-onk ne nai, ne-ya-ne ke-suk-qvi

* Account of two Voj'ages to New England, 142, 143.

t Of this he was misinformed. There was much spurious wampum, which became a sub
ject of legislation. See Hazard's Hist. Col. vol. ii.

t Account of two Voyages to New England, 146. He is also called grand-;on of Massa
roit, in the work entitled Present State of New England, in respect to the Indian War, fol

London. 1676 ; the author of that work doubtless copied from Josseli/n-

^ Xarratire o/her Captivity, 38, 39.
'

||
Ibid. 40

^ (i-iinna}in.. See his Life ** Narrative of Mrs. Rou:la?>dson, 63
•20
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kah ohke-it. As-sa-ma-i-in-nt-an ko-ko-ke-suk-o-da-e nut-as-e-suk-ok-ke pe
tuk-qun-ntg. Kah ah-quo-an-tam-a-i-in-ne-an num-match-e-se-ung-an-on-ash^
nt-ivutch-e ne-na-wun ivonk nut-ah-quo-an-tam-au-o-un-non-og nisli-ymh pasuk
noo-na-inon-tuk-quoh'ivho-nan, kah ahque sag-kom-pa-gin-ne-an en qutch-e-het-

hi-ong-a-nit, qut poh-qua-ious-sin-ne-an ivtitch match-i-tut*

Since we are upon curiosities, the following may very properly be added.
There is to be seen in the librai-y of the Mass. Hist Society a lai-ge skimmer,
which some have mistalten for a bowl, cut out of the root of ash, that will

dold about two quarts. On this article is this historical inscription, in gilt

letters : " A trophy from the wigivam of King Philip ; ivhen he was slain in

1676j by Richaid
;
presented by Ebenezer Richard, his grandson" \

CHAPTER m.

LIVES OF PHILIP'S CHIEF CAPTAINS.

Nanuntenoo—Reasons for his aiding Philip—His former name—Meets the English
and Indians under Captain Peirse—Fights and destroys his ichole company at Paw-
tucket—Incidents relating to that fight—jXutice of Captain Peirse—Kanuntenoo sur-

prised and taken—His magnanimity—Speech to his captors—Is executed and his

body burnt— Cassassinnamon— Catapazet— Monopoide— Annawon— His escape

from the sicamp when Philip was killed— Captain Church sent out to capture him—
Discovers his retreat— Takes him prisoner—His magnanimous behavior—His
speech to Church—Presents him with Philip's ornaments—Description of them—
Church takes Jlnnawon to Plimnuth, where he is put to death—Quinnapin—His
connections and marriage—J]t the capttire of Lancaster—Account of his wives—
Weetamoo—He is taken and shot—Tuspaquin—His sales of lands—His opera-

tions in Philip's War— Surrenders himself, and is put to death—Reflections upon
his executioners—Tatoson—Early notices of— Captures a garrison in Piim-
outh— Trial and execution of Kewecnam— Totoson dies of a broken heart—Bar-
row cruelly murdered—Tyasks.

NANUNTENOO, son of Miantunnomoh, " was chief sachem of all the

Narragansets, and heir of all his father's pride and insolency, as well as of

his malice agamst the English." J Notwithstanding this branding character,

drawn by a contemjjorary, we need only look into the life of J\Eantunnomoh^

to find excuse for " malice and insolency " tenfold more than was contained

in the breast of JVamm/enoo.
The English had cut to pieces the women and children of his tribe, burned

them to death in their wigwams, and left their mangled bodies bleaching in

the wintry blast! The swamp fight of the 19 Dec. 1675, could not be for-

gotten ! jVanuntenoo escaped from this scene, but we cannot doubt that he
acquitted himself agreeably to the character we have of him.
The first name by which he was known to the English was Canonchet,

though, like others, his name was written witii many variations. In 1674, he
was styled "chief sui-viving sachem of Narraganset," and in a deed in which
he was so styled his name is written ^^ JVaivnawnoantonneiv alias Q_uananchitf

eldest son now living of Miantomomio." § He had been in Boston the Octo-

ber before the war, upon a treaty, at wliich time he received, among other

presents, a silver-laced coat. Dr. Mather says, speaking of tiie Narragansets,

"their great sachem called Qtianonchet, was a principal ringleader in tlie

Narraganset war, and had as great an interest and influence, as can be said of

• Eliot's Indian liible, Luke xi. 2

—

I.

t No mention is made to whom, or when it was presented. It docs not appear to us to be

of such antiquity as its inscription prck'Mils ; and the truth of wliich may very reasonably be

questioned, in this particular, when the more glaring error of the name of the person said to

have killeci Philip, is staring us in the face.

\ Hubbard, 67.—Mr. Oldmixon calls him " the mighty sachem of Narraganset."

—

lirit

Empire.

^ Potter's Hist. Narraganset, Coll. R. Hist. Sac. iii. 172.
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any among the Indians ;" * and that, " when he was taken and slain, it was an
amazing stroke to the enemj'." \

The name of Canonchet stands first to the treaty, to which Ave have just

alluded, which was entered into at Boston, 18 Oct. 1675. By that treaty, the
Narragansets agreed to deliver to the English in 10 days, " all and euery one
of the said Indians, whether belonging vnto Philip, the Pocasset Sqva, or the
Saconett Indians, Quabaug, Hadley, or any other sachems or people that

haue bin or are in hostillitie with the English, or any of their allies or abet-

tor«."J The names to the treaty are as follows:

" Quanakchett's a^ mark,
Witnesses. sachem in behalf of himself and Conanacus and the Old

Richard Smith, Queen and Pomham and Quaunapeen, (seal)

James Browne, Manatannoo couiiceller his -j-

Samdel Gorton, Jr. mark, and Camiouacus in his behalf, (seal)

Interpreters. Ahanmanpowett's -\-mark,
John Nowhenett's X mark, counctller and his (seal)

Indian interpreter. Cornman, cheiffe counceller to

Ninnegrett, in his behalfe, and a seal (S.)"

The Indians ha^Tng carried their whirlwind of war to the very doors of
Plimouth, caused the sending out of Captain Peirce, (or as his name is imi-
formly in the records, Peirse,) to divert them from these ravages, and destroy
as many of them as he was able. He had a large company, consisting of 70
men, 20 of whom were fi-iendly Indians. With these, no doubt, Peirse
thought himself safe against any power of the Indians in that region.

Meanwhile this most valiant chief captain of the Narragansets, J^anunte
noo,§ learning, we presume, by his spies, the direction the English were tak
ing assembled his warriors at a ci-ossing place on Pa^vtucket River, at a
point adjacent to a place since called Attleborough- Gore, and not far distant

from PaAVtucket falls. It is judged that JVanuntenoo was upon an expedition
to attack Plimouth, or some of the adjacent towTis, for his force was estimated
at upwards of 300 men.
On arriA'ing at this fatal place, some of JVanunienoo^s men showed them

selves retiring, on the opposite side of the river. This sti'atagem succeed-
ed,

—

Peirse followed.
||

No sooner was he upon the western side, than the
warriors of J^anuntenoo, like an avalanche from a mountain, rushed doAvn
upon him ; nor striving for coverts from which to fight, more than their foes,

fought them face to face with the most determined bravery.
A part of JVanuntenoo^s force remained on the east side of the river, to pre-

vent the retreat of the English, which they most eflectually did, as in the
event Avill appear. When Captain Peirse saw himself hemmed in by nimi-
bers on every side, he drew up his men upon the margin of the river, in two
ranks, back to back,1[ and in this manner fought until nearly all of them were
slain. Peirse had timely sent a messenger to Providence for assistance, and
although the distance could not have been more than six or eight miles, from
some inexplicable cause, no succor arrived ; and Mr. Hubbard** adds, "As
Solomon saith, a faithful messenger is as snow in lianest."

This dreadful fight was on Sunday, 26 March, 167G, when, as Dr. Mather
says, " Capt. Peirse was slain and fortj^ and nine English -with him, and eight,

(or more,) Indians, who did assist the English." The Rev. Mr. Mewmxin of
Rehoboth wrote a letter to Plimouth, dated the day after the slaughter, in

* Brief Hift.9fi- t PrecaUncy of Prayer, 11.

t It ivMiy be 8eeB at letrge in Hazard's Collections, i. 536, 537.

^ That Nanuntenoo commanded in person in the fight with the force under Gapt. Feirse ha«

Deen a question ; indeed, our only aulhoril}- is not very explicit upon the matter, (Hubbard

-

Postscript 1.) who observes that when Denison surprised him, he " was, at that moment
divertizing himself with the recital of Capt. Peirse's slaughter, surprized by his men a fe«

days before."

I
Dr. Mather (Brief Hist. 24.) says, " a small number of the enemy who in desperate

lUDtlety ran away from them, and they went limping to make the Englisn believe they wer«
lame," and thus effected their object.

H Beam's Hist. Scituate, 121. * Narrative, CA.
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»rhich he says, "52 of our English, and 11 Indians," were slain.* The com-
pany was, no doubt, increased by some who volunteered as they marched
through tlie country, or by such as were taken for pilots.

JVanunttnoo's \'ictory was complete, but, as usual on such occasions, the
English consoled themselves by making the loss of the Indians appear aa
large as possible. Dr. Mather says, that some Indians that were afterwards
taken confessed they lost 140, which, no doubt, is not far from the truth. ^

An Englishman, and perhaps the only one who escaped from this disas-

trous fight, was saved by one of the friendly Indians in this manner : The
friendly Indian being taken for a Narraganset, as he was pursuing with an
uplifted tomahawk the English soldier, no one interfered, seeing him pursue
an unarmed Englishman at such great advantage. In this manner, covering
themselves in the woods, they escaped.
A friendly Indian, being pursued by one of JVanuntenoo^s men, got bebmd

the roots of a fallen tree. Thus screened by the earth raised upon them, the
Indian that pursued waited tor him to rvm from his natural fort, knowing he
would not dare to maintain it long. The other soon thought of an expe-
dient, which was to make a port-hole in his breast-work, which he easily did
by digging through the dirt. When he had done this, he put his gun
through, and shot his pursuer, then fled in perfect safety.

Another escaped in a manner very similar. In his flight he got behind a
ai'ge rock. This afforded him a good shelter, but in the end he saw nothing
but certain death, and the longer he held out the more misery he must sufffer.

In this deplorable situation, he bethought himself to try the following de\ice.

Putting his cap upon his gun, he raised it very gradually above the rock, as
though to discover the position of his enemy: it had the desired effect—he
fii'ed upon it The one behind the rock now rushed upon him, before he
could reload his gun, and despatched him. Thus, as Mr. Hubbard says, " it is

worth the noting, wiiat faithfulness and courage some of the Christimi Indians
showed in this fight." That this most excellent author did not approve of the

severity exercised towards those who appeared friendly, is aliundantly proved
by his writings. In another jjlace he says, " Possibly if some of the English
had not been too shy in making use of such of them as were well affected to

theii* interest, they never need have suffered so much from their enemies."
A notice may be reasonably expected of the unfortunate Captain Michael

Peirse, of Scituate. He was one of those adventurous spirits " who never
knew fear," and who sought rather than shrunk from dangers. He was, like

his great antagonist, in the Narraganset figlit ; and in 1673, when the govern-
ment of Plimouth raised a force to go agamst the Dutch, who had encroached
upon them in Connecticut, he was api)oiuted ensign in one of the companies.
He resided in several placets before going to Plimoutli. Mr. Deane, in his

History of Sdtuate, gives a genealogical accoimt of his family, from which we
li am that he had a second wife, and several sons and daughtei-s. Of what
family he was, there is no mention.}; He possessed considerable estate, and
made his will on engaging in the war with the Indians.

The "sore defeat" of Captain Peirse, and the tide of the Indians' successes

about this time, caused the United Colonies to send out almost their whole
strength.

JVanuJitenoo came down from the country upon Connecticut River, early in

March, for the purpose of collecting seed corn to plant such ground as the

Englisli had beeni driven from, and to effect any other object he mijrv.. ,tie«v

with. Whether he had eff"ected the fii-st-uamed object befoic laiinig in with

Peirse, we are not able to state ; but certain it is, that he was but few days after

encamped very near the ground where the fight had been, and was there fallen

* See the letter ffivinj the names of the compaii}- in Dcane's Scituate, 122, 123.

+ Mr. Hnhhard's account is the same.

j In the Recoiils nf Plimouth, under date March. IfiTO, tlioro is this entry :

—

" Mcht.
Ceirxe of Scittuaie" was presented at the court for vnseemly carriages towards Sarah Mcholt

nf SciUuate," and " forasmucli as there appeared but one testimony to the p'sentment, and

(hat the testimony was written and not read vnlo tlie deponant, the court saw cause to rer>i»

ihe said p'sentment."
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upon at unawares, when but a few of his men were preseut, and there taken

prisoner.

JVanut^enoo was nearly as much dreaded as Philip himself, and consequently

liis capture caused great rejoicing among his enemies, and requires to be pui-

ticularly related.

Four volunteer companies from Connecticut began then' march into the

enemy's countrj' the next day after Pawtucket fight. Among the captains

of these companies, George Denison of Southeiton was the most conspicuous.

The othei-s were commanded by James Avery, John Staunton, and Maior Palmer,
who also had the chief command. With these were three companies of
Indians; one led by On«A-o, composed of Mohegans ; one of Pequots, by Cas-

sasinimmon ; and the other of Nianticks, by Catapazet; in all about 80.

When this fonnidable army came near to JSTanuntenoo's camp, on the first

week in April, 1676, " they met with a stout Indian of the enemie's, whom thej'

presently slew, and two old squaws," who informed them of the situation of
JVanuntenoo. At the same time, thek own scouts brought the same intelligence.

Tlie news of the enemy's approach reached the chief in his tent when but

seven of his men Avere about him ; the rest were probably in the neighborhood
attending to their ordinary affairs. And although he had stationed two senti-

nels upon an adjacent hill, to give him timely notice if any appeared, theii*

Eui-prise was so great, at the sudden approach of the English, that, in theu*

fright, they ran by their sachem's wigwam, " as if they wanted time to tell

what they saw." Seeing this, the sachem sent a thu-d, to learn the cause of

the flight of the two fii-st, but he fled in the same manner ; and lastly he sent

two more, one of which, " either endued with more courage, or a better sense

of his duty, informed him in great haste that all the English army was upon
him : whereupon, having no time to consult, and but little to attempt an escape,

and no means to defend himself, he began"* to fly with all speed. Running
with great swiftness aroimd the hill, to get out of sight upon the opposite side,

he was distinguished by his wary pursuers, and they immediately followed

him with that eagerness their important object was calculated to inspire.

The pui-suers of the flying chief were Catapazet and his Nianticks, " and a

few of the English lightest of foot." Seeing these were gaining upon him, he

fii-st cast off* his blanket, then his silver-laced coat, and lastly his belt of peag.

On seeing these, a doubt no longer remamed of its being J^fanuntenoo, which
rged them, if possible, faster in the chase. There was in the company of

Catapazet, one Monopoide, a Pequot, who outran all his companions, and who,
gaining upon JVanuntenoo, as he fled upon die side of the river, obliged him to

attempt to cross it sooner than he intended. Nevertheless, but for an accident

m his passage, he would doubtless have effected his escape. As he was wa-
ding through the river, his foot slipped upon a stone, which brought his gun
under water. Thus losing some time in recovering himself, and also the use

of his gun, it probably made him despair of escaping ; for Monopoide came
up and seized upon hun, " within 30 rods of the river side."

JVanuntenoo, having made up his mind to surrender, made no resistance,

although he was a man of great physical strength, of superior stature, and
acknowledged bi-avery ; and the one who seized upon him very ordmaiy in

that respect. One of the first Englishmen that came up was Robert Staunton,

a j'oung man, who presumed to £isk the captured chief some questions. He
appeared at first to regard the young man with silent indignity, but at length,

casting a disdainfiil look upon his youthful face, "this manlv sachem," said, in

broken English, "YOU MUCH CHILD ! NO UNDERSTAND MATTERS
OF WAR! LET YOUR BROTHER OR CHIEF COME, HIM I WILL
ANSWER." Antl, adds 3Ir. Hubbard, he " was as good as his word : acting

herein, as if, by a Pythagorean metempsychosis, some old Roman ghost had
possessed the body of this western pagan. And, like Jlttilius Begvlus,\ he

* This elegant passage of Mr. Hubbard brings to our mind that inimitable one of
Clarigero, in his account of the woful days of the Mexicans :

" They had neither arms tn

repel the multitude and fury of their enemies, strength to defend themselves, nor space to

fight upon ; the ground of the city was covered with dead bodies, and the water of every
Hiirh and canal purpled with blood. Hist. Mexico, iii. 73.

f Marcus Attilius Regulus, a Roman consul and general, taken prisoner b}- the Carl'a-

20*
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would not accept of his own life, when it was tendered him." This tender of

life to JVanuntenoo was, no doubt, uj)on the condition of his obtaining the sub-

mission of his nation. He met tlie idea with indignation; and when the

English told him that he should ])e put to death if he did not comply, in the

most composed manner he replied, that killing him would not end the war.

Some of his captors endeavored to reflect upon him, by telling him, that he
had said he ivould bum the English in their hoiises, and that he had boasted,

in defiance of his promise last made to the English, which was to deliver the

Wampanoags to them, that he would not deliver up a Wampanoag or the paring

of a Wampanoag's nail. To this he only replied, « OTHERS WERE A§
FORWARD FOR THE W.\R AS MYSELF, AND I DESIRE TO HEAR
NO MORE ABOUT IT."

Had the English not burned his people in their houses ? Did they ever

deliver up any that had committed depredations upon the NaiTagansets ? No

!

—Who, then, will ask for an excuse for the magnanimous JVanuntenoo ? So
indignant was he at their conduct, that he would hear nothing about peace

;

" refusing to send an old counsellor of his to make any motion that way," on
a promise of life if he would do so.

Under the eye of Denison, JSTanuntenoo was taken to Stonington, where,

by the " advice of the English commanders, he was shot." His head was
cut off and carried to Hartford, and his body consumed by fire. The English
prevailed upon some of each tribe of then" allies, viz. Pequots, Mohegans and
Nianticks, to be his executioners, " thereby the more fii*mly to engage the

said Indians against the treacherous Narragansets." * "Herein," says

another writer f of that day, " the English dealt wisely, for by this means the

three Indian nations are become abominable to the other Indians." And a

respectable AVinterJ of our OAvn times says, "It may be pleasing to the reader

to be informed " of the fate of iN'anuniejioo !

When it was announced to the noble chief that he must be put to death,

he was not in the least daunted, and all he is reported to have said is this :

—

" I LIKE IT WELL ; I SHALL DIE BEFORE MY HEART IS SOFT,
OR HAVE SAID ANY THING UNWORTHY OF MYSELF." With
JVanuntenoo, fell into the hands of the English 43 others. §

The author of the anonymous "Letters to London "
||
says the Indians were

"commanded by that famous but very bloudy and cruel sachem, Qiiononshot,

otherwise called Myantonomy" whose "can-iage was strangely proud and
lofty after he was taken ; being examined why he did foment that war, which
would certainly be the destruction of him and all the heathen Indians in

the country, &c., he would make no other reply to any interrogatories, l)ut

this : that he was born a prince, and if princes came to speak ^vith him he
would answer, but none present being such, he thought himself obliged, in

lionor, to hold his tongue ; " and that he said he would rather die than

remain a prisoner, and requested that Oneko might put him to death, as he

was of equal rank. " Yet withall threatened, he had 2000 men, [who] would
revenge his death severely. Wherefore our forces, fearing an escape, put th(

stoutest men to the sword, but preserved Myantonomy till they returned U
Stoneington ; where our Indian friends, and most of the English soldiers

declaring to the commanders their fear that the English should, upon con
ditions, release him, and that theji he would, (though the English miglK

finians, 251 years B. C. Tliey sent him to Rome to use liis endeavors to cfTect a peace, bj

is solemn promise to return williin a given period. Tlie most e.xrruciating' tortures awaitef

him, should he not execute his mission aocording lo his inslruclions. When arrived at Rome,
he exhorted his countrymen to iiold out, and maintain the war aefainsl the Carlliaa^inians

slating their situation, and ilic great advantages that would accrue. He knew what woulo
be his fate on returning to Carthage, and many a noble Roman besought him not to return,

luid thus sacrifice his life ; but he would not break his promise, even with his barbarous ene
mies. This is what is meant by not accepting his own life when tendered him. He returned

and, if history be true, no Indiaji nation ever tortured a prisoner, beyond what the Cartho
ginians inflicted upon Marcus Attilius Regiiliis. See Echard's Roman Hist. i. 188—9.

* Hitbbard. \ I. Mather. \ Deane, Hist Scituate, 124.

§ Manuscript letter in Hist. Library. Both Hubbard and Mather say 44; perhaps they in

eluded Nanuntenoo.

I)
Elsewhere cited as T])e Old Indian Chronicle.
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have peace with him,) be veiy pernicious to those Indians that now assistet!

us, the said Indians, (on these considerations, and the mischiefs and mur-
thers he had done during tliis war,) permitted to put him to death.* And that

all might share in the glory of destroying so great b prince, and ccme. under
the obligation of fidelity, each to other, the Pequodj shot him, the Mohegin?
cut off his head and quartered his body, and the JVi mtn-ofis men made tht

fire and burned his quarters, and, as a token of then* lo\ s and fidelity tc the
English, presented his head to the council at Hartford!

'

^JVJV^ff^OJVvfSiS a Wampanoag, and one of Philip's nost famous coun-
sellors and captains. He was his fast friend, and resisteJ as long as there
was a beam of hope ; and when at last every chance of success had failed,

he gave himself up in the most heroic manner, as will appear in the follow-
ing account.

At the swamp, when Philip was killed, he escaped with mosi ov" his men,
as has been related, by his thoroughly understanding Diie sitUiton of his

enemies. " Perceiving (says Church) they were waylaid on the eact side of
the swamp, tacked short about. One of the enemy, who seemed to be a
great sui'ly old fellow, hallooed with a loud voice, and often called out, I-oo-

tash, I-oo-tash. Captain Church called to his Indian Peter, f and asked him
who that was that called so. He answered that it was old Annaivon, Philip's

great captain, calling on his soldiers to stand to it, and fight stoutly."
" Captain Church had been but little while at Plimouth, [after the death

of Philip,] before a post from Rehoboth came to inform the governor that
old Annawon, Philip's chief captain, Avas Avith his company ranging about
their woods, and was very offensive and pernicious to Rehoboth and
Swansey. Captain Church was immediately sent for again, and treated with
to engage in one expedition more. He told them their encouragement was
so poor, he feared his soldiers would be dull about going again. But being
a hearty fi'iend to the cause, he rallies again, goes to Mr. Ja6ez RL-wland, his

old lieutenant, and some of his soldiers that used to go out Avith him, told

them how the case was circumstanced, and that he had intelligence of old

Annaioon's walk and haunt, and wanted hands to hunt him. They did not
want much entreating, but told him they would go with him as long as
there was an Indian left in the woods He moved and ranged through the
woods to Pocasset"

In the early part of this expedition, some of Captain Church's Indian
scouts captured a number of Annawon's company, but from whom they
could learn nothing of the old chief, only that he did not lodge " twice in a
place."

" Now a certain Indian soldier, that Captain Church had gained over to

be on his side, prayed that he might have liberty to go and fetch in his
father, who, he said, was about four miles fi-om that place, in a swamp, with
no other than a young squaw. Captam Church inclined to go with him,
thinking it might be in his Avay to gain some intelligence of Annawon ; and
so taking one Englishman and a few Indians with him, leaving the rest

there, he went with his new soldier to look his father. When he came to

the swamp, he bid the Indian go and see if he could find his father. He
was no sooner gone, but Captain Church discovered a track coming doAvn
out of the woods, upon which he and his little company lay close, some on
one side of the track, and some on the other. They heard the Indian
soldier making a howling for his father, and at length somebody answered
him ; but while they were listening, they thought they heard somebody com-
uig towards them. Presently they saw an old man coming up, with a gun
uu nis shoulder, and a young woman following in the track which tliey lay

by. They let them come between them, and then started up and laid hold
of them both. Captain Church immediately examined them apart, telling

them what they must trust to if they told false stories. He asked the young
woman what company they cfune from last. She said from Captain Anna-
tcon's. He asked her how many were in company with him when she left

* This seems to us the most probable account of the affair of all we have seen,

t The son of Aioashonks, it is supposed.
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liini. She said 'fifty or s'nrty' He asked her how many miles it was to the

place where she left him. She said she did not understand miles, hut he was
up in Squannaconk swamp. The old man, who had been one of PMhp'i
council, upon examination, gave exactly the same account." On being
asked whether they could get there that night, answered, " If we go pres-

ently, and travel stoutly, we may get there by sunset." The old man said

he was of Annawon's company, and that Annaivon had sent him down to

find some Indians that were gone down into Momit Hope neck to kill pro-
visions. Captam Church let him know that that company were all his

prisoners.

The Indian who had been permitted to go after his father, now returned
vfixh him and another man. Captain Church was now at great loss what he
should do. He was unwilling to miss of so good an opportunity of giving
a finishing blow to the Indian power. He had, as himself says, but " half a
dozen men beside himself," and yet was under the necessity of sending
some one back to give Lieutenant Howland, whom he left at the old fort in

Pocasset, notice, if he should proceed. But, without wasting time in pon-
dering upon what course to pursue, he put the question to his men,
" whether they would willingly go with him and give Annawon a visit."

All answered in the aflirmative, but reminded him " that they knew this

Cajjtain Annawon was a great soldier ; that he had been a valiant captain
luider Asuhtnequin, [ Woosamequin,'] Philip's fatlier ; and that he had been
Philip's chieftain all this war." And they further told Captain Church, (and
these men knew him well,) that he was " a very subtle man, of great resolu-

tion, and had often said that he would never be taken alive by the English."

They also reminded him that those with Annawon were "resolute fellows,

some of Philip^s chief soldiers," and very much feared that to make the

attempt with such a handful of soldiers, would be hazardous in the extreme.
But nothing could shake the resolution of Captain Church, who remarked
to them, " that he had a long time sought for Annawon, but in vain," and
doubted not in the least but Providence would protect them. All with one
consent now desked to proceed.
A man by the name of Cook,* belonging to Plimouth, was the only

Englishman in the company, except the captain. Captain Church asked
Mr. Cook what his ophiiou of the undertaking was. He made no other reply

than this : " I am never afraid of going any where when you are with me."
The Indian who brought in his father informed Captain Church, that it wat
impossible for him to take his horse with him, which he had brought thus

far. He therefore sent him and his father, with the horse, back to Lieuten-
ant Howland, and ordered them to tell him to take his prisoners immediately
to Taunton, and then to come out the next morning iu the Rehoboth road,

where, if alive, he hoped to meet him.
Thuigs being thus settled, all were ready for the journey. Captain Church

turned to the old man, whom he took with the young woman, and asked
him whether he would be their pilot. He said, "You having given me my
lile, I am under obligations to serve you." They now marcliod for S(iuan-
naconk. Li leading the way, this old man would travel so nuich faster than
the rest, as sometimes to be neai'ly out of sight, and consequently might
have escaped without fear of being recaptured, but he was true to his word,
and would stop until his wearied followers came up.

Having travelled through swamps and thickets until the sun was setting,

the pilot ordered a stop. The captain asked him if he had made any tlis-

covery. He said, "About that hour of the day, Ammwon usually sent out

his scouts to see if the coast was clear, and as soon as it began to grow
dark the scouts returned, and then we may move securely." When it was
sufficiently dark, and they were about to proceed. Captain Church asked the

old man if he would take a gun and fight for him. He bowed very low,

and said, "I pray you not to im])ose such a thing upon me as to fight against

Captain Annawon, my old friend, but I will go along with you, and be heli)fiil

to you. and will lay hands on any man that shall offer to hurt you." They

* Caleb, (loulitlcss. who was present at llie lime Philip was killed.
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had proceeded but a short space, when they heard a noise, which tliej

concluded to be the pounding of a mortar. This warned them that thej

were in the vicinity of Annawon^s retreat. And here it will be very proper
to give a description of it. It is situated m the south-easterly corner of
Rehoboth, about eight miles fi'om Taunton Green, a few rods from the road

which leads to Providence, and on the south-easterly side of it. If a straight

line were di-awn from Taunton to Providence, it would pass very nearly

over this place. Within the limits of an immense swamp of neai'ly 1000
acres, there is a small piece of upland, separated from the main only by a

brook, which in some seasons is di-y. This island, as we may call it, is

neai-ly covered vtith an enormous rock, which to this day is called Annawon^s
Rock. Its south-east side presents an almost perpendicular precipice, and
rises to the height of 25 or 30 feet. The north-west side is very sloping,

and easy of ascent, being at an angle of not more than 35 or 40°. A more
gloomy and hidden recess, even now, although the forest tree no longer
waves over it, could hardly be found by any inhabitant of the wilderness.

When they arrived neai- the foot of the rock, Captain Church, with two
of his Indian soldiei-s, crept to the top of it, from whence they could see

distinctly the situation of the whole company, by the light of then* fu-es.

They were divided into three bodies, and lodged a short distance from one
another. AnnaworCs camp was formed by felling a tree against the rock,

with bushes set up on each side.

" He passed, in the heart of that ancient woori

—

*******
Nor paused, till the rock where a vaulted bed
Had been hewn of old for the kingly dead

Arose on his midniglii way ''

—

Hemans.

With him lodged his son, and others of his principal men. Their guns
were discovered standing and leanmg against a stick resting on two crotches,

safely covered from the weather by a mat. Over their fires were pots and
kettles boiling, and meat roasting upon their spits. Captain Church was
now at some loss how to proceed, seeing no possibility of getting do^vn the

rock without discovery, which would have been fatal. He therefore creeps
silently back again to the foot of the rock, and asked the old man, their

pilot, if there was no other way of coming at them. He answered, " No ;"

and said that himself and all others belonging to the company were ordered
to come that way, and none could come any other without danger of be-

ing shot.

The fruitful mind of Church was no longer at loss, and the following strata-

gem was put in successful practice. He ordered the old man and the yoimg
woman to go forward, and lead the way, with then* baskets upon their backs,
and when Annaivon should discover them, he would take no alarm, knowing
them to be those he had lately sent forth upon discovery. " Captain Church
and his handfiil of soldiers crept down also, under the shadow of those two
and their baskets. The captain himself crept close behind the old man, with
his hatchet in his hand, and stepped over the young man's head to the arms.
The young Annawon discovering him, whipped his blanket over his head, and
shrvmk up in a heap. The old Captahi Annawon started up on his breech,
and cried out ' Howoh

!

' which signified, ' Welcom.' " * All hope of escape
was now fled forever, and he made no effort, but laid himself down again in

perfect silence, while his captors secured the rest of the company. For he
supposed the English were far more numerous than they were, and before he
was undeceived, his company were all secured.

* It is a curious fact, that among the tribes of the west, the same word is used to signify
approbation : thus, w hen a speech had been made to some in that region, which pleased
them, at the end of each paragraph they would exclaim, " Hoah I Hoah! "— Weld's Traveii
in America.
The fact becomes still more curious when we find the same word used yet farther west.—

even on the North-west Coast, and with very nearly the same signification. See Dixon's
Voyage, 189, 4to. London, 1789. In this work it is spelt Whoah. See, also, Bumey's
Voyages, i. 346, and Colden's Five Nations, ii. 95.
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One circumstance much facilitated this daring pnject. It has been before

aientioned, that they heai'd the pounding of a mortar, on their approach.
This continued during their descent down the rock. A squaw was pounding
green dried corn for tJieir supper, and when she ceased pounding, to turn
the corn, they ceased to proceed, and when she pounded again, they moved.
This was the reason they were not heard as they lowered themselves down,
fi'om crag to crag, supported by small bushes that grew fi-oni the seams
of the rock. The poimded com sei-ved afterwards for a supper to the
captors.

Annawon would not have been taken at this time but for the treacheiy
of those of his own company. And well may their Lucan exclaun, as did
the Roman,

" A race renowned, the world's victorious lords

Turned on themselves with their own hostile swords."—i?0(t;e's Trans.

The two companies situated at a short distance from the rock knew not the

fate of their captain, until those sent by Church announced it to them. And,
to prevent their making resistance, they were told, that Captain Church had
encompassed them with his army, and that to make resistance would be
immediate death ; but if they all submitted peaceably, they should have good
quai'ter. " Now they being old acquaintance, and many of them i-elations,"

readily consented : delivering up their guns and hatchets, they were all con-

ducted to head-quarters.
" Things being thus far settled, Captain Church asked Annawon what

he had for supper, ' for,' said he, ' I am come to sup with you.' " Annawon
replied, " Taubut,''^ with a " big voice," and, looking around upon his women,
ordered them to hasten and provide Captain Church and his company some
supper. He asked Captain Church "whether he would eat cow beef or

horse beef." Church said he would prefer cow beef. It was soon ready,

and, by the aid of some salt he had in his pocket, he made a good meal.

And here it should be told, that a small bag of salt (which he caiTied in

his pocket) was the only provision he took with him upon this expedition.

When supper was over, Captain Church set his men to watch, telling them
if they would let him sleep two hours, they should sleep all the rest of the

night, he not having slept any for 36 hours before ; but after laying a half

hour, and feeling no disposition to sleep, from the momentous cares upon his

mind,—for, as Dr. Young says in the Revenge,

" The dead alone, in such a night, can rest,
— '"

he looked to see if his watch were at their posts, but they were all fast asleep.

Annawon felt no more like sleeping than Church, and they lay for some time
looking one upon the other. Church spoke not to Annatvon, because he
could not speak Indian, and thought Annawon could not speak English, but it

now appeared that he could, from a conversation they held together. Church
had laid down with Annawon to prevent his escape, of which, however, he
did not seem much afraid, for after they had laid a considerable time, Annaivon
got up and walked away out of sight, which Church considered was on a

connnon occasion ; but being gone some time, " he began to sus])ect some
ill design." He therefore gathered all the guns close? to himself, and lay as

close as he possibly coidd under young Annawoii's side, that if a shot should

be made at him, it must endjuiger the life of young Annawon also. After

laying a wiiile in great suspense, he saw, l)y the light of the moon, Annaioon
coming with something in his hands. When he had got to Caj>tain Church,

he knelt down brfore him, and, after )ircsiMiting him what he had brought,

spoke in English as follows:—" Great captaiii, ynu have killed Pliili|), arid con-

quered his countnj. Fori believe that I and my company are the last that loar

against the English, so suppose the war is ended by your means, and therejbre

these things belong unto you." He then took out of his pack a beautifully

\vrought belt, which belonged to Philip. It was nine inches in breadth, and

of such length, as when put about the shoulders of Captain Church, il

reached to his ankles. This was considered, at that time, of great value.
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being embroidered all over with money, that is, wampumpeag,* of various
colors, curiously wrought into figures of birds, beasts and flowers. A second
belt, of no less exquisite workmanship, was next presented, which belonged
also to Philip. This, that chief used to ornament his head with ; from the

back pait of which flowed two flags, which decorated his back. A third was
a smaller one, with a star upon tlie end of it, which he wore upon his breast.

All three were edged with red hair, which, Annawon said, was got in the

country of the Mohawks. These belts, or some of them, it is believed, re-

main, at this day, the property of a family in Swansey. He next took from
his pack two horns of glazed powder, and a red cloth blanket. These, it

appears, were all that remained of the effects of the great chief. He told

Captain Church that those were Philip''s royalties, which he was wont to adoiu
himself mth, when he sat in state, and he thought himself happy in having
an opportunity to present them to him.
The remainder of the night they spent in discourse, in which Annaivon

•' gave an account of what mighty success he had had formerly in wars
against many nations of Indians, when he served Asuhmequin, Philip's

father."

Morning being come, they took up their march for Taunton. In the way
ihey met Lieutenant Hoioland, according to appointment, at his no small sur-

prise. They lodged at Taunton that night. The next day " Capt. Church
took old Annawon, and half a dozen Indian soldiers, and his own men, and
went to Rhode Island ; the rest were sent to Plimouth, under Lieutenant
Uowland.
Annawon,it is said, had confessed "that he had put to death several of the

English, that had been taken alive ; ten in one day, and could not deny but
that some ofthem had been tortured ;"f and therefore no mercy was to be
expected from those into whose hands he had now fallen. His captor. Captain
Church, did not mean that he should have been put to death, and liad en-
treated hard for him ; but in his absence from Plimouth, not long after, he
was remorselessly executed. We shall again have occasion to advert to the

execution of Annaivon, and shall now pass to consider the events in the life

of a sachem of nearly equal interest.

Q^UIJYjV.APIJV was by birth a noble Narragauset, being the son of Cogina-
quan, otherwise Conjanaquond, who was nephew to Canonicus. Therefore
Miantunnomoh was micle to Q^uinnapin, and Canonicus was his great uncle.

\ye find his name spelled in almost every possible way, and for the

'imusement of the reader will offer a few of them

—

Quanopin, Qiwnopin,
Q^unnapin, Quannopin, Quenoquin, Panoquin, Sowa^onish, and Quanepin.
His name has also been confounded with that of Quampen, the " old queen "

of Narraganset.
In 1672, Quinnapin confirmed, by a \vriting, the sale of a tract of land pre-

viously granted by Coginaquan, his father.

This sachem took part with the Wampanoags in Philip's war, and fi-om

the punishment which the English executed upon him, on his falling into

their hands, we may suppose he acted well his part in that war, although but
little is recorded of him by the historians of that period. From Mrs. Row-
landson's account of him, we must conclude he was not wanting in attentions

to the fair sex, as he had certainly three wives, one ofwhom was a sister of
Wootonekanuske ; consequently he was, according to the English method of
calculating relationships, brother-in-law to the famous Metacomet himself.

Quinnapin was one of the chiefs who directed the attack on Lancaster,
the 10 Feb. 1675, O. S., and he purchased Mrs. Rowlandson fi-om a Naragan-
8et Indian who had seized her when she came out of the garrison, among
the captives of that place. And it was this circumstance which caused her
to notice him in her Narrative. X fVettimore, whom she mentions in the follow-

ing extract, as his wife, we have said, was Weetamoo, the " queen of Pocasset."

In the winter of 1676, when the Narragansets were at such " great straits,"

from the loss of their provisions, in the great swamp fight, (" corn being two

* An Troquois word signifying^ a muscle. Gordon's Hist. Pennsylvania, page 598.
* Hubbard, Nar. 108. \ Mr. Willard's edition of it, ("p. 25.) Lancaster, 1828.
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shillings a pint with them,") the English tried to bring about a peace with

them ; but their terms were too hard, or some other cause prevented. " Ca-

nonchet and Panoquin said they would fight it out, to the last man, rather

than they would become servants to the English." * A truly noble resolution,

and well worthy of the character we have of Canonchet.

"My master (says Mrs. Roivlandson) had three squaws, living sometimes
with one and sometimes with another. Onux, this old squaw at whose wig-

wam I was, and with whom my master [Quinnapin] had been these three

weeks. Another was Wtttimore, with whom I had lived and sei-ved all this

while. A severe and proud dame she was ; bestowing every day in dressing

herself near as much time as any of the gentry of the land—powdering her

hau' and painting her face, going with her necklaces, with jewels in her ears,

and bracelets upon her hands. When she had dressed herself, her work
was to malie girdles ofwampum and beads. The third squaw [or wife] was
a young one, by whom he had two papooses." f

While the Nai-ragansets and Nipmucks were encamped at a place on Con-
necticut River at considerable distance above Northampton, perhaps near as

far as Bellows Falls, Mrs. Rowlandson says, " My master's maid came home

:

she had been gone three weeks into the Narraganset country to fetch corn,

where they had stored up some in the ground. She brought home about a

peck and a half of corn " .'

We shall relate, in the Life ofJVepanet, the mission of Mr. Hoar to PhUip's

quai-ters for the redemption of Mrs. Roivlandson. This was not long after

Sudbury fight, and the Lidians were preparing to commemorate it by a great

dance, " which was carried on by eight of them, (as Mrs. R. relates,) four men
and four squaws ; my master and mistress [Quiniiapin and Tf'eetamoo] being

two. He was dressed in his Holland shirt, with great stockings, his garters

hung round with shillings, and had girdles of luampom upon his head and
shoulders. She had a kearsey coat, covered with gu'dles of wampom from
the loms upward. Her arms, from her elbows to her hands, were covered
with bracelets ; there were handfuls of necklaces about her neck, Eind sev-

eral sorts ofjewels in her ears. She had fine red stockings, and white shoes,

her hair powdered, and her face painted red, that was always before black.

And all the dancers were after the same manner. There were two others

singing and knocking on a kettle for their music. They kept hopping up
and down one after another, with a kettle of water in the midst, standing

warm upon some embers, to drink of when they were dry. They held on
till almost night, throwing out their wampom to the standers-by. At night

I asked them again, if I should go home : they all as one said. No, except my
husband would come for me. When we were lain do^vn, my master went
out of the wigwam, and by and by sent in an Indian called James-the-printer,

who told Mr. Hoai; that niy master would let me go home to-morrow, if he
would let him have one pint of liquor. Then Mr. Hoar called his own
Indians, Tom and Peter, and bid them all go and see if he would promise it

before them three ; and if he would he should have it, which he did, and had
it. Philip smelling tlie business, called me to him, and asked me what I

would give him, to tell me some good news, and to speak a good word for

me, that I might go home to-morrow? I told !.im I could not tell what to

give him, I would any thing I had, and asked him what he would have. He
said two coats and 20 shillings in money, half a bushel of seed corn, and
some tobacco. I thanked him for his love, but 1 knew that good news as well

as that crafty fox. My master, after he had his drink, quickly came ranting

into the wigwam again, and called for Mr. Hoar, drinking to him and saying

he ivas a good man ; and then again he would say, Hang him a rogue. Being
almost drunk, he would drink to him, and yet presently say he should b«

hanged. Then he called for me ; I trembled to hear him, and yet I was fain

to go to him, and he drank to me, shewing no incivility. He was the first

Indian I saw drunk, ail the time I was among them. At last his squaw ran

v5ut, and he after her, round the wigwam, with his money jingling at his

lJi,h/,,,rtl. + Narrative, G3, G4.
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knees, but she escaped him ; but having an old squaw, he ran to hci,"* and
troubled the others no more that night.

A day or two after, the sagamores had a council, or general court, as they

called it, in which the giving up of JMrs. R. was debated. All seemed to

consent for her to go, except Philip, who would not come to the council.

However, she was soon dismissed, and some who were at first opposed to her
going, seemed now to rejoice at it. They shook her by the hand, and asked
her to send them some tobacco, and some one thing and some another.

When the extensive system of war carried on by Philip was broken m the
west by intestine bickerings, (^uinnapin returned with Philip to his country
of the Wampanoags. About the end of July, 1676, Captain Church learned by
a captive squaw tliat (^uinnapin and Philip were in a " great cedai- swamp "

near Aponagauset with " abundance of Indians." This news, together with
u discovery the captain soon after made, induced him to leave that country
without disturbing so formidable an enemy. Soon after, (^uimiapin escaped
from a company of Bridgewater men, wlio killed Akkompoin, as he and
Philip's company were crossing Taiuiton River. The next day, Church pui*-

sued him, but he effected his escape.

Not long after this, he was taken, and, immediately after the war, 25
August, was shot at Newport in R. Island. It appears that Quinnapin had
iiad some difficulty with the R. Island people, who, some time before the
war, had cast niin into prison ; Ijut that by some means he had escaped,
and become active in the war. He was reported "n young lusty sachem,
and a very rogue." f A court-martial was held at Newj)ort, R. I., on the

24 August, 1676, by the governor and assistants of that colony, for the trial

of Q^uinnapin, or Sowagonish, as lie was sometimes called, and several others.

He was charged with adhering to Philip in the war, which he confessed,

and owned he was in the Narraganset Swamp fight of December, 1675, and
next in command to Canonchet ; whereupon he was sentenced to be shot tlie

next day. A brother of his, who had but one eye, named Sunkeejunasuc, had
tlie same sentence passed iqjon him. Jlshamattan, another brotherj wp^
tried, but at that time received no sentence.|

TUSPAQ^UIjY, whose biography we shall next pui'sue, was one of Philips
most faithful captains, and sachem of Assawomset, as we have before had
occasion to notice, in speaking of John Sassamon. His name in printed
accounts differs but little, and is abbreviated from JVatuspaquin. Also in our
life of Tatoson it was necessary to speak of this chief. From a sm-vey of
the deeds which he executed of various large tracts of land, it is evident

his sachemdom was very extensive. It will be necessary to glance at some
of the conveyances of Watuspaquin for several reasons, the prmcipal of which
is, that the part he acted in the great di-ama of 1675 and 1676 may not be
underrated. His conveyances to the Reverend JoAn Sassamon andi his family
are already related.

On 9 August, 1667, " Tuspequin, otherwise called the Black-sachem," for

£4, sells to Henry Wood of Plimouth his riglit and title to the land on the
east side of " Namassakett " River,§ bounded " on one end " by the pond
called Black-sachem^s Pond, or, in Indian, Wanpawcult ; on the other end, by
a little pond called Asnemscutt. How much was included in the given
bounds, is not mentioned, nor could we now by the desci'iption possibly
tell how far said tract extended back from the river. With "Puspaquin,
his wife, Amey, signed this deed, and it was witnessed oidy by two English-
men.
On 17 July, 1669, Tuspaquin and his son William sell for £10 a tract or

parcel of land near " Assowampsett," half a mile wide, and " in length from
said ponds to Dartmouth path." Besides two English, Samuel Henry, Daniel
and Old Harry were witnesses. Experience Mitchell, Henry Sampson, of Dux-
borough, Thomas Little, of Marshfield, and Thomas Paine, of Eastham, were
the purchasers.

* Narrative, 73—73.

t CaptEun Move's account of "The Warr in N. E. visibly ended," &c. in our Indian
Chronicle. % Potter's Narraganset, 98

ij He, however, reserved the right " to gelt ceder barke in the swamps."
•21 Q
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June 10, 1670, Tuspaquin and his son William sold for £6, to Edward Gray,
" in the belialf of the court of Plimouth," " all that our meddow that lyeth
in or neare the town of Middleberry," on the west side of a tract belonging
to John Alden and Constant Southioorth, " and is between Assowamsett Pond
and Taunton patli, being in three parsells vpon three brookes ;

" also another
parcel on the other side of Taunton path. Witnessed by " Amie" tlie wife
of Tuspaquin, and two English.

30 June, 1672, Tuspaquin, " sachem of Namassakett. and Mantowapud
alias William his son," sell to Edward Gray and Josias Winsloiv, lands on
the easterly side of Assowamsett, to begin where Namasket River falleth

out of the pond, and so south by the pond ; thence by perishable bounds
to Tuspaquin's Pond, and so home to the lands formerly sold to Henry

3 July, 1673, Tuspaquin and his son William sell to Benjamin Church of
Duxborough, house carpenter, and John Tompson of Barnstable, lands about
Middleborough, for which they paid him £15. It is described as " lying att

£uid neare the township of Middleberry," bounded westerly by a river called
Monhiggen, which runs into a pond called Q^uisquasett, and so by a cedar
swamp to Tuspaquin^s Pond ; thence by Henry ff'oocPs laud to a place
called Pochaboquett. Nahudset River is named as a northei'n boundary ; and
tlie two "places" called Tuscomantst and Massapanoh are also named, like-

wise a pond called Sniptuett, and a " rivei-'s mouth called Tuppatuett which
runneth into a pond called Q^uittuwashett," Two English, Sam Hairy^ and
Joseph of Namasket, were witnesses.

1 November 1673, William Watuspaquin, Assaweta, Tobias and Bewat, for

£10 sell to three English of Barnstable a tract of laud bounded by Que-
taquash Pond nortlierly, by Quetaquash River easterly, Suepetuitt Pond, &c.

14 May, 1675, tlie two Tuspaquins, father and son, " make over to John
Tompson, Constant SouthwoHh" and others, of Middleborough, "all that tract

of land which we now have in possession, called commonly Assowamset
neck or necks, and places adjacent," as a security against the claims of otliers,

&c. of other lands deeded at the same time ; itj therefore, they ai-e not dis-

turbed in the possession of the foinner lands deeded, then they " are not to

be outed of Assawamsett neck." Pottawo, alias Daniel, Poyman, Pagalt,* alias

Joseph, were witnesses.

For the land deeded they received £33, " sterling." It consisted of uplands
and meadows about the pond called JVinipoket, Q^uiticus,\ &c., and, judguig
from the price paid, was, no doubt, a vei-y large tract.

Thus are a few of the acts of Watuspaquin sketched previous to the war.
We are now to trace his operations in quite anotlier sphere. In our opinion,

Mr. Hubbard was right in styling him " the next noted captain to Philip^'' but
erroneously calls Old Tuspaquin " the Black-sachem's son." He does not
appear to have Icnown of the son William. Indeed, we hoar nothing of him
in the war, but it is probable he shared the late of his fath'^»*

In the spring of 1676, Tuspaquin was marching from place to place with
about 300 men, and was doubtless in high expectation of humbling the

pride of his enemies, and, but for Philip's western disasters, occasioned by
the disaffection of his Pocomptucks and others, his expectations miglit have
been realized. It was doubtless under his direction that 19 buildings in

Scituate were burnt on 20 April ; and on the 8 May, had not a shower pre-

vented, most, if not all, the houses in Bridgewater would have shai-ed the

same fate. Tuspaquin was known to have led his men in this attack.J

The inhabitants exerted themselves to repel the Indians, but, conscious of
their strength, they mahitained their ground until the next day, when they

retreated. Notwithstanding the rain, they succeeded in burning 17 buildings

before they decamped.
On 11 May, 1676, there were eleven houses and five barns burnt in Plim-

outh, and a few weeks after, seven houses more and two barns. These

* Two names, probably ; but in the RFS. there is no comma between, as is often the case,

t THticut, probably, now.

t Mr. Hvhhnrd says, (Nar. 71.) the Indians were led by one Tnsf^iogen, but we are satis-

'ii-<l 'Pwpaqitin is monnt.
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ivere probably sucJi as were at a considerable distance from the village, and
had chiefly been deserted. This " mischief" was attributed to Tuspaquin
and his men.
About this time, Benjamin Church was commissioned by the government

of Plimouth to lead parties in different du-ections over the colony ; and from
the time he commenced operations, the Indians fomid but few opportunities

to do mischief in Plimouth colony.

Tuspaquin still kept his ground in the Assawomset country, and for a long
time baffled all the skill Captain Church was master of in his endeavore to take

him prisoner. Church received his commission 24 July, 1676, and the same
night set out on an expedition against Tuspaquin. His Lidian scouts brought
him before day upon a company of his people in Middleborough, every one
of whom fell into his hands. How many there wei'e, Church does not say.

He took them dii'ecdy to Plimouth, " and disposed of them all," except " one
Jeffery, who, proving very ingenious and faithful to hmi m informing where
other parcels of the Indians harbored, Capt. Church promised him, that if

he continued to be faithful to him, he should not be sold out of the country,
but should be his vi^aiting man, to take care of his horse, &c., and accord-
ingly he sei'ved him faithfidly as long as he lived." *

Thus strengthened by Tmpaquin's own men. Church pursued his successes
with manifold advantage. There was a small tribe residing near Munponset
Pond, which was next captured without loss on either side, and there was
henceforth scarcely a week passed wherein he did not capture some of these

people.

Not long after this, it was found that Tuspaquin had encamped about
.\ssawomset, and Church set out on an expedition there ; but finding Old
Tuspaquin was ready for him at the neck between the two great ponds, f he
was glad to make the best of his way on towards Acushnet and Dartmouth.
As he was crossing Assawomset neck, a scout from Tuspaquin^s camp fired

U])on him, but did him no injury.

Meanwhile the great Annawon having been surprised by the indefatigable

Church, Tuspaquin saw no chance of holding out long ; he therefore appears
afterwards only intent upon keeping out of the way of the English. This
could not be long reasonably expected, as their scouts were ranging in every
direction.

On 4 Sept. 1676, according to Church's account, Tuspaquin^s company
were encamped near Sippican, doing " great damage to the English in kill-

ing their cattle, horses and swine." The next day, Church and his rangers
were in their neighborhood, and, after observing their situation, which was
" sittmg round their fires in a thick place of bruch,"| in seeming safety, the

captain " ordered every man to cree)) as he did ; and surrounded them by
creeping as near as they could, till they shoidd be discovered, and then to

run on upon them, and take them alive, if possible, (for their prisoners were
their pay.) They did so, taking every one that was at the fires, not one
escaping. Upon examination, they agreed in their story, that they belonged
to Tispaquin, who was gone with John Bump and one more to Agawom and
Sipican to kill horses, and were not expected back in tAvo or three days."§

Church proceeds : " This same Tispaquin had been a gi-eat captain, and the

Indians reported that he was such a great pouwau, [priest or conjurer,] that

no bullet could enter him. Capt. Church said he would not have him killed,

for there was a war broke out in the eastern part of the country, and he
woum nave him saved to go with them to fight the eastern Indians. Agree-
ably, he left two old squaws of the prisoners, and bid them tariy there until

their Captain Tispaquin returned, antl to tell him, that Church had been
there, and had taken his wife, children and company, and carried them
down to Plymouth ; and would spare all their lives, jmd his too, if he would

* Church, Narrative, 31

.

t Ju3l below where Sampson's tavern now stands.

i I suspect Mr. Hubbard mistakes the situation of this place, in saying it was " in Laken-
lam, upon Pocassel neck.'' Church is so unreMrding of all geography, that it is quite un-
tertain where it was. If it were near Sippican, it was a long way from any part of Pocasset.

9 By this it seems the place might have been as far off eis Pocasset.
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come down to them and bring the other two that were with him, and they
should be his soldiers, &c. Capt. Church then returned to Plymouth, leav-

ing the old squaws well provided for, and bisket lor Tispaquin when he
returned."

This Church called laying a trap for Tuspaquin, and it turned out as he
expected. We shall now see with what faith the English acted on this

occasion. Church had assured him that, if he gave himself up, he slioidd

not be killed, but he was not at Plimouth when Tuspaquin came in, having
gone to Boston on business tor a few days ;

" but when he returned he
found, to his grief, the heads of Annawon, Tispaquin, &lc. cut off, which
were the last of Philip^s friends "

!

It is true that those who were known to have been personally engaged in

killing the English were, in the time of the greatest danger, cut off from
pardon by a law; that time had now passed away, and, like many other
laws of exigency, it should then have been considered a dead letter ; leaving

out of the case the faith and promise of their best servant. Church. View
it, therefore, in any light, and nothing can be found to justify this flagrant

inroad upon that promise. To give to the conduct of the Plimouth govern-
ment a pretext for this murder, (a milder expression I cannot use,) Mr.
Hubbard says, Tuspaquin having pretended that a bullet could not penetrate
him, trial of his invulnerableness was resolved upon. So he was placed as

a mark to shoot at, and " he fell down at the first shot"

!

This was doubtless the end of numerous others, as we infer from the

following passage in Dr. Mather^s Prevalency of Prater. He asks,

"Where are the six Narraganset sachems, with all their captains and coun-
sellors ? Where are the Nipmuck sachems, with their captains and coun-
sellors ? Where is Philip and Squaiv-sachem of Pocasset, with all their

captains and counsellors? God do so to all the implacable enemies of
Christ, and of his people in N. England "

! ! The next of Philip's captains,

in our arrangement, is

TATOSOJV, also a great captain in the war of 1675. It seems rather un-
certain whether he were a Narraganset or Wampanoag. He (or one
bearing the sajne name) signed the treaty made with the Narragansets in

the beginning of the war. It is quite certain that his residence afterwards

was in Sandwich, since Rochester ; * and when he signed the treaty just

named, it is probable he was only among the Narragansets upon a mission
or visit. He was a son of the " noted Sam Barrow," but of his own
family, or whether he had any, we are not inlbrmed.

We first meet with Tatoson,\ or, as his name is commonly printed, Toto-

son, in 1666, in the respectable company of Mr. Secretary Morton of Plim-
outh, and Acanootus, JFannoo, two "graue and sage Indians," and a number
more, of whose characters we are "iiot so well i)repai-ed to speak. Among
this assemblage he is only conspicuous, however, as a witness to a deed of
the lands upon fVeequancett neck. Mr. Morton's name follows Tatoson^s, on
this instrument.

There was a general disarming of the Indians in 1671, as will elsewhere
be mentioned. Among a great number ordered to appear at Plimouth the

same year, to bind themselves more strongly in allegiance to the English,

we find the jiame of Tatoson, or, as his name was then written, TaiUozen,

Also Toby, alias J^Tauknocommt, \ and JVill, alias Washawanna.
On the 12th of Jime, 1676, several Indians, who had been sent in by

Bradford and Church, were " convezited before the councell " at Plimouth
;

being "such of them as were accused of working vnsuflerable mischeiffe

vnon some of ours." Among them was one named Watukpoo, or, as he

* On the rig'ht of the main road, as you pass from Matapoiset to tlochester village, and

about two miles from the former, at a small distance from the road, is a kind of island in a

miry swamp. Upon this, it is said, was Tatoson's camp. This island is connected by an

isthmus to trie mam land.

t So almost always in the MSS.
i Sometimes called Toby Cole. The same, we conclude, who joined Philip afterwards,

and fell into the hands of Captain Church, as did his mother, and many more at the same tima
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was often called, Tukpoo.* Against him, sevei-al charges were brought, such
as his going off to the enemy, and trying to deceive the governor about the
prospect of war ; telling him that Philip^s men had deserted him, and that

he had only a few old men and boys remaining. At this time were present
three other Indians, whose names were Woodcock, Q^uanapawhan and John-
num. The two first were accused by a squaw of destroying ClarKs garrison
at Eel River in Plimouth, and murdering the inhabitants. This had been
done on the 12 March previous, and with such secrecy and effect, that the

English knew not whom to accuse of it. 3Iany supposed that Watuspaquin
conducted the affair, and Mr. Hubbard charges it upon him without hesita-

tion, but it is now quite certain that he had nothing to do with it, as in the

sequel we shall show.
The tAvo just mentioned, finding themselves detected, accused their fellow

prisoner, John-num. It appears that J^um not only owned himself guilty of
this charge, but acknowledged, also, that he was concerned in the murder of
" Jacob Mitchel and his wife, and John Pope, f and soe centance of death was
pronounced against them, which accordingly emediately was executed."
Before these were executed, they implicated a fourth, whose name was

Keweenam. Although Tatoson commanded the company that put to death
the people at Clark''s garrison, yet Keiveenam set the expedition on foot. He
lived at Sandwich, and was probably one of Tatosori's men. However, on
Saturday, the 11 March, he was at Mr. William Clark^s, and observed how
every part of the garrison was conditioned. He then went to his chief,

Tatoson, and told him that it could be easily taken, as it was but slightly

fortified; and that the next day, being Sunday, would be the proper time to

execute their plan, as the residents would mostly be gone to meeting ; " and
in case they left a man at home , or so, they might soon dispatch him."

This intelligence was pleasing to Tatoson, and he found himself at the
head of ten warriors the same day. Their names were as follows : Woo-
nashenah. Musquash, Wapanpowett, Tom, "the son of Tatoson's brother,"

Uttsooweest, and Tom Piant ; which, with the three before named, made up
the whole company. Commencing their march before night, they arrived
in the borders of Plimouth, where they lay concealed until the people had
gone to public worship. About 10 o'clock in the moi-ning, they came upon
the garrison, which fell easily into their hands. After killing all they met
with, they took what plunder they could cai-ry, and burned the buildings

;

then again dispersed into the woods.
There were some of two other families in this garrison, mostly women

and children. Three only were of Mr, Clark's family, but there were eight
others belonging to the other two. Mrs. Elizabeth Clark, t one of the heads
of the family, was among the slain. §

• This Indian, whom we shall have occasion severaJ times to mention, was not one of those
sent In by Bradford, as appears from Mather, (Brief Hist. 40.) but they "informed that a
bloudy Indian called Tuckpoo, (who the last summer murdered a man of Boston, at Namcis-
ket,) with about 20 Indians more, was at a place within 16 miles of Plimouth." Eif,fct

English and fourteen Indians succeeded in takmg them all, and Tuckpoo was immcdia'iUy
executed.

+ The murder of these people is supposed to be referred to by Mr. Hubbard in his
'• Table." The passage follows :

" In June, 1676, [1675 ?] a man and a woman were slain by
tl»e Indians ; another woman was wounded and taken j but because she had kept an ludicin
child before, so much kindness was showed her, as that she was sent back, after they had
dressed her wound ; the Indians guarded her till she came within sight of the English." Mr.
Mitchel informs us that the name of the wounded woman was Dorothy Haywood. See 2 Coll.
Muss. Hist. Soc. vii. 159.

t
'• Who was the daughter of a godly father and mother, that same to N. England on the

account of religion." '• They also killed her suckmg child, and knocked another child ^who
was about eight years old) in the head, supposing they had kHled him, but afterwards he
came to himself" /. Mather, Brief Hist. 24.

§ We relate all that is to be found in the MS. records, but the author of the Present Staie,
&c. furnishes the following valuable facts :

" About this time, [his last date mentioned being
14 March,] one Mr. Clarke's wife, children, and all his family, at his farm-house, two miles
from Plimouth, were surprised and killed, except one bo}', who was knockt down, and left for

dead, but afterwards taken up and revived. The house they plundered of provision ano
:goods lo a great value ; eight complete arms, 30/. [/A.] of powder, with an answerable quav

/W 1
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Kewetnam was belieaded, but how the other three were disposed of, we
ai-e not informed ; it is very probable that the whole number suffered in dut
time. At the trial of Kewetnam and the otlier three, some of them pleaded
that the governor's proclamation was now their protection ; fi-om which it

would seem that they had surrendered themselves. But there was none to

plead their case, except their accusers, and they explained things in their

own way. The court said, "Forasmuch as the council had before this

engaged to several Indians desu'ous to come m and tender themselves to

mercy, that they should find favor in so doing : it was fully made known to

such Indians as were then present, that the said engagement ivas to he under-

stood with exception against such as by murder as above said had so acted,

and not against sucli as killed his enemie in the field in a souldierlike way."
This kind of argiunent would answer among duelists, but when did the

Indians agree to fight the English according to their rules of war ? The
foi'mer might with equal propriety demand that the English should conform
to their manner, and not depend on their numbers, forts, and superior

weapons.
Although the murder at ClarKs garrison was one of those horrible acts

in Indian wai'fare, which would justify the most rigid retaliation, still, as the

English began the Avar, they had no right to expect but that it would be
prosecuted by the Indians in all the ways at their command. On this ground
the philanthropist will ever condemn the severity of the English.
When Captain Church came upon Philip and a gi'eat number of his people,

the 3d of August, 1676, " 7\spaquin, Totoson, &.c." prevented the entire

destruction of some of them, by combating the English while their chief

and others extricated themselves from a small swamp into which they had
fled. "In this swamp skirmish Capt. Church with his two men whicli

always ran by his side as his guard, met with three of the enemy, two of
which sm'rendered themselves, and the captain's guard seized them ; but

the other, being a great stout surly fellow, with his two locks ty'd up with

red, and a great rattlesnake's skm hanging to the back part of his head,

(whom Capt. Church concluded to be Totoson,) ran from them into the

swamp. Capt. Church in person pm'sued him close, till, coming pretty near
up with him, presented his gun between his shoulders, but it missing fire,

the Indian perceiving it, turned and presented at Capt. Chirch, and missiug
fire also, (their gims taking wet with the fog and dew of the morning,) but
the Indian turning short for another run, his foot trip'd in a small grape-

vine, and he fell flat on his face. Capt. Church was by this time up with
him and struck the muzzle of his gun an inch and an half into the back
part of his head, which dispatched him without another blow. But Capt.

Church looking behind him saw Totoson, the Indian whom he tho't he had
killed, come flying at him like a dragon ; but this happened to be i'air in

sight of the guard that were set to keep the prisoners, who spying Totoson
and others that were following him, in the very seasonable juncture made
a shot uj)on them, and rescued their captain, thougli he was in no small
danger fi"om his friends' bullets, for some came so near him tl)at he thought
he felt the wind of them." * The celebrated Church-, in the skirmishes he
had in these two days, August 1 and 2, took and killed 173 Indians.

Little more than a montli after the fall of Philip, Church suri)riscd Tato-
sons wliol(! company, about 50 persons. He Avas th(> last that Avas left of the
family of Barrow; and, says Church, "the wretch reflecting upon the miser-
able condition he had brought himself into, his heart became a stone Avithin

him, and lie died. The ohi squaw [that Clmrch had emi)loyed to persuade
him to sulnnit] fltnig a feAV leaves and brush over him—came into Sandwich,
and gave this account of his death ; and offered to show them Avhere she left

his body, but never had an opportunity, for she immediately fell sick and
died also."

The fate of the father of Tatoson does not so much excrte sympathy, as

tity of lead for bullets, and 150/. in ready money; the said Mr. Chtrk himself narrow If

escaping iheir cruelly, by being at that instant at a meeting."
• Hist. Philip's VVar, 41.
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does that of the son, but is one of those cases more calculated to arouse the

fiercer passions. The old chief fell into the hands of Captain Church, in one
of his successful expeditions in the vicinity of Cape Cod. Church says, in

his history, that he was " as noted a rogue as any among the enemy." Cap-
tain Church told him that the government would not permit him to grant

him quaiter, " because of his inhuman murders and barbarities," and there

fore ordered him to prepare for execution. ^^ Barrow replied, that the sen
tence of death against him was just, and that indeed he was ashamed to live

any longer, and desired no more favor, than to smoke a whiff of tobacco
before his execution. When he had taken a feAV whiffs, he said, 'I am
ready;' upon which one of Captain ChurcKs Indians sunk his hatchet into

his brains."

TMSHq* or TYASKSj "was the next man to Philip," says Church; there

wei'e others also said to be " next to him," and it may be all reconciled by
supposing these chiefs as having the chief command over particular tribes.

Mr. Hubba^dl says only this of the famous Tiashq: "In June last, [1676,] one
Tiashq, a great captain of Philip's, his wife and child, or children, being
taken, though he escaped himself at first, yet came since and surrendered
himself!" Dr. /. Mather, Avriting under date of 22 July, 1676, says it was "this

week " that Captain Church and his Indian soldiers fell upon Tiashq and his

company. It appears therefore that Mr. Hubbard is in error, as the account
given by Church corroborates that of Mather, who speaks thus of his opera-

tions: "It having been his manner when he taketh any Indians by a promise
of favor to them, in case they acquit themselves well, to set them an hunting
after more of these wolves, whereby the worst of them sometimes do sin-

gular good service in finding out the rest of their bloody fellows. In one of
these skii-mishes, Tiashq, Philip's chief captain, ran away leaving his gun be-

hind him, and his squaw, who was taken." § These Indian soldiers, who
performed this exploit, were forced upon it by Church. They had been
seekin-g Indians about Aponaganset River, and discovered that a large com-
pany of them had just been gathering the apples at a deserted settlement on
the east side of it. The English and Indians immediately pursued in their

ti-ack.|| "Traveling three miles or more, they came into the country road,

where the track parted : one parcel steered towards the west end of the

great cedar swamp, and the other to the east end. The captain halted and
told his Indian souldiers that they had heard as well as he what some men
had said at Plymouth about them,1[ &c., that now was a good opportunity for

each party to prove themselves. The track being divided, they should fol-

low one, and the English the other, being equal in number. The Indians

declined the motion, and were not willing to move any where without him:
said they shoidd not think themselves safe ivithout him. But the captain insisting

\ipon it, they submitted. He gave the Indians their choice to follow which
track they pleased. They replied, TViey were light and able to travel, therefore

if he pleased they ivould take the ivest track. And appointing the ruins of John
Cook's house at Cushnet ** for the place to meet at, each company set out

briskly to try their fortunes." ff When the parties met, " they very remark-
ably found that the number that each company had taken and slain was
equal. The Indiana had killed three of the' enemy, and taken 63 prisoners,

as the English had done before them."|| Botli parties were much
lejoiced at their successes, but the Indians, told Captain Church " that they had
missed a brave opportunity by parting. They came upon a great town of
the enemy, viz: Captain Tyasks' company. {Tyasks was the next man to

* Hubbard, Mather. \ Church. X Narrative, 106.

§, Brief Hist. 42.
||
Church, 33.

IT The detestation in which the Indians were held by " some men," in many other places as

nell as in Plimouth, will often appear in this work. Such people could know nothing of
luman nature, and many would not have believed the Indians capable of good actions, though
onefrom the dead had aissured them they were.

** Abbreviated from Acushnet. See Douglass, Summary, i. 403, who writes it Accushnot.

Thus many Indian names are changed. Instead of Aponaganset, we hear Pona^anset, am'
<br Asonet, Sonet, &c. Cushnet is the river on which New Bedford and Fairhtven stand.

it Church, 34: t[ Ibid. .%
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Philip.) They fired upon the enemy before thej"^ were discovered, and ran

upon them with a shout. The men ran and left their wives and cliildren

and many of them their guns. They took Tyasks' wife and son, and thought
that if theu* captain and the Enghsh oom])any had been with them they

might have taken some hundreds of them, and now they determined not to

part any more." * Tliis transaction, m tlie opinion of Captain Ch'irch, was a

"remarkable providence," inasmuch, perhaps, as the equality of their suc-

cesses prevented either party from boasting, or claiming superiority over the

other. Nevertheless, Church adds,—" But the Indians had the fortune to

lake more arms than the English." It would add not a little, perhaps, tc

the gratification of the reader, could he know the name of the Lidiau captain

in this far-famed exploit, or even that of one of his men ; but at present they

are hid alike from us and from him.

CHAPTER IV.

Chief loomen conspicuo^is in Philip's war—Magn'us—Her country and relations—
Her capture and death—Awashonks— Is greatly annoyed in the events of 1671

—

Her men disarmed—Philip's endeavors to engage her against the English—Church
prevents her—fs finally in the power of Philijj—Reclaimed hy Church—Some par-
ticulars of her family.

Although, before we had finished the life of Wedamoo, we deemed it

proper to have deferred it to this chaptei', but as we had been led rather im-
perceptibly into many particulars concerning her in that place,t we could
not break off our narrative without a greater impropriety than an omission
here would have been, and shall therefore begin here with one of her con-
temporaries, the bare facts in whose life are sufficient to maintain a high
interest, we believe, in the mind of evei-y reader.

MAGJVUS was squaw-sachem of some part of the extensive country of
the Narragansets, and was known by several names at different and the same
times ; as Old (^ueen, Simk Squatv,X Qiiaiapen, and Matantuck. She married
Mtiksah, or Mexam, a son of Canonicus, and was sister to JVinigret. She had
two sons, Scutttip and (^uequaquenud otlierwise Qiieques^uncnt, called by the

English Gideon, and a daughter named Q^uincmiquet. These two died young.
Gideon was alive as late as 1661 ; Scuttup, and a sister also, in 1664. She
was, in 1675, one " of the six present sachems of the whole Narraganset
comitry."

In the beginning of Philip's war, the English army, to cause the Narragan-
sf ts to fight lor them, whom they had always abused and treated with con-
tempt, since before the cutting off of MiantunnomoK's Jiead, marched into

their country, but could not meet with a single sachem of the nation. They
fell in with a lew of tiieir ])eople, who could not well secrete themselves,

and who concluded a long treaty of mere verbosity, the import of which they
could know but little, and doubtless cai-ed less ; for when the army lefl their

country, they joined again in the war.
We hear no more of her until the next year, when herself and a large

company of her men were discovered by Major Talcot, on the 2 July, in

Narraganset. The English scouts discovered them from a hill, having
pitched their tents in a valley in the vicinity of a swamp, as was usually

their custom. About 300 of the English, mounted upon fleet horses, divided

into two squadrons, and lell upon them before they were aware of their ap-

proach, and made a great slaughter of them. Tlie Mohegans and Pequots came
upon them in the centre, while the horsemen beset them on each side, and

* Church, .%. t Rook iii. rhap. 1.

t Tt-umbuU, i. 317. from Tliihhard, I suppose, i. 61. Female chiefs were called stutnks by
the Indians, which 'ii^nified wife of the sachem; but writers, beinff ignorant of that fact

ihouffht it a proper nnine of a particular person, and hence thi appellations oi Snuke, Sunk*.

Snake, &.c. applied to Magnus.
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thus prevented many from escaping into the swamp. When all were killed

and taken within the encampment, Captain JVewbury, Avho commanded the
horsemen, dismomited, and with his men rushed mto the swamp, where,
without resistance, they killed a hundred, and made many prisoners. Li all,

they killed and took 171 * in this swamp fight, or rather massacre. Not an
Englishman was hurt in the affair, and but one Mohegan killed, and one
wounded, which we can hardly suppose was done by jlfag-ntw's people, as they
made no resistance, but rather by themselves, in their fury mistaking one
another. Ninety of the captives were put to death ! among whom was Mag-
nus.\ The swamp where this affair took place is near the present town of
Warwick, in Rhode Island ; and thus ends our short history of Magmix
AJVASHOJSTKS, squaw-sachem of Sogkonate,| was the wife of an Indian

called ToLONT, but of him we learn very little. From her important stand-
ing among the Indians, few deserve a more particular attention ; and we
shall, thei-efore, go as minutely uito her hisloiy as our documents will

enable us.

The fii'st notice we have of Awashonks is in 1671, when she entered into
articles of agreement with the court of Plimouth as follows :

—" Li admitting
that the court are in some measure satisfied with your voluntary coming in

now at last, and submission of herself unto us
;
yet this lue expect that she

give some meet satisfaction for the charge and trouble she has put us upon
by her too long standing out against the many tenders of peace we have
made to her and her people. And that we yet see an intention to endeavor
the reducement of such as have been the incendiaries of the trouble and
disturbance of her people and ours. And as many of her people as shall

give themselves and arms unto us, at the time appointed, shall receive no
damage or huit from us, which time appointed is ten days from the date
hereof Thus we may the better keep off such from her lands as may
hereafler bring upon her and us the like trouble, and to regulate such as will
not be governed by her, she having submitted her lands to the authority of
the government. And that, if the lands and estates of such as we are neces-
sitated to take arms against, will not defray the charge of the expedition,
that she shall bear some due proportion of the charge. In witness whereof,
and in testimony of the sachem, her agi-eement hereunto, she hath subscribed
her hand in presence of Samuel Barker and John Ahney.

Mark X of the squaw-sachem Awasuncks
;

the mark X ©/"Totatomet, and Somagaonet."
Witnessed at the same time by " Tattacommett,

Samponcut, and
Tamoueesam, alias Jeffery

Plimcuth, 24 July, 1671."

The last-named witness appeared again, in the same capacity, 4 September
following, Avhen " between 40 and 50 Indians, living near or in the town of
Dartmouth, made a like submission." Ashatoanomuth, JVoman, Marhorkum,
James, and John, were other witnesses.
Awashonks was at Plimouth when the former articles were executed, from

which it appears there was considerable alarm in Plimouth colony. There
were about this time many other submissions of the Indians in different
places. This step was taken to draw them li-om Philip, or at least to give a
check to their joining with him, as he was now on the point of attacking the
English settlements, under a pretence of injury done liim in his planting
lands.

Not only the chiefs of tribes or clans subscribed articles, but all their inen.
that could be prevailed with, did the same. The August following, 42 of
Awa^hanks's men signed a paper, approving what she had done, and binding

* TrumbdU. 200 says Cobbet's manuscript ; 240, Hubbard.
t Hubbard, Ind. Wars, i. 97, 98. I. Mather's Brief Hist. .39. Trumbull's Hist. C-n-

necticut, I. 347.

Di? 7*"? P°'"'°'^'*"'^'
''^'"'^^ ^°'^^^^^'' ^""^ "°^^ chiefly included in the town of Compton

Khoi'e Island, and commonly called Seconet.
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themselves in like manner. Out of 42, we can give names of three only

—

Totatomet, Tunuokum and Sausaman.
It appears from the following letter from Awashovks to Governor Prince, thai

those who submitted themselves, delivered up then- arms to the English :—

"August 11,1671, Honored su*, I have received a very great favor from
yom* honor, in yours of the 7th instant, and as you are pleased to signify,

that if I continue faithful to the agreement made with yourselves at Plim-

outh, I may expect all just favors from your honor. I am fully resolved,

while I live, with all fidelity to stand to my engagement, and in a peaceable

submission to yom* commands, according to the best of my poor ability.

It is true, and I am very sensible thereof, that there are some Indians who
do seek an advantage against me, for my submitting to his majesty's authority

in your jurisdiction, but being conscious to myself of my integrity and real

intentions of peace, I doubt not but you will afford me all due encourage-
ment and protection. I had resolved to send in all my guns, being six in

number, according to the intimation of my letter ; but two of them were so

large, the messengers were not able to carry them. I since proffered to

leave them with Mr. Barker, but he not having any order to receive them,
told me he conceived I might do well to send them to Mr. Almy, who is a

person concerned in the jmisdiction, which I resolved to do; but since

then an Indian, known by the name of Broad-faced-will, stole one of them
out of the wigwam in the night, and is run away with it to Mount Hope

;

the other I think to send to Mr. Almy. A Ust of those that are obedient to

me, and, I hope, and am persuaded, faithful to you, is here enclosed. Hon-
ored sir, I shall not trouble you further, but desiring your peace and pros-

pei'ity, in which I look at my own to be included, I remain, your unfeigned

servant, X Awasuncks."

This letter was very probably written by Mr. Barker, named in it.

October 20, 1671, Governor Prince wi'ote to Aibashonks, that he had received

the list of names of her men and husband, that freely submitted themselves
to his majesty's authority ; and assured her that the English would befriend

her on all just occasions ; but intimates her disappointment and his own,
that she had succeeded no better in procuring the submission of her
subjects. " Though," he continued, " I fault not you, with any failing to

endeavor, only to notice your good persuasions of them outwent their

deserts, for aught yet appeareth. I could have wished they had been wiser

for themselves, especially your two sons, that may probably succeed you in

your government, and your brother also, who is so nearly tied unto you by
nature. Do they think themselves so* great as to disregard and affront his

majesty's interest and authoi-ity here ; and the amity of the English .^ Cer-
tainly, if they do, I tliink they did much disservice, and wish they would
yet show themselves wiser, before it be too late." He closed by recom-
mending her to send some of hers to the next court, to desire their arms,
that her people might have the use of them in the approaching season.

Desires her to let him hear from her and her husband.
On the 20 June, 1672, the following writing appears on record : Whereas

Awashunckes, squa-sachem, stand indebted vuto Mr. John Almey tlie sume of
£25 to be paid in porke att three pence a pound, or peage att 16 peuey, and
20 pole of stone wall att £4, which stone wall, or £4, is to be vnderstood to

be prte of the fine and twenty pound," therefore Awashonks, having failed

to pay agreeably to her promise, agrees to set off land on the north side of

"the Indian field," next I'unkateesctt, on the nast line till it meets with "a
great runing brooke," thence northerly to a fresh meadow, thence bounded to

the river by a salt cove :—this " is morgaged vnto the court of Plymouth " for

the payment ofsaid debt, which debt is to bepaid 10 of February, 1672, O. S.

" The mark X of Awashunkes."

To illustrate the connections and genealogy of the family of Awashonks
we give from the Records of Plimouth the following exceeding^ valuable

fafts :

—
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July 14, 1673. " Whereas Mamaneioay [a son of ^ia-ashonks] hath by full

and cleai' testimony proved to this court, in behalf of himself and bretliren,

the sons of Toloney, and a kinsman of theirs called Anumpash, [commonly
wi-itten JVumposh^ son to Pokattawagg, that they are the chief proprietors

and sacliems of teaconett, or places commonly so called ; and yet it being
also probable that Tatuckamna * Awashunckes and those of that kindred who
are of the same stock, the more remote may have some right to lands there,

as they are I'elations to the above said Mamaneway, &c. and have been long

inhabitants of that place. This court adviseth that convenient proportions

of land be settled on the above said Tatacamana Awashanks, &c. at Saconett

aforesaid ; concerning which, the above said Mamaneway and his bretliren

and kinsman who have proved their right to those lands do not or cannot

agree, tliis court do appoint that some meet persons, by order of tliis court,

shall repair to the place, and make settlement of the said lands by certain

and known boundaries to intent that peace may be continued among the

said Indians, and they may all be accommodated for their subsisting and
payment of their debts in an orderly way."
The same year, we heai* again of Tokaniona, or, as he is then called,

Totonionna, who, with his brother Squamatt, having endeavored to hinder

the English from possessing some lands in Dartmouth, was, from some
consideration, not named, induced to relinquish his right to them. And the

next year, 1674, Mamaiiawachy, or, as his name was before written, Mama-
neway, surrendered his right also. The rights of these Indians, it is said,

had been sold by others.

We hear no more of Awashonks until about the commencement of Philip's

war. The year before this war, Mr. Benjamin Church, afterwards the famous
and well-known Colonel Church f settled upon the jieninsula of Sogkonate, in

the midst o? Awashonks's people. This peninsula is on the north-east side of

NaiTaganset Bay, against the south-east end of the island of Rhode Island-

Here he lived in the greatest friendship with these Indians, until the spring of

the year 1675, when suddenly a war was talked of, and messengers were sent

by Philip to Awashonks, to engage her in it. She so far listened to their persua-

sions, as to call her principal people togetlier, and make a great dance ; and be-

cause she respected Mr. Church, she sent privately for him also. Church took with

him a man that well understood Indian, and went directly to the place appoint-

ed. Here they found hundi-eds of Indians gathered together from all parts of

her dommions. Awashonks herself, in a foaming sweat, was leading the dance
;

but when it was announced that Mr. Church was come, she stopped short, and

sat down ; ordered her chiefs into her presence, and then invited 3Ir. Church.

All being seated, she informed him that Metacomet, that is, Philip, had sent

six of his men to urge her to join with him in prosecuting a war against the

English. She said these messengers informed her that the Umpames, J that

is, Plimouth men, were gathering a great army to invade his country, and

wished to know of him if this were truly the case. He told her that it was
entirely without foundation, for he had but just come from Plimouth, and no

preparations of any kmd were making, nor did he believe any thoughts of

war were entertained by any of the head men there. "He asked her

whether she thought he Avould have brought up his goods to settle in that

pidce," if he in the least apprehended a war ; at which slie seerned some-

w^hat convinced. Awashonks then ordered the six Pokanokets uito their

presence. These made an imposing appearance, having their faces painted,

and their hair so cut as to represent a cock's comb ; it being all shaved from

each side of the head, left only a tuft upon the cro^vn, whicli extended from

the forehead to the occiput. They had powder-horns and shot-bags at their

* Or Tokamona, killed by the Narragansets, not long after, probably in 1674.

t After an active life, spent chiefly in his country's service, he died suddenly at his resi-

dence in Compton, then called Little Compton, 17 Jan. 1718, in the 78 year of his age. He
had become corpulent, and seemed impressed with the idea that he should not live .ong. The

morning before his death, he rode 2 miles to visit an only sister. On leaving her. he bid her

"a last farewell." As he was returning home, his horse stumbled and threw him. In the fall

a blood-vessel was ruptured, and he died in about 12 hours.

\ Umpame and Apaum were Indian names of Plimoutl .
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I)acks, -N/hicli denoted warlike messengers of their nation. She now in-

formed them of what Captain Church had said. Upon which they discovered

dissatisfaction, and a warm talk followed, but Awashonks soon put an end to

it ; after which she told ]Mr. Church that Philip had told his messengers to

tell her, that, unless she joined with him, he would send over some of his

warriors, privately, to kill tlie cattle and burn the houses of the English,

which they woidd think to be done by her men, and consequently would fall

U])on her.*

Mr. Church asked the Mount Hopes what they were going to do wdth the

bullets in their possession, to which they scoffingly answered, " to shoot

pigeons with." Church then told Awashonks that, if Philip were resolved on
war, " her best way would be to knock those six Mount Hopes on the head,

and shelter herself under the protection of the English." When they under-

stood this, they were veiy silent, and it is to be lamented that so worthy a

man as Church should be the first to recommend murder, and a lasting re-

membrance is due to the wisdom of Jlwashonks, that his unadvised counsel

was not put in execution.

These six Pokanokets came over to Sogkonate with two of Aivashonks's

men, who seemed vei-y favorably inclined to the measures of Philip. They
exjjressed themselves with great indignation, at the rash advice of Church.

Another of her men, called Little-eyes, one of her council, was so enraged,

that he would then have taken Church's life, if he had not been prevented.

His design was to get Mr. Church aside from the rest, under a pretence of

private talk, and to have assassinated him when he was off his guard. But
some of his friends, seeing through the artifice, prevented it.

The advice of Church was adopted, or that part which directed that

AwasTwnks should immediately put herself under the protection of the Eng-
lish, and she desired him to go immediately to Plimouth and make the ar-

rangement, to which he agreed. After kindly thanking him for his informa-

tion and advice, she sent iwo of her men with him to his house, to guard

him. These urged him to secure his goods, lest, in his absence, the enemy
should come and destroy them ; but he would not, because such a step might

be thought a kind of preparation for hostilities ; but told them, that in case

hostilities were begun, they might convey his effects to a place of safety.

He then proceeded to Plimouth, where he arrived 7 June, 167.5.

In his way to Plimouth, he met, at Pocasset, the husband of Weetainoo.

He was just returned from the neighborhood of Mount Hope, and confii-med

all that had been said about Phihys intentions to begin a war. But before

Mr. Church coidd return again to .tiwashonks, the war commenced, and all com-
munication was at an end. This he very much regretted, and the benevolent

Awashonks was carried away in the tide of Philip's successes, which, as she

was circumstanced, was her only alternative.

Mr. Church was wounded at the great swamp fight, 10 December follow-

ing, and remained upon Rhode Island until about the middle of IMay 1G76.

He now resolved to engage again in the war, and, taking passage in a sloop
• bound to Barnstable, arrived at Plimouth the first Tuesday in June. The
governor and other officers of government were highly pleased to see him,

and desired him to take the command of a co.'.pany of men to be imme-
diately sent out, to which he consented. We thus notice Churches proceed-

ing, because it led to important matters connected with the historj'^ of Awa-
shonks. Before he set out with the soldiers raised at Plimouth, it was agreed

that he should first rettn-n to Rhode Island, for the purpose of raising other

forces to be joined with them. In iiis return to the island, as he passed from
Sogkonesset, now callid JVooiPs link, to tlie island, and when he came against

Sogkonate Point, some of the enemy were seen fishing u])on the rocks. He
was now in an open canoe, which he had hired at Sogkonesset, and two
Indians to paddle it. He ordered them to go so near the rocks that he might

speak ynlh those upon them ; being persuaded that if he could have an op-

portunity, he might still gain over the Sogkonates to the side of the English,

• This may strenglhen the belief that Philip put in practice a similar expediem to ^in the

Mohawks to his caus<;, as we have seoii in liis life.
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for he knew they never had any real attachment to Philip, and were now iu
his mterest only from necessity. They accordmgly paddled towai-ds them,
wno made signs for them to approach; but when they had got pretty
near, they skulked away among the rocks, and could not be seen. The canoe
then paddled off again, lest they should be fu-ed upon ; which when those
among the rocks observed, they showed themselves again, and called to them
to come ashore ; and said they wished to speak with them. The Lidians in

the canoe answered them, but those on shore informed them that the waves
dashed so upon the rocks that they could not understand a word they said.

Church now made signs for two of tliem to go along upon tlie sliore to a
')each, whei'e one could see a good space romid, whether any others were
near. Immediately two ran to the place, one without any arms, but the
other had a lance. Knowing Church to be in the boat, they urged him to

come on shore, and said they wanted to discoui'se with him. He told him
tliat had the lance, that if he would carry it away at considerable distance,

and leave it, he would. This he readily did. Mr. Church then went ashore,

left one of his Indians to guai'd the canoe, and the other he stationed upon
the beach to give notice if any should approach. He was surprised to find

that George was one of them, a very good man, and the last Sogkonate he
had spoken with, being one of those sent to guard him to his house, and to

whom he had given charge of his goods wlien he undertook his mission to

Plimouth. On being asked what he wanted that he called him ashore,

answered, " that he took him for Church, as soon as he lieard his voice ui the

canoe, and that he was glad to see him alive." He also told him that Awa-
shonks was in a swamp about three miles off, and that she had left Philip and
did not intend to retui'n to him any more ; and wished Mr. Church to stay

while he should go and call her. This Church did not think prudent, but

said he would come again and speak with Awashonks, and some other Indians
that he should name. He therefore told George to notify Awashonks, her son
Peter, their chief captain, and one jYompcish, to meet him two days after at a

certaui rock, " at the lower end of Capt. RichnwiuVs farm, which was a

very noted place." It was provided that if that day should prove stormy, the

next pleasant day should be improved. They parted with cordiality, George
to carry the news to Awashonks, and Church tor Newport.
On being made acquainted with Churches intention to visit those Indians,

the government of Rhode Island mai-velled much at his presumption, and
'vould not give him any permit under their hands ; assuring him that the

Indians would kill him. They said also that it was madness on his pai't,

after such signal sei-vices as he had done, to throw away his lile in such a

manner. Neither could any entreaties of friends alter his resolution, and
he made ready for his depaitm'e It was his intention to have taken with

him one Daniel Wilcox,* a man who well miderstood the Indian language, but

the government utterly refused him ; so that his whole retinue, in this im-

poitant embassy, consisted only of himself, his own man, and the two Indians

who conducted him frpm Sogkonesset. As an important item in his outfit,

must be mentioned a bottle of rum, and a roll of tobacco.

The day appointed having arrived, after paddling about three miles, they

came to the appointed rock, where the Indians were ready to receive them,

aiid gave him their hands in token of friendship. They went back from the

shore about fifty yards, for a convenient place for consultation, when all at

once rose up from the high grass, a great many Indians, so that they were
entirely encompassed. They were all armed with guns, spears and hatchets

faces painted and hair trimmed, in complete warlike array. If ever a man
knew feai', we should apprehend it would discover itself upon an occasion

like this. But, judging from his conduct, we should say he was one of those
" who never felt fear."

As soon as he could be heard, Mr. Church told Awashonks that George had

said that she desired to see him, about making peace with the English. She

* 1667, " Damd Willcockes tooke the oath off fideHtie this court." Plim. Rec.

In 1642, one WiVco.r set up a trading house in the Narraganset country. See Callender't

Cent. Discourse, 38. If he were the same, it will well account for his bein^ an interpreter.

22
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said, ' Yes." Then, said Mr. Church, " it is customai-y when people meet to

treat of peace, to lay aside their arms, and not to appear in such hostile i'orm

as youi* people do." At tliis there was much murmiu'iug among them, and
Awashonks asked him what arms they should lay aside. Seeing their dis-

pleasure, he said, only their guns, for form's sake. With one consent they
then laid away their guns, and came and sat down. He then drew out his

bottle of rum, and asked Awashonks whether slie had lived so long up at

VVachusett * as to forget to di'ink occapeches- Then, di'hiking to her, he ob-

sei*ved she watched him very narrowly to see whether he swallowed, and,

on offering it to her, she wished him to drink again. He then told her there

was no poison in it, and, pom-iug some mto the palm of his hand, sipped it

up. After he had taken a second heai'ty di'am, Awashonks ventui-ed to do
like\vise ; then she passed it among her attendants. The tobacco was next
passed round, and they began to talk. Awashonks wanted to know why he
had not come, as he promised, the year before, observing that, if he had, she
and her people had not joined with Philip. He told her he was prevented
by the breaking out of the war, and mentioned that he made an attempt,

notwithsttinding, soon after he left her, and got as far as Punkatesse, when
a multitude of enemies set upon him, and obliged him to retreat. A great

mumiur now arose among the warriors, and one, a fierce and gigantic fel-

low, raised his war club, with intention to have killed Mr. Church, but some
laid hold on him and prevented him. They informed him that this fellow's

brother was killed in the fight at Punkateese, and that he said it was Church
that killed him, and he would now have his blood. Church told them to tell

him that his brother began first, and that if he had done as he had du'ected

him, he would not have been hiut. The chief captain now ordered silence,

telling them they should talk no more about old matters, which put an end
to the tumult, and an agreement was soon concluded. Awashonks agreed to

serve the Englisli " in what way she was able," provided " Plimouth would
fii-mly engage to her that she and all of her people, and their wives and
childi'en should have their lives spared, and none of them transported out of
the country." This, Church told her he did not doubt in the least but Plimouth
would consent to.

Things beuig thus matured, the chief captain stood up, and, after express-

ing the great respect he had for Mr. Church, said, " Sir, if you will please

accept of me and my men, and will head us, we Avill fight for you, and will

help you to Philip^s head before the Indian corn be ripe." We do not ex-

pect that this chief pretended to possess the spirit of prophecy, but cei-taiuly

ne was a truer prophet than many who have made the pretension.

Mr. Church would have taken a few of the men -with him, and gone di-

rectly through the woods to Plimouth ; but Awashonks insisted that it would
be veiy hazardous. He therefoi-e agreed to return to the island and proceed
by water, and so would take in some of their company at Sogkonate Point,

which was accordingly brought about. And here it should be mentioned
that the friendship, now renewed by the industry of ftlr. Church, was never

afterward broken. Alany of these Indians always accompanied Church in liis

memorable expeditions, and rendered great service to the English. When
Philip's war was over. Church went to reside agam among them, and the

greatest harmony always prevailed. But to retm-n to the thi-ead of oui- uai*-

rative :

—

On returning to the island. IMr. Church " was at great pains and charge to

get a vessel, but with unaccountable disappointments; sometimes by the

falseness, and sometimes by tiie faint-heartedness of men that he bargained

with, and sometimes by wind and weather, &c." he was hindered a long

time. At length, Mr. AnUwjiy Low, of Swansey, happening to put into the

harbor, and although bound to the westward, on being made acquainted with

Mr. Church's case, said he would run the venture of his vessel and cargo to

wait upon him. But when they arrived at Sogkonate Point, although the

Indians were there according to agreement waiting upon the rocks, they met

* She had passed the orecedinef winter, it would seem, with Philip's people od the fro»

tiers of Mass.ichuse'ts
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with a contraiy wind, and so rough a sea, that none but Peter Awashonks
could get ou board. Tliis he did at great peril, having only an old broken
canoe to get off m. The wind and rain now forced them up into Pocasset
Sound, and they were obliged to bear away, and retut i round the north end
of the island, to Newport.

Church now dismissed Mr. Low, as he viewed their effoit against the wU
of Providence. He next drew up an account of what had passed, and de
spatched Peter, ou the 9 July, by way of Sogkonate, to Plimouth.

3Iajor Bradford * having now aiTived with an army at Pocasset, Mv. Church
repau-ed to him, and told him of his transactions and engagements with
Awashonh. Bradford directed him to go and inform her of his arrival, which
he did. Awashonlis doubtless now discovered much uneasiness and anxiety,
but Mr. Church told her " that if she would be advised and observe order, she
nor her people need not fear being hurt." He directed her to get all her
people together, "lest, if they should be found straggling about, mischief
inight light on them ;" and that the next day the ai'my would march down
into the neck to receive her. After begging him to consider the shox-t time
she had to collect them together, she promised to do the best she could, and
he left her.

ilccordingly, two days after, she met the army at Punkateese. Awashonks
was now umiecessarily perplexed by the stem carriage of Rlajor Bradford.
For she expected her men would have been employed in the army; but
instead of that he " presently gave forth orders for Awashonks, and all her
subjects, both men, women and children, to repair to Sandwich, and to be
there upon peril, in six days." Church was also quite disconcerted by this

unexpected order, but all reasoning or remonstrance was of no avail with
the conunander in chief. He told Mr. Church he would employ him if he
chose, but as lor the Indians, " he would not be concerned with them," and
accorduigly sent them off with a flag of truce, under the direction of Jack
Havens, an Indian who had never been engaged in the war. Mr. Church told

Awashonks not to be concerned, but it was best to obey orders, and he would
shortly meet her at Sandwich.
According to promise, Church went by way of Plimouth to meet the Sog-

Ronates. The governor of Plimouth was highly pleased at the account
Church gave him of the Indians, and so much was he now satisfied of his

superior abilities and skill, that he desired him to be conmiissioned in the
country's sei-vice. He left Plimouth the same day with six attendants,

among whom were Mr. Jabez Howland, and 3Ir. JVathanied Southworth. They
slept at Sandwich the first night, and here taking a few more men, agi'eeably

to the governor's orders, proceeded to Agawam, a small river of Rochester,
where they expected to meet the Indians. Some of his company now
became discom-aged, presuming, perhaps, the Indians were ti'eacherous, and
half of them retm*ned home. When they came to Sippican River, which
empties Into Buzzard's Bay in Rochester, Mr. Howland was so fatigued that

they were obliged to leave him, he being in years, and somewhat corpulent.

Church left two more with him as a resei^ve, in case he should be obliged to

retreat. They soon came to the shore of Buzzard's Bay, and, hearing a
great noise at considerable distance from them, upon the bank, were pres-

* Out of a curious book we take the following note, as, besides g'iving us an interesting

fact concerning the major, it contains others of value. It was written in 1697. At that

time, some pretended that the age of people was much shorter in America than in Europe j

which gave rise to what we are about to extract.

—

Ulary Brown was the first-born of New-
bury, Mass., who married a Godfry ; and, says our book, she '• is yet alive, and is become
the mother and grandmother of many children." " The mention of 3Ianj Brown brings to

our mind an idle whimsey, as if persons born in New England would be short-lived ; whereas,

the natives live long. And a judgment concerning Englishmen cannot well be made till 20

or 30 years hence. Capt. Peregrine Wliite, bom [on board the Maij/icnrer'] Nov. 162C,

is yet alive, and like to live. [He died 7 years after, in 170i.] Major M^liajn. Bradford

is more than 73 years old, and halh worn a bullet in his flesh above 20 of them, [which he

doubtless received in Philip's war. He died aged 79.] Elizabetli Alden, (now Paybody,

whose granddaughter is a mother,) Capt. John Alden, her brother, Alex^. Standish, and

John Howland, have lived more than 70 years." S. Sewall's New Heaven upon the Nt»
Earth, 59, 60.
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ently in sight of a "vast compaDy of Indians, of all ages and sexes, some on
horseback, running races, some at foot-ball, some catching eels and flat fish

in the water, some clamming, &c." They now had to find out what
Indians these were, before they dared make tiiemselves knoAvn to them.
Cliurch therefoi-e halloed, and two Indians that were at a distance from the
rest, rode up to him, to find out wliat the noise meant. They were very
much surprised when they found themselves so neai' Englishmen, and turned
then- horses to run, but, Church making himself known to them, they gave
him the desii-ed informtuiou. He sent for Jack Havens, who immediately
came. And when he had confii-med what the others had related, tliere

arrived a large number of them on horseback, well ai'med. These treated

the English very respectfully. Church then sent Jack to Awashonks, to inlbrm
her that he would sup with her that night, and lodge in her tent. In the

iuean xime, the Euglish returned with their friends they had left at Sippican.
When they came to the Indian company, they "were immediately conducted
to a shelter, open on one side, whither Aivashonks and her chiefs soon came
and paid theu* respects." When this had taken place, there were great
shouts made by the "multitudes," which "made the heavens to ring." About
sunset, " the N'etops * came ruiming from all quarters, laden with the tops r^V

diy pmeSj and the Ihje combustible matter, making a huge pile thereof, near
Mr. Church's shelter, on the open side thereof But by this time supper was
brought in, in three dishes, viz. a curious young bass in one dish, eels and
flat fish in a second, and shell fish in a thu'd ;

" but salt was wanting.
When the supper was finished, " the mighty pile of pine knots and tops,

&c. was fii-ed, and all the Indians, great and small, gathered in a ring around
it. Awashonks, with the eldest of her people, men and women mi.xed, kneel-
ing down, made the fii'st ring next the fii-e, and all the lusty stout men
standuig up made the next ; and then all the I'abble, in a confused crew,
surromided on the outside. Then the chief captain stepped in bet^veen the
rings and the fire, with a spear in one hand, and a hatchet in the other,

danced round the fii'e, and began to fight with it, makmg mention of all the

several nations and companies of Indians in the country that were enemies
to tlie English. And at naming of every particular tribe of Indians, he
would di'aw out and figlit a new fii-e-brand, and at his finishing his fight Avith

each particular fire-brand, woidd bow to I\Ir. Church and thank him." When
he had named over all the tribes at war with the English, he stuck his spear
and hatchet in the ground, and left the ring, and then another stepped in,

and acted over the same ftu'ce ; trying to act with moi'e fuiy than the first.

After about a half a dozen had gone tiirough with the performance, their

chief captain stepped to Mr. Church, and told him " they were making
soldiers lor him, and what they had been doing was all one swearing of
them." Awashonks and her chiefs next came and told him " tliat now they
were all engaged to figlit for the English." At this time Awashonks presented
to Mr. Church a vei-y fine gun. The next day, July 22, he selected a number
of her men, and proceeded to Plimouth. A commission was given him,
and, being joined with a number of English, volunteers, commenced a suc-

cessful series of exj)loits, in which these Sogkonates bore a conspicuous
part, but have never, since the days of Churchy been any where noticed as

they deserved.

It is said f that Awashonks had two sons ; the youngest was TFilliam Mom-
mynewit, who was put to a granunar school, and leiirned the Latin language,

and was intended for college, but was prevented by being seized with the

palsy. We have been able to extend the interesting memoir of the family

of Awashonks in the early j)art of this article much beyond any before

printed account ; of Tokamona we have no printed notice, except what
Church I incidentally mentions. Some of his Indian soldiers requested

liberty to pursue the NaiTagansets and other enemy Lidians, immediately

* fi\gi\\(\\i\^/rif7itls, ill Indian. t Co/l. Mass. Hist. Sor.

t Hist. Philip's War, 39. Il is usual to rite Captain Church as tlie author or reconler ol

liis own actions ; it is so, althoiijifh his son Thoiiuts ai)|)oars as tiie writer of tlic liislorv. The
Irulh is, the father dictated to the son, and corrected what appeare<l erroneous atler the work

«as written.
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after tliey liad cai>tui-eil Philip^s wife and son. "They said the Narra"ansets
were great rogues, and they wanted to be revenged on them, for liilling some
of their relatiou^; ; named Tokkamona, {Jiwashonk''s brother,) and some others."
About 130 years ago, i. e. 1700, there were 100 Indian men of the Sog-

konate tribe, a.)d the general assembly appointed JVumpaiis their captihi,
who lived to hi an old man, and died about 1748, after the taking of Cape
Breton, 1745. At the commencement of the eighteenth century, they made
quite a respectable religious congregation ; had a meeting-house of their
own, in whic 1 they were instructed by Rev. Mr. Billings, once a month, on
Sundays. T ley had a steady preacher among themselves, whose name was
John Simon, a man of a strong mind.
About 17 )0, a very distressing fever canied off many of this tribe, and in

1803 there Aere not above ten in Compton, their principal residence.

CHAPTER V.

A furticr account of chiefs conspicuoiis in Philip's war—Pumham— Taken and
slain—His son Quaqualh—Chickon—Socononoco—Potock—His residence—
Comolaint against Wildbow's encroachments—Delivers himself up— Put to death—
Stone-wall-john—J3 great captain—A mason—His men greatly annoy tht
English army in Narraganset—Kills several of them—They burn a garrison, and
kill fifteen persons—Jl trajjic in Indian prisoners— The burning of Rehoboth and
Providence—John's discourse with Roger Williams—Is killed—Sagamore John—
Fate of Matoonas—Put to death on Boston Common—His son hangedfur mur-
der—MoNoco

—

David—Andrew—James-the-printer— Old-jethero—Sagamore-
sAM, alias Shoshanim— Visited by Eliot in 1652

—

inecdote—Petek-jethero.

PUMIIAM, it may be truly said, "was a mighty man of valor." Our
history has several times heretofore brought him before us, and we shall

now proceed to relate such facts concerning liim as we have been able to

collect. He was sachem of Shawomet, the country where the old squaw-
sachem Magnus was taken and slain, as in her life we have shown.
As in almost every other case, we can only learn how to estimate the

consequence of a chief from the story of his enemies. It is peculiaily so in

the biography of Pumham. When it was reported that he was slain, every
chronicler seems to have stood ready, with the ink of exultation in his pen,
to record all the particulai's of his tall ; and to make it appear the greater, it

IS to be feared, they have sometimes raised many to a height to which they
were not entitled, for that object. But it was not so in the case of Pumhan^
When it was reported at Boston that he was killed, an author in our Chronich
said, " If it is so, the glory of that nation is sunk with him forever."

This chief was brought into considerable difficulty by the English as early

as 1645. In 1642, the Rev. Samuel Gorton took refuge in his countrj^, and
was kindly treated by him ; and in January the next year, Miantunnomoh
and Canoniciis deeded to him Mishawomet, or Shaomet, which he afterward
called Warwick, after the earl of that name. This settlement was grievous
to the Puritan fathers of Massachusetts, as they soon showed by their

resentment to Miantunnomoh ; and here we cannot but discover the germ of
all the subsequent disasters of that sachem. Mr. Gorton was kindly treated

by him, as well as Pumham, until the latter was urged by Mr. Gorton's

enemies to lay claim to the lands he had purchased of Miantunnomoh, whom
the court of Massachusetts declared an usm-per,* as in his life has been told.

By the letters of the unimpeachable Roger Williams, the above conclu-

sions will appear evident. In 1656, he wrote to Massac J lusetts, shovvin;.'

them the wretched state Warwick was in from their difficulties with th'^

Indians, as follows :—" Your wisdoms know the inhuman insultations ol

these vvild creatures, and you may be pleased also to imagine, that they have

not been sparing of your name as the patron of all their wickedtess against
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our English men, women and children, and catde, to the yearly damage of
60, 80 and 100 £. The remedy is, (under God,) only your pleasure that
PumJiam shall come to an agreement with the town or colony." * Now it

should be remembered, that when Warwick was purchased, 'Pumham and
some other inferior sachems received presents for their particulai- intei-ests in
what was sold, agreeably to the laws and usages of the Indians.

The Plimouth people had their share in the Wai-wick controversy, having
caused Ousamaquin to lay claim to the same place, or a sachem who lived
with him, named JVawwashawsuck ; between whom and Pumham the quarrel
rail Bo high that the former stabbed the latter.

The affairs of Wanvick had been under consideration by the commis-
sioners of the United Colonies for several yeai's before this, and in 1649,
they say, " Vppon a question betwixt the two collonies of the Massachusets
and Plymouth, formerly jiropounded, and now again renewed by the com-
missioners of the Massachusetts, concerning a tract of land now or lately

belonging to Pamham and Saco7ioco, two Indian sagamores who had sub-
mitted themselves and their people to the Massachusetts goverment, vppon
part of which land som English, (besides the said Indians,) in anno 1643, were
planted and settled." The decision was, that though the said tract of land
fall within Plimouth bounds, it should henceforth belong to Massachusetts.
About 1G46, we find the following record f of these chiefs :

—" Pomihom
and Saconanoco complaining to us [the court of Mass.] that many Indians
dwelling 20 miles beyond them, (being friends and helpers to the Narragan-
setts in their present wars with Uiicas,) ai'e come upon their lands, and
planted upon the same against their wills, they not being able of themselves
to remove them, and therefore desire our counsel and help. We shall

therefore advise them, if the deputies agree thereunto, to send a messenger
to the sachem of those intruders to come to us to give an accomit of such
his intention ; and if he come to us, then to offer him protection upon the

same terms that Pumham hath it, provided they satisfy Uncas for any injmy
they have done him. If he refuse to come, then we would have om- mes-
senger charge them to depart from Pomham and Soconanocho their lands,

which also if they refuse, then we shall account them our enemies."
-j

Though, by the aid of the Englisb, Pumham had been able to maintain a

kind of independence for some years after the death of the chief sachem,
yet he was among the fii'st who espoused the cause of Philip in his war,

as it would seem from his not attending at the treaty in June, immediately
after hostilities commenced. The army who went to make that treaty i)assed

through his country in tlieir march, and, as Mr. Hubbard states, " They found the

Indians in Pomham''s country (next adjoining to Philip's borders) all fled, and
their wigwams without any people in tlieni." The English army also march-
ed through his country, in their retm^n from the attack on Philip and his con-

federates in Narraganset, in December, 1()75. At this time a small fight took

place between some of tlie English and a number of PumJiani's men, under
a chief whose name was QUAQl ' ALH, who gained some advantage of the

English, wounding four of their men. The whites, however, report that they

killed five of the Indians. Quaqualh himself was wounded in the knco. At
the same time they burnt Pwm/iaj/i's town, | which contained near 100 wig-

wams. The English were commanded by Captain Prentice. §

Pumham was not the chief captain in the fight at the great falls in the Con-
necticut, which took i)lace 19 May, 1676, although we presume, from the

known character of him, that he was the most conspicuous in it on the side

of the Indians ; being a man of vast physical powers and of extraordinary

bravery. In this affair the English acted a most cowardly part, having every

advantage of their enemy, who acquired credit upon the occasion, even at

the time, from the historian. The English came upon them before day,

while none were awake to give the ahu-m, and, " finding them secure indeed,

yea, all asleep, without having any scouts abroad, so that om- soldiers came

• Hutchinson's papers, and Hazard.

t In manuscript, among tlie papers on file in the secretary's office, Mass. without dale.

i Old Indian Cliron. 68. This author lias his name Bumiiam. Tliere were many ii,

vBiHiices. at this limo. of (he use of Ii for /'. ^ lliihhnrd. Nnr. .57.
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«Dd put their guns into their wigwams, before the Indians were aware of
tliem, and made a great and notable slaughter amongst them." * Many in

their fnght ran into the river, and were hurled down the falls,f some of

whom, doubtless, were dio\vued. As soon as the English, who were led by

•Captains 2'urner and Holioke, had murdered the unresisting, and the Lidiana

having begim to rally to oppose them, they fled in the greatest confusion,

although they had "about an hundred and lour score" men, J of whom but

cue was wounded when the flight began. This enhances the valor of the

Indians, in om- mind, especially as we read the following passage, in Mr.

Mather's Brief History :—'' In the mean while, a party of Indians irom an

island, (whose coming on shore might easily have been prevented, and the

soldiers, before they set out from Hadley, were earnestly admonished to take

care about that matter,) assaulted our men
;
yea, to the great dishonor of the

English, a few Indians pursued our soldiers four or five miles, who were in

number near twice as many as the enemy." In this flight Captain Turner was
killed, as he was crossing Green River. Holioke exerted himself with great

valor, and seems well calculated to oppose such a chief as Pumham. We
hear of no other bravery among the English in this massacre, but the follow-

ing passage concerning Holioke, which we are sorry is so sadly eclipsed.

During the fight, some old persons, (whether men or women is not men-
tioned,) and children, had hid themselves under the bank of the river. Captain

Holioke discovered them, and with his own hands put five of them, " young

and old," to death. § This English captain did not long survive his antago-

nist, for, by his great exertions in tliis fight, a fever was brought upon liim,

of which lie died in September tbllowmg, " about Boston."
||

It would seem from the several accounts, that, although the EngUsh were

sadly distressed in this fight, the Indians could never have repaired their

loss ; which, says the author of the Present State, "was almost as much,

uay, in some respects more considerable, than their lives." He continues,

" We destroyed all their ammunition and provision, which we think they

can hardly be so soon and easily recruited with, as possibly they may be

with men. We likewise here demolished two forges they had to mend
then- arms, took away all their materials and tools, and drove many of them
into the river, where they were di-owned, and threw tsvo great pigs of lead

of theu-s, (intended for makmg of bullets.) into the said river." H—" As our

men were retm-ning to Hadley, in a dangerous pass, which they were not

sufficiently aware of, the skulking Indians, (out of the woods,) killed, at one

volley, the said captain, and eight-aud-thu-ty of his men, but immediately

after they had dischai'ged, they fled."

In relating the capture and death of Pumham, Mr. Hubbard says,** " He
was one of the stoutest and most valiant sachems that belonged to the Nar-

ragansets ; whose courage and strength was so great that, after he had been

moitally wounded in the fight, so as himself could not stand
;
yet catching

hold of an Englishman that by accident came near him, had done hira

mischief, if he had not been presently rescued by one of his fellows

"

This was on 25 July, 1C76. Pumham, wth a few followers, had for some

time secreted themselves in Dedliam woods, where it was supi)osed they

were " almost starved lor want of victuals." In this sad condition, they

were fallen upon by the English under Captain Hunting, who killed fifteen

I. Mather, 30.

t We cannot agree wilh our friend Gen. Hoyt, that these falls should be named Turner*

Falls, although we once thought it well eiiougii. We would rather call them the Massacre

Falls, IF, indeed, their Indian name cannot be recovered. A beautiful view of these cele-

brated falls is given by Professor Hitchcock, in the volume of plates accompanying his

Geolcgy of Mass. „ ^, . ,

\ i: Matlver,yd. ^ Hubbard, mi. 88.
|J

Ibid.

U JIany of the Indians learned trades of the English, and in the wars turned Iheir Knowl-

edge to good account. They had a forge in their fort at Narraganset, and the Indian black-

smith was killed when that was taken. The author of the Present State, &.c. says, he wai

the only man amongst them that fitted their guns and arrow-heads ; that among other housM

iihey burnt his, demolished his forge, and carried away his tools.

** Narrative, 100. 4to. edition.
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and took thirty-five of them without resistance.* They found here con-

Biderable plunder ; " besides kettles, there was about half a bushel of waui-

pumpeag, which the enemy lost, and twelve pounds of powder, whicli the

captives say they had received iiom Albany but two days before." f A son
of Pumham was among the captives, "a very likely youth," says Huhhard,\
" and one whose countenance would have bespoke favor for him, had he
not belonged to so bloody and barbarous an Indian as his father was." It

would seem from tliis unteeluig account that he was put to death. Dr.

Mather says he was caiTied prisoner to Boston. From the same author we
must add to the revolting picture of the father's death. " This Pumliam,
after he was wounded so as that he could not stand upon his legs, and was
thought to have been dead, made a shiit, (as the soldiers were puisuiug

others,) to crawl a little out of the way, but was found again, and when an
Englishman drew near to him, though he could not stand, he did, (like a
beast,) in rage and revenge, get hold on the soldiei-'s head, and had like to

have killed him, had not another come in to his help, and rescued him out

of the enraged dying hands of that bloody barbarian.'" f

That it may be seen how the same story, recorded at the same time, at

the same place, and by different individuals, varies on comparison, we give

here the account of the fight in which Pumham was slain, from an author in

the Chronicle ; in which it will be observed that a different date is given to

the event. " Upon the 27 of July it was, that about 20 Indians were slaui,

and 30 taken prisoners. We had 5 and 20 English, and 20 of our Indian

friends in this exploit. One of these that were slain was Pomham. After

he had received a deadly shot in his back, he withdrew himself from his

men, (for they were all his relations and subjects that were slain and taken

at this time,) and thought to hide himself in a bushy hole, but was found out

by an Englishman, who, as he went to apprehend him, found that the stout

sachem was unwilling to fall into the hands of the English, for he gave him
a stunning blow with his hatchet, which he had reserved of all his weapons,

and perhaps had slain the Englishman, but God ordered it so that he had a
sudden revival, and took courage and grappled with him, [Pumham,] and
threw him under him, and others coming in to his assistance, Pumham was
soon despatched. There was about £20 of Lidian money found in their

baskets," which the English gave to their Indian friends, and their gims they

took to themselves.

A short time before this, a grandson of this chief was killed by a paity

under Denison,§ "who was also a sachem, and another sachem called

Chickon."

POTOK, a Narraganset chief, we may properly, in the next place, notice.

None of his acts in Philip's war ai'e recorded, at least none have come to

our knowledge, but they could not have been inconsiderable, in the opinion

of his enemies, as fiis life atoned for them. We find him first mentioned,

on account of his opposition to the introduction of Christianity into his

nation. When, in the beguining of Philip's war, the English army marched
into the Narraganset country, to treat or fight with that nation, as they might

be found inclined, Potok appeared as the principal chief. In the treaty

which was concluded at that time, a condition was urged by him, " that the

English should not send any among them to preach the gospel or call upon
them to pray to God." But the English would not admit such an article

;

but if an article of this character had been urged on the other hand, we
doubt whetlicr there would have been any objection urged by the Indians.

On this policy of tlie English Roger Williams should be heard, as, at this

day even, we need no better commentaiy on tlie matter in hand. It is con-

tained in a letter
||

to the governor of Massachusetts, and is as follows :—

•

"At my last departure lor England, I was importuned by y^ Narraganset

sachems, and especially by J^enecuiud, to present their petition to the high

• MS. Narrative of Rev. T. Cobbet. t Mather's Brief Hist. 43.

t Narrative, ut supra.

\ Many write Dennison, but his own signature, in my possession, is as in the text.

\ In MS. dated Providence, 6 : 8 : 1654.
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sachems rC England, tliat tliey might not be forced from tlieir religion
; and,

for not changing then- religion, be invaded by war. For they said they were
daily visited with threatenings by Indians, that came from about the Massa-
chusetts ; that if they would not pray, they sliould be destroyed by war."
And again, in tlie same letter: "Are not all the English of this land, (gener-
ally,) a persecuted people from their native soil ? and hath not the God of
peace and Father of mercies made the natives more friendly in this than our
native countrymen in our own land to us ? have they not entered leagues of
love, and to this day continued peaceable commerce with us ? are not our
families grown up in peace amongst them ? Upon which I humbly ask how
ii can suit with Christian ingenuity, to take hold of some seeming occasions
for their destruction."

We are able to fix the place of his residence in the vicinity of Point Judith.
In the year 1661, Potok, with several other chiefs, complained to the court
of Massachusetts, that " Samitel Wildhow, and others of his companie," claimed
jurisdiction at Point Judith, in their comitiT, and lands adjacent. They came
on and possessed themselves forcibly, bringing their cattle and other effects

witli them.* What order the court took upon it does not appear. About
tlie close of Philip's war, Potok came voluntarily to Rhode Island, no doubt
with the view of making friends again with his enemies ; but was sent to

Bosttr.i, where, after answering all their inquiries, he was put to death with-
out ceremony.

It IS related by an author in the Oi.d Indian Chronicle, that Potok was
captured by the forces under Major Talcot, in June, 167G, at or near the
same time Stone-Layer-John was. In closing his account of the capture of
John, he adds, " Likewise Potucke, the great Lidian counsellor, a man con-
sidering his education of wonderful subtlety, was brought prisoner into

Rhode Island."

In the accoimt can-ied to London by Captain More, mentioned in the last

chapter, is this notice of Potok

:

—" There is one Potuck, a mischievous En-
gine, and a Counsellour, taken formerly, said to be in Goal at Rhode Island, is

now sent to Boston, and there shot to death." \

In the detail of the great Narraganset expedition of 1675, we have omitted
to notice a by-no-means-unimportant Indian captain.

Stone-wall-John, Stone-layer-John, and sometimes simply Stone-icall, were
names by which his English friends knew him, and we have not discovered

what was his Indian name. One ^\Titer of his time observes that he was
called the Stone-layer, " for that, being an active, ingenious fellow, he had
learned the mason's trade, and was of great use to the Indians in building

their forts, &c." Hence we may hazard but little in the conjectui'e that he
was the chief engineer in the erection of the great Narraganset fort, which
has been described in the lii'e of Philip. Although but little is known of him,

he was doubtless one of the most distinguished Nan-aganset captains.

The fu-st notice of Stone-layer-John, which we now remember, is con-

tained in a letter of Captain Oliver, \ which he WTote while on his march
with the English army to attack the fort, which we have just mentioned. He
says, " Dec. 15 ca[me in] John a rogue, with a pretence of peace, and was
dismissed with [this] errand: That we might speak with sacliems. That
evening, he not being gone a quarter of an hour, his company, that lay hid

behind a hill of oiu* quarters, killed two Salem men, and wounded a tli'rl

within a mile of us, that he is dead. And at a house three miles off, where
1 had ten men, they killed two of them. Instantly Capt. Mosely, myself
and Capt. Gardner were sent to fetch in Major Jlppleton^s company, that

kept tlu-ee miles and a half off, and coming, they lay behind a stone wall,

and fired on us in sight of the garrison, we killed the captain that killed one

of the Salem men, and had his cap." Mr. Hubbard says, "A few desperate

Indians, creeping under a stone-wall, fired twenty or thirty guns at Mosely in

.particular, a commander well known amongst them, but the rest of the cona-

• MS. Stale Papers.

t Old Indian Chronicle, IH.

X In manuscript. See an account of it in a note to the life of Philip.
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pany running down npon them, killed one of them and scattered the rest.*

Thus did the scouts from the main body of the Indians, under such captains

as the Stone-layer, annoy the English in their march into their country. Im-
mediately after these skirmishes, " they burnt Jerry BulVs* house, and killed

seventeen [persons.] f Dec. 16, came that news. Dec. 17, came news that

Connecticut forces were at Petaquamscut ; killed four Indians and took six

prisoners. That day we sold Cai)t. Davenport 47 Indians, young and old, for

£80 in money." J

How much John had to do in the devastations which had been perpetrated

the previous season, is unknown, but we are told that he had no small

agency in "the sacking of Providence," § and Rehoboth also, without doubt.

In the fbrmpr about 30 houses
||
were burned, and in the latter place " near

upon 40" houses and 30 barns.

Stone- ivall-John was doubtless one who conversed Avith the Reverend INIr.

Williams at the time Providence was burned. The substance of that conver-
sation is related by our anonjanous autiior, already cited, in these words :

—

"But indeed the reason that the inhabitants of the towns of Seaconick and
Providence generallj' escaped with their lives, is not to he attriliuted to any
comj)assion or good nature of the Indians, (whose very mercies are inhimiane
cruelties,) but, [the author soon contradicts himself, as will be seen,] next tO'

God's providence to their own prudence in avoiding their fury, when they
found themselves too weak, and unable to resist it, by a timely flight into

Rhode Island, which now became the common Zoar, or place of n.'fuge for

the distressed
;
yet some remained till their coming to destroy the said towns ;.

as in particular Mr. Williams at Providence, who, knowing several of the

chief Indians that came to fire that town, discoursed with them a consider-

alile time, who pretended, their greatest quarrel was against Plimoiuh ; and
as for what they attempted against the other colonies, they were constrained

to it, by the spoil that was done them at Narraganset.H They told him, that

when Capt. Pierce engaged them near Mr. Blackstone's, they were bound
for Plimouth. They gloried much in their success, promising themselves the

conquest of the whole country, and rooting out of all the English. Mr. Wil-

liams reproved their confidence, minded them of their cruelties, and told

them, that the Bay, viz. Boston, could yet spare 10,000 men ; and, if they
should destroy all them, yet it was not to be doubted, but our king would
send as many every year from Old England, rather than they should share
the country.** They answered proudly, that thej- should be ready for them,
or to that effect, but told Mr. Williams that he was a good man, and had been
kind to them formerly, and therefore they would not hurt him."

This agrees well with Mr. Hubbard's account of the carnage of John at the

time lie went to the English army to talk about peace, already mentioned.
His words are, "yet could the messenger, [Jo/m,] hardly forbear threatening,

vaporing of tlieir numbers and strength, adding, withal, that the English
durst not fight them."
We have now to close the career of this Indian captain, for which it re-

quires but a word, as he was killed on the 2 July, 1()7(), at the same time the

old S(]uaw-sachem Qiiaiapen and most of her people were fallen upon by
Major Talcot, as we have related in a Ibrmer chapter.

Many Indians bore the name of John, but when they were any ways con-
ppicuous, some distinguishing prefix or affix was generally added, as we
have seen in several instances in the preceding chapters. We have already

* Jerah was probably his name.

t Ten men and live women and children. Hubbard, .50. " About 1-t." J. Mather, 20.
" Eighteen, men, women and children." Chronicle, 46.

X Captain Oliver's MS. letter.

6 Old Indian Cuhonici.k, 98.

^ The building containing the records of R. 1. was consumed at this time, and part of its

contents. Some of them were saved by being thrown out of a window into some water.

They bear to this time the marks of their immersion.—Oral information of W. R. Staples,

Esq. of Providence.

ti And who could ask for a better reason ?

•* This was rather gasconading for so reverend a man ! Had he lived since the revolu-

tionary war, he would hardly have 7neant so, whatever he might liave said.
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given the ' •' '

" jne Sagamore-John, but another of that name, still more
conspiruv « 'Vr his treachery to his own nation,) here presents himselK
This ,'^*(\^n>n</<c-John was a Nipmuk sachem, and a traitor to his coujitrj*
On th'> 2/in 01 July, 1G76, doubtless from a conviction of the hopelessnesa
of hip cause, he came to Boston, and threw himself on the mercy of the
Englvjn. They pardoned him, as he enticed along with him about 180
othofg. And, that he miglit have a stronger claim on their clemency, he
seized Matoonas, and his son, against whom he knew the English to be great-
ly enraged, and delivered them up at the same time. On death's being im-
mediately assigned as the lot of Matoonas, Sagamore-John requested that he
zm^ht execute him with his own hands. To rentier still more horrid this
story of blood, his request was granted ; and he took Matoonas into the com-
mon, bound him to a tree, and there " shot him to death." To the above Dr.
Mather adds,* "Thus did the Lord retaliate upon' him the innocent blood
which he had shed ; as he had done, so God requited him."
Although much had been alleged against John, before he came in, aflcr-

wards the most favorable construction was put upon his conduct, Mr. Hub-
bard says, he " affirmed that he had never intended any mischief to the Eng-
lish at Brookiield. the last year, (near which village it seems his place was,)
but that Philip, coming over night amongst them, he was forced, for fear ot

his own life, to join with them against the English." f

MATOONAS was also a Nipmuk chief. A son of his was said to have
murdered an Englishman in 1671, when " traveling along the road," which
Mr. Hubbard says was " out of mere malice and spite," because he was " vexed
in his mind that the design against the English, intended to begin in that

year, did not take place." Tliis son of Matoonas was hanged, and aflenvards
beheaded, and his head set upon a pole, where it was to be seen six years
after. The name of the mm-dered Englisliman was Zachary Smith, a young
man, who, as he was passing through Dedham, in the month of April, put
up at the house of Mr. Caleb Church. About half an hour after he was
gone, the next morning, three Indians passed the same way ; wlio, as they
passed by ChurcKs house, behaved in a very insolent manner. They had
been employed as laborers in Dorchester, and said they belonged to Philip

;

they left their masters under a suspicious pretence. The body of the murdered
man was soon after found near the saw-mill in DedJiam, and these Lidians

were apprehended, and one put to death, as is stated above. |

Mr. Hubbard supposes that the father, " an old malicious villain," bore " an
old grudge against them," on the account of the execution of his son. And
the first mischief that was done in Massachusetts colony was charged to him;
which was the killing of four or five persons at Mendon, a town upon Paw-
tucket River ; and, says /. Mather, " had we amended our ways as we should

have done, this misery would have been prevented." §

When Matoonas was brought before the council of Massachusetts, he
" confessed that he had rightly deserved death, and could expect no other."

" He had often seemed to favor the praying Indians, and the Christian reli-

gion, but, like Simon Ma^us, by his after practice, discovered quickly that he

had no part nor portion m that matter."
||

The following is the statement of this affair in the Old Indian Chronicle.

John " declared himself sorry that he had fought against the English, and

promised to give some testimonial to them soon of his fidelity ; and at his

return noAV with his men, women and children, he brought down, bound with

cords, old Mattoonus and his son prisoners. This Mattoonus'' eldest son had been

tried at Boston, and executed, 5 or 6 years ago, for an execrable murder by him

committed on a young maid 4 of the English near Woburn, and his head was

* Brief History of the War, 43. . . ^ u u-

\ Narrative, 101. 4to edition. If this be true, Philip had the chief direction in the ambushiii:

of Hutrhinson and Wlueler at Wickabau^, as related in the life of Philip: but in our opinu ..

not much credit should be given to any thing coming from a traitor.

I Manuscript among the files in the office of the secretary of the state "f Massarhusetia

6 Brief Hist. 5. ^ ^ ,
l^HMard, 101

ir This author is evidently in error about the Woburn murder. Dr. 1. Mather sajs, Keia

lion, 75, " Some few private murthers there have been, as namely- those al NanlurkPl. aiif

that by Matoonas his son, and that at Woburn.'' No other particulars are given by Ahuiie,
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fastened to a pole at one end of the gallows. This old Mattoonus' father hr.d
given it out that he would be avenged of us for his sou's death, which coining to
the knowledge of the council, he was sent for and examined about it ; and having
denied it, and there not being sufficient evidence of it, he was dismissed,
having only confessed this, that considering the death of his son, he found his

heart so big hot ivithin him, hut that he resolved to abide a faithful friend to the

English, and so that accusation ended. But after sachem Philip had begun
his murders in Plimouth colony, this savage first appeared an enemy to us,

and slew the two first men that were killed within the limits of our colony
(to wit, at Mendham) and in that cruel and outrageous "attempt at Quabaog
this old Mattoonus was the principal ringleader. Being now brought a
prisoner to Boston^ he was by the council the same day, [28 Julv,] adjudged,
to be shot to death, which was executed in Boston common, by three Indians.

His head was cut off" arfd placed upon a pole on the gallows, opposite to his

son's that was there formerly hanged. His son, brought along with him,
remains still a prisoner."

While Matoonas belonged to the Christian Indians, his residence w<as at

Pakachoog. Here he was made constable of the town.* On joining in the

war, he led parties which committed several depredations. He joined the

main body of the Nipmuks in the winter of 1675, when James Qiianapohit

was among them as a spy, who saw him arrive there with a train of follow-

ers, and take the lead in the war dances, f Doubtless Quanapohifs evidence

drew forth the confessions which he made, and added to the severity exer-

cised at his execution. |

A Nipmuk captain we will in the next place notice, who makes a sudden
inroad upon the frontier of Massachusetts, and who as suddenly dis-

appears.

NETUS, on the 1 February, 1676, with about 10 followers, attacked the

house of one Thomas Eames, 4 or 5 miles beyond Sudbury, and took his and his

son's families prisoners. They then destroyed every thing upon his farm,

burnt up his house and his barns with the cattle and corn in them, and
withdrew beyond the reach of the English, as Totoson had done at Eel River.

When this onset was made, Eames himself was absent at Boston to procure

ammunition. In all, seven § persons were killed or fell into the hands of this

party of Indians. About three months afterwards, one of the children taken

at this time escaped, and alter wandering 30 miles alone through the wilder-

ness, under extreme sufferings, arrived among the English settlements. On
the 27 March following, .iVetvs was killed near Mai'lborough, by a party of

English under Lieutenant Jacobs, with about 40 others.||

We have yet to notice a distinguished Nipmuk sachem, called

MONOCO by his countrymen, but, by tlie English, generally, One-eyed-

John ; as though deficient in the organs of vision, which probably was the

case. lie was, says an early writer, " a notable fellow," who, when Philip's

war began, lived near Lancaster, and consequently was acquainted with

every part of the town, which knowledge he improved to his advantage, on

two occasions, in that war. On Sunday, 22 August, 1675, a man, his wife

but Hubbard, in the pret'are lo his Narrative, edition of 1677, says, " a murlher was commiUed

ill Farmingion, another at VVoburn, by some Indians in tlieir drunken humors upon a maitf

servant or two, who denied them drink.''
. n ,

* ShaUHck's\V\?.\. Concord, 31. 1 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. »oc. \i.'m>.

X The Nipmuks were at this time chiefly under five sachems, which, Mr. Hubbard says.

were " four too many to govern so small a people." The same author says, " The Nipnets

were under the command of the sachem of Mount Hope,"' which fact is verified by numerous

passages of our history. The names of the five principal sachems were Monoco, Mautamp,

Shoshanim, Matoonas, and Sagamokk John.

6 According lo the Cotto?! MSS. seven were killed and two chddren only taken. This agrees

with our Chronicle, 77, where it is said " they killed seven people in a barbarous manner,

and carried some away captive." Hubbard, Si and Table, says Eames' wife was killed, and

hisson's wife died the next day, but says nothing of the number killed or taken.

II
Compare Hubbard. 79 and 84.—This was the aflair which he says was done " when it

was so dark that an Indian could hardly be discerned from a better man. ' See Book III.

Chap. II. On 21 Sept. (bllowing, three Indians were hanged as concerned in the murder of

Eamet's family.
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and two children ^veie killed at that place.* At this time the Hassanamcsit
praying Indians were placed at jAIirlborough by authority. No sooner was
it known that a murder was committed at Lancaster, than not a lew were
Nvanting to charge it upon tiie Hassanamesits. Captain Mostly, who it seems
was in the neighborhood, sent to their quarters, and found " much suspicion
against eleven of them, for singing and dancing, and having bullets and slugs,
and much powder hid in their baskets." For this offence, these eleven wptp.
sent to Boston 30 August, on suspicion, and there tritd. " BufUpon trial, the
said prisoners were all of them acquitted from the fact, and were either released,
or else were, with others of that fort, sent for better security, and for preventing
future trouble in the like kind, to some of the islands below Boston, towards
Nantasket." Fifteen was the number brought down to Boston, but eleven
only were suspected of the alleged offbnce. "The others, among whom were
Abram Speen and John Ckoo, were taken along and imprisoned, for no other
reason but their being accidentally, at that time, at Marlborough, or the crime
of being Indians, It appears some time had elapsed after the murder was
committed, before they were sent down for trial, or more probably they were
suffered to return home before being sent to Deer Island. For Ephraim
Turner and William Kent were not sent up to find out where " they all were "

and what answers they could get from those they should meet, until the
beginning of October ; at which time these eleven Indians were scattered in
various directions, about then- daily callings. And all the information Turner
and Kent handed into court was, that they were thus dispersed. Waban and
Mr. John Watson, who had been appointed to reside among those Indians,
were the only persons questioned. What steps the court took upon this
information, we are not informed, but they were about this time sent to Deer
Island.

The names of these Indians, concerning whom more particular inquiry
may hereafter be made by the benevolent antiquary, it is thought should
be given ; especially as they may not elsewhere be preserved. They
were,

Old-jethro and two sons, Jamcs-the-printer, James Acompanet, Daniel Munups,
John Cquasquaconet, John ^^quenet, George JVonsequesewit, Thomas Mamvxon-
qua, and Joseph Watapacoson, alias Joseph Spoonanf.

After a trial of great vexation to these innocent Indians, David, the main
witness against them, acknowledged he had perfidiously accused them ; and
at the same time, a prisoner was brought in, who testified that he knew One-
e\jed-john had committed the murder at Lancaster, and a short time after

another was taken, who confirmed his testimony.
These Indians brought all these troubles upon themselves by reason of their

attachment to the English. It was in tlieir service that they discovered and
captured Andrew, a brother of David, wlio, on being delivered to the soldiery,

Was shot by them with ferocious precipitancy. Therefore, when the Lancaster
murder happened, Caj)tain Mosely, having already sundry charges against David,
held an inquisition upon him to make him confess relative to the Lancaster
affair. The method taken to make him confess, (agreeably to the desire
of his inquisitors,) was this : they bound him to a tree, and levelled guns at

his breast. In this situation, to avert immediate death, as well as to be re-

venged tor the death of his brother, he proceeded to accuse the eleven Indians
before named. For thus falsely accusing his countrymen, and shooting at a
boy who was looking after sheep at Marlborough, David was condenmed to

slavery, and accordingly sold, as was one of the eleven named Watapacoson,
This last act being entirely to calm the clamors of the multitude ; after he
had been once acquitted, a new trial was got up, and a new jury for this

particular end.f
Andreiv's history is as follows : He had been gone for some time before the

war, on a hunting voyage towards the lakes ; and on his return homeward,
he fell in among Philip's men about Quabaog. This was about a month

* The above is Mr. Hubbard's account. Mr. Willard, iii his excellent history of Lan-
caster, gives us the names of six, and says eight were killed. But in his enumeration I count

nine ; and Gookin says seven. Our text is according to Hubbard, Nar. 30.

t Oookin, Manuscript Hist. Praving Indians.

23
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before tlie affiiir at Lancaster. The reason he staid among the hostile Indiana
is very ol vious : he was afraid to venture into the vicinity of the whites, lest

they sliould treat him as an enemy. But as his ill fortune fell out, he was
found in the woods, by his countrymen of Marlborough, who conducted him
to tJie English, ^by whom he was shot, as we have just related. The offi-

cer who presided over and directed this affair, would, no doubt, at any other

time, have received a reward proportionate to the malignity of the offence
;

but in this Horrid storm of war, many were suffered to transgress the laws
with impunity.

From one account of this affair,* it would seem that one of the Indians
seized by Mostly at this time was actually executed ;

" for," says the vsrriter to

whom we refer, " the commonalty were so enraged against Mr. Eliot, and
Capt, Guggins especially, that Capt. Guggiiis said on the bench, [he being a
judge,] that he was afraid to go along the streets ; the answer was made, you
may thank yourself; however an order was issued out for the execution of
that one (notorious above the rest) Indian, and accordingly he was led by a
rope about his neck to the gallows. When he came there, the executioners
(for there were many) flung one end over the post, and so hoisted him up
like a dog, three or four times, he being yet half alive, and half dead ; then
came an Indian, a friend of his, and with his knife made a hole in his breast

to his heart, and sucked out his heart-blood. Being asked his reason there-

for, his answer [was] Umh, Umh nu, me stronger as I was before ; me be so

strong as me and he too ; he be ver strong man fore he die. Thus with
the dog-like death (good enough) of one poor heathen, was the people rage
laid, in some measure."
We have yet to add a word concerning Monoco. When Quanapohit was

out as a spy, Monoco kindly enteitained him, on account of former acquaint-

ance not knowing his character. They had served together in their wars
against the Mohawks. On 10 Feb. 1676, about 600 Lidians fell upon
Lancaster, and, after burning the town, carried the inhabitants into captivity.

Among them was the family of Reverend Mr. Rowlandson. Mrs. Roiv-

landson, after her redemption, published an amusing account of the affair.

Monoco, or Onc-eyed-john, it is said, was among the actors of this tragedy.

On 13 March following, Groton was surprised. In this affair, too, John
Monoco was principal ; and on his own word we set him down as the destroy-

er of Medfield. After he had burned Groton, except one gairison house, he
called to the captain in it, and told him he would burn in succession Chelms-
ford, Concord, Watertown, Cambridge, Charlestown, Roxbm*y and Boston.
He boasted much of the men at his command ; said he had 480 waiTiors

;

and added—" JVhat me ivill me do." The report of this very much enraged
the English, and occasioned his being entitled a " bragadocio " by the histo-

rian. At the close of Philip's war, with others, he gave himself up to Rlajor

Waldron at Cochecho ; or, having come in there, at the request of Peter-

jethro, to make peace, was seized and sent to Boston, where, in the language
of Mr. Hubbard, he, " with a few more bragadocios like himself, Sagamore-
8am, Old-jethro, and the sachem of Quabaog, [Mautamp,\] were taken by the
English, and was seen, (not long before the writing of this,) marching towards
the gallows, (through Boston streets, which he threatened to burn at his

pleasure,) with a halter about his neck, Avith which he was hanged at the

town's end, Sept. 26, in this present year, 1676." X

On die 24 July, 1675, five of the principal Nipmuk sachems signed au
agreement to meet the governor of Massachusetts to treat of peace soon after,

but not appearing according to agreement Captain Hutchinson was sent out

• In the Indian Chronicle, 26, %1.

t Compare Hubbard, 35 and 75.—The same, probably, called Mattawamppe, who, ii»

1665, witnessed the sale of Brookfield, Mass., deeded al thai time by a chief named Shat-
loockquis. Matitamp claimed an interest in said lands, and received pari of the pay.^Rev.
Mr. Foot's Hist. Brookjield.

X This, so far as it goes, a^ees with an entry in SewaWs MS. Diary, cited in Shatliiclc'i

Concord, 63

—

"Sagamore Sam goes, Oru-ey'd John, Maliompe [Mautamp] Sagamore of

Quabaog. General at Lancaster, &.c. Jethro (the father) walked to the gallows. One-ey'd
John accuses Sagamore John to have fired the first gun at Quabaog and killed Capt Huldv-
iiison."
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to ascertain the cause, and was ambushed by them, as we liave in the life of
Philip related. At this thne, " Sam, sachem of Weshacum," and Netacmp,
are particularly mentioned as having been hanged at Boston.

It was reported, (no doubt by the Indians, to vex their enemies,) that Mrs.
Rowlandson kad married Jlibwoco. "But," the author of the Present State,
&c. says, " it was soon contradicted," and, " that she appeared and behaved
herself amongst them with so much courage and majestic gravity, that none
durst offer any violence to her, but on the contrary, (in their rude manner)
seemed to show her great respect."

In the above quotation from Mi*. Hubbard, we have shown at what time
several of the Nipmuck chiefs were put to death beside Monaco.
OLD-JETHRO was little less noted, though of quite a different character.

His Indian name was Tantamous. He was present at the sale of Concord
(Mass.) to the English, about which time he lived at Natick. In 1674, lie was
appointed a missionary to the Nipmuks living at Weshakim, since Sterling,
but his stay there was short.* He and his family (of about 12 persons)
were among thosp ordered to Deer Island, on the breaking out of the wai
the next year. Their residence then was at Nobscut Hill, near Sudbury
His spirit could not brook the indignity offered by those English who were
sent to conduct the praying Indians to Boston, and in the night he escaped,
with all his family, into his native wilds. His son Peter had been so long
under the instruction of the English, that he had become almost one of
them. He deserted his father's cause, and was the means of his being exe-
-uted with the other Nipmuk sachems already mentioned. This occasioned
/)r. /. Mather to say of him, " That abominable Indian, Peter-jethro, betrayed
his oum father, and other Indians of his special acquaintance, unto death."

It seems be had been employed by the English for tliis purpose.

About a month before the faJl of Philip, the Nipmucks became fully

aware of their wretched condition, who, on the 6 July, 1676, sent an Indian

messenger to the English with a white flag. He came, says our Chronicle,
" from Sagamore Sam of Nassoway (a proud Salvage, who two months since

insulted over the English, and said, if the English would first begge Peace
of hhn, he would let them have Peace, but that he would never ask it of

them ;) This Indian was sent from him with Letters, desiring Peace of us,

and expressely praying us in the name of Jesus Christ, and for his sake to

grant it whose holy name they have so much blasphemed. Thus doth the

Lord Jesus make them to bow before him, and to lick the dust. And having

made mention of his letter it will not be unacceptable to transcribe some
copies of the Letters sent by him, and others on this subject, which take as

foUoweth. The reader must bear with their barbarisms, and excuse the

omission of some expressions in them, that can hardly admit of good
English."

" The first Letter, Jvlxj the 6th, 1676.t

" Mr. John Leverett, my Lord, Mr. Waban, and ^1 the chief men our Breth-
ren, Praying to God : \This Mr. Waban is a Praying Indian, faithful, and a

Rider amonst them ; by their Brethren praying to God, they mean those of the. sanvt

N'ation.'] We beseech you all to help us ; my wife she is but one, but there

be more Prisoners, which we pray you keep well : Mattamuck his wife, we
entreat you for her, and not onely that man, but it is the Request of two Sa-

chems, Sam Sachem f fVeshakum, and the Pakashoag Sachem.
" And that furthei- you will consider about the making Peace : We have

spoken to the People of Nashobah (viz. Tom Dubler and Peter,) that we would
agree with you, and make a Covenant of Peace with you. We have been

destroyed by your Souldiers, but still we Remember it now, to sit still ; do

• Mr. Shattuck's Hist. Concord, 30.

t The tenor of the t'ollowino^ letters, is very different from those in April previous, which I

lad discovered in MS. and pnnted in the former editions of the Book of the Indians. Tbesf

were then unknown to me
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you consider it again ; we do earnestly entreat you, that it may be so b/

Jejius Christ, O ! let it be so ! Amen, Amen.*
It was signed

Mattamuck, his Mark N.
Sam Sachem, his Mark '/'.

Simon Pottoqdam, Scribe.j

Uppanippaquem, Ms— C.

Pakaskoeact his Mark W."

" Superscribed," " To all Englishmen and Indians, all ofyou hear Mr. Waban,
Mr. EUott."

" Second Letter.

" My Lord, Mr. Leveret at Boston, Mr. Waban, Mr. Eliott, Mr. Gookin, and
Council, hear yea. I went to Connecticot about the Captives, that I might
bring them into your hands, and when we were almost there, the English had
destroyed those Indians : when I heard it, I returned back again ; then when
I came home, we were also destroyed ; after we were destroy'd, then Philip

and Quanipun went away into their own Countrey againe ; and I knew they
were much afraid, because of our offer to joyn with the English, and there-

fore they went back into their own Countrey, and I know they will make no
WaiTe ; therefore because when some English men came to us, Philip and
Quanapun sent to kill them ; but I said, if any kill them, I'll kill them-J

Sam Sachem.
Written by Simon Boshokum Scribe." §

Tliird Letter

« For Mr. Eliot, Mr. Gookin, and Mr. Waban.

Consider of this I entreat you, consider of this great businesse that is done

,

and my wonder concerning Philip ; but his name is Wewesawannit,'^

he engageth all the people that were none of his subjects : Then when I was
at Penakook, JVumpho John, Alline,'^ Sam JVumpho, and others wlio were angry,

and JVumpho veiy much angry that Philip did engage so many people to him

;

and JVumpho said it were a veiy good deed that I should go and kill him that

* This surpasseth any thing, in supplication, that we have, from the poor Indians. They
ivere truly sensible of their deploraMe condition! Little to subsist upon—the northern and
ivestern wilderness so full of their native enemies, that a retreat upon those hunting-grounds
was cut off—all the fishing places near and upon the coast watched by their successful

enemy—hence nothing now remained but to try the effect of an offer of unconditional sub-

mission!—This letter, however, must not be regarded as the language of the warriors, it

was the language of the Christian Indians, in behalf of them and themselves.

f The name of this sachem ajiproaching nearly in sound to that of the place since called

Worcester, of which Sa^amore-John was chief, almost induces the belief that he is the same.
A sachem of the name liaving deeded Worcester to the whiles in 1671, is additional proof
See the elaborate history of that town by Wm. Lincoln. Esq., now in course of publication.

X This letter will be regarded as an admirable specimen ot Indian sentiment, and its value

IS much enhanced, as it unfolds truths of great value—truths that lay open the situation of

things at this period that will be gladly received. Sam was a magnanimous sachem. So
was Monocn. We doubt if any thing can in truth be brought against either, that would not

comport with a warrior of their time, hut they did not come within the limits of a pardon
offered in the Proclamation ! When messengers were sent to treat with the Indians for the

redemption of prisoners, to prevent the evil such negotiation was calculated to produce, and
which Plii/ip, doubtless, foresaw, he ordered such to be summarily dealt with. Qiuinapohit

was suspected for a spy, and Philip had ordered him to be killed, but Monaco said, " I will

kill whomsoever shall kill Ciiianapolnt." Shoshanim afterwards said the same when visited

by Mr. Hoar and Nepanet, who were sent to treat for the ransom of Mr. Rowlandson'j fam-

ily. " If any kill them, I will kill them," that is, he would kill the murderer. But these kind

offices were forgotten in the days of terror !

5 The same person, whose name to the last letter is spelt Potloqitam, and in Book ii. Chap,
vii., Betokam

N This stands in the MS. records, 'Wewasmoanuett. See Book iii. Chap. ii.

\ There is some error concerning this person's name. John U. Line means the same per-

son, I think, in Goolcin's ftlS. history. See Book ii. Chap. vii. ; ap account of several otneri

here mentioned may there also be found.
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joyned so many to himself without cause : In like manner 1 said so too.

Then had you formerly said be at peace, and if the Council had sent word
to kill PkUip we should have done it : then let us cleai'ly sjieak, what you
and we shaU do. O let it be so speedily, and answer us clearly.

PUMKAMCN,
PONNAKPUKDN,

or, Jacob Muttamakoog."

"The answer the Council made them, was, 'That treacherous persons

who began the war and those that have been bfirbarously bloody, must not

expect to have their lives spared, but others that have been drawn into the

war, and acting only as Souldiers submitting to be without arms, and to live

quietly and peaceably for the future shall have their lives spared.'

"

Sagamore Sam was one of those that sacked Lancaster, 10 Februaiy,

1676. His Indian name was at one time Slioshanim, but in Philip's war it

appears to have been changed to Uskatuhgun ; at least, if he be the same, it

was so subscribed by Peter-jethro, when the letter was sent by the Indians to

the English about the exchange of Mrs. Rowlandson and others, as will be
foimd in the life of JVepanet. He was hanged, as has been belbre noted.

Shoshanim was successor to Matthew, who succeeded Sholan.

This last-mentioned sachem is probably referred to by the author quoted in

Mr. Thorowgood's curious book. In the summer of 1652, Reverend John Eliot

intended to visit the Nashuas, in his evangelical capacity, but understanding
there was war in that direction among the Indians,* delayed his jom'ney for a
time. The sachem of Nashua, hearing of ]\Ir. Eliot's intention, " took 20
men, armed after their manner," as his guard, with many others, and con-

ducted him to his country. And my author adds, " this was a long journey
into the wilderness of 60 miles : it proved very wet and tedious, so that he
was not dry three or four days together, night nor day." f One of the Indians

at this tune asked Mr. Eliot why those who pi*ayed to God among the

English loved the Indians that prayed to God " more than their own breth-

ren." The good man seemed some at a loss for an answer, and waived the

subject by several scriptural quotations.

We may be incorrect in the supposition that the sachem who conducted
Mr. Eliot on this occasion was Sholan, as perhaps Passaconaway would
suit the time as well.

CHAPTER VI.

Friendly Indians—Captain Amos—Pursues Tatoson and Penachason—Escapes the

slaughter at Pawtucket—Commands a company in the eastern war—Captain
LiGHTFOOT

—

His services in Philip's loar—In the eastern war—Kettenanit—
His services—Quannapohit—His important services as a spy—Mactamp—
Monaco—Nepanet—Employed to treat with the enemy—Brings lettersfrom them—
Effects an exchange ofprisoners—Peter Conway—Peter Ephraim.

AMOS, commonly called Captain Amos, was a Wampanoag, whose residence

was about Cape Cod. We have no notice of him until Philip's war, at which
time he was entirely devoted to the service of the English. After the Plini-

outh people had found that Tatoson was concerned in the desti'uction of

Clark's garrison, they sought for some friendly Lidians who would under-

take to deliver him and his abettors mto their hands. Captain Amx)S ten

derelhis services, and was duly commissioned to prosecute the enterprise,

* In 1647, three Indians were killed between Quabaog and Springfield, by other Indians.

The next year, five others were killed about midway between Quabaog and Lancaster.—

Winthrop's Journal, (Savage's ed.) Such instances were common among the Indians.

t Sure Arguments to prove that the Jews inhabit now in America.-^By Thomas TTioroia-

rood, 4to. London, 1632. Sir Roger L'Estrange answered this book by another, entitled

Thb Americans no Jews.
2.3*
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and to [ake into that service any of liis friends. Meantime, Tatoson had fled

to Elizabeth Island, in company with PenacJiason, another chief who was
also to be taken, if lie could be found. This Penachason was probably Taio-
son's brother's son, sometimes called Tom, who, if the same, was also at the
destroying of Clark's garrison. Yet the wily chiefs eluded the vigilance of
Captam Amos, by flying from that region into the Nipmuks' counti7, where
they joined Philip.

To encourage greater exertion on the part of the friendly Indians, to

execute their commission, it was ordered, that in case they captured and
brought in either Tatoson or Penachason, "they may expect for their reward,
for each of them four coats, and a coat apiece for every other Lidian that
shall prove merchantable."
We have mentioned in a former chapter the horrid catastrophe of

Captain Peirse and his men at Pawtucket. Captain Amos escaped that

Ji'eadful slaughter. He fought there with 20 of his warriors, and when
Captain Peirse was shot down by a ball which wounded him in the thigh,

he stood by his side, and defended him as long as there was a gleam of
hope. At length, seeing nearly all his friends slain, vdth admirable presence
of mind he made his escape, by the following subtle stratagem :

—

JVanuntenoo^s warriors had blackened their faces, which Captain Amx)S had
observed, and by means of powder contrived to discolor his own unobserved
by them. When he had done this, he managed, by a dextrous manoeuvre,
to pass among the enemy for one of them, and by these means escaped.
What were Captain Amos's other acts in this wai*, if any, we liave not

learned ; nor do we meet again with him until 1689. In that year, he Avent

with Col. Church against the eastern Lidians and French, in which expedi-
tion he also had the command of a company. Church arrived with his

forces in Sept. at Casco, now Portland, and, having landed secretly under
cover of the night, surprised, on the following morning, about four hundred
Indians, who had come to destroy the i)lace. Although the Indians did not

receive much damage, yet. Governor Sullivan says,* the whole eastern country
was saved by the timely arrival of this expedition. In the fight at Casco,
21 September, eight of the English were killed and many wounded. Tavo of
Captain Amos's men were badly wounded, and Sam Moses, another friendly

Indian, was killed. There was another Indian company :n this expedition,

commanded by Captain Daniel, out of which one man was killed, who was
of Yarmouth on Cape Cod.f
LIGHTFOOT, of the tribe of the Sogkonates, distinguished in Philip's

war, was also in the service under Church at Casco ; a memorable expedition,

on more than one account. One circumstance we will name, as it well nigh
proved the ruin of the undertaking. When, on the following morning, after

the arrival of the forces, the attack was begun, it was, to the inexpressible

surprise of the English, found, that the bullets were much larger than the

calibre of their guns. This was a most extraordinary and unaccountable
occurrence, and great blame was chargeable somewhere. Li this wretched
dilemma, the fight having already begun, Church sot some at work making
the bullets into slugs, by which resort he was able to continue the fight It

being high water at the time, an estuaiy separated the battle-ground from the
town. Tiie bullets were to be carried to the ai'my engaged, in buckets, after

bi'ing hammered. When the first recruit of slugs was made up, Colonel
Church ran with it to the water's edge, and, not caring to venture himself to

wad(^ across, callerl to those on the other side to send some one to take it over
to the army. None appeared but lAghtfoot. This Indian dextrously repassed
the estuary, with a quantity of powder upon his head, and a " kettle " of bul-

lets in each hand, and thus the fight w.is maintained, and the enemy put to

flight.

In Philip's war, lAs^htfooCs exploits were doubtless very numerous, but few
of them have come do\rii to us. He volunteered to fight for the English, at

Awashonk's great dance at Buzzard's Bay, already mentioned. When Little-

ey(3 was taken at Cushnet, in 1676, LAghtfoot was sent with him to what ii

• Hist. District of Maine, Wl. f MS. Idler of Captain Basset of the expedition
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now called Palmer^s Island, iieai- the mouth of Cushnet River, where he held
hhu in guard until he could be safely conducted to Pliniouth. About tlie

time ,Mko7n,poin was killed, and Philip's wife and son were tiiken, Church
gave him a captain's commission, aller which he made several successful
expeditions.—We now pass to charactei-s hitherto less known, though perhaps
of more interest

Very little was known of certain important characters among the friendly

Lidians of Massachusetts, which should have by no means been overlooked
until the discovery of Mr. Gookiii's manuscript history of tlie praying
Indians, not long since, and to which we have often i-eferred already. We
shall, therefore, devote the remainder of the present chapter to their liistory

JOB KATTENANIT seems first to demand attention. He was a Christian

Indian, and lived some time at Natick, but was at one time a preacher at

Magunkog, and belonged originally, we believe, to Hassanamesit. However
that may have been, it is certain he lived therein the hegmn'mg of Philip's

wai", when that chiePs men made a descent upon the place, with the intention

of can-jing away those Christian Lidians piisoners. Job made his escape
from them at tliis time, and came in to the English at Meudon. He had still

tlu'ee children in the enemy's hands, and he was Avilliug to run any venture
to release them. He therefore applied for and obtained a jiass, assuruig him
safety, provided that, m his return, he should fall into the hands of tlie Eng-
lish scouts. Besides liberating his children, considerable hopes were enter-

tained, that he might be enabled to fm-nish information of the enemj^ It

unfortmmtely happened, tliat, before he had passed the frontier, he fell in

with some English soldiers, who treated him as a prisoner, and an enemy,
even taking from him his clothes and gun, sending him to the governor of
Boston ;

" who, more to satisfy the clamors of the people than for any offence

committed," assigned him to the common jail, whei*e he suffered exceedingly;
hhnself and many others being crowded into a narrow and filthy place. Af-
ter about three weeks, he was taken out and sent to Deer Island. The clam-
ors of the people were indeed high at this time, and many accused Major
Gookin, who gave him the pass, of being guilty of furnishing the enemy with
intelligence.

After the Narraganset fight, 19 December, 1675, the English were very
anxious to gain information relative to the position of the enemy, and accord-
ingly instructed Major Gookin to use his endeavors to employ some friendly

Indian spies ; who, after considerable negotiation among those at Deer Island,

engaged Job again, and James Quannapohit, alias Quanapaug. Their reward
was to heJive pounds apiece 1 They departed upon this semce before day,

the 30tli of December, and, during their mission, behaved with gi-eat pru-
dence, and brought valuable information to the English on their return ; but
which, from intestine bickerings among the English, tm-ned to small
accoimt.

James Quannapohit returned 24th of January following, nearly worn out and
famished ; having travelled about 80 miles in that cold season, upon snow-
shoes, the snow being very deep. The information which he gave was writ-

ten down by Major Gookin.* Among other matters, he stated that the ene-
my had taken up their quarters in different places, pi-obably near Scattacook;
and many others, including the Nipmuks, about Menumesse. The Narra-
gansets had not yet joined Philip openly, but while James and Job were among
the Nipmuks, messengers arrived from Narraganset which gave them much
joy, for they expressed an ardent desire to join them and Philip in prosecut-

ing the war. They said their loss in the great swamp fight was small. In

tliree weeks, Jam£S learned, they would assault Lancaster, which accordingly
came to pass, upon the very day which he said they intended it- He
learned and thus divulged their plans to a great extent. A circumstance now
occurred which obliged him to make his escape, which was this: He found a

friend and protector in Mautamp,\ one of the Nipmuk chiefs, who, it seems,

* The same published in CoU. Mass. Hist. Soc. 1. vi. 205—208.

t The same, probably, called Netaump, who was afterwards executed at Boston, at th«

tame lime with Sagamore-sam. See Hubbard, 35.
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intended shortly to visit Philip ; and insisted that Quannapohit should ac-

company him, and it was with no small difficulty he was able to elude the
vigilant eye of Maidamp, and make his escape, which, however, was effected

only by a cunning stratagem, as follows :—He told Mautamp that he had
fought against Philip in the commencement of the war, and that Philip knew
hmi, and that, unless he could go to him with some important trophy, Philip
would not believe him, and would immediately kill him. And moreover,
Tukapewillin had privately told him that Philip had given out word that cer-

tain praying Indians should be sought after, and, if possible, seized and
brought to him; for he wanted to put them to death in a cruel manner, with
his own hands, and tliat he was one of them. He therefore told Mautamp
that he would go, in the first place, and kill some English, and take their

heads along with him, and then he should consider himself safe. This
being consented to, he lost no time in retracing his steps to the frontiers of
the English.

He mentions Monaco, or One-eyed-john, as a great captain among the ene-
my, who also treated him kindly, and entertained him in his wigwam during
his stay there ; they being old acquaintance, having served together in their

wars against the Mohawks, ten years before.*

And here also Mr. Gookin gives a favorable account of Monoco. Philip had
ordered that the persons above named should be brought to him, if taken
alive, "that he might put them to some tormenting death, which had hitherto

been prevented by the care and kindness of a great captain among them,
named John-ivith-one-eye, belonging to Nashua,f who had civilly treated and
protected Javies, and entertained him at his wigwam, all the time of his

being there." I

Job was requested to come away with Quanapohit, but saw no way of
getting away his children, which was a main object with him. He knew,
too, that James could give all the information they both possessed at that

E)eriod, and not considermg himself in imminent danger, preferred to tarry

onger.

At Wanexit, or Manexit, they fell in with seven Indians, who took them
and conveyed them about twenty miles, across the path leading to Connecti-
cut, northward from Quabaog. These were some of the Quahmsits and
Segurtesits. At this place were three towns which contained about 300
warriors well armed. Here they were threatened with death, their mission
being truly guessed. But going to the wigwam of One-eyed-john, " Sagamore
of Nashua," or Monoco, he charged his gun and said, "I will kill whom-
soever shall kill (Quanapohit " § Some said he had killed one of Philip's

counsellors
||
at Mount Hope, and Philip had hired some to kill him ; also

James Speen, Andrew Pitimy, Captain Hunter, Thomas Quanapohit, and Peter

Ephraim. On being ordered to visit Philip, "Job and he pretended to go out
a hunting, killed three dear quickly, and perceiving they were dogged by
some other Indians, went over a pond and lay in a swamp till before day, and
when they had prayed together he ran away." Job was to return to the
enemy, and tell them that James ran away because they had threatened to

kill him. Job, not being particularly obnoxious to them, concluded to

remain longer for the end of r<ansoming his children, as we have said. He
returned to the Englisii in the night of the 9th of February, and said, as

James had before, tiiat on the next day Lancaster would be attacked, for he
knew about four hundred of the enemy were already on their march, and it

so resulted. He furdier informed the English, that the enemy would shortly

attack Medficld, Groton, Marlborougli, and otiier places, and that the Nar-
ragansets had joined Philip and the Nipmuks.
While James was there, " a Narraganset brought to them one English head

:

they shot at him, and said the Narragansets were the English friends all last

• Of this war we have jrivcn an account in Book II. chap. III.

t Called sagamore of Nashua, in the Cotton mamiscripts.

i Hist. Praying Indians. § Cotton Manuscripts.

II
Referring probably, to Thebe. See Book III. chap. II.
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Bummer. Afterwards two messengers came with twelve heads, cijivinj,'

theu" assistance, they then accepted them." *

Before he left the enemy, he appointed a place of safety for his children,
and simdry others of his friends, captured at Hassanamesit, where he would
afterwards meet and conduct them to the English. He therefore petitioned
the council for liberty to meet them, which was granted. But he now had
new difficulties to encounter, owing to " the rude temper of those times," as
one of the wise men of that age expressed it f Although both these men
had acquitted themselves to the entire satisfaction of the authorities who
sent them forth, yet the populace accused them of giving information to the
enemy, and that they were secretly their advisers, or else they had not
returned m safety ; to appease which they were confined again to the island.

This so interfered with the time set by Joh to meet his children and friends,

that great sufierings overtook them, as well as himself; suid he knew not
that ever he should have an opportunity to see his children again. But it

much sooner happened, no doubt, than he expected, although in an indfrect

way. About the time he was sent to the island, a vote passed in the general
court of Massachusetts, to raise an ai'my of six hundred men, and Major
Thomas Savage was applied to, to conduct them in the war. He refused,
miless he could have some of the friendly Indians from the island for assist-

ants. On a messenger being sent among them, six of their principal and
bravest men volunteered in that sendee, among whonj was Job Kattenanit.

The ai-my mai-ched about the fii-st of March, 1675, O. S. But when at Marl-
borough, Job got liberty of Major Savage and Major-general Denison, to

attempt the finding of his friends and children, whom he had appointed to

meet near Hassanamesit. When it was known to Captain Mosely, he behaved
himself very mibecoming towards the commanding officer, and nothing but
his popularity with the army saved his reputation. Indeed, his conduct
seems quite as reprehensible as that of a more modem Indian hmiter in the

Floridas, which all friends of hiunanity joined to condemn. Mosely, it

appears, would place no confidence in any Indian, and doubtless thought he
was acting for the best interests of the country. He mged that it was a
most impolitic measure to suffer any Indian to go away at this time, knowing
their natural treacherousness ; and he doubted not but Job (although a tried

friend) would inform the enemy of the approach of the army, which would
fiustiate all their designs. The great ascendency which this officer held in

the army can best be understood by a simple statement of the fact, that Major
Savage and General Denison were obliged to send after Job before the

soldiery would cease their clamors. Captain Wadsworth and Captain Syll,

accompanied by James Quannapohit, went in pursuit with the utmost speed.

But they did not overtake him, and he soon returned to the army without
finding his friends ; they, from fear of discovery, having changed their

place, the time having been much longer than was set, and their consequent
sufferings were indescribable.

We shall only add here concerning them, that they afterwards fell into

the hands of a party of English, who treated them in a savage manner,
taking every thing from them. But when they were brought to Major
Savage, he treated them kindly, and had them sent to Boston, all except four,

who ran away from Marlborough, where they stopped for the night, from
the fear of being mm-dered, some of the people so abused and insulted them.
\bout two months after that, they were found and brought in by JVepar^t

Finally, Job recovered all his childi-en, and, mairying again, lived happily.

His wife was one of those whom he had managed to deliver out of the

hands of the enemy at such hazard and pains. She had, during their wan-
derings, nursed and kept alive his children, one, especially, which was very

young.
When the Hassanamesits went off" with the enemy, James Quanrmpokit

was in the neighborhood with the English forces. Captain Syll sent out a

Bcout, imd Jamjes and Elizer Pegin accompanied. Seven of the enemy were

* Cotton Manuscripts.

+ Major Daniel Gookin, who was at least a hundred years in advance of that age.

S
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soon dis:;overed, one of whom was leading an English prisoner. They
discovered the English scout, and fled. James and Elizer pursued them, and
recovercil the prisoner, whose name was Christopher Muchin, who had been
taken from Marlborough. James also took one of the enemy's guns.*

The English having, by means of spies, as in the preceding life we have
stated, learned the state of feeling among then- enemies, felt themselves
pi'epared, as the spring of 1676 advanced, to make overtures to them for

peace, or an exchange of prisoners, or both, as they might be found inclined.

Tom Nepanet was fixed upon as plenipotentiary in this business. And,
although unjustly suffering with many of his brethi-en upon a bleak island

in Boston harbor, consented, at the imminent risk of his life, to proceed to

meet the Indians in the western wilderness, in the service, and for the

benefit, of those who had caused his sufferings.

J^epanet set out, 3 April, 1676, to make overtures to the enemy for the re-

lease of prisoners, especially the family of Mr. Rowlandson, which was taken

at Lancaster, i-eturned on the 12 foUowuig, with a wi-itten answer from the

enemy, say'mg,^^JVenou give answer by this one man, but if you like my ansiver

sent one more man besides this one Tom Nej)anet, and send ivith all true heart

and tvith all your mind by two men ; because you know and ice know your heart

great sorrowjul tvith crying for your lost many many hundred man and all your
house and all your land and ivoman child and cattle as all your thing that you
have lost and on your backside stand.

Signed by Sam, Sachem,
KuTQUEN, and
QuANOHiT, Sagamores.
Peter Jethro, scribe.

At the same time, and 1 conclude m tne same letter, they wrote a few
words to others, as follows : " Mr. Rowlandson, your wife and all your child is

well but one dye. Your sister is tvell and her 3 child. John Kittell, your wife

and all your child is all well, and all them prisoners taken at JVashua is all

well.

Mr. Rowlandson, se your loving sister his hand f* Hanah.
And old Kettel tvif his hand. -)-

Brother Rowlandson, pray send thre pound of Tobacco for me, if you can my
hving husbandpray send thre pound of tobaccofor me.

" This tvriting by your enemies—Samuel Uskattuhgun and Gunrashit, two
Indian sagamores.^'

Mrs. Rowlandson, in her account of " The Sixteenth Remove," relates, that

when thejf had waded over Baquaugf River, "Quickly there came up to us
an Indian who informed them that I must go to Wachuset to my master, tor

there was a letter come from the council to the saggamores about redeeming
the captives, and that there woidd be another hi 14 days, and that I must be
there ready." J This was doubtless after the letter just recorded had been
Bent to tlie English. " About two days after," Mrs. R. continues, " came a

company of Indians to us, near 30, all on horseback. My heait skipt within

me, thinking they had been Englishmen, at the first sight of them : For they
were dressed in English apparel, with hats, white neck-cloths, and sashes

about their waists, and riblions upon their shoulders. But when they came
near, there was a vast difference between the lovely faces of Christians, and
tlie foul looks of those heathen, which much damped my spu'its again." §

Having, after great distress, arrived at Wachuset, our authoress adds,
"Then came Toj/i and Pe<er with the second letter from the council, about

the captives." " I asked them how my husbanil did, and all my friends and

* Gookin's MS. Hist. Christian Indians.

t Or Payquago, now Miller's River. Its confluence with the Connecticut is betweeo
Norlhfield and Montague.

i Narrative of iier Captivity, 69.

\ Ibid. GO. The rcgnnentals in whicli they were now tricked out, were probably

from the English whom they had killed in battle.
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acquaintance. They said they were well, but very melancholy." They
brought her two biscuits and a pound of tobacco. The tobacco she gave to
the Indians, and, when it was all gone, one threatened her because she had
no mjre to give; probably not believing her. She told him when her
husband came, she would give him some. " Hang him, rogue, says he, 1
wUl knock out his brains, if he comes here." " Again, at the same breath,
they would say, if there should come an hundi-ed without gims they would
do them no hurt. So unstable and like madmen they were." * There had
been something talked about Mr. Rowlandson's going himself to ransom his
wife, but she says she dared not send for him, " for there was little more
ti'ust to them than to the master they served." *

JVrpanet learned by the enemy that they lost in the fight when Capt. Peirse
was killed, " scores of theu* men that sabbath day." f
As they refused to treat with Tom JVepanet alone, Peter Comvay was joined

with him on a second expedition, as we have seen, which led to several
others, to which some English ventured to add themselves, which resulted in
the redemption of Mrs. Rowlandson and several others.

" When the letter was come, (says Mrs. R.), the saggamores met to consult
about the captives, and called me to them, to inquire how nmch my husband
would*give to redeem me : When I came and sat down among them, as I was
wont to do, as their manner is : Then they bid me stand up, and said they

were the general court. They bid me speak what I thought he would give.

Now knowing that all that we had was destroyed by the Indians, I was in a
great strait." | She ventured, however, to say £20, and Tom and Peter bore
the oflfer to Boston.
Of their retm-n the same writer proceeds : " On a sabbath day, the sun

being about an hour high in the afternoon, came Mr John Hoar, (the councL
permittmg him, and his own forward sphit inclining him,) together with the
two fore-mentioned Indians, Tom and Peter, with the thii-d letter from the
council. When they came near, I was abroad ; they presently called me in,

and bid me sit down, and not stu-. Then they catched up their guns and
away they ran, as if an enemy had been at hand, and the gims went off

apace. I manifested some great trouble, and asked them what was the
matter. I told them I thought they had killed the Englishman

;
(for they

had in the mean time told me that an Englishman had come ;) they said, JVb,

they shot over his horse, and under, and before his horse, and they pushed him this

way and that way, at their pleasure, showing him what they could do."§
They would not at first suffer her to see Mr. Hoar, but when they had

gratified their tantalizing whim sufficiently, she was permitted to see him.
He brought her a pound of tobacco, which she soldfor nine shillings. " The
next morning, Mr. Hoar invited the saggamores to dinner; but when we
went to get it ready, we found they had stolen the greatest part of the provis-

ions Mr. Hoar had brought And we may see the wonderful power of God,
in that one passage, in that, when there was such a number of them together,

and so greedy of a little good food, and no English there but Mi-. Hoar and
myself, that there they did not knock us on the head, and take what we had

;

there being not only some provision, but also ti-aduig cloth, a part of the

20 pounds agreed upon : But instead of doing us any mischief, they seemed
to be ashamed of the fact, and said it was the matchit [bad] Indians that

did it"
II

It is now certain that this negotiation was the immediate cause of their

final overthrow. For before this time the Pokanokets and Narragansetts

went hand in hand against their common enemy, and they were the most
powerful tribes. This parleying with the English was so detestable to Philip,

that a separation took place among these tnbes m consequence, and he and
the Narragansets separated themselves from the Nipmuks, and other inland

tribes, and went off to their own country. This was the reason they were
so easily subdued after the separation took place.

* Narrative of her Captivity, 64, 66. t Manuscripte of Rev. J. Cotton.

t Narrative, ut suvra, 65. $ Ibid. 71, 72. ||
Ibid. 72. 73.
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It was through JVepanefs means that a party of English, under Captain
Henchman, were enabled to surprise a body of his countrymen at Weshakom *

Ponds near Lancaster, 30 May, 1676. Following in a track pointed out by
JVepanet, the Lidians were fallen upon while fishing, and, being entirely vm-
prepared, seven were killed, and 29 taken, chiefly women and childi'en.

PETER-EPHRAIM and ANDREW-PITYME were also two otlier

considerably distinguished Nipmuk Indians. They rendered much service

to the English in Philip's war. They went out in January, 1676, and brought
in many of the Nipnets, who had endeavored to shelter themselves under
Uncus. But, Mr. Hubbard observes, that Uncas, having "shabbed" them off,

"they were, in the beginning of the winter, [1676,] brought in to Boston,
many of them, by Peter-ephraim and Andrew-pityme." Ephraim commanded
an Lidian comjmny, and had a commission fi-om government. The news
that many of the enemy were doing mischief about Rehoboth caused a party
of English of Medfield to march out to their relief; Ephraim went with
them, with his company, which consisted of 29. The snow being deep, the
English soon grew discouraged, and returned, but Captain Ephraim continued
the march, and came upon a body of them, encamped, in the night. Early
the next morning, he successfully surrounded them, and offered them quar-
ter. "Eight resolute fellows refused, who were presently shot ;" the others

yielded, and were brought in, being in number 42. Other minor exploits of
this Lidian captain are recorded.

THOMAS QUANAPOHIT, called also Rumney-marsh, was a brother of
James, and was also a Christian Indian. In the beginning of hostilities

agamst Philip, Major Gookin received orders to raise a company of praying
Indians to be employed against him. This company was immediately
raised, and consisted of 52 men, who were conducted to Mount Hope by
Captain Isaac Johnson. Quanapohit was one of these. The officers under
whom they served testified to their credit as faithful soldiers; yet many of
the ai'my, officers and men, tried all in their power to bring them into disre-

pute with the country. Such proceedings, we should naturally conclude,
would tend much to dishearten those friendly Indians ; but, on the contraiy,

they used every exertion to win the affections of theii* oppressors. Qwana-
pohit, with the other two, received from government a reward for the scalps

which they brought in. Though not exactly in order, yet it must be men-
tioned, that when Thomas was out, at or near Swansey, in the beginning of
the war, he by accident had one of his hands shot oft He was one of the

troopers, and carried a gun of remarkable length. The weather being ex-

cessively hot, his horse was very uneasy, being disturbed by flies, and struck

the lock of the gun as the breech I'ested upon the ground, and caused it to

go off, which horribly mangled the hand that held it; and, notwithstanding
it was a long time in getting well, yet he rendered great service in the war
afterward. The account of one signal exploit having been preserved, shall

here be relatc^d. While Captain Henchman was in the enemy's country, he
made an excursion fi-om Hassanamesit to Packachoog, which lies about ten
miles north-west from it. Meeting here with no enemy, he marched again
for Hassanamesit ; and having got a few miles on his way, discovered that

le had lost a tin case, which contained his commission, and other instructions.

He therefore dcspatclied Thomas and two Englishmen in search of it. They
made no discovery of the lost article until they came in sight of an old wig-
wam at Packachoog, wliere, to their no small surprise, they discovered some
of the enemy in possession of it. They were but a lew rods from them, and
being so ilw in number, that to have given them battle would have been
desperate in tlie extreme, as neither of them was armed for such an occasion

;

stratagem, therefore, could only save them. The wigwam was situated upon
an eminence ; and some were standing in tlie door, when they approached,
who discovered tliem as soon as they came in sight. One presented his

gun, but, the weather being stormy, it did not go off. At this moment our
chief, looking back, called, and made many gestures, as tliongli lie were dis-

posing of a large force to encompass them. At this manoeuvi'e they all fled

* Ros:er Williams sets down sea as the dt^fniilioii of Wechicum.
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being six in number, leaving our heroes to pursue their object. Thus their
preservation was due to Quanapohit ; and is the more to be admired, as they
were in so far destitute of the means of defence. Captain Quanapohit had
himself only a pistol, and one of his men a gun without a flint, and the
other no gun at all.*

It was about the time these events occurred, that Captain Tom, of whom
we have spoken, his daughter, and two children, were taken by a scout sent out
by Captain Henchman, about 10 miles south-east of Marlborough. They appear
to have been taken on the 11 June, and on the 26 of the same month Captain
Tom was executed.

CHAPTER Vn.

Of the Indians in New Hampshire and Maine previous to their tears with the whites—
Dominions of the hashaba—Perishes in loar—Passaconaway—His dominions—
His last speech to his people—His life—His daughter marries IVinnapurket—Peti-

tions the court of Massachusetts—Lands allotted to him—English send a force to

disarm him— TJieir fears of his enmity unfounded—they seize and illtreat his son—
He escapes—Passaconaway delivers his arms, and makes peace toith the English—
Traditions concerning—Life of Wannalancet—His situation in Philip's war—
Messengers and letters sent him by the English—Leaves his residence—His humanity—Fate of JosiAH Nouel— Wannalancet returns to his country—His lands seized

in his absence—He again retires into the toildcrness—Mosely destroys his village,

^c.—Imprisoned for debt—Favors Christianity—A speech—Wehakownowit,
sachem of JVeto Hampshire—Robinhood—His sales of land in Maine—MoNQ.niNE—Kennebis—AssiMiNAsquA

—

Abbigadasset— Their residences and sales of land—Melancholy fate of Chocorua.

Some knowledge of the Indians eastward of the Massachusetts was
very eai'ly obtained by Captain John Smith, which, however, was very
general ; as that they were divided into several tribes, each of which had
their own sachem, or, as these more northern Indians pronounced that

word, sachemo, which the English understood sagamore ; and yet all the

sachemos acknowledged subjection to one still gi-eater, which they called

bashaba.

Of the dominions of the bashaba, writers diflTer much in respect to their

extent. Some suppose that his authority did not extend this side the Pas-
cataqua, but it is evident that it did, fi'om Captain SmiWs account.t Wars
and pestilence had greatly wasted the eastern Indians but a short time before

the English settled in the country ; and it was then difiicult to determine the

relation the tribes had stood hi one to the other. As to the bashaba of Penob-
scot, tradition states that he was killed by the TaiTatines, who lived still

farther east, in a war which was at its height in 1615.

PASSACONAWAY seems to have been a bashaba. He lived upon the

Merrimack River, at a place called Pennakook, and his dominions, at the

period of the English settlements, were veiy extensive, even over the sachems
living upon the Pascataqua and its branches. The Abenaques inhabited

between the Pascataqua and Penobscot, and the residence of the chief

sachem was upon Indian Island.J Flvzllen and Captain Sunday were early

known as chiefs among the Abenaques, and Squando at a later period ; but

* Gookin's MS. Hist. Prayinff Indians.

t " The principal habitations I saw at northward, was Penobscot, who are in wars with the

Terentines, their next northerly neighbors. Southerly up the rivers, and along the coast, we
found Mecadacul, Segocket, Pemmaquid, Nusconcus, Sagadahock, Salquin, Aumau^hcaw-
gen cind Kenabeca. To those belong the countries and people of Segotago, Pauhunlanuck,

Poeopassum, Taughtanakagnet, Wabigganus, Nassaque, Masherosqueck, Wawrigwick,
Moshoquen, VVaccogo, Pasharanack, &c. To those are allied in confederacy, the countries

of Aucocisco, Accominticus, Pa^salaquak, Augawoam and Naemkeek, all these, for any

thing I could perceive, differ little in language or any thing ; though most of them be sagamos

and lords of themselves, yet they hold the bashabes of Penobscot the chief and greatest

amongst them." 3 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. iii. 21, 22.

X Williamson's Hist. Maine, ii. 4.

24
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of these we shall be more particular hereafter : the first sachem we should
notice is Passaconaway. He " lived to a veiy great age ; for," says the author
of my manuscript, "1 saw him alive at Pa-ivtucket, when he was about a

hundred and twenty yeai"s old." * Before his death, he delivered the follow-

ing speech to his children and friends : " / am now going the way ofalljfesh, 01

ready to die, and not likely to see you ever meet together any more. I will now leave

this word of counsel withyou, thatyou may take heedhowyou quarrel with the English,

for though you may do them much mischief, yet assuredly you unll all he destroyed^

and rooted off the earth if you do ; for, I was as much an enemy to the English, at

theirfrst coming into these parts, as any one whatsoever, and did try all ivays and
means possible, to have destroyed them, at least to have prevented them settling down
here, but I could no ivay effect it ; therefore I advise you never to contend with tfu

English, nor make war with them." And Mr. Hubbard adds, " it is to be noted,

that this Passaconawa was the most noted powow and sorcerer of all the

country."

A story of the man-iage of a daughter of Passaconaway, in 1629, is thus
related. Winnepurket, commonly called George, sachem of Saugus, made
known to the chief of Pennakook, that he desired to marry his daughter,

which, being agreeable to all parties, was soon consnmmated, at the resi-

dence of Passaconaway, and the liilarity was closed with a great feast. Ac-
cording to the usages of the chiefs, Passaconaway ordered a select number of
his men to accompany the new-married couple to the dwelling of the

husband. When they had arrived there, several days of feastuig followed,

for the entertainment of his friends, who could not be present at the con-
summation at the bride's father's, as well as for the escort ; who, when this

was ended, returned to Pennakook. ,

Some time after, the wife of TVinnepurket, expressing a desire to visit her

father's house and friends, was permitted to go, and a choice company con-
ducted her. When she wished to return to her husband, her father, instead

of conveying her as before, sent to the young sachem to come and take her
away. He took this in high dudgeon, and sent his father-in-law this answer:
" When she departed from me, I caused my men to escort her to your dwell-

ing, as became a chief She now having an intention to retin-n to me, I did

expect the same." The elder sachem was now in his turn angr}', and
I'eturned an answer which only increased the difference ; and it is believed

that thus terminated the connection of the new husband and wife, f

This same year, [1662,] we find the general court acting upon a petition

of Passaconaway, or, as his name is spelt in the records themselves, Papisse-

coneway. The petition we have not met with, but from the answer given to

it, we learn its natui-e. The court say :
" In answer to the petition of

Papisseconeway, this court judgeth it meete to graunt to the said Papissecone-

way and his men or associates about Naticot, \ above Mr. Brenton^s lands,

where it is free, a mile and a half on either side Merremack Riuer in breadth,

three miles on either side in length : provided he nor they do not alienate

any part of this grant without leave and license from this comt, first

obtained."

Governor Winthrop mentions this chief as early as 1632. One of his men,
having gone with a white man into the countiy to trade, was killed by
another Indian " dwelling near the Mohawks countiy, who fled away with

his goods ;
" but it seems from the same account, that Passaconmvay pursued

and took the murderer. In 1642, there was great alarm throughout the

English settlements, from the belief that all the Indians in the oountiy were
about to make a general massacre of the whites. The government of Mas-
sachusetts took prompt measures " to strike a terror into the Indians." They
therefore " sent men to Cutshamekin, at Braintree, to fetch him and his guns,

* Gookin's Hist, of Praijing Indians. This history was drawn up during' the year 1677,

and how long before this llic author saw hiin, is unknown ; but there can be no doubt but he

was dead some years before I'Inlip's war. Nevertheless, with Mr. Hiibbaid and our text

before him, the author of Tales of the I-ndians has made Passaconaway appear in the person

of Aspinqiiid, in 1682, at Agnmcntacus in Maine.

t Deduced from facts in Morton's N. Canaan.
t Another version of Nalmm-keasr.
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bows, &c., which was done ; and he came -ivilhngly : And being hue in the
night when they came to Boston, he was put into the prison ; but tlie next
morning, finduig, upon examination of him and divers of his men, no ground
of suspicion of his ptu-taklng m any such conspiracy, he was dismissed.
Upon the warrant which went to Ipswich, Rowley and Newbury, to disarm
Passaconamy, who Hved by Merrimack, they sent forth 40 men armed the
next day." These Enghsh were hindered from visiting the wigwam of
Passaconaway, by rainy weather, " but tliey came to his son's and took iiim."

This son we presume was Wanncdnncet. Tliis they had orders to do ; but

for taking a squaw and her child, they had none, and were ordered to send
them back again immediately. Fearing fVannalancefs escape, they ' led him
in a line, but he taking an opportunity, slipped his line and esi-aped fi*om

them, but one veiy indiscreetly made a shot at him, and missed him nar-

rowly." These were called, then, " unwan-anted proceedings," as we should

say they very well might have been. The English now had some actual

reason to feai* that Passaconaway would resent this outrage, and theretbre

"sent Cutshamekin to him to let him know that what was done to his son

and squaw was without order," and to in\'ite iiim to a parley at Boston ; also,

*' to show him the occassion whereupon we had sent to cUsiu^m all the In-

dians, and that when we should find that they were iimocent of any such

conspiracy, we would restore all their arms again." Passaconaway said when
he should have his son and squaw returned safe, he would go and speak

with them. The squaw was so much frightened, that she ran away into the

woods, and was absent ten days. It seems that fVannalancet was soon lib-

erated, as he within a short time went to the English, " and delivered up his

guns, &c." * These were the ch'cumstances to which Miantunnomoh alluded

so happily afterwards.

At a com-t in Massachusetts in 1644, it is said, " Passaconaway, the Mem-
mack sachem, came in and submitted to om* government, as Pumham, &c.

had done before ;" and the next year the same entiy occm-s again, with

the addition of his son's submission also, " together with their lands and

people." t

This chief is supposed to have died about the same time with Massasoit,

a sachem whom m many respects he seems to have much resembled. I He
was often styled the great sackcm, and, accoi-duig to Mr. Hubbard, was con-

sidered a gi'eat po^vwow or sorcerer among his people, and his fame in this

respect was veiy extensive ; and we know not that there was any thing that

they thought him not able to perform: that he could cause a green leaf to

grow in winter, trees to dance, and water to bum, seem to have been feats

of common notoriety in his time.

WANNALANCET, or Wonolancet, in obedience to the advice of his father,

always kept peace with the English. He resided at an ancient seat of the

sagamores, upon the JMei-rimack, called at that time jYaamkeke, but from

whence he withdrew, m the time of the war with Philip, and took up his

quarters among the Pennakooks, who were also his people.

About the beginning of September, 1675, Captain Mostly, -with about 100

men, was ordered to march up into the country of the Merrimack to ascertain

the state of affairs under fVannalancet. These men scouted in warlike airay

as far as Pennakook, now Concord, N. H. They could not find an Lidian,

but came upon their Avigwams, and burned them, and also a quantity of dried

fish and other articles. Although this was a most wanton and unwarrantable,

not to say unnecessary act of these whites, yet no retaliation took place on

the part of the Indians. And whether to attribute theiV forbearance to cow-

ardice, or to the gi-eat respect in which the dying advice of Passaconaway was

* Winthrop's Journal. t Ibid.

i Among other stanzas in Farmer and Moore's Collections, the following very happily

introduces Passaconaway

:

—
" Once did my throbbing bosom deep receive

The sketch, which one o( Passaconaway drew.

Well may the muse his memory retrieve

From dark oblivion, and, with pencil true,

Retouch that picture strange, with tints and honors due."
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held, IS not certain ; for Wanalancet and his men had notice of the approach
of Mostly, and lay concealed while he was desti'oying then- efi'ects ; and
might have cut off his company, which the young warriors advised, bu<

Wannalancet would not perinit a gim to be fired.

Having abundant reason now to fear the resentment of the Pawtuckett and
Pennakook Lidiaus, the council of Massachusetts, 7 September, 1675, ordered

that Lieutenant Thomas Henchman, of Chelmsford, should send some messen-
gers to find him, and persuade him of their friendship, and urge his retm-n to his

place of residence. With this order, a letter was sent to Wannalancet at the

same time. They are as follows : " It is ox'dered by the council that Lieut.

Tho^. Henchman do forthwith endeavor to procure by hire, one or two
suitable Indians of Wamesit, to travel and seek to find out and speak with

Wannalancet the sachem, and cany with them a writing fi-om the council,

being a safe conduct unto the said sachem, or any other principal men be-

longing to Natahook, Penagooge, or other people of those northern Indians,

giving (not exceeding six persons) free liberty to come into the house of the

said Henchman, where the council will appoint Capt. Gookin and Mr. Eliot to

treat with them about terms of amity and peace between them and the Eng-
lish ; and in case agreements and conclusions be not made to mutual satis-

faction, then the said sachem and all others that accompany him shall have
fi'ee liberty to retui'n back again ; and this offer the council are induced to

make, because the said Wannalancet sachem, as they are mformed, hath de-

clared himself that the Enghsh never did any wrong to him, or his father

Passaconaway, but always lived in amity, and that lois father charged him so to

do, and that said Wannalancet will not begin to do any wrong to the English."

The following is the letter to Wannalancet

:

—
"This our writmg or safe conduct doth declare, that the govenior and

coimcil of Massachusetts do give you and eveiy of you, provided you exceed
not six persons, free liberty of coming unto and returning in safety from
the house of Lieut. T. Henchman at Naaml<eake, and there to treat with

Capt. Daniel Gookin and Mr. John Eliot, whom you know, and [whom] we
will fully empower to treat and conclude with you, upon such meet terms

and articles of fi'iendship, amity and subjection, as wei-e formerly made and
concluded between the English and old Passaconaway, yom- father, and his

sons and people ; and for this end we have sent these messengei-s [blank in

the MS.] to convey these unto you, ajid to bring your answer, whom we
desu-e you to treat kindly, and speedily to despatch them back to us with

your answer. Dated in Boston, 1 Oct. 1675. Signed by order of the

council. John Leverett, Gov.
Edw'. Raioson, Seer."

The messengers who went out with this letter, to find Wannalancet, could

not meet with him, but employed another to find him, and returned; and
whether he ever received it is not distinctly stated. However, with a few
followers, he retired into the wilderness near the source of the Coimecticut,

and there passed the winter. The next summer he was joined by parties of
Nipmuks under Sagamore sain, One-eyed-john, and others, who, coming in

with him, were in hopes of receiving pardon, but their fate has been
stated.

Major Waldron of Cochecho had many Indians in his uiterest during the

war with Philip. Some of these were employed to entice men from the

enemy's ranks, and they succeeded to a great extent. And by the beginning

of Septenilxr, 1676, about 400 Indians, from various clans far and near, had
been induced to come into Dover. Among these was Jf'annalancet and hia

company. They came without hesitation, as they had never been engaged
in the war ; and many who had been engaged in hostility came along with

them, presuming they might be overlooked in the crowd, and so escape the

vengeance of their enemies ; but they were all made ])risoners on the 6 Sep
tember by a stratagem devised by scleral officers, who with their men hap
pened then to be at Dover witii Waldron, and somewhat more than half ot

the whole were sold into foreign slavery or executed at Boston : about 200
were of the former number.
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The stratagem made use of to trepan those Indians was as follows: It was
proposed by the English that they should join with the Indians in a training,
and have sham-fights. While performing their evolutions, a movement was
made by the whites, which entirely surrounded the Indians, and they were
ail secm-ed -ivithout violence or bloodshed.
Ou the 3 May, 1676, Thomas Kimbal of Bradford was killed, and his wife

and five children carried into the wilcferness. From the circumstance that
Jf'annalancet caused them to be sent home to their friends again, it would
seem that they were taken by some of the enemy vnthin his sachemdom, or
by some over whom he had some control. From a manuscript written about
the time,* we are able to make the follovdng extract, which goes to show
that Wannalancet was ever the friend of the English, and also his disposition
to humane actions. Mr. Cobbet says, "though she [Mrs. Kimbal,] and her
sucking cliild were twice condemned by the Indians, and the fires ready
made to burn them, yet, both times, saved by the request of one of their own
grandees ; and afterwards by the intercession of the sachem of Pennicook,
stuTed up thereimto by Major JFaldroij, was she and her five children, together
with Philip Eastman of Haverhill, taken captive when she and her children
were, set at libertj', without ransom."
The 400 Indians surprised at Cochecho, by Hathome, Frost, Sill, and fFal-

dron, included Wannalancet with his people, who did not probably exceed
100. This chief, then, with a few of his people, being set at liberty, was per-
suaded to return to his former residence at Naamkeke, but he never felt rec-
onciled here afterwards, for it had become almost as another place : some
lawless whites had seized upon his lands, and looked upon him with envious
eyes, as though he had been an intruder and had no right there. He, however,
continued for about a year afterwards, when, upon the 19 September, 1677,
he was visited by a party of Lidians from Canada, who urged him to accom-
pany them to their country. He finally consented, and with all of his people,

except two, in number about 50, of whom not above eight were men, depart-

ed for Canada, and was not heard of after, f

It was on this veiy same day, viz. 19 September, that a party of Indians fell

upon Hatfield, the particulai-s of which uTuption, though in one view of the

case does not strictly belong to the life of Wannalancet, we give here in the
words of Mr. Hubbard. % " About Sept. 19th, 40 or 50 River Indians § fell sud-
denly upon the town of Hatfield, whose inhabitants wei-e a little too secure,

and too leady to say the bitterness of death was past, because they had neither

seen nor heard of an enemy in those parts for half a jear before. But at this

:ime, as a considerable number of the inhabitants of that small village were
jmployed in raising the frame of an house without the palisadoes, that defend-

3d their houses from any sudden incursions of the enemy, they were violent-

(y and suddenly assaulted by 40 or 50 Indians, whom they were in no capacity

to resist or defend themselves, so as several were shot down from the top of
the house Avhich they -were raising, and sundry were carried away captive, to

the number of 20 or more, which was made up 24 with them they carried away
the same or the next day fi-om Deerfield, whither some of the inhabitants had
unadvisedly too soon returned. One ofthe company escaped out oftheir hands
two or three days after, who informed that they had passed wth their poor

captives two or three times over the Connecticut to pi-event being pursued."

At first this attack was supposed to have been made by a party of Mohawks,
according to Gookin, because it took place the next day after some of that

nation had passed through the place with some Christian Indians prisoners,

and a scalp, which was afterwards found to have been taken fi-om the head

of an Indian named Josiah JSTouel,
||
near Sudburj^ But one of the captives

* Bv Rev. T. Cobbet of Ipswich.

t Gookin"s MS. Hist. Praying Indians. t Hist. N. England, 636.

§ They inhabited chiefly in New York alon^ the Hudson ; a few in the N. \V. comer of

Connecticut, and a few on the Housatunnuk River. Hopkin's Memoir of the Horisatunnuk

Indians, p. ].—" The Wabinga, sometimes called River Indians, sometimes Mohicanders,

and who had their dwelling's between the west branch of Delaware and Hudson's River, from

Ihe Kittatinney ridge down to the Rariton." Jefferson's Notes, 308.

II
By his death four small children were left fatherless. Nouel and James Speen had I eea

24*
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taken at Hatfield escaped, and returned soon after, and reported that the com-
pany of Indians that attacked Hatfield consisted of 23 men and four women,
and were some of those who had belonged to Philip's party, but had taken
up their residence in Canada, from whence they made this exjiedition.*

Another ]3arty left Canada at the same time, who, after separating from the
former, directed their course towards Merrimack, and this was the company
who persuaded or compelled Wannalancet to go with them. That he went
not by compulsion is very probable ; for the party with whom he went oflT

" were his kindred and relations, one of them was his wife's brother, and his

eldest son also lived with the French " in Canada, f

While at Pawtucket, and not long before his final departure, Wannalancet
went to the Reverend Mr. Fiske of Chelmsford, and inquu-ed of him con-
cerning the welfare of his former acquaintances, and whether the place had
suffered much during the war. Mr. Fiske answered that they Jiad been
highly favored in that respect, and for which he thanked God. " Me next,"

said the chief, thereby intimating that he was conscious of having prevented
mischief fi-om falling upon them. J

In 1659, Wannalansit was thrown into prison for a debt of about £45. His
people, who owned an island in Merrimack River, three miles above Paw-
tuckett Falls, containing 60 acres, half of which was under cultivation,

relinquished it, to obtain his release. About 1670, he removed to Pawtuckett
Falls, where, upon an eminence, he built a fort, and resided until Philip's

war. He was about 55 years of age in 1674 ; alwajs friendly to the English,

but unwilling to be impoituned about adopting their religion. When he had
got to be very old, hoAvever, he submitted to their desires in that resjject.

Upon that occasion he is reported to have said, " / must acknowledge I have all

my days been used to pass in an old canoe, and noiv you exhoH me to change and
leave my old canoe aiid embark in a netvone, to ivhich I have hitherto been unwill-

ing, but noio I yield up myself to your advice, and enter into a new canoe, and
do engage to pray to God hereafter.''^

Reverend John Eliot thus writes to the Honorable Robert Boyle § in England,

tog'ether but half an nour before the former was killed, and by appointment were to have met
again. But when Speen came to the place, he could find nothing of his friend. The3' were
brothers-in-law.

* It seems from the narrative of Quiniin Stockicell, that the party who committed this

depredation was led liy a great and magnanimous sachem called ASHPELON, of whom,
further than the events of this famous expedition, I have learned nothing. " Sept. 19, 1677,
about sunset," says Stockwell, " I and another man being together, the Indians with great

shouting and shooting came upon us, [at Deerfield,] and some other of the English hard b\-, at

which we ran to a swamp for refuge ; which they perceiving, made after us, and shot at us,

three guns being discharged upon me. The swamp being miry I slipt in and fell down
;

whereupon an Indian stept to me, with his hatchet lifted up to knock me on the head, sup-

posing 1 was wounded, and unfit for travel. It happened I had a pistol in my pocket, which
though uncharged, I presented to him, who presently stept back, and told me, if I would
yield I should have no hurt ; boasted that they had destroyed all Hatfield, and that the woods
were full of Indians ; whereupon I yielded myself." He was then taken back to Deerfield,

where he was pinioned, and with other captives marched into the wilderness. Their suffer-

ings, as usual in Indian caplivil3', were most cruel and severe ; for many nights together they

were " staked down " to the cold ground, in this manner : The captive being laid upon his

back, his arms and feet were extended, and with cords or withes lashed to stakes driven

into the ground for that purpose. Besides lashing the arms and legs, the neck and body were
also secured in the same way, and often so tight as to cause swellings and the most excruci-

ating pains. While on their march, the captives had frequent opportunities of escaping
singTy, but would not, for fear of endangering the lives of the rest ; Ijut at length Benjamin
StehhiTis, in a journey with his Indian master to Wachuset hill, made his escape. When the

rest knew this, they were for burning the remaining captives, but some being opposed te the

measure, they agreed to have a court and dcl)atc the subject. Ashjielon told the English not

to fear, for he would speak last, and would frustrate the design of burning, lor he would show
that it was not Stehhins's fault for running away, hut the fault of the Indian who had him in

charge ; and he brought it to pass, as he had promised. Having at length arrived among the

French, Stoc/ncell was pawned to ono of them, and in the end sold for 21 beaver skins, and
Bome time the next vear got home again. Remarkable Providences. Blame's America, 221.

+ Gookin's HIS. History. t Allen's Hist. Chelmsford, 157.

^ For many years at the head of the Society for Propnffaling the Gospel among the Indians.

Ho was a great benefactor of N. England, and one of the founders of the Roval Society of

London. He was by birth an Irishman, riul settled finally at Oxford, Englaud. lie died in Lon
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in 1677 :—"We had a sachem of the gi-eatest blood in the country submitted
to pray to God, a little before tlie ware : his name is Wanalauncet : in the
time of the wars he fled, by reason of the wicked actings of some English
youth, who causelessly and basely killed and wounded some of them. He
was persuaded to come la again. But the English having plowed and sown
with rye all their lands, they had but little corn to subsist by. A party of
French Indians, (of whom some were of the kindred of this sachem's wife,)

very lately fell upon this people, being but few and miai-med, and pai-tly by
persuasion, partly by force, carried them away. One, with his wife, child
and kinswoman, who were of our praying Indians, made their escape, came
in to the English, and discovered what was done. These things keep some
in a continual disgust and jealousy of all the Indians." *

It may be proper to add a word upon the name of the place which we
have often mentioned in this life, as the same word, differently pronounced,
was applied to a gi-eat many places by the Indians, and is tlie same word
which Dr. /. Mather and some others made many believe was made up of
two Hebrew words, to prove that the Indians were really the descendants of
the dispersed Jews ; but for which purpose, if we ai-e not misinformed, any
other Indian word would answer the same purpose. The doctor vvrites

the name JVahumkeik, and adds that JVahum signifies consolation, and keik a
bosom, or heaven ; and hence the settlers of places beai'ing this name were
seated in the bosom of consolation, f He points out this etymological anal-
ogy in speaking of the settlement of Salem, which was called by the tidians
JVaumkeag, JVamkeg, JVaamhok, JVaumkuk, or something a little somewhat
like it A sad bosome of consolation, did it prove in the days of Tituba, (to

say nothing of some more modem events,) and even in Dr. Mather's own
days. [Though a digression, we shall, I doubt not, be pardoned for inserting
here Dr. C. Mather's account of a curiosity at Amoskeag Falls, which he gave
in a letter to London, and which afterwards appeared in the Philosophical
Transactions : f

" At a place called Amnuskeag, a little above the hideous §
falls of Merimack River, there is a huge rock in the midst of the stream, on
the top of which are a great number of pits, made exactly round, like baiTcls

or hogsheads of different capacities, some so large as to hold several tuns.

The natives know nothing of the time they were made ; but the neighboring
Indians have been wont to hide then- provisions in them, in then- wars with the
Maquas ; afiirming, God had cut them out for that use for them. They seem
plainly to be artificial." It could certainly have required no great sagacity

to have supposed that one stone placed upon another in the water, so as to

have been constantly rolled from side to side by the current, would, in time,

occasion such cavities. One quite as remarkable we have seen near the

source of this river, in its descent fi'om the Franconia Moimtains ; also upon
the Mohawk, a shoit distance below Little Falls. They may be seen as you
pass upon the canal.

Eai'ly purchases of lands bring to our notice a host of Indians, many of

don, 1691, aged 64 years. The following lines are no less well conceived by the poet than
deserved by this benevolent philosopher

:

How much to Boyle the learned world does owe,
The learned world does only know.
He traced great nature's secret springs

;

The causes and the seeds of things
;

What strange elastic power the air contains,

What mother earth secures within her secret veins.

Athenian Oracle, i. 67.

» 1 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. iii. 179.

t Relation of the Troubles, &c. 20. Dr. Increase Mather was the author of a great many
works, chiefly sermons, many of which have become curious for their singularity, and some
others valuable for the facts they contain. His sermons, like many others of that day, had

very little meaning in them, and consequently are now forgotten. He was son of Richard

Mather, preached in Boston above 60 years, dfied in 1723, aged 84 years. See hi' life, by his

son, Dr. Cotton Mather, who was bom 12 Feb. 1662—3, died 13 Feb. 1727—8, aged 65. Se«
his life by Sanmel Mather.

\ Vol. v. of Jones's Abridgement, part ii. 164.

^ We cannot say what they were in those days, but should expect to be laughed at if wi
should call them hideous at the present time.
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whom, though sachems, but for such cu-cumstances of trade, would never
have come to om- knowledge. There are some, however, of whom we shall

in this chapter take notice, as such notices assist in enabling us to judge how
the natives regai'ded then- lands, and the territories of then* neighboring
countiymen.
WEHAJVOWNOWIT was a New Hampshire sachem, whose name has

been considerably handled within a few years, from its being found to the

much-talked-of deed conveying lands in New Hampshke to the Reverend
John fVheelimight, and others, 3 April, 1638. If Wehanownowit were sachem of
the ti'act said to have been by him conveyed, his " kingdom " was larger

than some can boast of at this day who call themselves kings. It was to

contain 30 miles square, and its boundaries were thus described : " lying and
situate within three miles on the northerne side of y^ River Meremoke,
extending thirty miles along by the river from the sea side, and from the

sayd river side to Pisscataqua Patents, 30 miles up into the countrey north-

west, and so from the falls of Piscataqua to Oyster River, 30 mUes square
every way." The original is in possession of Mr. John Farmer, of Concord,

N. H. * TuMMADOCKTON was a son of Wehanotunowit, and his name is also

to the deed above mentioned ; and another Indian, belonging to that tract of
country, named fVatchenowet : these both relinquished then* title to, or con-
curred in the sale of said tract.

RoBiNHoonf was the father of a more noted chief, whose Indian name
was Wohawa, but commonly knowTi among the English as Hopehood. His
territories, as will appear, were upon the Kennebeck River in the first settle-

ment of N. England.
Our first notice of Rolinhood rmis as follows: "Be itknovvTi"— "that I,

Ramegin,l soe called by my Lidian name, or Robinhood, soe called by
Enghsh name, sagamore of Negusset, [or Neguasseag,] doe freely sell vnto

James Smith"— " part of my land, beginning att Merry-meeting Cove, and
Boe downward the maine riuer vnto a rocke, called Winslowe^s Rocke, in the

longe reacli, and in breadth eastward ouer the little riuer, runinge through

the great mersh, with the priuilidges [reserved to me] as hunting, fowlinge,

fishing, and other games." Smith was to pay him or his heu-s, on the 1 No-
vember annually, " one peck of Indian corn." This deed bears date 8 May,
1648, and is signed and witnessed as follows :—

§

Negwinis his -j- mark. Robinhood Ii^ ^^ mark.

SoNGREEHOOD his \" mark Mr. Thomas A ^^ mark,

and two English. Pewazegsake ^ his mark.

The mark -^^ of Robin.

The next year, 1649, he sold the island of Jeremysquam, on the east side

of the Kennebeck, and in 1654 we find him selling his place of residence,

which was in what is now Woolwich, to Edward Bateman and John Brown.
In 1663, Robinhood is mentioned as one ol" the principal chiefs among the

eastern Indians,
||

In 1667, the inhabitants upon Connecticut River, about Hadley, sustained

some injui-y from Lidians, in their lands and domestic animals, and satisfac-

tion therefor was demanded of Robinhood; at the same time threatening him
with the utmost severity, if the like should be repeated. But whether his

people were the perpetrators we are not told ; but from the following facts

it may be thought otherwise. " To promote amity with them, license was at

length given to the traders in fur and in peltries, to sell imto Indian friends

* MS. communicalion of that gentleman.

t This name was adopted, I have no doubt, as it came something near the soiuid of his

Indian name, as was the case in several instances wliidi we liave already recorded : the old

English robber of that name, or fables concerning him, are among the tirsl in the nursery.

Even at this day, the curious adult will dispense with Mr. Riison's collections of legends con-

lerning him with peculiar regret.

I The same, I suppose, called in Siillifan's Hist. Rogomok.

\ From a manuscript copy of the original deed.

P B Josselyn, who visited the country at this time. See his Voyages.
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guns and ammunition.''^ * Hence these // 'ends could see no reason, after-

wards, why arms were prohibited them, as we shall again have occasion to

notice.

On the breaking out of Philip's war, Robinkood was in no wise inclined
to join in it, and when a party of English was sent at that time to learn
the feelings of his people in that respect, he made a great dance, and by
songs and shouts expressed his satisfaction that the English were disposed
to maintain peace.

MoNQUiNE, "alias JVatahanada, the son of old JVatatvormett, sagamore of
Kennebeck River," sold to William Bradford and others, all the land on both
sides of said river, " from Cussenocke upwards to Wesserunsicke." This
sale bore date 8 August, 1648. The signature is ^^Monqiiine, alias Dum-
hanada.''^ Then follows : " We, Jlgodoademago, the sonne of fVasshcTnett, and
Tassucke, the brother of JVaiahanada, \ do consent freely unto the sale to

Bradford, Paddy, and others." |

Kennebis was a sachem from whom it has been supposed that the Ken-
nebeck River derived its name. But whether there were a line of saga-

mores of this name, from whom the river was so called, or whether sachems
were so called from their living at a certain place upon it, is uncertain. It

is certain, however, that there was one of this name residing there, contem-
poraneously with Robinhood, who, besides several others, deeded and
redeeded the lands up and down in the country. He was sometimes asso-

ciated in his sales with Abbigadasset, and sometimes with others. In 1649,

he sold to Christopher Lawson all the laud on the Kennebeck River up as

high as Taconnet falls, now Winslow, which was the residence of the great

chief Essiminasqua, or Assiminasqua, elsewhere mentioned. About the

same time, he sold the same tract, or a part of it, to Spencer and Clark. The
residence of Kennebis was upon Swan Island, " in a delightful situation, and
that of Abbigadasset between a river of his name and the Kennebeck, upon
the northern borders of Merry-meeting Bay." § Swan Island was purchased
of Abbigadasset in 1667, by Humphy Davie, and afterwai-ds claimed by Sir

John Davy, a serjeant at law.
||

We shall proceed to notice here one, of another age, whose melancholy
fate has long since commanded the attention of writers.

Some time previous to the settlement of Burton, N. H., that is, previous to

1766, there resided in that region a small tribe of Indians, among whom was
one named
Chocorua, and he was the last of the primitives of those romantic scenes.

This region was attracting to them on account of the beaver which were
found in its pellucid waters, and its cragged cliffs afforded safe retreats to a

plentiful game. It is handed to us by tradition, that Chocorua was the last

of this region, and that he was murdered by a miserable white himter, who,
with others of his complexion, had wandered here in quest of game. This
solitary man had retired to a neighboring mountain, and was there discovered

and shot. The eminence to which it is said this Indian had retired, is the

highest mountain in Burton, and commands a beautiful view of a gi-eat

extent of surrounding country. One of the most superb engravings that

has appeared in all our annuals, is that representing Chocorua in his last

retreat.

It is a fact well known in all the neighboring parts of the country, that

cattle cannot long sm-vive in Burton, although there appears abundance of

all that is necessary for then- support. They lose their appetite, pine and

* Williamson's Maine, i. 428, from 3 Mass. Rec.

t It appears from ihe " Answer to the Renmrks of the Plymouth Company," that Esseme
NOSQUE was also one that consented to the sale. He is the same whom we shall notice as

Assiminasqua in our next chapter.

i People of Pliroouth.— VFzTZiaTrei'arfrfj/ died at Boston. His gravestone was dug out of

the rubbish under the old state-house in 1830.

^ Williamson, i. 467. x i j j
II

Williimson. i. 331. Dr. Holmes, in his Annals, places the sale of Swan Island unda

1668.
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die. It is said that Chocorua cursed the English before he expired, and the
superstitious, to this day, attribute the disease of cattle to the cm-se of Cho-
corua. But a much nioi'e rational one, we apprehend, will be foimd in the

affection of the waters by minerals.

CHAPTER Vni.

Squando, sachem ofSaco—Attacks the town of Saco—Singular account of him by a
contemporary— The ill treatment ofhis wife a cause of war—His humanity in restor-

ing a captive—Madokawando— Causes of his hostility— Assiminasqua—His
speech—Speech of Tarumkin—Mdgg—Is carried to Boston to execute a treaty—Is

Madokawando's ambassador—Release of Thomas Cobbet—Madokawando's kindness
to prisoners—M.o%vs attacks Wells and is beaten off—Attacked the next year by the

Indians under Madokawando and a company of Frenchmen—Are repulsed xoith

great loss—Incidents of the siege—Mons. Casteins—Jl further account of Moxus—
Wanungonet—AssAcoMBUiT

—

Further account of Mugg—His death—Symon,
Andrew, Jeoffrey, Peter and Joseph—Account of their depredations—Life of
Kankamagus— Treated with neglect—Flies his country—Becomes an enemy—
Surprise of Dover and murder of Maj. Waldron— Masandowet—Worombo—
His fort captured by Church—Kankamagus's wife and children taken—Hopehood—
Conspicuous in the massacre at Salmon Falls—His death—Mattahando—
Megunneway.

The first chief which will here be properly noticed is Squando, a Tar-
ratine, sachem of the Socokis, commonly called sagamore of Saco. He ia

mentioned with a good deal of singularity by the writers of his tunes. And
we will here, by way of exordium, extract what Mr. Mather, m bis Brief
History, &c., says of him. " After this, [the burning of Casco,] they [the

Indians] set upon Saco, where they slew 13 men, and at last burnt the town.
A principal actor in the destruction of Saco was a strange enthusiastical saga-

more called Squando, who, some years before, pretended that God appeared
to him in the form of a tall man, in black clothes, declaring to him that he
was God, and commanded him to leave his drinking of strong liquors, and
to pi'ay, and to keep sabbaths, and to go to hear the word preached ; all

which things the Lidian did for some years, with great seeming devotion

and conscience, observe. But the God which appeared to him said nothing
to him /ibout Jesus Christ ; and therefore it is not to be marvelled at, that at

last he discovered himself to be no otherwise than a child of him that was
a murderer and a liar from the beginning." Mr. Hubbard says that he was
"the chief actor or i-ather the beginner" of the eastern war of 1675—6;
but rather contradicts the statement, as we apprehend, in the same para-

graph, by attributing the same cau^e to the " rude and indiscrete act of some
English seamen," who either for mischief overset a canoe in which was
Squanders wife and child, or to see if young Indians could swim naturally

like animals of the brute creation, as some had rej)orted. * The child went
to the bottom, but was saved from drowning by the mother's diving down
and bringing it up, yet "within a while after the said child died." "The
said Squando, father of the child, hath been so provoked thereat, tliat he hath
ever since set himself to do ail the mischief he can to the English." The
whites did not believe that the death of the child was owing to its immer-
sion ; still wi> must allow tiie Indians to know as well as they. As the

most memorable exploit in which Squando was engaged was the burning
of Saco, it will be proper to enter here more in detail into it. The two prin-

cipal inhabitants of the ])lace were Captain Bonithon and Major Phillips,

whose dwellings were situated on opposite sides of Saco River; the fbrmer
on the east and the latter on the west. On 18 September, 1675, Captain Bon-
ithon^s house was discovered to be on fire, but himself and family had just

* " They can swim naturally, striking their paws under their throat like a dog, and not

epreading their arms as we do." Josselyn's Voyugc to N. E. 142.
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before escaped across the river to Major Phillip's, and thus fortunately de-
feated a part of the design of their enemies. For this fortunate escape,
however, they w^ere under deep obligation to a friendly Indian who lived

neai'by; he having been some how made acquainted witli the design of
Squanto, immechately imparted his information to the English.
The fire of Bonithou's house, says Mr, Hubbard, " was to them [at Phillips's

garrison,] as the firing of a beacon," which gave them "time to look to them-
selves." A sentinel in the chamber soon gave notice that he saw an Indian near
at hand, and Major Phillips going into the top of tlie house to make further

discoveiy, received a shot in the shoulder ; but it proved to be only a flesh

wound. ICnowing Phillips, and supposing him to be slain, the Indians
raised a great shout, and instantly discovered themselves on all sides of the

gan-ison ; but the English, being well prepared, fired upon them from ail

quarters of their works, killing some and wounding others. Among the

latter was a chief who died in his retreat, three 'or four miles from the place.

He advised his fellows to desist from the enterprise, but they refused, and
after continuing the siege for about an horn- longer, they began to devise

some means to set the garrison on fii'e. But in order to draw out the men
from it in the first place, they set a house on fij-e near it, and also a saw and
grist mill ; that not having the desired effect, they called to them in an
exulting tone, and said, " You cowardly English dogs, come out andput out the

fire!"
The attack had begmi about 11 o'clock in the day, and though the night

partially put an end to it, yet the English were alarmed every half hour,

until about four or five o'clock in the morning, when the work of the preced-

ing niglit discovered itself A noise of axes and other tools liad been heard
in the neighborhood of the saw-mill, and it was expected the Lidians were
pi'eparing some engine with which to accomplish their object, and it proved

true. A cart with four wheels had been constructed, and on one end they

had erected a breastwork, while the body of the cart was filled with birch,

straw, powder, and such like matters for the ready consummation of the.x

stratagem. The approach of this Ibrmidable machine dismayed some of

the Englishmen in the garrison ; but being encouraged by their ofiicers, tliey

stood to their quarters, and awaited its approach. Their orders were not to

fii-e until it came within pistol shot. When it had got within about that

distance, one of the wheels stuck fast in a gutter, which its impellers not

observing m season, they forced the other wheels onward, and brought theni-

selves into a position to be effectually raked by the right flank of the garri-

son. This mistake of the enemy was improved to great advantage by the

English. They pom-ed in a sudden fu-e upon them, killing six and wound-
ing 15 more. This sudden and unexpected reverse decided the fate of the

gan-ison. The Indians immediately retreated, and the garrison received no
further molestation.

As was generally the case in sieges of this kind, the English learned what
damage they did their enemy, their numbers, &c., some time after the affair

happened. In this case, however, nothing more is related concerning the loss

of the Lidians than we have given, and their numbers Mr. Hubbard does not

expressly state, but says the people in the garrison "espied 40 of tliem

marching away the next morning at sunrise, but how many more were in

their company they could not tell." * There were 50 persons in the garri-

son, though but 15 of them were able to act in its defence.

But few days before the affair at Saco, viz. on 12 f September, the family of

Thomas Wakely at Presumpscot River were massacred in a revolting manner
The " old man," his son, and his daughter-in-law, then enceinte, with three

grandchildren, were all murdered, and when discovered by their neiglibors,

partly burned in the ruins of their habitation, to which the Indians had set

fii'e on leaving the jdace. One of the family was t<dcen captive, a girl about

11 years old, who, after having passed through all the tribes from the Sokokis

to the Narragansets, was restored to the English at Dover by Squando. But

• Mr. Folsom, Hist. Saco and Biddeford, 155, says they were computeJ ai 100.

t Williamson's Hist. Maine, i. 520.
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it does not appear whether this chief had any thing flirther to do in the

matter, although it may be interred, tliat he had some control or command
over those that held her prisoner. From the cu'cumstance that this child

was shown to the hostile tribes tlu'ough the counti-y, it would seem that the

eastern Indians were in concert with those to the west ; and it is probable
that this captive was thus exhibited to prove that they had taken up the

hatchet. Upon her being returned, Mr. Hubbard remarks, " She having been
caiTied up and down the countiy, some hundreds of miles, as far as Nan-a-
ganset fort, was, this last June, returned back to Major Waldron's by one
Squando, the sagamore of Saco ; a strange mlxtm-e of mercy and cruelty !

"

Ajid the historian of Elaine observes, that his " conduct exhibited at different

times such ti-aits of cruelty and compassion, as rendered his character
difficult to be portrayed."

He was a gi-eat powrwow, and acted in concert vsdth Madokawando. These
t\w) chiefs " ai"e said to be, by them that know them, a strange kind of mor-
alized savages

;
grave and serious m their speech and carriage, and not

without some show of a kind of religion, which no doubt but they have
learned from the prince of darkness." In another place, Mr. Hubbard calls

him an " enthusiastical, or rather diabolical miscreant." His abilities in war
gained him this epithet.

MADOKAWAisno, of wliom we have just made mention, was chief of the

Penobscot tribe. He was the adopted son of a chief by the name of ^issi-

minasqua. Some mischiet" had been done by the Androscoggin Indians m
Philip's war, and the English, following the example of those whom they

so much reprobated, retaliated on any Indians that tell in their way.
Madokawando was not an enemy, nor do we learn that his people had

committed any depredations, untU after some English spoiled his com, and
otherwise did him damage.
Many of the eastern Indians had been kidnapped and sold for slaves,

about the time Philip's war commenced. This, it will not be questioned,

was enough to cause a war, without Philip's instigation, or the aflVont offered

to the wife and child of Squando. The English had prohibited the sale of
arms and ammunition to them, as they had before to the western tribes,

as a means of lessening their power, provided they should declare themselves
hostile ; thus properly regarding their own safetj', and totally disregard-

ing whatever evils might accrue from the measm'e to the Indians. Knowing
enough had been done to excite then- resentment, agents were sent to pai'ley

with them, in the spring and summer of 1676, to hinder, if possible, their

taidng offence at these proceedings.

Meanwhile the Lidians had complamed to some friendly English of the

outrage upon then- friends, who were unacquamted with the cu'cumstance,

and hardly believed it ; still, told the Indians, that if it were so, those kid-

napped should be restored, and the perpetrators piuiished. But knowing
the circumstance to be as tliey had represented, it is rather mai-vellous, that

Indians, instead of at once retaliating, should hearken to unsatisfactory par-

leyings, as wll ap])ear ; lor when the English agents went to treat with them,
or rather to excuse themselves for what they could not, or pretended they could
not, amend, the Indians, in the course of the inter\'iew, said, " /Fe we/e c^nven

from our corn last year by the people about Kennebeck, and many of us died. We
had no powder and shot to kill venison andfowl ivith to prevent it. Ifyou Errglish

were ourfriends, asyou pretend you are, you would not suffer us to starve as ice did."

" However," says Mr. Hubbard, "the said agent, making the best he could ofa bad

cause, used all means to pcu:ify the complainants." The great " all means " was,
that they should try to get tiie An(h"oscoggin Indians to come and hold a treaty !

so that if the English could efiect a treaty with them, then there would be a
general peace with the eastern Indians. This talk, it was said, thej'^ received

witli joy. "Yet," adds the siune r.uthor, still by one latal accident or other,

jealousies still seemed to incre.ise in their minds, or else the former uijuries

oegan to boil afresh in their spirits, as not being easily digested," &c.
A meeting had been agreed upon at Totononnock, or Taconnet, and

immediately after the meeting just mentioned a runner was sent down fi'om

thence, with word that Squando would be there with " divers Anionoscoggau
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sachems," Mug^ having been sent as a messenger to him. Accordingly the
English proceeded to Taconnet. Ou then- arrival, they were honored with
a salute, and conducted into the council house, where they found Madoka-
wando, Assiminasqua, Tarumkin, Hopehood, Mugg, and many attendants.
Madokawando was prime negotiator, and Assimmasqua chief speaker, who
soon after proceeded to make a speech, and among other things said,

—

" It is not our custom when messengers cojne to treat of peace, to seize upon their

persons, as sometimes the Mohawks do ; yea, as the English have done, seizing upon
fourteen Indians, our men, tcho ivent to treat with you—setting a guard over them,
and taking away their guns. This is not all, but a second time you required our
guns, and demanded us to come down unto you, or else you ivoidd kill us. This
was the cause of our leaving both ourfort and our corn, to our gi-eat loss."

This speech caused considerable embarrassment to the English, "yet,"
says Hubbard, " to put the best construction might be, on such irregular
actions, which could not well be justified, they told them, the jiersons who
had so done * were not within the limits of their government, and therefore,
though they could not call them to an account for so acting, yet they did
utterly disallow thereof." f And to be as expeditious as possible^ the English
commissionei's told these chiefs that they came to treat with the Androscog-
gins, and were sorry that Squando was not there. And it appears that,

though the English reported a peace with the Penobscots, yet Madokawando
and his coadjutors scarcely understood as much ; and it is also evident that

the business was hurried over as fast as possible by the English commis-
sioners.

AssiMiNASQUAj it will be proper here to observe, was a Kanibas sachem^
whose residence was at or near the place where the treaty was held.

What had been said by Assiminasqua in the moi-ning was merely prelimi-

nary, and it was his intention in the afternoon to enter more particularly into

de'Ails ; but the English cut the matter short, and proceeded to treat with
such of the Androscoggins as were pi'esent. Tarumkin was then* orator, and
he spoke to this effect :

—

" / have been to the ivestward, where I have found many Indians unvnlling to

make peace ; butfor my oumpart, I am vrilling," which he confirmed by taking
the English by the hand, as did seven or eight of his men, among whom
were Mugg and Robinhood's son. The English had now, as they supposed,
got matters into a regular train ; but Madokaivando, it appears, was not Avill-

ing to leave things in quite so loose a manner, as it regarded his people.
He therefore interrupted :

—

" What are we to do for powder and shot, when our com is consumed'} ivhat

shall we dofor a lointer^s supply'? Must we perish, or must we abandon our coun-
try, andfly to the Frenchfor protection ?

"

The English repUed that they would do what they could with the gov-
ernor ;

" some might be allowed them for necessity." Madokawando added

:

" We have luaited a great while already, and now ive exped you tvill say yes or jio."

The English rejoined : " You say yourselves that many of the western In-

dians would not have peace, and, therefore, if we sell you powder, and you
give it to the western men, what do we but cut our own throats? It is not in

our power, without leave, if you should wait ten years more, to let you have
powder." Here, as might reasonably have been expected, ended the nego-
tiation, and massacres and bloodshed soon aft;er desolated that part of the

countiy.

At the close of the war of 1675 and 6, this sachem's people had among
them about 60 English captives. When it was known to him that the Eng-
lish desired to treat about peace, he sent Mugg, one of his chiefs, to Pascata-

quji, to receive proposals ; and, that he miglit meet "vvith good acceptance,

sent along with him a captive to his home. General Gendal, of Massachu-
setts, being there, forced Mugg on board his vessel, and carried him to Bos-

ton, for which treacherous act an excuse was pleaded, that he was not vested

with sufficient authority to treat with hiin. Madokawando's ambassador,

being now in the power of the English, was obliged to agree to such terms

* That is, those who had kidnapped iheir friends. t Hubbard, pari ii. 38

25 T
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as the English dictated.* It is no wonder, therefore, if the great chief soon
appeal's again theii' enemy. Still, when Mugg was sent home, Madokawando
agreed to the treaty, more readily, perhaps, as two armed vessels of the Eng-
lish conveyed him.
A son ofReverend Thomas Cobbet had been taken, and was among the Indians

at Momit Desert. It so happened that his master had at that time sent him
down to Casteiri's trading-house, to buy powder for him. Mugg took him by
the hand, and told him he had been at his father's house, and nad promised
to send him home. Madokawando demanded a ransom, probably to satisfy

the owner of the captive, "fearing," he said " to be killed by him, if he. yielded him
lup ivithout lie ivere there to consent ; for he was a desperate man, if crossed, and
had crambdf two or three in thai way." Being on board one of the vessels,

and treated to some liquor, " he walked awhile," says Cobbet, " to and again on
the deck, and oo a sudden made %. stand, and said to Captain Moore, ' Well
captain, since it is so, take this man : I freely give him up to you ; cariy him
home to his friends.' " f A red coat was given to Madokawando, which gave
him great satisfaction.

The historians of the war have all obsei-ved that the prisoners under Ma-
dokawando were remarkably well treated.

In February, 1677, Major Waldron, and Captain Frost, with a body of men,
were sent into the eastern coast to observe the motions of the Indians, who
still remained hostile. At Pemmaquid, they were invited on shore to hold a

treaty, but the English finding some v/eapons concealed among them, thought

it a sufficient umbrage to treat them as enemies, and a consideiable fight

ensued, in which many of the Indians were killed, and several taken prison-

ers ; auiong whom was a sister of Madokawando. He had no knowledge of
the affair, liavuig been gone for several months at a great distance into the

country, on a hunting voyage.
We hear no more of Madokaivando until 1691. It vnh be found mentioned

in the account of Egeremet, that in that yeai* a treaty was made with him and
other eastern chiefs. This was in November, and it was, agreed by them,
that, on the first of May following, they would deliver all the captives in their

possession, at Wells. " But," says Dr. Mather,§ " as it was not upon the frm
land, but in their canoes upon the ivater, that they signed and sealed this in-

strument ; so, reader, we will be jealous that it ^vill prove but a fluctuating

and unstable sort (5f business ; and that the Indians will do a lie as they used
to do."

Meanwhile Madokaivando, among other important expeditions which he
planned, attempted one upon York, in which he succeeded neai-ly to his

wishes, if not beyond his expectations. Such was his manner of attack, that

the English scarce knew their enemy ; from whence they came, or their

numbers. But it was afterwai'ds found by the Indians' own confession, and
some captives they had liberated, that Madokawando was the leader in the

business. Whether he had during the winter been to Canada, and got the

assistance of some Frenchmen, or whether Castiens, his son-in-law, and some
other Frenchmen who then resided among his people at Penobscot, were
with him, we cannot take it upon us to state ; but certain it is, some French
were in his company, but how many is also uncertain, but the number of
Indians Avas stated at about 250. It was on Monday, February 5, in the year
1692, early in the morning, that York was laid in ashes, all except three or

four garrisoned houses, and about 75 of its inhabitants killed, and 85 taken
captive.

Such only escaped as reached the garrisons, and these were summonedto
surrender, but the besiegers dared not to contmue long enough to make any
effectual assault upon them, and thus they escaped. The wretched captives

* A treaty was signed 9th of Dec. 1676. Manuscript Nar. of Rev. T. Cobbet. It may be
«een in Hubbard's iSfarrative.

t The Indian word for killed. Wood's N. E. Prospect.

i Manuscript Narrative, before cited. Perhaps this was the same Captain Moore who car

ried the news of Philip's defeat and death to London afterwards. See Old Indian Chroi*
ICLE, 105.

ij MagTialia, vii. 76.



Chap VIU.] MADOKAWANDO. 291

were hurried into the wilderness, and many suffered and died by the w av.
The Reverend Shubael Dummer, minister of the place, a man in high estuna-
tion for his virtues, was about the first victim ; he was shot as he was mount-
ing his horse at his own door ; his wife was among the captives, and died in
captivity. York was at this time one of the most important towns m the
country.*

Circmnstances having thus transpired, the English had verj' little reason to
expect an observance of the articles of the ti-eaty before alluded to, yet per-
sons were sent to Wells to receive the captives, provided they should be of-

fered. They took care to be provided wdth an armed force, and to have the
place of meeting at a strong place, which was Storer^s garrison-house. But,
as the author just cited observes, " The Indians being poor musicians for keep-

ing of time, came not according to their articles." The reason of this we
cannot explain, unless the warlike appearance of the English deterred them.
After waiting a while, Captam Converse siu-prised some of them, and brought
them in by force, and having reason to believe the Indians provoked by this

time, immediately added 35 men to his force. These, says Mather, " were
not come half an hour to Stover's house, on the 9th of Jime, 1691, nor had
they got their Indian weed fahly lighted, into their mouths, before fierce

Moxus, with 200 Indians, made an attack upon the garrison," f but were re-

pulsed and soon drew off. Madokawando was not here in person, but when
he knew of the disaster of his chief captain, he said, "J% brother Moxus has
missed it now, but I urUl go myself the next year, and have the dog Converse ovi

of his hokJ"

The old chief was as good as his word, and appeared before the garri-

son 22 Jime, 1692. He was joined by Portneuf and Labrocre, two French
ofiicers, with a body of their soldiers, and then* united strength was esti-

mated at about 500 men. They were so confident of success, that they
agreed before the attack, how the prisoners and property should be divided.

Converse had but 15 men, but fortunately there arrived two sloops with about
as many more, and supplies, the day betbre the battle.

Madokawando''s men had unwisely given notice of their approach, by firing

upon some cattle they met in the woods, which running m wounded, gave
the inhabitants time to fly to the garrison. The Indians were not only
seconded by the two French officers and a company of their men, as before
observed, but Moxus, Egeremet and Worombo were also among them.
They began the attack before day, with great fierceness, but after continu-

ing it lor some time without success, they tell upon the vessels in the river

;

and here, although the river was not above twenty or thirty feet broad, yet

they met with no better success than at the garrison. They tried many
stratagems, and succeeded in setting fire to the sloops several times, by means
of fire arrows, but it was extinguished without great damage. Tired of
thus exposing themselves and throwing away their ammunition, they return-

ed again to the garrison, resolving to practise a stratagem upon that, and
thus ended the first day of the attack. They tried to persuade the English
to suiTender, but finding they coidd not prevail, made several desperate

charges, in which they lost many. Beginning now to grow discouraged,

they sent a flag to the garrison to effect a capitulation, but Converse, being a

man of great resolution, replied, " that he wanted nothing but men to come
and fight him." To which the bearer of the flag said, " Being you are so

stoitt, ivhy donH you come and fight in the open field like a man, and notfight
in a garrison like a squaw ? " This attempt proving ineffectual also, they cast

out many threats, one of which was, " Jfe tvUl cut you as small as tobbaco,

before to-marrow morning.^ The captaui ordered them " to come on, for he
wanted work."
Ha\Tng nearly spent their ammimition, and Greneral Labrocre being slain,

they retired in the night, after two days' siege, leaving several of their dead
behind ; among whom was the general just named, who was shot through
the head. They took one EngUshman, named John Diamond, who had Ten-

* Magnolia, vii. Tlj—WiUianuon. Hist. Maine i. 628—8. t MagnaJia, vii. 76.
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tiued out of the gaiTison on some occasion, whom they tortm-ed m a most
barbarous manner. About the time of their retreating, they fired upon the
sloops, and killed tlie only man lost by the vessels during the assault. In

the attack upon the vessels, among other stratagems, they prepared a breast-

work upon wheels, which, notwithstanding their previous experience in this

kind of engine, at Brookfield and Saco, they again resolved to try, and there-

fore endeavored to brhig it close to the edge of the river. When they
had got it pretty neai-, one wheel sunk in the ground, and a French soldier,

endeavoring to lift it out with his shoulder, was shot dow^i ; a second was
also killed in the like attempt, and it was abandoned. They also built a raft

in the creek above the vessels, and placed on it an immense pUe of combus-
tibles, and, setting them on fii-e, floated it down towards them. But when
vtdthLn a few rods of the sloops, the whid di'ove it on shore, and thus they
were delivered from the most dangerous aitifice of the whole. For it was
said that, had it come down against them, they could not have saved them-
selves from the fuiy of its flames.

As late as 1736 an attempt was made to prove that Madokawando was not
chief sachem of the Penobscots, which it seems no one in his hfetime
thought of questioning. Nor had the fact at this time been questioned but
from mei'cenary motives. A claim having been set up to lands upon St.

George's River, in opposition to that of the hehs of Governor Leverett, that

falsehood was resorted to, to maintain it. The foundation of Leverett's claim

was in a deed dated Pemmaquid, 9 May, 1694, by v^hich Madokawanao con-

veyed to Su* William Phips the ti"act of land on both sides of St. George's

River, bounded east by Wessamesskek River, west by Hatthett's Cove Island,

thence by a line to the upper falls of St. George's River ; also Mastomquoog
Island in the mouth of said river, and St. George's Islands. A valuable con-
sideration is said to have been paid, but what it was does not appear from the

deed. The deponents called upon afterwards to prove Madokawando's power
to sell that tract, state the consideration variously, though none of them defi-

nitely ; some said Su* William Phips gave a large amount in money,* and
one that he gave a hatfull.j To this deed were the following signatm-es :

—

Signed, sealed and delivered in The mark of
presence of Madokawando, jV. Sagamore

The mark 21 q/" Edgar Emit, of Penobscot, ^ and a seal.

Sagamare of Kennehek.

Themark 1^ o/'Wenemouet,
cozin to Madokawando.

The mark ^ ©/"John Saugmore,
of Sheepsgut River, interpreter.

Also 6 or 7 whites.

From lin exi-mina'.ion o *" the varioTis affidavits before mentioned we derive

the following interestins: historical facts in the life of Madokawando ; viz.

that he diedin 1698, and was succeeded by Wenamouet, or, as his name is

sometimes spelled, Wenoggonet. This appears from the deposition of Cap-
tain Cyprian Souihack, who fiuther sjjvs " that he was with Madokawando,
when a present of 10 barrels of guiJpowder, a quantity of fii-e-aims, and
some clothes, were delivered him by Governor Willebone, which was a present

sent him by the King of France." "And that Monsieur Castain manied
the said Madokawando''s daughter."

Joseph Bane deposed, " that, in 1691, he was with Theodore Jitkinson, late

of Newcastle, in N. Hampshire, Esq., said Jltkinson^s wife, and Mrs. Elizabeth

Alcock of Portsmouth, widow, and many others at the house of Joseph

Moulton of York in the county of York, when they were taken captive by
a large number of Indians," that Madokawando was then commander of

said Indians, find was then reputed chief sachem of Penobscot. Bant
further relates that he was sold to an Amaroscoggen Indian, with whom he

lived till 1699, and that he was present when Madokawando ordered Theodore

Deposition oi John Phillips, 2 July, 1736.— Waldo's Defence, 3. t Ibid. 36.
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Atkinson, who was his captive, to wi-ite to the governor of Massachusetts ta
send a vessel to Sagadahok with goods to redeem the captives ; that it was
accordingly sent there, and Atkinson, his wile, and about 40 others were
redeemed.
John Longley was taken prisoner at Groton in July, 1694, and was servant

to Madokawando two years and a half.

The inJiabitants of Black Point gave, 3'early, a peck of com each to Ma
dokawando, as an acknowledgniont that he was sachem of Penobscot.

In 1690 Tobias Oakman was taken by the Indians at Black Point. Ai
which time he says he " personally knew Ed^ar Emet who was then chief
sachem of Kenebeck and Squando who was then chief sachem of Saco, and
Moxus who was then chief sachem of Noridgawock, and Shepcot John who
was then chief sachem of Shepscot and with Oorumby, who was then chief
sachem of Pejemscot." Oakman was taken prisoner by 30 IndiEins in 3
paities mider 3 chiefs ; one from Penobscot, one trom Norridgewok and the
other from Pejepscot ; Madokawando, Moxus and Ooi-umhy being the respec-
tive sachems ; hence Madokawando was sachem of Penobscot at that time.

In the treaty which the eastern chiefs made with Sir. William Phips at

Pemmaquid, 11 August, 1693, the following hostages were delivered to the
English to ensure its obsei-vance. " Ahassamhamet, brother to Edger Emet

;

Wenomouett, cousin to Madokawando ; Bagatawawongon, and Sheepscott
John." *

A daughter of Madokawando, as we have seen, married the Baron De Cas-
teins, by whom lie had several children.

In all of oiu- former editions we gave Lahontan's account of Casteins in a
note, and in the French language ; but it having been suggested by friends,

that it should not only occupy a place in the text, but be rendered in English,
1 improve the opportunity to make the change.
The Baron De St. Casteins, a gentleman of Oleron in Beam, having for

about 20 years resided among the Abenakis, gained so much of then- esteem,
that they regarded him as their tutelar deity. He had been an officer of the

Carignan regiment in Canada ; but when that regiment was disbanded, he
cast hunself among the savages, of whom he learned their language. He
took from them a wife after their manner, preferring the forests of Acadie,
to the Pyrenean moimtains, which environ his native coimtry. He lived,

dming the fii'st years of his abode with the Indians, in such a manner as to

gain a respect from them, above what can be imagined. They made him
great chief, which is the same as sovereign of the nation, and by little and
little he has worked up a fortune, which any other man would have turned
to good accoimt, and withdrawn from the country with two or three hundred
thousand crowns of gold in his coffers. However, lie only uses it to buy
merchandise, with which to make presents to his Indian brethren, who,
when they retiu-n from their hunting exciu-sions, reunburse him for his

presents with a triple amomit in beaver.f The governors of Canada
direct him, and those of New England fear him. He has several daughters,

all of whom are advantageously married to Frenchmen, vvith each a rich

dowry. He has never changed his vdfe,t showing the Indians by his

example that God is not pleased with inconstant men. It is said tiiat he has

endeavored to convert these poor people, but that his words produce no
good fruit, and hence it is of no use for the Jesuits to preach the truths of

Christianity to them
;
yet these fathers relax not their labors, and consider

that to confer baptism upon a dying infant repays them ten fold for the suf-

fei-ings and privations they experience in Uving among that people.<5

* Waldo's Defence, 39.—The names of these hostages differ materially from those in the

Magnalia, vii. 85.

t We should think that to a man of a sordid mind, this was " turning a fortune to gooo

account."

I That this amounts to a denial, as Mr. Halket reads it, (Notes on the American Indiana,

230,) that Casteins had but one wife, we do not agree. His not changing his wife, (// n'«

famais change de femme,) might^e true, if, as some assert, he had several at the same lime.

$ Memoires de tAmerique, ii. 29, 30.
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The town now called Castine, on the Penobscot River, was the place of
the residence of the Fi'ench baron, and a son of his succeeded hun in the
eachemdom of the Penobscots. He was with Iberville at the capture of
Pemmaquid in 1696, in which expedition he led 200 Indians. CaptaLa Chulib,

of whom we have spoken before, commanded the fort, which was well
manned and supplied, havuig 15 pieces of cannon and 90 men, but sun-en
dered it in a coweu-dly manner. He helped defend Port Royal in 1706, in

defence of which he was wounded ui 1707. He finally retired to his native
country, where he ended his days. Li 1688, Governor Jlndros, with an ai'ma-

ment, took possession of CastairCs village, plundered his house, and committed
other depredations, but himself escaped. Li 1721, his son was seized by
the English, and carried to Boston ; but they not long after set him at liberty.

Some have endeavoi'ed to ground an ai-gument upon the similarity of tlie

name of this chief to that of Madock the WelshmEUi, that the eastern In-
dians were descended fi'om a Welsh colony, who, in 1170, left that counti'y,

and were never heard of after. The story of some white Indians speaking
Welsh, on the Missouri River, has gained supporters in former and latter

periods. *

Moxus, or, as he was sometimes called, Agamagus, was also a noted chief.

We can add little concerning him, to what has already been said. After
Madokawando was dead, and the war between the French and English nations
had ceased, the eastern chiefs were ready to submit to terms. Moxus seems
the successor of Madokawando, and when delegates were sent into the east-

ern counti-y to make peace with the Indians, in 1699, his name stood first

among the signers of the treaty.f He concluded another treaty with Governor
Dudley, in 1702. The next yeai-, in compEiny with Wanungonet, Assacamhuit,
and a number of French, he mvested Captain March in the fort at Casco.

After using every endeavor to take it by assault, they had recom-se to the
following stratagem. They began at the water's edge to undermine it by
digging, but were prevented by the timely arrival of an armed vessel under
Captain Southack. They had taken a vessel and a great quantity of plunder.

About 200 canoes were destroyed, and the vessel retaken. From which
circumstance it may be inferred that their number was great.

Moxus was at Casco in 1713, to treat with the English, and at Georgeto^vn,
upon Arowsike Island, in 1717. There were seven other chiefs who attended
also at the time and place last mentioned.
MuGG was a chief among the Androscoggins, and very conspicuous in the

eastern war of 1676-7, into which he seems to have been brought by the

same cause as Madokaivando, already stated. He had been very friendly to

the English, and had lived some time with them.
On the 12 October, 1676, he made an assault upon Black Point, now in

Scarborough, with about 100 wan-iors. All the inhabitants being gathered into

one fortified place upon that point, a few hands might have defended it against
all the Indians on that side of the country.^ While the captain of the garri-

son was gone out to hold a talk witJi Mugg, the people fled frojn the garrison
and took all their effects along with them. A few of his own servants, how-
ever, remained, who fell into the hands of the chief, who treated them kindlj%

When IVaticis Card was a prisoner among his men, he told liim "thai he had
found out the ivay to bum Boston," and laughed much about the English;
Bajing he would have all their vessels, fishing islands, and whole country,
and bragged about his great numbers. He was killed at Black Point, on 16
May, the same place where, the year before, he had had such good success. He
had besieged the garrison three days, killed three men, and taken one captive

The celebrated Syinon, wlio had done so much mischief in many places, was
with him here. Lieutenant Tippin, who commanded the gairison, " made a

* See Janson's Stranger in America, 270, ed. 4-to. London, 1807; Universal Magazine, vol.

xciii. 21 ; Dr. Southey's Preface to his Madock ; Bouquet's Expcd. against Ohio Indians, 69
ed. 4lo. Loudon. 1766 ; Ker's Travels in America, 167—172 ; Burk, Hist. Virginia, ii. 84
Beatly, Jour. 24; Moulton's New-York, i. 46.; Barton's Physical Jour, i, pt. ii. 79
Culumi. Mag. for 1787.

> Magnalia, vii. 94. It is dated 7 Jan. 1698—9. 1 Hubbard, Ind. Wars, ii. 46
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successful shot upon an Indian, that was observed to be very busy and bohl
in the assault, who at that time was deemed to he Symon, the aixh villain and
incendiary of all the eastward Indians, but proved to be one almost as good
as himseltj who was called Mogg." *

Stmon, just named, was a troublesome fellow, who continued to create
considerable alarm to the inhabitants upon the Merrimack River, in tlie vicin-

ity of Newbury and Amesbury, about which part seems to have been his

residence, as late as the month of July, 1677. On tlieOth of July, six Indians
were seen to go into the bushes not fai* from the garrison at Amesbury ; two
days before, several men had been killed in the neighborhood, and one woman
wounded, whose name was Qidmby. Symon was the alleged leader of the

Eai-ty which committed the depredation. Mrs. Qidmby was sure that it was
e who " knocked her on the head," and she knew the names of many of the

rest with him, and named Andrew, Geoffrey, and Joseph. She begged ot" Sy7Ji07i

not to kill her. He replied, " Why, goodwife Qidmby, do you think that I will

kill you'}" She said she was afraid he would, because he killed all the

English. Symon then said, " I will give quarter to never an English dog of
you all," and then gave her a blow on the head, which did not happen to hurt

her much ; at which, being a woman of gi'eat courage, she tlu'ew a stone at

him ; he then turned upon her, and " struck her two more blows," at which
she fell, and he left her for dead. Before he gave her the last blosvs, she

called to the garrison for help. He told her slae need not do that, for, said

he, " I will have that too, by and by." Symon was well kno\vn to many of

the inhabitants, and especially to Mrs. Qidmby, as he had formerly lived with

her father, William Osgood.^ In April, 1677, Symon and his companions burnt

the house of Edward JVeymouth at Sturgeon Creek, and plundered the house

of one Crawley, but did not kill him, because he had shown kindness to

Symon^s grandmother.J
Symon was one of the Christian Indians, as were Andrew, Geoffrey, Peter,

and several others of the same company, a cu-cumstance which, with many,
much aggravated their offences. The irruption just mentioned is thus re-

lated by Mr. Hubbard : § " Symo7i and Andrew, the tAVO brethren in iniquity,

with a few more, adventured to come over Pascataqua River on Portsmouth

side, when they burnt one house within foiu- or five miles of the town, and
took a maid and a young woman captive ; one of them having a young child

in her arms, with which not willing to be troubled, they gave leave to her

that held it, to leave it with an old woman, whom the Indian Syinon spared

because he said she had been kind to his grandmother
;
yet one of the two

captives escaped fi-om their hands two daj'^s after, as did the other, April 22,

who gave notice of the Indians, (being not so naiTowly looked to as they

used to do others.")

It was on 3 May, 1676, that Symon, Andretv and Peter fell upon the house

of Thomas Kivibal,_ of Bradford, killed him, and caiTJed off his wife and five

children into the "wilderness.
]|

Having on the whole concluded to make
peace with the English while they could, did, before the end of sLx weeks,

restore the captives. Instead of improvmg the opportunity of securing their

friendship, the English seized Symon and Andrew, and confined them in the

jail at Dover. This treatment they considered, as very naturally they should,

only a precursor of something of a different character ; and therefore found

means to break jail, and make good their escape. They joined their eastern

friends, and hence followed many other cruelties, some of which A\e have

already related. About the fii-st depredation which followed their fliglit from

Dover, was committed at Greenland. One John Keniston was killed, and his

house bi^irned. A Avriter of that day, after observing that the pei-peti-ators of

the outrage were Symon, Andrew, and Peter, observes that they were the " three

we had in prison, and should have killed," and closes with this exclamation,

• Hist. N. England. t MS. Documents. X Belknap's N. Hampsinre.

§ Hist. N. England, 631.
, .

II
See the very creditable History of Haverhill, (p. 53.) by Mr 31-/rirk. for other mteresling

particulars respecting this affair
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" The good Lord pardon us." * Thus some considered they nai need ofpar-
don for not dealing with more rigor towards the Indians !

One ot" the most important actions in whicli Symon was engaged remains
to be related. Mr. Anthony Brackett, who lived at Back Cove, upon a large

estate now owned in part by Mr. Deering of Portland, had been visited b^
Symon, occasionally, who, like Totoson, in the case of Clarke at Eel River, in

Plimouth, had made himself Avell acquainted with the situation of his house
and family. On the 9th of August, 1676, some Indians had killed one of Brack-
etfs cows. Brackett immediately complained to Symon of the outrage, who
promised to bring to him the perpetrators. Meanwhile a complaint was de-

spatched to Major Waldron at Dover, which might have been the cause of the
coui-se Symon immediately after pm-sued ; for, if, when he had promised to

aid in adjusting the affair, he learned that, at the same time, a force had been
secretly applied for, it is a sufficient reason, in this ruffled state of things,

that he should show himself an enemy, as he did, on the morning of tlie

11th, two days after the iujmy was done. Friday was the 11 August, and it

was early in the morning that Symon appeared at the head of a pai'ty, at the

house of Captam Anthony Brackett. " TheSfe ai'e the Indians," said he, " that

killed the cow." No sooner was this said, than the house was entered, and
the guns seized upon belonging to the family. Brackett then asked what was the

meaning of then- carnage, and Symon replied, "So it must be," and demanded
of him whether he would go with them, as a captive, or be killed ; to which
he answered, that if the case were so, he preferred to sei-ve as a cap-

tive ; Symon then said they must be bound, and, accordingly, Mr. Brackett,

his wife, (who was a daughter of Michael Mitton,) and a negro, were bound.
Mrs. BracketVs brother JVathaniel, only son of M. Mitton, was of the

family, and made some resistance when they Avere about to bind him, and
was killed upon the spot. The rest, Brackett, his wife and five children were
earned away prisoners. They continued in captivity mitil the November
following, when some of them found means to effect an escape ; which was
singularly fortunate, and worth relating. In their wanderings, those who
held them captive, came to the north side of Casco Bay. Here news reached
the Indians that Arowsike Island had been captured by their brethren, and
they at once determined to share in the booty ; so, in their hm-ry, their eag-er-

ness for the spoil of Ai'owsike outweighed their fears of losing their prison-

ers. Therefore they promised Captain Brackett and the rest, that if they would
come after them, they should have a share in the good things which had
been taken ; and accordingly set off and left them. Mrs. Brackett, taking ad-

vantage of their good feeling, just before they left, asked them for some
meat, which was readily granted ; she found an old birchen canoe, which had
been probably abandoned by the Indians, by reason of its being nearly brok-

en up, but in which it was resolved to attempt an escape : and with the help of
a needle which Mrs. Brackett also found in an old house at that place, she
was enabled so to mend the canoe, that it wafted herself and child, her hus-

band and the negro man to the opposite shore of the bay, a distance of eight

or nine miles, in safety. They hardly coidd have expected but what, on
landing near Black Point, they would have been in the veiy presence of In-

dians, yet it so happened that although they had but just destroyed the settle-

ments there, they had all left the place. And a vessel, which ha]ij)ened very
fortunately in tliat neighborhood, took them in safety to Portsmouth.
The wifi; of Captain Anthony Brackett should not be overlooked in enume-

rating the heroines of our countiy. Her name was Ann. Siic died after this

war, but the time is not ascertauied. Her husband mai'ried again, a daughter
ofAbraham Drake, Senior, of Hampton, whose name was Siisannah,\ by whom
he had several children. When Colonel Church had the memorable fight

with the Indians at Casco, 21 September, 1689, Captain Brackett was killed.

After this his wife and children went to her father's at Hampton, but finally

returned to their possessions.

We are now to commence upon tiie recital of one of the most hoi-rid mas-
sacres any where recorded—the sacking of Dover by the famous chiefs Kan-

* Hist. N. England, i. 158. t Huhbard'it Nar. and T»V//(V« Portland, i 143—1.55.
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kamagus aud Massandowet, and the bai-barous iiim-der of IMajor Waldron and
many of his people.

KANKxAJ\L\GUS, commonly in the histories called Hogldns, Hawkins, or
Hakins, was a Pennakook sachem, and an artful, persevering, faithful man, as
long as he could depend upon the English for protection. But when Governor
Cranjidd, ofNew Hampshire, used his endeavors to bring down the Mohawks
to destroy the eastern Indians, in 1684, who were constantly stirred up by the
French to commit depredations upon the English, Kankamagus, knowing the
Mohawks made no distinction where they came, fled to the eastward, and
joined the Androscoggins. He had a fort upon that river, where his family
and that of another sachem, called Worombos, or IVoromho, lived. But before
he fled his country, he addressed several letters to the governor, which dis-

cover his fidelity as well as his feai's ; and from which there is no doubt but
he would always gladly have lived in his own country, and on the most inti-

mate aud friendly terms with the English, to whom he had become attached,
and had adopted much of their manner, aud could read and write, but foi

the reasons just stated. The following letters fully explain the situation of
his mind and his feelings, at the time he expected the Mohawks woiild ravage
his comitry :

—

" Mmi 15th, 1685. Honor governor my friend. You my friend I desire your
worship and your power, because I hope you can do som great matters this one. 1
am poor and naked, and have no men at my place because I afraid allways Mohogs
he will kill me every day and night. If your worship whenplense pray help me you
no let Mohogs kill me at my place at Malama,ke River called Panukkog and Jva-
tukkog, I wdl submit your worship and your power. And now I want pouder and
such alminishan, shaft and guns, because 1 have forth at my hom, and I plant
theare."

This aU Indian hand, but pray you do consider your humble servant.

Simon Detogkom,* JOHN HOGKINS,
Joseph X Trask, PEXEr ^ Robin,
King ^ Harrt, Mr. Jorge X Rodunnonukgus,
Sam Co Linis, Mr. Hope X HoTH,t
Wapeguanat njj Saguachuwashat, John Toneh,
Old X Robin

,
John DO Canowa,

Mamanosgues $ Andra. John X Owamosimmin,
Natonill i\ Indian.

The same day, as appears by the date of it, Hogkins wrote the followir g
letter, which bears the same signature as the above :

—

" Honor Mr. Governor,—iN'oio this day I com your house, I vant se you, and I

bring my hand at before you I want shake hand to you ifyour worship when please,

tJsn receive my hand then shake your hand and my hand. You my friend because

I remember at old time when live my grantfather and grant mother then English-

men com this country, then my grant father and Englishmen they r.utke a good
government, theyfriend alhvayes, my srrantfather living at place called Malamake-
rever, other name chef Matukko and Fanukkog, that one rever great many nanus
and I bring you thisfew skins at thisfirst time I loill giue myfnend,

" TTiis all Indian hand."

The two following are from the same.

" Please your worship,—/ itnll intreat you matther you myfriend now [ _ j

this ifmy Indian he do you long pray you no put your law, because som my Indians

fool, som men much love drunk then he no knoiv what he do, may he he do mischief

when he drunk if so pray you must let me know wliat lie done because I toiU ponis

* The same called Betokom in Gookin, probably.—See aiUe, Book ii. Chap, vii

t Perhaps Hopehood.
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him about what he haue done, you, you my friend if you desire my business, then

sent me I will help you if I can. John Hogkiks."

''Mr. Mason,—Pray I want speak you afew ivords if your worship when please

because I com parfas I will speake this governor but he go away so he say at last

night, and sofar I understand this governor his power that your power now, so he

speak his own mouth. Pray if you take what 1 want pray com to me because 1

want go hom at this day. Your humble servant,

"May 16, 1685. John Hogkins, Indian sagmor.^^

About the time these letters were written, persons wore sent among the
Indians to ascertain wliether, as was reported, they were assuming a warlike
attitude. Those to whom the inquiry was intrusted, on their return report-
ed, " that four Lidians came from fort Albany to the fort at Penacook, and in-

formed them [the Indians there] that all the Mohawks did declare they would
kill all Indians from Uncas at Mount Hope to the eastward as far as Pegypscot.

" The reason o{ JVutombamat, sagamore of Saco, departed his place was, be-
cause the same news was brought there, as himself declared, upon reading
my orders at Penacook. JVatombamat is gone to cany the Indians down to

the same place, where they were before departed from us on Sunday morn-
ing, and desired Captain Hooke to meet him at Saco five days after. Both
sagamores of Penacook, viz. Wonalanset and Mesandowit, the latter of which
is come do^vn, did then declare they had no intention of war, neither indeed
are they in any posture for war, being about 24 men, besides squaws and
papooses. The reason, they said, why they did not come among the English
as formerly, was, their fear, that if the Mohawks came and fought them,"and
they should fly for succor to the English, that then the Mohawks would kill

all the English for harboring them."
Notwithstanding this state of affairs, commissioners met the Lidians on

the 8 September, 1685, and a peace was concluded " between the subjects of
his Majesty King James 11, inhabiting N. Hampshire and Maine, and the In-
dians inliabiting the said provinces." The articles were subscribed on the
part of the Indians by

The mark ^ of Mesandowit. The mark ^ of John Nomont,
" X of Wahowah, alias Upsawah.

alias HopEHOOD " of Umbesnowah,
" vi^ of Tecamorisick, alias Robin.

alias JosiAS.

The following signers agree to comply with the terms of the treaty " as

their neighbors have done."

The mark ^ of Netambomet. KANCAMAGUS, alias
" of Wahowah, oKos John Hj^wkins, sagamore,

HopEHOOD. signed this instrument, 19th 7ber,
" C ofNed HiGGON 1685, his CD marL
" 3 ofNEWcoME Bagesson, oZias Joseph Traske,

his ^ mark. And agreed to all

within written.

W/iether Hogkins were among the Penakooks seized by Major Waldron
about ten years before, is not certain, or, if he were, it is not probable any
resentment remained in his breast against him on that account, as the Pen-
nakooks were all permitted to return home ; but it is certain that he was the

director and leader in the dreadful calamity which fell upon Waldron not

long afterward, and wliich is as much chargeable upon the maltreatment
they received from the English, at least, as upon any agency of the French.
It may be true that many belonging to the eastward, who were seized with
the Pennakooks, and sold or left in foreign countries, had found their way
back among their friends again, and were glad of the first opportunity of
revenging themselves upon the author of their unjust expatriation.

Major Waldran Hved at Dover, then called by its Indian name, Qiiochecho
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in New Hampshire, in a strong gamson-house, at which pla.e were also

four others. Kankamagus had artfully contrived a stratagem to effect the
surprise of the place, and had others beside the Pennakooks from different

places ready in great numbers, to prosecute the undertaking. The plan was
this. Two squaws were sent to each garrison-house to get liberty to stay for

the night, and when all should be asleep, they were to open the gates to the

warriors. Masandowet, who was next to Kankamagus, went to Major Wal-
dron's, and informed him that the Indians would come the next day and trade

with him. While at supper with the major, Masandowet said to him, with an air

of familiarity, " Brother Waldron, what would you do if the strange Indians

should come ? " To which he vauntingly replied, " that he could assemble
an hundi-ed men by lifting up his finger." In this security the gates were
opened at midnight, and the work of death raged in all its fiu*y. One garri-

son only escaped, who would not admit the squaws. They rushed into

Waldron's house in great numbers, and while some guaided the door, others

commenced the slaughter of all who resisted. Waldron was now 80 years

of age, yet, seizing his sword, defended himself with great resolution, and at

first drove the Indians before him from room to room, until one getting be-

hind mm, knocked him down with liis hatchet. They now seized upon, and
dragged him into the great room, and placed him in an armed chair upon a
table. While they were thus dealing Avith the master of the house, they

obliged the family to provide them a supper, which when they had eaten, they

took off his clothes, and proceeded to tortm-e him in the most dreadful man-
ner. Some gashed his breast Avith knives, saying, " / cross out my account

;

"

others cut off joints of his fingers, and said to him, ^^JSfow will your Jist weigh

a pound ?

"

After cutting off his nose and ears, and forcing them into his mouth, he

became faint from loss of blood ; and some holding his own sword on end
upon the floor, let him fall upon it, and thus ended his misery.

The Indians had been greatly abused and wronged in their trading with

the whites, and it is a ti-adition to this day all over that part of the country,

that INIajor Waldron took great advantage of them in trade, and did not cross

out their accounts when they had paid him ; and that, in buying beaver, his

fist was accounted to weigh a pound. Altliough he may have taken no more
advantage of the Indians than the majoritj' of Indian traders, yet, at this dis-

tant day, extenuation will not be looked for in impartial accounts of tlie

transactions of our ancestors ^vith the Indians.

To enumerate the villanies practised upon this devoted people, would be

to expose to everlasting odiiun the majority of fi-ontier traders from the

earliest to the present time ; but true history, now-a-days, is but little read,

and little indeed where the facts militate against the pride of ancestry. A
history of wrongs and sufferings preserved only to be read by those wiio

have committed them, must be an unwelcome record! It was, and to this

day is, in many places, a imiform practice among speculators or land-jobbers,

to get the Indians drunk, and then make their bargains with them !
In the

time of Philip's war, an Andi-oscoggin Indian said "that he had given an

hundred pound for water drawn out of Mr. P. [Purchas] his well." * But to

return tD our narrative.

Several were killed at each of the garrison-houses that fell into their hands.

They kept the place until the next morning, when, after collecting all the

plunder they could carry, took up their march, with 29 captives, into the wil-

derness towards Canada ; where the chief of them were bought by the French,

and in time got home to theu- country again. Twenty-three were killed be-

fore thev left the place. This affair took place on the night of the 27th of

J une, 1689. Several friendly Indians informed the English at Chelmsford

of the certainty of an attack upon Dover, and they caused a letter to be de-

* Hubbard, ii. TI.—TIiomas Purchase's house at Peg;ypscot was among the first 'hat "^ 1
1
a

prey to the eastern Indians in Philip's war. In the beginning of September, about 20 o! them

went there, and at first offered to trade, but Mr. Purchase and his son being from home, they

took what they Hked without even asking the price of it killed a few sheep and calves, and

departed. Ibid, 14, 15.
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spatched in season to have notified the people, but on account of some delay

*t Newbm-y ferry, the benefit of that information was lost.

Four years after, Colonel Church took JVorombo's fort, in which were Kan-

kainagus's wife and children. Tliis fort was upon the Androscoggin, about

25 or 30 miles from its mouth. In another place, we have given a histoiy

of Churches expedition to this fort. The prisoners taken here informed Church

that there had been lately a great council held there by the Indians, in which

"many were for peace and many against it ;" but they finally agreed to go

with 300 warriors to Wells with a flag of truce, and to offer the English

peace, which if not accepted, they would then fall upon them. "K tliey

could not take Wells, then they resolved to attack Piscataqua. The which,

says Church, when we were well informed of, we left two old squaws that

were not able to march, gaue them victuals enough for one week of their own
corn boiled, and a little of our pruisions, and bui-ied then* dead, and left them

clothes enough to keep them warme, and left the wigwams for them to lye

in : gaue them orders to tell their friends how kind we were to them, biding

them doe the like to ours. Also if they were for peace to come to goodman

SmaWs, att Barwick, within 14 days, who would attend to discourse them

;

then we came away with our own five captiues, [English that they had de-

livered,] and nine of thens."*

Li the same letter we are informed that among these prisoners were

Kankamagus's wife and four children. His brother-in-law was taken, but he
« ran away fi-om them." Among the slain was Kankamagus's own sister. A
girl was brought away whose father and mother had been slain before her

eyes. Two of the childi-en of Woromho were also among the prisoners, all of

whom were carried to Plimouth. This expedition upon the Androscoggin

was on Sunday, 14 September, 1690.

A few days after this, Church landed at Casco, where the Indians fell upon

him by surprise, and were not beaten off for some time, and then only by

nard fightmg. This was on the 21 September. Church had seven men killed

and 24 wounded, two of whom died in a day or two after. The Indians who
made this attack were probably led by Kaiikamagus and Worombo.

IIoPEHOOD was a chief nearly as celebrated, and as much detested in his

time, as the chiefs of whom we have just spoken. He was chief of the tribe

of the Kennebecks generally known as the Nerigwoks. He was the son of

Robinhood, a sachom of whom we have spoken in a former chapter. Accord-

ing to some writers Hopehood was also known by the name fVohaiva.j The
career of his warlike exploits was long and bloody. Our first notice of him
is in Philip's war, at the attack of a house at Nowichewannok, since Berwick,

in Maine. Fifteen persons, all women and children, were in the house, and
Hopehood, with one only beside himself, Andrew of Saco, whom we have be-

fore mentioned as an accomplice with Symon, thought to surprise them, and
but for the timely discoveiy of their approach by a J'oung woman within,

would have effected their puii)ose. She fastened and held the door, while

nil the others escaped unobserved. Hopehood and his companion hewed
down the door, and knocked the girl on the head, and, otherwise wounding
her, left her for dead. They took two children, which a fence had kept from
escaping. One they killed, the other they carried off alive. The young
woman recovered, and was entirely well afterwards.

One of the most important actions in which Hopehood was enraged was
that against Salmon Falls in New Hampshire, which is minutely detailed by
Charlevoix, from whose history we translate as follows. Three expeditions had
been set on foot by Governor Frontenac, the ti'oops for which had been raised

at three ])laces, Montreal, Three Rivers, and Quebeck. Those raised at

Three Rivers were ordered against New England ; and such was the insig-

nificance of tiiat place, tiiat but ri'^l men could be raised, including .^ Algon-
quins and 20 Sokokis : tliese Indians had lately returned from an eastern

ex])edition. They had at their head one of the officers of the colony, to

* Manuscript letter written at the time by Church, and sent to Governor Hinckley of
Plininiiih.

t Harris, in liis Voyapcs, ii. 302, wlio says he was a Huron ; but as he cites no authorities,

we know not how he came bv his information.
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whom could be intrusted the execution of an enterprise of such a nature,

with the gi'eatest confidence ; such is the testimony wliich Count Frontenac
gave in a letter which he wi'Ote at the tune to M. de Seignelay. That officer

waa the Sieur Hertel. In the small company which he coimnanded, he had
three of his sons and tsvo of his nephews ; viz. The Sieur Crevier, Lord
of S. Francois, and the Siem* Gatineau.

He left Three Rivers the 28 January 1690, proceeding directly south into

the country, leaving Lalie Champlain to his left, then tm-ning to the east, and
after a long and rugged maich lie arrived on tlie 27 * March, near Salmon
FallSjf which he had reconnoitred by his spies. He then divided his men
into three companies ; the first, composed of 15 men, was ordered to attack

a large fortified house. The second, consisting of 11 men, was ordered to

seize upon a fort, defended by four bastions. The third, which Hertel com-
manded in person, mai'clied to attack a still greater fort, wliich was defended
by cannon. All was executed with a conduct and bravery which astonished
the English, who made at fii-st stout resistance ; but they could not with-
stand the fii-e of the assailants : the bravest were cut to pieces, J and the

rest, to the number of 54, were made prisoners of war. It cost the victors

but one Frenchman, who had liis thigh broken, and who died the next day :

27 houses were reduced to ashes, and 2000 § domestic animals perished in

the bams, which had been set on fire.

Salmon Falls was but six lesigues from a great town called PascataquaJj
from whence men enough might be sent to swallow up Hertel, and cut off

his reti'eat. In fact, upon the evening of the same day two savages gave
notice that 200 H English were advancing to attack them. Hertel expected
it, and had taken his measures to frustrate those of his enemy. He drew
up his men in order of battle upon the edge of a river,** over which there

was a very naiTow bi'idge, one extremity of which he had secm-ed, anti it

was impossible for the English to come upon him at any other point. They,
however, attempted it, despising the small numbers of the French, whom
they engaged with great confidence. Hertel suffered them to advance with-

out firing a gim, and all at once fell upon them, sword in hand ; 8 were
killed and 10 woiuided in the first sliock, and the rest fled with precipita-

tion, ff He lost in this encoimter the brave Crevier, his nephew, and one of
the Sokokis. La Fresniere, his elder son, was shot in the knee ; the scai* of
which wound he bore for 50 yeai's. ff
As Hertel §§ was returning to Canada, he fell in with another pai-ty of his

countrymen, which proved to be that raised at Quebec, before mentioned,
imder M. de Portneuf,

|| ||
and with him agreed upon an expedition against

* Belk-nap, Hist. N. H. i. 132. following Mather, Magnalia, vii. 68, dates this afiair 18

March : there is in reality no error, allowing for tlie difference of style, (except one day;) the

English not yet having adopted the Gregorian method, which the French had.—See Book II

Cap. II.

f Pr6s I'.'ane boiirgade Angloise. appellee Sementels.

X About 30 were killed, according to Belknap, Hist. N. H. i. 132.

§ Charlevoix has been misconstrued by some authors, and made to say 2000 head of cattle

vere burned.—See Williamson, Hist. Maine, i. 619, who probably did not refer to the text of
CIiarlevoLr, or perhaps used an exceptionable translation. " Deux mille pidces de betail peri-

rent clans les etahles, oil I'on avoit mis Lefeu." NouveLli France, ii. 51.

II
Sementels n'etoit qu'a six lieues d'une assez grosse bourgade de la Nouvelle Angleterre,

iiommee Pescadoiti't. J\otivelle France, ii. 51.

IT " About 140 men." Belknap, ii. 132.
** Wooster's River, in Berwick. Ibid.

tt The English advanced with great intrepidity, and a warm engagement ensued, which
lasted till night, when they retired with the loss of four or five killed, ibid.

tt The English, although warned by the fate of Schenectaday, " dreamt," says Mather, " that

while the deep snow of the winter continued, they were safe enough ; but this proved as vain

as a dream of a dry shimmer. On March 18, the French and Indians, being half one, half

t'other, half Indianised French, and half Frenchified Indians, commanded by Monsieur Artel

and Hoop-Hood, fell suddenly upon Salmon-falls," &c. Magnalia, vii. 68.

&§ The English called him Artel, as his name was pronounced. See Magnalia, ibid.

11 II
The French wrote English names queer enough, but really I should be sadly puzzled to

tell which should laugh at the other : however, modem writers should not copy old errors of

ignorance. It is easy to see how we come by the name of Bui-iuefft in our Histories of New
Ensrland.—See Hist. Maine, i. 621.

26
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Casco, As Poiintvf inarched through the country of the Abenakis, many
of tliem joined him, aud he came into the neighborhood of Casco, accord-

ing to the French account, on the 25 May. On the following night, he pre-

pared an ambush, and towards morning an Englishman fell into it aud was
killed. The Indians then raised the Avar-whoop, and about noon 50 English

marched out liom the gan-ison to leani what was the occasion of it ; they

made no discovery until they were within a few paces of the ambush, when
thty were fired upon : and before they could resist were fallen upon by the

French and Indians Avith their swords and tomahawks with great slaughter

:

but four escaped, and these were badly wounded.

The English seeing now they must stand a siege, abandoned four garri-

sons, and all retired into one, which was provided with cannon. Before these

were abandoned, an attack was made upon one of them, in which the

French were repulsed, with the loss of one Indian killed and one Frencli-

man wounded. Porlneuf began now to doubt of his ability to take Casco,

fearuig the issue ; for his commission only ordered him to lay waste the

English settlements, and not to attempt fortified places ; but hi this dilemma
Hertel and Hopehood arrived.* It was now determined to press the siege.

In the deserted forts they found all the necessary tools for cairying on the

work, and they began a mine within 50 feet of the fort, under a steep bank,

which entirely protected them from its guns. The English became dis-

coui-aged, and on the 28 f May surrendered themselves prisoners of wai-.

There were 70 men, and probably a much greater number of women and
children. All of whom, except Captain Davis, who commanded the garrison,

and three or four others, were given up to the Indians, who miu'dered most
of them in their cruel maimer; and if the accounts be true, HopeJiood

excelled all other savages in acts of cruelty. In the course of the same
month, Avith a small party he fell upon Fox Point, in New Hampshue, Icilled

about fomteen persons, and carried away qix, after burning several houses.

This was as easily done, says Cotton Mather, { " as to have spoiled an ordinary

hen-roosW Two companies of English soon collected and pursued them

;

came up with them, killed some, and recovered considerable plunder. In

this action Hopehood was wounded, and lost his gun. §
Many were the horrid acts of barbai'ity inflicted on the prisoners taken

at this time. Not long after this, Hopehood went to the westward, " with a

design, says Mather, to bewitch another crew at Aquadocta into his assist-

ance." The Indians of Canada and the Five Nations were then at war,

and he being in their country, was met by some of the Canada Indians,

who, taking him to be of the Iroquois nation, slew him and many of his

comjianious. He had been once a captive to the English, and served a time

in Boston as a slave. There appears to have been another Nerigwok chief

of the same name, who treated with Governor Dudley at Casco, in 1703. J

We have, in narrating the events in the life of Madokawando, noticed the

voyage of Major Waldron to the eastern coast of INIaine, which was at the

close of Philip^s war. How much treachery was manifested at that time by
the Indians, which caused the English to massacre many of them, we shall

not take upon us to declare
; yet this we should bear in mind, that we have

only the account of those who performed the tragedy, and not that of those

who sufFured in it.

Ca})taiii Charles Frost, of Kittery, was with Waldron upon that expedition,

and, next to him, a principal actor in it ; and, like him, was killed by the

Indians afterwards.
||

Mr. Hubbard gives this account of his taking a noted

warrior as Ibllows :—" Capt. Frost seized an Indian called Megunneway, a

notorious rogue, that had been in arms at Connecticut last J une, at the falls,

* Madokawando was also at ihe taking of Casco, as were the Doneys and the Higiiers

[Higgins] Captain Doris's Nar. in 3 Coll. Mas. Hist. Soc. 104, 6.

—

Hopehood had been taken

prisoner, and held as a hostage, with about a dozen others, euid was set at liberty by Andrea
lome lime before, llnd.

t This agrees with the English accounts, abating 10 days, as observed in a note on the last page.

i Magnalia Christ. Americana, b. vii. 73.

6 " An heatiicu Indian would rather part with his head than with his gun." Loskiel, ii. 214i

11 At his native place, 4 .Inly, 1697. MS. letter of John Farmer, Esq.
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and saw that brave and resolute Capt. Tui-ner, when he was slain about

Green River ; and helped to kill Thomas Bracket * at Casco, [11th] August

last, [1676.1 And with the help of Lieut. JVutter, according to the major's

order, cai-ned liim aboard " their vessel. " By this time," the same author

continues, " some of the soldiers were got ashore, and instantly, according

to then* major's command, pursued the enemy towards their canoes. In the

chase, several of the enemy were slain, whose bodies these [soldiers] found

at their return, to the number of seven ; amongst whom was Mattahando,

the sagamore, with an old powow, to whom the Devil had revealed, as some-

times he did to Saul, that on the same day he should be vdth him ; for he

had a little before told the Indians, that within two days the English would
come and kill them all, which was at the very same time verified upon
himself." Here we must acknowledge, notwithstanding our great respect

for this author, that his commentary upon that passage was rather gratuitous.

He might have considered that Sauls among the English would not be want-

ing ofwhom parallels might be made. Indeed, the historian of Kankamagus
might say the Devil was less deceitful with this powwow than he was after-

wai^ds in the case of Major Waldron.

The English took much plunder from the Indians at this time, among
which were about 1000 lbs. of dried beef, and various other commodities.

Megumieway, after having fallen into their hands as we have stated, was shot

without ceremony.

CHAPTER DL

BoMAZEEN

—

Treachery of the xohites towards him—Is imprisoned at Boston—Saves

the life of a female captive— Captures Saco—Is killed—Arruhawikwabemt—
His capture and death—Egeremet—Seized at Pemmaquid—Barbarously mur-
dered—Treachery of Chuhh—Its requital—Captain Tom—Surprises Hampton—
DoNY

—

Hisfort captured byColonel Church—Events of Church's expedition—Captain

SiMMO

—

Treats with the English at Casco—His speech—Wattanummon—Captain

Sam0EE—His fight at Damaris Cove—Hegan—One of the name barbarously de-

stroyed by the tchites—Mogg— Westbrook bums Merigwok—Som.e account of the

Jesuit Rasle—Moulton's expedition to Nerigicok—Death of Mogg—Death of Father

Basle—JVotice of Moulton— Charlevoix's account of this affair—Paugus—Bounty

offered for Indian scalps—Captain John Lovewell's first expedition—His second

hunt for Indians—Falls in with Paugus—Fights him, and is slain—Particulars of
the affair—Incidents—Songs composed on the event.

We will continue here our catalogue of eminent chiefs of the east, which,

though a remote section, has no less claim than any other ; and the first of

them which we shall introduce was called, by the whites,

BoMAZEEN, who was a sachem of a tribe of the Canibas, or Kennebecks,
whose residence was at an ancient seat of sagamores, upon a river bearing

their name, at a place called JVorridgewock. f Whether Bomazeen were the

leader in the attack upon Oyster River in New Hampshire, Groton in Massa-
chusetts, and many other places, about the year 1694, we cannot determine,

but Hutchinson says he was "a principal actor in the carnage upon the

* He was brother to Anthony, eiud was killed the 11 August, as we have mentioned in our
account of Symon. These Indians, or some of their party [that captured Anthony Bracketl
went over upon the neck, where they shot John Munjoy and Isaac Wakely. Three men, who
were going to reap at Anthony Bracket's, having heard from Munjoy and Wakely of the trans-

aci'ion there, left them to return, when, hearing the guns, they turned towards TTumias Bracket's,
who lived near Clark's Point, where they had left their canoe, having probably crossed over
from Purpooduck. Here they saw Thomas Bracket shot down, and his wife auid children

taken ; they then made their escape to Munjoy's garrison, at the lower end of the neck, which
had become a place of refuge. Willis's Hist". Portland, i. 144.—This was an extensive depre-
dation. 34 persons having been killed and carried into captivity.

t Nericrwok is believed to be the most proper way of spelling the name of this place, as

agreeing best with its orthoepy ; at least, vnth that heard at and in the vicinity of it, at this

day, as pronounced by the oldest inhabitants. It is a delightful place, and will be found elsO"

where described.
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English," after the treaty which he had made with Governor PMps, in 1693.

In 1694, he came to the fort at Pemmaquid with a flag of truce, and was
treacherously seized by those who commanded, and sent prisoner to Boston,

where he remained some months, in a loathsome prison. In 1706, new bar-

barities were committed. Chelmsford, Sudbury, Groton, Exeter, Dover, and

many other places, suffered more or less.* Many captives were taken and

carried to Canada, and many killed on the way. A poor woman, one Rebecca

Taylor, who had ai'rived at the River St. Lawrence, was about to be hanged

by her master, an " overgrown Lidian," named Sampson. The limb of the

tree on which he was executmg his purpose gave way, and, while he was

making a second attempt, Bomazeen happened to be passing, and res-

cued her.

We heal' of him just after the death of Arruhawikwabend, in October,

1710, when he fell upon Saco with 60 or 70 men, and killed several people,

and carried away some captives. He is mentioned as a " notorious fellow,"

and yet but few of his acts are upon record. Some time after the peace of

1701, it seemed to be confirmed by the appearance of Bomazeen, and another

principal chief, who said the French friars were urging them to break their

union with the English, "6ui that they had made no impression on them, for

they were asfirm as the mountains, and shoidd continue so as long as the sun and

moon endured." On peace being made known to the Indians, as having taken

place between the French and English nations, they came into Casco, with

a flag of truce, and soon after concluded a treaty at Portsmouth, N. H.,

dated 13 July, 1713. Bomazeen's name and mark are to this treaty.

When Captain Moulton was sent up to Nerigwok, in 1724, they fell in with

Bomazeen about Taconnet, where they shot him as he was escaping through

the river. Near the town of Nerigwok, his vdfe and daughter were, in a

barbai-ous manner, fired upon, the daughter killed, and the mother taken.

We purposely omit Dr. C Mather^s account of Bomazeen^s conversation

with a minister of Boston, while a prisoner there, wliich amounts to little

else than his recounting some of the extravagant notions which the French

of Canada had made many Indians believe, to their great detriment, as he

said ; as that Jesus Christ was a French man, and the Virgin Maiy a French

woman ; that the French gave them poison to di-ink, to inflame them against

the English, which made them run mad. We hear of others, who, to excite

tliem against tlie English, endeavored to make them beheve, among other

absurdities, that they put Jes^^s Christ to death in London.
Arruhawikwabemt, just mentioned, was a sachem of the same tribe, and

was said to be of Norridgewock also. We can find but very few particulars

of him, but, from the fate he met with, it is presumed lie had been very

instrumental in continuing or bringing about the eastern war of 1710. In

that year. Colonel Walton made an expedition to the eastern coast of Maine
with 170 men. As they were encamped upon an island, the smoke of their

fires decoyed some of the Indians into their hands, among whom was Arru-

hawikwabemt. Penhalloiv says, he was " an active, bold fellow, and one of an

undaunted spirit; for when they asked him several questions, lie made them
no reply, and when they threatened him with death, he laugJied at it with con-

tempt! At which they delivered him up unto our friendly Indians, who soon

became liis executioners. But when the squaw saw the destiny of her

husband, she became more flexible, and freely discovered where each party

of them encamped." The savage perpetrators of this act called tiiemselves

Clirislian warriors ! and it must be acknowledged that civilization gains

nothing in contrasting the conduct of the whites, under Walton, and that

of Bomazeen towards a caj)tive, just related.

Egeremkt, as wt; have seen, was chief sachem of Kennebeck in 1690,

!Uid his principal residence appears to have been at Machias. This chief,

and HoNquiD, with three or lour others, having been invited to a conferenci^ at

Pemmaquid, were treacherously murdered there, 16 February, 1696. Their

Beizure and murder could not have been outdone, by the greatest barbarians,

* DomazeenwviS suppnscfl to have It'd ihc |)arty thai attacked the south part of Oyster River,

BOW Durhain, in wiiich 10 persons wore iiilled. Tliis was on 27 April.
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for faithlessness ; and we shall learn that its author paid for it in due time

with his life. We are not disposed to add to ti-ansactions which are in

themselves sufficiently horrible, but we will venture to give the account aa

we find it Ln Dr. C Mather's decennium luctuosum

:

—

*

" Let us, before the year be quite gone, see some vengeance taken upon
the heads in the house of the ivicked. Know then, reader, that Capt. March
petitioning to be dismissed from liis command of the fort at Pemmaquid,
one Chub succeeded him. This Chub found an oppoitunity, in a pretty

chubbed manner, to kill the famous Edgeremet and Ahenquid, a couple of

pi-incipal sagamores, with one or two other Indians, on a Lord's day. Some
that well enough liked the thing which was now done, did not altogether

like the manner of doing it, because there was a pretence of treaiy between
Chub and the sagamores, whereof he took his advantage to lay violent hands
on them."
Thus the manner is seen in which this horrid and cold-blooded act is

related ! ! Few are the instances that we meet with in history, where Indian

treachery, as it is termed, can go before this. The reverend author adds, " If

there were any unfau" dealing (which I know not) in this action of Chub,

there will be another February not far off, wherein the avengers of blood wiU
take their satisfaction." By this innuendo, what befeU Captain Chubb after-

wards is understood, and of which we shall presently give an account
The point of land called TrotPs JVeck, in Woolwich, in the state of Maine,

was sold, in 1685, by Egeremet and several other sachems. In 1693, on the

11 August, with 12 other chiefs, he made a ti-eaty f vidth Sir William Phips, al

Pemmaquid, to which their names stood as follows, and without marks, in

the printed account.

Edgeremett. Webenes.
Madockawando. Awansomeck.
Wassambomet of JVoridgwock, Robin Donet.
Wenobson of Teconnet, in behalf Madaumbis.

of Moxus. Paquaharet, cdi<xs Nathanikl.
Ketterramogis of JVarridgwock. John Homybrook.
Ahanquid of Penobscot. John Bagatawawongo, alias

BoMASEEN. Sheepscott John.

NiTAMEMET. Phill. DunsaMs, Squaw, in-

terpreters.

Before this, in 1691, "New England being quite out of breath," says Dr.

C. Mather, a treaty, or trace, was entered into between the eastern sachems
and Messrs. Hidchinson and Townsend, of Boston, and others of the eastern

coast, at Sagadahock. Here ten captives were given up by them, and the

English gave up eight captive Indians. One was a woman by the name of

Hidl, who had been of great service to them, having written letters on
various occasions, such as their affairs required, and vrith whom they re-

gretted much to part. Another was Nathaniel White, who had been bomid
and tortured in a vn-etched manner. His eai's were cut off, and, instead of
food, he was forced to eat them, after which, but for this time y treaty, the

sentence of burning would have been executed upon him. This truce

stipulated that no hurt should be done the English untU May, 1692, and that,

on the first of that mouth, they would deliver, at Wells, all English captives

in their hands, and, in the mean time, would inform of any plots that they

might know of the French against the English. Egeremet being the chief

sachem, and most forward in this business, Dr. Mother utters liis contempt
for hiui by saying, "To this instrument were set the paws of Egeremet, and
five more of their sagamores and noblemen." \

This treaty may be seen at length in the Collections of the Mass. HisL Soc,
but is dated one year earlier than it is in the Magualia. The fact that it was
made upon the water, as Dr. C. Mather says, and as we have quoted in the

life of Madokawando, appears fi-om the last paragraph of that instrument,

* Magnalia, b. vii. 89. + It may be seen in the Magtudia, vii. 86
1 3Iagnalia Christ. Americana, book vii. art. xxviii. p. 94.

26* U
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which is in these words :—" Signed and sealed interchangeably, upon the

water, in canoes, at Sackatehock, ivhen the icind hlew?^ It was headed, "At a

treaty of j)eace with the eastward Indian enemy sagamores." The other five

eachems, beside Escereinet, were Toquelmut, Watumbomi, Watomhamet, JVaiumbt,

[JVorombos,] and John Hawkins, [or Kankamagus.'] The places for which they

stipulated are, according to the treaty, " Pennecook,Winnepisseockeege, Ossepe,

Pigwocket, Amoscongen, Pechepscut, Kennebeck River, and all other places

adjacent, within the territory and dominions of the above-named sagamores.''

The witnesses were, Dewando, [the same called Adiwando, by Penhallmo

])robably,] J^Ted Higon, John Alden, jr., and JVatfutniel Mden.
The next year, Egeremet was with Madokawando, Moxus, and a body of

French under Lahrocre, and made the notable attack upon the garrison at

Wells, which will be found i-ecorded in the last chapter.

We will now inform the reader of the wi'etched fate of Captain Pasco Chub.

It was not long after he committed the bloody deed of killing the Indian sag-

ainores, before he and the fort were taken by the French and Indians. He
was exchanged, and returned to Boston, where he suffered much disgi-ace

for his treacliery with the Indians.* He lived at Andover in Massachusetts,

where about 30 Indians made an attack in 1698, on 22 Februaiy, in which

he, with others, was killed, and five were captivated. It \viis not thought that

they expected to find him there ; but when they found they had killed him
it gave them as much joy, says Hutchinson, " as the destruction of a whole

town, because they had taken their beloved vengeance of him for his perfidy

and barbarity to their countrymen." They shot him through several times

after he was dead.

In his characteristic style, Mr. Oldmixon speaks of this event.f He says,

" Nor must we forget Chub, the false wnetch who surrendered Pcmmaquid
Fort. The governor kept him under examination some time at Boston, and
then dismissed him. As he was going to his house, at Andover, the Indians

surprised him and his wife, and massacred them ; a just reward of his trea-

son." The author, we tliink, should have added, according to the jurispru-

dence of savages.

The most favorable account given of the conduct of Chub, and indeed the

only one, follows : " An Indian sagamore's son ap])eared with a flag of truce, and
Capt. CJiub went out to them without arms, man lor man. An Indian asked for

rum and tobacco : the captain said, ' .Vo ; it is Sabbath day.'' The y said,

' JVe ivill have rum, or we ivill have rum and you too.'' Two Indians laid hold on

the captain. Then he called to his men, to fall on, for God's sake. Then lie

made signs to his men, to come Irom the fort. One of the English had a

hatchet under his coat, took it out and killed an Indian; and then ours

killed two more Indians, and took another alive, and wounded another, sup-

posed mortally. Tlien many of the enemy came near to the English, who
ret»eated all safe to the fort." J

There was another sagamore of the same name, noticed in the following

wars witli tiic eastern Indians, who wa.s friendly to the whites; it was proba-

bly he wild sometimes bore the name of Moxus.

• Harris'.'; Voyages, ii. 305, {ed. 17G1,) says Chub was arrested by Colonel Gedney, who was
sent cast with three ships of war, on hearing of the surrender of the fort, and that no French or

Indians could be found ; that afler he strengthened the garrison, he returned home.
" Col. Gedney had been by land with 500 men, to secure liie eastern frontiers. Finding the

enemy gone, he sirengthened the garrisons, which were not taken. He also arrested Pasco
Chubb, for surrenilcnng I'emaciuid Fort, wliilc uiuli^r his command in July, and had him
brought to Huston. Here Captain (^^/iwW) was ronfiiicd, till it was decided thai he should

lose his commission, and not be eligibh! for anv other. This unfortunate man, with his wife

Haimah. and throe others, were killed by the Indians at Andover, Feb. 22, 1G98." Rev. Mr.
Fell's Annals of Salmi.

A naval force was sent at the same lime ; hence the accounts are not altogether irrecon-

cilable. Three men-of-war were sent out in pursuit of the French, " but meeting with con-

trary winds, they could never gel Mght of them." Neal, His. N. Eng. ii. 661.

t British Empire in America, i. 77, 78.

} Manuscript letter in lilnary Mass. Hist. Soc. written in the following month. As it was
written at a great distance from the place, and from n report of the day. little reliance can be

placed u|)on it. It may have been Chtib's repori of the case.
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lu the Indian war of 1703, there was a great Indian captain who resided

somewhere to the east of Pascataqua River, who made his name dreaded
among the settlements in that region, by some bloody expeditions which he
conducted. He was called, by the English,

Captain Tom. On 17 August of this year, this daring war-captain, with

about 30 others, surprised a part of Hampton, killed five persons, whereof
one was a widow Hussey, " who was a remai'kable speaking Quakei", and much
lamented by her sect." After sacking two houses near the garrison, they

drew off.*

Many Indians bore the name of Tom. Indian Hill, in Newbury, was owned
by Great Tom. He,is supposed to have been the last Indian proprietor of

lands in that towTi. In written instruments, he styles himself, " / Great Tom
Indiaii." f

We come, in the next place, to an interesting portion of our eastern history.

It has been generally supposed that the name Dony, or Doney, was the name
of an Indian chief, but it is now quite certam that he was a Frenchman, who
took up his residence among the Indians, as Baron de St. Casteins did. There
appeai-s in oiu- history, in 1645, a " Monsieur Dony" who had some difficulty

with Lord de la Tour, about their eastern possessions, and he was, doubtless,

the same of whom we have an account afterwai-ds, in the war of 1690, viith

the eastern Indians. At this time, there were two of the name in Maine,

father and son. The son, perhaps, like Casteins the younger, was half Indian,

but of this we are not sure ; nevertheless, to preserve our narrative of the

events of Colonel Church's expedition of 1690, we shall notice them among
others.

Church landed at Maquait, 12 September, before day, and, after a wet,

fatiguing march into the woods of about two days, on the south-west side of

the Anch-oscoggin, came into the neighborhood of a fort. They came upon
an Lidian and his wife who were leaduig two captives ; and immediately pur-

suing and firing upon them, killed the Indian woman, who proved to be the

wife of Young Doney.]. We can only hope it was not their design thus to have

killed an imiocent woman. Which pai-ty it was that fired upon them (for they

divided themselves into three) is unknown, and we m charity must suppose

tliat, at considerable distance, and hi much confusion, it was difficult to know
an Indian man from a woman.
As Church expected, Doney ran into one gate of the fort, and out at the

other, giving the alarm so eftectually, that nearly all within it escaped. They
found and took prisoners " but two men and a lad of about 18, with some
women and children. Five ran into the river, three or four of which were
killed. The lad of 18 made his escape up the river." The whole number
killed in this action was " six or seven." The English had but one wounded.
They took here, at this time,§ a considerable quantity of corn, guns, and ammu-
nition, and liberated Mrs. Huckings, widow of Lieutenant Robert Buckings,

taken at Oyster River, Mrs. Barnard, wife of Benjamin Barnard, of Salmon
FjJIs, Anne Heard, of Cocheco, a young woman, daughter of one Willis, of

Oyster River, and a boy belonging to Exeter. These captives, says Church,
" were in a miserable condition." They learned by them that most of their

men were gone to Winter Harbor to get provisions for the Bay of Fundy In-

dians. This information was given by a prisoner taken in the fort, who also said

that the Bay of Fundy Indians were to join them against the English, in the

spring. " The soldiers, being very rude, would hardly spare the Indian's life,

wnile m examination ; intending, when he had done, that he should be exe-

cuted. But Capt. Hucking's wife, and another woman, doven on their knees

and begged for him. saying, that he had been a means of saving their lives,

and a great many more ; and had helped several to opportimities to run away
and make their escape ; and that never, since he came amongst them, liad

fought against the English, but being related to Hakin's
\\

wife, kept at the

* Penhalluw. Ind. Wars, 8; Farmer^s Belknap, i. 167.

t Manuscript Hist. Newbury, by J. Coffin.

X And the same called in the Magnalia Robin Doneij.

6 Says my record, which is a manuscript letter from Church, written at that time.

H The same called KankatiMgus.
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fort Avith them, having been there two years ; but his Uving was to the west-

wai-d of Boston. So upon their request, his life was spared."

Two old squaws were left in the fort, provided with provisions, and instruct-

ed to tell those who returned who they were, and what they were determined

to do. They then putfour orJive to death, and decamped. Those, we must
Buppose, were chiefly women and children ! " Knocked on the head/or an ex-

ample.'" We know not that any excuse can be given for this criminal act ; and
it is degrading to consider that the civilized must be supposed to imagine that

they can prevent barbarities by bemg wretchedly barbarous themselves.

Old Doney, as he is called, was next to be hunted. As they were em-
barkiiig at Maquait, Mr. Anthony Bracket * came to the shorg and called to thein

to take him on board, which they did. He learning that an English army was
thereabout, made his escape from the Indians, with whom he had been some
time a prisoner. The fleet now proceeded to Winter Harbor, from whence
they despatched a detachment of 60 men to Saco Falls. When they came
near, they discovered Doneifs company on the opposite side of the river, who
chiefly made their escape. A canoe, with three Indians, was observed coming
over the river ; they did not see the English, and were fired upon, and " all

three perished." This gave the first alarm to Doney's company. They did

not, however, leave their ground without returamg the fire of the English, by
which Lieutenant Hunnewell was shot through the thigh.f Wlien the parties

fired upon each other, Old Doney, with an English captive, was higher up
the river, who, hearing the firing, came down to see what it meant ; and thus

he discovered the English time enough to escape. Doney fled from the

canoe, leaving his captive, who came to the English. His name was Thomas
Baker, who had lived before at Scarborough.
There were many other movements of the English after this, in which

they got much plunder, and which tended to cause an uneasiness among
them, and their final determination to return home. Church urged a longer

continuance, but was outvoted in a council of officers, and thus ended the

expedition. Many in the country reproached Church with cowardice, and
almost every thing but what we should have looked for. If putting to death
captives had been the charge, many might have accorded Amtn ! But we do
not find that urged against him.
Two years after this, in 1693, Robin Doney became reconciled to the Eng-

lish, and signed a treaty with them at Pemmaquid. But within a yeai- after,

he became suspected, whether with or without reason, we know not, and
coming to the fort at Saco, probably to settle the difficulty, was seized by the

English. What his fate was is rather uncertain, but the days of forgiveness

and mercy were not yet.

Among the chiei's which we shall next proceed to notice, there were seve-

ral of nearly equal notoriety.

Captain Simmo's name should, perhaps, stand most conspicuous. We
shall, therelbre, go on to narrate the events in his life, after a few preliminary
obsei-vations.

Whenever war commenced between the English and French in Eiuope,
their colonies in America were involved in its calamities, to an unknown and
fearful extent This was the aspect which aflfairs wore in 1703. With the
first news, therefore, of its flame, the New Engl anders' thoughts were turned
towards the Indians. Governor DtuUei/ immediately despatched messengers to

most of the eastern trilies, invitinir them to meet him in council uj)on the pen-
insula in Falmouth, on the '20 June. His object was so to attach them to the
English, that, in the event of hostilities between the rival powers on this side

of the Atlantic, they would not take arms against tliem. Agreeably to the
wishes of the English, a vast multitude assembled at the time appointed

:

the chiefs Jidiwando and Hee;an for the Pennakooks, Wattanummon for the
Pequakets, Mesambomell and Wcxnr for the Androscoggins, Morns and Hope-
hood (perhaps son of him killed by the Mohawks) for the Nerigwoks, Boma-
zeen and Caj)tJiin Snmiid for the Kennebecks, and fVarmnffunf and JVnnadu-

• Son o( Anthony, wlio was killed by the Indians, as we have related, ante.

t Official leltfT in IMS. from ilie expedition.
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gunhuent for the Penobscots. A.fter a short speech to them, in which the

governor expressed brotherly affection, and a desire to settle every difficulty

"which had happened since the last treaty," Captain Simmo replied as

follows:

—

" We thank you, good hrother,for coming so far to talk with us. It is a great

favor. The cloudsfy and darken—but we still sing ivith love the songs ofpeace.
fieAeve my ivords.—So far as the sun is above the earth are our
THOUGHTS FROM WAR, OR THE LEAST RUPTURE BETWEEN US." *

The governor was then presented with a belt of wampum, was to confii'm

the truth of what had been said. At a previous treaty, two heaps of small

stones had been thrown together, near by the treaty ground, and called the

Two-brothers, to signify that the Indians and English were brothers, and were
considered by the paities in the light of seals to their treaties. They now
repau'ed to these heaps of stones, aud each increased their magnitude, by the

addition of other stones. Thus was happily terminated tliis famous treaty.

Some parade and rejoicing now commenced, and a circumstance transpired

which threw the English into great fear, and, pei'haps, greater suspicion. A
grand salute was to be fired upon each side, at parting, and the English, ad-

visedly, and very warily, it must be confessed, but in appearance compliment-
ary, expressed their desire that the Indians would fire first. The Lidians

received the compliment, and discharged their guns ; to their great siu-prise,

the English found they had been loaded with bullets. They had before

doubted of their sincerity, but, owing to this discovery, considered their

treachery certain, and mai-velled at their escape. However, it can only be
presumed, that, according to the maxim of the whites, the Indians had come
prepared to treat or fight, as the case might require ; for no doubt their guns
were charged when they came to the treaty, otherwise why did they not fire

upon the English when they saluted them .''

What became of Captain Simmo we have as yet no account. Several of
the other chiefs who attended this council were, perhaps, equally con-
spicuous.

Wattanummon being absent when the council first met on the 20 June,
no business was entered upon for several days. However, the English
afterwards said it was confii'med that it was not on that account that they
delayed the confei-ence, but that they expected daily a reinforcement of 200
French and Indians, and then they were to seize upon the English, aud
ravage the country. Whether this were merely a rumor, or the real state

of the case, we have no means of knowing. Wattanummon was supposed
to have been once a Pennakook, as an eminence still bears his name about a

mile from the state-house in New Hampshire.f
Captain Samuel was an Indian of great bravery, and one of the most for-

wai-d in endeavoring to lull the feai's of the English at the great council just

mentioned. What gave his pretensions the ah* of sincerity was his coming
with Bomazeen, and giving some information about the designs of the French.
They said,

" Although several missionaries have come among us, sent by the Frenchfriars
to break the peace between the English and us, yet their words have made no impres-

sionupon us. We are as firm as the mountains, and will so continue,
AS LONG AS THE SUN AND MOON ENDURES."

Notwithstanding these strong expressions of fi-iendship, "within six weeks
after," says Penhallow, " the whole eastern country was in a conflagration,

no house standing nor garrison unattacked." The Indians were no doubt
induced to commit this depredation from the influence of the French, many
of whom assisted them in the work. And it is not probable that those

Indians who had just entered into the treaty were idle spectators of the

scene ; but who of them, or whether all were engaged in the affair, we know
not A hundred and thirty people were said to have been killed and taken;

within that time.

Captain Samud was either alive 20 years after these transactions, or another

* This is Mr. Williamson's version of the speech, Hist. Maine, ii. 36.

t MS. communication of J. Farmer, Esq.
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of the nanie made himself conspicuous. In June, 1722, this warrior chief; at

the head of five others, boarded Lieutenant Tilton, as he lay at anchor a fishing,

near Damai-is Cove. They pinioned hun and his brother, and beat them
very sorely ; but, at last, one got clear and released the other, who then fell

with great fui7 upon the Indians, threw one overboard, and mortally wound-
ed two more.* Whether Captain Samuel were among those killed is not

mentioned.
There was a Captain Sam in the wars of 1745. In the vicinity of St.

George's, Lieutenant Prodor, at the head of 19 miUtia, had a sku-mish with the

Indians, 5 Sept., in which two of their leaders were killed, viz. Colonel Morris

and Captain Sam, and one Colonel Job was taken captive ; the latter being sent

to Boston, he died in prison. To quiet the resentment of his relatives, the

government made his widow a valuable present after the peace, f

We should not, perhaps, omit to speak separately of another chief, who
was present at the famous treaty mentioned above ; we refer to

Hegan. His name is also spelt Hegon and Heigon. There were several

of the name. One, called Moggheigon, son of Walter, was a sachem at

Saco, in 1664. This chief, in that year, sold to Wm. Phillips, '^ a tract of
land, bemg bomided with Saco River on the N. E. side, and Kennebunk
River on the S. W. side." To extend from the sea up Saco River to Salmon
Falls, and up the Kennebunk to a point opposite the former. No amount is

mentioned for which the land was sold, but merely "a certain sum in

goods." I One Sampso7i Hegon attended the treaty of Pemniaquid, in 1698
;

John, that at Casco, in 1727 ; JVtd was a Pennakook ; Walter, brother of
Mogg ; § The fate of one of the name of Hegon is remembered among the

inhabitants of some parts of IMaiue to tliis day. He was tied upon a horse
with spurs on his heels, in such a manner that the spurs contuiually goaded
the animal. Wlien the horse was set at libertj", he ran furiously through an
orchard, and the craggy limbs of the trees tore him to pieces. Mather, in

his Decennium Ldctuosum,
||
seems to coufirm something of the kind,

which took place at Casco, in 1694, where the Indians, having taken some
horses, made a bridle of the mane and tail of one, on which " a son of the
famous Hegon was ambitious to mount." "But being a i.itiful horseman, he
ordered them, for feai- of his falling, to tie his legs last under the horse's

belly. No sooner was this beggar set on horseback, and the spark, in his own
opinion, thoroughly equipped, but the nettlesome hoi'se furiously and presently
ran with him out of sight. Neither horse nor man was ever seen any more.
The astonished tawnies howled afler one of their nobility, disappearing by
such an unexjKcted accident. A few days after, they found one of his Tegs,

(and that was all,) which they buried in Capt. Bracket s cellar, with abimdance
of lamentation."

Here we cannot but too plainly discover the same spirit in the narrator,

which must have actuated the authors of tlie deed. He who laughs at crime
is a participator in it.—From these, we pass to affairs of far greater notoriety

in our eastern history ; and shall close this chapter with two of the most
memorable events in its Indian warfare.
Mogg, the chief sachem of Norridgewok in 1724, may veiy apjiropri-

ately stiuid at the head of the history of the first event How long he liad

been sachem at that l)criod, we have not discovered, but he is mentioned
by the English historians, as the old chief of Norridgewok at that time.

NotM ithstanding Mogg was the chief Lidian of the village of Nerigwok, or,

as Father Charlevoix \\ rites it, Narantsoak, there was a French jiriest settled

here, to whom the Indians were all devotedness ; and it is believed that

they undertook no enterprise without his knowledge and consent. The
name of this man, according to our English authors, was linll^, but accord-
ing to his own historian, Charlevoix, it was Rasle.^ The depredations of
the Ab^naquis, as these Lidians were called by those who lived among them,

• Penhalloio's Tnd. Wars. niJ. f Williamson's Hisi. Me. ii. 241.

{ MS. among the files in our stale-house. § MS. letter of John Fannei\ Esq
IMagnalia, vii. 87.

Hist. Gen. de la Nouv. Fr. ii. 380. et sniv.
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were, therefore, directly charged by the English upon Father Rasle ; hence
then* fii'st step was to offer a reward for his head.* The object of the expe-
dition of Colonel Westbrook, in 1722, was ostensibly to seize upon him, but he
found the village deserted, and nothing was effected by the expedition but
the burning of the place. Father Rasle was the last that left it, which he
did at the same time it was entered by tlie enemy ; having first seciu'ed the
sacred vases of his temple and the ornaments of its altar. The EngUsh
made search for the fugitives, but without success, although, at one time,

they were witliin about eight feet of the veiy tree that screened the object

for which they sought Thus the French considered that it was by a remark-
able interposition of Providence, or, as Charlevoix expresses it, ^ar une main
invisible, that Father Rasle did not fall into their hands.
Determined on destroying this assemblage of Indians, wliich was the

head-quarters of the whole eastern couuti-y, at this time, the English, two
years after, 1724, sent out a force, consisting of 208 men and three Mohawk
Indians, under Captains Moulton, Harman, and Bourne, to humble them.
They came upon the village, the 23 August, when there was not a man in

arms to oppose them. They had left 40 of their men at Teconet Falls,

which IS now ^vithin the town of Winslow, upon the Keimebeck, and about
two miles below Watei-ville college, upon the opposite side of the river.

The English had divided themselves mto three squadrons : 80, imder Har-
man, proceeded by a circuitous route, tliinkiug to surprise some in theii

corn-fields, while Movlton, with 80 more, proceeded dkectly for the village,

which, being surrounded by trees, could not be seen imtil they were close

upon it. All were m thek wigwams, and the EngUsh advanced slowly and
in perfect silence. When pretty near, an Indian came out of his wigwam,
and, accidently discovering the English, ran in and seized his gun, and
giving the war-whoop, in a few minutes the warriors were all in arms, and
advancing to meet them. Moulton ordered his men not tc fire until the

Indians had made the first discharge. This order was obeyed, and, as he
expected, they overshot the English, who then fii'ed upon them, in then*

tm-u, and did great execution. When the Indians had given another volley,

they fled Avith great precipitation to the river, whither the chief of tjieir

women and childi'en had also fled during the fight Some of the English
pmsued and killed mmiy of them in the river, and others fell to pillaging

and burniDg the village. Mogg disdained to fly with the rest, but kept pos-
session of a wigwam, from which he fired upon the pillagers. Li one of
his discharges he killed a Mohawk, whose brother obsei"ving it, rushed upon
and killed him ; and thus ended the strife. There were about 60 Avarriors

in the place, about one half of whom were killed.

The famous Rasle shut himself up in his house, from which he fii-ed upon
the English ; and, having woimded one. Lieutenant Jaques,\ ofNewbmy, J bursr

open the door, and shot him through the head ; although Moulton had given
orders that none should kill hun. He had an EngUsh boy with him, about
14 yeai'S old, who had been taken some time befoi'e from the frontiers, and
whom the English reported Rasle was about to kill. Great brutality and
ferocity ai'e chai-geable to the English in this affair, according to their o^vn

account ; such as kUling women and childi'en, and scalping and niEingUng
the body of Father Rasle.

There was here a handsome church, with a bell, on which the EngUsh
committed a double sacrilege, fu'st robbing it, then setting it on fu'e ; herein
slu-passing the act of the first English circmiiuavigator, in his depredations
upon the Spaniards iu South America ; for he only took away the gold and

* " Apr^s plusieurs tentatives, d'abord pour engager ces sauvages var les offres et les

promesses les phis seduisantes a le livrer mix Anglois, ou du moins a le renvoyer a Quebec, et

d prendre en sa place un de leurs ministres ; ensuite pour Le surpendre et pour I'eniever, les

Anglois resolus de s'en defaire, qiioiqu'il leur en d&t couter, mirent sa tete a prix, et promireni

mille livres sterling a celui, qui la leur porteroit." Charlevoix, ut supra.

t Who, I conclude, was a volunteer, as I do net find his name upon the return made by
Moulton. which is upon file in the garret, west wing of our state-house.

X >Ianuicript History of Newbury, by Joshua Coffin, S. H. S., which, should the world
ever be so fortunate as to see in print, we will insure them not only great gratification, but

a fund of amusement.
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silver vessels of a church, and its crucifix, because it was of massy gold, set

about with diamonds, and that, too, upon the advice of his chaplain. " This
might pass," says a reverend author, " for sea divinity, but justice is quite

another thing." Perhaps it will be as well not to inquire here what kuid of
divinity would authorize the acts recorded in these wars, or indeed any wars.

Upon this memorable event in our early annals. Father Charlevoix should

be heard. Tliere were not, says he, at the time the attack was made, above
50 warriors at Neridgewok ; these seized their arms, and run in disorder, not

to defend the place against an enemy, who was already in it, but to favor the

flight of the women, the old men and the childi-en, and to give them time to

gain the side of the river, which was not yet in possession of the English.

Father Rasle, warned by the clamors and tumult, and the danger in which
he found his proselytes, ran to present himself to the assailants, hoping to

draw all their fury upon him, that thereby he might prove the salvation of

his flock. His hope was vain ; for hardly had he discovered himself Avheu

the English raised a great shout, which was followed by a shower of shot,

by wliich he fell dead near to the cross which he had erected Ln the centre

of the village : seven Indians who attended him, and who endeavored to

shield him with their own bodies, fell dead at his side. Thus died this

charitable pastor, giving his life for his sheep, after 37 years of painful labors.

Although the English shot near 2000 muskets, they killed but 30 and
wounded 40. They spared not the church, which, after they had indignantly

profaned its sacred vases, and the adorable body of Jesus Christ, they set on
fu-e. They then retired with precipitation,* having been seized with a sud-

den panic. The Inrlians retm'ned immediately into the village ; and their

fii'st care, while the women sought plants and herbs proper to heal the

wounded, was to shed tears upon the body of their holy missionary. They
found him pierced with a thousand shot, his scalp taken off", his skull frac-

tured with hatchets, his mouth and eyes filled with dirt, the bones of liia

legs broken, and all his members mutilated in a hundred different ways, f

Such is the account of the fall of Rasle, by a brother of the faith ; a deplo-

rable picture, by whomsoever related ! Of the truth of its main particulars

tliere can be no doubt, as will be seen by a compai'ison of the above transla-

tion with the account preceding it There were, besides Mogg, other chief

Indians, who fell that day; "Bomazeen, Mogg, Wissememet, Job, Cara-
BESETT, and Bomazeen's son-in-law, all famous warriors." The inhumanity
of the English on this occasion, especially to the women and children,

cannot be excused. It greatly eclipses the lustre of the victory.

Harman Avas the general in the expedition, J and, for a time, had the honor
oflt ; but Moulton, according to Governor Huickinson, achieved the victory, and
it was afterward acknowledged by the countiy. He was a prisoner, when a
mall boy, among tlie eastern Lidians, being among those taken at the

destruction of York, m 1692. He died at York, 20 July, 17(j5, aged 77.

The townsliip of Moultonborough, in New Hampshire, was named from
him, and many of his posterity reside there at the present day.

Under tlie head Paugus, we shall proceed to narrate oiu- last event in tlie

present cliai)ter, tlian which, may be, few, if any, are ofteuer mentioned in

New England story.

Paugus, slain in the memorable battle with the English under Captain

Loveivell, in 172"), was chief of the Pequawkets. Fryeburg, in 3Iaine, now
incliules tlio ])riMoi|)al place of their Ibrnier residence, and the place where
tlie hatilc was fouglit. It was near a considerable body of water, called

Snco Pond, \\Wu-\\ is tiic source of the river of the same name. The cruel

and l)arhnrons nnn-ders almost daily conunitted by the Indians upon the

(lefencelosH frontier inhabitants, caused the general court of Massachusetts

to offer a bounty of £100 for every Lidian's scalp. Among the excm-sions

* They ei)campe<l the lollowiiig nighl in tlic Indian wigwams, umlor a guard of only 40

men. Hutchinson, ii. .'312.

t Hisioire Generalc ile Nouvclle France, ii. 382—1.

X He tiid not arrive at the village till near night, when the action was over. Httichm-

ton, ii. 313.
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performed by Lovewell, pre\ious to that in which he was killed, the most
important was that to the head of Salmon-fall River, now Wakefield, in
New Hampshire. * With 40 men, he came upon a small company of ten
Indians, who were asleep by their fires, and, by stationing his men advan-
tageously, killed all of them. This bloody deed was performed near the
shore of a pond, which has ever since borne the name of LovtweWs PoiuL
After taking off their scalps, these 40 wairiors mai-ched to Boston in great
ti-iumph, with the ten scalps extended upon hoops, displayed in the Indian
manner, and for which they received £1000. This exploit was the more
lauded, as it was supposed that these ten Indians were upon an expedition
against the English upon the frontiers; having new guns, much ammuni-
tion, and spare blankets and moccasons, to accommodate captives. This,
however, was mere conjectm-e ; and whether they had killed friends or
enemies, was not qidte so ceilain as that they had killed Indians.

It is said tliat Paugus was well known to many of the English, and per-
sonally to many of LoveweWs men. That his name was a terror to the
frontiers, we have no doubt ; and that his appearance at Pequawket, when
met by Lovewell, was enough to have struck terror into all that beheld him,
may not be questioned, we will let the poetf describe him.

I . 'Twas Paugus led the Pequ'k't tribe : 2. But Chamberlain, of Dunstable,
As runs the tbx, would Paugus run

; One whom a savag^e ne'er shall slay.

As howls the wild wolf, would he howl

;

Met Paugus by the water-side,
A huge bear-skin had Paugus on. And shot him dead upon that day.

The second in command among the Indians on that memorable day was
named Wahwa, but of Mm we have no particulars. Captain Lovewell
marched out from Dunstable with 46 men, about the 16 April, 1725, of which
event the poet thus speaks :

—

3. What time the noble Lovewell came, 7. Thus left youns: Harwood, babe and wife;
With fifty men from Dunstable, With accent wld she bade adieu:
The cruel Pequ'k't tribe to tame, It grieved those lovers much to pairt,

With arms and bloodshed terrible. So fond and fair, so kind and true.

4. With Lovewell brave John Hancood came

;

8. Johyi Harwood died all bathed in blood,
From wife and babes' twas hard to part

;

When he had fought till set of day;
Young Harwood took her by the hand. And many more we may not name,
And boimd the weeper to his heart. Fell in that bloody battle fray.

5. " Repress that tear, my Mary, dear, 9. When news did come to Harwood's wife
Said Harwood to his loving wife

;

That he with Lovewell fought and died

;

It tries me hard to leave thee here, Far in the wilds had given his life

And seek in distant woods the strife. Nor more would in this home abide
;

6. '•' When gone, my Mary, think of me, 10. Such grief did seize upon her mind,
And pray to God that I may be Such sorrow filled her faithful breast,
Such as one ought that lives for thee, On earth she ne'er foimd peace again,
And come at last in victory." But followed Hanvood to his rest.

They arrived near the place where they expected to find Indians, on the
7 May ; and, early the next morning, while at prayers, heard a gim, which
they rightly suspected to be fired by some of Paugus^s men, and imme-
diately prepared for an encounter. Divesting themselves of their packs,
they marched forward to discover the enemy. But not knowing in what
direction to proceed, they marched in an opposite direction from the In-
dians. This gave Paugus great advantage ; who, following their tracks,
soon fell in with their packs, from which he learned their strength. Being
encoiu-aged by his superior numbers, Paugus coiu-ted the conflict, and pur-
sued the English with ai'dor. His nimibef of men was said to have been

* In December of the previous year, (1724.) with a few followers, he made an expedition to

the north-east of Winnipisiogee Lake, in which he killed one and took another prisoner. For
these he received the bounty offered by government.

t The editors or publishers of the N. H. collections have inserted the above lines, in

imitation of the ancient Chevy Chase ; but whence they were obtained, or who weis their

author, they do not inform us; perhaps, like that of which they are em imitation, the author
remains unknown. We give it entire.

07
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80, while that of the Enghsh consisted of uo more than 34, having left ten

in a fort, which they built at Ossipee ; and one, an Indian named Tohy, had
before retm-ned home, on accomit of lameness. The fort at Ossipee was for

a retreat ui case of emergency, and to sei-ve as a deposit of part of their

provisions, of which they disencumbered themselves before leaving it.

After mai'chirig a considerable distance from the place of then- encamp-
ment on the morning of the 8 * May, Ensign ff'yman discovered an Indian,

who was out hunting, having in one hand some fowls he had just killed, and
in the other, two guns. There can be no probability thathe thought of meeting
an enemy, but no sooner was he discovered by the English, than several guns
were &-ed at him, but missed him. Seeing that sui-e death was his lot, this

valiant Indian resolved to defend himself to his last breath ; and the action was
as speedy as the thought : his gun was levelled at the English, and Lovewell

was mortally wounded. Ensign JVyman, taking deliberate aim, killed the poor
hunter; which action our poet describes in glowing terms as follows:

11. Seth Wijman, who in Woburn lived, 12. The savage had been seeking game
;

A marksman he of courage true, Two guns, and eke a knife, he bore,

Shot the first Indian whom they saw
;

And two black ducks were in his hand
j

Sheer through his heart the bullet flew. He shrieked, and fell to rise no more.

He was scalped by the chaplain and another, and then they marched
again by the way they came, to recover their packs. This movement was
expected by the wily Paugus, and he accordingly prepared an ambush to

cut them off, or to take them prisoners, as fortune should will.

13. Anon, there eighty Indians rose, 14. John Locewell, captain of the band,

Who'd hid themselves in ambush dread; His sword he waved, that gliitered bright,

Their knives they shook, their guns they For the last time he cheered his men,
aimed. And led them onward to the fight.

The famous Paugus at their head.

When the Indians rose from their coverts, they neai'ly encircled the

English, but seemed loath to begin the fight ; and were, no doubt, m hopes
that the English, seeing their numbers, would yield without a battle ; and,

therefore, made towards them with their giuis ])resented, and threw away
their first fire. They then held up ropes which they had provided for secur-

ing captives, and asked them if they would have quarter. This only encour-

aged the English', who answered " only at the muzzles of their guns ;

" and
they rushed toward the Indians, fii-ed as they pressed on, and, killing many,
drove them several rods. But they soon rallied and fiied vigorously in

their turn, and obliged the Enghsh to retreat, leaving nine dead and three

wounded, where the battle began. Lovewell, though mortally womided be-

fore, had led his men until this time, but fell before the retreat.

Although we transpose the verses in the song, to acconmiodate them to

the circumstances of the fight, yet we cannot avoid entirely their irregular-

ity in reference to it. By idie next that follow, it would seem, that Lovewell

received a second wound belbie he fell.

15. " Fight on, fight on,"' brave Lovewell said
; 16. Good heavens ! is this a time for prayer ?

"Figlit on, while Heaven shall give you Is this a time to worship God
;

breath !

" When LoveweU's men are dying fast,

An Indian ball then pierced him through. And Paugus' tribe halh fell the rod '?

And LoveiveU closed his e^cs in death.

In this 16th verse the poet, perhaps, had reference to the morning prayer,

which Mr. Fnjc, the chai)lain, made before marching, on the day of tiie

battle ; t>r, perhai)s, more probably, to the ejaculations he made on the field

•iiltcr he was mortally woimded. In the morning he prayed thus patriotically

:

" We came out to meet the enemy ; we have all along prayed God we might

find them ; we had rather trust Providence with oiu- lives
;
yea, die tor our

country, than try to retinn without seeing tliem, if we might ; and be called

cowards for our pains." f

* This was O. S. and corresponds to May IP. N. S.—Soe iwf.' in hist chapter.
* Address of C. S. Davis, (p. 17.) delivered at Fryeburg, 100 years after the fight.
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17. The chaplain's name was Jonathan Frye ;

In Andover his father dwelt,

And oft with LoveweWs men he'd prayed,
Before the mortal wound he feU.

18. A man was he of comely fonn,

Polished and brave, well learnt and kind

;

Old Harvard's learned heills he left,

Fcir in the wilds a grave to find.

19. Ah ! now his blood-red arm he lifts,

His closing lids he tries to raise

;

And speak once more before he dies.

In supplication and in praise.

20. He prays kind Heaven to grant success,

Brave LoveweWs men to guide and bless,

And when they've shed their hearts'-blood

true,

To raise them cill to happiness.

21. " Come hither, Farwell," said young Frye,
" You see that I'm about to (fie

;

Now for the love I bear to you,
When cold in death my bones shall lie

5

22. " Go thou and see my parents dear,
And tell them you stood by me here

;

Console them when they cry, Alas 1

And wipe away the falhng tear."

23. LieutencUit Farewell took his hand,
His arm around his neck he threw,
And Sciid, " Brave chaplain, I cotild wish
That Heaven had made me die for you."

24. The chaplain on kind Farwell's breeist.

Bloody, and languishing, he fell;

Nor after that, said more but this,

" I love thee, soldier ; fare thee well !
''

" The fight continued," says the Reverend Mr. Symmes, " very furious and
obstinate till tovpards night. The Indians roaring and yelling and howling
like vpolves, barking like dogs, and making all sorts of hideous noises : the
English frequently shouting and huzzaing, as they did after the fii-st round.
At one time Captain Wyman is confident they were got to Powawing, by
their striking on the groimd, and other odd motions ; but at length Wyman
crept up towards them, and, firing amongst them, shot the chief Powaw, and
broke up their meeting." *

25. Good heavens ! they dance the powow
dance.

What horrid yells the forest fill I

The grim bear crouches in his den,
The easfle seeks the distant hill.

26. " What means this dance, this powow
dance ?

"

Stern \Vy7nan said ; with wondrous art.

He crept full near, his rifle aimed,
And shot the leader through the heart.

The first of the follovring stanzas is very happUy conceived, and although
not in the order of the poet, is as appropriate here, as where it originjmy
stood.

27. Then did the crimson streams, that flow'd,

Seem like the waters of the brook,
That brightly shine, that loudly dash,

Far down the cliffs of Agiochook. t

3. Ah ! many a wife shall rend her hair.

And many a child cry, " Woe is me,"
When messengers the news shall bear,
Of LoveweWs decur-boughl victory.

* Narrative of the fight at Piggwacket, vii.

t The Indian name of the White Mountains, or, as the people of New Hampshire woulc
say, White Hills. The natives believed the summits of these mountains to be inhabited by
invisible beings, but whether good or evil we are not informed. Nor is it ofmuch importance,
since they reverenced the one as much as the other.

It is always highly gratifying to the curious to observe how people primitively viewed
objects which have become familiar to them. We will here present the reader with Mr.
Josselyn's description of the White Mountains, not for its accuracy, but for its curious extrava
gance. "Four score miles, (upon a direct line,) to the N. W. of Scarborow, a ridge of
mountains run N. W. and N. E. an hundred leagues, knovni by the name of the White
Mountains, upon which lieth snow all the year, and is a landmark twentj- miles off at sea. It

is a rising ground from the sea shore to these hills, and they are inaccessible but by the gul-
lies which the dissolved snow hath made. In these gullies grow saven bushes, which being
taken hold of, are a good help to the climbing discoverer. Upon the top of the highest of
these mountains, is a large level, or plain, 01 a day's journey over, whereon nothing grows
but moss. At the farther end of this plain is another hill called the Sus:ar-loaf, to outward
appearance a rude heap of massie stones piled one upon another, and you may, as you
ascend, step from one stone to another, as if you were going up a pair of stairs, but winding
still about the hill, till you come to the top, which will require half a day's time, and yet it is

not above a mile, where there is also a level of about an acre of ground, with a pond of

clecir water in the midst of it, which you may hear run down, but how it ascends is a mystery.

From this rocky hill you may see the whole country round about ; it is far above the lower

clouds, and from hence we beheld a vapor, (like a great pillar,) drawn up b}' the sun-beaina

out of a great lake, or pond, into the air, where it was formed into a cloud. The country

beyond tEese hills, northward, is daunting terrible, being fiill of rocky hills, as thick as mole-

nills in a meadow, and cloathed with infinite thick woods." New England's Rarities, 3, 4.

Sad recollections are associated wth the name of these mountains. The destruction oflives,
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29 With fooUteps slow shall travellers go, 30. Old men shall shake their heads, and say

Where LoveweWs pond shines clear and " Sad was the hour and terrible,

bright, When Loveioell, brave, 'gainst Paugut
And mark the plaie where those are laid, went,

Who fell in LoveweWs bloody fight. With fifty men from Dunstable."

If miracles had not then ceased in the land, we should be induced to pass

to their credit the extraordinary escape of several of the wounded English-

men. Solomon Keyes, having received three woimds, said he would hide him-

self, and die m a secret place, where the Lidians could not find him to get

his scalp. As he crawled upon the shore of the pond, at some distance

from the scene of action, he found a canoe, into wliich he rolled him-

self) and was drifted away by the wind. To his great astonishment, he
was cast ashore at no great distance from the fort at Ossipee, wliich he found

means to recover, and there met several of his companions ; and, gaining

strength, returned home with them.
Those who escaped did not leave the battle-ground untU near midnight.

When they arrived at the fort, they expected to have foimd refreslmient, and
those they had left as a reserve ; but a fellow, whose name is not mentioned,

who deserted the rest when the battle began, and fled there, so frightened

them, that they fled in great confusion and dismay to theu" homes.
The place where this fight took place was 50 miles from any white inhab-

itants; and that any shoiild have survived the famine which now stared

them in the face, is almost as muaculous as that they should have escaped

death at the hands of the courageous warriors of Pavgus ; yet 14 lived to

return to their friends.

Fifty men, from New Hampshu-e, afterwards marched to the scene of

action, where they found and bm-ied the dead. They foimd but three In-

dians, one of whom was Paugus. The rest were supposed to have been
taken away when they retreated from the battle.

Thus progressed and terminated the expedition against the Pequawkets.

And although the whites could scm-cely claim the victory, yet, as in the case

of the Narragansets, the Northern Indians received a blow from wliich they

never recovered. With the Androscoggin s, the Pequawkets soon after retired

towards the sources of the Connecticut River. Alter remaining in those

regions about two years, they separated, and tlie Androscoggins removed to

Canada, where they were afterwards known as the St. Francis tribe. The
Pequawkets remained upon the Connecticut, who, in the time of the revolu-

tionaiy war, were under a chief named Philip. In 1728, a ti-act of country,

since Pembroke, N. H., was granted to tlie men that went out with Lovewdl,
and it for some time bore the name of LoveweWs Toivn.

We had here nearly concluded to close our accoimt of tliis affair, but

cannot relieve om-self easily of the recollection of the follown" song, with-

out inserting it, although we, and others, have elsewhere published it It is

said to have lieen composed the same year of the fight, and for several

yean afterwards was the most beloved song in all New England

:

1. Ofworthy Captain Lovewell I purpose now to sing.

How valiantly he served his country and his king
;

He and his valiant soldiers did range the woods full wide,

And hardships they endured to quell the Indian's pride.

2. 'Twas nigh unto Pigwacket, on the eighth day of May,
They spied a rebel Indian soon after break of day

j

He on a bank was walking, upon a neck of land,

Which leads into a pond, as we're made to understand.

3. Our men resolved to have him, and travelled two miles round.

Until they met the Indian, who boldly stood his ground :

Then speaks up Captain Lovewell, " Take you good heed," says he j

" This rogue is to decoy us, I very plainly see.

oecasioned by an avalanche at tlie celebrated Notch, in 1826, will not soon be forgotten.

Mr. Moore, of Concord, has published an interesting account of it in the Coll. N. H. Hist. Soc.

Tol. iii
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4. " The Indians lie in ambush, in some place nigh at hcmd,

In order to surround us upon this neck of land
;

Therefore we'll march in order, and each man leave his pacK,

That we may briskly fight them when they shall us attack."

6. They came unto this Indian, who did them thus defy
;

As soon as they came nigh him, two guns he did let fly,

Which wounded Capiain Ibovewell, and likewise one man more;
But when this rogue was running, they laid him in his gore.

6. Then having scalped the Indian, they went back to the spot,

Where they had laid their packs down, but there they found them not;

For the Indians having spied them, when they them down did lay,

Did seize them for their plunder, and carry them away.

7. These rebels lay in ambush, this very place hard by.

So that em English soldier did one of them espy,

And cried out, ' Here's an Indian !
" with that they started oot.

As fiercely as old lions, and hideously did shout.

8. With that our valiant English all gave a loud huzza,

To shew the rebel Indians they feared them not a straw

;

So now the fight began, as fiercely a^ could be.

The Indians ran up to them, but soon were forced to flee.

9. Then spake up Captain Lovewell, when first the fight began,
" Fight on, my valiant heroes '. you see they fall like rain."

For, as we are informed, the Indiems were so thick,

A mem could scarcely fire a gun and not some of them hit.

10. Then did the rebels try their best our soldiers to surround

But they could not accomplish it, because there was a pond,

To which our men retreated, and covered all the rear

;

The rogues were forced to flee them, although they skulked for fear

11. Two logs there were behind them that close together lay.

Without being discovered, they could not get away

;

Therefore our valiant English they travelled in a row,

And at a handsome distance as the)' were wont to go.

12. 'Twas ten o'olockin the morning when first the fight begun,

And fiercely did continue till the setting of the sun,

E.xcepting that the Indians, some hours before, twas night.

Drew off mto the bushes and ceased a while to fight.

13. But soon again returned in fierce and fiirious mood.
Shouting as in the morning, but yet not half so loud,

For, as we are informed, so thick and fast they fell.

Scarce twenty of their number, at night did get home well.

14. And that our valiant English, till midnight there did stay,

To see whether the rebels would have another firay -,

But tbev no more returnmg. they made off 'owa^ls 'beir borne.

And brougnt away ttieir wounded cis tar as tney cooid come.

15. Of all our valiant English, there were but thirty-four.

And of the rebel Indians, there were about four score,

And sixteen of our English did safely home return;

The rest were killed and wounded, for which we all must mourn.

16. Our worthy Captain Lovewell among them there did die ;

They killed Lieutenant Robbins, and wounded good young i^?^,

Who was our English chaplain ; he many Indians slew,

And some of them he scalped when bullets roimd him flew.

17 Yoimg Fullam too I'll mention, because he fought so well
;

Endeavoring to save a man, a sacrifice he fell,

And yet our valiant Englishmen in fight were ne'er dismayed,

But still they kept their motion, and VVyman captain made ;

18. Who shot the old chief Padgus, which did the foe defeat.

Then set his men in order, and brought off the retreat

;

And braving many dangers and hardships in the way.
They safe arrived at Dunstable, the thirteenth day of May

27*
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CHAPTER X.

Uie St. Francis Indians—Rogers' expedition against them—Philip—Sabatis—
Arnold's expedition—Natanis—The modern Penohscots—Aitteon—Neptune—
Captain Francis—Susup murders an Englishman—Specimen of the Penobscoi

language.—Rowles—his prophecy—Blind Will—Killed by the Mohawks—As-
sacambuit— Visits France and is knighted by the king—Attacks and burns Haver-
hill—His death.

Towards the close of the last chapter, mention was made of the St-

Francis Lidians, and, as they were, a part of them, the remnant of the once
respectable Andi'oscoggins,* their history will here be resmned. We have
already related some of their hardships and sufferings, both in Philip's wai-

and the French wars afterwards, when they had to contend with the old

experienced chief, Colonel Church; and also their severe disaster in opposing
Lovtwell.

After their an-ival upon the Lake St. Francis, fi-om which their village took
its name, they were und-er the influence and guidance of French ecclesias-

tics. Their village, in 1755, consisted of about 40 vdgwams and a chm-ch,
and a friai- resided among them. What time the Androscoggins joined the

St. Francis tribe has not been discovered ; but whenever war existed between
France and England, they generally had some participation in it, the fre-

quent occurrence of which at length ended in their almost total destruction,

in 1759.

Before the capture of Quebec, in that year, and while the English army
under General Amherst lay at Cro^vn Point, an expedition against St. Franc"
was ordered by him ; being so " exasperated," says Colonel Rogers, " at the
treatment Capt. Kejinedy had received from those Indians, to wiioni he had
been sent with a flag of truce, and proposals of peace, who had been by
them made prisoner with his paity, that he determined to bestow upon them
a signal chastisement" This does not appear, however, to be all that was
charged against them, for Major Rogers contuiues, " They had, within my own
knowledge, during the six years past, killed and carried away more than
600 persons." Accordingly Major Rogers was despatched upon tliis enter-

prise with 142 effective men, including officers, and a few Indians of the
Pequawket tribe, under Philip, their chief. It was a most perilous undertak-
ing ; near 300 miles of wild country to be passed, late in October, 1759.

When they came in sight of the to^vn, towards evening, on the 5 October,
the inhabitants were dancing about in great glee, celebrating a Medding.
Half an horn- before sunrise the next morning, the English lell suddenly
upon them, in three divisions, and completely sin-prised them, killing 200
Indians, and capturing a few women and children.f With such secrecy and
promi)titude did the English act on this occasion, says our autlior, " that the
enemy had no time to recover themselves, or take arms in their own defence,
until they were mostly destroyed." Some few ran dowii to the river to es-
cape by swimming or in their canoes, but were |)ursued and destroyed
Their villiigo, except three houses, was burnt, and many persons in it By
seven o'clock the butchery was ended, and a retreat was immediately com-
menced. Two bidian boys were brought away prisonei-s, one of whom was

* " At St. Fran(,'ais. from SDino of Zanghe'darankiac, or people from the montli of this river,

I learned, thai ilicy call n. or rather its tianks, Amilcungantiiptoke . or banks of the river

abounding in (Ined meat.'' KevUaUs Travels, lii. 143.

t I lately received a letter from a s-entlcman who subscribed himself " Joseph Alex.
Masta, an Indian of the St. B^raiicis Irme," complainin? of the inaccurate account given by
Major Rogers of the destruction of that tribe; but as the author of the letter does not give
an account himself, nor direct me where I can obtain one, belter than I have used, I am con-
strained to reprint my account without niurli emendation. The only facts which 1 ran slather

from his letter, are, tnat, "before this event [Rog-ers's Expedition] took place, the St. Francis
tribe numbered from 1800 to 2000 inhabitants ; but since, this number has made rapid decline,

anil at present on the point of total dissolution." Letter, dated Vinceimes, Vt. 25 April, 183&
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named Sehatis. The English commander says, " We found 600 scalps hang-
ing upon poles over the doors of then- wigwams."
Although the English had made such havoc among the Indians, yet a

wretched calamity awaited them in then* homeward march. They had but
one of their number killed, who was an Indian, and six wounded, during the
massacre, but on their return many were lost in the wilderness, starved and
frozen to death. The scenes of individual suffering, could they be known,
would probably exceed those which followed LoveweWs fight. Having mis-
taken the Upper for the Lower Coos, some set off by pomt of compass, at d
were never heard of afler, and the enemy followed and cut off others. But
Philip, at the head of his company, made good his retreat without losing a
man in the way.

Besides this expedition, in which Philip was one of " Rogers' rangers," he
was at the captm-e of Louisburgh, under General Amherst, and was the
fii'st man tliat took possession of the fortress.*

In the winter of 1757, when the English and French armies had gone into
winter quarters, Colonel Rogers was lefl in command of Fort Edward,
and had several severe battles with the French and Indians in scouting
expeditions. In one of these, he fell in with a superior force to his own,
near Ticonderoga, and lost many of his men, in killed and prisoners. This
was on 21 Januaiy. The chief, Philip, was in that affair, and acted as ser-
geant. Concerning this chief, it is further said that he was but " half Indian,"
and that in the revolution, he joined the Americans, saying " he was a whig
Indian."

Mention has been made of an Indian of the name of Sebatis or Sabatis.
There were several of the name, and doubtless it was peculiar to the Abena-
quies ; and hence that Sabatis, captured at St. Francis, was descended
'-om an Abeuaquis family, who had settled there. It is possible also, that

e may be the same who afterwai-ds resided, near the head waters of the
Kennebeck, with a brother named JVatanis, who is brought to our notice
in the accoimts \ of General Jimold's expedition through that region in the
fall of 1775 ; but this is conjecture. However, what is known of these two
brothers follows.

General Arnold having, on his arrival in the Kennebeck River, ordered a
small band to proceed in advance of the army, to discover and mark out a
route for it, gave strict orders that JVatanis should be captm-ed or killed. Tliis

order had been given, because the general had been informed that he had
been fixed there by the English of Canada, as a spy, to give information
if an enemy should approach in that du-ection. But this, as it proved, was
false information, and JVatanis was the friend of the Americans, as also was
his brother Sabatis, who Uved about seven miles higher up the river, above
him.

The residence of JVatanis was a lonesome place, upon the bank of the
river ; his cabm, situated in the centre of a gi-een, the border of which was
beyond musket shot from it, was a discoveiy which added to the suspicious
of the party, who, havmg arrived in the neighborhood, 4 October, surrounded
it at every pouit, and run in upon it with great eagerness ; expecting, without
doubt, to have taken him prisoner. In this they were disappointed, for it ap-
peared that the place had been deserted a week. Near by, at the shore
of the river, a map drawn upon birch bark, was fomid in the top
of a stake, very accm-ately delineating the com-ses of the rivers towards
Canada, and lines denoting places of crossing from one to another. This
greatly surprised them, but they profited much by it. Nothing was seen of
any Lidians during t le excursion of the exploring party, who, after about 22
days, in which they suffered every thing but death, rejomed the army.
When the army had arrived within the bounds of Canada, which was on

the 4 November, " we for the fii-st time," says Mr. Henry, " had the pleasure
of seeing the worthy and respectable Indian, JVatanis, and Ms brother, Saba-

* Rogers' Reminiscenoes, Appendix to new edition.

t See that of Judge John J. Henry, 32, to 36, and 74, &,c. See also Shallu's Tables, ii.

609, and Col. Maine Hist. Soc. i. 394.
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tia, with some others of their tiibe." JVatanis went to each of the companieg
of spies, and shook them by the hand, as though Jie had been formerly
acquainted with them. He explained himself by telling them, that he had
kept close to them all the time they were making their discovery beyond his

residence, and until they returned, but did not dai'e to make himself
known, for fear they would kill him—a wise resolution.

Natanis and Sabatis, with 17 others of their tribe, joined the army
on the River Chaiidiere, and marched with it to Canada. When the attack

on Quebec was made, 31 December, 1775, Matanis Avas wounded by a shot

through the wi'ist, and fell into the hands of the British general, Caiieton,

who immediately set him at liberty. These were the fii'st Indians employed
ui the revolutionaiy contest by the Americans.*
We cannot pass over the momentous undertaking of .Arnold, without re-

questing the reader to ]iotice how many men of note and eminence survived

its ruins—General Daniel Morgan of Vii'gin la, then a captain—General Henry
Dearborn of Massachusetts, of like rank

—

Timothy Bigelow of Massachusetts,

a major

—

Return J. Meigs, father of the late postmaster-general, of the same
rank

—

Samuel Spring, D. D. of Newburyport, a chaplam

—

Aaron Burr ofNew
Jersey, and General Benedict w3;7ioW of Connecticut.f Numerous others de-

serve equal notice ; but it is not our province to enumerate them here. And
from this digi-ession we return to notice another chief nearly smiilar in name
to the last

At the treaty of Georgetown, on Arrowsik Island, held by the eastern

tribes with the English, 9 August, 1717, Sabbadis, as his name was then wi-it-

ten, appeared for the Androscoggins. Also at the treaty of Casco, dated

25 July, 1727, we find among the signers Sabatists of Airesagontacook.J

What part Sabatis acted in the tragedies fi-om 1722 to 1725, does not appear.

In the History of Maine§ Ave find the folloAving passage concerning Sab-

bcdist, as he is there called. " In 1730, a chaplain was alloAved at Fort George

;

and it was in this place, where Sabbatist, the Anasagunticook sagamore, re-

quested government to keep some supplies: for, said he, in ^cold winters and
^ep snotvs, my Indians, unable to go to Fort Richmond, sometimes suffer.^

"

We now pass to our own times to notice some modern Indians in the

state of Maine. In 1816, the Penobscot tribe at Old Town,|| having lost its

sachem, entered upon the election of another. It was some months before

they could agree upon a successor, although it is their custom to elect a near
relation of the deceased. At length party spirit liaviug itm unreasonably
high, their priest, who is a Roman Catholic, hiterfered, and they forsook the

rival candidates, and elected John Aitteon. This man, it is said, was a de-

scendant of Baron de Saint Casiiens. The induction into office took place

ID September, 1816. At tlie same time John JVeptune was constituted his

lieutenant, and Captain Francis and another were confirmed as chief

captains.

A specimen of modem oratory among these Indians is given by Mr. Wil-
liamson, who heard it, in his History of Maine. It was made in a court,

by John JVeptune, in extenuation of the murder of one Knight, l\v Peol Susup.

The catse was nearly as follows : In the evening of 28 June, 1816, this Indian
was intoxicated, and at the tavern of said Knight at Bangor, (whether he had
procured liquor there Avith which to intoxicate himself, Ave tu-e not informed,)

juid being noisy and turbulent, Knight endeavored to exjjel him from his

house. Havuig thrust him out of door, ho endeavored to drive him aAvay,

and in the attempt was stahhed, and innnediatcly died. On his arrest, Susup
acknowledged his guilt, but said he was in licjuor, and that Knight abused

* Judge Henry, 75.

t Henry, our anili<irity Ix^Corc mentioned, was a private, aged but 16, who ran away from
his father, and joined the army clandestinely; he died in lijlt), aged 52. Morgan clicd in

1802, eel. 65 ; Dearbcm in 18^, wt. 78; Metes in 1823; Spring in 1819, a;t. 73; Arnold in

1801, at London, eel. 61 ; Burr died in New York, in 1836.

i Coll. N. H. Ilisi. Soc. ii. 21.2. 2fiO. ^ Williamson, ii. 159.

II
In 181 1, this tribe consisted of but 57 families, and 2H persons. In 1820 there were 277

iouls. Their increase, says Dr. Morse, Appendix to Indian Report 66, is owing to an
obligation of the chiefs imposed upon their vnung men to marry early.
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him, or he had not done it. Being brought to trial in June the next year at

Castine, by advice of counsel, he pleaded not guilty; and after a day spent in

bis trial, a verdict was rendered, according to the defence set up, man-
ilaughter. Susup had a wife and several children ; four of whom, with their

mother, were present, as were many other Indians from St. Johns and Passa-

maquoddy, besides a great crowd of whites.
After sentence was declared, Sitsup was asked by the court if he had any

thing to say for himself; to which he replied, " John Neptune mill speak for
me." Neptune rose up, and, having advanced towards the judges, delib-

erately said, in English,

'' You knotv your people do my Indians great deal ivrong. They abuse tliem

very much—yes they murder them ; then they walk right off-
—nobody touches them.

This makes my heart bum. Well, then my Indians say, ive will go kill your veiy

had and wicked men. Ab, ItelVem never do that thing, ive are brothers. Some
time ago a very bad man * about Boston, shot an Indian dead. Your people said,

surely he should die, but it was not so. In the great prison house he eats and lives

to this day. Certainly he never diesfor killing Indian. My brothers say let that

bl&odyman go free—Peol Susup <oo. So we wish. Hopeflls the hearts of us
all^Peace is good. These, my Indians, love it well. They smile under its shade.

The white men and red Tnen must be always friends. The Great Spirit is our

father.—/ speak what Ifeel."

" Stisup was sentenced to another year's imprisonment, and required to find

sureties for keeping the peace two yeai's, in the penal sum of 500 dolliars ;

when John JSTeptune, Squire Jo Merry JVeptune, of his own tribe, Capt. Solmond,
firom Passamaquoddy, and Capt. Jo Tomer, from the River St. Johns, became
his sui-eties in the cognizance." f

Captain Francis, the first captain of the tribe, has been mentioned, and
who, according to the historian of Maine, is a man of good understanding. If

the information he has given coucernuig the eastern Indians be correct,—and
we see no cause to doubt it,—it is of much value, and no less mterest. He
assured Mr. Williamson, "that all the tribes between the Saco and the St.

Jolnis, both inclusive, are brothers ; that the eldest lived on the Saco ; that

each tribe is younger as we pass eastward, like the sons of the same father,

though the one at Passamaquoddy | is the youngest of all, proceeding from
those upon the River St. Johns and Peuobscot.§ ' Always,'' he affirms, ' / could

understand all these brothers very well when they speak ; but when the Mickmaks or

the Algonquins, or Canada Indians talk, I cannot tell all what they say.^
"

Before dismissing the interesting Tarratines, it may be proper to present a

specimen of their language.

Metunk^senah, ouwa^ne, spum^keag-aio, kee^nuck tle-we-seh, keah^-dabeV-dock,

now-do^-seh, keah^-olet-hautHa-mon-a, numah-zee, m^se-tah^-mah, fhah-lah-ivee^~

keunah, spum^-keag-aio, 7ne-lea^neh, neoSiah, ne-qujem-pe-btm-gees'o^coque, maje''

me, gees^-cool, ar^bon, mus-see-aHos^see, neo\iah, commonVen-esk-sock, H-hah-lah-

wee-keurmh, num-e-se-comele^ent, tah-hah-la-we-u-keah-ma-che-ke^-cheek, a-que-he\

a-que-ah-lah-ke-me-sah\oque, n^gahhie, numa-zee\ nea-nah, neoje, saio^-got.

* " He alluded to one Livermore, who had received sentence of death for killing an In-

dian, which was commuted to hard labor for life in the state's prison." Williamson.
An Indian named Crevay, a Penobscot of the tribe of St. Francis, to avoid being dis-

tressed by the war on the frontiers of Canada, with his wife wandered down into Massachu-
setts, and erected a wigwam on the shore of Spot Pond, in the town of Stoneham, where they

lived. At length some abominable white rulfians, on the night of the 2.3 November, 1813,

shot him while he was asleep, emd badly woimded his squaw. Not being killed outright, this

Indian crawled from his wigwam, and was found the next day almost lifeless and in great

agony, and he expired in a few days after. The names of the murderers I will not give, for

I abhor to sully my page with them. Four were guilt}-. One fled from justice, two were
tried and condemned to be hanged. December 25th. following. Report of the Trial.

t Ibid.

X The Indians said, Fascodum-oquo7i-keag. Pascodum meant pollock ; oquon, catch 'en

great many ; eag, land or place.

$ Penops, rocks ; keag, a place of.
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ivoo-saiv^me, keah-dabeld^-ock, ego-mah, keeloah\ noa^chee, done-ah}h, sazoos'

neahHtts, quos^-que.*

In speaking of the New Hampshire sachems, it was not intended that sc

conspicuous a chief as Roivls should have been silently passed over, and
therefore we will give him a place here. This chief has of late years become
noted, from the cuxumstance of his name's bemg found to the celebrated

JVheelwiight deed of 1629. That deed, it maybe proper to remark, purported

to have been given by Passaconaway, Runaavjitt, Wehanownowit, and Rowls.

The tract of country conveyed was included between the Pascataqua and
Merrimack Rivers, and bounded inland by a line from "Pawtucket" Falls

in the latter, and Newichawannok in the former. It is pretty certain, now,
that these sachems gave no such deed at the time specified.

RowLs was sachem of the Newichawannoks, and his dwelling-place was
upon the north side of the Pascataqua, not fax from Quampeagan Falls, in

Berwick, tlien Kitterj'. " Li 1643, he conveyed the lands of his vicinity to

Humphrey Chadbourn ; and others afterwards, to Spencer; the former being
the earliest Lidian deed found upon oiu- records. It is certain that all the

Lidians upon the river to its mouth, were his subjects, though he was under
Passaconaway."f Mr. Hubbard J says, " There was within the comjjass of the

seven years now ciun-eut, [about 1670,] a sagamore about Kittary, called

Rouls or Rolles : who laying very sick, and bedrid, (being an old man,) he ex-

pected some of the English, that seized upon his land, should have sho'wn

him that civility, as to have given him a visit in his aged infirmities and sick-

ness. It matters not much whether it was totally neglected or not ; to be
sure at the last, he sent for the chiefs of the town and desired a favor of them,
viz. that though he might, as he said, challenge [claim] all the plantation for

his own, where they dwelt, that yet they would please to sell or give him a

small tract of land, possibly an hundred or two of acres, and withall desired

it might be recorded in the town book, as a public act, that so his children,

which he left behind, might not be turned out, like vagabonds, as destitute of

an habitation amongst, or near the English, adding this as a reason : That he
knew there would shortly fall out a war between the Lidians and the English,

all over the country, and that the Indians at the first should prevail, and do
much mischief to the English, and kill many of them : But after the third

year, or after three yeai-s, all the Indians whicii so did, should be rooted out,

and utterly destroyed." This account, the same autiior says, "is reported by
Maj. W(ddron, Mr. Joshua Moody, Capt. Fi-ost, that live upon, or near the

place."

A chief named Blind-will was successor to Rolls, and in Philip^s war served

the English. Why the word blindwas prefixed to his name is not mentioned,
but probably he had lost an eye.

Li 1077, the wretched expedient was resorted to by the whites, ol'employmg
the Mohawks against the Tarratines, and two messengers, ftlajois Pinclion

and Richards, were despatched to their country. Tiiey were kindly received

by them, and promised their assistance. " Accordingly sonn" parties of
them came down the country, about the middle of March, and tin- first

alarm \^as given at Amuskeeg Falls; where the son of JVonolanset being
hunting, discovered l.'i Indians on the other side, who called to liim iu a lan-

guage which he tlid not understand; upon which he fied, anil they fired

near 30 guns at iiim wilhout ellbct. Presently after this they were discovered
in the woods near Cochccho. 3Iajor JVnldron sent out eight of his Indians,

whereof Blind-will was one, to make further discovery. They were all

surprised together by a comj)any of the Mohawks ; tw o or three escaped,

the others were either killed or taken, JVill w^•ls dragged away by his hair
;

and being wounded, ])erished in tiie woods, on a neck of land, formed by the

confluence of Cocliecho and Ising-glass l{ivers, \\ liicli still bears tlm name
of Blind-will's Neck."§ Such were the exploits of the allies of the English

* IVil/iamson's Alaiiio, i. 513. t ^Villia!nsp|l, i. V)0. J Indian Wars, ii.
9'

* Bellniap. Hist. N. H. i. Vlb.
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at this time ; nor do we find that any others were performed of a different

chai-acter. Notwithstanding, the same miserable policy was talked of again

about nine years after ; but we do not learn that it was carried into practice.

It was, perhaps, at the time of which we have been speaking, that the Nar-
raganset chief PessacAis was murdered, as has been mentioned.*

We had not thus long delayed our notice of one of the most renowned
chiefs, but from the untoward circumstance of having mislaid a valuable

communication concerning him.f The sachem of whom we ai-e now to

speak was known among the French by the name of JVescambioiiit, but

among the English he was called

AssACAMBUiT, I and Assacomhu{t.\ This chief was as faithfvd to the

French as one of their own nation ; and our account of him begins in 1696,

when, with Iberville and the famous Montigny, he rendered important service

in the reduction of the English Fort St. Johns, 30 November, of that year.

Being apprized of the approach of the French and Indians, the English sent

out 88 men to oppose them, who, on the 28, were met and attacked by a part

of Iberville's army, under Montigny and N'escambiouit, and defeated with the

loss of 55 men. On the night before St. Johns capitulated, Iberville, with

JVescambioiiit as his second, at the head of 30 men, made a sally to burn one

part of the town, while D^Muys and Moniigny, with 60 others, were ordered

to fire it at another point. Both parties succeeded. §

In 1699, he is noticed for some cruelty, which, it was said, he inflicted upon
a child, named Thomasin Rouse. He having ordered it to cany something to

the water side, it cried ; he took a stick and struck her down, and she lay

for dead. He then threw her into the water, but she Avas saved by another

Lidian. She was an English captive, and was soon afi:er restored. This
account was handed Dr. Mather, by one who had just returned from Casco

Bay, where he had been to hold' a treaty with the Indians. The accomit

closes in these words : " This Assacomluit hath killed and taken this war,

(they tell me,) 150 men, women and children. A bloody Devil."
||

It is said that Mauxis, Wanungonet, and Assacombuit, were " three of the

most valiant and puissant sachems " of the east.H Their attack upon the fort

at Casco, in August, 1703, has been mentioned.** Li 1704, some of the Abe-
naquis, having established themselves in Newfoundland, were attacked by the

English, and some of them killed. Whereupon they applied to Governor

Vaudreuil for assistance to repel them, and he sent Montigny with a few

Canadians, who joined themselves with about 50 Abenaquis under JVescambi

oiiit, and attacked the English with great success. They pUlaged and burnt

one fort, and took many prisoners, ff
In 1705, M. Subercase. having succeeded M. Brouillon in the government

of Newfoundland, endeavored to make thorough work with the remaining

English there. Their success was nearly complete, and here again JVescam-

bioiiit is noticed as acting a conspicuous part. Subercase's army consisted of

400 men,tt in all, and they set out from Placentia 15 January, upon snow-
shoes, witli 20 days' provisions. They suffered much fi-om the rigor of the

weather, and did not fall upon the English until the 26, which was at a place

called Rebou. They next took Petit Havre. At St. Johns they found some
resistance, where the English now had two forts, which were supplied with

cannon and mortars, and, after losing five men in killed and wounded, were
obliged to raise the siege, in consequence of want of powder ; having dam-
aged much of what they brought with them in waduig rivers. They next

attacked Foirillon and took it. §§ This was 5 March. Here was also a fort,

* See B. II. p. 58. note §

.

t From Rev. Mr. Felt, of Hamilton. t Penhallmc.

§ Charlevoix, ii. 193.
||
Magnalia, vii. 95. IT Penhallow, 6.

** Pa^e 104, lib. iii. tt Charlevoix, ii. 294.

XX This is according to Charlevoix, but Fenhallow says 500, and Anspach, (Hist. Newfound
and, US.) about 500. C/iac/t^i^OTj: is, doubtless, nearest the truth.

§$ Le Bourgfid brtdi^, apres quoi MoNTiGNY, qui avail amen<' a cette expMiiion son Jid^U

Nescambiouit,/«< detacliA a'-ec les sauvages, et une partie des SFanadiens, peur alter du coU

de Carbonniere, et de Bonneviste, ax^ec order de brider et de detruire toute le cote, ce qu'i

ex^tuta sans verdre un seul homme, tant la ierreur itoit grande parmi les Anglois. N
France, ii. 300.
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into whicL the iuhabitauts at first retii-ed, and endeavoi-ed to defend themselves,

but soon suiTsndered prisoners of war.*

Not long after tiiese services JVescambiouit sailed for France, and in 1706

visited his majesty, King Louis XIV, at Versailles. Here, among other emi-

nent personages, he became kno%vn to the historian Charlevoix, f The
king having presented him an elegant sword, he is reported to have said,

holding up his hand, "This hand has slain one hundred andforty ofyour majes-

ty's en&r.ies in ATew England

;

" | and that whereupon, the king forthwith

knighted him, and ordered that henceforth a pension of eight livres a day be

allowed him for life.

jVescambioilit retm-ned to America in 1707, and the next year accompanied
Rouville to attack Haverhill in Massachusetts. The French had intended a

much more formidable conquest, and had engaged bands of Indians from
four nations to cooperate with them, and all were to rendezvous at Lake
Nikisipique, as they called Winnipesauke or Winnipisiogee. But all except

the Algonquins and Abenaquis under JVescambioiiit, having failed and deserted

them, they were on the point of abandoning their entei'prise altogether.

Having made known their situation to Governor Vaudreuil, and requested

his orders, he du-ected, that though all the Indians deserted them, they should

not give over the expedition. Des Chaillons having communicated this intel-

ligence to the Indians, they entreated him to lead them forward, and said they

would follow him wherever he chose to go.

From Nikisipique they marched, at last, with 200 men, fell upon Haver-

hill,§ and sacked it. The attack was made, sim about an hour high, 29
August, 1708. The contest was short as tlie opposition was feeble. The
English lost about 100 persons by this irruption, 40 or 50 of whom were
killed at Haverhill. JVescambiouit, in this affau", fought by the side of the

connunander-in-chief, and performed prodigies of valor with the sword which
he brought from France.

Having bm-ned the fort and many of the buildings in the village,|| they

began to retrace then- steps, vnth precipitation. The English, having rallied,

formed an ambush in the edge of the woods, about a mile and a half from

the town, attacked them vigorously, killing and wounding many of tliem. In

the ambush were 60 or 70 English, who, after hanging upon their flanks for

near an hour, retreated. In this last affair the French suffered most In

both encounters, 18 men were wounded, tliree Lidians and five Frenchmen
killed. In the ambush fell Heiiel of Chambly, and Verclieres, both officers of

experience ; and the renowned AssacamhuU, as though, elsewhere, like Achil-

les, invulnerable, was woimded by a shot in the foot. This last attack had
tlie hajjpy effect of immediately restoring many of the prisoners.

From 1708 to 1727, we heai- nothing of Assacatnbuit. In June of the latter

year, his death is recorded, accompanied with a short account of him, in a
newspaper of that time. Mention is mdde, among other tilings, that, lilce

Hercules, he had a "famous club" which he always curried with him, on
which were 98 notches, denoting the number of "Englisli " he had killed

;

that he was knighted wliile in France, tlie insignia of which, on his return

home, he wore upon his breast in large lett(!rs. In this newspaper commu-
nication he is styled " Old Escambuit," " formerly tlie i)riiicipal sagamore of

(the HOW dispersed) tribe of the Saco or Pigwacket Indians." He probably

went to reside among the St Francis tribe about 1700. He was restless when
there was no war, and our account says, " when there was something of a

prospect of settled peace, about 30 years ago, [1700,] he marched off the

* Anspach, 124. t Hisl. Gen. de la Nouv. France, ii. 326.

X Penhailou),W. This must l)e, wc iliink, a great misrepresentation- of his real speech,

as subsequent details will lead one to suppose. Perhaps lie mi^lit have said /orty.

^ " Hs priretU aiois le parti de marcher contre un village appelk' Hawrkuii., compose de

mntcinq h trente jiuiisons Men b&tis, avec un fort, oil logt-ait le gotirenieitr. Ce fort avoii urn

garrison de trente soldats. et il y en avoit an moins dix dans chaque nuiison."

II
Charlevoix says, " Toutes lis maisons se dAfeiidirent aussi tris-bien, et eureut le mitM

tort. Il'y ent environ ccrU Amrlois de tit^s dans ces diffirentes attaques ; plusieurs atUrcs, <j«i

attendireiU trop tard a sortir dit fort et des maisons, y (aTeni brides." None of the English

accounts inonlion this, and it was doubtless supposition, without foundation in fact
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ground as a disbanded officer, left his brethien and travelled towards the Mis-
sissippi, where he was constantly engaged in wars, and never heard of till

the last fjill he returned to those [eastern] parts." This was probably the

report among the English of New England ; but in truth he was with the

French in Canada, as we have seen. Had Penhallow published his iNDiAr^

Wars one yeai- later, he would not, probably, have closed his account as he
did concerning him. He says that, at his return from France, he was so

exalted that he treated his countrymen in the most haughty and aiTOgant

manner, " murdering one and stabbmg another, which so exasperated those

of theh relations, that they sought i-eveuge, and would have instantly exe-

cuted it, but that he fled his country, and never returned after."

CHAPTER XL

Destruction of Deerfield, and captivity of Reverend John Williams and family,
in 1704.

Sometimes in a volume, and sometimes in a pamphlet, the naiTative of
this affair had often been given to the world previous to 1774, by one of the
principal actors in it, whose name is at the beginning of this chapter, and
which is doubtless familiar to every reader of New England legends. The
edition of Mr. Williams's work, out of which 1 take this, was pi-epared by the
renowned New England annalist, the Reverend Thomns Prince, and was the
5th, printed at Boston " by John Boyle, next door to the Three Doves in IMarl-

borough Street, 1774." It was a closely printed 8vo. pamphlet of 70 pages.
It will be necessai'v to relate some important facts of historical value

before proceeding with the narrative. As at several other times, the plan
was laid early m 1703, in Canada, for laying waste the whole English fron-

tier, but like former and later plans, laid in that region, this but partially

succeeded. Though the eastern settlements from Casco to Wells were
destroyed, and 130 people killed and captivated, the summer before, yet the
towns on the Connecticut had neglected their precautionary duty. And
although Governor Dudley of Massachusetts had but little while before been
notified of the design of the French, yet it was unpossible to guard the
eastern coast against the attack. Deei-field had been palisaded and 20
soldiers placed in it, but had been quartered about in different houses, and,
entirely forgetting their duty as soldiers, were surprised with the rest of the
town. The snow was deep, which gave the enemy an easy entrance over
the pickets. The French were commanded by Hertel de Rouville, but the
commanders of the Indians remain unknown.
Mr. Williams thus begins his nairative :

" On Tuesday the 29th of Feb-
ruaiy, 1703-4, not long before break of day, the enemy came in like a flood
upon us ; our watch being unfaithful : an evil, whose awful effects, in a sui--

prizal of om* fort, should bespeak all watchmen to avoid, as they would not
bring the charge of blood upon themselves. They came to my house in the
beginning of the onset, and by their violent endeavors to break open doors
and windows, with axes and hatchets, awakened me out of sleep ; on which
I leaped out of bed, and runnuig towai'ds the door, perceived the enemy
making their entrance into the house. I called to awaken two soldiers in

the chamber ; and returning towai'd my bedside for my arms, the enemy
immediately brake into my room, I judge to the number of 20, with painted
faces, and hideous acclamations. I reached up my hands to the bed-tester,

for my pistol, uttering a shoi't petition to God, expecting a present passage
th)-ough the valley of the shadow of death." " Taking down my pistol, 1

cocked it, and put it to the breast of the first Indian who came up ; but my
pistol missing fire, I was seized by 3 Indians who disai-med me, and bound
me nailed, as I was, in my shirt, and so I stood for near the space of an
hour." Meanwhile the work of destruction and pillage was carried on with

great fmy. One of the three who captured Mr. Williams was a captain

28
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against whom, says oiu- captive, " the judgment of God did not long slumber
for by sun-rising lie received a mortal sliot from my next neighbor's house."
This, though not a garrison, and containing but seven men, %vithstood the

efforts of the 300 French and Indians which now beset them. That house
remains to this day, bearing upon its front door the mai'ks of the hatchet.*

Alter about two hours the enemy took up then* march from the town,
having plundered and burnt it, and put 47 persons to death, including those
Killed in making defence. Mrs. Williams having lately lain in, was feeble,

which, without the scene now acting before her, rendered her case hopeless

;

but to this was added the most shocking murders in her presence—tv%o

of her childien were taken to the door and killed, also a black woman be-
longing to the family.

" About sun an hour high," continues the redeemed captive, " Ave were all

carried out of the house for a march, and saw many of the houses of my
neighbors in flames, pei'ceivmg the whole fort, one house excepted, to be
taken !" "We were carried over the river, to the foot of the mountain, about
a mile from my house, where we foimd a great number of our christian

neighbors, men, women, and children, to the number of 100 ; nineteen of
whom were afterward mm-dered by the way, and two starved to death near
Coos, in a time of great scarcity, or famine, the savages underwent there.

When we came to the foot of our mountain, they took away our shoes, and
gave us Indian shoes, to prepare us for our journey." The army had left

their packs at this place, and while they were getting ready to decamp, the
few English that had escaped at the town, and a few from Hatfield, who had
been notified of the fate of Deei-field by one or two, who had escaped there,

pursued, and in a meadow between the town and the main body, met a party
of the enemy, and a sharp fight ensued. The small band of Englishmen
did not retreat until the main body under Rouville were about to encircle
them, and then they left nine of tlieir number slain. Such was the success
of the English in the beginning of the fight, that, fearing a defeat, Rouville
had ordered the captives to be ])Ut to death ; but, fortunately, the bearer of
the fatal message was killed by the way.
Three hundj-ed miles of a trackless wilderness was now to be traversed,

and that too at a season of all others the most to be dreaded ; boughs of
trees formed the beds of enceinte women and little children for 40 days,
which was tlie time taken for the journey. The fii'st day's jom'iiey Avas but
about four miles, and although one child Avas killed, in general the childien
were tr(>ated Aveil

;
probably, the historians say, that by delivering them at

Canada, tlie Indians would receive a valuable ransom for them. Mr. Jfillimiis

proceeds: "God made the heathen so to pity our children, that though they
had scAoral wounded persons of theh* own to cai-ry upon their shoulders,
for 30 miles before they came to the river, [the Connecticut 30 miles above
Deerfield,] yet they carried our children, uncapable of traveling, in theit

arms, and upon their shouldicrs."

At the first encampment some of the Indians got drunk Avith liquor they
found at Deei-field, and in tiieir r;ige killed Mr. Williams^s negro man, and
caused the escaj)e of a Mr. Mexander. In the morning Mr. UilUams Avas

ordered before tiic commander-in-chief^ (he considering him the principal of
the cai)tives,) and ordered to inform the other captives, that if any more at-

tempted to escape, the restsliould be put to death. In the second day's march
occurred tiie deatii ol'Mrs. Williams, tlie affecting account ofAvhich Ave Avill give
nearly in the language of her iiusband. At the upjx-r part of Deerfield
meadow it became necessary to cross Green River. The Indian that caj)-

tured Mr. Williams Avas unAvilliug tliat lie should speak to the otiier cajniATS ;

but on the morning of tlie second day, that Indian captain being appointed
to command in the rear, he had anotlier master jiut over him, Avho not only
allowed him to sjicak to otiicrs, Imt to Avalk Avith his Avife, and assist her along
This was their last meeting, and she very calmly told him that her strength
was failing fast, and that he Avould soon lose her. She spoke no discoura-

• See Col. IIoi/l'x Ant. Ucscar. which, wo are glad to observe, is the besl x-olunio of New
England Indian wars that has yet npiwared.
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ging words, or complained of the liardness of her foi'tune. The conipauj'

soon came to a halt, and Mi: Williams's old master resumed his former

station, and ordered him into tlie van, and his wile was obliged to travel

unaided. They had now arrived at Green River, as we have related. This

they passed by wading, although the current was very rapid, (which was the

cause, no doubt, of its not being Irozen over,) and about two leet in depth,

xlfter passing this river, they had to ascend a steep momitain. "No sooner,"

says Mr. Williams, " had I o\ercome the difficulty of that ascent, but I was
permitted to sit down, and be unburthened of my pack. I sat pitjing those

who were behind, and intreated my master to let me go down and help my
wife , but he refused. I asked each of the prisoners, as they passed by me,

after her, and heard, that passing thi-ough the above said river, she fell down
and was plunged all over in the water ; after which she travelled not far,

for at the foot'of that mountain, the cruel and bloodthirsty savage who took

her slew her Avith his hatchet at one stroke." The historians have lel't us no

record of the character of this lady, but from the account left us by her

husband, she was a most amiable companion. Slie was the only daughter of

Reverend Eleazer Mather, minister of Northampton, by his wife Esther,

daughter of Reverend John JFarham, who came from England in 1G30.

The second night was spent at an encampment in the northerly part of

what is now Bernardstown, and in the course of the preceding day a young
woman and child were killed and scalped. At this camp a comicil was helu

upon the propriety of puttmg Mr. Williams to death, but his master prevailed

on the rest to save his life ; for the reason, no doubt, that he should receive

a high price for his ransom. The fourth day brought them to Connecticut

River, about 30 miles above Deerficld Here the wounded, children and bag-

gage were put into a kind of sleigh, and passed with facility upon the river.

Every day ended the suffering and captivity of one or more of the prisoners.

The case of a young woman named Mary Brooks, was one to excite excess-

ive pity, and it is beheved, that had the Indians been the sole directors of the

captives, such cases could hardly have occurred. This young woman, bemg
enceinte, and walking upon the ice in the river, often fell down upon it,

probably with a bm-then upon her ; which caused premature labor the fol-

lowing night. Being now unfitted for the jom-ney, her master deliberately

told her she must be put to death. With great composure she got liberty of

him to go and take leave of her minister. She told him she was not afraid of

death, and after some consoling conversation, she returned and was executed I

This Avas March 6.

At the mouth of a river since known as Williains^s River, upon a Sunday, the

captives were permitted to assemble around their minister, and he preached a

sermon to them from Lam. i. 18. At the mouth ofWhite River Rouville divided

his force into sevei-al pai'ties, and they took different routes to the St. Lawrence.

In a few instances the captives were purchased of the Indians, by the

French, and the others were at the different lodges of the Indians.

During his captivity, Mr. Williams visited various places on the St. Law-
rence. At Montreal he was humanely treated by Governor Vaudreuil. In

his iuterAdews with the French Jesuits he uniformly found tliem using every

endeavor to convert him and others to their religion. However, most of the

captives remained steady in the Protestant faith. And in 1706, fifly-seveu

of them were by a flag-ship conveyed to Boston. A considerable number
remained in Canada, and never returned, among whom was Eunice Williams,

daughter of the minister. She became a firm catholic, married an Indian,

by whom she had several childi-eu, and spent her days in a wigwam. She
visited Deerfield with her Indian husband, dressed in Indian style, and was
kindly received by her friends. All attempts to regain her were ineffectual.

Reverend Eleazer Williams, late a missionary to the Greenbay Indians, is a

descendant. He was educated by the friends of missions in New England.

In the History of Canada by Charlevoix, the incursions undertaken by the

French and Indians are generally minutely recorded ; but this against Deer-

field he has unaccountably summed up in a dozen lines of his work. The
following is the whole passage

:

In the end of autumn, 170'3, the English, despairing of securing the In-
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dians, made several excursions into their country, and massacred all such as

they could surprise. Upon this, the chiets demanded aid of M. de Vaudreuil,

and he sent them during the winter 250 men under the command of the

Sieur Hertel dc Rouville, a reformed lieutenant, who took the place of his

already i-enowned father, whose age and infirmities prevented his under-

taking such great ex]ieditions. Four others of his childi'en accompanied
Rouville, who in their tour surprised the English, killed many of them, and

made 140 of them prisoners. The French lost but three soldiers, and some
savages, but RonvULe was himself wounded.*

9ii§i

CHAPTER XIL

Various incidents in the history of the New England Indians, embracing several

important events, with a sequel to some previous memoirs.

He felt his life's blood freezing fast

;

He grasped his bow, his lance, and steel

;

He was of Wampanoag's last.

To die were easy— not to yield.

His eyes were fixed upon the sky ;

He gasped as on the ground he fell

;

None but his foes to see him die—
None but his foes his death to tell.

The performances of one Cornelius, " the Dutchman," in Philip's war, are

very obscurely noticed in the histories of the times, none of them giving us

even his surname ; and we have, in a former chapter, given the amount of

what has before been jjublished. I am now able to add concerning him, that

his name was Cornelius Consert; that the last time he went out against the

Indians, he served about six weeks ; was captain of the forlorn hope in the

Quabaog expedition, in the autumn of the first year of Philip's war ; marched
also to Groton and Chelmsford, and was discharged from service, " being

ready to depart the country," October 13, 1675. It was probably in his

Quabaog expedition that he committed the barbarous exploit upon " an old

Indian," the account of which has been given ; it was doubtless during the

same expedition, which appears to have terminated in September, that " he

brought round five Indians to Boston," who, being cast into prison, were
afterwards "delivered to Mr. Samuel Shrimpton, to be under his employ on
Noddle's Island," subject " to the order of the council." I shall here pass to

faomc fiuther account of the money of the Indians.

We have quoted tiie comical account of the money of the Indians of New
England, by John Josselyn, and will now quote the graphic and sensible one
given by the tnifortunate John Lawson, in his account of Carolina, of the

money in use among the southern Indians. "Their money," he says, "is of
different sorts, but all made of shells, which are found on the coast of Caro-

lina, being very largo and hard, and difficult to cut. Some English smiths

have tried to drill this sort of shell money, and thereby thought to get an
advantage, but it proved so hard that nothing could be gained;" and Morton
in his New English Canaan, says that, although some of the English in New
England have tried "by example to make the like, yet none hath ever attained

to any perfection in the composure of them, so but that the salvages havp

found a great difference to be in tlie one and the other; and have known the

counterfeit beads from those of their own making; and have, and doe slight

them." Hence the conclusion of Josselyn, before extracted, namely, that

"neither Jew nor devil could counterfeit the money of the Indians." 3Ir.

Lawson continues: "The Indians often make, of the same kind of shells as

those of which their money is made, a sort of gorget, which they wear about

* Histoire Gencralc ile la Nouv. France, ii. 290.
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theii' necks in a string ; so it hangs on theii- collar, whereon sometimes is

engi'aven a cross, or some odd sort of figure which coines next in their fancy
There are other sorts valued at a doeskin, yet the gorgets will sometimes sell

for three or four buckskins ready dressed. There be others, that eight of
them go readily for a doeskin ; but the general and current species of all the

Indians in Carolina, and I believe, all over the continent, as tar as the bay of
Mexico, is that which we call Peak, and Roiwak, but Peak more especially.

This is that which at New York they call Wampum, and have used it as

current money amongst the inhabitants for a great many years. Five cubits,

of this purchase a dressed doeskin, and seven or eight buy a dressed buck-
skin. To make this Peak it cost the English five or ten times as much as

they could get for it, whereiis it cost the Indians nothing, because they set

no value upon their time, and therefore have no competition to fear, or that

others will take its manufacture out of their hands. It is made by grinding

the pieces of shell upon stone, and is smaller than the small end of a tobacco-

pipe, or large wheat-straw. Four or five of these make an inch, and every

one is to be drilled through and made as smooth as glass, and so strung, as

beads are. A cubit, of the Indian measure, contains as much in length as

will reach from the ell)ow to the end of the little finger. They never stand

to question, whether it be a tall man or a short one that measures it. If this

wampum-peak be black or purple, as some part of that shell is, then it is

twice the value. The drilling is the most diflicult and tedious part of the

manufacture. It is done by sticking a nail in a cane or reed, which they roll

upon their thighs with their right hand, while with their left they apply the

bit of shell to the iron point. But especially in making their ronoak, four of

which will scarce make one length of wampum. Such is the money of the

Indians, with which you may buy all they have. It is their mammon, (as our

money is to us,) that entices and persuades them to do any thing, part with

their captives or slaves, and, sometimes, even their wives' and daughters'

chastity. WvJi it they buy off murderers ; and whatever a man can do that

is ill, this wampu.~' wll quit him of, and make him, in their opinion, good
and lartuous, though r«5ver so black before." To return to the chiefs.

Of the Narraganset InJian Corman very little had been found when he was
noticed before, and if is b!\t little that we can now add concerning the

"cheiffe counceller" of the "old crafty sachem" of Niantik. It appears that

in the month of September, 1675, Corman was in Boston, whither he had
been sent as an ambassador by the Narraganset sachems, and especially by
Ninigret; and although Ninigret was a peace-maker, and had not been any
how implicated in the war then gohig on, yet, such was the rage of the popu-
lace against all Lidians, that it was not deemed safe for even a fi'iend from
among them to walk alone in the streets of the town. On the evening of the

28th of September, as Corman, now an old man, was walking through one
of the streets, guarded by persons on each side of him, a certain miscreant,

named William Smith, ran furiously against him, and thus separating him
from those about him, did, by another motion, strike his feet fi-om under him
in such a manner that his head and shoulders came in violent contact with

the ground, very seriously injuring him. Complaint having been made to

the governor and council, they had both Smith and Coi~man brought before

them the next day, and the charge against the former being established by
the evidence of Mrs. Sarah Pickering, who saw the fact cominitted, "the
court, in hearing of the case, judged it meet to bear due testimony against

such abuse, and sentence the said Smith to pay, as a fine to the country, the

sum of forty shillings, or be whipt with ten stripes ; also to pay the said

Corman for his damage the sum of ten shillings in money." It is very diffi-

cult to understand the grounds of the decision of the honorable court, unless

they seriously thought that the ground on which poor old Corman fell was
hurt four times as much as he was! If this was not its reason, why shoulc

forty shillings be paid to the country and only ten to Corman ?

As new local and other histories appear, and the decaying manuscripts are

put in a situation and condition to be conveniently consulted, new lights are

daily reflected on the dark passages of our history. The presence ot'JYanun

tenoo at the battle of Pawtucket, or, as it is more commonly called, Peirsf'ii

28*
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fight, has been questioned by a very excellent local historian, Mr. Bliss, in

his history of Reliobotli, but, as I apprehend, from a misconstruction of some
passages in Hubbard's Narrative, especially from that passage where it is

said that Nan untenoo, when surprised by Den ison's njen, "was divertising

himself with the recital of Captain Peirse^s slaughter, surprised by his men a
few days before." It is true tliat tiiis sentence will admit of two construc-

tions, either that the chief was diverting himself by recounting to his men
Jiis particular acts in that tragedy, or by a general account of its progress, or

that they were diverting him; the Ibrnier would be by no means improbalole,

especially if some of those about him had not been in the action, which
would not be at all strange, as numbers of them were, doubtless, strolling

upon luniting and other expeditions when the battle was Ibught. That
Nanuntenoo did not leave the Connecticut River until the "first week in

Api'il" cannot be true, nor by that loosely stated date does Hui)bard refer to

his leaving the Connecticut, but to "about the time" of his capture. If he
refers to the time of his leaving the river, he refers to his men also, who, he
says, did not leave until after he did ; but it was his men that defeated Peirse.

These are all the lights we are able to throw on that great event, and must
here leave it in the same doubt we found it, and which is ever, most likely,

to shroud it.

It would be highly gratifying to be able to give sketches of some of the

prominent English captains, or others, who were conspicuous in Indian
history, but our design and limits both preclude such digressions, and we
cannot indulge in but a few. In a recent ramble in the Hill burying-ground,
in Middleborough, I discovered the grave of a Lieutenant Nathaniel South-
worth, upon the head-stone of which it is inscribed that he died January
14, 1710, in his G2d year; he was therefore about 28 in the time of Phili})'s

war, and is, very probably, the same who distinguished himself on many
occasions under Captain Church. He lies among a group of graves of his

family connections. We did not intcntionall}* omit to notice the death of his

commander in another chapter. Colonel Churcli died on the 17 of January,

1718, in the 78th year of his age, and lies buried at Compton in iVlassa-

chusetts. He was born at Plymouth in 1G39, and not long after removed to

Duxbury with his lather.* He was a honsewright by trade, as were his father

and one or two of his brotliers. How many he had I am not sure, but Caleb
and Joseph are mentioned, and a sister who married an Irish, and lived in

Compton. In 1674 he bought land of the government and removed to

Sogkonatc, the then Indian name of the tract of country since ComjUon.
Here he was jjrosperously making a farm when Philip's war broki' out, and
was obliged to (piit his improvements. Possessing a remarkably active mind,
vigorous body, and glowing ])atriotism, he was not long an idle spectator of

the war, engaging in it without reward as a volunteer; and our i)revions

pages have shown that he raised himself to the chief military ])lace in the

country, and several civil otiices of honor. After Philip's war Colonel Church
resided at liristol, then at Fall River, and, lastly, again at Sogkonatc; in each
of which places he left a good estate. In his latter years he had become
very corpulent, and burdensome to himseltl The morning bclbre his death
lie visited his sister, 31rs. Irish, about two miles from his residence, on horse-

back ; returninijf home, his horse stumbled, and threw him with such force

upon tiic ground that a blood-vessel was broken, and he dietl in about 12
liours alter. Hi' married Mrs. Alice Southwortli, by whom he had five sons
and one daughter. One of his sons, Thomas, publi. ';;;.! "'J'lie Entertaining
History of I'liilip's War," which has been published in 4to., 8vo., 12mo., and
ia authority in all matters where Clnn-ch was hims(>lf conceiiied.

We liave next to reciu* to the; subject of the Indian li tters, pendirig the

redemption of Mrs. Rowlandson. Those given in the third cha])tcr of this

book were copied from a transcript made at the time they were rei-eived fi-om

the Indians, but a recurrence to the originals has supplied the following

additions. JVepmirt, when si-nt out on the 8 April, 1G7G, as noted on page
:•(), had with him the following letter from Governor Leverett:

* His bio^riiphers liiive said lliat he was born at Diixiniry ; Iml .liidirc Davis inlornied me
Uiat liu was liorii at rivmoutli, ami thai some records lie liad seen tlicre were his authority
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" For the Indian Sagamores and people that are in ivrtrre against us.— Intelli-

gence is come to vis that j'ou have some English, especially women and
children, in captivity among you. We have therefore sent the messenger
offering to redeem them, either for payment in goods or wampom, or by
exchange of prisoners. We desire your answer by this our messenger, what
price you demand for every man, woman, and child, or if you will exchange
lor Indians. If you have any among you that can write your answer to this

our message, we desire it in writing ; and to that end have sent paper, pen
and incke by the messenger. If you lett oiu- messenger have free accesse to

you, freedome of a safe returne, wee are willing to doe the like by any mes-
senarer of yours, provided he come unarmed, and carry a white flag upon a

staffe, visible to be seene, which we take as a flagge of truce, and is used by
civilized nations in time of warre, when any messengers are sent in a way
of treaty, wliich we have done by our messenger. In testimony whereof I

have set to my hand and seal.

John Leverett, Gov't.

Boston, 31 March, 1676. Passed by the council.

Edward Rawson, Secretary."

The answer returned to this letter is that printed on page 90, which does
not differ essentially from the original ; and the English at Boston imme-
diately complied with the request of the Indians, by sending two messengei's

to renew the negotiation. By these messengers an answer was returned,

written by James the Printer, as follows

:

" For the Governor and Council at Boston :—• The Indians, Tom JVepenomp
and Peter Tatatiqunca, hath brought us letter from you about the English
captives, especially for Mrs. Rolanson. The answer is, I am sorrow that I

have don much wrong to you : and yet, I say, the fault is lay U])on you ; for

when we begun to quarrell at first with Plimoiuh men, I did not think that

you should have so much trouble as now is : therefore I am willint;- to heare

your desire about the captives. Therefore we desire you io sent Mr. Rolon-

son and goodman Kettle (for their wives) and these Indians, Tom and Peter,

to redeeme their wives: They shall come and go very safely : Whereupon,
wee ask Mrs. Rolonson, how much your husband willing to give for you ?

Shee give on answer, 20 pound in goods : but John Kettel's wife could not

tel. And the rest, captives, may be spoken of hereafter."

When this letter was taken to Boston, the governor immediately despatched

another. " To the Indian Sachems about Wachuset.— We received your letter

by Tom and Peter, which doth not answer oiu-s to you ; neither is it sub-

scribed by the sachems; nor hath it any date, which we know your scribe,

James Printer, doth well understand should be. We have sent the said To7n

and Peter againe to you, expecting you will, speedily, by them, give us a plaine

and direct answer to our last letter, and if you have any thing more to pro-

pound to us, wee desire to have it from you under your hands, by these our
messengers, and you shall have a speedy answer. Dated at Boston, 28 April,

.1676." Such are all the additions we are able to make to that memorable
negotiation, which was one of the immediate causes of Philip's reverses and
final overthrow.

Of a chief so prominent as Madokawando, we are glad to be able at any
time to extend our memoir, for, in our opinion, few leaders of any country

appear to better advantage. Taking nothing but what his enemies have said

of him, we have much to admire. No warrior was ever more humane to

yirisoners than Madokawando, where he commanded in person. He entei'ed

into the war against the English with the greatest reluctance, but when he

had once "stepped in," they found hira no common foe. Repeated depreda-

tions from the whites at length brought him into the field ; the desolation of

York followed; its inhabitants were nearly all killed or led into captivity, the

particulars of which we have already related. Before Wells he was not so

successful, but for that failure he is not accountable, as the expedition against

it was under tiie direction of two prominent French officers. His preserva-

tion and liberation of Thomas Cobbet were acts of pure humanity.
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Whether tlie expedition against Groton was under the immediate direction

of Madokavvando, or not, we are not informed, but it was, without doubt,

executed under the command of one of his chief captains, the noted Moxus,
or, as he was sometimes called, Toxus. That place was laid waste on the

27th of July, 1694; 22 people were killed, and 13 led into captivity. The
scalps of the unfortunate slain were said to have been presented to Governor
Froivtenac by Mculokaivando himself
At the destruction of York was taken the family of the Rev. Mr. Dummer

and our authority made us say that Mrs. Dummer died in captivity, but we
are now assured, by other testimony,* that she lived to retui-n out of captivity,

having been redeemed. For such termination of a wretched fate she was,
no doubt, indebted to Madokawando.

This chief seems to have had unlimited control over the country upon the
Penobscot River, as has been seen from what we have already before stated

;

judging from the amount of property paid him, from time to time, for sundry
tracts of his country. Yet, though we are satisfied that the amounts he
received were large, still they are expressed in such vague terms that it is

impossible to arrive at any thing like a tolerable notion of their extent. One
testifies that, for a certain tract of land, Madokawando "received a large
amount of money ;

" another, that he received a hatful ; and a third states it

to have been "a hatfid of pieces of eight "\
We have said that the great sachem was succeeded at his death by Wena-

movet, and at the same time "Moxus seemed his successor." We find nothing
yet to vary this statement, but in explanation we would note that Wenamovet
appears not to have been a war chief, or in any other way very conspicuous,
except as a counsellor; and though in name the successor of Madokawando,
yet was willing to let " fierce Moxus " bear his well-earned title of chief in

all matters of wai*.

One of the most signal exploits of Moxus was the capture of Pemmaquid,
on the 2d of August, 1689. From this place his men led 16 of the Enghsh
into a most miserable captivity, whence but very few ever returned. A con-
siderable number.were killed before the fort was taken, among whom was
the worthy Captain Gyles; three other captains wei'e also slain, and the Ibrt

capitulated the second day, and all Avithin it were suflTered to leave it and
return to the English settlements in safety. J
We have seen that the chief Bomazeen was intrapped and thrown mto

prison in Boston, in 1694. He was also a prisoner there four years after,

having ])rol)ably been retained all this time to restrain acts of barbarity on
white captives; and it was rumored ihat h(! had been the leader at Groton,
which probably had some influence in lengthening his captivity, but it is not
now a question who the leader was in that sanguinary exjiloit. Mr. John
Gyles returned out of a ten years' captivity in 1698^ and on the 14th of Octo-
ber of that year, he says he was sent for by Lieutenant-Governor Stoiighion,

to interpret a conf -rence with Bomazeen and other Indians then in jail. This
same Mr. (h/les, afterwards captain of Fort George, went as interpreter with
Captain Soutliack in the province galley to the eastern shores, for the ransom
and exchanges of captives. Our chief was at this time exchanged, and the
galley n^turned to Boston in December, 1698.

Whether, upon mere suspicion, injuiy was added to crime in the case of
Bomazeen, we cannot, u|)on oin- slender (widence, aver; but if it were a parallel
case to that of the seizure and death of Egeremet and Ilonquid, or, as others
write his name, ,%(inquid, .Qbenquid, &c., it could scarcely be surpassed in
atrocity. There are no facts to show Xhnt Ahenquid had been an enemy to
the English, or, if an enemy, tliat he had been enga<:ed in any depredations.

Notwithstanding it is a custom among some tribes of Indians to obliterate
all remembrance of the dead, their Tiear ronneetions, it was by no m< ana
common among all tribes, for we have had occasion to mention many
instanc(!S vvliero the name of a noted chief has been perpetuated, both

* Greenlrnf'.t Ecclesiastiral Sketches of INIaine, p. 10.

t The printed treaty of 1742, and authorities iit supra.

i Narrative of John Gyles, as published in our '' Indian rtptivities."
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among the western as well as among the eastern Indians. Abenquid was
killed by Captain Chubb in 1696, and in 1725 there was another chief of the

same name, of equal distinction. And he deserves some notice in this place,

as do many others. While Captain Loveivell was on his march against the

Pequawkets, measures were being devised in Boston for a peace with the

eastern Indians. There were, at the same time, several Indians there, some
as prisoners and others as hostages, and the English concluded to send some
of them out to invite their countrymen to come to Boston to settle diffirulties;

accordingly Saquarexis and JVehine, one a hostage and the other a captive,

were despatched upon that business. They, "after some time," returned and
reported, "that the Indians were generally disposed to a peace, for that the

losses tliey met with, and the daily terror they were under, made their lives

miserable. After this they went out again," and meeting with several others

of their countrymen, received further assurances of a general desii-e for

peace. Whereupon commissioners were sent with those two Indians to

Fort St. George, to procure a meeting of chiefs and to make a treaty. They
arrived there on the 2d July, and on the 14th thirteen chiefs had assembled,

not at the fort, but at a safe distance therefrom, fearing treachery from their

white brethren on a more extended scale than they had experienced not

many days before.* However, after considerable parleying, in which the

Indians made the English swear by their God, in the most solemn manner,
that their intentions were of a tenor with their pretensions, the parties came
together.

The battle of Pequawket was recent, and it was evident that the Indians

had become conscious of their v\reakness, and did not urgq their wrongs at

this meeting, although, as it were, in their own country, but seemed deter-

mined to have peace on any terms. They did indeed, to the demand of the

English, " Why they had made war upon them ?" reply, that it was because

they had taken up their land, even to Cape Newagen ; and not only seized

upon their lands to that place westward, but that they had there beaten two
of their men to death. To this the English commissioners answered : " The
lands are ours, and we can show you they were fairly bought of your fathers

;

and if your men were beaten to death by the English, it was your business

to complain to our government, and not to make war." This seems to have
silenced the poor Indians, and we hear nothing fm-ther from them at this

time but an earnest desire that peace might be concluded, or that a cessation

of arms might take place. The commissioners informed them that they had
not power to grant a cessation of arms, but said that, probably, if a deputation

of their chiefs would go to Boston, it might be granted by their government.
It was finally agreed that the two chiefs, Loron, or, as he was sometimes
called, Saguaarain, now an old and venerable chief, and Ahanquid, should

return with the English to Boston, and see what could be done towards a

general peace.

LoRON and Ahanquid having come to Boston, it was soon after settled

that these two chiefs should go into their country, and return in 40 days with

a sufficient number of chiefs, with whom a proper treaty might be made.
Meanwhile several depredations having been committed on both .-^ides, the

time of the return of the Indians was considerably protracted in consequence

:

and, as we have in a previous chapter mentioned, the forty days had nearly

twice expired before their reappearance ; but, in the beginning of November,
the faithful Loron and Ahanquid returned to Boston, bringing with them
.ab-exus, Francis Xavier, and Meganumba, representatives from the eastern

Indians, clothed with full power to negotiate of peace. More than a roontli

was passed by these chiefs in Boston before a treaty was signed. This wa^;

done on the 15 December, 1725, and peace was thereby restored lo th j

eastern fi-ontiers.

* " And indeed they had cause of being so, for that about 10 days before, [20 .Tune, says

Williamson, ii. 144,] nnder a flag of truce, some of the Enghsh ti-eacherously attempted ;o

lay violent hands upon them, but lost one in the skirmish and had another ^\cuIKled, ^nhca

was the occasion of the like unhappy disaster that afterwards happened unto Captain Sauy^.^-i

in Penobscot Bay." PenhalLow, 120.
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In our notice of Captain Tom in a previous chapter, and his depredatioii a"*

Hampton, it should have been stated that he had abundant excuse for rst-.v!?.-

tions of the nature there described. Length of tune, to whatever number
of years extended, is no guaranty that an injury v^^ill not be repaid by an

Indian, with Indian interest; and Hannibal did not more strictly observe his

vow to war against the Romans, than the savage of America adhered to hie

resohition ot revenging an insult, even though its origin were removed
several generations fi-om him. In the chapter ah-eady referred to, we have

detailed tlie expedition of Colonel Church upon the Androscoggin, and his

capture and destruction of a fort some 30 or 40 miles up that river.* Thi&

fort was the residence of Agamcus, more generally known among the English

as Great Tom. This chief, according to my authority, was taken captive at

the time of the assault by Church, "but he slipt away from the hands of his

too careless keepers, which was a disaster they much complained of. But

if this piece of carelessness did any harm, there was another, which did some
good; for Great Tom having terribly scared a part of his men with the

tidincs of what had happened, and an English lad in their hands also telling

them" some truth, they betook themselves to such a y/igW m their fright, as

gave Mr. Anthony Bracket, then a prisoner with thein, an ojjportunity to fly

foin- score miles another way." But we have recorded the escape of poor

Anthony Bracket, who, says Dr. Mather, " if he had not found one of Church'«!

vessels aground at Maquait, would have been miserably aground himself,"

after all his severe travel and sufferings to effect an escape.f And now we
have arrived at tlie extent of our information concerning Agamcus.

Wahwa shall here receive additional notice. He may be the same spoken

of before,}: though there the name, if it be the same, has another syllable in

it. He was the renowned Hopehood, doubly celebr.ited by the stroke of

oblivion aimed at his liead by the classic Magnalian. But Tf'ahwa could

hardly have been Hopehood of 1675, § as he would have been very old at

LovewelVs fight, in 172.5; yet it is not impossible, notwithstanding he is made
to die,|| by the hand of the Mohawks, not long after the capture of Salmon
Falls, in 1690, " while on his way westward to bewitch another crew at

A(|uadocta." His name of Hopehood had, very probably, been mainifactured

out of an Indian name approaching it in sound, as are many others we
possess.

He did not leave the scenes of his exploits until the summer of 1600, as

we have seen ;1I he was the leader at Fox Point, in Newington, in May of

that year; and he very probably bad the direction of tlie party, if he did not

lead it, who, on the 4th of July, killed eight people as they were mowing in

a field near Lamprey River,' and took a hoy captive. On the 5th they

attacked Captain W?7io7!',? garrison at Exeter, but Lieutenant i?(/r?cro/7, arriving

to its reliei; beat off the Indians "with the loss of a few of his men." One
man they were j()rced to leave without scalping, and though shot in 11

places, was still alive. To these desperate wounds they had added two
blows with the tomahawk at his neck, endeavoring to sever his head from

iiis body; " which blows, you maybe sure," says 3Iather, "added more enor-

mous wounds unto the port-hole.i of death already opened, arid from which
his life was ruiuiing out as fast as it coidd." When discovered by his friends

he was looked njion as dead, but on being siirred was obsciTcd to gasp;

•'whereupon an Irish H-llow then present, advised them to give him another

dab with a hatchet, and so bmy him with the rest." Yet this man recovered,

and was afterwards well. His name was Simon Stone. There are daily

occnrrences, w hieh in tiiose days woidd have been viewed :is miracles, or as

retaliations of the Creator upon miserable wretches for thoughtless acts or

expressions. Upon all such as came to the knowledge of Cotton Mather he

laid his potent hand with manifest satisfiiction. Doubtless the poor Irishman

thought it would havc^ been a favor to the wounded man, who coidd not live,

to put him out of his misery; but this weighed nothing in the mind of the

" Fort " Amoiwscogirin," according to the Magnalia, ahoiil 40 miles up the river.

t jl/ie'wa/ia, ib. j Page 105, 114, 124, auto vM^iReHfi. || By ./l/at/ier, Magnalia

IT Paa-e 118.
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historian. " Teague," lie saj's, " as he was foolishly pulling a canoe ashore,

about this time, with the cock of his gun, it went off, breaking his arm with
a tearful wound, by which he was made a cripple ever alter."

By a council of war held at Portsmouth, occasioned by these depredations of
' that memorable tiger Hopehoocl" it was decided that Captain JFiswall should
go out in search of him with a large scouting party. Several other ]>rom-

inent men, being emulous of the service, offering to join him in command
with another party, it by lot fell on Captain Floyd. Having rendezvoused at

Dover to the number of about one hundi-ed men, they marched into the woods
on the since memorable day, July 4th, 1690. On the 6th, having sent out

their scouts " before breakfast " in the morning, they " immediately returned

with tidings of breakfast enough for those who had their stomachs sharp set

for fighting." The parties immediately met at a place called Wheehvright's
Pond, in Lee, and an obstmate battle ensued, which lasted from two to three

hours. Owing, however, to the Indian mode of fighting, adopted by the

English, comparatively but few were killed. Neither party could boast of a

victory, for, as at Pequawket, each was glad to retreat from the other. Of
the whites above 30 were killed and wounded, of which 15 were of the former
number. Among these were included Captam JVisivall, his lieutenant, Flagg,
and Sergeant Walker. Captain Floyd maintamed the fight until most of his

men had retreated, which oljliged him to retreat also. " For this some blamed
him, who, probably, would not have continued it as long as he did." Captam
Converse visited the battle ground the next morning, and brought off seven

wounded still alive, but the Indians had removed all of theu's, and it could

never be known how many of thein were killed. There was no doubt about

the precipitancy of their retreat, as tliey left much of their plunder upon
the field.

The same week "these rovers made theh* descent as far as Amesbury,
where Captain Foot being ensnared by them, they tortm-ed him to death.

This so alarmed the other inhabitants, that they flew from their beds to their

gai-risons, othei-wise before the next mornmg they had found their beds their

graves. However, they killed three persons, burnt three houses, and many
cattle. In fine, from the first mischief done at Lamprey-eel River, (on July

4th,) to this last at Amesbury, all belonging to one Indian expedition, forty

English people were cut off."

Thus Hopehood is considered the leader in all these transactions, although

our chroniclers of that day do not mention him, excepting where we have

done so, nor do they mention the names of any other Indians. He was the

commander of his countrj^men at the taking of Casco, on which event the

garrisons of Purpooduck, Spurwink, Black Point, and Blue Point, drew off

to Saco, and in a few days from Saco they retreated to Wells, " twenty miles

wthin the said Saco, and about half Wells di-ew off as fai- as Lieutenant

Storer^s. But the an-ival of orders and soldiers fi-om government stopped

them from retiring any farther ; and Hopehood, with a party that staid for

farther mischief^ meeting vnth some resistance here, turned about, and having

'

first had a skirmish with Captain Slierbum, they appeared the next Lord's-

day at Newichawannok or Benvick, where they burnt some houses and slew

a man." This last event was three days previous to the massacre at Fox
Point, before related.

We now are to speak again of Wahica, and as we liave before considered

him a different chief from Hopehood Jfahowah, we shall still do so, j'et the

character of his ex-jiloits agrees well with those of that chief; but that argues

nothing as to his identity, lor numerous other chiefs correspond equally

as well.

On the 27th of October, 1726, a band of seven Indians surprised the family

of Philip Dwell at Kennebunk, capturing ten persons, eight women and two

childi-en, and carried them off. The attack was made late in the afternoon,

while Mr. Durell Avas absent. On his return he found his house in flames,

chairs piled on the fire, trunks split to pieces, but no traces of his wife and

children. The Indians had been watching for an oppoituiiity to attack when
Mr. Dwell should be absent, fearing, it was thought, his powerful arm, if made
when he was at home. Twenty-three yeai's before Mrs. Dwill had been a
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captive,* but unlike most of her sex in like circumstances, she foreboded no
evil of a like kind from the Indians, but looked upon her former captiu-e by
them as we do upon a malady that never attacks a second time ; but in this

case it was otherwise.

The pei-petrators were pursued with vigor the next morning, ^^"hich caused

the Indians to put most of their captives to death, by which means they were
able to make good their flight.

It was for some time doubtful what Indians, or how many, had conunitted

this horrid act, but it was finally ascertamed that the bloody " Tf'ahwa, Pau-
caunaumpoijte, formerly a Mohegan, Adeon, aftei-wai'ds known as Captain

Moses, an Ai'isaguntacook, Omboroivees, Manneenhoivhau, Pier, Siingehaugundo,

probably of the same tribe, though one or more was of Wowenok, but then
residing among the St. Francis Indians. Yet five-and-twenty years or more
afterwai'ds. Colonel Job, a noted orator and chief speaker at Governor Shirky^s

ti'eaty in 1754, denied that Adeon was an Arisaguntacook, and said he was an
Albany Indian ; but as Job was accused of telling lies in his talk at the treaty

by one of liis own pai'ty, not much dependence can be given to what he did

saj.f But it appears that he was a Norridgewok, but having taken an Aius-

agimtacook woman for a wife, became one of them. He was the same chief

^vllo, on the 28 April, 1752, with a party of 10 or 12 of that tribe, fell upon
four men on a branch of Contoocook River, sliot one of them dead, one
escaped, and the other two were taken and carried to Canada ; but this affair

we shall notice more at large presently.

We hear of but one that ever returned of those taken at Kennebunk. His
name was John Dwell, son of Philip, whose family were destroyed ; and he,

though he was redeemed in about two yeais, was, according to the historian

of Kennebunk, " ever after more of an Indian than a white man." He was
"ilive when Governor Sullivan \vi-ote his history, and resided there. It was
not long after Wahwah depredation, that two friendly Indians, Qiii7ioise, of
Wowenok, and Ogicsand, were sent by the governor of Alassachusetts to

learn the fate of the captives, as well as what Indians had done the mischief;

these ambassadors, from causes not explamed, tliough doubtless no uncommon
ones on such undertakings, wei'e not heard offer nearly a year after, and then
could give no satisfactory account in the business they undertook. At the

treaty of Casco, in 1727, Auyauvimoiodt, chief speaker of the Arisagimtacooks,
said he had learned that a boy taken at that time was among the Fi'ench.

This was probably John Dwell.
After i)eace was made, and intercom-se commenced again between the

Indians and the settlers, it seems IVnhiva used frequently to visit Kennebunk,
and often talked familiarly with the friends of those he had massacred. Like
most other Lidians, he would get drunk when he could get liquor. On one
occasion, as he lay drunk at the house of a Mr. Baxter, whose wife was among
the murdered in the exploit above related, some of Baxicr''s acquaintances
advised him to tuml)le him into the well,}: but he Iiad too much humanity to

wish to immortalize his name by an act so dastardly. And Jf'alnca remained
a moniunent of his o^vii cruelty, but not a more despised one than the

advisers ol' his death; while the injured man, deprived of his neai'est friends,

remained a momnnent of humanity.
We now return to Adeon, and his expedition to Contoocook. A small

company of young men, four in number only, went out early in tlie sjiring

of the year 1752, to hunt in the north-western part ofNew Hampshire. Their
names were, Am/)s Euslman, of Concord, Jolm and William Stark, of Dunbar-
ton, and David Stinson, o\' Londondeny. Wliat we are about to relate \\'\\l be
of more interest to the reader, doubtless, if he is told that John Stark, of this

party of hunters, was the same who after\vards defeated Colonel Baum at

Bennington, in the early l>art of tlie revolutionary war. These young men,
wandering Ihr beyond the confines of civilization, were, on the 28th of April,

* Bradbury's History of Kcniiclniiik Port, 120, 121.

+ He was a fearless, bold tbilow ; accused Governor Shirley nf " lelliiii^ his jouiig nieu act

the Devil's part by doing mischief to tiio Indians," nolwiihstandii]^ iiis protestations of justice

to ihcin.

t History of Kennebunk Port. 121.
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pursuing their arduous employment on a branch of the Pemigewaset, called

Bcxker's River, in what is since Rumney, when suddenly they were surprised,

by ten Indians imder the famous Adeon, who at this time was known by the

name of Captain Moses. The whites had, but little while before, discovered

traces of Indians, and had become alarmed, and were determined to leave

their position. Accordmgly, Johii Stark went out very early in the morning
to collect their traps, and while tlius separated from his companions, was
made prisoner. As soon as he was secured, he was ordered to direct them
to his friends. This he undertook to do, but purposely led them two miles

farther from them, hoping that, by some means, they might take the alami

and escape ; but it was not to be ended so. They seem not to iiave im-

agined that Johii was taken by Indians, and soon began to shoot off their

gmis to dhect him where they were. This also directed the Indians, and
tliey immediately proceeded dovim the river, beyond the whites, and taking a

station, waylaid them as they came down. All that had now passed had not

taken up much time, for about sunrise the party appeared, two in a boat, JFil-

Ikim Stark and Stinson, and Eastman on the shore, wlio next fell into the Li-

dians' hands. They now ordered John to hail his friends in the boat, to decoy
them to the shore ; but, with a boldness characteristic of great minds, he
called to them, and instead of requesting them to land, told them he was
token, and ordered them to save themselves by pulling to the opposite shore.

They pulled accordingly, and were quickly fii-ed upon by four of the Indians,

svhose guns were loaded. Like a truly heroic spu'it, without regarding the

risk he ran, at the moment of the shot John laiocked up two of the Indians'

guns, and repeated the mano3uvi-e when the rest cf the party fii-ed a second
volley. He then hallooed to Ms brother in the boat to fly -with all his might,

for all the guns were discharged. He did so successfully ; regained the shore
and escaped. Poor Stinson was Icilled, and the boat and oars were pierced
with bullets. John was sorely beaten and ill used at fu-st, for the liberties he
had taken in givuig their shots a false direction ; but they allerwards used
him kindly.

The whites had collected a considerable quantity of fars, of which the Li-

dians possessed themselves, and commenced then* retreat. They made a
stop at Lower Coos, about the present vicinity of Haverhill, N. H., where they
had left two of their party to prepare provisions against then* return. After
one night's stay here they proceeded to Upper Coos. From this place Cap-
tain Moses despatched thi-ee of his men with Eastman to St. Francis, while
the rest of the company himted on a small stream in that neighborhood.
Stark was meantime closely watched, and everj' night confined. They al-

lowed him to hunt, and he, having shot one beaver and caught another in a
trap, Avas approbated by a present of their skins.

At lengtli, on the 9 of July, Captain Moses returned ivith his prisoner to St.

Francis. Here the two captives were compelled to run the gantlet. East-

man fared hard in that business ; but Stark, understanding Indian play better

seized a club from an Indian at the head of one of the ranks tlii-ough whicl
he was to run, and laid it about him wth such force, that running the gant-

let was wholly on the part of the Lidians ; for they were glad to escape and
leave the ground to him, much to the delight of the old Indians, who were
seated at a distance to witness the sport.

Fortimately, Stark and Eastman's captivity was not a long one. In about
six weeks from Stark''s arrival at St. Francis, there anrived Captain Stevens, of
No. Four, and Mr. Wheeliuright, of Boston, in search of some captives, who
had been taken from Massachusetts, and not findmg any, redeemed Stark and
Eastman, who arrived home, by way of Albany, in August following. The
same Indians accompanied them to Albany, where they sold the furs they

had taken fi-om them, to the amount of £560, old tenor. Stark paid for his

ransom 103 dollars, and Eastman 60 dollars. The names of two others of die

Indians wlio did this mischief, were Francis Titigaw, and Peer, a young chief,

each of whom has been mentioned as chief in the capture ; but it is not

material.

^t the ti-eaty of 1727, which the preceding relation reqmi-ed us to notice,

tSBtion was made bv the chiefs, a* that treat^'^, of a great many Indians, and
'29

' W
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n-uong others, of one of considerable note, of whom we have before* said

csomethhig, if, indeed, he be the same, namely, Sabatis. This Indian had pre-

viously, though perhaps not long before that treaty, with others, taken many
captives ui their depredations on the English frontiers. At this time he was
livuig at Sl Francis in Canada, and had two cajJtives with hun ; but their

names we cannot leai"n. He was of a bloody disposition, and the act which
termmated his career was by a hand not less bloody, though, perhaps, more
necessarily so. We have, on another occasion, and in another work,f related

the circumstances of it, and shall therefore pass it over here. He was killed

in 1753, and we have before expressed the ojjinion that he was the father of

him brought away a captive from St. Fi-ancis by Captain Rogers in 1759, and
who m 1775 followed the fortunes of Ai-nold's expedition against Quebec.
As noted an exploit as we have passed over in our histoiy is that which

•^as enacted at Walpole, N. H., in the year 1755. If Philip, the leader of the

Indians on that occasion, be the same that we have before given some accoimt
if, his patriotism as well as his courage must have undergone an important
.;hange ; but as we cannot settle that matter to the satisfaction of the critical

antiquary without spending more time than we shall get credit for, we Avill

relate tlie affair at Walpole as we have heard it.

One JohnKilburn had settled at that place in 1749, and though far beyond
iny other settlement, and frequently watched, and sometimes annoyed by the

Indians, yet no hostile act was attempted upon him until 1755. When it be-

came certain that war would soon begin between England and France, meas-
u-es were taken ])y General Shirley to warn the settlers along tlie extensive

frontier ofNew England of the approaching calamity. But the Indians seem
^o have known or expected it sooner than the English, for before the latter

had received word from General Shirley, the cunning Philip, in the capacity

of a spy, had visited every principal settlement, under the pretence of trading

for flints and other hunting munitions, all along the Connecticut River; and
it was not until two Indians, employed by General Shirley, had informed the

settlers that 400 or 500 Indians were prei)aring in Canada to make a descent
upon them, that Philip's expedition for trade was understood in its real chai*-

acter.

Kxlburn lived in a good garrison-house, and on tlie day Philip appeal-ed

against it with some 300 Indians, he, with three other men, were at A\ork

some distance from it ; but iceeping a good watch, the Lidians were discov-

ered in time to afford them sufficient opportunity to regain the gairison Avith-

out molestation. The timely discovery \\as made al)out mid-day, August 17,

and in less than half an liour after, they were surrounded l)y 197 fierce war-
riors, fluslicd witli confidence of an easy and speedy victory ; the remainder
of the Lidians forming an ambush of reserve at the mouth of Cold River
about half a mile tiom the garrison.

Meanwhile Philip liad endeavored to cut off Colonel Belloios, who, witli

30 men, was niiihng ai)oiit a mile east of" KilburrCs; but in this he was foiled

by a masteiiy manuMivre of tiie colonel. His men were returning liom the

mill, each witli a bag of meal uj)on his back, when his dogs by their growling
gave timely notici; of the neighborhood of an enemy, anu the thoughts of an
ambush at tlu; same moment passed through his mind: he as soon knew
what to do. He onU^-ed his men to throw ofl" theii- bags, advance to a cer-

tain eminence over which their path lay, and about which lie doubted not the

Lidians were ])repare(l for him. The ground contiguous was covered witli

high sweet fern. Up to these Bellows tuid his men crawled, into the very
presence of the enemy. 'I'hey now, agreeably to the plan proposed at the

discovery, sprung ujion \\\v\r feet, and giving a tremendous whoop, after the

manner of their adversary, dro|»|)ed down again the same instant. The In-

dians at the very momcMit rose up, forming a thick fiont across the ])ath in a

semicircle. Each of /^e//o;/',f's men had now ;ui Lidiaii in his jxiwer; and
such was the efii;ct of the lirst fin; of these 30 men, that Philip ami his whole
party precipitately retreated, and the victors, without waiting tor a fiirtlier

• Auto, page \?>h, 136 of liiis Hook.
•* In the Appendix to my edition of Church's Philip's W'nr, itc, page 337.
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display of tactics, regained theii* gai-rison, not having one of their number
killed or wounded. Of the loss of the Indians no mention is made.
Finding so warm a reception from Colonel Bellows, Philip, it would seem,

as well as the colonel, had no notion of takuig a second hand at the same
game, and, as we have said, immediately appeared before Kilbum^s garrison,

whei'e he hoped for better success. Philip was an old acquaintance here,

and approaching the liouse as near as he could fuid a tree for shelter, called

out to Kilburn, " Old John, young John, come out here. We give you good quar-

ter." Philip is represented as of great stature, and proportionate strength;

and Kilburn was not his mferior. He answered the wai'rior " with a voice of
thunder," that flowed over the adjacent hills, " Quarter ! you black rascals

!

begone, or we'll quarter you."

Thus stood the affau* which was shortly to decide the fate of Walpole,
between six English, foui- men and two women, and about 400 Indians, at the
commencement of the siege. Philip returned to his men, and, after a short

pause, the silence was broken by yells and whoops of the whole body of In-

dians, which appeared, as we have heard the old people express it, " as though
all the devils in hell had broke loose." A fui'ious onset was now begun, and in

a few mmutes the roof of the house was perforated like a sieve. As usual in

their attacks on garrisons, they employed stratagems, but when the whole
afternoon was spent, they found they had made no impression, but were
gi-eatly weakened themselves, and at night drew off, thus ending their inglo-

rious expedition.

Such deeds could a few men, well provided, perform, well kno^ving it was
not niunbers that could save them in times of peril, while many others, rely-

ing upon their numbers, neglecting then duties, have fallen an easy prey to

an enemy not half equal to themselves. Kilburn had extra guns m his house,
and his wife and daughter cast bullets, and performed every other service in

their power. When one of the men's guns became too much heated to be
used with safety, a woman exchanged it for another, so that every man was
eveiy moment at his place. When their lead began to grow shoi-t, blankets
wei'e suspended hi the roof, to catch the balls of tlie enemy, with good suc-

cess; and thus many of the Indians fell by theu* own bullets! To use their

poAvder without loss of time, they poured it mto hats, which were placed close

at hand ; by such means an mcessant fire was kept up, which probably de-
ceived the Indians in regard to their numbers. They found time, before
di-awiug off, to kill all the cattle, burn and destroy all the hay and grain be-
longmg to the settlement ; but this was looked upon as nothing, scai-cely to

be considered towards the price of their deliverance. We do not learn as it

was ever known to the English what the loss of the Indians was ; * but the

garrison lost Mr. Peak, who, exposing himself too much before a port-hole,

was shot in the hip. The wound would probably have been cured if good
sm-gical aid could have been had ; but it proved mortal in five days after the
battle. Each of these men, Kilburn and Peak, had a son with them in the
garrison; and such was the force opposed to that army of Indians ! John
Kilburn lived to be 85 years of age, and died on the 8 April, 1789, and lies

buried in the AValpole burying-ground. The son {John) attained the same
age, and died at his residence, in Shrewsbury, Vt, in 1822.f
Only two days after the battle of Bunkers Hill, there arrived at Cambridge,

the head quarters of tlie Americans, a deputation from the Penobscot Indians,

of whom the celebrated Orono was chief An order was passed for their

entertainment while there, and " for then- return home." They came to ten-

der their sei-vices to the Americans in the war now begun, which was done
by Orono, in a speech to a conunittee of the provincial congi-ess, on the 21
June, 1775. «Li behalf of the whole Penobscot ti'ibe," the chief said, if the

grievances under which his people labored were removed, they would aid

with their whole force to defend the country. -Those grievances were bnefly
stated, and consisted chiefly of trespasses by the white" upon their tixrla""

* Kilburn, during the engagement, had a deliberate shot at a 1 :rg., Indian, whom he sa.i

Tall, and he believed it was Philip himself.

+ Chiefly' from the Cols. N. Hist. Soc. ii. 32—58.
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lands, cheating them m trade, &c. The committee returned an affectionate

adch-ess ; and although the groans of the d3ang, from the late terrible field of
battle, wei-e sounding in then- ears, they say nothing about engaging the Lidians
in the war, but assured them that " as soon as they could t^e breath from
their present fight," their complaints should receive attention. Some of the
Penobscots did eventually engage in the vear, but we have no paiticulars of
them.
We have said before,* upon authoi-ity which will generally be received,

that JVatanis and Sabatis were the fii-st Indians employed by the Ainericans
in the revolution, and we see no reason yet to form a different opinion, al-

though our attention has been called again to the subject,f and some facts

stated for our consideration, which have eUcited fin-ther investigations and
comparisons, of which the following is the resulLj Of a chief named Swau-
sen, or Stvashan, well known on the borders of New Hampshire in the latter

French wai-s, we have before given some notice
; § at that time, or about the

close of those wai's, he retired to St. Francis. When the revolution began, he
seems to have decided on taking the part of the Americans ; and with a few
followers marched to Kennebeck, and with some of the Norridgewoks ren-
dezvoused at Cobbossee, now Gardiner, at the mouth of the Cobbosseeconta
River. Over the Norridgewoks, or Pequawkets, or some of both, was a chief,

named Paul Hig^ns, who, though a white man, had lived so long among Li-

dians, that to allmtents he was one of them. He was born at Berwick, but
had been taken captive when quite yoimg, and spent most of his days with
them. This company set out for Cambridge, tlie head quarters of (General

Washington, about the beginning of August, 1775, under the direction of one
Reuben Cobum. There were 20 or 30 of them, " and they were rowed down
in canoes to Menymeeting Bay by their squaws;" here they left them, and
proceeded to Cambridge on foot, where they arrived about the 13 August.||

They tendered their services to the general, who gave them all the encour-
agement he could, consistently, but evidently advised them to remain neu-
tral.ll Swashan said half of his ti-ibe was ready to join the Americans, and
that four or five other tribes stood ready, if wanted, and that the Canadians
were in favor of the Americans also ; and this was the general opinion, and
corresponds with accounts given by intelligent settlers on the frontiers.

They say, " We have had positive accounts from many of the Indian tribes,

who have been applied to by Governor Carleton to distress the settlements •

but they say they have no oflTence from the people, and will not make war on
them. The Fi-ench, too, say it is a war of oiu- own raising, and they wtII

have no part in it."** We hear no more of Swashan.
Of AssACAMBuiT, an extended accoimt has been given,tt and we should

not again recur to him, but to correct the statement, that "nothmg was heard
of liini from 1708 to the time of his death." We have since found tliat in

17] 4, he was at Portsmouth, upon a friendly visit with several other Indians.
On the 10 May of that year, as the Indians were about to leave the place,
" tlie council of N. H. ordered their treasurer to furnish him and his compan
ions with necessary provisions and liquors to carry tiiem to their severa
habitations."

* Page 136, aulc, of this 13uok.

t III a polite and obliging- manner, by Rev. Wm. S. Bartlett, of Little Falls, N. Y
f As parly as May 19ili, 1775, the provincial congress of Massachusetts "Voted, Thai

Captain John Lnno have enlisting papers delivered to him, for raising a company of In-

dians at the eastward."

6 Cols. N. H. Soc. iii. 76 7.

II
MS. communication of Rev. VV. S. Bartlett.

IT Botta, i. 228.
** Almonds Remembrancer, i. 147—140.

ft Book III. p. 13'J—141.
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BIOGRAPHY AND HISTORY OF THE SOUTHERN
INDIANS.

' I will go to my tent, and lie down in despair
;

I will paint me with black, and will sever my hair
;

I will sit on the shore where the hurricane blows.
And reveal to the God of the tempest my woes

;

I will weep for a season, on bitterness fed.

For my kindred are gone to the mounds of the dead

;

But they died not by hunger, or wasting decay

:

The steel of the white man hath swept them away."
Anonymocs.

CHAPTER L

Preliminary observations respecting the country of the southern Indians—Wingina,
the first Virginia chief knoicn to the English—Destroys the first colony settled

there—Menatonon—Seiko—Ensenore—Second colony abandons the country—
Tobacco first carried to England by them— Curious account of prejudices ao-ainst it—Granganemeo—His kindnesses—His family—His death—Fowhataj^—Boun-
daries of his country—Surprises the PayankatanUs— Captain Smith fights his people—Opekankanough takes Smith prisoner— The particulars of that affair—He marches
him about the country— Takes him, at length, to Potohatan, who condemns him to be
put to death—Smith's life saved at the intercession of Pocahontas—Insolence of
Potohatan increased by JVewport's folly—Smith brings him to terms—^ crotcn sent
over to him from England—Is crowned emperor—Speech— Uses every stratagem to

kill Smith—Is baffled in every attempt—Smith visits him—Speeches—Pocahontas
again saves Smith and his comrades from being murdered by her father—
ToMOCOMO.

The difficulty of rightly pai'titioning between the southern nations and the
Iroquois, or Five Nations, can easily be seen by all such as have but very
pai-tially taken a survey of them, and considered their wandering habits.

Therefore, should we, in this book, not always assign a sachem to his original

family or nation, we can only plead in excuse, that we have gone according
to our best information. But we have endeavored to draw a kind of natural
boundaiy between the above-mentioned nations, distinguishing those people
beyond the Chesapeake and some of its tributaries, as the southern Indians,
and those between that boundary and the Hudson, by the name Iroquois.

To their respective territories inland, we shall not, nor is it necessary to, fix

bounds, in our present business. We are aware that some writers suppose
that all the Indians, from the 3Iississippi to the vicinity of the Hudson, and
even to the Connecticut, were originally of the same stock. If this were the

case, the period is so remote when they spread themselves over the country,

that these great natural divisions had long since caused quite a difference in

the inhabitants which they separated ; and hence the propriety of noticing

them according to our plan.
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It is said that the territory from the sea-coast to the River Alleghany, and
from the most southern waters of James River up to Patuxent, in the state

of Mai-yland, was inhabited by three different nations, and that the language

of each differed essentially from the others. The EngUsh called these

nations by the names Powhatans, Mandhoacs, and Monacans ; these were the

Tuscaroras. The Powhatans were the most powerful, and consisted ot

several tribes, or communities, who possessed the country from the sea-coast

to the falls of the rivers.*

To give a tolerable catalogue of the names of the various nations of

Virginia, the Carolinas, and thence to the Mississippi, would far exceed our

plan. We shall, therefore, pass to notice the chiefs of such of those nations

•IS are distuiguished in history, pointing out, by the way, their localities, and
whjilever shall appear necessary in way of elucidation, as we pass, and as we
have done in the preceding books.

WiNGiNA was fii'st known to the English voyagere Amidas and Barlow,

who landed in Vu-ginia in the summer of 1584, upon an island called, by the

Indians, Wokokon. They saw none of the natives until the third day, when
tliree were observed in a canoe. One of them got on shore, and the English

went to him. He showed no signs of feai*, "but spoke much to them," then

went boldly on board the vessels. After they had given him a shirt, hat,

wine, and some meat, " he went away, and in half an hour he had loaded his

canoe with fish," which he immediately brought, and gave to the English.

Wingina, at this time, was confined to his cabin from woimds he had lately

received in battle, probably in his war with Piamacum, a desperate and bloody

chief
Upon the death of Granganemeo, in 1585, Wingina changed his name to

Pemissapan. He never had much faith in the good intentions of the English,

and to hun was mainly attributed the breakmg up of the first colony which
settled m Virginia

Ic was upon tne return to England of the Captains Amidas and Barloio,

from the country of Wingina, that Queen Elizabeth, fi-om the wonderful

accounts of that fruitful and delightful place, named it, out of respect to

herself, Virginia ; she bemg called the virgin queen, fi-om her living unmar-
ried. But, With more honor to her, some have said, "Because it still seemed
to retain the virgin purity and plenty of the first creation, and the people

their primitive innocency of life and manners." f Waller referred to this

country when he vn-ote this :

—

" So sweet the air, so moderate the clime,

None sickly lives, or dies before his time.

Heav'n sure has kept this spot of eartli uncurst,

To show how all thmgs were created first."

Sir Richard Greenvil, stimulated by the love of gain, next intruded himsell

upon the shores of Wingina. It was he who committed the first outrage

upon the natives, which occasioned the breaking up of the colony which he

left behind him. He made but one short excursion into the country, during

which, by foolishly exjjosing his commodities, some native took from him a

silver cup, to revenge the loss of which, a to\vn was burned. He left 108

men, wlio seated themselves upon the island of Roanoke. Ralph Lane, a

militai-y character ofnote, was governor, and Captain Philip Amidas, lieutenant-

governor of tliis colony. They made various excursions about the countiy,

m hopes of discovering mines of precious metals; in which they were a long

time dui)ed by the Indians, for their ill conduct towards them, in compelling

them to pilot them about. Wingina bore, as well as he could, the provoca-

tions of the intruders, until the death of the old chief Ensenore, his father.

Under pretence of honoring his fiiiieral, he assembled 1800 of his people,

with the intontion, as the English say, of destroying them. They, therefore,

upon the information of Skiko, son of the chief Menatonon,! fell upon them,

and, after killing five or six, the rest made their escape into the woods. This

* From a communication of Secretary Tltompson to Mr. Jefferson, and appended to the

Notes on Virginia, ed. of 1801.

t Stith, 11. t Smith calls him the " lame king of Moratoc."^
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was done upon the island where Wingina hved, and the English fij-st seized
upon the boats of his visitants, to prevent their escape from the island, with
the intention, no doubt, of murdering them all. Not long after, " Wingina
was entrapped by the English, and slain, with eight of his chief men."
Menatonon was king of the Chawonocks, and Okisko of the Weojio-

meokes, "a powei-ful nation, possessing all that countiy from Albemarle
Sound and ChoAvan River, quite to the Chesapeakes and our bay." * At tins

time, Mencdonon was lame, and is mentioned as the most sensible and under-
standing Indian with whom the English were at first acquainted. It was he
that made Lane and his followers believe in the existence of the mine already
mentioned. " So eager were they," says Mr. Stith, " and resolutely bent iqjon

this golden discovery, that they could not be persuaded to retmn, as long as

they had one pint of com a man left, and two mastiff dogs, which, being
boiled with sassafras leaves, might afford them some sustenance in their way
back." After great sufferings, they arrived upon the coast again.

The reason why Menatonon deceived the English, was because they made
him a prisoner for the purpose of assisting them in making discoveries.

After he was set at liberty, he was very kind to them. Two years after,

when Governor l^liite was in the country, they mention his wife and child aj?

belonging to Croatan, but nothing of him.
White and his company landed at Roanoke, 22 July, 1587, and sent 20 men

to Croatan, on Pomt Lookout, with a friendly native called Manteo, to see

if any intelligence could be had of a former colony of 50 men left there by
Sir Richard Greenvil. They learned, from some natives whom they met, that

the people of Dassamonpeak, on what is now Alligator River, had attacked
them, lolled one, and driven the others away, but whither they had gone
none could tell. One of their present company, a principal man of their

government, had also been killed by the same Indians. This tiibe and
several others had agreed to come to Roanoke, and submit themselves to the
English ; but not coming according to appointment, gave the English an
opportunity to take revenge for former injuries. Therefore, Captain Stafford
and 24 men, with Manteo as a guide, set out upon that business. On coming
to their vUlage, " whei-e seeing them sit by the fire, we assaulted them. The
miserable soules amazed, fled into the reeds, where one was shot through,
and we thought to have been fully revenged, but we were deceived, for they
were oiu- friends come from Croatan to gather their corn !

" " Being thus
disappointed of our purpose, we gathered the fruit we found ripe, left the
rest unspoiled, and took Menatonon, his vdfe with her child, and the rest with
us to Roanoak." f But to return to Wingina.
While the English were upon the errand we have been speaking of. Win-

fina pretended to be their friend, but deceived them on eveiy opportunity,

y giving notice to his countrymen of their course and purpose, and ui-ging

them to cut them off". He thought, at one time, that the English were
desti'oyed, and thereupon scoffed and mocked at such a God as theirs, who
would suffer it. This caused his father, Ensenore, to join their enemies, but on
their return he was their friend again. He, and many of his people, now
believed, say the voyagers, that "we could do them more hurt being dead,
than lining, and that, being an hundred myles from them, shot, and struck
them sick to death, and that when we die it is but for a time, then we return
again." Many of the chiefs now came and submitted themselves to the Eng-
lish, and, among others, Ensenore was persuaded again to become then* fi-iend,

who, when they were in gi-eat straits for provisions, came and planted their

fields, and made wears in the streams to catch fish, which were of infinite

benefit to them. This was in the spring of 1586, and, says Lane, " we not
having one corn till the next hai-vest to sustain us." What added gi-eatly to

their distresses, was the death of their excellent friend Ensenore, who died

20th of April following. The Indians began anew then conspiracies, and the

colony availed themselves of the first opportunity of returning to England,

* Stith's Virginia, 14. By " our ba^ " is meant James River Bav.
{ Smith's Hist. Virginia.

1 *
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"v\liich was in the fleet of Sii- Francis Drake, which touched there in its way
from an expedition against the Spaniards in the West Indies.*

The conduct oi' Lane and his company in this fruitless attempt to establish

themselves in Virginia, was, in the highest degree, reprehensible. They put
to death some of the natives on the most frivolous charges, and no wonder
they were driven out of the country, as they ought to have been.f While
they were there, they became acquainted with the use of tobacco, and, taking

it to England, its introduction into general use soon rendered it a great article

of commerce. And liere it will not be improper to notice how many diftereut

persons have had the credit, or, perhaps, I should say discredit, of introducing

this "Indian weed" into England ; as, Sir Francis Drake, Sir Walter Ralegh,

Ralph Lane, and some others. Now, as some writer observes, the reader may
father it upon whom he pleases, as it is evident Sir Francis Drake took Ralph
Lane and tobacco both together into England ; and no one will dispute the

agency of the gallant knight. Sir Walter Ralegh, for he sent out Lane in his

employ. Mr. John Josselyn, in his " Two Voyages to N. England," has this

fassage : " Others will have tobacco to be fust brought into England from
eru, by Sir Francis Drake's mai'iners."

There were many who affected a violent disgust towards the use of tobac-

co ; the most conspicuous was King James, whose mind seems to have been
just weak enough to fight windmills. He even wrote a book denouncing its

use in the severest terms he could command. It grew spontaneously in Win-
gandacoa, (Virginia,) and the natives called it Uppowoc. It is generally sup-

posed to be called tobacco from the island Tobago, but this derivation is much
questioned. \

Granganemeo was a chief very favorably spoken of. As soon as the ai'rival

of the English was made known to him, he visited them with about 40 of hia

men, who were very civil, and of a remarkably robust and fine appearance.
When they had left their boat, and came upon the shore near the ship,

Granganevieo spread a mat and sat down upon it. The English went to him
armed, but he discovered no fear, and invited them to sit down ; after whicJi

he performed some tokens of friendship ; then making a speech to them, they
presented him with some toys. None but four of his peoiile spoke a word,
or sat down, but maintained the most perfect silence. On being shown a
pewter dish, he was much pleased with it, and purchased it with 20 deer-

skins, which were worth, in England, one hundred shillings sterling! ! The
dish he used as an ornament, making a hole through it, and wearing it about
his neck. While here, the English entertained him, with his wife and
children, on board their ship. His wife had in her ears bracelets of pearl,

which reached to her middle. Shortly after, many of the people came out of
the country to trade, " hut when Granganemeo was present, none durst trade

but himself, and them that wore red copper on their heads as he did." He
was remarkably exact in keeping his promise, " for oft we trusted him, and
he would come within his day to keep his word." And these voyagers further

report, that "commonly he sent them everyday a brace of bucks, conies,

hares, and fish, and sometimes melons, walnuts, cucumbers, pease, and divers

roots."

In their wanderings. Captain Amidas and seven others visited the island of
Roauoake, where they found the family of Granganemeo living in great com-
fort and plenty, in a little town of nine; houses. The chief was not at home,
" but his wife entcrtaincid them with wonderful courtesy and kindness. She
made some of her people draw their boat up, to jnevent its heing injiu'ed by
the beating of the surge ; some she ordered to bring them ashore on their

backs, and others to carry their oars to the house, for fear of being stole.

When they came into the house, she took off their cloathes and stockings,

and washed them, as likewise their feet in warm water. When their dinner

was ready, they were conducted into an inner room, (for there wei'e five in

* Relation o( Lane, prinletl in Smith's Virginia.

t Herriol's Observations, (one of Lane's company,) printed 'n Smitli.

X Stith's Hist. Virginia, 19.—See Book ii. Chap. ii.
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the house, divided by mats,) where they found hominy,* boiled venison, and
roasted fish; and, as a desert, melons, boiled roots, and fruits of vai-ious sorts.

While they were at meat, two or three of her men came in with their bows
»nd aiTOWs, which made the English take to their arms. But she, perceivuig

their distrust, ordered their bows and arrows to be broken, and themselves to

be beaten out of the gate. In the evening, the English returned to then- boat;

and, putting a little off from shore, lay at anchor ; at which she was much
concerned, and brought tiieir supper, half boiled, pots and all to the shore

:

and, seemg their jealousy, she ordered several men, and 30 women, to sit all

night upon the shore, as a guard ; and sent five mats to cover them fi-om the

weather." f Well hath the poet demanded, " Call ye them savage .' " If the

vrife of Granganemeo was savage, in the common acceptation of the term,

where shall we look for civihzation ?

Su-^ Greenvil, having an-ived on the coast in 1585, anchored off the island

Wokokon, 26 May, and, by means of Manteo, had some intercourse with the

inhabit£uits. At Hatteras, where they staid a short time, soon after, Gran-
ganemeo, with Manteo, went on board then- ships. This was the last visit he
made to the English, for he died very soon after.

This must close our account of the excellent family of Granganemeo, and
would that the account of the English would balance as w^ell,—but they exhibit

their own,—and one item more trom it, and we close the compai'ison. For a
small kettle they took 50 skins, worth in England £12 10s. sterling. J

We have now arrived at the most uiteresting article in Vu'giuia history.

Powhatan was, of all the chiefs of his age, the most famous in the regions

of Virginia. The English supposed, at first, that his was the name of tlie

country ; a common error, as we have seen in several cases in the previous

books of our biography, but, in this case, unlike the others, the error pre-

vailed, and a part of his people, ever after the settlement of the English, "were

called the Powhatans. A great river, since called the James, and a bay re-

ceived his name also. § He had three brothers, Opitchepan, Opekankanough,
and Catatanugh, and two sisters. His principal residence was at a place

called Werowocomoco, when the English came into the countiy ; which was
upon the north side of what is now York River, in the county of Gloucester,

neai'ly opposite the mouth of Queen's Creek, and about 25 miles below the

fork of the river.
||

He lived here until the English began to intrude them-
selves into his vicinity, when he took up his residence at Orakakes.
Powhatan was not his Indian name, or rather original name ; that was

Wahunsonacock. He is described as tall and well-proportioned—bearing an
aspect of sadness—exceedingly vigorous, and possessing a body capable of
sustaining great hardships. He was, in 1607, about 60 years of age, and his

hair was considerably gray, which gave him a majestic appearance. At his

residence, he had a kind of wooden form to sit upon, and his ornamental
robe was of raccoon skins, and his head-dress was composed of many feath-

ers wrought into a kind of crown. He swayed many nations upon the great

livers and bays, the chief ofwhom he had conqueied. He originally claimed
only the places called Powhatan, (since named Haddihaddocks,) ArrohattocK,

(now Appomattox,) Youghtanund, Pamunky, Mattapony, Werowocomoco,
and Kiskiak ; at which time, his chief seat was at Powhatan, near the falls of
James River. But when he had extended his conquests a gi-eat way north,

hf removed to Werowocomoco, as a more commodious situation.

At the termination of his warlike career, the country upon James River,

from its mouth to the falls, and all its branches, Avas the bouudaiy of his

countiy, southerly—and so across the coimtry, " nearly as high as the falls of

all the great rivers, over Potowmack, even to Patuxent, in Mai-yland," and

* " A food made of Indian com, or maize, beaten and carefully husked, something like

urmety in England ; and is an excellent dish various ways."
. .

t Slith's Hist. Virginia, 10, 11. X Smith's Hist. Virginia.

^ These, according to Heckewelder, Philos. Trans. 31, should have been called Powhatlian,

'which would signify the river of progeny, fruitfulness, the fruitful river."

II
About two miles below where Richmond now stands. The farm of a gentleman of tha

name oi Mayo included the site of a part of his town, in 1813.

—

Campbell''s Virginia.
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some of the nations on the north shore of the Chesapeake. His dominions,

accordmg to his law of succession, did not fall to his childi-en, but to his

brothers, and then to his sisters, (the oldest first,) thence to the heirs of the

oldest ; but never to the heirs of the males.

He usually kept a guai-d of 40 or 50 of the most resolute and well-formed

men about him, especially when he slept ; but, after the English came into his

country, he uici'eased them to about 200. He had as many, and such Avomen
as he pleased ; and, when he slept, one sat at his head and another at his feet.

When he was tired of any of his wives, he bestowed them upon such of i)is

men as most pleased him. Like the New England chiefs, he had many places

where he passed certain seasons of the year ; at some of which he had very

spacious wigwams, 30 or 40 yai-ds in extent, where he had victuals provided

against his coming.
In 1608, he surprised the people of Payankatank, who were his neighbors

and subjects. Captain Smith, in the account, " ivrit with his own hand,''' says,

" the occasion was to vs vnknowne, but the manner was thus." He sent sev-

eral of his men to lodge with them the night on which he meant to fall upon
them ; then, seci'etly surrounding them in then* wigwams, commenced a horrid

slaughter. They killed 24 men, took off then- scalps, and, with the women
and children prisoners, returned to the sachem's village. The scalps they

exhibited upon a line between two trees, as a trophy, and the werowance (their

name of a chief) and his wife Powhatan made his servants.

Up to the year 1607, eveiy attempt to settle a colony m Virginia had failed

;

and, at this time, would have failed also, but for the unexampled perseverance

of one man. I need but pronounce the name of Captain John Smith. The
colony with which he came did not anive until the planting season was over

;

and, in a short time, they found themselves in a suffering condition, fi-om want
of suitable provisions. Smith, therefore, undertook to gain a supply by traffick-

ing with the Indians back in the country, who, being acquainted vdth his

situation, insulted him and his men wherever they came ; offering him but a

handful of corn, or a piece of bread, for a gun or a sword. "But seeing by
trade and courtesie there was nothing to be had, he made bold to try such
conclusions as necessitie inforced, though contrary to his commission." So
he fii-ed upon them, and drove them into the woods. He then mai'ched

to then* village. There they found corn in abundance, which, after some
manoeuvring, he succeeded in trading for, and returned with a supply to

Jamestown.
Smith, soon after, proceeded to discover the source of the Chikahamania.

When he had passed up as ftu* as it was navigable for his barge, he left it in a
wide place, at a safe distance from the shore, and ordered his men not to go
on shore on any condition. Taking two of his own men and two Indians, he
proceeded to complete his discovery. As soon as he was gone, his men went
on shore ; one was killed, and the rest hardly escaped. Smith was now 20
miles into the wilderness. Opekankanoiigh, with 300 warriors, having learned,

from the men they had just taken, which way he was gone, followed after him,
and came upon the two Englishmen belonging to his company, and killed

them both while asleep, he being absent to shoot some fowls for provisions

;

they then continued their pursuit after hun. He was not far from his canoe,

and endeavored to retreat to it, but, being hard pressed, made a shield of one
of his Indians, iind, in this manner, fought upon the retreat, until he had killed

three, and wounded divere others. Being obliged to give all his attention to

his pui-sucrs, he accidentally fell into a creek, where the mud was so deep that

he could not extricate himself. Even now, none dared to lay hands upon him ;

and those whom their own numbers forced nearest to him, were observed to

tremble with fear. TIk; Indian he had bound to his arm with his gartci-s,

doubtless saved him from being killed by their arrows, from which, owing to

his Indian shield, he received but very little hurt, except a wound in his

thigh, though his clothes were shot full of them.

When he could stand no longer in the mu-e, without perishing witli cold,

he threw away his arms, and suffered them to come and take him. After

pulling him out of the mire, they took him to the place where his men had
jUBt been killed, whei'e there was a fire. They now showed him kindness.
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rubbing liis benumbed limbs, and warming him by the fire. Ho asked for

their chief, and Opekankanough appeared, to whom he gave a small compass.
This amused them exceedingly. "Much they max'velled at the playing of the

fly and needle, which they could see so plainly, and yet not touch it, because
of the glass that covered them. But when he demonstrated, by that globe-like

iewell, the roundnesse of the earth, and skies, the splieare of the sunne, and
moone, and staiTes, and how the sunne did chase the night round about the

world, continually—the greatnesse of the land and sea, the diversity of the

nations, varietie of complexions, and how we were to them antipodes, and
many other such like matters, they all stood as amazed with admiration !

'

Yet, notwithstanding he had such success in explainuig to them his knowledge
of geography and astronomy, (how much of it they understood we will not

undertake to say,) within an hour after, they tied him to a tree, and a riultitude

of them seemed prepared to shoot him. But when their bows were bent,

Opekankanough held up liis compass, and they all laid down their weapons.
They now led him to Orapakas, or Orakakes, a temporary seat of Powhatan,
on the north side of Chikahominy swamp, in what is now Gloucester county
on York river.* Here they feasted him, and treated him w-jll.

When they marched him, they drew themselves up in a row, with their

chief in the midst, before whom the gims and swords they had taken from the

English were borne. Smith came next, led by three great men hold of each
arm, and on each side six more, with their an-ows notched, and ready, if he
should attempt to escape. At the tpvi^i, they danced and sung about him, and
then put him into a large house, or wigwam. Here they kept him so well,

that he thought they were fatting him to kill and eat. They took hun to a
sick man to cure him ; but he told them he could not, unless they would let

him go to Jamestown, and get something with which he could do it. This
they would not consent to.

The taking of Jamesto^vn was now resolved upon, and they made great

preparations for it. To this end, they endeavored to get Smithes assistance,

by making lai-ge promises of land and women ; but he told them it could not

be done, and described to them the gi-eat difficulty of the undertaking in such
a manner that they were gi'eatly terrified. With the idea of procuring some-
thing ciu-ious, Smith prevailed upon some of them to go to Jamestown ; which
journey they performed in the most severe frosty and snowy weather. By
diis means, he gave the people there to understand what his situation was, and
what was intended against them, by sending a leaf from his pocket-book, with
a few words wi-itten upon it. He wrote, also, for a few articles to be sent,

which were duly brought by the messengers. Nothing had caused such
astonishment as their bringing the very articles Smith had promised them.
That he could talk to his friends, at so great a distance, was utterly incompre-
hensible to them.
Being obliged to give up the idea of destroying Jamestown, they amused

themselves by taking their captive from place to place, in great pomp and
triumph, and showing him to the different nations of the dominions of Pow-
hatan. They took him to Youghtannund, since called Pamunkey River, the

country over which Opekankanough was chief, whose principal residence

was where the town of Pamunkey since was ; thence to the Mattaponies,

Piankatanks, the Nautaughtacunds, on Rappahanock, the Nommies, on the

Patowmack River ; thence, in a cu'cuitous course, through several other

nations, back agam to the residence of Opekankanough. Here they practised

conjurations upon him for three successive days ; to ascertain, as they said,

whether he intended them good or evil. This proves they viewed him as a

kind of god. A bag of gunpowder having fallen into their hands they pre-

served it with great care, thinking it to be a grain, intending, in the spring, to

plant it, as they did com. He was here again feasted, and none could eat

until he had done.

Being now satisfied, having gone through all the manoeuvres and pranks

with him they could think of, they proceeded to Powhatan. " Here more tha; i

200 of those grim courtiers stood wondering at him, as he had been a monster,

* Bancroft's Hist. U. States, i. 146.

30
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till Powhatan and his trayne had put themselves in their greatest braveries.

He was seated before a fire, upon a seat like a bedstead, having on a robe of
raccoon skins, " and all the tayles hanging by." On each side of him sat a

young woman ; and uj)on each side of the house two rows of men, and with
as many women behind them. These last had their heads and shoulders
painted red—some of whose heads were adorned with white down ; and about
their necks ^vhite beads. On SviitK's being brought into the presence of
Powhatan, all ])resent joined in a great shout. "The queen of Apamatuck was
appouited to bring him water to wash his hands, and anotlier brought him a
bunch of feathers, inst<^ad of a towel, to dry them." Then, having feasted him
again, "after their best barbarous manner they could, a long consultation was
held, but the conclusion was, two great stones were brought before Powhatan
—then as many as could lay hands on him, dragged him to them and thereon
laid his head, and being ready, with their clubs, to beat out his brains, Poca-
hontas, the king's dearest daughter, when no entreaty could prevail, got his

head in her amies, and laid her owii upon his, to save him from death."

Powhatan was unable to resist the extraordinary solicitations and sympathetic
entreaties of his kind-hearted little daughter, and thus was saved the life of
Captam Sinilh ; a character, who, without this astonishing deliverance, was
sufficiently renowned for escapes and adventures.

The old sachem, having set the sentence of death aside, made up his mind
to employ Smith as an aitisan ; to make, for himself, robes, shoes, bows, arrows,
and pots ; and, for Pocahontas, bells, beads, and copper trinkets. Poivhatan^s
son, named JVantaquaus, was very friendly to Smith, and rendered him many
important services, as well after as during his captivity.

"Two days after, Powhatan, having disguised himself in the most fearfullest

manner he could, caused Captain Smith to be brought forth to a great house in

the woods, and there, upon a mat by the fire, to be left alone. Not long after,

from behinde a mat that divided the house, was made the most dolefuUest

noyse he ever heard ; then Powhatan, more like a Devill than a man, widi
some 200 more, as black as himselfe, came unto him, and told him, now they
were friends ; and presendy he should go to Jamestowne, to send him two
great gunnes, and a gi-yndestone, for which he would give him the countiy of
Capahowosick [Capaiiowsick], and forever esteem him his sonne, JVantuqiiond.

So to Jamestowne, with 12 guides, Powhatan sent hhn. That night they
quartered in the woods, he still expecting, (as he had done all this long time of
his imprisonment,) every hour to be put to one death or another." Early the
next morning, they came to the fort at Jamestown. Here he treated his

guides with the greatest attention and kindness, and oflJered Rawhu7it, in a
jesting manner, and for the sake of a little sport, a huge mill-stone, and two
domi-culverins, or nine pound cannons, to take to Powhatan, his master; thus

fulJlUins: his engagement to scjul him a grindstone and two guns. This
Rawhunt was a sachem under Powhatan, and one of his most faithful cajjtains,

and who, it seems, accompanied Smith in his return out of captivity.

"They found them somewhat too heavie, but when they did see him dis-

charge thctn, being loaded with stones, among the boughs of a great tree

loaded with isioJ<les, the yce and branches came so tumbling down, that the
poore sjilvages ran away half dead widi fear. But, at last, we regained some
conference with thiiin, and gave them such toyes, and sent to Powhatan, his

women, and children, such jjrcsents, and gave them in gencrall full content."*
Powhatan was now com|)leI(ly in the English interest, and almost every

other day sent his daughter, Porahontas, with victuals, to Jamc-stowii, of which
ney were greatly in i\mh\. Smith had told Powhatan iHat a great chief, which
was Captain JVcwport, would arrive from England about that time, which
coming to jmss as lie had said, greatly increased his admiration ot the wisdom
if the English, and he wjis ready to do as they desired in every thing, and,
out for the vanity and ostentation of JYewport, mattei-s would have gone on
well, and trade Hourished gieatly to their advantage. But he lavished so many
presents upon Powhatan, that he wjis in no way inclined to trade, and soon

* This is Captain Smith's own accounl, wliicli I shall follow minutely; adding occasionally

from Slilli, to illustrate the geography of tiie country.
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began to sliow his haughtiness, by demanding five times the value of un articl(^,

or his contempt for what was offered.

By JVeivporVs imprudence and folly, what had cost Smith so much toil and
pains to achieve, was blown away by a single breath of vanity. Nevertheless,
his great mind, continually exercised in difficult matters, brought the subtle

chief again to his own terms. Himself, with JVewport, and about 20 others,

went to Powhataii's residence to trade with him. " Wlierein Powhatan carried

himself so proudly, yet discreetly, (in his salvage manner,) as made us all to

admu'e his natural gifts." He pretended that it was far Ijeneath his dignity to

trade as his men did. Thus his craft to obtain from JVewport his goods for

whatever he pictised to give m return. Smith saw through Powhatan's craft,

and told JVewport how it would turn out, but being determined to show him-
self as dignified as the Indian chief, repented of his folly, like too many others,

when it was too late. Siriith was ihe interpreter in the business, and JVewport
the chief. Poivhatan made a sjjeech to him, when they were about to enter
upon trading. He said, " Captain JVeivport, it is not agreeable to my greatness,

in this peddling manner, to trade for trifles; and I esteem you also a gi-eat

werowance. Therefore, lay zne down all your commodities together ; what 1

like I will take, and in recompense give you what I think fitting their value."
Accordingly, JVewport gave him all his goods, and received in return only
about three busliels of corn ; whereas they expected to have obtained twenty
hogsheads. This transaction created some hard thoughts between Smith and
JVewport.

If it add to raise Poivhatan in our admiration, it can detract nothing fifom

the character of Smith, to say, that he was as wily as the gi'eat Indian chief.

For, with a few blue beads, which he pretended that he had shown huii only by
accident, and which he would hardly part with, as he pretended, because they
were of great price, and worn only by great kings, he completely got his end,
at this time, answered. Tantalization had the desired effect, and Powhatan was
so infatuated with the lure, that he was almost beside himself, and was ready
to give all he had to possess them. " So that, ere we departed," says my
relation, " for a pound or two of blew beades, he brought over my king for 2
or 300 bushells of corne."

An English boy was left with Poivhatan, by Captain JVewport, to learn the
language, manners, customs and geograjihy of his country ; and, in return,

Powhatan gave him JVamontack, one of his sei'vants, of a shrewd and subtle

capacity, whom he afterwards earned to England. Powhatan became offended
with Captain Smith, when JVewport left the country, in IG08 ; at whose depart-

ure he sent liim 20 tiu-keys, and demanded, in return, 20 swords, which were
granted. Shortly after, he sent the same number to Smith, expecting the like

return ; but, being disajjpointed, ordered his men to seize the English wher-
ever they could find them. This caused difiiculty—many of the English
being robbed of then* swords, in the vicinity of their forts.. They continued
theu- depredations until Smith surprised a number of them, from whom he
learned that Powhatan was endeavormg to get all the aiuns in his power, to be
able to massacre the English. When he found that his plot was discovered,

he sent Pocahontas, with presents, to excuse himself, ar,.d pretended that the
mischief was done by some of his ungovernable chiefs. He directed her to

endeavor to effect the release of his men that were prisoners, which Smith
consented to, wholly, as he pretended, on her account ; and thus peace was
restored, which had been continually interrupted for a considerable time before.

On the 10th of September, 1608, Smith was elected governor of Virginia.

J\''ewpoii, going often to England, had a large share in directing the affau-s of
the colony, from his interest with the proprietors. He arrived about this time,

and, among other baubles, brought over a crown for Powhatan, with directions

for his coronation ; which had the ill effect to make him value himself more
than ever. JVeivport was instructed to discover the coimtry of the IMonacans,

a nation with wiiom Powhatan was at war, and whom they would a.ssist him
agauist, if he would aid in the business. Captain Smith was sent to him to

invite him to Jamestown to receive presents, and to trade for corn. On arriv-

ing at Werowocomoco, and delivering his message to the old chief, he replied

" If your king have sent me presents, I also am a king, and this is my land-



352 POWHATAN.—ORDERS THE DEATH OF S.MITH. [Book IV.

Eigijt days I will stay to receive them. Your father [meaning JVewpo7-t] is to

come to me, not I to limi, nor yet to your fort—neither will I bite at such a

bate. As for the Monacans, I can revenge my own injuries ; and as for ^t-

quanachuck, where you say your brother was slain, it is a contrary way from
those parts you suppose it ; but, for any salt water beyond the mountains, the

relations you have had from my people are false." Some of the Indians had
made the English believe that the South Sea, now called the Pacific Ocean,
was but a short distance back. To show Smith the absurdity of the stoiy, he
drew a map of the country, upon the ground. Smith returned as wise as he
went.

A house was built for Powhatan, about this time, by some Germans, who came
over with JVeivport. These men, thinking that the English could not subsist

in the country, wantonly betrayed all the secrets oftheir condition to Poivhatan,

which was again the source of much trouble. They even urged him to put

all the English to death, agreeing to live with him, and assist him in the e.ve-

cntion of the horrible project. Poivhatan was pleased at the proposition, and
thought, by then- assistance, to effect what he had formerly hoped to do by
engaging Smith in such an enterprise. Their first object was to kill Captain
Smith; by which act, the chief obstacle to success would be removed; and,

accordingly, they took every means in their power to effect it.

In the fij-st place, he invited him to come and trade for corn, hoping an
opportunity, in that business, would offer. That his design might not be mis-
trusted, Powhatan promised to load his ship with corn, if he would bring him
a grindstoi^e, 50 swords, some muskets, a cock and a hen, and a qutmtity of
copper and beads. Smith went accordingly, but guarded, as though sure of
meeting an enemy.

In then- way, the English stopped at Warrasqueake, and were informed,

by the sachem of that place, of Powhaian^s intentions. That sachem kindly

entertained them, and, when they departed, furnished them with guides. On
account of extreme bad weather, they were obliged to spend near a week at

Kicquotan. This obliged them to keep their Christmas among the Indians,

and, according to our authorities, a meriy Christmas it was ; having been
" never more merry in then* lives, lodged by better fires, or fed with greater

plenty of good bread, oysters, fish, flesh, and wild fowl."

Having arrived at Werowocomoco, after much hardship, they sent to Pow-
hatan for provisions, being in gieal want, not having taken but three or four

days' supply along with them. The old chief sent them immediately a supply
of bread, turkeys, and venison, and soon after made a feast for them, accord-
ing to custom.

Meanwhile, Poivhatan pretended he had not sent for the English ; telling

them he had no corn, "and his people much less,"* and, therefore, intimated

that he wished they would go off again. But Smith jiroduced the messenger
that he had sent, and so confronted him ; Powhatan then laughed heartily,

and thus it passed lor a joke. He then asked for their commodities, " but he
liked nothing, except guns and swords, and valued a basket of corn higher
than a l)asl<et of copper ; saying, he coiild rate his corn, but not tlie copper."

Captain Smith then made a sjieech to him, iu which he endeavored to work
upon his feelings and sense of honor ; said he had sent his men to build him
a house while his own was neglected; that, because of his promising to sup-

ply him with corn, he had neglected to supply himself with provisions when
he might have done it. Finallj', Smith reproached him of divers negligences,

deceptions, and prevarications ; but the main cause of Powhatan^s refusing

to trade seems to have been because the English did not bring the articles

le most wanted.
When Smith had done, Powhatan answered him as follows:—"We have

but litth corn, hut what we can spju-c shall be brought two days hence. As
to your coming here, I have some doubt about the reason of it. I am told, by

my men, that you came, not to trade, but to invade my peoj)le, and to possess

my country. This makes me less ready to relieve you, ami frightens my

* Tlic reader mnv wonder liow this could l)e, liut il is so iu the old history, by Stith 86
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people fi-om bi-inging in their com. And, therefore, to relieve them of thas

fp;ir, leave your arms aboard your boats, since they are needless here, whert
we are all friends, and forever Powhatans."

In these, and other speeches of like amount, they spent the first day. " But
whilst they expected the coming in of the countiy, they wrangled PoichcUan

out of 80 bushels of corn, for a copper kettle ; which the president seeing

him much affect, [value,] he told him it was of much greater value
;
yet, in

regard of his scarcity, he would accept that quantity at present
;
provided he

nhould have as much more the next year, or the Manakin country," were that

condition not complied 'with.

This ti-ansaction will equal any thing of the kind in the history of New
England, but we will leave the reader to make his o^vn comment.
At the same time, Powhatan made another speech, in which were some

very singular passages, as reported by Smith. One was, that he had seen the

death of all his people three times ; and that none of those thi'ee generations

was then living, except himself This Avas e-vidently only to make the Eng-
lish think him something more than human. The old chief then went on
and said,

" I am now grown old, and must soon die ; and the succession must de-

scend, in order, to my brothers, Opitchapan, Opekankanough, and Catataugh,*

and then to my two sisters, and their two daughters. I wish their experience

was equal to mine ; and that your love to us might not be less than ours to

you. Wliy should you take by force that fi-om us which you can have by
love ? Why should you destroy us, who have provided you with food ?

What can you get by war ? We can hide our provisions, and fly into the

woods; and then you must consequently famish by wronging your friends.

What is the cause of your jealousy? You see us unarmed, and willing to

supply your wants, if you will come in a friendly manner, and not with

swords and guns, as to invade an enemy. I am not so simple, as not to know
It is better to eat good meat, lie well, and sleep quietly with my women and

childi-en ; to laugh and be meriy with the English ; and, being their friend,

to have copper, hatchets, and Avhatever else I want, than to fly from all, to lie

cold in the woods, feed upon acorns, roots, and such ti-ash, and to be so

hunted, that I cannot rest, eat, or sleep. In such circumstances, my men
must watch, and if a twig should but break, all would cry out, ' Here comes

Capt. Smith

;

' and so, in this miserable manner, to end my miserable life

;

and, Capt. Smith, this might be soon your fate too, through your rashness and
unadvisedness. I, therefore, exhort you to peaceable councils ; and, above all,

I insist that the guns and swords, the cause of all our jealousy and uneasiness,

be removed and sent away."
Smith interpreted this speech to mean directly contrary to what it expressed,

and it rather confirmed, than lessened, his former suspicions. He, however,

made a speech to Poivhatan, in his turn, in which he endeavoi-ed to convince

him that the English intended him no hurt ; urging, that, if they had, how
easily they might have effected it long before ; and that, as to their perishing

with want, he would have him to understand that the English had ways to

supply themselves unknown to the Indians ; that as to his sending away the

arms, there was no reason in that, since the Indians were always allowed to

bring theirs to JamestoA^Ti, and to keep them in their hands. Seeing Smith''s

inflexibility, and despairing of accomplishing his intended massacre, he spoke

again to Smith as follows :

—

""Capt. Smith, I never use any werowance so kindly as yourself; yet from

you I receive the least kindness of any. Capt. JVeicport gave me swords, cop-

per, clothes, or whatever else I desired, ever accepting what I offei-ed hun

;

and would send away his guns when requested. No one refuses to lie at my
feet, or do what I demand, but you only. Of you I can have nothing, but

what you value not ; and yet, you will have whatsoever you please. Capt.

Neioport you call father, and so you call me ; but I see, in spite of us both,

you will do what you will, and we must both study to humor and content you.

But if you intend so friendly, as you say, send away your arms ; for you see

* Catanaueh, Stith.
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ray uudesigning simplicity and friendship cause me thus nakedly to forget
myself."

Smith now was out of all patience, seeing Powhatan only trifled away the
time, that he might, by some means, accomplish his design. The boats of
the English were kept at a distance fi"om the shore, by reason of ice Smith,
therefore, resorted to deception ; he got the Indians to break the ice, that his
men might come in and take on boai-d the corn they had bought, and, at the
same time, gave orders to them to seize Powhatan ; Smith, in the mean tune,
was to amuse him with false promises. But Smith's talk was too full of
flattery not to be seen through by the sagacious sachem ; and, before it was
too late, he conveyed himself, his women, children, and effects, into the
woods; having succeeded in his deception better than Smith; for two or
three squaws amused him while Poivhatan and the rest escaped. Unwilling,
however, to renounce his purpose, Poivhatan sent Smith, soon after, a valuable
bracelet, as a present, by an old orator of his, who tried to excuse the conduct
of his sachem ; he said Powhatan ran off because he was afraid of the Eng-
lish arms, and said, if they could be laid aside, he would come with his peo-
ple, and bring corn in abundance. At length, finding all artifices vain, Pow-
hatan resolved to fall upon the English, in their cabins, on the following night
But here, again, Pocahontas saved the life of Smith and his attendants. She
came alone, in a dismal night, through the woods, and informed Smith of her
father's design. For this most signal favor, he offered her such articles as he
thought would please lier ; but she would accept of nothing, and, with tears

standing in her eyes, said if her father should see her with any thing, he
would mistrust what she had done, and instant death would be her i-ewai'd

;

and she retired by herself into the woods, as she came.
Poivhatan was so exasperated at the failure of his plots, that he threatened

death to his men if they did not kill Smith by some means or other. Not
long after, a circumstance occurred, which gave him security the rest of his

administration. One of Powhatan's men, havuig, by some means, got a
quantity of powder, pretended that he could manage it like the English.
Several came about him, to witness his exploits with the strange commodity,
when, by some means, it took fire, " and blew him, with one or two more, to

death." This struck such a dread into the Indians, and so amazed and
frightened Poivhatan, that his people came from all directions, and desired
peace ;

* many of whom returned stolen articles that the English had never
before missed. Powhatan would now send to Jamestown such of his men
as had hijured the English, that they might be dealt with as they deserved.
The same year, 1609, he sent them neai'ly half his crop of corn, knowing
them to l)e in great want.

Captain Smith, having, by accident, been shockingly bin-ned by his powder-
bags takhig fire, for wmt of surgical aid, was obliged to leave the country
and go to England, from whence he never returned. He published the
account of tli(^ fii-st voyages to Virginia, and his own advenlm-cs, which is

almost the only authority for tlic early history of that country. He died in

London, in l(;:3],f in the 52d year of his age.

The Dutciumu of whom we have spoken, and who had been so assiduous
to bring ruin ui)on the colony, came to a miserable end. One of them died
in wretchedness, and two others had their brains beat out by order of Powha-
tan, for tlii'ir drc(|)tif)n.

After Smith iiad left Virginia, tlie Indians were made to b('li<n'e that he was
dead. Powhatan (l(>nltt(>d tlie report, and, some time after, ordered one of his

counsellors, named Uttumatomakin, f or Tomocomo, § whom he sent to England,
to find out, if ]ios8ibie, where he was. He instiiicted iiim, also, to note the

number of the people, to learn tlie state of the country, and, if he found Smith,

tO malce liiin sliow him tho God of the Englisii, and the king and queen.

Wlien he arrived at IMiniDiith, he took a long stick, and began to perform a

part of his mission by rntling a notch for every person he should see. But

* Did not ilie English of New England owe their safctj' to Mussasoit and Micminnnomok's
fear of the same article ?

t Josseltjn, N. Eng. Rarities, 106. } Or Utlamaccomack, Smith. ^ Purcbas.
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he soon gave tip that business. And, when he returned to his own country,
Ids chief asked him, among other things, to give him an account of the num-
ber of the inhabitants in England, His answer to that inquiry, we hazai-d not
much in saying, is nearly as extensively known as the golden rule of Confu
ciits. It was as follows :

" Count the stars in the sky, the leaves on the trees, %nd
the sand upon the sea-shore,—for such is the number of the people of England."
ToMocoMO had married a sister of Pocahontas, and, probably, accompanied

her to England.* While there, the famous antiquai-y, Samuel Purchas, had
an interview with him, and from whom he collected many facts relating to

the manners and customs of his countrymen ; the result of which he after-

wards pubUshed m his Pilgiims. f

The difficulties were ahnost perpetual between Powhatan and the English
very little time passed, while he lived, but what was full of broils and dissatis-

faction, on the one pait or the other. Few Indian cliiefs have fallen under
our notice, possessing such extraordinary characteristics as Poivhatan. He
died at peace with the English, in April, 1618, aiad was succeeded by Opitcha-

van, his second brother, who was known afterwards by the name Itopatm.

Our readers will be compelled to acknowledge that Captam Smith was
bai-bai"ous enough towai-ds the Indians, but we have not met with any thing

quite so honible, in the course of his proceedings, as was exhibited by his

successor. Lord De La War. This gentleman, instead of taking a mean
course between the practices of Smith and jYeivport, went into the worst
exti-eme. Finding Powhatan insolent, on his arrival in the country, he
determined, by severity, to bring him to unconditional submission. Having,
therefore, got into his hands an Indian prisoner, his lordship caused his right

hand to be cut off. In this maimed and horrid condition, he sent hhn to

Poivhatan ; at the same ti:ne giving the sachem to understand, that all his

subjects would be served in this mannei", if he refused obedience any longer

;

telling him, also, that all the corn in the counti-y should be immediately
destroyed, which was just then ripe. J This wretched act increased, as

reasonably it should, the indignation of Poivhatan, and his acts were governed
accordmgly.

9fg>i!e

CHAPTER n.

Reflection upon the character of Powhatan—Pocahontas—She singularly entertains

Captain Smith—Disaster of a boat's creiv—Smith's attempt to surprise Pmohatan
frustrated in consequence—Pocahontas saves the life of Wyffin—Betrayed into the

hands of the English—Japazaws—Mr. Rolfe marries Pocahontas—Opachisco—
Pocahontas visits England—Her intervieio with Smith—Dies at Gravesend—Her
son—Opekankanough—Made prisoner by Smith—Is set at liberty—Nemattanow
—Murders an Englishman—Is murdered in his turn—His singular conduct at his

death— Conducts the Tnassacre of 1622

—

Plots the extirpation of the English—Con-

ducts the horrid massacre of 1644

—

Is taken prisoner—His conduct upon the

occasion—Barbarously wounded by the guard—Last speech, and magnanimity in

death—Reflections—Nickotawance—Totopotomoi—Joins the English against

the Rechahecrians—Is defeated and slain.

It is impossible to say what would have been the conduct of the great

Powhatan towards the English, had he been treated by them as he ought to

have been. The uncommonly amiable, virtuous, and feeling disposition of

his daughter, will always be brought to mind in reading his history ; and, not-

withstanding he is described by the historians as possessing a sour, morose,

and savage disposition, ftill of treachery, deceit and cunning—and whose
word was never to be depended upon—yet, on the very page that he is thua

* 3Ir. OW/ni.roT? (Brit. Empire, i. 285.) says, " That when the princess Pocahontas came
for Englcuid, a coucarousa, or lord of her own nation, attended her; his naime was Utlamacco-

mack."

t Vol. V. b. viii. chap. vi. page 956. t Harris. Voyages, ii. 226.
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represented, we shall find the same faults set him as examples by the English
themselves.

The first and most memorable events in the life of Pocahontas have neces-
sarily been detailed in the account of her father; therefore we shall, under her
ov™ name, give those which ai-e more disconnected with his.

POCAHONTAS was bom about the year 1594 or 5, and hence was no more
than 12 or 13 years old when slie saved the life of Captain Smith, in 1607.

Every particular of that most extraordinaiy scene has been exhibited. The
name Pocohantes or Pockohdntes, says Heckewelder, means a run between two
hills. It has been mentioned, that, at the suggestion of Captain J^eivport, Smith
went with a few men to Werowocomoco, to invite Powhatan to Jamestown
to receive presents, hoping thereby to influence him to open a trade in corn
with them.
When he an-ived at that place, Powhatan was not at home, but was at the

distance of 30 miles off. Pocahontas and her women received bun, and while
he waited for her father, they thus enteilained him:—" In a fayre plaine field, (says

Smith,) they made a fire, before which, he sitting upon a mat, suddainly amongst
the woods was heard such a hydeous noise and shrecking, that the English
betooke themselves to their arms, and seized on two or three old men by
them, supposing Poivhatan, with all his power, was come to siuqjrise

them. But presently Pocahontas came, willing him to kill her if any hurt

were intended ; and the beholders, which were men, women and children,

satisfied the captain there was no such matter. Then presently they were
presented with this anticke ; 30 young women came naked out of the woods,
onely covered behind and before with a few greene leaues, their bodies all

Eainted, some of one color, some of another, but all differing. Their leader

ad a fayre payre of buck's homes on her head, and an otter-skinne at her
gu'dle, and another at her arme, a quiver of aiTowes at her backe, a bow and
arrows in her hand. The next had in her hand a sword, and another a club,

another a pot-sticke, all horned alike ; the rest every one with their seuerall

devises. These fiends, with most hellish shouts and cryes, rushing from
among the trees, cast themselves in a ring about the fire, singing and dancing
with most excellent ill varietie, ofl: falling into tlieir infemall passions, and
solemnly again to sing and daunce. Having spent neare an houre in this

mascarado, as they entred, in like manner they departed." After a short tune,

they came and took the English to their wigwams. Here they were more
tormented than before, " with crowding, pressing, hanging about them, most
tediously crying, ' Love you not mc ? love you not me ?

'
" Wlien they had

finislied tlieir caresses, they set before them the best victuals their country
afforded, and then showed them to their lodgings.

While Captain Smith was upon an expedition into the countrj', with an
intention of surprishig Powhatan, there happened a melancholy accident at

home, to a boat's crew, which had been sent out in very severe weather, by
one wlio was impatient to have the direction of mattere. In the boat were
Captain Waldo, Master Scrivener, tlie projector of the expedition, Mr. Anthony
Gosnold, brother of the well-known Bartholomew Gosnold,* and eight others.

By the sinking of the boat, these all perished, and none knew what had become
of them, until their bodies were found by the Indians. The very men on
whom Smith dci)end(Hl to remain at the fort for his succor, in case he sent for

them, were among the number. Therefore, to prevent the failure of this

expedition, somebody must be sent to apprize Smith of the catastrophe. None
volunteered for tlio hazardous service, but Mr. Richard JFjiffin, who was
obliged to undertake it alone. This was a time when Powhatan was very
insolent, and urged daily the killing of Smith upon his men. Nevertheless,

after many difficulties, he arrived at Werowocomoco. Here he found himself
amidst preparations for war, iuul in still gi-cater danger than he had yet been.

But Pocahontas apj)ear('(l as iiis savior. Knowing the intention of tlie war-
riors to kill him, she first secreted him in the woods, and then directed those

who sought him in an opposite du-ection from that he had gone ; so, by this

* Who had miserably perished by disease aiid famine at Jamestown, 22 Aug., 1607 See
Bancroft, U. States, i. 144.
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means, he escaped, and got safe to Smith at Pamunkey. This was in tha

winter of 1609.

We next hear of her saving the life of Henry Spilman, who was one of 31
that went to trade, upon the confidence of Powhatan, but who were all, except
Spilman, killed by his people.

Such was the wi-etched state to which the colony of Virginia was now
reduced, that scarce a parallel in the annals of the world can be found. No
sooner had Smith left the country, but all was in confusion. Officers spent

their time ui riotings, while the men seem to have taken no means for defence
or preservation ; so that the Indians made constant spoil upon their domestic
animals, and whatever else had been provided for their support. Insomuch,
that when Captain Smith had been gone six months, the colony was reduced
from above 500 to about 60 persons. Herbs and roots were eaten to sustain

life, in the early part of their distresses ; but as the famine increased, the skins

of hoi-ses were eagerly devoured, and an Indian, who had been some time
dead, was disinteiTcd and eaten by these miserable creatures. In one instaace,

a wretched man killed his own wife, and preserved the body by salt, which
enormity was not discovered until it had been chiefly devoured.*

It was during this season of hon-or that Captain Ratcliff went out with 30
men, who were trepanned as we have related. This was in the beginning of
the year 1610. Spilman lived many yeai-s afterwai'ds among the Patowamack
Indians, by the care of Pocahontas, t

From 1609, the time Smith left the countiy, until 1611, Pocahontas was not
seen at Jamestown. In the latter year, she was treacherously taken prisoner

by Captain Argal, and kept by the English to prevent Powhatan from doing
them injury, and to extort a great ransom fi-om him, and such terms of peace
as they should dictate. At the time she was betrayed into the hands of Cap-
tain Argal, she was in the neighborhood of the chief of Potomack, whose ntmie
was Japazaws, a particular friend of the English, and an old acquaintance of
Captain Smith. Whether she had taken up her residence here, or whether she
was here only upon a visit, we ai'e not informed. But some have conjectured,

that she retired here soon after Smithes departure, that she might not witness

the fi-equent murders of the ill-govemed English, at Jamestown. Captain
Argal was in the Potomack River, for the purpose of trade, with his ship,

when, he learned that Pocahontas was in the neighborhood. Whether Japa-
zaws had acquired his treachery from his intercourse with the English, or

whether it were natural to his disposition, we will not undertake to decide
here ; but certain it is, that he was ready to practise it, at the instigation of
Argal. And for a copper kettle for himself, and a few toys for his squaw, he
enticed the innocent gu'l on boai'd ArgaPs ship, and betrayed her into his

hands. It was efiected, however, without compulsion, by the aid of his squaw.
The captain had previously promised that no hurt should befall her, and that

she should be treated with all tenderness. This circumstance should go as far as

it may to excuse Japazaws. The plot to get her on board was well contrived.

Knowing that she had no curiosity to see a ship, having before seen many,
Japazaws^ wife pretended a gi*eat anxiety to see one, but would not go on
board unless Pocahontas would accompany her. To this she consented, but

with some hesitation. The attention with which they were received on board
soon dissipated all fears, and Pocahontas soon strayed fi"om her betrayers into

the gun-room. The captain, watching his opportunity, told her she was a

prisoner. When her confinement was known to Japazaws and his wife, they
feigned more lamentation than she did, to keep her in ignorance of the plot

;

and, after receiving the price of their perfidy, were sent ashore, and Argal,

with his pearl of gi-eat price, sailed for Jamestown. On being informed of the

reason why she was thus captivated, her grief, by degrees, subsided.

The first step of the English was to inform Powhatan of the captivity of his

daughter, and to demand of him their men, guns and tools, which he and his

people had, from time to time, taken and stolen from them. Tliis unexpected

news threw the old, stem, calculating chief into a great dilemma, and what
course to take he knew not ; and it was three months before he returned any

* Keith's Hist. Virginia, 121. t Stith, Hist. Virginia, 116.
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answer. At the end of this time, by the advice of his council, he sent back
seven Englishmen, with each a gun which had been spoiled, and this answer
that when they should retu'-n his daughter, he would make full satisfaction

and give them 500 bushels of com, and be their friend forever ; that he had
no more guns to return, the rest being lost. They sent him word, that they
would not restore her, until he had complied with their demand ; and that, as

for the gims, they did not believe they were lost. Seeing the determmation of
the English, or his inability to satisfy them, was, we apprehend, why they
" heard no more from him for a long time after."

In the spring of the year 1613, Sir Thomas Dale took Pocahontas, and went,

with a ship, up Powhataii's River to Werowocomoco, the residence of her

father, in hopes to effect an exchange, and bring about a peace. Powhatan
was not at home, and they met with nothing but bravadoes, and a disposition

to fight fi-om all the Indians they saw. After burning many of their habita-

tions, and giving out threats, some of the Indians came and made peace, as they

called it, which opened the way foi- two of Pocahontas's brothers to come on
board the ship. Their joy at seeing their sister may be imagined.

A particular friendship had some time existed between Pocahontas and a

worthy young Englishman, by the name of John Rolfe ; which, at length,

growing into a sincere attachment, and being mutual between them, he made
known his desire to take her for his companion. This being highly approved
of by Sir Thomas Dale, and other gentlemen of high standing and authority, a
consummation was soon agreed upon. Acquainting her brother wth her
determination, it soon came to the knowledge of her father also ; who, as

highly approving of it as the English, immediately sent Opachisco, her uncle,

and two of his sons, to witness tlie performance, and to act as her servants

upon the occasion ; and, in the beginning of April, 1613, the marriage was
solemnized according to appointment. Poivhatan was now their friend in

reality ; and a friendly intercourse commenced, which was, without much
interruption, continued until his death.

Pocahontas lived happily with her husband, and became a believer in the

English religion, and expressed no desire to live again among those of her

own nation. When Sir Thomas Dale returned to England, in 1616, Pocahon-
tas accompanied him, with her husband, and several other young natives.

They arrived at Plimouth on the 12th of June of that year. She met with

much attention in that country, being taken to court by the Lord and Lady
Delaivare, and others of distinction. She was, at this time, called the Lady
Rebecca. Her meeting with Captain Smith was affecting ; more especially as

she thought herself, and veiy justly, no doubt, too slightly noticed liy him,

which caused her much grief. Owing to the barbarous nonsense of the times.

Smith did not wish her to call him father, being afraid of giving offence to

royalty, by assuming to be the fiithcr of a king's daughter. Yet he did not

intend any cause of offence, and did all in his power to make her liafipy. At
their first interview, after remaining silent some time, she said to him, " You
promised myfather, that lohat loas yours should be his ; and that you and he u'ould

be all one. Being a stranger in oitr country, you called Fowhntnu father ; and 1.

for the same recuson, ivill noiv call you so. You were not afraid to come into my
father''s country, and, strike fear into every body Ind myself ^ and are you here afraid

to let me call youfather "i I tell you, then, I will call youfather, and you shall call

me child ; and so I willforever he ofyour kindred and country. They always told

tis that you were dea/l, and I knew not otherwise, till I came to Plimouth. But
Powhatan commanded Tomocomo to seek you out, and know the truth, because

your eountrn/men are much gitwn to lying."

The useful and worthy young Pocahontas, being abotit to eniliark for her

native country, in tiie beginning of the year 1617, foil sick at Gravesend, and

died ; having attained onlj'^ the ag(! of 29 ycai-s. She left one son, who^ name
was Thomas Rolfe, very young ; and whom Sir Leiois Steukly,* of Plimouth

* " As to llie infamous Sir Lein'a S/iirletj, who had betrayed Ralen^h, he was taken soon

after [Ralegh was beheaded] in Whitehall, clipping' the very gold which was the produce of

his inlamy, and tried and condemned for it ; and having stripped himself to his shirt to raise

money to purchase his pardon, lie banisiied himself to the Island of Sundy, where he died,

nolh mad and a bejrgar, ni less than two years after Sir Walter Raleigh."—Prince's Worthief

of Devon, G77.

—

Harding's Naval Biography, i. 330.
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desii-ed to be left with him, that he might direct his education. But, from the

unmanly part this gentleman took against the unfortunate Ralegh, he was
brought into such merited disrepute, that he found himsel-f obliged to tum all

his attention to his own preservation ; and the son of Pocahontas was taken to

London, and there educated by his uncle, Mr. Henry Rolfe. He afterwards

came to America, to the native country of his mother, where he became a

gentleman of great distinction, and possessed an ample fortune. He left an only

daughter, who married Colonel Robert Boiling, and died, leaving an only son,

Major John Boiling, who was the father of Colonel John Boiling, and several

daughters ; one ot whom maiTied Colonel Richard Randolph, from whom are

descenjled the distinguished John Randolph, and those bearing that name in

Vij'ginia, at this day.*

Barlow thus notices Pocahontas :—
" Blest Pocahontas .' fear no lurking guile

;

Thy hero's love shall well reward thy smile.

Ah, soothe the wanderer in his desperate plight,

Hide him by day, and calm his cares by night
5

Tho' savage nations, with thy vengeful sire,

Pursue their victim with unceasing ire

—

And tho' their threats thy startled ear assail,

Let virtue's voice o'er filial fears prevail,"

—

Columbiad.

OPEKANKANOUGH has already received our notice. He was a veiy
conspicuous character in his time, and was styled, by the Vh-ginians, King of
the Pamunkies. The dreadful massacre, of which he was author, brings to
mind his name oftener than almost any other chief of his times.

There seems to be some contradiction, or difference of opinion, with regard
to the origin of this chief Some of the Indians reported that he came from
the west, and was not a brother of Powhatan ; but that story, we judge, is

merely a fable, invented and told by his enemies, to influence the English
against him, that they might destroy him.

Opekankanough seems to have borne the name of Mangopeomen in 1621, f a
circumstance unnoticed by most historians, and, therefore, we conclude that it

prevailed only among his own tribe, and, perhaps, even among them fell hito

disuse soon after.

Opitchapan, called also Oetan, and lastly Sasauopeomen,t was the successor
of Poivhatan, but he seems never to have been otherwise noted. " The defects

of the new emperor," says Mr. Burk, " were aggravated in the minds of the
Indians, by a comparison with the accomplished Opekankanough, who, in the

council and the field, was the most conspicuous warrior amongst the Powha-
tans ; and who, during the lifetime of the late emperor, had procured from the
free tribe of the Chickahominies, the title of their king." The same author
calls Opitchapan a "feble and decrepid" chief, who "was little calculated to

secure respect, or enforce obedience." §
In 1608, the Indians had become universally at variance with the Englis'i,

and insulted them whenever they appeared abroad ; knowing their miserable,
half-starved condition. Insult followed insult, upon both sides, and, but for

the never-tiruig perseverance of Smith, this colony, like the first, Avould have
been soon destroyed. The Indians would j:)romise to trade with them, but
when they went to them for that purpose, they only " laughed at their calam-
ities ; " sometimes putting jokes upon them, and at others, running away into

the woods. '

In this extremity of their circumstances, though in the depth of winter. Smith
resolved to make himself master of some of the Indians' store of provisions, by
some means or other. He, therefore, proceeded to Pamunkey, the residence

* John Randolph, of Roanoke, died in Philadelphia, 24 May, 1834. He had come there

in very low health, intending to embark for Europe in a few days. Having met with some
perplexity in procuring lodgmgs on his arrival in Philadelphia, being taken from the steam-boat

o one hotel after another, m a bad hack, in bad weather, he was much irritated, and, from hia

frequent allusions to it in his sickness, it Was supposed to have hastened his cud. He was
about 6U 3'ears of age at his death.

+ Burk's Va. i. 228. J Ibid. § Hist. Virginia i. 233.
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of Opekankanough, with 15 men, where he tried to trade with hini for corn

but, not succeeding, he, in a desperate manner, seized upon the chief by his

lau-, in the midst of his men, " with his pistoll readie bent against his breast.

Thus he led the trembling king, ueai-e dead witli fear, amongst all his peo-

ple."* Smith told him that he had attempted to murder him, which was the

cause of his treatmg him thus. No one can doubt, on reading the histoiy of

those affairs, that the Indians all wished Smith dead, but whether they all

wanted to kill him, is not quite so plain.

One great end of SmWi's design was now answered ; for OpekankanougVs
people came in loaded with presents to ransom their chief, until his boats

were completely filled. News being brought of a disaster at Jamestown, he

was set at liberty.

Nemattanow, a renowned warrior, we have to introduce here, as well on

account of his supposed agency in bringing about the great massaci-e of 1622,

as for the object of exhibiting a trait o£ character equally to be admired and
lamented. We are not certain that he belonged to the people of Opekanka-

nough, but it is storied that a jealousy existed between them, and that the chief

had informed Sir George Yeardley that he wished JVemattanow^s throat were
cut, some time before the massacre took place, to which we have alluded.

However, Opekankanough denied it afterwards, and affected great uidignation

at his murder, and the Indians said the massacre was begun by him, to revenge

J^emattanoiv's death. But our present object is to portray the chai-acter of

.Yemattanoiv, who was both eccentric and vain, and " who was wont, out of

bravery and parade, to dress himself up, in a strange, antic, and barbaric

fashion, with feathers, which, therefore, obtained him the name of Jack-of-the-

feather.^'' He was even more popular among his countiymen than Opekanka-

nough, which, doubtless, was the gi-ound of that chief's jealousy; especially

as he was one of the greatest war-captains of his times. He had been in

many fights and encounters with the English, always exposing himself to the

greatest danger, and yet was never wounded in any of them. This cu-cum-

stance caused the Indians to believe in his invulnerability, and hence he was
by them considered superhuman. Only about 14 days before the massacre,

Jack-of-the-feather went to the house of one Morgan, where he saw many such

articles exhibited as were calculated to excite admiration in such people.

Jack, perhaps, had not the means to purchase, but, it seems, he was resolved,

some how or other, to possess them. He, therefore, told Morgan, that if he
would take his commodities to Pamunkey, the Indians would give him a great

])rice for them. Not in the least mistrusting the design of N'emattanoiv, the

simple Englishman set out for Pamunkey, in company with this Indian.

This was the last the English heard of Morgan. However, strange as it may
seem, Jack^s ill-directing fate sent him to the same place again, and, what was
still more strange, he had the cap of the mui-dered Morgan upon his head.

Morgan's servants asked him where their master was, who very deliberately

answered, that he was dead. This satisfied them that he had murdered him.
They, therefore, seized him, in order to take him before a magistrate at

Berkeley ; but he made a good deal of resistance, which caused one of his

captors to shoot him do^vn. The singular part of the tragedy is yet to be
related. Though mortally wounded, JVemattanow was not killed outi-ight, and
his captors, which were two stout young men, got him into a boat to proceed

to Mr. Thorp's, the magistrate. As they were going, the warrior became satis-

fied that lie must die, and, with the most extraonJinary earnestness, besought

that two things might be granted him. One was, that it should never be told

to his countrymen that he was killed by a bullet ; and the other, that he shoidd

be buried among the English, so that it should never be discovered that he
had died, or was subject to death like other men. Such was the pride and
vanity exhibited by an Indian at his death. The following inference, there-

fore, is naturally to be drawn ; that a desire to be renowned, and held in

veneration by posterity, is not confined to the civilized and learned of any age

or nation.

* Perhaps the New Englandcrs followed Smith's example, afterwards, in the ceisc of Alex-

under, Ninigret, and others.
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Meanwhile, Opekankanough, the better to increase the rage of his warriors,

affected great grief at N'emattanow's death, which had the effect he intended

owing, especially, to the favor in which that warrior had stood among the

Indians. But the English were satisfied that this was only pretence, as we
have before observed ; because they were informed of his trying to engage
some of his neighbors against them, and otherwise acted suspiciously, some
time before JVemattanoiv^s death ; of the justice of which, however, the Eng-
lish tried arguments at first, and threats afterwards, to convince them. By
his dissimulation, Opekankanough completely deceived them, and, just before

the massacre, treated a messenger that was sent to him with much kindness

and civility ; and assured him that the peace, which had been some time

before concluded, was held so firm by him that the sky should fall sooner

than it should be violated on his part. And such was the concert and secrecy

among all the Indians, that, only two days before the fatal 22 March, some
kindly conducted the English through the woods, and sent one of their youtl

to live with the English, and learn their language. Moreover, on the morn-

ing of that very day, they came unarmed among them, and traded as usual,

and even sat down to breakfast with their victims, in several instances. Never,

pei-haps, was a massacre so well contrived and conducted, to ensure success,

as was this of Opekankanough. The English were lulled into a fatal security

and even unknowingly assisted the Indians in their design; lending theai

their boats to communicate with distant tribes, and furnishing them with

various utensils, which were conveiled at once into weapons of death.

The 22 March, 1622, having come, and the appointed hour of that mem-
orable day arrived, with a simultaneousness unparalleled on any former occa-

sion, the Indians rose fi-om their ambushes, and, with the swiftness of the

tiger, appeared, in a moment, amidst the English settlements. Age, sex, noi

condition, shielded no one ; their gi-eatest benefactors were among their fo-st

victims. Thus, in the sjjace of about one hour, fell three hundred and forty-

seven men, women, and children. By tliis horrid calamity, out of 80 planta-

tions, six only were left uninjured. And these were saved, by the timely

information of a Christian Indian called Chanco,

The ensuing summer was spent, by the surviving English, in strengthening

themselves against further attacks, and prepai-ations for takmg vengeance on
the Indians ; wholly neglecting all improvements, works of utility, and even

their planting. Eveiy thing was lost sight of in then- beloved project of

revenge ; and the English, in their turn, showed themselves more treacherous,

if not more bai'barous, than then* enemy. For, under pretence of making
peace again with them, they fell upon them at unawares, and murdered many
without mercy. This crime was vastly aggravated, in that, to mduce the

Indians to come foi-ward and make peace, the English had not only solemnly

assured them forgiveness, but likewise security and safety in their persons.

It was, for some time, supposed that Opekankanough was among the slain,

but, if Mr. Beverly was not misinformed, the same sachem, 22 years after-

wards, executed a still greater massacre upon the English, as, in the next

place, we shall relate.

How long Opekankanough had been secretly plotting to cut off the intruders

of his soil cannot be known ; but, in 1644, all the Indians, over a space of

country of 6^0 miles in extent, were leagued in the entei-prise. The old chief

at this time, was supposed to be near 100 years of age, and, though unable to

walk, would be present in the execution of his beloved project. It was upon
the 18 April, when Opekankanough, borne hi a litter, led his warriors for-

ward, and commenced the bloody work. They began at the fi'ontiers, with a

determination to slay all before them, to the sea. After continuing the mas-

sacre two days, in which time about 500 * persons were murdered, Sir William

Berkeley, at the head of an ai-med force, checked their progress. The destruc-

tion of the inhabitants was the greatest upon York and Pamunkey Rivers,

where Opekankanough commanded in person. The Indians now, in their

turn, were driven to great extremity, and their old chief was taken prisoner

*• This is the number generally set down in the histories, but the probably just scrutiny ot

RIi Bancroft, Hist. U. S. i. 224, caused him to fix upon the number 300.
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and carried in triumph to Jamestown. How long after the massacre this

happened, we are not informed ; but it is said that the fatigues he had pre-

viously undergone had wasted away his flesh, and destroyed the elasticity of

his muscles to that degree, that he was no longer able to raise the eyelids

from his eyes ; and it was in this forlorn condition, that he fell into the hands
of his enemies. A soldier, who had been appointed to guard him, barbarously

fired upon him, and inflicted a mortal wound. He was supposed to have
been prompted to the bloody deed, from a recollection of the old chief's

agency in the massacre. Just before he expired, hearing a great bustle and
crowd about him, he ordered an attendant to lift up his eyelids ; when he
discovered a multitude pressing around, to gratify the untimely curiosity of

ijeholding a dying sachem. Undaunted in death, and roused, as it were, from
sleep, at the conduct of the confused multitude, he deigned not to observe

them ; but, raising himself from the ground, with the expiring bi-eath of
authority, commanded that the governor should be called to him. When the

governor!- came, Opekankanough said, with indignation, " Had it been my for-

tune to have taken Sir Wm. Berkeley prisoner, I would not meanly have

exposed him as a shoio to my people ;
" * and soon after expired.

It is said, and we have no reason to doubt the fact, that it was owing to the

encroachments upon his lands, that caused Opekankanough to determine upon
a massacre of the whites. These intrusions were, nevertheless, conformable
to the gi'ants of the proprietors. He could hardly have expected entire con-
quest, as his people had already begun to waste away, and English villages

were springing up over an extent of country of more than 500 miles, with a
populousness beyond any preceding example ; still, he was determined upon
the vast undertaking, and sacrificed himself with as much honor, it will, per-

haps, be acknowledged, as did Leonidas at Thermopylge.
Sir William Berkeley intended to have sent him, as a present, to the king

of England ; but assassination deprived him of the wretched satisfaction, and
saved the chief from the mortification, f

None of the Virginia historians seem to have been informed of the true

date of this last war of Opekankanough ; the ancient records of Virginia, says

jNIr. Burk, are silent even upon the events of it, (an extraordinary omission.)

JMr. Beverly thinks it began in 1639, and, although INIr. Burk is satisfied that it

took place after 1641, yet he relates it under the date 1640. And we are not
certain that the real date would ever have been fixed, but for the inestimable

treasury of New England history, Winthrop''s Journal. %

That it took place subsequent to 1641, Mr. Burk assures us, upon the evi-

dence of the MS. records ; for they relate that, in 1640, one John Burton had
been convicted of the min-der of an Indian, and that his punishment was
remitted, "at the intercession of Opekankanough, and his great men." And
that, in the end of the year 1641, Thomas Rolfe, the son of Pocahontas, peti-

tioned the governor for permission to visit his kinsman, Opekankanough, and
Cleopatre, the sister of his mother. That, therefore, these events happened
previous to the war, and death of Opekankanough. §
NiCKOTAWANCE succcedcd Opekankanough, as a tributary to the English

In 1648, he came to Jamestown, with five other chiefs, and brought 20 lieaver

skins to be sent to King Charles. He made a long oration, which he con-
cluded with the protestation, "that the sun and moon should first loose their

glorious lights, and shining, before he, or his people, should ever more here-
after wrong the English."

ToToroToiMoi probably succeeded JV'ickotaivance, as he was king of Pa-
munkey in 1656. In that year, a large body of strange Indians, called

Rechahecrians, came down from the inland mountainous country, and forcibly

* Bet-erlij, Hist. Virg. 51. t See British Empire in America, i. 2-iO, 1.

} Whether it he preserved in Heninn's Statutes, I have not learned, but presumed it, froiu

the inference of Bancroft.

^ Like most of llie early writers, the author of A New Description of Virginia, (2 Coll.

Mass. Hist. Soc. ix. 111.) speaks of the Indians in terms dictated by iiulig-nalion. "Their
great king," lie says, " Opeclmnkenoic^ that bloody monster upon a hundred years old, was
taken by Sir William Berkehj." This tract was published m 1669, but no dfate is given to

the massacre.
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possessed themselves of the country about the falls of James River. The
legislature of Virginia was in session, when the news of their coming wag
received. What cause the English had to send out an army against them,
our scanty records do not satisfactorily show ;

* but, at all events, they
detern]ined at once to dispossess them. To that end, an army of about 100
men was raised, and put under the direction of Colonel Edward Hill, who
was joined by Totopotomoi, with 100 of his wari-iors. They did not find the

Rechahecriaus unprepared, but of the particulars of the meeting of the ad-

verse parties we are not informed. The event, however, was, to the allies,

most disastrous. Totopotomoi, with the most of his men, was slain, and the

English suffered a total defeat, owing, it is said, to the criminal management
of Colonel Hill. This officer lost his commission, and his property was
taken to defray the losses sustained by the country. A peace seems to have
been concluded with the Indians soon after.

9il^^i

CHAPTER HI.

Of the Creek Indians—Muskogees—Prohibit the use of ardent spirits— Their rise and
importance— Their origin— Cutaiolas— Chikasaus— Cherokees—A mode offlattening

their heads— Complexion lighter than other Indians—Seminoles—Ruins at Oak-

imdgee Fields—Ex-pedition of Soto—Kills 2000 ' Indians—Laudonnicre— Gourges'

expedition— Grijalva—Moytoy made emperor of the Cherokees—Sir Mexander
Cumming—His travels among the Cherokees—Seven chiefs accompany him to Eng-
land—Jitiakullakulla—Skijagustah—His speech to the king—His death.

In the preceding chapters of this book, much has been narrated of the

southern nations in general ; and, in particular, of many prominent indi-

viduals and events. It is designed, in the present chapter, to speak more
particularly upon the events of the gi-eat nation of Creek Indians.

' It will be proper, in the fii-st place, to give some general account of the

nation, whose men of eminence have been, and are to be, noticed ; for there

are some facts that will not necessarily fall in otherwise ; but, in such di-

gression, if so it should be termed, our chief axiom is not overturned, which
is, that to write the history of the men of a country, is to write the history

of such country. The reader, however, should be reminded, that a general

histoiy of a people at one period, will not exactly apply to them at another.

This obsei'vation is not only true with regard to their political and civil his-

tory, but also in regard to the manners and customs of the same nations:

these facts are true, both as they regard people called civilized, as well as

those called savage. Hence, descriptions of tribes or nations by one obsei-ver,

at one time, differ fi-om those of another at a diffijrent period ; and yet both

may be true in the main particulars. Students, therefore, not aware of this

fact, may be disposed to discredit Avriters for such disagreements, which, in

fact, are altogether imaginary. But it is time to commence upon the imme-
diate business of the present chapter.

The Creek Indians take their name from that of the country in which they

live ; that is, the English gave them the name of Creeks, because their

country is full of creeks.

* By the following preamble and resolve of the legislature, all we possess, touching this

matter, is to be gathered :

—" Whereas information hath been received, that many western or

inland Indians are drawn from the mountains, and lately set down near the falls of James
River, to the number of 6 or 700, whereby, upon many several considerations being had, it is

conceived great danger might ensue to this colony. This assembly, therefore, do think fit

and resolve, that these new come Indians be in no sort suffered to seat themselves there, or

any place near us, it having cost so much blood to expel and extirpate those perfidious and

treacherous Indians, which were there formerl}'. It ^eing so apt a place to invade us, and

•vithin the limits, which, in a just war, were formerly conquered by us, and by us reserred, at

the conclusion of peace, with the Indians." Burk, Hist. Virginia, ii. 105.
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The nation of most importance among the Creeks was, in 1775, the

Muskogees. That community, or nation, like the Iroquois, was more politic

than their neighbors, and vastly increased their strength and importance by
encouraging small declining tribes to incorporate themselves with them. At
one time, another most Avise resolution was adopted among them, which, above
all others, should be mentioned ; that was a prohibition of the unportation of all

kinds of ardent spirits into then- country. How long this resolution was main-
tained, or at what period, cannot, at this time, be stated. It was very probably

at the period of their greatest prosperity, which was just before the breaking

out of the revolutionary war. The Muskogees had another excellent regulation,

namely, the men assisted their women in their planting before setting out on
their warlike and other expeditions. This was called the Creek nation,

which, in what was called its best days, about 1786, contained 17,000 souls ;*

but they were reckoned, in 1829, at 20,000.

Some have, latterly, given the name of Creeks only to a part of the nations

of which we have begun to treat ; but it is here intended to include under that

head all the tribes between the Savannah on the east, the Mississippi on the

west, and the country bordering on the Ohio on the north.

The following is a specimen of their language, which will answer tolerably

well as a specimen of all the southern languages, from Carolina to the

Mississippi :

—

Isti tsukhvlhpi laksakat Tshihofv inhomitsi tomis; momais fvtsv opunaho-
yan im afvlski tomis.f In English, Lying lips are an abomination to the Lord

;

but they that deal truly are his delight.

The following is Choktau reckoning: Achvfa, 1, Tuklo, 2, Tuchina, 3,

Ushta, 4, Tahlapi, 5, Hanali, 6, Untuklo, 7, Untuchina, 8, Chakali, 9, Pokoli, 10.

By prefixing auh to the names of the digits, they arrive at 20 ; then, by pi-e-

fixing Pokoli (10) to the series of digits, they aiTive at 30, and so on. J

The Cherokees have now a written language, and, before the late troubles

with Georgia, were maldng good advancement in all the useful arts. One
of the most remarkable discoveries of modern times has been made by a
Cherokee Indian, named George Guess. His invention was that of a syllabic

alphabet of the language of his nation, which he applied to vmting ^vith

unparalleled success. Young Cherokees learned by it to write letters to their

friends in three days' time; and although the inventor used a part of the

English alphabet in making up his own, yet he was acquainted with no other

language but the Cherokee. This invention was brought to matmity in 1826.

Two years after, a newspaper, called the Cherokee Ph(enix, was established

in the Cherokee nation, printed chiefly in Cherokee, with an English transla-

tion. § Being considered an independent nation, they instituted a form of
government similar to that of the United States.

It was some time after the Natchez massacred the French, that the principa.

nation of Creeks, the Muskogees, began to rise into importance. For a time
after that memorable event, the country of the Natchez was desolate ; but
when some years had elapsed, a tribe seated themselves there, and it became
the seat of a powerful nation ; and this was the Muskogees. That nation,

like the ancient Romans, had, in about 30 yeare, extended their dominions
over a fertile country near 200 miles square ; had 3500 bow-men, and 50 con-
siderable towns. They had dominion also over one to^vii of the Shawanese.
Theu" chief places were upon the branches of the Alabama and the Apalachi-
cola rivoi-s ; the people upon the latter being called the loioer Creeks. This,

as well as tlie other nations whom we call Creeks, are generally supposed to

have originally come from the south or south-west; but the Indians them-
selves believe, or pretend to believe, that they came from the east, or place of
tlie sun's risiiig; concerning which opinion we may observe once for all, that

it most probably had the same origin among all ignorant people, which arose

from no other than a desire that othere should think them descended from the

* It Is common to reckon a third warriors.

t This specimen I take from a little volume, called the " Muskogee (Creek) Assisteuit,"

published in Boston, 1835, by the Am. Board of Com. for Foreign Missions.

t Choktau Arithmetic, printed as above.

$ Hist. Missions, ii, 351.

—

Missioriary He~3.ld.
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sun ; that being the most glorious and noble origin of which they could con-

ceive. Indeed, such is not altogether unnatural ; for that luminary quickena

and enlivens every thing that has life, whether animal or vegetable.

Beside the Muskogees, the Kataubahs, or Catawbas, Cherokees, Choktaus,

and Chikasaus, were other numerous tribes spread over the great country

of which we have spoken.
The Kataubahs and the Chikasaus were very warlike ; but their vicinity to

Europeans was as detrimental to them, and even more so, than their own
exterminating wai-s ; for, as in other cases, as soon as an intercourse com-
menced, degradation and ruin followed.

The Cherokees have withstood the deletery effects of civilization much
beyond what can be said of any other tribe of Indians. Their country is

chiefly in Alabama, Mississippi, and Tennessee ; but they occupy also the

western pai't of the state of Georgia. Before the war of 1812, their country
covered 24,000 square miles.* Numbers of this tribe have emigrated to

Arkansaw.
The Choktaus possessed a cotmtry not so filled with creeks and rivers as

the Muskogees. This circumstance, it is said, was a gieat hinderance to their

prosperity ; for in their wars with their neighbors, they suffered gi-eatly from
their ignorance of swimming. There were Upper and Lower Choktau towns

;

the former were situated about 160 miles from the Chikasaus, and the latter

about 200 above New Orleans. The people of this nation flattened their heads
by wearing bags of sand on them, f and, according to Father Hennepin, \ the

heads of all the Indians upon the Mississippi are flatter than those of Canada.
It is said also that they are of a lighter complexion ; but this has reference

only to the Muskogees, according to some writers. The Choktaus princi-

pally inhabit Mississippi. They were, in 1820, set dovim at 25,000 souls, and
are leather increasing.

The Chikasaus are supposed to have come from the west of the Mississippi,

and as it was a custom among the Creeks for their unoccupied lands to be
taken by any that came among them, as emigrants, the Chikasaus found no
o'jstacles in the way of establishing themselves on this side the Mississippi.

Where they fii-st established themselves is unknown, but in 1770 they were a

powerful and wai'like nation, and were seated upon the western branches of

the Mobile. The tribe of Yazoos belonged to this nation. The Chilvasaus

reside in Mississippi, Kentucky, and Teimessee. They do not exceed 4900
in number.
The Seminoles were a nation made up simUar to many others, and chiefly

of Muskogees. The Creeks called them Seminoles, which signified iinld,

because they had estranged themselves from their former country. This
nation was principally seated, 40 yeai-s ago, upon the rivers Apalachicola and
Flint, and had a large town on Calos Bay, on the west side of East Florida.

They now reside in Florida, a scattered remnant of about 1200.

The names alone of the different clans or tribes of these nations would fill

several pages, and it is not necessary here to enumerate them ; we shall there-

fore, afl;er some genei-al observations, pass to the consideration of those chiefs

who have been conspicuous.
There are upon the east bank of the Oakmulge, near its confluence with

the Ocoue, beautiful fields, extensively known as the Oakmulge fields ; they

are upon the rich low lands of the river, and upon the elevated part of them
are yet visible remains of a town. These fields extend 20 miles along the river.

The Creek Indians give this account of them, namely, that here was the place

where they first set down afi;er crossing the Mississippi ; that their journey

fi-om the west had been attended with incredible suffering, and that they were
opposed at every step by various hostile bands of Indians, and that on reach-

* Dr. Morse's Report.

t Adair.—" As soon as the child is born, the nurse provides a cradle or wooden case, hol-

lowed and fashioned, to receive the infant, lying prostrate on its back, tliat part of the case

where the head reposes, being fashioned like a brick-mould. In this ponable machine the

little boy is fixed, a bag of sand being laid on his forehead."

—

Bartram, 515

t New Discoverv. 176.
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ing this place they fortified themselves, and could proceed no further, and at

length gained ground and became conquerors in theh- turn.

There ai-e few greater cui'iosities hi the south, than the great highways oi

roads, which, 50 years ago, struck the traveller with surprise. In West Florida

they are still easily traced for near 50 miles in a straight line upon the Oklo-
koney River. All history is silent about them ; and it is a singular fact that

the Indians will make no use of them, but studiously make their paths in any
other direction. *

The countiy of the southern Indians has suffered in some respects as much
as some parts of South America ; it having been traversed and oveiTun from
time to time by bands of mercenary whites. In the year 1538, Ferdinand de

Soto, with a commission from the Emperor Charles V., sailed with a consid-

erable fleet for America. He was a Portuguese gentleman, and had been
with Pizarro in the conquest (as it is called) of Peru. His commission con-
stituted him governor of Cuba and general of Florida, f Although he sailed

from St. Lucar in 1538, he did not land in Florida { until May, 1539. With
about 1000 men, 213 of whom were provided with horses, he undertook the

conquest of Florida and countries adjacent. After cuttuig their way in vari-

ous directions througli numerous tribes of Indians, traversing nearly 1000
miles of country, losing a great part of their army, their general died upon
the banks of the Mississippi, and the survivors Avere obliged to build vessels

in which to descend the river ; which, when they had done, they sailed for

Mexico. This expedition was five years in coming to nothhig, and bringing
ruin upon its performers. A populous Indian town at this tune stood at or

near the mouth of the Mobile, of which Soto^s army had possessed themselves.

Their intercourse with the Indians was at fii-st friendly, but at length a chief

was insulted, which brought on hostilities. A battle was fought, in which, it

is said, 2000 Indians were kiUed, and 83 Spaniards.

We shall not attempt here to go more into detail concerning the band of
marauding Spaniards under Soto, as it will answer the present purpose to

observe, that what has just been related, is but one of the many butcheries

committed by that band ; and, moreover, our accounts ai'e rather indistinct

upon the whole affair, and savor much of exaggeration.

The French, under Ren^ de Laudonniere, settled in Florida in 1564, near
where Pensacola was since built. The Spaniai'ds claimed tiie counti-y, and
hence the bloody wars which followed. This first settlement of the French,
projected by Admiral Coligni, was soon broken up by tlie Spaniards : they,

in the basest and most savage manner, murdered the whole colony. A
religious war at this period distracted the French nation, and this outrage
would have remained unrevenged, but for the indignation of an individual.

In 1567, Dominique de Gourgts sailed to Florida, took three forts from the

Spaniards, put the men to the sword, and hanged all the other settli'rs he
could find. § A French gamson was again established, but, being li ft without
protection, was soon retaken by the Spaniards, who remained masters of the
country for more than a hundred years.

||

From these transactions of antiquity, w(> must descend to times nearer our
own. In the year 1730, Q\r Alexander Cumrning travelled among the southern
Indians, and from whose account we are able to give several interesting par-

ticulars. At this period, he relates that the Cherokee nation was governed
by seven Mother Towns, each of which chose a king to i»r<.'side over them
and their dependants. He was elected out of certain liunilius, and the descent

* Williavis's W. Florida, 32.

t Chaudon de Delandinc, Nouvoau Diet. Historique, art. Soto.

X
" So called, liecause it was first discovered ly ihe Spaniards on Palme-Sunday, or, as

the most interpret. Ea<ler-day, which they call Pasqua Florida, and not, as Tlieuet writeth,

(or the flourishing venlure thereof." Purchas, 7G9. Modern writers of discoveries would do
'wetter were they to look more to the sources of information.

§ See an animated account of these bloody aflairs in Johnson's Life of General Greene,

;. 4S0, &c.

11
Dupralz, i. 1—3. Jiuxn de Grijalva discovered the country upon the Gulf of Mexico in

1618, (Herrera, ii. 199,) and some report that he carried off Indians as slaves. (See Wil-
liams^s Florida, 90.) But we are not aware that the fact is elsewhere recorded. Herrera,

though very minute, does not name it. Purclias (812) agrees with him
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was regarded only on the mother's side. These mother toivns were, according
to Sir Alexander, Tauuassie, Kettooah, Ustenary, Telliquo, Estootowie, Keyo-
wee, and Noeyeoee. Four of these towns were without kings at this time,

they having died. Some towns had princes, as our author called them;
namely, Tomasso, one ; Settecho, one ; Tassettchee, one ; Iwassee, one ; Tel-

liquo, two ; Tannassie, two ; Cannostee, one ; Cowee, one.

The chief Moytoy was called emperor, and presided over the seven towns,

in 1730. His residence was at Telliquo. On the 3 April, this year, deputies

from all parts of the nation met at Nequassie, and in presence of Sir

Alexander Curnming and 12 other Englishmen, declared Moytoy emperor ; he
having been nominated by Sir Alexander.* The nation consented to receive

Moytoy as then- king, provided he was held accomitable to Sir Alexander. At
the ceremony of declaring Moytoy king or emperor, by whose order Sir

Alexander was placed in a chair, himself and the conjurers standing about
him, and a throng of warriors "stroked him with 13 eagles' tails, and their

singers sung from morning till night." After this was done with, he made a

speech to the great concourse of Indians ; in which, among a good deal besides,

he displayed the power and goodness of the king beyond the great water

;

and " required Moytoy and all the head warriors to acknowledge themselves

dutiful subjects and sons to King George," "all which they did on then- knees,

calling upon every thing tiiat was terrible to them to destroy them, and that

they might become no people, if they violated their promise and obedience."

The next day, 4 April, " the crown was brought from great Tannassie,

which, with five eagles' tails and four scalps of their enemies, Moytoy pre-

sented to Sir Alexander, impowering him to lay the same at his majesty's feet."

The conjurers were well pleased witli the English baron, and told him they

would follow all his du'ections. " That when he lett them they would still

consider him as present in the person of Moytoy of Telliquo, who would
punctually do what he had bid." Sir Alexander was now at Tannassie, 400
miles from Chai'leston, according to his reckoning, and had but 15 days to

arrive there in, to go for England in the Fox man-of war, which was then to

sail. He therefore asked Moytoy if the Indians could travel there in so short

a time on foot. The chief said it might be done, and that he would have
accompanied him, but for the dangerous illness of his wife, and i-equested him
to choose such as he desired from among his people, to go with him. f

Accordingly, Sir Alexander chose, as evidences of what had happened,
Skijagusta, | the head warrior of Tassetchie, " a man of great power and
interest, who had a right to be a king," Attakullakidla, and Otassite, or Outa-

cite, a third warrior, Collannah, a fourth; "and from Tannassie, the remotest

town of the country, he took Clogoittah and Oukanaekah,^ wai-riors." About
23 miles from Charleston they met with the warrior Ounakannowine, a

friend of these chiefs, " who had just come from the Kattarbe nation, and
desired to go along with his coiintiymen, to which Sir Alexander consented."

They went on board the Fox, a man-of-war, and sailed from Charleston

Bay 4 Maj', and arrived at Dover 5 June ; thus performing a passage across

the Atlantic in a month and a day, in 1730, not much inferior to what is done
now-a-days. At Dover Sir Alexander " took post to London, with the crown

* This part of the sentence is upon the authority of a good writer, (Hewatt, Hist. Carolina,

ii. 6,) but Sir Alexander does not say quite as much in his account.

t Moijtoy was a bitter enemy afterwards. In 1768 he went with his warriors to a place

called Statiquo, and killed several whites, without, as was said, any provocation. Hewatt,

ii. 220.

I Or Kitagusta. This chief was one of the serpen, as will appear immediately onward,

dthough Sir Alexander, in his communication, does not name him. Neither does he name
Attakullakidla, or Outassite ; yet it is certain they were both in England, and we believe at

this time : they make up the number seven, with those named in his own narrative. That

Attakullakidla was, see Hewatt, ii. 221, and Wynne, ii. 280, n. We can only account for the

blanks in the narrative, by supposing that Sir Alexander's amanuensis did not understand

him, (for he did not write himself,) and the enumeration of the chiefs which he took with him,

is very blundering. Thus, after naming one only, it is set down, " and -^—
a third warrior," &c.

.

& Perhaps Ockcmostota, who was called the great warrior of the Cherokee nation Hewatt

li. 217.
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of the Cherokee nation, leaving the Indians beliiud to come up with the man-
of-war. He let the secretary of state immediately know that he had full power
from that nation to lay their crown at his majesty's feet, and that he had brought,

over seven Indian chiefs, as an evidence of the truth. His majesty was gra-

ciously pleased to order Sir Alexander to bring in his people to the installation,

the 18th of June, where they were extremely surprised at the magnificence of
every thing about them : they compared the king and queen to the sun, the

princes to the stars, and themselves to nothmg. On the 22d of June, Sir

Alexander was introduced to his majesty, and upon his knee, in presence of

the court, declared the full power he had received, the Indian chiefs all

kneeling at the same time, as a testimony of their submission and approbation.

Sir Alexander laid the crown of the Cherokee nation at his majesty's feet, with

the five eagles' tails, as an emblem of his majesty's sovereignty, and four scalps

of Indian enemies ; all which his majesty was graciously pleased to accept of."

While in England, they made a treaty with the king, eveiy article of which
was accompanied, on his pai't, with presents of some sort or other : such as

cloth, guns, vermilion, hatchets, knives, &c. This treaty was dated at White-
hall, 7 September, 1730, and fi-om it we get the names of the seven chiefs. It

begins, " Whereas you, Scayagusta Oukah, chief of the to^vn of Tasseta

;

you, ScALiLosKEN Ketagusta
;
you, Tethtowe

;
you, Clogoittah

;
you,

CoLANNAH
;
you, Unnaconoy ;

you, Oucounacou, have been deputed by the

whole nation of the Cherokee Indians, to come to Great Britain," * &c. After

the treaty was finished, a certified copy was presented to the chiefs by Sir

Alexander Cumming ; upon which Skijagustah, in the name of the whole,

made the following speech :

—

" We are come hither from a mountainous place, where nothing but dark-

ness is to be found ; but we are now in a place where there is light. There
was a pei-son in our countiy, he gave us a yellow token of warlike honor,

which is left with Moytoy of Telliquo, and as warriors we received it. He
came to us like a warrior trom you. A man he is ; his talk is upright, and the

token he left preserves his memoiy among us. We look upon you as if the

gi-eat king were present ; we love you as representing the gi-eat king. We
shall die in the same way of thinking. The crown of our nation is different

from that which the great King George wears, and from tliat we saw in the

tower. But to us it is all one. The chain of friendship shall be carried to

our people. We look upon the great King George as the sun, and as our
father, and upon ourselves as his children. For though we ai-e red, and you
are white, yet our hands and hearts are joined together. When we shall have
acquamted our people with what we have seen, our children from generation

to generation will always remember it. In war we shall always be one with

you. The enemies of the great king shall be our enemies. His people and
oui-s shall be one, and shall die together. We came hither naked and poor as

the worms of the earth, but you have every thing, and we that have nothing

must love you, and will never break the chain of friendship which is between
us. Here stands the govenior of Carolina, whom we know.f This small

rope I we show you is all that we have to bind our slaves with, and it may be
broken. But have iron chains for yours. However if wc catch your slaves,

we will bind tlicin as well as we can, and deliver them to our friends, and take

no pay for it. We have looked round for the person that was in our country

—he is not here : However, we must say he talked uprightly to us, and we
shall never forget him. Your white people may very safely build houses near

us. We shall hurt nothing that belongs to them, for we arc children of one
father, the groat king, and siiall liv(> and die together."

When Skijagiuitah had proceeded thus far, he laid his feathers upon a table,

and closed as follows :

—

* Report of the Commissioners (1736) on the Affairs of Georgia, p. 53.—If Attakttllalailla

were among these chieG-, he went under another name, as did also Otttacitc. See a few pages

forward.

t There was at this time no nrovernor, ihouj^h Robert Johnson was nominally such. In 1729

the government of Carolina was delivered to Oie crown of England, for about £17,000. Jclmr

ton was reappointed in 1731.

t Siring of wampum, probably
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" This is our way of talking, which is the same thing to lis as your letters in

the book are to you, and to you, beloved men, we dehver these feathers in

confirmation of sJl we have said."

In October, the Indians embaiked at Portsmouth with Mr. Johnson, the

governor of Carolina, for their own country, and in the same ship in which
they went over.

Skijagustah, or, as he was sometimes called, Kittagusta, "was brother of
Oiicconnostota, or the gi-eat warrior, and also chief of Chote. He lived to be
veiy old, and died in May, 1768.

9eiiie

CHAPTER IV..

settlement of Carolina and Georgia—Tomochichi receives the English— Goes to Eng
land with General Oglethorpe

—

Makes a speech to the King—His death— JVar witk

the Spaniards—Outacitie—Malachty—Attakullakplla—Indians murdered—Attakullakulla prevents retaliation upon lohites in his power— Cherokee War
begins—Governor Littleton's expedition—Imprisons their -Embassadors— They are
massacred—Colonel Montgomery sent against them—Battle near Keowee— Chero-

kees take Fort London—Silouce—Saves the life of Colonel Byrd—Colonel Grant
subdues the Cherokees, and they makepeace with the whites—Chlucco.

The presumption is pretty strongly supported, that Sir Walter Ralegh visited

ihe southern shores of North America. When General Oglethorpe landed in

Georgia, in 1732,* O. S., and communicated to the Indians the contents of a
journal of Su* Walter's, they seemed to have a tradition of him, which they had
fondly cherished ; although, if the pei-son they met were Ralegh, a hundred
years had elapsed since he was there. They pointed out to Mr. Oglethorpe a
place near Yamacraw bluff, since Charleston, on which was a large mound,
in which was buried, they said, a chief who had talked with Sir Walter Ralegh
upon that spot. The chief had requested his people to bury him there, that

the place might be kept in veneration.

TOMOCHICHI was the principal chief, or Mico, as chiefs were called, of a
small band of Ci-eeks and Yamasees, who, having in some way offended theh"

countrymen, fled then* country, and "wandered about in the woods some time,

until about 1733, when they begged leave of this government to sit down ou
tlie high land of Yamacraw, on the south side of Savannah river, at or near
the place where the new town of Savannah, in Georgia, is now situated." t

They consisted of but 17 or 18 families, and their first chief appears to have
been called Bocachee. Several chief men, of various tribes, came to welcome
the English, immediately after their arrival. " They were as follows : From
the tribe of Coweeta, Yahan-lakee, their king, or mico ; Essaboo, their warrior,

the son of Old-brim, lately dead, whom the Spaniards called emperor of the

Creeks, with eight men and two women attendants. From the tribe of Cusse-
las, Ciisseta, then* mico ; Tatchiquatchi, tlieir head warrior, with four attendants.

From the tribe of Owseecheys, Ogeese, the mico, or war kuig ; JVeathlouth-

ko and Ougachi, two chief men, with three attendants. From the tribe of
Cheechaws, Outhleteboa, their mico, Thlautho-thlukee, Figeer, Sootamilla, war
ca]jtaius, with three attendants. From the tiibe of Echetas, Chutabeeche and
Robin, two war captains, (the latter was bred among the English,) with four

attendants. From the tribe of Polachucolas, Gillattee, their head warrior, and
five attendants. From the tribe of Oconas, Oueekuchumpa, called by the Eng-
lish Long-king, Koowoo, a wairior. From the ti'ibe of Eufaule, Tomaumi, head
wai'rior, and three attendants.

* Many gentlemen in Eng-land contributed, in various ways, this year, for the advancement
of the colony ; some in cattle, some in labor, some in provisions, and others as soldiers. The
contribution of one gentleman, for its singularity, shall be mentioned. '• Mr. Hume gave a

silver boat and spoon for the first child bom in Georgia, which being bom of Mrs. Close, were
given accordingly."

—

Commissioners' Report on Georgia Affairs, p. 119.

+ Repon of the Commissioners, Jtt supra, 11, IIG, 117.
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" The Indians being all seated, Oueekachumpa, a veiy tall old man, stood,

find made a speech, which was interpieted by Mr. TViggan and Mr. Musgrove,*
in which he said all the lauds to the southward of Savannah River belonged
to the Creeks. He said, the Indians were poor, but the same Power that gave
the English bi-eath, gave them breath also. That that Power had given thu

English the most wisdom. That, as ihey had come to instruct them, they should

have all the lands which they did not use themselves. That this was not only

his mind, but the minds of the eight towns of Creeks, who had, after consult-

ing together, sent some of their chief men with skins, which was then* wealth.

At this period of Oueekachumpa's speech, some of the chiefs of the eight

towns brought each a bundle of buck's skins, and laid them down before Mr.
Oglethorpe. Then the chief said, " These are the best things we possess, but we
rive them with a good heart. I thank you for your ki7id7iess to Tomochichi, and
lis people. He is my kinsman, and, though he ivas banished from his nation, he

s a good man and a great ivarrior. It ivas on account of his ivisdom and justice,

hat the banished 7nen chose 1dm their king. 1 hear that tJie Cherokees have

killed some Englishmen. Ifyou [addressing ]Mr. Oglethorpe] will command us,

we will go against them with all our force, kill their people, and destroy their

living.''^

When Oueekachumpa had done speaking, Tomochichi drew neaj- with his

men, and, after maldng a low bow, said,—" / was a banished man, and I came
here poor and helpless to look, for good land near the tombs of my ancestors, and
ivhen you came to this plact. Ifeared you ivould drive us away ; for ive ivere tveak

and wanted corn. But yoi^ confirmed our land to us, and gave us food." The
other chiefs s])oke in the saiae manner as Oueekachumpa had, and then agreed
upon and executed an amicable treaty.

By the assistance of his inter^^reter, Mary Musgrove, General Oglethorpe had
been-able to draw together, cit oi e time, 50 chiefs from the upper and lower
Creek towns, and, by his conciliatory conduct, had secured their friendship.

He next resolved to take a deputation of them to England, hoping wliat they

might witness and experience there, would result in lasting benefits to both

their nations and the English. Accordingly, measures having been taken for

tlie furtherance of this project, the general and the Indian chiefs embarked
for England, in the Aldborough man-of-wtu, and arrived at St. Helleus, iu

the Isle of Wight, 16 June, 1734. The names of tlie Indians were To^io-

cHicHi, Senawki, his consort, and Toonakowi, the prince, his nephew;
also HiLLispiLLi, a war captain, and Apakowtski, Stisiaj.echi, Sintouchi,
HiiXGuiTHi, and Umphychi, five other chiefs, with their interj)reter.

Immediately alter their arrival, orders were given lor preparing proper

ha])its lor them, in order to their being introduced at court. This having
been done, Sir Clement Cotterel, kniglit, master of the ceremonies, A\as sent,

August 1, with three of the king's coaches, drawn by six horses each, to the

Georgia office, where tiie chiefs, all except one, were taken in and carried to

Kensington, where tlieir introduction to his majesty, King George H., took

})lace. The one left at the Georgia ofiice was sick with the small-pox, of

which he died the next day. ToRiocmcni, alter presenting the king with sev-

eral eagle's feathers, which were considennl, by his nation, the most respectful

present they could send, delivered ilie Ibllowing speech to his majesty:

—

"This day I see' the majesty of your liice, the greatness of yoiu- house, and
the number of your i)eopie. I am come for the good of the whole nation of
the Creeks, to rem^vv the i)eace tliey had long ago made with th(! English. 1

am come over in my old days; and, though I cannot live to see any advantage

to myself, I um come for the good of the children of all the nations of the

Upper and Lower Creeks, that they may l)e instructed in (he knowledge of

the English. These are the leathers of the eagle, which is the swiftest of

birds, and who flielh all round our nations. These feathers lu-e a sign of

peace in our land, and we have brought them over to leave them with you,

great king, as a sign of everlasting peace. O ! great king, whatsoever words

* His wife was the inlcrprelcr. arcor(liii<r to 3fCnll, i. 3!}, wiio was a half breed named

Afiinj. Oglethorpe first purciiased licr liieiiilship with presents, and afterwards allowed her a

hundred pounds a year for her ser\-ices.

—

Commissioners' Report on Georgia Affairs.
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you shall say unto me, I will tell them faithfully to all the kings of the Creek
nations." The king's answer, though short, was, in the highest degree, con-
ciliatory, and what was termed gracious.*

When the chiefs were inti-oduced at court, his majesty received them upon
his throne, in the presence chamber, attended by the officers of state, and a
numerous court. They wei'e introduced by the Duke of Grafton, chamberlain
of his majesty's household ; and, after the ceremonies, they returned to theii'

apartments, at the Georgia office.

Their first care, after returning from court, was to inter their deceased
companion, which was accordingly done with gieat ceremony, in the burial-

ground of St. John the Evangelist, Westminster, according to the custom of
the " Cherokee Creeks," which was in the following manner :—" The deceased
being sewed up in two blankets, with one deal board under and another over
him, and tied dovni with a cord, was placed upon a bier, and carried to the
place of interment. There were only present at the time of his being put into

the gi'ave, King Tomo, and some of the chieft, the upper church warden of
the parish, and the grave digger. When the corpse was laid in the earth, the
clothes of the deceased were thrown into the grave ; after this a quantity of
glass beads were cast in, and then some pieces of silver ; the custom of those
Indians being to bury all the deceased's effects with him."

Although we have the names of all the chiefs given us that went over with
Mr. Oglethorpe, we have not the means of knowing which it was that died.

Indians often died on their visits to Europe. One of the five Iroquois chiefs
died in England,! in 1710, and of his name too we aj-e ignowint.

Mr. Oglethorpe's chiefs, after having been showed the chief curiosities in

and about London, were taken to Spithead, where the Englisli fleet lay, that
they miglit go on board and view the tremendous ship Britannia, and some
othei-s of great magnitude. On the 30 October, 1734, a little past noon, they
embarked at Gravesend, on board the Prince of Wales, for Georgia.
Of Tomochichi, who was the most prominent character among them, we

have yet a little to add. He lived until he had attained his 97th year, and died
15 October, 1739, five years, wanting 15 days, after he sailed from England.
He resided, at the tune of his death, about four miles from Savannah. He
was highly beloved by the English, having always been their particular friend,

fought for them in war, and aided them by his counsel in peace. He was
aware of the approach of death, and expressed but little desire to live longer,

as he should be unable to aid his allies any more against the Spaniards.
For General Oglethorpe he expressed the greatest tenderness, and entreated
the Indians to bear in remembrance the kindnesses with which the king of
England had treated him, and hoped they would always remain his subjects.

Having expressed a wish that his body might be buried among the English in

Savannah, accordingly, his corpse was there interred in Percival Square, with
military parade, and General Oglethorpe ordered a pyramid to be erected over
it, with an appropriate inscription. |

Thus are traced the first steps in the histoiy of Georgia, and thus did every
thing promise a continuance of tliat friendship so well begun by General
Oglethorpe. Nothing was left undone, while the Creek chiefs were in Eng-
land, to impress upon their minds exalted ideas of the power and greatness of
the English nation. The nobility were not only curious to see them, but
entertained them at their tables in the most magnificent style. Multitudes
flocked around them, conferring gifts and marks of respect upon them. The
king allowed them £20 sterling a week, during their stay, and it was computed
that, at then- return to America, they brought presents to the amount of £400
sterling. After remaining in England four months, they embarked at Grave-
send for Georgia. They were conveyed to the place of embarkation in his

majesty's caiTiages.§

In the invasion of Georgia by the Spaniards, in 1743, many Indians were
irawn into the controversy, on both sides. Toeanoeoivi,

||
or Tooanohowi, a

nephew of Tomochichi, was shot through the right arm, in an encounter with

* Harris, Voyages. t Kalm's Travels in America, i. 21 D.

X M'Call, Hist. Georgia, i. 196, 197. § lb. i. 45. i|
Harri*
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the Spaniai'ds, by a Spanish caiJtain. Tooanohoioi drew his pistol with his lefl

land, and shot the captain through the head.
Thus, with the Spaniards upon one hand, and the English upon the other

and the French in the midst of them, the Creeks and Cherokees became sub-
ject to every possible evil to which the caprice of those several nations gave
rise. In 1723, a chief, wliose name we find in writers of that day, JVootassUaWf
Woosatasate, JFootassitau, IVrosetasatoiv,* &c. is styled "Governor of tlie Lower
and Middle Settlements of the Chai-ikees." He is presumed to be the same
with Otacite, or Otassite, one of the prisoners above enurnerated, and from
what we are about to relate of him, his eminence will be apparent. In 1721,
Francis JVicholson went over as governor of S. Carolina, who was said to have
been very successful in managing affairs with the Indians. Soon after his

arrival, the Cherokees despatched messengers to Charleston to adjust some
difficulties which had for some time existed ; and, not long after, another more
full and complete deputation arrived. Governor JVicholson opened the council
by a long speech to " Wootassite, King, and to the heads of the Lower and
Middle Settlements of the Charokee Nations."

In the course of his speech, he observes, that, when they delivered then-

acknowledgments and paid their submission to the government, " the other
day," they had made mention of 37 towns that had sent down their chiefs for

that purpose, and wished to be satisfied that these towns were represented,
that his words might be caiTied to all then* inhabitants. After laying much
stress on their submission and respect to the king of England, he speaks thus
sensibly upon their trading with the whites, which at the same time discovers
to us the origin of former troubles.

Afi;er oi-dering that if either paity injured the other, restitution should be
made by the aggressoj-, he says, " Frequent complaints have been made that

your people have often broke open the stores belonging to our traders, and
carry'd away their goods ; and also pillaged several of their packs, when
employ'd and entrusted to cany them up ; and restitution has never been
made, which are great faults : We therefore recommend to you, to take all

possible precautions to prevent such ill practices for the future," &lc. " And to

prevent any injmy or misunderstanding, we have pass'd a law, which appoints
commissioners that are to go twice a year to the Congaree, or Savana gairison,

to hear and redress all grievances."
" Woosatasate being a man in great esteem amongst you, having given fre-

quent testimonies of his aflfection and firm adherence to this government, and
being appointed king over you by the former governor f of this provuice; so
I, who am sent immediately fi-om his majesty, having the same regard to so
deseiTing a man, and in compliance with your oviti request, that I would
constitute proper commanders over you, do now dcclai-e the said M'oosatasak,
your leader and commander in chief over all the lower settlements of the
Cherrokees, and give him a commission for that office, under the broad seal

of this his 3Iajesty's province," &c. " I e.xpect that you, fVoosatasate, do, within
a month after your return, call together all the chief men in your district, and
that you make tliem thoroughly acquainted witli what I now say to you, and
require of you, and shall give directions, that all the Englishmen amongst you
shall i)e at that meeting. That your ancient government may be restored, I

recommend to you to keej) your young men in lliat due decorum they us'd to

be," &c. This treaty was held 3 Feliruary, 1721, O. S., or this is the date to

Governor JVicholson's speech ; I)ut it appears by our account that it was the
middle of Mai'ch before the Indian deputies left Charleston.

Altliough there were events, in eveiy year, of importance, yet, in this place,

we shall take up the period rendered more memorable by tlie distinguished

chiefs

* Hnoatt, I. 298.

t Jamex Mnore, who, accordiiii; to Ifnratt (I. 276), was put into office in opposition to the
regular course, by a kind of revolutionary spirit. See OldmLron, who is far more particular,
1.348.

—

Moore was elccteil in 1701. The author of " Tlic British Dominions," (142,) sayi
the Indians were cruelly treated during his administration. There were several other govera
ors before Nicholson, beside Moore.
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ATTAKUI.LAKULLA aiid OCKONOSTOTA.* The fame of Carolina
had, ill 1753, drawn a multitude of Europeans to her shores. The same year,

ou the 26 May, Malachtt, attended by the Wolf-king and the Ottasee chief,

with about 20 others, and above a hundred of their people, came to Charleston,
They were met, on then- way, by a troop of horsemen, who conducted them to

the town, by the governor's order, m great state. This was to induce them
to make peace and remain then- allies, and, to this end, the governor, Glenn,

made a very pacific speech, in the Indian manner. Malachty, who, at this

time, seems to have been the head chief among the Creeks, presented the

governor with a quantity of skins, and readily consented to a peace with the

English ; but, in regard to a peace with the Cherokees, he said, that was a
matter of great moment, and he must dehberate with his people, before he
could give an answer. The Cherokees were already under the protection of
the English, and some of them had, not long before, been killed by the Creeks,
in the very neighborhood of Charleston. The party which committed this

outrage was led by Malachty, Notwithstanding, a cessation of hostilities seems
to have taken place, for numbers of each nation joined the English immediately
after the capture of Oswego, by the French, in 1756. The Cherokees ai-e

particularly named, as having rendered essential service in the expedition
against Fort Duquesne ; but a circumstance happened, while those wan-iors
were returning home from that expedition, which involved them in an imme-
diate war with the English, in whose service they had been engaged. Having
lost their horses, and being worn out with toil and fatigue, on coming to the
frontiers of Virginia, they picked up several of those animals, which belonged
to the inhabitants of the places through which they travelled. This, Dr. Ram-
say \ says, was the cause of the massacre which they suffered at that time.

But Mr. Adair,X who lived then among the Indians in those parts, says,—" Several companies of the Cheerake, who joined our forces under Gen.
Stanivix, at the unfortunate Ohio, affirmed that then* alienation from us was
because they were confined to our martial arrangement, by unjust suspicion of
them—were very much contemned,—and half starved at the main camp :

their hearts told them, therefore, to return home, as freemen and injured alhes,

though without a supply of provisions. This they did, and pinching hunger
forced them to take as much as barely supported nature, when returning to

their own country. In their journey, the German inhabitants, without any
provocation, killed, in cool blood, about 40 of their wan-iors, in difterent places—^though each party was under the command of a British subject." It must
be remembered that, upon BraddocKs defeat, Virginia had offered a reward
for the scalps of hostile Indians. Here, then, was an inducement for remoi-se-

less villains to murder, and it was impossible, in many cases, to know whether
a scalp were taken from a friend or an enemy. Out of this, then, we have no
hesitation in saying, grew the excessive calamities, which soon after distressed

the southern provinces. Forty innocent men, and friends, too, murdered in

cold blood by the backwoodsmen of Virginia, brought on a war, which caused
as much distress and misery among the parties engaged, as any since that

region of country was planted by the whites.

At one place, a monster entertained a party of Indians, and ti'eated them
kindly, while, at the same time, he caused a gang of his kindred rufiians to lie

in ambush where they were to pass, and, when they arrived, barbarously shot
them down to a man ! The news was forthwith carried to the Cherokee
nation, and the effect of it upon the minds of the warriors, was Hke that of
electricity. They seized their tomahawks and war clubs, and, but for the

wisdom of Attakullakvlla, would have murdered several Englishmen, then in

their country upon some matters respecting a treaty. As AttakuUakulla was a
chief sachem, he was among the first appiized of the murders, and the design

* Ouconnostotah, Ouconnostota, Ouconnostata, Wynne.—Occonostota, Ramsay.—Attakul-

lakulla was generally called the Little-carpenter.

t Hist. South Carolina, i. 169.

X Hist. Amer. Indians, 245. That the Indians' taking horses was no pretext for the murders,

even at the time, appears evident. "As (says Captam M'Call, i. 257.) the horses in those

parts ran wild in the woods, it was customary, both among the Indians and while people on the

frontiers, to catcl them and appropriate them to their o«n use."

32



374 ATTAKULLAKULLA.—LITTLETON'S ILL CONDUCT. [Book IV

of vengeance. He therefore goes immediately to them, and informed them of
their danger, and assisted them to secrete themselves ; then, without lo'ss of
time, he assembled his wan-iors, and made a speech to them, in which he
inveighed, with great bitterness, against the murderous English, and urged
immediate war against them ;

" and never (said he) shall the hatchet he buried,

until the blood of our countrymen he atonedfor. Let us not (he continued) violate

our faith, or the laws of hospitality, by imbruing our hands in the blood of those

who are now in our power. They came to us in the confidence of friendship, with
belts of toampum to cement a perpetual alliance ivith us. Let us carry them back
to their own settlements ; conduct them safely within their confines, and then take

up the hatchet, and endeavor to exterminate the whole race of them." This counsel
was adopted. Before commencing hostilities, however, the murderers were
demanded, but were blindly refused them, and Ave have related the conse-
quences.

The French, it was said, used their influence to enrage the Indians ; but if

that were the case, we should not deem it worth naming, as it appears to us
that nothing more could be necessary to inflame them than the horrid out-

rages of which we have spoken.

It appeal's from another source,* that Governor Littleton was met at Charles-
ton by a deputation of 32 Cherokee chiefs, among whom Avas Ockonostota,

who, on hearing of the warlike movements at that place, had set out to visit

the English, and if possible to prevent a war with them. For although some
of their young warriors had committed several acts of violence, yet the great
body of the nation Avere friendly towards the English, and desired peace.
But instead of seizing on this opportunity of treating with the chiefs, he
insultingly told them, " That he Avould soon be in their country, Avhere
he would let them know his demands." Ockonostota began to speak in

reply, " but the governor being determined that nothing should prevent his

military expedition, declared he would hear no talk he had to make, neither
in vindication of his nation, nor any proposals with regard to peace." The
Lieutenant-Goveraor Bull saw the bad policy of this step, and urged the
necessity of hearing what Ockonostota, the Great Warrior, as he Avas called,

had to say, and settling their difficulties ; but this good advice had no eflTect

on Littleton, and he marched from Ciiarleston in October, a fcAV days after

At a place of rendezvous, about 140 miles from that place, his force amounted
to about 1400 men. The chiefs, by order of the governor, had marched Avith

the army to this place, and, although burning Avith resentment at their ti-ealment,

yet they discovered no signs ofdiscontent. When the ainny was about to march
from Congarees, (this being their place of rendezvous,) tlie chiefs were all made
prisoners, and under guard were marched to Fort Prince Ceorge. f

Their resentment now showed itself; "stung to the heart by such base
treatment," they cringed in sullen silence, and we may suppose that " they

spent their time in concerting plots for obtaining their liberty, and satisfaction

for the injuries done them."f
Being now at Fort Prince George Avith his army, Littleton found himself in

about the same repute with his OAvn men as Avith the injured Indians; he
therefore concludiid not to carry his conquests any finther at present, but to

make a treaty, and retain captive Indians enougli as hostages to insure its

observance. He therefore sent a messenger to JUtakuUakuUa, Avho Avas reck-

oned the wisest man in the nation, or the best friend to the English, recjuest-

ing him to come to Fort George. He immediately came ; and to show the

English he Avas their friend, produced a French prisoner whom he had just

taken in an expedition against that nation, and whom he presented to Gov-
ernor Littbton. A "congress" was now (about 18 December, 1759) held

Avith Mtakidlakulla, in which a long speech, in Avhich all tlie grievances he
could think of Avcre enumerated by the governor ; after which the chief

made another, in which he promised to do all he could to persuade his coun-

tiymen to give the governor the satisfaction he demanded
;
yet he said, " it

* Hewalt, Hist. Carolina, ii. 216.

t This fort was upon the Savnnnali River, near the Cherokee town calleil Keowee.
t Hewatt, Hist. Carolina, ii. 18.
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neither would nor could be complied with, as they had no coercive authority,

one over another." He desired that some of the chiefs then confined might
be liberated to aid him in restoring tranquillity ; and accordingly Ockonostota,

Fi/loe, chief of Keowee, and the head wamor of Estatoe, were given up, and
two Indians were ttiken in exchange and put in h-ous. The other Clierokees

present, observing what was going foi'ward, withdi'ew into the woods, and At-

takullakulla, presuming the business must end here, withdrew also. It had been
premised, or rather demanded, in the governor's speech, that 24 Indians, who
were known to have killed white people, should be given into his hands to be

put to death, or otherwise disposed of. Two only had been delivered, and 22

yet remained of the number of the mm'derers, in tlieir own native forests.

As soon as lAttleton knew o? AitakullakulWs departure, he sent for hiirt, and
he mimediately returned, and the business of a treaty was renewed, and on
the 26 December, 1759, it was signed by

ATTAKUiLAKULLA, Otassite, Oco>>"OEca, and
OUCONNOSTOTA, KiTAGUSTA, KiLLCAANOKEA.

By article III. of the treaty,* it was agreed that 22 chiefs, (those who had
been treacherously seized,) should remain as hostages, to ensure the delivery

of the like immber of murderers to the English. There seems, however, to

have been but 21 retained, whose names we are able to give below, and who,
under the name of hostages, were thrown into a dismal, close prison, scarce

lai-ge enough for six men, where they remained about two months, and were
then masacred, as in the sequel we shall show :

—

Chenohe, Ousanatanah, Tcdlichama, Tallitahe, Quarrasattahe, Connasaratah,

Kataetoi, Otassite of Watogo, Ousanoletah of Jore, Kataeletah of Cowetche,

Chisquatalone, Skiagusta of Sticoe, Tanaesto, Wohatche, Wyejah, Oucahchista-

nah, jYicolche, Tony, Toatiahoi, Shallisloske, and Chistie. f

Tilings having been thus settled, JVIi-. Littleton returned to Charleston, where
he Avas received like a conqueror, although what he had done, it Avill appear,

was Avorse than if he had done nothing.

Ockonostota, for good reason, no doubt, entertained a deep-rooted hatred

against Captain Cotymore, an officer of the garrison, and the ai-my had but just

left the country, when it was found that he was hovering about the garrison

Avith a large number of warriors. But it Avas uncertain, for some time, wheth-

er they intended to attack the fort, or Avhether they wished to continue near

then- friends, Avho Avere imprisoned in it. HoAvever, it is said, that, by some
means, a plan was concerted between the Indians without and those confined

Avithin the fort, for surprising it. Be this as it may, Ockonostota, on the 16

Februaiy, 1760, practised the foUoAviug wile to effect the object. Having

placed a paity of his wan-iors in a dark cane-brake neai- at hand, he sent a

^quaAV to the gamson to invite the commander to come out, for he had some-

thing of importance to eonnnunicate to him. Captam Cotymore imprudently

went out, accompanied by tAvo of his officere, and Ockonostota appeared upon

the opposite bank of the Savannah, Avith a bridle in his hand, the better to

conceal his intentions. He told the captain he was going to Charleston to

effect the release of the hostages, and requested that a white man might

accompany hizn ; and that, as the distance was great, he Avould go and try to

catch a horse. The captain promised huTi a guai-d, and hoped he Avould

succeed in finding a horse. Ockonostota then quickly turned himself about,

and SAvinging his bridle thrice over his head, Avhich Avas the signal to his

men, and they promptly obeyuig it, about 30 guns Avere dischai-ged upon the

officers at the same moment. Captain Cotymore received a shot m his left:

breast, from which he died in two or three days after, and both the others

were wounded4 On recovering the fort, an attempt was made to put the

« It is printed at length in the British Empire, by Huddlestone Wijmie, Esq. ii. 273—

277; an author of no inconsiderable merit on our affairs. ,

t Several of these 22 were of the number who had been in England in 1730, and executed

a treaty with the king, as has been before stated, and as will be seen by companng the names

bove with those named in the treaty. -u n ; /

i " Two Indian women appeared at Keowee, on the other side of the river. Mr. Uoiierig

went out, and accosting them, asked what news ? Ockonostota joined them, pretendmg som*
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hostages in ii-ons. An Englishman, who laid hold on one of them for that

purpose, was stabbed and slam ; and, in the scuffle, two or three more were
wounded, and driven out of the place of confinement. The tragedy in the
fort had now only commenced ; the miserable prisoners had repelled their

assassins for the moment, and, doubtless, hoped for deliverance from their

friends without, who had now closely besieged the place. But, unfortunately
for these poor WTetches, the fort was too strong to be carried by then- arts jfwar,
and the dastardty whites found time and means to murder their victims, one by
one, in a manner too hoirible to I'elate.* There were few pei"sons among
the Cherokees who did not lose a friend or relation by this massacre ; and, as
one man, the nation took up the hatchet, and desolations quickly followed.

Meanwhile, singular as it may appear, AttakuUakulla remained the fast

friend of the whites, and used all his arts to induce his countrymen to make
Ijeace. But it was m vain he urged them to consider that they had more
than i-evenged themselves ; they were determmed to cany all before them.
Attakidlakulla was now an old man, and had become much attached to tlie

English, from several causes. On the other hand, Ockonostota was a stern

warrior, in the vigor of manhood, and, like the renowned Pontiac, was deter-

mined to rid his country of his bai-barous enemies.
The leaders in every town seized the hatchet, telling theii* followers that the

spirits of murdered brothers were flying around them, and calling out for ven-
geance. All sung the war-song, and, burning with impatience to imbrue their

hands in the blood of their enemies, rushed down among innocent and de-
fenceless families on the frontiers of Carolina, where men, women, and
children, without distinction, fell a saciifice to theh merciless fury. Such
of the whites as fled to the woods, and escaped the scalping-ltnife, perished
with hunger. Every day brought fresh accounts to the capital of their

ravages and desolations. But, while the back settlere impatiently looked to

tlieir governor for relief, the small-pox raged to such a degree ui to\vn, that

few of the militia could be prevailed on to leave their distressed families to

serve the public. In this extremity, an express was sent to General Amherst,
the commander-in-chief m America, for assistance, in terms too pressing to

be denied. Accordingly, he ordered a battalion of Highlandei-s, and four

companies of Royal Scots,f under the conunand of Colonel Montgomeri/,
afterwards Earl Eglinton, to embark at New York for Carolina. In the

mean time, Littleton, having been appointed governor of .lamaica, JFilliam

Bull succeeded him ; a change much to the advantage of the jirovince.

Colonel Montgomery arrived in Carolina towards the end of A})ril, to the
great joy of the ]jeople, who had taken measures to coijperate with him to the
best advantage ; but, as the conquest of Canada was the grand object now,
General Amherst had ordered Colonel Montgomery to strike a sudden blow for

the relief of the Carolinians, and then to return to head-quai-ters at Albany,
without loss of time ; and we have scarce an example m military history,

where an officer fulfilled his commission with greater promptitude. He soon
after rendezvoused at the Congarees ; and, being jouied by many gentlemen
of distinction as volunteers, besides the principal strength of the counUy, hi-

marched for the heart of the Cherokee country. After reaching a place
called T\v(;lve Mile River, he encamped upon advantageous ground, and
marched with a party to siu-prise Estatoe, about 20 miles from his camp, [n

the way, he took Little Keowee, and ])ut every man to the sword. Estatoe
he found abandoned, except by a few that could not escape, and it was
reduced to ashes, as was Sugar To%vn, luid every other settlement in the
lower nation. About 60 Indiruis were killed, and 40 taken jirisonere ; but the

inaUcrs of business ; he drew from ihe fort several of ihe officers to converse with them."—
Haywood's Hist. Tennessee, 30.

* " A bottle of poison was found with one of the dead hostages, probably intended to be
dropped into the well ; and several tomahawks were found buried in the earth." Haifwood,
Hist. Tennessee, 30.—Any stories would gain credence among the whites, which went to

make tiie Indians as bad as themselves. Whether Ihe bottle s|)oken of contained poison,

may be questioned
J
and, if it did, it maybe reasonably doubled whether the Indians knew

any thing- about it.

t I am following Hewatt, but the Annual Register, iii. 62, says, "a regiment of Highland
ers, a battalion oi RoyaJ Americans, a body of grenadiers," &c.
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warriors had generally escaped to the mountains and deserts. Thus far, the
campaign had been prosperous with the whites, but three or four men having
been killed ; but it had no other effect upon the Indians than to increase their

rage.

Meanwhile, Fort Prince George had been closely invested, and Colonel
Monfgomei-y marched to its relief. From this place, two friendly chiefs
were despatched to the middle settlements, to offer peace to the people there,

and orders were sent to those in command at Fort Loudon, to use means
to bring about an accommodation with the Upper Towns ; but the Indians
would not hear to any terms, and Colonel Montgomery was constrained to

march again to find the enemy. He had now the most difficult part of his

service to perform. The country through which he had to march was
covered by dai-k thickets, numerous deep ravines, and high river banks

;

where a small number of men might distress and wear out the best appointed
army.
Having arrived within five miles of Etchoe, the nearest town of the middle

settlements, the army was attacked on the 27 June, in a most advantageous
place for the attacking paity. It was a low valley, in which the bushes were
so thick, that the soldiers could see scarcely three yards before them ; and in

the bottom of this valley flowed a muddy river, with steep clay banks.
Through this place the army must march. Rightly judging the enemy had
not omitted so important a pass. Colonel Montgomery ordered out a company
of rangers, under Captain Morrison, to enter the ravine and make discovery.
No sooner had he entered it, but the fierce war-whoop was raised, and the
Indians darted from covert to covert, at the same time firing upon the whites.
Captain Morrison was immediately shot dovra, and his men closely engaged

;

but, being without delay supported by the infantry and grenadiers, they were
able to maintain their gi'ound, and the battle became obstinate ; nor could the
Indians be dislodged, until near an hour of hai-d fighting. In the mean time,

the Royal Scots took possession of a place between the Indians and a rising

ground on their right, while the Highlanders sustained the light infantry and
grenadiers on the left. As the left became too warm for them, and not well
understanding the position of the Royal Scots, the Indians, in their retreat,

fell in vvnth them, and were sharply encountered ; but they soon effected their

retreat to a hill, and could no more be brought to action. In this fight, 96 of
the whites were killed and wounded, of whom 20 were of the former num-
ber. Of the Cherokees, 40 were said to have been killed.

The Indians had now been driven from one ravine, wi»h a small loss ; but
Colonel Montgomery was in no conditien to pursue his advantage farther, and
he therefore, after destroying so much of his provisions as would afford

horses for the wounded, began his retreat out of the Indian country, and, in

obedience to his commission, soon after returned to New York ; not, how-
ever, without leaving 400 men for the security of the province. But it was
soon seen, that what had yet been done only increased the rage of the

Indians, and theii' depredation continued at the very heels of the retreating

anifiy. They immediately cut off all communication with Fort Loudon,
which was garrisoned with 200 men.* Ockonostota, with his numerous
warriors, kept strict watch, insomuch that there was no means of escape. At
length, the garrison having miserably subsisted, for some time, upon poor
famished horses, dogs, &c., many of them became resolved to throw them-
selves into the power of the Indians, wishing rather to die by their hands,
than miserably to perish within their fortress. Captain Steuart, an ofticer

among them, was well knovm to the Indians, and possessed great address and
sagacity. He resolved, at this crisis, to repau- to Chote, the residence of
Ockonostota, and make overtures for the suiTender of the gai-rison. He,
accordingly, effected his object, and returned with articles of capitulation

agreed upon. Besides the names of Ockonostota and Paul Demere, the

commander of the gairison, the name of another chief was to the articles,

called Cunigacatgoae. The articles stipulated, that the garrison should march

* The Cherokees were now supposed to number 3000 warriors, euid it was dail^' expected

that the Chocktaws were about to join them.
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out with their arms and drums, each soldier having as much powder and ball

as his officers should think necessary, and that they should march fc; Virginia

unmolested.
Accordingly, on 7 August, 1760, the English took up their march for Fort

Prince George. They had proceeded but about 15 miles, when they encamp-
ed, for the night, upon a small plain near Taliquo. They were accompanied
thus far by Ockonostota in person, and many others, in a friendly manner,
but at night they withdrew without giving any notice. The army was not
molested during the night, but, at dawn of day, a sentinel came running into

camp with the information that a host of Indians were creeping up to surround
them. Captain Deinere had scarce time to rally, before the Indians broke into

his camp with great fury. The poor emaciated soldiers made but feeble

resistance. Thirty of their number fell in the first onset, among whom was
their captain. Tliose that were able, endeavored to save themselves by flight,

and others surrendered themselves upon the place. This massacre, it will not
be forgotten, was in retaliation for that of the hostages already related. Among
the pi-isoners was Captain Steumi. They were conducted to Fort Loudon,
which now became Ockonostota's head-quarters.

Attakullakulla, learning that his friend Steuart was among the captives, pro-
ceeded immediately to Fort Loudon, Avhere he ransomed him at the expense
if all the property he could command, and took cai-e of him with the greatest

.enderness and affection.

The restless Ockonostota next resolved to invest Fort Prince George. He
was induced to undertake that project, as fortune had thrown in his way some
of the means for such an undertaking, hitherto beyond his reach. Before

abdicating Fort Loudon, the English had hid in the ground several bags of
powder. This his men had found. Several cannon had also been left behind,

and he designed to force his English prisoners to get them tln-ough the woods,
and manage them in the attack upon Fort Prince George. But Attakulla-

kulla defeated these operations, by assisting Captain Steuart to escape. He
even accompanied him to the English settlements, and returned loaded with
[)resents.

The French were said to have had their emissaries busily employed in spir-

iting on the Indians. One, named Leivis Latinac, an officer, is particularly

mentioned. He persuaded them that the English had nothing less in view
than their total extermination, and, furnishing them with ai-ms and amnuuii-
tion, urged them to war. At a great council of the nation, after brandishing

his hatciiet, he str*ck it into a log of wood, calluig out, " fVlio is the man that

will take this vpfot the king of France ?
"

SALOUE or Siluuee, a young warrior of Estatoe, instantly laid hold of it,

and cried out, " I amfor war. The spirits of our brothers who have been slain,

Btill call upon us to avenge their death. He is no better than a woman that

refuses to follow me." Others were not wanting to follow his example, and
the war continued.

Silbuee was a Cherokee chief, and was introduced by Mr. Jefferson, to illus-

trate the ol)scrvation in his Notes on Virginia, that the Indian "is affectionate

to his children, careful of them, and indulgent in the extreme ; tlint his affec-

tions coinjirehcnd his other connections, weakening, as with us, from circle to

circle, as tliey recede! from the centre ; that iiis friendships arc strong and
faithful to tlic uttermost extremity." "A remai-kable instance of this apjicared

in the case of the late Col. Byrd,* who was sent to tlic Ch(>rokee nation to

transact some business with them. It happened that some of our disorderly

people had just killed one or two of that Tiation. It was therefore proposed
in the couneil of the Cherokees, that Col. Bip'd should be put to death, in

revenge for the loss of their countrymen. Among them was a chief called

Silbuee, who, on some fornur occasion, had contracted an acquaintance and
friendshi|) with Col. Bijrd. He came to him every night in his tent, and told

nim not to be afraid, they shoidd not kill him. After many days' deliberation,

* Perhaps the same mentioned liy Oldmixoii, (i. 283.) who. in speakin';- of the Indian pow-

wows, says, " one very lately ronjured a sliowcr of rain for Vo\. Jiyrd's plantation in time of

drouth, for two bottles of rum ;" and our author says he should not iiave believed, had he not

found it in an author who was on the spot

!
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nowever, the determination was, contrary to SUbuee^s expectation, that Byra
should be put to death, and some warriors were despatched as executioners.

SUbuee attended them ; and when they entered tlie tent, he threw himself

Ijetween them and Byrd, and said to the warriors, ' This man is my friend

.

before you get at him you must kill me ! ' On which they returned, and the coun-

cil respected the principle so much, as to recede from their determination."

A more impolitic and barbarous measure, perhaps, never entered the heait

of man, than that of offering a reward for human scalps. This was done by
Virginia, as we have before related. It is true the government of Virginia was
not alone in this criminal business, but that betters not her case. The door of

enormity being thus opened, it was easy to have foreseen, that many men upon
the frontiers, " of bad lives and woi-se principles," says an intelligent writer,*

stood ready to step in. As the event proved, many friendly Indians were
murdered, and the government defrauded. It was at the news of a murder of

this description that Colonel Byrd was seized.

Such was the condition of the country, that a second application was made
to General Amherst for aid, and he promptly afforded it. Colonel James Grant
arrived there early in 1761, and not long after took the field with a force of

English and Indians, amounting to about 2600 men. f He traversed the Cher-

okee country, and subdued that people in a hard-fought battle, near the same
place where Colonel Montgomery was attacked the year before. It lasted

about three hours, in which about 60 whites were killed and wounded. The
loss of the Indians was unknown. Colonel Grant ordered his dead to be sunk
in the river, that the Indians might not find them, to practise upon them their

barbarities. He then proceeded to the destruction of their towns, 15 in num-
ber, which he accomplished without molestation. | Peace was at last effected

by the mediation of Attakidlakulla. This chief's residence was upon the

Tennessee or Cherokee River, at what was called the Overkill Towns. In 1773,

when the learned traveller, Bartram, ti-avelled into the Cherokee country, he

met the old chief on his way to Charleston ; of which circumstance he speaks

thus in his Travels :
—" Soon after crossing this large branch of the Tanase, 1

observed descending the heights, at some distance, a company of Indians, all

well mounted on hoi-seback. They came rapidly forward ; on their neai-er

approach, I observed a chief at the head of the caravan, and apprehending him
to be the lAttle-carpenter, emperor or grand chief of the Cherokees, as they

came up, I turned off from the path to make way, in token of respect, which
compliment was accepted, and gratefully and magnanimously returned ; for

his highness, \vith a gi-acious and cheerful smile, came up to me, and clappiiig

his hand on his breast, offered it to me, saying, I am Ata-cul-cidla, and heartily

shook hands with me, and asked me if I knew it ; I answered, that the good
spirit who goes before me spoke to me, and said, that is the great Ata-cul-culla."

JMr. Bartram added, that he was of Pennsylvania, and though that was a great

way off, yet the name of Attakvllakidla was dear to his white brothers of

Pennsylvania. The chief then asked him if he came directly from Charleston,

and if his friend "Jb?in Stewart were well." Mr. Bartram said he saw him
lately, and that he was well. This was, probably, the same person whom
Attakidlakulla had assisted to make an escape, as we have just related.

In carrying out the history of the two chiefs, Attakullakulla and Ockonostota,

we have omitted to notice Chlucco, better kno^vn by the name of the Long-
warrior, king or mico of the Seminoles. He went out with Colonel Montgom-
ery, and rendered him essential service in his unsuccessful expedition, of which
«e have spoken. A large band of Creeks accompanied him, and there is but

little doubt, if it had not been for him and his warriors, few of the English

would have returned to their friends. But, as usual, the English leader, in his

time, had all the honor of successfully encountering many difficulties, and

returning with his own life and many of his men's. It was by the aid of

Chlucco, that the army escaped ambush after ambush, destroyed many of the

Cherokee villages, and finally his warriors covered its retreat out of one of the

most dangerous couutiies through which an army could pass. Long-wamor
was what the New England Indians termed a great powwow. That he waa

* Doctor Burnabij. t Hewatt. % Annual Register, iv. 58 ; Hewait, ii. 248

—
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H man possessing a good mind, may faii-ly be inferred from his ability to

withstand the temptation of intoxicating hquors. He had been known to

remain sober, when all his ti'ibe, and many whites among them, had all been

wallowing in the mire of drunkenness together. In the year 1773, at the

head of about 40 warriors, he marched against the Chocktaws of West Flor-

ida. What was the issue of this expedition we have not learned. We may
have again occasion to notice CMucco.

9eee>t

CHAPTER V.

MoNCACHTAPE, i/ie Yazoo—Narrative of his adventures to the Pacific Ocean—Grand-
sun, chief of the Natchez—Receives great injustice from the French—Concerts their

destruction—700 French are cut off—War with them—The Natchez destroyed in their

turn—Great-mortar—M'Gillivray—His birth and education— Visits Neic York
— Troubles of his nation—His death—Tame-king—Mad-dog.

310NCACHTAPE was a Yazoo, whose name signified, in the language of
that nation, killer of pain and fatigue. How well he deserved this name, the

sequel will unfold. He was well known to the historian Du Pratz, about

1760, and it was owing to his singular good intelligence, that that traveller

was able to add much valuable information to his work. " This man (says

Du Pratz*) was remarkable for his solid understanding and elevation of
sentiment ; and I may justly compare him to those fii'st Greeks, who travelled

chiefly into the east, to examine the manners and customs of different nations,

and to communicate to their fellow citizens, upon their return, the knowledge
which they had acquired." He was known to the Fi-ench by the name of the

Interpreter, as he could communicate with several other nations, having gained

a knowledge of their languages. Monsieur Du Pratz used great endeavors

among the nations upon the Mississippi, to learn their origin, or from whence
they came ; and observes concerning it, " All that I could learn from them
was, that they came from between the north and the sun-setting ; and this

account they uniformly adhere to, whenever they give any account of their

origin." This was unsatisfactory to him, and in his exertions to find some one
that could infoi-m him better, he met with Moncachiape. The following is the

result of liis communications in his own words:

—

"I had lost my wife, and all the children whom I had by her, when I

midertook my journey towards the sun-rising. I set out from my village

contrary to the inclination of all my n^lations, and went first to the Chicasaws,
our friends and neighbors. I continued among them several days, to inform
myself whether they knew whence we all came, or, at least, whence they
themselves came; they, who were our elders; since from them caine the

language of the country. As they could not inform me, I proceeded on my
journey. I reached the country of the Chaouanous, and afterwards went up
the Wabash, or Ohio, near to its source, which is in the country of the Iroquois,

or Fiv(! Nations. I \vf\, them, however, towards the north ; and, during the

winter, which, in that country, is very severe and very long, I lived in a village

of the Albenaquis, where I conti'acted an acquaintance with a man somewhat
older than myself, who i)romiscd to conduct me, the following spring, to the

great water. Accordingly, when the snows were melted, and the weather was
settled, we proceeded ea.stward, and, after several days' journey, I at length

saw the great water, which filled me with such joy and admiration, that I

could not speak. Night drawing on, we took up our lodging on a high bank
above the water, which was sorely vexed by th(> wind, and made so great a

noise that I could not sleep. Next day, the ebbing and flowing of the water

filled me with great apprehension ; but my companion quieted my fears, by

Rssuring me that the water observed certain bounds, both in advancing and

* Hist. Louisiana, ii. I'il.
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retiring. Haviug satisfied our curiosity in viewing the great water, we returned

to the village of the Abenaquis, where I continued the following winter ; and,

after the snows were melted, my companion and I went and viewed the great fall

of the River St. Lawrence, at Niagara, which was distant from the village severa

days' journey. The view of this great fall, at first, made my hair stand on end,

and ray heart almost leap out of its place ; but afl;erwards, before T lefl: it, I

had the courage to walk under it. Next day, we took the shortest road to the

Ohio, and my companion and I, cutting down a tree on the banks of the river

we formed it into a pettiaugre, which served to conduct me down tlie Ohio
and the Mississippi, after which, \vith much difiiculty, 1 went up our small

river, and at length arrived safe among my relations, who were rejoiced to see

me in good health.—This journey, instead of satisfying, only served to excite

my cmiosity. Our old men, for several yeai-s, had told me that the ancient

speech mformed them that the red men of the north came originally much
higher and much farther than the source of the River Missouri ; and, as I had
longed to see, with my ov^Ti eyes, the land fi-om whence our first fathers came,
I took my precautions for my journey westwards. Having provided a small

quantity ofcom, I proceeded up along the eastern bank of the River Mississippi,

till 1 came to the Ohio. I went up along the bank of this last river, about the

fourth part of a day's journey, that I might be able to cross it viithout being

carried into the Mississippi. There I formed a cajeux, or raft of canes, by the

assistance of which 1 passed over the river; and next day meeting with a herd

of buflfaloes in the meadows, I killed a fat one, and took fi-om it the fillets, the

bunch, and the tongue. Soon after, I arrived among the Tamaroas, a village

of the nation of the Illinois, where I rested several days, and then proceeded

northwards to the mouth of the Missouri, which, after it enters tlie gi-eat river,

runs for a considerable time without intermixing its muddy waters mth the

clear stream of the other. Haviiig crossed the Mississippi, I went up the

INIissouri, along its northern bank, and, after sevei-al days' journey, I arrived at

the nation of the Missouris, where I staid a long time to learn the language

that is spoken beyond them. In going along the Missouri, I passed through

meadows a whole day's journey in length, which were quite covered with

buflfaloes.

"When the cold was past, and the snows were melted, I continued my jour-

ney up along the Missouri, till I came to the nation of the west, or the Canzas.

Afterwards, in consequence of dii'ections fi-om them, I proceeded in the same
course near 30 days, and at length I met with some of the nation of the Otters,

who were hunting in that neighborhood, and were surprised to see me alone.

I continued with the hunters two or three days, and then accompanied one of

them and his wife, who was near her time of lying in, to their village, which
lay far off" betwixt the north and west. We continued our journey along the

Missouri for nine days, and then we marched dii-ectly northwards for five

days more, when we came to the fine river, which runs Avestward in a direc-

tion conti-ary to that of the Missouri. We proceeded doAvn this river a whole
daj'^, and then arrived at the village of the Otters, who received me with as

much kindness as if I had been of their own nation. A few days after, I

joined a party of the Otters, who were going to carry a calumet of peace to a

nation beyond them, and we embarked in a pettiaugre, and went doAvn the

river for 18 days, landing now and then to supply ourselves with provisions.

When I arrived at the nation who were at peace with the Otters, I staid with

them till the cold was passed, that I might learn their language, which was
common to most of the nations that lived beyond them.

" The cold was nardly gone, wnen i agam emoarKed on the fine river, and
in my course I met Avith several nations, with whom I generally staid but one

night, till I arrived at the nation that is but one day's journey from the great

water on the west. This nation live in the woods about the distance of a

league fi-om the river, fi-om their apprehension of bearded men, who come
upon their coasts in floating villages, and carry off" their children to make
slaves of them. These men were described to be white, with long black

beards that came down to their breast ; they were thick and short, had large

heads, which were covered with cloth ; they were always dressed, even in the

greatest heats ; their clothes fell down to the middle of their legs, which, with
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their feet, were covered with red or yellow stuff, Theii- arms made a groat

fire and a great noise ; and when they saw themselves outnumbered by red

men, they retired on board their large pettiaugi-e, then* number sometimes
amounting to thirty, but never more.

" Tliose strangers came from the sun-setting, in search of a jellow sthikiug

wood, whicli dyes a fine yellow color; but the people of this nation, that they

might not be tempted to visit them, had destroyed all those kind of trees.

Two other nations in their neighborhood, however, having no other wood,
could not destroy the trees, and were still visited by the strangei-s ; and being

greatly incommoded by them, had invited their allies to assist them m making
an attack upon them, the next time they should return. The following sum-
mer I accordingly joined in this expedition, and, after travelling five long days'

journey, we came to the place whei-e the Isearded men usually landed, where
we waited seventeen days for their arrival. The red men, by my advice,

placed themselves in ambuscade to surprise the strangei-s, and accordingly

when they landed to cut the wood, we were so successful as to kill eleven of
them, the jest innnediately escaping on board two large pettiaugres, and flying

westward upon the gi-eat water.
" Upon examining those whom we had killed, we found them much smaller

than ourselves, and very white ; they had a large head, and m the middle of
the crown the hair was very long ; then* head was Avrapt in a great many folds

of stuff, and their clothes seemed to be made neither of wool nor silk ; they
were very soft, and of different colors. Two only, of the eleven who were
slain, had fire-ai-ms, with powder and ball. I tried their pieces, and found
that they were much heavier than yours, and did not kill at so great a
distance.

"After this expedition, I thought of nothing but proceeding on my journey,

and, with that design, I let the i-ed men return home, and joined myself to

those who inhabited more westwai'd on the coast, with whom I travelled

along the shore of the gi-eat water, which bends directly betwixt the north
and the sun-setting. When I arrived at the villages of my fellow-travellers,

where I found the days very long, and the nights very shoit, I was advised by
the old men to give over aU thoughts of continuing my journey. They told

me that the land extended still a long waj' hi a du-ection between the north
and sun-setting, after which it ran directly west, and at length was cut by the

great water from north to south. One of them added, that, when lie ^^as

young, he knew a very old man who had seen that distant land before it was
eat away by the great water, and that when the great water was low, many
rocks still appeared in those parts. Finding it, therefore, impracticable to

proceed much further, on account of the severity of the climate, and the want
of game, I returned by tlie same route by which 1 had set out; and, reducing
my whole travels westward to days' journeys, I compute that tliey would
have employed me 36 moons ; but, on account of my frequent delays, it was
five years before I retunied to my relations among the Y;i/oos."

Thus ends the narrative of the famous traveller Moncachtape, which seems
to have satisfied Du Pratz, that the Indians came from the continent of Asia,

by way of Behring^s Straits. And he soon after left him, and retiu-ned to his

ovni countrj'. It would have been gratifying, could we have known more of
the history of this very intelligent man. The same author brings also to our
knowledge a chief called

GRAND-SUN, ciiief of the Natcliez. Although Sun was a common name
for all diiefs oftliat nation, this chief was particularly distinguished in the first

war with the French, which exhibits the compass of our information concern-

ing him, and which W(! i)iir])ose here to sketch. He was brother to tlie great

warrior, known to the French by the name of Stong-serpent, and like him
was a friend to the whites, until the haughty, overbearing disposition of one

man brought destruction and ruin on their whole colony. This affair took

place in the y<:ar 1725). The residence of tlii> Graud-siin was near the French
post of Natchez, where he had a beautiful village called the IVliUe jipplt. M.
rfe Chnpnii had been reinstated in the command of the ])ost, whence he was

for a time removed by reason of misconduct, and his abominable injustice to

the Indians became more conspicuous afterwards than before. To gratify his
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pride and avarice, he had projected the building of an elegant village, and
jjone appeared to suit his purpose so well as the White Apple of the Grand-

sun. He sent for the chief to his fort, and unhesitatingly told him that his

village must be immediately given up to him, for he had resolved to erect one

a league square upon the same ground, and that he must remove elsewhere.

The great chief stifled his surprise, and modestly replied, " That his ancestors

had lived in that village for as many years as there were hairs in his double

cue, and, therefore, it was good that they should continue there still." When
this was uiterpreted to the commandant, he showed himself in a rage, and
threatened the chief, that, unless he moved fi-om his village speedily, he
woidd have cause of repentance. Grand-sun left the fort, and said he would
assemble his counsellors, and hold a talk upon it.

In this council, which actually assembled, it was proposed to lay before the

commandant their hard situation, if they should be obliged to abandon their

corn, which then was just beginning to shoot from the ground, and many
other articles on which they were to depend for subsistence. But, on urging

these strong reasons, they met only with abuse, and a more peremptory order

to remove immediately. This the Grand-sun reported to the council, and
they saw all was lost, unless, by some stratagem, they should rid themselves

of the tyrant ChnpaH, which was their final decision. The secret was con-

fided to none but the old men. To gain time, an offer was to be made to the

avaricious commandant, of tribute, in case he would permit them to I'emain

on thek land until their harvest. The offer was accepted, and the Indians

set about maturing their plan with the greatest avidity. Bundles of sticks

were sent to the suns of the neighboring tribes, and then- import explained to

them by the faithful messengers. Each bundle contained as many sticks as

days which were to pass before the massacre of all the French in the Natchez.

And that no mistake should arise in regard to the fixed day, every morning a

stick was drawn from the bundle and broken in pieces, and the day of the last

stick was that of the execution.

The security of the wicked, in the midst of their wickedness, and their

deafness to repeated warnings, though a standing example before them upon
the pages of all history, yet we know of but few instances where they have
profited by it. I need cite no examples; our pages are full of them.
The breast of women, whether civilized or uncivilized, cannot bear the

thoughts of revenge and death to prey upon them for so gi-eat a length of
time as men. And, as in the last case, I need not produce examples ; on oui'

pages will be found many.
A female sun having, by accident, understood the secret design of her peo

pie, partly out of resentment for then- keeping it from her, and partly from
her attachment to the French, resolved to make it known to them. But so

fatally secure was the commandant, that he would not hearken to her messen-
gei-s, and threatened others of his own people with chastisement, if they con-
tinued such intimations. But the great coimcil of so many smis, and other

motions of their wise men, jusdy alarmed many, and then- complaints to the

commandant were urged, until seven of his own people were put in irons, to

dispel their fears. And that he might the more vaunt himself upon their fears,

he sent his inter])reter to demand of the Grand-sun, whether he was about to

fall upon the French with his warriors. To dissemble, in such a case, was
only to be expected from the chief, and the interpreter reported to the com-
mandant as he desired, which caused him to value himself upon his former
contempt of his people's fears.

The 30th of November, 1729, at length came, and with it the massacre of
near 700 people, being all the French of Natchez. Not a man escaped. It

being upon the eve of St. Andreio's day, facilitated the execution of the horrid
design. Li such contempt was M. Chopart held, that the suns would allow no
warrior to kill him, but one whom they considered a mean person. He was
ai-med only with a wooden tomahawk, and with such a contemptible weapon,
wielded by as contemptible a person, was M. Chopart pursued from his house
into his garden, and there met his death.
The design of the Grand-sun and his allies was, to have followed up their

luccess until all the French wei-e driven out of Louisiana. But some tribe*
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would not aid in it, and the governor of Louisiana, promptly seconded by the

people ofNew Orleans, shortly after nearly annihilated the whole tribe of tlie

Natchez. The Choctaws offered themselves, to the number of 15 or 1600
men, and, in the following February, advanced into the country of the Natch-
ez, and wei"e shortly after joined by the French, and encamped near the old

fort, then in possession of the Grand-sun. Here flags passed between them,
and terms of peace were agreed upon, which were very honorable to the

Lidians ; but, in the following night, they decamped, taking all their prisonera

and baggage, leaving nothing but the cannons of the fort and balls behind them.
Some time now passed before the French could ascertain tlie retreat of the

Natchez. At length, they learned that they had crossed the Mississippi, and
settled upon the west side, near 180 miles above the mouth of Red River.

Here they built a fort, and remained quietly until the next year.

The weakness of the colony caused the inhabitants to resign themselves into

the hands of the king, who soon sent over a sufficient force, added to those

still in the couUtiy, to humble the Natchez. They were accordingly invested

in their fort, and, struck with consternation at the sudden approach of the
French, seem to have lost their former pi'udence. They made a desperate

sally upon the camp of the enemy, but were repulsed with great loss. They
then attempted to gain time by negotiation, as they had the year before, but
could not escape from the vigilance of the French officer; yet the attempt
was made, and many were killed, very few escaped, and the greater number
driven withm their fort. Mortars wei-e used by their enemies in this siege,

and the thhd bomb, falling in the centi-e of the fort, made great havoc,
but still gi'eater consternation. Drowned by the cries of the women and
children, Grand-sun caused the sign of capitulation to be given. Himselij

with the rest of his company, were earned prisoners to New Orleans, and
thrown into prison. An increasing infection caused the women and children

to be taken out and employed as slaves on the king's plantations ; among
whom was the woman who had used eveiy endeavor to notify the command-
ant, Chopart, of the intended massacre, and from whom the particulars of the

affair were learned. Her name was Stung-arm. These slaves were shortly

after embarked for St. Domingo, entirely to rid the country of the Natchez.*
The men, it is probable, were all put to death.

GREAT-MORTAR, or Yah-yah-tustanage, was a very celebrated Muskogee
chief, who, before the revolutionary war, was in the French interest, and
received his supplies from then' garrison at Alabama, which was not far dis-

tant from his place of abode, called Okchai. There was a time when he
inclined to the English, and but for the very haughty and imprudent conduct
of the superintendent of Lidian affairs, among them, might have been re-

claimed, and the dismal period of massacres which ensued averted. At a

gi-eat council, api^ointed by the superintendent, for the object of regaining

their favor, the pipe of peace, when passing ai'ound, was refused to Great-

mortar, because he liad favored the French. This, with much other ungener-
ous treatment, caused him ever after to hate the English name. As the super-

intendent was making a speech, which doubtless contained severe and hard
sayings against his red hearers, another chief, called the Tobacco-eater, sprung
upon his feet, and darting his tomahawk at him, it fortunately missed him, but

stuck in a plank just above his head. Yet he would have been immediately
killed, but for the interposition of a friendly warrior. Had this first blow been
effectual, every Englishman present would have been unmediately put to death.

Soon after, Greai-mortar caused his people to fall upon the English traders, and
they murdered ten. Fourteen of the inhabitants of Longcane, a settlement near
Ninety-six, \ next were his victims. He now received a commission from the

French, and the better to enlist the Cherokees and othera in his cause, removed
with his family far into the heart of the country, upon a river, by which he
could receive supplies from the fort at Alabama. Neither the French nor

Grcat-mortar were deceived in the advantage of their newly-chosen position •

for young warrioi-s joined him therein great numbers, and it was fast becoming

* Moiis. Dii Pratz, Hist, de Louisiana, tome i. ch. xii.

t So called because it was 96 miles from the Cherokee. Adaii
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a general rendezvous for all the Mississippi Indians. Fortunately, however.

for the English, the Chickasaws in their interest plucked up this Bohon upas

before its branches vpere yet extended. They fell upon them by surprise,

killed the brother of Great-moiiar, and completely desti'oyed the design. He
fled, not to his native place, but to one from whence he could best annoy the

English settlements, and cominenced anew the work of death. Augusta, in

Georgia, and many scattering settlements were destroyed.* Those ravageh

were continued until their united forces were defeated by the Americans under
General Grant, in 1761, as we have narrated.

We have next to notice a chief, king, or emperor as he was at different

times entitled, whose omission, m a biogi-aphical work upon the Indians, would
incur as much criminalitj^, on the part of the biogi-apher, as an omission of
Buokongehelas, WTiite-eyes, Pipe, or Ockonostota ; yea, even more. AVe mean
ALEXANDER M'GILLIVRAY, who was, perhaps, one of the most con-

spicuous, if not one of the greatest, chiefs that has ever borne that title among
the Creeks ; at least, since they have been knoAvn to the Europeans. He
flourished during half of the last century, and such was the exalted opinion

entertained of him by his countrymen, that they styled him " king of kings."

His mother was his predecessor, and the governess of the nation, and he had
several sisters, who maiTied leading men. On the death of his mother, he

came in chief sachem by the usages of his ancestors, but such was his disinter-

ested patriotism, that he left it to the nation to say whether he should succeed

to the sachemship. The people elected him " emperor." He was at the head
of the Creeks during the revolutionaiy war, and was in the British interest.

Afl:er the peace, he became reconciled to the Americans, and expressed a

desire to renoimce his public life, and reside in the U. States, but was hindered
by the earnest solicitations of liis countrymen, to remain among them, and
direct their affairs.

His residence, according to General MHfort,\ who married his sister, was
near Tallahassee, about half a league from what was fomierly Fort Toulouse.

He hved in a handsome house, and owned 60 negroes, each of whom he pro-

vided with a separate habitation, which gave his estate the appearance of a
little tovra. \

JW' Gillivray was a son of an Englishman of that name who married a Creek
woman, and hence was what is called a half breed. He was born about 1739,

and, at the age often, was sent by his father to school in Charleston, where he
was in the care of Mr. Farquhar M' Gillivray, who was a relation of his father

His tutor was a Mr. Sheed. He learned the Latin language under the tuition

of Mr. William Henderson, aftei'wards somewhat eminent among the critics in

London. When young M^ Gillivray was 17, he was put into a counting-house

in Savannah, but mercantile affairs had not so many charms as books, and he
spent all the time he could get, in reading histories and other works of useful-

ness. Afler a short time, his father took him home, where his superior talents

soon began to develop themselves, and his promotion followed. He was often

styled general, which commission, it is said, he actually held under Charles

HI., king of Spain. This was, probably, before he was elected emperor.
To be a little more particular with this distinguished man, I will hazard a

repetition of some facts, for the sake of giving an account of him as recorded
by one § who resided long with him, and consequently knew him well. He
was the son of a Creek woman, of the family of the Wind, whose father was an
officer in the French service, stationed at Fort Toulouse, near the nation of the
Alabamas. This officer, in trading with the Indians, became acquainted with
the mother of our chief, whom he married. They had five children, two boys
and three girls. Only one of the boys lived to grow up. As among other

tribes, so among the Creeks, the children belong to the mother ; and when
M'Gillivray^s father desired to send him to Charleston to get an education, he
was obliged first to get the mother's consent. This, it seems, was easily

obtained, and young M^ Gillivray was put there, where he acquired a good

* Adair's Hist. N. American Indians, 254, &c.
t Memoire ou coup-d'oeil rapide sur mes diff^rens voyages et mon s^jour dans la natiou

Creek, p. 27. t Ibid. § General JMtf/brt.
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education. He did not return for some time to his nation, which was at t'le

commencement of the revolutionary war; and he then went, commissioned by
the royalists, to invite liis countrymen to a treaty upon the frontiers, and to

unite them against the rebels.* He generally spoke the English language,

which was not^jleasiug to his mother, who would not speak it.f

After the war he became attached to the Americans, and although the bor-

derers caused frequent troubles, yet he made and renewed treaties with them.
In 1790, he came to New York with 29 of his chiefs. Owing to some misun-
derstanding, he had refused to treat at Rock Landing a short time before,

where commissioners from the U. States had attended ; and the government,
justly fearing a rujjture, unless a speedy reconciliation should take place,

despatched Colonel Manmts JVilld into the Creek country, with a pacific letter

to General JST Oillivray. He succeeded in his mission, and the chiefs an-ived

in New York 23 Julj', 1790. | They were conducted to the residence of the

secretary of war, General Knox, wlio conducted them to the house of the

president of the U. States, and introduced them to him. President Washing-
ton received them "in a very handsome manner, coiigi-atulated them on their

safe arrival, and expressed a hope that the interview would prove beneficial

both to the U. States and to the Ci-eek nation." They next visited the govei-nor

of the state, from whom they received a most cordial welcome. They then
proceeded to the City Tavern, wiiere the\' dined in company with General
Knox, and other ofiicei's of government. A correspondence between Governor
Telfair, of Georgia, and ^'Alexander M^Gillvary, Esq." probably opened the

way for a negotiation, which terminated in a settlement of difficulties. From
the following extract from JWGillivrmfs letter, a ver}^ just idea may be formed
of the state of tl*e aftairs of his nation jjrevious to his visit to New York. "In
answer to yours, I have to observe, that, as a peace was not concluded on
between us at tlie Rock-landing meeting, your demand for property taken by
our warriors from off" the disputed lands cannot be admitted. We, also, have
had our losses, by captures made by your people. We are willing to conclude
a peace with you. but you must not expect extraordinary concessions from us.

In order to spare the further eftusion of human blood, and to finally determine
the war, I am willing to concede, in some measure, if you are disposed to treat

on the ground of mutual concession. It will save trouble and expense, if the

negotiations are managed in the nation. Any person from you can be assured
of personal safety and friendly treatment in this country." It was dated at

Little Tellassee, 30 March, 1790, and directed to "His Excellency Edward
Telfair, Esq." and signed "Alex. J\fGillivray."

This chief seems afterwards to have met with the censure of his people, at

least some of them, in a manner similar to that of JWIntosh recently ; and was
doubtless overcome by the persuasions of designing whites, to treat for the

disposal of his lands, against the general voice of his nation. One Bowles, a

white man, led the councils in opjjosition to his proceedings, and, for a time,

M'Gillivray absented himself from his own tribe. In 1792, his ]>arty took

Boivles i)risoner, and sent him out of the country, and solicited the g(Mieral to

return. § To this he consented, and they became more attached to him than
ever. He now endeavored to better their condition by the introduction of
teachers among them. In an advertisement for a teacher, in the summer of
1792, he styles himself emperor of the Creek nation. His quiet was soon
disturbed, and the famous John Jl'atts, the same summer, with .'iOO warriors,

Cieeks, and five; towns of the (/"hickamawagas, committed many depredations.
The S|)aniards were snp|)osed to be the movers of the hostile party. M'Gil-
livray died at Peiisacola, February 17, 1793, ||

and is tluis noticed in the

Pennsylvania Gaz<;tte:—"This idolized chief of the Creeks styled himself
king of kings. But, ulas, he could neither restrain the meanest fellow of his

^ Milfnrf. .^23, ?,1A: \ See //<./?»(<, Amor, .\nnals. ii. 384.
+ rnlniiol M'il/H'.i Narralivo, 112. " Tlipv were reooivcd willi rrrc^i splendor by the Tam-

many Soriuly, in iho dross oCdioir order." cm their landing. //>.

§ In 1791, lliis Bctwli's, with fi\'c chiofs, was in F,nf;land. and we hnd this notice of him in

ilio Eurojjean Magazine of that year, vol. 1!), p. 2G!) ;

—"The ambassadors consisted of two

Creeks, and of Mr. Jiotr/,\i, (a native of Maryland, who is a Creek by adoption, and tliepres-

e;it g;cnornl of thai nation,) ami three Cherokees. ||
3Iit/oii, SS6.
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nation from the coiximission of a crime, nor punish him after he had commit-
ted it ! He might persuade or advise, all the good an Indian king or chief

can do." This is, geneniily speaking, a tolerably correct estimate of the extent

of the power of chiets ; but it should be remembered that the chiefs of
different tribes exercise very different sway over then- people, according as

such chief is endowed with the spu'it of government, by nature or cux'um-
stance. There is great absurdity in applying the name or title of king to

Indian chiefs, as that title is commonly understood. The first Europeans
conferred the title upon those wlio appeai'ed most prominent, in theu' first

discoveries, for want of another more appropria'te ; or, perhaps, they had
another reason, namely, that of magnifying their own exploits on their return

to their own countries, by reporting their interviews with, or conquests over,

"many kings of an unknown country."

Contemporary witli General M^GUlivray was a chief called the

TAME-KING, whose residence was among the Upper Creeks, in 1791

;

and he is noticed in our public documents of that year, as a conspicuous chief

in matters connected with establishing the southern boundary. At this time
one Bowles, an English trader, had great influence among the Lower Creeks,

and used great endeavors, by putting himself forward as then* chief, to enlisi

all the nations in opposition to the Americans. He had made large promises to

the Upper Creeks, to induce them not to hear to the American commissioners
They so far listened to him, as to consent to receive his talk, and accordingly

the chiefs of the upper and lower towns met at a place called the Half-way-
house, where they expected Bowles in person, or some letters containing definite

statements. When the chiefs had assembled. Tame-king and Mad-dog, of the

upper towns, asked the chiefs of the lowei', " whether they had taken Bowleses

talks, and where the letters were which this great man had sent them, and
where the white man was, to read them." An Indian in Bowleses employ said,
" he was to give them the talk." They laughed at this, and said, " they coidd
hear his mouth every day; that they had come there to see those letters and
hear them read." Most of the chiefs of the upper towns now left the coun-
cil, which was about the termination of Boivles's successes. He was shortly

afterwards obliged to abdicate, as we have ah-eady declared in the life of
M'Gillivray. He returned again, however, after visiting Spain and England,
and spending some time in prison."

Mr. Ellicott observes, f that, at the close of a conference with sundry tribes,

held 15 August, 1799, in which objects were discussed concerning his passage
through their country, that "the business appeared to terminate as favorably

as could be expected, and the Indians declared themselves perfectly satisfied

;

but I nevertheless had my doubts of their sincerity, from the depredations
they were constantly making upon our horses, which began upon the

Coeneuck, and had continued ever since ; and added to their insolence, from
their stealing every article in our camp they could lay then- hands on." Mr.
Ellicott excepts the Upper Creeks, generally, from participating in these rob-
beries, all but Tame-king and his people.

Though we have named Tame-king first, yet Mad-dog was quite as con-
spicuous at this time. His son fought for the Americans in the last war, and
was mentioned by General Jackson as an active and valuable chief in his

expeditious. His real name we have not learned, and the general mentions
him only as Mad-dog^s son.

In the case of the boundary already tjientioned, the surveyors met with fre-

quent difiiculties from the various tribes of Indians, some of whom were
influenced by the Spanish governor, Folch, of Louisiana. Mad-dog appeared
their friend, and undeceived them respecting the governoi-'s pretensions.

A conference was to be held about the 4 May, between the Indians, Governor
Folch, and the American commissioners. The place of meeting was to be upon
Coenecuh River, near the southern estuary of the bay of Pensacola. When

* He was confined in the Moro castle in the Havana, with three Cherokees that accoui-
panied him. This was in 1792. It was said that ihis inveterate enemy of the United States,
Bowles, was wiih the Indians, at St. Clair's defeat.

—

Carey's Museum, xi. 40 +.

fin his Journal. 214.
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the Americans arrived tliere, Mad-dog met them, and informed Colonel
Hawkins, the Indian agent, that two Indians had just gone to the Tallessees
with bad talks from the governor. The colonel told him it could not be pos-

sible. Shortly after, Mad-dog asked Colonel Hawkins and Mr. Ellicott, the
commissioner, if they supposed that Governor Folch would attend at the treaty

;

they said, " Most assuredly." " .Yo," retui-ned Mad-dog, " he will not attend, he

knows lohai I shall say to him about his crooked talks. His tongue is forked,
and, as you are here, he will he ashamed to shoiu it. If he stands to what he has
told us, you will be offended, and if he tells v^ thai the line ought to be marked, he

will contradict himself: but he will do neither ; he will not coine." It turned out
as Mad-dog declared. When it was found tl at the governor would not attend,

the chief went to Colonel Hawkins and Mr. Ellicott, and, by way of pleasantry,

said, " fVell, the governor has not come. I told you so. A man with tivo tongues
can only speak to one at a time." This observation has reference to the gov-
ernor's duplicity, in holding out to the Indians his determination not to suffer

a survey of the boundai-y, while, at the same time, he pretended to the Ameri-
cans that he would facilitate it.*

Mad-dog was an upper town Creek, of the Tuckaabatchees tribe.

9i^ee

CHAPTER VI.

Weatherford—His character and country— Tfic corner-stone of the Creek confed-
eracy—Favors the designs of Tecumsch— Captures Fort Mimms—Dreadful mas
sacre—Subjection of the Creeks— Weatherford surrenders himself—His speeches—
M'Intosh—Aids the Americans—Battle of Autossee— Great slaughter of the Indians—Battle of the Horse-shoe-bend— L'lte troubles in the Creek nation—Jif Tntosh makes
illegal sale of lands—Executed for breaking the laws of his country—Menawwat—^TusTENUGGE

—

Hawkins—Chilly M'Intosh, son of William—Marriage of his

sister—Lovett .

WEATHERFORD, one of the most conspicuous war chiefs of the Creek
nation, demands an early attention, in the biographical history of the late war.
Mr. Claiborne, m his Notes on the War in the South, informs us that,
•* among the fii'st who entered into the views of the British commissioners was
the since celebrated Weatherford

;

" that he was born in the Creek nation, and
whose " father was an itmerant pedler, sordid, treacherous, and revengeful

;

his mother a full-blooded savage, of the tribe of the Seminoles. He partook
(says the same author) of all the bad qualities of both his parents,! and
engrafted, on the stock he inherited from others, many that were pecuUarly
his own. With avarice, treachery, and a thirst for blood, he combines litsi,

gluttony, and a devotion to every species of criminal carousal. (Fortune, in

her freaks, sometimes gives to the most profligate an elevation of mind,
which she denies to men whose propensities are the most vicious.) On
Weatherford she bestowed genius, eloquence, and courage. The first of these

qualities enabled hun to conceive great designs, the last to execute them

;

while eloquence, bold, impressive, and figurative, fiimished him with a pass-

port to the favor of his countrymen and followers. Silent and reserved, unless

when excited by some great occasion, and superior to the weakness of
renderuig himself cheap by the frequency of his addresses, he delivered his

opinions but seldom in council ; but when he did so, he was listened to with
delight and a])i)robation. His judgment and eloquence had secured tfie

respect of the old ; his vices made him the idol of the young and the unprin-
cipled." " In his person, tall, straight, and well proportioned ; his eye black,

lively, and penetrating, and indicative of courage and enterprise ; his nose
prominent, thin, and elegant in its formation ; while all the features of his

* EUicotl's Journal, 203, &c.
t The reader should be early apprized that this was written al a time when same priyudice

viighl have iiiCected the niiiul of liie writer.
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face, harmoniously arranged, speak an active and disciplined mind. Pas-

sionately devoted to wealth, he had appropriated to himself a fine tract ot

land, improved and settled it ; and from the profits of his father's pack, had
decorated and embellished it. To it lie retired occasionally, and, relaxing

from the cares of state, he indulged in pleasures which are but rjirely found to

afford satisfaction to the devotees of ambition and fame. Such were the

opposite and sometimes disgusting traits of character in the celebrated

TFeatherford, the key and corner-stone of the Creek confederacy!"
It is said that this chief had entered fully into the views of Tecumseh, and

that, if he had entered upon his designs without delay, he would have been
amply able to have overrun the whole Mississippi territoiy. But this fortu-

nate moment was lost, and, in the end, his plans came to ruin. Not long
before the wretched butchery at Fort Mirams, General Claiborne visited that

post, and very particularly warned its possessors against a surprise. After

giving orders for the construction of two additional block-houses, he con-

cluded the order with these words :—" To respect an enemy, and prepare in

the best possible way to meet him, is the certam means to ensure success."

It was expected that Weatherford would soon attack some of the forts, and
General Claiborne marched to Fort Early, as that was the farthest advanced
into the enemy's coimti-y. On his way, he wi-ote to Major Beasley, the com-
mander of Mirams, informing him of the danger of an attack ; and, strange

as it may appear, the next day after the letter was received, (30 August,

1813,) Weatherford, at the head of about 1500 warriors, entered the fort at

uoon-day, when a shocking carnage ensued. The gate had been left open
and unguarded ; but, before many of the wsuTiors had entered, they were
met by Major Beasley, at the head of his men, and for some time the contest

was bloody and doubtfiil ; each striving for the mastery of the entrance.

Here, man to man, the fight continued for a quarter of an hour, with toma-
hawks, knives, swords and bayonets : a scene there presented itself almost
without a parallel in the annals of Indian warfare ! The garrison consisted

of 275 : of these only 160 were soldiers ; the rest were old men, women and
childi-en, who had here taken refuge. It is worthy of very emphatical
remark, that every officer expired fighting at the gate. A lieutenant, having
been badly wounded, was carried by two women to a block-house, but when
he was a little revived, he insisted on being carried back to the fatal scene,

which was done by the same heroines, who placed him by the side of a dead
companion, where he was soon despatched.
The defenders of the garrison being now nearly all slain, the women and

children shut themselves up in the block-houses, and, seizing upon what
weapons they could find, began, in that perilous and hopeless situation, to

defend themselves. But the Indians soon succeeded in setting these houses
on fire, and all such as refused to meet death without, perished in the flames
within ! ! Seventeen only escaped of all the garrison, and many of those

were desperately wounded. It was judged that, during the contest at the

gate, near 400 of JVeatherford's warriors were wounded and slain.

The horrid calamity at Fort Mimms, in the Tensau settlement, as it is

called, was not the commencement of the bloody war with the Creek Indians.

The motions of the Shawanee Prophet had been scrutinized by people upon
the fi-ontiers of several states, and memorials from Indiana and Illinois had
been sent to the president of the United States by some of their princii^al

inhabitants, in 1811, calling on him to send out an armed force for their

seciuity.

In the summer of 1812, some families were cut off near the mouth of the
Ohio, and soon after, upon the border of Tennessee, two other families,

consisting of women ancl children, were butchered in a manner too shoclcing
for description ! (Georgia was also a sufferer in the same kind.

In respect to the bloody affair at Fort Mimms, a different aspect has been
thrown around it from that generally given in the histories of the war. The
severe, though probably just reflections of Judge Martin upon the conduct
of the unfortimate Beasley, has passed without contradiction. Not only tiad

that officer been waraed by General Claiborne of his danger, as already
stated, but a Cieek Indian informed hun in a friendly manner that he must

33*
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px])ect an attack in less than two days. When he had niade his conimunica
tion, he left the place, "and was hardly out of sight, wnen 20 or 30 of his

coimtiymen came in view, and forcibly entered the fort. In the attempt to

shut the gate, Beasley was killed : the garrison revenged his death by that

of all the assailants. This first party was, however, soon followed by a body
of about 800: the gai-rison Avas overpowered, the fort taken, and every man,
woman and child in it, slaughtered, with the exception of four priA'ates, who,
though severely wounded, effected their escape, and i-eached Fort Stod-
dard."* Beasley himself was carried into the kitchen of one of the houses
within the fort, and was there, with many others, consumed in the burning
ruins !f
When the news of this affair was circulated through the country, many

cried aloud for vengeance, and two powerful armies were soon upon their

march into the Indian country, and the complete destruction of the Indian
power soon followed. The Indians seeing all resistance was at an end,
great numbers of them came forward and made their submission. TFeather-

_/bn/, however, and many who were known to be desperate, still stood out

;

perhaps fi*om fern*. General Jackson determined to test the fidelity of those
chiefs who had submitted, and, therefore, ordered them to deliver, without
delay, fVeatherford, bound, into his hands, that he might be dealt with as he
deserved. When they had made known to the sachem what was required
of them, his noble spirit would not submit to such degradation ; and, to hold
them harmless, he resolved to give himself up without compulsion. Accord-
ingly, he proceeded to the American camp, unknown, until lie appeared
before the commanding general, to whose presence, under some pretence,

he gained admission. General Jackson was greatly surprised, when the chief

eaid, " I am JVratlierford, the chief ivho commanded at the capture of Fort JMimnis.

I desire peacefor my people, and have come to ask it." Jackson had, doubtless,

determined upon his execution when he should be brought bound, as he
had directed ; but his sudden and unexpected appearance, in this manner,
saved him. The general said he was astonished that he should venture to

appear in his presence, as he was not ignorant of his having been at Fort
Mimms, nor of his inhuman conduct there, for which he so well deserved to

die. "I ordered," continued tlie general, "that you should be brought to me
bound ; and, had you been brought in that manner, I shoidd have known
how to have treated you." In answer to this, fVeatherford made tlie foilow-

jng famous speech :

—

" I am in your power—do loith me as you please—1 am a soldier. I have done
the tvhites all the harm I could. I have fought them, and fought them bravely.

If I had an army, I looidd yetfight—/ would contend to the last : but I have none.

My people are all gone. J can only weep over the misfortunes of my iiation."

General Jackson was pleased with his boldness, and told him tiiat though
he was in his power, yet he would take no advantage ; that he might yet join

the war party, and contend agains^t the Americans, if he chose, but to depend
upon no quarter if taken afterward ; and that unconditional submission was
his and his people's only safety. Weatherford rejoined, in a tone as dignified

as it was indignant,—" You can safely address me in such tentis now. There
loas a time ivhen I could have ansicered you—there ivas a time ivhen I had a choice—/ have none now. I have not even a hope. I coidd once animate my ivarriors

to battle—but I cannot animate the dead. My loarriors can no longer hear my
voice. Their hones are at Talladega, Tallushatches, Emuckfaw and Tohopeka.
I have not surrendered myself ivithout thought. ffOnle there tvas a single chance

of success, I never left my post, nor supplicated peace. But my people are gone,

and I now ask it for my nation, not for myself. I look bafk with deep sorroio,

and toish to avert still greater calamities. If I had been left to contend with the

Georgia army, I would have raised my com on one bank of the river, and fought
them on the other. But your people have destroyed my 7}ation. Yon are a brave

man. I rely upon your generosity. You will exatt no terms of a conquered

veople, but such as they shoidd accede to. JVhatever they may he, it tvould now be

madness and folly to oppose them. If they are opposed, you shall find me

* Marliii's Hist. Louisiana, ii. 31G. v Perkins's Late \Var. IPS
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amongst the sternest enforcers of obedience. Those ivho ivoidd still hold out, can
he influenced only by a mean spirit of revenge. To this they must not, and shall

not sacrifice the last remnant of their country. Yon have told our nation where we
might go and be safe. This is good talk, and they ought to listen to it. They
shall listen to it." And here we must close our present account of Weatherford,
and enter upon that of a character opposed to him in the field, and, if we can
believe the writers of their times, opposite in almost all the affaire of life. This
was the celebrated and truly nnfortiuiate

General WILLLIAM M'INTOSH, a Creek chief of the tribe of Cowetaw.
He wafe, like MGillivray, a half-breed, whom he considerably resembled in

several particulars, as by his histoiy will appear. He was a prominent leader
of such of his countrymen as joined the Americans in the war of 1812, 13, and
14, and is first mentioned by General Floyd,* in his account of the battle, as he
called it, of Autossee, where he assisted in the brutal desti-uction of 200 of his

nation. There was nothing like fighting on the j)art of the people of the
place, as we can learn, being surprised in their wigwams, and liewn to pieces.
" The Cowetaws," says the general, " under MIntosh, and Tookaubatchians,!
under Mad-dog's-son, fell in on our flanks, and fought with an intrepidity

wortliy of any troops." And after relating the burning of the place, he thus
proceeds :

—" It is difficult to determine the strength of the enemy, but from
the information of some of the chiefs, which it is said can be relied on, there
were assembled at Autossee, wari-iors from eight towns, for its defence ; it

being their beloved ground, on which they proclaimed no white man could
approach without inevitable destruction. It is difficult to give a precise

account of the loss of the enemy ; but from the number which were lying

scattered over the field, together with those destroyed in the towns, and the

many slain on the bank of the river, which respectable officers affirm that

they saw lying in heaps at the water's edge, where they had been precipitated

by their sui-viving friends, [! !] their loss in killed, independent of their wouiid-
ed, must have been at least 200, (among whom were the Autossee and Tallassee

kings,) and from the cuxumstauce of their making no efforts to molest our
return, probably greater. The number of buildings burnt, some of a superior

order for the dwellings of savages, and filled with valuable articles, is supposed
to be 400." This was on the 29 November, 1813.

jWIntosh was also very conspicuous in the memorable battle of the Horse-
shoe-bend, in the Tallapoosie River. At this place the disconsolate tribes of the
south had made a last gi-eat stand, and had a tolerably regular fortified camp.
It was said that they were 1000 strong. They had constructed their works
with such ingenuity, that little could be effected against them but by storm.
" Determined to exterminate them," says General Jackson, " I detached General

Coffee wth the mounted, and nearly the whole of the Indian force, early on
the morning of yesterday, [March 27, 1814,1 to cross the river about two miles

below their encampment, and to surround the bend, in such a mannei-, as

that none of them should escape by attempting to cross the river." "£ea?i ;»

company of spies, who had accompanied Gen. Coffee, crossed over in canoi i

to the extremity of the bend, and set fire to a few of the buildings which wei ;

there situated ; they thezi advanced with great gallantly towards the breast-

work, and commenced a spirited fire upon the enemy behind it." This force

not being able to effect their object, many others of the army showed gi-eat

ardor to participate in the assault. " The spirit which animated them was a
sure augury of the success which was to follow." " The regulars, led on by
their intrepid and skilful commander. Col. Williams, and by the gallant 3Iaj.

Montgomery, soon gained possession of the works in the midst of a most tre-

mendous fire from behind tlieni, and the militia of the venerable Gen. Doherty^s

brigade accompanied them in tln' cliarge with a vivacity and firmness which
would have done honor to regulars. The enemy was completely routed.

Five hundred and fifty seven X were left dead on the peninsula, and a great

number were killed by the horsemen in attempting to cross the i-iver. It ia

believed that not more than twenty have escaped.
"The fighting continued with some severity about five hours : but we con-

* Brannan's official letters. t Tuckahaulie Bartram, 447

X These are the general's italics j at least, Branmin so prints his official letter.



392 M INTOSH'S TREATIES. [Book IV

tinued to destroy many of them, who had concealed themselves under the

banks of the river, until we were prevented by the night. This morning we
killed 16 who had been concealed. We took about 250 prisoners, all women
and childi'en, except two or three. Our loss is 106 wounded, and 25 killed.

Major Mcintosh, the Cowetau, who joined my army with a part of his tribe,

jireatly distuiguished himself." * Traly, this was a war of extermination !

'

The friend of humanity may inquire whether all those poor wretches who had
secreted themselves here and there in the " caves and reeds," had deserved

death ?

The most melancholy part of the life of the unfortunate M'Intosh renlains to

be recorded. The late troubles of the Creek nation have drawn forth many
a sympathetic tear fi-om the eye of the philanthropist. These troubles wei-e

only the consequences of those of a higher date. Those of 1825, we thought,

completed the climax of their affliction, but 1832 must sully her annals with

records of their oppression also. It is the former period with which our article

brings us in collision in closing this account. In that year, the government
of the U. States, by its agents, seemed determined on possessing a large tract

of their country, to satisfy the state of Georgia. MUntosh, and a small part of

the nation, were for conceding to their vdshes, but a large majority of his

countrymen would not hear to the proposal. The commissioners employed
were satisfied of the fact, and communicated to the president the result of a

meeting they had had f(;r the purpose. He was well satisfied, also, that

jyrintosh could not convey the lands, as he represented but a small part of his

nation, but still the negotiation was ordered to Ijc renewed. A council was
called by the commissioners, (who wei'e Georgians,) which assembled at a

place called Indian-spring. Here the chief of the Tuckaubatcheese spoke to

them as follows : "We met you at Broken Arrow, and then told you we had
no land to sell. I then heard of no claims against the nation, nor have I since.

We have met you here at a very short notice, and do not think that the chiefs

who are here have any authority to treat. General Mlntosh knows that we
are bound by our laws, and that what is not done in the public square, in the

general council, is not binding on the nation, I am, therefore, under the

necessity of repeating the same answer as given at Broken An-ow, that we
Lave no land to sell. I know that there are but few here from the upper
towns, and many are absent from the lower towns. Gen. Mlniosh knows that

no part of the land can be sold without a full council, and with the consent of

all the nation, and if a part of the nation choose to leave the country, they

cannot sell the land they liave, but it belongs to the nation." " This is the

only talk I have for you, and I shall return home immediately." He did so.

The ill-advised commissioners informed MUntosh and his party, that the Creek
nation was sufficiently represented by them, and that the United States would
bear them out in a treaty of sale. The idea of receiving the whole of the pay
for the lands among themselves, was doubtless the cause of the concession of

M'Intosh and his party. " Thirteen only of the signers of the tieaty were
chiefs. The rest were such as had been degraded from that rank, and un-

known persons ; 36 chiefs present refused to sign. The whole party of

MMosh amounted to about 300, not the tenth part of the nation." Still they

executed the articles, in direct violation to the laws of their nation, which
themselves had helped to form. It must be remembered that tiie Creeks hau

made no inconsiderable advances in what is termed civiKzation. They had
towns, and even jirinted laws by which they were to be governed, similar to

tliosp of the United States.

The tr(>aty of Indian-spiinff, dated 8 January, 1821, gave univei-sal uneasi-

ness ; and, from that day, JWIntosh lost popularity. It was generally believed

that lie had been Uunpered with by the whites to convey to them the inher-

itance of Ills nation ! and the following letter pretty clearly proves such

Buspicions had been justly grounded. It is dated

"Newtown, 21st October, 1823.

** Mt Friend : / am goins; to inform you a feio lines, as afriend. I want yov

'o give me your opinion about the treaty ; \ whether the chiefs toill be wUling or not

* Brannan, ut supra i Tliai ;u liuliaii-spiing;, 8 Jaimary, 1321.
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If the chiefsfed disposed to let the United States have the land, part of it, Iioantyou

to let me know ; I will make the U. States commissioners give you 2000 dollars,

A. M'Coy the same, and Charles Hicks 3000 dollars, for present, and nohody

shall know it ; and if you think the land woulden [shoidd^nt ?] sold, lunll he sat-

istied. If the land should be sold, I will get you the amount before the treaty sign

[is signed ;] and ifyou get anyfriend you want him to received, they shall receive.

jYothing more to inform you at present.
" / remain your affectionate friend, WM. McINTOSH.

"John Ross.*
" »4/i answer return.

"N. B. TAe whole amount is $12,000, you can divide among your friends,

exclusive, $7,000."

Hence there can be no question as to the guilty conscience of Mcintosh,

although some parts of the above letter are scarcely intelligible. He had
mistaken his friend ; Ross was not to be bought ; for three days after the letter

was wi-itten, viz. 24 October, a council was held, and JWIntosh was present

;

the letter was read, and he was publicly exposed.
Notwithstanding what had been done at Indian-Spring, it appears, from the

above letter, that another attempt at selling land was made in 1823, but could
not be carried into effect, the villany of M'Intosh was so apparent ; and it

appears that it could not be brought about until 12 February, 1825, which is

the date of the last treaty made by J\TIntosh.

" jWIntosh was aware, that, after signing the treaty, his life was forfeited.

He, and others of his coadjutore, repaired to Milledgeville, stated their fears,

and claimed the protection of Georgia, which was promised by Gov. Troup."
It must be observed that the greater part of the purchased territoiy was within
the claimed limits of Georgia , | and that the Georgians had no small share in

the whole transaction. It is not stranger that the people of Georgia should
conduct as they have, than that the United States' government should place it

in her power so to act. To take, therefore, into account the whole merits of
the case, it must be remembered, that, by a compact between the two parties

in 1802, the former, in consideration of the latter's relinquishing her claim to

the Mississippi territory, agreed to extinguish, at the national expense, the
Indian title to the lands occupied by them, in Georgia, lohenever it could be

done, upon reasonable terms. % Who was to decide whtn the practicable time
had arrived, we believe was not mentioned. However, previous to 1825, the
United States had succeeded in extinguishing the aboriginal title of 15,000,000
acres, and there were yet about 10,000,000 to be bought off. § The change of
life from wandering to stationaiy, which the aits of civilization had effected

among the Indians, made them prize their possessions far more highly than
heretofore, and hence their reluctance and opposition to relinquish them.
Thus much it seemed necessary to premise, that the time cause of the fate

of Mcintosh should be understood. It appears that when the whole of the
nation saw that the treaty which he and his party had made could not be
abrogated, forty-nine fiftieths of them were violent against them ; and there-

fore resolved that the sentence of the law should be executed upon him.
The execution, and circumstances attending it, are thus related :

||

" About
two hours before day, on Sunday morning, 1 May, IT the house of Gen.
MUntosh was surrounded by Menaw-tvay, and about 100 Oakfuskee warriors.
Mcintosh was within, as likewise were his women and children, and some
white men. Menaw-way directed an interpreter to request the whites, and
the women and children, to come out, as the warriors did not wish to harm
them ; that Gen. JWIntosh had broken the law that he himself had long
since made, and they had come to execute him accordingly. They came
out of the house, leaving Mcintosh and Etomi-tustenugge, one of his adherents,

* Then President of the National Council of the Creeks.

t Perkins, Hist. H. States, a work, by the way, of great value, and which we are surprised

should have issued from the press with little or no notice.

X Amer. An. Regr. i. & Ibid.
||

In the Annual Register, nt supra.

IT 30 April is mentioned, in another part of the same work, as the tlaie of ilie execution,

and so it is set dovni by Mr. Perkins, in his Hist. U. S.
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therein. The warriors then set fire to the house ; and as J\riniosh and his

comrade [Tustenugge] attempted to come out at the door, they shot them
botli doAvn. The same day, about 12 o'clock, they hung Sam Haivkins, a half

breed, in the Huckhosseliga Square. On Monday, the 2 May, a party of
Halibee Indians fired on and wounded Ben Hawkins^ another half bi-eed, very

badly. The chiefs stated, at the time, that no danger whatever was to be
apprehended by persons travelling through the nation ; that tliey were fi-iends

to the whites, and wished them not to be alarmed by this execution, which
was only a compliance with the laws that the great chiefs of the nation made
at Polecat Spring. Chilly jyVIntosh escaped from the house with the whites,

and was not fired at or wounded." He is now chief among the western
Creeks, and some time since increased his notoriety by beating a member of
Congress, in Washington.
The great agitation which the execution of the head chiefs of the M'Intosh

party caused was allayed only by the interference of the United States' gov-

ernment. Governor Troup of Georgia declared vengeance against the Creek
nation, denouncing the execution of the chiefs as an act of murder ; however,
he, by some means, learned that his judgment was gratuitous, and, by advice

of President Adams, desisted from acts of hostility, the survey of the disputed

lands, &c.
We have not learned much of the femily of JM^Intosh. His principal resi-

dence was on the Chattahoochie, where he had two wives, Susatmah and
Peggy, one a Creek, the other a Cherokee woman, and this is the place where
he was killed. About 50 miles from this place, on the western branch of the

Tallapoosa, he had a plantation ; here lived another of his wives, named Eliza.

She was the daughter of Stephen Haivkins, and sister to Samuel and Benjamin
Hawkins,* whose fate we have just related. On 14 August, 1818, Jenny, his

eldest daughter, was mamed to fFilliam S. Mitchel, Esq., assistant Indian

agent of the Creek nation. They were mamed at a place called Theacatchkah

near Fort Mitchel, in that nation. \

General M'Intosh participated in the Seminole campaigns, as did another

chief of the name of Lovett, with about 2000 of their warriors. They joined

the American army at Fort Scott in the spring of 1818. J

9ii>eii

CHAPTER VIL

Creek war continued— View of the Creek country— General Jackson ordered out

against them—Relieves Chinnaby—Shelokta—Path-killer—Capture of Litta

fulche—The Tallvshatches destroyed liy General Coffee

—

Battle of Talladega—
Jlnecdote—Massacre of the Hnllibecs—Farther accotint of Autossee battle—Buttle of
Camp Defiance—Timpoochie—Battle of Erka/iakaka—Pusham ata— U'eatherford
—Jim Fife—Battle if Emnkfa^i—4 second battle—Fife's intripidity—Battle of
Enotocliopko— Tohopeka—End of the Creek war—Death of three Prophets—
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His exploits—.'Inecdote—Mur-
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—

Miishalatubec—Pushamata—Speech of Miishalatubec and

of Pushamata to Lafliyette at Washington—Pushamata dies there—Hillishago
visits England—Excites the Seminoles to tear—A modern Pocahontas—Hornot-
MME11

—

Massacres a boat's crew in Apalachlcola River—Is captured icith Hillis-

hago, and hanged—Neamathla—Removal of the Florida hidiaiis— Their wretched

condition— M'Q,VEEJi—Rich in lands and slaves—Flies to Florida, and loses his

effects.

At this period the Creek Indians occupied a country containing about 900
square miles; bounded on the north by Tennessee, east by Georgia, south by
the Floridas, and west by the Mississippi; the soil and climate of which
could not be considered inferior to any in the United States. These Indians,

consisting of Creeks, |)ro]>crly so called, Chikasaws, Choktaws, and Chero«

* Report of llic Sclccl Coinmitlce of llie House of ReprosciilMtivos, ['. 8., 578, «fcc.

\ Niles's Register, If, 'f(»7. } N. Y. Monthly Mag. iii. 74.
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kees, had for a long time been on amicable terms with their white neighbors,

exchanging then- furs and other articles with them for such others as their

wants required. This state of things, but for the breaking out of the war in

Canada, might, and would, in reason, have continued, and the great Creek

nation would have increased, and at this day have gamed vastly in population

and importance, instead of being dismembered, its inhabitants sent into

banishment, and finally ruined. Intermai-riages between Indians and whites

had become frequent, from which a race of half-breeds were springing up,

and instead of slaveiy, the Indian women were taking their proper places in

society, and the men were cultivating the fields. And notwithstanding the

Prophet and Tecumseh had used all their eloquence to engage them in an
early quarrel, it was not until they heai-d of the success of the British at Mai-
den, that they decided on talting up the hatchet, generally. Such was the

alacrity among the northern Indians on the capture of General Hull, on the

16 August, 1812, that runners arrived fi-om among them to the Creeks some
lime before it was Icnown to tlieir white neighbors.

For the horrid butchery at Tensau, the followei's of Weatherford, Monohoe,

and JWOuin, or jWQiieen, were shortly to atone, in the most summary man-
ner. There was a great encampment of Creeks under Weaiherford, at the

Tallahasse. or Tallushatches towns, on the Coosa River, a northern branch of

the Alabama. The eyes of the south seemed to centre upon General Jackson

to execute vengeance on the Indians, and notwithstanding he was confined to

his room, from a wound in the arm, which he had lately received in a private

quarrel, when the news of the massacre amved in Tennessee, the governor of

that state issued an order to him to raise 2000 men with all possible despatch,

and rendezvous at Fayetteville. Colonel Coffee was already in the field.

Jackson's march into the enemy's countiy was hastened by a false alarm, and
when he had got into the Indian country, he found himself almost destitute

of provisions for his army, which caused considerable delay. At a place on
the Tennessee River, called Ditto's Landing, General Jackson met with Colonel

Coffee's regiment. Here he remained several days, but despatched Coffee

with 700 men to scorn- the Black Warrior River. At Ten Islands, on the

Coosa, was a band of friendly Creeks, at whose head was a chief named
Chinnaby. This chief had a kind of fort there, and was now blockaded in it

by the war party. Chinnaby, hearing of Jackson's position, sent his son, She-
LOKTA, also a principal chief, to the general's camp, for relief, who, without
loss of time, marched up the river, but was obliged to encamp at the distance

of 24 miles fi-om Dittoes, from the failure of his supplies. While here, Path-
killer,* a Cherokee chief, sent two runners to hun, confirming the former
news, and that without immediate relief, they said, they should be immediate-
ly cut oflT, for the hostile Indians were assembling in great force from nine
towns. Jackson now resolved to move on, and told the messengers of Path-
killer to speak thus to their chief from him :

—

" The hostile Creeks will not attack you until they have had a bru^h loith me,

and that, I think, loill put them out of the notion offighting for some time."

When the army had arrived within a few miles of the Ten Islands, it was
met by Chinnaby. This old chief had succeeded in capturing two hostile

Creeks, which he gave up to General Jackson. The army was yet about 16
miles fi-om the Indian encampment, and in a lamentable condition for want of
provisions ; insomuch, that almost any one but Jackson would have despaired,
and given up the campaign ; but his resolution was not to be shaken, and he
happily diffused his spirit mto his men. He said, in a letter to Governor
Blount, that ivhilst they could procure an ear ofcom apiece, they would not give
up the expedition.

* We would here observe that Path-killer was, in 1822, a Christian chief, and governed
in the same tribe with the famous Mr. Charles Hicks ; and his residence was in that year 25
miles from Turkeytown. The missionary, Mr. Butrick, notes in his Journal, that Path-killer

was " the king or Jirst beloved man, of the Cherokee nation," and that Mr. Hicks was '' the

tecond beloved man." Path-killer had had a son murdered by some white man, before this

visit, and complained of the outrage, and said he had written twice to the presidjnt of tbe

United States about it. Both these chiefs died in the winter of 1826.
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On the 28 October, Colouel Dijer returned from the capture of a town
called Littafutche, on the liead of Canoe Creek, which empties into the Coosa
from the west. His force consisted of 200. cavalry, and they brought ui 29
prisoners, chiefly women and childi-en.

The Indians were now di-awn off from Ten Islands, and had taken post at
Tallushatches, on the south side of the Coosa. Coffee was immediately
despatched with 900 men to attack them. This he did on the 3 November,
sun about an hour high in the morning. A number of men in advance of the
main body, sent forward for the purpose, drew out the waniors from their
cabins, who made a fierce attack upon them. The Americans gave way by fall-

ing back upon the main body, agreeably to their preconcerted plan, which had
the good effect of bringing the Indians at once into their power. Having fii-ed

upon them, they made a successful charge, and soon obliged them to shelter
themselves in their wigwams. Colonel Coffee says, "The enemy retreated
filling, until they got around, and in their buildings, where they made all the
resistance that an overpowered soldier could do—they fought as long as one
existed, but their destruction was vei-y soon completed. Our men rushed up
to the doors of the houses, and in a few minutes killed the last warrior of
them. The enemy fought with savage fuiy, and met death with all its horroi-s,

without shrinking or complaining—not one asked to be spared, but fought as
long as they could stand or sit. In consequence of their flying to their houses,
and mixing with the families, our men, in killing the males, without intention
killed and wounded a few of the squaws and children." In this sanguinary
aftair, 186 Indians were killed ; and the commander thought, that there were
enough others killed in the woods, which they could not find, to make up in
all 200. This calculation, he observed, he thought a reasonable one. They
took captive 84 women and children, and " not one of the warriors escaped
to carry the news ; a cu'cumstance unknown heretofore!" The vvhues had
5 killed and 41 wounded ;

" none mortally, the greater pai-t slightly, a imnber
with aiTOws : this appears to form a very principal part of the enemy's arms
for warfare ; every man having a bow with a bundle of arrows, which is used
afl;er the first fire with the gun, untU a leisure time for loading ofFere."

The destruction at Tallushatches was rendered the more complete by their

being entirely surrounded on every side by the troops. Some have said that

even the women united with the warriors, and contended in the battle with
fearless bravery. This may account for many that were killed ; but Greneral

Coffee does not mention it.

Meanwhile General White had been detached to Turkeytown, for the reliel

o^ Path-killer, and he was now ordered to join the main army, with as much
expedition as he was able. This request was transmitted on the 4, and
renewed on the 7 November, 1813 ; and on the evening of the same day, an
Indian brought news to the general, that Talladega was besieged by a great

body of the enemy, and would certainly be destroyed, unless immediately
relieved. Talladega was a fort occupied by friendly Creeks, about 30 miles
below Ten Islands.

Without loss of time, Greneral Jackson marched to relieve Talladega. His
operations were conducted with such promptitude, that by midnight following
the same day, he w;is within six miles of his enemy. Here he encamped
until about daylight. Tlien moving on, at sunrise he came within half a mile
of the Indian encampment, which was only about 80 rods from Fort Talla-

dega. The general, having formed his line of battle like the Spanish Armada,
moved on to the attack. The Indians were not taken by surprise, but rushed
upon their adversaries with such imjietuosity that they made considerable

impression in one part of the line ; insomuch, that a consiilerable body of
militia gave way. Their places being immediately sujjplied by the mounted
men, the Indians fought but a short time, before they were obliged to fly for

the mountains, about three miles distant. In tlieir flight they wei*e hard pressed

by the right wing of tlie Americans, and great numbers were cut do\vn. lu

the whole aflfair, 299 w(T(! killed, that were found, of the Indians ; and the

whites lost 15 in killed, and 8.5 were wounded, several of whom afterwards

died. Over 1080. Indians were said to have heen engaged, and some of tliein

afterwards said their loss at the battle of Talladega was (jOO.
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It was expected that a supply of provisions would arrive at Camp Strother

at Ten Islands, before the army should return there ; but on its arrival, a total

failm'e was experienced by the hungry soldiers ; even what had been left

behind of the general's private stores had been distributed—it was a melan-
choly time, indeed, and reminds us of the sufFerhigs of captives in the old

Indian wars, who were obliged to subsist upon berries and I'oots. It was
during this campaign that a circumstance occurred which has been variously

related ; and, as it is an excellent anecdote, we will lay it before our readers.

One morning, a soldier, with a doleful countenance, approached General
Jackson, and told him he was almost famished, and knew not what to do. The
general was seated at the foot of a tree, and was observed by the poor half-

starved soldier to be eating something. This no doubt caused him to make
his complaint, thinking it a fevorable time to have his wants relieved. The
general observed, that it was never his custom to turn away a hungry person,

when he had it in his power to relieve hmi ; then, putting his hand into his

pocket, took out a handful of acorns, and, offering them to his astonished

guest, observed, that such was his fare, and all he had, but to that he was
welcome. The soldier went away contented, and told his companions they
ought no more to complain, so long as their general was obliged to subsist

upon nothing but acorns. Out of this grew the story, that the general having
mvited his officers to dme with him, set nothin^^^efore them bu*. a ti-ay of
acorns and some water.

Meanwhile mutiny after mutiny took place in (General Jackson's ai my, and
the campaign came near being abandoned. A circumstance, too, occurred
about this time, ever to be lamented. General Cocke, of East Tennessee,
considering himself possessed of a command independent of Jackson, gave
his orders to some brigadiers, at the same time that General Jackson did.

General White chose to act under General Cockers orders, and this occasioned
some confusion, and, in the end, the lamentable affair to which we have just

alluded, and of which we now proceed to give an account.

The Hallibee Indians, who had been the principal sufferers at Talladega,

had despatched ambassadors for General Jackson's camp, to sue for peace
which they would accept on any terms he might please to grant them. Al
the same time these proposals were out, General WJiite mai'ched against theu

towns, and on the 18 November completely siu-prised them ; killed GO war-
riors, took 2o6 prisoners, and made good his retreat without the loss of a

man.
The Indians thought they had been attacked by General Jackson's army,

and that therefore they were now to expect nothing but extermination ; and
this was thought to be the reason why they fought with such despei-atioxi

aftei-wai-ds. And truly they had reason for their fears : they knew none but

Jackson, and supposed now that nothing short of their total destruction would
satisfy him. as their conduct exemplified on every occasion. They knew
they had asked peace on any terms, and then- nn mediate answer was the

sword and bayonet. A company of Cherokees aided not a little in this affair.

We have given the chief features of the battle of Autossee, when diawuig
a sketch of the life of M'Intosh. Here may be added some other matters of

history, for the better understanding the events of the memorable Ci-eek war.

Autossee is situated on the south bank of the Tallapoosie, 18 miles from the

Hickory Ground, and 20 above the junction of that river with the Coosa.

With General Floyd's white troops were four companies of friendly Indians.

.Wlntosh led the Cowetaus, and Mad-dogs-son the Tookaubatchians, or Tuka-
batchies. The names of the other leaders are not set down, but there wei'e

doubtless several of them, as there were about 350 wai'riors who accompanied
the expedition. That sm-e work was intended, will not be doubted, when it

is known that the force, exclusive of Indians, was 950 men. When the army
airived near the place where it was expected Indians would be found, and
having discovered one small town before it was light in the morning, the

general was surprised immediately after by the discovery of another. This
was filled with men who had been apprized of his approach, and were pre-

pared for battle. The order of battle was immediately changed, and the army
proceeded in two divisions to attack botli towns at once. The besiesej-Si

34
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being provided with artillery, soon accomplished their work, £uid all the
resistance the Indians seem to have made, was in endeavoring to effect a
retreat into caves and other hiding-places. Nevertheless, the Georgians had
11 killed outright, and 54 wounded. Among the latter was General Floya
himself severely, and Adjutant-General JVewman slightly.

JWIntosh and Mad-dogs-soti's loss was considerable, but was not thought of
unportance enough to be communicated by their allies, who were gi-eatly

indebted to them, if, indeed, destroying theu- ovm countrymen made them so.

They did not, however, do so much butchering as they intended, or, rather, as

they agreed to do ; for tlie day before tiie massacre, they agreed to post them-
selves on the opposite side of the river, and to kill all who should attempt an
escape. Had they done this, very few would have escaped.

After resting a few days, General Floyd mai-ched to Camp Dcfi.-tnce, 50
miles directly into the Indian country, and westward of Autossee. li if, early

in the morning of 2 Januai-y, the hostile Indians killed his sentinels before they
were discovered, and then with great fury attacked his camp, and for a quarter

of an hour continued to fight with bravery. By this time the army had got
formed in order of battle, and soon obliged the Indians to fly. One company
of whites, mider Captain Broadnax, had its retreat cut oft" by the assailants, and
escaped only by cutting its way through them.

In this fight, TiMPoocHiE-BARNUEL, or Barnard, a half-breed, chief of the

LTchiee, commanded a company of then), and, in the language of the general,
" gi-eatly distinguished himself" It was owing to his promptness, that Cap-
tain Broadnax was enabled to effect a retreat. The enemy, in that manosuvre,
had advanced within 50 yards of the artillery. All the other part of the Indian
army took shelter within the lines, and looked on during the contest.

xVfter this battle, 37 Indians were found dead on the field, as the wliites

reported ; and of their own number 17 were killed, and 130 wounded. At the

first onset. General JVeivman had three balls shot into him, which prevented
his further service ; and several of the principal officers had their- horses shot

under them. How the Indians under Timpoochie fared in these particulars,

we have not yet learned.

JVeathcrford, Francis, Sinquistws-son, with some Shawanese, had established

tliemselves on the Alabama, above the mouth of the Cahaba, and there built a

town, which they called Eckanakaka. Its name signified that it was built

Uj)on holy ground ; and hence the prophets told then* followers that thej^ had
nothing to far, as no jjolluted and murderous whites could ever enter there.

However, General Claiborne, at the head of a small army, accompanied by a
band of Choktaws under Pushamata,the'u' chief, resolved to make a tiial of the

virtue of the Indian prophets' pretensions.

Wealherford and his followers, being apprized of the approach of the army,
had put themselves into an attitude of defence. On 23 December, 1813, as

tlie army approached, they were met by the Indians, and a short engagement
followed. As usual, the Indians gave way, and were pursued ; but as their

town was surrounded by fastnesses, few were killed in the pursuit. Thirty
were found dead of the enemy Indians, and of tlie army, two or three were
killed, and as many wounded. This was quite an Indian depot, the captors

having found here "a large quantity of provisions, and inunense ])roperty of
various kinds." It was all destroyed with the town, which consisted of 200
houses: the women and children had only time to escape across the Alabama.
The next day, another town was destroyed, eight miles al)i)ve, consisting of 60
houses. We will now proceed with General Jackson, until he puts an end to

the Creek war.

On the 17 January, 1814, General Jackson marched, at the head of 930 men,
from near Fort Strother, for the heart of tlie enemy's country. In his route

lay Talladega, the residence of Fife, a noted warrior, anil friend of tlie whites;

and here he joined the army with 200 of his men. The Intlians were sup-

i)08<;d to be assembled in great numbers, at the Great Bend of the Tallapoosie,

iVom 14 or 15 of their towns upon that river; and it was daily expected that

they would attack Fort Armstrong, in their vicinity, which was in no state to

meet them. It was the news of its situation, that caused Jackson to march to

its unmediate relief. Wlien he had arrived at Hallibee Creek, the general,
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from the accounts of his spies, supposed he must be iu the imme<3iate vicinity

of the enemy, and he soon after encaniptxl at a small Hallibee village, called

Euotochopko. Here he discovered that he was 12 miles from the enemy,
who were upon an island in the Tallapoosie, near the mouth of a creek called

Emukfau. The next day the army encamped very near Emukfau, and had
every sign of being hju'd by the adverse Lidians. The order of encam|)meut
was that of battle, and every precaution was taken to guard against surprise

About 6 in the morning of the 22d, the warriors from Emukfau fell with great

force upon Jacksoii's left flank, and the left of his rem- ; and although the

attack was made iu full confidence that they should rout their adversaries, yet

they were disappointed, and no ground was gained by the onset. Tlie assail-

ants fought with a determined braverj', and it was near half an hour before

they could be made to retu'e. The Americans, having encamped in a hoUoAV

square, met the attack at advantage, but it was only at the point of the bayonet,

that the Indians wei-e put to flight. Fife, at the head of his warrioi-s, joined in

the pursuit, which contumed about two miles, with considerable havoc.

Matters did not end here ; for, in a short time, the Indians returned again to

the attack, and with greater success tlian before. They attacked a picket at

advantage, at a small distance from the main body, and General Coffee, in his

turn, attacked the left flank of the attacking party. As his number of men was
small, he soon found himself iu imminent danger of being entu-ely cut ofl".

General Jackson, seeing this, ordered Fife to advance to his rescue, which he
did with the utmost promptitude. This attack of the enemy was upon the

right flank, and was, as it turned out, only a feint to weaken the left by draw-
ing the force from that quarter to its support ; but the general was not to be

oiuwitted by such a manceuvre. He kept the left; flank firm, and the alaruj

gun soon gave notice, that that part was assailed. The general here met the

enemy in person, seconded by Colonel Carroll, who ordered the charge, and
led on the pursuers. The friendly Indians were successful at this time also,

slaying many of their countrymen as they fled.

Meanwhile General Coffee had got deeper into difficulty, and was contend

-

mg at fearful odds with a brave band of warriore, and was again relieved by
the Indians under Captain Fife. This, Fife was enabled to do, only by charg-

ing them with the bayonet. The enemy seemed determined to wrest their

coimtr}- from the uivadei"s, and retired slowly, at first, as men driven from
their countiy will always do. Fife and his conu-ades pursued them about

three miles, killing 45 of them, which they found afterwards. The reason of

Coffee's great peril, was this, Fife having been ordei-ed to his rescue before the

attack on the left was made the second time ; and now, hearing the fij-ing in

that du-ection, supposed his aid was more needed hi that quarter: and thus

Coffee was left without support He was severely wounded, and his aid-de-

i.amp. Colonel A. Donaldson, and three others, were slain.

General Jackson, not having provisions for a longer stay, and being con-

siderably crippled, began a retreat to Fort Strother. The most memorable
part of this expedition is yet to be related. The Indians now supposed the

Americans were beaten, or they would not i-etreat. They therefore resolved

to pursue and hai-ass them. Jackson expected this, and marched, in order of
Itattle, through one dangerous defile after another. At length, on the morning
of the 24, after having nearly passed one of the most dangerous places, at

Enotochopko Creek, his rear was attacked in a spirited manner ; and although

it was not at all unexpected, yet the columns gave way, and a good deal of
confusion and slaughter ensued. At length, a six-pounder was, with gi-eat

difficulty, dragged up a small eminence which commanded the battle-gi-ound,

and being charged witii grape-shot, did great execution, and was a principal

niians of putting the enemy to flight.

The getting the cannon up the hill was done at the greatest peril ; tlie men
W'ho undertook it being sure marks for tlie enemy, having nothing lo screen

tiiem in the least. By the time they had discharged it once, Lii iitiuant .in/t-

stroni:, Captain Hamilton, of East Tennessee, Captains £ra //'ore/ and .li'G'urocA-,

had all fallen. Bradford exclaiuied, as he lay, ^^ My brave fellows, some of yon
may full, hut you must save (he cannon.''^

liie army havuig, mcanthiie, recovered from their panic, attaekLd in ;iit_-.r
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turn, and the Indians were every where put to flight, and pui-sued about two
miles. The Indians' loss in this battle was 189, that were found. The Amer-
icans had, in both days' fights, 24 killed, and 71 wounded. It was evident
now, that the Indians were satisfied that they were not victors, fiar in their

flight they threw away their packs and arms in abundance, and tlie army met
with no further molestation during their return march.
We have now arrived to the termination of the Creek war. It ended in the

battle of the Great Bend of the Tallapoosie, as we have related in the life of
M'Intosh. This bend, usually called the Horse-Shoe, by the whites, was
'.ailed by the Indians Tohopeka, which, in their language, it is said, signified a

horse-shoe : therefore the battle of Tohopeka, the Great Bend, and the Horse-
Shoe, are one and the same.
Nothing could be more disastrous to the deluded Creeks than this batrie.

The loss of their gi-eat prophets was, however, the least. Three of them, and
the last upon the Tallapoosie, fell among those whom they had made believe

that no wounds could be inflicted upon them by the whites ; and incredible

us it may seem, that although they had witnessed a total failure of all their

prophecies hitherto, sucli was the influence those miserable impostors held
over the minds of the warriors, that they still believed in their soothsayuigs,

and that then- incantations would at last save them, and that they should finally

root out the whites and possess their country. Such are the errors of delu-

sions in all ages—it is visible in all history, and will continue to be so until a
knowledge of the nature of things shall diffuse itself, and the relation of cause
and effect be mox'e extensively known.
MoNOHOE was one, and we believe the son of Sinquistur was another, who

fell in the great battle of Tohopeka. In one of his accounts of the battle,

General Jackson observes : "Among the dead was found their famous prophet,
Monohooe, shot in the mouth by a grape shot, as if Heaven designed to chastise

his impostures by an appropi'iate punishment." The manner in which he was
killed, required but little aid from the whites to satisfy the Indians that he was
a false prophet, and it was soon genei*ally believed among tluun.

These prophets were decorated, says Colonel Eaton, " in the most fantastic

mannei*—the plumage of various birds about their heads and shoulders ; with
savage gi-imaces, aud horrid contortions of the body, they danced and howled
their cantations." Monohoe, in the very act of divination, muttering to the

eun, with eyes almost strained from their sockets, and his limbs distorted in

every possible unnatural direction, received his death wound. The faith of
the waniors in such abommable fooleries must now have been shaken ; but

the Hallibee massacre was alone sufl[icient to account for their desperation—as

we have seen, their most submissive offers of peace had been met by tiie

sword—all confidence therefore in the humanity and integrity of the whites,

had, in theii* muids, been forfeited. From every appearance it was evident
that they had determined to conquer at Toho|)eka, or never to survive a defeat

;

for they did not, as on former occasions, send away tlieir women aud children

:

about 300 of these were taken.

Whether the fauious prophet HUlishago, or Fi-ancis, were in this battle, is

not known. On 18 April, 1814, General Jackson wrote from his camp, at the

junction of the Coosa and Tallapoosie, saying, " Peter .li' Qu?n has been taken,

but escaped ; he must be taken again. Hillishagee, their great ]jrophet, has
also absconded ; but he will be found." In this, however, as will be seen,

the general was no prophet ; for Francis and M^Qiieen were both alive in 1817.

The friendly Indians rendered the Americans most efficient aid in this

battle, and their loss in killed and wounded was greater in proportion to their

numbers than that of the whites. Li all 23 were killed, and many more were
wounded.

It was sujjposed by General Floyd, that in the battle of Autossee he had
killed the famous prophet and king of Tallassee, but it turned out not to be so,

for he fell into the hands of the Americans afl;ei-wards. He wjis supposed to

be a Iiuiidred years old, his head being entirely white, jind bowed almost to

the ground. Ilis name, we believe, was Enedli-lhliikkoliupoiee. He was taken

about the time of Weatherford's stu'renrier ; and but for the protection afforded

him by the whites, tiieir friends, tln3 Creeks, would have put him to death
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without mercy But Wealherford had nothing to fear from them : they care-

fully avoided meeting, and when any by accident or necessity came into hia

presence, they were observed to tremble with fear. Such is the difference in

the carriage and aspect of men.
We will close the present chapter by detailing some particulars in the lives

of several distinguished chiefs.

It was very seldom that the names of any chiefs appeared in the accounts

of the late war, but they were many, especially in the south, and deserved as

much notice, and often more than many that did receive it. When the war
was over, some of them occasionally visited Washington, and the novelty of
then- appearance sometimes caused them to receive such notices as follows

:

" On the 8th ultimo, [Feb. 1816,] arrived Col. Return J. Meigs, the agent of
the U. States in the Cherokee nation, with a deputation fx'om the nation, con-

sisting of Col. Lowry, Maj. Walker, Maj. Ridge, Capt. Taylor, Adjt. Ross, and
Kunnesee. These Indians are men of cultivated understandings, were nearly

all officers of the Cherokee forces which served under General Jackson during

the late war, and have distinguished themselves as well by their braveiy as by
their attachment to the U. States."

In June following, another deputation visited the capital of the United
States, of whom it was said, then* appearance was such as entitled them to

the highest respect. The delegates wei'e from the Chickasaws, and consisted

of General William Colbert, the great war chief of that nation. Major Jame*
Colburt, interpreter ; Ettissue ; Mingo, the great warrior ; Appasantubbee, a

chief; Chastauny and Colleetchee, warriors. Most of these fought for the

whites in the south. General Colbert was now aged, havuig fought with the

Americans in St. Claires army, with seven others of his counti-ymen ; one of

whose names was Piomingo, or the Mountain-lader, of whom we shall pres-

ently speak.

In the late war, while his men were preparing to join the Americans, Col-

bert, impatient to be unemployed, joined the third regiment of the United
States infantry. When he had sei-ved with them nine months, he returned

to his nation, collected his warriors, and marched to Fort Montgomery on the

Alabama, from thence against Pensacola, crossed the Esauibia, and pursued
the hostile Creeks almost to Apalachicola, killing many of them, and return-

ing to Fort Montgomery with 85 prisoners. He and his comrades were now
at Washington, to obtain a settlement of the boundaries of their counti-y.

Accordingly commissioners were sent into their country, and on the 20 Sep-

tember following, [1816,] a treaty was entered into. In this treaty Colbert is

styled Major-General, and by the sixth aiticle of it he was allowed an annuity

of 100 dollars during life. His name is not to the treaty of Hopewell, made
10 January, 1786, but that of Piomingo is. To that of Chikasaw Bluffs,

24 Octobei-, 1801, instead of his mai-k, we find W. C, which shows that he
had been paying some attention to learning ; but in subsequent treaties his

mark agam appears.

From the cncumstance that the name of Piomingo is not seen to any of the

•j-eaties after that of Colbert appears, induces the belief that he is the same
person, and that, from his attachment to the whites, he took one of their

names.
Piomingo is thus mentioned by General St. Clair, on his airival at his

quarters. "Oct. 27. Payamingo arrived in camp with his warriors. I was
so unwell, could only see hun and bid him welcome." " Oct. 29. Payamingo
and his people, accompanied by Captain Sparks, and four good riflemen,

going on a scout ; they do not propose to return under 10 days." We have
no account of the success of the excursion, but they did not join the army
again until after the defeat, which took place six days after. As they were
proceeding to Fort Jefferson, one of the enemy mistook them for his com
panions, and was captured before he discovered his mistake. Piomingo
accosted him with harsh language, saying, " Rascal, you have been killing white

men!" He then ordered two of his men to extend his arms, and a thira to

shoot him. When this was done, and his scalp taken, they proceeded to join

the army.
We learn the name of orn other who was Avith .S^. Clair. He was caUe«*

34* 2A
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James Anderson, aud was brother to the chief John Monis, who, Q3 June,

1793, was miirderetl not above (300 paces from Governor BlounVs house, in

Knoxville. He was shot by some unknown persons. The governor ordered
him to be buried in tbe burying-ground of the white people, with militai^

honors. A procession was formed, headed by himself, and he was inteired

with great respect.

In 1793, the Spaniards of Louisiana made large offers to the Chikasaws, to

induce them to forsake the Americans ; but their offers were treated with
contempt, especially by Piomingo.
MusHALATUBEE was a Chikasaw chiof, with whom General Lafayette

became acquainted in his last visit to this country. His first knowledge of
him, as will appear from the following extracts out of M. Levasseur^s work,
"Lafayette en Amerique," &c., was at the residence of the "sage of
Monticello."

.Miishalatiibee, and Pushamata. a Chocktaw chief, already mentioned, were at

Washington when the general arrived there, in December, 1824, being there

at the meeting of congress, according to custom, with many other chiefs,

to brighten the chain of friendship, receive presents, and make known the
wants of their countrjanen. At this time Mushalatuhee made the following
agreeable s])eech to General Lafayette.

" You are one of our fathers. You have fought by the side of the groat

Washington. We will receive here your hand as that of a friend and father.

We have alwaj's walked in the pm-e feelings of peace, and it is this feeling

which has caused us to visit you here. We present you pure hands—hands
that have never been stained with the blood of Americans. We live in a

comnry far from this, where the sun darts his perpendicular rays upon us.

We have had the French, the Spaniards and the English for neighbors ; but
now we have only the Americans ; in the midst and with whom we live as

friends and brothers."

Then Pushamata, the first of their chiefs, began a speech in his tm-n, and
expressed himself In these words :

" There has passed nearly 50 snows since

you drew the sword as a companion of Washington. With him you have
combated the enemies of America. Thou hast generously mingled thy blood
with that of the enemy, and hast proved thy devotedness to the cause which
thou defendedst. After thou hadst finished that war, thou hadst returned
into thy country, and now thou comest to revisit that land where thou art

honored and beloved in the n^membrance of a numei-ous and powerful peo-
ple. Thou seest every where the children of those ibr whom thou hast

defended liberty, crowd around thee, and press thy hands with filial affection.

We have heard related all these things in the depths of tlie distant forests,

and our hearts have been ravished with a desire to behoki tiiee. We are

come, we have pressed thy hand, and we are satisfied. This is the first time
that we have seen thee,* and it will probably be the last. We have no more
to add. Th(! earth will part us forever."

"In pronouncing these last words, the old Indian had in his manner tuid

voice somrtliing very solemn. He seemed agitated by some sad presenti-

ments. We heard of his death a few days after; he was taken sick, and
died hcfon! ho coidd set out to retmn to his own j)ooplo. When satisfied

that his end was approacliing, he caused all his com])anions to l)o assembled,
and he desired tlieni to raise him up, and to put u{)on him all his ornaments,
and bring to him his arms, that his death should he that of a man's. He
manifestod a desire that at his interment the Americans anouUI do him mili-

tary honors, and that they would discharge cannon over his grave. They
promised him that it should be done ; he then talked freely with his friends,

and expired without a groan in the midst of conversation." His monument
occupies a j)lacc among the great men in the cemetery at Washington. Upon
tu(> side is this inscription :

—

" They might not have been iiitrodiircd to ilie general when he saw them at Mr. Jefferson's.

M. Leiiasseur says, in speaking of the Inflian deputation, " A lenr tete etaieid deux chef: nut

nous avians i'0?« s'asseoir unjour a la tnhU </" M. Jefferson, pendant notre s^our h Moiiiicello.

Je les reconnus h leurs oreilles decotipees en tongues lanUres, garnies de tongues lames de
p/omb."
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'•PUSH-M.\-TAHA, A ChOCTAW CHIEF, LIES HERE. ThIS MONUMENT TO HIS
MEMORY IS ERECTED BY HIS BROTHER CHIEFS, WHO WERE ASSOCIATED WITH
HIM IN A DKtEGATION FROM THEIR NATION IN THE YEAR 1824, TO THE GENERAI.
eOTERNMENr OF THE UnITED StATES."

And on the other

:

"PuSH-MA-TAHA was a WARRIOR OF GREAT DISTINCTION. He WAS WISE
IN COUNCIL, ELOQUENT IN AN EXTRAORDINARY DEGREE ; AND ON ALL OCCA-
SIONS, AND UNDER ALL CIRCUMSTANCES, THE WHITE MAn's FRIEND. He DIED
IN Washington, on the 24th of December, 1824, of the cramp, in the
60th year OF his age."

That Pushamata, or Pushmataha, was a warrior, has been said. In the late

war with England, he assisted in subduing his countrymen at the south. In
General Claiborne's army he distinguished himself, particularly in the battle

of the Holy Ground, (called by the Indians Eccanachaca,) upon the Alabama
River, 80 miles from Fort Claiborne. Here the celebrated Weatherford re-

sided, also HiUishas;o the prophet.

In the treaty which the chiefs and waiTiors of the Choktaus held with the

U. S. commissioners, 18 October, 1820, " at the treaty ground, m said nation,

near Doak's Stand, on the Natches Road," the following passage occurs:
"Whereas the father of the beloved chief Mushulatubee, of the lower towns,
for and during his life, did receive from the United States the sum of 150
dollars, annually ; it is hereby stipulated, that his son and successor, Mushula-
tubee, shall annually be paid the same amount during his natural life," Hence
it would lead us to suppose, without further investigation, that both the father

and son had rendered the country very miportant services.

x\s has been tho case in all former Indian wars, so in the present, every
neighboring Indian is viewed with distrust. No sooner had the present
existing Seminole war begun, than, by report at least, hundreds of the Creeks
were leaving their country for Florida, to join their hostile neighbors. Early
this spring, 1836, it was reported far and wide that the Chocktaws had taken
up the hatchet. This occasioned a national council to be called, which
assembled on the 12 May. The venerable chief Mushulatubee was present,

and, among other things, said, "It makes my heart bleed to be accused of this

treachery, when it is well known I and my tribe have fought side by side with

Gen. Wayne, Jackson, and others, against the Seminoles, Creeks and British."

HiLLisHAGo, or HILLIS HADJO, it appears, survived General Jackson's

campaigns, and, not long after, went to England, still hoping to gain assist-

ance from that nation to enable him to operate with effect against the Ameri-
cans. He was, upon his return, the immediate instigator and cause of the
Seminole war, having taken up his residence among that nation, unable to

stay longer in his own country. The belief was imposed upon him by some
abandoned English traders, that there was a provision in the treaty of Ghent
for the restoration of their country. He received much attention while in

England, and some encouragement, but nothuig absolute. An English
joui-nal thus mentions his arrival:—"The sound of trumpets announced the
approach of the patriot Francis, who fought so gloriously in our cause in

America during the late war. Being di-est in a most s|jlendid suit of red and
gold, and wearing a tomahawk set with gold, gave him a highly imposing
appearance."
He received large presents from the king's stores, but, it is said, that of

these he was chiefly defrauded aftei-wards by the notorious Woodbine, who,
it seems, accompanied him in his travels.*

About the end of November, or beginning of December, 1817, a war party
of Seminoles captured an American, and conveyed him immediately to their

principal village, called Mikasauky. Here it appears dwelt Francis and his

family. The American, whose name was M'Knmvwn, was ordered to be
immediately burnt to death. The stake was set, M^Krimmon, with his head

* Seminole War Documeiils, p. 23, published by order of congiess.
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shaved, was bound to it, and wood was piled up about him. When the

Indians had finished their dance, and the fire was about to be kindled, a

daughter of the chief, named Milly, who had been witnessing the preparations

with a sad countenance, flew to her father, and, upon her knees, begged that

he would spare the prisoner's life ; and it was not until, like the celebrated

Pocahontas, she showed a determination to perish with him, that her father

consented to prolong his life for the present. It was still his intention, if

he could not sell the victim for a certain sum, to have carried his former pur-

pose into effect ; but on oflTering him to the Spaniai'ds, at St. Marks, the

demanded sum, 7h gallons of rum, was paid for him, and thus his liberation

was eflTected.

Afl;er Francis fell into the hands of the Americans and was hanged, his

family, consisting of a wife and several daughters, surrendered themselves to

the Americans at St. Mark's. The youngest daughter, Milly, about fourteen

years of age, was treated with great attention by all the officers for having
saved the life of M'Kiimmon. She was said to have been very handsome.
When M^Krimmon heard of her being among the captives, he went and offei-ed

himself to her as a partner. She would not, however, receive him, until

satisfied that he was pi-ompted to oflTer himself from other motives than a

sense of the supposed obligation of his life having been saved by her.

Mikasauky was the chief rendezvous of the war paity, and had been known
dt least a century by the name of Baton Rouge. This name was given it

by the French, and the Anglo-Americans called it the Red Sticks, to avoid
*he use of the same name in French. Hence the Indians who made this

theii* quarters, were called Red Sticks. At this period they had revived the

practice of setting up poles or sticks, and striping them with red paint, which
was only when they intended wai". The Americans, not knowing their prac-

tice, supposed these poles were painted with red stripes in derision of their

liberty poles. Mikasauky, now Red Sticks, was upon a border of Mikasauky
Lake.
HORNOTLIMED, or as General Jackson called him, "Homattlemico,

an old Red Stick," was another prmcipal Seminole chief, whose residence

was at Foul Town in the beginning of the war ; but, being driven fi-om

thence, he repaired to Mikasauky. Three vessels having aiTived at the

mouth of the Apalachicola on the 30 November, 1817, with military stores for

the supply of the garrison, were, from contrary winds, unable to ascend-

Lieutenant Scott was despatched for their assistance, hi a boat with forty men.
The old chief Homotlimed, who had just before been driven from Foul Town,
by a detachment of General Gaines's army, with a band of his warriors, had
concealed themselves in the bank of the river ; and when Lieutenant ScoV
and his men returned, they fired upon them, and all except six soldiers, wJic

jumped overboard and swam to the opposite shore, were lulled. Twenty of
the soldiers had been left for the aid of the ascending vessels, and about the

same number of women and sick were in their places. These fell into the

hands o^ Homotlimed and his warriors, who dashed- out their brains upon the

sides of the boat, took off" theii- scalps, and can-ied them to Mikasauky, where
they exhibited them upon their red pole, in memory of their victory. This
chief and his companion, Hillishago, were doomed shortly to expiate with
their lives for this massacre.
The Mikasauky town was soon after visited by the army, but the Indians

had all fled, their red pole was left standing, and the scalps upon it ; many of
which were recognized as having been taken from Lieutenant Scott^s men.
At langth a vessel cruising neai- the mouth of Apalachicola River, to prevent

the esca])e of the Indians in that direction, with English colors displayed,

decoyed on board the famous chiefs, Homotlimed, and the prophet Francis.

These th(! Americans hanged without trial or delay.

NEAMATHLA was a warrior of note and renown, before the wai- of 1812
with Great Britain. He was a Seminole chief; hut whore his residence was
previous to that war we have not heard ; but afi:er tlic Seminole WiU", he lived

upon a good estate, at Tallahassee, of which estate a mile square was under
improvement. This, in 1823, .Ycamatlila, at the head oi' the chiefs of his

nation, gave up, with other lands, lor :lie benefit of the United States, by a
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ti'eaty which t!iey made witli its agents at Mouhrie Creek, in Florida, on the

18 September of that year.

In an additional article of said treaty, we read—" Whereas JVea Mathla,

John Blount, Tuski Hajo, Mullato King, Emathlochee, and Econchatimico, six

of the principal chiefs of the Florida Indians, and parties to the treaty to

which this article has been annexed, have warmly appealed to the commis-
sioners for permission to remain in the district of country now inhabited by
tliem, and in consideration of their friendly disposition, and past services to

the U. States," it was agreed that JVeamatMa and his followers should have
four square miles, embracing Tuphulga village, on Rocky Comfort Creek

;

Blount and Hajo a tract on Apalachicola River ; Mullato King and Emathlochee

upon the same river ; and Econchatimico on the Chatahoochie. With jYea-

mathla there settled 30 men ; with Blount, 43 ; Mullato King, 30 ; with Emath-
lochee, 28 ; with Econchatimico, 38 : the other Florida Indians, by the same
treat)', were to remove to tlie Amazura, or Ouithlacooche river, upon the

peninsula of Florida.

But whether "the other Florida Indians" had any hand in making this

treaty, does not appear, though from after circumstances, there is no proba-

bility that they had. Hence two facts are duly to be considered concerning

this transaction, as they have led to fatal mistakes : one is, as it concerns the

number of the Semiuoles ; and it will be asked. Were their numbers greatly

underrated, that it might seem that those who made the treaty were the most
important part of the nation ? If this problem come out affirmative, then,

I say, this mistake, or imposition upon the mhabitants of the United States,

has been a fatal one. The other fact or cuTumstance resolves itself into

another problem, but not more difficult of solution than the other. It may be
thus stated : Had these few chiefs any authority to stipulate for, or bind any
others but themselves.-' If not, where is the obligation for them to leave

then- country and habitations ? But I forbear to pursue this subject further

in this place, and will return to JVeamathla.

The United States agreed by tlie same treaty to award 500 dollars to JVea-

viathla, as a compensation for the improvements abandoned by him, as well

as to meet the expenses of his removal.

A word more of the countrymen of JVeamathla, who emigrated to the

western coast of the peninsula, before we proceed to other subjects. " The
land," says Mr. Williams,* to which they are " legally banished, consists of diy

sand ridges and interminable swamps, almost whoUy unfit for cultivation

;

where it has cost the U. States more than then- land was worth to support them.
They are now in a starving condition; they have killed the stock of the

American settlers, in every part of the territory, to support themselves,

already ; and there is no present prospect of their situation becoming im-

proved." What is calculated to add to their miserable condition, is the limits

within which they are restricted ; they are not allowed to go nearer than within

15 miles of the sea, A garrison was established at Tampa to supply them with

necessaries, and keep them in order. Recent events, however, had consid-

erably changed then- condition before the commencement of the present dis-

tressing war, aiid they are found much more numerous, and far better off, as

to resources, than was supposed they could be.

A chief, ^vhom the whites called Peter McQueen, has been incidentally

mentioned, in oiu* account of the Creek war. His Indian name was Taljiu-
CHES Hatcho, and he belonged to the tribe of Tukabatchie. In 1814 he fled

before the Americans under General Jackson, and took up his residence in

Florida, and was among others declaimed an outlaw. In 1817 he was chief of
the Tallapoosies, and resided upon the Oklokne or Okoloknee River, and was
styled "an old Red Stick." He was one of the 12 Creek chiefs who gave Mi-.

JUexander Arbvthnott power of attorney to manage their affau's. This was done
on the 17 June, 1817. He was a chief of consequence, possessed a valuable

property, in lands and uegi'oes. His eflTects were seized upon as lawful booty,

about the time of his escape from Tukabatchie. A half-breed, by the name
of Barney, shared 10 negroes that had belonged to him, and a chief called

* Account of Florida, 72, 73.
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Auchi-hxitche, alias Colonel, had 20 more. To the persons who had made
phinder of his slaves, he protested, they could have no claim u])on him, and
that he had never injured them. He therefore applied to Mr. R. Arbuthnott,
to iniercede with the officer at the United States military post, Fort Gaines, for
some relief; tliis he did in a very respectful letter, but with what success, we
are as yet unprepared to speak.

KING-PAINE was a chief who might have demanded early attention, but
who, not having been very conspicuous but in a single affaii-, has been defer-
red to this place. Early in 1812, at the head of sundry bands of Seminoles
and negroes, who had run away from their American masters, King-paine
issued forth in quest of blood and plunder. There were several other chiefs
at the same time, (among whom Bow-legs * was conspicuous,) Avho assisted in
making war on the frontiers of Georgia. Whether either or both of the
above-named chiefs commanded the daring party, who, on 11 September,
1812, attacked and defeated a small force under Captain Williams, Ave are not
certain ; but it is certain that they commanded a large force soon after, when
General JVeioman marched against them, and fought him with desperation.
Captain Williams, with about 20 men, was convoying some loaded wagons
towards Davis Creek, and when widiln about 10 miles of their destination,

they were attacked by a party of Indians and negroes, supposed to be 50 in

number. Although the whites were few, they protracted the fight until all

their ammunition was expended, their captain mortally wounded, and six

others slightly. They then effected a retreat, leaving their wagons in the
hands of their enemies. Two of the Americans were killed, and, it was sup-
posed, a much greater number of the enemy.

Expecting a force would be soon sent against them, King-paine, with Bow-
legs as his lieutenant, marched out from the Lotchway towns, at the head of
150 wai-riors, as was supposed. They were not disappointed with regard to a
force being sent against them, for in the mean time General iN'ewman,\ of the
Georgia volunteers, marched with 117 men to destroy the Lotchway towns.
Wlien he had arrived within about sLx miles, he fell in with the Indians, all

of whom were mounted. It appears the parties met unexpectedly, and no
time was lost on either side in preparing for battle. Having dismounted, the
Indians advanced a few paces, hopbig thereby to intimidate their advei-saries

;

but JVeioman, at the same time, ordered his men to charge, which being
promptly obeyed, the Indians were put to flight. The batde-ground, being
sku'ted with swamps upon three sides, was advantageous for the operations of
the Indians ; nevertheless, before gaining these coverts, a well-directed fire

stopped the flight of many, among whom was King-paine himself, and Bow-
legs was severely wounded; but this was only the commencement of the
fight ; for no sooner was the fall of the great chief known among his men,
than they I'eturned and charged in their turn, but were again forced to fly,

leaving the ijody of their leader in the hands of the whites. This, more tliun

any, or all considerations together, wrought up their minds to desperation,

and they determined on its recovery, or to sacrifice themselves in the attempt

;

and they accordingly returned again to the charge, which, it is said, was met
with firmness by the whites, who, after encountering several shocks, again
succeeded in routing them ; but they immediately returned again, with greater
fiiiy than before, and with greater success ; for they obliged the Americans to

give ground in their turn, and after some time spent in this most desperate
work, they succeeded in recovering the body of King-paine, and carried it off.

Their loss in the several charges was unknown, but supposed by the whites to

have been about 30 ; while, on their own side, they report but one killed and
nine wounded. This fight was on the 26 September, and lasted abo.ut four
hours.

* To a document exhibited in the trial of Arbuthnott and Ambrister, his name is signed
BoLECK. This was probably his real name, which required but a slight corruption lo change
it into Bow-legs.

t Thomson (Hist. War, 51) writes this officer's name Newnan; but Bninnayi, Perkins, and
Brackenridge, all write it as in the text. There is a town in Florida ca.'ed NewnansviUe
where a newspaper is printed.
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The wJiites were greatly distressed after tins fight, for the Indians were
reinforced, and harassed them until the 4 October, when they gave up the

business and retired. General JSTeiuman, having thrown up a slight work, was
able to prevent being entirely cut off, and at length retreated out of the coun-
try. The Indians did not give up the siege until they had been pretty severely

cut up. The whites, by concealing themselves on the night of the 3d, made
them believe they had abandoned their fort ; and they came up to it in a body
without apprehending danger ; when on a sudden they received a most deadly
fii'e, and immediately fled.

We shall close this chapter with some revolutionaiy and other matters.

The Cherokees had engaged not to operate with the British, towards tlie close

of the war ; and what is very singular, all the time that the greatest successes

attended the British arms, they strictly adhered to their engagement ; and it

was not until the fortune of war had changed, and the Americans had become
masters of nearly all the country, that many of the ill-fated Indians, instigated,

no doubt, by abandoned white desperadoes, fell upon the settlement called

Ninety Six, killing many persons, and burning several houses. Upon this,

General Pickens took the field, at the head of a band of mounted men, and in

about five weeks following the 10 September, 1781,* finished this Cherokee
war, in which 40 Indians were killed, 13 towns destroyed, and a great number
of men, women and children taken prisoners, f A white man by the name of
Waters was supposed to have been the prime mover of the Indians, who with
a few of them fled through the Creek country into Florida, and made good
their escape.

On 17 October, 12 chiefs and 200 warriors met General Pickens at Long
Swamp Creek, and a treaty was concluded, by which Geoi-gia acquired a
large accession of territoiy. J

We have next to relate the bold exploits of a Creek warrior, of the r.ame
Guristersigo. § The British held possession of Savannah, in June, 1782, and
General Wayne was sent there to watch their motions. On the 21 May, Col-
onel Brown marched out of Savannah to meet, according to appointment,
a band of Indians under Emistessigo, or Guristersigo. But some difficulty

among the Indians had delayed their march, and the movement of Brown was
disastrous in the extreme. General Wayne, by a bold manoeuvre, cut off" his

retreat, fell upon him at midnight, killed 40 of his men, took 20 prisoners, and
the rest escaped only under cover of darkness. In this fight Wayne would
not permit a gun to be fired, and the execution was effected wholly with the

sword and bayonet ; the flints having been previously taken from the soldiers'

guns.

3Ieanwhile, Emistessigo was traversing the wliole transverse extent of Geor-
gia, (strange as it may seem,) without being discovered, except by two boys,

who were taken and killed. It was the 24 June, however, before he arrived

in the neighborhood of General Wayne, who was encamped about five miles
fi'om Savannah. Wayne did not expect an attack, especially by Indians, and
consequently was completely surprised. But being well seconded by his

officers, and happily resoi-ting to his favorite plan of fighting, extricated him-
self from imminent danger, and put the Indians to flight, after a hard-fought
battle.

The plan adopted by the Indian chief, though simple, was wise ; but in its

execution he lost some time, which was fatal to him. He captured two of
Wayne's cannon, and while endeavoring to turn them upon the Americans,
they had time to rally. And, as the sword and bayonet were only used by
them, no chance was left the Indians to take advantage of position from the
flashes of the guns of their adversaries. If Wayne merited censure for being
taken thus unprepared, he deserved it quite as much for exposing himself in

the fight beyond what prudence required ; but moi-e than all, for putting to

death 12 prisoners who had been decoyed into his power, after the fight.

The severest part of the action was fought at the cannons. Emistessigo was
oath to relinquish such valuable trophies, and he did it only with his life.

* Johnson's Life of Green, ii. 347. + Lee's Afomo^rs. 382, 383

X Johnson's Life of Green, ii. 348.

§ Lee. Dr. Holmes writes Emistessigo Annals, ii. 3)0.
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Seventeen of his wamors fell by his side, besides his white guides. He
received a spear and two bayonets in his l^ody before he fell, and encouraged
his warriors to the last. When he began to faint, he retired a few steps, and
calmly laying himself dowai, breathed his last without a groan or struggle.

This chief was six feet three inches high, weighing about 2:20 pounds, bear-

ing a manly and expressive countenance, and 30 years of age ; and General
Lee adds, " Gwistersigo died, as he had lived, the renowned warrior of the

Overhill Creeks." In this singular affair but 12 Americans were killed and
wounded. Among the plunder taken from the Indians were 117 packhorses,

laden with peltrj'. Exertions were made to capture those warriors that es-

caped from the attack on Wayne's camp, but so well did they understand die

country, that not one of them was taken.

Although not in the order of time, we will introduce here one of the earliest

advocates for temperance that we have met with among the Indians. This
person, though a Creek, was a descendant, by his ovra account, of the renown-
ed Gi'angula. His name was Onughkallydawwy-grangulakopak. All we know
of his history, can be told in a few words, and but for one speech of his which
happened to l3e preserved, even his name we had never perhaps heard. That
he lived in 1748, and was eminent for his good morals, except the speech,

before mentioned, is all we know of him. As to the speech, which is so highly

extolled, it has, like numerous others, we are of opinion, passed through too

many hands to be considered by all who may meet with it as genuine ; never-
theless, throwing aside all the unmeaning verbiage with which it is encumbered,
an Indian speech might remain that would be read with pleasure. As it stands

in the work before us,* its length excludes it from our pages, and we shall select

but few sentences. It was delivered in a gi-eat council of the Creek nation,

and taken do^vn in short hand by some white present, and about four years

after came into the hands of an agent of Sir fFilliam Johnson, thence into the

hands of sundry others.

"Fathers, Brethren, and Countrymen.—We are met to deliberate.

Upon what ?—^Upon no less a subject, than whether we shall, or shall not be a

people ! " "I do not stand up, O countrymen ! to propose the plans of war,

or to direct the sage experience of this assembly in the regulation of our alli-

ances : your wisdom renders this unnecessary for me."—" The traitor, or

rather the tyrant, I arraign before you, O Creeks ! is no native of our soil; hut

rather a lurking miscreant, an emissary of the evil principle of darkness. 'Tis

that pernicious liquid, which our pretended white friends artfully introduced,

and so plentifully pour in among us ! "—" O, ye Creeks ! when I tiiunder in

your eai-s this denimciation ; that if this cup of perdition continues to rule

among us, with sway so intemperate, te will cease to be a nation ! Ye will

have neither heads to direct, nor hands to protect you.—While this diabolical

juice undermines all the powers of your bodies and minds, with inoffensive

zeal, the warrior's enfeebled arm will draw the bow, or launch the speai* in the

day of buttle. In the day of council, when national safety stands suspended
on the lips of the hoary sachem, he will shake his head with uncollected spirits,

and drivel the babblings of a second childhood."

The above, though not a third of the speech, contains chief of all that was
intended to be conveyed in several pages. A true Indian speech need not
here be presented to show the difference of style between them ; but as we
have a very good one, by the famous Creek chief. Big-warrior, not elsewhere
noticed, it shall be laid before the reader. It was delivered at the time Gen-
eral Jackson was treating with the Creeks, about the close of the last wai* with
England, and was in reference, as will he seen, to the conditions demanded of
the vanquished. And, although Big-warrior was the friend of the Americans,
yet he now felt for his countrymen, and after saying many other things, con-
cluded as follows :

—

" The president, our father, advises us to honesty and fairness, and promise!

* Sermons, &c., by Reverend f^^lliam Smitli.
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that justice shall be done : I hope and trust it will be ! I made this war,

which has proved so fatal to my country, that the treaty entered into a lung

time ago, with father Washington, might not be broken. To his friendly

arm I hold fast. I will never break that bright chain of friendship we made
together, and which bound us to stand to the U. States. He was a father to

the Muscogee people ; and not only to them, but to all the people beneath the

sun. His talli I now hold in my hand. There sits the agent he sent among
us. Never has he broken the treaty. He has lived with us a long time. He
has seen our childi'en born, who now have children. By his direction, cloth

was wove, and clothes were made, and spread through our country ; but the

Red Sticks came, and destroyed all ;—we have none now. Hard is our
situation ; and you ought to consider it. I state what all the nation knows

:

nothing will I keep secret.—There stands the little warrior. While we were
seeking to give satisfaction for the murders that had been committed, he
pi'oved a mischief-maker ; he went to the Bntish on tlie lakes : he came back,

and brought a package to the frontiers, which increased the murders here.

This conduct has already made the war party to suffer greatly ; but, although
almost destroyed, they will not yet open their eyes, but jire still led away by
the Bi-itlsh at Pensacola. Not so with us. We were rational, and had our
senses. We yet are so. In the war of the revolution, our father beyond the

waters encouraged us to join him, and we did so. We had no sense then.

The promises he made were never kept. We were young and foolish, and
fought with him. The British can no more persuade us to do wrong. They
have deceived us once, and can do it no more. You are two great people.

If you go to war, we will have no concern in it ; for we are not able to fight.

We wish to be at peace with every nation. If they offer me arms, I will say

to them. You put me in danger, to war against a people bom in our own land.

They shall never force us into danger. You shall never see that our chiefs

are boys in council, who will be forced to do any thing, I talk thus, knowing
that father Washington advised us never to interfere in wars. He told us

that those in peace were the happiest people. He told us, that if an enemy
attacked him, he had warriors enough, and did not wish his red children to

help him. If the British advise us to any thing, I will tell you—not hide if.

from you. If they say we must fight, I will tell them. No,"

He had previously spoken of the causes of the war, and of the sufferings it

had brought upon them, but asked indulgence from compassion. The fine

tract of country, now the state of Alabama, was argued for by Shelokta, another
famous chief, who had large claims on the whites, but Jackson would not
concede. This chief had rendered them the greatest services in the war, and
appealed to Jackso7i^s feelings, by portraj'uig the dangers they had passed
together, and his faithfulness to him in the most trying scenes ; but all availed
nothing.

Big Warrior was a conspicuous chief for many years. In 1821, one of his

nation undertook to accompany a Mr, Lmcas as a guide, and killed him by the
way. Complaint was immediately made to Big-ioarrior, who ordered him
to be executed without delay. In 1824 he was the most noted among the
opposers of the missionaries. In this it was thought he was influenced by the
Indian agents, which opinion was perhaps strengthened from the fact that a
sub-agent. Captain Walker, had married his daughter. He was head chief of
the nation when General Mlntosh forfeited his life by breaking the law of
the nation in selling a part of the Creek country. The troubles of his nation
having brought him to Washington, at the head of a delegation, he fell sick
and died there, 8 March, 1825.* He was a man of colossal stature, and pro-
portionate physical powers ; and it is said " his mind was as colossal as his

body," and that he had done much towards improving the condition of his

countrymen. He had a son named Tuskehenaha.

* Niks' s Register, xxviii. 48.—By a passage in the report of a committee of congress on
'he Creek eifiairs in 1827, it would seem that Big-warrior died as early as February,

35
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CHAPTER VIII.

Grounds of tne Seminole War—Circumstances of those Indians misundersiood—Just

ness of the War—Neamathla deposed— Treaties—Of MouUrie Creek—Paijne's

Landing— Council at Camp King—Is broken up by Osceola—It is renexced, and a
party agree to emigrate—Osceola's opposition—Is seized and put in irons—
Feigns a submission and is released—Executes an agreement to comply with the

demands of the whites— The physical condition of the Indians.

Having, in a former chapter of this our fourth book, given many of the

necessary particulars for a right understanding of the former Florida war, it

will not be necessary here to repeat the same, and w^e shall, therefore, proceed
at once to a notice of the grounds of the present war with the Indians in that

region.

It has been formerly said, that nearly all the Indian wars have the same
origin ; and, on attentively examining the subject, it will be found that the

remark has much oY truth in it. The Seminoles of Florida have been found
quite different from what they had been supposed. Every body had consid-

ered them a mere outcast remnant, too much enfeebled by their proximity to

the whites, to be in the least dreaded in a war. Indeed, such conclusion was
in perfect accordance with the accounts which were circulated among intelli-

gent people ; but the truth seems to be, people have always been misinformed
on the subject, owing chiefly to the ignorance of their informers. Nor is it

strange that misinformation should be circulated, when it is considered that

the vei-y agents who lived among them, and those who made treaties with

them, could not give any satisfactory account as to their numbers or other

circumstances. General Jackson, in 1817 and 18, made an easy matter of
ravaging a part of Florida. His being opposed but by very few Indians, led

to the belief that there were but few in the country. The war of 1814 A^"as

then too fresh in their recollections to suffer them to adventure too much, and
tlie probability is, that but few could be prevailed upon to join in a war again

so soon. Hence, one of two conclusions must now evidently be fixed upon,

—

either that the Seminole Lidians were much more nnmerous, 20 j'ears ago,

than what was supposed, oi" that they have increased veiy considerably within

that time. For my part, I am convinced that both conclusions are correct.

When we are told, that at such a tune, and such a place, commissioners
of the United States government met a delegation of the principal chiefs of the

Southern Indians, and made a treaty, the articles of which wei'e satisfactory

to the Indians, two or three queries present themselves for solution ; as, bj

wnat means have the chiefs been got together ; what other chiefs and jirinci-

pal men are there belonging to such a nation, who did not parricipate in the

business of the treaty. Anxious to effect their object, commissioners have
sometimes practised unwarrantable means to obtain it ; especially in encour-
aging sales of territory by a minority of chiefs, or gaining their consent to a

removal by presents.

In the early part of the p)"esent war, the number of Seminole warriors was
reckoned, by persons upon the spot, at 2000; but they have generally, since

that period, been rated higher. But it is my opinion, that 2000 able men, led

by such a chief as Osceola has proved himself to be, are amply sufficient to do
all that has been done on the part of the Indians in Florida, in 1835 and G.

There can be but one opinion, among discerning peo])le, of the justness of
the present war, as it appears to me ; nevertheless, however unjustly created,

on the part of the whites, the most efficient measures should have been taken,

in its earliest stages, for its suppression ; because, the sooner it is ended, the

fewer will be the sacrifices of lives ; to say nothing of the concomitant suffer-

ings of individuals, and destructions of property. It has been frequently

asked, what the executive and the congress of the nation have been about all

this time ! A f(nv soldiers have been sent to Florida at a time ; some have
been cut off, and the services of others rendered .'ibortive, by some childish

i)ickerings among their officers about "precedency of rank." But whose fault
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ll is that those officers should have been there under conimissiou.e vj in-

structions of such a nature as to set them iu such an awkward posilj i in

respect to each other, I will not take upon me to state, the facts heii y of
sufficient notoriety.

A writer has given the following facts relative to the Seminoles recently,

and, as they are suited to my course of remarks, I give them in his own
words :—" Shortly after the cession, [of Florida to the U. S.] a treaty was
made by which the Seminoles consented to relinquish by far the better part

of their lands, and retire to the centre of the peninsula,—a quarter consisting

for the most part of pine barrens of the worst description, and terminating

towards the south in unexplored and impassable marshes. When the time
came for the execution of the treaty, old jYeha Mathla, the head of the tribe,

thought it savored too much of the cunning and whiskey of the white man,
and summoned his warriors to resist it. Gov. Duval, who succeeded Gen.
Jackson in the chief magistracy of this territory, broke in upon his war council,

deposed the war leaders, and elevated the peace party to the chieftaincies.

The Seminoles retired peaceably to the temtory assigned them, and old .Ye^
Mathla retired to the Creeks, by whom he was raised to the dignity of a
chief."

The next erent of considerable moment in the history of the Seminoles, is

the treaty of Payne's Landing. Of this affair I am able to speak in the lan-

guage of the principal agent in it, on the part of the whites. The individual

to whom I refer. General JFiley Thompson, will be particularly noticed here-

after, from the melancholy fate which he met in the progress of this war.

I ha\e, in a previous chapter, spoken of the treaty at Moultrie Creek ; but,

before gomg into the particulars of that at PajTie's La)iding, it will be neces-

sary to make a few additional obsers ations. The Indians who consented to

that treatj', by such consent agreed " to come under the protection of the U.
States, to give up their possessions, and remove to certain restricted boundaries
in the territory, the extreme point of which was not to be nearer than 15 miles

to the sea coast of the Gulf of Mexico. For any losses to which they might
be subjected by their removal, the government agi-eed to make liberal donations,

also to provide implements of husbandry, schools, &c., and pay an annuity of
5000 dollars for 20 years ; besides which there were presents of corn, meat,

&c. &c. It was required of the Indians that they should prevent absconding
slaves from takuig refuge among them, and they were to use all proper exer
tions to apprehend and deliver the same to their proper owners."

Our account next goes on to state, that the harmony which existed at the

conclusion of this treaty was vei-y great, and that the Indians were so well

satisfied with its provisions, " that they had a clause expressly inserted, by
which the United States agent, 3Iajor Gad. Humphreys, and the interpreter,

Richards, were to have each one mile square, in fee simple, as a mark of the

confidence they reposed in these officers of the government."
Before this treaty was carried into effect, the Indians were intruded upon,

and they gradually began to be rather slow in the delivery of the runaway
negroes. Clamors were therefore loud against them, and difficulties followed,

in quick succession, for several yeai's. At length it was determined that the

Seminoles should be, somehow or other, got out of Florida, and the treaty of
Payne's Landing was got up for this object.

Accordmgly, in 1832, on the 9th of May, a treaty was entered into " on
OcklaAvaha River, known by the name of the treaty of Payne's Landing,
by which they stipulated to relinquish all their possessions iu Florida, and
emigrate to the countiy allotted to the Creeks, west of the Mississippi ; in con-
sideration of which the government was to pay 15,400 dollars, on their arrival

at their new home, and give to each of the warriors, women and children one
blanket and one homespun frock. The whole removal was stipulated to take

place within three years after the ratification."

What object the government could have had in view by stipulating that the

Indians should deliver into its hands all their cattle and horses, previous to

their emigi-ation, I know not, unless it was the intention of its agents to

speculate in stocks ; or perhaps the mode by which the Indians were to lie

transpoited would not admit of their being transported with thej\i. Be tliis
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as it might, we shall see tliat this stock affair was among the beginning of tli9

sparks of war.
It appears that between 1832 and 1834, it had become very apparent that

no removal was intended by the Indians ; and it was equally apparent that

those who had engaged a removal for the nation, were not the fii-st people in

it,—and, consequently, a difficulty would ensue, let the matter be urged when
it would. General Thompson was the government agent in Florida, and he
(whether with advice or without, I am not informed) thought it best to have a
talk with some of the real head men of the nation, upon the subject of removal,
which he effected about a year before the time of removal expired, namely, in

the fall of 1834.

Meanwhile, the chief who had been put in the place of JS/eamathla, by Gov-
ernor Duval, had been executed, by some of the nation, for adhering to the

whites, and advocating a removal beyond the Mississippi. The name of the

chief executed upon this account was Hicks. To him succeeded one nam.ed
Charles, or, as he is sometimes called, Charles Omathla, and he shai*ed the same
fate not long after. Nme warriors came into his council, and learning that lie

insisted upon a removal, shot nine bullets through his heart! No more douijt-

ful characters were now raised to the chieftaincy, but a warrior, named Louis,
well known for his hostility to the whites, was made chief

In the council which General Thompson got together for the purpose of
holding a talk, as has been remarked, appeared Osceola, and several other
distinguished chiefs. This council was held at Fort King, and was opened
by General Thompson in a considerable speech, wherein he endeavored to

convince the Indians of the necessity of a speedy removal ; urging, at the same
time, that their owTi safety, as well as that of dieir property, requu-ed it ; and
requested their answer to the subject of his discouree, which he presented in

form of propositions. " The Indians retired to private council, to discuss the

subject, when the present young and daring chief Aceola {Powell) [Osceola]
addressed the council, in an animated strain, against emigration, and said that

any one who should dare to reconmiend it should be looked upon as an enemy,
and held responsible to the nation. There was something in his manner so

impressive and bold, that it alarmed the timid of the council ; and it was
agreed, in private talk, that the treaty should be resisted. When this was made
known to the agent, he made them a long and eloquent harangue, setting forth

the dangers that surrounded them if they were subjected to the laws of the

palefaces, where a red man's word woidd not be taken ; that the wliites might
make false charges against them, and deprive them of then' negroes, liorses,

lands, &c. All this time Aceola was sitting by, begging the chiefs to remain
firm." When this was finished, a chief, named

" HoLATEE Mico, said the great Spirit made them all—they had come from
one woman—and he hoped they would not quan-el, but talk until they got

tlirough." The next chief who spoke was named
MicANOPEE. He was the king of the nation. All he is reported to have

said was, that he had no intention to remove. " Powell then told the agent
he had the decision of the chiefs, and that the council was broken up. In a
private talk, an old chief said he had heard much of his great father's regard
for his red cliildren. It had come upon his ears, but had gone dirough
them ; he wanted to see it with his eyes ;—that he took land from other red

skins to pay them for theirs, and by and by he would take that also. The
white skins had forked tongues, and hawks' fingers ; that David Blount told

him the people in the great city made an Indian out of paint, and then sent

after him and took his lands, (alluding to the likenesses of the chiefs, in the

war department, at Washington.) He wanted, he said, to sleep in the same
land with his fatliei-s, and wished his children to sleep by his side."

The plea set up, that Sjiain ceded Florida to the United States in 1819,

without any provision for those Indians, need only to be noticed to show its

absurdity. It is worthy of remai'k, that when the right of the Seminoles to

the lands of Florida was talked about, the idea was derided by many influential

men ; but when such persons desired to take possession of some of the

territory, they seemed more inclined to acknowledge the Indians' rights by
agreeing to pay them for them, than of exercising either their own right,or that
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of the United States, by taking uuceremonious possession. This can be
accounted for in the same way that we account for one's buying an article that

he desires, because he dares not take it without.

When a removal was fii-st urged upon the Seminole Indians, their chiefa

said, "Let us see what kind of a country this is of which you talk, then if we
like it, it is time enough to exchange ours for it." But it is said, the govern-
ment agent had no authority to authorize a deputation of Lidians to visit the

promised land, and here the matter rested awhile.

How long after this it was, I shall not undertake to state, that the Indians

made known theii- desire of exchanging their country ; but this was said to

have been the fact, and the result was the treaty of Payne's Landing, already

described.

It appears that General Thompson, nothing discouraged at the result of the

council which had been terminated by the wisdom of Osceola, without the
slightest concurrence hi any of his measures, by unceasing efforts had pre-

vailed upon a considerable number of "chiefs and sub-chiefs to meet him
afterwards and execute a writing, agreeing to comply with the treaty of 1832."

This was evidently done without Osceola's consent, but its bemg done by some
whom he had considered his partisans, irritated him exceedingly. He now
saw that in spite of all he could do or say, the whites would get terms of
agreement of some of the Indians ; enough, at least, for a pretence for their

designs of a removal.

In this state of things, Osceola remonstrated strongly with the agent for thus

taldng the advantage of a few of his people, who doubtless were under much
greater obligation to him than to the people of the United States. Remon-
strance soon grew into altercation, which ended in a riise de guerre, by which
Osceola was made prisoner by the agent, and put in irons, in which situation

he was kept one night and part of two days.

Here then we see the origin of Osceola^s strong hatred to General Thompson.
While lying in chains he no doubt came to the fixed resolution to resist the

whites to his utmost ability, and therefore, with perfect command over himself,

dissembled his indignation, and deceived the agent by a pretended compliance
with his demands. The better to blind the whites, he not only promised to

sign the submission which he had so strongly objected to, but promised that

his friends should do so, at a stated time ; and bis word was kept with the

strictest accuracy. He came to Fort King with 79 of his people, men, women,
and children, and then the signing took place. This punctuality, accompanied
with the most perfect dissimulation, had the effect that the chief intended it

should—the dissipation of all the fears of the whites. These transactions were
in the end of May and beginning of June, 1835.

Thus we have arrived veiy near the period of open hostilities and blood-

shed ; but before proceeding in the details of these sanguinary events, it may
not be improper to pause a moment in reviewing some of the matters already

touched upon. The first to which tlie attention is naturally called, is so
prominent as scarcely to need being presented, but I cannot refi-ain asking
attention to a comparison between the number of " chiefs and sub-chiefs,

(which was Sixteen) who on the 23 April, 1835, agreed to "acknowledge the
validity of the treaty of 9 May, 1832," and the number of warriors and chiefa

now in open hostility. These have not been rated below 2000 able men.
Does any body suppose that those 16 " chiefs and sub-chiefs," (among whom
was not the "king of the nation" nor Osceola,) had full power to act tor 2000
warriors on so extraordinary an occasion .'' The question, in my mind, need
only be stated ; especially when it is considered how ignorant every body was
of the actual force of these Indians.

It will doubtless be asked, how it happens that the Indians of Florida, who,
a few years since, were kept from starving by an appropriation of congi-ess,

should now be able to maintain themselves so comfortably in their fastnesses.

The trutli undoubtedly is, that the "starving Indians" were those then lately

forced down into the peninsula, who had not yet learned the resources of the

country ; for not much has been said about the " stai-ving Indians of Florida"
for several years past.

In addition to the great amount of cattle, hogs, com, grain, &c. taken

35*
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from the whites, from the commencement of the wai- to the present tune, the
Seminoles make flour of a certain root, called coonty, upon which they can
subsist without iucouveuieuce for a cousiderable length of tune, which is of
incalculable advantage to them in their war operations.

The strengtJi of tlie Indians has been not a little augmented by the blacks.
Some accounts say there are 800 among them, some of whom have joined
them, on absconduig from theu* white owners ; but it is well known that the
Florida Lidians own many slaves. Old Micanopy is said to have 80.

CHAPTER IX.

The Indians prepare for loar—Affair of Hogtown—A mail-carrier killed—Sales of the

Indians' cattle and horses advertised by the Indian agent, but none takes place—
Burnings and murders are committed—Settlement at JVeio River destroyed—Re
markable preservation ofa Mr. Godfrey'sfamily— Colonel Warren's defeat— Swamp
fight—Destruction of JVeio Smyrna—Defeat and death of Major Dade, loith the

destruction of nearly his lohole party— Visit to his battle-ground.

From April until harvest time, preparations had gone on among the Indians,

and they only waited for the whites to begin to compel a removal, when the

blow should be struck. The time allowed them over and above the three

years, to prepare for their journey to the prairies of the Arkansaw, was spent
in making ready to resist at the termination of it.

As early, however, as the 19 June, 1835, a serious affray took place between
some whites and Indians, at a place called Hogtown, not far from Mickasauky
in which the former were altogether the aggressors. The Indians, about seven
in numbei', were discovered by a gang of whites, himting " beyond their

bounds," upon whom they undertook to inflict corporal punishment. Two
of the Indians were absent when tlie whites came up to them, and tliey seized

and disarmed them, and then began to whip them with cowliide whips.
They liad whipped four, and were in the act of whipping the fifth, when the

other two Lidians came up. On seeing what was going on, they raised th(?

war-whoop and fired upon the whites, but whether they received any injury,

we are not told ; but they immediately returned the fire, and killed bo*^^h the

Indians. When General Thompson was made acquainted with the afiiiir, he
summoned the chiefs together, and stated the facts to them, and they

disclaimed all knowledge of it, and, it is said, agreed to deliver the ofl^enders

into the hands of the whites, to be dealt with according to their laws.

This must be taken as the story of the whites ; for in this case tkeij, and not
the Indians, were the "offenders." It was altogether a singuUu- report, that

after the Indians had all been whipped and killed, they should be required to

give up the offenders ; but such was stated to be the fact, and I know not that

it has been contradicted.

Frequent signs of uneasiness had been manifested during the summer
among the Indians, some of whom could not be restrained from acts of vio-

lence by the chiefs, although, it is pretty evident, such acts were against their

advice. A mail-carrier was killed ant! robbed between St. Augustine and
Camp King, and two or threi^ houses had from time to time been broken
open in dittlrent places ; but it is not impossible but that these acts might
have becui coMunitti>d by other people than Indians. However, the Lidians
were mistrusted, and not only mistrusted, l)Ut reported as the perjjetratoi-s

;

and whether they wen^ or not is but of small moment, as aftiiirs turned out.

Things remained in tJiis state until December following, when the Indian

agent notified such of the Lidians as he was al)le, that their time had e\|)ired,

and that they must forthwith prepare for tiieir journey over the Mississiiipi,

and to that end nnist bring in their cattle and horses according to the terms

of the treaty. And so confident was he that they would be brought in, that

be had advertised them for sale, and the 1st and 15th of the month were the
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lays in which the sales were to be made. The appointed days passed, and nc
Indians ajjpeared ; and it was inunediately discovered that they had sent then
vvomen and children into the interior, and the warriors were marching from
place to place with arms in their hands, ready to strike.

Consternation and dismay was depicted on the countenances of the bor-

dering whites, and they began to fly from then* dwellings, which were imme-
diately destroyed by the Indians. One of the fii'st places attacked was the

plantation of Captain Priest, the buildings on which were burned. Small
companies of whites were immediately organized for scouring t«he country.

One of these was fired upon by some Indians in ambush, who wounded two,

one supposed mortally, and a son of Captain Priest had his horse killed imder
him. Soon after, as 30 or 40 men were at work getting out ship-timber on
.Drayton's Island, in Lake George, they were fired upon and driven from the

place. None were wounded, although the bullets passed through the clothes

of some of them.
On the 5th ofJan. 1836, a small party, supposed to be about 30, of Indians

struck a fatal blow on a poor family at New River, which is about 22 miles

to the north of Cape Florida. It was the family of the light-house keeper of

this pla".e, named Cooky. And what renders the case peculiai'ly aggravating

is, that this family, like that of Clark, at Eel River near Plimouth, in Philip^s

war, were, and had always been, on terms of great intimacy with the very

Indians who destroyed them. Mr. Cooley, being absent when the attack was
made, escaped the butchery. The number inm'dered was six, one of whom
was a man named Flinton, from Cecil county, Maryland, who had been hired

as a family teaclier, his n;other, wife, and three children. Flinton he found
shockingly mutilated, apparently with an axe ; his two older children were
lyuig near him shot through the heart, with the books they were using at the

time they were murdered by their sides; from which circumstance it is

evident they met death at the same moment they knew of the vicinity of the

foe. His wife, with the other child at her breast, he found about 100 yards
fi-cin the others, both apparently killed by the same bullet. Mrs. Cooley had
formerly been a captive among the Indians, understood their language, as did

one of the children, a boy, and both were nnich liked by them.
Here the Indians found a rich booty. They carried oflT about 12 barrels of

provisions, 30 hogs, 3 horses, 480 dollars in silver, one keg of powder, above
200 pounds of lead, and 700 dollars worth of dry goods.

A family of several persons in the neighborhood of Cooky's, witnessed the

murder, and barely made their escape. Also another, that of the widow Rig-
ley ; herself, two daughters and a son ; these escaped by flight to Cape Florida.

Here were soon gathered about 60 persons, who had escaped from along the

coast, and not being able to subsist long for want of provisions, made a signal

of distress, and were soon discovered by a vessel, which took them to St.

Augustine.

There was, among the families who fled to save their lives about this time,

one, very remarkably preserved. The family of Thomas Godfrey, viz. his

wife and four female children, having escaped to a swamp unobserved, were
relieved by a negro, about the end of the fourth daj^ This man was drawn to

the spot by the moans of one of the children, whose poor famished mothei
could no longer give it its usual support at the bi-east. This negro belonged
to the hostile Indians, and came upon these sufferers with an uplifted axe

;

but when he saw the children in their distress, his arm was unnerved by the

recollection that his own children were then in the power of the whites. He
therefore came to the humane resolution of .setting them at liberty, which
could not be done, without great hazard, for the Indians were yet in posses-

sion of all the adjacent country ; but he directed them to remain as quiet as

possible until night, when he would bring them something to cat. This he
did, and also brought them blankets to sleep upon. The next day a company
of mounted whites dispersed the Indians, and the negro conveyed Mrs.
Godfrey and her children in sight of them, and then made his escape. The
husband of Mrs. Godfrey had some time before been ordered out in defence
af the country.

Nothing but devastations of the most alarming and destructive character
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soem to have occurred in the region of East Florida, so long as there was
a place left, which was not strong enough to withstand an attack.

About the 18 of December, Colonel Warren, at the head of a small detach-
ment of his regiment, was ordered to convoy a train of wagons loaded with
provisions and munitions from St. Augustine to the main body, which was
encamped at Fort Croom, near Micanopy^s town. While on their march they
were attacked by a supei-ior force of Indians, who killed 8 or 10 of them, and
put the rest to flight, almost in sight of the force they were sent to relieve.

All the wagons fell into the hands of the Indians, %vhich, after taking from
them what they desired, broke them up and burnt them.
On the 20 of December, as General Call, with the Middle Florida troops,

was marching for Fort Draine, his advanced guard discovered a house on fire

near Micanopy, and a trail of Indians was discovered leading to a pond, which
was full of bushes and logs. This pond the whites nearly encircled, and
although at first no Indians were seen, yet the flashes of their guns soon
pointed out their hiding-places, and considerable fiiring ensued on both sides

;

but the fire of the Indians was soon silenced, and on searching the bog four
Indians were found dead, but all the others, if there were any more, had
effijcted their escape. In this swamp fight, three whites were badly wounded,
and one killed.

On the 26 of December, a band of about 100 Indians, under a chief named
Philip, and a number of Indian negroes, made an attack on New Smyrna, to

the south of Mosquito Inlet, on the east side of the Peninsula, where they
found nothing to obstruct their ravages. They began with the house of 3Ir.

Dunham, wliich when they had plundered, " parties of them scattered about
the neighboring plantations of Cruger, Depeyster, and Hunter. The Indian
negro, John CfBsar, endeavored to decoy Mr. Hunter from his house, on pre-
tence of selling him cattle and horses ; he, however, having heard by his

negroes that large numbei-s of Indians were about, and in the afternoon he
crossed the river to Colonel Dummefs. The Indians held possession of Dun-
Hani's house all day, and about one the next morning set it on fire, together
with all the out-buildings. In the course of the 27, they burned and destroyed
all the buildings on Cruger's and Depeyster's plantations except a corn-house,
and, on Hunter's, all except a corn-house. They now crossed over the river

to Colonel DunmieVs house, and after destroyuig every thing in it, set that on
fire, but from some cause the fire did not burn it. They next burnt the house
of Mr. Ratdiff, a little to the north of Colonel DummeVs, and broke and
destroyed the lantern and eveiy thing belonging to the light-house."

The war having now become serious, and the Indians no longer looked
upon as a despicable foe, the most melancholy forebodings were entertained

for the very existence of the strongest places m Florida, and the call for

protection from that quarter had become loud and frequent ; but notwith-
ftanding war had been expected all the preceding autumn, no effectual meas-
ures had been taken by the proper authorities to check the Indians in such an
e\'ent. There had, however, late in December, arrived at Fort Brooke a small

number of United States' troops under Major DcK/e, of the 4th regiment of
infantry, the official account of whose operations and defeat, I give as follows,

in the language of 3Tajor Belton. It should be observed, that Major Dade was
detached for the relief of General Clinch at Camp King, who was supposed
to be in the most imminent danger from the Indians, and also in great want
of supplies.

His despatch was dated at Fort Brooke, 1 January, 1836, and proceeds as

follows :
—"The schooner Motto arrived on the 21 December from Key West,

with brevet Major Dade and his comj)any, A infantry, 39 strong, with a small

supply of musket-ball cartridges, after looking in at several points between
the Key and this place. Being thus reinforced, I hesitated no longer to put

Gardiner's company, C 2d artillery, and Frazer^s company, B 3d infantry, in

motion for Fort King, pursuant to General Clinches orders; which movement
had been ordered on the 16t!i, and suspended the same day, on account of

.intelligence I had received of the force of the 3Iickasukies, and their strong

position, near the forks of the Wythlacoochee. I despatched the public

schooner Motto on 23d, with Lieutenant Duncan, 2d ai-tillery, to Kev West
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for a battery of two twelve-jiounders, and sucli stores as could be se^rviceable

;

and at 6 o'clock, on 24th, the companies, Gardiner's and Frazier's, made fifty

bayonets each, by details from those companies remaining here, and with one
of the two sLx-pounders of this post with four oxen, I had ordered to be
purchased, one light wagon and ten days' provisions were put in march.

" The tirst halt of this command was at Little Hillsboro' River, seven
miles from this post, the bridge of which I had reconnoitred by Indians of
Einathla's baud the day before. From this I heard from Maj. Dade pressing

me to forward the six-pounder, by all means, it having been left by the failure

of the team fom- miles out. I accordingly oi'dered the purchase of three

horses and harness, and it joined the column at nine that night. On the

night of the 24th, I heard that the transport with Maj. Mountford and com-
pany, long and anxiously expected, was in the bay. I sent at one o'clock a
letter to him, (received at day-light) by an Indian express, urging him on.

He landed with his strong company on the 25th about noon, and informed
me that Legate's company, under Lieut. Grayson, nearly full, must be
near at hand. Of this Maj. Dade was informed by a gallant volunteer,

Jewell, C company, 2d artillery, who had left the detachment with the news
of the burning of Big Hillsboro' bridge, near which Maj. D. had halted the

second day, 25th. I also informed him that I was using every exertion to

push on about thu'teen hundred rations on pack-horses, with what ammuni-
tion could be spared. A duplicate of this was sent the next day by a yoiuig

Indian, who became lame and could not overtake the column, and retm-ned
with his letters. Pr. Jewell joined Maj. Dade about 11 o'clock on the night of
the 25th.

"In the chaui of events, it is proper that I should mention, that three

Tallaiiassee Indians came in on the evening of the 22d, and caused great

excitement in Itolase Emathla^s camp. They brought a talk of Inicanopas
of a pacific or neutral character, or they affected it ; but I believe not dis-

tinctly, until after I had made them prisoners, while in full council with
Emathla's warriors, which step I considered imperative, if they were spies,

and as much so if they were charged with any propositions likely to detach the

chiefs from the treaty ; or indeed by an act of self-devotion, to take the scalps

of Emathla, Black Dirt, and Big Warrior, faithful chiefs, who have been
hunted in this way since the scalping of Charles Emathla. In a council with
Emathla that night, Maj. Dade expressed every confidence m Indian charac-

ter ; and particulaiiy upon the salutary influence of Abraham upon Micanopa,
On reflection I detained two of the imprisoned Tallahassees, as hostages, and
sent the youngest and best runner with letters to General Clinch, and General
Thompson, via Inicanopa, as I coidd do no better, and of com-se, through

Abraham's lands.
" These letters of course involved many details ; but numbers and other

facts, to guai-d against treachery, were stated in French. The runner returned

two days beyond his time, with a message from Abraham and Broken Sticks,

stating my talk was good, and that I might expect him on the 30th. This we
freely rendered tliat he would be at the attack fixed for Christmas week.
A negro, his intimate, named Harry, controls the Pea Creek band of about a

bundled warriors, forty miles south-east of us, who have done most of the

mischief, and keep this post constantly observed, and communicate with the

Mickasukians at Wythlacoochee by means of powerful bands of Eufollahs
and Alafiers, und^r lAtile Cloud, and the Alligator. In tracing Maj. Dade's
movements, I have every reason to believe that he made on the 26th six

miles, 27th to Big Wythlacoochee ; on tlie fifth day, 28th, to the battle-ground,

sixty-five miles.
" Here it may be proper lo state that Maj. Mountford's command was ready

-o move on the 26th, but the transport, in which was a company of the 2d
artillery under Lieut. Grayson, unfortunately entered the wrong bay, and
got mto shoal water, and was not seen, or certainly heard of, till the morning
of the 28th of December, when, by sending a party with a flag as a signal,

Lieut. Grayson was put in possession of instructions, and landed his

company at a point four miles west of us, on the east side of Tampa Bay
(proper) and joined at sunset that evening ; his transport did not get round to

2B
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land his baggage till the 30th ; so loug an interval as to put all hope of junc-
tion out of the question, and Maj. Moimtford's baggage was unladed.
"Now it becomes my melancholy duty to proceed to the catastrophe of this

fated band, an elite of energy, patriotism, miJitary skill, and coui'age. On the
29th, in the afternoon, a man of my company, John Thomas, and temporarily
transferred to C company, second artillery, came in, and yesterday Pr. Ransom
Clark, of same company, with four wounds veiy severe, and stated, that an
action took place on the 28th, commencing about 10 o'clock, in which every
officer fell, and nearly every man. The command entrenched eveiy night,

and about four miles from the halt, were attacked, and received at least fifteen

rounds before an Indian was seen. Maj. Dade and his horse were both killed

on the first onset, and the intei-preter, ' Louis.'' Lieut. Madge, third artillery,

received his mortal wound the first &e, and afterwards received several other
wounds. Lieut. Basenger, third artillery, was not wounded till after the
second attack ; and, at the latter part of that, he was wounded several times
before he was tomahawked. Capt. Gardiner, second artillery, was not
wounded until the second attack, and at the last part of it. Mr. Basenger,
after Capt. Gardiner was killed, remarked, "lam the only officer left ; and,
boys, we will do the best we can." Lieut. Keays, third artilleiy, had both
arms broken the first shot ; was unable to act, and was tomahawked the latter

part of the second attack, by a negro. Lieut. Henderson liad his left arm
broken the ffi-st fire, and after that, with a musket, fired at least thirty or forty

shot. Dr. Gatlin was not killed until after the second attack, nor was he
wounded ; he placed himself behind the breastwork, and with two double-

barrelled guns, said, " he had four barrels for them." Capt. Frazitr fell eai'ly

in the action with the advanced guard, as a man of his company, B third

artillery, who came in this mornuig, wounded, reports.
" On the attack they were in column of route, and after receiving a heavy

fire from the unseen enemy, they then rose up m such a swarm, that the

ground, covered, as was thought, by light infantry extension, showed the

Indians between the files. Muskets were clubbed, knives and bayonets used,

and parties were clenched ; in the second attack, our own men's nmskets
from the dead and wounded, were use<l against them ; a cross-fire cut down
a succession of artillerists at the fence, fi'om which forty-nine rounds were
fired; the gun-cannages were burnt, and the guns sunk in a pond; a war-

dance was held on the gi-ound. Many negroes were in the field, but no scalps

were taken by the Indians ; but the negroes, with hellish cruelty, pierced the

throats of all, whose loud cries and groans showed the power of life to be

yet strong. The survivors were preserved by imitating death, excepting

Thomas, who was partly stifled, and bought his life for six dollars, and in his

enemy recognized an Indian whose axe he had helved a few days before at

this post. About one hundred Indians were well mounted, naked, and
painted. The last man wlio came in brought a note from Ca])t. Frazier,

addressed to Maj. Mountford, which was fostened in a cleft stick, and stuck in

a creek, dated, as is supposed, on 27th, stating that they were beset every

night, and pushing on.

F. S. Belton, Capt. 2d Artillery:'

Such was the fate of Major Dade and his gallant companions. Osceola was
present, as was the old chief Micanopy. Of tiie latter, it is said, he had, in

the beginning of the troul)les, avowed that he icould neither leave his country,

nor would he fight ; but when the force under Major Dade ap|)roached his

town, he altered his resolution, seized his rifle, and shot that officer.

The situation of affiiirs, at this j)eriod cannot better be described than in the

language of a gentleman attached to Major Mountford's command, stationed at

Fort Brooke, and is contained in a letter, dated on tlie fii-st day of the year :

—

** We are," says he, " really in the theatre of war of the most horrible kind.

We arrived here on Christmas day, and found the inhabitants flying in from all

quarters to camj). Major Dade, with seven officei-s and 110 men, started, the

day l)e(bre we an-ived, for Fort King. We were all prepared to lyvertiike

th(;m the next day, and were upon the eve of depiulure, when an uitervention

of circumstances deferred it for one day ; and, in ^he fo\irse of that day, three
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soldiers, horribly mangled, csime into camp, and brought the melancholy tid-

ings tliat Major Dade and every officer and man, except themselves, were
murdered and terribly mangled. We are at work, night and day, entrencliiug

oui-selves in every possible inanner. We e.xpect every moment to be attacked,

as the savages have sworn we should all be massacred before the 6th of Jan-
uary. We are only about 200 strong, with officers and men, and about 50
citizens, and 100 friendly Indians, under their chief, Black Dirt. The savages

are said to number 4000."

After the arrival of General Gaines in Florida, he ordered a detachment,
under Captain Hitchcock, to visit the battle-ground of Major Dade. x\ud when
he had performed his orders, he gave the following report of that distressing

spectacle. His report is dated " Fort King, Florida, Feb. 22, 1836," and is

addressed to General Gaines, as follows:—"Agreeably to your directions, I

observed the battle-giound, six or seven miles north of the Ouitlilecooche river,

where Major Dade and his command were destroyed by the Seminole Indians,

on the 28 Dec. last, and have the honor to submit the following report :

—

" The force under your connnand, which arrived at this post to-day from
Tampa Bay, encamped, on the night of the 19th inst., on the ground occupied
by 31ajor Dade on the niglit of the 27th of December. He and his paily were
destroyed on the morning of the 28th December, about four miles in advance
of that position. He was advancing towards this post, and was attacked from
the north, so that on the 20th instant we came on the rear of his battle-gi-ound,

about nine o'clock in the morning. Our advanced guard had passed the

giound without halting, when the General and his staff came upon one of the

most appalling scenes that can be imagined. We first saw some broken and
scattered boxes ; then a cart, the two oxen of which were lying dead, as if

they had fallen asleep, their yokes still on them ; a httle to the right, one or

two horses were seen. We then came to a small enclosure, made by fellmg

trees in such a manner as to form a triangulai* breastwork for defence. With-
in the triangle, along the north and west faces of it, were about thuty bodies,

mostly mere skeletons, although much of the clothing was left upon them.
These were lying, almost every one of them, in precisely the position they

must have occupied during the fight,—theh heads next to the logs over which
they had delivered their fire, and their bodies stretched, Avith sti-iking regular-

ity, parallel to each other. They had evidently been shot dead at their posts,

and the Indians had not disturbed them, except by taking the scalps of most
of them. Passing this little breastwork, we found other bodies along the

road, and by the side of the road, generally behind trees, which had been

resorted to for covei-s from the enemy's fire. Advancing about two hundred
yai'ds further, we found a cluster of bodies in the middle of the road. These
were evidently the advanced guard, in the rear of which was the body of
Major Dade, and, to the right, that of Capt. Fraser.

" These were all doubtless shot down on the first fire of the Indians, except,

perha])s, Capt Fraser, who must, however, have fallen very early in the fight.

Those in the road, and by the trees, fell during the first attack. It was duiing
a cessation of the fire, that the little band still remaining, about thirty in num-
ber, threw up the triangulai' breastwork, which, from the haste with which it

was constructed, was necessarily defective, and could not protect the men in

the second attack.
" We had with us many of the personal friends of the officers of Major

Dade's command ; and it is gratifying to be able to state, that every officer was
identified by undoubted evidence. They were buried, and the cannon, a sLx-

pounder, that the Indians had thrown into a svvamp, was recovered, and placed

vertically at the head of the grave, where, it is to be hoped, it will long remain.

The bodies of the non-commissioned officers and privates were buried in 'wo
graves ; and it was found that every man was accounted for. The command
was composed of eight officers, and one hundred and two non-commissioned
officers and privates. The bodies of eight officers and ninety-eight men were
interred,—four men having escaped, three of whom reached Tampa Bay ; the

fourth was killed the day after the battle.

" It may be proper to observe, that the attack was not made from a ham-
mock, but in a thinly-wooded counti-y ; the Indians being concealed by palmetto

and grass, which has since been burned.
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" The two companies were Capt. Fraser's, of the 3d artillery, and Capt
Gardiner's, of the 2d artillery. Tlie officers were Major Dade, of the 4th
infantry, Capts. Fi-azer and Gardiner, second Lieutenant Basinger, brevet second
Lieut. It. Henderson, Mudge [late of Boston] and Keais, of the artillery, and
Dr. J. S. Gatlin."

From a comparison of the above report with the official account before
given, of Captain Belton, nearly every thing concerning this signally great
disaster is learned ; but from the report of the three men that had the singular
fortune to escape, many incidents have, from time to time, been gathered, and
communicated through the newspapei-s. In fact, until the late visit to the
battle-ground, no other account, but such as could be gathered from the three
poor half-mui-dered soldiers, could be obtained ; and yet it appears that they
gave the facts as they really were. They all came in separately, sorely
wounded,—one of them with no less than eight wounds. He was supposed to
be dead, and was thrown promiscuously into a heap of the slain, about which a
dance was held by the Indians, before leaving the ground. This man crawled
away in the following night, and thus effected his escape.

9ii0i>e

CHAPTER X.

Of the principal chiefs and war leaders of the Seminoles—Osceola—Micanopy—
Jumper—Massacre of General Thompson and others at Fort King—Battle of
THE OuiTHLEcoocHE

—

Fight near Wetumka— Great distress of the country—Action

of Congress upon it—Battle at Musquito—Many Creeks join the Seminoles—Fight
on the Suanee River.

There has been occasion already pretty fully to sketch we character of the
chief generally called Poivell by the whites, but whose real name is Osceola,
or Oseola. This chief has shown himself to be, thus far, equal to the desperate
cause in which he is engaged. We, at a distance from the Indians, marvel
that they should be so short-sighted as not to see that to wage a war is only to

hasten their ruin ; but, when we thus reflect, we do not consider the scanty
information which the Indians have of the real strength of the whites. Our
means of getting a knowledge of the Indians, is incalculably greater than theirs

is of getting a knowledge of us. They cannot i-ead, neither can they converse
(or but very few of them) with intelligent white men ; therefore, that they
know much less of us than we do of them, must be vei7 appai-ent. They
know nothing of geography. If an Indian, in the interior of Florida, should
be told that New England was a great place, without considerable trouble he
could not be made to understand whether it were a great town, as large as a
village of 50 wigwams in his own country, or as large as the whole of Florida.

We learn every thing of this nature by comparison ; and how shall the Indian
comprehend our terms, but by comparing them with his own ? Hence it is

owmg, mainly, to tlie unavoidable ignorance of the Indians of our actual con-
dition, that induces them to hazard a wax- with us. I know, from the best

authority, that the western Indians, previous to Black Hawk^s war, were gen-
erally of the opinion that they were fai* more numerous than the whites ; and
when a trader told them they certainly were not, they laughed at him with
scornful gestures. We have no reason to believe the Florida Indians any
better informed ; and, besides, they are cheated and baffled so often by knaves
who go among them for that purpose, that they imagine all tlie whites to be
of the same character, and they cannot tell whether a talk really comes from
their great father, tlie president, or whether some impostor be cheating them
with one of his own, to get their lands for his particular benefit.

With this view of the case before us, it will not appear altogether unac-

countable that a daring chief, like Osceola, should engage in a war. He is said

not to be a chief by birth, but has raised hinisi-lf by his courage and peculiar

abilities to that station. Ilis father is said to have been an Englishman, and
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hip mother a Creek woman. He belongs to the Red Stick tribe. In person

he is slender, but well formed, muscular, and capable of enduring great

fatigue; is an excellent tactician, and an admirer of order and discipline. He
would frequently practise military manoeuvres with the whites, and none of

them, it was observed, could excel him. His complexion is rather light, deep
restless eyes, clear and shrill voice, and not more than about 35 years of age.

He is said to have conducted in person every important action from the time

of WairerCs defeat to the battle of the Ouithlecoochee. General Thompson
imprisoned him, as we have before related, because he would not acknowl-
edge his authority, and for asserting that the country was the Indians', " that

they wanted no agent, and that he had better take cai-e of himself"

Of old Micanopy as well as Osceola I have already had occasion to speak.

He was said to liave jomed the latter with 500 men : he is a short, thick-set,

"ugly-lookhig Indian, and much given to intoxication." Jumper is Micajio-

py^s chief counselloi-, and a warrior of great perseverance, activity, and
courage. We shall now take up the uai-rative of events in the order of their

occuiTence, and the next of unporlance was the massacre near Camp King,

which happened on the same day, but at a later hour than the destruction of

the detachment under Major Dade.
Osceola, it will be remembered, had been roughly treated at this place, not

many months before, and had been by coercion obliged to comply with the

demands of Mr. Agent Thompson, about a removal, &c. He was known
afterwards to declai-e that Thompson should pay with his life for liis conduct.

x\ccordiBgly, with a small baud of warriors, at noon day, on the 28 of Decem-
ber, he approached Camp King for this avowed purpose. Thompson resided

here, and was in the employ of the United States' government, as agent for

the removal of the Seminole Indians, and other affau-s concernmg them. He
was a man of considerable consequence, and had formerly, it is believed,

been a member of congress. Whether it was his usual custom to dine out

of the fort, we are not informed, but on this fatal day, it seems, he, with nine

other gentlemen, met at the store house of Mr. Rogers, which was but 250

yai-ds ti-om the fort, aud while seated at dinner there, they were attacked by

Osceola ; aud what was remarked, at the time, as very singular, was, that

those people should be beset and slam, and all scalped, within reach of two
six-poimd cannon then mounted upon the fort, which was garrisoned with TO

men ; but such ai'e the facts upon record.

3Ir. Rogers, was sitting at the head of his table, and the first intunation of

the presence of Lidians was a volley of, as was judged, 100 gims. The door

of the house being open, nothing prevented the deadly aun of the foe, who,
after the first discharge, rushed upon the house with savage fiu-y. Those
who were not killed jumped out of the windows, on each side, and fled; five,

who ran to the fort, escaped ; the others, in rimning for a hammock near by,

were shot down. The negro woman, a cook, ran behind the counter and hid

behind a barrel. Osceola, at the head of his warriors, rushed into the house,

but did not discover her, and immediately left it. The names of the five that

were killed, were, General Thompson, Lieutenant Constantine Smith, Erastus

Rogers, sutler, a Air. Suggs and Hitzler. Fifteen bullets were tbund to have
been shot through General Thompson, and 16 through Mr. Rogers. Their
heads were scalped all over, as far as the hair extended.

Bloody events now followed each other in quick succession. We have
seen that upon the same day happened the two massacres last related, and
scarcely had the news of them ceased vibrating on the ear, when the battle of
the Ouithlecoochee was announced. The movements of General Clinch, in the

verj' end of the yeai- 1835, brought about this event, wjiich will presently be
detailed in his own words. He was lying in garrison at Fort Drane, a
stockade about 30 miles from Camp Iving. He had here a plantation, upon
wliich was a large crop of corn ; tliis he liberally dealt out to the soldiers

;

other supplies having failed. On the arrival of General Call, an expedition
was immediately set on foot for the head-quarters of the Indians.
As the nan-ative of every transaction is of increased hnportance and value,

in proportion to the means of knowledge and veracity of the narrator, we are

always led to a desire to hear the history of such transactions from the very
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actors in them; because, from such sources, we seldom fail of ari'iviug at the

truth. A commander or leader in a battle or expedition, if he would wish to

misrepresent a transaction, would, in scarce one time in a thousand, dare to

do so ; because all his followers, or at least all those wronged by a false

statement, would rise in evidence agamst him. I need not, however, have
prefaced General Ci^inch's official account of the Battle of Odithlecoochee
with these obsen^atious, for, from the veiy face of it, his aim at the strictest

veracity is apparent. But it is proper that we know how to ^ alue the real

sources of history ; it was to this end that the above observations were made.
I will now proceed with General Clinches account of his battle with Osceola.

" Head Qjnaiiers, Territory of Florida, Fort Drane, Jan. 4, 1836.
" Sir—On the 24 ultimo, brigadier Gen. Call, commanding the volunteers

called into service by his excellency, G. R. Walker, acting governor of Flori-

da, formed a junction wdth the regular troops at this post, and informed me
that his command had been raised to meet the crisis ; that most of their terms
of service would expue in a few days, which made it necessary to act

promptly. Two large detachments were sent out on the 15th [Dec] to

scorn- the coiuitry on our right and left flank. Lieut. Col. Fanning, with
three companies from Fort King, arrived on the 27th ; aud, on the 29th, the

detachment having returned, the brigade of mounted volunteers, composed
of the 1st and 2d regiments, commanded by Brig. Gen. Call, and a battalion

of regular troops commanded by Lieut. Col. Fanning, took up the luie of
march for a pomt on the Ouithlecooche river, which was represented by our
guides as bemg a good ford. About 4 o'clock on the morning of the 31st [of

Dec] after leaving all our baggage, provisions, &c., protected by a guard
commanded bj- Lieut. Dancy, we pushed on with a view of carrying the ford,

and of surpi'isuig the main body of the Indians, supposed to be concentrated
on the west bank of the river ; but on reaching it, about day-light, we found,

instead of a good ford, a deep and rapid stream, and no means of crossing,

except in an old and damaged canoe. Lieut. Col. Fanning, however, soon
succeeded in crossing; tlie i*egular troops took a position iu advance, whilst

Brig. Gen. Call was actively engaged in crossing his brigade, and in havuig
their horses swam over the river. But before one half had crossed, the bat-

talion of regulars, consisting of about 200 men, were attacked by the enemy,
who were strongly posted iu the swamp and scrub, which extended from the

river. This little band, howevei*, aided by Col. JVairen, Maj. Cooper, and
Lieut. Yeoman, with 27 volunteers, met the attack of a savage enemy, nearly

three times their number, headed by the chief Oseola, with Spartan valor.

The action lasted nearly an hour, during which time the troops made tliree

brilliant chai'ges into the swamp and scrub, and drove the enemy in every
dii-ection. And after the third chai-ge, although nearly one third of their

number had been cut down, they were found sufficiently firm and steady to

fortify the formation of a new line of battle, which gave entire protection to

the flanks, as well as the position selected for recrossing the troops. Brig,

Gen. Call, after using every effbrt to induce the volunteers remaining on the

east bank, when the action commenced, to cross the river, and in arranging
the troops still remaining on that bank, crossed over and rendered important
service by his coolness and judgment in arranging part of his corps on the

right of the regulai-s, which gave much strength and security to that flank.

Col. Fanning displayed the greatest firmness throughout the action, and
added much to the high reputation long since established. Captains Drane
and Mellon exhibited great biavei-y and judgment, and likcAvise added to the

character they acquired in the late war. Nor was Capt. Gates wanting in

firmness. Capt, JVm. M. Graham, 4th infantry, was fearlessly brave, and
ilthough very severely wounded early in the engagement, continued to head
bis company in the most gallant manner, until he received another severe

wound, wlien he was taken from the field. His brother, Lieut. Campbell Gra-
ham, connnanding the adjacent company, was likewise severely wounded
early in the fight, but continued witli his men until another wound forced

him, from loss of blood, to retire from the field. Lieut. Maitland, who com-
manded a company, contributed much, by his gallantry, to encourage his men.
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Lieiits. Talcot, Capron, John Graham, Ridgely, {who was woimded early in the

action,) and Brooks, all displayed good courage and coolness throughout the

action. When almost every non-commissioned officer and private exhihited

such fomness, it was almost impossible to iliscriminate between them ; but

the commanding-general cannot withhold his high approbation of judgment
and courage displayed by sergeant Johnson of H company, third artillery, on
whom the command of the company devolved, after Lieut. Graham wafi

removed from the field ; and who, although severely wounded, continued at

the head of the company till the action was over. Also of sergeants Kentoi

and Lofton, and corporal Paget, 4th infantry. Sergeants Scoffield and Potter

D company, 2d artillery ; sergeant Smith, C company, first artillery, and cor

poral Chapin, C con}pany, 3d artillery. Colonel Johi Warner, commandan
1st regiment volunteers, Maj. Cooper, and Lieut. Yeoman of same coi'ps, whc
had formed on the left flank, were all severely wounded, while leading th«ii

little Jjand to the charge, and all behaved with great bravery, as well as

adjutant Phillips. Lieut. Col. Mills displayed great coolness and judgment
during the action, and in recrossing the river with his command. Lieuts.

Steivart and Hunter of the 2d regiment, with a few men of that regiment, were
judiciously posted on the right, and, fi-om tlieii- reputation for firmness, would
have given a good account of the enemy, had he made his appetu^ance in that

quarter. Col. Parkill, of the F. volunteers, who performed the duties of
adjutant-general, displayed much militai*y skill and the utmost coolness and
courage throughout the whole action ; and his services were of the first

importance. Col. Reid, inspector-general, displayed much firmness, but he
had his horse shot, and received a slight wound early in the engagement, and
was sent with orders to the volunteers. ]My volunteer aid, Maj. Lytle, and
Maj. Welford, aid to Brig. Gen. Call, were near me throughout the action, and
displayed the most intrepid courage and coolness. Col. /. H. Mcintosh, one
of my aids, and Maj. Gamble, aid to Gen. Call, both displayed much fii-mness

and courage, and were actively employed on the left flank. I also feel it due
to Lieut. Col. Bailey, Capt. Scott, and Lieut. Ciithbert, to say, that, although

the action was nearly over before they could cross the river with a few of the

2d regiment, they took a judicious position, and showed much firmness.

Capt. M'yatt, of the same corps, was entirely employed in erecting a tempora-

ry bridge, and manifested much firmness. Much credit is also due to the

medical department, composed of Doctors Wightman, Hamilton, Randolph, and
Bradon, for their activity and attention to the wounded.

" The time of service of the volunteers having expired, and most of them
having expressed an unwillingness to remain longer in the service, it was
considered best, after removing the dead and taking care of the wounded, to

return to this post, which we reached on the 2d instant, without the least

interruption, and, on the following day, the volunteers from Middle Florida

took up the line of March for Tallahassee ; and this morning those from East

Florida proceeded to their respective homes, leaving me a very few men to

guard this extensive frontier. I am now fully convinced that there has been
a great defection among the Florida Indians, and that a great many Creeks
have united with them , consequently it will require a strong force to ])ut

them doAvn.
" I also have the honor to enclose you a list of the killed and wounded of

the respective regiments and corps. I am, sir, with high respect, your most
obedient,

D. L. Clinch,
Brevet B. General U, S. Army, Commanding.

" R. Jones, Adjutant- General U. S. Army."

" Return of the killed and wounded at the battle of the Ouithlecooche on
the 31st day of December, 18.35.—C company, 1st artillery, Capt. Gates com-
manding—one artificer killed ; 1 corporal and 3 privates wounded. D com-
pany, 2d artillery, Capt. G. Drane commanding—1 private killed ; 1 second
Lieut., 1 corporal, and 12 privates wounded. F company, 2d artillery, bt.

Capt. Mellon commanding—1 artificer killed. C compapy, 3d artillery, 1st

Lieut. Maitland commanding—1 artificer killed, and 7 privates wounded. H
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company, 3d artilleiy, 1st Lieut C Graham commanding—1 private killed

I first Lieut., 1 sergeant, 2 corporals, and 12 privates wounded.
" ToTAL^l killed, and 52 wounded." How many of the wouiided died

after the return was made out, I cannot ascertain ; but no doubt many did, as

is always the case. The loss of the Indians is, as usual on such occasions,

variously estimated. Some friendly Indians who came into Tallahassee, said

that Osceola lost 104 men, and was himself twice wounded during the battle.

There were with General Clinch, as guides in his exi^edition, three or four

Indians of the white party, relatives of the chief, Charles Omathla, who doubt-

less rendered eminent service.

Osceola was observed foremost of all his men in this battle, and Avas well

known to General Clinch and many of his men. He wore a red belt, and
three long feathers. Having taken his stand behind a tree, he would step

boldly out, level his rifle, and bring down a man at evei-y fire ; nor was he
dislodged until several volleys from whole platoons had been fired upon him.
The tree behind Avhich he stood was literally cut to pieces. It is almost a
wonder that he had not now fulfilled the measure of his threat made on a

former occasion, which was to kill General Clinch. He probably tried his

best to do it, for the general received several shots through his clothes.

General Thompson, Charles Omathla, and General Clinch were the three per-

sons he had declared vengeance against.

An officer in General Clinch's army wi-ote the next day after the battle, to

a friend in Washington, "You will see fi-om Gen. Clinch's official letter,

giving an account of the battle, that he says nothing of himself I was in this

battle, and allow me to say to you respecting him, what I saw and know to be
true. Throughout the engagement he was in the hottest of the fight. His
horse was shot under him in two places, neck and hip. A ball passed through
his cap, entering the front, and passing out at the back part of the top. An-
other ball passed through the sleeve of the bridle-arm of his coat. This was
my fu'st battle, and I may not be the best judge, but I do not believe that any
man ever displayed more intrepid courage than Gen. Clinch did on this

occasion. At one moment a little confusion occurred among the troops, in

consequence of some soldiers giving the word "Retire!" The general

immediately threw himself in front of the men, and his horse staggering

under him, he dismounted, advanced to the front, and, amidst a shower of

bullets from the Indians, said, that before he would show his back to the

enemy, he would die upon the field. The high and chivalric bearing of the

general kindled among the men an enthusiasm, which, I believe, was never

surpassed. A gallant charge followed, which routed and drove the enemy
fi-om the field, and they did not again show themselves. We kept the field

about three hours, and then recrossed the river in good order, and without

disturbance."

The next events which occurred were not of so much moment as those

immediately preceding them ; but it is our duty to notice all, which we will

do in the order of time.

On the 12 January, " Col. Parish, at the head of 200 mounted volunteers,

composed of the companies of Capt. Alston, Bellamy, and Caswell, had a sharp

encounter with a large body of Indians near Wetumka, in Middle Florida.

The attack commenced with the advanced guard under Capt. Beliawy, who
had been allowed by the enemy to pass their main body. Col. Parish imme-
diately hastened forward to his support, when suddenly he was attacked on
both flanks by the enemy in ambush. The volunteers made an unsuccessful

attempt to charge on horseback ; they were then dismounted and formed in

admirable order. They then charged the enemy in a manner worthy of
veterans. In the mean time, Capt. Bellamy, having routed the attacking jiarty

opposed to him, fell back on the main body. The enemy were soon forced

to take shelter in a thicket. By this time, night coming on, it was not thought

prudent to follow them, where the localities of the place and the darkness

would have given them great advantages. Our men rested on their arms in

the open pine woods, prepared to renew the action at day-light; but during

the night the savages effected their retreat. Their loss must have been con-

siderable, as six dead bodies were counted in one part of the field of battle.
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Two days after, Col. Parish marched for Fort King, ami arrived there in

safety. He then proceeded to PowdVs [^Osceola^s'\ to\vn, and destroyed it

The volunteers then recmned to Ftrt Drane."
The best opinion can be formed of the distress of the people of Florida at

this period, from the sufferers themselves, or those momentarily expecting to

become such. On the IG January, a newspaper published at Tallaliassee

contained as follows:—"Since the engagement on tlie Wythlacoochee, no
intelligence has been had of the main body of the Indians. The situation of

the inhabitants east of the St. John's and south of St. Augustine, is trulj

deplorable. New Smyrna has been bm-nt, and all the fine plantations in that

neighborhood ai-e broken up. Many of the negroes have been carried off, or

have joined the savages. The Indians are dispersed in small parties, and
when pursued they take i-efuge in the thickets, which abound every where,
and fight with desperation, until they are dead, no matter by what numbers
they are assailed. It is literally a war of extermination, and no hope is

entertained of putting an end to it, but by the most vigorous measures. In
the mean time, the number of the enemj^ is daily increasmg by desperadoes
fi'om other tribes, and absconding slaves. The Mickasooky tribe is considered

the leading [one] of the Seminoles. They have always been noted as the

most ruthless and determined of the savage race."

But it must not be supposed, that the measure of the sufferings of the

Floridians was yet full, at this date of our history, nor even at the veiy wTiting

hereof, (20 July,) although the whole coast from St. Augustine to Cape Florida

is in the hands of the Indians, and has remained so ever since the 11 Febru-
an'. Nevertheless, nothing seems yet to have occurred sufficiently alanning
to awaken the sympathies of the heads of the nation. But on the 30 January',

Mr. JVIiite, in the house of representatives, asked leave to introduce the fol-

lowing resolution :

—

" Resolved by the senate and house of representatives of the United States of
America, in Congress assembled, That the president of the U. States be
authorized to cause rations to be delivered fi-om the public stores to the

unfortunate sufferers who have been driven from their Jiomes by Indian
depredations, until they can be re-established in then* possessions, and enabled
to procure provisions for the sustenance of themselves and families."

This resolution, after some debate, was passed, and became a law. The
notice of this act of congress is in anticipation of the order of events ; but one
thing is certain, that if I have noticed congi-ess a little prematurely, they have
not committed the likefault in noticing the affau-s of Florida.

Upon the 17 Januaiy, as George W. Roclieff and Jerry Bowers, pilots in the

sloop Pilot, of Mosquito, were proceeding up Halifax River, and when nearly

opposite Mrs. Anderson's plantation, they were iu'ed upon by Indians, about
100 in number, as they judged, who continued their fire about a quarter of an
hour. They overshot the men, but the sail and rigging of then- vessel was
much injured ; 30 bullets having passed through the mainsail.

The next day, 18 January, Major Putman, who was at the head of the

independent company, styled the St. Augustine Guards, stationed at Mos-
quito, proceeded to Mrs. Anderson's plantation, at a place called Dun Lawton,
about 50 miles south of St. Augustine, on the Halifax River, upon discovery.

It will be remembered that the whole of the Mosquito couutiy was destroyed
on the 26 and 27 of December, as we have before related, and the buildings
of Mrs. Aiiderson were at that time burned. While there, this comjjany, com-
posed of the generous and spuited young men of St. Augustine, joined by a

few from Mosquito, making about 40 men, was attacked by 150 Indians, as

w"as supposed. Mr. Geo. Anderson and Mr. Douglas Dunimit, standing on
guai-d, saw two Indians approaching, upon whom they fired, killing o»e and
wounding the other. Dummit ran to the fallen Indian, and as lie was stooping

over him, received a wound in the back of the neck. At tlie same moment
the whole body of the Indians rushed out of a scrub, distant a little more
than musket shot, and commenced a furious attack upon Major Pi(f;na?i's men,
who, from behind the fragments and broken walls of the burnt buildings

gave the Indians a warm reception ; and although but 40 in number, having
coveits from which to fight, and the Indians being in open space, thev kept
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them at bay for about an hour During this time but one had been wounded.
The Indians now charged them witli such determined fury upon theu* flanks,

that they were obHged to fly to their boats, which were at considerable
distance from the shore, and were closely pursued by the Indians. lu their

hurry, the whites rendered all their guns, but one, useless, by wetting them,
with this one, however, they fired as often as possible, and pushed off with
energy ; but the water being shallow for a great distance, they were in the
most imminent danger of being boarded by the numerous Indians ; in such
event, every man must have perished. However, they escaped with 19 badly
wounded, and several of these mortally. One boat fell into the hands of the

Indians, in which were eight or ten men, who all jumped overboard and
escaped, except one, a Mr. Edward Gould, who swam to Pelican Island, and
was there left; nor was it in the power of the others to relieve him, they
being pursued by the Indians in the boat which they had just taken. He was
not heard of afterwards, and was supposed to have been drowned next day
in endeavoring to swim from the island. A Mr. Marks swam to the opposite

beach, and escaped to Bulowville ; the othere were taken into the boats again.

Great fears having, all along, been entertained that the Seminoles would
be aided by the Creeks, it is now confidently affirmed that at least 1000 of
them have gone down into Florida for that end.

About the 20 January, Captain Hooder, on the lower Suanee River, finding

the opposite side in possession of the Indians, crossed over with nine men to

attack them. As they landed, two of his men were shot down ; one with
nine balls, the other with five. With his remaining men he charged the

Indians with great boldness. In the mean time his boat got adrift, and no
other alternative was left but victory or death. After a close and deadly con-
test of some minutes, the Lidians were routed with severe loss.

9i>i0e

CHAPTER XI.

Congress makes an apjjropriation for carrying on the %car—Remarks in the Senate

of the United States on the war with the Seminoles—Debate in the house of repre-

sentatives on the bill for the relief of the inhabitants of Florida—Attack on some
Creeks at Bryant's Ferry— General Gai'^.es's campaign in Florida—Fights the

[ndians on the Ouithlacoochee—His conference with Osceola—Resigns his com-
mand, and leaves the country— Captain Allison's skirmish— Tlie chief Ouchee
Billy killed—Siege of Camp McLemore— Great sufferings of its garrison—Deliv-

ered by Captain Read

—

The chief Mad Wolf slain.

Towards the close of the preceding chapter, notice was taken of the delay

in congress, and by the executive of the nation, to agitate the subject of this

war. At length Mr. Webster of the senate, from the committee on finance,

reported, without amendment, a bill making further appropriation for sup-

pressing hostilities with the Seminole Indians, and asked for its immediate
consideration, as the state of the country required its passage with the utmost
des[)atch. The amount of the ajipropriation was 500,000 dollars, and the bill

was passed after some explanatory remarks; which remarks, as thoy not only

set the aflliirs of the war forth as they were known in Washington at that

period, but discover to us something by which we can judge who has been in

fault there, shall here be laid before the reader.

"Mr. Ctoy said he should be glad to hear the communications from the

departments read, in order to see whether they gave any account of the

causes of this war. No doubt, he said, Avhatever may have been the causes,

it was necessary to ])ut an end to the war itself, by all the possible means
within our power. But it was a condition, altogether without precedent, in

which the country was now placed. A war was raging with the most ran-

corous violence within our borders ; congress had been in session nearly

two months, during which time this conflict was raging
;
yet of the causes of



Chap. XL] CONGRESS AND THE SE3nNOLE WAR. 427

the war, how it was produced, if the fault was on one side or on botli sides,

in short, wliat had hghted up the torch, congress was altogether unmformed,
and no inquiry on the subject had been made by either branch of the legis-

latiu-e. He should be glad, he said, if the chairman of the committee on
finance, or of the committee on Indian affairs, or any one else, would tell him
how this war had burst forth, and what were its causes, and to whom the

blame of it was to be charged.
" Mr, Wthster replied, that he coidd not give any answer to the senator

from Kentucky. It was as much « matter of surprise to him, as to any one,

that no ofRcial communication ha< f-n made to congress of the causes of
the war. All he knew on the s«.'"ect he had gathered from the gazettes.

The communications from the departments spoke of the war, as a war grow-
ing out of the relations between the Indians and the government of the U.
States, and gave no reason to suppose that it had its oiigin in any quarrel

with the citizens. It probably grew out of the attempts to remove these

Indians beyond the Mississippi. According to the latest accounts, the countiy
between Tallahassee and St. Augustine was overrun by hostile Indians, and
the communication between those places was interrupted. The view taken
by the gentleman from Kentucky was undoubtedly the true one. But the

war rages, the enemy is in force, and the accounts of tlieir ravages are dis-

astrous. The executive government has asked for the means of suppressing
these hostilities, and it was entirely proper that the bill should pass.

" Mr. White expressed his regret that he could add nothing to the informa-
tion given on this subject He knew nothing of the cause of the war, if it

commenced in any local quarrel or not. It was the object of the government
to remove these Indians to the west side of the Mississippi, and he was appre-
hensive that the difficulty had arisen out of this measure. He liad, however,
no information, which was not in the possession of every other senator. He
was for the bill.

" Mr. Benton said he was also ignorant of the causes of the war. Some
years ago, he said, he was a member of the committee on Lidian affairs. At
that time these Indians in Florida were in a state of starvation ; they would
not work, and it was necessary that they should be fed by the U. States, or

they must subsist on the plunder of oin- citizens. These Indians are a very
bad tribe, as their very name signifies, the word Seminole, in Indian, being,
' loild runaway Indians.^ They were therefore considered a bad race. It was
obviously the best policy to remove these Indians to a place where they would
be able to obtain plenty."

When the bill for the relief of the distressed inhabitants of Florida was before

the house of representatives, which was noticed in our last chapter, the follow-

ing interesting debate arose upon it, which shall be laid before the reader, for

the same reasons which caused the remarks in the senate to be given above.

"The resolution having been twice read, the house, on motion of Mr.
JVhite, agreed to consider it now.

" 3Ir. W. said tliat he would not occupy the time of the house further than
to say, that in East Florida, five hundred families were driven from their

homes, and had had their possessions destroyed in the progress of a war,
which had commenced in consequence of relations between the Indians and
this government, and with which the suffering inhabitants of that country
have had nothing to do.

" Appropriations had frequently been made to succor Indians when in cir-

cumstances of distress, and he hoped that no member of the house would
abject to the adoption of the resolution for the succor of our own citizens.

"Mr. Granger of New York rose and said,—Mr. Speaker, in the Uttle

observation I have had of men and things, I have learned that precedent is

often used to restrain our generous impulses, but seldom to impel us to gen-
erous action. In the little time I have been here, I have not been so much
gratified with any thing that has occuiTed, as I have at the prompt maimer in

which this house has stepped forward to provide means for canying on the

war in Florida. Whilst we have been without any official information from
the executive department of government—whilst the newspapers have been
4i8cussing the question, whether censure should rest upon one of the depart-



428 FIGHT AT BRYANT'S FERRY. [Book IV.

ments, or upon the commanding ofRcer in Florida, this house and the other
branch of the legislature have stepped forwai-d to sustain this war, although
no requisition has been made by the chief magistrate of the nation. Su- T

rejoice that they have done so.

"Mr. Cambreleng rose to explain, and Mr. Granger yielded the floor.

"Mr. Cambreleng said, that great injustice had been done in the newspapers
to the conduct pursued by the departments. The committee of ways and
means had been furnished with the first communication on which they acted
by the secretai-y of- war. They next day received a second communication
with all the documents relating to the Indian war, and which contained all

the information that was requisite. The documents had not gone forth to the

public—which was an extraordinaiy circumstance. They certainly were sent
by the committee to this house, and ought to have accompanied the bill and
been printed and sent to the senate. If they had, the erroneous impression as

to the remissness of the department, or the executive, would not have gone
into the newspapers. It was not the fault of the executive, or of the committee
on ways and means, that this had not been done.

" Mr. Granger resumed. If the gentleman had listened to me a little longer,

he would have discovered that I intended no censure on the executive ; but as

he has chosen to challenge me to speak, I do say that the history of this nation

can present nothing like the silence which has existed on this subject. I do
say that whilst this hall has been ringing with plaudits upon one administra-
tion, and whilst we have been called upon day after day to hunt up the

bones of dead quarrels here—whilst your settlements have been laid waste
and desolate, no communication has been made to this house as a branch of
the government. Whatever information you have, even upon the gentleman's
own showing, is a letter from the secretary of war to the chau-man of the

committee of ways and means.
" Mr. Cambi-eleng. That letter contained all that was necessary.

"Mr. Granger continued : Sir, I repeat that, with a war known to exist in

this country, we have been occupied in hunting up the possibility, not only

of a war which might take place hereafter with a foreign nation, but also to

discover whether a war was last year likely to have existed.
" We have war enough upon our hands to take care of. The war-cry is up

in the woods ; the tomahawk glitters in the sunbeam ; the scalpiug-knife is

urged to its cruel duty; the flower of your chivalry is strewed along the plain,

and yet every department of this administration is as dumb as the bleeding
victims of this inglorious contest.

"In legislating for a suffering people, I want no precedent but that which
my Creator has implanted in my bosom. I do not believe that we stand here
with the sympathies of our nature chilled and frozen by the mere force of tlie

oath which we have taken ; I do not believe that our duty requires that we
should be thus chilled and frozen. I believe that the existence of this govern-
ment depends upon its extending its fostering hand to the unfortunate when-
ever it can be done within the limits of the constitution. Especially should
this be the case, where the sufferers reside within a territory, and have no
state government to which they can look for succor.

" Such is the true course to be pursued in this nation ; and then our people
will feel that they are indeed members of one common family, and that,

whilst they bear equal burdens, they are the equal recipients of the bounty
and protection of the government.
"On motion of Mr. IVldte, the resolution was read a third time and passed."

We have now to return to the recital of wailike operations. About the

middle of January, great alarm spread througji the confines of Georgia, thai

the Creek Indians were imbodying in various parts of their country, and the

utmost consternation prevailed. On the 23 .January, it being reported at

Columbus, that the Indians were in force at Bryant's Ferry, 15 miles below
that place, a company of whites, consisting of about 20 or 30 men, under

Captain Watson, marched down upon discovery. They discovered 30 or 40
Indians, some of whom had rifles, but it does not appear that they had done,

or intended, any mischief. However, the whites pursued tliem, and pretty

noon a firing commenced, and, though of short duration, two were killed on
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each side, and the whites were driven from the ground, havuig several of

theii" number wounded.
The next operations of importance were those between the forces under

Gfeneral Gaines and Osceola, a«d upon the memorable Ouithlecoochee. Gen-
eral Gaines was upon a tour of inspection and duty, when he fii-st learned that

serious disturbances had occurred between the whites and Seminoles. This
was about the 15 January, and the general was an'ived at New Orleans. His
previous head-quarters had been at Memphis, in Tennessee. He therefore

called on the govei-nor of Louisiana, to have a body of volunteers in readiness

for military service, and set out himself immediately for the scene of hostilities.

At Pensacola he found some vessels of war, under Commodores Dallas and
Bolton, and Captain JVebb, who had already commenced operations in the

neighborhood of Tampa Bay, and other adjacent inlets. Colonel Tiviggs had
oeen ordered to receive into sei-vice eight companies of volunteers, to be raised

by the governor of Louisiana, and the regular force at Baton Rouge, New
Orleans, and other stations in the immediate vicinity of New Orleans, and to

hold himself in readmess for a movement towai'ds Tampa. This force con-
sisted of about 1100 men.
That no time should be lost. General Gaines retm-ned immediately to New

Orleans (about 26 Januaiy), and, on the 4 February, was under way again for

Florida, with his forces organized. He arrived at Tampa, with his forces, in

three steain-boats, on the 9th, and, on the 13th began to proceed into the In-

dian country. His first movement was to the east, on the Alafia River, having
understood there had been a fight in that direction, near Fort Brooke, between
the hostile and friendly Indians ; but after two days, no enemy being discov-

ered, the line of march was altered for Fort King. General Gaines^s army had
but ten days' rations ; but, by advices, he was assured that there was plenty at

Fort King.
On the 20 Februarj"-, the army passed Major Dade's fatal field, on which

was found 106 men, all of whom they decently interred. All the officers who
fell in that disastrous fight were identified, and, what was very remarkable,
every man was accounted for ; but what struck every one with the gi-eatest

surprise, was, that the dead were in no instance pillaged ; articles the most
esteemed by savages wei'e untouched ; the officers' bosom-pins remained in

their places ; their watches were found in their pockets, and money, in silver

and gold, was left to decay with its owner,—a lesson to all the world—a testi-

mony that the Indians are not fighting for plunder!—nay, they are fighting

for their rights, their country, their homes, then- very existence ! The arms
and ammunition were all that had been taken, except the unifonn coat of
Major Dade.
On the 22 February, the army arrived at Fort King, much to the agreeable

surprise of the garrison, which it had been reported was cut oft' by the Indians.

Owing to the counti-y's being in possession of the Indians, no supplies had
aiTived ; and, the next day, a troop of horse was despatched to Fort Drane,
(22 miles north-west,) in hopes to obtain further supplies. They returned the

24, but with only seven days' additional rations. To this they added two days'

more at Fort King. The general scarcely knew what course next to take ; but
he finally concluded to move down the Ouithlecoochee, over General Clinches

battle-ground, and so to Tampa, thinking such a route might bring him in

contact with the main body of the Indians. Accordingly the army moved, on
the 26th, from Fort King, and, at two o'clock on the 27th, arrived at General
Clinches crossing-place. Here, while examining and sounding the river, the

Indians fired upon them, and set up a fierce war-cry ; but their numbers were
not sufficient to make any material impression, although they continued the

fight for about half an hour. The whites lost one killed, and eight wounded.
On the 28th, the army, having resumed its march, was again attacked, about

two miles fi-om its former position, and a fire was kept up about half of the

day. At the commencement of the action. Lieutenant Izard, of the United
States dragoons, fell, mortally wounded. In the course of the fight, another
was killed, and two wounded. In the evenmg, express was sent to Fort
Drane, with directions for the commanding officer to march down with a

*>rce upon the opposite side of the Ouithlecoochee, and thus come upon tlie
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rear of the Indians ; which movement, should it succeed, it was hoped, would
finish the war.

On the morning of the 29th, no Indians were to be seen ; but the general did

not relax his precautions. A party was preparing timber and canoes for cross-

ing the river, when, about 9 o'clock, they were sharply fired upon, and, at the

same time, die encampment was attacked upon every side, but that towards
the river. The Indians now seemed in great force, (12 or 1500, as was supposed,)

having been collecting, from all quartei'S, since the fight on the previous day.

They continued the contest two hours, in which time one man was killed and
33 wounded. Among the latter was the general himself,—a rifle ball having
passed through his lower lip, knocked out one tooth, and damaged two others.

When it was found that the general was wounded, his companions expressed

much regi'et ; but he talked of it as a matter of small moment ; said " it was
very unkind in the rascals to take away a tooth which he valued so highly."

On reconnoiteruig the enemy's ground, after he had fled, Gaines^s men found
one of their dead, which had been dragged a considerable distance and left

unburied, from which circumstance they conjectured he had fled in haste.

His rifle had been taken away, but he was found to be well provided with
ammunition, having plenty of powder and sixty bullets. The place of this

attack Gaines called Camp Izard.

The flight of the Indians was no security for their not appearing agam ; for,

on the 2d of March, they returned, and commenced pouring in then* shot upon
the whites, which, at intervals, they continued to do until the 5th. Meantime
all of their provisions were exliausted, and they began the slaughter of their

horses to sustain life. But it is said that, during all this time, no one was heard
to murmur or complain.

On the night of the 5th, about 10 o'clock, a call was heard from the woods,
and some one requested a parley. On the ofiicer of the guard's demanding what
was wanted, it was answered that the Indians were tired of fighting, and wished
for peace. The general ordered the ofiicer ofthe guard to answer, that if the In-

dians wished to treat, to send a messenger the next morning, with a white flag,

and he should come and go in safety. He replied, " very well," and added that
" he desired to have a friendly talk, and to shake hands." Accordingly, on the

morning of the 6th, about 300 Indians filed out from the river, and took a

position in the rear of the whites, about 500 yards oflT. They expected nothuig

now but a most bloody contest, supposing the main body of the Indians to be

concealed in a neighborhig hammock. Both parties remained a short time in

suspense, each doubting what the other would do. At length, one or two
advanced within hailing distance, and, being joined with others, repeated what
had been said tlie niglit before. The general now sent out to them a staff"

officer, and they told him they did not wish to fight any more, but requested

that the army should withdraw from the Ouithlecoochee. Osceola was at the

head of the Indian deputation. When the officer who had met the Indians

reported this talk to Gaines, he ordered him to return to Osceola, and to inform

him, in the plainest terms, that they would be subdued, that a large force was
on the way into their country, and that, unless they submitted, every Indian

found in arms would be shot. When this was communicated to the Indians,

they said they would go and hold a council, and would meet them again in the

afternoon. The meeting in the afternoon, accordingly, took place, and the

Indians urged what they had said in the morning, and added that they had
lost many of their men by death and wounds, and were tired of the war ; but

as their governor (as they styled Micanopy) was not there, they must first con-

sult him, and asked to have the war suspended until he could be consulted.

They were told that if they would cease from acts of hostility, go south of the

Ouithlacoochee, and attend a council when called upon by tiie United States

commissioners, they should not be molested. This they agi-eed to, and, at the

same moment. General Clinch came upon the main body of the Indians, and
they all fled with the utmost precipitation, probably concluding this was a

stratagem which the whites had prepared to cut them off. Clinch came with

500 men and supplies, whjch was doubtless more agreeable to the starving

army, than even a treaty with Osceola.

The Indians seem to have been well acquainted witli the condition of Gen-
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eral Gaines's army ; for, during the interview with Osceola, he asked hew they

were off for provisions, and when they told him they had enougli, he shook liia

head, saying, " It is not so
;
you liave nothing to cat ; bur, if you will couie over

the river, I will give you two beeves, and some brandy." It is therefore

surprising that he should have been now asking for peace. It shows, however,

that he was well awai-e of the ho{)elessnuss of his case ; and, although he was
able to deal with General Gaines, he early knew of the approach of General

Clinch, and it was, probably, on his gaining that knowledge, that he concluded

to see what kind of terms could be got of the whites, as the affairs of war
then stood.

General Gaines, having transferred his command to General Clinch, left for

New Orleans about the 9 March, and General Clinch proceeded with his

united forces to Fort Drane. A negro spy, who had been sent among the

hostile Indians, from Camp Izard, soon after returned, and confirmed the

peaceable intentions of the chiefs : they told him, that in their various sku-

mishes with General Gaines on the Ouithlacooche they had lost 30 men. Of
the whites but 5 were killed, and 60 wounded. It is rather uncommon that

there shoidd be so great a disproportion between the slain of the parties, when
it is considered that the Indians almost always fought from coverts.

On the 9 3Iarch, Captain Allison of the Florida volunteers had a skirmish

near his camp, not far from Fort Brooke. He routed the Indians, whom he
judged to be a thousand strong, and took considerable plunder. Hence, not-

withstanding the Indians were supposed to desire peace, skirmishes continued.

And on the 23 March, a company of volunteers were attacked about six miles

from Volusia, in which the whites lost three men killed, and six wounded, and
the Indians five or six. Among the latter was their chief, called Ouchee Billy, or

BUly Hicks. He was found the day after the fight, concealed in some brush.

About the 5 April, Major McLemore, by order of General Scott, took a
position on the Ouithlacoochee, and erected a block-house, which was called

Camp McLemore. Hei'e, about 40 men, far removed into the heait of the

Indian country, were to remain until lelieved by the General, or Major
McLemore, who, it appears, after establishing the post, immediately left it.

This small force seems to have arrived here at a most fortunate time, for it

was four days before they were discovered by the Indians, and during this

period they had completed a block-house for their protection.

It is scarcely to be credited that this little company of men, sent here by
the commander-in-chief of the army, should be left without the means of
escape in extremity of circumstances, and no way kept open by which their

situation from time to time might be known; such, however, was the case, and
for about six weeks nothing was heai-d of them. Thej' had not been provided
^vith provisions for more than two weeks, and it was the general impi'ession

of every one that they had all perished by famine or the hands of the
Indians.

The following account of the siege of Camp McLemore by Dr. Lawrence^
sm-geon there at the time, shall be given in his own words:—"We had just
completed building the block-house, and dug out a spring near the edge of the
fort, when, on the morning of the 9th of April, at a little before dawn of day,
we were attacked by the Indians, who had encompassed us on three sides, and
were in number about 150 or 200. The engagement lasted one hour and
three quarters, when they found out, to their sorrow, that our reception was
not only too warm, but that they had ventured too near us without due reflec-

tion. On the next day, we had one man killed on his post by an Indian rifle,

fired from the opposite side of the river. On the 1.5 April, we were attacked
by a body of the savages who had completely surrounded us, and whose num-
ber we computed at 4 to 500, though we have since heard that Powell had
1000 to 1500 of them. This was the hottest engagement we had dming our
stay on the Ouithlacoochee. They fired their guns by hundreds at the same
moment at our block-house, and succeeded m taking our only means of
escape, our boat—which they took down the river and destroyed after the
battle. The engagement continued two hours and 45 mmutes, and we had
thr«!e men slightly wounded.

" On the 24th, we had a very severe battle, m which they displayed theii
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ingenuity by shooting fire-aiTOWs on fire upon the roof of the house, which
destroyed the roof and left us exposed to the inclemency of the weather.
This arrow-firing was performed by 26 of their men, whilst about 3 to 500
used their guns. We had, on this occasion, two or three of our men wounded.
We probably killed 40 or 50 of the Indians. The night after the batde, we
heard their chief hail us, and say, " that he was going away m the morning,
and would trouble us no more." He kept his promise very well, though hb
did give us about 100 guns the next morning, ere he left. Our captain. Hollo-

man, was killed on the 3 May, whilst endeavoring to fortify and strengthen

our position. The Indians continued to give us a passing shot, from 50 to

100 guns, every five or six days, though he kept a spy upon us at other times.

The officers were 21 days living on corn, without salt or meat, and the men
about 28 days."

It appears that the great danger of ascending the Ouithlacoochee, together
with the known circumstances of the garrison, had fixed in the minds of aU
those who were able to lend them aid, that they had been cut off"; and there-

fore, to hazard any thing to clear up this extremely doubtful case, was con-
sidered next to crime itself At length, the poor distressed handful at Camp
McLemore, found among their numbei-, three that would venture out for

succor, and they arrived at Tallahassee in a canoe, about the 16 April. This
circumstance, in all probability, proved the safety of their fellows, as well as

themselves. A company was made up at St. Marks, and under Captain Leigh
Read, proceeded in a steam-boat for the Ouithlacoochee on the 22 May, and
on the 24 took oflTthe garrison without the loss of a man.
While these affairs were being transacted on the Ouithlacoochee, a consid-

ei'able force marched fi'om Volusia to a point on the Oklawaha River, distant

30 miles, on theii- way to Fort Brooke. The river being higher than usual,

the force was obliged to halt to build a bridge for the passage of their cannon
and baggage wagons. On the opposite side of a lake, on the left of the

detachment, two fires were soon discovei'ed, which it was supposed were
made as signals by two parties of Indians. Colonel Butler immediately pro-

ceeded to cross over the river with his battalion, and when he had marche-d
about three miles, some Lidians were discovered and pursued by the advanced
guard. General Joseph Shelton was of Butler^s party, who, being ahead of the

advanced guard, charged upon one of the Indians, who was in the rear of the

retreating party. At about 25 paces from him, the Indian turned, and they

both levelled their rifles

—

Shelton fired first, and mortally woimded the Indian
in the neck, who then endeavored to make his escape. Shelton dropped his

gun, and rushed on him with his pistol, which missed fire at five or six

paces from him. The Indian now turned and shot Shelton in the hip, and
at the same moment another white came up and shot the Indian in the back,

and he was immediately despatched. The ball which entered Shelton''s hip

passed round near the spine, and was cut out, and he was i-ecovering.

I have been particular in detailing this affair, as the Indian who fell in it,

proved to be a chief of distinction, known among tlie whites by the name ol"

iVIad Woff, which was the English signification of his name. In Indian it

was KoHAHAJO. He was of Micanopy's tribe, and had under him 40 or 50
warriors, and was probably one of the leaders on the Ouithlacoochee, who
beset General Gaines so long. His name was given in among them by Black
Dirt, as Coaharjo. It is also to the treaty of Payne's Landing, and he was
one of the Indian deputation who visited the country west of the Mississippi

afterwards.

The next day after Kohahajo was killed. Colonel Butler and Goodunn, with

a battalion of mounted men, were sent to reconnoitre Pilaklikaha, the resi-

dence of /itTwper and JWtcaTiop?/. When they had proceeded about six miles,

their advanced guard received a sharp fire from a hammock on tlie left, but

were soon dislodged by a charge t'lom the main body. Two of the whites

were badly wounded, one horse killed, and four wounded. After another

considerable swamp-fight, in which srvcral were wounded, the army pro-

ceeded to the Indian town, but it had been deserted for a long time. Thej
burnt it, and then ])roceeded to Fort Brooke.

An officer in General Scott's army at Tampa wrote on the 15 April :—" Al'
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the militia will leave us by the 20 May, and the regulars will go into summer
quarters at this place, Key West, Volusia, Mosquito, and one or two more
posts at the south. Without the greatest good luck nothing will be done this

summer, and the war must be renewed in the autumn,"
About the time General Gaines left Fort Draine, General Scott arrived

there, with instructions to assume the chief command of the forces in Florida.

Suice that time the operations have been of not much importance. About
the 20 March, Captain Hitchcock communicated the following valuable
information respecting the hostile Indians, which was given him by the
friendly chief. Black Dirt, whose Indian name is Tuck-aluster Harjo. He
says that in the fights with General Gaines were the following chiefs and
wan-iors, viz.:

—

Jumper with 30, Assuhola [Osceola] with 7, Allburtu-
HARJO with 30, Jarharto Chee with 30, Carchar Tosknusk [Mecosukee]
with 470, Mecanop (principal chief) with 80, Abram (JVegro) with 80, Weea
Flocko Mattez with 70, Yarharhacjo with 160, Toskieucar with 50,
EcHUA Mattez with 50, Hat How Emattez with 30, Charles (a Negro)
with 3, CoAHARJO with 1, and Toparlagee with 40.

There had been about 400 Seminoles collected at Tampa, chiefly women
and children of Black Dirfs tribe, who were on the 12 April shipped off for
" beyond the Mississippi " by General Scott.

Hi§^

CHAPTER Xn.

C-REEK War—Murders anu devastations begin—Eleven persons killed near Colum
bus—Mail routes in possession of the Indians—Jl steam-boat attacked and men
killed— Chiefs of the war parties—Mail stages destroyed—The town of Roanoak
burnt—Colonel Lindsay's Florida affair—Excessive dismay of the people of Geor-
gia—Murder of families—Fight on the Chattahoochie— Capture of Jim Henry and
Neamathla—Account of the chiefs—Surrender of the Indians.

Adjutant-General Mcintosh wrote from Fort Mitchel, Alabama, (on the

Chattahoochie, 15 miles above Columbus,) 7 May last, as follows :—" It has
just been reported to me, that Col. Floumoy was shot dead by the Indians on
the 5th instant, about 15 miles below this post. I am also informed that a
report is currently circulating among the Creeks, that the Seminole Indians
have defeated the whites in Florida. This report will no doubt imbolden
them to many acts of hostility that they would not otherwise dare commit.
A constant communication must be kept up between them, as the Creeks are

conversant with eveiy transaction that occurs in Florida. Marshal, the half-

breed, says he is apprehensive mischief will be done by the Indians before
long. Other friendly Indians are of this opinion. Opothleyohola, principal

of the upper Creeks, says he cannot keep his people together, or restrain

them."
At the same time Colonel Floumoy was killed, ten others met a like fate,

some of them within 19 mUes of Columbus, at the Ochee Bridge on the Old
Federal Road. " The Indians have entire possession of that road, and all the

settlers have fled. A train consisting of 150 wagons, with about 150 fugitives,

on their way to Columbus, were fired upon, on the 10 April."

Up to the 18 May, at Augusta, (Ga.) it was reported that all the southern
mail routes were in possession of the Indians, except that to Mobile. The
day before, all the mails were brought back. Colonel CrotveWs ])lantation,

and many others, had been burnt, and a stage agent and two drivers had been
killed. The governor of Georgia had ordered two regiments of volunteers to

take the field. About this time the steam-boat Hyperion was attacked on her
passage up the Chattahoochie, and two pilots and one passenger were killed.

She was then run on shore on the Georgia side, and after being abandoned,
was taken and destroyed by the Indians.

The Creek towns and tribes which have declared themselves hostile are •
37 2C
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part of the Ochees, the Hitchetas, the Pah-lo-cho-ko-los, the So-wok-ko-los,
and a part of the Ufallays. The principal chiefs who have showed themselves
as their leaders, are old Neamathla, of whom we have aheady several times
spoken, chief of the Hitchetas, Jim Henry, and Neo Mico. Many friendly

Indians immediately joined the whites, one of the principal leaders of whom
is a chief called Jim Bot. The war party have discovered great boldness.

About the 10 May a party came withiii 30 or 40 yards of Fort Mitchell, a
strong and well-defended place, entered the hospital, and carried off what
they pleased, and the garrison thought it not best to disturb them.
On the 14 following, the mail from Montgomery to Columbus was attacked

about 20 miles from the latter place. A driver on that route was riding along

the road on horseback, about 50 yards ahead of the stage, wlien he was fired

upon by about 30 Indians, yet he unaccountably escaped injury. His horse
took fright and threw him, and he escaped into a thicket. When he ai'rived

at the next stage relay, the horses had got thei-e, but without any carriage, but

hnd aljout them some fragments of their harnesses. Mr. Adams, who was in

the stage, made his escape by leaping into the woods when the stage upset.

A driver and two others were killed. There were 19 horses belonging to

the line in ttie company, of which but three were recovered, and these were
wounded.
About this time the old steam-boat Georgian was burnt while lying at

Roanoak, and all on board, except the engineer, perished. The town of
Roanoak was at the same time laid in ashes, but the citizens escaped to a
fort, Irwinton, a flourishing town on the Georgia side of the river, soon after

shared the same fate.

Meanwhile some affairs of considerable moment were transpiring in Flori-

da. Colonel lAndsay had been despatched, at the head of about 750 men, from
Fort Brooke, with orders to proceed to Fort Alabama, to destroy it, and bring

away the sick, wounded, and provisions. Having proceeded there, and
effected their object, the forces marched again for Fort Brooke. Before

leaving the fort, a mine was prepared, by leaving powder in the magazine,

which should explode on its being opened. They had got but a mile or two,

when the mine was sprung with a fearful noise, but what effect it had pro-

duced was not knowTi. The whites had missed two of their number the day
before, whom they found on their retuin marcli, about 12 miles from Fort

Alabama, killed in the way, and one shockingly mangled. While the army
was contemplating this spectacle, it was fired upon by 500 Indians, as was
supposed, from a hammock, no more than 30 yai'ds off. The whites immedi-
ately formed, and fired in then- turn, and a regulai- fight ensued. The Indians

couid not be dislodged until several rounds of grape shot from the artillery

had been poured in upon them. This was a bloody affray for them, but ilieir

loss was not fully known ; several were found dead on the field, and numerous
traces of othei-s who had been dragged off dead or severely wounded were
discovered. The whites had 3 killed and 22 wounded.
A letter addressed to the editor of the Richmond Enquirer gives a fearful

picture of the affau-s in the Creek country. It was written at Talbotton, (Ga.)

11 May, and is in these words :—" I vvrote you yesterday, informing you of

the hostile movements of the Creek Indians, and the commencement of their

murderous career. We have full information here to-day of the distressing

state of things among the whites who have settled over in that territoiy. The
Indians are killing all—men, women, and children. Vast numbers have been
butchered without doubt ; and the whole country on this side of the Chatta-

hoochie is in uproar and confusion. The poi)iilation of the territoiy had
become considerai)Ie, and they who have been fortunate enough to escape are

come over in droves on the Georgia side; some with a part of their children ;

some who have lost their children; some their husbands; and many children

without father or mother; some are found as they were wandering about so

young that they could give no account who their parents were. So perfect a

mixture and confusion as never was witnessed before. Miuiy have seen a

part of their fiitnilies murdered. One gentleman saw his father shot down
Dear him, and his mother and sisters. Some of the dead have been brought

over shockingly mangled. It is thought the whole nation is in hostile array

;
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their wari'iors ai'e computed at 6 or 7000 strong. The general impression is,

tliat a part of the Seminoles liave come up among them. Tlie town of Co-
lumbus is in great danger of an attack, as they have threatened it strongly.

A company of 40 or 50 men left Columbus yesterday morning, and went over.

On their return at night they brought ui seven children, which they had found
scattered about."

Such are the accounts which have been daily circulated for two months
together and although they are distorted in many particulais, yet out of them
we are ai present to collect all that is known of tliis war. The Columbus
Centinel of the 13 May contains the following facts, which are confirmed
from other quarters :—" On Monday we received uiformatiou that hostilities

had commenced on the road between Columbus and Montgomery, at the

Uchee bridge, tuid fm-ther on, and in the evening the bridge at this place, the

streets leading from it were thronged with the unfortunate refugees, who
were fleeing before their savage neighbors. The pitiable condition of many
of them was past the power of description. Wives severed from their hus-
bands, and parents from their children ; all dismayed, all ten-or-stricken

;
pre-

sented a scene which we never agam desire to see. An interesting-looking

girl, just blooming into womanhood, was brought in on hoi-seback, behind a
benevolent strangei-, wlio had found her in the nation, making her way, unat-

tended, to this place. She started with her parents, but before they had
proceeded far, they were brutally shot down before her eyes. She fled to th«

woods and escaped from her savage pursuers, and was found and brought to

Columbus as above stated. A young man aiTived at this place also witnessed

the savage murder of his parents. Another young man, in the act of fleeing,

perceived the Indians dragging away his sister. He returued, declaring he
woidd rescue her or die in the attempt, and he has not been heard of. From
tliis time their deeds of savage barbarity have been too numerous to particu-

larize. A woman was brought in on Tuesday, wounded in the hand, whose
husband had been shot the preceding evening at the Uchee bridge. Col. A. B.
DawsorHs negroes, who were taken by the Indians, and made their escape,

state that they saw three corpses on the road near the Uchee bridge ; a man,
woman and child, who had all been murdered. We learn that about 150
friendly Lidiaus have reported themselves at Fort Mitchell, and are ready to

assist the whites. Accounts to the 17 May further state that the Lidians had
entered the house of one family, and murdered the whole—hicluding husband,
wife, and six children. All were scalped, and the children beheaded. The
house of a Mr. Colton had been attacked, and himself killed."

Generals ScoU and Jtswp were at Fort Mitchell on the 3 June ; the for-

mer left that place on that day with an escort of 150 men for Alabama, to take

the command of the troops of that state. On the 4th, Capt. Page reported to

Greneral Scotl that a party of Indians was about to cross the Chattahoochie in

their way to Floi'ida, and steps were immediately made to stop them. The
day before a party was stopped by a company of Georgia militia, after a shaip

skirmish, in which one white and several Indians were supposed to have been
killed. Two chiefs were wounded, Ealahayo in the shoulder, and Jivi Henry
in the head. The action took place across the river, which being high and
wide, little was effected. The Indians dai-ed the whites to come over, called

them dogs and cowards, and the most the whites could do was to retaliate in

the same sort of language.
About the end of June, a party of whites, who were scouting on Flint River,

accidentally found a young woman about three miles from Cambridge, who
had been wounded by a shot in the breast She stated that, on the 26 of
June, about 300 Indians killed all the family to which she belonged, 13 in

number, except herself, and her father, who made his escape. After being

shot, she feigned death, and as the murdered were not scalped, she made her

escape after the Indians left the scene of butchery.

Up to the 16 Jime, all the houses of the whites in the Creek country had
been burned. On the 13th, in an attack on an Indian town by some whites,

24 persons were taken, among whom were three chiefs. These were held as

hostages at Fort Mitchell, and word was sent to the hostile paity, that if they

did not come in and surrender they should be put to death. The next day.
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120 came in and declared themselves friendly. As late as the 28th of June,
it was reported at Cohimiius, Ga., that the Creek war was probably at an end,
"as far as fighting was concerned. Jim Henry^s party have nearly all been
taken. They were confined at Fort Mitchell, and all the smiths were at work
making handcuffs for them." These will doubtless be sent beyond the Mis-
sissippi, " except the chiefs, five or six in number, who will be punished with
death," as was supposed.
On the 1st of July, Jim Henry fell into the hands of a band of fiiendly In-

dians, under a chief named Jim Boy. For a few days previous he was sup-
posed to have been on his way for ilie "promised land;" but he was found in

the Creek nation, a few miles fiom Tuskegee. About the same time old

JVeamMhla gave himself up to the \\ hires, and was, on the day of the cap-
ture of Jim Henry, with about 1500 others, sent off for Arkansas. The circum
stance of his falling in with the whites is said to be as follows :—Greneral

Jessup had lefi: Tuskegee with about 700 men, intending to make a direct

march for JVeamathld's camp, which was on Hatchahubbee River. As Jesup
marched along, his forces increased to 2700 men, of which 1500 were In-

dians, under the chiefs HopoithleyoJwla and Jim Boy. When he had Eurived

within about seven miles of JVea'mathla's camp, he ordered a halt, to refresh

his men and horses, at the expense of the beautiful oatfields of the Indians.

While the army lay here, a scout discovered JVeamathla on horseback. He
had concluded to surrender, and had a white cloth tied about his head, and
some white garment for a flag, extended upon a stick, and was approaching
towards them. They ordered him to halt, but he gave no heed to them, until

within a ffew paces. He was taken to Gen. Jessup's camp, and made prisoner.

With him were his son and daughter, and a niece of jV*ea Mico. The two
females were released, but his son was confined with him at Fort Mitchell

On being asked where he was going when he was taken, he said his life had
been threatened by his own people, and he was hastening to Fort Mitchell, to

give himself up.

JVea J\Eco had some days before given himself up. He was considered a
great chief. David Hardige, a half-breed, was taken by surprise, with about
a hundred of his men, with their women and children. By the 8th of June,
there had been secured between 3 and 4000 Indians, which were despatched
for the west as fast as circumstances would admit.

A paity of about 60 warriors, who were endeavoring to escape into Florida,

were overtaken by Col. Beat, in Chickasatchie Swamp, Baker county, Alabama,
and a considerable skirmish ensued. Nine Indians were killed and 20 wound-
ed. Of Col. BeaPs men, two were killed and seven wounded. The Indians
were left in possession of the swamp.
The following account was published in the Georgia Herald of the 28 June,

at Columbus. It is headed, " Grand Entree into Fort Mitchell," and
then proceeds :

—

" On the 22 June, we witnessed the grand entree of a drove

of savages into the Fort [Mitchell] consisting of men, women and children,

in all about 1000 ; among them 200 wai-riors ; they were brought in by a bat-

talion of Alabama cavalry, under the command of Maj. Gen. Patterson. The
men were placed within the walls of the fort, while the women and children

were encamped on the outside. It was an assemblage of human beings, such
as we had never before witnessed, and the sight filled us with thoughts and feel-

ings to which we shall not give vent at this time. They were of all ages, from a

month old to a hundi-ed years,—of all sizes, from the little papoosic to the

giant warrior. The old " Blind King,^^ as he is called, rode in the centre of
the throng, and although it has been many years since he beheld the light of
day, yet has the feelings of hostility continued to rankle at his heart. The
names of the hostile chiefs who have been taken and have come in, are JVea

E-Mathla, Octo Archo-Emathla, [probably son of JVeamaihla^ Miccochuley, or

Bli'id King, Thistee-J^nggee, Chopko- Yar-bar-Ha^o.'"
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CHAPTER XnL

HISTORY OF THE EXPATRIATION OF THE CHEROKEES.

Some entertain, that thu liistury of these present times must not be written by any one alive
;

which, in my opinion, is dis^'raceful to an liistorian, and very prejudicial to posterity; as if they
were to write at a distance, that obscurity niisht protect their mistakes from discovery. Others
also say the truth is not lipe enou;,'h to be writ in the age we live in: So politicians would
not hiive tlie historian to tread on the heels of the times, leat the times tread on his lieels."

WlNSTA-VLY.

" Still to the white man's wants there is no end

:

He said, ' beyond those hills he would not corae.'

But to the western seas liis hands extend,
Ere yet his promise dies upon his tongue."

—

Ukpublished Poem.

While the war is progressing in Florida, we will proceed to lay open
a few pages of Clierokee history, praying, in the mean time, for its speedy
conclusion.

The situation of the Cherokee coimtry is most delightful ; it is every thing
that heai't could vnsh, whether actuated by the best or worst of motives. It

lies in about thirty-five degrees of northern latitude, bomided north and west
by Tennessee, on the south by Alabama, and easterly by Georgia and North
Cai'olina, comprising about 8,000 square miles. In 1802 it contained 11,175

;

the difference having been sold to the United States for the use of Georgia.

That comitry is well watered by living springs, in every part, whose foim-
tauas are like reservou's raised to a great height by the art of man ; they hav-
ing the superior advantage of being natural reservoirs, raised by springs in

then* lofty I'ange of momitains which stretcli across the whole nation. In the
north it is liilly ; but in the south are numerous fertile plains, m part covered
with tall trees, through which beautiful streams of water glide. Here cattle,

in vast herds, roam, and horses are plenty, and in all the ordmary uses among
the Indians. Flocks of sheep, goats, and swme, live on the slopes of the hills.

On then* navigable rivers the Cherokees have vessels engaged in commerce.
Then spring opens m great beauty; the soil is excellent for corn, cotton,

tobacco, wheat, oats, indigo, sweet and L-ish potatoes ; and the people had, in

1825, begun to export cotton to New Orleans in then own vessels.

They have public roads, and taverns with good accommodations, and
butter and cheese are common upon the ordinaiy tables of the Indian inhab-
itants. Neat and flourishing villages have already sprung into being. Cotton
and woollen cloths are manufactured, and by native Indian hands. There is

scarcely a fsimily which does not raise cotton sufficient for its o^vn use.

Their trade is almost wholly carried on by native Cherokees. The mechanic
arts are considerably cultivated, although agricultm-e chiefly engages the at-

tention of the inliabitauts.

In 1819, there were about 10,000 inhabitants, and in 1825 they had in-

creased to 13,563, all natives ; there were, in addition, 147 white men married
in the nation, and 73 white women. Of slaves there were 1,277. Hence it is

plain that the Cherokees do not decrease, but have, in about five years, in-

creased over 3,500. This is equal, at least, to the increase of white popula-
tion under similar circumstances.

B}' the laws of the nation, the whites are allowed the privileges of natives,

except that of sufl^rage, together ^vith their ineligibility to hold offices. Some
of the Cherokees, following the example of their southern neighbors, have
become slave-holders ; buying their negroes of white men who bring them
into the lation. x\nd here the reflection natm-ally arises in the inquiry upon
the relative barbarity of the white and red men. It was strongly urged l)y

some southern statesmen, that the Indians were such barbarous A^Tetches that

they coidd not think of living beside them ; and yet poor Africans ai-e sold

by them to these barbarians ! But, unlike the whites in one particular, they
^vill not mix with their slaves.

The nation was reorganized in 1820, and by a resolve of its national coun-
cil, divided into eight disti-icts, each of which had the privilege of sending

37*
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four members to tne legislature. The pay of members was established at

one dollai' per day; that of the speaker being fixed at one and a half dollars

and the principal chiefs were to receive 150 dollars a yeai'. Some of theii

principal laws and i-egulations were—a prohibition of spirituous liquors be-

ing brought into the nation by white men. If a white man took a Cherokee
wife, he must marry her according to their laws ; but her propeity was not

affected by such union. No man was allowed but one wife. A judge, mar-
shal, sheriff and deputy, and two constables, were commissioned in each dis-

trict. Embezzlement, intercepting and opening sealed letters, was punished
by a fine of 100 dollars, and 100 'lashes on the bai-e back. No business was
allowed on Sundays ; and fences were regulated by statute. They also had
a statute of limitations, which, however, did not affect notes or settled ae

counts. A will was valid, if found, on the decease of its maker, to have been
^vl•itten by him, and witnessed by two creditable persons. A man leaving no
will, all liis childi-en shared equal, and his wife as one of them ; if he left no
children, then the wddow to have a fourth part of all propertj^ ; the other

three fourths to go to his nearest relations. And so if the wife died, leaving

property. Before the division of the nation into districts, and the appoixit-

ment of the above-named civil officers, there was an organized company of
light-horse, which executed the orders of the chiefs, seai'ched out offenders,

and brought them to justice. It was a fundamental law, that no land should
l3e sold to the white people, -svithout the authority of a majority of the nation.

Transgressors of this law were punished with death.

The Cherokees vi^ere similarly situated to the Creeks, m respect to the Uni-

ted States. They had been treated with from the earliest days of the repub-
lic, as an independent nation, with only this difference—the United States

regarding treaty stipulations with them vnthout any regard to their weakness,
or inability to defend themselves against unjust intrusions. And thus were
they considered through the early administrations of this government ; until

political intrigue had become the order of the day, and to strengthen a party

by the accession of a state, it was found necessary to disregard sacred trea-

ties, not at first by an open denial of obligations, but by a perversion of lan-

guage, authorizing " any means to encompass the end." And like the Creek
nation, the Cherokees were tampered with, and eventually divided and ruined

;

thus verifying that remarkable passage of Scripture, namely, "a house divided

against itself cannot stand."

The consequences which, by every thinking mind, wei'e considered sure to

follow, did follow ; but not so immediately as had been anticipated, reasoning

fi-om the summary course which the Creeks had pursued in executing ven-

geance upon the heads of a similar faction, for a precisely similai" outrage

upon the will and the laws of that nation. But the day of retribution was
at hand, and the heads of the Cherokee faction have met a like fate in the

distant land to which they had forced their despairing executioners. The
history of the fate of Ridge and his associates wall go down upon the same
page of history with that of Mackintosh ; over which the philantlnopist of
succeedmg ages wall mourn, and the philosopher will frowii with just indig-

nation, as he contemplates the source of guilt whence the stream flowed.

But the bare recital of the events in the history of the Cherokees is suffi-

cient to create the deepest feelings of commiseration in eveiy breast, without

any reflections from the historian.

Georgia, finding she could not di'ive the United States government into

her measures for the forcible possession of the Cherokee countiy, resolved

to do so on her own account ; but not having the courage to go sword in

hand, and do it at a blow, she resorted to the equally condemnable course of

management, which was to seize u[)on the country under color of law. And
those laws, made for the very occasion, were so exceedingly oppressive that

the Indians could not live inider them.

The laws alluded to were passed on the 20th of December, 1829, by the

legislature of the state of Georgia, and were of this complexion: "It is here-

by ordained that all tiie law,-; of Georgia ai"e extended over the Cherokee
counti-y. That after the 1st day of June, 1830, all Indians then and at that

time residing, in said territory, shall be liable and subject to sucli laws aiH
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regulations as the legislature may hereafter prescribe. That all laws, usages,
aud customs, made and established, and enforced in the said territory, by the

said Cherokee Indians, be, and the same ai'e hereby, on and after tlie 1st day
of Jime, 1830, declared null and void ; and no Indian, or descendant of an
Indian residing within the Creek or Cherokee nations of Lidians, shall be
deemed a competent witness, or party to any suit in any com't, where a wliite

man is a defendant." Such is a specimen of the laws alluded to ; framed to

throw the Indians into entire contusion, that they might be the more easily

overcome, destroyed, or forced Irom the land of their nativity.

That the Cherokees could not live undeu the laws of Georgia is most
manitest, and it is equally manifest that said laws were never made m expec-
tation that they could be submitted to. Thus the constitution of the United
States was trampled on with unpunity, by an utter disregard of one of its

express provisions, " That no state shall pass any law or laws going to impau-
the obligation of contracts." Now, how could a Cherokee compel a Georgian
to perform a contract ? Thus was the axe not only laid at the foot of the
tree of Cherokee liberty, but it was shortly to be wielded by the strong ai*m

ot" power with deadly effect.

Alarm now, as well it might, was seen perched upon the brow of every
true Cherokee, and they began to revolve in their minds the nature of their

condition, and to inquu*e of one another what they were to do. They remon-
strated, but remonstrance was met Avith contumely, and all the haughtiness
that characterizes the triumph of might over right.

Though conscious of the rectitude of their mtentions, the Cherokees were
determined not to persist in any course, however just it might appeal" to them,
without first consulting some of the ablest jm-ists and best men, as well as
the most devoted to the good of their country, among the eminent men of the
United States. There was but one opinion among them. Chief Justice Mar-
shall, Chancellor Kent, Wilham Wu-f, Mr. Justice M'Lane, Daniel Webster,
and Henry Clay, are names carrying authority with them ; an array of talent

which other nations may equal, but not surpass.

Accordingly the Indians brought then- case before the supreme court of the
United States, where it was argued with fidelity and ability by Mr. Sargent
and Mr. Wirt, and finally and clearly given in favor of the Cherokees. Mr.
Wul happily adverted, in his argument, to the past and present conduct of
Georgia ; reminded her that, vdth the other states, she had cooperated with
the most Clu-istian assiduity and perseverance to bring about a change in the
intellectual and moral condition of that people ; and having completely
effected the purpose, she found in this very change a ground of quan-el with
them, as well as with her sister states, her auxiliaries in the laudable work

;

accusing these of hypocrisj^ and an affected benevolence, by which they were
violating Georgia's sovereignty in bringing up an independent government
within her chartered limits ; that so long as they were savages and barba-
rians, Georgia had no objection to their governing themselves, but having now
become civilized, and consequently capable of governing themselves, their

right of self-government must cease. " Hence we ask," says Mr. Wu-t, " what
can this unfortimate people do .-'

"

" The existence of this remnant of a once great and mighty nation," added
Mr. Wirt, " is at stake, and it is for this court to say whether they shall be
blotted out from creation, in utter disregard of all our treaties. They are
here in the last extremity, and with them must perish forever the honor of
the American name. The faith of our nation is fatally linked witli their

existence, and the blow which destroys them quenches forever our o^vn
gloi-y; for what gloiy can there be of which a patriot can oe proud, after the
good name of his country shall have departed ? We may gather laurels on
the field of battle, and trophies on the ocean, but they will never hide this

foul blot upon our escutcheon, ' Remember the Cherokee nation,' will be
answer enough to the proudest boasts that we can ever make. Such, it is

possible, there may be who are willing to glory in their own shame, but thank
Heaven, tliey are comparatively few. The great majority' of the American
people sec this subject in its true light. And I cannot believe tliat this honor-
able court, possessing the nower of presen'atiou, will_ stand by and see th ;se
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people stripped of theii- property and extirpated from the eai-th, while they

are holding up to us their treaties and claiming the fultilment of our engage-
ments. If truth, and taith, and honor, and justice, have fled troin ievery other

part of our ;;ountrj', we shall find them here. If not, our sun has gone do^^^a

in treacheiy, blood, and crime, in the face of the world; and instead of being
proud of our countrj-, we may well call upon the rocks and mountains to

liide our shame irom eartli and heaven."
Such were the opinions of the great and good upon the Cherokee question;

but how was he mistaken in respect to the virtue of a government, of which
he was a pillai* and chief supporter in all its just dealings! With what grief

must he have seen, notwithstanding the sacrifices and efforts he had made
to obtain justice, and the decision of the highest tribunal of his country,

all disregarded, this decision set at naught, and that country's sim go down
in treachery, blood, and crime ! And it is with deep melancholy we add, that

the great statesman and philanthropist saw the near approach to the horizon
of the once glowing star of empire of a noble people ! He saw, as his o^^ n
lamp flickered on the eve of departure to another world, that deep stain fall

u)3on the escutcheon of his country's honor, which he had so much feared.

\\ iLLiAM Wirt descended to the tomb in the beginning of the year 1835.

The Cherokees, like the Creeks, had, by designing and avaiicious men,
been divided into two parties, which were distinguished fi'om one another by
very marked difl^erences. The people composing the fii'st were generally

temperate, industrious, and frugal ; had made great adv^ancement in the arts

of civilized life, and hence had become fai* more attached to their country
than those of an opposite character. The other part of the nation consisted

of a majority of indolent, intemperate, roving, and ignorant citizens ; always
I'estless, ever ready to hear to any new smooth-tongued miscreant, who might
thi'ow himself among them upon any design. Yet there were many among
the second party whose character was good, and who were made seriously to

think that it would be for then- interest to sell out their possessions, and take

up a new country beyond the Mississippi. But the talent and learning were
not with them, and consequently they had not the ability to judge of such a

project, according to the admonitions of the true policy of the nation.

At the pei'iod of Cherokee histoiy now under consideration, that nation

contained a population of 18,000 souls. How near it was divided in respect

to numbers is not precisely known, but that part I have denominated the first

was by far the most numerous, as well as the most respectable. These tvNO

parties had each its head or leader, and was known by his name. Mr. John
Ross led the first, and Blajor Ridge the second. IMr. Ross had become an
eminent citizen, and being possessed of a fine education, respectable talents,

and extensive and enlarged views upon all subjects, soon became prominent
^Hhout any efforts to make himself so. On the other hand Mr. Ridge, though
giiosUy beloved by his own people, and highly respected among the whites,

had not the moral courage to withstand tempations that a true patriot

requh'es.

Such was the condition of things, when it was decided by the supreme
court of the United States, that Georgia must not execute her pernicious laws
in and over the Cherokee country. Yet, as has already been observed, she
did proceed to execute them, and finding that many of the Lidians would not
at once be forced away by their cruel and oppressive execution, but continued
to suffer under them, resort was had to buying up such of the chiefs and
head men of the nation as money would succeed %vith. And, finally, a treatj'

was made with such men as bribery influenced, and on its strength, event-

ually, the Cherokees were forced beyond the Mississippi.

The engagement entered into with Georgia by the United States govern-
ment in 1802, lias, in a former chapter,* been noticed. In that compact there

was no stipulation that the Cherokees should, at any time, be forced to sell

their remaining lands; but when they were tinUins:, if any such time should
ever ai-rive, and the price should not be an objection, then the United States

had iha poioer, and not till then, to buy out the Cherokees.

* Book IV., payp 53, ante.
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But, in 1835, Georgia had become so clamorous, that "the government"
thought best to make an attempt to treat with these Lidians to go Avest, on
some terms or other. Accordingly, the president appouited one Rev. J. F.
Schermerhorn, of New York, to proceed to the Cherokee country for that
pin-pose. He proceeded to the nation, and, with some trouble, got the chiefs

together, and opened the nature of his mission before them. He Avas

informed that they Avould not treat for the sale of their country on any con
ditions, and the commissioner gave up the design and returned to Wash-
ington. But there is no safety to the innocent where the cupidity of designing
Icnaves can be brought to bear upon them.
The plan immediately adopted by Schennerhom was to seduce some of the

chiefs by gratuities of money, and thereby to get together such as he could
of the nation, and, if possible, make a treaty Avith them Avhich should bind ah
the rest ; but to the honor of the secretary at Avar, Gen. Cass, it Avill be re-

membered, that Avhen such a project Avas made knoAvn to him, he rejected it

AAdth disdain. Whether this instrument of injustice Avas countenanced by
men higher in office than the secretary at Avar, I leave to be determined

;

l3ut hoAvever that might be, it is certain that Schermerhorn Avas found without
loss of time pm'suing that nefarious plan, Avhich Gov. Cass had set his seal of
unqualified disapprobation upon. He circulated notices of his design through-
out the Cherokee nation, requestmg them to meet him in council ; and finally

he got a number of the nation together, Avhich he called a council of the nation,

and made a treaty AAath them. By the stipulations of this treaty, (falsely so
called,) the Avhole country Avas to be given up to the Avhites Avithm two years
from the time it should be ratified by the senate of the United States.

The great majority of the Cherokees, as has been observed, would have
nothing to do Avith Schermerhorn, and consequently, Avhatever he did had
nothing to do Avith them ; and Avhen its acknoAvledgment and acceptance
Avere urged at Washington, it Avas rebutted Avith the astoimding memorial,
signed by near fifteen thousand of the nation, protesting m the strongest terms,
that the instrumejit procured by Schermerhorn was utterly false, and unau-
thorized by the Cherokees. Yet after all that those 15,000 people could do,
that trectty was, Avith some little variation, published to the Avorld, at the city

of Washington, on the 14th of March, 1836, as the act of that nation

!

When the nation found that the party Avhich had executed the treaty were
going to Washington to further its ratification, the council of the nation im-
mediately appointed a delegation of tAventy of its best men to proceed there
also, clothed AAdth authority to represent their countrymen truly. It had be-
come noAV appai'ent that if they would not sell their coimtry for ivhat it ivas

the pleasure of the government to give, they Avould be driven from it without any
thmg ; therefore, all that Avas left for them to do, Avas to get the best terms
they could. And it was finally agreed by the authorized delegation, that thej'

Avould abide by such an aAvard as the senate should make for their lands, pro-
vided that Avhen it Avas laid before the nation, it should be consented to by it

;

accordingly, a paper was signed by the Indians, agreeing to abide the action

of the senate. Of that action, Mr. Ross, the principal •chief, says, he would
not have complained, if it had been " fully and fairly " obtained ; but " a res-

olution Avas submitted at midnight, on the 3d of March, just as the senate
Avere about to separate, premising, that, in its opmion, the president ought to

alloAV a sum not exceeding 5,000,000 of dollars. This resolution, proposed in

a hurry, Avas earned in as gi-eat a hurry, and, though a mere opinion, not
jjledgmg either the president or the senate to any consequent action, was
represented to us as an ^ award,' and Ave were told we had engaged ourselves
to be bound by it."

The delegation next proceeded to lay the matter before the nation ; Avhich

having done, the " aAvard " of the senate was unanimously rejected. But Gen.
Jackson had noAv taken the matter into his hands, and Avhatever might be
said or done by an Indian council, would make no difference with his deter-

mination. And when he found that they Avere reluctant to submit to Avliat

they had never had any intention of agreeing to, he ordered 3Ir. Secretary

Harris to inform them, " that no propositions for a treaty would hereafter be
made, more favorable than those noAv offered. The sum of fiA'e millioiis (ji"
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dollars was fixed upon by the senate, as an ample equivalent for the relin-

quishment of all their rights and possessions ; that viost assuredly the presi-

dent would not sanction any expectation, that more tavorahle an-angements
would hereafter be held out to them ; that this was the tast proposition the

president would make them while /le ivas president, and they might abide the

consequences ; that they need not expect either branch of the government
would ever do anv more, and that, therefore, they need not ex^pect another

dollar."*

Thus all further negotiation was cut off, and the Indians had nothmg fur-

ther to do, but to submit to what they had long foreseen would probably be
their only alternative.

With regard to the treaty of December, 1835, procured by Schermerhorii,

and since called by his name, as also " the treaty of New Echota," we have
but a remark or two more to make ; and, firstly, it will be inquired, who or

what part of the Cherokee nation made that treaty? According to the ac-

count of Schermerhorn himself, the number which he got together to treat

with, did not exceed 600 persons, men, women, and children ; of which nmii-
ber but 70 were men, and of these, about 30 were Ai-kansas emigrants, or

Cherokees enrolled for emigration, and consequently had no real interest m
the nation, and had no right to act in matters aftectmg its affliirs. The reader
has only to compare this statement Avitli the memorial before spoken of,

signed by 15,000 persons, to enable him to decide on the magnitude of the

mjustice done that peoj^le. Secondly, of the course "this great and mighty
government " has pursued to disinherit Indians in certain cases.

In May, 1839, Gen. Carroll was sent with instructions by our government,
:o induce the Cherokees to remove. Some passages in those instructions

would never be believed, were they not past contradiction, and staring us by
thousands m the face. They recite, that, whereas nothmg could })robably be
eflfected in open council, by negotiation, " he must go to them, not as a nego-

tiator, but as afriend ; appeal to the chiefs and influential men, not together,

bid apart ; malvc offers to them of extensive reservations in fee simple, and
other rewards ; secure, even from the chiefs, your official character ; move upon
them in the line of their prejudices ; tell them, luiless thej' remove, their laws
will be trodden under foot; enlarge upon the advantages of their condition in the

west." Such is anotlier specimen of another state paper, which emanated from
-his administration.

The case has changed. The whites have become powerful, and the red
men have become weak. They ai"P able to destroy, or di'ive them betbre

them to another countrj' , and iiow has it turned? The red men have gone.

Who are the "cruel savages?" In the "great debate," as it was termed, on
the "Lidian bill," in 1830, some of its supjiorters pointed to the east, and cried

out, " Savages ! savages ! " because the voice of humanity had been heard in

that direction ; but they might, with almost equal propriety, have pointed to

the capital of the state of Georgia—even that, where those most oppressive
laws originated, contained philanthropists too. The votes in that house stood
;Kit little more than equally divided, on the bill to take forcible possession of
the Cherokee countrj^ But the jjhilantliropist is derided aiul scorned ; aiul

:hat people have only escaped the iron grasp of superstition's hand, to die liy

that of avarice. It used to be a proverb, that Justice had leaden feet, but yet

was sure to overtake her enemies ; but where her feet ai'e clogged with gold,

the ])roverb requires a new explication.

We have seen how the Schermerhorn treaty was disposed of in the senate

of the United States. The house of representatives must vote the appropria-
tion, or it could not be carried into effect. When it came up there for action,

some gave as a reason for voting for it, that they had no choice, but were
bound to do so, because the treaty liad been ratified by the president and
Benate, and it was hence the law of the land. On the other hand, it was

* Tills certainly was a stale |iaj)<>r worthy of '• My •;'(ivcriinieiit," " IMy curroiicv," aii<!

above all, " Mv responsibility." Air. .Tacksoii had before told certain Indians that all ilio

lands beyond the Mississippi bi>lonsed to him.' If the Cherokees believed he told the trulk,

no one will wonder they aid not wish lo go there'.
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argued that the action of the president and senate could never make that in^

strunient a treaty wliich was false, and had not been agreed to bj^ but one
pai-ty ; that this was true abundantly appeared by a protest then before the
house, signed by almost the entire Cherokee nation. And besides this, tlie

most zealous advocates for removal did not pretend that the treaty was fairly

made by the nation, or by any body authorized by it ; but they argued that

the bill ouglit to pass from necessity, as it was to benefit the Indians more
than any body else. And with this kind of argument the bill passed, 102
to 97.

Thus we are to be judges of what is best for our neighbor, and if he does
Tiot conform to our wishes, we will force him to do so. On the same princi-

ple we may say, that it is decreed by imerring fate that the red men must be
swept from the face of the eai'th ; but does it follow that we must hasten their

rum ? With as much reason ail mankind might commit suicide, because fate

has decreed that we must all die, sooner or later.

As soon as congress had disposed of the Cherokee question, the executive
of the nation, apprehensive that trouble would arise between Georgia and the
Cherokees, ordered Gen. Scott to repair thither without delay. He was soon
on the way, \vith about 2,000 men. This was early in the year 1838. jMean-
while Gov. Gilmer had thi'eatened " collision," unless the work of expulsion
Avas immediately begun. How much in fear Mr. Van Buren stood of this

and other bravadoes, we do not undertake to say ; but he pressed matters as

fast as he could, more afraid, doubtless, of the votes, than the steel of Georgia.
But what did that excellent old general find on his arrival in the Cherokee

country ? Armed Indians behind every bush, prepared to shed the last di'op

of their blood in defence of their beloved country ? No. Not a semblance
of opposition was there ; all was quietness ; all were about then- ordmary
affairs, in their own fields, and by then- own habitations. Having established

his head quarters in the nation, he issued a proclamation, requesting them to

assemble at certain points, from whence they would be sent to Ai'kansas.

They obeyed, the summons, smd thus, in due time, the whole nation were
removed.

CHAPTER XIV

EXPATRIATION OF THE CHKROKEES, CONTINUED

" Where is my home—my forest home ? the proud land of my sires i

Where stands tlie wigwam of ray pride? \Vhere gleam the council fires

Where are my father^' hallowed graves r my friends, so light and free ?

Gone, gone,—forever from my view! Gre;it Spirit! can it be."'—A. W. B.

It has somehow or other happened that gi-eat changes have taken place

in the minds of our rulers, or some of them, vnthin a few years, in regard to

what certain laws and treaties mean. As late as 1826, no question was
raised about the rights of the Indians ; nothing was attempted to be done, hy

government, on their lands, without their consent being first obtained ; no one
even dreamed of laying out a road thi'ough their lands without their permis-
sion. But, of a sudden, it is discovered that the government has been labor-

ing under a great mistake all the time of its existence ; that durmg the ad-
iTiinistration of Andrew Jackson, wisdom had shed her light so abundant, that

numbers had risen up m her full armor, and unhesitatingly declared that the

very men who formed our constitution knew very little about it ; that under
its provisions no valid treaty could be made ^vith Indians ; that neither

Washington, Jefferson, nor John Adams, could make the discoveiy; but

it must be reserved to add lustre to the era of wliich we are speaking.
The compact betAveen the general government and Georgia, in 1802, is the

principal theme of their oppressors. Now every body knows that with that

compact the Cherokees had nothing to do ; they had no hand in forming it,

nor never consented to it. A treaty is a compact of muttial concessions and
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agi-eements between nations. The Cherokees agreed that if they ever sold

their lands, or any part of them, it should be to the United States. Now this

was, as times have been, a veiy important concession on the paii of the In-

dians ; but if the faith of the United States had been kept inviolate, it would
as yet have amomited to but little,—a small tract of land here and there,

—

but it has now amounted to an entii-e countiy. When the ti-eaties were
formed, it was supposed that against tliis concession the United States had

put one of much greater moment, namely, that of protection. What have we
seen? the whites m possession of all the lands of the Indians, the Indians

protected ? Not by the United States ; for it has driven them where it can-

not, fi-om the natiu'e of then situation, protect them. These conclusions

inevitably follow, and we challenge proof in contradiction.

That we have given the Indians more than then lands were woith, has

been m-ged as an argmnent that no wrong has been done them. That has

nothing to do with the point at issue. Unenviable must the mind of that

man be, who holds nothing above price, mere pecimiary compensation.
What though the government did stipulate that it would buy out the Chero-
kees as soon as it could be done, (a veiy foolish bargain, by the way,) on
reasonable and equitable terms; is it to be understood that thej^ must sell

their lands just when a demand is made for them? This argument is too

fallacious to be thought of by rational men. Hence the only way left to dis-

possess a nation, too weak to detend themselves by force, is to declai"e they
have no right where they are. And, to the astonislunent of all the Avorld,

such were the grounds of argument, and such the arguments that succeeded
in an American congress in ruining a nation. What though the nation were
small, and consequently weak ? So nnich the greater the crime. Are not
laws made for the protection of tlie weak against the strong ? as well in

property as person ? Shall the United States of enlightened America deal

worse with their friends and allies than ancient despotic Rome ? Even na-
tions subdued by the Romans, and included in then dominions, were suffered

"to live under their own laws, and be governed by their o^\ti magistrates."*

It has been urged as a reason for disinheriting the Cherokees, that it is ab-

surd to allow a nation to exist under a separate government, A'V'ithin another
government or state, and hence unconstitutional. Allowing all this to be
true, (wliich we do not,) what has it to do with the Chei'okees ? Had not the

Cherokees as good a right to say to a state which had undertaken to extend
a Ime beyond them, " You have no authority to do this, and must instantly

desist." Now there can be no question but that a state would be comjielled

to desist, if the party so included were able to defend itself against usurpa-
tion. This happening not to be the case with the Cherokees, a cordon is

passed about them, at first, merely nominal ; but, at length, like the coil of
the serpent, it is di-awn tighter and tighter, until they discover, too late, that

a death-blow is aimed at their very existence. Who, or what is Georgia,
that it should claim priority to the Cherokees? Were not the Cherokees a
nation long before it was heard of? Which permitted the other to gro^\- up
by its side ? How long is it since the Cherokees were able to drive that hand-
ful of white intruders bej'ond a more formidable boundaiy than the Missis-

sippi? They did not attempt it. Then "avarice" was not strong enough to

tempt them to so cruel an action. No. Tliey took them by the hand at

Yamacraw Bluff, and at Holston, and said, "Brothers, here is land enough
for us and for you. Lie down upon our skins until you can make wigwams
and mats Ibi- yourselves." How have these kindnesses been returned ?

We will hear what Georgia herself said about the validitj' of Lidian trea-

ties, no longer ago than 1825. In that ycai- a treat}- was made with the
Creeks, by ^vhich a cession of a portion of their territory in Georgia was
made ; and by an aiticlc in said treaty, it was i)rovided, that the United States
ehould protect the Indians against the encroachments and impositions of the
whites, mitil their removal should take place. The governor of Georgia,
G. M. Troup, issued his ]>roclamation in accordsmce with the treaty, a passage
of which is ui these words:

* Vattel, " Law of Nations," B. I. cli. i. sec. 11.
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" I have thought proper to issue this, my proclamation, wai'ning all per-

sons, citizens of Georgia, or others, against trespassing or intruding upon
lands occupied by the Indians within the limits of this state, either for the

purpose of settlement or otherwise ; as every such act will be in direct viola-

tion of the provisions of the treaty, aforesaid, and will expose the aggressors

to the most certain and summai-y punishment by the authorities of the state,

and of the United States. All good citizens, therefore, pursuing the dictates

ofgoodfaith, will unite in enforcing the obligations of the treaty as the supreme
law."

How does this accord wdth a resolve of the legislature of that state, but a
few years afterwards, to take forcible possession of the country of the Chero-
kees ? A compai-ative view of these enactments led a high-minded senator*

to declare, " that treaties were very lawful when made for the use of Georgia."
In 1824, the Georgia delegation in congress, in an address to the president

of the United States, complained, in no very moderate terms, of the injustice

done to their state, by the delay of the government in not extinguishing the

Clierokee title to lands within its limits ; thereby acknowledging what they
denied aftei-wards, namely, that the Cherokees had any title. They say, "If
the Cherokees are unwilling to remove, the causes of that unwillingness are

to be traced to the United Slates. If peaceable pm-chase cannot be made in

the ordinary mode, nothing remains to be done but to order their removal to

£1 designated territory beyond the limits of Georgia." And, in conclusion,
they add, " Om- duty is performed by retnonstrating against the policy hereto-
fore pursued, by which the interests of Georgia have been disregarded ; and
by insisting, as we do, most earnestly, upon an immediate fulfilment of the

oiiligations of the articles of cession of 1802."

Such is a specimen of the language of two senators and six representatives

of Georgia, to the president of the United States, upon this question. And
v/e venture to assert that the autocrat of all the Russias is not more despotic
in his decrees, than these gentlemen were on this occasion.

A few days after the addi-ess of the Georgia delegates, the secretary of
war, the Hon. John C. Calhoun, issued his repoi't on om- Indian relations,

in which he says, " The United States have ever been solicitous to fulfil, at

the earliest period, the obligation of the convention, by the extinguishment
of the Indian titles within the limits of Georgia ; a most satisfactory proot
of which may be found in the number of treaties which have been held for

that purpose, the quantity of lands which has been acquired, and the price

paid. In fact, such has been the solicitude of the government, that but little

regard has been had to the price, whenever it has been found possible to obtain a
cession of lands to the state. The price given has far exceeded that whick
has ever been given in other purchases from the Indians." Thus a mighty
clashing of opinions is apparent on a compai'ison of these two extracts.

From certain other facts in Mr. Calhoun^s report, it appears that, in 1802,
the Cherokees owned 7,152,110 acres of land in the limits of Georgia. Since
the late war ^vith England, they had held two treaties with the United States,

by which they had ceded 995,310 acres. Emigration had been uniformly
encouraged, and many had vohmtarily gone to Ai-kansas. To this course
nobody objected. But in this way matters progi-essed too slow for greedy
speculators, and it was urged that, as many Cherokees had emigrated, a pro-
portionate quantitA- of the country should be set off for Georgia. An enumer-
ation or census had been attempted, to ascertain what the propoition would
be, and it was eventually concluded that one third of the nation had left the
country, and a treaty was entered into at Washington, in 1819, by which that

amount of territory was ceded. Between 1819 and 1824, two attempts to

treat with them for further cessions of territoi-y had been marie, and both
proved abortive. "It cannot be doubted," says Mr. Calhoun, "that much of
the difficulty of acquiring additional cession from the Cherokees, and the

other southern tribes, results from then* growing civilization and knowledge,
by which they have learned to place a higher value upon their lands than
more rude and savage tribes. Many causes have contributed to place them

* 3Ir. Frelinghuysen, of New Jersey.
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higher hi the scale of civilization than other Indians within our limits— the
genial nature of then- climate, which enables them to pass more readily from
the liunter to the herdsman state ; and the fertility of their soil, aiid the value
of their staple aiticles, particularly cotton. To these, however, must be added
the humane and benevolent policy of the government, which has ever directed
a fostering care to the Indians within our limits. This policy is as old as the
government itself; and has been habitually and strongly extended to the
Cherokee nation." Such, in 1824, were allowed to be the reasons why the
Cherokees could not be prevailed upon to forsake their country. Now, if

they had no right there, but that of sufferance, why is it that "this Ibstering

policy, as old as the government," has been held forth and maintained towai'ds

them ? The reason is obvious : no president before Gen. Jackson, could bring
his mind to do as he has done.
At souie future day, ask some remnant of the Cherokees, of the Creeks, or

of the Semuioies, if any should remain, why they should leave the lands of
their fathers to become wanderers beyond the Mississippi, and their reply
can be no other than this : " We were forced away by the white men. Some
of our men were traitors ; of thezn they bought oui" rights, knowing them to

be false."

Compare the language held by Gen. Jackson, in 1821, with what he has
smce said and done. On the 18th of January of that year, he wrote from
his head quartei's at Nashville, to Path Killer, and other Cherokee chiefs, as
follows: "Friends and brothers: I have never told a red brother a lie nor
deceived him. The mtruders [on your lands,] if they attempt to return, will
be sent off. But j^our light-horse should not let them settle down on your
land. You ought to di"ive the stock away Irom your lands, and deliver the
inti'uders to the agent; but if you cannot keep intruders from yoiir land,

report it to the agent, and on liis notice, I will drive them from your land."

On the 6th of June, 1830, he mlbrms the Cherokees, " that, having no
power to interfere and oppose the exercise of the sovereignty of any state,

over and upon all who may be within the limits of any state, they will prepare
themselves to abide the issue of such new relations, without any hojje thai

he will interfere." It must be borne in mind, that the Indians had done
nothing meanwhile to forfeit any one right, or the protection promised them
by all the treaties, sanctioned by all the presidents, including Jackson himself!

In April, 1824, a deputation of Cherokees was at Washington, and on the
15th day of that month they laid before congress a memorial " on matters of
vast importance" to them. In this memorial they refer to the o])pressive

stand taken by the governor of Georgia, as communicated by him in a letter

to the secretary of war, and to the acrimonious and hicongruous address of
the Georgia delegation to the president, already noticed. Upon these the
delegation remark: "We cannot but view the design of those letters as an
attempt, bordering on a hostile disposition towards the Cherokee nation, to

arrest fi-om them, by arbitrary means, their just rights and liberties." And
this is the harshest language they any where comiilain in, in answer to the
grossest insults.

In regard to the cession of more land, they declare their sentiments in the
following words: "Li relation to the disposition and dclermin/dion of the
nation, never again to cede another foot of land is positively the prudvclion and
voice of the nation, and what has been uttered by us, i)i the communications
which we have made to the government, since our arrival in this city, is

ex])ressive of the true sentiments of the nation, agreeably to our instructions,

and not one tvord of which has been put into our inonths Ity a white man. Any
surmises or statements to the contrary are ill-lbunded and luigenerous." It

should be remembered, that it had been basely insinuated by their enemies,
in eveiy public way, that the Indians were influenced by designuig white men
from the north, in all their opposition to the will ol' Georgitu This memorial
was signed by John Ross, George Lowrey, the nuu-k of Major Ridge,
and Elijah Hicks.
Immediately after this, Gov. Troup writes fi'om Milledgeville a very cun-

clusive letter to Mr. Calho^m, secretary of wai", so liir as sophistry and angry
words can be conclusive on a subject As a specimen of his logic, we will
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cite as folloAvs from his communication. Forasmuch " as tlie Puritans of
New Euj^land, and Quakers of Pennsylvania, had never repaired the vvTongs

done Indians, why is Georgia to be called upon to make pi-opitiatoiy offer-

uigs?" And "if the principle of Penn's treaty was right, all others that have
followed aie wrong."
About the same time the Cherokee memorial was before the house of

representatives, of which we have spoken, its authors, to counteract certain

false reports of their traducers, published in the National Litelligencer a

statement of their case, from which we note the following passages: "Not
satisfied with \\ishing the executive of the United States violently to ruptiu-e

the solenm bond of our rights to om- lands, and to put at defiance the pledges
which existing treaties contain, guarantying to us our lands, it is attempted
to take from us the intellect which has directed us m conducting the several

negotiations with commissioners appointed to treat with us for our lands, and
with the executive government, by the unfounded charge, that ' the last letter

of the Cherokees to the secretary at ivar contains internal evidence that it was
never written or dictated by an Indian.^ Whilst we profess to be complunented
on the one hand by this blow at our intelligence, we cannot, in justice, alloW'

it to pass, upon the other, without a flat contradiction. That letter, and every
other letter, was not onh' written, but dictated by an Lidian."

We are not surprised that the Georgia statesmen are not willing to allow
that they have uisulted so much intellect and mtelligence, awai'e, as they must
have been, that in point of mamier and matter, their own compositions, side

by side mth the Cherokees, Avould suffer in no inconsiderable degree by
comparison. In closing they say, " It is not for us to vindicate, or attempt to

^^udicate, our great father the president ; he does not need an Indian's aid,

nor an Indian's eulogy ; but, however we are bound to love him, yet it is due
to justice to state, that we have been often pained, and especially of late, at

the eai-nestness with which he has pressed upon us the subject of ceding our

lands. Why he has acted thus we are at a loss to conceive. We are not

ignorant of the nature of the convention of 1802. We know every one of

its promises. If, however, these are to be Adolated, and the fell war-whoop
should ever be raised against us, to dispossess us of om* lands, we will gratify

the delegation of Georgia, in then- present earnestness to see us removed or

destroyed, by adding additional fertility to our land, by a deposit of om- body
and our bones ; for ice are resolved never to leave them but by parting from them

and our lives togdher." Such was the resolution of the Cherokees at this

period. But fifteen years' suffering overcame them, and they were compelled
to submit to a fate they could not avert.

We have, in an earlier page,* stated the manner in which the Creeks had
been divested of their counti-j', and the fatal catastrophe that fell upon the

heads of the chiefs, who, against the will of the nation, had bargauied it

away. The most prominent character in that work among the Creeks was
Gen. William M'L\tosh. We have, in the same place, stated the attempt

made by that chief to bribe Mr. Ross to undermine his nation, in the same
coiTupt manner as himself had done in regard to his own ; and the part

enacted by the Cherokees, upon that occasion, is now necessary to be stated.

A meeting of the legislative comicil of the Cherokees was held in October,

1823, to hear whaf the agents of om- government had to say to them, they

having procured the meeting. The object, of course, was well understood,

and the agents urged their case in every possible form; but they were
answered in the most manly manner, that the nation would never part with

another foot of land. Gen. 3I'Intosh was present at this conference, and with
his son was treated with eveiy kindness, and during the proceedings were
seated by the side of ]Mr. Ross, as was customaiy with both nations at tlieir

councils, when any distinguished chiefs were present, to signify that good
coiTespondence between them existed. At, or about this time, M'Intosh ven-

tured to recommend a cession to some of the chief men in conversations

,

what feigned encouragement he met with, to draw out his real character, is

not upon our records, but it is certain that a communication in writing was

* Of this Book, Chap, vi., p. 52.
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thereupon mnde to Mr. Ross, who, without delay, laid it before the coimcil,

when it was decided that it should be read in IM'Intosh's presence. He was
accordingly called in, and his letter was read,* after which Mr. Ross made the

Ibllowing address

:

" My triends : five years have elapsed since I have been called to preside

over the national committee ; and your approbation ofmy conduct in the dis-

chai'ge of my official duties, is manitested by the successive reappointments

which you have bestowed on me. The trust which you have reposed in me
has been sacredlj' maintained, and shall ever be preserved. A traitor, in all

nations, is looked upon in the darkest color, and is more despicable than the

meanest reptile that crawls upon the earth. An honorable and honest char-

acter is more valuable than the filthy lucre of the wliole world. Therefore, 1

would prefer to live as poor as the worm that inhabits the earth, than to gain

the world's wealth and have my reputation as an honest man tarnished by
the acceptance of a pecuniary bribe, for sell-aggrandizement. It has now
become my painful duty to inform you that a gross contempt is offered to my
character, as well as to that of the members of the general coimcil. This
letter which I hold in my hand will speak for itself But, fortunately, the

author of it has mistaken our character and sense of honor."

This took place on the 24 October, 1823, and was but the commencement
of the denunciations 3I'Intosh was to receive. As chief speaker of the nation,

the duty of severely reprimanding the ti'aitor devolved on Major Ridge. This
was an exceeding!}' painful duty to him, especially as they had been old

friends and officers together; had fought under Jackson, side by side, at

Taladega, Tohopeka, and in numerous other battles ; they had been co-

laborers in the civil field ; frequently called together to settle and adjust

important matters between their i-espective nations ; and they were, at this

time, under an appointment as commissioners to run the boundaiy line

between the tAvo nations. But all these considerations and circumstances

did not cause Major Ridge to shrink from his duty. He said that what he
was about to say must not only be heard by the Cherokees, but by others, far

and wide. He adverted to their acltnowledged maxims in reference to the

duties of those intrusted with their govej-nment, who, if once found astray

from their duty, were never again to be trusted. M'Intosh, he said, had borne
the character of high moral rectitude among his own people, the Creeks, but

how stands his character now ? "I cast him behind my back. He may
depart in peace. I here publicly disgrace him. He now knows we are not

to be bought with money. We Avill not exult over fallen greatness. He may
go to his OAvn nation, and in the bosom of his family mourn the loss of a
good name." Such is the substance of the speech of Major Ridge, who him-
self fell into the same snare afterwards, and suffered the same fate, Avith the

man he now so pointedly and justly condemned.
In 1829, a society was formed in New York, " for the emigi'ation, preserva-

tion, and improvement, of the aborigines of America," an account of Avhich

was transmitted to the president of the United States, then at the Rip Raps,
in Virginia. The president replied to a letter which accompanied the ac-

count, through Major Eaton, in a very conciliatoiy and gracious manner.
One passage is especially worthy of notice, fi-om its surprising contrast with
what was atterAvards avoAved by the same authors. " I beg leaA^e to assure

you," says the general, "that nothing of a compulsoiy course, to eftect tiie

removal of this untbrtunate race of people, has ever been thought of by the

president ; although it has been so asserted." Now, all the AA'orld knows
Aviiat has since been said and done. In a sort of a reply Avhich Mr. Benton
made to Mr. Clm/ in the senate, in 1835, he said he rose not for the purpose
of taking any part in the little discussion, [about Indians,] but of calling

up a voice liir more ])owerli4l tlian his own—that of ftlr. Jefferson" But as

he said nothing in his half hour's talk that he attributed to Mr. Jefferson, or

that Mr. Jefferson ever thought of, except that good man's name, it is fair to

presume that that was the extent of his argiunent. We are prepared to use

something more than the name of Jefferson against the oppressors of the In-

* The same we have given, ante, page 52.
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dians, and Ave here ofFer some of his sound and sober convictions. "I am of
opinion," he says in a letter to Gen. Knox, of 10 August, 1791, "that govern-

ment should firmly maintain this ground ; that the Indians have a right to

the occupation of their lauds, independent of the states ivithin ivhose chartered

limits they Imppen to be ; that, until they cede them by treatj', or other transac-

tion equivalent to a treaty, no act of a state can give a right to such lands

;

tliat neither under the present constitution, nor the ancient confederation, had
any state, or persons, a right to treat Avith tlie Indians without the consent of
the general government ; that that consent has never been given to any ti'eaty

for the cession of the lands in question ; that the government is determined
to exert all its energyfor the patronage and protection of the rights of the Indians,

and the presentation of peace between the United States and them ; and that

if any settlements are made on lands not ceded by them, Avithout the previous
consent of the United States, the goA^ernment will think itself bound, not only
to declare to the Indians that sucli settlements are witJwid the avthority or pro-

tection of the United States, bid to remove them also by the public force." Such
AVas the " voice " Col. Benton said he Avas to " call up," to drown that of the

friend of the Indians. But " hoAV are the mighty fallen !

" The helpless In-

dians have been forced to fly before the steel of the Avhite man to inhospi-

table regions, leaving then- fixie fields and comfortable houses to their ava-

ricious oppressors.

But after all that has happened, all the Avrong that has been done the

Indian, all the Avrong that has been done to eveiy countr3Tnan of Jefferson,

we Avould not change our condition Avith a subject of Algiers, because we
have Avell-gi'ounded hopes that good men Avill ere long stand in the place

Avhere justice emanates
;
yet it fills the heart of the philanthropist with sor-

row, that their coming cannot relieve the Cherokees.
The dey of Algiers holds out no pretensions to Christians that they may

exjject justice at his hands ; but he says to them, " Do you not know that my
people are a band of robbers, and that I am their captain ? " * A president of
the United States has said that he intended no hai-m to the Cherokees ; but
Avhat has he done ?

It is painful to be compelled to reproach the government of a beloved
countiy Avith acts like these ; but Ave have no alternative, excepting in a der-

eliction of dut)'. We would gladly have been spared this part of our imder-
taking ; but Justice has claims upon us now as strong as she had upon our
government, and Ave cannot so deliberately disregard them.

9i!e>i>c

CHAPTER XV.

HISTORY OF THE CHEROKEES, CONTINUED.

" They have taken the realm which our ancestors gave
;

They have thrown their chains o'er the land and the wave
,

Tlie forest is wasted with sword and with tiame
;

And what have we left but our once honored name?"

—

Alokzo likwu.

We have seen how Jefferson viewed the rights of the Indians, as guaran-
tied to them in the times of Washington ; and what have the Cherokees since
done, that they are to forfeit those rights ? Have they forfeited them by adopt-
ing the manners and customs of a civilized people ? or by fighting their bat-

tles ? That a president of this day should say to them, when they are about
to be gi-ossly tyrannized over by a state, " that he has no power to interfere

and to oppose the exercise of the sovereignty of any state, over or upon all

who may be Avithin the limits of any state ; that, therefore, they must prepare
themselves to abide the issue of such new relations, without any hope that he
will interfere;"—thus did Gren. Jackson speak to the insulted Cherokees, on

* See Mr. Bluni's Brief Examination, &c., page 13.

38* 2D
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the 6 June, 1830. He, at the same time, assured them "that he loves them;(!"

that he is their friend ; that he feels for them as a father feels for his chil-

dren." Witli whatever truth this might have been spoken, we do not hesitate

to presume ?^Jiat such was not the way the Cherokees felt "for then- children."

^nd in an .nddress to the people of the United States, which they published
on the 17 f dy of the same year, they say, "It would be impossible to describe

the sorrow which affects their minds, on learning that the chief magistrate of
the United States has come to this conclusion, tliat all his illustrious prede-
cessor' had held intercourse with them on erroneous principles

;
principles

that could not be sustained; that they had made promises of vital importance
to them, which could not be fulfilled—promises made hundreds of times, in

almost eveiy conceivable manner—often in the form of solemn treaties

—

sometimes in letters written by the chief magistrate with his o^^^l hand—very
often in letters wi'itten by the secretaiy of war under his du-ection—these,

all these, are now discovered to be upon false principles."

The Chei'okees had now become capable of meeting the white people Avith

the arguments of reason, and not with steel ; and they were capable of judg-
ing between sincerity and mere pretension. This was well portrayed by
the chief Speckxed Snake, in a speech which he made in a council which
liad been summoned to hear a talk fi'om President Jackson read to them. It

was as follows

:

'^Brothers ! We have heard the talk of our great father ; it is very kind. He
says he loves his red children. Brothers! When the white man first came to

these shores, the Muscogees gave him land, and kindled him a fire to make
him comfortable ; and when the pale faces of the south* made war on hmi,
their yoimg men drew the tomahawk, and protected his head from the scalp-

ing knife. But when the white man had warmed himself before the Indian's

fire, and filled himself with the Indian's hominj^, he became very large ; he
stopped not for the mountain tops, and his feet covered the plains and the

valleys. His hands grasped the eastern and the western sea. Then he be-

came our great father. He loved his red childi'en ; but said, 'You must move
a little farther, lest I should, by accident, tread on you.' With one toot he
pushed the red man over the Oconee, and with the other he tram})led down
the graves of his fathers. liut our great father still loved his red children,

and he soon made them another talk. He said much ; but it all meant noth-

ing, but ' move a little farther
;
you are too near me.' 1 have heard a great

many talks from our great father, and they all begun and endp.fl the same.
Brothers .' When he made us a talk on a former occasion, he salcf, ' Get a little

farther; go beyond the Oconee and the Oakmulgee : there is a pleasant coun-
try.' Healso said, ' It shall be j'ours forever.' Now he saj^s, ' The land you
live on is not yours

;
go beyond the Mississippi; there is game; there you

may remain while the grass grows or the water runs.' Brothers ! Will not
our great father come there also ? He loves his red childi-en, and his tongue
is not forked."

The doctrine of a right inherent m the government of the L'nited States to

remove the Cherokees by force, is comparatively new. It was not thought or

even di'eamed of before 1808. In that year a deputation from that nation was
encouraged to visit the seat of government, more for the renewal of friend-

ship than any thing else perhaps, who, in a conference they had with Presi-

dent Jefferson, "^declared their anxious desire to engnsre in the jmisuit of agri-

cidture and civilized life, in the coxintrrj they then occupied;" but said, "as all

their countrymen could not be induced to exchange the hunter's life lor an
agricultural one, they requested that their country might be divided by a line

between the U])per and lower towns, so as to incliuh^ all the waters of the

Highwassee River to the upper towns; that, by thus contracting their society

within narrower limits, they inight begin the estnhlishment of fixed laws and a

regular government. Those wishing to lead the liiuiter's life, owing to the

Bcarcity of game in their country, requested liberty to go over the Mississipjii

and occupy somi vacant lauds belonging to the Ihiitcd States. To these

* 'flic Spaninrds of Florida c'lirlcavnrcl to lircnl; up ilio Enolifsji soidrniiMit under Gen^

Ogieiliorpe in Gcoriria.
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propositions the president gave his entire and unqualified approbation. No
objection is heard of against then- erectmg a government for themselves, or
a Avish to restrain them in anj'^ manner.

Eventually, some four or live thousand of the low^er town Cherokees did
emigrate to Arkansas, and there a w^retched life many of them worried out

;

many fell in wars with the Osages, some few got back to their own country,

and sickness swept off many more. Such fruits of emigration tended to

strengthen the upper towns in their resolution of cultivating the land ; and
when, in 1823, commissioners wei"e appointed to treat with them for their

country, and for theii* removal west, they directly refused, and showed how
much better off they were for contmuing in then- ovm nation than those who
had emigrated. And here ended lor some years all attempts on the pait of
the United States to treat with them for a removal. The seeds of avai-ice,

although sown, had not come to maturity, but, like a plant in an uncongenial
soil, remained without seeming to flourish or decay

;
yet at length a prosper-

ous cultivator being found in a president of the United States, its growth soon
astonished all beholders, and its branches cast a deathlike shade over a pros-

perous nation, and withered it away.
We have before remarked upon the discovery made .by the southern poli-

ticians, namely, that from the time of Washington, there had been no presi-

dent (includmg that gi'eat man) who knew what laws and treaties meant

;

that all the time and money which had been spent m making treaties, had
been thrown away ; for it was now discovered that Indians were only tenants

at will, and had no right on any lands AvithLn certain state boundaries, any
longer than the charity of the good jieople near them would humanely per-

mit. In fact, all these treaties were now found out to be unconstitutional.

Tiiis doctrine was finally the hmge on which the whole business tiu-ned.

But Georgia herself could condescend to treat with the Cherokees in '783,

and obtained from them a considerable tract of coimtiy. Did that state cjn-

descend then to acknowledge the Cherokees an independent nation to get

fifom them bj^ treaty that which she w"as not strong enough to take by force ?

I will not aver that it was so. One thing, however, there is, about which
there can be no misconception ; the Chei'okees were then powerful ; and
though, m the war with England, which had just terminated, they fought
against us, they now came forward and declaimed for us ; and their alliance

was considered of no small account, situated as we then were in relation to

the Spaniards in Florida. And, besides, it must be considered that at the

close of the revolution, our people desu'ed peace with the Cherokees as much
as they with us ; and, in the language of Chief Justice Marshall,* " When the

United States gave peace, did they not also receive it ? Did the Cherokees
come to us, to our seat of government, to solicit peace ; or did our govern-
ment send commissioners to them to ask it ? " The result, hoAvever, was the

ti*eaty of Hopewell, " within the Cherokee nation," and not at New York, that

that celebrated treaty was made.
The series of usurpations commenced upon the Cherokees and other

Indians, has at length, in this present year, 1840, reached the climax of
oppression contemplated by its originators. That people had long viewed
fin-ther encroachments upon them as certain, inasmuch as such encroach-
ments had never actually ceased from the day of their acquaintance with the

white man ; but the awful thunder which burst upon tliem in our day had
nerer been thought of by the whites, much less by themselves, imtil Avithin a

few years. They had, indeed, as early as 1823, obsei-ved a dark cloud gather-

ing in the north-east, but they rationally thought that the extent of countrj^ it

must pass over, before it should reach them, would qualify its rage, and waste
its deadly effects ; happy for them had it proved as they had hoped, and as

evei-y friend of humanity and justice had hoped it would; but it came and
swept away the Cherokees.
The monstrous project of a removal of all the Indians within our hmits

beyond the Mississippi, is not chargeable to any one of our chief magistrates,

but Mr. Monroe is conspicuous among them. He proposed it with diffidence

* Opinion in tlie case, Worcester vs. the S^tate of Georgia, p. 1-i.
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in his openiDg message to congress, on the 7th of December, 1824 ; and liere

let us obsei-ve, that the suggestion Avas made upon the same mouth, and nearly

the same day of the month, that our tlithers came to these shores; and on the

97th of January, followng, he strongly recommended the measure. He waa
induced to pi-opose such a plan, he said, as the only one he could devise to

relieve the countiy from the difficulty by which its executive vs^as suiTounded,
and which eveiy day thickened. Georgia was pressing with severe earnest-

ness ; alleging that the time had arrived when the Indian title to lands within
its limits should be extinguished, and the new states were crowding on all

sides with undue importunity, that their claim for Indians' lands was as good
as their neighbors'. The president, therefore, like a bankrupt, who, to get rid

of a difficult demand to-day, obligates himself to pay a greater one to-morrow,
disregards the dictates of his own judgment. It was under these circum-
stances that a removal was recommended

±5ut wth this recommendation of removal, Mr. Monroe, although he speaks
oi force, repudiates m the strongest terms its employment. And we cannot
doubt his suggestion was dictated by the purest benevolence. He says, "The
condition of the aborigines within our limits, and especially those who are

^vithin the limits of any of the states, merits peculiar attention. Experience
has shown, that unless the tribes be civilized, they can never be Incorporated
into our system, in any form whatever. It has likewise shown, that in the
regulai' augmentation of our population, with the extension of our settle-

ments, their situation will become deplorable, if their extinction is not
menaced. Some well-digested plan, which will rescue them fi-om such
calamities, is due to theu* rights, to the rights of humanity, and to the honor
of the nation. Their civilization is indispensable to then- safety, and this can
be accomplished only by degrees. Difficulties of the most serious character
present themselves to the attainment of this veiy desirable result, on the

teiTitory on which they now reside. To remove them from it hy force, even
with a view to then* own security or happiness, would be revoltuig to

humanit}', and utterly unjustifiable."

And touching this matter we have a very clear view of the opinions of Mr.
Monroe, regai-ding Indian rights, in another message, in which he expresses
himself as follows : " I have no hesitation, however, to declare it as my
opinion, that the Indian title was not affected in the slightest circumstance
by the compact vnxh Georgia, and that there is no obligation on the United

States to remove the Indians by force. The express stipulation of the compact,
that their title should be extinguished at the expense of the United States,

when it may be done peaceably, and on reasonable conditions, is a full proof
that it was the clear and distinct understanding of both parties to it, that the

Indians had a right to the territory, in the disposal of which they were to be
regarded as free agents. An attempt to remove them by force would, in my
opinion, be unjust. In the future measures to be adopted in regard to the

Indians within our limits, and, in consequence, within the limits of any state,

the United States have duties to perform, and a character to sustain, to which
they ought not to be indifferent" But what have the admonitions of all good
men availed ? And the more we meet with, the more we are astonished at

the result of things, and the more severely do we deprecate and denounce
the advocates of the course pursued.
The president evidently had not thought very seriously about the removal

of the Indians at this time, and knew little of tlie history, or actual state of
the Cherokees ; they had then become considerably civilized, and instead of
decreasing, were increasing. But about two months after, he again makes
the Indian subject the object of a special message, in the outset of which he
holds this language: "Being deeply impressed with the opinion, that tlie

removal of the Indian tribes from the lands which tliey noAV occupy within
the limits of the several states and territories, to the counti-y lying westward
and northward thereof, within our acknowledged boundaries, is of very high
importance to our Union, and may be accomplished on conditions and in a

manner to promote the interest and happiness of those tribes, the attention

of government has been long drawn, with great solicitude, to the subject"

First a removal is barely thought about, then talked about, then proposed,
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then strongly recommended ; so far there must be no compulsion, l)ecaus;- it

would be too barefaced an outrage on the common sense of the peo])le

;

because the Indians ivill remove without force; they can be bought out.

Time showed that they could not be obliged to sell their country ; then the
project of extending state laws over them is started, which, though miconsti-
tutional, can be enforced in sjiite of the general government, to the incal-

culable mischief of the Lidians ; and besides, could it be supposed that the
general government would resist state laws unto a drop of white blood in

defence of the Tights of Indians "? A preposterous idea! A result which could
not be allowed to happen in these days of light and reason in abundance.
While the executive of the general government is pondering the matter, not
(july Indians, but citizens of the United States, among them as instructors,

and by the direction and under the authoritj' of the president himself are
seized by an armed force, dragged to a distant region, and thrown into prison

!

Months pass away, and the government is still pondering on what is to be done,
in the mean time Georgia sends out an armed force to pi-otect the Indians,
and we will hear how this force performed the sendee, as set forth in a

memorial to congress from some of the most respectable of the Cherokees,
in 1831.

" In the name and authority of G. R. Gilmar, governor of Georgia, a bill

was filed in chancery, in the superior court of Hall county, in July last, (1830,)
against ceitain Cherokees, praying for an injunction to stop them ti'om digging
and searching for gold within the limits of their own nation ; and the bill

being sworn to before Judge Clayton, he awarded an injmiction against the
parties named in the bill as defendants, commanding them, forthwith, to

desist from working on those mines, under the penalty of 20,000 dollars ; at

the same time and place there were unmolested several thousand intruders
from Georgia and other states, engaged in robbing the nation of gold, for

which the o^vners were ordered not to work by the said ^vrit. Under the
authority of this injunction, the sheriff of Hall covmty, with an armed force,

invaded the nation, consisting of a colonel, a captain, and 30 or 40 of the
militia of the state of Georgia, who aiTested a number of Cherokees engaged
in digging for gold, who were at fu'st rescued by the troops of the United
States, stationed near the place, and the sheriff and his party themselves
made prisoners, and conducted fifteen miles to the military camp, when a
council of examination was held, and the exhibition of then- respective

authorities made, which resulted in the release of the sheriff and his party,

and a written order by the commanding officer of the United States troops,

directing the Cherokees to submit to the authority of Georgia, and that no
further protection could be extended to them at the gold mines, as he could
no longer interfere with the laws of Georgia, but would afford aid m carrying
them mto execution. On the retm-n of the sheriff and his party, they passed
by the Cherokees who were still engaged in digging for gold, and ordered
them to desist, under the penalty of bemg committed to jail, and proceeded
to destroy their tools and machinery for cleaning gold, and afler committing
some further aggression, they returned. Shortly afterwards, the sheriff, with
a guard of fom- men, and a process from the state of Georgia, an-ested three

Cherokees fbr disobe}ang the injunction, while peaceably engaged in their

labors, and conducted them to Wadkinsville, a distance of 75 miles, before
the same judge, A. S. Claj^on, who then and there sentenced them to pay a
fine of 93 dollars, costs, and to stand committed to prison until paid ; and
also compelled them to give their bond in the sum of 1,000 dollars, for their

personal appearance before his next court, to answer tlie charges of violatmg
the writ of injunction aforesaid. They were retained in custody five dayi",

uien paid the costs, and gave the required bond. They appeared agi-eeably

to the bonds, and Judge Clayton dismissed them, on the ground that the
governor of Georgia could not become a prosecutor in the case. For these

unwarrantable outrages, committed on their persons and projjerty, no apologj'

was offered, nor to this day has any of their money been refunded."
If there are any blacker cases of outrage any where committed in a

Clu-istian country, we are not informed of them. Such would not be sub-

mitted to in Turkey or China- The manner in which affairs were managed
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in Georgia, under color of law, is a disgi*ace to the least civilized community.
Gen. Macomb marched the troops of the United States uito the Cherokee
countiy, he said, to guard against the difficulties which it was apprehended
would gi-ow out of the conflicting operations of the Cherokees and the

lawless intruders upon the mineral district, and having fulfilled the instrudiovs

of the government, the troops were directed to return tor the winter to theii

respective quarters."

About the same time Gov. Gilmar wrote to the secretarj' of war, requesting

the withdrawal of the troops, observing that Georgia could enforce her own
laws. When tliis notice was received at Washington, the secretaiy vn-ote to

Gilmar that he had "just ordered their withdrawal, because the object for

which they had been sent was, in a great measure, accomplished !

" Now, if

the Cherokee country belonged to Georgia, it is difficult to see what business

the general government had to send its troops into her territory, to remove
gold diggers or any other kind of diggers, whether digging lawfully in their
" own diggings," or unlawflilly in those of another It was a new docti-ine,

but of a tenor with all the rest, that the United States must enforce the laws
of Georgia. That is to say, she must enforce them for Georgia, if Georgia
desii-ed it, or if not, there would be no interference on the part of the general

government

CHAPTER XVI.

HISTORY OF THE CHEROKEES, CONCLUDED.

"Come, Lethe, come! thy tide oblivious roll

O'er all that proud complacency of soul,

'i'hat generous ardor, that enlivening tianie,

That wiirmtd my bosom, when I heard the name
Of my once honored country ;— let thy wave,
Dark as Avernus, gloomy as the grave,

Drown every vestige of that country's fame,
And shade the light that bursts upon her shame!"

—

Pierpoxt

To mark the progress of oppression, we here note as follows fi-om the

Cherokee Phcenix, under date, "JVew Echota, 19 February, 1831. This week
we present to our readers but half a sheet The reason is, one of oiu* printers

has left us ; and we expect another, who is a white man, to quit us very soon,

either to be dragged to the Georgia penitentiary for a term not less than four

years, or for his personal safety to leave the nation, to let us shirt for our-

selves as well as we can. Thus is the libertj^ of the press guarantied by the

constitution of Georgia. But we will not give up the ship while she is afloat

We have intelligent youths enough in the nation, and we hope before long to

make up our loss. Let our patrons bear in mind that we are in the woods,
and, as is said by many, in a savage countiy, where printers are not plenty

;

and therefore they must not ex-pect to receive the Phoenix regular for a while,

but we will do the best we can."

One month after, namely, March 19, the Phoenix says, " The law of Geor-
gia, making it a high misdemeanor for a white man to reside in the Cherokee
nation, without taking the oath of allegiance, and obtaining a permit from the
governor of Georgia, or his agent, is now in a course of execution. On last

Sabbath, after the usual time of divine service, the Georgia guard arrived, and
arrested three of our citizens, viz., Rev. Samuel A. Worcester, Mi'. J. F.

Wheeler, one of our printers, and 3ir. Thomas Ganu, the two last being citi-

zens, with Cherokee iamilies. Mr. Isaac Proctor, assistant missionary at Cai'-

niel, had the evening before been taken, and came with the guard as a pris-

oner. On Monday they were marched to Etahwah, where, the same evening,

were taken the Rev. .lohn Tliom[)son, and Mr. William Thompson." Upon
this outrage the editor of the Phoenix meekly remaiks, that his object was
simply to give facts, and not indulge in any remarks upon their origin. Wil-
iam Thompson was thrown into jail, but afterwards discharged, it being
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ascert-ained that he did not live in the nation. The missionaries and two
others were taken before Judge Clayton, on a wi-it of habeas corpus, and lib-

erated by him on the ground that they were agents of the government ; they,
however, made no such plea. It was aptly said by the Cherokees, that if ihe
raissionai-ies were agents of the government, the public might rest assured
that Gen. Jackson would reform them out.

They were true prophets ; for it seems that Mr. Worcester, being postmas-
ter at New Echota, was an agent of government, and was discharged to make
room for a more certain process against him. The next thing to be done was
to drive him fi-om the post office, which Mr. Barry did without delay, and put
another in his place, who, besides performing his duty of postmaster, per-
formed another, of more profit to himself, probably, of selling liquors to the
Inthans, in \dolation of the laws of the United States, as well as those of the
Cherokees.
We Avill produce another short narrative, exhibiting the progress of crime

and oppression against the Cherokee nation, before passing to other details.

It is contained in a letter from John Ridge to Elias Boudinot, and is in these
words :

" The Georgia guard, under Col. Nelson, are now here [at Ougillogy]
with four prisoners, Mr. Elliott and Mr. Dennis, white men, citizens of this

nation by mai-riage, and the Rev. Mr. Trott, also a white man, who are
chai'ged with a violation of the Georgia laws, in living in this nation by its

allowance and laws. The other is Mr. John West, a young gentleman, a
Cherokee, who is charged wth the high crime of using insolent language to

the guard. These four I saw last night under guai'd, chained together in pairs,

and fastened together with locks. Mr. David Vann, a member of the Cnero-
kee senate, and Thomas Woodward, are also arrested, but not chained, who
are not allowed to know the reason of then* aiTest until they arrive at head
quarters, 70 or 80 miles from their homes. The guard are still in pursuit of
other men. They have a wagon along, in which they have a di'um, on which
they beat, and a fife, to make martial music."

The above was under date of June 1. On the 21 May, some of the prin-

cipal Cherokee citizens assembled at New Echota, and issued an appeal to

the people of the United States, Avhich, though claiming nothing but justice,

and asking for protection, time passed away, and none were found to step

forv/ard to relieve them. We have a heavy debt to pay, at some time and in

some manner, which mil, it is feared, be more difficult to discharge, than it

would have been to have supported the Cherokees against an insignificant

rabble of self-constituted, inflated contemners of law and justice.

In 1826, Georgia sent on commissioners to make a topogi-aphical survey
through the Cherokee nation. C R. Hicks was then principal chief, who
forbids the proceeding in a friendly letter to Mr. W. Lumpkin, under Avhom
the survey was to be prosecuted. No attention being paid to this notice, Mr.
Hicks sent his son with two other Indians to remonstrate •with the sui-veyor

in more pointed terms. He was told, that unless he desisted, his instruments

should be taken from him. Not thinking it pi-oper to incur further displeas-

ure, he accordingly desisted for that time. It was against the express mil of
the Cherokee coimcil that any sui-vey should be undertaken without an order
from the secretary of war, because no state has any authority to go upon the

lands of the Indians for any such purpose ; and even the United States never
take such liberty without a grant from them.

Affairs progressed, without much of interest until the next year. Mean-
while Georgia had been informed that she was transcending her powers, and
that she would not be tolerated by the United States in her encroachments
i^pon the Indians. Whereupon, Gov. Troup, not finding any object whereon
to use his sword, if he had had one, seized that " mighty instrument of little

men," his pen ; and had we not known that steam is harmless when there is

n<;)thing to confine it, we should have apprehended " an a^vful explosion."

Take, as a specimen, what he says to the Hon. James Barbodr, secretaiy at

war : " Sir, you are sufficiently explicit as to the means by wh;ch you propose

to carry your resolution into effect. Thus the militaiy character of the

menace is established, and I am only at liberty to give to it the defiance

which it merits. From the fii-st decisive act of hostility, you will be consid
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ered and treated as a public enemy ; and with the less repugnance, because
you, to whom we might constitutionally have appealed for oiu" own defence
against invasion, are yom-selves invaders ; and what is more, the unblushing

allies of the savages, whose cause you have adopted."

Vapor is soon dissolved in au', and words fi'om a southern furnace amount
to no more in this case than echoes from an iceberg. In 1828, a long re-

port was made by a committee of the house of representatives of Georgia,

seconded by sundry resolutions of a character with former proceedings. It

was resolved, that inasmuch as the United States had failed to procure the

Cherokee lands " as early," and upon as " reasonable terms," as it might have
done, they had thereby ^^ palpably violated their contract ivith Georgia, and are

now bound, at all hazards, and without regard to terms, to procm-e said lands

for the use of Georgia ; that all said lands belong to her absolutely, and that

the Indians are tenants at her will." This, the committee said, was their last

appeal.

The administration of Mi-. Adams being at an end, Georgia had no longer

any thing to fear, but practised its abuses with singular impunity. Parties

from that state would go over the Chei'okee line, steal and drive oft' their

stock; and the Indians had not the least remedy left. Some despairingly

said, "If they could get no redi-ess, they could feel deeply the injustice done
them."

Had the upright and consummate statesman, John Quincy Adams, been
continued in the presidential chair, the fate of the Cherokees would have
been different ; at least, so long as his sage counsel had been followed, they
would have been secm-e in their rights. In his message to congress on the

5 FebruaiT, 1827, he said, " It is my duty to say, that if the legislative and
executive authorities of the state of Georgia should persevere in acts of en-
croachment upon the territoiy, secured by a solemn treatj" to the Indians, and
the laws of the Union remain unaltered, a superadded obligation, even higher
than that of human authority', will compel the executive of the United States

to enforce the laws, and fulhl the duties of the nation, by all the force com-
mitted for that purpose to his charge." It was to such decisive language, held
by the head of the govei-nment, that the Cherokees owed what little quiet

they had, until 1829, when a new interpretation given to our laws changed
order into anarchy.
On the 15 September, 1831, eleven persons were brought to trial at Law

renceville, for the crime of living in the Cherokee nation, without taking an
oath to obey the laws of Georgia. They were all brought in guilty by a juiy,

after being out fifteen minutes. Nine of the convicts were pardoned, on giv-

ing assm-ances that they would not offend again. The tw^o missionaries,

Worcester and Butler, having, as they averred, committed no crime, would
accept no pardon, and were accordingly taken to the penitentiary. The gov-
ernor (Gilmar) of Georgia, di'eading the expression of public opinion, was in

hopes to have got rid of the missionaries at a cheaper rate than was now
promised, writes to the inspectors of the prison, requesting that they would
" converse with each convict alone, and ascertain from them whether they
are disposed to promise not again to ofliend the laws, if they should be par-
doned." But this overtm-e amounted to nothmg, for they were determined
m their course, and went accorduigly to "hard labor" among felons! Prison
clothes were put on them, bearing about their waists the miiiaia of their

names in large red letters.

L) November following, Georgia was cited to appeal- before the supreme
court of the United States, to show cause why the judgment of one of her courts
should not be set aside in the case of Messrs. Butler and Worcester. Geor
gia, througli her executive, raised the ciy of state rights, and said that any at-

tempt of the United States to interfere with her criminal jurisdiction, would
challenge the most determined resistance, and, if persisted in, would ineviiably

annihilate the Union. When the case came on, there was no appearance on
the part of Georgia; tiius showing its contempt ibr tliat tribunal. And vviien

it was decided that that state had no right to imprison any ))ersons on the

ground assumed, and a mandanuis was served on the court wliicli had tried

be inissionaries, for a habeas corpus, it was refused, and tlie mandamus
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disregarded. Thus stood matters in March, 1832, and notliing was expected
to be done in favor of the prisoners for a year to come, owing to the delays
consequent upon law proceedings. And here we will remark, that laws are
excellent when they suit the views of avaricious men, but when they thwart
their liase propensities, they are exceedingly oppressive. In the time of 3fr.

Jelferson's administration, Pennsylvania attempted to resist a mandate of the

supreme court, but in due time wisely yielded to her duty; and !^e it remem-
bered, that Georgia was among the foremost to declare that Pennsylvania
should be coerced into submission.

In September, 1830, a detachment of United States troops again scoured
the gold mine country. At the upper mines they arrested upwards of one
hundred persons, whites and Cherokees. The latter, after being kept under
guard one night, were dismissed with the peremptory injunction, not to dig
anymore. Hence it follows, that if the Cherokees had potatoes in the ground,
they iiad no right to dig them up, neither had they any right to plant them.
In short, Georgia having carried her injustice as tar as she could, the United
States steps in and lends iier a hand in extending it!

About the time of tliis military expedition, the principal men of Agnohee
district met in council, and, in an alfectionate and feeling manner, thanked
all those citizens of the United States who had in any way come forward and
raised their voices against their oppressors. They, at the same time, issued

an address to us, which would do honor to the head or heart of any philan-
thropist that ever floiu-ished upon the proudest page of history. And we
doubt if there exists that nation under the sun, even in this enlightened age,

which would have suffered as the Cherokees have done, without taking
revenge on theii- inhuman oppressors. To what then are we to attribute

their noble and philosophic forbearance : to their civilization or degradation ?

As matters now stood, it seemed that serious difficulty must ensue between
the United States and Georgia, if swaggering and high-sounding words had
any meaning, when proceeding from governors, ex-governors, and others,

hii ... >)ihce in that state. But while the decision of the supreme court was
sleeping, Georgia was sweeping onward in full triumph; she parcelled out

' the Cherokee country, and drove the honest owners out of doors, put her
own citizens in their places from one corner to the other of their country;"
every white man who had moral courage enough to question these nefarious

proceedings, was obliged, at the same time, to exercise discretion enough to

keep himself at a safe distance from penitentiary jurisdiction.

Hence, in about a j'ear from the time the missionaries were thrown into

prison, Georgia had got full and undisturbed possession of all the country in

question, and had nothing to fear from missionary or any other influence. It

was therefore concluded that a sort of a drawn game might be played with
the supreme court; thinking, probai)ly, that it was not worth while to try

their strengtii with it at this time, for if they should, it might establish a pre-
cedent which would prevent a profitable use of the same farce hereafter,

when it might be convenient for them to usurp other powers.
It seemed now understood, that if Georgia would liberate the missionaries,

they would not urge their suit any further against her; and accordingly, Gov.
Lumpkin, in a very gracious manner, proclaimed, on the 14th of January,
1833, that "whereas the prisoners had signified to him that they had in-

structed their counsel to prosecute their suit no further, and should therefore
' leave the question of their continuance in confinement to the magnanimily of the

state;' and taking into view the triumphant ground which the state finally

occupies in relation to this subject in the eyes of the nation, as has beeJ^.

sufficiently attested through various channels, especially in the recent over-
whelming reelection rf President Jackson, the known defender of the rights

of the state throughout thia controversy; and above all, the magna^jimity of
Georgia being appealed to, know ye, that I have thought proper to remit the
further execution of their sentence, and that they be forthwith discharged,"
Thus nearly a year had passed since the supn nii> court had decided tha^ the

acts of Georgia were a violation of the laws of the land.*

* The decision was made by Judsre Marshall on the 3d Marcli, 1832.

39 ' ''
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No reflections will ever be required upon this affair fi*om the historian, as

tliey will naturally suggest themselves to the mind of every reader, who haa
only to consider, that argument had very little to do where Andrew Jackson
was concerned.

In the memorial which the chiefs of the Cherokee nation submitted to

congress on the 3d of March, 1829, are remarks and reasonings so pertinent

and cogent, that it is surprising to us how it could have been disregarded by
honorable men. Among otiier things noticed, they remark that, "It is with
no little surprise that we have seen, in a document printed lor the use of
congress, connected with the subject of Indian emigration, the following

sentiments: 'from the ascertained feelings of the chiefs of the southern
Indians, there is a fixed purpose, by thieats or otherwise, to keep their people

from emigrating' And, 'there is no doulit l)ut these people fear tlieir chiefs,

and on that account keep back.'" These iue<in nations, the memorialists say,

if meant for them, are the production of culpable ignorance or wiltid false-

hood. The idea that their people are overawed and in fear of their chiefs,

is as ridiculous as it would be to supijose tlie people of the United States are

afraid of tlieir representatives. "The great Washington," they continue,

"advised a plan and afforded aid for the general imj)rovement of our nation.

President Jefferson fbllowecl the noble example, and in concluding an address
to a delegation, he said, 'I sincerely wish you may succeed in your laudable
endeavors to save the remnant of your nation, by adopting industrious occu-
pations and a government of regular law. In this you may always rely on the

counsel and assistaiice of the United States.''" But of what avail have been the
determination of Washington and the earnest desire of Jefferson?

The "Book of the Troubles and Miseries of the emigrating Indians," has

not been published. Himdreds have been swept off by sickness on their

rugged road; old and infirm persons have fallen under the fatigues and hard-
ships of their journey ; hundreds have been buried beneath the waves of the

Mississippi in one awful catastrophe:* wives lef"t husbands on the way, never
more to join them: mothers are hurried from the graves of theii- children.

Mrs. Ross, wife of the great chief of that name, languished and died before

reaching the unknown land to which she was bound; but I cannot go into'

these particulfU's.

On the 19th of Julj^, 1832, a fast was observed in the Cherokee nation.

President Ross, in his proclamation recommending it, observes, that " whereas
the crisis in the affairs of the nation exhibits the day of tribulation and
sorrow, and the time a|)pears to be fast hastening when the destiny of this

people must be sealed ; whether it has been directed l)y the wonted depravity
and wickedness of man, or by the unsearchable and mysterious will of an
all-wise being, it equally becomes us, as a rational and Christian community,
humbly to bow in humiliation," &c. This is produced as an ever-standing
memorial for all sucii as may desire to contrast the actions of the Indians
with those of Georgia; that they may be able to judge which best deserved
the name of a Christian community.
Thus, in the year 1832, the Cherokees gave up all hope of receiving justice

at the hands of our government, and we see in the Phoenix of June, among
others, these observations: "The gigantic silver pipe which George Wash-
ington placed in the hands of the Cherokees, as a memorial of his warm and
abiding friendship, has ceased to reciprocate; it lies in a corner of the ex-
ecutive chamber, cold, like its author, to rise no more." And in the same
paragraph they refer to the value of the gold mines, as follows

:

"The value of the Cherokee nation can hardly be set down in figures. It

is worth more than one hundred millions of dollars. Let us estimate. From
Frogtown, near the source of the Chestatee, commences the gold region, and
is termed the limit of Georgia. From this point almost one hundred miles
on a straight line south, or towards tlie western corner of Carroll county, is

* On the .'list of October, 1337, as the sloamboal Moiimoiitli, willi 600 eiiiigTaliiig lii'liniis,

was ascending tlie Mississippi, it was run inio by another vessel, and 311 of those miserable
creatures drowned! That such a nunibiT shonid have been crowded into one boat is incred-

ible, and we :ire inforinc<l that llie boat was an old, condemned vessel. It was probably hired

cheap by the contractors for removing Indians !
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one continued bed of gold. The width of this region is not yet known, but

at the soufiiern part it is something like thirty miles broad. Millions of

dollars' worth of gold have been taken here by thousands of intruders."

Let tlie oppressors of the Cherokees look well to their motives of action.

Are they ignorant of the acts of the Spaniards in the south ? or are they

acting upon the same principles? If the I'espective cases be anaWzed, the

excuse for Georgia is not half as good as for the wholesale murderers of the

Mexicans and Peruvians; for there cannot be so strong a motive to action as

when the agent is acting under the firm conviction that he is executing the

Avill of God. It was a dark and superstitious ;ige when South America was
desolated. The Indians of that country were in the very depths of a bloody

superstition ; inhumanlj" sacrificing thousands a year of their innocent country-

men in their religious performances, and with a cruelty that cannot be ima-
gined; for it required ages to find out the various refined modes in which to

practise their diabolical executions. They even shocked the Spaniards, who,
to put an end to them, thought themselves justified in destroying those who
practised them. Gold was, at fii-st, a secondary consideration. What has

Georgia to plead at the bar of future history but " gold ?" With unprincipled

men what will its corrupting influence not do.' What has it done to Spain ?

The ])Oor Cherokees have said, "Georgia, beware of the pits thine avarice

has made;" echo has reverberated it from every hill, and children yet unborn
will hear it from their cradles to their graves. To all whom these facts shall

come, a voice will speak which cannot be misunderstood. No traveller shall

thread the fertile valleys of the ancient Cherokees without feeling deep
emotions of sorrow in his breast, that he had not lived at a time when he
could have rendered that oppressed people assistance. As a people, we have
not done our duty to those Indians. \Vhy did we not rise to a man, and
cause justice to be done them ? Where is the honest man who is not now
soiTy that he had not done it? And does he not say he ivould do it, were a

like case to arise again ?

To the "Cherokee Phcenix," the first newspaper ever published by Indians,

we have been considerably indebted lor many valuable items of intelligence

in this part of our work ; and we again notice it for the last time, in all prob-

ability; forasmuch as Georgia has laid her lawless hand upon it, we can
expect no other. In October, 1835, the Georgia guard took possession of
that newspaper establishment, and its further issue stopped, unless it would
uphold the course of Georgia against the Indians.

At this time Mr. John Ross lived in Tennessee, and was recognized as a

citizen of that state. But for some cause or other, that "guard," of infamous
memory, then under the command of one Capt. Bishop, proceeded to the

residence of Mr. Ross on the 7th of November, made ))risoner of him, seized

upon all his papers and records of the nation, and marched him into Georgia.

]\ir. John H. Paine, of New York, happening to be then at the residence of
Mr. Ross, was treated in like manner. He had been engaged in the laudable

piu-suit of material for an historical work on the Indians, and had many
papers containing memoranda for that object, of great value to himself, but

of none whatever to others ; these were also seized. These individuals,

however, were not long detained, but they got no redress for the injury and
insult, that has ever come to my knowledge. Where the " magnanimity" of
Georgia was now, which was so prominent in the case of the missionaries,

we leave to the determination of others.

^Vhat, then, ai'e the first fruits of this expatriation of the Cherokees ?

Deadly feuds among them, executions and murders. These have but begun,
and how or where they will end, are events hidden in the future. It is well

known that the principal men who sold their country. Major Ridge, his son.

J hn Ridge, Elias Boudinot,* and others, have been executed in pursuance
of the laws of the Cherokees, for their wickedness in violating the most vital

of their rights and their constitution. Who could have expected any thing

different from those Indians ? They had been induced to form a code of

* He, il is believed, is the same who was educated at the Missionarv school at Cornwall, io

Connecticut, and who, about 1825, married a white lady, Harriet R. Gold, of that village.
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laws man
J'
years ago by Washington and Jefferson, and to live under the

operation of those laws until, in 1830, tliey were forced to abandon them by
the interference of Georgia.

It had been an old standing law among the Cherokees, as well as among
the Creeks, " that if any persons or person should sell any lands by ti-eaty,

without the authority of the nation, they should be punished with death."

In 1839, this law was brought up in tlieir legislature, and confirmed as the

law of the land. John Ridge himself brought it forward, and Elias Boudinot,
editor of the Cherokee Phoenix, jDublished it. It was a law before letters

were known among the Cherokees, and was first printed, we believe, in 18^.
Having seen the Cherokees driven beyond the Mississippi, if we would

piu-sue their history we must follow them into that region ; but at best we
can know but little about their affairs now, the intercourse between them
and intelligent white men having, from their remote situation, become unfre-

quent. Towards the close of the year 1838 the business of emigration was
completed, and this was no sooner effected but the white inhabitants border-

ing on Arkansas began to express great alarm, believing the Indians were
making preparations to spread destruction among them. But their fears

were without any foundation ; the Cherokees having found enough to do for

several months to prepare shelters for themselves and families. Yet amidst
their busy preparations of this sort, to pacify their white neighbors, they con-
vened the nation in a great council, in which it was solenmly protested that

all reports which had been circulated of their hostile intentions towards the

whites were without foundation, and utterly false.

The next matter of moment took place in June of last year, 1839. This
was no less than the murder of the principal men of tlie Ridge, or tieaty

party. Of the parties into which the Cherokees were divided an account
has been given. It appears that from the time the Ridges, father and son,

and their followers executed the treaty of New Echota with Schermerhorn,
their lives were forfeited in the minds of a certain part of the nation, and
they only waited a favorable time to put their resolution in execution. It is

not our intention to justify the executions of which we are now to give a
narration, for be it remembered, that we protest against taking human life

under any circumstances whatever, and firmly believe that a comnmnity is

vastly more injured than benefited by the practice of that law of letaliating

murder with murder.
It is matter of historical record, that the Ridges, Boudinot, Bell, Rogers,

and others, who signed the treaty of December, 1835, very suddenly changed
their minds in respect to the policy of removal. They were as forward as

Mr. Ross, or any of that party, in protesting against the acts of Georgia, ;md
PS much opposed to making any treaty of sale of their country, uj) to the

time of n certain mission of Schermerhorn, as any of the nation. Therefore
it is not strange that the Ross party were surprised at their suddenly coming
out and advocating an opposite course. They were immediatel)' accused of
bribery and corruption, and whether true or not, the party that remained
firm, believed them guilty ; and the most we can say concerning their con-
duct is, there were strong grounds of suspicion against them.
Our inlbriiiation of the massacre of Ridge and others is very indirect,

though circumstantial, and is as follows: When it became known to Ross
that the lives of certain chiefs were to be taken, he used all the means at his

command to prevent it. But a party collected, nnd on Saturday, the 2"2d of
June, the executioners, to the number of about forty, wont to the house uf
John Ridge early in the morning, before he was up, and took him from his

bed, and murdered him in a manner too savage to relate ; treating his lifeless

body with all the indignity of ancient barbarians. They next proceeded in

pursuit of Major Riflgo, his father, who had the day before .«ct out to visit

some friends in Van Buren, Arkansas. H<r was overtaken near the foot of
Boston Mountain, about 35 miles fi-om his ]>lace of <lestination, and there shot

fi'oin his horse, and died without hardly knowing why he had been thus

savagely dealt with. Thus fell Major Ridge in the sixty-fifth year of his ai;e,

and his son at the age of thirty-seven. Of the circumstances of the death

of Boudinot, Col. Bell, and two or three others, we are not informed.
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Major Ridge o^ice execiued a cliief for an act of imirli more doubtful
atrocity than tliat for which he now fell. In 1806, the noted orator Double-
head was charged, with others, with the important business of making a
treaty, at Tellico, with the United States, for a tract of land to accommodate
the seat of government of Tennessee, and for "the first island in the Ten-
nessee, above the moutii of Clinch." In this business, Chuquacuttague, or

Doublehead, was charged with bribery; yet nothing was done about it by
the nation, and he went unpunished ; but in 18"l7 he was again guilty, and
was followed by Major Ridge and others, and in the tavern of one M'Intosh,
in the evening, was fallen upon and shot by the hand of Ridge. He escaped
with a desperate wound, and was for a short time secreted in a neighboring
dwelling, but his pursuers found him, and an Indian named Saunders, one of
Ridge's company, sunk his tomahawk into his head, which finished the exe-
cution. This was near the agency in Calhoun. Doublehead had hiinself

killed a man in his way thither, for charging him Avith the crime for which
he suffered. This execution is mentioned to show that Ridge was well
aware that he had forfeited his life by what he had done at New Echota.

H'iet.

CHAPTER XVII.

The Seminole War Resumed—Further account of the causes of the war—JVm-

merous cases of gross imposition—Bad conduct of government officers—Jl new
treatrj of removal ura-ed—Jl deputation visits the tcest— Their report—.Another treaty—Speeches of the chiefs—Examination of the policy of the government, relative to

a removal of the Indians— Character of borderers—Review of the manner treaties

of sale zcere prociired— 77*6 -president angry at the Indians' presumption—Barbarous
treatment of three Mickasaukies.

" Let them come with the pipe ; we will treati it to dust,

Am! our arrows of war shall ne'er moulder with rust

;

Let them come with their husts ; to the desert we'll flee,

And tiie drought and the famine out helpers shall be."

—

Pike.

The events of the Seminole war have astonished all to whom the knowl-
edge of them has extended. And the astonishment has been as varied as

the wilds of Florida are represented, by those whose misfortune it has been
to serve there against their fellow-men. As this war progressed, we \vi-ote

down its events in detail, as we have long been wont to do of all occurrences
relating to tlie Indians, but from the conflicting statements, purporting to be
from the theati'e of their enactment, great difficulty was experienced in

arriving at facts and dates.

Nobody could have been much surprised that a war in Florida should
break out, if they were at all acquainted with the circumstances which caused
it, nor could they have been much surprised, that a hundi'ed men in the midst
of the Indian country should have been beset and slain, leaving none to carry
the tidings of such disaster. Our only surprise is, that the work had not
been done in a more savage manner; that even one could escape by feigning
death; and that a monument only of ashes of the slain had not marked tho
place where they fell. These things astonish us, not the war itself.

We had supposed, like every body else, that there could be but a single
campaign, when it was known that the Indians had resisted in good earnest

;

and when we consider the power of the United States set again.st a single
corner of a territoi-y surrounded with every advantage for warlike operations,
we could form no other conclusion but that the poor Indians would lie

crushed almost at a single blow; and it was not until two distinguished
generals had shown that the Seminole was not to be despised, that the war
with him became matter of serious consideration at the seat of government.
But of these affairs we have already said as much as was necessary.

In bringing down the events of this war to its conclusion, circumstances
make it necessary to detail some affairs from the beginning of it, which we

39*
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have not noticed ; having closed our account in the summer of 1836, many
facts and documents liave since come to hand which could not then be

know^n, and vvliich throw much new light on the subject, as well as furnish

much new and important matter.*

Of the origin of the late Seminole war, such facts only have been given as

were known to the writer at the earliest period of it. We have now addi-

tional sources laid open, and shall proceed, in the next place, to draw from
them.

It would be tedious to relate, and irksome to read, the half of what might
be gathered of the robberies and enormities committed by infamous white

villains in Indian borders; and it is equally insufferable to read of the manner
that JUSTICE is there trodden under foot by bodies bearing the name of court.

Law is all on the side of the white man,, and consequently justice is no
dweller in such bodies. Indians cannot testify in cases to which they are a

party, and they are obliged to submit to whatever decision their learned

guardians pronounce.f
One Col. Humphreys was for some time Indian agent in Florida. Li con-

sequence of this man's vociferous avowal of the right of territorial jurisdic-

tion over the Indians, he was elected a member of the legislative council of
Florida. Tiuis much for urging that negro claims should be settled in the

territory, instead of their being refeiTed to the decision of the government of
the United States. Now such suits could be disposed of with perfect ease^

because no Indian could have a heai'ing except against his otcn people. Some
notorious scoundrel had sold negroes to Col. Humphreys, which belonged to

a Seminole woman named Cidekeeckmva. He bought them after application

had been made to him as agent, by theii' owner, for their recovery, of that

very villain ! Nevertheless, he promised to exert himself for their restoration.

He afterwards said he bought them to prevent their being sent to Chai'leston.

Some of the negroes that were young when the transfer took place, having
grown old enough to be made to understand the nature of the case, went
back voluntarily to their real mistress ; and the double-dealer Humphreys had
the audacity to apply to agent Thompson for his interference that he might
have them again. Thompson had independence and honesty enough not to

comply, the tacts being so strong in favor of Culekeeckoiva, but referred Hum-
vhreys, together with the facts in the case, to the decision of government.
Another man was employed by a certam Indian woman for the recovery

of negroes. She gave him, as he told her, a power of attorney for that pm*-
pose. She soon found tliat, instead of a power of attorney, she had given
him a bill of sale of all her negroes !!!!!!!

On another occasion, the chief Micanopy requested an individual to di*aw a
form of wruing for him, which soon after proved to be a conveyance of a
valuable tract of land

!

A black, named Abraham,, who has figured largely in the war, was basely
I'obbed by one of the white border fraternitj'. The fellow owed Abraham a
large amount of money, got his receipt for it under pretence that it was a
certificate that he owed him, which it was necessary should be sent to Wash-
ington before he could pay him ! These are a few of the abominations daily

practised by individuals ; and we shall now pass to others, in which the gov-
ernment itself becomes implicated.

We have spoken plainly of the treaty of Paine's Landing, in the early part

of oiu* history of tins war ; but as new facts have since come to our laiowl-

edge, it will be necessaiy to extend the exammation here. It must be re-

* Thcro were piiblislieil in llio year 18,3() llirce histories of llio Florida wnr. 'I'lic first was
by Mr. Cohen, the second by a late " stafi" officer." and Ihc third by •• a Menlenant of the \v\\

winsf." All three of tliem seem to be very well done, Inil tlint by Mr. W. I'oller. (" a late

staff officer,") if I inistakc not the jjentlenian, is far the most valuable to the historian. 'J'o

these works 1 ffladly recur, and tender here the autliiirs my acknowledgments for the use I

have made of the facts contained in their pages. Ni ne of them had appeared when my work
was published, and hence T could not profit ny them in my previous cciitions. 15ul for these

last hve years of the war I have had to gather my materials from the "thousand and one"
reports of the day.

f Since writing the above, I have read Gen. Thompson's speech to the Indians at a couniil

in Oct. 1834, in which he jilainly holds the same language to them.
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membered that by the treaty of Cainii 3IouItrie, (18 September, 18*^3,) Uie

Seniinoles had secured to them an annuity of .So,00n foi- 20 years, and they
were to remove within certain boundaries described liy the treaty, embracing
a tract of land of near 5,000,000 acres. No sooner had tliey removed witliin

this tract, than white men intruded lliemselves among them, and committed
violence on the persons of several Indians. Nor is tins an Indian stoiy ;—it

wa.s so represented by the agent to Gov. Duval, and without the least reason

for the outrage. Wliat was done.'' Why, the agent said he liad left a notice

with a magistrate to have tlie offenders warned off of the reservation in one day

from the tinie the notice should be served. Thus, instead of seizing at once
upon the villains, and bringing them to justice, they are mildly ordered off of
the Indians' lands in one day ! What right had such dei)redators to any better

treatment than is afforded by the tomahawk and scalping-kniti? ? Yet we hear
of no retaliation by the Indians. They had no newspapers in which to circu-

late accounts of their wi-ongs and sufferings;—these are the magnitying glasses

of the bad white men.
At the same time, petition after petition was got up among the white in-

habitants of Florida, and sent in to the president of the United States, setting

forth the Avrongs they were daily suffering from the Indians in various sliapes,

and urging an earlier removal than the former treaty specified. We do not
presume but that Indians did sometimes intl-inge upon their white neighbors,

and were often found hunting and fishing l)eyond the line of the treat}'. This
is not denied ; and the affair at Hogtown in Alachua county, already men-
tioned, is an instance. Whether these petitions began to flow in before Gen,
Jackson was president, we are not informed ; but if they did. President Mams
knew what to do with them. JBe that as it may, the late j^resident had not
been long in the chair of state, when he made known his willingness that an-
other arrangement might be made with the Indians, and appointed Col. Gads-
den to confer with them, to see Avhat could be done. It ha])j)ened that this

was the most favorable time that could have Ijeen fixed u])on, namely, the

spring of 1832, for such conference, because the croj)softhe Indians had been
cut off, and they were in a state bordering u})on starvation ; hence they were
ready to hear any propositions which promised them immediate relief Col.

Gadsden visited Micanopy, and on the 8 Ai)ril had an interview with him, in

Avhich little difficulty was experienced in i)ersuading him that his condition,

as well as that of his ])eople, would be greatly improved by a removal to the

fruitlul west. Micanopy said, however, that he would defer treating at that

time, as his men were dispersed upon their yearly hunting tours, and many
of them 150 or 200 miles off; but that he would collect them as soon as he
could, and then they would consider the matter together, for he wished them
all to hear what their father, the president, had to say to them. Accordingly
the 8 May following was fixed upon for the day of council, and Paine's Land-
ing the place of the meeting.

Agreeably to arrangement, the parties met on the 8 of May, 1832, and on
the following day, a treaty was signed by such chiefs and head men as were
assembled, to the number of fifteen. Of the small number of chiefs who ex-

ecuted this great treaty, we liave before remarked, and we have also noted its

chief conditions. It is said that the agent had much difficulty in bringing the

Indians to any terms, touching a removal ; and they finally signed oidy a con-
ditional treaty, one of the chief articles of which stipulated that a dej)mation
of some competent chiefs of their own should visit the proposed country to

which they were to remove, and \\\ when they returned, and re])orted the re-

sult of their observations to the nation, it should then ])e thought advisable,

they would remove from Florida. Tlie chiefs sent out u])on tliis important
embassy, were seven in number, and their names were as follows: .John
Hicks, representing Sam JoiVes, (A])iaca, Abica, ArjHucki, &c.); Jumper, who
afterwards tbnght in the bloody battle at Okeechubee Lake, in which 13!* wJiites

were killed and wounded : Nehauthuj.o, representing Black Dirt ; Hoi.ata
Emathla, Coa Hadjo, (Alligator): Charles Emathla, Ya-Ha-Had.to, (Mad
Wolf); and Ahraham, a negro, who accompanied the dej)Utation as inter-

preter.

What means? were taken to cause these chiefs or agents to express their
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ertire approoatioii of the coimtiy they had examined, 1 will not undertake to

say, but certain it is tliey did sign a writing, in which they say, "We, the un-

dersigned, Seminole chiefs, express ourselves well satisfied with the country

examined by us, and we do agree to remove as soon as government will

make the necessary arrangements," &c. How much they really understood
of this writing, before they signed it, is pretty clearly shown by what they
themselves say to agent Thompson, when called upon to fulfil their engage-
ment to remove ; and fi'om the same source it will be likewise seen how
much they understood of the treaty of Moultrie Creek. All that can now be
said is, that if tliey understood what they Avere signing, when they expressed

their satisfaction with the country to which the nation was to remove, they

entirely transcended the powers delegated to them by then- countrymen.
Altliough it cannot be denied, that at Paine's Landing a treaty was made,

wiiicli stipulated that all the vSeminoles should, in three years thereafter, re-

move from the country, luuler certain conditions, yet it is well known that

it was with veiy great difficulty that the chiefs could be persuaded to execute

it, even under its expi'essed contingencies. On tliis matter, we will hear the

United States commissioner, Col. Gadsden, who procured the treaty to be ex-

ecuted. In his connnunication to the secretary of war, he says, "There is a
condition prefixed to the agreement, without assenting to which, the Florida
Indians most positively refused to negotiate for their removal west of the Mis-
sissippi. Even witli tlie condition annexed, tliere was a reluctance, (which
witii some difficulty was overcome,) on the part of the Indians, to liind them-
selves by any stipulations, before a knowledge of facts and circumstances
would enable them to judge of the advantages or disadvantages of the dispo-

sition the government of the United States wished to make of them. They
were finally induced, however, to assent to the agi-eement." By " agreement,"
does Col. Gadsden refer to the treaty itself, or to a separate wi'iting, forwarded
to the war office with the treaty ?

We have questioned the manner by which the Indian commissioners' sig-

natures were obtained to a certain certificate, acknowledging their satisfaction

of the counti-y west of the Mississippi. By another writing, they have been
made to express approbation of, and even affection for, Maj. Phagan, one of
the government agents who accompanied them on that journey. It shall

now be shown that these papers speak a very different language from that

sjioken by the chiefs before their accusers, in open council, afterwards. The
council here alluded to, was held at the Seminole agency, immediately after

tiie ratification of the treaty of Paine's Landing by the United States govern-
ment, viz., in October, 18;i4.* It was opened by Gen. Thompson, in whose
speech we find these words :

" Yoti alone have the j-^ight to decide luhether you
will accept the invitation] or not ; it is left, as it shoida, be, entirely optional tvith

yon, and no person hid yourselves has any right to say you shall or shall not ac-

cede to the proposition." Thus it is evident that, although the chiefs had ex-
pressed their approbation of the country, a matter of much greater moment
had been left open to negotiation. We will now hear the chiefs :

—

MiCANOPY rose and said, " When we J were at Camp Moultrie, we made a

treaty ; and we were to be paid our annuity for twenty yeai's. This is all I

have to say."

Jumper, since so celebrated in the war, and a leader in, it is said, the mas-
sacre at Fort Minmis, next spoke: "At Camp Moultrie we were told tliat all

difficulties should be buried for 20 years, from the date of the treaty then and

* By the usages of civilized nations, the Indians were under no ohligaiion to abide by the

treaty of Paine s Landing, for it was two years alter it was concludeil before congress ratified

It ; and all treaties must he ratified in a reasonable time—but any time vtusl answer for

In<Iiaiis.

t The Creeks, already removed to the west, had invited the Scminoles to settle among
them promiscuously ;. and it seems the chiefs had given encouragement that they would, when
all the neighboring Indians had made peace with them. It will be necessary that this fact

be borne in mind !iy 'ho render.

} He was among the signers of that treaty. I have omitted to mention earlier, that Ml
CANOPY is grandson to tlic distinguished King P.mne, and that his father's name was Se
COFFEE.
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there made. Before the 20 years were out, we made a treaty at Painc's Land-
ing. We were told we might go and see the land, but that we were not

obliged to remove. When we saw the country, we said nothing, but the

whites that went with us made iis sign our hands to a paper, which you 71010

say signified our consent to remove ; but we thought the paper said only that

tve liked the land, and when we returned, our nation would decide upon
removal. We had no authority to do more. My people cannot say they vdll

go. We are not willing to go. If their tongues say yes, then- hearts cry no,

and call them liars. The country to which you invite us is surrounded by
jiostile neighbors, and although it may produce good fruit, the fruit of a bad
neighborhood is blood, that spoils the land, and a fire that di-ies up the brooks.

\Vhen in the west I said to the agent, ' You say the Seminoles are rogues, but

you wish to bring us among worse 7-ogues, that we may be desti'oyed by them.'

Did they not steal our horses, and were not some of us obliged to return with

our packs upon our own backs ?
"

Charles Eiviathla was no friend to a removal at this time, but subse-

•:juently consented to go, and having, with thi-ee daughters, gone to Camp
iving, about the 26 November, 1835, to make arrangements ibr bringing in

his cattle, on his retm-n was set upon and shot down in the wa\:, a little in

advance of his daughters. Nine balls were found in him, and it is said the

deed was done by Osceola and some others of the IMickasauky tribe.* He
spoke as follows : " Our old speaker was Hicks, f He is dead, but I have not

forgotten his words. I was not at the treaty of Moultrie Creek. It was not

made by children. Great men made it, and it is sacred. By it we were to

receive the annuity for 20 years, | and to enjoy the lands therein defined.

The time has not expked ; when it does, it is time enough to make a new bar-

gain. Our father has often said to me that he loves his cliildren—the}* love

him. When a man is at home, and has his things about him, he sees that

liimself and family depend upon them. He thinks of these things when he

leaves home. 3Iy yoimg men and family are all around me. Should I go

west, I should lose many on the way. A weak man cannot get there, the

fatigue would be so great. None but strong people can go. I am an Indian.

.There is none but Indian blood in me. The agent, Major Phagan, that went

laith us, is a man of violent passions. He quarrelled with us on the ivay, and after

u-e got there. If he had done his duty, all would have ended well. If Iknow ray

heart, I speak true. If I differ from the agent, he is a free man, and can talk

as he pleases. I hope his talk mil bring all tilings right, so that we may all

live together hereafter in friendship."

HoLATA Emathla Said: "The horses that were stolen from us by the

Cherokees, when we were viewing the country in the west, were never

restored to us. We told the agent the land was good, but the people were
bad. We saw them bring scalps to the gai-rison. We had a meeting with

.WIntosh. § He told us that among all their neighbors they had peace ; that

he and Col. ArhucMe were to send out to have a treaty of peace \vith all the

Spanish Indians, and when that was done, a report of it was to be sent to

Washington. I am sick. I cannot say all 1 want to say. I want to talk

coolly, and tell the truth in all things. They promised to send word to us

when peace was made with all the Lidians west of the great river." It had
been now about three years, and it does not appear that any news of a ti-eaty

had reached the Seminoles ; therefore could it be expected they should be

" Here is a slight discrepancy between this and our former relation, (p. 72,) occasioned by

a compaiison of Cohen and Williams. It will also be observed, thai from the several printed

versions of the speeches of the chiefs on this occasion, I have drawn these.

t He was a signer of the treaty of Camp Moultrie, and is said to have been destroyed by

the machinations of Jumper in 1S25; and that although Micanopy was considered the chief

of chiefs, yet Hicks was much the greatest man. Hext he is sometimes called, and to the

treaty of jloultrie his name is written Tokose Mathla.

I 3Ir. Williams had probably not read that treaty, as he intimates that it stipulated that the

Indians were to remove at the end of 20 years. "The treaty savs nothing about a removal,

(only on to their 5,000,000 acres.) but stipulates that an annuiiij shall be paid them for 20

years.

$ Chilly 31'Jntosli, son of Gen. W. M'Mosh, executed for treason by his own peopl*

See p. 54 of this book. _
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willing to go before peace was cstablislied ? This consideration alone waa
enough to have caused a delay on the part of the government.
The agent had opened the conference with mild language, but he now

waxed wroth, and said many hard things to the chiefs; accused one of lying
and another of duplicity, and closed by threatenings. Still the chiefs dis-

covered but little irritation, and signified only that they should remain firm in

their resolution. In one of the speeches which Charles Emathla made at this

council, there occurs this passage: "The agent told us yesterday we did not
talk to the point. I have nothing to say different from what I have said. At
Paine's Landing (he whites forced us into the treaty. I was there. I agreed to

go west, and did go. I went m a vessel, and it made me sick. The Indians
and the whites have shed no blood. They stole things from each other
They agi-eed at Paine's Landing, that if blood should be seen in the path, to

think it was because a person had snagged his foot."

The policy adopted by the general government of a removal of the Indians
is most unquestionably the worst, both for the whites as well as the Indians,
that could have been devised. It is next to a system of deliberate murder.
To cast one strange tribe upon another is but to put weapons into their

hands, and in the language of Tecumseh, " to cry stuboy." Theu- pensions
and other effects di-aw among them fi-om the whites the vilest of knaves,
many of whom are obliged to fly their own country for crimes of the darkest
hue. It matters not, say many, so long as it is out of our sight and hearing.
Is this the manner a parent should treat his children ?—Send them forth into

die world before they have been instructed in cori-ect principles, and thus
abandon them to the haunts of criminals and vile seducers ? Had not the

authors of this policy foresight enough to discern, that in a very few yeai's

ti'ibes so removed would be again suiTounded by their owm people ? That
the ciy would again and agam be raised against their vicinity—that in the
veiy nature- of the case there could be no other result, so long as a solitary

Indian remained on the continent ? To write essays in proof of this result

is the same as to write an elaborate treatise in the winter to prove that

summer would retui-n. How much better would it have been to have let

them remain in their own countiy, where it were easy to protect them, easy
to provide against their contamination, by keeping out unprincipled people
from among them ! how much easier they could have been instructed ! how
much easier that author of all iniquity, (spu-ituous liquors,) had been kept from
among them! But what are we to expect from a government, when the heads
who compose it think nothing of so much importance as' the means by which
they sliall retain theu* places, and serve those looking to them for rewai'ds for

their sen'ile machinations, who have contributed largest to place them there?
Washington, Jefferson, Adams, the elder and younger—to their eternal

honor be it remembered—advocated no such policy. How can it be but that

the Indians on our borders should be bad ? It is true with regard to a numer-
ous class of them, but not to the extent that many honest people suppose,
who have never dwelt on a border. As a fair illustration of this fact, I m ill

give in tlie testimony of a gentleman from New England, with whom I met
dwelling upon an Indian border, and in the midst of both Indians and whites.
I first questioned him with respect to the general character and conduct of

the white inhabitants. His answers were just what I supjjosed they would
be. I inquired first about the whites, that lie might not think me particularly
friendly to \\n\ Indians. But when I inquired concerning the latter, his answer
was, "They are the only civil people liei-e."

The com{)laints of the white man are carried, as it were, "on the Avings of
the wind," while that of the poor Indian is drowned in tlie tenq)est. A clamor
is raised on a frontier, and connnissioners arc despatched to buj' the Indisin's

lands. He is bewildered with the parade, ostentation, and false show of
greatness di.s])layed before him. He puts confidence in what the agents of
government tell him, and accedes to their wishes. Still he occupies his

countiy—but very soon learns that it is not his,—that he has sold it,—and
must now leave it forever! He then, for the first time, begins to realize

what he has done. He sees, too late, that he has done what he had no intention

of doing.
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It is certainly true that tlie people of Georgia, South Carolina, and Alabama,
expressed great satisfaction at the anticipated relief to be realized when the
Indians should be sent trom then- borders beyond the Mississippi. But are
not these very Indians set down in the immediate vicinity of other white
people .' Whence then comes the benefit to the Indians : and whence the
benefits to the whites, too, in the end ? Look at the case any way, and I see
no point of utility gained to either party. But there is a consideration about
wliich I have heai-d very little said. It is the consideration that the frontier

states and territories have but few votes in a presidential election, while those
from which the Indians are removed have many. Now how much this adds
to the justice of removing Indians I leave my readers to judge. Is it not
preposterous in the highest degree to relieve a thousand individuals in
Georgia by taking away the Indians from among them, and setting them
down in Arkansas, where they can be in the way of but a hundred people ?

Thus because one state can make more noise than another, its clamors must
be hushed at the expense of the other. But cries of distress have already
reached the ears of the distant north, from the south-east border, and it

reqimes no prophet to see, that the time is not far distant when these cries
will be redoubled, and demand as much from the government, and with as
much authority as has already been done by Gfeorgia, South Carolina, Missis-
sippi, or AJabama.
The general government has anticipated a state of things upon the border,

which might require no inconsiderable military force to resti'ain ; and hence
the late attempt to provide a standing army. And some have slii-ewdly said,

that, as its officers would all be appomted by the president of the United
States, and officers and men to be voters too, he had attempted to seize an-
other leading-string of power to continue him in office, or to elect such suc-
cessor as he should designate, " to follow in his footsteps." However this

may be, we decline any opinion on the matter, fmlher than to obsei-ve, that a
much less army, in all probabilitj'^, would have protected the Indians in their

OAVii country, than will now be requu-ed to protect the white inhabitants in
the country to which they have been driven.

If, in 1824, there was gi-eat fear among the inhabitants of the south-western
frontier, from the increased number of Indians forced into their victnitj', what
must now be their fears, with some 30,000 since turned loose there ? Early in

1824, great alarm spread along that region ; offence had been given by the
whites, and they were for a while in constant agitation, expecting revenge.
They said there were not more than 3,000 troops stationed to defend and
keep order over nearly 5,000 miles, and to keep in check upwards of 20,000
Lidian warriors. If there was need of a standing army in 1824, su»ely Mr.
Van Buren ought to have recommended one in 1839.

It is no less absurd than i-idiculous, to entertain the idea that we can re-

move the Indians out of the way of the whites ; every citizen who knows any
thing of the character and habits of the kind of people hanging upon all In-

dian borders, will tell us Avithout a moment's hesitation, that numbers of this

class will be found in the country in advance of the removing Indians, as
completely equipped for defi-auding them, as before their departure. We
cannot run away from this class of hungiy pioneers, for the very good reason
that we cannot get beyond them. They know where the emigrants are to be
located, a long time liefore they set out, and any law made to bear on such
intruders, is none other than a by-word and a jest with them. They are as fa-

miliar with the woods as we are with oiu- closets ; and the fiu-ther we go with
the Indians, with proportionate impunity will they set our laws at defiance.*

We have already premised some facts for consideration, touching tlie num-
ber of Indian chiefs f in Florida, wiio executed the treaties for their people,

and those found in arms after the war had begun. We Avill now ask a mo-
ment's attention to a further consideration of this matter. In the year 1821,

the agent in Florida made a return to government of such villages or settle-

* Soe Hon. Mr. Vinton's speech, H. R. 1828.

t When the previous part of this fourth book was written, I was not correctly informed rel-

ative to the chiefs' standing in reg'ard to one another, and hence a slight discrepancy between
the facts before detailed, and the same now under consideration.
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meiits of Seminoles, as Avere knoA^Ti to him. This number was thirty-five.

Of the statistics of some of these towns the agent knew very little ; and there

were doubtless manj' others of which he knew nothing. The Mikasaukiea
he reckoned at 1,000 souls ; and concerning several other tribes, he saj^s they
contained " a great many souls." Now it is in no wise probable but that one
half of these tribes had at least tAvo chiefs or head men, and this would give

to the whole nation fifty-two chiefs. Was it not necessary that a chief

from each tribe should have been a party to all treaties, either in his ot^ti

proper person, or by another duly by him authorized ? This same agent reck-

oned there were 5,000 souls in all. Compare these facts with the well-knoAvn

one, that onlyJifleen chiefs and sub-chiefs signed the treaty of removal, which
is that of Paine's Landing. Not half of the nation could have been repre-

sented. If any would dispute this, with the aiTay of evidence now adduced,

I will pronounce him Avilfully blind, and incapable of reasoning. Look at

the ti-eaty of Moultrie Creek ; there are the names of more than double the

number attached, than were obtained to that of Paine's Landing ; and one of
the best Seminole chiefs has said, " The ivhites forced its into the treaty.'" It is

not very strange that there were but 15 chiefs at this treaty, or that signed it,

for there had been but one month's notice given that any such treatj;^ was on foot.

We shall now show that when a full council of the chiefs was together,

nothing like a general consent to a removal could be obtained from them. In

March, 1835, when preparations for removal began to be strongly urged by
Gen. Thompson, at the solicitation of Jumper, he gave them until the 22 April,

to meet him in council, when he would hear what they had to say touching

the matter. At the time appointed, " several hundreds of the chiefs and war-
riors had assembled," and a talk was read to them from Gen. Jackson, en-

forced and illustrated by the agent and Gen. Clinch, all of which amounted to

no more than this, " Go you must, and go you shall, without further delay."

Some of the chiefs were in favor of a compliance ; but the principal ones
were firm in their opposition, and expressed themselves accordinglj'. These
were Micanopy, Jumper, Holata Mico, Coa-Hadjo. and Arpiucki. However, a
Avriting was di-awn up, and signed by 16 other chiefs and sub-chiefs, expres-

sive of theii- willingness to abide by previous treaties, and their wish to re-

move. This was signed on the 23 April, 1835. It was through the influence

of a veiy influential chief (whose name was Fucta Lmsta Hajo, or Black-dirt)

of the removal part}', that this last ti-eaty was made. No sooner had it been
effected, than Gen. Thompson (acting by precedent, of course) decreed that

the five opposing chiefs should no longer be considered or obeyed as chiefs.

Wlien this high-handed act had been reported to Gen. Cass, secretary at \^ ar,

he reprobated the proceeding in very strong terms, from reasons too obvious

to require detail in this place.

It still remains a question vdth us, whether an accommodation might not

have been brought about, if the ofticers of government had not persisted too

strongly in their determination that the Seminoles should settle with the

Creeks ; but the cry of retrenchment and reform was up, and it Mas easy to

begin Math t]ie Indians. It would cost the government much less if tliey

could be included with the Creeks,—a most absurd and blind policy !—The
Seminoles were now a great nation. Were they to be lost and absorbed in

another ? The very idea was revolting to them.

Matters remained in this unsettled state for several months. At length it

seems that the principal chiefs, to the number of 25, assembled at the agency
on the 19 August, to try once more what could be done by negotiation. Ho-
lata Emalhla was chosen speaker for the Indians, and he delivered himself as

follows :

—

" My friends, we have come to see you to talk \vith you on a subject of

great imjiortance to us. Hear us, and tell our great father what his children

say. We made a treaty at Paine's Landing, by which we agreed to go west

of the Mississippi : we were told to send some of our principal chiefs to view

the place to which we were to remove. We did so ; they found the countiy

good. While there, our chiefs had a talk with Gen. Stokes and the conimis-

Bioners; they were told that the Seminoles and Creeks were of the same fam-

ily; were to be considered as tlic same nation, and placed under tiie siune
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agent They answered, that the Seminoles were a large nation, and shonld
have their OAvn agent, as before ; that if our father, the president, would give
as our own agent, our own blacksmith, and our ploughs, we would go ; hut

if he did not, ive should be unwilling to remove; that we should be among sti-an-

gers ; they might be friendly, or they might be hostile, and we wanted our
own agent, whom we knew would be our fi'iend, who would take care of us,

would do justice to, and see justice done us by others. They told us our j-e-

quests were reasonable, and they would do all they could to induce the pres-

ident to grant them. We have been unfortunate in the agents our father has
sent us. Gen. Thompson, our present agent, is the friend of the Seminoles.
We thought at first that he would be like the others ; but we know better

now. He has but one talk, and what he tells us is truth. We want him to

go with us. He told us he could not go, but he at last agreed to do so, if our
great father wll permit him. We know our father loves his red chikb'en,

and won't let them suffer for want of a good agent. This is our talk, which
we want you to send to our father, the president, hoping we may receive an
eai-ly answer."

This talk was despatched to Washington, and that there may be no grounds
to question the truth of its contents, I will subjoin an extract from a paper by
Gen. Clinch, which was transmitted with it The general says, " In forward-

ing you the enclosed document, I beg leave to make a few remarks. Although
the subject to which it relates is itself of no great importance, yet it may have
an important bearing on the present quiet and future happiness of these chil-

dren of the forest. They ai^e, fi-om peculiai- circumstances and long habit,

suspicious of the white man. It is hai'd to induce them to believe that all the

efforts and operations of government are intended for their own good. The
question of a separate agency was again and again hroxight forward by the chiefs,

last lainter and spring, and appeared to be considered by them of the first impor-

tance to their future interests, prosperity, and happiness."

Notwithstanding the pathetic appeal of the Indians, and the kind intuna-

tions of Gen. Clinch, the president would give them no hearing, and they
were informed that he was " very angry " to think they should have so much
presumption.

Meanwhile, some circumstances of a veiy aggi'avating nature had taken
place. Three poor Mikasaukies, from Long Swamp, were seized by a plant-

er, and tied with a rope by their hands and feet, and confined in his bam,
Avithout sustenance, till they were nearly dead. They, or some other Indians,

had been accused of purloining from his plantation some of the necessaiies of
life ; the drought of the preceding season having ruined their crops, they were
reduced to extreme want. The friends of the three Indians became alarmed
from their long absence, and the chief of the village to which they belonged,

sought them out and demanded them. The inliuman wretch would not re-

lease them. The cliief then repau-ed to his village, and taking several of his

men with him, demanded them again, but was again refused. They were in

hearing of the distressed cries of their friends, and obeyuag the promptings
of a generous nature, proceeded to the barn, and liberated them by force.

They were in a pitifiil condition, could neither stand or go ; the ropes with

which they were tied, had cut through the flesh to the very bones ! When
their friends were canying them away, they were fired upon by the OAViicr

of the place, and one was wounded. They retaliated only by burning iiis

barn, not suffering him to remove any thing out of it ; and whoever kiiows

the circumstances, will only wonder that he had not been confined in, and
consumed with it.

CHAPTER XVra.

CARRYING THE EVENTS OF THE WAR TO THE CLOSE OF THE YEAR 18136.

Review of early difficulties—The Hogtown murder—The insult to Osceola—Micanopt
—King Payne—Gen. Clinch's expedition— Gen. Scott attacked—Massacre at Char'

40
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lotte Harbor—Fort Micanopy besieged—Death of officers—Lighthouse affair—

^

Battlk of Welika— Creeks and Cherokee affairs—Indians svrpriscd—Murders—Battle of San Felasco— Col. Lane's Expedition—His melancholy death—
Gov. Call in command—Battles of the Wahoo Swamp— Gen. Jesup resumes
command—His expedition to the Wahoo.

The mui-der of Hogtown, to which we have before alluded, was a serious
crisis. It very much hastened hostilities, from the outrageous nature of tlie

case. The additional facts to those we have already given are tliese. There
were eight Lidians belonging to the pai-ty, and in their wanderings they had
killed a cow which did not belong to them, neai- Deemioud's Pond. A part of
them, on the 19th of June, being encam.ped at a sink-hole where there was
water, about 3 miles from Kenapaha Pond, are fallen upon by a gang of
whites, seven in number, who seized as many of the guns belonging to the
Indians as they were able, and then conmienced whipping them. Two of
the Indians had gone out upon a hunt, and returned while this busmess was
in progress. They made a shot upon the whites, woimding one of them, and
m their turn they fii-ed upon the two Indians, killing one, named Fuxe., and
mortally wounding the other, named Lechotichee. Here the renconUe seems
to have ended.
A great cry was now raised along the Indian border, and the surviving

Indians, who had done all of this mischief, were demanded of the chiefs by tlie

agent They were readily sm-rendered, the whole sui-viving six, and throAvu
into prison, where they remamed over thirty days, while their accusers were
left at perfect liberty to commit other outrages, and to make preparations lor

convicting the Indians at the trial which was supposed to await them ; but it

does not appeal* that any trial ever took place, and my informant says, that tlie

balance of proof was so much against the whites that they were glad to
" dodge the question ;

" and hence we suppose the Indians were set at libert}'.

But could any rational man suppose that an outrage of such a flagitious char-
acter would pass without retaliation ? It followed, but not immediately. On
the 11 August, a private, named Dalton, carrying the mail between Fort Brook
and Fort K.ing, was met on his route and killed. Some seized his horse by
the rems, while others dragged him oft' and shot him. When found, his body
bore evidence of savage vengeance, being nearly torn in jjieces. The party
committing this act are iimnediately demanded by Gen. Clinch, and the chiefs
promised they should be siurendered, probably without any intention of so
doing. They were Mikasaukies, and having fled among the Redsticks of
the Ouithlacooche, could not be found. If the Indians did not avow this mur-
der to be in revenge lor that of Fiixe and Lechotichee, it was kno^vn to be so.

The Lidians were now, if possible, treated with greater contumely than
before, and Osceola, about this time, went to the agent to complain of some
ruthless villain who had been guilty of grossly illtreating some of his people.
It so hapjiened that some white person had, only the preceding day, made a
similar complaint against the Indians; which complaints were, it is said,

occasioned l)y the afliiir at Hogtown. The general therefore, having pre-
judged the case, as good as told Osceola he lied, and that it was his men who
were guilty of outrage. An altercation ensued, and this was the time, we are
told, that this chief was seized, manacled, and placed in the guard-house of
the garrison

; the circumstances of which have already been related, agreeably
to the then existing information.
We now pass to the events of the war, taking up the subject where it had

been sus|)endcd i-n the summer of 1836.
One of the divisions of the army under Gen. Clinch marched liom Tam]ia

for Fort Draiie on the 14th of Ai)ril, 1836. After a march of three days, they
came within loin- miles of Fort Cooper, where 3Iajor Cooper had been left

with his Georgia battalion. Having encamped. Gen. Clinch detached his two
mounted companies under Capt. Malone of tlie Washington corps, with
wagons, to Major Cooj)er, and instructions to join him. When this detach-
ment had proceeded about two or three miles, it was fired upon liy Indians
concealed in a hommock near the ro;id, and 3Tr. Howard and Cornet Diinsan
of the Washington troops were wounded; the former with three siiot, and
the latter with one in the leg. Both jnobably recovered, (.^•lpt. Malone
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immediately sent to Gen. Clinch for a reenforcemeut, on die airival of which
no Indians were to be found. The detachment then proceeded to fort
Cooper, which hud been attacked lor 13 days together, but witli a loss only
of one man, Mr. Zarock Cook, of the Morgan Guards.
At tlie same time Gen. Clinch marched from Tampa, Coi. Lindsaj' left also

upon a scout, and while crossing tiie Hillsborough River, the Indians fired upon
him, killing Mr. James Branham of the Alabama volunteers. Gen. Clinch
made but a short stay at Fort Cooper, wlien he returned to Fort King, where
he arrived on the 25th ; having had one man wounded, a Mr. Bostick of the

Jefferson troop. At the same time Col. Goodwin burns a large Indian town
on Peas Creek ; and only two days after, a company of Indians attack Fort
Drane, make prisoners of several negroes, and cainy off a number of horses.

Scarcely a day passed at this period without some tale of blood. Gen.
Scott, on Ms march near Ocklawaha, is attacked in his camp on the 22d of
April, and two of his men are wounded. Two days after, the genei'al siu"-

prises a party of Indians about 23 miles from Volusia, but they all escape,

leaving, however, their horses and packs to the victors.

At Charlotte Harbor, on the 28th of April, the Indians make thorough work,

killing Dr. Creus, the collector of that port, "and all the people residing

there!'' They next appeal- with great boldness before St. Marks, but retire

without doing any other damage than frightening the people. About the

middle of May depredations were committed within two miles of Mandarin,

on the Sl John's. They killed and scalped a JMr. Motte, a highly respectable

gentleman from New York, and bm-ut his house and other buildings.

On the 7th of June the Indians burn the extensive sugar-works belonging

to Gen. Clinch, together with 70 hogsheads of sugar, and a great amount of

other propeity ; and at the same time they burn also the sugar-house of Col.

M'Intosh, of Oakland. The next day about 150 wairiors invest Fort Micanopy,

in which was Major HeiUman and 70 or 80 men. After some preparations,

a sortie was made, and the Indians dispersed. The whites had five men
wounded and one kiUed Major Heillman had been an active and valuable

ofiicer, but his term of service expired with his death, which took place at

Micanopy on the 27th of the same month ; and but a few days before, (June

15th,) Lieut. Wheelock had put an end to his own existence with his rifle.

His duties had been so arduous that he was overcome by an aberration of

mind, in which condition he committed the fatal act.

On the 23d of July the Seminoles attack and bum the lighthouse on Cape
Florida ; the keeper, a Mr. J. W. B. Thompson, is most surprisingly delivered

from death, though not till he had been forced to di-uik deep of the cup of its

agonies.* On the 1st ofAugust the express rider is cut off between New-
nansville and Micanopy.
Some time in June, the unhealtliiness of Foit Drane having been repre-

sented to Gov. Call, an order was given for its evacuation. About the 18th

of July, a train of 22 wagons left that place, with stores and munitions for

Fort Defiance, Micanopy, at 8 o'clock in the morning, escorted by 26 dragoons,

under Capt. Ashby, and 36 artillerists, detailed from different companies ; in

all 62 men. They had a five and a half inch howtzer, under the charge of

Lieut. Wliitly. On the amval of the train at Welika Pond, within a mile of

its destination, as usual, the first notice of Indians was from a salute from

then- rifles, by which one man was mortally wounded. The place Avhence

the discharge proceeded was scoured, but the Indians had gone. The force

moved on, and at about a quarter of a mile fi-om IMicanopy, as it was passing

a long hommock, a tremendous fire was poured upon the whole column from

250 Indians, as was supposed ; their line extending a quarter of a mile. Soon

after Capt. Ashby was severelv wounded, but continued in action until com-

pelled to retire from loss of blood. The firing brought out to their relief two

companies from Micanopy, 31 strong, under Lieuts. Talcott and Temple, who

-endered very important service. The Indians stood their ground untd dis-

odged by a charge, which was not until the fight had been considerably pro-

' I have published Mr. Thompson's narrative of the affair in my Collection of Indian Nar-

ratives—a very proper appendix to this work.
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tracted. Of the whites 11 were killed and wounded; of the Indians' loss no
account was obtained.

On the morning of the 8th of August fell Major Williams, near St. Ailhur's
Bridge, on his way from Black Creek to Nonardsville. There were 200
Indians, it is said, who did this single act, and although Mr. WilHams had a
son-in-law with him, he was suffered to escape ; they were so elated that tliey

had killed the man who struck the first blow in this wretched wai-, that they
thought of no further retaliation at that time. The reader will, doubtless,

readily remember the 19th of June, 1835, and the pai'allel case of Capt.

Chubb.
It is a relief, in pursuing general history, to be able to meet with some

thing besides scenes of blood, but in particular history we are confined to the

course of events, which when they lead us to nothmg but the most dreaded
scenes, we have no choice ; we do not make events, only record them. For
a moment our attention will be drawn to the Creek and Cherokee countries.

Much was said about the more northei'n Indians going down into Florida
and joining the Seminoles, and it was even said that the Seminoles had sent

a messenger to the shoi-es of the great lakes with invitations to the Indians in

those regions to join them. It may be true. We are told that Gen. Gaines
did not disbelieve it, but we have never heard that any came down from
thence. The Ci'eeks were adjacent, and it was easy for them to effect such a
junction. Accordingly, on the 5th of July, a considerable body of them was
discovered making their way towards Florida, which the people of Stewart
coimty, Georgia, endeavored to prevent. They followed them about three

days, and had about as many skirmislies with them. The final i-esult was,
each party was glad to be rid of the other. One of the whites was wounded,
and three Indians were said to have been killed ; the former being satisfied

to display the remainder of their courage on paper.

On the 16th of July, 2,400 Cherokees were shipped at Montgomei-y, Ala-
bama, for the Arkansas. In such a vast assemblage of people, forced from
the land of their fathers, it would be veiy strange if there were not some who
should show an unwillingness to go. How such unwillingness had been
manifested we are not informed, but at this time " some 12 or 15 " men were
" shackled with heavy irons to prevent their rising." One of them was deter-

mined not to submit to such felonious indignity, and, wrenching himself from
the grasp of his tormentors, seizes a club, and knocking down one wth a
blow on the head, gives the war-whoop and attempts an escape. Alas ! his

struggle is fraught with certain death ; he is sliot down, and instantly expires.

Another is pierced with a bayonet, for what no mention is made ; he dies in a
few hours after. On the evening of the same day three had escaped from
those who guarded them. Soon after one was retaken, brought in in a cai't,

and as he was thus conveyed along the streets, he cut Ins own throat, and
exjju-ed without a groan ! To such deeds of desperation does this work of
exjjulsion lead.

About the 2d of August, a small party of Indians struck a small settlement
on the Oscilla River, which flows into Appalachee Bay, and about 40 miles
from TaUahassee, killed two men, took a boy, and burnt a house. Collecting
what spoil they could, they decamped ; but being immediately followed b>
Capt. Fisher's company, they abandoned the boy and plunder, and secured
themselves in a liommock, and the whites marclied back victorious.

On tlie Kitli of this month. Major Pierce, with 110 men, marched from
Gai-y's Feriy to attack a body of Indians, who, lie had leai-ned, were in pos-
session of Fort Drane. He was fortunate enougii to come upon them undis-
covered, but such was the alertness of the Indians, tliat they escaped \vith

small loss; 4 or 5, being badly wounded, fell into the hands of the whites,

who, to add lustre to their exploit, barbarously put some of them to death.

Osceola was there, and to his sagacity we may impute tlie small success of
hie enemies.
On the 15th of September we meet with a melancholy account of depre-

dations. At 10 o'clock in the morning of this diiy, a Mr. Higginbotliam
arrived at Jacksonville from his late residence at Cedar Swamp, adiMtanco of
7 miles, without a hat and almost exhausted. His house had been attacked
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at daybreak by a party of Lidians. He had two men and nine guns, witli

which before he left they had been able to silence the Lidians. A ninnber
of citizens immediately volunteered, and maixhed for the scene of action,

under Major Hart. They found Mr. Higgiubotham's family safe, and firing

having been heard the night before in the direction of a Mr. M'Cormick's,
they proceeded there, and found it had been bm-nt down ; and its ruins were
j'et smoking. Among them they found the remains of a human being. This
was 18 miles from Jacksonville. Thence following the Indians' trail, they
came to the house of Mr. Lowder, 7 miles farther. It was abandoned by its

owners but veiy recently, as fire was still burning in the kitchen. Here the

Indians had done no mischief Proceeding thence, the detachment, in four

miles, came to Mr. Sparkman's, where a ti'agedy was opened to their view.

They found Mrs. Johns, who had lived m Mr. M'Cormick's house, her scalp

taken otf, and di-eadfully womided with two bullets; yet she was alive, and
able to communicate the particulars of the hoirid tragedy through wliich she

had passed. She and lier husband were about 20 yards from their own door
when they discovered the Indians emerging from the corner of a fence close

by them. They ran for the house, entered it, and closed the door ; at the

same moment the Indians fired on the house, and shortly after they hailed tliem

in English, and told them if they would come out they should not be hurt.

They not choosing to trust them, tlie Indians next looked through between
tiie logs of the house, and ordei"ed them, in a peremptory manner, to come
out, but they still refused, and begged for their lives. The Indians then

charged the house, bm-st open the door, shot Mr. Johns through the head,

and Mrs. Johns as before related ; he fell dead, and she fell upon his body.

An Indian then seized her, and dragged her out of the house, and soon alter

dragged her in again ; and after tearing the band and comb from her hair,

applying his scalping-knite to her head, and fire to her garments, left her ; and
to make a more sure mark of his vengeance, he next set fii-e to the house,

and then they all drew off. They carried away a portmanteau containing

100 dollars, and every thing else they thought of any value. As soon as they

were out of hearing, the wretched woman raised herself up and crept from

the burning building ; saw tlie body of her husband lying uuscalped. She
fainted and fell, agam and again, but finally reached the edge of a swamp not

far distant, where she got some water, and lay down vnth hopes no greater

than her strength. In this situation she was found by the scout above men-
tioned, and eventually recovered.

On the morning of the 17 September, a party of about 100 Indians came
within a mile of Fort Gilleland, on the Picolata road, took a cart from some
teamsters, and carried it off a piece, then set it on fire. Col. John Warren
sallied out fi-om the fort with 150 men, in the direction of San Felasco hom-
mock, where he had reason to believe the Indians were posted. One hundred

of his men were mounted, and of his nmnber was a company of artillery,

with a 24 poimd howitzer. He could meet ^vith none of the Indians that day.

Early the next morning he sent out spies ; but they soon returned with no

intelligence of the enemy
;

yet so well convinced was he that the Indians

were at Felasco, that he divided his men into tlu-ee columns, and marched on

in order of battle. When they came within about three quarters of a mile of

the hommock, they found the Lidians in then* own peculiar order of battle

;

and they rose up and poured upon the whites a shai-p though not a destructive

fire. And we have very seldom heard of so much mancEuvxing and fighting,

without gi-eater execution, on any former occasion. The battle having lasteil

an hour and a half, but one of the whites was killed, and four or five wound-

ed ; the Indians lost none that their enemy were certain of, though thc>- re-

port that they saw a great many fall. In the fii'st of the onset the Indians

made an attempt to turn the left flank of the Americans, " but were charged on

wth spirit and success by Lieut. Col. Mills's command, and driven into a thick

oak scrub, who then dismounting and charging on them, drove thi-ough this into

the border of the hommock, when the artilleiy played upon them with consid-

erable effect ; after this they retired to the right, and attempted to turn that

wing, but a charge from Capt. Walker and Lieut. Bruten's command, drcivo

them within the range of the artillery agam, which opened upon them Avirl

40*
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great effect." They made several desperate attempts to mamtain their posi

tion, and charged twice on the artillery, but were beaten off at all points, and
began a retreat. They were pursued a mile and a half into a dense hom-
mock, and then abandoned. Thus ended the battle of San Felasco Hom-
mock, as it was called. The Indians were reckoned at 300 men. Several of

the officers under Col. Warren were highly commended for their braverj' and
good conduct, in his official accoiuit of the battle ; especially Adj. Gilleland,

Capt. D. D. Tompkins of the artilleiy, Capts. Beekman, Walker, and Ward,
Lieuts. Bruten and Hindly.

About this time, the distinguished Creek chiefs, Paddy CaiT and Jim Boy,

ai-rive in Florida, with 950 of their warriors, to assist in subduing the Semi-
noles.

On or before the 28 September, about 50 Indians, supposed to be Creeks,

attacked a house, near Orange Pond, and killed a JMr. Uptegrove and his wife.

She at first escaped from the house, but they pursued her, overtook and killed

her. A Mr. Hunter, living in the same house, escaped to a pond, and by
buiying himself almost entirely in water for 24 hours, they supposed him to

be di-owned ; by which artifice he preserved liis life.

The next day, namely, September 29th, Col. Lane landed at Tampa, with a
force of whites and friendly Indians, from Apalachicola. Hearing that the

Lidians were committing depredations in the neighborhood, he marched im-
mediately, with 12 mounted men and 100 Indians, to beat up their quarters.

A rapid march of 12 miles brougiit them to Lidian River, where tliey discov-

ered the enemy on the opposite side. The friendly Creeks had not come up,

and though there were near 200 Indians to oppose them, yet they engaged
them, and for 15 minutes the skirmish was shai-p and obstinate. The Creeks,

under Maj. Watson, now aiTived, and the Seminoles began to relax ; they,

however, maintained then* order for a mile and a halfj when they separated

and fled in every direction, and night ended the pursuit. This battle was on
the 30 of September, after which the colonel returned with his command to

Tampa. An act of self-devotedness occurred in this light, not of a very com-
mon character on record : A IMr. Kelly was standing near Col. Lane, when he
obsei-ved an Indian taking deliberate aim at him ; having just discharged his

own gun, he saw no chance of saving the life of his connnander, but by re-

ceiving the ball himself, which he did by instantly throAviug himself betsveen

iiiin and the Indian. Kelly received the ball and fell; happily he was not
mortally wounded.
On the 10 of October, CoL Lane set out on another expedition from Tam-

pa, and, on the 14th, after a march of 50 or 60 miles, he came in full view of
Oloklikana, or Spotted Lake, which stretched off to the north as far as the

eye could reach, dotted here and there with beautifully-wooded islands.

Here they fell upon a fresh trail, and soon after a village, but it was aban-
doned, hi another direction their trail led them to a ford, 200 yards over,

which tliey passed by wading and swimming,—having left their horses be-
hind,—beyond which they came to extensive cornfields, some cattle and
ponies, and a village ; but no Indians yet. Passing the village, the trail led

to a marsh, near a mile in extent, covered with soft mud and water; but it

was no barrier to the Creeks, and they dashecl into it at once, and were fol-

lowed by the whites. They were often waist high in mud, from which hav-
ing extricated themselves, found they had reached a fine island, and the trail

still continuing southerly. Here were a village, domestic animals and uten-

sils, and the scalps of several white people. Not far from hence they came
to another village, which, with the former, contained above a hundred houses.
Another half mile brought them to the shore of a pond, skirted with a thick

scrub, of near three fourths of a mile in extent. Here the Semmoles had
made a stand, and began the attack by a volley of rifle-balls. A fight, now
begun, was kejit up for about half an hour, when a charge from the Creeks
put them to fliglit, and they were soon covered by a hommock, and were
followed no fiu-ther. But one of the whites was wounded, and whether any
of the Creeks were killed or wounded, we are not told by their white as-

sociates. Of the loss of the enemy, they of course knew nothuig, which
no doubt amounted to the same. The whites destroyed about a hundred
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cattle and hogs, and t)iev returned to Fort Drane, witli about 400 more, on
the 19th.

VVith this expedition terminated the career of an active and valuable offi-

cer. Col. Lane complained some ofa brain fever, and being left alone in the
tent of Capt Goff for a few minutes, was found by him, on his return, expii--

ing on his own sword. It was supposed he had fallen on it accidentally, in

a fit of dizziness ; or that in a moment of intellectual aberration, arising from
the natm-e of his illness, he had been his own executioner. This occurred
on the 26tl], and cast a deep gloom over the whole army.
A few days previous to tliis. Gov. Call A\Tote to tlie secretary of war, in-

forming him that he had taken the general command in Florida, and that

Gfen. Jesup had, " with great magnanimity," declined it ; but that he had pro-
posed to serve under him as a vohmteer Some entertained high expecta-
tions at the present prospect, and others expressed no favorable opinion of
the result of Gov. Call's assumption. Both were common gi-atuities ; and it

would have been singular, indeed, if neither had eventuated in favor of the
prophet.

On the 28th, Gov. Call commenced active operations. He marched from
tlie Suanee, at Old Town, with 1,375 men, in high hopes of speedily putting

an end to the wai\ The route to Fort Drane was taken, on which seven In-

dians were killed. Whether they were wan-iors, old men, women, or chil-

(h"en, no mention is made. They reached Fort Drane, October 1st, where the
lires of the Indians were still burning. Had it not been for a faithful spy,

Osceola and his Mikasaukies would have fallen into Gov. Call's hands. Here
be waited until the evening of the 6th, to be joined by Maj. Pierce, who was
to supply him with provisions ; wliich he effected with no ordinary efforts,

having mai'ched 66 miles in two days, viz., from Black Creek.
With a supply of 8 days' rations, a move was made for the " Cove of the

Ouithlacoochee." On the way they fell in with an encampment of Mikasau-
kies, " killed 13 men, who did not fire a shot, took 4 women prisoners, and 8
children." From these they learned that the Negro Town was but 3 miles

above them. Col. Gill Was despatched thence with 300 Tennessee volun-

teers, on the morning of the 13th, but could not reach the town from the

depth of water in the creek befoi-e it. He accordingly returned with loss

;

having had 3 men killed, and 7 wounded. Among the former was Indian

Billy, an interpreter, in much esteem by the whites. He was brother-in-law of

Charles Emathla, of whose tragic death we have before given an account
The main body marched to the river, which was so ovei-flowed that its width

was 250 yards, and could not be crossed. The Indians appeared on the op-

posite bank, and fired upon them, wounding Maj. Gordon, though slightly.
' Here the expedition was at an end ; the army being obliged to retreat to Fort

Drane for supplies. At Gen. Gaines's battle-^-ound they fell in with CoL
Lane, as he was returning from his expedition, just recorded.

Little seems to have been done, or attempted, after this, imtil about the

middle of November. On the lltli of that month, the army, consisting of

2,100 men, marched once more from Fort Drane for the Ouithlacoochee. At
this tune the river was 220 yards wde

;
yet it was passed on the 13th, though

at great peril, four of the regulai'S being drowned in the way. The ai'my had
now arrived at the " Cove," where Indians were expected to be found ; but

none were visible, and it appeared that the place had been some time aban-

doned
;
yet trails were discovered, leading into Ochlawaha and the WeJioo

Swamp. The left division, under Gen. Armstrong, met with no opposition in

crossing the creek to the Negi-o Town. It was crossed by Col. Trawsdale's

i-egiment. Instead of one town, they found tAvo, and burnt them both. Here

they foimd an old negro, who told them the Indians had gone to the Wahoo
Swamp. He said, also, that when the Tennessee volunteers made an attempt

upon the place the previous month, they killed 46 Indians. This was no

doubt said to flatter then- vanitj^, for we have no account that half tliat number
of guns were fired at that time.

Gen. Call now made dispositions to pursue the Semmoles, wth certainty

of success. Col. Pierce, ^vith 250 regulai-s, the Creek Indian right, and Col.

Warren's mounted men, were to pass out of the Cove by the only practicable

outlet in that du-ection, and, after exploring the coantn- soutJi and west of the
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river, to reunite with the main army, about the 19th or 20th, near Dade's bat-

tle-ground; the general, meanwhile, to march by the river in the dhectiou

of the Wahoo, with the Tennessee brigade, two companies of artillery, and
the Florida foot. Both divisions marched on the 16th. On the 17th, about
noon, a large paity of the enemy was discovered by the mam body, encamped
neai' a hommock. Col. Bradford, with the 1st regiment of Tennessee volun-

teers, was immediately detached to attack them.
Although the Indians were surprised, they made good their retreat to the

hommock, and waited the approach of the troops, who, when dismounting,

received the fire of the enemy. They immediately returned it ; but the In-

dians stood their groimd until a charge was made, which, as usual, put them
to flight. They left 20 of their dead, and all theh- baggage, on the ground

;

and, from traces of blood, a far greater number were supposed to have been
earned off. The number of Indians engaged were said to amount to about
200. The whites had two killed, and 10 or 12 wounded, which, after being
taken care of, the army retreated four miles to a favorable site, and en-

camped.
On the 18th, the general, having left his baggage-train under a strong

guard, marched again, Avith 550 Tennesseeans, chiefly foot, to tlie Wahoo
Swamp. At about 3 miles from their camp, they fell upon a large Indian
trail, which led thi'ough two dense hommocks, and over two creeks, into a

large field, sm-rounded on tliree sides by hommocks. The enemy were re-

treating to gain securer positions whence to begin the attack, leaving their

houses in flames ; at length, making a stand, the whites immediately formed
their line of attack. The foot, under Col. Trawsdale, were formed in open
order to charge into the hommock, while the horsemen, to the right and left,

were thrown back to protect the flank, and to act as a corps of reserve. The
columns had not received the word to advance, when a tremendous fu-e was
opened upon them, along their whole front, from a hommock. They began
slowly to advance, exchanging shots at short intervals. The order being
given to charge, it was obeyed with impetuosity ; but the Indians did not
break and fly as in times past; thej^ stood and fought hand to hand, exchan-
ging life for life,—while at the same time their wings attacked both flanks of
the army, and a small body of about 50 fell boldly on its rear. The battle

had raged nearly half an hour, when a general chai'ge broke and dispersed

them in every direction, leading 25 of their number dead on the field ; while
the whites had but three lolled and 18 wounded. 600 Seminoles were said

to have been engaged in this battle. The hour bemg late, and the men much
exhausted, the army retreated to its appouited place for the meeting of Col.

Pierce, near Dade's battle-ground.

On the 21st, the army marched, in three columns, uato the swam]), the

Tennesseeans and regulars, and Col. WaiTen's mounted men on the right,

the centre under Col. Pierce, and the Creek regiment on the left. When
they came to the battle-ground of the 18th, they foiuid it in possession of the

Indians. As the Tennesseeans and regulars advanced, a heavy fire was
opened upon them, and they did not answer it until they got into the midst
of the Inditms; then charging them, they gave way and reti-eated.

As soon as the direction of their retreat was observed by a party in resene.
Col. Pierce, with his division, and the Creek Indians, were ordered to pm'sue

;

and soon after. Col. Trawsdale with his regiment, and Col. Warren with the
Florida horsemen, were sent to suppoi-t them. Unfortunately, the greater
part of the regulars and Tennesseeans, by taking a trail to the right, became
involved in an almost impassable morass, where no horse could move, and
where the men were obliged to wade waist-deep in nuid and water. A small
number of Creek warriors on the left, led by Col. Brown, taking a better path,

followed closely upon the enemy, and found them strongly jiosted in a cypress
swamp. The Creeks charged them with great spirit, and tlu^r gallant leader,

Major Moniac, was killed, as also were several other Crock warriors. It

was soon discovered that this paily would be overpowered, and the struggle

was momentarily becoming more and more desperate, when two companies
of Florida militia under CajJt. Groves and Lieut. IMyrick, three companies of
artillery under Maj. Gai'dner, Capts. Tompkins, Porter, and Lee, and Col.

VVaii-e with his mounted men, coining successively into action, enabled th'^
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Creeks to maintain their gi'ound. Still the fight was animated ; and it waa
)iot until nearly all the force of the whites was brought to bear on this point,

that the Indians could be dislodged. Then it would seem they retired more
to give then* adversaiy a chance to retreat, than because they were beaten
themselves. Thus ended the second battle of the Wahoo Swamp, in wliicii

25 of Gen. Call's army were lulled and wounded, nine being of the former
number. The Indians left 10 on the field ; but the whites said they lost " 50
at least."

The anny having consumed all their provisions, and being very severely

handled, was glad to make the best of its way out of this hostile region ; it

accordingly returned to its late encampment at 10 o'clock at night, and the

next day marched for Volusia.

Where Gen. Jesup was, or what service he was rendering at this period,

and for some time previous, I am uninformed ; but, on the 24 November, he
arrived at Volusia, with 400 mounted Alabeuna volimteers. He came late

from Tampa, and on the way had taken 33 negroes, the former property of
Col. Rees, of Spring Garden, whence they had been caiTied off by the Semi-
noles. Here Gen. Jesup received orders from the secretary of wai-, again to

resume the command of the ai'my of Florida. Gov. Call had pretty confi-

dently asserted that, in the campaign now just concluded, he should be able

to finish the wai* ; but he had only showed the Semmoles that some of his

men could fight as well as Indians, and that others could tui-n their backs
AAith equal dexterity. On the whole, if the Indians had been one to a thou-

sand against the Americans, it would be no very difficult question to settle,

which would be sent beyond the Mississippi. ^Vhen, in October, the Creek
deputation visited them, to persuade them to submit to terms, Osceola as-

sured them with firmness, that " the Semmoles would never 3aeld—never, he
said ; the land is ours ; we will fight and die upon it." The Chief Harjo was
at the head of the peace deputation of Creeks, and he found Osceola in a gi-eat

swamp, on the Ouithlacoochee, having then AAath him about 3,500 people.

Notwithstanding the sevei'e blows which Osceola had had in tlie Wahoo
Swamp, it yet remained the Narraganset of Florida ; and such were the ac-

counts from thence, that Gen. Jesup determined to proceed there with a

large force. Accordingly, with ten days' provision, he marched on the 12

of December for that point ; but, on reaching it, no Indians were found. On
the 17th, he mai-ched for Tampa, taking the course of the Ouithlacoochee in

his route ; and Col. Foster pursued a pai-allel course on the other side of the

same river ; a single Indian Avas the result of all this business
;
yet no blame

can be attached to those who performed it, for what can men do where there

is nothing to be done ? Something like calculation can be made in marching
against men in a fort or city ; but where it is known that a people remove
their cities and forts as easy as themselves, quite a different calculation ia

required. Csesar never fought Indians, or he would have reversed his cel»

brated sajing, " 'Tis easier to foil than find them."

CHAPTER XrX.

EVENTS OF THE WAR DURING THE TEAR 1837.

Expedition to Jlhapopka—Oscchee killed—Jes^ij) parleys tcith the chiefs— Col. Hen
dersons Expedition—Battle of Lake Monroe— Treaty of Fort Dade— Unob-

served,— Osceola at Fort Mellon—JVumhers of the Seminoles—Sudden ahduction of

emigrants—Jesup requests to be relieved from command— Western Indians applied

to— Gen. Hernandez's Expedition— Capture of Kin<r Philip—Surprise of the

Uchees—Surrender of chiefs—Mediation of Ross— Capture of Osceola and others—

Vieio of the affair—Wit^d Cat's escape—Battle of Okechobee.

With this chapter we begin the events of the year 1837. On the 22 of

January, Gen. Jesup put the main body of the army in motion, with the view
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of attacking another strong-hold of the Lidians. which he had leanied was
upon the head waters of the Oklawaha. The next daj' he detached Lieut.

Col. Cawlfield with his mounted battalion of Alabama volunteers, Capt. Har-

ris's company of marines, and Maj. Morris's Indian wan-iors, with his own aid,

Lieut Chambers, to attack Osdchee, commonly called the Chief Cooper,

whose rendezvous was then on the borders of Aliapopka Lake. Osuchee
was sui-prised, and, with 3 of his warriors, lulled ; nine women and children,

and 8 negroes taken. The whites lost one Indian, who was mortally wound-
ed. From the captured it was discovered that the main body of the Semi
noles had gone southward.

Pursuit was immediately made, and, on the 24th, the army passed a rugged
i-ange of mountains, hitherto unknown to the whites, called, by the Indians,

TMauhatkee, or White Mountains. On the 27th, the Indians were discovered

on the Ilatchee-Lustee, in and about the " Great Cj^ress Swamp ; " and a

succesi5ful charge was made upon them by Lieut. Chambers, with Price's

company of Alabama volunteers, by which 25 Indians and negroes, and then-

horses and baggage, were taken. The captured were chiefly women and
children. Col. Henderson pursued the fugitive wai'riors into a swamp, and
across the Hatchee-Lustee River, and thence into a more extensive swamp,
where they could not be pursued without great difficulty and more men.
Meanwhile, a messenger had been sent to the general, but he was killed in the

way ; and it was not till another had been sent, that he was informed how
matters were progressing with Col. Henderson.

Gen. Jesup sent a prisoner to Jumper, on the morning of the 28th, endeav-
oring to get a parley, while he moved on and took a position at Lake Toho-
pikalega, within a few miles of where it is approached by the Cypress Swamp.
Here he took some hundi-ed head of cattle. The prisoner sent out to Jumpei-,

returned the next day, bringing favorable talks from Alligator and Abraham
;

and two days after, January 31st, Abraham visited the general in his camp
;

immediately after, he returned to the Indians, and on the 3 February, brought

along with him Jumper and Alligator, with two sub-chiefs, one a nephew of
Micanopy. These chiefs agreed to meet the general at Fort Dade, with other

chiefs, on the 18th following. Jumper and Alligator, it is said, aie among
the last of the descendants of the Yamassees.'

To return to Col. Henderson. On receipt of his message. Gen. Jesup or-

dered the disposable force of Gen. Armistead's brigade, Maj. Gorhani's infan-

uy, and Tustenugge Hajo's Indian warriors, to move on to his support. They
soon captured two Indian women, and several negroes, in a phie wood, over

a hundred ponies, some plunder, and several fire-arms. The main force of
the Indians had fled ; but not having much time in advance, were soon over-

taken by Maj. Morris on the border of a considerable stream, 20 or 25 yards

wide, in the midst of a swamp. The Indians were in possession of the oppo-
site side, and when the warriors came up, they were fired upon, and a con-

siderable skirmish ensued. The creek was difficult to ford, and the Indians

had passed it by two trees felled from the opposite banks. These afforded a
sure mai-k for the Indians' rifles, a very few of which could stand against

many; but the whites and their Indian allies, being much the more numer-
ous, were able to extend themselves up and down the stream, liy wliich dis-

play the Indians were exposed to a cross fire, and soon began to abandon
their position. The order being now given to cross the creek, Cai)t. Mori-is

(major of tlie 1st Indian battalion) was the first to advance on tlie log, fol-

lowed by Lieuts. Scarle and Chambers, and Capt. Hai-ris ; Lieut Lee swim-
ming over at tiie same time. These officers led the van throughout this ex-

pedition, and are incntioncd with high encomiimis on their conduct Havmg
all crossed the creek, the Indians made several stands against tliem, but were
forced to fly after a fcAv fires. They were followed for a nnle or two, and
then tlie pursuit was given up ; the detachments returning late at night to tlie

camp of the main army. The result of this affair was the capture of 28 ne-

groes, and Indian women and children. How many warriors wore killed, no
certain information could be given ; but some two or three tiioy saw, lying

dead, as they marclied along. Of the whites, one was killed at the ]iassage

of the creek in the swamp, and three wounded; tuid in the pursuit another

was killed. Thus ended the affairs of one day, namely, January the 27tit
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The next affair of Lmportance, which transpired in Florida, was tlie battle
of Lake Monroe. Brevet Col. A. C. W. Fanning had been stationed at that
place, and his camp there bore the name of the lake. Early on tlie iiioniiii"-

of the 8 February, 1837, about 300 Seminoles commenced' liring upon CoF.
Fauning's camp with great spirit. Their right rested on tlie lake above the
fort ; tlieu- lett on the shore below, and another line extended around their
front. They were taken rather by surprise, many of whom, being new recruits,
scarcely knew what thej- were about ; but after wasting a good share of theii
ammunition, bemg bent on making a noise by some means^ they were got un-
der some sort of regulai- inodus operandi, and the action became sharp. Mean-
while, Lieut. Thomas received orders to man a steamboat, lying in the lake
under cover of the fort, and to sei've a six-pounder, which was on board of
her, upon the right of the Indians. This he was enabled to etfect, and they
were immediately driven from that position ; but they hung upon the right
and front for near three hours, before they would give up the contest. The
brave Capt. Mellon was killed near the beginning ol' the fight, and 15 others
wei-e wouiided, some mortall}-. Paddy Carr was here with his Creeks, and
was among the foremost in all danger ; and Col. Fanning gives the names of
many of his officers who distinguished themselves.

Thus, only ten days before the time assigned to treat with Gen. .Tesup, did
the Seminoles give a demonstration of the value they set upon a peace with
the whites ; but, perhaps, the party which attacked Col. Fanning were unac
quainted with the arrangement. However, through the mediation of the
Creeks, the general got a heai'ing with Holatoochee, nephew of Micanopy, •

Jumper, Abraham, Little Cloud, and several others, at Fort Dade, on the
5 March. Micanopy sent as excuse for his non-appearance, that he was old
and uifii-m. Jumper was inquired of respecting the time the Indians would
be ready to remove, and from his answer, all the world, if they had heard it.

might have known that all the Indians were after, was to gain time ; for he
replied, that they could not be ready till fall. The general as promptly re-

plied, that "that was out of the question," insinuating also, that if they wished
to gain time by such a manoeu^Te, they were mistaken. Jumper showed
some indignation at being thus suspected, and after considerable other talk,

the council was adjourned to the next day.

Accordingly, they met again on the 6th, with augmented numbers on the
paft of the Indians ; among whom were representatives of Alligator, Coa-
chochee or Wild Cat, (Philip's son,) his nephew, and Pease Creek John, and
a treaty was dl•a^vn up and signed. It purported, that hostilities sliould

from that time cease ; all the Seminoles to remove unmediately beyond the

Mississippi ; to give hostages to secure its obser^'ance ; all the Indians to go
immediately south of the Hillsborough ; Micanopy to be one of the hostages;
and, by the 10 April, all were to be ready to remove. To these articles four

chiefs put their mai-ks, with Gen. Jesup ; and we shall see how they were nh-

served.

To keep up the deception, and make sure of the promised rations, the In

dians began to frequent the general's camp, as though in good earnest tn

fulfil the treat}'. By the 26 March, there were there, or had been there, the

chiefs, Yaholoochie, (Cloud,) Jumper, Abraham, and Tigertail ; and the

principal chiefs on the St. John's, Tuskinnia and Emathla, (Philip,) had sent

word that they would emigrate if Micanopy said so, and Abiaca (Sam Jones)

had been invited by Philip to go to Micanopy to arrange for a removal. Abi
aca being chief of the 3Iikasaukies, his acquiescence was thought of no little

consequence. About this time, it was reported that Yaholoochie was com
mander-in-cliief at the battle of the Wahoo Swamp, and that Osceola had

been deposed for cowardice in that action. On the 18 March, Micanopy
signed a written acknowledgment of, and acquiescence in, the treaty of the

6th ; and Gen. Jesup seemed quite sure the war was at an end. Neverthe-

less, about this time a circumstance occurred which nnich alarmed the In-

dians, and whether feigned or real, answei-ed the same end. A report was
cu-culated among them, that as soon as Gen. Jesup had got a sufficient num-
ber into his power, he would handcuff and ship them for Arkansas. Thus
mattei-s were retarded and moved slow. And, besides, Philip, chief of the
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Toliopkolikies, had begun to show liimself again, and remained in his sti'ong-

hold Avith 400 men. This much lessened the confidence of the general, and
he began to make preparations for aggi'essions. Murders were also almost

daily committed in some du-ection.

However, by the 1 May, Osceola* had come in to Fort Mellon, Lake Mon-
roe ; and, by liie 8th of that month, there were assembled there, and in the

immediate neighborhood, not less than 3,500 men, women, and cliildi-en, to

whom about 1,000 rations had been issued. Many, if not all the chiefs, had
liberty to come and go as they pleased, and this could not be objected to ; in

the first place, because they were to bring in their people, and horses and
cattle, to be ready to remove ; and, in the next place, had an attempt been
made to detain them, all that could would have run away, and it would have
been very diflicult ever to have got them again. Hence, in this view of the

matter,—and we can take no other of it,—a different course would have led at

once to a ruin of what appeared to have been so well begun ; whereas, by
that adopted, there was some prospect of success. Therefore, it is plain that

those who condemn Gen. Jesup for his policy, speak unadvisedly.

While the Indians were at Fort Mellon, much information was gathered
fi-om them, relative to their numbers and condition. Maj. Gardner said he
was assured there were 2,500 Seminoles then able to bear ai'ms, and Col.

Harney's information confirmed that conclusion.

All things seemed to promise success to Gen. Jesup's efforts, and he
became by the end of Maj' quite confident that the war Avas at an end.

Osceola had slept in the tent of Col. Harney, and great confidence seems to

have taken the place of mutual distrust. The general felt quite assured that

Osceola would be of great sei-vice in bringing in his countrymen, and before

the middle of May he had lying at Tampa 24 transports to take off the

Indians ; but to his great astonishment, on the morning of the 2d of June,
he found that nearly all of tliem had fled into their own wilds and fastnesses.

And thus the edifice that had been so long m building had been swept away
in one night. Osceola had been some time absent, and had returned with
200 Mikasaukies, and compelled such as were not ^A-illing to leave, to go off

with him. Micanopy said he had agreed to emigrate, and would do so, and
being told that he might choose between compliance and death, he said, " Kill

me here then—kill me quickly," but he ^^ as forced upon his horse and driven
off. Jumper had sold all of his horses, and was forced to maixh on foot

. Thus stood the affairs of Florida in the beginning of June, 1837. The
Indians were sure of a truce till fall, when they would be again in a oondition

to fight with a better prospect of success than ever. Many of the forces of
the whites had gone home, and many were quite as inefficient as though they
were there also ; as sickness had begun to prevail, and terror and dismay
were fast spreading in every direction of that ill-fated land. The general had
done every thing he could ilo, or that any other man in like circumstances
could have done, but that did not save him fiom slanderous tongues ; and on
the 5th of the same month he wrote to the secretary of Avar, requesting to be
relieved from the command in Florida ; but his request was not granted.

An account of the state of affairs in Florida having reached Washington,
the secretary of war, on the 22d of July, issued orders for enlisting the western
Indians to fight the Seminoles ; namely, 400 Shawanese, 200 Delawares and
100 Kikapoos, which were soon after carried into effect; and in September
following, there had arrived in Florida upwards of 1,000 southern and western
Indians, prepared to act in conjunction with their white allies against the
Seminoles.
The first affair of importance in the fall campaign of 1837, was the expe-

dition to Dnnlawton, Tomoka, and the Uchees, under (ien. Hernandez. That
officer was at Fort Peyton, seven miles south of St. Augustine, on the 4th of
September, when four negroes, wliich had belonged to Major Heriot, came
in and delivered themselves up, and informed that many Indians were en-
gaged south of Tomoka, and east of the St John's, preparing coonti, (zainin.)

Preparations were inunediateiy made for an expedition in that direction, and

' .Soiiif wrote Os-sin-yah-holo, others Assinyohola, but Osceola has obtained.
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a force marched from thence on the 7tli, under Lieut. Peyton, who volun-
teered to take the lead on this occasion. It consisted of 170 men, and the
same evening they reached Bulow's, 33 miles from Fort Peyton. Here, on
the 8th, at dayhght, four other negroes gave themselves up, who had heloiiged
to the same master, and at the same time there came along with them an
Indian negro, named John, a slave of King Philip, who had run away, on
account of an attachment to his master's squaw. He was made to act as a
guide. Spies were sent out, who soon returned with the information that
there was an encampment of Indians at Dunlawton. This it was determined
to beat up, and Lieuts. Peyton and Whitchenst were detached lor the pur-
pose, and at midnight they fell upon them with complete success; capturing
the whole party, except a son of Philip, a lad of 18, who made his escape.
None were killed or wounded on either side. The whites were much elated
at t!iis capture, having found that they had taken the arch King Philip,—who
had laid waste this part of the country in the beginning of the war,—Tomoka
John, and several others, women and children.

On examining Tomoka John, the general learned that at about 10 mile„
from thence was a company of some 8 or 10 Uchees, under Uchee Billy, and
Philip confirmed his statement. It was resolved, without loss of time, to sur-

prise this encampment also. Accordingly, 40 men marched out, with John
for a guide, and here also the surprise was complete, with the exception of
one man, who escaped under cover of night. But they did not find the
Lichees entirely unprepared, and in their resistance they mortally wounded
Lieut. M'Neill, a promising young officer. Two Indians were killed, three
wounded, and 16 captured. Among the latter was Uchee Billy, whose cap-
ture was viewed of no small consequence. In all 5 chiefs were captured
(luring the expedition, making a total of 94 Indians and negroes.

Before the month expired, a son of Philip (probably he who escaped at

Dunlavrton) came with four others to St. Augustine, with a flag; but they
were no sooner come than Gen. Hernandez ordered them into confinement.
We have no other particulars, and whether the general had good reasons for

such a step, take not upon us to say. It appears that the whites in general
were determined to have the Indians, some how or other, and this seems to

have been an earnest of what was afterwards enacted. John Hix, or Hext,

(Tuckebatche Hajo,) who was supposed to have been killed in an encounter
near a year ago, came into Fort King on the 3d of August, and on the 7th

thei-e arrived at Black Creek, Coahajo, Yahajo, (brother-in-law of Osceola,!

and Honese Tustunnuggee. These captures and surrenders gave great en-

couragement to the people, and they again counted on a total emigration in

a short time.

On the 20th of October, aS Lieut. T. B. Adams was escorting an expref-8

from Tampa to Fort Foster, he f II in with and took three Indians. One was
a prominent chief of Pease Creek, named Holachta-Mico-chee, Hac-te-hal-

chee, a sub-chief, and one warrior.

At the same time was prepared at Washington a very sensible talk, by the

chief of the Cherokees, John Ross, which was to be sent to the Semino es;

in which he ardently expressed himself for their welfare, and strongly urged
upon them the necessity of coming to a settlement with the whites, and the

utter impracticability of continuing in war, with the least prospect of success.

This Mr. Ross undertook, by the consent and with the advice of President

Jackson, and four trusty Cherokees were soon after despatched with it to

Florida. It was addressed to 3Iicanopy, Philip, Coacoochee, (Wild Cat,)

Osceola, and other chiefs and warriors, and signed KOOWESKOOWE,
alias John Ross, and a commendatory article, by seven of his head men.

This deputation met the Seminoles in their country, and held a talk \vith

Sam Jones, ;it the head of 300 Mikasankies. Nothing seems to have been

finally settleH, but Abiaca (Jones) said he would treat with the whites if they

would not use him ill. However, before this negotiation began, the Semi-

noles had met with the saddest blow of any, before or since; eight more of

their principal m' n had fallen into the hands of Gen. Jcsup, among vvl—

-

was Osceola himself. This came about as follows:

—

About the 18 October, Osceola sent a message to Foit Peyton, :kai

41 2F
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wished to have a talk with Geii. Hernandez, and stated that he was but a few

miles from there. He had not even ventured thus far, had not the snare been

laid by the connnander-in-chief of the whites, who, it must ever hereafter

be allowed, displayed as much of the Indian in the matter, as Coacoochec had

done before, in the abduction of old Micanopy and others, when the general

had them nearly ready for Ai-kansas. For this act of Coacoochee, the gen-

eral had determined to be revenged ; and he declared, " if he (Coacoochee)

had been a white man, he would have executed him the moment he ciune

into his hands." Now we have seen that he did, some time before this, lall

into his, or Gen. Hernandez's hands. He was the one sent out, or, as the

general sa^ s, allowed to go out, at the request of old Philip, his father. He it

was that brought about this overture of Osceola, which proved so fatal to him,

as in the sequel will be seen.

The Indians, having come as nejii- Fort Pej'ton as they dared, sent word for

Gen. Jesup to come out and talk with them ; he returned them no answer,

but ordered Lieut. Peyton to get them into the fort if he could, and then to

seize them. But in this he could not succeed, and Gen. Hernandez was sent

out with 200 men, and commenced a parley with them. Gen. Jesup re-

mained in the vicinity of Fort Peyton, and ordered the lieutenant of the fort

to proceed to the treaty-ground, to learn whether the Indians " answered Gen.

Hernandez's questions satisfactorily or not." He soon returned, and rej)orred

that the answers were "evasive and unsatisfactory;" whereupon he ordered

Maj. Ashby to cajjture them, which, with the aid of Hernandez, was done,

without the discharge of a gun on either side. Seventy-five Indians were, by
this mancBuvre, taken with loaded rifles in their hands, disarmed, and con-

fined in the fort; and thus ended this "brilliant" affair, which took place on
die 21 October, 18:37.

The names of the principal chiefs " gi-abbed " in this " haul," were, as the

interpreters gave them, Yoso-ya-hola (Osceola,) Coahajo (Alligator,) Pow-
AS-HAJO, John Cavallo, who had been a hostage with Gen. Jesup, No-co-
so-siA-HOLA, Emathla-Chamt, Co-hi-lo-lue-hajo (Doctor,) and Hastoko-
HICO.

Severe animadversions have been indulged in, upon the conduct of Gen.

Jesup, in thus seizing Osceola and his companions. We have not time nor

space for an examination of what has and may be urged for and against the

measin-e. We have followed the general's own account of the afliiir, and
must leave our readers to judge for tliemselves upon its justness. One re-

mark, however, may not be unimportant, as it may assist in a just decision of

tlie question. The general )ias said, that, inasnuich as the Indians had gross-

ly deceived liim on a former occasion, he would use any means to get the

chief actors in that deception into his hands ; and we have seen how the mat-

ter was managed to effect that object. Now, when Lidians fight Indians,

whatever advantage is gained by circumvention, of one pai"ty over another,

is just, according to the laws which govern their modes of warfare ; but it is

a raie circumstance that a party is attacked when coming to another with

the offer of peace. We are now considering the whites on equal fijoting with

tlie Seminoles ; for we see no other ground that this act of seizure can, in any
way, be justified. The general asserts, what we do not clearly discover, that

Osceola did not come to treat of peace, but came under that pretence, " fidse-

ly," expecting thereby to get some white oflicer into his power, with \\liom

he might purchase the liberation of Philii). But, as has been observed, we
do not see sufficient evidence of such a ])lot, to authorize the "grab game,"
as some of the classical editors termed it, wliich was played by the general.

Much, however, might be added in extenuation of his conduct ; he had been

a long time in Fiorithi, exerting himself to the utmost to accom|)iish the

wretched business forced upon him ; he had been baffled and foiled by the

Indians, and derided and shaniefidly treated by some of his own countrymen.

He was now determined to do something, and he performed this signal act

when nobody expected it, and his enemies were at once out ujion him,

because he hail acted like the peoj)le he was among. No blood was
ehcd ; but a very ini|)ortant service was i)erfbrmed. On the whole, we can-

not condemn Gen. Jesup, but rather the policy that placed hun where he
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was. Of this we have distinctly spoken in an earlier page, and must waive a
luther examination.
On the 23 October, 29 " Indians, squaws, and negroes," were captured near

Fort Peyton ; and, on the 25tli, a taniily of 5 more were taken. Tiiey were
conveyed to St. Augustine, and imprisoned, where there now were 147 in all,

in confinement. Great prepiu'ations had been made to pursue the Indians

with vigor, and forces had come in from various quarters, so that by the first

of December, there were at the various posts in Florida, 8,993 men, of whom
4,637 were regulai-s, 4,078 volunteers, 100 seamen, and 178 friendly Lidians.

Amid all these preparations and watchings, the noted chief Coacoociiee

(Wild Cat) made his escaj)e from St. Augustine, with 17 warriors and two
squaws. Thus the fellow whom Gen. Jesup looked upon with such distrust,

had, somehow or otliei-, outwitted liis keepers, and joined Sam Jones m his

unknown retreat.

The next event which comes within the line of our design, was one of the

most sanguinary which has happened since tliis war began, with the excep-

tion of that hi which Maj. Dade and iiis command were cut oK This was
the battle of Okeechobee Lake, between a large Indian Ibrce under Abiaca

and Alligator, anrJ Col. Z. Taylor at the head of about 600 men ; the pai'ticu-

lars of which »re as follows:

—

Col. Taylor marched from Fort Gardner on the 19 December, 1837, and,

following the meanderings of the Kissimmee River, arrived on the third day

at a point on ns banks, 15 miles above its entrance into Lake Okeechobee,

which name is said to mean Big Water. Here he learned from a prisoner,

who had fallen into his hands, that Alligator, "with all the war spirits of the

Seminole^. Sam Jones, and 175 Mikasaukies," was encam])ed about 25 miles

off, on th<» east side of Lake Kissinuiiee. Crossing the river, the colonel left

Capt. 3Icniroe, with his company, the pioneers, pontooneers, and a large por-

tion of his Delaware warriors, who declined proceeding, from lameness, oc-

casioned! by their feet and legs being badly cut with the saw-pal metto. The
next day, taking the captured Indian as a pilot, he moved on with the rest of

his force. After passing several cypress swamps and dense hommocks, he

reached the vicinity of the Indians' encampment, on the morning of tiie 25th.

Here they were found in one of the strongest places, as well as most difficult

of access, of any before known in Florida ; but between 12 and 1 o'clock

the conflict commenced. The main body of the Indians were posted in a

homniock, from which they poured such a destructive fire upon the volun-

teers, that they were obliged to fall back. They formed in the rear of the

infantry, who, coming now into action, "sustained one of the most destruc-

tive fires ever experienced from Lidians." But they pressed forward, and

gained the hommock; the struggle continuing more than an hour, which was

sustained with difficulty on the part of the whites, the Indians at one time

nearly breaking their line ; they were, however, finally routed and driven at

every point, leaving 10 of their dead on the field, and numerous traces of

blood where others had been dragged away. It was reported afterwards, by

the Indians themselves, that they lost 20 in all; and yet this story of blood is

not half told. Col. Taylor had 28 killed, and 111 wounded! Every officer

of four companies, with one exc^eption, and every orderly sergeant of the

same companies, were killed, and the sergeant major was mortally wounded.

Col. A. R. Thompson, of the 6th U. S. infiuitry, received three mortal woinids

nearly at the same time ; Adjutant J. P. Center, Capt. Vanswearingen, and

Lieut. F. J. Brooke, of the sanie corps, were killed outright; Col. Gentry, of

the Missouri volunteers, was killed by a shot through the body, the same hall

wounding his son in the arm. Such was the issue of the disastrous battle of

Lake Okeechobee, which sei-ved two ends ; one of which was to re<hire the

number of Indians in opposition, and to teach the survivors that the whites

could and would fight No prisoners were taken, but some 200 horses and

cattle were found.

Skirnfishes on a smaller scale continued. Gen. Nelson, of the Georgia

volunteers, fell in with a few Indians on the Suanee, on the 26 Deremher, at

a place called Wacusape, and we presume, judging from indirect informa-

tion, came off second best His horse was killed under liim, and he lost Iiis
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lieutenant, and thi-ee horses, and a man or two wounded. He took one In-

dian and a negro prisoners, and one Indian was reported to have been killed.

* About the same time, there was a fight at Charlotte Harbor, in which five

Indians were killed, and nine taken. Lieut. Harding was dangerously wound-
ed. And a day or two afi;er, Capt. Winder, with 30 dragoons, surprised and
took seven men and 23 women and children, about 40 miles south of Fort

McLane, and neai" Fort McNiell ; and 20 miles south-west of Fort Hai-ney,

he took 29 more, among whom was a sister of Coahajo. Such were the

important operations in Florida, during the yeai- 1837.

CHAPTER XX.

EMBRACING THE EVENTS OF 1838 AND 1839.

Battle of Wacasa Swamp—Defeat of Lieut. Powell—Battle of Lucha
Hatche— Gen. Jesup wounded—Death of Osceola—His character— Gen. Jesup
desires to give up the war, and allow the Indiaiis to live in Florida—Not allowed
by the government—His talk with Toskegee—Indians seized at Fort Jupiter—
Gen. Jesup leaves Florida—Death of Philip and Jumper— Capt. Ellis's exploit—
Indians surprise Capt. Beall—Families murdered—Crews of vessels murdered—
Death of Mushalatubee—Camp Forbes attacked—Numerous murders—Capt.

Russell and Maj. Noel killed— Capt. Roioell defeated— Gen. Macomb takes com-
mand in Florida—Endeavors to make a treaty—Lieut. Hulbert killed—Reward for
Indians—Massacre at Colooshatchie—Indians surprised at Fort Mellon—Murders
on the War.ulla—Bloodhounds to be employed against the Seminoles—Depredations
continue.

New yeai' has come, but not a "happy new year" to Florida; for its first

day had only passed, when the sound of the rifle is heard in its desolate

coasts, followed by the groans of the wounded and dying. Brig. Gen. Charles
Nelson, with a brigade of Georgia volunteers, being charged with the defence
of Middle Florida, was, on the 2 January, scouting in the vicinity of Wacasa
Swamp, near Fort Fanning, when he discovered Indian signs leading to said

swamp : following them up, he was fiercely attacked as he approached it,

and immediately the fight became obstinate, and lasted near three hours. At
5 o'clock, P. M., the Indians dispersed, caiTying off their killed and wounded.
The whites suffered severely; but they claimed a large victory, having cap-
tured " 15 men and children," and a chief named Chickachoo. Col. Foster,

who commanded the left wang, was shot do\vn, but his wound proved slight

Lieut. Jennings was killed. Among the wounded were Col. Ambrister,
sliglitly; Serg. Maj. Jones, badly; Dr. Sheftall of Savannah, badly; with
several privates.

We now proceed with an account of a sharp action, neai- Jupiter Inlet,

between a force of about 80 men under Lieut L. M. Powell, of the navy, and
a body of Indians mider Toskegee, in which the whites were defeated, and
sufiered severely in killed and wounded. The action commenced about 4
in the P. M., and continued till half past seven at night, of the 15 January.
On proceeding upon a trail, after landing at Jupiter River, Lieut Powell

captured a squaw, whom he made pilot him to the Indian camp, which he
reached after a march of about five miles. He found them prepai'ed for him,
and the war-whoop was immediately raised. The whites "charged them
through a deep swamp," and the fire became general. Lieut Harrison, of
the navy, was soon shot down at the head of his men, who were left without

an oflicer. Lieut Fowler, of the artillery, was directed to penetrate the

swamp to the right, while the remaining two comj)anies, under Lieut M'Ar-
thur, of the navy, advanced in line. By these manoeuvres the Indians were
driven, or retreated, to a large cypress swamp, 700 or 800 yards in the reai'

Here they made a determined stand, and here Lieut. M'Ai'thiu- was badly

wounded, and Dr. Leitner was killed while in the discharge of his duty as
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surgeon. Night was approaching, and the men wei-e falling fast, when Lieut
Powell ordered a retreat. Lieut. Fowler was shot down in the successful

attempt which he made to cover the retreat, and but three officers remained
upon their feet at the close of the action. The whites made what haste they

could to their boats, all of which they got off except one, which the Lidians

took, contauiing ammunition. In this affair the whites had 5 killed, and 30
wounded, many of them severely, and some three several times. The Lidians

lost 4 or 5. The commander-in-chief in this expedition makes no cnarges
against any engaged in it, in his official account ; but an officer, who was
twice wounded in the fight, said the sailors were great cowai'ds, and had it

not been for the company of artillery under Lieut Fowler, who covered their

retreat, nearly all of them would Iiave been scalped. As it was, about ha.f

the wounded were of that class. This fight was on Lucha Hatche, or Tur-
tle River.

Gen. Jesup, thinking the Indians had probably made their head-quarters on
the Lucha Hatche, marched with the force under his immediate command
from Fort Lloyd, near the head of the St. John, on the 20 Januaiy, to see

whether Lieut. Powell had just cause for leaving them in full possession

there, or not. He came upon them on the 24th, between 11 and 12 o'clock,

A. M., and if he had had no more men than the lieutenant had, it is doubtful

whether he would have given as good an account, or fared as well ; though
the general himself says, " that the strength of then- position was such, that

they ought to have held it much longer than they did ;
" yet, in forcing them

out of it, he was pretty severely wounded, with 30 of his men, and 10 were
killed or mortally wounded. Thus had Toskegee handled two considerable

forces under sepai-ate commanders, and was doubtless as well prepared for a

third, as either of those for a second ; for he and his men were able to make
good their retreat without loss of time, with their all, leaving conjecture only

to their enemies of their next locality.

We must now turn om- attention, for the last time, to the once feared, and
much dreaded, and now no less regretted, chief, Osceola. We left him in

prison at St. Augustine, in November last, from which place he was, soon

after the escape of Coacoochee from thence, sent to Charleston, and con-

fined to the fort in that harbor for safe keeping, until he should be, with oth-

ers, shipped for the west. But that time never came for him ! Death came
with that aid which the white man refused ! He died in confinement at Fort

Moultrie, of a catarrhal fever, on the 30 January, 1838. The portrait of Os-
ceola is difficult to be drawn ; some have made him a cowai'd, and others a

knave ; some have averred that he was but a sub-chief, and without respect

among his own people ; others have indignantly added, that he was the son

of a white man, as though their own blood had degraded him m the scale of

being. It might be so. How then ought they to look upon themselves ? Dou-
bly degraded in that scale. Others portray his character in unmeasured
terms of admii ation ; making him the gi-eatest of chiefs, ablest of counsellors,

and bravest of warriors. We affirm to neither. The circumstance of his

being better known when the war began, than other chiefs, gave him a ce-

lebrity or notoriety which his deeds did not claim. He had lived more among
the white people, and hence was better kno%vn to them ; and when a depre-

dation was committed, or a battle fought, Osceola was the supposed leader of

the Indians ; and as the report of such occurrences spread, the supposition

vanished, and thus arose much of the celebrity of Osceola- Hence it is

easy to see how he came so prominently into the van of notoriety. Thus, in

our account of the defeat of Major Dade, the authorities then relied upon

made us say he was the leader in that wretched disaster ; biit we are now as-

sured that he was at Camp King that same day, and was the chief actor in

that tragedy, and hence could not have been in the fight with Maj. Dade. He
lived near Camp King when the war began, after which he removed to Long
Swamp, 12 miles to the south-west of it.

But we detract nothing from the just fame of Osceola. He was a great

man, and his name will go down to the latest posterity, with as much renown

as that of Philip of Pokanoket. Both, by fatal errors, were brought prema-

turely into the hands of their enemies : Philip, bv the rash murder of one of
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his own men, and Osceola by a mistaken estimate of the character of hia

foes.

We return to Gen. Jesup, whom we left wounded, though safely through
the battle of Lucha Hatche. The next day, January 25th, he crossed the
river, and encamped on Ju])iter Bay, where he erected a stockade, which he
named Fort Jupiter. Here he remained mitil the 5 Februaiy, his men being
destitute of shoes and other supplies. At this period he marched southward,
about 12 miles, when he encamped again ; and here an interview was sought
with the Indians. It was now looked upon by the general, as well as all his

principal officers, as a matter past accomplishment, to subdue the Seminoles,
" for years to come." It was, therefore, concluded that it would be best to

effect an accommodation with them, and to allow them to retain and live upon
th^t part of Florida " where nobody else could live." Accordingly, he wrote
to the secretai-y of war, on the 11 Februaiy, recommending that measure.
\n answer, the secretary said, that it was not a question now to be considered
by the president, whether it would be better to let the Indians remain in the
country or not, but that, as a treaty had been ratified, by which the Indians
Iiad agreed to remove, it was his duty to see it executed ; that, therefore, no
airangements with the Seminoles would be allowed, having for its object
tlieir future residence in Florida. Thus a "veto" was set to the humane
object of Generals Jesup, Eustace, and others, though they were allowed to

make a kind of a truce with them for the ensuing summer, or until the season
would allow the whites to fight them again to advantage.

Meanwhile, Gen. Jesup had moved on slowly, and on the 7th, by means of
messengers which he sent out, got a parley with a young chief, named Hal-
lec Ilajo. This chief told the general that the Indians were in a wretched
condition, that they were unwilling to leave the country, but would be con-
tented with any small portion of it, if they might be allowed to continue in it.

At this stage of the conference, the general (very abruptly we think) demanded
hostages, or a sm-render of the arms of the Indians ; but the chief gave him
to understand that neither would be done. He then requested a conference
with Toskegee, the principal chief of the band. The next day Toskegee
came, and the interviev/ resulted in an agreement for a meeting at Fort Jupiter,

in ten days from that time. What was done at that fort, or whether the gen-
eral ever got the Lidians there or not, he has not told us ; but he says, in his

communication to the secretaiy of war, that " the measure which he adopted
had resulted in the peaceable surrender of about 1,200 Lidians and negroes,

of whom 319 were warriors. Had any other course been adopted, it is ques-
tionable," he says, "whether 20 warriors could have been killed or taken."

Hence we are to infer, that without gross deception, now-a-days called

stratagem, nothing could be effected, of any account, against the Lidians of
Florida ; and what it is probable will be remarked upon hereafter, as worthy
of admiration, is the cm-ious fact, that it had taken the government of the
country, and all its officers who had been engaged in Florida, three years to

find it out. An army could march from one end of that country to another,

if they avoided its lakes and swamps ; and dogs could, with equal ease, drive

all the birds from a rye-field, if there were no brambles in their course ; and
the latter of these experiments would be of about as much consequence to

the owner of the rye-field, as the former to the inhabitants of Florida.

Toskegee had been prevailed upon to lay down his arms, and come into

the strong-holds of the white men, to hold a treaty with them, under the as-

surance that lie and his people would be allowed to retain soTue lUtle part of
their oion countn/. But we are told, as the Indians probably were afterwards,

that tliey would be permitted to remain in Florida, provided the president
would consent to it. They had become quite confident that such would be
tlio fact, for the veiy good reason, that the officere who made them tnis prom-
ise, were very confident themselves, that it would be acceded to by him. No
other conclusion can be drawn from Gen. Jesup's language, in his communi-
cation to the secretaiy of war, before alluded to. Speaking of his overtures

for a reservation, he says, " I believed then, and I believe now, that, as com-
mander-in-chief of the army in tlie field, I had a right to adopt those measures,
eitlier of direct hostility, or of policy, which promised to be most useful in
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the end, taking cai-e not to place the uhimate decision of them beyond the
control of my official superiors."

Some time had now intervened since proposals had been made, and it is

probabli' the chiefs had begun to tiiink all was not right ; for when, on the
17th March, the general haii got his answer from Washington, he notified

them to meet him on the 20th, at Fort Jupiter; they did not appear; where-
upon Col. Twiggs, by his order, surrounded and captured the whole party,

auiduuting to 513. In a day or two after, negroes enough were taken to tnake

up 678; but in the meantime Passac-mico, a chief, with 14 others, made their

escape.

On the 24 March, Gen. Jesnp detached Halatoochee, Tustenuc-cocho-conee,
and the negro chief Abraham, to Gen. Taylor. These were sent out with
messages to their countrymen west of Okeechobee and Pahaiokee, and they
prevailed upon Alligator, with 360 Indians and negroes, of \vhom a hundred
were warriors, to surrender to Col. Smith and Gen. Taylor ; and soon after

Lieut. Anderson captured Pahose-mico, a sub-chief of Toskegee, witii his

baud of 47 persons. Major Lauderdale and Lieut. Powell pursued Appiacca,
(Sam Jones,) as Gen. Jesup writes the name, into the everglades, and came
up with him on an island, and dispersed his party.

We have now traced events to the month of April, 1838, in which month
Gen. Jesup was ordered to proceed to the Cherokee country, and leave Gen.
Taylor in command of the forces in Florida. He began operations there in

Deiemher, 1836, fi-om which time to that now arrived at, there had been
taken, with those who surrendered, about 2,400 Indians, above 700 of whom
were warriors. Many of the principal chiefs had already been sent out of

the country. King Philip, Cloud, and Coahajo, arrived at New Orleans on
the 12th of March, but the former never reached his place of destination.

King Philip died on board his transport boat in July, 40 miles below Fort

Gibson. He was buried on shore with the honors of war; 100 guns being

discharged over his grave. Jumper had preceded him. This chief lan-

guished for about two months, at the "Barracks" in New Orleans, when, on
a day memorable in our annals, April the 19th, his spirit took its flight He
was buried under arms with much ceremony. Into his coffin were put his

rifle, pipe, tobacco, and other equipments, agreeable to the custom of his

people. We now return to inquire what is doing in the land whence they

came.
A scouting party of volunteers, under Capt. Ellis, found five Indians in a

hommock near Santa Fee bridge, all of whom are killed, without injury to his

own party. This was on the 10th of 3Iay. On the 17th of June, as a detach-

ment of about 30 United States dragoons, under Capt. Beall, were seeking

Indians in the neighborhood of San Felasco, near Newnansville, they fell

into an ambush, and seven of their number were killed and wounded. Among
the former was Capt. Walker. They immediately retreated, and were fol-

lowed some distance by the Indians. On the 19 July, the family of a Mr.

Guynn was cut oflT on the Santa Fee ; himself, wife, and infant child were mur-

dered. On the 25th of the same month, a family of the name of Lasley was
broken up on the Ocloknee, 15 or 20 miles from Tallahassee. Mr. Lasley

and a daughter were killed. In Middle Florida, on the last day of the month,

a Mr. Singletary, his wife, and two children were cut off'. On the 19th of

August, a severe blow was struck on the family of a Mr. Baker, on the east

side of the Oscilla. Himself, wife, and a grandchild were killed. And thus

we might fill out page after page with such awful details—consequences of a

war to be remembered only to be lamented.

Many had supposed, that when so many Indians had been sent out of

Florida, but few could be left to trouble their expatriators, but it proved far

otherwise. The poor mariner, who had never had any hand in the war, if

cast away on any part of that coast, immediately found himself in the midst

of Indians. In a terrible tempest, which happened about the 7th ofSeptem

ber, near 40 vessels were wrecked or stranded on its extensive shores. One

only we shall particularly name. This was the brig Alna, Capt. Thomas, of

Portland. After being wi-ecked, the crew all got safe on shore, except one

man, who was washed overboard. The captain, A. J. Plummer, and Wm
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Reed, were killed. S. Cammett and E. Wyer, Jr., though wounded, almost
miraculously escaped.

Amidst these events we will pause to notice the death of the great Chok
caw chief; Mushalatubee. He died at the agency in Arkansas, Septembei
the 30th, of small-pox. He had led his warriors against tlie Creeks, under
Jackson, during the war of 1812.

On th« 6th of September, Adj. Gen. R. Jones issued orders for the re-

assembling of such officers and others, in Florida and the Cherokee country,

as had been detached to the north-west, or elsewhere, to be readj' for active

service. On the llth, as Capt. Rowell's company of Florida volunteers,

about 16, were scouting near the mouth of the Oscilla, they fall upon a camp
of Indians under Tigertail. Most of them escape on ponies, btit two women
were killed.

We meet with very little of importance until the close of this year. On
he 28th December an attack was made on Camp Forbes, by a small party

»f Indians, but they were obliged to retire, leaving two of their number dead
jehind. The next morning Lieut. Thomas went in pursuit of the party, and
same up with them on the Chattahoochee; here again they were dispersed

with loss, but how great is not mentioned. On the 4th of January, 1839,
rme citizens of Magnolia, learning that Indians were in their neighborhood,
'arched them out, and killed the whole party, six in number. Capt. L. J.

Beall, scouting with a company of dragoons near Ahapopka Lake, captured
16 Indians, of which number but two were men. The two men were near
relations of Wild Cat and Sam Jones. The latter had given out word that

he would hang any Indian who should attempt to surrender.

A party of 10 or 12 Indians went within about 12 miles of Tallahassee, and
cut off the family of a Mr. Pendarvis; killing him, his wife, and two children.

This was on the 15th of February, and on the 18th they cut off the family of
a Mr. White, four miles nearer the same place. Here they killed two persons,

and desperately wounded Mr. and Mrs. White. On the Thursday previous,

the same, or perhaps another party of Indians attacked the house of a Mr.
Stokens, of Jefferson county, and though the family escaped, they plundered
it of 1,000 dollars in bank notes, and burnt it.

On the 23d of February, about 15 or 20 Indians attack three wagons on the

Magnolia road, loaded with provisions for Camp Wacasa, and about 9 miles
from that place. Four persons were killed. As Capt. S. L. Russell was
ascending the Miami River, in open boats, fiom Fort Dallas, with a part of
his men, they were fired on by Indians concealed, and Capt. Russell is killed,

and Major Noel is mortally wounded. This was on the last day of February,
viz., the 28th.

On the 1st of March, the Indians which had been collected at St. Augus-
;ine were shipped for the west. There were 250 in all, 65 of whom were
men. At this time went the long noted negro chiefj Abraham. Yet murders
continued to be every where committed. On the 8th, the house of Edmund
Gray, in Jefferson countj', 9 miles from Monticello, is beset, Mr. Gray and
two children killed and one badly wounded, and the house burned.

In piMsuing his business of scouting, Capt. Rowell came upon 50 or 60
Indians near Patterson's Hommock, 5 miles east ofthe Oscilla. They engaged
him, and obliged him to retreat with the loss of two killed and two wounded.
This happened on the 18th of March, and on the 3d of Ai)nl some 10 or 15
Indians went to the residence of Capt. Scott, in Jefferson county, about two
miles from Bailey's mills, where they killed one person and wounded two or

three more. About the same time the house of a Mr. Rollins is attacked at

the head of the St. Mary's, on the edge of the Okeii^enoke Swamp. Mrs.
Rollins wa.-^ killed, and he made a very narrow escape.

Meanwhile Gen. Macomb had been appointed commander-in-chief of the

nrmy in Florida, and on the 5th of Aj)ril he arrived at its head-quarters on
Black Creek. His main instructions a))pear to hav(> been, to pacify the In-

dians again, until the return of another season for campaigning. But his

prospects were discouraging, for "they were dividing themselves into small

parties, penetrating the settlements, committing some murders, and firing

from their coverts on the expresses and passengers going from post to post.
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And it was believed tliat no communication could be opened witli tbem.
However the general was determined to make the attempt, and finding some
prisoners at Gary's Ferry, lie treated them kindly for a while, then set them
at liberty, with the request that they would proceed to the hostiles and invite
tliem to a pai-ley. At or about the same time Gen. Taylor sent out some of
'• his Indians, in whose sincerity and honesty he had great confidence ; " but
these joined the enemy and never returned, and the prisoners returned after

some time, and said they could not find their people. In the mean time,
on the 22 April, about 100 Tallahassies, under the chief Nea Stoco Mada,
marched to Tampa in the night, and forced away about 30 of their country-
men, who were waiting there to be shipped to the west.
At length, on the 17th of May, the general got a number of chiefs together,

from the southern part of the peninsula, by the negotiation of Col. Harney,
and an amicable arrangement was made, by which they were to remain in

the country for the present, or until they could be assured of the prosperous
condition of their friends who had emigrated. The general then left Florida.
On the 3 May, five persons were killed on the Santa Fee. On the same

day Lieut. Hulbert and a man named O'Driscoll were killed at Fourteen-
mile Creek. The express rider between Fort Frank Bi-ooke and Fort An-
drews not arriving as usual, Lieut. Hulbert v.'ent out with ten men to learn
the cause. Being in advance of his men, he fell into an ambush, and was thus
cut off. He belonged to New York, and had graduated at West Point
About sunset on the 28 May, a body of Indians surround the dwelling of

Mr. James Osteon, of Alligatoi*, shoot him near his stable, badly wound a Mr
Dell, and also a sister of Mr. Osteen. Mrs. Osteen and her children escape
to the nearest house. These and numerous other equally horrid afiairs hap-
pening immediately after the treaty just made, destroyed all confidence in its

utility. The people of Florida declared they would take the management of
the war into their own hands, and early in June the government of the terri-

tory offered a reward of 200 dollars for every Indian killed or taken. And
soon after, Tigertail, the chief of the Tallahassies, issued a proclamation
declaring the treaty made between Gen. Macomb and Chitto Tustenuggee
null and void. It does not appear that the two principal chiefs of the Semi-
noles, Tigertail and Sam Jones, had any thing to do with Gen. Macomb's
treaty.

On the 13 July, between 9 and 10 at night, a small party of Indians at-

tack the family of Mr. G. Chairs, 10 miles fi-om Tallahassee, and kill Mrs.

Chairs and two children. On the 23d, Col. Harney was attacked on the Co-
looshatchie or Synebal River, and had 13 out of 18 of his men killed. The
colonel had gone to this place to establish a trading house, agreeably to the

treaty made at Fort King between some of the Seminoles and Gen. Macomb,
before spoken of. Thus that treaty (which was only verbal) was either made
on the part of the Indians to deceive the general, or some Indians made it

without any authority from their nation ; the latter was doubtless the fact.

When the news of Col. Harney's surprise reached Fort Mellon, on the 31st,

some 50 Indians, who had come into that neighborhood, were alarmed for

their safety, and fled ; but soon after, about 45 of them came in to talk with

Lieut Hanson, and were surrounded and taken ; two men, in attempting to

escape, were shot down and killed. About this time, as a company of sol-

diers were building a bridge in Middle Florida, about two miles from a post

on the Suanee, they were sm-prised by the Indians, and 6 of their number
killed. At Fort Wheelock, two or three soldiers are killed while bathing in

Orange Lake. On the 27 September, a party fall upon the family of a Mr.

Bunch, on the Wakulla, murder Mrs. Bunch and one child, and burn the

house. Mr. Whitaker, a near neighbor, is severely wounded.
Early in October, it was announced that 7,000 regular troops were to be

gent to Florida, and that Gen. Taylor had been authorized to send to Cuba
for a large number of bloodhounds, to enable them to scent out the Indians.

When it was known throughout the country that dogs were to be employed

against them, there was a general burst of indignation ; but though it is a fact

that the dogs were procured and brought to Florida, with Spaniards to di-

rect them, yet we believe they entirely failed in the experiment ;
»here being
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but here and there a solitary instance of their performing tlie service for

wliich they were intended. If the oi-iginators of tliis dog-scheme had in view
tiie destruction of tlie Indians in the manner they were destroyed by the fol-

lowers of Cohunbus, they deserve not the riglits of humanity, but should
rather be hunted out of society by beasts as savage as themselves, if such
could be found. How much was effected by the hounds, it is difficult to tell,

for long before then* arrival in the country, the editors of papers in that re

gion had probably concluded upon what course they would pui-sue, when
official accounts from dogs should be offered for publication ; but occasionally

a reckless fellow dropped a paragraph like the following : " The Cuba dogs
have proved quite beneficial. They caught five Indians the other dav, m
Middle Florida, handsomely." h\ March, (1840,) "Col. Twiggs made a 15
days' scout up the St. Johns River with the bloodiiounds. On his return, it

was stated that they ivere found to be perfectly useless ; all attemj)ts to miluce
them to take the trail of the Indians proving unsuccessful. These and other
trials are evidences sufficient to put an end to all further anxiety on the part

of the northern sentimentalists." From such statements we are left to make
up such accounts as we may, of what was effected by the bloodhounds
They will be noticed in the order of time as we proceed.
During this expedition, two Indians were discovered in a boat and shot

one of whom was said to be a brother of Sam Jones.
On the 19 October, a party of dragoons were fired upon while crossing the

Oscilla, and had 7 of their number killed. Some Indians, pretending friend-

ship, had encamped about two miles from the fort, on New River ; and hav-
ing become fainiliar with the soldiers, invited them all to a dance, which they
were to have on the night of the 27 September ; but three, however, had the

temei-ity to go, and they were all killed. It was supposed they intended, oi

were in hopes of drawing out the whole garrison, which if they had, their

fate would have been the same. This was but a retaliation. A baggage-
wagon passing between Micanopy and Fort Wheelock, with an escort of
seven men, was taken by the Lidians on the 3 November ; the driver was
mortally wounded, and another man severely ; killing and wounding some 6
or 7 mules and horses ; 50 Indians were said to have done this mischief; but
if there had been half that number, it is exceeding doubtful whether either

of the seven men would have escaped.
The climate, as well as the Seminoles, continued to do its work also. On

the 5 Novembei', Lieut. Rodney died at St. Augustine, and the next day,
Quartermaster M'Crabb died at the same place.

On the 9 November, the house of Mr. John Johnson was attacked, on the
Oscilla, in which four negroes and one white boy were killed. Four days
after, a party took Alfred Oliver's house, on the Ocloknee, 12 miles to the
westward of Tallahassee, and killed his son. On the 25th, as Capt. Searle is

proceeding in a carriage from St. Augustine to Picolata, he was fii-ed upon,
when about 6 miles out, and mortally wounded ; a young man, a Polander,
who was riding on horseback behind him, was killed upon the spot. On the
same day, a Mr. Weedman, with his son, proceeded to visit his farm, three
and a half miles only from St. Augustine, on the same road. It was the tirst

time he had made the attempt since the war began, and by it he now lost his

life, being shot dead by some concealed Indians; and his son was badly
wounded.
During this month, Gov. Call, with some 200 or 300 men, scoured Middle

Florida, and "drove up all the Indians" in their lines of march. They pre-

sumed they would not "light down again" for some time. However, in a
few days after, the house of Maj. J. S. Taylor, about 6 miles from Monticello,

was burnt down, but the family escaped. This act was laid to the Indians,

and we cannot imdertake to say they did not do it, for tliey certainly were
the possessors of the country
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CHAPTER XXI.

EVENTS OF THE TEAR 1840.

A train of wagons taken— Lieut. Whedan killed—Dog exploits—Families destroyed^
Defeat of Capt. Rains— Lieut. Sanderson's defeat— Col. Riley's ec/doit— Col.

Green's— Col. Harney's—4 compuny (f players attacked—Cow Creek skirmish—
Indian Key destroyed—Lieut. Arthur's exploit—ELevm. families destroyed—
Ciipt. BeidVs fight—Lieut. Hanson s buttle—Indian hantred—Pacification attempted
through a deputation of Seminoles from Jirkaiisas—It fails—Whites taken in aid-
ing Indians— fVild Cat's exploit—Sad accident— Lieut. Judd ambushed—Fort Han-
son burnt— Col. Harnnfs voyage to the Everglades—Hangs ni?ie Indians— The
chief Chiakika killed—Fort Walker attacked— Capt. Davidson dies—Lieut. Sher-
wood's ambush, and death of Mrs. Montgomery.

" You plough the Indian's grave
;
you till his land

—

Is tliere no blood, white man, upon your hand.''

Recall the time when first your fathers spread
Upon these icy shores their wintry bed ;

—

When, powerless exiles on the desert sea,

Their only strength—the spirit to be free."

We have now amved at the beginning of the year 1840. On the first day
of February of this year, a detachment of men, sent in pm-suit of deserters,

were fired on near Fort Brooke, by whicli three of the detachment were
wounded. A sergeant, whose horse was shot from under him, was supposed
to have been killed. Four days after, some 10 or 15 Indians captured a train

of 1'2 wagons, about 10 miles from Gary's Ferry, as they were returning to

that place with provisions and stores from the interior. They killed one
mail, and wounded four or five mules, and made off with the property.

On the 22 Februaiy, as Lieut. Whedan, with a detachment of volunteers,

was in pursuit of Indians upon a fresh trail near the Calico Hills, in the vicin-

ity of Magnolia, he fell into an ambush, and was killed ; his men ran away
and left him to the Lidians.

About a month after, namely, March 18, the Indians made a spirited at-

tempt to add to their stock of provisions. They attacked another train of
wagons on its way fi-om Post No. 2 to Micanopy, killed three men and
wounded others ; but tbund no booty, as the wagons were only going after

stores. This was done in spite of what a company of soldiers could do, who
were present as an escort. But a few days previous, (March 8th,) two men
dxe killed between "Charles Old Town" and Micanopy; and, on the 10th,

a Methodist minister, named M'Rea, was killed at " Suggs Old Place," between
Wahcahota and Micanopy. On the 26 March, some Indians crawled up
within 200 yards of the pickets at Fort King, and killed two soldiers.

About the beginning of Mai'ch, somewhere in Middle Florida, two blood-

hounds captured an Indian; one seized him by the throat, while the whites

came up and took him. He was greatly terrified, and pomted out where
others might be found; and soon after they captured four more. On 13

March, nine dogs were announced as having arrived at Gary's Ferry, and
that they were to be employed by Col. Twiggs, of the 2d di-agoons, on a con-

templated expedition to the Ocklawaha. The officers under whom they were
to serve, were probably desirous to know how much they might depend upon
them, and, therefore, on the next Sunday, made the following ex})eriment in

their tactics. An Indian prisoner was sent out, (without the knowledge of the

dogs,) with orders to climb a tree at some five miles' distanc<;. He did so

;

and the hounds were put upon his trail. The dog captain, or leader, went

directly to the tree, and attempted to climb it, and had actually got up six

feet, when the others amved. Such was the report of the affair; which re-

port, whether from the principal officer under whose conduct it was per-

formed, or from the chief leader of the dogs, we are uninformed.

Towai-ds the end of April, a small band of Indians attacked a guard of six

men, who were convoying a wagon fiom Fort Fanning to Deadman's Bay
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The officer commanding was badly wounded ; but the fight was continued

several hours, until all their ammunition was spent, when they charged the

Indians, and made good their retreat. The attacking party lost one man and
" a big negi'o."

About the same time, the family of a Mr. M'Lane, on the Togolee, was as-

saulted, and Mrs. M'Lane and three of her children were barbarously niiu--

dered. About 8 miles from Blount's Town, the tamily of a Mr. Lamb was
desti'oyed ; and before the end of the month three others met the same fate.

On the 28 April, as Capt. Rains was returning trom a scout, Avith 18 men, he

was fired upon from an ambush by a lai-ge body of Indians, within two miles

of Fort King, and had 4 men killed, and 5 wounded ; among the latter was
the captain, severely. The whites reported that they killed thi-ee of the In-

dians. From another som-ce, the afltair of Capt. Rains is related as follows :

—

Some of his men had been lately killed by the Lidians, "as they left the gar-

rison " of Fort King, and he was determined to show them the same kind of

play ; accordingly, he placed some shells under a blanket, within heai'ing dis-

tance, and in the night he heaid an explosion. Next morning, he took 18

men, and marched to the place where the shells had been deposited. He
found no Indians, either dead or alive, but traces of blood, pony tracks, and
fi-agments of garments. While examining these, all at once the Indians rose

up, as it were, out of the ground, and nearly siu-rounded him and his little

band ; the terrible Halec Tustenugge was at theu- head, and with the most
deafening yells rushed to the fight. The whites charged, and the Indians

took to the trees, and thus prolonged the battle. At length, Halec, after des-

perately wounding Capt. Rains, fell himself, and was borne off by his wai--

riors. The captain would doubtless have been despatched by the mighty arm
of the chief, had not Serg. Jackson, too, badly wounded, rushed to his rescue,

and shot Tustenugge. At this stage of afiairs, the fight seems to have ended,

and, as usual, the whites hastened away to report a victoiy. They rated the

Indians at 93 ; but how they came by this minute information, we are not in-

formed. But their bravery and courage are, probably, fai* less questionable

tlian their statement of the number of their equally brave enemy. The same
night, or the next, some Indians went to Stanley's plantation, within three

miles of Newnansville, where they killed 12 hogs, cut down the fruit-trees,

and burnt the buildings, by which 800 bushels of corn were consumed.
About the same time, a volunteer, named Sanders, was killed, about fom-

miles fi-om Newnansville ; and another man, in company with him, was
badly wounded.
On the 19 May, as Lieut. Martin and three other men were proceeding

fi-om Micanopy to Wakahoota, in charge of a government wagon, tliey were
all cut off. The wagoner escaped, and cai-rying the intelligence to Micanopy,
Lieut. Sanderson sallied out with 17 men, and pursued the Indians. He soon
fell in with them, but was defeated, and himself, with 9 men, killed, besides

three bloodhounds and their keepers ; four other men were missing.

Some time m Jmie, Col. Riley surprised an Indian camp on the Ouithla-

coochee, killed two warriors, and took a man, woman, and child, prisoners.

The man soon after escaped, and in pursuit of hun, Capt. Mason was acci-

dentally shot by his own men. About the same time, Col. Greene fell upon
a small party of Indians in Middle Florida, killed three, and a white man
with them. Towards the end of the month. Col. Hai-ney returned from a

long expedition, in which he captured Wild Cat's mother and daughter, lib-

erated a negro, who had been a prisoner near two years, and was the only

survivor of the crew of a vessel vsrecked at New Smyrna. He also destioyed

27 cornfields of the Indians.

When Dr. Cotton 3Iather was about to write the history of a sangumary
massacre, which happened at Durham in New Hampshire, he began with the

ominous expression of " Bloody fshing at Oyster River

!

" We have now to

record a bloody tragedy among tragedians. A Mr. Forbes, it appears, was
not satisfied with what tragedies he could manufacture elsewhere, but must
needs go to that country of tragedies, Florida, with his theatrical corps, as

Jiough the people there would prefer counterfeit to the real ones, or had not

enough of both ; Houbtless the whites much preferred the former ; but not so
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with the Indians, where they could have a hand in them. This company of
players was in two wagons, passing Irom Picolata to St. Augustine, on the 23
May, and when within 5 or 6 miles of tlie latter place, were attacked by a
ai'ge number of Lidians under Wild Cat, and four of them killed. How
man}' were in the company we are not told ; but Forbes and the females
escaped. The Lidians, immediately after, sun-ounded Fort Seai'le, danced
about it in defiance, and dared the soldiers to come out and fight ; but the
garrison was too weak to make a sortie. We have to clcee t''© iielation of
this tragedy with a comedy. The Indians had found time, before apjjeanng
at Fort Seai'le, to dress themselves in such of the actors' clothes as they had
taken. Wild Cat had got on the turban of Othello ; and others liad sashes
and spangles, which they took care to display to advantage. Wild Cat
showed a rich velvet dress to some negroes who aftei-wards came in, and told

them he would not take a hundred head of cattle for it

At Cow Creek Hommock, near Fort White, there was a sku-mish, on the

12 July, between Serg. Zeigler and three or four men, and 21 Indians. A
corporal and two soldiers were killed, and the others were wounded.
On the 7 August, there happened a most horrid massacre at Lidian Key.

Six persons were killed by the Lidians ui then* barbarous manner ; among
whom was Dr. Hemy Perrine, formerly of Connecticut, a scientific gentle-

man, who had located himself there for the purpose of cultivating some rare

plants which he had obtained in South America, while residing there as con-

sul. There were upon Lidian Key, at the time of this massacre, 44 people^

all of whom had the good fortune to escape, except the six before named.
All the houses were burned except one. The number of Indians was said to

be 100 or 150.

On the 10 August, word was brought to Fort Bai-kee, that an encampment
of Indians was discovered, about seven miles from thence, on the road to

Fort Mitchell. Lieut. B. H. Arthur immediately marched out, with " a com-
nany of soldiers," to surprise them. The object was effected ; two Indians

were killed, one wounded, and 3 rifles taken. Eai-ly in the niornmg of the

same day, the house of Mr. Wyley Jones, on the Econfuia, about 6 miles

north of the St. Joseph's, was attacked and biu-nt; the Lidians shot Mrs.

Jones and one of her children ; a httle daughter of 13 conveyed away four of

her younger brothers and sisters to a safe place, and then retiu-ned to see

what had become of her mother. She found her only time enough to see

her exjiire ! and then made a second escape

!

About the middle of August, eleven families are said to have been broken

up, on the Suanee River, and a great number of people killed. Among them
was the family of a Mr. Courcy. He was fi-om home at the time, and on his

return, foimd his wife and six chilch-en mm-dered, and lefl in the most bar-

barous manner, here and there lying about the fields where they fell. Of
Mr. Howell's family, his wife and oue child were killed, and three other chil-

dren escaped. A Mrs. Green and one child were also murdered. A Mi'S.

Patrick was shot in her house while preparing a bed for her children ! Mr.

Thomas Davis and two children, and Mr. Patrick's daughter, all murdered.

On the 4 September, as Capt. B. L. Beall, with 10 or 12 men, was upon a

scout, he came suddenly upon about 30 Indians, who all escaped but four

;

the rest secm-ed themselves in a swamp on Wacoosasa River. One of tj^s

prisoners was said to be Holatoochee, a sub-chief of the Mikasaukies. With

these prisoners several guns were taken " in good order," and " a large deer-

skin full of honey."

But two days after, Lieut. W. K. Hanson had a smart battle with some

Seminoles, neai- Fort Wekahoota. Word being brought to the .leutenant

then at that post, that Indians were in the vicinity, he inmiediately marched

out with 35 regulars ; and when one and a half miles from the fort, was fired

upon from a gloomy hommock, which obliged him to retreat about 300 yards

to an open wood, closely pursued by the Lidians. Here he made a stand,

and continued the fight about half an hour, at which time the Indiaiis, to de-

coy him, retreated again to the hommock; but Lieut. Hanson, having now

five of his men killed and wounded, concluded to retreat while he \vas at lib-

erty to do so. The fu-ing had brought out a reenforcement under Capt. Haw
42



494 ARKANSAS DELEGATION FAILS. [Book IV

kins, who not long after charged the hommock, but he found no Lidians

The number of Indians supposed to have fbuglit in this skirmish, was stated

to be 80. On the morning of the same day, tlie same Indians, it is said, killed

and horribly mutilated a young man named Geiger ; his head was severed

and cairied off.

On the 7 September, the house of a Mr. Dorsey is plundered and burnt ;

—

fortunately, he had lately removed his lamily to Alabama, About ten days

after, Lieut. Saunders, scouting with a party of dragoons in the neighborhood

of Fort Mellon, captured a single Indian. This brave company fii-st shot their

prisoner, and afterwards hung him on a tree.

A more pacific policy, on the part of the government, had been instigated,

in a manner not to be passed unheeded, by the public expression ; and, con-

sequently. Gen. Armistead was directed to act on the protective system ; at

the same time, to endeavor by every possible means to influence the Senii-

noles to go quietly fi-om the land of their fathers. More effectually to carry

these views into effect, a deputation of their countrymen had been sent for.

beyond the Mississippi, and treated with to visit Florida, and intercede with

their friends and brothers to give up the country, and end the cont)oversy.

Accordingly, this proposition was acceded to ; and fourteen cliiefs and others

left Arkansas on this embassy, and arrived at Tampa, in Florida, on the 9

November. They came prepared to assure their countrymen that tliey would

be far better off in Ai'kansas ; and as they had been known to have been

exceedingly opposed to emigration, and had been forced away from Florida

themselves, great reliance was placed upon their endeavors to end the trou-

bles. And to satisfy the whites of their good intentions, they left all their

wives and children behind. Among them were the noted cliiefs. Alligator,

HoLATOOCHEE, and Micanopy; and on the morning of the 3d, they com-

menced their march of 100 miles for Fort King, where they were to have an

intei-view with some of the hostile chiefs.

The deputation arrived at Fort King in about 4 days, viz., on the Cth, and

Gen. Armistead on the 7th. Every effort was now made to discuss matters

with freedom; and Halec Tustenugge, Tiger-tail, and many others, were

waiting in the woods, not far off| when the before-named functionaries ar-

rived. Sundry conferences and talks were had during the following six days
;

but what was said and done we are not informed ; though, judging from what

hai)pened immediately after, it conid not have been very satisfactory to the

Indians, whatever they may have pretended ; for, on the night of the 14 No-

vember, they all took leave very unceremoniously, and letired into their old

fastnesses, as was conjectured, for they said notiiing about that, nor did the

whites have an opportunity of guessing where they had gone until the next

morning. At this conduct of the hostiles, those from Arkansas expressed

themselves " utterly astonished." As soon as the general was informed of

the escape of the Indians, which was "early the next morning," he wrote to

tlie secretary of war, Mr. Poinsett, in the following desponding strain :—

"Thus have ended all our well-grounded hopes of bringing the war to a close

by pacific measures ; confident in the resources of the country, the enemy
will hold out to the last, and can never be induced to come in again. Inune-

diately u|)on the withdrawal of the Indians, orders were transmitted to com-
manders of regiments, to put their troojjs in motion ; and before this reaches

you, they will be scouting in every direction."

Notwithstanding these efforts at peace-making on the part of the whites,

hostilities did not entirely cease on the side of the Indians. On the 17 Oc-
tober, a party went to Col. Gamble's plantation, at Welaune, in Jefferson

county, where they fired upon and wounded a negro man, and took a woman,
with whom they made off"; but, in their flight, meeting with a company of

whites, they left her, and siie escaped. On the 24th, some bloodhounds led

a company of soldiers to a house, in Middle Florida, in which three ivhiie men
were captured, charged with aiding and abetting the Indians.

At Col. Hanson's plantation, about 20 Indians made quite a "business op-

eration," on the 28 October, which, without any other insurance than their

own peculiiu- tactics, was, to say the least of it, a very "risky transaction."

Such is our judgment upon it, inasmuch as the place where it was done was
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only two miles from St Augustine. Although they did not succeed to tlie
extent of their wislies, yet they took and carried off all the blankets and other
clothing which had been provided for a "lai-ge stock of negroes," lor tlie en-
suuig winier ; and when about to fire the buildings, became alarmed by the
approach of some ueigiiboring whites, whom a negro had informed of what
was going on, and fled without doing further mischief They had intended
to have carried off all the slaves, but were prevented by this circumstance.
Wild Cat is said to have led the Indians in this expedition.

People flocked in and garrisoned the place, and watched all night for the
return of the Indians, who doubtless had not the most distant idea of repeat-
ing their visit. This led to one of those melancholy events, accoinits of
many of which are already upon our records. The nevvs of the descent upon
Col. Hanson's farm was carried immediately to Picolata, which caused Lieut.
Graham to march with a small force for that place, hoping to surprise the
Indians there, or in its vicinity. Accordingly, he approached it with ereat
canton about 2 o'clock on the morning of the next day, not knowing" that
guards had been set to receive the Indians, should they return ; and, unfor-
tunately, being himself and company uiken for Indians, were fired upon, and
Serg. Wolcott was mortally, and Lieut. Graham severely wounded.
On the same day, the post rider between Forts Fanning and Macomb was

found nun-dered, quartered, and thrown into a pond.
Every day adds new scenes to the tnigedy. On the 1st day of November,

as Lieut. Judd, with Mr. Falany and three dragoons, was proceeding from
Fort Searle for St. Augustine, they were fired upon when near the eight-
mile-post, by Indians concealed in bushes along the road, by which a sergeant
and one [jrivate were killed, azid Mr. Falany and another private severely
wounded. Lieut. Judd escaped, as it were, by a miracle. He rode with the
wounded soldier till he fell from his horse, then dismounting, dragged him
from the path, and the Indians being just upon him, concealed himself in

the bushes until they gave up the chase.

About the same time Col. Harney captured 12 Indians (women and chil-

dren) near Foi-t Reid, oji the St. John's. He found them in possession of 50
blankets, mostly new, pieces of calico, &c., supposed to have been taken
from Indian Key, when it was destroyed in August last.

Fort Hanson, 15 miles from St. Augustine, was abandoned abaut the o
November, and in two or three hours after was burnt by the Indians.

Early in December, Col. Harney, as much now the terror of the Seminoles
as Col. Church was to the Wampanoags, or Daniel Boone to the Kikapoos,
undertakes an expedition into the everglades. These much heard of and
little known retreats extend over perhaps 100 square miles. They are an
expanse of shoal water, varying in depth from one to five feet, dotted with
jnnuirjerable low and flat islands, generally covered with trees or shrubs.

Much of the water is shaded by an almost impenetrable saw-grass, as high
as a man's head, but the little channels in every direction are liee from it.

It had been ong supposed, that upon the islands in some part of this district

the Indians had their heail-quarters, from whence they had issued upon their

destrnctive expeditions. This suspicion amounted to a certainty a little be-

fore this, from the testimony of a negro named John, who liad escaped from
a clan in that region and come in at Cape Floridti. He had been with the

Indians since 1835, at which time he was captured by them from Dr. Hrew.
Therefore it was determined by Col. Harney to take John as a guide, and
endeavor to strike an eff ctnal blow upon thtMU in their own fastness. Ac-
cordingly, with yO men in boats, he set out to traverse that monotonous
world, t,ie everglades. John faithfully performed his promii^e, and led the

armament directly to the island where the Indians were, which was at once

surrounded, and 38 prisoners taken and 2 killed. It proved to be the band

of Chai-ki-ka, as "noted a rogue" as Tatoson of old. He it was, it is said,

who led the party that desrroyed Indian Key, and traitorously massacred Col.

Harney's men at the Synebal. As direct evidenc of ihe fact, upwards of

2,000 lodars' worth of the goods taken from Dr. Perrine's settlement were

ide-iiified, and 13 Cok's rifles lost at the Synebal were found ; iherefbre, aa

ati offset to those affairs, nine of the " warriors " were forthwith executed by

hanging, and the tenth was preserved for a future guide.
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When Col. Harney came upon Chaikiku's band, the chief was at a short

distance from his people, chopping wood, and on discovering that the foe waa
upon them, fled with all his might for the high grass. Several soldiers

started in pursuit, but he outran them all except a private named Hall,

When he found he could not escape from him, and being unarmed, he faced

about, and with a smile of submission on his face, threw up his arms, in

token of surrender. This availed him nothing. Hall levelled his rifle, which

sent a bullet through his skull into his brains, and he fell lifeless into the

water but a little distance from the shore of the island ! How like the fall

of the great Wampanoag chief! Col. Harney had one man killed and five

wounded, of whom negro John, the pilot, was one.

There was great rejoicing at the success of Col. Harney all over Florida;

and although his summary vengeance upon some of the prisoners called

forth imprecations from many, those were drowned by the general burst of

approbation ; but this was damped in some degree by the loss of a very

valuable and meritorious officer, who died immediately after the expedition

returned from the everglades. This was Capi. W. B. Davidson, who died at

Indian Key on the 24th of the same month, fi-om disease engendered while

upon that service.

About this time, or previous to 23 December, Tiger-tail's son and brother,

with several others, came in to Fort King and surrendered. The old chief

himself was daily expected in also, but that expectation only amounted to a

disappointment Not long after these Indians came in, a party went to Fort

Walker, between Micanopy and Newnansville, where they killed three negroes

and wounded one white woman, without being molested.

On the morning of the 29 December, a wagon was ordered to proceed

from Fort Micanopy to Fort Wacahoota, and notwithstanding "positive orders

had been given by the commanding general, forbidding any escort from post

to post to consist of less than 30 men," but 11 went on this occasion. They
were under the command of Lieuts. Sherwood and Hopson, and "as the

morning was fine, a Mrs. Montgomery, wife of Lieut. Montgomery, rode out

with them." This company had got scarcely three miles on the way when
it fell into an ambush, and Mrs. Montgomery, Lieut. Sherwood, a sergeant-

major, and two privates were immediately killed. Lieut. Sherwood and a sol-

dier sacrificed themselves to save 3Irs. Montgomeiy, but it availed her nothing.

Her husband arrived on the ground soon after, but she was dead, and a

soldier waa lying by her side in the agonies of death, but had strength enough
to say to her husband, " Lieutenant, I fought for your wife as long as I could,"

and then expired ! Mrs. Montgomery was an accomplished lady from Cin-

cinnati, and had not been married but about three weeks.

About the same time two wagoners were killed on the way from Pilatka

to Fort Russell. They started in advance of the escort.—Such are some of

the most prominent events of Florida warfare, whicli brings our account of

it to the close of the year 1840.
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BOOK V.

BIOGRAPHY AND HISTORY OF THE IROQUOIS

OR FIVE NATIONS, AND OTHER NEIGHBORING
TRIBES OF THE WEST.

Nurslings of nature, I mark your bold bearinf,
Pride in each aspect and stren^h in each fonn.

Hearts of warm impulse, and souls ofhlgh daring,

Born in the battle and reared in the storm.

The red levin flash and the thunder'^ dnad rattle,

The rock-riven wave and the war trumpet's breath,

The din of the tempest, the yell of the battle,

Nerve your steeled bosoms to danger and death.—J. R. Dkakb.

CHAPTER L

Particulars in the history of the Iroquois or Five Nations—Extent of t/ieir aomin-
ions—Antiquitieti and traditions—Destroy the Eries— JVar icith the Adirondaks—Specimen of their language—Account of the chiefs—Granguele—Black-
kettle—His bloody wars with the French—Adario—His singular stratagem to

unite his countrymen against the French—Destroys Montreal and near a thousand
inhabitants—Dies in peace with the French—Dekanisora a renowned orator—
Peiskaret— The miraculous stories concerning him. History of the journey of
Five Iroquois chiefs to England.

The great western confederacy of Indian nations has commonly been styled

by the French, /ro^wow,* but generally by the English, the Five J^ntions^

and sometimes the Six JVations ; but either of the two latter appellations

must be considered only as such, because we shall show, as we proceed, that

they are not numerically true now, if they ever were. Five may have been
the number which originally leagued together, but when that happened, if

indeed it ever did, can never be known. It is a tradition that these |>eo|)le

came from beyond the lakes, a great while ago, and subdued or exterminated
the iahabitants of tlie country on this side. Even if this were the case, it

* " Le nom d'Iroquois est purement Fran9ois, ei a tt^ forin^ du tenne Hiro, qui si^nifie

Tai dit : et par quel ces sauvages fiiiissent lous leurs discours, comme les Latins faisoient

autrefois par leur Dixi; et de Koue, qui est tin cri, tantdl de iristesse, lorsqu'on le proimnce

en trainant, el tanldt de joye, quand on le prononce plus court. Leur nom propre est Agrm-
nonsionni, qui veut dire Faiseurs de Cabannes ; parce qu'ils les balissent beauroup plus

solidcs, que la {.lupart des aulres sauvages." CharleroLc,\.T10—1, (sub anuo 1646,) also

Loskiel, i. 2.

—

Heckewelder—and Forsters Northern Voyases.

t
" Ces barbares ne srmt qn'une seiUe nation, et qu'nn seal iiMrit public. On pourroit Ua

nommer poiir la distribution du terrain, les Suisses de ce continent. L-^s Iroquois sont par-

taker en cinq cantons, sqaroir les Tsonontoflans , les Goyogoans, les Onnotagnes, les OnoyouU,

etlesAgmis." (Lahontan, i. 35.) By the ^IfiWs we are to understand JSfo/iaicA».
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proves nothing of theii" origin ; foi- there may have been a time when theii

ancestors went from this side to the country beyond, and so on. The Mo-
hawks, sometimes called Wabingi, are said to have been tlie oldest of the

confederacy, and that the " Onayauts " (Oneidas) were the first that joined
them by putting themselves under their protection. The Onondagos were
the next, then the " Teuontowanos, or Sinikers," (Senecas,) then the " Cuiuk
guos," (Cayugas.) The Tuscaroras, from Carolina, joined them about 1712,

but were not formally admitted into the confederacy until about 10 years

after that. The addition of tliis new tribe gained them the name of the Six
Nations, according to most writers, but it will appear that they were called

the Six Nations long before the last-named period.*

The Shawanese were not of the confederacy, but were called brothers by
them. This nation came from the south, at no very remote period, and the

Iroquois assigned them lands on the west branch of the Susquehannah, but
looked upon them as inferiors.

The dominions of this " United People " cannot be particularly described,

for they were never stationary ; at one time they extended beyond the St,

Lawrence and the Mississippi, and at anotlier they were circumscribed
between them. Smith, the historian of New York, says, " Our Indians
tmiversally concur in the claim of all the lands [in 175G] not sold to the

English, from the mouth of Sorel River, on the south side of Lakes Erie and
Ontario, on both sides of tlie Ohio, till it falls into the Mississij)pi ; and on
the north side of those lakes, that whole territory between the Outawais
River, and the Lake Huron, and even beyond the straits between tliat and
Lake Erie."

" When the Dutch began the settlement of New York, all the Indians on
Long Island, and the northern shore of the sound, on the banks of Connecticut,
Hudson, Delaware, and Susquehannah Rivers, were in subjection to the Five
Nations ; and within the memory of persons now living, acknowledged it

by the payment of an annual tribute." As a proof of this it is mentioned that
" a little tribe, settled at the Sugar-loaf momitain, in Orange county, to this

day, [175G,1 make a yearly payment of about £20 to the Mohawks." \

Among the many tribes or nations which they wholly or partially destroyeu

were tlie Eries, a powerful tribe on the southern shore of the great lake

whose name they bore. In the year 1653 they were entirely extii-pated, and
no remnant of them has since been heard of in existence.|

When the French settled in Canada in 1611, it was upon the lands of the

Adirondaks, above Three Rivers. They found them at war with the Iro-

quois, then mainly seated along the southern side of Lake Ontario. The
Adirondaks, by the assistance of the French, were able to defeat their

enemies in every battle, who at length were in danger of a total extermina-

tion. Meanwhile the Dutch had begun their trade in the Hudson River,

which they profitably carried on in arms with the Iroquois. Being now able

to meet the Adirondaks on more equal footuig, they continued the war, and
with such success, that the Adirondaks, in their turn, became almost de-

stroyed.

The Six Nations did not know themselves by such names as the English

apply to them, but the name Aquanuschioni,§ which signified united people,

was used by them.|| This term, as is the case with most Indian words, is

defined by a knowledge of its etymology. A knowledge of the Lidian Ian

guages would enable us to know what EdmoBt every place in the countiy ban

* In the Bi-itish Empire, iii. 66, it is sjdd, " The Cowetas also, or Creek Indians, are in the

same frieiKlship with tliem."

\ Selected from tlie weU-selecied notes to Sears's Poem, entitled Mineral Waters.

J Charlevoix.

§ Loskiel, Hist. Mis. i. 2. " They say themselves, that they have sprung and grown up in

that very place, like the very trees of the wilderness." William's Key. Another name lltey

often gave themselves was, Ongue-honwe, which sienified, a people surpassing all others.

Hist, lirit. Dominions in A'^. America. Book iii. 65, fed. 4to. Loud. 1773.)

II
At a great assemblage of chiefs and warriors at Albany, in August, 1746, the chief speakM

of the Six Nations informed the English commissioners that they had taken in the Messe-

•agnes as a seventh nation. Colden, Hist. F. Nations, ii. 176.
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been noted for ; whether hill or mountain, brook or river. It is said by
Colden,* that New England was called Kinshon, by the Lillians, which, he
says, means a fish

; \ and that the New England Lidians sent to tlie ln)(]uoi8

a " model of a fish, as a token of their adhering to the general covenant."
The waters of New England are certauily abundantly stored with fish;

hence the name of " the Fishing People."

We will here present a specimen of the language of the Six Nations, in

the Lord's Prayer, all of whom, except the Tuscaroras, " speak a language
radically the same." So-ung-wau-ne-ha cau-ro-unk-yaiv-ga, teh-see-ta-ro-ariy

sauh-son-e-you-sta, esa, saw-an-e-you, o-ket-tauh-se-la, eh-ne-au-ivong, no, cau-

romink-yawga, ' naugh-wou-shauga, ne-at-te-weh-ne-sa-lauga, taug-wau-nau-to-

ro-no-an-tough-sick, to-an-taug-we-lee-whe-you-staung^ che-nee-yeut, cha-qua-

tau-ta-leh-whe-you-staun-na, tough-sau, taugh-ivaus-sa-re-neh, ta-iuaid-ot-ten-au-

gal-ough-toung-ga, nas-aw-ne, sa-che-au-taug-was, co-an-teh-sal-oh-aim-za-

ick-aw, esa, saw-au-ne-you, esa, sash-atUz-ta, esa, soung-wa-soung, chen-ne-

auh-a-aug-wa, au wen.X
Perhaps we cannot present the reader with a greater orator than Garangula,

or, as he was called by the French, Grand'Guedle ; though Lahontan, who
knew hun, wrote it Grangula. He was by nation an Onondaga, and is

brought to our notice by the manly and magnanimous speech which iie

made to a French general, who marched into the country of the Iroquois to

subdue them.
Li the year 1684, Mr. de la Barre, governor-general of Canada, com-

plained to the English, at Albany, that the Senecas were infrmging upon
their rights of trade with some of the other more remote nations. Governor
Dongan acquainted the Senecas with the charge made by the French gov-

ernor. They admitted the fact, but justified their com-se, alleging that the

French supplied then enemies with arms and ammunition, with whom they

were then at war. About the same time, the French governor raised an
army of 1700 men, and made other " mighty preparations " for the final

destruction of the Five Nations. But before he had progressed far in his

great undertaking, a mortal sickness broke out in his army, wliich finally

caused him to give over the expedition, ti the mean time, the governor of

New York was ordered to lay no obstacles in the way of the French expedi-

tion. Instead of regarding this order, which was from his master, the Duke
of York, he sent interpreters to the Five Nations to encourage them, with

ofiers to assist them,
De la Barre, in hopes to effect something by this expensive undertaking,

crossed Lake Ontario, and held a talk with such of the Five Nations as would
meet him.§ To keep up the appearance of power, he made a high-toned

speech to Grangvla, in which he obsei-ved, that the nations had often infringed

upon the peace ; that he wished now for peace ; but on the condition that they

should make full satisfaction for all the injuries they had done the French,

and for the future never to disturb them. That they, the Senecas, Cayngas,

Onondagos, Oneidas, and Moliawks, had abused and robbed all their traders,

and unless they gave satisfaction, he should declai'e war. That tliey had
conducted the English into their country to get away their trade heretofore,

but the past he would overlook, if they would offend no more
;
yet, if ever

the like should happen again, he had express orders from the king, liis master,

to declare war.

* Hist. Five Nations, i. 109.

t Kickons, in Algonkin ; Kegonce, in Chippe«;iv. Lang's Voyages, &c. 202, 4to.

X Smith's Hist. N. York, 40. (ed. 4to.) Tlic dbove differs somewhat from a copy iu

Proud's Pa. ii. 301.

§ As it will gratify most of our readers, we believe, to hear the general in his own words,

we will present them with a paragraph of his speech to Grangulu in his own language:^
" Le roi mon mailre informe que les cinq Nations, Iroquoises contrevenoient depuis long-

lems a la paix, m'aordonne de me transporter ici avec une escorte, et d'envoier Akouessan au

village des Onnatagues, pour inviter les principaux chefs a me venir voir. L'iiiteniion de ce

grand monarquo est que nous fumions toi et moi ensemble dans le grand calumet de paix

,

pourvu que tu me promettes au nom des TsonontoOans, Goyogoans, Onnotagiies, Onoyouts

et Agni6s, de donner une entiere satisfaction el dedommagement a ses sujeu, et de ne riei

faire a I'avenir qui puisse causer une facheuse rupture." &c. LaJionlan, i. 68, 59
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Grangula listened to these words, and many more in the like strain, with
that contempt wliich a real knowledge of the situation of the French army,
and the rectitude of his own course, were calculated to inspire ; and after

walking several times round the circle, formed Ly his people and the French,
addressing himself to the governor, seated in his elhow chair, he began aa

follows :
—

*

^^ Yonnondio ;] I honor you, and the warriors that are with me likewise

honor you. Your interpreter has finished your speech. I now begm mine.
My words make haste to reach your eai-s. Harken to them.

" Yonnondio ; You must have believed, when you left Quebeck, that the

sun had burnt up all the forests, which render our country inaccessible to the

French, or that the lakes had so far overflown the banks, that they had sur-

rounded our castles, and that it was impossible for us to get out of them.
Yes, surely, you must have dreamt so, and the curiosity of seeing so great

a wonder has brought you so far. Now you are undeceived, since that I, and
the warriors here present, are come to assure you, that the Senecas, Cayugas,
Onondagas, Oneidas and Mohawks are yet alive. I thank you, in their name,
for bringhig back into their country the calumet, which your predecessor
received from their hands. It was happy for you, that you left under ground
that murdering hatchet that has been so often dyed in the blood of the

French.
" Hear, Yonnondio ; I do not sleep ; 1 have my eyes open ; and the sun,

which enlightens me, discovers to me a great captain at the head of a company
of soldiers, who spejiks as if he were dreaming. He says, tliat he only came
to the lake to smoke on the great calumet with the Onondagas. But Gran-
gula says, that he sees the contrary ; that it was to knock them on the head,
if sickness had not weakened the arms of the French. I see Yonnondio
raving in a camp of sick men, whose lives the Great Sph-it has saved, by
inflicting this sickness on them.

" Hear, Yonnondio ; our women had taken their clubs, our children and old

men had carried their bows and arrows mto the heart of your camp, if our
waiTiors had not disarmed them, and kept them Jjack, when your messenger
AkouessanX came to om* castles. It is done, and I have said it.

" Hear, Yonnondio ; we plundered none of the French, but those that car-

ried guns, powder and balls to the Twightwies § and Cliictaghicks, because
those arms might have cost us our lives. Herein we follow the example of
the Jesuits, who break all the kegs of rum brought to our castles, lest the

drunken Indians should knock them on the head. Our warriors have not
beaver enough to pay for all those arms that they have taken, and our old

men are not afraid of the war. This belt preserves my words.
" We carried the English into our lakes, to trade there with the Utawawas

and Quatoghies,
||

as the Adirondaks brought the French to our castles, to

carry on a trade, which the English say is theirs. We are born free. We
neither depend on Yonnondio nor Corlear. 11 We may go where we please,

and carry with us whom we please, and buy and sell what we please. If

your allies be your slaves, use them as such, command them to receive no
other but your people. This belt jireservcs my words.
"We knock tlie Twightwies and Cliictaghicks on the head, because they

had cut down the trees of peace, which were the limits of our country.

They have hunted beaver on our lands. They have acted contrary to the

customs of all Indians, for they left none of the beavers alive, they killed both
male and female. They brought the Satanas into their country, to take part

with them, after they had concerted ill designs against us. We have done

* " Grangida. qui pendant tout le descours avoit eu les yeux fixament attachez sur le bout

de sa pipe, se (eve, el soil par une civilit6 bisarrc, ou pour se doiiner sans fa^on le terns

de mediter sa r6ponse il fait cinq ou six tours dans ndtre cercle compose de sauvages et d«

Fran9ois. Revenu en sa place il resta debout devant le ^(^n^ral assis dans un bon fauteQiJ

et le regarant il lui dit." Lalionlan, (i. 61, 62.) who was one of ihooe present.

t Tlie name they gave ihe jjoverriors of Canada. Spelt in Lahontan, Onnontio.

X The name they gave Mr. Le Maine, which signified a partridge.

ft Twikiies, Colden.
||
Chictaghicks, Colden.

Ti The name they gave the governors of New York.
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less than either the English or French, that have usurped the lands of so many
Indian nations, and chased them fiom their own country. This belt preserves
my words.

" Hear, Yonnondio ; what I say is the voice of all the Five Nations. Hear
what they answer. Open your ears j what they speak. The Senecas,
Cayugas, Onondagas, Oneidas and Mc , awks say, that when they buried the
hatchet at Cadarackui, in the presencf of your predecessor, in the middle of
the fort, they planted the tree of pear in the same place ; to be there care-
fully preserved : that, in the place of . retreat for soldiers, that fort might be
a rendezvous for merchants : that, ir place of arms and ammunition of war,
beavers and merchandise should on , / enter there.

" Hear, Yonnondio ; take care for tlie future, that so gi'eat a number of sol-

diers as appear there do not choke the tree of peace planted in so small a
fort. It will be a great loss, if| after it had so easily taken root, you should
stop its grow^th, and prevent its covermg your country and ours with its

branches. I assure you, in the name of the Five Nations, that our warriors
shall dance to the calumet of peace under its leaves ; and shall remain quiet

on their mats, and shall never dig up the hatchet, till their brother Yonnondio
or Corlear shall, either jointly or separately, endeavor to attack the country
which the Great Spirit has given to our ancestors. This belt preserves my
words, and this other, the authority which the Five Nations have given me."

Then, addi-essing himself to the interpreter, he said, " Take courage, you
have spu-it, speak, explain my words, forget nothing, tell all that your bretlu-en

and Mends say to Yonnondio, your governor, by the mouth of Grangula, who
loves you, and desires you to accept of this present of beaver, and take part

with me in my feast, to which I invite you. This present of beaver is sent

to Yonnondio, on the part of the Five Nations."

De la Barre was struck with surprise at the wisdom of this chief, and equal

chagrin at the plain refutation of liis own. He immediately returned to

Montreal, and thus finished this inglorious expedition of the French against

the Five Nations.

Grangvla was at this time a very old man, and from this valuable speech
we became acquainted with him ; a very JVestor of his nation, whose powers
of mind would not suffer in comparison with those of a Roman, or a more
modern senator. He treated the French with great civility, and feasted them
with the best his country would afford, on their departure. We next proceed
to notice

BLACK-KETTLE, whom the French called La Chaudiere Noire. A
war with France, in 1690, brought this chief upon the records of history. In

the summer ofthat year. Major Schuyler, of Albany, with a company of Mo-
hawks, fell upon the French settlements at the north end of Lake Champlain.

De Callieres, governor of Montreal, hastily collected about 800 men, and
opposed them, but, notwithstanding his force was vastly superior, yet they

were repulsed with great loss. About 300 of the enemy were killed in this

expedition. The French now took every measure in their power to retaliate.

They sent presents to many tribes of Indians, to engage them in their cause,

and in the following winter a party of about 300 men, under an accomplished

young gentleman, mai-ched to attack the confederate Indian nations at Niag-

ara. Their march was long, and rendered almost insupportable ; being

obliged to carry their provisions on their backs thi-ough deep snow. Black--

kettle met them with about 80 men, and maintained an unequal fight until

his men were nearly all cut off; but it was more fatal to the French, who, fai

from home, had no means of recruiting. Black-kettle, in his turn, carried the,

war into Canada during the whole summer following, with immense loss and

damage to the French inhabitants. The governor was so enraged at his

successes, that he caused a prisoner, which had been taken from the Five

Nations, to be burnt alive. This captive withstood the tortured with as much
firmness as his enemies showed cruelty. He sung his achievements while

they broiled his feet, burnt his hands with red hot irons, cut and wrung off

his joints, and pulled out the sinews. To close the horrid scene, his scalp

was torn off, and red hot sand poured upon liis head.

But this was a day in which that people were able to contend successfullj
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against even Europeein enemies. Tliey had, in 1691, laid a plan to preveni

the French from extending tlieii' settlements westward, lor surprising those

already formed, and for iuterceptmg the western Indians as they brought

down theii" peltries to them.
Two armies, of 350 men each, were to march out on this business about

November ; tlie fii-st were to attack the fort at the Falls of St. Louis, and the

other to proceed by way of Lake Champlain against the settlements. Before

they set out, two Indian women, who had been captives among them, made
their escape, and gave notice of their object. This, in a great measure, de-

feated the enterprise. Governor De Callieres raised troops, and strengtliened

every place he was able. The fu'st party was discovered as they approached

St. Louis, who, after skirmishmg some time with the parties detached against

them, retu-ed without gainmg any material advantage. The second did little

lore, and retu-ed, alter destroying some houses, and carrying with them some
iisoners.

About the end of November, 34 Mohawks surprised some of the French
:flians of St. Louis, who were carelessly hunting about Mount Chambly,
,5ng 4 and capturing 8 others. Some escaped, and informed their friends

what had happened, and a company immediately went in pursuit. They
irtook them near Lake Champlam, and a hard fight followed. The Catlio-

xxo Indians rushed upon them with great fury, tomahawk m hand, and although

the Mohawks had taken post behind rocks, they were routed, 6 being killed,

and five taken. They also liberated all their friends taken at Mount Chambly.
In the beginning of February, 1692, De Callieres ordered M. De Orvillieres

to march, with 300 men, mto the penmsula, which terminates at the conflu-

ence of the Ottoway and St. Lawrence Rivers, to surprise a company of

L-oquois he had been mformed was there. It was their hunting-ground

during the winter, and the pretext for attacking them was, that they were now
there to surprise the settlements, and intercept such as passed up and down
said rivers. While on his march, De Orvilliers met with an accident which
obliged him to return to Montreal, and the command devolved upon Captain

De Beaiicourt. This officer marched to Isle Tonihata, not far from Cataro-

couy or Katarokkui, where he surprised 50 Senecas in their cabins, killed 24,

and took 6 of them prisoners.

Enough had passed before this to arouse the spirit of vengeance in the

great chief of Onondaga, Black-kettle ; but this last act could not be passed

without, at least, an attempt at retaliation. About 100 Senecas were near

the Sault de la Chaudiere, on Ottoway River, at this time, and Black-kettle

soon after joined tliem with a band of his Onondagos ; and they immediately

put themselves into an attitude for intercepting their enemies.

Governor De Callieres had supposed that by the affair at Tonihata, the (i-oquois

were sufficiently humbled for the present, ar.d that they were not to be re-

garded as capable of any considerable undertaking ; but he soon discovered

the error of his judgment ; for 60 friendly Indians, having arrived at Montreal

to trade, reported iJiat the way was clear, but refjuested a guard when they

returned. This was granted them. S. Michel volunteered upon this service,

and put under the command ofLieutenant De la Gemeraye, 30 men. He had lor

his two ensigns, M. Z.e -Fresm'ere, oldest son of the Sieur Hertel, and his broth-

er. Having arrived at a place called the Long Falls, on Ottoway River,

some marched u])on the side of the river, while others endeavored to effect

the passage of the fidls in the boats. They had no sooner entered upon this

business, when the warriors of Black-kettle, from an ambush, fired upon them,

put the CO Indians to flight, killing and wounding many of the French. They
then rushed upon them with such fuiythat little time was allowed for resist-

ance, and they fled to their boats for safety ; but in their hurry they over-

turned them, and many were made prisoners. Among these were S. Michel

and the two Hertels. La Gemeraye and a few soldiers only escaped.* Black-

kettle's force on this occasion was comi)uted at 140 men.
Some time now jjassed without hearing from Black-kettle, but on 15 July

1692, he fell ujion the Island of IMontreal, as has already been recorded

* Colden says, (i. 134,) that but four escaped in all.
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Parties of soldiers collected aud went in pursuit, overtook the reai- of the
Indians, killed 10 men, and retook many prisoners.

Some days after this, as the Sieur De Lusi^nan was passing near the Isles
of Riclielieu, Black-kettle fell upon his pai-ty. Killed him, and put his men to
flight. We hear nothing more of great moment of tliis famous chief, until

the year 1697, in which he was treacherously murdered. He appears at this^

period to have concluded upon making peace with the French, and messen
gers had been despatched to Quebec upon that design. In the mean time
he was hunting iji the neighborhood of Catarocouy, where the French had
a gan-ison, which was then commanded by Captain Gemeraye, before men-
tioned, to whom he gave notice that negotiations were on foot. Notwith-
standing, 34 Algonquins, in the French interest, were suffered to go and
surprise Black-kettle and his 40 hunters, who were not far from Catarocouy,
at a place named Qidnte. They were fallen upon at a time when they
thought not of an enemy, and about half of them were slain, among whom
was Black-kettle ; his wile and many others were taken prisoners. *

Adario, Kondiaronk, Sastaretsi, and The Rat, were names ofa chief of
great renown among the Hurons. The tribe to which he originally belonged
was called the Dinondadies or Tionnontat6s. His character, as di'awTi by
Charlevoix, is as follows :

" A man of a great mind, the bravest of the brave,

and possessing altogether the best qualities of any Itnown to the French in

Canada." Of what we are about to relate concerning him, we have already

given a sketch, which being defective in some of the main particulars, it was
thought best to add another version of it in this place.

It was with no small difficulty tliat the French had engaged him in then-

cause. While on a visit to the governor, in 1688, he had passed his word
that he would make war on his detested enemies, the L'oquois, and soon
after departed for Michilimakinak, with a chosen band of his Hurons, resolv-

ed to distinguish himself by some signal exploit. In his way he passed by
Catarocouy. At this place, he learned, to his surprise, that a negotiation

was already on foot between the French and L'oquois, and was at the same
time informed by the officer in command there, that he would infinitely dis-

oblige M. De Denonville, if he should commit the least hostility upon any of
the Iroquois, who was innnediately to receive their ambassadors at Montreal,
together with hostages from all the cantons.

Kondiaronk concealed his surprise, and although now convinced that the

French would sacrifice him and his allies, yet he made no complaint, and
left the place as though to return to his own country. But he had no sooner
conceived the design of intercepting the L'oquois ambassadors and hostages,

than he set out upon it. Having placed his men in ambush at Famine
Creek, he had waited but few days when they arrived. As they were
descending the creek in their canoes, Adario's warriors fired upon them,
killed several, and took the rest prisoners.

The celebrated Dekanisora, or, as the French called him, Teganisorens,

of Onondago, was at the head of this embassy, and was among the prisoners.

He demanded of Adario, how it happened that he could be ignorant that he
was an ambassador to then- common father, and of his endeavor to bring

about a lasting peace. The subtle chief completely subdued his irritable

and indignant passions, by expressing far greater surprise than Dekanisora
himself; protesting that the French were the whole cause of what had
happened, for that they had sent him to surprise his party, and had assured

him that he could do it wth ease, as theu* numbers were small ; and, to drive

suspicions from the mind of Dekanisora and his people, set them all at

liberty, but one, who was to supply the place of one of the Hiu-ons that wtis

killed. At parting, Adario spoke to them as follows :

—

" Go, my brethren, I untie your bonds, and send you home again, though

our nations be at war. T'he French governor has made me commit so black

an action, that I shall never be easy after it, till the Five Nations have taken

fuU revenge."

Some report that, after capturing Dekanisora^ Adario returned to Kadarak-

* This is accordiiiff to the text of Charlevoix.

43
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kui, or Catarocouy, and that, being asked by tlie French from whence he
tame, said, " From preventing peace.'" * They did not at fii'st compreliend his
meaning, but soon after, one of his prisoners, that escaped, gave them the
histoiy of the affair.

But for what followed, the character of Adario would stand well among
warriors. He sacrificed his only prisoner, which completed this act of the
tragedy ; and it seemed necessary to carry out his deep-laid stratagem.
That the Iroquois should have no chance to believe the French innocent

of the blood at the River Famine, which they had used great endeavors to

effect, by sending emissaries among them, Adario went with his prisoner
immediately to Michilimakinak, and delivered him to M. De la Durantaye,
the commander of that post, who as yet had had no knowledge of any nego-
tiation between the Iroquois and his superiors. Whereupon he forthwith

caused the poor prisoner to be put to death. The news of this afiair, the

cunning chief caused to be made known among the cantons, by an old

captive he had held a long time in bondage at his village, whom he now set

at liberty for this purpose.
The catastrophes that befell the French not long after, and the sufiering

they endured, are almost without a parallel, f

About 1200 of the chief warriors of the Five Nations landed upon the
Island of Montreal, 25 August, 1689, while the French were in perfect secu-
rity, burnt their houses, sacked their plantations, and slew a vast number of
the inhabitants. The English accounts say a thousand persons perished,

but this number was no doubt far greater than the truth. In October fol-

lowing they attacked the island again with nearly equal success. These
horrid disasters threw the whole comitry into the utmost consternation, iu

which the fort at Lake Ontario was abandoned by the garrison, and as soon
possessed by the Indians. Here, among other things of great value to them,
28 barrels of gunpowder fell into their hands. Nothing now saved the

French from an entire extermination but the ignorance of their enemies in

the art of attacking fortified places.

Adario finally died at peace with the French, and almost in the act of con-
cluding it. He had accompanied the heads of several tribes to Montreal, in

1701, to hold a treaty, and, on the 1 August, (that being the first day of public

councils,) Adario found himself seized by sickness. Every thing was done
to relieve him, ("as the governor general," says Charlevoix, "rested his prin-

cipal hope of success in the treaty, upon him,") but without avail ; being
carried to I'Hotel Dieu, he died at two o'clock on the following night. At
his timei-al \ the greatest display was made, and nothing was omitted which
could inspire the Indians present with a conviction of the great respect in

whicli he was held. On his tomb-stone were engraved these words,

* " 11 ripondit qu'il venoit de teur la paix ; ct qu'il ajo&ta, nous vei-rons comment Ononthic

sc tirera de cette affaire."

t Few would wish to read, in Enj^lisli, the cruelties at the sacking of MonI real : the ac-

count of them, we agree with Dr. Hoi.MKS, "is too horrid to translate."—" Ilx irouvereni

tout le mond endormi, et Us commencereiit par massacrer tons les homines ; ensuite Us mireru

lefeu aux maisons. Par-la tons ceux, qin y itoient rest^s, tomberent entre mains de ces sau-

sages, et essuyerent tout ce que la/urew pent inspirer a des barbares. lis la pmtsserent mim^
a des exc^s, dont on ne les avoit pas encore cru capables. lis ouvrircnt le seiri des fenvmes

enceintes, pour en arrachcr le /mil, qu'elles portoient, Us mire7it des enfans tout viraiis a la

broclie, et contrais^nirerd les meres de les tourner pour les /aire rotir. Its inreiiterent quantity

d'autres supplices immis, el 200 personnes de tout Age ct de lout scxe perirent ainsi en moins

d'une heure dans les plus affreux tourmens. Cela fail, I'enriemi s'aprorha Jusqu'a tare liu£ de

la ville,faisant par tout les mSmes rarages, et exerqant les memes cruautes, et quand Us Jureru

las de ces Iwrreurs ; Us firent 200 prisonniers, qu'ils emmenerent duTis leur villages, oil Us
Us brMerent."

X
" Lc lendemain on fit scs funerailles, qui eurent quclque chose de magnifique et de sin

giilier. M. de St. Ours, premier capitaine, marchoit d'abord k la t^te de oO soldats sous les

amies. Seize g^ierriers llurons, vetus do longues rohes de castor. le visage point en noir,

8t le fusil sous le bras, suivoieni, marchanl qualrc ii ijualro. Le clergo vonoil apr^s, et six

ehefs de guerre porloiont le corcueil, qui oioit couvert d'un po(>le seme de flours, sur lequel

il y avoit un chapeau avoc uii )ihuiiel, un liansse-ool et une epoe. Les freres ct les enfana

iu dofunl otoicnt dcrriere, acrompagnos de tous les chefs des nations, el M. de Vaudretal,

gouverncur de la ville, qui nicnoii niadaiiic do Champigmj, fermoit la marche."
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"CY GIT LE RAT, CHEF HURON."

Wliich in Eng/ish is, " Here lies the Rat, Chief of the Hurons." The eucomi-
ums passed by the French upon him that was once then* most di-eaded

enemy, are only equalled by those of their countrymen, Fontenelle and Lot-

harpe, upon then* favorite characters.

His body was a short time exposed before it was interred, dressed in the
imilbrm of an officer, with his tu-ms by his side, because he ranked as a

captain, at the time of his death, in the French service.

The intercourse of Dekanisora with the French and English was long, and
fi'om the tact he was able, lor much of the time during their wars, to be on
good terms with botli nations, we ai*e to suppose that he possessed some
skill in the arts of duplicit}^ He is first mentioned by Charlevoix in 1682,

at which time he, with fom* other ambassadors, visited Montreal upon a

peace expedition. He was suspected of insincerity by the French, and no
reliance appears to have been put upon his pretensions. Twelve yeare utter,

Colden saw him, and thus speaks of him : " Decanesora had for mimy years
the greatest reputation among tiie Five Nations for speaking, and was gener-
ally employed as their speaker, in their negotiations with both French and
English : he was grown old when I saw him, and heard him speak ; he had
a great fluency in speaking, and a graceful elocution, that would have pleased
in any part of the world. His person was tall and well made, and his features,

to my thinking, resembled much the bustos of Cicero." *

If he were an old sachem m 1694, he must have been very old in 1726, lor

in this year he was at Albany with six other ambassadors, where, on the 14
September, they executed an agreement with the English ; the conditions of
which were that they should surrender all their hunting-grounds into the

hands of Cooi-akhoo, as they called the King of England, " to be protected

and deleuded by his said majesty, his heirs and successors, to and for the

USE of us, our heirs, and the said three Nations." These had before been
enumerated, as follows : " Kanakarighton and Shanintsaronwe, Sinnekk
sachems ; Ottsoghkoree, Dekanisoree and Aenjeucratt, Cayouge sachems ; Racly-

akaiorodon and Sadageenaghtie, Onondago sachems." f

Clmrlevoix was imable to ascertain the time of Dekanisora's death, although
he learned that it happened at the Falls of St. Louis. Under date 1693, he
speaks in high terms of him, Oureouhari and Garakonthie, Iroquois Christians,

whom Dekanisora had employed secretly to bring about a peace with that

nation ; but knew not, as to his Christianity, he said, at that time ; but was
certain that he had professed it. He probably died about 1730.

We will go a little back in this place, to notice a chief of the Adirondaks,

of wiiom the most extraordinary stories ai*e told ; even tliose of Jack-the-giant-

kUler are but little more incredible. And even though Father Charlevoix

was familiar with them, yet he deemed them as fiction, it will be imagined,

from his not relating them in his minute history. The name of PEISI^LAilET
was, lor sundi-y yeai's previous to 1646, terrible to the enemies of the Adiron-
daks. This nation, when Canada was settled by the French, in 1603, resided

about 300 miles to the westward of Three Rivers. How long they had been
at war with the Iroquois at this time, is not mentioned, but it was continued

until the death of Peiskaret in 1646, though with interruption and various

success; but with this chief perished all opposition, and the Adirondaks
figured no more as a nation.

As we have put the reader upon his guard, about receiving the huge stoiies

about Peiskaret with too much confidence, it will be expected at our hands,

perhaps, that we give a sample of them, as it may be said, " possibly they

are true." We might have done this without thus premising, as others have

done, upon the authority of Colden, (an author of small value, comparatl\ ely

speaking.) His relation proceeds :

—

" An Lidian named Piskaret was at this time t one of the captains of

* Hist. Five Nations, i. 156.

t Governor Tliomas Pownal, Administration of the British Colonies, i. 238, 239.

t He mentions no particular time, but that of the settlement of Canada, in 1603 ;
but soma

ime during the war of which we have spoken must be understood.
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greatest fame among the Adirondacks ; this bold man, witli lour other cap-
tains, set out for Trois Rivieres in one caiioe, each of them being pro-
vided with tliree muskets, which they loaded with two bullets apiece, joined
with a small chain ten inches long. They met with five canoes in Sorel
River, each having 10 men of the Five Nations on board. Piskaret and his

captains, as soon as those of the Five Nations drew near, pretended to give

themselves up lor lost, and sung their death-song, then suddenly fired upon
the canoes, wliich they repeated with the arms that lay ready loaded, and
tore those birch vessels betwixt wind and water.* The men of the Five
Nations were so surprised, that they tumbled out of their canoes, and gave
Piskaret and his companions the opj)ortunity of knocking as many of them
on the head as they pleased, and saving the others, to feed their revenge,
which they did by burning them alive with the most cruel torments. This,

however, was so far from gluttuig Piskarets revenge, that it seemed i-ather to

give a keener edge to it ; for he soon after undertook another enterprise, in

which none of his countrymen durst accompany him. He was well acquainted
with the country of the Five Nations, and set out about the time the snow be-

gan to melt, with the precaution of putting the hinder pait of his snow-shoes
Ibrwai'd, that if any should happen upon his fbotsteps, they might think he was
gone the contrary way ; and for further security, went along the ridges and
high grounds, where the snow was melted, that his track might be olten lost.

When he came near one of the villages of the Five Nations, he hid himself
till night, and then entered a cabin, while eveiy body was fast asleep murdered
the whole family, and carried their scalps into his lurlcing-place. The next day
the people of the villcige seai'clied for the murderer in vain. The following

night he murdered all he fomid in another cabin. The inhabitants next day
seai-ched likewise m vain lor the murderer : but the third night a watch was
kept m eveiy house. Piskarrt, in the night, bundled up the scali)s he had
taken the two former nights, to carry, as the proof of his victory, and then
stole privately from house to house, till at last he found an Indian nodding,
who was upon the watch in one of the houses : he knocked this man on the

head ; but as this alarmed the rest, he was forced immediately to fly. He was,
however, under no great concern from the pursuit, being more swift of foot

than any Indian then living. He let his pursuers come near him from time
to lime, and then would dart from them. This he did with design to tire them
out, with the hopes of overtaking him. As it began to grow dark, he hid him-
eelfj and his pursuers stopped to rest. They not being api)rehensive of any
danger from a single man, soon fell asleep ; and the bold Piskaret observing
this, knocked tliehi all on the head, and carried away their scalps with the

rest. Such stones as these," continues Colden, "are told among the Indians,

as extraordinary instances of the courage and conduct of their captains."

Relbre this, as we api)rehend, though related afterwards by this author,

were the great expeditions of tlie b'oquois against the Adirondaks. The
French took part with the latter from the beginning, and when Champlain
visited the country, he joined a party of them, and went against the L'oquois,

and, with the aid of his fu-e-arms, overcame them in a battle near Lake Cor-
lar, which was hencelbrth called Lake Champlain. Two hundred Loquois
were in this fight, and the French kept themselves concealed, until it began,
then rushed Ibrward, and immediately put the Ii'oquois to flight. This wjis

the first time they had seen the effects of guns. This afliiir was in KJll.

Finally, the Iroijuois, having grown conscious of their strength, lelt con-
rident tiiat, it" they could prevent the French from assisting them, they could
wjthstiuid them. Therefore, they i)retended to be well affected towards
their religion, and recpiested that missiontu-ies should be sent among them.
This was done without delay. Their real object was soon aj)parent; lor

they treated the Jesuit niissionaj"ies only as host^iges, and this was the means
of making them stand neutral while they cairied on their wai- with the Adi-
rondaks and Quatogliies or Hurons, whom they soon after delieated "in a

di'eadiul battle ibught within two leagues of Uuebeck."
This expedition turned out so much to their advantage, " the Five Nation!

* The author of Indian Tales has copied this closely, but gives no credit. Tola, ii

36, &c.
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gave out, that they intended next winter * to visit the governor of Canada
these visits are always made with much show. Under this pretence thej
gathered together 1000 or 1S200 men. Their outscouts met with Fiskaret neai
Nicolet River, and still pretending a friendly visit to the governor of Canada,
as their only design, he told them, that the Adirondacks were divided into

two bodies, one of which hunted on the north side of St. Lawrence River at

Wabmake, three leagues above Trois Rivieres, and the other at NicoleL As
soon as they had gained this information, they killed him, and returned
with his head to the army. The Five Nations divided likewise into two
bodies : they surprised the Aduondacks, in both places, and in both cut them
in pieces."

This account is more circumstantial than that given by Charlevoix, but, as
we have seen, would have been without any value, but for his chronology.
He states that, by their previous conduct, the Mohawks had reason to expect,
that all the neighboring nations would join to oppose them, and that they
sent out parties to observe what was passing among them ; that one of these
Bcouts met Peiskaret alone, but dared not attack him ; being persuaded he
would kill at least half of them, as he had often done before. They there-

fore accosted him as a friend, while some came up belimd him, and stabbed
him to the heait.

But for the French, the L'oquois had now been complete masters of
all the northern and western regions; and some have observed, that had
they known the weakness of those white neighbors, at the time they over-

came the Algonquins, near Quebec, they might easily have cleared the

country of them also.

We will close this chapter with an account of the visit of five Iroquois

chiefs to England. The English in America had supposed that if they
could convince the tidian nations of the power and greatness of their

mother country, they should be able to detach them forever from the in-

fluence of the French. To accomplish this object, these chiefs were pre-

vailed upon to make the voyage. They visited the court of Queen Anne in

the year 1710. None of the American historians seem to have known the

names of these chiefs, oi-, if they did, have not thought it proper to transmit

them. Smith, in his liistoiy of New York, mentions the fact of their having
visited England, and gives the speech which they made to the queen, and
says it is presei-ved " in Oldmixon,^^ perhaps in the 2d edition of his British
Empire in America,! as nothing of the kind is found in iiis history of Eng-
land, although he records the circumstance, and ill-naturedly enough too.

We think he would hardly have done even this, but for the purpose of ridi-

culing the friends of the queen. The following is all that he says of them 4
" Three weeks after the battle of Sarragossa was fought by General Stanhope,

whose victory made way for the march to Madrid, the news of the victory

was brought to the queen by Colonel Harrison, the 15 September, O. S., at

which time the High-church rabble were pelting General Stanhopt's proxy,

and knocking down his friends at the Westminster election. However, for

the successes in Spain, and for tlie taking of Doway, Betliune and Aire, by

the duke o^ Marlborough in Flanders, there was a thanksgiving-day appohited,

which the queen solemnized m Sl James's chapel. To have gone as usual

to St. Paul's, and there to have had Te Deum sung on that occasion, would
have shown too much countenance to those brave and victorious English

generals, who were fighting her battles abroad, while High-church was plot-

ting, and railing, and addressing against them at home. The ctu-rying of

four § Lulian Casaques about in the queen's coaches, was all the triumph of

the Harleian administration; they were called kings, and clothed, by the

" No one can tell when mxt winter was, that is, what year it was in, by any conncctinn in

Colden's text ; he is so exceedingly loose with regard to dates ; but, according to CluxrUmnx,

it was in 164(3.

t The first edition (which I possess) was printed in 1708.

\ Hist. England, \\.'^5t. (Fol. London, 1735.) • • n
\ He says^ye, a few lines onward, in his usual random mode of expression, supposing it ail

the same, doubtiess. as he was only considering Indians ! It will be seen that five was the rea.

aumber.
^^ ^
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play-house tailor, like other kings of the theatre ; they were conducted tc

audience by Sir Charles Cotterd ; there was a speech made for tliem, and
nothing omitted to do honor to these five monarchs, whose presence did so

much honor to the new ministi-y ; which the latter seemed to be extremely
Ibnd of, and defrayed all theh expenses during their stay here. They were
the captains of the four nations, [Five Nations,] in league with the English
at New York and New England, and came in person to treat of matters
concerning trade with the lords commissioners of plantations ; as also of an
enterprise against the French, and their confederate Indians in those parts."

Sir Richard Steele mentions these chiefs in his Tatler of May 13, 1710,

and Addison makes them the subject of a number of the Spectator the

next year, at a suggestion of Dean Swift* Neither of these papers, how-
ever, contain many facts respecting them. In the former it is mentioned
that one of them was taken sickf at the house where they were accommo-
dated during their stay in London, and they all received great kindness and
attention from their host, which, on their departure, was the cause of their

honoring him with a name of distinction ; which was Cadaroque, and sig-

nified " the strongest fort in their country." In speaking of their residence,

Mr. Steele says, "They were placed in a handsome apartment at an uphol-
ster's in King-street, Covent-garden." There were fine portraits of each of
them painted at the time, and are still to be seen in the British Museum. |

The besfand most methodical account of these chiefs was published in

the great annual history by Mr. Boyer, § and from which we extract as follows

:

" On the 19 April Te Yee JVeen Ho Ga Prow, and Sa Ga Yean Qiia Prah
Ton, of the Maquas ; Elow Oh Koam, and Oh JVee Yeaih Ton JVo Prow,

\\
of

the river sachem,1[ and the Ganajoh-hore sachem,** four kings, or chiefs of the

Six Nations ft in the West Lidies, JJ which lie between New England, and
New France, or Canada : who lately came over with the West Lidia fleet,

and were cloathed and entertained at the queen's expense, had a public

audience of her majesty at the palace of Sl James, being conducted liiither

in two of her majesty's coaches, by Sir Charles Cotterel, master of the cere-

monies, and introduced by the duke of Shrewsbury, lord chamberlain. They
made a speech by their intrepreter, which Major Pidgeon, who was one of
the officers that came with them, read in English to her majesty, being as

follows :

—

" Great Queen—We have undertaken a long and tedious voyage, which
none of our predecessors §§ could be prevailed upon to undertake. The
motive that induced us was, that we might see our great queen, and relate

to her those things we thought absolutely necessary, for the good of her, and
us, her allies, on the other side the great water. We doubt not but our great

* " I intended to have written a book on that subject. I believe he [Addison] has spent it

all in one paper, and all the under hints there are mine too." Swift's Letter to Airs. Jolmson,
dated London, 28 April, 1711.

t This was probably the one that died, of whom Kalm, in his travels in America, i. 210,

makes mention ; though I do not find a record of it in any periodical of that day.

j Notes to the Spectator, ed. in 8 vols. 8vo. London, 1789.

§ " The Annals of Queen Anne's Reign, Year the IX. for 1710," 189—191. This is a
work containing- a most valuable fund of niformalion, and is, with its continuation, a leistinff

monument to its learned publisher ; his being dragged into the Dunciad in one of Pope^
freaks notwilhstandiiig.

II
We have these names in the Tatler, spelt Tee Yee Neen Ho Ga Row, Sa Ga Yeath Rtta

Geth Ton, E Tow Oh Koam, and Ho Nee Yetli Taw No Row.
IT It is difficult to conceive what is meant by River Indians from many of our authors. In

the Appendix to Jefferson's Notes, 308, they are called River Indians, or IVIohickanders,
" who had their dwellings between the west branch of Delaware and Hudson's river, from the

Kittatinny ridge down to the Rariton." The " Mohiccons " were another tribe about the

islands and mouth of the Hudson.
** Probably the chief of Canajohara.

tt Query. If, according to Cotden and others, the Tuscaroras did not join the Iroquoil

until 1712, and until that time these were called the Five Nations, how comes it that they were
known in England by the name of Sij" Nations in 1710?

l\ No one can be misled by this error, any more than an Englishman would be by being

lold that London is situated at the foot of the Rocky Mountains.

^5 None of the Six Nations, must be understood.
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queen has been acquainted with our long and tedious war, in conjunction
with her children, against her enemies the French : and that we huvo bi;eii

as a strong wall for their security, even to the loss of our best men. The
truth of which oiu- brother (^ueder, Colonel [Peter] Schuyler, and Anadagar-
jaiLv, Colonel JVickolson, can testify ; tiiey having all om- proposals in writing.

We were miglitily rejoiced when we heard by Anadagarjaux, that our great
queen had resolved to send an ai-my to reduce Canada ; from whose mouth
we readily embraced our great queen's instructions : and in token of our
friendship, we hung up the kettle, and took up the hatchet; and with one
consent joined om- brother Queder, and Anadagarjaux, in making prepai'a-

tions on this side the lake, by building foits, store-houses, canoes and bat-

teaux ; whilst Aundia^ia, Colonel Fetch, at the same time, raised an army at

Boston, of wliich we were informed by our ambassadors, whom we sent
thither lor that purpose. We waited long in expectation of the fleet Irom
Engliuid, to join Anadiasia, to go against Quebec by sea, whilst Anadagar-
jaux, Q^aeder, and we, went to Port Royal by land ; but at last we were told,

tliat our great (jueen, by some important affair, was prevented in her design
for that sea-son. This made us extreme sorrowful, lest the French, who
hitherto h;id dreaded us, should now think us unable to make war against
them. The reduction of Canada is of such weight, that after the effecting

thereof, we should have free hunting, and a great trade with our great
queen's cliildren ; and as a token of the sincerity of the Six Nations, we do
here, in tiie name of all, present our great queen with the belts of wampum.
We need not urge to our great queen, more than the necessity we really labor

under obliges us, that in case our great queen should not be mindful of us,

we must, with our families, forsake our country, and seek other habitations,

or stand neuter ; either of which will be much against our mclinations.

Since we have been in alliance with our great queen's childi-en, we have had
some knowledge of the Savior of the world ; and have often been impor-
tuned by the French, both by the insinuations of their priests, and Uy
presents, to come over to then* interest, but have always esteemed them men
of falsehood ; but if our great queen will be pleased to send over some
persons to instruct us, they shall find a most hearty welcome. We now
close, with hoi)es of our great queen's favor, and leave it to her most gracious
consideration."

We cannot but respond amen to Mr. Oldmixon's opinion of this speech,
namely, that it was made ybr instead of by the chiefs ; still we thought it

pro])er to print it, and that by so doing we should give satisfaction to more
than by vvithiiohling it. Our account next proceeds: "On Friday, the 21
April, the four Indian princes went to see Dr. Flamstead's house, and mathe-
matical instruments, in Greenwich Pai'k ; after which they were nobly
treated by some of the lords commissioners of the admiralty, in one of her
majesty's yachts. They staid about a fortnight longer in London, where they
were entertained by several persons of distinction, particularly by the duke
of Ormond, who regaled them likewise with a review * of the four troops of
life-guards ; and having seen all the curiosities in and about this metropolis,

tliey went (lown to Portsmouth, through Hampton Court tmd Windsor, and
embarked on board the Dragon, one of her majesty's ships. Captain Martin,

commodore, together with Colonel Francis JVicholson, conunander-in-chief
of the forces designed for an expedition in America. On the 8 May,
tje Dragon and Falmouth sailed fi-oin Spitliead, having under convoy about

18 sail, consisting of merchantmen, a bomb-ship and tender, and several

transports, with Kritish officers, a regiment of marines, provisions and stores

of war ; and on the 15 July arrived at Boston in New England."
Little is to be gathered from Smith''s history of New York relative to

those sachems. He gives a speech which they made to the queen, but

it is a meagre abridgment of less than half of the one above, and the

* And the chiefs made a speech in return, but our author makes this note upon it

!

" N. B. The speech which was said to have been made by them, on that occasion, to tli«

duke of Ormona, is spurious.

'
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rest is omitted entirely. " The airival of the five sachems m England
made a great bruit throughout the whole kingdom. The mob followed

wherever they went, and small cuts of them were sold among the people." *

The main object of their visit to England was not, nor, in the nature of
things, could it be effected- I mean the introduction of Christianity among
them. Even these very sachems, who, according to the stories of that day,

requested to have missionaries settled with them, were among the fii-st to

neglect tliem when settled among them.f " It might have been imagined,"

says the author just cited, " the sachems, those petty kings, who were in

England in the late Queen's time, should have been so strongly affected with
seeing the grandeur, pleasure, and plenty of this nation, that when they came
to their own countries, they would have tried to reduce their people to a

polite life ; would have employed then- whole power to exj)el tiiat rude bar-

barism, and introduce ai^ts, manners, and religion : but the contrary happen-
ed ; they sunk themselves into their old brutal life, and though they had
seen this great city, [London,] when they came to their own woods, they

were all savages again."

There cannot be a wider difference than the two nations, English and
French, make in their accounts of the original condition, manners and cus-

toms of the Iroquois. While the writers of the former described tliem as

the most barbai-ous, cruel, and bloody, those of the latter portray tliem in

enviable colors. This difference seems to have entirely arisen from the

difi'ei-ent relation of the two nations to them. That tliey were cruel and
barbarous to then' enemies is agreed by both, and it unfortunately haiipened

that the English were generally their enemies, until the reduction of Canada,
in 1760.

CHAPTER n.

Tamany, afamous ancient Delaware—His history—Shikellimus—Favors the Moravi-

an Brethren—His reception of Count Zinzendorf—His death—Can assatego— Visits

Philadelphia— His speech to the Delawares—Anecdotes of him,—Glikhikan—His
sjjeech to Half-king—His attachment to the Christian Indians—Meets with much
trouble from Captain Pipe— Conduct of Half-king—Of Pipe— Glikhikan perishes

in the massacre at Gnadenhuelten—Pakanke—His history—i^Jeta watwees—
Becomes a Christian—His speech to Pakanke—His death—Paxnous—Tadeoskund
—His history and death—White-eves—His transactions with the missionaries—
Skenando—His celebrated speech— Curious anecdote of him—His death.

Tamant was a name much in print, fifly years since, but of what nation

or counti-y, or whether applied to an imaginary or real personage, by any ac-

count accompanying it, no one could determine. The truth respecting this

has at length come to light.

He was a Delaware chief, of similar renown to the Bashtha of Kennebeck,
and J^anepashemet of Massachusetts ; and we infer from Gnhrid Tliomas,X

that possil)ly he might have been alive as late as 1660 or 1690. He wrote

the name Tcmemj.
Mr. Hcckeivelder, in liiH Historical Account of the Indian Nations, de-

votes a chapter to tiiis chief and Tadcuskiind. He spells tlie name Tamantd.
The dirticiiity of gaining information of deceiised individuals among the

Indians is well known to tiiose conversant with their history. Mr. Hecke-

tiieWcr says, "No white man who regards their feelings, will introduce such
subjects in conversation with them." This reluctance to speak of the de-

* Hist. New York, 122. ed. 4-io. London, 1757. Beautiful fuli-lenffth portraits of four of

these fhiefs were done in mezzotiiito at the time they were in Knglnnd, but they were long

since of very rare orcurrence. I po.ssess the best set of them which I h;ive ever seen. Tiiey

are usually found in black frames, and are about 20 inclies in height by 12 in breadth. The
portrait of the one (hat died was not probably lal:?n, which accounts for out having but four.

t Humphrey's Historical Account Hoc. for Prop. Gospel, 30!l, .^lO.

j " Who resided there [in Pennsylvania] about 15 years," and who pulilished " AnHiitorie
kI and Geographical Account of Pa. and \V. Jersey,'' 12nio. London, 1(398.
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parted he attributes to " the misfortunes which have befallen some of the
most beloved and esteemed personages among them, since the Europeans
came among them." It is believed, however, that it had a more remote ori-

gin. The same author continues, "All we know of Tamened is, that he was
an ancient Delaware chief, who never had his equal." *

It is said that when, about 1776, Colonel George Morgan, of Princeton, New
Jersey, visited the western Indians by direction ofcongress, the Delawares con-
ferred on him the name of Tavutny, " in honor and remembrance of their

ancient chiefj and as the greatest mark of respect which they could show to

that gentleman, who they said had the same addi-ess, affability and meekness
as their honored chief." \

" The fame of this great man extended even among the whites, who fabri-

cated numerous legends respectuig him, which I never heard, however,
from the mouth of an Indian, and therefore believe to be fabulous. In the
revolutionary war, his enthusiastic admirers dubbed him a saint, and he was
established under the name of St. Tammany, the patron saint of America.
His name was inserted in some calendars, and his festival celebrated on the
first day of May in every year. On that tlay a numerous society of his vota-

ries walked together in procession through the streets of Philadelphia, their

hats decorated with bucks' tails, and proceeded to a handsome rural place
<\it of town, which they called the wis;ivam ; where, after a long tcdk or

Indian speech had been delivered, and tlie calumet of peace and friendship

had been duly smoked, they spent the day in festivity and mirth. Alter din-

ner, Lidian dances were performed on the green in front of the wigwam, th^

calumet was again smoked, and the company separated."

It was not till some years after the peace that these yearly doings wen
broken up, which would doubtless have lasted longer but for the misfortune

of the owner of the ground where they were held. Since that time Phila-

delphia, New York, and perhaps other places, have had their Tamany socie-

ties, Tamany halls, &c. &c. In their meetings these societies make but

an odd figure in imitating the Indian manner of doing business, as well as in

appropriating their names upon one another.

Among the multitude of poems and odes to Tamany, the following is

selected to give the reader an idea of the acts said to have been achieved by
him:

—

" Immortal Tamany, of Indian race,

Great in the field and foremost in the chase !

No puny saint was he, willi fasting pale
;

He climbed the mountain, and he swept the vale,

Rushed through the torrent with unequalled might;
Your ancient saints would tremble at the sight;

Caught the swift boar and swifter deer with ease,

And worked a thousand miracles like these.

To public views he added private ends,

And loved his country most, and next his friends;

With courage long he strove to ward the blow;
(Courage we all respect ev'n in a foe

;)

And when each effort he in vain had tried,

Kindled the flame in which he bravely died

!

To Tatnany let the full horn go round
;

His fame let every honest tongue resound
;

With him let every gen'rous patriot vie,

To live in freedom or with honor die."J

We are next to speak of a chief, concerning whom much inquiry has been
made from several considerations. We mean

ShikelUmns, the father of the celebrated Logan. He was a Cayuga saehera,

and styled liy IMr. Loskiel,§ "first magistrate tmd head chief of all the Iroquoia

Indians living on the banks of the Susfiiiehannah, as far as Onondago.
He is the same often mentioned by Colden,\\ under the names Shickcalamy.

Shicalamy, and Shick Calamy, and occupies a place next tlie famous Canassa

* Some will doubtlets imagine that this was knowing a good deal.

t Heckewelder, ut supra. % Carey's Museum, v. 104. § Hist. Mission*,

y Hist. Five Nations, ii. 57, 69, 75, 77, 85.
"<

2H
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(ego. His residence was at Conestoga in Pennsylvania. He was present at a
great council held in Pliiladelpliia in 1742, with 91 other chiefs, counsellors
and warriors of the Six Nations, to consult about the encroachments of some
of the Delawai-es upon the jjeople of Pennsylvania, as will be found mentioned
in the history of Canassattgo. That he was a man of much consequence
among the Five Nations ^vill appear from the tact, that Canassatego repeated a

speech of his to Govei'nor Thomas, when the assault upon fVilliam Webb
was inquired into, " whereby his [the said WebUs] jaw-bone was broke, and
his life greatly endangered by an unknown Indian." This took place upon
the disputed lands in the Ibrks of the Delaware, " Canassatego repeating the
message delivered to the Six Nations by Shickcalamy, in the year 1740, with a
string of wampum, said in answer :

' The Six Nations had made diligent

iuquii-y into the affair, and had found out the Indian who had committed the
fact ; he livea near Asopus, [^sopus,] and had been examined and severely

reiJroved ; and they hoped, as William Webb was recovered, the govei-nor
would not expect any fiirther punishnjent, and therefoi-e they returned the
string of wampum received from then- brethren, by tlie hand of Shickcalamy,
in token that they had fully com])lied with their requtsi.'

"

When Count Zinzendorf, founder of the sect called Moravians, visited tnis

country, in 1742, he had an interview with tins chief at Shamokin. Conrad
Weiser was present, and Shikellimus inquired with great anxiety the cause of
the count's visit. Weiser told him " that he was a messt-nger of the living

God, sent to preach grace and mercy;" to which he answered, "he was glad
that such a messenger came to instruct his nation."

While m the exercise of his pious labors, Zinzendorf very naiTOwly escaped
assassination ; and, to illustrate the force of superstition upon untutored minds,
it will be proper to relate the circumstance. Having ai-rived on the banks
of the W^yoming, the Indians could not believe that he had come solely for

their benefit, but had come to the conclusion that his real object was the ac-

quisition of land ; and they therefore resolved to put him to death. On a cool

evening m September, as he sat alone in his tent, upon a bundle of weeds,
which was his bed, the appointed assassins approached his frail mansion.
He had a small fire, and was writing at the time ; and nothing prevented the

easy execution of their commission. A blanket, suspended by the corners,

formed the door of his tent, and as tlie Indians di'ew tliis a little aside, they
beheld a large rattlesnake which the fire had diiven from his covert, laying

near the venerable man, but was not seen by him ; being too deeply engaged
in his subject to notice him or the more dangerous Iiidians. The rattle-

snake being an animal they feared and respected as a kind of Manito, and
seeing it in company with the stranger, they doubted not of his divine origm
also, and at once shrunk froni their object, and retiu-ued to report what they
had seen to their brethren in their village.* He was now received by the
Shawunese, and a mission was begun among them.

SJdkelliinus was a great friend of the missionaries, and his deatli was a

severe loss to them. He died at his own residence in Shamokin, in 1749.

We have already named the chief proper to be proceeded with, on finishing

our accoimt of SMkellimus.
CANASSATP^GO, a chief of the Six Nations, was of the tribe of Onondago.

In 1742, there arose a dispute between the Delawares and the government
of Pennsylvania, relative to a tract of land in the forks of the Delaware. The
English claimed it by right of prior jiurchase, and tlie Delawai'es persisted in

their claim, and threatened to use force unless it should be given up by the

whites. This tribe of the Delawares were subject to the Six Nations, and
the governor of Pennsylvania sent deputies to tlusm to notify them of the

trouble, that they might interfere and prevent war. It was on this occasion

that Canassatego appeared in Philadelphia with 230 warriors. He ol)served

to the governor, "that th(»y saw the Delawares had been an unruly jieoph^,

and were altogether in the wrong; that they had concluded to remove them,
and oblige them to go over the river Delaware, and quit all claim to any
lands on this side for the liUure, since they had received pay lor them, and

* Chapman's Hist. Wyoming, 20 to 22.
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it is gone through their guts long ago. They deserved, he said, to be tan-en

by the hair of the head, and shaken severely, till they recovered their senses,

and became sober ; that he had seen with his own eyes a deed signed by nine
of their ancestors, above fiftv years ago. for this verv land, and a release

signed not many years since, by some of themselves, and chiefs yet living,

(and then present,) to tlie number of 15 and upwards; but how came you
(addressing himself to the Delawares present) to take upon you to sell land

at all ? We conquered you ; we made women of you
;
you know you are

women ; and can no more sell land than women ; nor is it fit you should have
the power of selling lands, since you would abuse it. This land you claim
is gone tlirough your guts

;
you have been furnished vnth clothes, meat and

drink, by the goods paid you for it, and now you want it again, like children
as you are. But what makes you sell lands in the dark ? Did you ever tell

us that you had sold this land ? Did we ever receive any part, even the value
of a pipe shank, from you for it ? You have told us a blind story, that you
sent a messenger to us, to inform us of the sale ; but he never came amongst
us, nor did we ever hear any thing about it. This is acting in the dark, and
very different from the conduct oiu* Six Nations observe in the sales of land.

On such occasions they give public notice, and invite all the Lidians of their

united nations, and give them all a share of the presents they receive for

then- lands.
" This is the behavior of the wise united nations. But we find you are

none of our blood
;
you act a dishonest part, not only in this, but in other

matters
;
your ears are ever open to slanderous reports about your bretliren.

For all these reasons, we charge you to remove instantly ; we donH give you liberty

to think about it. You ai'e women." They dared not disobey this command,
and soon after removed, some to Wyoming and Shamokin, and some to the

Ohio.*
When Canassatego was at Lancaster, in Pennsylvania, in 1744, holding a

talk f about their anairs with the governor, he was informed that the English
had beaten the French in some important battle. " Well," said he, " if tliat

be tlie case, you must have taken a great deal of rum from them, and can
afford to give us some, that we may rejoice with you." Accordingly, a glass

was served round to each, which they called a French glass. I

Dr. Franklin tells us a veiy mteresting story of Canassatego, and at the same
time makes the old chief tell another. In speaking of the manners and cus-

toms of the Indians, the doctor says, " The same hospitality, esteemed among
tliem as a principal virtue, is practised by private persons ; of which Conrad
iVeiser, our interpreter, gave me the following instances. He had been natu-

rahzed among the Six Nations, and spoke well the Mohawk language. In

going tlirough the Indian country, to carry a message from our governor to

the council at Onondago, he called at the habitation of Canassatego, an old

acquaintance, who embraced him, sjn-ead furs for him to sit on, jjlaced before

him some boiled beans, and venison, and mixed some rum and water for his

drink. AVhen he was well retreshed, and liad lit his pipe, Canassatego began
to converse with him ; asked how he had fared the many years since they
had seen each other ; whence he then came ; what occasioned the journey,

&c. Conrad answered all his questions ; and when the discourse began to

flag, the Indian, to continue it, said, ' Conrad, you have lived long among the

white people, and know something of their customs: I have been sometimes
at Albany, and have observed, that once in seven days they shut up tlieil

shops, and assemble in the great house ; tell me what that is for; what do
they do there .^' 'They meet there,' says ConrcKf, ' to hear and learu good
things.' 'I do not doubt,' says the Indian, 'that they tell you so; they liave

told me the same ; but I doubt the truth of what they say, and I will tell you
my reasons. I went lately to Albany, to sell my skins, and buy blankets.

knives, powder, rum, &c. You know I used generally to deal with Ham

• Colden and Gordon's Histories.

t The minutes of the conference taken at the lime by WUham Marthe, occupies 30 pages u

the Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. vii. vol.

t Cotden's Hist. Five Nations, ii. 142.
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Hanson; but I was a little inclined this time to try some other merchants.
However, I called first upon Hans, and asked him what he would give for

beaver. He said he could not give more than four shillings a pound ; but
Bays he, I cannot talk on business now ; this is the day when we meet together

to learn good things, and I am going to the meeting. So I thought to myself,

nnce I cannot do any business to-day, I may as well go to the meeting too,

snd I went with him. There stood up a man in blacky and began to talk

40 the people very angi-ily ; I did not understand what he said, but perceiving
that he looked much at me, and at Hanson, I unagined that he was angry at

seeing me there ; so I went out, sat down near the house, struck fire, and lit

my pipe, waiting till the meeting should break up. I thought too that the

man had mentioned something of beaver, and suspected it might be the sub-
ject of their meeting. So when they came out, I accosted my merchant.
•Well, Hans^ says I, 'I hope you have agreed to give more than 4s. a
pound.' ' No,' says he, ' I cannot give so much, I cannot give more than three
shillings and sixpence.' I then spoke to several other dealers, but they all sung
the same song,

—

three and sixpence, three and sixpence. This made it clear to

me that my suspicion was right; and that whatever they pretended of meet-
ing to learn good things,the purpose was to consult how to cheat Lidians in the

price of beaver. Consider but a little, Conrad, and you must be of my opinion.

If they met so often to learn good things, they would certainly have learned
some before this time. But tliey are still ignoiant. You know our practice.

If a wliite man, in travelling through our country, enters one of our cabins,

we all treat him as I do you; we dry him if he is wet; we warm him if he is

cold, and give him meat and drink, that he may allay his thirst and hunger;
and we spread soft furs for him to rest and sleep on ; we demand nothing in

return. But ifI go into a white man's house at Albany, and ask for victuals and
drink, they say, Get out, you Indian dog. You see they have not yet learned

those little good things that we need no meetings to be instructed m, because
om" mothers taught them to us when we were children ; and therefore it is

impossible their meetings should be, as they say, for any such purpose, or have
any such effect : they are only to contrive the cheating of Lidians in the price

of beaver.' " *

The missionary Frederic Post, in his journal of an embassy to the Indians
on the Ohio, in 1758, mentions a son of Canassatego, whom he calls Hans
Jacob.

We are not to look into the history of Pennsylvania for a succession of
Indian wars, although there have been some horrid murders and enormities

committed among the whites and Indians. For about 70 years, their historic

page is very clear of such records, namely, from 1682, the arrival of William
Penn, until the French war of 1755.

And we will here record the proceedings of fVUliam Penn, on his taking

possession of his lands upon the Delawai-e, so far as they are connected with
our Indian history.

Himianity being a prominent feature in every Quaker who lives up to his

profession, we are to expect a display of it in that of Penn ; and hajjpily we
do not find ourselves disappointed. The force of his example was such, that,

for many years, his followers practised the art of peacemaking ; and hence no
wars occurred, as we have already obsei-ved ; but as the enlightened mina
of Penn carried his acts more than one hundred and fifty years in advance
of his cont(uni)oraries, they acting without the true principle which governid
him, soon forgot its imjjortance, and pursued a different course, which brought
the evils of war and dissolution.

JVilliam Penn liad confirmed to him the country since bearing his name,
by a royal charter, and having sent over a small colony to take possession

of it in I()81, followed iiiniself the next year. His fiivst care on his arrivtU was
to establish a lasting friendship with the Indians. This bp effected by the

greatest possible care in rendenng them strict justice ana grw^t kindness, and
above all by purchasing the country of tliem, and paying them to their con-

* The editors of the valuable Encyclopedia Perthensis have thought this anecdote woifliy a

place :n that work, (i. 652.)
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tent for it. Penn landed at what is now Newcastle, 24 October, and soon began
to exchange goods for lands with the Indians. By this intercourse he learned
their language,* and thus qualified himself to render them justice in all cases.

The first formed treaty entered into between Penn and the Indians was
made in Dec. 1682, and took place almost two miles above what is now
Chestnut Street, on the same side of the Delaware, in the present township
of Kensington, under the wide-spreading branches of an elm-tree, aged at that

time 155 years, as since ascertained.! A small cubical marble monument
now marks the spot, which, with the adjacent neighborhood, in the days of
Penn, was called Shakamaxon. A street perpetuates this name, not far dis-

tant, which runs at right angles to the river. The little monument of which
we have made mention, was almost invisible from piles of rubbish, when
visited by tlie writer in April, 1834.t

In reference to Penn's Treaty, so often the subject of prose in both hemi-
spheres, Voltaire has m his peculiar vein observed, that it was the only one
made witliout an oath, and the only one which had not been broken.^

An admirable painting of this treaty, by Sir Benjamin West, has often been
sketched upon copper, and impressions circulated in vtirious works ; there is,

howtiver, in all of them, a very glaring want of taste or judgment, arising

probably from a false notion of the painter, which is the appearance'of
handsome houses in the back-ground. There is one of the best sketches of
an Indian treaty painted upon the sign of an inn in Beach Street, near the old

treaty ground, which I have seen.

It is no wonder the Indians remembered Penn so long, and so affection

ately, for it was not uncommon for him to perform the engagements of others,

who purposely set out upon wronging them. In a speech which a chief of
the Six Nations made at a conference, at Lancaster, in June, 1744, he gives

the following narrative of one of Penn's generous acts in these words:

—

" When our brother Onas, a great while ago, came to Albany to buy the

Susquehannah lands of us, our brother the governor of N. York, who, as we
suppose, had not a good understanding with our brother Onas, advised us

not to sell him any land, for he would make a bad use of it, and pretending

to be our friend, he advised us, in order to prevent Onas^s, or any other per-

sons, imposing on us, and that we might always have our land when we
wanted it, to put it mto his hands ; and he told us he would keep it for our
use, and never open his hands, but keep them close shut, and not part with

any of it, but at our request. Accordingly we trusted hun, and put our lands

into his hands, and charged him to keep them safe for our use. But some
time after he went to England, and carried our land with him, and there sold

it to our brother Onus for a large sum of money. And when at the instance

of our brother Onas we were minded to sell him some lands, he told us v/e had
sold the Susquehannah lands already to the governor of N. York, and that

he had bougiit them from him in England ; though when he came to under-

stand how the governor of N. York had deceived us, he very generously paid

us for our lands over again."||

There were several chiefs very noted about tliis period, on account of
their connection with the Moravian Brethren. Among the most noted was
GLIKHIKAN,1[ or Glikhickan** "an eminent captain and warrior, counsel-

lor and speaker of the Delaware chief [Pakanke] in Kaskaskunk." It is said

that he had disputed with the French Catholic priests in Canada, and con-

* His own letter, dated the year following, giving an account of the country, its products,

inhabitants, &c. &c. dated 16 August, 1683, and pruited in Blo/ne's America, 96.

t Holmes's Annals, i. 405. The old elm was blown down by a tempest in 1810, and was

then 283 years old. lb. Pieces of its stump are preserved in the cabinets of the curious, along

with fragments of the Plymouth Rock, &c.

X I was lately informed by Mr. D«;)onceaMof Philadelphia, that some important errors existed

in the printed accounts of Penn's Treaty, and he showed me some manuscripts concerning it

which he had lately discovered, and was preparing to have them printed in the Hist. Colls, of

Pennsylvania.
. • » •

^ C'est le seul traite entre ces peuples et les Chretiens qui n'ait point fete jur6 et qui n ai

3omt ete rompu. CEurres, vol. liv. 416, ed. of 1785, in 91 vols. 12mo.

II
An Enquiry into the Causes, &c. of the Alienation of the Shawaiiesf, and Delaware*, 61

^ Loshiel. ** Heckewelder,

44
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founded them, and now (1769) made his appearance among the United
Brethren for the piu-pose of achievhig a like victory; but as the Brethren'^
account has it, his heart failed him, and he became a convict to their doctrines
In 1770, he quitted Kaskaskunk, to live with the Brethren, greatly against the
minds of his friends and his chief. This occasioned great trouble, and some
endeavored to take his life. Pakanke's speech to him upon the occasion will

be seen when we come to the account of that chief. At the time of his bap-
tism, Glikhikan received the name of Isaac.

The period of the revolutionary war was a distressing time for the Brethren
and those Lidians who had adhered to thcii- cause. War parties from the
hostile tribes were continually passing and repassing their settlements, and
often in the most suspicious manner. It was to the famous chief Glikhikan
'liat they owed their preservation on more than one occasion. The Indians
about the lakes sent deputies to draw the Delawares into the war against the
Americans, but they were not received by them. Shortly after, in the year
1777, 200 Huron warriors, vdth Half-king at their head, approached the Mo-
ravian settlement of Lichtenau, in their way to attack the settlements upon
the frontiers, and caused great consternation among the Brethren ; but resolv-

ing to show no signs of fear, victuals were prepared for them, and sent out
by some of the Christian Indians to meet them. The reception of those sent
out was far more promising than was anticipated, and soon after was " sent
a solemn embassy to the Half-king and other chiefs of the Hiu*ons." Glildii-

kan was at the head of this embassy, and the following is his speech to

Half-king

:

—" Uncle ! We, your cousins, the congregation of believing

Indians at Lichtenau and Gnadenhuetten, rejoice at this opportmiity to see
and speak with you. We cleanse your eyes from all the dust, and wliatever
the wind may have cai'ried into them, that you may see youi- cousin with
cleai* eyes and a serene countenance. We cleanse your ears and hearts from
all evil reports which an evil wind may have conveyed into yom- ears and
even into your hearts on the jom-ney, that our words may find entrance into

your ears and a place in your hearts. [Here a string of wampum ivas pre-

sented by Glikhikan.] Uncle ! hear the words of the believing Lidians, your
cousins, at Lichtenau and Gnadenhuetten. We would have you know, that

we have received and believed in the word of God for 30 yeai-s and upwards,
and meet daily to hear it, morning and evening. You must also know, that

we have our teachers dwelling amongst us, who instruct us and our children.

By this word of God, i)reached to us by our teachers, we are taught to keep
peace with all men, and to consider them as ft'iends ; for thus God has com-
manded us, and tlierefore we are lovers of peace. These our treachers are

not only our friends, but we consider and love them as our owii flesh and
blood. Now as we are your cousin, we most earnestly beg of you, uncle,

that you also would consider them as your own body, and as your cousin.

We and they make but one bodj"^, and therefore cannot be separated, and
whatever you do unto them, you do unto us, whether it be good or evil."

Then several fathoms of wampum were delivered. Hnlf-king received this

speech with attention, and said it had penetrated his heart, and after he had
consulted with his captains, he spoke as follows in answer:—"Cousins! I

am very glad and feel great satisfaction that you have cleansed my eyes, ears

and heart from all evil, conveyed into me by the wind on this journey. lam
upon an expedition of an unusual kind ; for I am a warrior and am going to

war, and therefore many evil things and e\'il thoughts enter into my head,

and even into my heart. But thanks to my cousin, my eyes are now clear,

so that I can beliold my cousin with a serene countenance. I rejoice, that 1

can hear my cousins witli open ears, and take their words to heart." He then
delivered a string of wampum, and after repeating the part of Glikhikan^s

speecli relating to the missionaries, proceeded : " Go on as liitherto, and suffer no
one to molest you. Obey your teachers, who speak nothing but good unto

you, and instruct you in the ways of God, and be not afraid that any harm
shall be done unto them. No creature shall hurt them. Attend to your

worship, and never mind other affairs. Indeed, you see us going to war;
but you may remain easy and quiet, and need not think much altoul it, &c."
This was rather odd talk for a savage warrior, and verily it seetiis more like
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tljat of one of the European Brethi'cu, but the veracity of Loskid will not be
questioned.

Some time after this, a circumstance occurred which threw Glikhikan into

much trouble and danger. A band of Huron warriors seized upon the mis-

sionaries at Salem and Gnadenhuetten, and confined them, and did inuch
mischief. Michael Jung, David Zeisberger and Juhii Heckeweldcr were the

Brethren confined at this time. The savages next pillaged Schoenbrimn,
ironi whence they led captive the missionary Jungman and wife, and the

sisters Zeisberger and Senseman ; and, singing the death-song, arrived with

them at Gnadenhuetten, where were the rest of the prisoners. This was
September 4, 1781. It appears tiiat the famous Captain Pipe was among these

wai'riors, from what follows. A yoimg Indian woman, who accompanied the

warriors, was ziiuch moved by the hai'd treatment of the Brethren, and in the

night " found means to get Capt. Pipe's best horse, and rode off full speed to

Pittsburgh, where she gave an account of the situation of the missionaries

and their congregations." This woman was related to Glikhikan ; on him.

therefore, they determined to vent their \vrath. A party of warriors seized

him at Salem, and brought him bound to Gnadenhuetten, singing the death-

song. When he was brought into the presence of the warriors, great commo-
tion followed, and many were clamorous that he should be at once cut to

pieces ; especially the Delawares, who could not forget his having renounced
his nation and manner of living ; here, however. Half-king interfered, and
prevented his being killed. They now held an inquisitorial examination

upon him, which terminated in a proof of his innocence, and, after giving

vent to their spleen in loading him with the worst of epithets and much op-

probrious language, set him at liberty.

The missionaries and their congi-egations were soon at liberty, but were
obliged to emigrate, as they could have no rest upon the Muskingum any

longer ; wai* parties continually hovering about them, robbing and troubling

them in various ways. They went through the wilderness 125 miles, and
settled at Sandusky, leaving their beautiful cornfields just ready to harvest.

Their losses and privations were immense. Above 200 cattle and 400 hogs,

much corn in store, beside 300 acres just ripening, were among the spoils.

" A troop of savages commanded by English officers escorted them, enclos-

ing them at the distance of some miles on all sides." They arrived at their

place of destination October 11, and here were left by Half-king and his

warriors without any instructions or orders.

Many believing Indians had retm-ned to Gnadenhuetten and the adjacent

places in 1782. Here, on 8th March of this year, happened the most dreadful

massacre, and Glikhikan was among the victims. Ninety-six persons were

scalped and then cut to pieces. Besides women, there were 34 children

murdered \a cold blood.* This was done by white men !

Of this horrid and diabolical murder it behoves us to give the facts more
in detail. The month of February of the year 1782, having been very favor-

able to war parties, it was improved by some Sandusky warriors, and some
murders were committed in an unlooked for moment upon the frontiers of the

whit(=s. The family of a William Wallace, consisting of his wife and five or

f^ix children, were killed, and one John Carpenter \ was taken prisoner. These

early movements of the Indians led the whites to conclude that they were

either done by the Moravians at Muskingum, or that the warriors that com-

mitted the murders were quartered among them.J Therefore, without further

information, a band of about 80 or 90 men suddenly collected upon tlie fron-

tier of Pennsylvania, and each man having provided himself with his own
arms, ammunition and provisions, mostly mounted upon horses, set out under

one Colonel David Williamson for the devoted congregation at Gnadenhuetten-

They rendezvoused and encamped the fii-st night on the Mingo Bottom, on

Jie west side of the Ohio River.§

* I have been particular in noticing- this affair, as it is not found in such extensively circii

lated woriis as the American Annals.

t He afterwards made his escape at great peril.

X Doddridge's Notes on the Lidian Wars, 248, 249. «»«»•
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Meanwhile Colonel Gibson, at Pittsburgh, imderstand'ng the object of th

crew who had gone forth under Williamson, despatched messengers to alai'ni

tlae Christian Indians, but they arrived too late. However, they received

timely notice from another quarter, but their trusting to their innocence to

protect them, did in this case prove a fatal error : a white man, who had
narrowly escaped from the hands of some wanioi-s, warned them with great

earnestness to fly for then* lives. These warriors, who had " murdered and
impaled a woman and a child, not far from the Ohio, anived soon after at

Gnadenhuetten," where they exjjressed theh well-grounded fears to tlie Chris-

tians, that a party of white people, who were puisuiug them, would surely

kill them all.* All these warnings were not enough to shake their faith in

the protecting arm of their own innocence.

The second day's march of the band of murderers, brought them within

ne mile of the middle Moravian town, where they again encamped for the

ight. This was on the 6th day of March. The next morning the party

OS divided into three equal divisions, " one of which was to cross the river

:«ut a mile above the towTi ; their videttes having reported that there were
rdians on both sides of the river. The other party was divided into three

risions, one of which was to take a circuit in the woods, and reach the river

ittle distance below the toAvn, on the west side. Another division was to

i.ai\ into the middle of the town, and the thu-d upon its upper end. When
the party designed to make the attack on the west side, had reached the river,

they found no boats to take them over ; but something like a canoe was seen
on the opposite bank. The river was high, with some floating ice. A yoimg
man of the name of Sloughter swam the river, and brought over, not a canoe, but

a trough designed for hokling sugar water. This trough could carry but two
men at a thne. In order to expedite j;heir passage, a number of men stripped

off their clothes, put them into the trough, together with then- guns, and
swam by its sides, holding its edges with their hands. When about 16 had
crossed the river, the two centinels, who had been posted in advance," f " met
young Schebosch in the woods, fired at and wounded him so much that he
could not escape. He then, according to the account of the murderiis
themselves, begged for his life, representing that he was Schebosch, the son of
a white Christian man : But they paid no attention to his entreaties, and cut

him in pieces with their hatchets." " One of them broke one of his arms by
a shot. A shot from the other centinel killed him. These heroes J then scalped

and tomahawked him.
"By this time, about 16 men had got over the river, and supposing the firing

of the guns, which killed Shabosh, would lead to an mstant discovery, they
sent word to the party designed to attack the town on the east side of the

river, to move on instantly, which they did.
" Li the mean time, the small party which had crossed the river, marched

with all speed, to the main town on the west side of the river. Here they found
a large company of Lidians gathering the corn, which they had left in

their fields the preceding fall, when they removed to Sandusky. On the

arrival of the men at the town, they professed peace and good will to the

Moravians, and informed them that they had come to take them to fort Pitt,

for their safety. The Lidians surrendered, delivered up their arms, and ap-

peared highly dellgiited with the prospect of then- removal, and began with
all speed to prepare food for the white men, and for themselves on their

journey.

"A party of white men and Indians was immediately despatched to Salem,
a short distance from Gnadenhuetten, where the Indians were gathering in

tlieir corn, to bring them in to Gnadeniiuetten. The party soon arrived with
Mie wiiole number of the Lidians fiom Salem. In the mean time the Lidians at

*^nadenliuetten were confined in two houses some distance apart, and placed

• Loskiel, Hist. Moravians, iii. 176.

t I am following Doddridge's Narrative, but the next quotation is from Loskiel. iii. 177,

and then continues Doddridge without any omission.

i My author does not italicize this word, but he doubtless would, if he were to give i'.« a

oew edition of his book, if he did not add at least a half a dozen exclamations to it.
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uuder guards ; and vvlien those from Salem arrived, the)- w^re divided, and
placed in the same houses, with their brethren of Gnadenhuutten.

" The prisoners being thus secured, a council of war was held to decide
on tlieir fate. The officers, unwilling to take on tliemselves the whole re-
sponsibility of the awful decision, agreed to refer the question to tlie whole
number of the men. The men were accordingly diawn up in a line. The
conunandant of the pai-ty. Colonel David Williamson, then put the question
to them in form, 'whether the Moravian Indians shoidd be taken prisoners to
Pittsburgh, or put to death?' requesting all who were in favor of saving rm---

lives to step out of the line, and form a second rank. On this, 16, some say

18, stepped out of the rank, and formed themselves uito a second line ; but
alas ! this line of mercy was far too short for that of vengeance." Thus was
the fate of the Moravian Indians decided on, and they were ordered to pre-
pare for death.

"From the time they were placed in the guard-houses, the prisoners fore-

saw then- fate, and begun their devotions of singing hymns, praying and ex-
horting each other to place a firm reliance in the mercy of the Savior of
men." "The particulai-s of this dreadful catastrophe are too horrid to

relate. Suffice it to say, that m a few minutes these two slaughter-houses,
as they were then called, exhibited in their ghastly interior, the mangled,
bleeding remains, of those poor unfortunate people, of all ages and sexes

;

from the aged grey-headed, down to the helpless infant at its mother's breast

;

iishouored by the fatal wounds of the tomahawk, mallet, war-club, speai- and
scalping-knife !

" Thus was the 8th day of March spent at Gnadenhuetten,
in the year 1782

!

Only two, who were young pei-sons, escaped this dreadful day's slaughter.

One of whom had been knocked down and scalped, and by counterfeiting

nimself dead, while the miu'derers had left the place, was enabled to save
his life. The other crept unobsei'ved into a cellar, and in the night escaped
to the woods.
Whether any of the murderei-s were called to an account for what they did

I do not learn, though they probably were not, owing to the state of anai'chy

occasioned by the revolutionary war.
PAKANKE was a powerful Delaware chief, whose i-esidence, in 1770, was

at a place called Kaskaskunk, about 40 miles north of Pittsburgh. He is

brought to our notice by the agency of the missionary Loskiel, from whom
it appears that he was very friendly to the Brethren at first, and invited them into

his country, but when Glikhikan, his chief captain and speaker, forsook hijn,

and went to live with them, he was so disconcerted, that he turned against

them, and for a time caused them much difficulty. Meeting with Glik-

hikan afterward in public, he spoke to him in an angiy tone as follows

:

" And even you have gone over from this council to them. I suppose you
mean to get a white skin ! But I tell you, not even one of your feet will turn

white, much less your body. Was you not a brave and honored man, sitting

next to me in council, when we s|)read the blanket and considered the belts

of wainpum ly'mg before us ? Now you pretend to despise all this, and
thmk to have found something better. Some time or other you will find

yourself deceived." To which Glikhikan made but a short and meek reply.

Some epidemic disease carried off many of the Indians about this time, and
they attributed its cause to theu- obstinacy in not receiving the gospel. Pa-
kanke was among the number at last who accepted it as a remedy. He ap-

pears not to have been so credulous as many of his neighbors ; for when the

acknowledgment of Christianity was concluded upon by many, he remahied
incredulous ; and when a belt of wampum was sent him, accompanied with

a message, declaring that "whosoever refused to accept it would be considered

a murderer of his countrymen," he affected not to understand its impoi-t, and

doubtless would not have acknowledged it, but for the impending danger

which he saw threatening him. When he went to hear the Brethren preach,

he declared his conviction, and recommended his children to receive the

gospel. A son of his was baptized in 1775.

NETAAVATWEES was head chief of the Delawares, and if we are u
44*



522 NETAWATWEES.—WHITE-EYES. [Book V

judge of him fi-om our scanty records, he will appear to the best advantage
" He used to lay all affau-s of state before his counsellors for theii* considera

tion, without telling them his own sentiments. When the) gave him theii

opinion, he either approved of it, or stated his objections and amendments,
always alleging the reasons of his disapprobation." Before the revolution, it was
said that he had amazingly uicreased the reputation of the Delawares; and he

spai-ed no pains to conciliate all his neighbors, and reconcile them one to anoth-

er. His residence, in 1773, was at Gekelemukpechuenk. The Moravian mis-

sionaries sent messengers to him, with information of the arrival of another mis-

sionary, in July of this year, requesting a renewal of friendship and a confirma-

tion ofhis former promise ofprotection. When this was laid before him and his

council, they were not much pleased with the information, and tiie old chief

JVetawatwees, said, " They have teachers enough already,for a new 07ie can ieacA

nothing but the same doctrine.^'' He was, however, pi-evailed upon to give hii

consent to their request, and afterwards became a convert to their religion.

After he had set out in this com-se, he sent the following speech to his old

friend Pakanke : " You and I are both old, and know not how long we shall live.

Therefore let v^ do a good work, before we depaii, and leave a testimony to out

children andposterity, tliat we have received the word of God. Let this be our

last will and testament.^'' Pakanke consented, and was at great pains to send

solemn embassies to all such tribes as he thought proper to communicate
his determination. JVetawatwees died at Pittsburgh near the close of 1776.

JVetawatwees had been a signer to the treaty of Conestoga in the year 1718^

being then young, probably about 25 years of age. The Turtle tribe wae
the first among the Delawares, and of this he became, by their usages, chief

To him was committed all the tokens of contracts ; such as belts of warn
pum, writings obligatory, with the sign manual of William Penn, and others

since, down to the time himself, with his tribe, was forced to leave thei)

lands and retire into Ohio.
Alter having been seated upon the Ohio, at a place convenient for com-

munication with the Wyandots and other warlike nations of the west, he
made known to them the wi-ongs which he and his people had suffered.

By advice of the Wyandot chiefs, he settled finally upon Cayahaga River,

leaving open the Rivers Muskingum and Big Beaver for any of his nation

that were there already, and should afterwards come to settle there. And this

was the occasion of King Beaver's building a town and settling the Turkey
tribe at the mouth of Nemoschilli Creek, since called Tuscai-awas. Of this

distinguished chief we shall speak more at large in another place.

When Colonels Bouquet and Bradsireet, in 1763, were penetrating into the

Indian counti-y, JVetawativees, not without reason, became alarmed for his

safety, and coultl not be prevailed upon to attend the treaty witli Colonel

Bouquet, after the battle of Bushy Rum, notwithstanding the other chicifs

did. His residence being in range of the march of Boiiquefs arniy, he too

late attempted to escape down the Muskingum in a canoe; but being inter-

cepted by some of Bouquet's Indian spies, was brought before the colonel,

who, because he did not appear at the treaty, publicly deposed him, and put

another at the head of his tribe. Upon the conclusion of a peace, however,

the first act of importance performed by the Delaware nation was to rehi-

etate JVetawatwees. He continued in the undisturbed possession of the office

until his death, which happened in the second year of the revolution, 1776,

at Pittsburgli, when he had attained the age of near 99 years.*

The missionaries, especially, felt his Joss with great severity, for his coun-

cil was of the greatest benefit to them on all trying occasions.

WHITE-EYES, or, as some write, Jfliite-eye, was "the lii-st captain among
the Delawares." There was always great ojjposition among the Indians

against missionaries settling in their coinitry ; who, in the language of one

of the Moravians, " were a stone of offence to many of the chicis and to a

great part of the council at Gekelemukpechuenk, and it was several times

oroposed to expel them by force." But "this man [Captain }Vhiie-eyes] kept

* Heckenvlder's Bioumphics, ifec, in Philos. Trans.
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the chiefs and council in awe, and would not suffer them to injure thi' mis-
sionaries, being in his own heart convinced of the truths of the gospel.
This was evident in all his speeches, held before tlie chiefs and council in
behalf of the Indian congregation and their teacliers." *

Upon the deatli of JVetawatwees, in 1776, Captain White-ems became chief
sachem, to which place his former situation of first counsellor to that chief
rendered him highly qualified. But as he was not chief by regular descent,
he only accepted the office until a young chief should be of age, who, it

seems, was heir appai-ent. It is said he had long looked forward with anxiety
to the time when his countrymen should become Christians, and enjoy the
benefits of civilization ; " but he did not live to see that time, for while ac-

companying Gen. Mackintosh with his army, to Muskingum, in 1778, or '9, he
took the small-pox and died." f

The old chief JVetawatwees used every art to thwart the endeavors of White-

eyes, and, as they were rather in a strain bordering upon persecution, were
only sure to make the latter more strenuous. He therefore declared " that

no prosperity would attend the Indian affairs, luiless they received and
believed the saving gospel," &c. White-eyes was forced about this time to

separate himself from the other chiefs. " This occasioned great and general
surprise, and his presence being considered both by the chiefs and the people
as indispensably necessary, a negotiation commenced, and some Lidian breth-

ren were appointed arbitrators. The event was beyond expectation success-
ful, for chief JVetawatwees not only acknowledged the injustice done to Cap-
tain White-eye, but changed his mind with respect to the believing Indians
and their teachers, and remained their constant friend to his death." f

At the breaking out of the revolutionary war, the American congress
endeavored to treat with the chiefs of the Six Nations, and accordingly

invited the Delawares to send deputies. White-eyes attended on the part of
the Brethren, and his conduct before the commissioners was highly approved
by the missionaries.

Towards the close of the year 1776, the Hurons sent a message to the

Delawares, "that they must keep their shoes in readiness to join the warriors."

JVettawatwees beuig their head chief, to him, consequently, was the talk

delivered. He would not accept the message, but sent belts to the Hurons,
with an admonition for their rash resolution, and reminding them of the

misery they had already brought upon themselves. Captain fVhite-eyes was
a bearer of the belts, who in his turn was as unsuccessful as the Huron am-
bassadors ; for when they were delivered to the chiefs in Fort Detroit, in

presence of the English governor, he cut them in pieces, and threw them at

the feet of the bearers, ordering them, at the same time, to depart in half an

hour. He accused White-eyes of a connection with the Americans, and told

him his head was in danger.

It is not strange that White-eyes was treated in this manner, if he took the

stand at the commencement of the war, which we suppose from the follow-

ing circumstance that he did : The Iroquois, being chiefly in the English

interest, and considering the Delawares bound to operate with them, ordered

hem to be in readiness, as has been just related. Upon this occasion, White-

eyes said " he shoidd do as he pleased ; that he wore no petticoats, as they

falsely pretended ; he was no woman, but a man, and they should fuid him to

act as such." §
We hear nothing more of importance of this chief until 1780, which was

the year of his death. He died at Pittsburgh, m Pennsylvania, of the small-

pox. Many others died about this time, among whom was a man who must

have been very old, perhaps near 120, as he could well remember when the

first house was built in Philadelphia, in 1682, being then a boy.

Although White-eyes was so friendly to the Brethren, yet he never fiilly

joined them, stating his political station as a reason.

The Delaware nation perpetuated his name ; a chief signed a treaty in

* Loskiel, iii. 101—2. t Heckewelder's Biographies. &c., in Philos. Tram.

i LMkid. iii. 101—2. § Heckewelder. Hist. 21
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1814, at GreenAdlle, in Ohio, bearing it.* White-eyes' town is frequently men-
tioned uj history. It was the place of his residence, which was near the falls

of the Muskingum.
PAXNOUS was head chief of the Shawanese hi 1754, At this time, the

Christian Indians of the Moravian settlement, Gnadenhuetten, were oppress-
ed by a tribute to the Hurons. This year, Paxnous and Gideon Tadeuskund,
who had become dissenters, came to them, and delivered the following
message : " The great head, that is, the council of the Iroquois in Onondago,
speak the truth and lie not : they rejoice that some of the believing Indians
have moved to Wajomick, [near Wilksl)urg and the Susquehannah,] but now
hey lift up the remaining Mahikans and Delawares, and set them also down
in Wajomick ; for there a fire is kindled for them, and there they may jilant

and think of God. But if they will not hear, the great head, or council,
will come and clean their ears with a red-hot iron ; " that is, set their houses
on fire, and send bullets through their heads. The next year, Paxnous and
13 others came again, and in the name of the Hurons demanded an answer
to the summons he had delivered last year. His wife attended him, and tor

whom he had great affection, having then lived with her 38 years. She,
being touched by the preaching of the Brethren, was no doubt the cause of
softening the heart of Paxnous, and causing him thenceforth to do much for

them. This answer was returned to him to bear to the Hurons : " The
Brethren will confer with the Iroquois themselves, concerning the intended
removal of the Indians from Gnadenhuetten to Wajomick." Paxnous, " being
only an ambassador in this business, was satisfyed, and even formed a closer

acquaintance with the Brethren." This is sufficient to explain Paxnous' par-
tiality for the Brethren. Before they departed, his vnfe was baptized, and
all present, among whom was her husband, were much affected. She
declared, as she returned home, " that she felt as happy as a child new born."
Paxnous also had two sons, who did much for the Brethren.
TADEUSKUND, a noted chief among the Delawares, may be considered

next in importance to those above named. He was known among the
English, previous to 1750, by the name Honest-John. About this time, he
was received into the Moi-avian commimity, and after some delay, " owing
to his wavering disposition," was baptized, and received into fellowship. His
baptismal name was Gideon. He adhered to the missionaries just as long as
his condition appeared to be better, but when any thing more favorable offer-

ed, he stood ready to embark in it.

The Christian Indifms at Gnadenhuetten were desirous of removing to

Wajomick, which offered more advantages than that place, and this was a
secret desire of the wild Indians ; for they, intending to join the French of
Canada, wished to have them out of the way of then- excursions, that they
might with more secrecy fall upon the English frontiers. It was now 1754.

Meanwhile Tadeuskund had had the offer of leading the Delawares in the
war, and hence he had been a chief promoter of a removal to Wajomick.
The missionaries saw through the plot, and refused to move ; but quite a
company of their followers, to the number of about 70, went thither, agree-
ably to the wishes of Tadeuskund and his party, and some went off to other
places.

Tadeuskund was now in his element, marching to and from the French in

warlike style. When Paxnous, as has been related, summoned the remain-
ing believers at Gnadenhuetten to remove to Wajomick, Tadeuskund accom-
panied him. As the interest of the French began to decline, Tadeuskund
began to think about making a shift again. Having lived a considerable
part of the year 1758 not far from Bethlehem, with about 100 of his follow-
ers, he gave the Brethren there intimations that he wished again to join

them ; and even requested that some one would preach on his side of the
Lehigh. But the hopes of his reclaim were soon after dissipated. And " he
now even endeavored to destroy the peace and comfort of the Indian con-
gregation." From the discouraging nature of the affairs of the French, ten
Indian nations were induced to send dei)Uties to treat with the English at

* See Hisl. Second War, by S. R Brown, Appendix, 105.
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Easton, which eventuated in a treaty of peace. Tadeuskund pretended thai
this treaty had been agreed to on condition that government should build a
town on tlie Susquehanuah for the Indians, and cause those living with the
Brethren to remove to it. This his enemies denied. There was some foun-
dation, from their own accomit, for Tadeuskund's pretending to have received
full commission to conduct all the Indians within certain limits, which
included those of Bethlehem, to Wajomick ; and therefore demanded their
compliance with his commands. He was liberal in his promises, provided
they would comply ; saying, the\' should have fields cleared and ploughed,
houses built, and provisions provided : not only so, but then- teachers shoidd
attend them, to live there munolested, and the believers entirely by them-
selves. But, tiu-ough the influence of their priests, they would not comply,
which occasioned some threats from Tadeuskund, and he immediately set
off for Philadelphia, considerably irritated.

TofiettsA-Mnc^ went to Philadelphia in consequence of an intended general
congress of the Indians and English, including all those who did not attend
at Easton. When he returned, he demanded a positive answer, and they
replied that they would not remove unless the governor and all the chiefs so
determined, for that they could not without the greatest inconvenience. This
seemed to satisfy him, and he left them.
The great council or congress of English and Indians at Easton above

referred to, being of much importance in Lidian history, as also illustrative

of otlier eminent chai-acters as well as that of Tadeuskund, we will refer its

details to a separate chapter.

Tadeuskund was burnt to death in his ovni house at Wajomick in April,

17G3.

Of an execrable murder at Gnadenhuetten we have not spoken, as we have
not learned the name of the leaders in or instigators of it ; however, it will

not be proper to pass it over in detailing the events of our histoiy. It hap-
pened in the time of the French and Indian wai's, in 1755. Although it is

generally spoken of as the massacre of Gnadenhuetten, yet it did not happen
in that town, but in a small village on Mahony Creek, about a half a mile
fi'om it. On the 24 November, a band of Indians, (their numbers unknown,)
who came from the French, fell suddenly upon the place, while the Brethren
were at supper, and killed eleven persons ; namely, seven men, three women,
and one child 15 months old. Only two men, one woman, and a boy,
escaped. The slaughter would have been ar greater, if the Christian tidians
had not been away at that time upon a hunting excursion. Had not a dog
given the alarm, as the Indians approached, they would probably have taken
all the whites prisoners ; but the moment the dog gave the alarm, those
within the house sprung to the doors and windows to secure them, which
being open, the Indians fired into them, killing one man and woumling
several other persons. The poor people succeeded in seciu-ing the doors
and wmdows, and then retreated into the garret of the house. This, as they
must have expected, they found a WTetched retreat ! the roof over their

heads was soon in flames, and the only persons that escaped were a man
and his wife, and a boy, which they effected through the burning roof! One
more, a man who had been confined in an out-house by sickness, escaped
from a window. All the buildings in the village, the cattle and other animals
in the barns, were consumed in the flames !

*

The leader of this party, whose name it is as well I cannot give, soon met
with a requital for his murders. By the influence of the GoTernor of Penn-
sylvania, and Mr. George Croghan, the hostile Indians were j)revailed u|)on

to meet the whites in a council at Easton, the next year, viz. 1756. This

Indian captain set out to attend the council, and in the way, it seems, he tell

in company with Tadeuskund. With this chief he contrived, some how oi

other, to get up a quarrel, in which Tadeuskund killed him.f
SKENANDO, though belonging to a later age, may very properly be

noticed here. He was an Oneida chief, contemi)orary with the missionary

Kirkland, to whom he became a conveit, and Uved many years of the latter

* Heckewelder's Narrative, 44. t Ibid. 51, 32.
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part of his life a believer in Christianity. Mr. Kirkland died at Paris, N
Fork, in 1808, and was buried near Oneida. Skenando desired to be buried
near him at liis death, which was granted. He lived to be 110 years old,

and was often visited by strangers out of curiosity. He said to one who
visited him but a little time before his death, " / am an aged hemlock ; the

winds of an hundred vdnters have whistled through my branches ; I am dead at

the top. The generation to which I belonged has run away and left me."

In early life, he was, like nearly all of his race, given to intoxication. In

177.5, he was at Albany to settle some affairs of his tribe with the govern-
ment of New York. One night he became drunk, and in the morning found
himself in the sti-eet, nearly naked, evei-y thing of worth stripped from him,
even the sign of his chieftainship. This brought him to a sense of his

duty, and he was never more known to be mtoxicated. He was a powerful
chiefj and the Americans did not fail to engage him on their side in the rev-

olution. This was congenial to his mind, for he always urged the rights of
the prior occupants of the soil, and once opposed the Americans on the

same j)rinciple, for encroachments upon the red men. He rendered his

adopted Anglo brethren important services.

From the " Annals of Tryon County," * we learn that Skenando died on
the 11 March, 1816. He left an only son. And the same author observes
that " his person was tall, well made, and robust. His countenance was
intelligent, and displayed all the peculiar dignity of an Indian chief In Jiis

youth he was a brave and intrepid wan-ior, and in his riper yeai's, one of
the noblest counsellors among the North American tribes : " and that, in the

revolutionary war, by his vigilance he presented tlie settlement of Gern)an
Flats from bemg destroyed.

We will close the present chapter vrtth some of the land transactions with
the Indians in Pennsylvania.
By his last will. Governor Penn devised to his grandson, William Penn,

and his heirs, 10,000 acres of land to be laid out " in proper and beneficial

places In this province, by his trustees." William Penn, the grandson, sold

out this land to a gentleman, Mr. William Allen, a great land-jobber. By a
little management Allen got this land located, generally, where he desired.

One considerable tract included part of Minisink, and no previous arrange-
ment had been made with those Indians. It would be very charitable to

suppose, that the trustees intended, and that perhaps they did not doubt, but
the same course would be pursued in purchasing of the Indians as had been
before, by others ; but no sooner had the new proprietor got the lands sur-

veyed to him, than he began to sell it to those that would go on at once and
eettla it.

Hence we clearly see the road opened for all difficulties. About the same
time proposals were published for a land lotteiy, and by the conditions of
these proposals, not the least notice was taken, or tlie least reserve made, of
the rights of the Indians. But on the contrary, such persons as had settled

upon lands that did not belong to them, were, in case they drew jjrizes, to

remam immolested upon the lands of the Lidians. By this means much of
the land in the Forks of the Delaware, since Easton and vicinity, as well as
other places, became taken uj), by this kind of gambling, and the Indians

were thus crowded from it. They for some time complained, and at length
began to threaten, but the event was war and bloodshed.

To still the clamors of these injured people, recourse was had to as great

abuses as had already been practised : crimes were sought to be clouded
by bold stratagem. The li'oquois were connived with, and they came for-

ward, confirmed the doings of the Ian il -jobbers, and ordered the Delawares
to leave their country. They were to choose one of two horns of a wretched
dilemma. The power of the Iroquois could not be withstood, backed as it

was by the English. They ordered the poor Delawares to remove, or they

would destroy them, as in the life of Canasatego will be found related.

A sort of claim was obtained to some of tlie disputed lands, in a siini-

ar a manner as Georgia got hers of some of the Creek country not man}

By W. W. CampbeU.
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years since. At one time, a party of a deputation having remained upon
the ground eleven days alter the others had gone home, were by kind-

nesses prevailed upon to sign a writing, rehnquishing all their rigiit to lands

upon Delaware. These were Lidians of the Six Nations, and had deeiled

lands on the Susquehannah just before, with tliose who hail gone home.
Why the proprietors did not include the lands on Delaware in their tu-st

deed, when the deputation were all together, is a good deal singular, but

requires no explanation. Yet certain it is, those who remained and gave a

writing quit-claiming lands on Delaware, had no consideration for so doing.

This writing expresses only that they intended in the former deed to in-

clude said lands.

That the Delawares or Chiliohockies (which was their real name) were,

until some time subsequent to 1736, entirely independent of the Iroquois, is

beyond a doubt ti'ue, although, liom sinister motives, tliere were those who
maintained that they were always subject to them. It is true, that, wlien by

a long intercoui-se with the whites they had lost much of then- energy and
character as a nation, the haughty Six Nations found little difficulty in sedu-

cing some tribes of them to join them, and of forcing others to obey them. A
circumstance which clearly proves this, is, that in the fiist treaties of sales

of land by the Six Nations to the Pennsylvanians, they did not presume to

convey any lands to the east of the sources of the streams tliat were trib-

utai-y to the Susquehannali ; the assertions of some of the speech-makers

among the Six Nations, to the contrary, however.*
The celebrated chief Tadeuskund, of whom we have already spoken in

detail, gave the following very pointed account of the manner in which the

whites had conducted in getting his people's lauds fraudulently. It was at the

conference in Easton, m November, 1756. Tadeuskund was present as the

representative of " four nations," viz. the Chihohockies, the Wanamies, the

Munseys and Wapingers. Governor Benny requested the Indians to state

the reasons for then* late hostile movements. Tadeuskund : " I have not lai- to

go for an instance. This very ground that is under me (striking it with liis

foot) was my land and inlieritance, and it is taken from me by fraud. [This was
in the Forks of the Delaware.] When I say this ground, I mean all the land

lying between Tohiccon Creek and Wyoming, on the River Susquehannah.

1 have not only been sei-ved so in this govermnent, but the same thing has

been done to me, as to several tracts in New Jersey, over the river." On
the governor's asking him what he meant by fraud, he answered :

" When
one man had formerly libertj' to purchase lands, and he took the deed from

the Indians for it, and then dies ; after his death his children forge a deed

like the true one, with the same Lidian names to it, and thereby take lands

from the Indians which they never sold ; this is fraud. Also when one king

has land beyond the river, and another king has land on this side, both

bounded by rivers, mountains and springs which caimot be moved , and the

proprietaries, greedy to purchase lauds, buy of one king what belongs to

another ; this likewise isjraud."

Then the governor asked Tadeuskund whether he had been served so r

He said, " Yes. I have been served so in this province ; all the land extend-

ing from Tohiccon, over the great mountain, to Wyoming, has been taken

from me by fraud ; for when I had agreed to sell land to the old proprietaiy,

by the course of the river, the young proprietaries came and got it run by a

straight course, by the compass, and by that means took m double the quantity

intended to be sold." f
The meaning of Tadeuskund will be fully explained in what we are about

to lay before the reader. The lands above the Kittatinny Mountains were

not intended to be sold by the Delawares, but the whites found means to en-

croach upon them, and by the aid of the Iroquois, as before noted, were able

not only to maintain but to extend their encroachments. It will be well to

bear in mind that the lands conveyed to William Penn in 1685, included the

country from Duck Creek, or Quingqiiingus to the Kittatinny Hills ; and to

oear in mind, also, how purchases were made, so as to admit of contention

;

See Proud's Pa., ii. 33i. t Ibid. ii. 333.
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soaietinjes, doubtless, for the secret intention of taking advantage, and at

others from inability to fill certain blanks in the deeds at the time they were
given. As for example, when a tract of land was to extend in a certain

direction upon a straight line, or by a river, "as far as a man can walk in a
day," the point to be arrived at must necessarily be left blank, until at some
future time it should be walked. This manner of giving and receiving deeds,

it is easy to see, threw into the hands of sordid pm-chasers, every advantage
over the Indians. In one mstance they complain that the " walker " run ; in

another, that "he walked after it was night," and so on.

The Indians had deeded lands in this way to William Penn, and no advan-
tage was taken ou his part ; but when he was dead, and others became pro-

prietors, tlie difficulties arose, of which Tadeuskund reminded the whites at

Easton ; and this will illustrate what has just been given from his speech to

Governor Denny at that time.

The deed to William Penn, to which we in pai'ticular refer, was given in

1685, and ran thus :

—

" This Indenture witnesseth, that, We, Packenah, Jarckhan, Sikals, Part-

quesott, Jervis Essepenauk, Felktroy, Hekellappan, Econus, Machloha, Metikconga,

Wissa Poivey, Indian Kings, Sachemakers, right owners of all lands, from
Quingquingus, called Duck Ci'eek, unto Upland called Chester Creek, all

along by the west side of Delaware river, and so between the said creeks
backwards as far as a man can ride in two days ivith a horse, for and in con-

sideration of these following goods to us in hand paid, and secured to be
paid, by William Penn, proprietary and governor of the province of Penn-
sylvania and territories thereof, viz. 20 guns, 20 fathoms match-coat, 20
fathoms Stroudwater, 20 blankets, 20 ketdes, 20 pounds powder, 100 bars of
lead, 40 tomahawks, 100 knives, 40 pairs of stockings, 1 baiTel of beer,

20 pounds red lead, 100 fathoms wampum, 30 glass bottles, 30 pewter s])Oons,

100 awl-blades, 300 tobacco pipes, 100 hands of tobacco, 20 tobacco tongs,

20 steels, 300 flints, 30 pair of scissors, 30 combs, 60 looking-glasses, 200
needles, one skipple of salt, 30 pounds sugar, 5 gallons molasses, 20 tobacco

boxes, 100 jews-liarps, 20 hoes, 30 gimblets, 30 wooden screw boxes, 100

string of beads.—Do hereby acknowledge, &c. given under our hands, &c.
at New Castle, second day of the eighth month, 1685."

We will now proceed to take further notice of Tadeuskund's charges at

the Easton conference, before spoken of The manner of William Mien's

becoming proprietor has been stated. In 1736, deputies from the Six

Nations sold the ])roprietor all the "lands lying between the mouth of Sus-

quehannali and Kittatinny Hills, extending eastward as far as the heads of

the branches or springs which run into the said Susquehannah." Hence
this grant did not interfere at all with the lands of the Delawares, and may
be urged as an evidence, that the Six Nations had no right to them ; lor, if

they had, why were they not urged to sell them before the breaking up of
the conference ? and not, as we have before mentioned, waited eleven days,

until all the head men had gone, and then to have got a release from the few
that remained ! It is therefore very evident tiiat this could not be done when
all W(;re i)resent, or the latter course would not have been resorted to. Not
withstanding the j)ro])rietor had gras])ed at the lands on Delaware, by a

partial transa(;tion with a few of a deputation, he, nevertheless, soon man-
ifested that he considered his right as not beyond question, by his assembling

the Delaware chiefs the next year, 1737, to treat further u|)on it. The names
of tliese chicl's were Monokykickan, Lappawinzoe, Tishekunk and JViUimus.*

At this conference a release was obtained from them, the preamble of which
set Ibrtli,

"That Tishekunk and JVviitmts had, about three years before, b»'gun a

treaty at Durham with Johii and Tkotiias Penn; that from thence another

" His name siffnified, a striker ofjish with a spear. H<;ckewel(lcr. He was ajciierally

calico I'onliiis Niitaiiuieus—an exccllenl man, w'lo never draiik liquor. He was born on the

spot where I'liiladelpliia now stands, reniovcil to Ohio about 1745, died on the Rluskinp^iniil

1780, aged al>out 100 years. He had a brother wlio was called Isaac Nutimus, and like him

was a very amiable man, and died about the same time, lb
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meeting was appointed to be at Peiuisbury the next si)ring, to which they
repaired with Lappaivinzoe, and several others of the Delaware Indians

;

that, at this meeting, several deeds were shown to them for several tracts of
land wliich their foi'efathers hail more than 50 years ago sold to f^Villiam Penn

;

and, in particular, one deed, from Maykeerikkisho, Sayhoppey and Taugh-
hauglisey, the chiefs or kings of the Northern Indians on Delaware, who tor a
certain quantity of goods, had granted to JVilliam Penn a tract of land, begin-

ning on a line drawn from ai certain spruce-tree on the River Delaware, by
a west-north-west course to Neshameny Creek, from thence back into the

woods as far as a man could go in a day and a half, and bounded on the west
by Neshameny, or the most westerly branch thereotj so far as the said branch
doth extend, and from thence by a line [blank] to the utmost extent of the

day and half's walk, and from thence [blank] to the aforesaid River Delaware,
and so down the courses of the river to the first mentioned spruce tree ; and
that this appeared to be true by William Biles and Joseph IVood, who, upon
cheir affirmation, did declare, that they well remembered the treaty iield by
the agents of William Penn and those Indians ;" " that they were now come to

Philadelphia with their chief Monokyhickan, and several other old men, and
upon a former treaty held upon the same subject, acknowledge themselves
satisfied that the above described tract was granted by the persons above
mentioned, for which reason, they the said Monokyhickan, Lappawinzoe, Ti-

shekunk and JVutimus, agree to release to the proprietors all right to that tract,

and desire that it may be walked, travelled, or gone over by persons ap-

pointed for that purpose."

Now it must be borne in mind, that by former treaties the Lechay Hills,

which I take to mean the Lehigh Mountains, were to be the boundaries, in

all time to come, on the north : meanwiiile we will proceed to describe the

manner the land was loalked out, of which we have been speaking.
" The relation which Thames Furniss, sadler, gives concerning the day an

a half's ivalk, made between the proprietors of Pennsylvania and the Delawar.

Indiajis, by James Yeates and Edward Marshall."
" At the tinie of the walk I was a dweller at Newton, and a near ncighbo

to James Yeates. My situation gave him an easy opportunity of acquaintin.

me with the thne of setting out, as it did me of hearing the difierent senti

ments of the neighborhood concerning the ivalk ; some alleging it was to b<

made by the river, others that it was to be gone upon a straight line Iron:

somewhere in Wright's-town, opposite to a spruce-tree upon the river's l)ank,

said to be a boundary to a former purchase. When the walkers started I

was a little behind, but was informed they proceeded from a chestnut-tree

near the turning out of the road from Durham road to John Chtpman's, and

being on horseback, overtook them before they reached Buckingham, and kept

company for some distance beyond the Blue Mountains, though not quite to

the end of the journey. Two Indians attended, whom I considered as depu-

ties appointed by the Delaware nation, to see the walk honestly performed.

One of them repeatedly expressed his dissatisfaction therewith. The fii-st

day of the walk, before we reached Durham creek, where we dined in the

meadows of one Ifilson, an Indian trader, the Indian said the walk was to

have been made up the river, and complaining of the unfitness of liis shoe-

packs for travelling said he expected Thomas Penn would have made him a

present of some shoes. After this some of us that had horses, walked, and

let tile Indians ride by turns
;
yet in the afternoon of tiie same day, and som&

hours before sunset, the Indians left us, having often called to Murshall tiiat

afternoon and forbid him to run. At parting they ap])eared dissatisfied, and

gai;^ thoy woidd go no farther with us; for as they saw the icalkers would

[lass all the good land, they did not care how far or where we went to. It

was said we traveled 12 hoins tlie first day, and it being in the latter end of

Sej)tember, or beginning of October, to complete the time, were obliged

to walk, in the twilight. Timothy Smith, then sheriff of Bucks, held his

watch ibr some minutes before we stojjped, and the walkers liaving a i)iece

of rising ground to ascend, he called out to them, telling the minutes beic"

and bid them puliup, which they did so briskly, that, immediately upon

sayiJig the time was out, Marshall clasped his arms about a saplin to sup^

45 21
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bimse]f, and thereupon the sheriff asking him what was the matter, he said

he was ahiiost gone, and that, if he had proceeded a few poles further, he
must have fallen. We lodged in the woods that night, and heard the shout-

ing of the Indians at a cantico, which they were said to hold that evening in

a town hard by. Next morning the Indians were sent to, to know if they
would accompany us any farther, but they decfined it, although I believe

some of tiiem came to us before we started, and di'ank a dram in the com-
pany, and then straggled off about their hunting or some other amusement. In

our return we came through this Lulian town or plantation, Timothy Smith and
myself riding forty yards more or less before the company, and as we ap-

proached within about 150 paces of the town, the woods being open, we saw
an Lidian take a gun in his hand, and advancing towards us some distance,

placed himself behind a log that laid by om* way. Timothy observhig his

motions, and being somewhat sm-prised, as I apprehended, looked at me, and
asked what I thought that Indian meant. I said, T hoped no harm, and that

I thought it best to keep on, which the Indian seeing, arose and walked before

us to the settlement. I think Smith was surprised, as I well remember I was,

through a consciousness that the Indians were dissatisfied with the walk, a
thing the whole company seemed to be sensible of, and upon the way, in

our return home, frequently expressed themselves to that purpose. And
indeed the unfairness practised in the walk, both in regard to the way where,
and the manner how, it was performed, and the dissatisfaction of the Lidians

concernuig it, were the common subjects of conversation in our neighbor-

hood, for some considerable time after it was done. When the walk was
performed I was a young man in the prime of life. The novelty of the thing

inclined me to be a spectator, and as I had been brought up most of my
time in Burlington, the whole transaction to me was a series of occurrences
almost entirely new, and which therefore, I apprehend, made the more strong

and lasthig impression on my memory.
Thomas Furniss." *

As we have already observed, the end of these affau-s was war. The
Delawares were driven back, and they joined the French against the

English

CHAPTER m.

Of several chiefs spoken of by Washington, in his journal of an embassy to the French

of Ohio—Battle near Great Meadows, and death of Jumonvdle—Shingis—Mona-
CAToocHA

—

Half-King— Juskakaka—White-Thunder— Alliquipa— Cap-
tain Jacobs—Hendrick—His history— Curious anecdote of—Logan— Cresap's

War—Battle of Point Pleasant—Logan s famous speech—Cornstock—His history

—Red-hawk—Ellinipsico— The barbarous murder of these three—Melancholy

death of Logan—Pontiac—Jl renowned warrior— Colonel Rogers's account (f him—His policy—Fall of Michilimakinak—Menehwehna—Siege of Detroit—Ponti-

ac's stratagem to surprise it—Is discovered— Official account of the affair at Bloody

Bridge—Pontiac abandons the siege—Becomes thefriend of the English—Is assas

sinated,.

The expedition of WasUnscton to the French on the Ohio, in 1753, brings

to our records information of several chiefs of the Six Nations, of the most
interesting kind. He was commissioned and sent as an ambassador to the

French, by Governor DiniddUe of Virginia. He kept an accurate journal

of his travels, which, on his return to Virginia, was published, and, not long

after, the same was republished in Loudon, with a map ; the substance

of this journal was copied into almost every periodical of importance of

that day.

* Causes of the Alienation of the Delaware and Shawanese Indians, &c., 8vo. Lon

don, 1759.
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SHEVGIS was the fii-st chief he visited, who lived in the forks of tlie

Alleghany and Monongahela Rivers, where Pittsburgh now stands. He intend-
ed liolding a council with the celebrated Half-king* already mentioned, at
Loggstovvn, and such others as could be assembled at short notice, to streugtlien
them in the English interest. He therefore invited Shingis to attend the
council, and he accordingly accompanied him to Loggstown. " As soon aa
I came into town," says Washington, " I went to Monakatoocha, (as the Half-
king was out at his hunting cabin, on Little Beaver Creek, about 15 miles oif,)

and inlbrmed him by John Davidson, my Indian hiterpreter, that I was sent a
messenger to the French general, and was ordered to call upon the sachems
of the Six Nations to acquamt them with it. I gave him a string of wampum
and a twist of tobacco, and desired him to send tor the half-king, which he
promised to do by a runner in the morning, and for other sachems. I in-

vited him and the other great men present to my tent, where they stayt;d

about an hour, and retm-ned." This place was about 140 miles, " as we went,
and computed it," says the great writer, " from our back settlements, where
we arrived between smisetting and dark, the twenty-fifth day after I left

Williamsburgh."
Half-king, it seems, had, not long before, visited the same place to which

Washington was now destined ; for as soon as he returzied to his town, Wash-
ington invited him privately to his tent, " and desu'ed him to relate some of
the particulars of his journey to the French commandant," the best way for

him to go, and the distance trom that place. "He told me," says Washington,
"that the nearest and levelest way was now impassable, by reason of
many large miry savannas ; that we must be obliged to go by Venango, and
should not get to the near fort in less than five or six nights' sleep, good
travelling." Half-king further mformed him that he met with a cold recep-
tion ; that the French ofliicer sternly ordered him to declare his business,
which he did, he eaid, in the following speech:

—

"Fathers, I am come to tell you your own speeches ; what your own m "uths

have declared. You, in former days, set a silver basin belbre us, wli rein
there was the leg of a beaver, and desired all the nations to come and eat of
it ; to eat m peace and plenty, and not to be chm-lish to one another : and that

if any such person should be Ibund to be a distm'ber, I here lay down by the

edge of the dish a rod, which you must scourge them with; and if your lather

should get foolish, in my old days, I desire you may use it upon me as well

as others.—Now, fathers, it is you who are the disturbers in this land, by
coming and building your towns ; and taking it away unknown to us, and by
force.—We kindled a fu-e, a long time ago, at a place called Montreal, where
we desired you to stay, and not to come and intrude upon our land. I now
desire you may despatch to that place; for, be it known to you, fathers, that

this is our land, and not yours.—I desire you may hear me in civilness; if

not, we must handle that rod which was laid down for the use of the obstrep-

erous. If you had come in a peaceable manner, like our brothers the English,
we would not have been against your trading with us, as they do; but to

come, fathers, and build houses upon our land, and to take it by force, is

what we cannot submit to."

Half-king then repeated what was said to him in reply by the French,
which, when he had done, Washington made a speech to him and his council.

He acquainted them with the reason of his visit, and told them he was in-

structed to call upon them by the governor of Virginia, to advise with them,
to assure them of the love of the English, and to ask the assistance of some
of their young men, to conduct him through the wilderness, to the F'rench,

to whom he had a letter from his governor. Half-king made this reply:

—

" In regard to what my brother the governor had desired of me, I return

* He is called a Huron by Loskiel, Hist. Missions, iii. 123. He was called by the Dela-

wares Pomoacan, which in English means Sweet-house. Hec/cewelder, Nar. 235. In ihe

letter, or speech, as Washington called it, which this chief sent to the governors of Virginia

and Pennsylvania, in 1754, his name is set down Seruniyattha. See 1 Co/l. Mass. Hist. Sac,

vi. 143.— I will here note, that my friend, Jakkd Sp.ikks, Esq., verbally informs me, tliat he

is of opinion, thai this is not the same Half-king mentioned in Los/del. I cun now of Uif

same belief, although it is possible.
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you this answer." " I rely upon you as a brother ought to do, as you say we
are brothers, and one people." "Brother, as you have asked my advice, I

hope you will be ruled by it, and stay until I can provide a company to go
with you. The French speech belt is not here ; I have it to go tor to my
hunting cabin. Likewise the people, whom I have ordered in, are not yet

come, and caimot until the third night from this ; until which time, brother,

1 must beg you to stay."

When Washington told him that his business would not admit of so miicli

delay, the chief seemed displeased, and said it was " a matter of no small mo-
ment, and must not be entered ivithout due consideration,^' Perhaps it will not

be too much, to give this Indian chief credit for some of that character which
was so well exemplified by fFashington in all his after-life. And " as I found
it impossible," says the nan'ator, " to get off, without affronting them in the

most egregious manner, I consented to stay." Accordingly, Half-king gave
orders to King Shingis, who was present, to attend on Wednesday night with

tlie wampum, and two men of their nation, to be in readiness to set out with
us next morning." There was still a delay of another day, as the chiefs

could not get in their wampum and young men which were to be sent ; and,

after all, but three chiefs and one hunter accompanied. " We set out," says

Washington, " about 9 o'clock, with the Half-king, Juskakaka,* White-thunder,

and the hunter ; and travelled on the I'oad to Venango, where we arrived the

4th of December." This place is situated at the junction of French Creek
with the Ohio. Here the French had a garrison, and another a short distance

above it, which was the extent of our discoverer's peregrinations northward.

The commanders of these posts used all means to entice Half-king to desert

the English, and it was with gi'eat difficulty that Washington succeeded in

preventing them. They endeavored to weary him out by making the chiefs

delay their departure from day to day, by means of hquor, so that they should

be left behind. At length, having out-generalled his complotters, and " got

tilings ready to set off, I sent for the Half-king" continues the narrator, "to
know whether he intended to go with us, or by water. He told me that

White-thunder had huit himself much, and was sick, and unable to walk

;

therefore he was obliged to carry him down in a canoe ; " so, notwithstanding

the delays, Washington was obliged to go without him ; but he cautioned him
strongly against believing Monsieur Joncaire's pretensions of friendship, and
representations against the English. Hero ends Washington's account of

Half-kvig.
And before closing our account of the termination of Washington's journey,

we will close our account of this chief also. In 1754 he accompanied Wash-
ington in his excursion to dislodge the French from the disputed territoi-y

upon the Ohio, and was his constant counsellor, until after the surrender of

Fort Necessity at the Great Meadows, on tlie 4 July. At the sur])rise of M.
de JumonviUe, on the 28 May previous, he led a company of his warriors,

€uk1 piloted the English under Washington to the place where he was encamped,
whicii was but a tew miles from Great Meadows. JumonviUe's force was
small, consisting of but about 83 men. The night previous to the attack.

Half-king, who was encam])ed six miles from Great Meadows, having made
a discovery of the ajijiroach of the French force, sent an express to Washing-

ton, to inform him that the French were discovered in an obscure retreat.

The colonel immediately marched out with 40 men and reached Half-king's

quarters a little before sunrise. A council was now held by the chieis of the

parties, and itw.is agreed that the English and Indians should march together

and attack the I'lciich. They marched in single file through the woods, in

the Indian manner, in a most dismal storm of rain ; and following the track

just ex])lored by Half-king's spies, soon found themselves near the party

JumonviUe was in a secure place, half a mile from a road, and surrounded

by rocks, and had he not been fallen upon by surjirise, it is doubtful whether
the attacking party had not found it difficult to have contended successfully

* We hear ag-ain of tliis i-liief in 1794, wlicn, with 68 others, he signed a treaty with th»

United States at Fort Stanwix. His name is there written JisliJcaaga, which signified a-green

l^asshopper. He was sometimes called Little-Billy.



Chap, ill ] SHINGIS—KUSTALOGA. 533

against him. But not being discovered, Washington made a good disposition
of liis men ; himself with the English formed the right wing, and Half-king
at tiie head of the Indians, the left The French were found vvitliout theii-

arms in their hands, but they flew to tliem, and a fight of about 15 minutes
ensued. None of the party escaped. Eleven of the French were killed,

among whom was M. de Jumonville ; one woimdcd, and 21 taken prisoners.
Washington lost but one man, and two or three only were wounded.*
We now return to the narrative of Washington, which we had found it

necessary abruptly to interrupt.

He now set out for the frontiers with all expedition. He had, he says, the
'• most fatiguing journey possible to conceive of. From the 1st to the 15th
December, there was but one day on which it did not rain or snow inces-
santly ; and through the whole journey, we met with nothing but one contm-
ued series of cold, wet weather."

This expedition of Washington has in it great interest, more especially fi-om

his superior eminence afterwards. It is pleasing to contemplate the " savior
of his counti-y " in every adventure and circumstance of his life ; and even
gratifymg to view him with a gun in one hand, a staff in the other, and a
pack upon his back; wading through rivers, encountering storms of sleet and
snow, and sleeping upon the gromid, thus early, for his countiy's good. He
had some very naiTOW escapes, and, during part of the way on his i-etum, he
had but one attendant. One day, as they were passing a place called Mur-
dering Town, they were fired upon by one of a war-party of French Indians,

who had waited in ambush for them ; and although they were within fifteen

paces of him, yet they escaped unhurt. They captured the fellow that fired

upon them, and kept him until nine at night, then dismissed him, and trav-

elled all night, "without making any stop," feai-ing they should be pui'sued
the next morning by his party. Continuing their com-se all the next day,
they came to the river where they intended to cross. Here the firmness of
Washington and his companion was thoroughly tried. The river was verj

high, and filled with floating ice, and thei-e was no way to pass it but by a

reift. They had " but one poor hatchet," with the assistance of Avhich, after

laboring from morning till smiset, they had a raft ready to launch ; on this

they set out, but it was soon crushed between the floating ice, and they very
narrowly escaped perishing. Washington was himself precipitated into the

rivei*, where the water was ten feet deep. Fortunately, however, he catched
by a fragment of the raft, and saved himself. They finally extricated them-
selves from their perilous situation, by getting upon the ice which confined
their frail bark, and from thence to an island, and finally to the opposite shore.

The cold was so intense, that Mr. Gist froze his hands and feet. This place
was about three miles below the mouth of the Yohogany, where an Indian
queen, as Washington calls her, lived. He went to see her, he observes, she
having " expressed great concern that we passed her in going to the fort, i

made her a present of a watch coat, and a bottle of rum, which latter was
thought much the best present of the two." Her name was Alliquippa. From
this place, he pursued his jom-ney home without further accident.

We have mentioned the friendly attention of Shingis to our adventurer, who
had probably expected he would have attended him on his journey ; but Shin-

gis went to collect in his men, and did not return. The Indians said it was
owing to the sickness of his wife, but Washington thought it was fear of the

French, which prevented him. But this conjecture does not seem well

founded, for he ordered Kustaloga, who lived at Venango, to proceed to the

French and return the wampum, which was as much as to tell them they
wished no further fellowship with them.
The massacres wliich followed BraddocKs defeat were horrible beyond

description. Shingis and Captain Jacobs were supposed to have been the

principal instigators of them, and 700 dollars were offered for their heads.-}

Captain Jacobs did not long escape, although the reward did not hasten hia

end. The hostile Indians had their head-quarters at Kitanning on the AUegha-

* Sparks's Writing's of Washington, ii. 451, 452.

t Watson's Annals of Philadelphia, 450.
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ny River, 44 miles above its confluence with the Monongahela. Here they

retired with then- prisoners and booty after their expeditions into the frontiers

In 1756, Colonel John Armstrong was sent with about 300 men against Ki
tanning. "On 3 September he joined the advanced party at the Beayei

Dams, near Frankstown ; and on the 7th in the evening, being within 6 miles

of Kitanning, the scouts discovered a fire m the road, and reported that there

were but 3 or at most 4 Lidians at it. It was not thought proper to attempt

surprising" them, as it might be a means of alarming the town, if any should

escape. Hence Lieutenant Hogg, with a file of 12 men, was ordered to watch

them, while the main body proceeded to the immediate vicinity of Kitanning.

The night being warm, many of the Indians lodged in a cornfield upon the

margin of the river, about 100 rods below the town. Here at day-break the

attack began. Several Indians were killed in the field, and the town was im
mediately entered. As they advanced. Captain Jacobs gave the war whoop,

retii-ed to his log-cabin, and defended himself with great bravery. Inspired

I)y his intrepidity, his men refused quai'ter, saying, " fFe are men, and luill not

be prisoners.'" The whites being unable to drive them from then- wigwams
Colonel Armstrong ordered these to be set on fii'e. At the same time he re

ceived a musket-shot in the shoulder. " When the Indians were told that thej

would be burnt if they did not suirender, one of them replied, he did not care,

as he could kill 4 or 5 before he. died." When the fire approached them, some
began to sing, and others burst from then- houses, and were killed hi theii

flight. Captain Jacobs, when defence could no longer avail him, endeavored

to escape, with his wife, though a window of his house. This was his last act

—he was shot down, and his wife also. A lad, called the King^s Son, was killed

with them. As at Nerigwok, many were killed in the river as they fled.

The Indians were said to have had their houses stored with sjmre arms and

ammunition ; for, when they were burnt up, their guns discharged from the heat,

and quantities of powder blew up from time to time, which threw some of

their bodies to a great height in the air. Eleven prisoners were recovered at this

tune, who informed their deliverers that a great quantity of goods was also

consumed, which had but ten days before been sent them by the French ; and

that the Indians had boasted that they had powder enough for a ten years' wai-

with the English. They also learned that the party which Lieutenant Hogg
had been left to watch, instead of being but 3 or 4, consisted of 24 warriors,

who were on their way to attack Fort Shirley, having been sent forward by

Captain Jacobs, while he was to have followed with a strong force the next

day. Hence the fate of the lieutenant's party was suspected. On returning

to the place. Colonel Armstrong found that Lieutenant Hogg had attacked the

Indians at great disadvantage, in point of numbers, and had been defeated,

himself and Captain Mercer (afterwards General Mercer, who fell at Princeton)

eeverely wounded. At the first fii-e Hogg's party killed 3 of the Indians, who,

after maintaining the fight for an horn-, killed but 3 of the whites. Hogg,

being now wounded, was abandoned by his men, but was fortunate enough to

be found by the army.* It was at this period, that the dead bodies of some
that had been murdered and mangled were sent fi-om the frontiers to Phila-

delphia, and hauled about the streets, to inflame tlie people against the

Lidians, and also against the Quakers, to whose mild forbearance was attrib-

uted ;i laxity in sending out troops. Tlie mob surrounded the house of

assembly, having placed the dead bodies at its entrance, and denianded im-

mediate succor. Ax. this time the above reward was offered.

Mr. Hechetvelder knew Shingis, or, as he wrote his name, Shingask, f and

gave him a good character. He was brother to King-beaver, and in the French

war was considered thi; greatest Indian warrior of the day. He was a terror

to the whole frontier of Pennsylvania. " Passing one day with him," says Mr.

Heckewelder, "in the summer of 1762, near by where his two prisoner boya

(about 12 years of age) were amusing themselves with his own boys, and he

observing me looking that way, inquired what I was looking at. On ray

replying that I was looking at his prisoners, he said. When I first took them

* Coll. N. Y. Hist. Soc. iii. 398—5 3 Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. iv. 298—9.

t Level, or Bog-meaitow.



Chap. HI.] SHINGIS.—HEiNDRICK. 535

they were such ; but they are now my children ; eat their victuals out of oue
and the same bowl ! whicii was saying as much as, that they, in all respects,
were on an equal footing with his own children—alike dear to him." Though
of small stature, the same author observes, he had a great mind.

Tiie wife of this chief died in 17G2. She was of the liighest nuik and re-

spectability ; and the ceremonies at her funeral, and manner of decoration
tuid interment, described hei"e, would occupy several pages.*

Li the time of the French war, when the governor of Pennsylvania sent C
F. Post to the distant tribes to persuade them from aiding tiie French, nien-
tion is often made in the journal which he kcpt,f of Shingis, and unilbrmly to

his advantage. The Reverend Mr. Post pertbrmed two missions, the first at

the close of 1758, and the second in 1759. Under date of 28 August, 1758,
he wi'ites, "We set out fi'om Sawcunk in company with 20, for Kushcushkec

;

on the road Shingas addressed himself to me, and asked, it" I did not think,

that if he came to the English they would hang him, as they had offered a

great reward for his head. I told him that was a great while ago, 'twas all

lorgotten and wiped away now." An Indian in the company, called Shamo-
kin Daniel, who had been tampered with by the French, understanding what
was said, interrupted and said, " Don't believe him, he tells nothing but idle

lyuig stories," and asked, "Why then did the English hire 1200 Indians

[meaning the Cherokees] to kill us .' " Mr. Post protesting it was false, Daniel
vociferated, G—d d—u you for a Ibol ; did you not see the woman lying in the

road that was killed by the Lidiaiis that the English hired ? " After a few
other harsh expressions, Shingis told him to be still, for he did not know what
he said."

Mr. Post dined with Shingis on the 29 August, at which time he observed to

him, that although the English had offered a great reward for his head, yet he
had never thought to revenge himself, but was always veiy kind to such pris-

oners as were brought in, and that he would do all in his power to bring

about a peace, and wished he could be sure the English were in earnest for

peace also.

i\lthough the name of Shingis has not generally been as conspicuous as

that of Captain Jacobs, yet he is said to have been " the greatest Delaware
warrior of his time," and that, " were his war exploits on record, they would
form an interesting document, though a shocking oue." J

Hendrick was a gallant Mohawk chief, who took part, with many of his

men, against the French, in the year 1755. The French were encouraged

by the defeat of General Braddock, and were in high expectation of carrying

all before them. Hendrick joined the English arniy at the request of General

Johnson, and met the French, consisting of 2000 men, under General Dieskau

at Lake George. While the English and Indians were encamped in a slight

work, their scouts brought news of the approach of the French, with a great

body of Indians upon their flanks. General Johnson despatched Colonel

Williams of Massachusetts, with 1000 men, and Hendrick with 200 of his war-

riors, to give them battle ; but falling in with them about four miles from camp
unexpectedly, Colonels Williams and Hendrick were killed, with many other

officers and privates of the detachment. The rest fled to the main body with

great precipitation, infusing consternation into the whole army.§ The French

followed closely, and poured in a tremendous fire, which did very little exe-

cution, fi-om the precaution of the English in falling flat upon their faces.

They soon recovered Irom then- surprise, and fought with braveiy, havijig

advantage not only in numbers, but artilleiy, of which the French had noue.||

At length the brave Dieskau was wounded in the thigh, and his Indians, be-

ing terrified at the havoc made by the cannon of the English, fled to the

woods, and the regulars were ordered to retreat by their general, which they

did in great disorder. General Dieskau was found in the pursuit, supporting

himself by the stump of a tree. Supposing plunder to be the first object ot

* For which see Heckeicelder's Hist. Ind. Nations, 264, &c.
+ Reprinted in " Tlie Causes of the Alienation," &c., and Prmtd's Pa., vol. 2d.

X Hecketoelder's Narrative, 64.

6 Tlie English lost about 200 in this ambush. Guthrie's Universal History, x 94.

Ibid.
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Lis captors, as he was attempting to draw his watch to present to them, some
one, supposing- him to be searching for his pistol, dischai-ged his gun into

his hi|)s. Notwithstanding he was thus twice wounded, he lived to reach

England, but he died soon after. The French lost 800 men in the attack.

When General Johnson was about to detach Colonel Williams, he asked

Hendrick^s opinion, whether the force was sufficient. To which he replied,

*^ If they are tojight, they are too few. If they are to be killed, they are too mffw^'."

And wiien it was proposed to divide the detachment into three parts, Hen-
drick objected, and tbrcibly to express the impracticability of the plan, picked

up three sticks, and, putting them together, said to the general, " You see now
that these cannot he easily broken; bid take them one by one, and you may break

them at once." But ti-om this valuable counsel very littl© advantage seems to

have been derived.

It was reported at the time, that 38 of Hendrick''s men were killed, and 12

.'ounded.* Few historians mention the loss of the Indians
;
probably con-

dering them as unworthy of record ! Such historians may beforgotten. At
ast, they cannot expect to pass under that name in another age.

The Indians were greatly exasperated against the French," by the deatii

the famous Hendrick," says the same writer, "a renowned Indian warrior
• ong the Mohawks, and one of their sachems, or kings, who was slain in the

oattle, andwhose son, upon being told that his father was killed, giving the

usucfl Indian groan upon such occasions, and suddenly putting his hand on

his left breast, swore his father was still alive in that place, and stood there in

his son : that it was with the utmost difficulty, General Johnson prevented the

fury of their resentment takmg place on the body of the French general."f

As soon as the battle was over, the Indians dispersed themselves in various

directions, with the trophies of victoiy ; some to then- homes, to condole

with the friends of the slain, and some to the English, to cai-ry the welcome
news of victory. The different runners brought into Albany above 80 scalps

within a very short time after the fight.J And thus we are ftunished witli an

eai'ly record of the wretched custom which appears to have been fostered,

and actually encouraged by all who have employed the Indians as auxiliaries

in war. Indeed to employ them, was to employ then- practices—they were
inseparable. To talk, as some have done, of employing them, and prevent-

ing their barbarous customs with the unfortiuiate captives, all experience

shows, is but to talk one thing and mean another.

Soon after Sir William Johnson entered upon his duties as superintendent

of Indian affairs in North America, he received from England some richly

embroidered suits of clothes. Hendiick was present wlien they were re-

ceived, and could not help expressing a great desire for a share in them. He
went away very thoughtful, but retm-ned not long after, and called upon Sir

William, and told him he had dreamed a dream. Sir William very con-

cernedly desired to know what it was. Hendrick as readily told him he

Aad dreamed that Sir William Johnson had presented him with one of his

new suits of uniform. Sir William could not refuse it, and one of the elegant

suits was forthwith presented to Hendrick, who Avent away to show his

present to his countrymen, and left Su* William to tell the joke to his friends.

Some time after, the general met Hendrick, and told him he had dreamed a

dream. Whether the sachem mistrusted that he was now to be taken in hie

own net, or not, is not certain : but he seriously desired to know what t >vas,

as Sir William had done before. The general said he dreamed ttiat Hendiick

had {)resented him with a certain tract of land, which he described, (consist-

ing of about 500 acres of the most valual)le land in the valley of the Mohawk
River.) Hendrick answered, "/< is yours; " but, sliaking his head, said, " Sir

William Johnson, I will never dream with you again."

John Konkapot, a Stoekbridge Indian, was grandson to Hendrick, and lie

informs us tliat his grandfather was son of the Wolf, a Mohegan chief, and

that ids mother was a Mohawk.§ Reverend Gideon Haivley, in a letter to

Governor Hutchinson (1770) about tlie Marshpee Indians, has this passage

• Gent. Magazine for 1755. t H'i'i X Ibid.

^ CoU Ma^s. Hist. Soc.
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" Among Johnson's Mohawks, Abraham and Hendrick were the oldest of their

tribe, when they died, and neither of them was 70, at their deaths. I saw a
sister of theirs in 1765, who appeared to be several yeai's above 70. At
Stockbridge, Captain Kunkapot was for many yeai's the oldest man in his

tribe." * We have now come to one of the most noted chiefs in Indian story

Logan was called a Mingo f chief, whose father, Shikellimus, was chiet

of the Cayugas, whom he succeeded. Shikellimus was attached in a remark-
able degree to the benevolent James Logan, from which circumstance, it is

probable, his son bore his name. The name is still perpetuated among the

Lidians. For magnanimity in war, and greatness of soid in peace, lew, if any,

in any nation, ever sm-passed Logan. He took no part in the French wars
which ended in 1760, except that of a peacemaker; was always acknowl-
edged the friend of the white people, imtil the year 1774, when his brother

and several others of his family were murdered, the paiticulars of which
follow. In the spring of 1774, some Indians robbed the people upon the

Ohio River,J who were in that country exploring the lands, and prejjaring for

settlements. These land-jobbers were alarmed at this hostile cai'riage of the

Indians, as they considered it, and collected themselves at a place called

Wheeling Creek, the site on which Wheeling is now built, and, learning that

there were two Indians on the river a little above, one Captain Michael Cresap,

belonging to the exploring party, proposed to fall upon and kill them. His
advice, although opposed at first, was followed, and a party led by Cresap

proceeded and killed the two Indians. The same day, it being reported that

some Lidians were discovered below Wheeling upon the river, Cresap and
his party immediately marched to the place, and at first appeared to show
themselves friendly, and suffered the Indians to pass by them unmolested,

to encamp still lower down, at the mouth of Grave Creek. Cresap soon

followed, attacked and killed several of them, having one of his own men
woimded by the fire of the Indians. Here some of the family of Logan
were slain. The circumstance of the affair was exceeding aggravating, inas-

much as the whites pretended no provocation.

Soon afler this, some other monsters in human shape, at whose head were
Daniel Greathouse and one Tondimon, committed a horrid murder upon a

company of Indians about thkty miles above Wheeling. Greathouse resided

at the same place, but on the opposite side of the river from the Lidian en-

campment. A party of thirty-two men were collected for this object, who
secreted themselves, while Greathouse, under a pretence of friendship, crossed

the river and visited them, to ascertain their strength ; on countmg them,

he found they were too numerous for his force in an open attack. These

Indians, having heard of the late murder of their relations, had determined

to be avenged of the whites, and Greathouse did not know the danger he was
ill, until a squaw advised him of it, in a friendly caution, "to go home." The
sad requital this poor woman met with will presently appear. This abomi-

nable fellow invited the Indians to come over the river and drink rum with him

;

this being a part of his plot to separate them, that they might be the easier de-

stroyed. The opportunity soon oflTered ; a number being collected at a tavern in

the white settlement, and considerably intoxicated, were fallen upon, and all

murdered, except a little girl. Among the murdered was a brother of Logan,

and his sister, vvhose delicate situation greatly aggravated the horrid crime.

The remaining Indians, upon the other side of the river, on heai-ing the

firing, set off two canoes with armed warriors, who, as they approached the

shore, were fired upon by the whites, who lay concealed, awaiting their

approach. Nothing prevented their taking deadly aim, and many were

killed and wounded, and the rest were obliged to return. This affair took

place May 24th, 1774.§ These were the events that led to a horrid Indian

» Coll. Mass. Hist. Soc. 3. i. 151.

i Mengwe, Slaqtms, Maqua, or Iroqtws all mean the same. .

+ " In the month of April, 1774, a rumor was circulated, that the Indians had stolen several

horses from some land-jobbers on the Ohio and Kentucky Rivers ; no evidence-s of the fact

having been adduced, lead to the conclusion that the report was false. I)oddndt(e

»

Notes, 225-6.

$ Facts published in Jefferson's Notes.
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war, in which many innocent families were sacrificed to satisfy the ven-

geance of an incensed and injured people.

A calm followed these troubles, but it was only such as goes before the

storm, and lasted only while the tocsin of war could be sounded among the

rlistant Indians. On the 12 July, 1774, Logan, at the head of a small party

of only eight warriors, struck a blow on some inhabitants upon the Muskin-
gum, where no one expected it. He had left the settlements on the Ohio
undisturbed, which every one supposed would be the first attacked, in case
of war, and hence the reason of his great successes. His first attack was
upon thi-ee men who were pullmg flax in a field. One was shot down, and
the two others taken. These were marched into the wilderness, and, as

they approached the Indian town, Logan gave the scalp halloo, and they

were met by the inhabitants, who conducted them in. Running the gantlet

was next to be performed. Logan took no delight in tortm-es, and he hi the

most friendly manner instructed one of the captives how to proceed to

escape the severities of the gantlet. This same captive, whose name was
Robinson, was afterwards sentenced to be burned ; but Logan, though not
able to rescue him by his eloquence, with his own hand cut the cords that

bound him to the stake, and caused him to be adopted into an Indian family.

He became afterwards Logan's scribe, and wrote the letter that was tied to a

war cluh,, the particulars of which we shall relate farther onward.
There was a chief among the Shawaxiese more renowned as a warrior

than even Logan himself at this time. CORNSTOCK * was his name, and
to him seems to have fallen the chief direction of the war that was now
begun ; the causes of which were doubtless owing to the outrages already

detailed, committed by Cresap and Greathouse, but there can Ije but little if

any doubt, that the several tribes engaged in it, had each been sufficiently

injured to justify thei7' participation also. The history of the murder of

Bald Eagle is more than sufficient to account tor the part acted by the Dela-

wares. What this man had been in his younger days is unknown to history,

but at this time he was an old inoffensive Delaware chief, who wandered
harmJessiy up and down among the whites, visiting those most frequently

who would entertain him best. Having been on a visit to the fort at the

mouth of Kanhawa, he was met, as he was ascending alone upon the river

in his canoe, by a man, who, it is said, had suffered much from the Indians.

It was in the evening, and whether any thing happened to justify violence on
the part of either, we have no evidence, but certain it is, the white man
killed the chief, and scalped him, and, to give his abominable crime pub-
licity, set the dead body upright in the canoe, and in this manner caused it

to drift down the river, where it was beheld by many as it passed then).

From the apjiearance of the old chief, no one suspected he was dead, but

veiy naturally concluded he was upon one of his ordinary visits. The truth

of the affair, however, soo.^i got to his nation, and they quickly avowed ven-

geance for the outrage, f

The Virginia legislature vv°s in session when the news of an Indian war
was received at the seat of govern, nent. Governor Dunmore inmiediately

gave orders for the assembling o. SOOO men ; one half of whom were to

march for the mouth of the great Kanhawa under the command of General

Andrew Lewis,\ and the remainder, under the governor in person, ^^as to

proceed to some jjoint on the Ohio, above the former, in order to fall upon

the In<lian towns between, while the warriors should be drawn off by the

approach of Lewis in the opposite direction. He was then to proceed down
the Ohio, and form a junction with General Letvi^ at Point Pleasant, from

whence they were to march according to circumstances.

* Generally written Cornstalk, Inil in our oldest printed account, it is as in the text. There

is no harm in changing the orthography of a word, when wc use it for a proper instead of a

romnion substantive.

t M'Chmn;.
_ _

\ His rank was that of colonel, but, being commander-in-chief of that division, was properly

salleil general, to distinguish liini from his brotlicr. who was also a colonel, and as having

the chief command.
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On the 11 September, the forces under General Lewis, amounting to

1100 men, commenced their march from Camp Union for Point Pleasant on
the Great Kanhaway, distant 160 miles. The country betweun was a track-

less wilderness. The army was piloted by Captain Matthew Arbuckle, by
the nearest practicable route. The baggage was all transported on pack-
horses, and their m£U"ch took up 19 days.*

Having arrived there upon the last day of' the month, an encampment was
commenced on the first of October. Here General Lewis waited with
anxiety to get some tidings of Dimmore, for eight or nine days. At the end
of this time, no prospect of a junction appearing, news was brought into

camp in the morning of the 10 Octolier, by one of two persons who had
escaped the rifles of a great body of Indians about two miles up the Ohio,
that an attack would be immediately made. These two men were upon a

deer hunt, and came upon the Indians without observing them, when one
was shot down, and the other escaped to the camp with difficulty. He re-

ported " that he had seen a body of the enemy, covering foui* acres of ground,
as closely as they could stand by the side of each other." f

Upon this intelligence. General Lewis, " after having deliberately lighted

his pipe," t gave orders to his brother, Colonel Charles Lewis, to march with
his own regiment, and another under Colonel William Fleming, to recon-

noitre the enemy, while he put the remainder in a posture to support them.

These marched without loss of time, and about 400 yai'ds from camp met
the Indians intent upon the same object. Then- meeting was somewhere
between sim's rising and sun an hour high,^ and the fight in a moment
began. The Virginians, like their opponents, covered themselves with trees

or whatever else offered, but the latter were more than a match for them,

and put them to flight with great slaughter. Colonel Lewis was in full uni-

form, and being, from the nature of his duties, exposed at eveiy point, soon

fell mortally wounded.
|1

There was no result for which the commander-in-
chief was not prepared ; for at tlais critical moment he had ordered up
Colonel Field with his regiment, which, coming vnth great resolution and
firmness into action, saved the two retreating regiments, and effectually

checked the impetuosity of the Indians, who, in their tui-n, were obliged to

retreat behind a rough breastwork, which they had taken the precaution to

construct from logs and brush for the occasion.

The point of land on which the battle was fought was narrow, and the

Indians' breastwork extended from river to river : their plan of attack was the

best that could be conceived ; for in the event of victory on their part, not a

Virginian could have escaped. They had stationed men on both sides of

the river to prevent any that might attempt flight by swimming from the

apex of the triangle made by the confluence of the two rivers.

Never was ground maintained with more obstinacy; for it was slowly, and

with no precipitancy, that the Indians retired to their breastwork. Tiie divis-

ion under Lewis was first broken, althougli that under Fleming was nearly

at the same moment attacked. This heroic ofiicer first received two balls

through his left wiist, but continued to exercise his command with the great-

est coolness and presence of mind. His voice was continually heard, " Don't

lose an mch of ground. Advance outflank the enemy, and get bet^veen

them and the river." But his men were about to be outflanked by the body

that had just defeated Lewis ; meanwhile the arrival of Colonel Field tm-ned

the fortune of the dav, but not without a severe loss ; Colonel Fleming was

again wounded,1[ by a shot through the lungs ;
** yet he would not retire,

and Colonel Field was killed as he was leading on his men.

* Doddridge, 280. t Withers, 126. \ Myinns, 321.

§ At sun-rise, Burk,\a. 393.—Sun an hour high. Royal Amer. Magazijiefor ^orember, 177*.

—A little after sunrise, Doddridge, 231.—The sun was just rising, M'Clung, 322.—Sunrise,

Withers, 127.

11 He walked into camp, and expired in his own tent. Doddridge.

ir Mr. M' Clung says he was killed, but we cannot find any authority to agree with mm.

Mr. Wither-s says he was '• an active governor of Virginia during the revolutionary war.

Chronicles, 130.
•• Burk, iii. 394.



540 LOGAN.—BATTLE OF POL\T PLEASANT. [Book V

The whole line of the breastwork now became as a blaze of fire, which
lasted nearly till the close of the day Here the Indians under Logan, Corn-

stock, Elenipsico, Red-Eagle, and other mighty chiefs of the tribes of the

Shawauese, Delawai-es, ftlingoes, Wyandots and Cayugas, amounting, as was
supposed, to 1500 warriors, fought, as men will ever do for their country's

wrongs, with a bravery which could only be equalled. The voice of the

mighty Comstock was often heard diu-ing the day, above the din of strife,

calling on his men in these words :
" Be strong ! Be strong !

" And when by
the repeated charges of the whites, some of his warriors began to waver, he
is said to have sunk his tomahawk into the head of one who was cowai'dly

endeavoring to desert.

General Lewis, finding at length that every charge upon the lines of the

Indians lessened the number of his forces to an alarming degree, and rightly

judguig that if the Indians were not routed belbre it was dark, a day of
more doubt might follow, he resolved to thiow a body, if possil)le, into their

real". As the good fortune of the Virginians turned, the bank of the river

favored this project, and forthwith tlu*ee companies were detached upon the

enter})rise, under the three captains, Isaa£ Shelby, (afterwards renowned in

the revolution, and since in the war with Canada,) George Matthews,* and
John Steuart. These companies got unobserved to their place of destination

upon Crooked Creek, which rims into the Kanhawa.f From the high weeds
upon the banks of this little stream, they rushed upon the backs of the

Indians with such fury, as to drive them from their works with precipitation.

The day was now decided. The Indians, thus beset from a quarter they did

not expect, were ready to conclude that a reinforcement had arrived. It

was about sunset when they fled across the Ohio, and immediately took up
their mai-ch for their towns on the Scioto.

As is common, in reviewing past events, we find much difference of
opinion in regard to many of the facts ; the loss of the whites in this battle

is very vai'iously stated, but that of the Indians no one has presumed to set

down but by inference. The morning after the battle. Colonel ChristianX

marched to the battle-ground ; where his men found and scalped § 21 of
their dead, and 12 others were found in places where they were placed for

concealment ; that many were also thrown into the river is said to have been
at the time known. Li an account published at the time, it is set down that

the killed of the Virginians were " Col. Charles Lewis, Major John Field,

Capt. John Murray, Robert Mc Clenechan, Samuel Wilson, Jaines Ward, Lieut.

Hugh Allen, Ensigns, Candiff, Baker, and 44 privates
;
" making the whole

number of the killed 55. " Wounded, Captain W. Fleming, since dead,

Y. Dickinson, Thomas Blueford, John Stidman, Lieuts. Goodman, Robeson,

Laud, Vannes, and 79 Privates ; " making m all 87 wounded. We are a^\are

that neither the names or numbers agree with accounts since published, but

we have taken the above from the Royal American Magazine, which was
published the following month at Boston, into which it seems to have been
copied from a Philadelphia print.||

There was a kind of stratagem used by the whites in this battle which
reminds us of that practised at the Pawtucket fight, related in Book III. of

a or history. The soldiers in Colonel Fleming's regiment would conceal

themselves behind a tree or some other shelter, and then hold out their hats

from beiiind, which the Indians seeing, would mistake as covering the heads

* Probably the same who was a colonel in the Virginia line during the revolution, and

once a prisoner. See Contin. Burk, 107, 358, also Witliers, 130.

t Withers, 127.

X He was noi'present at the fight, but arrived with a reinforcement, which he had raised

from Holslon, immediately afler it was over. It was this force, it is supposed, that the

Indians expected were surrounding them in the rear. They were said to nave been ac-

quainted with all circumstances coiniected with the operations of the Virginians.

(s Royal Amer. Magazine for November, 1774.

II
Dr. Doddridgf, 231, sets down the killed at 75, and the wounded at 140 tuid he is,

doubtless, Mr. VVithers's authority, who says tJie same. His list of killed and woujided are

also verbatim from Doddridge. Burk, who wrote twenty years before either, agrees with

(he Royal American Magazine very nearly.
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of their enemies, and shoot at them. The hat being at once dropped, the
Lidian would run out from his covert to scalp his victun, and thus met a
sme death from the tomaliavvk of his adversary.
The chief of the men raised for this service, were, as Burk expresses him-

self, " prime riflemen," and the " most expert woodsmen in Virginia." They
were princijKdly from the counties of Augusta, Hotetourt, Bedford and Fin-
castle, and from the enraged settlors who had fled from their frontier settle-

ments to escape the vengeance of the injured Indians. For reasons whic^
were not perfectly understood at tliat time, Lord Dunmore divided the ai*my

into two parts, as already stated. The part which Dunmore soon alter ...'>ok

in the revolutionary events, discovered the real cause of his preposterous pro-

ceedings. His pretence of falling upon the backs of the Luiians, and coop-
erating with General Lewis, was soon detected as such ; for it needed only
to be known that he was movuig no less than 75 miles from him, and that,

thei-efore; no cooperation could be had. The imputation, however, of the

historian Burk,* " that the division under Lewis was devoted to destruction,

for the purpose of breaking the spirits of the Virginians," to render his own
influence and reputation brighter and more efiacient, is unnatural, and with-

out facts to warrant it. To our mind a worse policy to raise himself could

not have been devised. There are two other, far more reasonable conclu-

sions, which might have been offered: The governor, seeing the justness

of the Indians' cause, might have adopted the plan which was followed, to

bring them to a peace with the least possible destruction of them. This
would have been the course of a humane philosophy ; or he might have
exercised his abilities to gain them to the British interest, in case of a rup-

tm*e between them and the colonies, which the heads of government must
clearly have by this time foreseen would pretty soon follow. Another ex-

traordinary manceuvre of Governor Dunmore betrayed either a great want
of experience, generalship, or a far more reprehensible cliai'ge ; for he had,

before the battle of Point Pleasant, sent an express f to Colonel Lewis, with

orders that he should join him near the Shawanee towns, with all possible

despatch. These instructions were looked upon as singularly unaccountable,

inasznuch as it was considered a thing almost impossilde to be accoin])lished,

had there not been an enemy to fear ; for the distance was near 80 miles,

and the route was through a country extremely difficult to be traversed, and,

to use the words of Mr. Burk^ "swarming with Indians."| The ex|)ress did

not arrive at Point Pleasant until the evening after the battle
; § but that it

had been fought was unloiown to the governor, and could in no wise excuse

his sending such orders, although the power of the Indians was now broken.

The day after the battle, General Lewis caused his dead to be biu-ied, and
entrenchments to be thrown up about his camp for the protection of his

sick and wounded ; and the day fbllo^ving, he took up his line of march, in

compliance with the orders of Governor iJimmore. This march was attended

with great privations and almost insurmountable difficulties. JMeanwhile

Governor Dunmore descended with his forces down the river, from Foi-t Pitt

to Wheeling, where he halted for a few days. He then proceeded Aovm to

the mouth of Hockhocking, thence over land to within 8 miles of the Shaw-
anee town CInlicothe, on the Scioto. Here he made preparations lor treat-

ing with the Lidifms. Before reaching this place he had received several

messages from the Indians with ofl'ers of peace, and having now determined

to comply, he sent an express to General Leiois with an order that he should

immediately retreat. This was entirely disregarded by the general, and 1 e

continued his march until his lordship in person visited the general in his

camp, and gave the order to the troops himself. Lewis's troops complied

* Hist. Virginia, iii. 396.

t The famous pioneer, Simon Kenton, alias Butler, was the person sent by Dunmore at

this time.

t Hist. Virginia, iii. 395.

& This is not agreeable to the statement of Dr. Doddridge, who says their arnval was be-

'ore the battle, and Mr. Witliers follows him ; but I follow Mr. Burk, who doubtless had UM
best means of giving the truth. Marshall [Ky. i. 40] agrees with the former.

46
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with great reluctance, for they had determined on a general destruction of
the Indians.

A treaty was now commenced, and conducted on the part of the whites
with great distrust, never admitting but a small number of Indians within
then- encampment at a time. The business was commenced by Comsiock
in a speech of great length, in the course of which he did not fail to charge
upon the whites the whole cause of the war; and mainly in consequence
of the murder of Logan's family. A treaty, however, was the result of tliis

conference ; and this conference was the result of the far-famed speech of
LOGAN, the Mingo chief; since known in every hemisphere. It was not
delivered in the camp of Lord Dunmore, for, although desiring peace, Logan
would not meet the whites in council, but remained in his cabin m sullen
silence, until a messenger was sent to him to know whether he would
accede to the proposals it contained. What the distance was fi-om the
treaty-ground to Logmi's cabin, we are not told ; but of such importance was
his name considered, that he was waited on by a messenger * from Lord
Dunmore, who requested his assent to the articles of the treaty. Logan had
too much at heart the wrongs lately done him to accede without giving the
messenger to understand fully the grounds upon which he acceded ; he
tlierefore invited liim into an adjacent wood, where they sat down together.
Here he related the events of butchery which had deprived him of all

his connections; and hei'e he pronomiced that memorable speech, which
follows

:

" / appeal to any tvhite to say, if ever he entered Logan's cabin hungry, and ht

save him not meat ; if ever he came cold and naked, and he clothed him not.
" During the course of the last long bloody ivar, Logan remained idle in his cabin,

an advocate for peace. Such was my love for the tvhites, that my countryman
pointed as thty passed, and said, ' Logan is thefriend of white men.'

" I had even thought to have lived loith you, hvi for the injuries of one man.
Col. Cresap the last spring, in cold blood, and unprovoked, murdered all the relor

iionsof Logan ; not even sparing my women and children.

" There runs not a drop of my blood in the veins of any living creature. This
called on mefor revenge. I have sought it. I have killed many. I have fully
glutted my vengeance. For my country, I rejoice at the beams of peace. But do
not harbor a thought that mine is the joy offear. Logan neverfeltfear. He ivill

not turn on his heel to save his life. }Vho is there to mourn for Logan ?

—

JVot

one !
"

When Mr. Jefferson published his " Notes on Virginia," the facts therein
stated implicating Cresap as the miu'derer of Logan's family, were by Cresap's

friends called in question. Mr. Jefferson at first merely stated the facts as pre-
liminary to, and the cause of, the " S])eech of Ijognn," which he considered
as generally known in Virginia; but the acrimony discovered by his enemies
in their endeavors to gainsay his statement, led to an investigation of the
whole transaction, and a publication of the result was the immediate conse-
quence, in a new edition of the " Notes on Virginia."

There are perhaps still some who doubt of the genuineness of Logaii's

speech and indeed we must allow, that there are some circumstances laid

before us in Dr. Barton's Medical and Physical Journal, for the year 1808
;

which look irreconcilable. Without impeaching in the slightest degree the
character of Mr. Jefferson, such facts are there compared, and disagreements
pointed out, as ciianced to come in the way of the writer. It apj)ears from
the French traveller Robin, that, in the time of our revolution, a gentleman of
Williamsburg gave him an Indian sjieech, which bears great resemblance to

the one said to be by Logan ; but differing very essentially in date, and the
person implicated in murdering the family of Logan. The work of Robin is

entitled "New Travels in America," and we have only an English translation

* Mr. John iiibson, then an oflScer in Dunmore's aiiny, and aAerwards a man of coDsider
»ble diiitiiiciion.
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of k.* It is therefore possible that some mistakes may have crept into it, or
that Robiii himself might have misunderstood the date, and even other parts

of tlie affiiir; liowever, the probability is rather strong tliat either tlie sj)eech
of Logan had been perverted for the pnrjjose of clearing Crtsap's character
of the Ibul blot which entirely covered it, by wilfully charguig it upon another,
or that some old speech of his upon another occasion, had been remodeled to

suit the purpose for which it was used. Upon these questions we must leave

the reader to decide. Rohm has the name of the chief, Loncm. Some
Frenchmen may write it thus, but I have before me those that do not,f and
more probably some English pronounced it so, and so Robi7i heard it The
way he introduces the speech, if the introduction be fact, forever destroys
the genuineness of the speech of Logan of 1774. It is thus:

" Speech of the savage Lonan, in a General Assembly, as it was sent to

the Gov . of Virginia,! anno 1754."

Now it is certain, if the speech which we will give below was delivered in

the Assembly of Virginia, in the year 1754, it could not have been truly deliv-

ered, as we have given it, to Lord Dunmore in 1774. That the reader may
judge for himseltj that of 1754 follows. ,

" LoNAN will no longer oppose making the proposed peace with the white
men. You are sensible he never knew what fear is—that he never turned
his back in the day of battle—No one has more love for the white men than
I have. The war we have had with them has been long and bloody on lioth

sides. Rivers of blood have I'an on all parts, and yet no good has resulted

therefrom to any. I once more repeat it—let us be at peace with these men.
T will forget our injuries, the interest of my country demands it. I will forget

—but difficult indeed is the task ! Yes, I will forget—that Major Rogers §
cruelly and inhumanly murdered, in their canoes, my wife, my children, my
father, my mother, and all my kindred.—This roused me to deeds of ven-
geance! I was cruel in despite of myself I will die content if my country
is once more at peace ; but when Lonan shall be no more, who, alas, will

drop a tear to the memory of Lonan

!

"

With a few incidents, and reflections, we will close our account of events

connected with the history of Cresap's War.
On the evening before the battle of Point Pleasant, Cornstock proposed to

his warriors to make peace with General Lewis, and avoid a battle, but his

advice was not accepted by the council. " Well," said he, " since you have
resolved to fight, you shall fight, although it is likely we shall have hard
work to-morrow ; but if any man shall flinch or run from the battle, I will

kill him with my own hand." And it is said he made his word good by put-

ting one to death who discovered cowardice diu"ing the fight, as has been
mentioned.

After the Indians had retreated, Cornstock called a council at the Chilicothe

town, to consult on what was to be done. Here he reflected upon the rashness

that had been exei'cised in fighting the whites at Point Pleasant ; and asked,
" JVhat shall we do now ! the Long-Knives are coming upon lis by two routes.

Shall we turn out andfight them? "—No answer was made. He then inquired,
" Shall we kill all our squaws and children, and then fight until we shall all be

killed ourselves?"—As before, all were silent. Li the midst of the council-

house a war-post had been erected ; with his tomahawk in his hand, Cornstock

turned towards it, and sticking it into the post, he said, " Since you are not

inclined to fight, I will go and make peace;" and he forthwith repaired to

Dunmore's camp.||

* Since the above was written, I have met with the French edition ; and, from its imprint,

1 presume both editions were published under the supervision of the autiior. " A Fldladel-

phie et se troure a Fai-is, 1782."

t See Reclierches sur les Etats-Unis,\v. 153—5. The authors of this well-written work
should not have withheld their names. It was printed at Paris, in 8vo., 1788.

i
" 11 Net" is found in the French copy, and this marginal note to it; " ce mot signifit

appareTnment le mois Lunaire ou Solaire."

§ In the French copy no person is mentioned. After Major, a blank is left. In oihei

respects the speech is tolerably correctlv translated.

II
Doddridge's Notes, 239—40.
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We have been more minute and particular in these events, in which Logan
and Cornstock were engaged, than in many others ; but I trust the reader of
this history will not be displeased with such minuteness upon so important an
event ; especially as no work with which I am acquainted does the subject

justice. It was truly a great event, both in respect to the parties engaged,
and the consequences necessarily growing out of it, and it has been passed
over too slightly by historians.

In res])ect to the speech of Logan, it would be highly gratifying if a few
matters connected with it could be settled ; but whether they ever will, time
only can determine. From the statement of Dr. Barton,* before cited,, we
are led to ex]3ect that he had other documents than those he at that time
published, going to show that Cresap was not the murderer of iog-an's family,

l3Ut he never published them, as I can learn, and he has left us to conjecture

upon such as we have. Another author, f upon the authority of an officer

who was at the time with Lord Dunmore, states that he heard nothing of
Logan^s charging Cresap with the murder of his kindred during the whole
campaign, nor until a long time after. That it was not publicly talked of
among thg officers is in no wise strange, as Cresap himself was one of them

;

therelbre, that this is evidence that no such charge was made by Logan, we
think unworthy consideration.

Anjong other proofs, that the chief guilt lay upon the head of Cresap of
bringing about a bloody war, since well known by his name. Judge Innes of
Frankfort, Kentucky, wroty to Mr. Jefferson, 2 March, 1799, that he was, he
thought, able to give him more particulars of that affair than, perhaps, any
other person ; that, in 1774, ^^'hile at the house of Colonel Preston, in Fin-

castle county, Va., there arrived an express, calling upon him to order out
the militia, " for the protection of the inhabitants residing low down on the

north fork of Holston River. The express brought with him a war club,

and a note tied to it, which was left at the house of one Robertson, whose
family were cut off by the Lidians, and gave rise for the application to

Colonel Prestu7i.'" Here follows the letter or note, of which Mr. Lines then

made a copy, in his memorandum-book :

—

" Captain Cresap, What did you kill my people on Yellow Creek for ? Hie
white people killed my kin at Conestoga,\ a great while ago ; and I thought iwth-

in^ of that. But you killed my kin again, on Yellow Creek, and took my cousin

vnsoner. Then I thought 1 7nust kill too ; and I have been three times to war
since ; but the Indians are not angry ; only myself."

It was signed, " Captain John Logan."

Not long after these times of calamities, which we have recorded in the

life of Logan, he was cruelly murdered, as he was on his way home from
Detroit. For a time previous to his death, he gave himself up to intoxica-

tion, which in a short time nearly obliterated all marks of the great man !

The fate of Coiiistock is equally dejilorable, although in the contemplation

of which, his character does not sulfer, as does that of Logan. He was
cruelly murdered by some white soldiers, while a hostiige among them.

And there is as nuich, nay, far more, to carry down his remembrance to |)os-

te-ity, as th.it of the tragical death of Archimedes. He was not murdered
while actually drawing geometrical figures upon the ground, but, while he
was ex|)laiuiiig the geogra|)hy of his country by drawings vipon the floor, an
alarm was given, which, in a few minutes after, eventuated in his death.

We will now go into an explanation of the cause and manner of the murder
of Cornstock. It is well known that the war of the revolution had involved

all, or nearly all, of the Indians in drcadtid calamities. In consequence of

murders conunitted by the Indians on the fiontiers of Virginia, several com-
panies marched to Point Pleasant, where there had been a fort since the

battle there in 1774. Most of the tribes of the norib-west, (-xcejjt the Shaw-
anees, were determined to fight against the Americans. Cornstock wished

* Mi'd. and Phys. Jour, part ii. p. 162. t W'itlierx. Chrouicles, 136.

t Allucliiig, I suppose, to the massacre ofllie Conestoga Indians in 1763.
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to preserve peace, and thei'etbre, as the only means in liis power, as he liad

used his powerful eloquence in vain, resolved to lay the state of affairs he-

fore the Americans, that they might avert the threatened storm. In the

spring of 1777, he came to the fort at Point Pleasant, upon this friemlly mis-
sion, in company with another chief, called Red-hawk. After explaining the

situation of things vnth regai'd to the confederate tribes, he said, in regard

to his own, the Shawanese, " The current sets [with the Indians] so strong

agaimt the Americans, in conseqxience of the agency of the Britisk, that they [the

Shawanese] ivillfloat ivith it, Ifear, in spite of all my exertions." Upon this

intelligence, the commander of the garrison thought proper to detain him
and Red-hawk as hostages to prevent the meditated calaiTiities. When Cap-
tain Arbuckle, the commander of the garrison, had notified the new govern-

ment of Virginia of the situation of affairs, and what he had done, forces

marched into that country. A part of them having ai'rived, waited for others

to join them under General Hand, on whom these depended for provisions.

Meanwhile the officers held frequent conversations with Cornstock, who
took pleasure in giving them minute descriptions of his countiy, and espe-

cially ofthat portion between the Mississippi and Missouri. One day, as he was
delineating a map of it upon the floor, for the gratification of those jjresent, a

call was heard on the opposite side of the Ohio, wliich he at once recognized

as the voice of his son, Ellinipsico, who had fought at his side in the famous
battle of Point Pleasant, m 1774, of which we have spoken. At the request

of his father, Ellinipsico came to the fort, Avhere they had an affectionate

meeting. This son had become uneasy at his father's long absence, and had
at length sought him out in his exile here

;
prompted by those feelings which

so much adorn human natine. The next day, two men crossed the Kan-
hawa, upon a hunting expedition. As they were returning to their boat afler

their hunt, and near the side of the river, they were fiied upon by some In-

dians, and one of the two, named Gilmore, was killed, but the other escaped

A party of Captain HalPs men went over and brought in the body of Gilmore

whereupon a cry was raised, " Let us go and kill the Indians in the fort." A
infuriated gang, with Daptain Hall at their head, set out with tlrs nefariou

resolution, ami, against every ren onstrance, proceeded to commit the dee

of blood. With their guns corki d, they swore death to any who should op

pose them. Li the mean time, some ran to apprize the devoted chiefs o

their danger. As the murderers approached, Ellinipsico discovered agitf.

tion, which wlien Cornstock saw, he said, ".¥i/ son, the Great Spirit has seer,

fit that we should die together, and has sent you to that end. It is his will, and

let us submit." The murderers had now arrived, and the old chief turned

ai-ound and met them. They shot him through with seven bullets. He fell,

and died without a struggle

!

Ellinipsico, though having at first appeared disturbed, met his death with

great composure. He was shot upon the seat on which he was sitting when
his fate was first disclosed to him.

Red-hawk was a young Delaware chief, and, like Ellinipsico, had fought

under Cornstock. He died witii less fortitude : having tried to secrete himself,

he was soon discovered and slain. Another Lidian, whose name is not

mentioned, was mangled and miu-dered in the most barbarous manner.

Suffice it here to say, that this was all that was effected by the expedition,

and the forces soon after returned home.
Few, if any, chiefs in history are spoken of in terms of higher commenda

tioa than Cornstock. Mr. Withers, a writer on Indian affairs,* speaks as follows

of him: .

" Thus perished the mighty Cornstalk, sachem of the Shawanees, and king

of the northern confederacv, in 1774,—a chief remai-kable for many great and

good qualities. He was disjiosed to be at all times the friend of vvhite men,

as he ever was the advocate of honorable peace. But when his country a

wTonirs 'called aloud for battlts'he became the thunderbolt of war, and made

her op]jressors feel the weight of his ui)lifted arm." " His noble bearing—

his generous and d'sinicrested attachment to the colonies, when the thiL

* In his " Chrordcles,'' a work, it is our duty to remark, written with candor

46» '-^K
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of British cannon was reverberating thi-ough the land—his aiixietj- to ])reserve

th;' frontier of Virgiuia from desolation and death, (the object of his visit to

Point Pleasant,) all consi)ired to win for him the esteem and respect of oth-

ers ; while the untimely and perfidious manner of his death, caused a deep
and lasting regret to penade the bosoms even of those who were enemies to

his nation ; and excited the just indignation of all towards his inhuman and
barbarous murderers."

Colonel Jf'ilson, present at the inteniew between the chiefs and Governor
Dunmore in 1774, thus speaks of Conistock:—"When he arose, he was in no
wise confused or daimted, but spoke in a distinct and amlible voice, without

stairmiering or repetition, and with peculiar emphasis. His looks, while ad-

dressing Dunmore, were triUy grand and majestic ; yet graceful and attractive.

I have heard the tirst orators in Virginia,

—

Pab-ick Henry and Richard Henry
Lee,—but never have I heard one whose powers of deliverv surpassed tliose

of Cornstalk:''

Ten years after the bloody affair above related, an able writer * upon those

times says, "The blood of the great Cornstock and of his gallant son was
mingled witii the dust, but their memory is not lost in oblivion." But how
few at tliis day know of his fate, or even that such a chief ever existed ! and,

at the same time, the same persons woidd be indignant, were we to suppose
them ignorant of the fate of the monster Pizarro.

We hear of one son who survived Comstock, who was conspicuous in some
early events of the revolution. He was a chief, and known among the whites

by the name of tlie Wolf. He was a hostage, with three others, at Williams-
biu"gh, when Governor Dunmore tied on board a man-of-war to escape the

tiny of the revolutionists. After the governor had got off, he sent for the

Indians to come to him, which they did. He then explained to them the

reason of his flight, and directed them to fly also, or they would surely be
murdered the next day. They fled into the woods, and o^\"ing to the darkness

of the night, lost one of tlieir companions, and the Jf'olf and another soon
after retm-ned to Williamsburgh, and were well received by the inhabitants.

The object of the governor was very obvious.

As great a warrior, periiaps, as any who have lived among the nations of the

west, we shall in the next place procei d to give an account of. This was
PONTIAK, a chief of the Ottoway nation, whose fame, in his time, was not

alone confined to his own continent ; but the gazettes of Europe spread it also.

One who knew tiiis chief, and the tribes over whom he had sway, thus

speaks of them in 1765:—"The Indians on the lakes are generally at peace
with one another, having a wide extended and fruitful coimtry in then*

possession. They are formed into a sort of empire, and the emperor is

elected from the eldest tribe, which is the Ottawawas, some of whom inhabit

near our fort at Detroit, but are mostly further westward, towards tlie IMissis-

sippi. Ponteack is their present king or emperor, who has certainly the largest

empire and greatest authoritj- of any Lidian chief that has ajjpeared on the

continent since our acquaintance with it. He puts on an air of majf sty and
princely grandeur, and is greatly honored and revered by his subjects." f

In 17(>0, Major Rogers marched mto his country, in fulfilling his orders of
dis])lacing the French, after the fall of QuebecJ A])prized of his appi-oach,

Pontiak sent ambassadors to mform him that their chief was not far oft^ and
desired him to halt until he could see him "with his own eyes," and to in-

fomi him that he was tlie king and lord of the country.

Pontiak soon met the English officer, and demanded his business into his

coimtry, and how it came about that he dared enter it without his permir^sion

When the colonel told him he had no design against the Indians, and only

•o-ished to remove the French, their common enemy, and cause of all their

trouble, delivering him at the same time several belts of wampum, Pontiak

replied, " I stand in the path you travel in, until to-mon-ow morning," and
gave hun a belt. This communication was understood, and " was as much
as to say," says the actor, "I must not march fmther without his leave.''

* In Carey's Museum, iv. 140. t Rogers's Account of North America. 240.

4 Quebeis is an Algonquin w ord, signifying a Strait. Charler.oix
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The colonel continues : " When he departed for the night, he inquired wliether

I wanted any thing that his counti-y afforded, and [if I did] he would send
his waiTiors to fetch it. I assured him tliat any provisions they brought
should be paid for ; and the next day we were suj)plied by them with several

bags of parched com, and some other necessaries. At our second meeting,

he gave me the pipe of peace, and both of us by turns smoked with it: and
he assured me he had made peace with me and my detachment ; that 1 might
pass tlu-ough his country unmolested, and relieve the French ganison ; and
that lie woald protect me and my party from any insults that might be offered

or intended by the Lidians ; and, as an earnest of his friendship, he sent 100

warriors to protect and assist us in dinving 100 fat cattle, which we had
brought for the use of the detachment from Pittsburgh, by the way of Presque-
Isle. He likewise sent to the several Lidian towns on the south side

and west end of Lake Erie, to inform them that I had his consent to come mto
the coimtry. He attended me constantly after this mteniew till 1 arrived at

Detroit, and while 1 remained in the country, and was the means of preserv-

ing the detachment from the fluT of the Indians, who had assembled at the

mouth of the strait, with an intent to cut us off. I had several conferences with

bun, in which he discovered great strength of judgment, and a thirst after

knowledge."
This same officer observes, that he discovered much curiosity at their equi-

page, and wished to know how their clothes were made, and to learn theii

mode of war. He expressed a willingness to acknowledge the king ofEngland,
though not as his superior, but as his uncle, which he would acknowledge,

as he was able, in furs. England was much in his thoughts, and he often

expressed a desire to see it. He told Colonel Rogers that, if he would conduct
him there, he would give him a part of his country.

He was willing to grant tlie English favors, and allow them to settle in

his dominions, but not unless he could be viewed as sovereign ; and he gave

them to understand, that, unless they conducted themselves agreeably to his

wishes, " he woidd shut up the way," and keep them out Hence it is fair,

within the scope of the most reasonable conjecture, to conclude, that his final

disaffection to the English was owing to their haughty carriage, and maltreat-

ment of him and his people.

The princi|)al scenes of his prowess were at Michilimakinak and Detroit,

The French finally gave up possession in Canada, in 1760 ; but many of the

Indian nations who had become attached to them were taught, at the same
time, to hate the English. Pontiak was most conspicuous in his enmity, al-

though, until he had united the strength of many tribes to his, he showed
great kindness and triendshij) towards them- The Miamis, Ottavvas, Chippe-

was, Wyandots, Pottowatomies, Mississagas, Shawanese, Ottagamies, and

VVinnebagoes, constituted his power, as, in afler-tune, they did that of Te-

ciiTnsch.

There was more system employed by this distinguished man than, perhaps,

by any other of his countrymen upon any similai- undertaking, not excei>ting

even Metacomet or TecumseL In liis war of 176S, which is justly denominated
" Pontiac's war," he appointed a commissary, and began to make and issue

bills of credit, all of which he afterwards carefully redeemed. He made his

bills or notes of bark, on which was drawn the figure of the conmiodity he

wanted lor it. The shape of an otter was drawn under that of the ai-ticle

wanted, and an otter was the insignia or arms of his nation. He had also,

with great sagacity, urged upon his people tlie necessity of dispensing alto-

gether with Euro|"iean commodities, to have no intercourse with any whites,

and to depend entirely upon their ancient modes of procurmg susteuance.-

aiajor Gladwin held possession of Detroit in 17(>3. Having been despatched

thither by General Amherst, he had been mformed by commissioners who had

been exjiloring the coimtry, that hostile feelings were manifested among the

Indians, and he sent men on purpose to ascertain the fact, who, on their re

turn, dissipated all fears.

"In 1703," says Major Rogers, "when I went to throw [revisions into the

* Ros;ers's Ccmdse Account of North America, 244.



548 PONTIAK CAPTURES MICHILIMAKINAK. fP^OK V

garrison at Detroit, I sent this Indian a bottle of brandy by a Frenchman
His counsellors advised him not to taste it, insinuating tiiat it was poisoned
and sent with a design to kill him ; but Ponteack, with a nobleness of mind
laughed at their suspicions, saying it Avas not in my power to kill him, who
had so lately saved my life." *

Several traders had brought news to the fort at Michilimakinak, that the

Indians were hostile to the English. Major Etherington commanded the gar-

rison, and would believe nothing of it. A Mr. Ducharme communicated
the information to the majoi-, who was much displeased at it, " and threatened

to send the next person who should bring a story of the same kind a prisoner

to Detroit."]-

The garrison, at this time, consisted of 90 men, besides two subalterns and
the commander-in-chief. There were also at the fort four English merchants.

Little regard was paid to the assembling of sundiy bands of Indians, as they

appeared friendh'^ ; but when nearly 400 of them were scattered up and down
throughout the place, "J took the liberty," says Mr. Henry, "of obsei-ving to

Major Etherington, that, in my judgment, no confidence ought to be placed

in them ; in return, the major only rallied me on my timidity."

On the fourth of June, the king's birth day, the Indians began, as if to amuse
themselves, to play at a favorite game of ball, which they called baggatitvay,

which is thus described by Mr. Henry:—"It is played with a bat and ball,

the bat being about four feet in length, curved, and terminated in a sort of
racket. Two posts are placed in the ground, at a considerable distance from
each other, as a mile or more. Each party has its post, and the game con-

sists in throwing the ball up to the post of the adversary. The ball, at the

beginning, is placed in the middle of the course, and each party endeavors as

well to throw the ball out of the direction of its own post, as into that of the

adversai-y's. This farce di-ew many off their guard, and some of the gan-ison

went out to witness the sport.

" The game of baggatiway, (he continues,) as from the description above
will have been perceived, is necessarily attended with much noise and vio-

lence. Li the ardor of contest, the ball, as has been suggested, if it cannot

be thrown to the goal desired, is struck in any direction by which it can be

diverted from that designed by the adversary. At such a moment, therefore,

nothing could be less liable to excite premature alai'm, than that tlie ball should

be tossed over the pickets of the fort, nor that, having fallen there, it should

be followed, on the instant, by all engaged in the game, as well the one party

as the other, all eager, all striving, all shouting, all in the unrestrained pursuit

of a rude athletic exercise." And this was their plan, while in the height of

their game, to throw their ball within the pickets of the fort, and then all to

rush in, and, in the midst of their hubbub, to murder the gan-ison ; and it

succeeded to tlieir wishes. They struck the ball over the stockade, as if by
accident, and rej)eated it several times, running in and out of the ibrt with all

freedom, "to make the deception more complete ;"t and then, rushing in in

every direction, took possession of the place without the least resistance.

They murdered the soldiers, until their numbers were so diminished, that

they apprehended nothing from their resistance ; many of whom were ran-

somed at ftlontreal aiterwards, at a great price. Seventy were put to death,

and the other twenty reserved for slaves. A few days alter, a boat from
Montreal, without knowing what had happened, came ashore with English

passengers, who all (ell into the hands of the Indians. Pontiak was not per-

sonally concerned in this aliair, but it was a part of his design, and, there-

fore, is very i)ro|)erly here related. A chief named Menehwehna was the

commander in that affair. §
It was only 15 days li-om the time the first blow was struck, before Pontiak

had taken possession of every gai-rison in the west except tliree. No lesa

* The Abbe Raynal, whom we followed in the former editions, (not then possessing Roger^t
•wn account,) docs not narrate this circumstance faithfully.

t Travels in Canada, by Alexander Henry, Esq., from which the following account of tin

destruction of Miciiilimakinak is taken.

} Carver's Travels, 19. !20. edit. 8vo. Lond. 1784. § Henry's Travels, tU supra.
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than 10 were, in this short space, reducei Detroit alone remained in that

distant region, and, as will presently be seen, this was brought to the very

brink of the most awful precipice of which the imagination can conceive.

The names of those captured at this time were Le Bo^uf, Venango,
Presq'lsle, on or near Lake Erie ; La Bay,* upon Lake Michiga-i ; St. Josepli's,

upon the river of that name : Miamis, upon the Miami River : Ouachtanon,

upon the Ouabache ; Sandusky, upon Lake Junundat ; and Michilimakinak.f

The gai-rison at Detroit was closely besieged by Pontiac, in person, before

the news of the massacre of Fort Michilimakmak arrived there. It was
garrisoned by about 300 men, and when Pontiac came with his warriors,

although in great numbers, tliey were so intermixed with women and children,

and brought so many commodities for trade, that no suspicion was excited,

either in tlie mind of Major Gladmn, or the mhabitants. He encamped a
little distance from the tort, and sent to the major to inform him that he was
come to trade, and, preparatory thereto, wished to hold a talk with him for

the purpose of " brightenmg the cham of peace " between the English and
his people. No suspicion was yet entertained, and the major readily con-

sented, and the next morning was fixed upon for the coimcU.

The same evening, a cu'cumstance transpired which saved the garrison

from a dreadful massacre. An Indian woman, who had made a pair of

moccasuis for Major Gladwin, out of a curious elk skin, brought them to him,

and returned the remainder of the skin. Being much pleased with them,

the major wished her to take the skin and make another pair, as he had con-

cluded to give the others to a friend, and what was left to make into shoes

for herself She was then paid for her' work, and dismissed. But when
those whose duty it was to see that the fort was cleai- of strangers, and to

close the gates for the night, went upon then- duty, this woman was found

loitering in the area, and, being asked what she wanted, made no reply.

The major, being informed of her singular demeanor, directed her to be con-

ducted into his presence, which being done, he asked her why she did not

depart before the gates were shut. She replied, with some hesitation, that

she did not wish to take away the skin, as he set so gi-eat a value upon it.

This answer was delivered in such a manner, that the major was rather dis-

satisfied with it, and asked her why she had not made the same objection on

taking it in the first place. This rather confused her, and she said that if

she took it away now, she never should be able to return it.

It was now evident that she vtdthheld something which she wishc d to com-
municate, but was restrained through fear. But on being assured by

Major Gladwin that she should not be betrayed, but should be protected and

rewarded, if the information was valuable, she said that the chiefs who
were to meet him in council the next day had contrived to miu-der him, and

take the garrison, and put all the inhabitants to death. Each chief, she

said, would come to the coimcil, with so much cut off" of his gun, that he

could conceal it under his blanket ; that Pontiac was to give the signal,

whUe delivering his speech, which was, when he should draw his peace

belt of wampum, and present it to the major in a certain maimer ; and
that, while the council was sitting, as many of the warriors as could should

assemble within the fort, armed in the same manner, under the pretence of

tradmg with the garrison.

Having got all the information necessary, the woman was discharged, and

Major Gladwin had every precaution taken to put the garrison into the best

possible state for defence. He imparted the discovery to his men, and

instructed them how to act at the approaching council ; at the same time

sending to all the traders in diffei-ent directions to be upon their guard.

The next morning having arrived, every countenance wore a different

aspect ; the hour of the council was fast approaching, and the quick step

and nervous exercise in every evolution of the soldiers were expressive of

* So called by the French, who built it, because it stood at the extremity of a bay in Michi-

gan, called " Le Baiedes Puants," now Green Bay. It was taken by the Menomiuies : ihe

garrisou consisted of 30 men. See Carver's Travels, 21, 22.

t Bouquet's Ohio Expedition, Int. iii.
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in approaching event, big with their destiny. It was heightened in the past

night, when a cry was heard in the Indian encampment different from what
was usual on peace occasions. The garrison fires Avere extinguished, and
svery man repaired to his post. But the cry being heai'd no more, the re-

mainder of the night was passed in silence.

The appointed hour of ten o'clock arrived, and also as punctual arrived

Pontiac and his 36 chiefs, followed by a train of wai-riors. When the stip-

ulated number had entered the garrison, the gates were closed. The chiefs

observed attentively the troops under arms, marching from place to place
;

two columns nearly inclosing the council house, and both facing towards it.

On Pontiac's entering it, he demanded of Major Gladwin the cause of so

much parade, and why his men were under arms ; he said it was an odd
manner of holding a council. The major told him it was only to exercise

them. The Indians being seated upon the skins prepared for them, Pontiac
commenced his speech, and when he came to the signal of presenting the

belt, the governor and his attendants drawing their swords half out of their

scabbards, and the soldiers clinching their guns with firmness, discovered to

the chiefs, by their peculiar attitudes, that their plot was discovered, Pontiac,

with all his bravery, tiu-ned pale, and eveiy chief showed signs of astonish-

ment. To avoid an open detection, the signal in passing the belt was not

given, and Pontiac closed his speech, which contained many professions of
respect and affection to the English. But when Major Gladwin commenced
his, he did not fail directly to reproach Pontiac with treacheiy; told him he
could not do any thing to insnare the English, and that he knew his whole
diabolical plan. Pontiac tried to excuse himself, and to make Major Gladwin
believe that he had laid no plot ; upon which the major step[)ed to the chief

nearest himself, and, drawing aside his blanket, exposed his short gun, which
completed their confusion.

The governor, for such was Major Gladwin, ordered Pontiac to leave the

fort immediately, for it would be with difiiculty he could restrain his men
from cutting him in pieces, should they know the circumstances. The gov-
ernor was afterwards blamed for thus suffering them to withdraw, without
retaining several of them as hostages for the quiet behavior of the rest ; but

he, having passed his word that they should come and go without hinderance
or restraint, merited, perhaps, less censure for keeping it, and respecting his

honor, than those who reproached him.
A furious attack was the next day made upon the fort. Eveiy stratagem

was resorted to. At one time they filled a cart with combustibles, and run
it against the pickets, to set them on fire. At another, they were about to set

fire to the church, by shooting fiery arrows into it; but religious scruples

averted the execution,—a French priest telling Pontiac that it would call

down the anger of God upon him. They had frequently, during the siege,

endeavored to cut down the pickets so as to make a breach. Major Gladwin
ordered his men, at last, to cut on the inside at the same time, and assist them.

This was done, and when a breach was made, there was a rush upon the

outside towards the breach, and at the same instant, a brass four-pounder,

which liad been levelled for the purpose, was shot off, whicli made a dread-

fill slaughter among them. After this they merely blockaded the fort, and
cut off its supphes, and the English were reduced to the greatest distress,

and for some time sul)sisted upon half rations.

There was great difiiculty in throwing succor into the gan-ison at Detroit,

as there was such an extent of country between it and the other most west-

ern posts, in possession of the English. Fort Pitt and Niagara had been
besieged, and all communication for a long time cut off; the former had been

reduced to great extremities, but they were at length relieved by Colonel

Bouquet. Captain Dalyell was at the same time sent for the relief of Detroit,

where he ariived on 21) July, 17()3.* A bloody scene was shortly to follow.

Captain Dalyell, with 247 men, went out of the fort to surprise Pontiac in his

vamp ; but the wary chief had runners out, who gave him timely notice, and

Bouquet's Expedition, Introd. iv.
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he met them in an advantageous place, and, being vastly superior in numbers,
and concealed behind a picket fence, near a bridge where the English were
to pass, poured in upon them a dreadful fire. Many fell at the first onset,

bat they kept their order, and exerted themselves to regain the bridge they

had just passed. They effected their pm'pose, but many fell in the attempt,

among whom was Captain Dalyell. The famous Major Rogers, the second
in connnand, and Lieutenant Brehm, with about 200 others, recovered the

fort. Tiiis bridge, where so many brave men were slain, is called to this day
Bloody Bridge.

Pontiac ordered the head of Captain Dalyell to be cut off" and set upon a

post. Between eighty and a hundred dead bodies were counted upon the

bridge the next morning, which entirely blocked up its passage.

We have thought proper to give this account as it is generally found in

our histories, but having been put in possession of the official return of Sir

Jeffery Awherst, minutely detailing this important affair of Bloody Bridge,

we will lay it before the reader, as it appeared at the time. From which it

will be seen that the common report is probably erroneous in some of its most
important features.

" On the evening of the 30th of July, Captain Dalyell, aid-de-camp to Gen
eral Amherst, being arrived here with the detachment sent under his command,
and being fully persuaded that Pontiac, the Lidian chief, with his tribes, woidd
soon abandon his design, and retire, insisted with the commandant, that

they might easily be surprised in their camp, totallj^ routed, and driven out

of the settlement; and it was thereupon determined, that Captain Dalyell

should march out with 247 men. Accordingly, we marched about half an
hour after two in the morning, two deep, along the great road by the river

side, two boats up the river along shore, with a patteraro In each, with orders

to keep up with the line of march, cover oiu* retreat, and take off" our killed

and wounded ; Lifutenant Bean, of the Queen's Independents, being ordered,

with a rear guard, to convey the dead and wounded to the boats. About a

mile and a half firom the fort, we had orders to form into platoons, and, if

attacked in the fi-ont, to fire by street-firings. We then advanced, and, in

about a mile farther, oiu- advanced guard, commanded by Lieutenant Broun,
of the 55th regiment, had been fired upon so close to the enemy's breastworks

and cover, that the fii-e, being veiy heavy, not only killed and wounded some
of his party, but reached the main body, which put the whole into a little

confusion ; but they soon recovered their order, and gave the enemy, or

rather their works,' it being very dark, a discharge or two from the front,

commanded by Captain Gray. At the same time, the rear, commanded by

Captain Chant, were fired upon from a house, and some fenfes about twenty

yards on his left ; on which he ordered his own and Captain Hopkins''s com-
panies to face to the left, and give a full fire that way. After which, it

appearing that the enemy gave way every where, Captain Dalyell sent

orders to Captain Grant, to take possession of the above-said houses and

fences ; which he immediately did ; and found in one of the said houses two

men, who told him, the enemy had been there long, and were well apprized

of our design. Captain Grant then asked them the numbers ; they said,

above 300; and that they intended, as soon as they had attacked us in the

trout, to get between us and the fort ; which Captain Graiit told Captain Dal-

yell, who came to him when the firing was over. And in about an hour after,

he came to him again, and told Captain Grant he was to retire, and ordered

him to march in the fi-ont, and post himself in an orchard. He then march-

ed, and about half a mile farther on his retreat, he had some shots fired on

his flank ; but got ])Ossession of the orchard, which was well fenced ; and

jus" as he got there, he heard a warm firing in the rear, having, at the same

time, a firing on his own post, from the fences and corn-fields behind it. Lieu-

tenant M'Dougal, ^A^ho acted as adjutant to tjie detachment, came up to him,

;Captain Grant,) and told him, that Captain Dalyell was killed, and Captain

Gray very much wounded, in making a push on the enemy, and forcing them

out of a strong breastwork of cord-wood, and an intrenchment which they had

taken possession ot'; and that the command then devolved upon him. 1^'*^"-

tena:)t Be^n immediately came up, and told him, that Captain Rogers had
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desu'ed him to tell Captain Grant, that he had taken possession of a house,
and that he had better retu-e with what numbers he had, as he (Captain Rogers)
could not get off without the boats to cover him, he being hai-d j ushed by the

enemy from the enclosures behind him, some of which scoured the road
through which he must retire. Captain Grant then sent Ensign Pauli, with
20 men, back to attack a part of the enemy which amioyed his own post a

little, and galled those that were joining him, from the place where Captain

Dalyell was killed, and Captain Gray, Lieutenants Brown and Luke, were
woimded ; which Ensign Pauli did, and killed some of the enemy in their

flight. Captain Grant, at the same time, detached all the men he could get,

and took possession of the enclosures, barns, fences, &c. leading from his

own post to the fort, which posts he reinforced with the officers and men, as

tliey came up. Thinking the retreat then secured, he sent back to Cajjtain Rog-
rs, desiring he would come off; that the retreat was quite secured, and the

ifferent parties ordered to cover one another successively, until the whole had
cdned ; but Captain Rogers not finding it right to risk the loss uf more men, he
hose to wait for the ai-med boats, one of which appeared soon, commanded by
lieutenant Brehm, whom Captain Gi-ant had directed to go and cover Captain

ijg-ers's retreat, who was in the next house. Lieutenant Brehm accordingly

int, and fired several shots at the enemy. Lieutenant Ahhott, with the

oiiier boat, wanting ammunition, went down with Captain Gray. Lieuten-

ant Brown and some wounded men returned also, which Captain Grant sup-

poses the enemy seeing, did not wait her arrival, but retired on Lieutenant

BrehrrCs filing, and gave Captain Rogers, with the rear, an opportunitv- to

come off": so that the whole from the different posts joined without any con-

fusion, and marched to the fort in good order, covered by the armed boats

on the water side, and by our own parties on the country side, in view of the

enemy, who had all joined, and were much stronger than at the beginning of
the affair, as was afterwards told us by some prisoners that made their escape

;

many having joined them from the other side the river, and other places.

The whole arrived at the fort about eight o'clock, commanded by Captain

Grant, whose able and skilful retreat is highly commended.
"Return of killed and wounded of the several detachments neai'the Detroit,

July 31, 1763.
" Of the 55th Regiment

:

—1 Sergeant, 13 rank and file, killed ; 1 captain, 2

lieutenants, 1 drummer, 28 rank and file, wounded.
" Of the Royal Americans:—1 rank and file, killed; 1 rank and file wounded.
" Of the 80ih Regiment

:

—2 rank and file killed ; 3 rank and file wounded.
" Of the Queen^s Rangers:—2 rank and file killed ; 1 rank and file ivounded.

" Karnes of the officers

:

—55th Regiment : Captain Gray, Lieutenant IjvJce, and
Lieutenant Brown, wounded.

" N. B.—Captain Dalyell, killed, not included in the above."

Hence it appears that but 19 were killed and 42 wounded in the celebrated

"Battle of Detroit," but I am inclined to think that this return was made out

before the exact state of the troops engaged in it was ascertained. It is evi-

dent that Captain Dalyell was found to be among the killed after the return

was finished, or nearly so. It is imnecessaiy to apprize the reader, that re-

turns were often made more favorable than strict scrutiny would warrant,

from obvious motives.

About this time several small vessels fell into the hands of Pontiac, which
were destined to supi)ly the garrison, and the men were cruelly treated.

The garrison was in great straits, both from the heavy loss of men, as well

as from want of provisions and continual watching. In this time of despon-

dency, there arrived near the fort a schooner, which brought them supplies

of provisions, but nothing of this kind could be landed without Pontiac's

knowledge, and he determined, ifpossible, to seize the schooner: a detachment

made the atteuipt, and, to save herself, the vessel was obliged to tack short

about, and proceed in an opposite dh-ection. The Indians followed her in

canoes, and, by continually firing into her, killed almost every man, and at

length boarded her. As they were climbing up the sides and shrouds in

every quarter, the captain, having determined not to fall into their hands alive,

ordered the gunner to set fire to the magazine, and blow all un t-i(r«^ttior
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This was heard by a Huron chief, who understood enough English to know
what was going forwai'd, and instantly communicated it to his followers.

They disengaged themselves from the vessel as fast as possible, and fled from
her in a great fright, at considerable distance. Meantime the crew took the

advantage of a wind, and arrived safe at the fort. Li the pursuit of the vessel,

the Indians discovered extreme temerity, often coming so close to the schooner

as to be severely burned by the discharge of her guns.

This vessel had been sent from Niagai-a, and was manned with 18 men, 12

of w hom were IMohawk Indians. They arrived at Detroit on the 3 Septem-
ber; and thus was the garrison saved from certain destruction. So sensible

was 31ajor Gladmn and his officers of their escape from a dreadful fate by the

bravery of the crew of this vessel, that they caused silver medals to be struck

and presented to each descriptive of the event*
IMany other circumstances are related of this famous siege, but it is beUeved

tlie preceding are all that are well authenticated.

Pontiac having invested Detroit now for about twelve months, and the

news of his operations having been carried to various parts of the British

empire, extensive preparations were made to put down the Indian power.

Aware of the movements of General Bradstreet, who was proceeding for De-

ti-oit with an ai-my of 3000 men, he gave up, and sued for peace, which was
granted him, and his warriors retired to their hunting-grounds. By some it

is reported that he was killed, with many others of his chief men, by the

loways, in the year 1769, in a war* which at that time raged between the

Ottowas and that nation. It is also said that he had a son named Shegana-
BT, who was also a distinguished chief, and who, after the death of his father,

revenged his murder by the destruction of almost the entire nation of the

loways. When the revolution commenced, the Americans sent messages to

Pontiac to meet them in council. He was inclined to do so, but was prevented

from time to time by Governor Hamilton of Detroit. He seems now to have

laid aside all resentment against the English, and became their friend ; and

to reward his attachment, the government granted him a liberal pension. It

has also been reported that he became suspected in the time of the war, and
as he was going to hold a council among the Indians in Llinois, as an agent

for the English, a spy attended him to observe his conduct ; and that, in a

speech, he betrayed the English, and discovered his former enmity against

them. When he had finished, the Indian who had accompanied him,

plunged a knife into his breast, and thus ended the days of a chief who has

been renowned for singular sagacity, daring courage, great spirit of command,
and indeed numerous other qualities, found only in those born with such

elementary organizations as produce them by their peculiar school of cir-

3unastances.

* Holmes's Annals, ii. 12S.
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CHAPTER IV.

Captain Pipk— Situation of affairs on the frontiers at theperiod of the revobition—Sad
condition of the Moravian Indians at this period—Half-king engages to take them
to Canada—His speech to them— They remonstrate—Half-king inclines not to mo-
lest them, but Captain Pipe's couvsel prevails, and they are seized—Pipe's conduct

thereupon—Missionaries taken to Detroit and examined—Pipe loentto accusethem,—
Changes his conduct totcards them, and they are acquitted—Rernarkable deliverance
— Captain White-eyes opposes the conduct of Pipe—His speech to his people—
ColonelBroadhead's expedition—Brutal massacre ofa chief—Pachgantschihilas—
Surprises the missionaries—Gelelemend—Buokongahelas—Murder of Major
Trueman and others—In the battle of Presque-Isle—His death—His great intrepid-

ity—Further particulars of Captain Pipe—Hisfamous speech—Expeditionand defeat

of Colonel Crawford, who is burnt at the stake, and many more—Chiktommo—Tom
LEWIS

—

Mesihawa—King-crane—Little turtle—Defeats General St. Clair's

army—Incidents in that affair—Little-turtle's opinion of General Wayne— Visits

Philadelphia—His interview with C. F. Volney—Anecdotes—Blue-jacket— De-

feated by General Wayne in the battle of Presque-Isle.

PIPE, or Captain Pxpe,* as he is usually called, from his having been a
most conspicuous war-captain among the Delawares, during the period of
the revolution, in particular, vs^as chief of the Wolf tribe. His character is a
very prominent one, in the memorable troubles among the frontier settle-

ments, at the breaking out of the w^ar. Situated as were the Delawares
between the EngHsh of Canada and the Americans, it was hardly to be ex-

pected but that they should be drawn into that war. They could not well

weigh its merits or demerits upon either side. A speech of the renowned
Corn-plant contains the best commentary upon this matter. The English
stood much the best chance of gaining the Indians to their interest, inasmuch
as they were profuse in their presents of what was useful to them, as well as

ornamental, whereas the Americans required all their resources to carry on
the war. The commanding officer at Detroit, believing that the Moravian
Lidians upon the Susquehannah favored the Americans, ordered them, dead
or alive, with their priests, to be brought into Canada. The Iroquois agreed
that it should be done, but, unwilling to do it themselves, sent messengers to

the Chippeways and Ottawas, to intimate that, if they would do it, "they
should have them to make soup of" These two tribes, however, refused,

and the Half-king of the Hurons undertook it himself He liad been formerly

very friendly to the believing Indians, and now pretended that he only con-

cluded to seize upon them, to save them from destruction ; and, Mr. Loskiel

adds, "even the Half-king would certainly never have agreed to commit this

act of injustice, had not the Delaware, Captain Pipe, a noted enemy of the

gospel and of the believing Indians, instigated him to do it." Pipe and his

company of Delawares, joined by Half-king and his warriors, and some Sha-
wanese, held a war-feast, roasted a whole ox, and agreed u})on the manner
ofiuoceeding. The captains only of this expedition knew fully its destina-

tion. With such secrecy did they proceed, that the Moravian settlements

knew nothing of their approach, until they were in their vicinity. They bore

an English flag, and an English officer was among them. It was now 10

August, 1781.
"
Half-king sent in a message to Salem, re(iuesting the inliab-

* His Indinii namo, accordina; to Heckewelder, was Hopocan, and signiilied a Tobacco-

pipe. This name lie bore until about 1763, when that of KoctESCHquANOHEL was substi-

tuted. This meant, Maker of Daij-Lis^ht. Of ihe word pipe, a more extended notice should

be taken. The French writers <;cncrallv use the name calumet, whicii means the same thing,

and, of its origin, Karon Laliojitari, '' Voyae;cs dans L'Aineriqne,'' i. 401, observes as fol-

lows:—" It is a Norman word, which comes i'rom chalinneav, and was introduced into Canada
by the people of that nation, on their first coming into this country, by whom it has ever since

been used. The Iroquois call it Ga7ioii(laoe. ai\(\ llie other Indian nations, Poagan;" this,

allowing for the difference between the French and English idioms, will agree tolerably with

Mr. Herlcnri'lder's HopocAN. A chief named Pipe signed a treaty nt Fort Greenville, in 1814,

with 112 others, by which it seems the Delawares perpetuated it. li followed that of '^'hite-eyei.
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itants not to be alarmed, for they should receive no injury, and that lie liad

good words to speak to them, and wished to know at which of the settle-

ments they might hold a council with them. Gnadenhuetten being fixed

upon, all assembled there upon 11 August.
Meanwhile, the numbers of Pipe's expedition had increased from 140 to

300, and about 10 days after. Half-king made the following speech to the

belie%'ing Indians and their teachers :

—

" Cousins : ye believing Indians in Gnadenhuetten, Schoenhrunn, and Salem,
I am much concerned on your accomit, perceiving that you live in a very

dangerous spot Two powerful, angry and merciless gods stand ready
opening their jaws wide against each other : you are sitting dow n betwecsu

both, and thus in danger of behig devoured and ground to powcier by the

teeth of either one or the other, or both. It is therefore not advisable for you
to stay here any longer. Consider your young people, your wives, ancL your
children, and preserve their lives, for here they must all perish. I therefore

take you by the hand, lift you up, and place you in or near my dwelling,

where you will be safe and dwell in peace. Do not stand looking at j'our

plantations and houses, but arise and follow me ! Take also your teachers

[priests] with you, and worship God in the place to which I shall lead you,

as you have been accustomed to do. You shall likewise find provisions, and
oui- father beyond the lake [the governor at Detroit,] will care for you. This

is my message, and I am come hither purposely to deliver it."

The brethren, after taking this into consideration, remonstrated, in feeling

language, against such an immediate removal ; saying they did not conceive

that the danger was so great, as, moreover, they were at peace with all men,
and took no part in the war, and that it would bring famine and distress upon
them, to set out before their harvest with nothuig in their hands, but that they

would keep and consider his words, and would answer him the next winter.

It was supposed that Half-king was willing to comply, but for the importunity

of Pipe and the English captain.

This affair eventuated in the seizure of the missionaries and theu- removal

to Sandusky, as has been ^vritten in the account of Glikhikan.

Captain Pipe now publicly boasted of his exploit, and said the Lidians and

their priests were his slaves. They had had but a moment's repose at San-

dusky, when the governor at Detroit ordered Captain Pipe to conduct them to

him. They were glad of an opportunity of seeing the governor face to face,

believing they could convince him that they had never assisted the Americans,

and accordingly attended Pipe thither. Here the missionaries Zeisherger,

Senseman, Heckewelder and Edwards had to await a kind of trial, and Pipe

was the evidence against them. On the 9 November, this U'ial or examina-

tion came on, and Captain Pipe appeared, and spoke as follows : " Father, you

have commanded us to bring the believing Indians and their teachersfrom th£ Mus-

kingum. This has been done. When we had brought them to Sundusky,you

ordered ms to bring their teachers and some of their chiefs unto you. Here you

see them before you : now you may speak with them yourself, as you have desired.

But I hope you unit speak good words unto them, yea I tell you, speak good ivords

unto them, for they are my friends, and I should be sorry to see them ill used."

The governor then repeated to Pipe the charges he had formerly urged

against the brethren, and called on him to prove his assertions. The chief

seemed now evidently confused, and said such thuigs might have ha))pened,

but they would do so' no more, for they were now at Detroit. This did not

satisfy the governor, and he peremptorily demanded that Pipe should answer

positively to the point. This caused him still greater embarrassment, and he

asked his counsellors what he should say, but each held down his head in

silence, and tliis occasioned his choosing the only wise course, and he tlius

ingenuously spoke : " / said before, that some such thincr might have happened,

but now I ivill tell you the plain truth. The missionaries are innocent. They

have done nothing of themselves : what they have done, they were compelled to do.

lam to blame, and the chiefs that loere with me in Goschach^uenk : we have forced

tJiem to do it, when they refused:'' The governor now declared them mnocent,

in the presence of the court, and they were permitt<'d to return to their

brethren.
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One circumstance, illustrative of savage superstition, we will notice here.

When Pipe's warriors were about to force the Ijrethren to leave their dweli-

ior^s, it was almost unanimously concluded at one time by the chiefs, that

the white brethren should be i)ut to death. They, however, would not ad-

venture upon such a deed without the advice of one of their common war-
riors, who was considered a great sorcerer. His answer was, " he could not

understand what end it would answer to kill them." Upon this, the chiefs

held a council, in which it was resolved to kill not only the white brethren

and their wives, but the Indian assistants also. When they made this reso-

lution known to the sorcerer, he said to them, " Then you have resolved to

kill my friends ; for most of their chief people are my friends : but this J

tell you, that if you hurt any one of them, I know what I will do ! " This,

threat deterred them: thus were the missionaries as well as many others

saved.

It is stated by Mr. Heckeivelder, that, notwithstanding Captain Pipe was so

eager for the war before its commencement, he soon became sorry for it

afterwards. This might have been the case ; and yet he was one of the

most efficient enemies of the Americans after the peace, as will elsewhere
appear. Captain White-eyes, or Koquethagaeehlon, which was his Lidian
name,* was his particular friend, and they were both great men of the Dela-
ware nation, having been nearly alike distinguished by their courage on
many occasions. No one could have more at heart the welfai-e of their

country, than Captain White-eyes had that of the Delaware nation, and it is

not pretended, but that as much should be said of Captain Pipe ; but they
were differently circumstanced, and the former was open and fearless in his

declarations in favor of the Americans, while the latter secretly favored the

British. Thus they were unwillingly opposed to each other, and for about
two years, one by his fi-ankness and the other by his clandestine operations

strove to unite and strengthen their respective parties.

Meanwhile a circumstance happened, which Captain Pipe seized upon for

declaring war. M'Kee, Elliot, Girty, and several others, had been held at

Pittsburg as tories. Early in the spring of 1778, they made an escape, and
fled into the Indian country, and, as they went, proclaimed to that people,

that the Americans had determined to destroy them ; that therefore their only

safety consisted ui repelling them ; that they must fly to arms, and fight them
in every place. Pipe, being rather inclined to war, believed all that those

exasperated fugitives said ; while, on the other hand. While-eyes would give no
credit to them. Having got many of his men together, Captain Pipe address-

ed them with great earnestness, and with great force of oratory said, " Every man
is an enemy to his country, who endeavors to persuade us againstfighting the

Americans, and all such ought surely to be put to death.'" Captain White-eyes

was not idle, and at the same time had assembled the people of his tribe, and
the substance of what he said was, " thatifthey [any of his warriors] meanf
in earnest to go out, as he observed some of them were preparing to do, they shoidd

not go withoid hinu He had, he said, taken peace measures in order to save the

nationfrom utter destruction. But if they believed that he ivas in the wrong, and
gave more credit to vagabond fugitives, whom he knew to be such, than to hxmself,

who was best acquainted loiih the real state of things ; if they had determined to

follow their advice, and go out against the Americans, he ivould go out ivith them;
bui not like the bear hunter, who sets the dogs on the animal to be beaten aboid ivith

his paivs, tvhile he keeps at a safe distance ; no ! he woidd lead them on, place

himself in the front, and be the first who shoiddfall. Thet only had to determine

on ichat they meant to do ; asfor his own mind, it wasfully made up, not to sur-

vive his nation ; and he would not spend the remainder of a miserable life, in

bewailing the total destruction of a brave people, who deserved a betterfate."

This speech was spoken with a pathos and ui a m;mner calculated to touch

tlu! hearts of all who listened to it, and its impression was such, that ail

unanimously came to the determination to obey its instructions and orders

and to hear or receive directions from no other person, of any nation or color

but Captain fVhile-eyes.

* Accnrding to Mr. Heckewelder. His residence was at the mouth of the Big Beaver.
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At the same time, Captain White-eyes, in order to counteract, as much aa
possible, the evil counsel of the white men just mentioned, despatched run
ners to the Shawanese towns on the Scioto, where these inipostoi-s liad gone,
with the following speech: '' Grandchildren, ye Shawanese, some days ago, a
Jlock of birds, that had come onfrom the east, lit at Goschochking, imposing a
song of theirs upon its, which son^ had nigh proved our ruin. Should these birds,

which on leaving iis, took theirfight towards Scioto, endeavor to impose a song
on you likewise, do not listen to tliem,for they lie!

"

A knowledge of the proceedings of Captain White-eyes having reached
Pipe, he knew not what course to take, and, while thus confounded, a kind
and conciliatory message was received in the Delawai-e nation, from the Amer-
ican agent of Indian affairs at Pittsburg. It particularly cautionetl the people
of that nation " not to hearken to those tvicked and ivoiihless men, who had run
aivayfrom theirfiends in the night, and to be assured of the real friendship of
the United States." This completed Pipers confusion. But after pondering
a while upon the wrongs to which his countrymen had for a long time been
subjected, like the sachem of the Wampanoags, he permitted his warrioi*s

to go out, and sm-prise, and murder all the Americans they could lay their

hands upon.
Blood having now begun to flow, barbarities followed in quick succes-

sion. Eai'iy in the spring of 1781,* Colonel Broadhead arrived near the Mora-
vian town of Salem, and notified the inhabitants that he was on an expedi-
tion against the hostile Indians, and gave them that timely notice that they
might collect their people, if any were abroad, that they might not be taken
for enemies. "However," says Mr. Heckewelder, "whilst the colonel was
assuring me that our Indians had nothing to fear, an officer came with great

speed from one quarter of the camp, and reported that a particular division

of the militia "were preparing to bieak off for the purj)ose of destroying the

Moravian settlements up the river, and he feared they could not be restrained

from so doing.' " They were, however, by the exertions of the commander-
in-chief, aided by Colonel Shepherd, of Wheeluig, partially prevented fi'om

their murderous design. Thus these Christian Indians were situated pre-

cisely like many of those of N. E. in Philip's war. But we have no instance

to record, of the latter, equal in extent, for diabolical atrocity, to that of the

massacre of Gnadenhuetten, elsewhere mentioned.
Meanwhile Colonel Broadhead proceeded to Coshocton, a hostile settle-

ment neai- the forks of the Muskingum ; and with such secrecy did he pro-

ceed, that not a person escaped. How many fell into the hands of the army
is not mentioned ; but, not long after, 16 warriors were put to death with
shocking manifestations of depravity. There accom])anied Colonel Broad-

head's army a Delaware chief named Pekillon.] Sixteen of the captive

warrioi-s were designated by him as perpetrators of murders, and they were
forthwith tomahawked and scalped. They were executed pursuant to the

decree of a court-martial.

Some extenuation has been urged for this revolting transaction, and that

alone in which, perhaps, the mind can find any relief. But a siiort time be-

fore Broadhtad's expedition, a large Indian force, called by the whites an
army, collected, and set out for the destruction of North-western Virginia.

This army was divided into two parts, and their expectations were wrought
up to a very high degree, which, when suddenly blasted, were changed into

rage and fury. Having, in their march, taken a large number of caj)tivcs,

they retreated to a place of safety, and there tied tliem to trees and put them
to death in their barbarous manner. This massacre was, however, confined

to then- male prisoners. Fathers, in presence of their families, were lea

forth to execution, amid tears and lamentations, which no creature but infu-

riated man could withstand. This barbarity was the more aggravating

when it was contemplated that those who fell into their hands had made no

resistance ! Nothing, therefore, like just retribution was to be expected

from an army of frontier militia, when vengeance was the only pursuit.

* Doddridge, Notes, 291, says, this "campaign" was in the summer of 1780.

+ The same who, afterwards, as I conclude, was a party to Waste's treaty.

47*
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After every thing had been destroyed in the Indian comitry through which
the Americans passed, they returned to Pittsbui-g. Before leavuig Coslioc-
ton, a shocking circumstance occurred, which alone was sufficient to have
tai-nished the most brilliant exploits. An Indian came to the side of the

river over agahist the encampment, and called to the sentinels, who asked
him what he wanted. He answered that he wished to see the " big captain "

(the name by which Indians commonly designate the commander-in-chief).
Colonel Broadhead appeared, and asked him what he wanted, who replied,
" To make peace." Then, said the colonel, send over some of your chiefs.

The Indian mterrogatively said, " May be you kill ? " No, said the colonel,

they shall come and go in safety. Hereupon a chief of most elegant appear-
ance crossed to the encampment, and—^I hesitate to relate it—while this

chief was conversing with the colonel, a monster, of the militia, came up,

and with a tomahawk, which he had concealed in his clothes, laid him dead
with a single stroke !

* The name of this fiend was Wetzel. The army soon
began its retreat, and Colonel Broadhead having put his prisoners, (about 20
in number,) into the care of the soldiers, they immediately began to mas-
sacre them ! all except a few women and children were killed. These were
taken to Pittsburg, and afterwards exchanged for an equal number of white
prisoners.f Thus the peace which might have been concluded was unhappily
suspended, and the war afterwai-ds might well have been expected to exhibit
scenes no less bloody than before.

A chief, called Pachgantschihilas, distinguished himself upon the fron-
tiers, immediately upon the reti'eat of Colonel Broadhead^s army ; not as many
others have, but by magnanunity and address. And subsequentlj' his name
was set to many treaties between his nation and the United States, from that

of General Wayne at Greenville to that of St. Mary's in 1818 : if, indeed,
Petchenanalas, Bokongehelas, and several other variations, stand for the same
person. His name, according to Heckewelder, signified a fidJUler, or one ivho

succeeds in all he undertakes. He was a son of a great chief whose name is

written Weivandochwalend, which signified one employed on important messages

;

and who in the French war was a great captain, and in peace a great coun-
sellor. He had upon his under lip and chin tatooed the figure of a water
lizai'd, on which account he was often called Tiveegachschasu. Buokongahelas
was head warrior of all the Delawares who lived on the Miami and White
Rivers.

Petchenanalas, at the head of 80 warriors, appeai-ed suddenly at Gna-
denhuetten, surrounding it before day, allowing no one a chance for escape.

Not knowing his object, the people were filled with terror. But he soon
dispelled their fears, by telling them that he came to take the chief Gelele-

mend, and a few other head men, whom he would have, either dead or alive.

As it hap[)ened, not one of those he sought after was there at the time.

Having satisfied himself of this fact, the chief demanded that deputies liom
the three Christian towns should meet to heai* what he had to say to them.
When the deputies and others had met, he spoke to them as follows :

—

" Friends and kinsmen, listen to what I say to you. You see a great and
powerful nation divided. You see the father fighting against the son, and
the son against the father.—The father has called on his Indian children to

assist him in punishing his children, the Americans, who have become re-

fractory. I took time to consider what I should do ; whether or not I should
receive the hatchet of my father, to assist him. At first I looked upon it as

a family quarrel, in which I was not interested. At length it appeared to me,
that the father was in the right, and his children deserved to be punished a
little.—That tliis must be the case, I concluded from the many cruel acts his

offspring had conunitted, from time to time, on his Indian children—in en-
croaching on their lands, stealing their property—shooting at and murdering
without cause, men, women, and children :—yes, ev^n murdering those, who
at all times had been friendly to them, and were placed for protection luider

* Chronicles of Western Settlements, posn'm.
Doddridge's Notes, 293.



Chap. IV.] BUOKONGAHELAS. 55

the roof of their father's house ;
* the father himself standing sentiy at the door,

at the time !—Friends and relatives, often has the father been obliged to settle

and make amends for tlie wi'ongs and mischiefs done us, by his refractory

children; yet these do not grow better. No! they remain the same, and will

continue to be so, as long as we have any land left us ! Look back at the

murders committed by the Long-Knives on many of our relations, who lived

peaceable neighbors to them on the Ohio ! Did they not kill them vvitliout

the least provocation ?—Are they, do you think, better now, than they were
then? No I indeed not; and many days are not elapsed, since you had a

number of these very men near your doors, who panted to kill j on, but for-

timately were prevented from so doing, by the Great Suu,f who, at that tune,

had by the Great Spu'it been ordained to protect you !

"

The chief then spoke with respect of their peaceable mode of life, and
commended their desire to live in friendship with all mankind ; but said, they

must be aware of then- exposed situation—living in the very road the hostile

parties must pass over, in going tci fight each other; that they had just es-

caped destruction from one of these parties ; that therefore no time should
be lost, but they should go to the country on the Miami, where they would be
entirely out of danger.
The Christian Indians replied, that, as they had never injured the Amer-

icans, they thought they need not .fear injun' from them; that if their

friends at war wished them well, in truth, they would not make their

settlement upon the path they took to go to war, as it would lead their

antagonists the same way; and that they could not remove without great

deti'imeut ; and thei'efore, as they were then situated, they could not consent

Pachgantsckihilas consulted in the mean time ivith his chief men, and
answered very feelingly to what the brethren had said. He obsei-ved that he
was sorry that they should differ from him m opinion, but that he had no
intention to use compulsion, and only requested that those might be j)ermit-

ted to go, whose fears pi-ompted them to it. This was readily assented to,

and the council broke up, and the waiTiors departed. At Salem they made a
short stay, where they conducted themselves as they had done at Gnaden-
huetten. Here a family of old people joined them, through fear of w hat Pach-
gantschihilas had predicted, and tlie event justified the proceeding! The
massacre of Gnadenhuetteu will ever be remembered with the deepest regret

and indignation.

Nothing was feared from the good Petckenanalas ; but the prowling mon-
sters JifKee, Girty, Elliot, and perhaps others, calling themselves white, were
the plotters of the ruin of the innocent people at Gnadenhuetten, which fol-

lowed not long after.

Our present design makes it expedient that we pass over many events in

the chronicles of the frontier wars, that we may be enabled to proceed with

more minuteness of detail, m the lives of the eminent chiefs. Although
we cannot, by any rule known to us, derive Buokongahelas from Pachgantsci-

hilas or Pttchenanalas, yet, as they have as much affinity as Pometacom and
Metacomet, we shall let them pass for the same person, and thus continue our

narrative.

Buokongahelas was not only a great, but a noble wai'rior. He took no de-

light in shedduig blood ; and when he raised the hatchet on the side of the

British in the revolution, it was for the best of reasons ; and would that nuiiic-

rous other allies we could name had acted from as piu-e motives ! Our next

notice of Buokongahelas is in 1792, when he showed himself no less niagnan

imous than at Gnad'uhuetten and Salem. Colonel Hardin, Major Ti-ueman

and several others, were sent, in May of this year, by Washington, with a flag

of truce, to the Indian nations of the west, particularly the Maumee towns

They having arrived near the Indian town of Au Glaize on the south-wes

* Alluding to the murder of the Conestoga Indians, which was as atrocious as that at GoB
denhuetten, and of which we shall in due course give a relation.

+ Referring to what we have just related of Colouel Daniel Broadhead and his army.
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braiK h of the Miami of the Lake, fell in with some Indians, who treated

them well at first, and made many professions of friendship, but in the end
took edvaiitage of them, while off their guard, and murdered neai-ly all of

them. The interpreter made his escape, after some time, and gave an ac-

count of the transaction. His name was William Smally ; and he had been

some time before with the Lidians, and had leai-ned their manners and cus-

toms, which gave him some advantage in being able to save himself He waa
at first conducted to Au Glaize, and soon after to " Buokungafiela, king of the

Delawares, by his captors." The chief told those that committed the murder,

he was very sorry they had killed the men. That instead of so doing, they should

have brought them to the Indian towns ; and then, if ivhat they had to say had not

been liked, it ivoidd have been time enough to have killed them then. JSfothing, he

said, could justify themfor putting them to death, as there was no chancefor them

to escape. The truth was, they killed them to plunder their effects. Buakon-

gahelas took Mr. Smally into his cabin, and showed him gi-eat kindness ; told

him to stay there while he could go safely to his former Lidian friends.

(He having been adopted into an Indian family, in place of one who had
been killed, in his former captivity.) While here with Buokongahelas,

wliicli was near a month, Mr. Smally said the chief would not permit

him to go abroad alone, for fear, he said, that the young Indians would
kill him. .

Fr<jm another source we learn the names of several of the murdered. " A
letter from Paris (in the new French settlement), dated July 17, states, that

intelligence had been received at Fort Jefferson, of the death of Major True-

man, Mr. Freeman, Debachi and Jarrat. That this information was brought

by two prisoners, who were laboring in a cornfield, and made their escape.

The one had been taken prisoner at the time General Harmer was defeated

—

tlie other is William Duer, of Capt. Buchanan's company of levies. They
further inform, that on the 15tli June a party of Lidians took 8 men prisoners,

who were making hay near Fort Jefferson ; that when they had moved the

prisoners some distance from the fort, they divided them—tour were given

to the Clii})})ewas, and four to the Shawanese—that the Shawanese burnt tlie

four unfortunately assigned to them—that the Chippewas took theirs home,

to the intent of making laborers of them—that the Indians are determined

for war, and will not treat, but will kill every white person that attempts to

go to them, either with or without a flag—that their present i)lan is to cut off

the escorts of jjrovisions destined to the outposts, and by that means oblige

the troops stationed there to surrender ; and that for this purpose they kept

two spies constantly out." *

It is said that the conduct of the British, at tHe battle of Presque-Isle, for-

ever changed the mind of this chief, as it did that of many others, in regard

to them. Buokongahelas said he would henceforth trust them no more. The
fort at Maiimee w:is critically situated, but by its own imprudence. Theofii-

cers of it had told the Lidians that if the battle turned against them, they

should have protection in tlie fort. Immediately after, General Wayne in-

formed them, that if they did protect the Lidians in that event, he woidd

treat them as though found in arms against him; therefore, thinking their

own safety of more consequence than keeping their fiiith with the Indians,

they barred the gates, and were idle spectators of those they had basely be-

trayed, cut down in great numbers by the swords of the horsemen, under

their very ramparts!

It would s<!em from a passage ui the Memoirs of General Harrison,\ that

Buokongahelas ilied soon "after the treaty of 1804; "that if lie had been

alive, JNlr. Dawson thinks, when Tecumsth and the Prophet enlisted so many
nations agam^t the Americans, he woidd not have suflered their plans to

have l)een matured. The same author relates an incident of peculiar interest,

concerning our sul)ject, wiiicli is as follows:—After the fight with Wayne's

army before menti<)ned, Buokongahelas collected the remnant of his hand,

andembarked with them in canoes, and passed up the river, to send a flag of

* Carey's Miisaim, xti. 15. t By Mr. Dawson, pagfe 82.
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truce to Fort Wayne. When the chief ai-rived against the Britisli fort, he
,W6is requested to land, which he did. When he had approached the sentinel,
he demanded, " What have you to say to me ? " He was answered that the
commandant desired to speak with him. " Then he may come here," was tlie

reply. The sentry then said the oflBcer would not do that, and that he would
not be allowed to pass the fort, if he did not comply with its rules. " What
shall prevent me ? " said the intrepid chief Pointing to the cannon of the fort,

the sentry said, " Those." The chief replied indignantly, " / fear not your
cannon : after suffering the Americans to defile your spring, without daring tojire

on them, you cannot expect to frighten Buokongehelas." He reembarked, and
passed the fort, without molestation. By " defiling their spring," he meant
an ironical reproach to the British garrison for their treachery to the Indians,
which has been mentioned.

It is said that Buokongahelas was present at Fort M'Intosh, at the treaty

of 1785 ; but as his name is not among the signers, we suppose he was
opposed to it. General George R. Clark, Arthur Lee, and Richard Butler, were
the American commissioners ; the former had been a successful warrior against

the Lidians, which had gained liim the respect of Buokongahelas ; and when
he had an opportunity, he passed the others without noticing them, but went
and took General Clark by the hand, and said, " / thank the Great Spirit for
having this day brought together two such great ivarriors, as Buokongahelas
and Gen. Clark."
A separate ailicle in the treaty just named, illustrates the history of several

chiefs already mentioned. It is in these words :—"It is agreed that the Del-
aware chiefs Kelelamand, [Gelelemend, Killbuck,] or Colonel Henry ; Hengue-
pushees, or the Big-cat; Wicocalind, or Captain White-eyes ; who took up the

hatchet for the United States, and their families, shall be received into the

Delawai'e nation, in the same situation and rank as before the war, and enjoy

their due portions of the lands to the Wyandot and Delaware nations in thi«

treaty, as fully as if they had not taken part with America."

Gelelemend, ens of the most conspicuous of those noticed in the provisii.

of the treaty of Fort M'Intosh, we will proceed to consfder in this plac

His name signified A leader, but he was called Killbuck because the whi';;

had so called his father, and to distinguish him, jimior was added. Upc
the death of White-eyes, he, as that chief had done, accepted the office c

chief, until the young heir should be old enough to fill the important plao

He continued tlie course of measures carried on by his predecessor, but L

spite of all he could do. Captain Pipe succeeded in defeating his designs.

Such was the power of Pipe, that Gelelemend and his party were forced

tlu-ough fear to abandon their council-house at Goschochking, and reth-e

under the protection of the Americans near Pittsburg. Here they supposed

themselves safe, but they were soon disappointed ; " for while the fi-iendly

chiefs, together with a number of their people, were peaceably living together

on an island just below the town of Pittsbm-g, they were suddenly sui-prised

and attacked by the murdering paity which had returned from killing near a

himdred of the Christian Indians, and partly killed and partly i)ut to flight,

fi-om whence this chief [Killbuck) saved his life only by taking to the

river and swimming across to the point, or town, [of Pittsburg] leaving aD

his property behind ; among which was the bag containing all the wampum
speeches and wi'itten documents of William Penn and his successors for a

great number of years, which had for so long a time been carefully preserved

by them, but now had fallen into the hands of a murdering band of white

eavages, who killed at the same time the promising young Delaware chief

above mentioned." The many services he rendered to Pennsylvania were

known and appreciated ; which services, however, being obnoxious to the

enemy, drew their hatred upon him, so much so, that they ordered any that

should meet with him to shoot him dead. He therefore remained concealed

some time after the peace with the Lidians, with his family at Pittsburg. He
finally joined the Christian Indians and lived under their protection ;

never

venturing far from home, lest the Munseys should meet with and kill hi

He was bai)tized by the name of William Henry, a name he had been k
known under, and which was that of a distinguished member of congK

2L
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conferred by himself. Killhuck* died in the faith in January, 1811, aged
about 80.t
At the time these peaceable Indians were murderously driven from their

island, as just noticed, ^/^-coij narrowly escaped the slaughter. He retired

to the Miami country, where he afterwards died. He had been an able

counsellor, and afterwards a chief of the Turtle tribe.f But to return to

Captain Pipe.

At one time after an expedition against the Americans, Captain Pipe went
to Detroit, where he was received with respect by the British coumiandant,
who, wuh his attendants, was invited to the council-house, to give an account
of past transactions. He was seated in front of his Indians, facing the chief

ofiicer, and iield in his left hand a short stick, to which was fastened a scalp.

After a usual pause, he arose and spoke as follows :

—

" Father, [then he stooped a little, and, turning towards the audience, with
a countenance full of great expression, and a sarcastic look, said, in a lower
tone of voice,] " / have said father, although, indeed, I do not know why / am
to call HIM so, having never known any otherfather than the Drench, and consider-

ing the English oidy as brothers. Bid as this name is also imposed upon us,

I shall make u^e of it, and say, [at the same time fixing his eyes uijon tlie com-
mandant,] Father, some time ago you put a war hatchet into my hands, saying,
' Take this weapon and try it on the heads of my enemies, the Long-Knives, arul

let me afterwards know if it was sharp and good.^ Father, at the time when you
gave me this weapon, I had neither cause nor inclination to go to tear against a
people who had done me no injury ; yet in obedience to you, who say you are my
father, and call me your child, I received the hatchet ; ivell knoinng, that if I did

not obey, you would withholdfrom me the necessaries of life, without which I could

not subsist, and which are not elsewhere to be procured, but at the house of my
father.—You may perhaps think me afool,for risking my life at your bidding, in

a cause too, by which Ihave no prospect ofgaining any thing ;fur it is your cause

and not mine. It is your concern tofght the Long-Knives
;
you have raised a

quairel amongst yourselves, and you ought yourselves tofght it out. You shoidd

not compel your children, the Indians, to expose themselves to danger,for your sakes.—Father, many lives have already been lost on your account

!

—JVatioiis have suf-

fered, and been wecdiened

!

—children have lost parents, brothers, and relatives

!

—
wives have lost husbands

!

—It is not known how many more may perish before

your war ivill be at an end

!

—Father, I have said, that you nuty, perhaps, think me
a fool,for thus thoughtlessly rushing on your enemy

!

—Do not believe this, father

:

Think not that I want seiise to convince me, that although you now pretend to keep

up a perpetual enmity to the Long-Knives, you may before long conclude a peace

ivith tfiem.—Father, you say you love your children, the Indians.—This you have

often told them, and indeed it is your interest to say so to them, that you may have

them at your service. But, father, who of us can believe that you can love a people

of a different colorfrom your own, better than those ivho have a white skin like

yourselves ? Father, pay attention to what I am going to say. ffliile you, father,

are selling me [meaning the Indians in general] on your enemy, much in the

same manner as a hunter sets his dog on the game ; while I am in the act of rushing
on that enemy of yours, with the bloody destructive weapon you gave me, I

may, percharce, happen to look back to the place from whence you started me : and
what shall I see ? Perhaps I may see my father shaking hands with the Long-
Knives ; yes, with these very people he now calls his enemies. I may then see liim

laugh at my follyfor having obeyed his orders ; and yet I am now risking my life

at his command ! Father, keep what I have said in remembrance.—J^ow, father,

here is what has been done with the hatchet you gave me. [With these words he
banded the stick to tlie commandant, with the scalp u|)on it, above men-
tioned.] [ have done with the hatchet ivhat you ordered me to do, and found it

sharp. J^everlheless, I did not do all tliat I might have done. N'o, I did not. My

* Anntlier of the same name is mentioned by Mr. Latrobe, Rambles, ii. 118, whom he saw
at New Fairtieid in 1832 ; " a venerable " man " watching the bed of his dying daughter, the

last of 12 rhildren."

t Heckewelder's Biogaphy of ihe Delawares, &i-., in Philos. Trans.

t M'lchijtgite fuschtls, accordiue to Heckewetder.



Lhap. IV.] CAPTAIN PIPE.—CRAWFORD'S EXPEDITION. 563

heartfailed ivitMn me. Ifelt compassionfor your enemy. Innocence [helpless
women and children] had no part in your quarrels ; therefore I distinguished—1
spared. I took some live flesh, which, ivhile I ivas bringing to you, I spied one of
your large canoes, on which I put itfor you. In a few days you imll recover this

flesh, andfnd. thai the skin is of the same color with your own. Father, I hope
you urill not destroy what I have saved. You, father, have the means of preserv-

ing that which uxith me would perishfor waid. The warrior is poor, and his cabin

is always empty ; bid your house, father, is alwaysfull."
Ai'ter a high encomium upon this speech, wiiich need not be repeated, Mr

Heckewelder says, "It is but justice here to say, that Pipe was well accjuaint-

ed with the noble and generous character of the British officer to whom this

speech was addressed. He is still living in his own country, an honor to the
British name. He obeyed the orders of his superiors, in employing tlie In-

dians to fight against us ; but he did it with reluctance, and softened as much
as was in his power the horrors of that abominable warfare. He esteemed
Captain Pipe, and, I have no doubt, was well pleased with the humane con-
duct of this Lidian chief, whose sagacity in this instance is no less deserving
of praise than his eloquence."

The name of Captain Pipe is unfortunately associated with the history of the
lamented Colonel William Crawford, who perished at the stake, alter suffering

the most horrible and excruciating tortiu-es possible for Indians to inflict. He
was pai-ticularly obnoxious to them, from having been many years a successful

commander against them. He fell into the hands of the Indians not far from
Upper Sandusky, in the latter end of May, 1782. At this time he was arrived
there, at the head of a band of about 500 volunteers, who were attacked and
put to flight, without having acquitted themselves hke soldiers in any degree

;

except, indeed, some individual instances. At least a hundred were killed

and taken, and of the latter, but two are said ever to have escaped.

Captain Pipe, if not the principal, was probably one of the chief leaders of
the Indians at this time. When the rout of the army began, instead of re-

treating in a body, they fled in small parties, and thus fell an easy prey into

the hands of their pinsuers. Colonel Crawford became separated from the

main body of his soldiers, by his extreme anxiety for his son, and two or three

other relations, whom he suspected were in the rear, and therefore waited
for them an unreasonable time. He at length fled, in comi)any with a Dr.

Knight and two others. Unfortunately, after travelling nearly two days, they

were, with several others, surprised by a party of Delawai-es, and conducted
to the Old Wyandot Town. Here Captain Pipe, with his own hands, painted

Craioford and Knight black in every part of their bodies. A place called

the New Wyandot Town was not far oflT. To this place they were now
ordered, and Pipe told Crawford, that when he arrived there, his head should

be shaved ; of which, it seems, he did not understand the import. These mis-

erable men were accompanied by Pipe and another noted Delaware chief,

named Wingenim. Several other captives had been sent forward ; and in the

way, as Knight and Crawford passed along, they saw four of the mangled
bodies of their friends, lying upon the ground, dead and scalped. Nine others

had been |)icked up at the same time the two just named were, and four of

these were tlio^e murdered in the way. The other five met a like fate, ii-ora

the hands of Indian squaws and boys at the destined village. Here Craufora
and Knight saw Si7non Girly, of whom no human being since, we api)rehend,

has spoken or written without indignation. He is represented to iiave wit-

nessed the torture of Crawford with much satisfaction !

After the colonel was tied to the fatal post, Captain Pipe addressed the assein-

bled Indians in an earnest speech, which when he had closed, they all joined in

a hideous yell, and fell to torturing the prisoner, which continued fin- about

three hours, when he sunk down upon his face, and with a groan expired.

Dr. Knight was reserved for the same fate, and was present, and obliged to

hear the agonizing ejaculations of his friend, and at la.st to see him expire-

without being able to render him even the assistance of a consoling word !—

Indeed the thoughts of his own condition, and the end that awaited him,

were as much, nay, more, perhaps, than a rational mind could bear. There

seemed no possibility of a deliverance ; but it came in an unexpected houi
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He was to be sent to the Sawanee Town, and for this pui-pose was intrusted

to a young wan*ior, who watched him incessantly. The distance was about

40 miles ; and, during their march, he found means to knock down his driver

and make good his escape. He was 21 days in the wilderness alone, and was
nearly famished when he arrived at Fort M'lntosh. At the place to which
he was destined by the Indians, Colonel Crawford's son, son-in-law, and sev-

eral others, were put to death about the same time.

Wingenund, Winganoond, or Wingaynoond, had an interview with Colonel

Crawford immediately before his execution, and as the substance of what
passed between the victim and the chief has been preserved, it shall here

be given, not merely for the history which it contains, but as it strikingly

brings to view the manner in which an Indian exercises his views ofjustice
in an extraordinary case.

This chief had been knovra to Crawford some time before, and had been
on terms of true friendship v»ith him, and kindly entertained by him at his

own house ; and such acts of kindness all red men remember with gratitude.

Jfingenund does not appear to have been present when the first preparations

were made for burning the prisoner, but resided not far from the fatal spot, and
had retired to his cabin that he might not see the sentence of his nation exe-

cuted upon one calling him his friend ; but Crawford requested that he might
be sent for, cheering his almost rayless mind with the faint hope that he
would interpose and save him. Accordingly, Wingenund soon appeared in

the presence of the bound and naked white man. He was asked by Crawford if

he knew him, who said, he believed he did, and asked, "Are you not Colonel

Crawford^" "I am," replied the colonel. The chief discovered much agi-

tation and embarrassment, and ejaculated—" So !—Yes !—Indeed ! " " Do
you not recollect the friendship that always existed between us, and that we
were always glad to seeeach other.?" said Crawford. "Yes," said the chief, "I
remember all this, and that we have often drank together, and that you have
been kind tome." "Then I hope," added Oa«/orrf, " the same friendship

still continues." " It would of course," said Wingenund, " were you where you
ought to be, and not here." " And why not here ? " said the colonel ; " I hope
you would not desert a friend in time of need. Now is the time for you to

exert yourself in my behalf, as I should do for you, were you in my place."
" Colonel Crawford," replied Wingenund, " you have placed yourself in a sit-

uation which puts it out of my power and that of others of your friends to

do any thing for you." "How so. Captain Wingenund 9" said the colonel.

He added, "By joining yourself to that execrable man, Williamson and his

party. The man who but the other day murdered such a number of the

Moravian Indians, knowing them to be friends ; knowing that he ran no risk

in murdering a people who would not fight, and whose only business was
praying." " But I assure you, Wingenund," said Crawford, " that had I l)eeu Avith

him at the time, this would not have happened. Not I alone, but all your
friends and all good men, wlierever they are, reprobate acts of this kmd."
" That may be," said Wingenund, " yet these fiiends, these good men did not

pi-event him from going out again, to kill the remainder of those inoffensive,

yet foolish Moravian Indians ! I sayfoolish, because they believed the whites

in pi-eference to us. We had often told them that they would be one day so

treateil by those people who called themselves their friends! We told them
that there was no faith to be placed in what the white men said ; that their

fair promises were only intended to alhu-e us, that they might the more easily

kill us, as they have done many Indians before they killed these Moravians."

"I am sorry to hear you speak thus," said Craioford: "as to Williamson''s going

out again, when it was known that he was determined on it, I went out with

him, to prevent him from committing fresh murders." "This," said Winge-

nund, "the Indians would not believe, were even I to tell them so." Crawfora
then asked, "And why would they not believe it? "Because," replied Win-

Senund, "it would have l)een out of your power to prevent his doing what
e pleased." "Out of my power?" exclaimed the colonel, and asked, "Have

any Moravian Indians been killed or hurt since we came out?" "None,"
answered the chief; "but you went first to their town, and finding it empty
and deserted, you turned on the path towards us. If you had been in search
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of warriors only, you would not have gone thither. Our spies watched you
closely. They saw you wliile you wei'e embodying yourselves on the other side
of the Ohio. They saw you cross that river—they saw when; you encamped
at night—they saw you turn off trom the path to the deserted Moravian town

—

they knew you were going out ofyoui- way—youi- steps were constantly watch-
ed, and you were suffered quietly to proceed until you reached the spot
where you were attacked."

Crawford, doubtless, with this sentence, ended his last rays ofhope. He asked,

with faint emotion, "What do they intend to do with me ?" when Wingenund
frankly replied, " I tell you with grief. As Williamson, with his whole cowardly
host, ran off in the night at the whistling of om- warriors' balls, being satisfied

that now he had no Moravians to deal with, but men who could fight, and with
such he did not wish to have any thing to do—I say, as he escaped, and they
have taken you, they will take revenge on you in his stead." " And is there

no possibihty of preventing this ? " said Crawford—" Can you devise no way
to get me off? You shall, my friend, be well rewarded ifyou ai'e instrumen-
tal in saving my life." " Had Williamson been taken with you," answered the

chief, " I and some friends, by making use of what you have told me, might,
perhaps, have succeeded in saving you, but as the matter now stands, no man
would dare to interfere in your behalf The king of England himself, were he
to come to this spot, with all his wealth and treasure, could not effect this pur-

pose. The blood of the innocent Moravians, more than half of them women
and children, cruelly and wantonly miu"dered, calls aloud for revenge. The rela-

tives of the slain, who are among us, ciy out and stand ready for revenge. The
nation to which they belonged will have revenge. The Shawanese, our grand-
children, have asked for yoiu* fellow prisoner ; on him they will take revenue.

All the nations connected with us cry out, revenge ! revenge ! The Moravians
whom you went to destroy, having fled, instead of avenging their brethren,

the offence is become national, and the nation itself is bound to take revenge !
"

"My fate then is fixed," said the wretched man, "and I must prepare to

meet death in its worst form." "Yes, colonel," said the chief; "I am
sorry for it, but cannot do any thing for you. Had you attended to the Indiai*

principle, that as good and evil cannot dweU together in the same heart, so a
good man ought not to go into evil company, you would not be in this lament-
able situation. You see, now, when it is too late, afl;er Williamson has deserted

you, what a bad man he must be ! Nothing now remains for you but to meet
your fate like a brave man. Farewell, Colonel Crawford! they are coming
I will retire to a solitary spot."

Accordingly a host of executioners were inunediately upon him, and ho
died by their cruel hands, as we have already written. It is said that Winge-
nund shed tears at parting with his friend, and that ever aftei', when the cir-

cumstance was mentioned, he seemed very sensibly affected.*

Colonel Crawford's son was compelled to witness this cruel death of hia

father, and suffered the same fate immediately after.f

The expedition of Colonel Crawford was not so laudably undertaken as

many others, in as far as it was directed against the Moravian towns upon the

Muskingum, where many, who composed it, were determined that the Chris-

tian Indians, which they there expected to find, should glut their vengeance
by their blood, as those at Gnadenhuetten had done but a short time before.J

CHIKATOMMO. In 1790, this chief succeeded in capturing many boats

upon the Ohio River, killing many of those in them, and taking and destroy-

ing a vast amount of property. Among the boats which fell into the hands
of Chikatommo was one in which was a Mr. Charles Johnston of Botetourt

county, Virginia, and several others, and fi-om whose narrative we derive much
of this information—a book replete with instruction, and one of the most

valuable in its kind.§ As this company were descending the Ohio, in an un-

* Hecfcewelders Indian Nations, 281 to 284. t Columbian Magazine for 1787. p. 548.

I Our chief authority for these events is the valuable Chronicles by Mr. Withers, before

referred to.

6 The author appears to have been prompted to its publication by the misinterpretation

of his oral communications by the Duke ae Liancourt ; whom, by the way, we do not find to

differ so materially, in his account, from the author as one might apprehend from his state

48
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wieldy flat-bottomed boat, in which were a number of horses and considera-
ole merchandise, two white men appeai-ed upon the shore, and called to them,
affecting gi-eat distress, and begged to be taken on board. Before these two
whites showed themselves, however, a smoke was seen above the trees, and
for some time held them in doubt on which side of the river it was. They
wished to ascertain this fact, as thereby they might keep close in upon the
opposite shore, and so escape mischief in the event of an ambushment of
Indians. They were thus wai-y, as the Indians were constantly doing mis-
chief upon the rivers, and had but a short time before destroyed a settlement
at a place called Kennedy's Bottom, in Kentucky.

It was befoi'e sunrise on the 20 March, that the two white men before men-
tioned hailed the boat, which was safely out of the reach of fire-arms, having
discovered the smoke to be upon the N. W. shore, and therefore they kept
upon the S. W. These white men, the more effectually to decoy the boat's
crew, said tliey had been taken prisoners by the Indians at Kennedy's Bot-
tom, and had just escaped from them, and unless they would take them on
boai'd they must perish from hunger and cold. The truth was, one or both
of them were abandoned wretches, who had leagued with a band of depreda-
tors under Chikatommo, and thus were the means of destroying many inno-
cent lives in the most atrocious manner. When hailed by them, as we have
just said, some in the boat were for listening to them, and some against it.

In the mean time, the boat floated fast down the cui-rent, and left those on
shore considerably in the rear, although they exerted themselves to keep
abreast of the boat. Those who were against taking them on board had their

objections well grounded ; for when these men were asked the occasion of
the smoke upon their side of the river, they denied that there had been any,
or said they knew of no such thing ; and this was urged as a sufficient reason
why they should reject the other part of their story. Still, as the boat glided
down, those on board debated the subject, and at length concluded, that if

there were Indians where they first saw the men, they must then be far up
the river, as it was thought impossible that they could have got through
the woods so fast as they had floated down ; and one of the company, a Mr.
Flinn, whose kindness of heart brought upon them this calamity, proposed
hazarding his own jjerson on shore, without in the least endangering the

rest. His plan was as follows : that whereas they must be now out of the

reach of the Indians, they should haul in, and barely touch upon the shore,

and he would jump out, and the boat should at the same time haul off; so

that if Lidians should be coming, the boat would have time to get off safe,

and as to himself, he could well outrun them, and would get on board the

boat again at a certain point below. And thus was the humane plan laid of
relieving supposed disti-ess, the sad recompense of which we now proceed to

relate.

One circumstance had not been taken into account by this devoted com
pany. The cun-ent being rapid, it took them much longer than they had
anticipated to gain the shore ; and this gave some of the most swift-footed of
Chikatommo's party time to arrive at the point at the same time with them.
Having arrived close to the shore, Mr. Flinn had but barely cleared himself
from the boat, when a large number of Indians, painted in the most frightful

manner, came rushing upon them. Some of the boat's crew seized their

guns, and deterniined to resist, while the others used every means to get

tiieir boat from the shore; but every thing seemed to conspire against them.
Their boat bi^came entangled in the branches of a large tree, and the whole
body of Indians, having an-ived, being 54 in number, gave a horrible yell,

and poured in their whole fire upon the boat. From the protection afforded

by the side of the boat, one only was killed, Dolly Fleming, and Mr. Skyles

wounded. All resistance was vain, and the others lay down upon the bot-

tom of the boat, to prevent being imn>ediately killed. The Indians kept up
their fire until all the horses were shot down, which added much to th«

ment. The chief disagreement appears in such minor points as the spellinj^ of names: thus,

in naming the persons captivatea, for Skyles he writes Shad ; for Dolly Flomini;:, IMif

Flamming ; for Flinn, Phlijn, &c.
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norror of the situation of those upon tlie Ijottoni of the boat, as they were
in great danger of being trampled to deatli by them before they fell, and
afterwards from their strivings. When this was finished, the finng ceased,
and Mr. May stood up, and lield up a white cap in token of surrender ; but
he fell in a moment after, with a b;ill shot through his head. Several of the
Indians now swam to the boat, and were helped into it by those within.

Having now got possession ol" it, they seemed well pleased, and offered no
further violence. All things were now taken on shore, and an immense fire

kindled ; the dead were scalped, and thrown into the river, and the captives

divested of most of their clothes. As several Indians were gathered around
M.r. Johnston when he was stiipped, one, observing that he had on a kind
of red vest, approached and said to him in English, " Oh! you cappatin'?"

He said, " Ab." Then the Indian pointed to his own breast, and said, " JMe

cappatin—all dese my sogers." This was Chickatommo. An Indian, named
Tom Lends, discovered much humanity to Mr. Johnston, in that he covered
him with his own blanket after he had lost his clothes.

Being all stationed about the fire, Chickatommo was at one end of it, (it

being about 50 feet in length,) who, rising up, made a speech to the multi-

tude. An old Shawanee chiel", whose name is not mentioned, made the

first speech, at the end of which Chickatommo conducted Johnston to another
Shawanee chief, whose name was Mes-shaw-a, to whom he was given or

assigned, and informed that he was his friend. At the end of Chickatomm^^s
speech, another prisoner was disposed of. The same ceremony was repeated
with the third and last. Johnston, Skyles, and Flinn went to the Shawanese,
and Peggy Fleming to the Cherokees. This band of robbers appears to have
been made up of adventuiers from the tribes just mentioned, with the addi-

tion of a few Delawares. The latter had none of the prisoners, as they did

not wish to be known in the business, thinking it might involve tlieir nation

in a war wdth the United States.

The two white men who had decoyed the boat into the Indians' hands
were still with them, and the next day all the captives were ordered to take

a position upon the edge of ihe river, to decoy the first that should be passing.

A boat soon appeared, and, repugnant as such an employment was to the

feehngs of these captives, yet they were obliged thus to do, or suffer a horri-

ble death. Divine and Thomas were the names of the two whites so often

mentioned: the former was the voluntary agent, and, as Mr. Johnston

expresses it, the one who " alone had devised and carried into effect their

destruction ; " and, " ingenious in wicked stratagems, seemed to be perfectly

gratified to aid the savages in their views, and to feel no scruples in suggest-

mg means for their accomplishment. He fabricated a tale, that we were
passengers down the Ohio, whose boat had suffered so great an injury that

we were unable to proceed until it was repau-ed ; but that for want of an

axe, it was impossible for us to do the necessary work. These unsuspecting

canoe-men turned towards us ; but the current bore them down so far below
IIS, as to preclude all chance of my putting them on their guard. [Mr. Johns-

ton havmg intended by some sign to have given them warning of what
awaited them.] The Indians, as they had acted in our case, ran down the

river at such a distance from it, and under cover of the woods, that they

were not discovered until the canoe was close to the shore, when they fired

into it, and shot every one on boai'd. As they tumbled into the water, their

little bark was overset. Two, who were not yet dead, kept themselves afloat,

but were so severely wounded that they could not swim off. The Indians

leaped into the river, and after dragging them to the shore, despatched them

with the tomahawk. The bodies ofthe four who were killed were also brought

to land, and the whole six were scalped. All were then thrown into tlie

river. Nothing I could then learn, or which has since come to my knowl-

edge, has enabled me to understand who these unfortunate sufferers were."

After vjirious successes and encounters upon the river, Chickatommo left it

and met a number of his company at an encampment about five miles fron:

it Here he left the rest, taking with him a select nmnber and some of the

Cherokees, with Miss Fleming; and the company with whom Johnston

remained did not join him again for many days. Afte- much delay and
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interesting incident, they reached the Indian town of Upper Sandusky
Here they squandered all their rich booty for whiskey, and, as uiiial, riotea
in drunkenness for several days. Chickcdommo at this time showed liiiiiself

very savage to the prisoners, and had he not been prevented by the humane
and benevolent Messhawa,* would have killed some of them. The unfortu-
nate Skyles had some time before left them, and gone in an unknown direction
with his cruel master.

A French trader at Sandusky, a Mr. Duchouquet, had used endeavors to

ransom Johnston ; but his master for some time would hear nothing of it.

At length, having dissipated all his booty, and ashamed to return home in such
a state, he concluded to sell Johnston for the most he could get ; and accord-
ingly 600 silver broaches were paid him, equal in value to 100 dollars, the
amount agreed upon. Chickcdommo and his party then took up their march
3r Detroit. Not long after this, Mr. Johnston returned home by way of that

'ace. Before he left Sandusky, he was informed of the biu-ning of the ill-

ted Flinn : he suffered at the stake at the Miami village, and was eaten by
3 torturers. The Indian who brought the news to Sandusky, said that he
mself had feasted upon him.
King-crane, a Wyandot chief, appears conspicuous in this narrative, and
astrates a valuable trait of character in Indian life. When Mr. Duchou-

quet and Johnston had arrived at Lower Sandusky, in their way to Detroit,

the town was filled with alai-m, and they soon learned the occasion to be
from the ai-rival of some Cherokees m the neighborhood, with a female cap-
tive. The traders in the place immediately went to their camp, where they
found Peggy Fleming, who some time before had been separated from Johnston
and the other captives. Amofig those who went to see her, was a vs'hite

man by the name of Whiiaker, who, having been carried into captivity in his

youth, had grown up in all the Indian habits, and being a man of consider
able physical powers and enterprise, had become a chiefamong the Wyaudots.t
He had been upon the frontiers with the Indians upon trading expeditions,

and had lodged at times in Pittsburg in the tavern of Miss Fleining^s father.

She immediately knew him, and besought him, in the most affecting manner,
to deliver her from bondage. He went immediately to King-crane, and told

him that the woman with the Cherokees was his sister, | and begged him to

use means for her relief. King-crane went without loss of time, and urged
the Cherokees to restore her to her brother. They were enraged at the
request, and there was danger of their murdering her lest she should be
taken from them. He next tried to purchase her ; but his benevolent offers

were indignantly refused, and their rage was still increased. Resolved to

I'escue her out of their hands, King-crane repaired to then* camp eai-ly the
next morning, accompanied with 8 or 10 young warriors. They found the

Cherokees asleep, but the captive—it is shocking to humanity to relate—waj
without the least attire ! extended and lashed to the stake !—ready to U
burned !—her body painted all over with black. King-crane silently cut the
thongs with which she was bound, then awakened the nuirderers, and threw
down upon the gi'ound the price of a captive in silver broaches, (which are
current money among them,) and departed. She was souii after sent forward
for her home, disguised in the attire of a squaw. The Cherokees prowled
about seeking vengeance upon some white person for a few days, and then
disappeared.

The reader may wish to know what became of Skyles

:

—he was taken to

a place upon the Miami River, where he was doomLcl to be burnt, but made
his escape the night previous to the day on which he was to have suffered.

After enduring the most pahiful fatigues and hunger, from wandering alone
in the wilderness, he met with some traders who conveyed him to Detroit,

and from thence home to Virginia.

The sequel of the life of the old hard-hearted Chickatommo is as follows

* Mr. Johnston, throughoul his narrative, j^ives him an excellent character. He was alive

after the war of 1812 began, and was one of the followers of Teaimseli.

t Hurons and Wyanaots are synonymous terms with most writers.

X If ever good came out of evil, we should expect it in a casS like this.
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For four years succeeding the events above related, lie followed his depreda-
ting career, and was concerned in opposing the war parties of Americans
until tlie time of General Wayne's famous expedition. As that veteran was
advancing into the western region, Chickaiommo met an advance party of his
ai-my at the head of a band of his desperate warriors, who were sent forward
as the Indian forlorn hope. A sharp skirmish followed, and Chickatommo
was slain. This was the action neai- Fort Defiance. King-crane was also in
arms to oppose General Wayne; but in the last war against England, he
fought ibr the Americans, and is supposed to have died three or four years
after its close. He was one of the signers of Wayne's famous treaty at Fort
Greenville, and several others.

We now pass to a chief by far more prominent in Indian history than
many who have received much greater notice from historians. This was
MISHIKINAKWA, (a name by no means settled in orthograpiiy,) which, inter-

preted, is said to mean the Little-turtle. To the different treaties bearing his
name, we find these spellings: Meskekunnogkquoh, Greeiw'iWe, 3 Aug. 1795:
MesJwkunnoghquoh, Fort Wayne, 7 June, 1803 ; Mashekanahquah, Vincennes,
21 August, 1805; Meshekenoghqua, Fort Wayne, 30 September, 1809; and
were we disposed to look into the various authors who have used the name,
we might nearly finish out our page with its variations.

Little-turtle was chief of the Miamis, and the scenes of his warlike
achievements were upon the country of his buth. He had, in conjunction
with the tribes of that region, successfully fought the armies of Harmer and
St. Clair ; and in the fight with the latter, he is said to have had the chief

commantl ; hence a detailed account of that affair belongs to his life.

It is well known that tlie Americans inveighed loudly against the English
of Canada, in most instances, charging them with all the guilt of the enormi-
ties committed on their frontiers by the Indians. It is equally well known,
at this day, by every judicious inquirer, that they were not so blamable as

the Americans reported, nor so innocent as themselves and friends, even
long after, pretended. That the British government encouraged depredations
upon the frontiers in times of peace, should not too easily be received for

truth ; still, there is reason to believe that some who held inferior offices

imder it, were secret abettors of barbarities. In the attack upon General St.

Clair's army, now about to be related, there was much cause of suspicion

against the Canadians, as it was known that many of them even exceeded
in that bloody affair the Indians themselves. Mr. Weld, the intelligent

traveller, says,* " A great many young Canadians, and in particidar many that

were born of Indian women, fought on the side of the Indians in this action

;

a circumstance which confii-med the people of the States in the opinion they

had previously formed, that the Lidians were encouraged and abetted in

their attacks upon them by the British. I can safely affirm, . however, from
having conversed with many of these young men who fought against St.

Clair, that it was with the utmost secrecy they left their homes to join the

[ndians, fearful lest the government shoiild censure their conduct."

The western Indians were only imboldened by the battles between them
and detachments of General Hai-mer''s army, in 1790, and, under such a lead-

er as Mishikinakwa, entertained sanguine hopes of bringing the Americans to

theii* own terms. One murder followed another, in rapid succession, attend-

ed by all the horrors peculiar to then* warfare, which caused President

Washington to take the earliest opportunity of recommending Congress to

adopt prompt and efficient measures lor checking those calamities ;
and 2000

men were immediately raised and put under the command of General St.

Clair, then governor of the Noith-Western Territory. He received his ap-

pointment the 4th of March, 1791, and proceeded to Fort Washuigton, by

way of Kentucky, with all possible despatch, where he arrived 15 May.f

There was much time lost in getting the troops imbodied at this place ;
Gen-

eral Butler, with the residue, not ai-riving until the middle of September.

There were various circumstances to account for the delays, which it is un-

necessary to recount here.

» Travels in Canada. 436—7, 8vo. Loudon, {4 ed.) 1800. t St. Clair's NamUive, p. 4.

48*
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Colour! Darke proceeded immediately on his an-ival, which was about, the

end of August, and built Fort Hamilton, on the Mianii, in the country of

Little-turtle ; and soon after Fort Jefferson was built, forty miles farther on-

ward. These two forts being left manned, about the end of October the

army advanced, being about 2000 strong, militia included, whose numbers
were not inconsiderable, as will appear by the miserable manner in which
they not only confused themselves, but the regular soldiers also.

General St. Clair had advanced but about six miles in front of Fort Jeffer-

son, when 60 of liis militia, from pretended disaffection, commenced a retreat

;

and it was discovered that the evil had spread considerably among the rest

of the army. Being fearful they would seize upon the convoy of provisions,

the general ordered Colonel Hamtramk to pursue them with his regiment, and
force them to return. The army now consisted of but 1400 effective men,
and this was the number attacked by Idttle-turtle and his warriors, 15 miles

from the Miami villages.

Colonel Butler commanded the right wing, and Colonel Darke the left.

The militia were posted a quarter of a mile in advance, and were encamped
in two lines. They had not finished securing their baggage, when they

were attacked in their camp. It was their intention to have marched innne-

diately to the destruction of the Miami villages. Of this their movements
apprized the Indians, who acted with great wisdom and fuinmsa. They
fell upon the militia before sunrise, 4 November, who at once fled into the main
camp, in the most disorderly and tumultuous manner : many of them, having
thrown away their guns, were piu-sued and slaughtered. At the main camp
the fight was sustained some time, by the great exertions of the officers, but

with great inequality ; the Indians under lAttle-turtle amounting to about 1500
warriors. Colonels Darke and Butler, and Major Clark, made several suc-

cessful chai'ges, which enabled them to save some of their numbers by
checking the enemy while flight was more practicable.

Of the Americans, 593 were killed and missing, beside thirty-eight officers ;

and 242 soldiers and twenty-one officers were wounded, many of whom died.

Colonel Sutler was among the slain. The account of his fall is shocking.

He was severely wounded, and left on the ground. The well-known and
infamous Simon Girty came up to him, and obsei-ved him writhing under

severe pain from his wounds. Girty knew and spoke to him. Knowing that

he could not live, the colonel begged of Girty to put an end to his misery.

This he refused to do, but turned to an Indian, whom he told that the officer

was the commander of the army ; upon which he drove his tomahawk into

his head. A number of others then came around, and after taking off his

scalp, they took out his heart, and cut it into as many pieces as there were
tribes in the action, and divided it among them. All manner of brutal acts

were committed on the bodies of the slain. It need not be mentioned for the

information of the observer of Indian affairs, that land was the main cause

of this as well as most other wars between the Indians and whites ; and
hence it was very easy to account for the Indians filling the mouths of the

slain with earth after this battle. It was actually the case, as reported by

those who shortly after visited the scene of action and buried the dead.

General St. Clair was called to an account for the disastrous issue of this

campaign, and was honorably acquitted. He published a narrative in vindi-

cation of his conduct, which, at this day, few will think it required. What
he says of his retreat we will give in his own words.* " The retreat was, you

may be sure, a precipitate one ; it was in fact a flight. The camp and the

artillery were abandoned ; but that was unavoidable, for not a horse was lefl

alive to have drawn it off, had it otherwise been practicable. But the most

disgraceful part of the business is, that the gi-eatest part of the men threw

away their arms and accoutrements, even after the pursuit, which continued

about four miles, had ceased. I found the road strewed with them for many
miles, but was not able to remedy it ; for, having had all my horses killed,

and being mounted upon one that could not be pricked out of a walk, I

could not get forward myself, and the orders I sent forward, either to halt

- Pinii. (Hii-fl/r. ot'llial voar
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the front, or prevent the men from parting with their arms, were uuuttend
ed to."

The remnant of the army arrived at Fort Jefferson the same day, just

before sunset, the place from which they fled being 29 luiles distant, (ieue-

ral St. Clair did every thing that a brave general could do. He exposed Idm-
self to every danger, having, dm-ing the action, eight bullets shot through his

clothes. In no attack related in our records, did the Lidians discover greater

bravery and determination. After giving the first fire, they rushed forwaid

with tomaliawk in hand. Their loss was inconsiderable; but the traders

aflerwai-ds learned among them that Little-turtle had 150 killed and many
wounded.* " They rushed on the artillery, heedless of their fire, and took

two pieces in an instant. They were again retaken by our troops: and
whenever the army charged them, they were seen to give way, and advance

again as soon as they began to retreat, doing great execution, both in the

retreat and advance. They are veiy dextrous in covering themselves with

trees ; many of them however fell, both of the infantiy and artillery." " Six

or eight pieces of ai-tillery fell into then- hands, with about 400 horses, all the

baggage, ammunition, and provisions." f

Whether the battle-ground of General St. Clair were visited by the whites

previous to 1793 I do not learn ; but in December of that yeai- a detachment

of General Wayne^s army went to tlie place, and the account given of its ap-

pearance is most truly melancholy. This detachment was ordered to build

a fort there, which having done, it was called Fort Recovery. Within a space

of about 350 yards were found 500 skull bones, the most of which were

gathered up and buried. For about five miles in the direction of tiie retreat

of the army the woods was strewed witli skeletons and muskets, i he two

brass cannon, which composed St. Clair's artillery, one a three, and the other

a six-pounder, were found in a creek adjacent.|

The 'bl'owing song has been often reprinted, and although not the best of

poeU7, is coi.sidered a valuable relic of those days. It is headed tlius :-

Sainclairk's Defeat.

§ 'Twas November the fourth, in the year of ninety-one,||

We had a sore engagement near to Fort Jefferson

;

Sinclaire was our commajider, which may remembered be,

For there we left nine hundred men in t' West'n Ter'tory.

At Bunker's Hill and Quebeck, where many a hero fell,

Likewise at Long Island, (it is I the truth can tell,)

But such a dreadful carnage may 1 never see again

As hap'ned near St. Mary's, upon the river plara.

Our army was attacked just as the day did dawn,

And soon were overpowered and driven from the lawn.

They killed Major Ouldham, Lei-in and Briggs likewise.

And horrid yells of sav'ges resoimded thro' the skies.

Major Butler IT was wounded the very second fire
;

His manly bosom swell'd with rage when forc'd to retire

;

And as he lay in anguish, nor scarcely could he see,

Exclaim'd, " Ye hounds of hell, O! revenged I will be."

We had not been long broken when General Butler found

Himself so badly wounded, was forced to quit the ground.

• Perm. Gazette, of that year.

\ Letter from Fort Hamilton, dated six Hays al'lci- llie battle.

X Massachusetts Magazine for 1794, p. 191.

\ Wnen I began to copy these lines, I did not intend to change a word in them, but soon

found my resolution shaken ; the lines were of such unequal lengths, and the rhjnme so ^ad, I

could not endure it, and, therefore, when the syllables were too many, some were dropped,

and when too few, some were added ; but the sense is in no vnse impaired. The copy I uae,

1 found in Baltimore in 1817. They were printed in 1815.

II
That is, 1791.

. ,. ,

IT Richard Butler was of Nottingham, in New Hampshire, where some ot his relatives ye«

remain.
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' Mj God !
" says he, " what shall we do ; we're wounded every msiD

;

Go charge them, valiant heroes, and beat them if you can."

He leaned his back against a tree, and there resigned his breath,*

And like a valiant soldier sunk in the arms of death

;

When blessed angels did await, his spirit to convey
;

And unto the celestial fields he quickly bent his way.

We charg'd again with courage firm, but soon again gave groimQ,

The war-whoop then redoubled, as did the foes around.

They killed Major Ferguson, which caused his men to cry,

" Our only safety is in flight ; or fighting here to die."

" Stand to your guns," says valiant Ford, " let's die upon them here

Before we let the sav'ges know we ever harbored fear."

Our cannon-balls exhausted, and artill'ry-men all slain,

Obliged were our musketmen the en'rhy to sustain.

Yet three hours t more we fought them, and then were forc'd to yield,

When three hundred bloody warriors lay strelch'd upon the field.

Says Colonel Cribson to his men, "My boys, be not dismay'd
j

I'm sure that true Virginians were never yet afraid.

" Ten thousand deaths I'd rather die, than they should g^ the field j"
With that he got a fatal shot, which caused him to yield.

Says Major Clark, " My heroes, I can here no longer stand,

We'll strive to form in order, and retreat the best we can."

The word. Retreat, being past around, there was a dismal cry,

Then helter skelter through the woods, like wolves and sheep they fly.

This well-appointed army, who but a day before.

Defied and braved all dcuiger, had like a cloud pass'd o'er.

Alas ! the dying and wounded, how dreadful was the thought.

To the tomahawk and scalping-knife, in mis'ry are brought.

Some had a thigh and some an arm broke on the field that day.
Who writhed in torments at the stake, to close the dire affray.

To mention our brave officers, is what I wish to do

;

No sons of Mars e'er fought more brave, or vnth more courage trae.

To Captain Bradford I belonged, in his artillery,

X He fell that day amongst the slain, a valiant man was he.

It has been generally said, that had the advice of Little-turtle been taken

at the disastrous fight afterwards with General Wayne, there is very little

doubt but he «/ad met as ill success § as General St. Clair
\\

did before him.

He was not for fighting General Wayne at Presque-Isle, and inclined rather

to peace than fighting him at all. In a council held the night before the

battle, he argued as follows : " We have beaten the enemy twice under separate

commanders. We cannot expect the same goodfortune always to attend us. The
Americans are now led by a chief who never sleeps : the night and the day are

alike to him. And during all the time that he has been marching upon
our villages, notwithstanding the watchfulness of our young men, we have

never been able to surprise him. Think well of it. There is something whis-

fters me, it would be prudent to listen to his offers of peace.^^ For holding this

anguage he was reproached by another chief with cowardice, which put an
end to all further discourse. Nothing wounds the feelings of a warrior like

the reproach of cowardice ; but lAttle-turtle stifled his resentment, did his

duty in the battle, and its issue proved him a truer prophet than his accuser

* This was probably a report, but is doubtless incorrect.

t This is not fact.

X It would have been agreeable if our poet had given us a kind of catalogue of all such as

were killed at this time, of any note. Captain Newman was among the number. Elliot's

Works, 135.

§ Little-turtle told Mr. Volney circumstances which gave him that opinion. See his

Travels in America, ed. Lond. 1804.

II
General Arthur St. Clair was of Edinburgh, Scotland.- He came to America in the

fleet which brought over Admiral Boscawen, in 1755, and having served through the revolu-

tionary and Indian wars, died at his farm near Greensburgh, Pa. 31 Aug. 1818. Arner. Man
ifag. ii. 4^19, (N. Y. 1818.)
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believed.* His residence was upon Eel River, about20 miles from Fort Wayne,
where our government built him a house, and furnished him with means of
living, much to the envy of his countrymen. Therefore what had been bestowed
upon Am, to induce others to a like mode of life by their own exertions, proved
not only prejudicial to the cause, but engendered hatred against him in the minda
of all the Indians. He was not a chief by birth, but was raised to that
standing by his superior talents. This was the cause of so much jealousy
and envy at this time, as also a neglect of his counsel heretofore. The same
author,f from whom we get the facts in the preceding part of this paragraph,
says, ^^ Meshccunnaqua, or the lAttle-turtle, was the son of a Miami chief" by a
Mohecan woman. As the Inditm maxim, with regard to descents, is precisely
that of the civil law in relation to slaves, that the condition of the woman
adheres to the offspring, he was not a cliief by birth," &c.

lAttle-turtle was alike courageous and humane, possessing great wisdom.
"And," says my author, "there have been few individuals among aborigines who
have done so much to abolish the rites of human sacrifice. The grave of
this noted wai-rior is shown to visitors, neai' Fort Wayne. It is frequently
visited by the Indians in that part of the comitry, by whom his memory is

cherished with the gi*eatest respect and veneration." J
The grave of his gi-eat opponent was also in the same region ; but his

remains were not long since removed to the seat of his family. • Ever after

his successful expedition, the Indians called him the Big-wind ; ^ or Tor-
nado ; some, however, on particular occasions, called him Sukach-gook,
which signified, in Delawai-e, a black-snake ; because, they said, he pos-

sessed all the art and cunning of that reptile.
||
We hear yet of another

name, which, though it may not have been his fault that acquired it, is less

complimentary than the two just named. It is well known that the British

bestowed a gi-eat many more presents upon the Indians than the Americans
did ; but some of the latter made large pretensions about what they would
do. General Wayne, the Indians said, made great promises to them of

goods, but never got read} to fulfil them, (probably from being disappointed

himself by the failure of his government in not forwaiding what was
promised

;
) therefore they called him General Wabang,^ which signified

General To-morrow.**
When the philosopher and famous traveller Volney was in America, in

the winter of 1797, Little-turtle came to Philadelphia, where he then was,

Volney sought immediate acquaintance with the celebrated chiefj for highly

valuable purposes, which in some measure he effected. He made a vocabu-

lai-y of his language, which he printed in the appendix to his Travels. A
copy in manuscript, more extensive than the piinted one, is said to be in the

library of the Philosophical Society of Pennsylvania.

Having become convinced that all resistance to the whites was vain, lAttle-

turtle brought his nation to consent to peace, and to adopt agricultural pur-

suits. And it was with the view of soliciting Congress, and the benevolent

societ}' of Friends, for assistance to effect this latter purpose, that he now
visited Philadelphia. While here, he was inoculated for the small-pox, and
was also afflicted with the gout and rheumatism.
At the time of Mr. Volney's interview with him for information, he took

no notice of the conversation while the interpreter was communicating Avith

Mr. Volney, for he did not understand English, but walked about, plucking

out his beard and eyebrows. He was dressed now in English clothes. His

skin, where not exposed, Mr. Volney says, was as white as his ; and on

speaking upon the subject. Little-turtle said, " I have seen Spaniards in I^ouis-

iana, and found no difference of color between them and me. And why
should there be any ? In them, as in us, it is the work of the Father of colors,

the Sun, that bums us. You white people compare the color of yom- face

with that of your bodies." Mr. Volney explained to him the notion o{" many

* SchoolcrafL's Travels. t Dawson, Mems. Harrison. J Schoolcraft's Travels.

^ Pa. Gazette.
||

HeckeiretdePs Narrative.

IT Or, according to Mr. W. J. Snelling, it should be written Wabunk.
** Weld's Travels, 424.
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that his race was descended from the Tartars, and by a map showed him the

supposed communication between Asia and America. To this Little-turtle

replied, " fVhy should not these Tartars, who resemble us, have comefrom America ?

Are there any reasons to the contrary ? Or why should we not both have been

bom in our own country ? " It is a fact that the Indians give themselves a

name which is equivalent to our word indigene, that is, one sprungfrom the soil,

oi- natural to it.*

Baron Lahontan,\ after describing the different dances, or dances for differ-

ent occasions, among the Indians of Canada, adds the following in a note :

—

•' Toutes ces danses peuvent etre compares a la pyrrhique de Minerve, car les sau-

vages observent, en dansant d'une gravity singulih-e, les cadences de certaines

chansons, que les milices Orecques d'Achilie, apelloient hyporchematiques. 11 n^estpas

facile de sfavoir si les sauvages les ont aprises des Grecs, ou si les Grecs les ont aprises

des sauvages." It is, perhaps, from such passages that Lahontan has been

branded with the name of infidel ;t but truly there can be nothing irreligious

in such deductions, inasmuch as it is conceded on all hands that the geologi-

ical formations of the new world have required as much time for then- per-

fection as those of the old. Mr. Volney comes within the same pale, when
he compares the Spartans to the Five Nations. Li contrasting the states of

Lacedaemon with modern France, he says, " Maintenant que fai vu les sau-

vages d'Amirique, je persiste de plus en plus dans cette comparaison, et je

trouve que le premiere livre de Thucydide, et tout ce quHl dit des meeurs dts

Lacidhnoniens, convienent tellement aux cinq nations, que fappellerais volontiers

les Spartiates, les Iroquois de I'ancien monde."§

When Mr. Volney asked Little-turtle what prevented him from living

among the whites, and if he were not more comtbrtable in Philadelphia than

upon the banks of the Wabash, he said, " Taking all things together, you have

the advantage over ws ; but here I am deaf and dumb. I do not talk your lan-

guage ; I can neither hear, nor make myself heard. When I ivalk through the

streets, I see every person in his shop employed about something: one makes shoes,

another hats, a third sells cloth, and every one lives by his labor. I say to myself,

Which of all these things can you do ? JVot one. I can make a bow or an

arrow, catchfish, kill game, and go to ivar : but none of these is of any use here.

To learn what is done here would require a long time." " Old age comes on."

" / should be a piece offurniture useless to my nation, useless to the whiles, and

useless to myself." " / must return to my own counb-y."

At the same time, (1797,) among other eminent personages towhom this chief

became attached in Pliiladelphia, was the renowTied Koskiusko. This old

Polish chief was so well pleased with Little-turtle, that when the latter went
to take his final leave of him, the old "war-worn soldier" and jiatriot pre-

sented him With a beautiful pair of pistols, and an elegant robe made of sea-

otter's skin, of the value of "several" hundred dollars.

Little-turtle died in the summer of 1812, at his residence, but a short tmie

after the declaration of war against England by the United States. Mis por-

trait, by Stewart, graces the walls of the war-office of our nation. Tlie

following notice appeared in the jmblic prints at the time of liis death:

"Fort Wayne, 21 July, 1819. On the 14 inst. the celebrated Miami chief,

the Little-turtle, died at tiiis place, at the age of 65 years.||—Perhajts there is

not left on this continent, one of his color so distinguislied in council and in

war. His disorder was the gout. He died in a camp, because he chose to

be in the open air. He met death with great firnmess. The agent for In-

dian affairs had him buried with the honors of war, and other nuirks of dis-

* See Volney's Travels, id supra. t Memoires de L' Avierique, ii. 109.

\ No one presumes to pronounce Father Hennepin an infidel, and he denies, (after living

much among the Indians,) that they have any notion, or belief, of what Christians call Deity.

But Mr. Beverly (Hist. Virg^inia, 169.) says, "Baron Laliontan, on the other hand, makes
Ihem have such refined notions, aa seem almost to confute his own belief of Christianity."

6 CEuvres de C. F. Volney, t. 6. 129. (Paris, 18%.

)

|]
There was a chief of the same name among the Miamis in 1818, who is mentioned in

the treaty made with those Indians on 6 October, at St. Marys. The passage in iJie treaty

is as follows:—To Meshenoqua or the Litlh'-turtte , one section of land on the south side of

the Wabash, where the portage path strikes the same." Indian Treaties, :U4.
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tiiictioii suited to his character." He was, generally, in his time, st\l((l the

Messissago chief,* and a gentleman who saw him soon after St. Claires de-

feat, at Montreal, says he was six feet high, " about 45 years of age, of a

very sour and morose countciiaiice, and appaiently very crafty and subtle.

His dress was Indian moccasins, a blue petticoat that came half way down
his thighs; an European waistcoat and surtout ; his head was bound with

an Indian cap that hung half way down his back, and almost entirely filled

with plain silver broaches, to the number of more than 200 ; lie had two
ear-riugs to each ear, the upper part of each was formed of three silver

medals, about the size of a dollar; the lower part was formed of quarters

of dollars, and fell more than 19 inches from his ears—one from eacli ear

o\ er his breast, the otlier over his back ; he had three very large nose jewels

of silver, that were cmnously painted. The account he gave of the action

[with the Americans, 4 Nov.] was, that they killed 1400 of them, with the loss

of nine only of their party, one of wliom killed himself by accident." The
person who gave this account said this chief was in Canada for the purpose

of raising all the Indian force he could to go out again in the spring against the

whites.

Mr. Dawson relates a pleasant anecdote of lAttle-turtle, which happened

while he was sitting for his portrait in Philadelphia. A native of the

Emerald Isle was sitting for his at the same time, who prided himself upon
his ability at joking. Inttle-hirtle was not backward in the same business,

and tliey passed several meetings very pleasantly. One morning. Little-

turtle did not take much notice of his friend, and seemed rather sedate,

which was construed by the Hibernian into an acknowledgment of victory

on the part of the chief, in then* joking game, and accordingly began to

intimate as much. When Little-turtle understood him, he said to the inter-

preter, " He mistakes ; I was just thinking of proposing to this man, to paint v^

both on one board, and there I would standface to face with him, and blackguard

him to all eternity."

Among the chiefs associated in command, in the wars of which we have

been speaking with the famous Mishikinakwa, was another of nearly equal

note, familiarly called Blue-Jacket by the whites, but by his own nation, We-

yapiersenwaw. He was the most distinguished chief of the Shawanese, and

we hear of him at Fort Industiy, on the Miami of the Lake, as late as 1805.

By some particular arrangement, the chief command seems to have devolved

on him of opposing General Wayne. He was more bloody and precipitate

than Mishikinakwa, and possessed less discrimination and judgment. He
was among the last of the chiefs who came in to treat with General Wayne.

The Shawanese h. Id out as long as they could, and came in very slowly.

On the 24 .hme, a boy, who lia<I been a captive among them, (having been

lately retaken,) confidently asserted that tb- Shawanese would not makepeace.

But one month .dter, 23 July, Blue-Jickt made his appearance, and it wasduly

noticed l)y a gentleman at the time, wlin kept a journal of imjiortant matters

at Greenville, lie then adds, " deputations from all the late hostile tribes

north of the Ohio are, conseipiently, now at this place."!

We find this notice of Blue-jacket in August, 17i»2. "By a gentleman im-

mediately fiom Montreal, we learn that about four weeks since, the famous

Indian jjartisan, known by the name of Captain Blue-Jacket, was at Detroit,

with about 2000 men, waiting for the Americans to come out into the woods:

it is believed at Montreal, that in case the Americans do not go out, they

will be divided into small parties to harass our frontiers."; The tribes

which furnished warriors to oppose the Americans were the Wyandots,

Miainis, Pottowattomies, Delawares, Shawanese, Chippeways, Ottaways,

and a few Senecas. Blvz-Jacket was the director and leader of this mighty

band of warriors.
*

In the treaty of 29 September, 1817, at the "Foot of the Rapids" of the

Miami of the Lakes, with the Wyandots, Senecas, Delawares, Shawanese,

'•Those of this tribe in the vicinity of Lake Ontario, are of a much darker complexion thao

the other Indians of the west. Weld. Travels in America, 451.

t See JS^JOt's Works, 141,142. t Cai-et/'i Museum, xii. i:.
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&c. there is a paragraph which it is presumed has reference to a daughter

of this chief. It proposes to give " To ATancy Stetvart, daughter of the late

Shawanee chief Blue-Jacket, one section of land, to contain six hundred and
40 acres, on the Great Miami river below Lewistown, to include her ])r'^seiit

improvements, three quarters of the said section to be on the S. E. side of

the river, and one quarter on the N. W. side thereof."*

From the time Greneral St. Clair was defeated, in 1791, murders were con-

tinued upon the fi-ontier, and all attempts on the part of government to effect

a peace, proved of no avail ; and lastly the ambassadors sent to them were
murdered, and that too while the army was progressing towai'ds their

country.

After building Fort Greenville, upon the Miami, six mUes above Fort Jef-

ferson, General Wayne took possession of the ground where General St.

Clair had been defeated, and there erected a fort, to which he gave the name
of Recovery, in which the army spent the winter of 1793-4. Many censures

were passed upon the general for his slow progress ; but he knew much
better what he was douig than newspaper writers did what they were
writing, when thej'^ imdertook to censure him, as the event proved.

It was the 8 August, 1794, when the army arrived at the confluence of the

rivers Au Glaize and Maumee, where they built Fort Defiance. It was the

general's design to have met the enemy unprepared, in this move ; but a

fellow deserted his camp, and notified the Indians. He now ti'ied again to

bring them to an accommodation, and fi'om the answers which he received

from them, it was some time revolved in his mind, whether they were for

peace or war ; so artful was the manner in which their replies were formed.f

At length, being fully satisfied, he marched down the Maumee, and annved
at the rapids, 18 August, two days before the battle. His army consisted of
upwards of 3000 men, 2000 of whom were regulars. Fort Deposit was
erected at this place, for the secui-ity of their supplies. They now set out to

meet the enemy, who had chosen his position upon the bank of the river,

with much judgment. They had a breastwork of fallen trees in fi-ont, and
the high rocky shore of the river gave them much secm-ity, as also did the

thick wood of Presque Isle. Their force was divided, and disposed at

supporting distances for about two miles. When the Americans had arrived

at proper distance, a body Avas sent out to begin the attack, " with orders to

rouse the enemy from their covert with the bayonet ; and when up, to deliver

a close fire upon their backs, and press them so hard as not to give them time to

reload." i This order was so well executed, and the battle at the point ofattack

so short, that only about 900 Americans participated in it. But they pursued
the Indians with great slaughter through the woods to Fort Maumee, where
the carnage ended. The Indians were so unexpectedly diiven from their

strong hold, that their numbers only increased their distress and confusion

;

and the cavalry made horrible havoc among them with their long sabres.

Of the Americans, there were killed and wounded about ]30. The loss of
the Indians could not be ascertained, but must have been very severe. The
American loss was chiefly at the commencement of the action, as they

advanced upon the mouths of the Indians' rifles, who could not be seen untU

they had discharged upon them. They maintained their coverts but a short

time, being forced in every direction by the bayonet But until that was
effected, the Americans fell fast, and we only wonder that men could be
found thus to advance in the face of certain death.

This horrid catastrophe in our Lidian annals is chargeable to certain white

men, or at least mainly so ; for some days before the battle. General Wayne
sent a flag of truce to them, and desired them to come imd treat with hmi.

The letter which he sent was taken to Colonel J^PKee, who, it appeal's, was
their ill-adviser, and h0, by putting a false construction upon it, increased the

rage of the Indians : he then informed them that they must forthwith fight

the American army. Some of the chiefs, lem*ning the truth of the letter, were
tor peace ; l)ut it was too late. Lililf-turtle Wiis kiiown to have been in favor

of making peace, and seemed well aware of the abilities of the American

* Indian Treaties, 90. t Mirs/iaW's Washington, v. 4S1. ed. 4lo. % Sdiooicrafl
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general ; but such was the influence of traders among them, that no argu-
ments could prevail. Thus, instances without number might be adduced,
where these people have been destroyed by placing confidence in deceiving
white men.
The night before the battle, the chiefs assembled in council, and some pro-

posed attacking the army in its encampment, but the proposal was objected
to by others; finally the proposition of fighting at Presque Isle prevailed.

In this battle all the chiefs of the Wyandots were killed, being nine in

number. Some of the nations escaped the slaughter by not coming up until

atler the defeat. This severe blow satisfied the western Indians of the folly

of longer contending against the Americans ; they therefore were glad to get

what terms they could from them. The chiefs of twelve tribes met commis-
sioners at Fort Greenville, 3 z^ugust, 1795, and, as a price of their peace,

gave up an extensive tract of country south of the lakes, and west of the Ohio
;

and such other tracts as comprehended all the military posts in the western
region. The government showed some liberality to these tribes, on their re-

linquishing to it what they could not withhold, and as a gratuity gave them
20,000 dollars in goods, and agreed to pay them 9000 dollars a year forever

j

to be divided among those tribes in proportion to their numbers.*

CHAPTER V.

Life of Thayasdaneca, called hij the lohites, Brant—His education— Visits Eng-
land—Commissioned there—Hts sister a companion to Sir Wm. Johnson—His
letter to the Oneidas—.iffair with Herkimer at Unndilla— Cuts off Herkimer and
200 men at Oriskana—Anecdote of Herkimer—Burns Springfield—Horrid affair

of Wyoming—Incidents—Destroys Cherry Valley—Barbarities of the tories—St

livan's depredationj among the Five JVations—Brant defeated by the Americans
JVeiotown—Destruction of Mi^iisink, and slaughter of 100 people—Destruction

Harpersfield—Brant's letter to M Causland—Marriage of his daughter—Her hv

band killed—Brant becomes the friend of peace— Visits Philadelphia—Hismnrria
—Lands granted him by the king—His death—His son John— Traits of chanra
—One of his sons killed by him, in an attempt to kill hisfather—Account of Bran-

arrival in England—Some account of his children.

Colonel Joseph Brant was an Onondaga of the Mohawk tribe, whose In-

dian name was Thayendaneca,f or Taijadanaga,X signifying a brant.§ But as he
was seldom called by that name after he became known to the whites, it was
generally forgotten.

" He received a very good English education at " Moor's

chai-ity school," at Lebanon, in Connecticut, where he was placed by Sir

William Johnson, in July, 1761. His age, at this time, we have not learned.

The stoiy that he was but half Indian, the son of a German, has been

widely spread, but is denied by his son, and now believed to be a falsehood,

iguorantly circulated. This error might have arisen either from the known
fact of his being of rather a lighter complexion than his countrymen in general,

or from his having married a woman who was a half-breed.
||

Brant went to England in 1775, in the beginning of the great revolutionary

ra]itm-e, whsre he was received with attention, and doubtless had there his

mind prepared for the part he acted in the memorable sti'Uggle which ensued.

* The terms of this treat}- were Uie same as were ottered to them before the battle, which

should be mentioned, as adding materially to our good feeling towards its authors. It is

generally denominated Wayne'* treaty. It is worthy of him.

t Carey's Museum, v. 18.
"

X Annals Tryon County, 15.

^ Generally written Brandt by those who are unacquainted with the meaniner of his In-

dian name.

II
It has been mentioned to me by a gentleman, fthe editor of Washington's Writings,

j

that he had no doubt of the fact that Urant was the son of Sir William Johnson. 1 am »•»«•

satisfied upon the subject, and, therefore, note the opinion of one whif h claim* primarj

sideration on all subjects connected with our history. The only author, that I recollect

has circulated a printed opinion of tliis kind, is Chamuxn. See Hist. Wyoming, J21

49 2^1
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He Lad a colonel's commission in the English army upon tlie frontiers, which
consisted of such of the Six Nations and tories, as took part against tlie coun-
try. General Sii* William Johnson was agent of Lidian affairs, and had greytlj

ingratiated himself into the esteem of the Six Nations. He Uved at the place

since named from him, upon the north bank of the Mohawk, about 40 mil'.^s

from Albany. Here he had an elegant seat, and would often entertain seve-

ral hundreds of his red friends, and share all in common with them. They
so much ref^pected him, that, notwithstanding they had the full liberty of his

house, yet they woidd take nothing that did not belong to them. The better

to rivet their esteem, he would, at certain seasons, accommodate himself to

their mode of dress, and, being a widower, took as a kind of companion a
sister oi' Brant, by tlie name of Molley. He had received honors and emolu-
ments from the British government, and the Indians received also, through
his agency, every thing which, in their opinion, conduced to their happiness.
Hence it is not strange that they should hold in the greatest reverence the
name of their " great fattier," the king, and think thefew rebels who opposed
his authority, when the revolution began, most ungratefully wicked, and un-
worthy all mercy. Sir William died in 1774, about a year before the battle

of Bunker's Hill.

The Butlers, John and Jf 'alter, whose names are associated with the recollec-

tion ofthe horrid barbarities upon Cherry-valley and Wyoming, lived at Caugh-
newaga, four miles south-easterly from the village of Johnston, and upon the

same side of the Mohawk.
In 1775, in a letter to the Oneidas, our chief subscribes himself " secretai*^-

to Guy Johnson." This was early in the summer of that year, and hence he
was immediately from England. Colonel Guy Johnson was son-in-law of
Sir WilHam. The letter was found m an Indian path, and was supposed to

have been lost by the person who was intrustrd with it. It was in the Mo-
hawk language, the translation of wliich commences thus: " Written at Guy
Johnson's, May, 1775. This is your letter, you great ones or sachems. Guy
Johnson says he ivill be glad if you get this intelligence, you Oneidas, how it goes

with him now, and he is now more certain concerning the intention of the Boston
people. Guy Johnson is in greatfear of being taken pisoner by the Bostonians.

We Mohawks are obliged to watch him constantly^'' &c.
After this, Brant accompanied Guy Johnson when he fled to Canada. The

two Butlers were also in the train. Being now in a place of safety, and the

means in their hands, plots of destruction were put in execution in rapid

succession.

Having had some disagreement with Johnson, Brant came again to the

frontiers. Some of the peaceable Mohawks had been confined, to prevent
their doing mischief, as were some of the Massachusetts Indians in Philip's

war. Brant was displeased at this, for he said, if the distant Indians should
come down, they would destroy them indiscriminately with the whites. He
was accompanied by a band of 70 or 80 warriors, who, in their rambles,
visited Unadilla, where they assembled the inhabitants, and told them that

they stood in need of provisions, and if they did not give them some, they
should take it by force ; a refusal, therefore, would have been worse than
useless. Brant further olisei^ved, " thai their agreement with the king was stro7ig,

and that they were not such villains as to break their covenant unth him." General
Herkimer marched up to Unadilla, in July, with 380 men, where he found
Brant with 130 of his warriors. Here he had an interview with him, in which
he held the following language :

—" TTiat the iTidians were in concert with the

king, as their fathers and grandfathers had been. Hint the king's belts were yet

lodged unth them, and they could notfalsify their pledge. That General Herki-
mer arw? <Ae resf Aarf_;ot?ierf //(« 5os<onpeo»/e aafains^ their king. That Boston
people were resolute, but the king would humble them. That Mr. Schuyler, or

general, or what you please to call him, was very smart on the Indians at the tnaly

at German Flatts; but tvas not, at tlie same time, able to afford them the smallest

article of clothing. That the Indians had formerly made war on the white people

all united ; and now they ivere divided, the Indians were notfrightened." Colonel

Cox, who accompanied Herkimer, said, if war was his determination, the

matter was ended. Brant then spoke to his warriors, and they shouted, and
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ran to their place of encampment, seized their arms, fired several guns, and,
after giving the war-whoop, returned in warlike array. General Herkimer
then told Brant he did not come to fight, and the chief motioned for his men
to remain quiet. Perhaps, as a worthy author obsei-ved upon a transaction
m PhiUp^s war, it is better to omit the cause of the conduct of Herkimer,
than too critically to inquu-e into it. His men vastly outnumbered the Indians,
and his authority was ample ; but his motives were no doubt pure, and his

courage must not now be called in question, as will appear from what is to

be related. To put the most lavorable construction upon his neglecting to

break down the power of Brant, is to suppose that he was impressed with
the belief that the Indians would not join with the English in committing
hostilities ; if this were the case, he too late discovered the eiTor of his
judgment.
After the general had said that he did not come to fight, Brant, with an air of

importance, said, " If your purpose is war, I am ready for you" A tempest,
which came up suddenly, separated the parties, and each retired peaceably.
This is said to be the last talk held by any of the Americans with the Six
Nations, previous to hostiUties, except with the Oneidas ; all, save a very
few of whom remained neutral.

Towards the autumn of this year, (1777,) Brant was under the direction of
General St. Leger, who detached him with a considerable body of warriors
for the investment of Fort Stanwix. Colonel Butler was commander-in-chief,
with a band of tories. The inhabitants in the valley of the Mohawk deter-

mined to march for the relief of Colonel Gansevoort, who commanded the

fort, which they did, in two regiments, with General Herkimer at their head.
As is usual with militia, they marched in great disorder, and when the gene-
ral ordered scouting parties to march, as security against surprise, upon the

flanks of the main bodyj they accused him with cowardice, wliicli, most
unwarrantably, had more influence upon his mind, than the safety of his

anny. A catastrophe ensued, whicli, though not so momentous in that day,

as was that of Lothrop in 1676, nor so complete a victory on the part of the

Indians, yet it was a severe fight, in which 200 Americans were slain.* The
place of attack was selected by Brant or Butler, and was a ravine of a broad
bottom, neai-ly impassable, except a rough ti'ack covered with logs of from
12 to 15 feet in length, laid transversely,t which extended across it General
Herkimer arrived at this place about two hours before mid-day, August 6.

He might reasonably have expected an ambush, but his firs* intimations of
the vicinity of an enemy were the terrifjang yells of the Indians, and the

still more lasting impressions of their rifles. The advanced guard were all

cut off*. Such as survived the first fire, were hewn dovni with the tomahawk.
The fatal causeway was semicircular, and Brant and his forces occupied the

surrounding heights. These are the principal events in the battle of Oriskana.

A surgeon, Dr. Moses Younglove, was taken prisoner in this battle, and after

his return from captivity, he wi-ote a poem upon the affair, from which we
extract the following :

—

" The time and place of our unhappy fight,

To you at larg^e were needless to recite:

When in the wood our fierce inhuman foes,

With piercing- yell from circling ambush rose,

A sudden vollej^ rends the vaulted sky

;

Their painted bodies hideous to the eye,

They rush like hellish furies on our bands,

Their slaughter weapons brandish'd in their hands."

Running dovra from every direction, they prevented the two regiments

from forming a junction, one of them not having entered the causeway

;

and a part of the assailimts fell upon those without, and the remainder

upon those Avithm it. The former fared worse than the latter, for in such

* Their whole loss was about 400, says Marshall, Life Washington, v. 26L

t All who have travelled, even within a few years, in this part of the stale of New York,

cannot but well remember the " Corduroy " roads. Such was tne road over this memorable

ravine.
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eases a flight has ahnost always been a dismal defeat. It was now the

case. The other regiment, hemmed in as they were, saw, in a moment,
that,

To fight, or not to tight, was death.

They, therefore, back to back, forming a front in every direction, fought like

men in despair. This, Dr. Younglove thus forcibly depicts :

—

" Now, hand to hcuid, the contest is for life,

With bay'net, tom'hawk, sword, and scalping knife:

Now more remote the work of death we ply.

And thick as hail the show'ring bullets fly;

Full many a hard}' warrior sinks supine
;

Yells, shrieks, groans, shouts cuid thund'ring volleys join

;

The dismal din the ringing forest fills,

The sounding echo roars along the hills."

The poet thus presents to our view the attacking parties :

—

" Of two departments were the cissalling foes

;

Wild savage natives lead the first of those

;

Their almost naked frames, of various dyes.
And ruigs of black and red surround their eyes:
On one side they present a shaven head

;

The neiked half of the vermilion red
;

In spots the party-color'd face they drew.
Beyond description horrible to view

;

Their ebon locks in braid, with paint o'erspread
;

The silver'd ears depending from the head

;

Their gaudry my descriptive power exceeds.

In plumes of feathers, glitt'ring plates and beada."

He thus speaks of the tories :

—

" These for the first attack their force unite,

And most sustain the fury of the fight

;

Their rule of warfare, devastation dire.

By undistinguish'd plunder, death and fire

;

They torture man Euid beast, with barbarous rage
Nor tender infant spare, nor rev'rend sjtge."

And BvUer is noticed as follows :

—

" O'er them a horrid monster bore command.
Whose inauspicious birth disgrac'd our land

;

By malice urg'd to ev'ry baro'rous art

;

Of cruel temper, but of coward heart.''

With such bravery did they fight in this forlorn condition, that the Indianr
began to give way ; and, but for a remforcement of tories, under Major Wat-
son, they would have been entirely dispersed.* This reinforcement is thus
characterized by ttie surgeon :

—

" The second was a renegado crew,
Who arm cind dress as Christian nations do.

Led by a chief who bore the first commandf;
A bold invader of his native land."

The sight of this reinforcement greatly increased the rage of the Ameri-
cans. It was composed of the very men who had left that part of the coun-
try at the commencement of tlie war, and were held in abhorrence for their

loyalty to the king. The fight was renewed with vigor, and the reinforcement
fought also with bravery, until about thirty of their number were killed.

* Dr. Gordon says the tories and Indians got into a most wretched confusion, and fought

one another-, and that the latter, at last, thought it was a plot of the whites on both sides, to

get Ihem into that situation, that they might cut llicm off.
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Major Watson, their leader, was wounded and taken prisoner, but left upon
the battle-ground.

In the mean time, Greneral Herkimer had got forward to the fort an express,
which informed Colonel Gansevoort of his situation. He immediately de-
tached Colonel Marinus Willet with 207 men, who succeeded in rescuuig tlip

remnant of this brave band from destruction. He beat the enemy from the

ground, and retimied to the fort with considerable plunder. Such were tlie

events of the battle of Oriskana.

(leneral Herkimer died of a wound which he received in this fight. Near
its commencement, he was severely wounded in the leg, and his horse was
killed. He directed his saddle to be placed upon a little knoll, and resting

himself upon it, continued to issue his orders. On being advised to remove
to a place of greater safety, he said, " JSFo—/ will face the enemy ;

" and, adds
the historian of Tryon county, " In this situation, and in the heat of the

battle, he very deliberately took from his pocket his tinderbox, and lit hia

pipe, which he smoked with great composure."
The Indians, as well as the Americans, suffered dreadfully in this fight

And our poet writes,

" Such was Ihe bloody fight : and such the foe:

Our smaller force return'd them blow for blow

;

By turns successfully their force defy'd,

^d conquest wav'ring seem'd from side to side."

Brant^s loss being about 100 men ; we are inclined to think the loss of tbe
Indians exaggerated in these luies:

—

•• Not half the savages returned from fight

;

Tliey to their native wilds had sped their flight."

The Senecas alone lost 30, and the tories about 100. The regiment which
fled suffered severely, but would have suffered still more, had not their pur-

suers been apprized of the desperate case of their fellows engaged in the

ravine, which caused them to abandon the pursuit. The commanding officer,

Colonel Cox, was killed, and the command devolved upon Lieutenant Colonel

Campbell and Major Clyde, who conducted the retreat.

The scene in the night following the battle is thus strikingly presented by

Dr. Younglove, the eye-witness :

—

" Those that remain'd a long encampment made,
And rising fires illumin'd all the shade :

In vengeance for their num'rous brothers slain,

For torture sundry prisoners they retain

;

And three fell monsters, horrible to view,

A fellow pris'ner from the sentries drew

;

The guards before received their chief's commEwd,
To not withhold from the slaught'ring band

;

But now the sufferer's fate they sympathize,

And for him supplicate with earnest cries.

I saw the general* slowly passing by,

The sergeant on his knees, with tearful eye,

Implor'd the guards might wrest him from their hands.

Since now the troops could awe their lessen'd bands.

With lifted cane the gen'ral thus replies,

(While indignation sparkles from his eyes
:

)

' Go ! sirrah ! mind your orders giv'n before !

' And for infernal rebels plead no more !

'

For help the wretched victim vainly cries,

With supplicating voice and ardent eyes

;

With horror chill d, I turn away my face,

While instantly they bear him from the place.

Dread scene!—with anguish slung I inly groan.

To think the next hard Tot may be my own."

The poet next describes his di-eam, in which he was carried to the bettle*

ground ; and then thus opens the morning scene :

—



582 BRANT.—DESTRUCTION OF CHERRY-VALLEY. [Book V

" When savages, for horrid sport prepare!,

Demand einother pris'ner from the guard.

We saw their fear'd approach, with mortal fright,

Their scalping-knives they sharpen'd in our sight.

Beside the guard they sat tliem on the ground.
And view'd, with piercing eyes, the prisoners round."

" At length, one rising seized me by the hand
;

By him drawn forth, on trembling knees I stemd;
I bid my fellows all a long adieu.

With answering grief, my wretched case they view.
They led me bound along the winding flood.

Far in the gloomy bosom of the wood
;

There, (horrid sight!) a pris'ner roasted lay,

The carving-knife had cut his flesh away."

After enduring every thing but death in his captivity, Dr. Youngtove returned
home in safety.

In 1778, a fort was built at Cherry-valley, where families for considerable
extent about took up theu* abode, or retii'ed occasionally for safety. Brani
intended to destroy this, and came into the neighborhood for the pui-pose
It happened that, at the time he chose to make the discovery of the strength
of the garrison, the boys were assembled in a traming, with wooden guns,
for amusement: not having a clear view of them from the foliage of the trees

which intervened, Brant thought them to be men. It was his design to have
made the attack the following night ; but on this discovei-y, he gave up the
design. He still remained in the neighborhood ; secreted behind a large rock
near the main road to the Mohawk, and about two miles north of the fort in

the valley. Here he waited to mtercept some unwary passenger, and gain
more certain intelligence. Near this place is the little cascade called by the

natives, Tekaharawa. The inliabitants of the valley were in expectation of a
company of soldiers from the Mohawk, to reinforce them, and the same day
Lieutenant Wormwood came from thence, and informed them that Colonel
Klock would arrive the next day with the party. Near night he set out to

return, accompanied by one Peter Sitz, the bearer of some despatches. He
was a young officer, of fine personal appearance, and was to return the next
day with one of the companies of soldiers. He had been out of sight but a
few minutes, when, as he passed the ambush of Brant, his warriors fired

upon him, and he fell fi'om his horse. The chief, springing from his hiding-

place, tomahawked him with his own hands. Wormwood and his companion
were ordered to stand, but not obeying, occasioned theu- being fii-ed upon.
Brant was acquainted with Lieutenimt Wormwood before the war, and after-

wtu"ds expressed sorrow at his fate, pretending that he took him to be a con-
tinental officer. His horse immediately running back to the fort, with blood
upon the saddle, gave some indication of what had happened. His compan-
ion, Sitz, was taken prisoner.

In June, the same summer. Brant came upon Springfield, which he biuued,
and carried off" a number of prisoners. The women and childien were not
maltreated, but were left in one house unmolested. About this time, great

pains were taken to seize the wary chief, but there was no Captain Church,

or, unlike Philip of Pokanoket, Brant had the remote nations to fly to without
fear of being killed by them. Captain JWKean hunted him for some tune,

and, not being able to find him, wrote an insulting letter for him, and left it

in an Indian path. Among other things, he challenged him to single combat,
or to meet him with an equal number of men ; and " that if he would come to

CheiTy-valley, and have a fair fight, they would change him from a Brant
into a Goos." This letter, it is supposed. Brant received, from an intimation

contained in one which he wrote aoout the same time to a tory. To this man
(Parcifer Carr, of Edmeston) he writes from Tunadilla [Unadilla] under date

9 July, 1778,

—

"Sir: I understand by the Indians that was at your house last

week, tlmt one Smith lives near ivithyou, has little more corn to spare. I shoidd he

much obliged to you, if you would be so kind as to try to get as much com as

Smith can spared; he has sent me Jive skipples already, oftohich I am much oblig-

ed to him, and will see him paid, and would he very glad if you coidd spare one

or two your men to join its, especially Elias. / would be glad to see him, and 1
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ivish you could sent me as many guns you have, as I know you have no use for
them, if you any ; as I mean now tofght the cruel rebels as well as I can ; what-
ever you will able to senfd me, you must senVd by the bearer. I am your sincere

friend and humble sei^t. Joseph Brant. P. S. I heard that Cherry-valUy
people is very bold, and intended to make nothing ofus; they coiled us unld geese,

but I know the contrary." This we suppose to be a fail- specimen of the com-
position of the chief who afterwards ti'anslated the Gospel according to John
into the Mohawk language, also the Book of Common Prayer; copies of which
are in the library of Harvard college.*

The next event ofimportance in which Brant was engaged, was tlv. destruc-
tion of Wyoming,! one of the most heart-rending records in the annals of the

revolutionaiy war. In that horrid affair, about 300 settlers were killed oi

carried into captivity ; from the greater part ofwhom no intelligence was evei

obtained.

It was known early in the spring of 1778, that a large force was collecting

at Niagara for the object of laying waste the frontiers of Pennsylvania, Vir-
ginia and New York, and even as early as Februaiy, General Schuyler ^vrote

to congress to inform them that such was his belief. In March he wrote
again to congress, saying, "A number of Mohawks, and many ofthe Ononda-
goes, Cayugas, and Senecas, will commence hostilities against us as soon as

they can; it would be prudent, therefore, early to take measures to cai-ry the
w^ar into then* countiy ; it would require no greater body of troops to destroy
their towns than to protect the frontier inhabitants." J But congress had more
than their hands full in other du'ections, and nothing was done. In the be-
ginning of July, the toiy and Indian force, amounting together to about 1600
men, were discovered in possession of Fort WuUermoot,§ a short distance from
the village of Wyoming. Here was also a foit, at which were collected near
400 men for the defence of the country, who were under the immediate com-
mand of Colonel Zebulon Butler.\\ On the 3 July, a council of war was held

upon the propriety of marching out and attacking the tory and Indian army,
and it was finally agreed that the enemy should be sought. Accordingly the

Americans marched out upon this expedition the same day. Having sent

forward spies, they had not proceeded far, when they were discovered by two
Indians, who were, doubtless, upon the same business. The scouts fired each

upon the other, and then hastened to their respective head-quarters. Both
parties were immediately in motion, and joined battle near a thick swamp.
The Indians and tories, being the more numerous, outflanked the Americans,

and Brant, at the head of his furious warriors, issuing from the swamp, turned

their lefl flank, and creating thereby a confusion, which greatly favored his

kind of warfare, and enabled him to make dreadful havoc among them.

The Americans were in two lines, and it was the line commanded by Col-

onel Dennison that Brant successfully encountered. Butler, at the same time,

was gaining some advantage over the other line, under his cousin Zebulon,

which, added to the raging disaster in the left, became immediately a flight.

Colonel Dennison's order to fall back, by which he designed to make an ad-

vantageous evolution, was distorted, by the terrified troops, into an order for

flight ; and all was in a few moments lost. And from Judge Marshall we add

as follows :—" The troops fled towards the river, which they endeavored to

pass, in order to enter Fort Wilkesbarre, [in the village of that name on the

opposite side of the Susquehannah.] The enemy pursued ' with the fury of

* It would seem from Mr. WeM, (Travels in America, 485,) that he translated those

works before the war ; but I have heard it said that they were the production of the

chief John Norton ; my authority, however, I do not remember.

t This name is said to signify a^'e/rf of blood, from a great battle fought there by the

Indians before its settlement by the whites. This derivation, however, is not according

to Heckewelder, but I must refer the curious philologist to Chapman's Hist. Wyomi7ig,

p. 10, or to his authority, since printed in the Trajis. Amer. Philos. Sac.

t Gordon's American Revolution, iii. 184.

} This was garrisoned by a company of men, who had been suspected of toryism, and

it now appeared that they had not only given up the fort, but joined the hostile party.

Marshall's Washington, iii. 557.

11
He was cousin "to John Butler, the leader of the tories. Marshall, ibid. 556, and iv.

Appendix, 13.
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devils ;
' and of the 400 who had marched out on this unfortunate parley

only about 20 escaped," among whom were the commanding officers.

The fort at Wyoming was now closely besieged, and seeing no chance of
escape, Colonel Butler proposed a parley with hisyjiem^and namesake, wliich

was assented to. The place of meeting Avas appointed at some distance from
the fort, and the Americans marched out in considerable force, to prevent

treachery, to the place appointed ; but when they ai'rived there, they fomid
nobody with whom to parley. The commander of the tories has been brand-

ed with gross infamy, for this piece of treacheiy with his kinsman ; for he
feigned fear fi-om his approach, and had reth-ed as they advanced, displaying

meanwhile the flag of truce. The unwaiy Americans were, by this ti-eacher-

ous stratagem, led into ah ambush in nearly the same manner as were Hvich-

inson and Wheeler, at Wickabaug Pond, in Philip's Avar, They were, in a

loment, nearly suiTOunded by BranVs Avarriors, and the work of death raged
r. all its fury.* The tories " Avere not a Avhit behind the very chiefest " of them
.1 this bloody day. A remnant only regained the fort, out of several himdreds
,iat went forth. They were now more closely besieged than before ; and
;ie more to insult the vanquished, a demand was sent ii to them to sm-render,

accompanied by 196 bloody scalps, taken from thoge Avho had just been
nain." When the best terms were asked of the beeiegers, the " infamous

jJutler" replied in these tAVo words, "<Ae hatchet" Tiiis was the only truth

we hear of his uttering. It was the hatchet, indeed—a few only fled to tlie

surroimding wilderness, there to meet a more lingering death by famine.

These were chiefly women and children.

Thus passed thefourth of July, 1778, in the before flourishing settlement

of Wyoming, on the eastern branch of the Susquehannah. Barlow knew
well, in his early day, Avho was forever to be branded Avith infamy for the acts

of this memorable tragedy. He says,

—

" His savage hordes the murderous Johnson leads,

Files through the woods and treads the tangled weeds
Shuns open combat, teaches where to run.

Skulk, couch the ambush, aim the hunter's gun,
Whirl the sly tomahawk, the war-whoop sing.

Divide the .spoils, and pack the scalps they bring."

Columbiad, vi. 389, &c

Having now got full possession of Wyoming, and, observes Dr. Thacher,

"after selecting a few pi'isoners, the remainder of the people, including

women and children, were enclosed in the houses and barracks, which were
immediately set on fire, and the whole consumed together. Another fort Avas

neai- at hand, in which were 70 continental soldiers ; on suiTendering without

conditions, these were, to a man, butchered in a barbarous manner ; when
the remainder of the men, women and children were shut up in the houses,

and the demons of hell glutted their vengeance in beholding their destruction

in one general conflagration." The houses of the tories were spared. As
though they could not exercise then- cruelty enough von hiunan beings,

they fell upon the beasts in the field—shooting some, wounding and man-
gling others, by cutting out their tongues, &c. and leaving them alive. Well
does Campbell make his Oneida chief to say, (who conies as a friend to

warn the settlement of the approach of the combined army of tories an.l

Indians,)
" ' But this is not a time,'—he started up,

And smote his breast with woe-denouncing hcind

—

' This is no time to fill thy joyous cup:
The mammoth comes—the foe—the monster Brandt,
With all his howling desolating band ;

—

These eyes have seen their blade, and burning pine,

Awake at once and silence half your land.

Red is the cup they drink ; but not with wine:

Awake and watch to-night ! or see no morning shine.

* There is much incongruity in relation to the affairs of Wyoming. C7ia/)/nan distinctly

states that Braivt commanded the right wing of the army under Butler, when he was met by

the forces that marched out to meet them ; but it has lately been denied that Brant was even

It \Vyoining during these affairs.
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"' Scorning_lo wield the hatchet for his bribe,

"Gainst BrMidt himself I went to battle forth :

Accursed Brandt ! he left of all my tribe

Nor man, nor child, nor thing of living birth :

No ! not the dog', that watched my household hearth,

Escaped, that night of blood, upon our plains

!

All perished !—I alone am left on earth !

To whom nor relative nor blood remeiins,

No !—not a kindred drop that runs in human veins !
'

"

Gertrude of Wyoming

The tories, as was often the case, were attired like Indiaiis, and, from even)

account, it appears that they exceeded them in ferocity.

Dr, Thacher gives us the following examples of horror, which were of no-

toriety at the time, and " promulgated fi-om authentic sources. One of the

prisoners, a Captain Badlock, was committed to torture, by having his body
stuck full of splinters of pine knots, and a fire of dry wood made round him,

when his two companions. Captains Ranson and Durkee, were thrown into

the same fire, and held down with pitchforks, till consumed. One Partial

Terry, the son of a man of respectable chai-acter, having joined the Indian

party, several times sent his father word that he hoped to ivash his hands in his

htari's blood. The monster, with his owTi hands, murdered his father, mother,

brothers and sisters, stripped off their scalps, and cut off his father's head !

" *

It was upon such scenes as these, that the mind of the poet just cited had
dwelt, which caused him to wield the pen of denimciation with such effect

upon the memory of Brant. That Bvtler was the far greater savage, none
can dispute, and Mr. Campbell has long since acknowledged his too great

severity upon the character of the former. We should explain here, that a
son of Colonel Brant, a chief Mohawk, of the name of Myonwaeghs, called

by the English John Brant, was in London in 1822, and furnished Mr. Camp-
bell with documents, which, in the poet's own words, " changed his opinion

of his father." This passage was contained in a long and interesting letter

upon the subject, to Myonioae.ghs, which appeared at that time in the news-

papers.

With Wyoming were destroyed Wilkesbarre and Kingston, upon the other

side of the Susquehannah. Tliough Wyoming is generally understood to be

the place destroyed, it should be remembered that in the valley bearing that

name, there were three other towns, which were all destroyed, as well as

Wyozning.f These towns were settled by emigrants from Connecticut, and

%vhen destroyed contained more than 1000 families, and had furnished the

continental army with more than 1000 men, who were generally the young
and active part of the population.! The opposite sides which the inhabitants

took in the great revolutionary question, created the most violent rancor in

the bosoms of both parties, and hence the barbarities which ensued.

In November following, Clierry-valley met with a fate similar to Wyoming.
At this time. Brant was returning to winter-quarters, when he was met by a

tory captain, and persuaded to engage in one expedition more. This was
Walter Butler, son of John, the hero of Wyoming. He went to Canada with

Guy Johnson, in 1775, as has Ijeeu mentioned ; and now some circumstances

brought him among the frontier settlements of New York. What his object

was, we are not informed ; but it was, doubdess, that of a spy. However,

he was taken up on suspicion, at least, and confined ui jail at Albany ; falling

sick, he was removed to a private dwelling, fi-om whence he soon found

means to escape. Joining his father at Niagara, he succeeded in detaching a

part of his regiment upon an mcursion. Sleeting with Brant, as was just

mentioned, they returned to the frontier. It is said that Brant was at first

* Thacher's Journal.

t The settlement of Wyoming consisted of eight townships, each five miles square. Annua,

iJ^. for 1779, page 9. "Each containing a square of five miles," is the language of the

Register; but it is thought unlikely that these towns were so small. Writers, and good

writers too, often commit mathematical errots of iliis kind; not dislinguisliiiig between miles

square, s.nA square miles: Thus, the differeiu-e between five square miles, and five miles

square, i. e. 5'—5=20 square miles, the true difference between the two quantities.

t Marshall, m. 555.
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displeased with the project, understanding tliat Captain Walter had been put

in office over him by his old genera], Walter^s father, but stifled his resent-

ment. Then- whole force was 700 men, 500 of whom were the warriors of

Brant.

Colonel Jchabod Alden, of Massachusetts, was in command at Cherry-

valley, and to his misguided judgment is to be attributed the disaster which
ensued. But, like Waldron of Cochecho, he was doomed to escape the dis-

grace. He was early apprized of the march of Brant, and when urged to

receive the inhabitants mto the fort, obsei-ved that there was no danger, as

he would keep out scouts who would apprize them of tlie a])proach of an

enemy in season to remove. Scouts were accordingly sent out ; one of

which, either forgetting the business they were upon, or, what was equally

reprehensible, made a large fire and lay down to sleep. Branfs wairiors

were not misled by so luminous a beacon, and the whole were made prison-

ers. This was on the night of the 9 November, 1778. The prisoners now
in the hands of Brant were obliged to give the most exact intelligence con-

cerning the garrison. On the morning of the IJ, favored by a thick and hazy
atmosphere, they approached the fort. Colonels Alden and Stacia quartered

at the house of a Mr. Wells. A 3Ir. Hanible was fired upon as he was coming
from his house to the fort, by a scout, which gave the first notice of the

enemy. He escaped, and gave the alarm to Colonel Alden, who, strange as

it may appear, was still incredulous, and said it was nothing more than some
straggling Indians. The last space of time was thus lost !—and, in less than

half an hour, all parts of the place were invested at once. Such of the sol-

diers as were collected being immediately all killed or taken, the poor inhab-

itants fell an easy prey. Colonel Alden was among the first victijns. liike

Chopart, in the massacre at Natchez, he fled from his house, and was pur-

sued by an Indian with his hatchet, at whom the colonel endeavored several

times to discharge his pistol ; but it missing fire, and losing time in facing

about for this pm-pose, the Lidian was sufliciently near to throw his toma-

hawk with deadly effect. He did so. Colonel Alden fell upon his face, and
his scalp was in a moment borne oft" in triumph. "A tory boasted that he

killed Mr. Wells while at prayer." His daughter, a young lady of great

amiableness, fled from the house to a pile of wood for shelter ; but an In-

dian pursued her, who, coming near, composedly vnped his long knife,

already bloody, upon his leggins, then returning it to his belt, seized her by

the arm, and witii a blow of his tomahawk ended her existence. She could

speak some Indian, and begged her murderer to spare her life, and a tory

interceded, who stood near, urging that she was his sister; but he would
hear to neither. Other transactions in this affair, of still greater horror, we
must pass in silence.

Between 30 and 40 prisoners were carried off; but the fort, containing

about 200 soldiers, was not taken, although several trials were made upon it.

Bra7it was the only person engaged in this tragedy of whom we hear any

acts of clemency ; one of which was the preservation of a poor woinan and

her children, who, but for him, would have met the tomahawk. He inquired

for Captain M'Kean, (who wrote him the letter before mentioned,) saying he

had now come to accept his challenge. Being answered that " Capt. M^Kean
would not turn his back upon an enemy," he replied, " I know it. He is a

brave man, and I would have given more to have taken him than any othei

man ui Cheiry-valley ; but I would not have hurt a hair of his head."

Brant had seen and heard so much of what is called civilized warfare, that

he was aliaid of tlie traduction of his character, and always said that, in his

councils, he had tried to make his warriors humane ; and to his honor it is

said, (l)iit in proportion as his character is raised, that of tix^ white man
must sink,) that where he had the chief command, few barbarities were

committed.
The night before Brant and Butler fell upon Cherry-valley, some of the

tories who had friends there, requc stcd liberty to go in secretly and advise

them to retire. Butler, though some of his own friends were among the

inhabitants, refiised, saying, "that there were so many families connected,

tiiat the one would inform the otlier.-j, and all would escape. He thus sacri-
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ficed bis friends, for the sake of punishing his enemies." This, whether
reported by Brant to magnify bis own humanity, by a contrast witii the
depravity of his associate, is not known, but it may have been the fact.

But tliis midnight assassin did not escape liis retribution ; lie was killed

by an Oneida Indian, on 30 October, 1781, under the following cu'cumstHiices :

Colonel WUlet having been ordered with about 400 men to make an expedi-
tion into the country of the Mohawk, he surprised a party of LOG tories,

and 130 Indians at Johnston, and drove them into the woods, and severely

distressed them by cutting off their retreat to their boats. About this time
Colonel WUlet was joined by 60 Oneida Indians, and he shortly after came
up mth a party which formed the rear of the British and Indians, and killed

and took prisoners the most of them. Walter Butler was among the van-
quished, and Ijeing wounded by one of Willefs Indians, cried for quarter

;

upou which the Lidian screamed out with a di'eadful voice, " Sherry Valley,"

at the same time cleaving his head \vith his tomahawk !
*

Whether the following inteiesting affair belongs to Walter or John Butla;
or whether it happened at Wyoming or at Chen-y-valley, it equally' affects

the character of Brant. It is said, that Butler, on entering a house, ordered
a woman and child to be killed, whom they found in a bed ; but Brant said,

" JVhat ? kill a ivoman and child ! JVo ! that child is not an enemy to the king,

nor a friend to the congress. Long before he loill he big enough to do any
mischief, the dispute itnll be settled."]

The depredations of the Indians and tories at Wyoming and other places

in that region, caused General Washington to order General Sullivan with
2500 men into the Indian country. Considerable delay was experienced,

and the forces were not concentrated at Wyoming until a year after it was
destroyed. On 22 July, a company of Pennsylvania militia who had marched
from this place to Lackawaxen to protect the settlers there, were attacked

by 140 Indians and 40 or 50 of them were killed or made prisoners. J

It was said that this summer, (1779,) 160,000 bushels of their corn was
destroyed. As soon as it was known that Sullivan was advancing into the

country, Brant and Butler, with 600 Indians, and Johnson, with 200 tories,

took a position on his route, to cut him off, Sullivan came upon them,
August 29, at a place called JVeivtown, on Tioga River,§ where they had en-

trenched themselves, and immediately attacked them. The battle lasted

about two hours, when, by a successful movement of General Poor, at the

head of his New Hampshke regiment, Brands warriors were thrown into

confusion, and the whole were put to flight.|| Few were killed, and they

made no other stand against the Americans durmg the expedition.lT The
historian adds, " They utterly destroyed 40 villages, and left no single trace

of vegetation upon the surface of the ground."** All their cattle were either

killed or brought off, many of which they had before taken from the Ameri-
cans. " None of the bounties of nature, none of the products of human
industry, escaped the fmy of the x\inericans."ft Upon this business the

satne author writes, that " the ofBcers charged with the execution of these

devastations, were themselves ashamed of them; some even ventured to

remonstrate that they were not accustomed to exercise the vocation of ban-

ditti." General Pooi; doubtless, was the efficient man in this expedition,

but the ostentation of Sidlivan gained him the honor! of it. Thus were the

* MarslicdVs Washington, iv. Appecdix, 13.

—

Allen's Biog. Diet. Article, Butler, John.

t Allen, ibid.

I Chapman, 131. ^ Chapman's Hist. Wj'oming-, 132.

II
Nine only of the Indians were killed ; of the Americans, four. It is said to be owing- to

the sagacity- of Brant, that his whole force escaped fedling into the hands of the Americans.

Annals Tryon Co. 125.

IT Botta,' Hist. Rev. ii. 206.
** Ibid. Some of the officers thought it too degrading to the army to be employed in

destrojdng fruit-trees, and remonstrated to Gen. Sullivan against the order. He replied,

" The Indians shall see that there is malice enough in our hearts to destroy every thmj; thai

contributes to ineir support." Gordon, Amer. Rev. iii. 21.

tt Gordon, Amer. Rev. iii. 207.
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Five Nations chastised for acting as they had been taught by tlie white
people

;
yea, by the Americans themselves.*

The following smnmer, (23 July, 1779,) Colonel Brant, with 60 of his war-
riors and 27 white men, came suddenly upon Miuisbik, in Orange county.

New York, where they killed sundry of the inhabitants and made otJiers

captives. They burnt ten houses, twelve barns, a garrison and two mills,

and then commenced their retreat. The militia fi-om Goshen and places

adjacent, to the number of 149, collected, pursued, and came up with them,
when a most bloody battle was fought. The Indians were finally victorious,

and 30 only, out of the 149 whites, escaped. Some were carried into cap-
tivity, and the rest were killed. Not being sufficiently cautious, they fell

into an ambush, and so fought at great disadvantage.f

In 1821, a county meeting was held, by which it was voted that the bones
of the slain should be collected, and deposited under a suitable monument
at the same time ordered to be ei-ectedj In 1822, the committee appointed
to collect the bones " which had been exposed to the suns and snows for 43
years," had Ibund those of 44 persons, which were, with much formality,

publicly interred.§

In the spring of 1780, Brant surprised Harpersfield, with a company of
his warriors, and a few tories. He took 19 prisoners, and killed several

others. On 2 August following, he fell upon Canajoharrie, with about
400 mixed warriors, killed 16 people, took about 55 prisoners, chiefly women
and children ; they killed and drove away, at the same time, about 300 cattle

and horses, bm-nt 53 houses, and as many barns, besides out-houses, a new
and elegant church, a grist-mill and two garrisons.

Doubtless there were many other warlike scenes in which Brant was
engaged personally ; but we have already dwelt longer upon them than we
intended.

European vmters, for a long time, contended that the N. American Indians
had, natwally, no beards.|| A Mr. M'Causland took the trouble of writing

to Brant, after the revolution, to get the truth of the matter. The following

is Branfs letter to his inquiry :—" Niagara, 19 April, 1783. The men of the

Six JVations have all beards by nature ; as have liketvise ail other Indian nations

of JVorth America, which I have seen. Some Indians allow a part of the beard

upon the chin and upper lip to grow, and afew of the Mohawks shave with razors,

in the same manner us Europeans; but the generality pluck out the hairs of the

beard by the roots, as soon as they begin to appear ; and as they continue this prac-

tice all their lives, they appear to have no beard, or, at most, only afew straggling

hairs, which they have neglected to pluck oui. I am, however, of opinion, that if
the Indians were to shave, they would never have beards altogether so thick as the

Europeans ; and there are some to be met with who have actually very little beai'd.^

Jos. Brant Thatendanega."

A daughter of Colonel Brani married a Frenchman, who in June, 1789.

was killed by a party of Indians, while peaceably travelling up the Wabash
River. He was in company with nine others, four of whom were killed and
tliree wounded. When the hostile party came up to them, and discovered

* See the speech of Big-tree, Corn-plant, and Half-tmon, to which nothing need be added
by way of commentary upon such aflairs.

t Gordon's America, iii. 22. X Spafford's Gaz. 328.

^ Hdmes's Amer. Annals, ii. 302.

J]
Even the great luminary Voltaire fell into this error. He says, " Les Iroquois, lei

Hwons, et tous les peuples jusqu'A la Floride, parurertt olitiStres et saTis aiicun poll sur le

corps excepts la tite." That is, all from the 60" of N. latitude. Voyez CEuvres completes

iv. 708, ed. Paris, 1817, 8vo. See also Raynal, viii. 210.

A gentleman, Mr. W. J. Snelling, who resided among the western Indians for some time,

says. It is not an error that the Indians have no beard ; that the " Saques and Foxes have but

very few hairs upon their faces, nor have they anj' instrument for extirpating it ; and what
makes the fact certain is, they have no hair on the concealed parts of their bodies." Accord-

ing to Lawson, Account of the Ijidinns of North Carolina, 190, 191, tlie same is true with

regard to them. Lawson travelled much among the southern Indians.

TT This is the case with many of the whites.
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the sou-in-law of Brant, they assisted in drawing the arrows fi'om the wound-
ed, and then went off.*

When the Indians upon the southern and western frontier were showing
themselves hostile, in 1791, Colonel Brant used his exertions to prevent hos-
tilities, by visituig such tribes as appeared hostile. His name appears in

many important transactions of those times. The boundai-y line between
the United States and the Indian nations had not been satisfactorily estab-

lished, which was the cause of much trouble. A gentleman in Canada wrote
to another in the state of New York, under date of 2 August, 1791,
wherein Colonel Brant is thus mentioned : " Capt. Joseph Brant, after having
attended for some time the comicils of the western Indians at the Miami
River, set off a few days ago for Quebec, attended with several of the chiefs

from that quarter ; as they avowedly go to ask Lord Dorchester's advice, and
as we well know his and government's strong desire for peace, we would
gladly hope that it may be the means of bringing on an accommodation."

In 1792, his arrival in Philadelphia is thus publicly noticed in the Gazette
of that city :—" Capt. Joseph Brant, the principal warrior chief of the Six
Nations, arrived in this city on Wednesday evening last, (Jime 20.) [t is said

his errand is a visit to a number of his acquaintance residing here, and to

pay his respects to the president of the United States." He left there about
the beginning of July, upon another peace excursion among the western
tribes, which still remained hostile.

When General Wayne was marching into the Indian country, in 1793, many
of the tribes were alarmed, having heard that his army consisted of 8000
men. Learning, also, that commissioners accompanied the army, authorized

»0 treat of peace, and wishing to know the strength of the Americans, thirty

chiefs of different tribes were despatched upon this important business.

Colonel Brant was one of these 30 Indian ambassadors. If' the Americans
would make the Ohio the boundary, they wished peace. The whole cause
of General Wayne's war appears to have been about the lands lying west of
the Ohio and Alleghany Rivers. We have no doubt Brant secretly, if not
openly, advocated the establishment of this boundary

;
yes. and we must

acknowledge that if he did, it was from the best of reasons. We know that

Tecmnseh labored incessantly for this boundary. Rightly did they conceive
of the mighty wave of population rolling westward, southward and north-

ward. Tiaily, they must have been blind not to have seen that it was about
to engulf them forever ! When they had met the commissioners, and found
them inflexible in their determination, Brant, with most of the chiefs of the

Six Nations, gave up the point as hopeless, preferring peace, on any terms,

to war. But the Wyandots, Delawares, Shawanees and Miamis would not

agree to it.

Mention will be found in the account of Farmers-brother of a great council

held by the chiefs of most of the western nations at Niagara, in April, 1793.

In this council it was agreed that peace should be maintained ; and " they

unanimously agreed to meet the Americans in a grand council, to be holden
the June following, upon the south side of Lake Erie ; and for the purpose
of making the peace more permanent and extensive, they have appointed

Brant who is now their king of kings, to go and convene all those tribes who
live to the north-west of Lake Ontario. He accordingly, the day after,

set out for that purpose." The Indians did not asseuible until July, from the

difficulty of their journeys and other causes, which is generally the case with

meetings of this kind. The council was held at Sandusky, and Colonel

Bra7it set out from Niagara for that place in May. Before leaving, he had
frequent conversations with a gentleman of respectability, to whom he gave

it as his opinion, that no peace could take place, until the Ohio and Muskin-

gum should make the boundary between the Americana and the red men.

He still expressed good feelings towards the United States, and hoped tliat

they would see it to be their interest to agree to that boundary, as he firmly

believed war would ensue should they refuse. He even said, that, in case

they would not consent to make these rivers the boundary, he slioidd take

* Carey's Museum, vi. 178
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part against them. It was not agreed to ; but we do not hear that the old
chief was actually engaged in the hostilities that followed.
How much the English of Canada influenced the measures of tlie Lidians,

it is difficult to determine ; * but men like Pontiac, Brant and Tecumseh could
easily see tlu-ough such duplicity as was practised by a few unprincipled
speculators, as JWKee, Girty and Elliot. They had, doubtless, conceived that
if the Ohio and Muskingum were made the boundary, it would be an easy
matter for them to possess themselves of the country from thence to the
lakes, and thus enlai-ge the extent of Canada. They knew well that if the
Indians possessed this tract of country, it would be no difiicult matter to
pui-chase it from them by means of a few trifling articles, compai-atively of
no consideration, and that worst of calamities, ardent spirits ! In this they
were disappointed, and, with the battle of Presque Isle, resigned their hopes,
at least for a season. They urged upon the Indians what they must have
been well assm-ed of—their destruction

!

Much has been said and written of the cold-blooded atrocities of Brant,
but which, in our opinion, will be much lessened on being able to come
pretty near the truth of his history. Evei-y successful warrioi-, at least in his
day, is denounced by the vanquished as a barbarian. JVapokon was thus
branded by all the world—we ask no excuse for our chief on this score—all

wars are barbarous, and hence those who wage them are barbarians i This
wc know to be strong language ; but we are prepared to prove our assertion.
When mankind shall have been cultivated and improved to that extent which
human nature is capable of attaining,—when the causes of avarice and
dissension are driven out of the human mind, by taking away the means
which excite them,—then, and not till then, will wars and a multitude of
attending calamities cease.

As a sample of the stories circulating about Colonel Brant, while the af-

airs of Wyoming and Cherry-valley were fresh in the recollections of aU,
A'e extract from Welcfs Travels the following:—

f

" With a considerable body of his troops he joined the forces under the
command of Sir JoAn Jo/insion." "A skirmish took place with a body of
American troops ; the action was warm, and Brant was shot by a musket
jail in his heel ; but the Americans, in the end, were deleated, and an officer

with about 60 men were taken prisoners. The officer, after having delivered
up his sword, had entered into conversation with Colonel Johnston, who com-
manded the British troops, and they were talking together in the most friend-
ly manner, when Brant having stolen slily behind them, laid the American
officer liteless on the ground with a blow of his tomahawk. The indignation
of Sir John Johnston, as may be readily supposed, was roused by such an act
of treachery, and he resented it in the warmest terms. Brant listened to

nim unconcernedly, and when he had finished, told him, that he was sorryfor
his displeasure, but that, indeed, his heel was extremely painful at the moment, and
he could not help revenging himself on the only chief of the party that he saw takeii."

Upon this passage the author of the Annals of Tryon County J observes

:

" I have heard a story somewhat similar told of him, but it was said that
the officer was killed to prevent his being retaken by the Americans, who
were in pursuit." This we should pronounce very dis-similar to the story

* We will hear a ^reat writer and traveller upon this subject, whose means of forming a
correct judgmoit, it is presumed, will not be questioned. " Je remarquerai i cette occasion
ScUis m't'lemlre (iavantage sur ce sujol, que toute la politque de I'Angleterre avec les Indiens
est absolument dans les mains des agens. qui seuls en entendent la langue ; et qui seals sont
es distributeurs des presens; " &c. Voyage daiis les Etals-unis en 1795, etc. Par La
Rochefoucauld-Liancourt, ii. 78. The duke was at Newark, U. C, at this time, where he
witnessed a business assemblage of Indians. After a dance, which they held before their

audience with the governor of ('anada, the duke says that, " Pendant ces jeux, I'agent s'est

approche du general avec un des chefs, et lui a dit que sa nation de Tuscorora le consultait

f)our savoir si elle irait a un conseil tenu par. les Indiens Oneydas a Onondago pour vendre
eurs terres de reserve, que I'Etat de New Yorck dtsirait acheter. Le gouverneur a r^poiidu
Ir^s-vaguement a cette question ; I'agent a traduit comme il a voulu cette reponse; mais il a

repliqu? au gouverneur ae la part des Indiens qui comme ils croyaient etre plus agr^ables au
toy d'Angleterre on n'y allant pas ; ils n'iraient pas." Ibid. 77.

' Page 486, octavo ed. Lonaon, 1800. J In the Appendix, p. 16.
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told by 31r. Weld. But there was, no doubt, some ciicuinstance outof whinh
a story has grown, the truth of which, we apprehend, is now past fiiid

ing- out.

Colonel Brant was married, in the winter of 1779, to a daughter of Colonel
Cr.jghan by an Indian woman. He had lived with her some time ad libitum,

according to the Indian manner, but at this time being present at the wedding
of a Miss Moore, at Niagara, (one of the captives taken from Cherry-vaUey,]

insisted on being married himself; and thus liis consort's name was no
longer Miss Croghan, but Mrs. Brant. The ceremony was performed by his

companion-in-arms, Colonel John Butler, who, although lie had left his

country, yet carried so nuich of his magistrate's commission with him, as to

solemnize marriages according to law.

King George conferred on his famous ally a valuable tract of land situated

upon the west shore of Lake Ontario, where he finally settled and lived aftei

the English fashion. His wife, however, would never conform to this mode
of life, but woukl adhere to the custom of the Lidians, and on the death of
her husband, wliich happened 24 November, 1807, she repaired to Grand
River, there to spend her days in a wigwam, with some of her childi"en,

while she left behind othei's in a commodious dwelling.* A son, of whom
we have spoken, with a sister, lately occupied this mansion of their father,

and constituted an amiable and hospitable family. This son, whose name is

John, is a man of note, and is the same who was in England in 18'2"2, as has
been mentioned, and the same, we conclude, who has been returned a mem-
ber of the colonial assembly of Upper Canada. His place of residence was
in the county of Haldiman, in Brantford, so called, probably, in honor of the

old chieff Several other places ai-e mentioned as having been tl le residence

of Brant—Unadilla, or Auaquaqua, (which is about 36 miles south-west from
the present site of Cooperstown,) and Niagara. He resided at these places

before the Mohawks removed to Canada, which was soon aftei- the war of
the revolution was ended. They made their principal residence upon
Grand River, which falls into Lake Erie on the north side, about 60 miles

from the town of Newark, or Niagara. At one time, he had no less than 3U
or 40 negroes, who took care of his horses and lands. " These poor crea-

tmcs," says Mr. Weld, " are kept m the greatest subjection, and they dare not

attempt to make their escape, for he has assured them, that if they did so, he
would follow them himself, though it were to the confines of Georgia, and
would tomahawk them wherever he met them. They know Ids di.sposition

too well not to think that he would adhere strictly to his word." The same
author says that Brant received presents, which, together with his half-paj

as captain, amounted to £500 per annum.
An idea of the importance of this chief, in 1795, may be formed from the

circumstance, that a gentleman considered himself a loser to the amount of

£100, at least, by not being able to arrive at Niagara in season to attend to

some law case for him. Contrary winds had prevented his arrival, and the

bushiess had been given to another.|
" Whenever the affairs of his nation shall permit him to do so. Brant de-

clares it to be his intention to sit down to the further study of the Greek
language, of which he professes himself to be a great admirer, and to trans-

late from the original, into the Mohawk language, more of the New Testament;
yet this same man, shortly before we arrived at Niagara, killed his own son,

with his own hand. The son, it seems, was a drunken, good-for-nothing

fellow, who had often avowed his intention of destroying his father. One
evening, he absolutely entered the apartment of his father, and had begun to

grapple with him, perhaps with a view to put his unnatural threats in execu-

tion, when Brant drew a short sword, and felled him to the ground. He
spejiks of this affair with regret, but, at the same time, without any of that

emotion which another person than an Indian might be supposed to feel. He

* Buchanan's Sketches, i. 36.

t Mr. Campbell's Annals of Tryon County has been one of our main sources of infrnnatioa

throughout this account, especially of the revolutionary period.

t Weld, Travels. 487.
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consoles himself foi" the act, by thinking that he has benefited the nation, by
ridding it of a rascal." *

With regard to the dress of the sachem, there has been some contradiction.

Mr. fVeld, though he did not see him, says he wore his hau* in the Indian
fashion, as he also did his clothes ; except that, instead of the blanket, he wore
a kind of hunting frock. This was in 1796. But it was reported, that, in

1792, Brant having waited on Lord Dorchester, the governor of Canada, upon
some business, his lordship told him, that as he was an officer in the British

service, he ought to lay aside the Indian dress, and assume that of an English
captain ; and that, if he persisted in wearing an Indian dress, he should stop

his pay. It is added that thereupon he changed his di'ess.f

A\ hen Colonel Brant arrived at any principal city, his arrival was publicly
announced in the gazettes with great minuteness. Although we have given
some specimens of these, we will add one more :

—

"New York, June 20, 1792. On Monday last arrived in this city, from
his settlement on Grand River, on a visit to some of his friends ui this quar-
ter, Captain Joseph Brandt, of the British army, the famous Mohawk chief,

who so eminently distinguished himself during the late war, as the military

leader of the Six Nations. We are informed that he intends to visit the city

of Philadelphia, and pay his i-espects to the president of the U. States," i

General Jfashinglon, which he did. We have before mentioned his visit to

that city.

The very respectable traveller § Rochefoucauld thus notices our chief: "At
24 miles from this place, (Newark, U. C.) upon Grand River, is an establish-

ment which I had been cm'ious to visit. It is that of Colonel Brant. But
the colonel not being at home, and being assured that I should see little else

than what I had already seen among those people, I gave over my intention.

Colonel Brant is an Lidian who took part with the English, and having been
in England, was commissioned by the king, and politely treated by every one.

His manners are half European. He is accompanied by two negro servants,

and is in appearance like an Englishman. He has a gai'den and farm under
cultivation ; dresses almost entu-ely like an European, and has great influence

over the Indians. He is at present [1795] at Miami, holding a treaty with
the United States, in company with the Indians of the west. He is equally

respected by the Americans, who extol so much his character, that I regret

much not to have seen him."
||

The great respect in whidi Brant was held ia England will be very appar-
ent from a perusal of the following letter,H dated 12 December, 1785 :

" Mon-
day last. Colonel Joseph Brant, the celebrated king of the Mohawks, arrived

in this city, [Salisbury,] from America, and after dining with Colonel de Peis-

ter, at the head-quarters here, proceeded immediately on his journey to

London. This ..xtriiordinary personage is said to have presided at the late

grand congress of confederate chiel's of the Indian nation in America, and to

be by them appointed to the conduct and chief command in the war which
they now meditate against the United States of America. He took his de-
parture for England immediately as that assembly broke up ; and it is cou-

* Weld, Travels. 489. t Apollo for 1792. | American Apollo, 297.

6 Duke de Liancourt. Travels, ii. 81, before cited, from whom we translate this.

II
This French iraveller seems to have been m advance of history, m as far as he thus early

sets in their proper light the characters o( the heroes of Wyommg. After speakuig of the

influence of Indian agents over those people, as we have extracted m a previous note, he thus

consigns to Colonel Buller the place wliicn he is doubtless to hold m all after-time in the

annals of his country:—" L'agent anglais dfmt il est ici queston, est le Colonel Butl/er, fanieux

par ses incendies, ses pillages ct ses meurtres dans la guerre d'Amorique. II est lui-nieme

Am6ricain d'aupr^s de Wilkesbarre
;
[one of the towns in the valley of Wyoming ;J son pr6-

tendu loyalisme qu'il a su se (aire payer de brevets et de traitemens, lui a fait commettre plus

de barbaries, plus d'lnfamies coiitre sa patrie, qu'k qui que ce soil. 11 conduisait les Indians,

Icur indiqiiait les fermes, les niaisons a bruler, les victimes k scarpeler, les enfans a (lecturer.

L'Aiiglctcrre a recompense son loyalisme de cinq mille acres de terre pour lui, d'une quantity

pareille pour ses enfans, d'une pension de deux a trois cents livres sterlings, d'une place

d'agent aupr^s des Indieiis, qui lui en vaut cinq cents autrcs, avcc la facility de puiser a vo-

lont^ dans les magasins de presens." Rochefoiicaiild, ut supra, (ii. 78—^9.)

H There is no name to this letter ; but it was written in Salisbury, Eng., and thence 8* i' <

London, where it was piiblisiict!.
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jectured that his embassy to the British court is of great importance. This
country owes much to the services of Colonel Brant during the late war in
America. lie was educated at Philadelphia, [at the Moor's charity school
in Lebanon, Connecticut,] is a very shrewd, intelligent person, possesses great
courage and abilities as a warrior, and is inviolably attached to the English
nation."

It has been denied that Brant was in any way engaged in the massacres
at Wyoming, but it seems hardly possible that so many should liave been
deceived at that time ; and, moreover, we do not find that it was denied until

almost every one of tliat age had left the stage of action. Those who deny
that he was at Wyoming should, at least, prove an alibi, or they cannot ex-
pect to be believed.*

Brayit was said to have been 65 years old at his death. A daughter of his mar-
ried William J. Ker, Es(]. of Niagai'a, and he hud several otlier children besides
those Ave have mentioned. The son who visited England in 1822, and
another named Jacob, entered Mnor''s school at Hanover, N. H. in 1801, under
the cai'e of Dr. Whtelock. The former son, John, died about two years since,

in the winter of 1831.

CHAPTER VI.

Facts In the history oj the Seneca nation—Sagoyewatha, or Red-jacket—His fa-
mous speech to a missionary—His intrrcieto with Colonel Snelling—British invade
his country—Resolves to repel them—His speech upon the event—Governor Clinton's
account of him— IVitchcr/ift affair— Complains of encroachments—One of his people
put to death for being a witch—He defends the executioner—His interview xoitk

Lafayette— Council at Canandaigua—Farmers-brother—Red-jacket visits Philr
delphia—His sj^eech to ike gonernor of Pennsylvania—Speech of Jlgwelondongtoi
or Good-peter—Narraiive of his capture during the revolutionary war—Farmei
BROTHER, or HoSTATAWUS

—

Visits Philadelphia—PETER-JAquETTE

—

Visits Fran—.Account of his death—Mem liable speech of Farmers-brother—His letter to the st

retary of loar—Notice if sever d other Seneca chiefs—Koying^uatah, or YouN
KING—JusKA KAK A, wr Little-billy—Achiout, or Half-town—Kiandogewa,;
Big-tree—Gyentwaia, or Corn-plant—iddress of the three latter to Preside
Washington— Grant of land to Big-tree—His visit to Philadelphia, and death-

Further account of Corn-plant—His oion account of himself—Interesting events ti,

his life—His sons.

The Senecas were the most important tribe among the Iroquois, or Five
Nations, and, according to Conrad fVeiser, they were the fourth nation that

joined tiiat confederacy. He calls them f
" leuontowanois or Sinikers," and

says, " they are styled by the Mohawks and Onondagos, brothers ;
" and that

their title in councils is Onughkaurydaaug. The French call them Tsonnon-
thouans, from their principal castle, or council-house, the name of which,
according to Colden, is Sinondowans. J Other particulars of this nation will

be related as we proceed in detailing the lives of its chiefs. Among these,

perhaps, the most ilhistrious was
SAGOYEWATHA, § called by the whites, Red-jacket. His place of resi-

* In a late criminal tried which has much agitated New Eng-lcuid, reasonable people said,

the defendant, out of respect to public opinion, ought to make it appear where he was at the

lime a murder was committed, ahhough in law he vvcis not bound so to do. An advocate for

his innocence told the writer, that "' he was not obliged to tell where he was," and it was
nobody's business ; and, therefore, we were bound, according- to law, to believe him innocent.

This we offer as a parallel case to the one in hand. But it happens we are not " bound by
law" to believe our chief entirely innocent of the blood shed at Wyoming.

t American Mag. t Hist. Five Nations, i. 42.

§ The common mefhod of spelling Governor Clinton writes, Saguoaha. Written to

the treaty of " Konondaigua," (Nov. 1794,) Soggooyawauthau ; to that of Buffalo Cre~^
(June, 1802,j Soogooyawaactau ; to that of Moscow, (Sept. 1823.) Sagouata. It is n,

to signify " One who keeps awake," or sunply. Keeper-awake. '• So-gwi'-e'-wau"-ldh ;

is wide aweike, and keeps every body else awake, a very appropriate name for the CiCt

50 * 2N
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dence was, for many yeai-s previous to his death, (which happened 20 January

1830, at his own house,) about foui- miles from Buffalo, and one mile north

of the road that leads tlirough the land reserved for the remnant of the Seneca

nation, called the Reservation. His house was a log-cabin, situated in a retired

place. Some of his tribe are Christians, but RRci-jacket would never hear

to any thing of the kind. He was formerly considered of superior wisdom in

council, and of a noble and dignified behavior, which would have honored

any man. But, like neai-ly cdl his race, he could not withstand the temptation

of ardent spirits, which, together with his age, rendered bun latterly less

worthy notice. Formerly, scarce a traveller passed near his place of resi-

dence, who would not go out of his way to see this wonderful man, and to

heal* bis profound observations.

In the year 1805, a council was held at Buffalo, in the state of New York,

lit which were present many of the Seneca chiefs and warriors, assembled at

the request of a missionaiy, Mr. Cram, from Massachusetts. It was at this

lime that Red-jacket delivered bis famous speech, about which so much has

been said and written, and which we propose to give here at length, and cor-

rectly ; as some omissions and errors wei-e contained in it as publislied at the

time. It may be taken as genuine, at least as nearly so as the Indian lan-

guage can be translated, in which it was delivei-ed, for Red-jacket \\ ould not

speak in English, although he understood it. The missionaiy first made a

speech to the Indians, in which he explained the object for which he had called

them together ; namely, to inform them that he was sent by llie missionai7

society of Boston to instruct them " how to worship the Great Spirit,^^ and

not to get away then- lands and money ; that there was but one religion, and
tmless they embraced it they could not be happy ; that they had lived in

darkness and great errors all their lives ; he wished that, if they had any

objections to his religion, they would state them ; that he had visited some
smaller tribes, who waited their decision before they would consent to

receive him, as they were their " older brothers."

After the missionaiy had done speaking, the Indians conferred together

about two hours, by themselves, when they gave £in answer by Red-jacket,

which follows :

—

''Friend and brother, it was the will of the Great Spu'it that we should meet

together this day. He orders all things, and he has given us a fine day for

our council. He has taken his garment from before the sun, and caused it

to shine with brightness upon us ; oui- eyes are opened, that we see clearly
;

our ears are unstojjped, that we have been able to hear distinctly the words

that you have spoken ; for all these favors we thank the Great Spirit, and

him only.
" Brother, this council fire was kindled by you ; it was at your request that

we came together at this time ; we have listened with attention to what you

have said
;
you requested us to speak om- minds freely ; this gives us great

joy, for we now consider that we stand upright before you, and can speak

what we think ; all have heard your voice, and all speak to yon as one man

;

our minds are agreed.
" Brother, you say you want an answer to your talk before you leave this

place. It is right you should have one, as you are a great distance from

home, and we do not wish to detain you ; but we will first look back a little,

and tell you what our fathers have told us, and what we have heard from the

white people.
" Brother, listen to ichat we say. There was a time when our forefathers

owned tliis great island.* Tbeir seats extended from the rising to the set-

ting sun. Tiie Great S})irithad made it for the use of Indians. He had cre-

ated the buftalo, the deer, and other animals for food. He made the bear

and the beaver, and their skins served us for clothing. He had scattered

of the west. His En<jlish appellation had its origin from the circumstance of his wearing,

when a child, a red juc/cet.'' Alden's Accouni oj Missions, 162.—This is a very natural

derivation ; but from what circumstance some of the Indians derived their names, it would be

hard to divine : thus, Red-jacket had an uncle whose name meant a heap of dogs, ib. 1S4.

* A general opinion among all the Indians that this country was an island.
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them over the country, and taught us how to take them. He had caused
the earth to produce corn for bread. All this he had done for his red chil-

dren because he loved them. Ifwe had any disputes about hunting grounds,
they were generally settled without the shedding of much blood : but an evil

day came upon us
;
your forefathers crossed the great waters, and landed on

this island. Their numbers were small ; they found fi-iends, and not enemies;
they told us they had fled fi-om their own country for feai- of wicked men,
and come here to enjoy their religion. They asked for a small seat; we took
pity on them, granted their request, and they sat down amongst us; we gave
them corn and meat ; they gave us poison * in return. The white people had
now found our country, tidings were carried back, and more came amongst
us

;
yet we did not fear them, we took them to be friends ; they called us

brothers ; we believed them, and gave them a larger seat. At length their

numbers had greatly increased ; they wanted more land ; they wanted our
country. Our eyes were opened, and our minds became uneasy. Wars took
place ; Indians were hired to fight against Indians, and many of our people
were destroyed. They also brought strong liquors among us : it was strong

and powerful, and has slain thousands.
" Brother, our seats were once large, and yom*s were very small

;
you have

now become a great people, and we have scarcely a place left to spread
our blankets ; you have got om- country, but are not satisfied

;
you ivant to

force your religion upon us.

" Brother, continue to listen. You say that you are sent to instruct us how
to worship the Great Spirit agreeably to his mind, and if we do not take hold
of the religion which you white people teach, we shall be unhappy here-

after; you say that you are right, and we are lost ; how do we know this to

be true ? We miderstand that your religion is ^vritten in a book ; if it was
mtended for us as well as you, why has not the Great Spirit given it to us,

and not only to lis, but why did he not give to our forefathers the knowledge
of that book, with the means of understanding it rightly ? We only know
what you tell us about it ; how shall we know when to believe, being so

often deceived by the white people .'

" Brother, you say there is but one way to worship and serve the Great
Spirit ; if there is but one religion, why do you white people differ so much
about it ? why not all agree, as you can all read the book ?

" Brother, we do not understand these things ; we ai-e told that your
religion was given to your forefathers, and has been handed down from
father to son. We also have a religion which was given to our forefathers,

and has been handed down to us their children. We worship that way. If

teacheth us to be thankful for all thefavors tve receive; to love each other, and to

be united ; we never quarrel about religion.

" Brother, the Great Spirit has made us all ; but he has made a great differ-

ence between his white and red children ; he has given us a different com-
plexion, and different customs ; to you he has given the arts ; to these he
has not opened our eyes ; we know these things to be true. Since he has

made so great a difference between us in other things, why may we not con-

clude that he has given us a different religion according to our understand-
ing ; the Great Spirit does right ; he knows what is best for his children

;

we are satisfied.

" Brother, we do not \vish to destroy youi* religion, or take it from you ; we
only want to enjoy our own.

" Brother, you say you have not come to get our land or our money, but to

enlighten our minds. I will now tell you that I have been at your nif etings,

and saw you collecting money from the meeting. I cannot tell what this

money was intended for, but suppose it was for your minister, and if

we should conform to your way of thinking, perhaps you may want some
from us.

" Brother, we are told that you have been preaching to white peojde in this

place ; these people are our neighbors, we are acquainted with them ; we
svill wait a little while and see what effect your preaching has upon them.

* Spirituous liquor is alluded to, it is supposed.
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If we find it does them good, makes them honest, and less disposed to cheal

Indians, we will then consider again what you have said.

" Brother, you have now heard our answer to yom* talk, and this is all we
have to say at present. As we are going to part, Ave will come and take you
by the hand, and hope the Great Spirit will protect you on your jom-ney, and
return you safe to joui- friends."

The "chiefs and others then drew neai- the missionary to take him by the

hand ; but he would not receive them, and hastily rising from his seat, said,

" that there was no fellowship between the religion of God and the works
of the Devil, and, therefore, coiUd not join hands with them." Upon this

being interpreted to them, " they smiled, and retired in a peaceable manner."
The Indians cannot well conceive how they have any participation in the

guilt of the crucifixion ; inasmuch as they do not believe themselves of the

same origin as the whites ; and there being no dispute but that they com-
mitted that act. Red-jacket once said to a clergyman who was importuning
him on this subject,

" Brother, if you white men murdered the Son of the Great Spirit, we Indians

had nothing to do unth it, and it is none of our affair. If he had come among us,

we woidd not have killed him ; we icould have treated him well. You must make
amends for that crime yourselves." *

Red-jacket took part with the Americans in the wai* of 1812, but was not

distinguished for that prodigality of life which marked the character of
Tecumseh, and many others, but, on all occasions, was cool and collected-

He had become attached to Colonel Snellin^ during the wai", and when he
heard that that officer was ordered to a distant station, he went to take his

farewell of him. At that interview he said,

" Brother, I hear you are going to a place called Governor's Island. / hope

you will he a governor yourself. I understand thai you white people think children

a blessing. I hope you may have a thousand. And, above all, I hope, wherever

you go, you may neverfind whisky more than two shillings a quart."j

Grand Island, in Niagara River, just above the famous Niagara Falls, is

owned by the Seiiecas. When it was rumored that the British had taken

possession of it, in their last war with tlie Americans, Red-jacket assem-

bled his people, to consult with Mr. Granger, their agent. After having

stated to him the information, the old chief made the following profound

speech :

—

'^Brother, you have told us thai we had nothing to do with the icar that has

taken place between you and the British. But ive find the war has com£ to our

doors. Our property is taken possession of by the British and their Indian

friends. R IS necessary nowfor lis to take up the business, defend our property,

and drive the enemyfrom it. If we sit still upon our seats, and take no means

of redress, the British (according to the aistoms of you lohite people^ will hold

it by conquest. And should you conquer the Canadas, you unll claim it upon
the same principles, as [though] conquered from the British. We, therefore, re-

quest permission to go with our warriors, and drive off those bad people, and take

possession of our lands." Whereupon, such of the Senecas as had an in-

clination, were permitted to join the American army.
In one action Red-jacket acted a conspicuous part, and is most honorably

mentioned by the commanding general. The action took place near Fort

George, on the 17 August, 1813, between about 300 volunteers and Indians,

supported by 200 regulars. These surprised the British and Lidian camp at

day-light, killed 75 and took 16 prisoners. The success of the expedition

was almost entirely owing to a stratagem of the Indians, who, when they

had formed their i)lan of attack, decoyed their brethren, on the British side,

into an ambush, by giving a war-whoop which they mistook for that of

their friends. General Boyd, who commanded here, says, "The principal

chiefs who led the wairiors this day, were Farmer's Brother, Red-jacket.

* " This occurred in a conversation between Red-jacket and the Reverend Mr. Bracken,

ridge , Tommy-Jemmy, Jack-Berry and in^'self were present. I heard the remark, and wiH

vouch for it." W. J. Snellins.

t N. E. Galaxy, 13 July, 1833.
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Little Billy, Pollard, Black Sxake, Johnson, Silverheels, Captain
Half-town, Major Henry O. Ball, (Corn-planter's son,) and Captain Cold,
chief of Onondago, who was wounded. In a council which was held with
them yesterday, they covenanted not to scalp or murder ; and I am happy to
say, that they treated the prisoners with humanity, and committed no wanton
cruelties upon the dead." " Then- bravery and humanity were equally con-
spicuous. Already the quietness in which om* pickets are suffered to remain,
e^nnces the benefit arising from theii' assistance."*

Governor De Witt Clinton, in his most valuable discourse before the His-
torical Society of New York, thus notices Red-jacket

:

—" Within a few years,

an extraordinary orator has risen among the Senecas ; his real name is

Saguoaha. Without the advantages of illustrious descent, and with no
extraordinary talents for war, he has attained the first distinctions in the
nation by tlie force of his eloquence." Red-jacket having, by some means,
lost the confidence of his countrj'men, in order, as it is reported, to retrieve

it, prevailed upon his brother to annomice himself a prophet, commissioned
by the Great Sph'it to redeem them from their miserable condition.

—

It required nothing but an adroit and skilful reasoner to persuade the igno-
rant multitude, given to the grossest superstition, of his infallibility in the
pretended art or mystery. If good ever came out of evil, it did at this time.

The Onondagas were, at that period, the most drunken and profligate of all

the L-oquois. They were now so far prevailed upon as almost entirely to

abstain from ardent spirits, became sober and industrious, and observed and
respected the laws of morality. This good effect was not confined to the
Onondagas, but shed its benign influence tluough the nations adjacent. But
as this reform was begun in hypocrisy, it necessarily ended with its hypo-
critical author. The greatest check, perhaps, which can be thrown in the

way of imposture, is its own exposition. In this case, like witchcraft among
us in former times, it was stayed by its o^vn operations. Many were de-

nounced as witches, and some would have been executed but for the inter-

ference of their white neighbors. Red-jacket was denounced m a great

council of Indians, held at Buffalo Creek, as the chief author of their

troubles. He was accorduigly brought to trial, and his eloquence saved his

life, and greatly increased his reputation. His defence was near three hours
long. And, in the language of Governor Clinton, " the iron brow of super-
stition relented under the magic of his eloquence : he declared the prophet
[his brother] an impostor and a cheat ; he prevailed ; the Indians divided,

and a small majority appeared in his favor. Perhaps the annals of history

cannot furnish a more conspicuous instance of the triumph and power of
oratory, in a barbarous nation, devoted to sni^erstition, and looking up to the

accuser as a delegated minister of the Almighty. I am well aware that the

speech of Logan will be triumphantly quoted against me, and that it will

be said, that the most splendid exiiibition of Indian eloquence may be found
out of the pale of the Six Nations. I fully subscribe to the eulogium of Mr,
Jefferson, when he says, ' I may challenge the whole orations of Demosthenes
and Cicero, and of any more eminent orator, if Europe has furnished more
eminent, to produce a single passage superior to the speech of Logan.'' But
let it be remembered that Logan was a Mingo chief," that is, an Iroquois.

The time is not far distant, if not already an-ived, when the name of Red-
jacket will be heard, in the most august assemblies, to give weight to the

mightiest efforts of eloquence. In the debate on the Indian bill, in 1830, in

congress, Mr. Crockett,^ of Temiessee, said, " I am forcibly reminded of the

remark made by the famous Red-jacket, in the rotunda of this building,

when he was sho%vn the panel which represented in sculpture the first

landing of the Pilgrims, with an Indian i-h'ief presenting to them an ear of
com, in token of friendly welcome. The aged Indian said, ' That tvas

* Niles' Register, iv. 418, and v. l.-r-Brannan's Official Letters, 200.

—

Sliallus's Tables, ii.

120.

t The pitiful crusade in which this brave man lost his life, will as long be remembered for

ts unjustifiable oriffin, as the many valuable but misguided men who have been sacrificed in

ji. Having joined the army of Texas, Colonel Crockett was there murdered with the rest

of a garrison which fell into the bands of the Mexicans ; this present yeau", 1836.
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g-oorf.' He said he knew they came from the Great Sph-it, and he Was will-

ing to share the soil with his brothers. But when he turned round to view

another panel, representing Penn's treaty, he said, ^Ah! airs gone now.^

There was a great deal of truth in this short saymg."

Nothing seems more to have troubled the peace of Red-jacket than the

mtrusion of missionaries among his people. With the merits or demerits

of the manner in which particular creeds have been forced upon the In-

dians in general, we have nothing to do, but we will refer the reader to Mr.

Buchanan's Sketches,* where, in our opinion, every sectarian \vill glean some
useful hints upon that head.

Red-jacket and his council, in 1821, made a formal complaint to the gov

ernor of New York, of the arbitrary conduct of some teachers among his

people, and of their undue influence generally. Considering it to contain a

most important and valuable piece of information, we will give it entire :

—

" Brother Parish, I addi-ess myself to you, and through you to the govern-

or. The chiefs of Onondaga have accompanied you to Albany, to do busi-

ness with the governor ; I also was to liave been with you, but I am sorry

to say that bad health has put it out of my power. For this you must not

think hard of me. I am not to blame for it. It is the will of the Great

Spirit that it should be so. The object of the Onondagas is to purchase om-

lauds at Tonnevvanta. This and all other business that they may have to do

at Albany, must be transacted in the presence of the governor. He will

see that the bargain is fairly made, so that all parties may have reason to be

satisfied with what shall be done ; and when our sanction shall be wanted

to the transaction, it will be freely given. I much regret that, at this time,

the state of my health should have prevented me from accompanying you to

Albany, as it was the wish of the nation that I should state to the governor

some circumstances which show that the chain of friendship between us

and the white people is wearing out, and wants brightenmg. 1 proceed

now, however, to lay them before you by letter, that you may mention them
to the governor, and solicit redress. He is appointed to do justice to all,

and the Indians fully confide that he will not suffer them to be wronged
with impunity. The first subject to which we would call the attention of

the governoi-, is the depredations that are daily committed by the white

people upon the most valuable timber on our reservations. This has been a

subject of complaint with us for many years ; but now, and particularly at

this season of the year, it has become an alarming evil, and calls for the

immediate interposition of the governor in our behalf. Our next subject

of complaint is, the frequent thefts of our horses and cattle by the white

people, and their habit of taking and using them whenever they please, and

without our leave. These are evils which seem to increase upon us

with the increase of our white neighbors, and they call loudly for redress.

Another evil arising from the pressure of the whites upon us, and our

unavoidable communication with them, is the frequency with which our

chiefs, and warriors, and Lidians, are thrown into jail, and that, too, for

the most triflmg causes. This is very galling to our feelings, and ought not

to be permitted to the extent to which, to gratify their bad passions, our

white neighbors now carry this practice. In our hmiting and fishing, too,

we are greatly inten-upted by the whites. Our venison is stolen from the

trees whore we have hung it to be reclauned after the chase. Our hunting

camps have been fired into, and we have been warned that we shall no

longer be permitted to pursue the deer in those forests which were so lately

all our own. The fish, which, in the BuflJalo and Tonnewanta Creeks, used

to supply us with food, are now, by the dams and other obstructions of the

white people, prevented from multiplying, and we are almost entirely de-

prived of that accustomed sustenance. Our great father, the president, has

recommended to our young men to he industrious, to plough, and to sow.

This we have done, and we are thankful for the advice, and for the means
he has afforded us of carrying it into t;ffect. We are happier m conse-

quence of it. But another thing recommended to xis, has created grecU confusion

* Vol. i. chap. ix.
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amons us, and is making us a quarrelsome and divided people ; and that is, the

introduction of preachers into our nation. These black coats contrive to get
the consent of some of the Lidians to preach among us, and wherever this

is the case, confusion and disorder are sure to follow^, and the encroach-
ments of the whites upon our lands are the invariable consequence. The
governor must not think hai'd of me for speaking thus of the preachers. I

ha\ e observed their progress, and when I look buck to see what has taken
place of old, I perceive that whenever they came among the Lidians, they
were the forerunners of their dispersion ; that they always excited enmities
;md quarrels among them ; that they introduced the white people on then*

lands, by whom they were robbed and plundered of their property ; and
that the Lidians were sure to dwindle and decrease, and be di'iven back in

proportion to the number of preachers that came among them. Each nation

has its own customs and its own religion. The Lidians have theirs, given to

them by the Great Spirit, under which they were happy. L was not in-

tended that they should emljrace the religion of the whites, and be destroyed
Ijy the attempt to make them think differently on that subject from their

fathers.* It is true, these preachers have got the consent of some of the

chiefs to stay and preach among us, but I and my friends know this to be
wi'ong, and tliat they ought to be removed ; besides, we have been threatened
bj" Mr. Hyde, who came among us as a school-master and a teacher of our
cliildi-en, but has now become a black coat, and refused to teach them any
more, that unless we listen to his preachmg and become Christians, we will

be turned off om- lands. We wish to know from the governor if this is to

be so ; and if he has no right to say so, we think he ought to be turned off

om- lands, and not allowed to plague us any more. We shall never be at

peace while he is among us. Let them be removed, and we will be happy
and contented among ourselves. We now cry to the governor for help, and
hope that he will attend to om- complaints, and speedily give us redress.

Red-jacket."
" This letter was dictated by Red-jacket, and interpreted by Henry Obeal,]

in the presence of the following Indians : JRed-jackefs son, Com-plnnter, Johi}^

cobb, Peter, Young-kings-brother, Tom-the-infant, [Onnonggaiheko,] Blue-sky,

[Toivyocauna,] John-sky, Jemmy-johnson, Marcus, Big-Jire, Captain-Jemmy."
The success this petition met with, it is presumed, was full and satisfactory

to him, in respect to one particular ; for no ministers, for some time afterwards,
were admitted upon the reservation.

In the spring of 1821, a man of Red-jackeVs tribe fell into a languishment and
died. His complaint was unknown, and some circumstances attended his

illness which caused his friends to believe that he was bewitched. The wo-
man that attended him was fixed upon as the witch, and by the law, or
custom, of the nation, she was doomed to suffer death. A chief by the name
of Tom-jemmy, called by his own people Soo-nong-gise, executed the decree
by cutting her throat. The Americans took up the matter, seized Tom-jemmy,
and threw him into prison.| Some time after, when his trial came on. Red-
jacket appeared in court as an evidence. The counsel for the prisoner denied
that the court had any jurisdiction over the case, and after it was carried

through three terms, Soo-nong-gise was finally cleared. Red-jacket and the

o'dier witnesses testified that the woman was a witch, and that she had been
tried, condemned and executed in pursuance of their laws, which had been
established from time immemorial ; long before the English came mto
the country. The witch docti'ine of the Senecas was much ridiculed by
some of the Americans, to which Red-jacket thus aptly alludes in a speech
^vllich he made Avhile upon the stand :

—

" Wliat ! do you denounce us as fools and bigots, because we still continue to

believe that which you yourselves sedulously inculcated two centuries ago ? Your
divines have thundered this doctrine from the pulpit, yourjudges have pronounced

* A happy illustration of the force of education, t Son of Corn-planter, or Corn-plant.

X Information of a gentleman ( W. J. SneUing, Esq.) who was on the spot, and saw him
brought to Buffalo. This was the next day after the murder, and the blood was yet upoB
his liands.
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itfrom the bench, your courts of justice have sanctioned it with the formalities of
laiv, and you would now punish our unfortunate brother for adherence to them/-
perstitions ofhisfathers .' Go to Salem ! Look at the records ofyour government,
and you ivill find hundreds executed for the very crime which has called forth the

sentence of condemnation upon this woman, and drawn down the arm of vengeance
upon her. What have our brothers done more than the rulers of your people have
done ? and what cnme has this man committed by executing, in a summary ivay,

the laws of his country, and the injunctions of his God^" Before Red-jacket
was admitted to give evidence in the case, he was asked if he believed in

future rewards and jiunishments, and the existence of God. With a piercing
look mto the face of his interrogator, and with no little indignation of expres-
sion, he replied : " Yes ! inuch more than the white men, if we are to judge by
their actions." Upon the appeai'ance of Red-jacket upon this occasion, one
•observes :

" There is not, perhaps, in natui-e, a more expressive eye thaia that
of Red-jacket ; when fired by indignation or revenge, it is teirible ; and when
le chooses to display his unrivalled talent for irony, his keen sai'castic glance
£ irresistible." *

When Lafayette., in 1825, was at Buffalo, among the persons of distinction
vho called upon him, was Red-jacket. Of the old chief, M. Levasseur ob-
erves : f This extraordmary man, although much worn down by time and
intemperance, presei-ves yet, in a surprising degree, the exercise of all his
faculties. He had ever remembered Lafayette since 1784, at which time he,
with others, met a great council of all the Indian nations at Fort Schuyler,
when the interest of all those nations, friends and enemies, was regulated
Avith the United States. He asked the general if he recollected that meeting.
He replied that he had not forgotten that great event, and asked Red-jacket if

he knew what had become of the young chief, who, in that council, opposed
with such eloquence the " bui7ing of the tomahawk." Red-Jacket replied,
"JZe is before you." His speech was a master-piece, and evei-y warrior who
heard him was carried away with his eloquence. He urged a contmuation ofthe
war against the Americans, having joined against them in the revolution.
The general observed to him that time had much changed them since that
meeting. "Ah !

" said Red-jacket, " time has not been so severe upon you as
it has upon me. It has left to you a fresh countenance, and hair to cover
yom- head ; while to me behold ! " and taking a handkerchief Irom
his head, with an air of much feeling, showed his head, which was almost
entirely bald.J

At this interview, was fully confirmed what we have before stated. Le-
vasseur continues : Red-jacket obstinately refuses to speak any language but
that of his own country, and affects a great dislike to all others ; although
it is easy to discern tliat he perfectly understands the English ; and refused,
nevertheless, to reply to the general before his interpreter had translated his
questions into the Seneca language. The general spoke a few words in

Indian, which he had learned in his youth, at which Red-Jacket was highly
pleased, and which augmented much his high opinion of Lafayette.
The author of the Ibllowing passage is unknown to us ; but presuming it

to be authentic, we quote it. " More than 30 years § have rolled away since
a treaty was held on the beautiful acclivity that overlooks the Canaudaigua

||

* Niles's Weekly Register, vol. xx. 369, 411.

t In his Lafayette en Anienque, tome ii. 437-8.

j " Les assistants ne purent s'emp^cher de sounre de la simplicity de Vljidien, qui semblait
ignorer L'art de riparer les injures du temps ; mais on se garda hien de ditndre son erreur ;

»t peut-^tre fit-on bien, car il e&t pu confondre une pernique avec une cherelure scalpee. et

concevoir I idee de regarnir sa tete aux d'^pens de la tite d'ttne de ses voiso7is." find.

•^This attempt at facetiousness by Mens. Levasseur is entirely a failure, and in very bad
taste. Had it had reference to an obscure person, it would have been different. For a parcel

of white ignoramuses to make themselves merry at the simple but dignified appearance of the

old chief, only shows them off in their true light ; and the assertion that he covered his own
Dead at the expense of that of his neighbor, too nearly classes the writer with his companions.

§ This writer, I conclude, wrote in 1822. I copy it from Miscellanie.^ selected from tlu

Public JnurncUs, by Mr. Bnckingliam.

II
Signifying, in the Seneca language, a town set off. The lake received its name from

llie town upon its shore.—Spaffoi-d's Gaz.
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Lake, riie witnesses of the scene will never forget the powers of native
oratory. Two days had passed away in negotiation wdth tiie Indians for a
cession of their lands. The contract was supposed to be nearly completed,
when Red-jacket arose. With the grace and dignity of a Roman senator, he
drew his blanket around him, and, with a piercing eye, sui-veyed the multi-
tude. All was hushed. Nothing interposed to break the silence, save the

gentle rustling of the tree tops, under whose shade they were gathered. After
a long and solemn, but not unmeaning pause, he commenced his sj)eech in a
low voice and sententious style. Rising gradually with the subject, he de-
picted the primitive simplicity and happiness of his nation, and the ^vrongs
they had sustained from tlie usurpations of white men, with such a bold but
faithful pencil, that every auditor was soon roused to vengeance, or melted
into tears. The effect was inexpressible. But ere the emotions of admira-
tion and sympathy had subsided, the white men became alarmed. They weie
in the heart of an Indian countiy—surrounded by more than ten times their

nimiber, who were inflamed by the remembrance of their injuries, and ex-
cited to indignation by the eloquence of a favorite chief. Appalled and
terrified, the white men cast a cheerless gaze upon the hordes around them.
A nod from the chiefs might be the onset of destruction. At this portentous
moment. Farmers-brother interposed. He replied not to his brother chief,

but, with a sagacity truly aboriginal, he caused a cessation of the council, in-

troduced good cheer, commended the eloquence of Red-jacket, and, before
the meeting had reassembled, with the aid of other prudent chiefs, he had
moderated the fury of his nation to a more salutary review of the question
l)efore them. Suffice it to say, the treaty was concluded, and the Western
District, at this day, owes no small portion of its power and influence to the

counsels of a savage, in compaiison with whom for genius, heroism, virtue,

or any other quality that can adorn the bawble ofa diadem, not only George tlie

IV. and Louis le Desiri, but the German emperor and the czar of3Iuscovy, alike

dwindle into insignificance." We can add nothing to this high encomium.
Red-jacket was of the number who visited Philadelphia in 1792, as %vill be

found mentioned in the accoimt of Jaquette ; at which time he was welcomed
by the governor of Pennsylvania to that city, and addressed by him, in behalf
of the commonwealth, in the council-chamber. The following is the closing

paragraph of the governor's speech: "Brothei's! I know the kindness with
which you treat the strangers that visit your country ; and it is my sincere

wsh, that, when you return to yom- families, you may be able to assure them
that the virtues of friendship and hospitality are also practised by the citi-

zens of Pennsylvania." He had before observed that the government had
fm-nished every thing to make them comfortable during their stay at Phila-

delphia. This was upon the 28 March, 1792, and on 2 April following,

they met again, when Red-jacket spoke in answer to the governor as fol-

lows :

—

"Brother, Onas* Governor, open unprejudiced ears to what we have to

say. Some days since you addi-essed us, and what you said gave us great

pleasure. This day the Great Spirit has allowed iis to meet you again, in

this coimcil-chamber. We hope that yotu" not receiving an inunediate an-
swer to yoiu* address, will make no improper impression upon your mind.
We mention this lest you should suspect that your kind welcome and friendly

address has not had a proper effect upon our hearts. We assure you it is far

otherwise. In your address to us the other day, in this ancient council-cham-
ber, where our forefathers have often conversed together, several things

struck oui- attention very forcibly. When you told us this was the place in

which our forefathers often met on peaceable terms, it gave us sensible pleas

ure, and more joy than we could express. Though we have no vsTitings

like you, yet we remember often to have heard of the friendship that existed

between our fathers and yours. The picture f to which you drew our atten-

* Onas was the name the Indians gave William Perm, and they continue the ^^ame name
to all the governors of Pennsylvania,

f A fine picture representing Perm's treaty with the Indians.

51
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tion, brought fresh to our minds the friendly conferences that used to be held

between the former governors of Pennsylvania and our tribes, and showed
the love which your forefathers had of peace, and the friendly disposition of

our people. It is still om- wish, as well as yours, to preserve peace between
our tribes and you, and it would be well if the same spirit existed among the

Indians to the westward, and through every part of the United States. You
particularly expressed that you were well pleased to find that we differed in

disposition from the Indians westward. Your disposition is that for which
the ancient Onas Governors were remarkable. As you love peace, so do we
also ; and we wish it could be extended to the most distant part of this great

country. We agreed in council, this morning, that the sentiments I have
expressed should be communicated to you, before the delegates of the Five
Nations, and to tell you that your cordial welcome to this city, and the good
sentiments contahied ui your address, have made a deep impression on our

hearts, have given us great ioy, andfrom the heart I tell you so. This is all I

have to say."

When Red-jacket had finished, another chief, called Agicehndongwas, (and

sometimes Good-peter,*) addressed the assembly. His speech is much in the

style of Red-jackeVs, and was chiefly a repetition, in other words, of it. It

was short, and contained this passage : " What is there more desirable than
that we, who live within hearing of each other, should unite for the common
good ? This is my wish. It is the wish of my nation, although I am soriy I

can't say so of every individual in it ; for there are differences of opinions

among us, as well as among our white brethren."

Since we have here introduced Dominie Peter, we will so far digress as

to relate what follows concerning him. He was one of those who took part

agahist the Americans in the revolutionary war, and when hostilities com-
menced, he retired and joined the remote tribes towards Canada. Colonel

John Harper (one of the family from whom Harpersfield, New York, takes

its name) was stationed at the fort at Schorrie, in the state of New York.

Early in the spring of 1777, in the season of making maple sugar, when all

were upon the look-out to avoid surprise by the Indians, Colonel Harper left

the garrison and proceeded through the woods to Harpersfield ; thence by
an Indian path to Cherry-valley. Li his way, as he was turning the point of

a hill, he saw a company of Indians, who, at the same time, saw him. He
dared not attempt flight, as he could expect no other than to be shot down in

such attempt. He, therefore, determined to advance and meet them without

discovering fear. Concealing his regimentals as well as he could with his

great coat, he liastened onward to meet them. Before they met him, he dis-

iiovL'red that Peter was their chief, with whom he had formerly traded much
at Oquago, but who did not know him. Harper was the first to speak, as they

met, and his words were, " How do you do, brothers ? " The chief answered,
^^ Well.—Hotv do you do, brother'? Which loay are you bound')" The colonel

replied, " On a seeret expedition. And ivhich, loay are you bound, brothers ?

"

They answered without hesitation or distrust, thinking, no doubt, they had
fallen in with one of the king's men, " Down the Susquehannah, to cut off the

Johnstone settlement." This place, since called Sidney Plains, consisted of a
tew Scotch families, and their minister's name was Johnstone; hence the

name of the settlement. The colonel next asked them where they lodged

that night, and they told him, " At the mouth of Scheneva's Creek." After

shaking hands, they separated. As soon as they were out of sight, Harper
made a circuit through the woods with all speed, and soon ai-rived at the

head of Charlotte River, where were several men making sugar. This place

was about ten miles from Decatur Hill, where he met the Indians. He
ordered them to take each a rope and provisions in their packs, and assem-

ble at Evan's Place, where he would soon meet them : thence he returned

to Harpersfield, and collected the men there, which, including the others and
himself, made 15, just equal to Peter's force. When they arrived at Evan's
Place, upon the Chailotte, Harper made known liis ])roject. They set ofl^

and before day the next morning, came into the neighborhood of the In-

• Ami oftrii Doiidne-pelci: 2 Coll. N. Y. Hist. Soc. 74.
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dians' camp. From a small eminence, just at dawn of day, their fire was
seen biu-ziing, and Peter, amidst his waniors, lying upon the ground. All
were fast asleep. Harper and his companions each crept silently up, with
their ropes in their hands, man to man ; and each, standing in a position to

grasp his adversary, waited for the word to be given by their leader. The
colonel jogged his Indian, and, as he was waking, said to him, " Come, it is

timefor men of business to be on their way." This was the watchword ; and
no sooner was it pronounced, than each Lidian felt the warm grasp of his

toe. The struggle was desperate, though short, and resulted in the captm-e
of every one of the party. When it was sufficiently light to distinguish
countenances, Peter, observing Colonel Harper, said, " Ha ! Colonel Harper

.

JSTow I know you ! Why did I not know you yesterday ? " The colonel observed,
^^ Some policy in ivar, PeterP To which Peter replied, '' Ahl mje find em
so now. These captives were mai'ched to Albany, and delivered up to

the commanding officer. By this capital exploit no doubt many lives weri>

saved.*

As has been noted. Red-jacket died at his residence near Buffalo, on the
20th of Januai-y, 1830, aged about 80 years. In 1833, a grandson of his was
chosen chief of the Senecas.
The famous Seneca chief, called the FARMERS-BROTHER, is often men

tioned in the accounts of Red-jacket. His native name was Ho na-ya-wus.
In 1792, Farmers-brother was in Philadelphia, and was among those

who attended the burial of Mr. Peter Jaqnette, and is thus noticed in the

Pennsylvania Gazette of 28 March, of that year : " On Monday last, the
chiefs and warriors of the Five Nations assembled at the state-house, and
were welcomed to the city of Philadelphia in an address delivered by the
governor. Three of the chiefs made a general acknowledgment for the cor-
dial reception which they had experienced, but postponed their formal answer
until another opportunity. The room in which they assembled was mentioned
as the ancient council-chamber, in which their ancestors and ours had often

met to brighten the chain of friendship ; and this circumstance, together with
the presence of a great part of the beauty of the city, had an evident effect

upon the feelings of the Indians, and seemed particularly to embarrass the

elocution of the Farmers-brother." This last clause does not correspond with
our ideas of the great chief.

Through his whole life, Farmers-brother seems to have been a peacemaker.
In the spring of the next year, there was a great council held at Niagara,

consisting of the chiefs of a great many nations, dwelling upon the shores

of the western lakes. At this time, many long and laborious speeches were
made, some for and others against the conduct of the United States. Farm-
ers-brother shone conspicuous at this time. His speech was nearly three

hours long, and the final determination of the council was peace. We
know of no speeches being preserved at this time, but if there could have
been, doubtless much true history might have been collected from them.
He seems not only to have been esteemed by the Americans, but also by the

English.f

Of Peter Jaquette, whom we have several times incidentally mentioned,

we will give some account before proceeding with Honayawus. He was
one of the principal sachems of the Oneidas. This chief died in Phila-

delphia, 19 March, 1792. He had been taken to France by General Lafay-
ette, at the close of the revolutionary war, where he received an education.

Mr Jaqmtte, having died on Monday, was interred on the following Wednes-
day. "His funeral was attended from Oder's hotel to the Presbyterian

burying-ground in Mulberry-street. The corpse was preceded by a detach-

ment of the light infantry of the city, with arms reversed, drums muffled,

music playing a solemn dirge. The corpse was followed by six of the

* Annals of Tryon Co. 8vo. N. York, 18.

t
" Le village de Buffalo est habile par les Senecas. Le chef de cette nation est Brothers

farmer, estime par toiites les tribus comme grand guerrier et grand politique, el fort caressa

ace litre pax les agens anglais et les agens Americaius. Buffalo est le chef lieu do la nation

Seneca.'" Rochejoiicauld, Voyage dans UAmdrique en 1795, 6, and 7, t. i. 299.
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chiefs as mourners, succeeded by all the warriors ; the reverend clergy

oi' all denominations ; secretary of wai-, and the gentlemen of the war de-

partment ; officers of the federal army, and of the militia ; and a number of

citizens." *

One of the most celebrated speeches of Farmers-brother was delivered

in a council at Genesee River, in 1798, £Uid after being interpreted, was
signed by the chiefs present, and sent to the legislature of New York. It

follows :

—

" Brothers, as you are once more assembled in council for the purpose of
doing honor to yourselves and justice to your country, we, your brothers,

the sachems, chiefs and warriors of the Seneca nation, request you to open
your ears and give attention to our voice and wishes.—You will recollect the

late contest between you and your father, the great king of England. This
conti'st threw the inhabitants of this whole island into a great tumult and
commotion, like a raging whii'lwind which tears up the trees, and tosses to

and fro the leaves, so that no one knows from whence they come, or where
they will fall.—This whirlwind was so du-ected by the Great Spirit above, as

to throwintoourarms two of your infant childi-en, Jasper Parrish and Horatio

Jones.f We adopted them into our families, and made them our children.

We loved them and nourished them. They lived with us many years, ^it

length the Great Spirit spoke to the whirlwind, and it ivas still. A clear and un-

interrupted sky appeai'ed. The path of peace was opened, and the chain of

friendship was once more made bright. Then these om* adopted children

left us, to seek then* relations ; we wished them to remain among us, and
promised, if they would return and live in our country, to give each of them
a seat of land for them and their children to sit down upon.—They have re-

turned, and have, for several years past, been serviceable to us as interpret-

ers. We still feel our hearts beat with affection for them, and now wish to

i'ulfil the promise we made them, and reward them for tlieir services. We
have, therefore, made up our minds to give them a seat of two square miles

of land, lying on the outlets of Lake Erie, about three miles below Black-

rock, beginning at the mouth of a creek known by the name of Scoyguquoy-

descreek, running one mile from the River Niagara up said creek, thenc'>

northerly as the river runs two miles, thence westerly one mile to the river,

thence up the river as the river rims, two miles, to the place of beginning, so

as to contain two square miles.—We have now made known to you our

minds. We expect and earnestly request that you will permit our friends

to receive this our gift, and will make the same good to them, according to

the laws and customs of your nation.—Why should you hesitate to make our

minds easy with regard to this our request ? To you it is but a little thing
;

and have you not complied with the request and confirmed the gifts of our

brothers the Oneidas, the Onondagas and Cayugas to their uiterpreters ?

And shall we ask and not be heard.' We send you this our speech, to

which we expect your answer before the breaking up our great council

fire."

A gentleman J who visited Buffalo in 1810, observes that Farmeis-brother

was never known to drink ardent spirits, and although then 94 years old,

walked perfectly upright, and was remarkably straight and well formed

;

very grave, and answered his inquiries with great precision, but through his

interpreter, Mr. Parrish, before named. His account of the mounds in that

region will not give satisfaction. He told Dr. King that they were thrown
up against the incursions of the French, and that me implements found in

them were taken from them ; a great army of French having been overthrown
and mostly cut off, the Indians became possessed of their acoutrements,

whicli, being of no use to them, were buried with their owners.
He was a great warrior, and although " eighty snows in years " when the

war of 1812 began, yet he engaged in it, and fought with the Americans.

* Pennsylvania Gazette.

t Taken prisoners at the destruction of Wyoming' by the tories and Indians under Butler

and Brant.

X Dr. WUliain King the celebrated electrician, who gives the author this inl'ormatioa

rerbally.
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He did not live till its close, but died at the Seneca village, just aftr the

battle of Bridgewater, and was interred with militcuy lienors by tlie fifth

regiment of United States infantry. He usually wore a medal presented
him by General Washin^on. In the revolution, he fought successfully
against the Americans. Perhaps there never flowed from tlie lips of man
a more sublime metaphor than that made use of by this chief, in the
speech given above, when alluding to the revolutionary contest. It is

worth repeating : " The Great Spirit spoke to the whirlwind, and it was
stUL"

This celebrated chief was engaged in the cause of the French, in the old
French war, as it is termed, and he once pointed out the spot to a traveller,

where, at the head of a band of his warriors, he ambushed a guard that ac-
companied the English teams, employed between the Falls of Niagara and
Fort Niagara, which had then recently surrendered to the English under
Sir William Johnson. The place of the ambush is now called the Devil's
Hole, and is a very noted place to inquisitive visitors of that romantic region,
as it is but three and a half miles below the great Falls, and upon the Ameri-
can shore. It is said of this place, that " the mind can scarcely conceive of
a more dismal looking den. A lai-ge ravhie, made by the falling in of the
perpendiculai- bank, darkened by the spreading branches of the birch and
cedar, which had taken root below, and the low miu-muring of the rapids in
the chasm, added to the solemn thunder of the cataract itself, contribute to

render the scene truly awful. The English pai'ty were not aware of the dread-
ful fate that awaited them. Unconscious of danger, the drivers were gayly
whistling to then* dull ox-teams. Fai-mers-brother and his band, on their

arrival at this spot, rushed from the thicket which had concealed them, and
commenced a horrid butchery." So unexpected was the attack that all pres-
ence of mind forsook the English, and they made little or no resistance. The
guard, the teamsters, the oxen and the wagons were precipitated down into
the gulf. But two of the men escaped ; a Mr. Stedman, who lived at Schlos-
ser, above the falls, who, being mounted on a fleet horse, effected his escape

;

and one of the soldiers, who was caught on the projecting i-oot of a cedar,
which sustained him until the Indians had left the place. He soon after got
to Foit Niagara, and there gave an account of what had happened. The
small rivulet that rims into the Niagara through the Devil's Hole, was, it is

said, colored with the blood of the slain on that unfortunate day, and it now
bears the name of Bloody-Run.

Farmers-brother fought against the Americans in the Revolution, and was
no inconsiderable foe; but his acts were probably mostly in council, as we
hear of no important achievements by him in the field.

The following remarkable incident should not be omitted in the life of
this chief. In the war of 1812, a fugitive Mohawk from the enemy had en-
deavored to pass for a Seneca, and accordingly came among those under
Red-jacket and Farmers-brother. The latter discovered him, and immediately
appeared in his presence, and thus accosted him. "/ know you ivell. You
belong to the Mohawks. You are a spy. Here is my rifle

—my tomahawk—my
scalpin^-knife. Say, which I shall use. I am in haste." The yoiuig Mo-
hawk knew there was no rej^rieve, nor time to deliberate. He chose the
rifle. The old chief ordered him to lie do\A-n upon the grass, and with one foot

upon his breast, he discharged his rifle into his head.*
The following letter will, besides exhibiting the condition of the Senecas.

develop some other mteresting facts in their biograpliical history.

" To the Honorable William Eustis, secretary at war.
"The sachems and chief warriors of the Seneca nation of Indians, under-

standing you are the person appouited by the great council of your nation to

manage and conduct the affairs of the several nations of Indians with whom
you are at peace and on terms of friendship, come, at this time, as

children to a father, to lay before you the trouble which we have on our
minds.

* Bm:king}iarn's Miscellanies , i. 3;i. 34.

51*
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"Brother, we do not think it best to multiply words: we will, therefore,

tell you what our complaint is.—Brother, listen to what we say : Some years

since, we held a treaty at Bigtree, near the Genesee River. This treaty was
called by our great father, the presiden t of the United States. He sent an
agent, Col. JVadsworth, to attend this treaty, for the purpose of advising us in

the business, and seeing that we had justice done us. At this treaty, we sold

to Robert Moitis the greatest part of our country ; the sum he gave us was
100,000 dollars. The commissioners who were appointed on your part,

advised us to place this money in the hands of our great father, the president

of the United States. He told us our father loved his red children, and
would take care of our money, and plant it in a field where it would bear

seed forever, as long as trees grow, or waters run. Our money has hereto-

fore been of great semce to us ; it has helped us to support om- old people

and our women and childi-en ; but we are told the field where our money was
planted is become barren.—Brother, we do not understand your way of doing
business. This thing is very heavy on om- minds. We mean to hold oiu-

white bi-ethren of the United States by the hand ; but this weight lies hea^'y
;

we hope you will remove it.—We have heard of the bad conduct of our

brothers towards the setting sun. We are sorry for what they have done

;

but you must not blame us ; we have had no hand in this bad business.

They have had bad people among them. It is your enemies have done this.

—We have persuaded our agent to take this talk to your great council. He
knows our situations, and will speak our minds.

[Subscribed with the marks of]

Farmer's Brother, {Honayawus,'] Wheelbarrow,
Little Billy, {^Gishkalta^l Jack-berry,
Young King, [Koyingqiiautah,] Twenty Canoes, [Cachauntvasse,\

Pollard, [Kaouiidoowand,] Big-kettle, [Sessewa'}]

Chief-warrior, [Imnuchshewa,] Half-town, [Achiovi,]

Two-GUNS, Keyandeande,
John Sky, Captain-cold,
Parrot-nose, [Soocoowa,] Esq. Blinkney,
John Pierce, [Teskaiy,] Capt. Johnson, [Tcdivinaha.]

Strong, [Kahxilsta,]

" N. B. The foregoing speech was delivered in council by Farmers-Brother,

at BuflTalo Creek, 19 Dec. 1811, and subscribed to in my presence by the

chiefs whose names are annexed.
Erastus Granger."

Eight thousand dollars * was appropriated immediately upon receipt of tlie

above.

Little-bUly, or Gishkaka, is the same of whom we have spoken in a prece

ding cha])ter, and called by Washington, Juskakaka.

Young-king, the third signer of the above talk, was engaged in fighting

for the Americans 'm the last war with England, and by an act of congress

was to be paid yearly, in quai-terly payments, 200 dollars, during life. The
act states that it was " a compensation for the brave and meritorious services

which he rendered" in that war, "and as a provision for the wound and
disability which he received in the performance of those services." This
was in the spring of 181G.

Of Pollard, or Captain Pollard, we shall have occasion elsewhere to say

more.
Jack-berry was sometimes interpreter for Red-jacket.

Half-town was very conspicuous in the affairs of the Senecas, but as he

is generally mentioned, in our documents, in connection with Corn-plant, or

Corn-planter, and Big-tree, we had designed to speak of the three collectively.

We find among the acts of the Pennsylvania legislature of 1791, one " for

* 'In lieu of the dividend on the bank shares, held by the president of the U. States, ia

trust for the Seneca nation, in the bank of the U. States."

i Or Kiundotreioa, Kayejithoghke, &c.

j Benson's Memoir, before the N. Y. Hist. Soc. page 20. Also Amcr. Magazine.
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granting 800 dollars to Corn-planter, Half-town and Big-tree, Seneca chiefs,

m trust for the Seneca nation." At this time much was appreiiended from
an Lidian war. Settlers were intruding tlieniselves uj)oii their country, and
all experience has shown that ^vhenever the wliites have gone among them,
troubles were sure to follow. Ev«ry nioveiiient of the Indians was looked
upon with jealousy by them at this period. Half-town wa.s the "white
man's friend," and comnninicated to the garrisons in his country every sus-

picious movement of tribes of whom doubts were entertained. It is evident

that hostile bands, for a long time, hovered about tiie post at Venango, and,
but for the vigilance of Half-town, and other friendly chiefs, it would have
been cut off In April this year, (1791,) Corn-plant and Half-town had up-
wards of 100 warrior,s in and about the garrison, and kept runners out con-
tinually, " being determined to protect it at all events." Their spies made
frequent discoveries of war parties. On the 12 August, 1791, Halftown and
JVew-arroiv gave information at Fort Franklin, that a sloop full of Indians
had been seen on Lake Erie, sailing for Pi-esque Isle ; and their object wns
supposed to be Fort Franklin ; but the conjecture proved groundless.

The Indian name of Half-town was Achiout. We hear of him at Fort
Harmer, in 1789, Avliere, with 23 others, he executed a tieaty with the United
States. The commissioners on the part of the latter were General Arthur
St. Clair, Oliver Wolcut, Richard Butler and Arthur Lee. Among the signers

on the ])art of the Senecas were also Big-tree, or Kiandogewa, Corn-planter,

or Gyantwaia, besides several others whose names are familiar in history.

Big-tree was often called Great-tree, which, in the language of the Five
Nations, was JVihorontagowa,* which also was the name of the Oneida
nation, f Big-tree was with General Washington during the summer o!'

1778, but returned to the Indian nations in the autumn. He proceeded to

the Senecas, and used his eloquence to dissuade them from fighting under
Brant against the Americans. The Oneidas were friendly at this time, and
Big-tree was received among them with hospitality, in his way, upon this

mission. Having staid longer than was expected among the Senecas, the

Oneidas sent a messenger to him to know the reason. He returned answer
that when he arrived among his nation, he found them all in arms, and their

villages, Kanadaseago arid Jennessee, crowded with warriors from remote
tribes ; that they at fii'st seemed inclined to hearken to his wishes, but soon
learning by a spy that the Americans were about to invade their country, ail

flew to arms, and Big-tree put himself at then* head, " determined to chastise,''^

he said, " the enemy that dared presume to think of penetrating their country.''''

But we do not learn that he was obliged to maintain that hostile attitude,

and doubtless returned soon after.

Corn-PLANTER was a warrior at BraddocKs defeat, but whether a chief I do
not learn; we will, however, according to our design, give an account of
that signal disaster, in this connection. The French having established

themselves u|)on the Ohio, within the territory claimed by the English, and
built a fort upon it, as low down as the confluence of that river with the Mo-
nongahela, the latter were determined to dispossess them. This was uncier-

taken by a force of about 2200 men under the command of GJeneral Edward
Braddock. With about 1300 of these he proceeded on the expedition, leaving

the rest to follow under Colonel Dunbar. \ Through nearly the whole
coui-se of his march, he was watched by spies from Fort Duquesne, (the name
of the French fort on the Ohio,) and the earliest intelligence of his move-
ments was carried there by Indian runners with the utmost despatch. When
it was told among the Indians that the army was marching upon them in

Bolid columns, they laughed with surprise, and said, one to another, " We'll

shoot 'em down, all one pigeon

!

" § and it will always be acknowledged tiiat,

in this, the Indians were not mistaken.

The French, it seems, formed but a small part of the force that defeated

* Or Kiandogewa, Kayenthoghke, &c.
t Benson's Memoir, before the N. Y. Hist. Soc. page 20. Also Amer. Magazine
j Account of the Ohio Defeat, p. 4, 4°. Boston, ITOS.

^ Withers's Chronicles, 53, 54
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Braddock!s anuy ; the Indians planned and executed the operations chiefly

themselves, and theii- whole force is said not to have exceeded 400 men ; hut

from the accounts of the French themselves, it is evident there were

about 600 Indians, and not far from 250 French,* who marched out to meet

Braddock.

Early in the morning of the 9 July, 1755, the English army arrived at a

fording-place on the Monongahela, at the junction of the Youghiogany, which

it passed in fine order, and pursued its march upon the southern margin of

the river, to avoid the liigh and rugged ground on the north, which they

would have had to encounter upon the other side of it Washington often said

afterwards, " that the most beautiful spectacle which he had ever beheld was
the display of the British troops on this eventful morning." They were m
fiill uniform, and marched in the most perfect order, and di'eamed of nothing

but an easy conquest. About noon they arrived at their second crossing

place, which was distant only 10 miles from Fort Duquesne. It was here

that the Indians and French had intended to commence theu' attack ; but

owing to some delay, they did not arrive in season, and therefore took a posi-

tion fiirther in advance, and awaited the approach of the EngUsh.

Tlie French were commanded by M. de Beaujeu, who had for his lieuten-

ant, M. Dumas. The place chosen for the ambush was the best possible, and

the Indians never showed greater courage and finnness. It is said by the

French, that they were for some time opposed to going out to fight the

English, but that after several solicitations fi-om M. Beaujeu, they consented;

but the Indian account is as we have before stated.

Immediately on crossing the river the army were formed in three divisions,

which was the order of march. A plain, or kind of prairie, which the army
had to cross, extended from the river about half a mile, and then its route

lay over an ascending ground, of very gentle ascent, covered with trees and

high prairie grass. At the commencement of this elevation began a ravine,

which, as it extended up the rising ground, formed a figure resembling nearly

that of a horse-shoe, and about 150 yards in extent. Lito this inclosm-e two
divisions of the army had passed when the attack began.

Notwithstanding Washington had urged upon the general the propriety of

keeping out scouting parties to avoid surprise, yet he would take no advice;,

and it is said, that on one occasion, he boisterously replied, " that it was high

times for a young Buckskin to teach a British general how to fight!" Such
was his contempt for scouting parties, that he accepted with cold indiflfer-

ence the services of George Croghan, who had offered himself with 100

Indians for the important business of scouring the woods. The consequence

wtis, the Lidians, one after another, left the ai-my in its march, much to the

regret of Washington and other provincial officers, who knew how to ap-

preciate their value.

When the first division of the army had nearly ascended the hill, as the

rising ground was called, the Indians broke the silence of the morning with

a most ai)palling yell, and at the same moment poured a most deadly fij-e

from their coverts upon the devoted column. The first shocks were sus-

tained witli firnuiess, and the fire was returned, by which a few Indians were
killed, and the French commander-in-chief, M. de Beaujeu, mortally wounded.

It is said that the Indians now began to waver, and but for the good conduct

of M. Dumas, second in connnand, would have fled ; but by his exertions

oi'der was restored, and the firing, which had not ceased, was redoubled.

The aiivanced column was connnanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Gage, since

so well known as governor of Massachusetts, in 1775. Tliis colunm was
about 100 yards in advance of the second, which had just begun to ascend

the hill when the attack began, and the main body, under the general in

person, wiis but a few rods in the real- of this, and on heiu-ing the firing he

pressed forward to support the engaged party.

Meanwhile the extensive line of Indians upon the right flank made an

onset from their section of the ravine, and from their suix'rior nnnd>ers, the

Bhock could nor be withstood, and the column was immediately brok(!n, and

' Sparks's Washington, ii. 468—76. Ih. c. 1 469.
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began to retreat in disorder down the hill—confusion and dismay ensued^
no exertions of the officei-s could prevent the panic from spreading among
the regular troops, and the fight was afterwards continued in the utmost irreg-

ularity. Imboldened by the confusion of the Englisli, the Indians now
rushed upon them with their tomahawks, which, after near two hours, ter-

minated the battle, and the field was left m their possession. Not only the

field of battle, but all the killed and many of the wounded, all the artillery,

(eleven pieces of cannon,) all the general's baggage, and even private papers,

aud all the ammunition and provisions, fell mto the hands of the victors.

All but the Vu-ginjans fought for some time in the most wretched confu-

sion ; but the officers were mom-nfully sacrificed—sometimes charging the

enemy in a body by themselves, hoping by their example to draw out theii-

men in a manner to repel their adversaries ; but all to no purpose : and it is

not doubted but that the conftised multitude of regulai-s killed many of their

companions, as they often fired fifty or a hundred in a huddle together,

seemingly for no other object but to get rid of their ammunition. The Vir-

ginians fought in the Indian manner, behind trees and coverts ; and it was
owing to their good conduct that any of the wretched army escaped.

After having five horses shot under him. General BraMock received a

wound in his lungs, of which he died on the 13th of July, 4 days after the

battle, at Fort Cumberland, whither he had arrived with a part of his shat-

tered ai-mv. Washington had been suffering, for some time before arriving

at the fatal battle-field, from a fever ; and in a letter which he wrote to his

mother, dated July 18th, he thus speaks of himself:—" The Vu-ginia troops

showed a good deal of bravery, and were nearly all killed ; for 1 believe, out

of three companies that were there, scarcely 30 men are left alive. Cap-

tain Peyrouny, and all his officers down to a corporal, were killeti. Captam

Poison had nearly as hard a late, for only one of his were left. In short, the

dastardly behavior of those they call regulars exposed all others, that were

inclined to do tl.sir duty, to almost certain death, and at last, in despite ;

all the efforts of ihe officers to the contrary, they ran, as sheep pursued

dogs, and it yfaz impossible to rally them." " Sir Peter Halket was killi

in the field, vfhere died many other brave officers. I luckily escaped wit.

out a wound, though I had 4 bullets tlirough my coat, and two horses sh

under me. Captains Orme and Morris, two of the aids-de-camp, were woun.

ed early in the engagement, which rendered the duty harder upon me, as

was the only person then left to distribute the general's orders, vvhich I wt

scarcely able to do, as I was not half recovered from a violent illness, that

had confined me to my bed and wagon for above 10 days."

We know of no battle, in which so great a proportion of officers fell.

There were 86 engaged in it, and 63 were killed and wounded, of whom 26

were killed. Besides those already named, there were among the wounded
Colonel Burton, Sir John St. Clair, Colonel Orme, and Major Sparks. Of the

private soldiers there were killed and wounded 714, half of whom were

killed, or fell into the hands of the Indians, and suffered a cruel death after-

wards. Mr. John Field, then a lieutenant, and Mr. Charles Lewis, two dis-

tinguished officers afterwards, escaped the carnage of Braddock's field to

fall in a more fortunate place. They were colonels under General Andrew

Lewis, and were killed in the battle of Point Pleasant, as will be found men-

tioned in the life of Logan.
In the year 1790, Big-tree, Corn-plant and Half-toiim appeared at Philadel-

phia, and, by then- interpreter, communicated to President Washington as

follows :—
" Faiher : The voice of the Seneca nations speaks to you ; the great coun-

:>ellor, in whose heart the wise men of all the thirteen fires [13 U. S.] have

placed their wisdom. It may be very small in your ears, and we, therefore,

entreat you to hearken with attention ; for we are able to speak of things

which are to us veiy great.
" When your army entered the countrj' of the Six Nations, we called you

the town destroyer ; to this day, when your name is heard, our womer Ic

behind them ane liirii pale, and our childi-en cling close to the necks oi thi

mothers "

20
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• When our chiefs returned from Fort Stanwix, and laid before our coun-

cil \vliat liad been done tliere, our nation was surprised to hear liow great a

country you had compelled them to give up to you, without your paying to

us any tiling for it. Every one said, that your hearts were yet swelled with

resentment against us for what had happened during the war, but that one

day you woidd consider it with more kindness. We asked each other, JFhai

have ive done to deserve such severe chastisement ?

''Father: when you kindled your 13 fires separately, the wise men assem-

bled -At them told us that you were all brothers; the childiTU of one great

father, who regarded the red people as his children. Tliey called us

brothers, and invited us to his protection. They told us that he resided

beyond the great water where the sun first rises ; and that he was a king

whose power no people could resist, and that his goodness was as bright as

the sun. What they said went to our hearts. We accepted the invitation,

and promised to obey him. What the Seneca nation promises, they faith-

fully perfomi. When you refused obedience to that king, he commanded
us to assist his beloved men m making you sober. In obeying him, we did

no more than yourselves had led us to promise." " We were deceived ; but

your people teaching us to confide in that king, had helped to deceive us

;

and we now appeal to your breast. Is all the blame ours ?

"Father: when we saw that we had been deceived, and heard the invita-

tion which you gave us to di'aw near to the fire you had kindled, and talk

with you concerning peace, we made haste towards it. You told us you
could crush us to nothing ; and you demanded from us a great country, as

the price of that peace which you had offered to us : as if our luant of
strength had destroyed our rights. Our chiefs had felt your power, and were
unable to contend against you, and they therefore gave up that country.

What they agreed to has bound our nation, but your anger against us must
by this time be cooled, and although our strength is not increased, nor your

power become less, we ask you to consider calmly

—

Were the terms dictated

to MS by your commissioners reasonable andjust ?
"

They also remind the president of the solemn promise of the commission-

ers, that they should be secured in the peaceable possession of what was
left to them, and then ask, "Does this promise bind youV And that no

sooner was the treaty of Fort Stanwix concluded, than commissioners from
Pennsylvania came to purchase of them what was included within the lines

of their state. These they informed that they did not wish to sell, but being

fm-ther urged, consented to sell a part. But the commissioners said that " they

must have the whole;" for it was already ceded to them by tiie king of Eng-
land, at the peace following the revolution; but still, as their ancestors had
always paid the Indians for land, they were willing to pay them for it. Being

not able to contend, the land was sold. Soon alter this, they emj)owered a

person to let out part of theh land, who said congress had sent him for the

purpose, but who, it seems, fraudulently procured a deed instead of a power

to lease ; for there soon came another person claiming all their country north-

ward of the line of Pennsylvania, saying that lie purchased it of the otlur,

and for which he had paid 20,000 dollars to him and 20,000 more to the

United States. He now demanded the land, and, on being refused, threaten-

ed immediate war. Knownig their weak situation, they held a council, and

took the advice of a white man, whom they took to be their friend, but who,
as it proved, had plotted with the other, and was to receive some of the

land for his agency. He, therefore, told them they must comply. " Astonish-

ed at what we lieard from every quarter," they say, "with hearts acliing with

compassion for our women and cliildren, we were thus compelled to give up
all our country north of the line of Pennsylvania, and east of the Genesee
River, up to the great forks, and east of a south line drawn up from that

fork to the line of Pennsylvania." For this he agreed to give them 10,000

dollars down, and 1000 dollars a year forever. Instead of that, he paid them
2500 dollars, and some time after offered 500 dollars more, insisting that

that was all he owed them, which he allowed to be yearly. They add,

^^ Father: you liavi; said that we were in your hand, and that by closing it

you could crush us to nothing. Are you determined to crush us ' If you
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are, tell us so ; that those of our nation who have become yoiu" children; and
nave deteri nined to die so, may know what to do. In this case, one chief

has said, he would ask you to put him out of his pain. Another, who wiL
not tljink of dying by tlie hand of his father, or his brother, has said he will

retire to the Chataughque, eat of th« fatal root, and sleep with his fathers in

peace."
" All the land we have been speaking ofbelonged to the Six Nations. No part

of it ever belonged to the king of England, and he could not give it to you."
" Hear us once more. At Fort Staiiwix we agreed to deliver up those of

our people who should do you any wrong, and that you might try them and
punish them according to your law. We delivered up two men accordingly.

But instead of trying them according to your law, the lowest of your people

took them from your magistrate, and put them immediately to death. It is

just to punish the miu-der with death ; but the Seuecas will not deliver up
then- people to men who disregard the treaties of their own nation."

There were many other grievances enumerated, and all in a strain which,

we should think, would have drawn forth immediate relief. In his answer,

President Washington said all, perhaps, which could be said in his situation

;

and his good feelings are manifest throughout : still there is something like

evasion in answering some of their grievances, and an omission of notice to

others. His answer, nevertheless, gave them much encouragement He
assured them that the lands obtained from them by fraud was not sanctioned

by the government, and that the whole transaction was declared null and
void ; and that the persons who murdered their people should be dealt with

as though they had murdered white men, and that all possible means would
be used for their apprehension, and rewards should continue to be offered to

effect it But we have not learned that they were ever apprehended. The land

conveyed by treaty, the president informed them, he had no authority to con-

cern with, as that act was before his administration.

The above speech, although appearing to be a joint production, is believed

to have been dictated by Corn-planter. It, however, was no doubt the senti-

ments of the whole nation, as well as those of himself. Half-town and Big-

tree. Of this last-named chiefwe will here speak as follows:—In 1791, an act

passed the legislature of Pennsylvania, " to empower the governor to grant a

patent to Big-tree, a Seneca chief, for a certain island in the Alleghany

River." He lamented the disaster of St. Clair's army, and was heard to say

afterwards, that he would have two scalps for General Butler's, who fell and was
scalped in that fight John Deckard, another Seneca chief, repeated the same
words. Being on a mission to Philadelphia, in April, 1792, he was taken

sick at his lodgings, and died after about 20 hours' illness. Three days after,

being Sunday, the 22d, he was buried with all requisite attention. The river

Big-tree was probably named from the circumstance of this chief having

lived upon it. His name still exists among some ol his descendants, or

others of his tribe, as we have seen it subscribed to several instruments

within a few years. To i-eturn to Corn-planter.

His Indian name, as we have before noted, was Gyantwaia ; and most of

our knowledge concerning him is derived trom himself, and is contained in

a letter sent from him to the governor of Pennsylvania ; and, although writ-

ten by an intei'preter, is believed to be the real production of Corn-planter.

It was dated " Alleghany River, 2d mo. 2d, 1822," and is as follows :

—

" I feel it my duty to send a speech to the governor of Pennsylvania at

this time, and inform him the place where I was from—which was at Cone-
wangus,* on tl>e Genesee River.

" When I was a child, I played with the butterfly, the gi-asshopper and the

frogs ; and as I grew up, I began to pay some attention and play with tiie

Indian boys in the neighborhood, and they took notice of my skin being a

different color from theirs, and spoke about it I inquired of my mother the

cause, and she told me that my father was a residenter in Albany.f I still

* This was the Iroquois term to designate a place of Christian Indians ; heuce many
places bear it. It is llie same as Cauglinewaga.

t It IS said (Amer. Reg. ii. 228) that he was an Irishman.



612 CORN-PLANT.—COMPLAINT TO PENNSYLVANLA^. [Book V.

eat my victuals out of a bark dish. I grew up to be a young man, and mar-
ried me a wife, and I had no kettle or gun. 1 then knew where my father
lived, and went to see him, and found he was a white man, and spoke the
English language. He gave me victuals whilst I was at his house, but when
I started to return home, he gave me no provision to eat on the way. He
gave me neither kettle nor gun, neither did he tell mo that the United States
were about to rebel against the government of England.

" I will now tell you, brothers, who are in session of the legislature of
Pennsylvania, that the Great Spirit has made known to me that I have been
wicked ; and the cause thereof was the revolutionary war in America. The
cause of Indians having been led into sin, at that time, was that many of
them were in the practice of drinking and getting intoxicated. Great
Britain requested us to join with them in the conflict against the Americans,
and promised the Indians land and liquor. I myself was opposed to joining
in the conflict, as I had nothing to do witli the difficulty that existed between
the two parties. I have now informed you how it happened that the Indians
took a part in the revolution, and will relate to you some circumstances that
occiu-red after the close of the war. Greneral Putnam, who was then at

Philadelphia, told me there was to be a council at Fort Stanwix ; and the
Indians requested me to attend on behalf of the Six Nations ; which I did,

and there met with three commissioners, who had been appointed to hold the
council. They told me they would inform me of the cause of the r'=:volu-

tion, which I requested them to do minutely. They then said that it had
originated on account of the heavy taxes that had been imposed upon them
by the British government, which had been for fifty years increasing upon
them ; that the Americans had grown weary thereof, and refused to pay,
which affronted the king. There had likewise a difficulty taken place about
some tea, which they vdshed me not to use, as it had been one of the causes
that many people had lost their lives. And the British government now
being affi-onted, the war commenced, and the cannons began to roar in our
country. General Putnam then told me, at the council at Fort Stanwix,
that, by the late war, the Americans had gained two objects: they had
established themselves an independent nation, and had obtained some land
to live upon : the division line of which, from Great Britain, run through
the lakes. I then spoke, and said that I wanted some land for the Indians to

live on, and General Putnam said that it should be granted, and I should have
land in the state of New York for the Indians. General Putnam then en-
couraged me to use my endeavors to pacify the Indians generally ; and, as
he considered it an arduous task to perform, wished to know wliat I wanted
for pay therefor. I replied to him, that I would use my endeavors to do as
he had requested, with the Indians, and for pay thereof, I would take land.

I told him not to pay me money or dry goods, but land. And for having
attended thereto, I received the tract of land on which I now live, which was
presented to me by Governor Miflin. I told General Putnam that I m ished
the Indians to have the exclusive privilege of the deer and wild game, wliich

he assented to. I also wished the Indians to have the privilege of hunting
in the woods, and making fires, which he likewise assented to.

" The treaty that was made at the aforementioned council, has been broken
by some of the white people, which I now intend acquainting the governor
with. Some white people are not willing that Indians should hunt any more,
whilst others are satisfied therewith ; and those white people who reside

near our reservation, tell us that the woods are theirs, and they have
obtained them from the governor. The treaty has been also broken
by the white people using tlieir endeavors to destroy all tlie wolves, which
was not spoken about in the council at Fort Stanwix, by General Pvinam,
but has originated lately.

" It has been Ijroken again, which is of recent origin. White people wish
to get credit from Lulians, and do not pay them honestly, accorc'ing to their

agreement. In another respect, it has also been broken by white people,

who reside near my dwelling ; for when I plant melons and vines in my
field, they take them as their own. It has been broken again by white

people using their endeavors to obtain our pine-trees from us. We have
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very few pine-trees on our land, in the state of New York : and white peo})Ie

and Indians often get into dispute respecting them. There is also a oreat

quantity of whisky brought near oiu* resei-vation by white people, and the

Indians obtain it and become drunken. Another circurnsttince has ttiken

place which is very trying to me, and I wish the interference of the governoj
" The white people, who live at Wai-ren, called upon me, some time ago,

to pay taxes for my land ; which I objected to, as I had never been called

upon for that purpose before ; and having refused to pay, the white people

became irritated, called upon me frequently, and at length brought four gims

with them and seized our cattle. I still refused to pay, and was not willing

to let the cattle go. After a time of dispute, they returned home, and I under-

stood the militia was ordered out to enforce the collection of the tax. I

went to Warren, and, to avert the impending difficulty, was obliged to give

my note for the tax, the amount of which was 43 dollai-s and 79 cents. It is

my desire that the governor will exempt me from paying taxes for my land

to white people ; and also cause that the money I am now obliged to pay,

may be refunded to me, as I am very poor. The governor is the person

who attends to the situation of the people, and I wish him to send a person

to Alleghany, that I may inform him of the particulars of our situation, and
he be authorized to instruct the white people in what maimer to conduct

themselves towards tlie Indians.
" The government has told us that when any difficulties arose between the

Indians and white people, they would attend to havuig them removed. We
are now in a trying situation, and I wish the governor to send a person

authorized to attend thereto, the forepart of next summer, about the time

that grass has grown big enough for pasture.
" The governor formerly requested me to pay attention to the Indians and

take care of them. We are now arrived at a situation that I believe In-

dians cannot exist, imless the governor should comply with my request, and
send a person authorized to treat between us and the white people, the

approaching summer. I have now no more to speak."*

Whether the government of Pennsylvania acted at all, or, if at all, what
order they took, upon this pathetic appeal, our author does not state. But
that an independent tribe of Indians should be taxed by a neighboring

people, is absurd in the extreme; and we hope we shall learn that not

only the tax was remitted, but a remuneration granted for the vexation and

damage.
Corn-plant was very early distinguished for his wisdom in council, not-

withstanding he confirmed the ti-eaty of Fort Stanwix of 1784 ; five years

afl;er, at the treaty of Fort Harmer, he gave up an immense tract of their

country, and for which his nation very much reproached him, and even

tlu-eatened his life. Himself and other chiefs committed this act for the best

of reasons. The Six Nations having taken pai't with England in the revolu-

tion, when the king's power f 11 in America, the Indian nations were reduced

to the miserable alternative of giving up so much of their coimtry as the

Americans requii-ed, or the whole of it. In 1790, Corn-plant, Half-town and

Big-tree, made a most pathetic appeal to congress for an amelioration of

their condition, and a reconsideration of former treaties, in which the fol-

lowing memorable passage occurs :

—

" Father : we will not conceal from you that the great God, and not men,

has preserved the Corn-plant fi'om the hands of his own nation. For they

ask continually, " Where is the land on which our chilih'en, and their chil-

dren after them, are to lie down upon ? You told us that the line drawn
fiom Pennsylvania to Lake Ontario, would mark it forever on the east, and

the line running from Beaver Creek to Pennsylvania, would mark it on the

west, and we see that it is not so ; for, first one, and then another, come and

take it away by order of that people which you tell us promised to .secure it

to us.' He is silent, for he has nothing to answer. When the sun goes

down, he opens his heart before God, and earlier than the sun appears,

again upon the hills he gives thanks for his protection during the uight

* Buchanan's Sketches.
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For he feels that among men become desperate by the mjuries they sustain,

it is God only that can preserve him. He loves peace, and all he had in

store he has given to those who have been robbed by your people, lest

tliey should plunder the innocent to repay themselves. The whole season,
which others have employed in providing for their families, he has spent in

endeavors to preserve peace ; and this moment his wife and children are
lying on the ground, and in want of food."

In President Washington's answer, we are gi-atified by his particular notice
of this chief He says, "The merits of the Corn-plant, a.nd his friendship
for the United States, are well known to me, and shall not be forgotten ; and,
as a mark of esteem of the United States, I have directed the secretary of
war to make him a present of two hundred and Jifty dollars, either in money
or goods, as the Corn-plant shall like best."

There was, in 1789, a treaty held at Marietta, between the Indians and
Americans, which termmated " to the entire satisfaction of all concerned.
On this occasion, an elegant entertainment was provided. The Indian
chiefs behaved with the greatest decorum throughout the day. After dinner,
we were served with good wine, and Corn-planter, one of the first chiefs of
the Five Nations, and a very great warrior, took up his glass and said, "i
thank the Great Spiritfor this opportunity of smoking the pipe offriendship and
love. May we plant our own vines—be the fathers of our own children—and
maintain them.'' *

In 1790, an act passed the legislature of Pennsylvania, for " granting 800
dollars to Corn-planter, Half-town and Big-tree, in trust for the Seneca nation,

and other purposes therein mentioned." In February, 1791, Corn-plant was
in Philadelphia, and was employed in an extremely hazardous expedition to

undertake the pacification of the western tribes, that had already shown
them selves hostile. The mission terminated unfavorably, from insurmount-
able difficu]ties.f There were many, at this time, as in all Indian wars, who
entertained doubts of the fidelity of such Indians as pretended fi-iendship.

Corn-plant did not escape suspicion ; but, as his after-conduct showed, it

was entirely without foundation. In the midst of these imputations, a letter

written at Fort Franklin says, " I have only to observe that the Corn-plant

has been liere, and, in my opinion, he is as friendly as one of our own
peoi)le. He has advised me to take care ; ^for,' said he, 'you mil soon have a
chance to let the loorld know whether you are a soldier or not.' When he went
off, he ordered two chiefs and ten warriors to remain here, and scout about
the garrison, and let me know if the bad Indians should either advance
against me, or any of the frontiers of the United States. He thinks the

pj'ople at Pittsburgh should keep out spies towards the salt licks, for he
says, by and by, he thinks, the bad Indians will come from that way."

In 1792, the following advertisement appeai'ed, signed by Corn-plant : "My
people having been chai-ged with committing depredations on the frontier

inhabitants near Pittsburgh, I hereby contradict the assertion, as it is cer-

tainly without foundation, and pledge myself to those inhabitants, that they
may rest perfectly secm^e from any danger from the Senecas residing on the

Alleghany waters, and that my people have been and still are fiiendly to the

U. States."

About the time Corn-plant left his nation to proceed on his mission to the

hostile tribes, as three of his people were travelling through a settlement

upon the Genesee, they sto])pcd at a house to light their pipes. There hap-

pened to be several men within, one of whom, as the foremost Indian stoop-

ed down to light his pipe, killed him with an axe. One of the others was
biidly wounded with the same weapon, while escaping from the house.

They were not pursued, and the other, a boy, escaped unhurt. (The poor
wounded man, when nearly well of the wound, was bitten by a snake, wliich

caused his immediate deatii.) When Corn-plant knew what had happened,
he charged his warriors to remain quiet, and not to seek revenge, and was

" Carey's Museum, v. 415.

+ " Causes of the existing Hostilities/' &c. drawn up by the sec'y of war, General Knos,
in 1791.
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heard only to say, '• It is hard, when I and my people are tryiiig to make peace

for the whites, that we should receive such reward. I can govern my young men
and warriors better than the thirteen Jires can theirs." How is it that this man
slionld practise upon the maxims of Confucius, of whom he never heard r

{Do ye to others as ye loould that they shoidd do unto you ;) and the monster in

human form, in a gospel land, taught them from his youth, should show, Ijv

his actions, his utter contempt of them, and even of the divine mandate ?

In 1816, the Reverend Timothy Alden, then president of Alleghany college,

in Meadville, Pennsylvania, visite;! the Seneca nation. At this time, Com-
plant lived seven miles below the junction of the Connewango with the

Alleghany, upon the banks of the latter, " on a piece of first-rate bottom
land, a little within the ihnits of Pennsylvania." Here was his village,*

which exhibited signs of industrious inhabitants. He then owned 1300
acres of land, 600 of which comprehended his town. " It was grateful to

notice," observes Mr. Jllden, " the present agricultural habits of the place,

from the numerous enclosures of buck-wheat, corn and oats. We also saw
a uumber of oxen, cows and horses; and many logs designed for the saw-
mill and the Pittsburgh market." Corn-plant had, for some time, been very
much m favor of the Christian religion, and hailed wth joy such as professed
it. When he was apprized of Mr. Mden^s arrival, he hastened to wel-
come him to his village, and \vait upon him. And notwithstanding his high
station as a chief, having many men under his command, he chose rather,
" in the ancient patriai'chal style," to serve his visitors himself; he, there-

fore, took care of their horses, and went into the field, cut and brought oats

for them.
The Western Missionary Society had, in 1815, at Corn-planfs " urgent

request," established a school at his village, which, at this time, promised
success.

Corn-plant received an annual annuitj' from the U. States of 250 dollars,

bejides his proportion of 9000 divided equally among every member of the

narion.

Gos-kuk-ke-wa-na-kon-ne-di-yu, commonly called the Propliet, was brother

to Corn-plant, and resided in his village. He was of little note, and died
previous to 1816.f Corn-plant, we believe, was, when living, like all other

unenlightened people, very superstitious. Not long since, he said the Good
Spmt had told him not to have any thing to do with the whites, or even to

preserve any mementoes or relics they had from time to time given him

;

whereupon, among other things, he bm-nt up his belt and broke his elegant

sword. He often mentions his having been at Braddock's defeat Henry
Obeale, his son, he sent to be educated among the whites. He became a
drunkard on returning to his home, and is now discai^ded by his father.

Corn-plant has other sons ; but he says no more of tliera shall be educated
among the whites, for he says, " It entirely spoil Indian." And although he
countenances Christianity, he does not do it, it is thought, from a belief of
it, but probably from the same motives as too many whites do. X

The following story, M. Bayard says,§ was told him by Corn-planter. We
have often heard a similar one, and as often a new origin ; but never before

that it originated with William Penn. However, as om- author observes, as

we have more respect for truth than great names, ^ve will relate it. Penn
proposed to the Lidians to sell him as much land as he could encompass
with the hide of a bullock. They, supposing he meant only what ground
would be covered by it, when it was spread out, and looking upon what
was offered as a good price, consented to the proposition. Penn, like Didon,

cut the skin into a line of immense length, to the astonishment of the vend-

ers, who, in silent indignation, religiously observed dieir contract The
quantity of land encompassed by the line is not mentioned ; but, more or

less, the Indians had passed their word, and they scorned to break it, even

* Formerly called Obaletown. See Pa. Gaz. 1792, and Staniury's Jour.

i Amer. Register for 1816, vol ii. 226, &c.
j Veibal account of E. T. Fooie, Esq. of Chatauque co. N. Y. who possesses muc»

valuable information upon matters of this kind,

j Voyage dans Vlntirieur des Etats-Utris, et cet. ps. 206. 207.
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though they would have been justified by the discovery of the fraud. We
do uot vouch for the ti-uth of this matter, nor do we believe William Penn
ever pi-actised a trick of the kind. No doubt some person did ; and perhaps
Corn-planter had been told that it was Penn.
We have now to record the death of the venerable Corn-plant. lie died

at his residence on the Seneca resei-vation, on the 7th of Marcli last. ISid
aged upwards of 100 years.

Teaslaegee, or Charles Corn-planter, was a party to the treaty of Mosconv ,

N. Y. iii 1823. He was probably a son of Koeentwahk, or Gyantwaia.

CHAPTER VII.

ECUMSEH

—

His great exertions to prevent the tchites from overrunning his rountry—
His expedition on Hacker's Creek— Cooperation of his brother, the Prophet—Rise of
the difficulties between Tecumseh and Governor Harrison

—

Speech of the former in
a council at Vincennes—Fearful occurrence in that council—Winnemak—Tecumseh
visited by Governor Harrison at his camp—Determination of war the result of the

intervieic on both sides— Characteristic anecdote of the chief—Determines, in the

event of war, to prevent barbarities—Battle of Tippecanoe—Battle of the Thames,
and death of Tecumseh—Description of his person—Important events in his life—
PuKEESHENO,/rti/ier of Tecumseh—His death—Battle of Magaugo—Specimen of
the Shawa7iee language—Particular account of Ellskwatawa, or the Prophet—
.Account of Round-head— Capture and massacre of Geiieral Winchester's army at

the River Raisin—Myeerah, or the Crane, commonly called Walk-in-the-Watek—Teyoninhokerawen, or John Norton—Logan the Shawanee—Black-bird—
Massacre at Chicago—Wawnahton—Black-thunder—Ongpatonga, or Big-elk—Petalesharo—Mete A.

TECUMSEH, by birth a Shawanee, and brigadier-general in the army of
Great Britain, in the war of 1812, was born about 1770, and, like his greiit

prototype, Pontetacom, the Wampanoag, seems always to ha\e niaile his

aversion to civilization appear a prominent trait in his character ; and it is

not presumed that he joined the Biitish army, and received the red sash and
other badges of office, because he was fond of imitating the whites ; but he
employed theiii, more probably, as a means of inspiring his countrymen with
that respect and veneration for himself which was so necessary in the work
of expulsion, which he had undertaken.
The fii-st exploit in which we find Tecumseh engaged was upon a branch

of Hacker's Creek, in May, 1792. With a small band of warriors, he came
upon the family of John Waggoner, about dusk. They found Waggoner
a short distance fi-om his house, sitting upon a log, resting himself after the

fatigues of the day. Tecumseh directed his men to capture the family, while
himself was engaged with Waggoner. To make sure work, he took deliberate

aim at him with his rifle ; but fortunately he did not even wound him, though
the ball passed next to his skin. Waggoner threw himself off the log, and
ran with all his might, and Tecumseh followed. Having the advantage of an
accurate knowledge of the ground, Waggoner made good his escape. Mean-
while his men succeeded in carrying off the family, some of whom they bar-

barously murdered. Among these were Mrs. Waggoner and two of her
children. Several of the children remained a long time with the Indians.

This persevering and extraordinary man had made himself noted and con-
sj)icuous in the war which terminated by the treaty of Greenville, in 1795.

He was brother to that famous impostor well known by the name of the

Prophet, and seems to have joined in his views just in season to prevent his

felling into entire disrepute among his own followers. His princijial })lace

of rendezvous was near the confluence of the Tippecanoe with the Wabash,
upon tlie north bank of the latter. This tract of country was none of his

but had been possessed by his brother the Prophet, in 1808, with a motley
band of about 1000 young warriors from among the Shawaneso, Dela-

wares, Wyaiidots, Potowatomies, Ottowas, Kikkapoos and Chippeways. The
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iMiamies were very much opposed to this hitriisiou into tlieu' country, but
were not powerful enough to repel it, and many of their chiefa were put to
death in the most barbarous manner, for remonstrating against their conduct.
The maladministration of the Prophet, however, in a short time, very much
reduced his numbers, so that, in about a year, his followers consisted of but
about 300, and these in the most miserable state of existence. Their Iiahits

liad been such as to bring famine upon them; and but for the provisions
furnished by General Harrison, from Vincennes, starvation would doubtless
have ensued.* At this juncture, Tecumseh made his appeai'ance among
them

; and although in the character of a subordinate chief, yet it was known
that he directed every thing afterwards, although in the name of the Prophet.
His exertions now became immense to engage every tribe upon the continent
in a confederacy, with the open and avowed object of arresting the progress
of the Avhites.

Agreeably to the direction of the government, Governor flarrison purchased
of the Delawares, Miamies, and Pottowatomies, a large tract of country on
both sides of the Wabash, and extending up the river 60 miles above Vin-
ct'nnes. This was in 1809, about a year after the Prophet settled witii his colony
upon the Wabash, as before stated. Tecumseh was absent at this time, and
his brother, the Prophet, was not considered as having any claim to the coun-
try, being there without the consent of the Miamies. Tecumseh did not view
it in this light, and at his return was exceedmgly vexed with those chiefs

who had made the conveyance ; many of whom, it is asserted, he threatened
with death. TecumseKs displeasure and dissatisfaction reached Governor
Harrison, who despatched a messenger to him, to state " that any claims he
might have to the lands which had been ceded, were not affected by the
treaty; that he might come to Vincennes and exhibit his pretensions, and if

they were found to be solid, that the land would either be given up, or an
ample compensation made for it."f This, it must !)« confessed, was not in a
strain calculated to soothe a mighty mind, when once justly irritated, as was
that of Tecumseh. However, upon tiie 12 August, 1810, (a day which cannot
fail to remind the reader of' the fate of his great archetype, Philip, of Pokan-
oket,) he met the governor in council at Vincennes, with many of his war-
riors ; at which time he spoke to him as follows :

—

" It is true I am a Shawanee. My foreflithers were warriors. Their son is

a warrior. From them I only take my existence ; from my tribe I take notic-

ing. I am the maker of my own fortune ; and oh ! that I could make that

of my red people, and of my country, as great as the conceptions of my
mind, when I think of the Spirit that rules the universe. I would not then
come to Governor Harrison, to ask him to tear the treaty, and to obliterate

the landniark ; but I would say to him. Sir, you have liberty to return to

your own country. The being within, communing with past ages, tells me,
that once, nor until lately, there was no white man on this continent. That
it then all belonged to red men, childi-en of the same parents, placed on it by
the Great Spirit that made them, to keep it, to traverse it, to enjoy its produc-
tions, and to fill it with the same race. Once a happy race. Since made
miserable by the white people, who are never contented, but always encroach-
ing. The way, and the only way to check and to stop this evil, is, for all the
red men to unite in claiming a common and equal right in the land, as it was
at first, and should be yet ; for it never was divided, but belongs to all, for the

use of each. That no part has a right to sell, even to each other, much less

to strangers ; those who want all, and will not do with less. The white peo-
ple have no right to take the land from the Indians, because they had it first

;

it is theirs. They may sell, but all must join. Any sale not made by all is

not valid. The late sale is bad. It was made by a part only. Part do not
know how to sell. It requires all to make a bargain for all. All red men
have equal rights to the unoccupied land. The right of occupancy is as

good in one place as in another. There cannot be two occupations in the

same place. The first excludes all othei's. It is not so in hunting or travel-

ling; for there the same ground will serve many, as they may follow each

* Memoirs of Harrison. t M'Afce.
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other all day ; but the camp is stationary, and that is occupancy. It belouga

to the first who sits down on his blanket or skins, which he has thrown upon
the ground, and till he leaves it no other has a right." *

How near this is to the original is unknown to us, but it appears too much
Americanized to correspond witli our notions of Tecmnseh ; nevertheless it

may give the true meanuig. One important paragraph ought to be added,

which we do not find in the author from which we have extracted the above
;

which was, "that the Americans had driven them from the sea-coasts, and
that they would shortly push them into the lakes, and that they were deter-

mined to make a stand where they were." f This language forcibly reminds

us of what the ancient Britons said of their enemies, when they besought aid

of the Romans. " The barbarians (said they) drive us to the sea, and the sea

beats us back upon them ; between these extremes we are exposed, eitJier to

be slain with the sword, or drowned in the waves." X

Tecuviseh, having thus explained his reasons against the validity of the

purchase, took his seat amidst his warriors. Governor Harrison, in his reply,

said, " that the white people, wlien they arrived upon this continent, had
found the Miamies in the occupation of all the country on the Wabash, ami
at that time the Shawanese were residents of Georgia, from which they

were driven by the Creeks. That the lands had been purchased from the

Miamies, who were the true and original owners of it. That it was ridicu-

lous to assert that all the Indians were one nation ; for if such had been the

intention of the Great Spirit, he would not have put six different tongues

into their heads, but have taught them all to speak a language that all could

understand. That the Miamies found it for their interest to sell a part of

their lauds, and receive for them a further annuity, the benefit of which they

had long experienced, from the punctuality with which the seventeen fires

[the seventeen United States] complied with their engagements ; and that the

Shawanese had no right to come from a distant country and control the

Miamies in the disposal of their own property." The governor then took

his seat, and the interpreter proceeded to explain to Tecumseh what he had

said, who, when he had nearly finished, suddenly interrupted him, and ex-

claimed, " It is all false

;

" at the same time giving to his warriors a signal,

tjiey seized their war clubs, and sprung upon their feet, from the green grass

on which they had been sitting. The governor now thought himself in im-

minent danger, and, freeing himself from his arm-chair, drew his sword, and

prepared to defend himself. He was attended by some officers of his gov-

ernment, and many citizens, more numerous than the Indians, but all unarmed

;

most of whom, however, seized upon some weapon, such as stones and clubs.

Tecumseh continued to make gestures and speak with great emotion ; and a

guard of 12 armed men stationed by the governor in the rear were ordered

up. For a few minutes, it was expected blood would be shed. Major G. B.

Floyde, who stood near the governor, drew his dirk, and Winnemak cocked his

pistol, which he had ready primed; he said Tecumseh had threatened his

life for having signed the treaty and sale of the disputed land. A Mr. Winas,

the Methodist minister, ran to the governor's house, and, taking a gun, stood

in the door to defend the family.

On being informed what Tecumseh had said, the governor repliec to him,

that " he was a bad man—that he would have no further talk with him—that

he nuist return to his camp, and set out for his home immediately." Thus
ended the conference. Tecumseh did not leave the neighborhood, but, the

next morning, having reflected upon the impropriety of his conduct, sent to

the governor to have the council renewed, and apologized for the afFiont

offered ; to wliich the governor, after some time, consented, having taken the

precaution to have two additional companies of armed men in readiness, in

case of insult.

Having met a second time, Tecumseh was asked whetlicr he had any other

grounds, than those he had stated, by which he could lay claim to the land

in (piestion ; to which he re])lie(l, " No other." Here, then, was an end of

all argument. The indignant soul of Tecumseh could not but be enraged at

* Hist. Kentucky. t ftlem. Harrison. X Seller's Englaml.
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the idea of an " equivalent for a country," or, what meant the same thing, a
compensation for land, which, often repeated, as it had been, would soon amount
to a country ! " The behavior of Tecumseh, at this interview, was very differ-

ent from what it had been the day before. His deportment ^vas dignified
and collected, and he showed not the least disposition to be insolent. He
denied having any intention of attacking the governor, but said !ie had been
advised by white men " * to do as he had done ; that two white men had visited
him at his place of residence, and told him that half the white people were op-
posed to Governor Hanison, and willing to relinquish the land, and told him
to advise the tribes not to receive pay for it ; for that the governor would be
soon put out of office, and a " good man " sent in his place, who would give up
the land to the Indians. The governor asked him whether he would prevent
the sm-vey of the land : he replied that he was determined to adhere to the
old boundary. Then arose a Wyandot, a Kikkapoo, a Pottowattomie, an
Ottowas, and a Winnebago chief, each declaring his determination to stand
by Tecumseh, whom they had chosen their chief. After the governor had
informed Tecumseh that his words should be truly reported to the presi-
dent, alleging, at tlie same time, that he knew the land would not be re-
linquished, and that it would be maintained by the sword, the council
closed.

The governor wished yet to prolong the interview, and thought that,

possibly, Tecumseh might appear more submissive, should he meet him in

his own tent. Accordingly he took with him an interpreter, and visited

the chief in his camp the next day. The governor was received with kind-
ness and attention, and Tecumseh conversed with him a considerable time.

On being asked by the governor if his determination really was as he had
expressed himself in the council, he said, " Yes ; " and added, " that it was
with great reluctance he \voukl make war with the United States—against
whom he had no other complaint, but their purchasing the Lidians' land

;

that he was extremely anxious to be their friend, and if he (the governor)
would prevail upon the president to give up the lands lately purchased, and
agree never to make another treaty, without the consent of all the tribes, he
would be then- faithful ally, and assist them in all their wars with the English,"
whom he knew were always treating the Indians like dogs, clapping their

hands and hallooing stu-boy ; that he would much rather join the seventeen
fires ; but if they would not give up said lands, and comply with his request
in other respects, he would join the English. When the governor told him
there was no probability that the president would comply, he said, "Well, as
the great chief is to determine the matter, I hope the Great Spirit will put
sense enough into his head, to induce him to direct you to give up this land.

It is true, he is so far off he will not be injm-ed by the war. He may sit still

in his town, and drink his wine, whilst you and I will have to fight it out."

He had said before, when asked if it were his determination to make war
unless his terms were complied with, " It is my determination ; nor toill I give
rest to my feet, until I have united all the red men in the like resolution.^

Thus is exliibited the determined character of Tecumseh, in which no
duplicity appears, and whose resentment might have been expected, when
questioned, again and again, upon the same subject. Most religiously did he
prosecute this plan; and could his extraordinary and wonderful exertions be
known, no fiction, it is believed, could scarcely surpass the reality. The
tribes to the west of the Mississippi, and those about Lakes Superior and
Huron, were visited and revisited by him previous to the year 1811. He had
raised in these tribes the high expectation that they should be able to drive

the Americana to the east of the Ohio. The famous Blue-jacket was as san-

guine as Tecumseh, and was his abettor in imiting distant tribes.

The following characteristic circumstance occurred at one of the meet-
ings at Vincennes. After Tecumseh had made a speech to Governor Har-
rison, and was about to seat himself in a chair, he obsei"ved that none had
been placed for him. One was immediately ordered by the governor, and,

as the interpreter handed it to him, he said, "Your father requests you to take

* Memoirs of Harrison.



620 TECUMSEH.—BATTLE OF TIPPECANOE. [Book V

a chair." ^^My father 'i'''' says Tecumseh, with great indignity of expression,
" the sun is myfather, and the earth is my mother ; and on her bosom I will repose

;

'

and immediately seated himself, in the Indian manner, upon the ground.*

The fight at Tippecanoe followed soon after. This affair took place in the

night of Nov. 6, 1811, in which 62 Americans were killed, and 126 wounded.

Tecumseh was not in this fight, but his brother, the Prophet, conducted or

ordered the attack. During the action, he was performing conjurations on

an eminence not far off", but out of danger. His men displayed great bravery,

and the fight was long and bloody. Harrison lost some of his bravest offi-

cers. The late Colonel Snelling, of Boston, then a captain, was in this fight,

and took prisoner with his own hands an Indian chief, the only Indian taken

by the Americans. The name of the captured chief we do not learn, but

from his fear of being taken for a Shawanee, it is evident he was not of that

tribe. When he was seized by Capt. Snelling, he ejaculated, with hurried

accents, " Good man, me no Shaiuanee." f The chiefs White-lion [ Wapamangiva,)

Stone-ecder [Sanamahhonga,) and Winnemak, were conspicuous at this time.

The latter had been the pretended friend of the governor, but now appeared

his enemy. He was killed the next year by the lamented Logan.
Just before hostilities commenced, in a talk Governor Harrison had with

Tecumseh, the former expressed a wish, if war must follow, that cruelty to

prisoners should not be allowed on either side. Tecumseh assured him that

he would do all in his power to prevent it ; and it is believed he strictly

adhered to this resolution. Indeed, we have one example, which has never

been called in question, and is worthy the great mind of this chief. When
Colonel Dudley was cut off", and near 400 of his men, not far from Fort Meigs,

by falling into an ambush, Tecumseh arrived at the scene of action when the

Americans could resist no longer. He exerted himself to put a stop to t!ie

massacre of the soldiers, which was then going on ; and meeting with a

Chippeway chief who would not desist by persuasion nor threats, he buried

his tomahawk in his head. \

It is said that Tecumseh had been in almost every important battle with the

Americans, from the destruction of General Harvier's army till his death upon

the Thames. He was under the direction of General Proctor, in this last

gi-eat act of his life, but was greatly dissatisfied with his course of proceed-

ings, and is said to have remonstrated against retreating before the Americans
in"very pointed terms. Perry^s victory had just given the Americans the

command of Lake Erie ; and immediately after, Proctor abandoned Detroit,

and marched his majesty's army up th^ River Thames, accompanied by Gen-
eral Tecumseh, with about 1500 warriors. Hariison overtook them near the

Moravian town, Oct. 5, 1813, and, after a bloody battle with the Indians,

routed and took prisoners nearly the whole British army; Proctor saving

himself only by flight. After withstanding almost the whole force of the

Americans for some time, Tecumseh received a severe wound in the arm, but

continued to fight with desperation, until a shot in the head from an unknown
hand laid him prostrate in the thickest of the fight. § Of his warriors 120

were leff upon the field of battle.

Thus fell Tecumseh, in the forty-fourth year of his age. He was about five

feet ten inches in height, of a noble appearance, and a perfectly symmetrical

form. "His carriage was erect and lofty—his motions quick—his eyes pen-

etrating—his visage stern, with an air of hauteur in his countenance, which
arose from an elevated pride of soul. It did not leave him even in death."

He is thus spoken of by one who knew him.

At the battle of the Thames, a chief by the name of Shane sei-ved as a

yiuide to Colonel Johnson's regiment. He informs us that he knew Tecumseh
Well, and that he once had had his thigh broken, which not being properly

set, caused a considerable ridge in it always after. This was published in a

Kentucky newspaper, lately, as necessary to prove that the Indian killed by-

* Schoolcraft. t Information of his son, W. J. Snelling, Esq. of Boston.

t James, i. •mX—Perkins, 221.

f\
The story that he fell in a personal rencounter with Colonel Johnson, must no longer be

ieved. Facts are entirely opposed to such a conclusion. Indeed, we cannot learn that

Ihe colonel ever claimed the honor of the achievement.
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Colonel Johnson was Tecumseh. From the same paper it would seem, that,

even on the day of battle, it was doubted by some whether the chief killed

were Tecumseh, and that a critical inquest was held over his body; and
although it was decided to be he, yet to the fact that the colonel killed him,

there was a demur, even then. But, no doubt, many were willing it should

so pass, thinking it a matter of not much consequence, so long as Tecumseh,
their most dreaded enemy, was actually slain ; and, perhaps, too, so near the

event, many felt a delicacy in dissenting from the report of Colonel Johnson^s

friends ; but when time had disjjelled sucii jealousy, those came out frankly

with their opinion, and hence residted the actual truth of the case,

Thiit the American soldiers should have dishonored themselves, after their

victory, by outraging all decency by acts of astonishing ferocitj^and barbarity

upon the lifeless body of the fallen chief, is grievous to mention, and cannot
meet with too severe condemnation. Pieces of his skin were taken away by
some of them as mementoes !

* He is said to have borne a personal enmity to

General Harrison, at this time, for having just befoi-e destroyed his family.

The celebrated speech, said to have been delivered by the great "Shawanese
warrior" to General Proctor, before the battle of the Thames, is believed by
many not to be genuine. It may be seen in every history of the war, and
every periodical of that day, and not a few since, even to this. Therefore we
omit it here. The speech of Logan, perhaps, has not circulated wider.

Another, in our opinion, more worthy the mighty mind nf Tecumseh, pulilished

in .! work said to be written by one who heard it,f is now generally (on the

authority of a public jom-nal |) discarded as a fiction.

Among the skirmishes between the belligerents, before General Hull sur-

rendered the north-western ai'my, Tecumseh and his Indians acted a con-
spicuous part.

Maiden, situated at the junction of Detroit River with Lake Erie, was
considered the Gibraltar of Canada, and it was expected that General HulVs
first object would be to possess himself of it. In a movement that way,
Colonel M^Arthur came very near being cut off by a party of Indians led by
Tecumseh. About 4 miles from Maiden, he found a bridge in possession of a
body of the enemy; and although the bridge was carried by a force under
Colonel Cass,§ in effecting which, 11 of the enemy were killed, yet it seems,
that in a " few days afterwards " the}' were in possession of it again, and
again the Americans stood ready to repeat the attack. It was in an attempt
to reconnoitre, that Colonel M''Arthur "advanced somewhat too near the

enemy, and narrowly escaped being cut off from his men"|| by several

Indians who had nearly prevented his retreat.

Major Vanhorn was detached on the 4 August from Aux Canards, with 200
men, to convoy 150 Ohio militia and some provisions from the River Raisin.

In his second day's march, near Brownstown, he fell into an ambush of 70
Indians under Tecumseh, who, firing upon him, killed 20 men ; among whom
Avere Captains M''Culloch,*^ Bostler, Gilcrease,** and Ubry : 9 more were
wounded. The rest made a precipitate retreat.

Major Vanhorn having failed in his attempt. Colonel Miller was sent on
the 8th of August, with 600 men to protect the same provisions and trans-

ports. The next day, August 9th, about 4 o'clock in the afternoon, the van-
guard, commanded by Captain Snelling, was fired upon by an extensive line

of British and Indians, at the lower end of the village of Magaugo, 14 miles
fi-om Detroit. The main body was half a mile in the rear when the attack

began. Captain Snellins; maintained his position in a most gallant manner,
under a heavy fire, until the line was formed and advanced to his relief.

The force against which the Americans were now contending was made uf

* We have often heard it said, but whether in truth we do not aver, that there are those

who still own razor straps made of it. /
t John Dunn Hunter. % North American Review.

§ Since g-ovemor of Michigan, and iinw secretary of war.

II
Brackenridge, Hist. War, 31.

IT In this officer's pocket, it is said, was found a letter wriiten for his wife, giving an
account of his having' killed an Indian, from whose head he tore the scalp with his teeth.

** Cfilchrist, commonly written.
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••^-©f a body of 500 Indians undei- Tecumseh, Walk-in-the-wattr, Marpot, and the
'>ince famous Black-hawk, and a considerable number of whites under Major
Muir. They were formed behind a breastwork of felled trees. When
Colonel Miller had brought his men into line, the enemy sprang from then-

hiding-places, and formed in line of battle, and a fierce and appalling strife

ensued. The British and Indian force was one third greater than the Ameri-
can, but nothing could withstand them, whon led on by such officers as
Miller and Snelling, and the ground was disputed inch by inch for neai-

two miles, to the village of Browustown. Here the British took to their

boats, and the Lidians to the woods, and thus tlie battle closed. It was owing
to a disobedience of orders on the part of the cavalry, that the British
escaped entire destruction ; for Colonel Miller ordered them to rush upon
them and cut them up when their guns were unloaded, and their ranks were
in confusion, but they would not, although Captain Snelling offered to lead
them in person. In this affair the Indians and British lost 100 killed and
200 wounded, and the AnT,ericans had 18 killed and 58 wounded.*
A British writer upon the late war, f after having related the battle of the

Thames, in which Tecumseh fell, says : " It seems extraordinary that General
Harrison should have omitted to mention, in his letter, the death of a chief,

whose fall contributed so largely to break down the Indian spirit, and to give
peace and security to the whole north-western frontier of the U. States.

Tecumseh, although he had received a musket-ball in the left arm, was still

seeking the hottest of the fire," when he received the mortal wound in the
head, of which he in a few moments expired. The error, which for some
time prevailed, of his being shot by Colonel Johnson, is copied into this author's

work. The following descriptions, though in some respects en-oneous, are
of sufficient value to be preserved.

Tecumseh was endowed "witli more than the usual stoutness, possessed all

the agility and perseverance, of the Indian character. His carriage wa&
dignified ; his eye penetrating ; his countenance, which, even in death, be-
trayed the indications of a lofty spirit, rather of the sterner cast. Had he not
possessed a certain austerity of manners, he could never have controlled the

wayward past^ions of those who followed him to battle. He was of a silent

habit ; but, when his eloquence became roused into action by the reiterated

encroachments of the Americans,! his strong intellect could supplj' him with
a flow of oratory, that enabled him, as he governed in the field, so to pre-

scribe in the council. Those who consider that, in all territorial questions,

the ablest diplomatists of the U. States are sent to negotiate with the Indians,

will readily appreciate the loss sustained by the latter in the death of their

champion. The Indians, in general, are full as fond as other savages of the

gaudy decoration of their persons ; but Tecumseh was an exception. Clothes
and other valuable articles of spoil had often been his

;
yet he invariably

wore a deerskin coat and pantaloons. He had frequently levied subsidies to,

comparatively, a large amount; yet he preserved little or notliing for hiniselt".

It was not wealth, but glory, that was Tecitmsch's ruling passion. Fatal day !

when the ' Christian people ' first penetrated the forests, to teach the arts of
' civilization ' to the poor Indian. Till then water had been his only beverage,

and himself and his race possessed all the vigor of hardy savages. Now,
no Indian opens his lips to the stream that ripples by his wigwam, while he
has a rag of clothes on his back, wherewith to purchase rum ; and he and
his squaw and his children wallow through the day, in beastly drunkenness.
Instead of the sturdy warrior, with a head to plan, and an arm to execute,

vengeance upon the oppressor of his country, we behold the puny, besotted

wretch, squatting on his hams, ready to bai'ter his countiy, his children, or

hiniselfj for a lew gulps of that deleterious compound, which, far more than
the arms of the United States, [Great Britain and France,] is hastening to

extinguish all traces of his name and character. Tecumseh, himself, in early

life, had been addicted to intemperance ; but no sooner did his judgment

• Sketches of the War, i. 22. Jamrs. i. 287, &c
t As though the English of Canada had never been guil'.y of encroarlimenis I
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deride against, than Lis resolution enabled him to quit, so vile a habit
Beyond one or two gUisses of wine, Ite never afterwards indulged."

It was said not to be Ironi good will to the Americans, that he would not

permit his warriors to exercise any cruelty upon them, wiien fallen into their

power, but from principle alone, Wlien Detroit was taken by the Bntish
and Indians, Tecumseh was in the action at the head of the latter. After the

surrender, Greneral Brock requested him not to allow his Indians to ill-treat

the prisoners ; to which he replied, " JVo ! I despise them too much to meddle

icith them."

Some of the English have said that there were few officers in the U.

States' service so able to command in the field as Tecumseh. This it will not

us behove to question; but it would better have become such speech-
makers, if they had added, " in his peculiar mode of warfare." That he
was a more wily chief than Mishikinakwa, may be doubted ; tliat either had
natural abilities inferior to those of General Wayne, or General Brock, we
see no reason to believe. But this is no argument that they could practise

European warfare as well as those generals. It is obvious, from his inter-

course with the whites, that Tecumseh must have been better skilled in their

military tactics than most, if not all, of his countrymen, whether predecessors

or contemporaries.

A military man,* as we apprehend, says, " He \Tecumseh'\ was an excellent

judge of position, and not only knew, but could point out the localities of

the whole country through which he had passed." " His facility of commu-
nicating the information he had acquired, was thus displayed Ijefore a con-

course of spectators. Previously to General Brock's crossing over to Detroit,

he asked Tecumseh what sort of a country he should have to pass through in

case of his proceeding fai'ther. Tecumseh, taking a roll of elrn-bark, and ex-

tending it on the ground by means of four stones, drew forth his scalping-

knife, and with the point presently etched upon the bark a plan of the coun-
try, its hills, wuods, rivers, morasses, and roads ; a plan which, if not as neat,

was, for the purpose requu'ed, fully as intelligible as if Arrowsmith himself
had prepared it Pleased Avith this unexpected talent in Tecumseh, also with
his having, by his characteristic boldness, induced the Indians, not of his im-
mediate party, to cross the Detroit, prior to the embarkation of the regulars

and militia. General Brock, as soon as the business was over, pubUcly took off

his sash, and placed it round the body of the chief. Tecumseh received the

honor with evident gratification, but was, the next day, seen without his

sash. General Brock, fearing something had displeased the Indian, sent his

interpreter for an explanation. The latter soon returned with an account
that Tecumseh, not wishing to wear such a mark of distinction, when an

older, and, as he said, abler, warrior than himself was present, had transferred

the sash to the Wyandot chief Round-head."
The place of this renowned warrior's birth was upon the banks of the

Scioto River, near what is now Chillicothe. His father's name was Pukeesheno,

which means, / lightfromJlying. He was killed in the battle of Kanhawa, in

1774. His mother's name was Meetheetashe, which signifies, a turtle laying

her eggs in the sand. She died among the Cherokees. She had, at one birth,

three sons :—Ellskwatawa, which signifies, a door opened, was called the

Prophet ; Tecumseh, which is, a tiger crouchingfor his prey ; and Kumskaka, a
tiger that flies in the air. \

We will here present the reader with a specimen of the Shawanee lan-

guage, in the Lord's Prayer.

Coe-thin-a, spim-i-key yea-taw-yan-oe, o-wes-sa-yeg yey-sey-tho-yan-ae : Day-
pale-i-tum-any-pay-itch tha-key, yea-issi-tay-hay-yon-ae issi-nock-i-key, yoe-ma

assis-key-kie pi-sejj spim-i-key. Me-li-na-key oe noo-ki cos-si-kie ta-ioa-it-thin oe

yea-wap-a-ki tuck-tvhan-a ; puck-i-tum-i-toa-loo kne-won-ot-i-they-ivay.
_
Fea-se-

puck-i-tum-a ma-chil-i-tow-e-ta thick-i ma-chaio-ki tvs-sy-neigh-puck-sin-a wa-
mm-si-loo wau po won-ot-i-they ya key-la tay pale-i-tum-any way uns-sa kit

toas-si-ctU-i-we-way thay-pay-ioe-way.X

* Mr James, ut supra. f Schoolcraft. % Carey's Museum, vi. 318, (for 1789.';
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In 1826, the only surviving son of Tecuniseh, whose name is Puchethei,

which signifies crouching or ivatching his prey, left the Ohio to settle beyond
the Mississippi.* This son, when his father was slain, was fighting by his

side. "The prince regent," says Mr. James, "in 1814, out of respect to the

memory to the old, sent out as a present to the young Tecumseh a handsome
sword ;

" and then closes this paragraph with this most savage lamentation :

" Unfortunately, however, for the Indian cause and country, faint are the

j)rospects that Tecumseh the son will ever equal, in wisdom or prowess,

Tecumseh the father." f

ELLSKWATAWA. Although we have given some important facts m
the life of tliis impostor, there are some circumstances which claim to be
related. After the termination of the war of 1812, he received a pension

from the government of Great Britain, and resided in Canada. In 1826, he
was prevailed upon to leave that country, and went, with others, to settle be-

yond tlie Mississippi. At the same time also went the only surviving son of
Tecitniseh.

Much has been said and written about the Prophet; and, as is generally

the case, the accounts vary, in ])roportion to their multiplicity. From a well-

written article in a foreign periodical,^ it is said that, during the fii-st 50 years

of his life, he was remarkable for nothing except his stupidity and intoxica-

tion. In his 50th year, while in the act of lighting his pipe, he f(;ll back in

his cabin, upon his bed ; and, continuing for some time lifeless, to all ap[)ear-

ances, preparations were made for his interment ; and it was not until the

tribe was assembled, as usual on such occasions, and they were in the act of
removing him, that he revived. His first words were, " Don^l be alarmed. I

have seen heaven. Call the nation together, that I may tell them ivhat has ippeared

to ??ie." When they were assembled, he told them that two beautiful young
men had been sent trom heaven by the Great Spirit, who spoke thus to him

:

—The Great Spirit is angi-j^ with you, and will destroy all the red men : unless

you refrain from drunkenness, lying and stealing, and turn yourselves to him,

you shall never enter the beautiful place which we will now show you." He
was then conducted to the gates of heaven, from whence he could behold

all its beauties, hut was not permitted to enter. After undergoing several

hours' tantalization, from extreme desire of participating in its indescribable

joys and pleasures, he was dismissed. His conductors told him to tell all

the Indians what he had seen ; to repent of their ways, and they would visit

him again. My authority says, that, on the Prophefs visiting the neighboring

nations, his mission had a good efl^ect on their morals, &c. But this part of

his story, at least, is at variance with facts ; for none would hear to him, ex-

cept the most abandoned young warriors of those tribes he visited, and their

mist;ra!)le condilion in colonizing themselves upon the Wabash, in 1811, is

well known. '^

There was an earthquake said to have taken place in the Creek country,

in December, 1811.
||

The Prophet visited the Creeks in the previous August,

and " pronounced in the public square, that shortly a lamp would a])pear in

the west, to aid him in his hostile attack upon the whites, and, if they would
not be influenced by his persuasion, the earth would ere long tremble to its

centre. This circumstance has had a powerful effect on the minds of these

Indians, and would certainly have led them, generally, to have united with the

northern coalition, had it not been for the interposition of travellei-s." This

.statement was made by a Mr. Francis MHenry, in the Georgia Journal, to

contradict that ever any such earthquake did take place, and by which we

* Johnson's Iiid. Nar. 217. t Military Occurrences, i. 293

X The New Monthly Maffazine.

\ This famous vision of the Prophet will compare in strangeness with that of Keposh,

head chief of tiie Delaware nation, related by Los/ceil, (ii. 114.)' He lay to all appearance

dead for three clays. In his swoon, he saw a man in white robes, who exhibited a catalogue

of the people's sins, and warned him to repent. In 1749, he was about 80 years of ag-e, and

was baptize<l by the name of Solomon. We have related in Book HI. an account of

Sfjuandn's vision ; and others might be mentioned.

11 "The earthquakes, wiiich, in 1811, almost destroyed the town of New Madrid of tlit

Mississippi, were verv sensibly felt on the upper portion of the Missouri country, and occa

sionedmuch superstitious dread amongst the Indians." Long's Expedition, i. 272.
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earn that that part of the superstitious world really believed that it had, and
that places had been actually sunk. The same communicant says, " I luive

only to state that I have comfortably reposed in houses where newspapers
have announced every disappearance of earth." He states also, upon the

authority of "a Mr. Chadbury, aa English gentlcmau, from Quebec," that,

" at the age of 15, this Lidian disappeared from his relatives, and was con-
sidered as finally lost. That he strolled to Quebec, and from Jlience to

Montreal, where, taken as a pilot to Halifax, he remained several years ; and
in this space received an education qualifying him to act the part already

known." The comet of 1811 was viewed by many, throughout the countiy,

as a harbinger of evil, and it was upon this seeming advantage that the

Prophet* seized to frighten his red brethren into his schemes, f

He was said to have been killed on the 18 November, 1812, when the Missis-

sinaway towns were destioj ed on the Wabash by a detacliment under Colonel
Campbell; but this was only a rumor of the day.

ROUND-HEAD was a Wyandot, and fought against the Americans in

the last war. He was verj' conspicuous in the battle at Frenchtown upon
the River Raisin. The Indian force in this affair was about 1000.| General
Winckester''s quarteis were at 1 or 200 yards fi'om the main army when
the fight commenced, and, in an endeavor to render it assistance, was
fallen upon by the Wyandots, and himself and attendants captured.

Round-head seized upon General Winchester with his own hands. It was a

severe cold morning, 22 January, 1813, and the ground was covered with
snow.
Our chief, in a manner truly characteristic, obliged the general to divest

himself of his great coat and all his uniform. With nothing but his shirt

to j)rotect him from the cold. Round-head conducted him to a fire, but not

until he had got on the general's cocked hat, uniform coat, vest, &c. It was
in this condition, that Colonel Proctor found him ; and it was not without

much persu;isicQ that the stern warrior relinquished his important captive

and it was with stil. raore reluctance, that he gave up the uniform, in whic
he had so shore a time to strut about and sliow himself to his countrymen.§

This was a most disastrous expedition for the Americans: 538 were caf

tured, according to the British ac'jor.nt, which does not differ materially fror

the American
; ||

and 300 killed in tlie battle, and massacred by the Indian

immediately atbr.

In Colonel Proctor^s official account of this affair, he speaks in high term,

of the conduct of the Indian chiefs and warriors. His words are :
" The

zeal and courage of the Indian department were never more conspicuous

than on this occasion, and the Indian warriors fought witti their usual

bravery."

Colonel Proctor has been much censured for his conduct at the River Rai-

sin. It was said that he agreed to the terms asked for by General Winchester,

and then paid no attention to their obsei-vance, but rather countenanced the

Indians in their barbarities, thinking thereby to strike the Americans with

dread, that they might be deterred from entering the service in future. But

the British historians say that " the whole of the left division surrendered at

discretion," and not " on condition of their being i)rotected from the savages,

being allowed to retain their private property, and having tlieir side-arms

returned to them," as stated by General Winchester: for, Mr. James adds, "had
tills !,H en the understan(iing, one may siippo.se that some writing would have

been drawn up ; but, indeed. Gen. ffinchester was not in a condition to dictate

terms. Stripped to his shut and trowsers, and suffering exceedingly from

* Lambert, who published three volumes of travels in America in 1810, (London,) in speak-

ing of the Prophet, says, " Thus we find, that prophets are not confined to our own happy

island : hut I make no doubt, thai many of our seated countrymen and countrywomen, who
are running after Joanna Southcolt from one end of the kingdom to the other, will (if ihey

should ever read this speech) turn up their nose at the Indian, and quote a text from Revela-

tions to prove thai he is ^ false prophet." Lambert, i. 396.

t Halcyon Luminary, i. 205, &c. New York, (June,) 1812.

X Perki^ns's Late War, 100. § James, Milit. Occurrences, i. 18

II
Thomson has 322. Hist. Sketches, 104.
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the cold, the American general was found by Col. Proctor, near to one of the

Indian fires, in possession of the Wyandot chief Round-lieadJ"

So, according to the judgment of this historian, Colonel Proctor was imder
no obligation to keep his word, because there was "no writing" with hi?

name to it. The historian that will even set up a defence for treachery maj
calculate with certainty upon the value posterity will set upon his woi-k

We want no other than C(jlonel Proclor^s own account from which to con
demn him of, at least, great want of humanity. We do not pretend that the

Americans were always free from the same charges ; but we would as soon
scorn their extenuation as that of their enemies.
Round-head was jiresent with General Brock and Tecumseh when they took

posses.sion of Detroit, on the 15 August, 1812. When aljout to cross the

river to lay siege to Detroit, General Brock presented Tecumseh with his red

sash. This chief had too much good sense to wear it, well knowing it would
create jealousy among the other chiefs, who considered themselves equal

with him ; he therefore presented it to Round-head, as has been mentioned in

the life of Tecumseh.
Whether this chief were more wise than Tecumseh, in the last affair in

which the latter was engaged, we are unable to say ; but it apj)ears highly

probable that the conduct of General Proctor was the cause of his being
abandoned by most, if not all the Wyandots, previous to the battle of the

Thames.* As Round-head was their chief, to him will be attributed the cause
of their wise proceeding.

The following letter, written after the battle of the River Raisin, (we con-
clude,) is worthy of a place here.

" TVie Hurons, and the other tribes of Indians, assembled at the Miami Rapids,

lo the inhabitants of the River Raisin.—Friends, listen! You have always told tis

you woidd give us any assistance in your power. We, therefore, as the enemy is ap-

proaching us, within 25 miles, call upon you all to rise up and come here immediately,

bringing your arms along ivilh you. Shoidd you fail at this time, tve will not

consider you in future as friends, and the consequences may be very unpleasant.

We are well convinced you have no writingforbidding you to assist us. We are

yourfriends at present.

Round-head fl: his mark.
Walk-in-the-water (|5 his mark, t

"

WALK-IN-THE-WATER also signalized himself in these events. His

native name is Myeerah. He is a Huron, of the tribe of the Wyandots, and,

in 18J7, resided on a reservation in Michigan, at a village called Maguaga,
near Brownstown. M\: Brown, in his valuul)le Western Gazettekr, justly

styles this famous chief one of "nature's nobles." The unfortunate General

Hidl mentions him as one of the principal "among the vast number of chiefs

who led the hostile bands" of the west when the war of 1812 commenced.
The Kaskaskias Wyandots, in 1814, were nearly equally divided between a

chief called Tnrhe, which signifies the Crane, and Myeerah. The fornier was
called the grand chief of the nation, and resided at Sandusky. He was a

very venerable and intelligent chief In 1812, .Myeerah told some American
officers who were sent lo the Indians to secure their liivor, that the American
government was acting very wrong to send an army into their country, which
would cut off their communication vvidi Canada. The Indians, he said, were
their own masters, and would trade where they pleased ; that the affair of the

Wabash was the fault of Geuend Harrison entirely. He commanded the

Indian army with Round-head nt the battle of the River Raisin.

After the battle of the Thanu's, in which also Walk-in-the-water was a con-

spicuous connnander, he went to Detroit to make peace, or rather to ask it of

General Hairison. In crossing from Sandwich with a white flag, many were
attracted to the shore to see him, where also were drawn up the Kentucky
volunteers. All were struck with admiration at his noble aspect and feai'lesB

* General Harrison s otRcial letter, ainon^ Brannan'.i Official Doc. p. 237.
* English Barbarities, 132.
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carrJTige, as he ascended the bank and passed through the ranks of the sol-

diei-s. The greatest firmness attended his steps, and the most dignified non-
chalance was U|)on his countenance, notwitlistanding his condition was now
calculated to discover humiliation and deep depression. Only a few days
before, he had fouglit hand to hand with these same volunteers, whose ranks
he now passed throiigii.

We have not heard of the death of the heroic and truly great chief M}fet-

rah ; but, whether alive or dead, our veneration is the same. It was said of
his contem()orary, Tecumseh, that in the field he was an Achilles, and in the

council an Agamemnon. At least, we think, as much may in truth be said of

Myeerah. The sequel of the life of Tarhe will be found in a former chapter,

where he figures under the name of King Crane. In 1807, a treaty was made
at Detroit between the Ciiippeways, Ottowas, Pottowattomies and Wyandots
and the United States. Two chiefs besides Myeerah signed on behalf of the

last-named tribe. His name to that treaty is written Miere. The next year,

1808, another treaty was made at Brownstown with the same tribes, with the

addition of two delegates from the Shawanees. Three besifies Myeerah
signed at this time. He was also, we believe, a party to the treaty made at

Fort Industry in 1805, on the Miami of the Lake.
Less is known of the histoiy of the two next chiefs, of which we shall say

something, than of many othere less distinguished.

TEYONINHOKERAWEN was a Mohawk chief, who is generally known
under the app I lation of Jo/iri »Yorio?i. "This interesting Indian, about two
years ago, [1804 or .5,] visited England, where numerous traits of an amiable
disposition antl a vigorous intellect produced the most pleasing impressions
on all who were introduced to him. A proof of his possessing, in a

high degree, the qualities of a good temper and great mental quickness, occur-

red at the upper rooms, at Bath, where he appeared in the dress of his counti-y.

A young Englishman, who had been in America, accosted the chief with
several abrupt questions respecting his place of abode, situation, and the

like. To these Morton returned answers at once pertinent and modest. The
inquirer, however, expressed himself dissatisfied with them, and hinted, in

almost plain terms, that he believed him to be an impostor. Still the Amer-
ican suppressed his resentment, and endeavored to convince the gentleman
that this account of himself might be depended upon. ' Well, but,' returned
the other, ' if you really are what you pretend to be, how will you relish re-

turning to the savages of your own coimtry ? ' ' Sir,^ replied Norton, with a

glance of intelligence, ' / shall not experience so great a change in my society as

you imagine, for IJind there are savages in this countn/ also.^ Animated with
the spirit of genuine patriotism, this generous chieftain was unweariedly
occupied, during the intervals of his public business, in acquiring every

species of useful knowledge, for the piu-puse of transporting it to his own
countiy, for the benefit of his p 'ople ; and what the friends to the happiness
of men will hear w th still gretiter admiration and |)l(^asure, he was also en-

gaged, under the auspices of Mr. Wilherforce und Mr. Thornton, in the labori-

ous employment of transla:ing the Gospel of St. John into his native

tongue."* Wliether that published by the American Bible Society be the

same translation, I am not positive, but believe it is. The following is the 3d
verse of Chip. i. Yorischwngwegon ne rode weyenbkden, ok tsi nikon ne kaghson
yagh oghnahhoten teyodna ne ne yagh rannhah te hayadare.

From the London Monthly Re; ository it appears, that JVorfon was educated
"at one of the American universities. There is an excellent portrait of him
presented by the respectaltle Robert Barclay, hung up in the Bath Agricul-

tural Soci ty's great room; for he was made an honorary member while

here." And the same writer adds:—"I have a pamphlet published by him
while in England, entitled ' An addr-ss to the Six Nations,' reconmiending
the Gospel of St. John, one side in English, the other in Mohawk language.

in which are discovered sentences very similar to the Welsh ; for instance.

• Janson's Stranger in America, 278, 4to, London, 1807.
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Indian. O Niyoh toghsa eren tesh^wighe ne sagraciane wahoni.
Welsh. O Nhaw naddug erom dy devishaid grkce am whahani,
English. O God, take not from us thy grace, because we have erred from

tJiy ways." *

Some of the words which seem to be coiresponding and analogous to the
eye, in the two first languages, are not so in meanmg ; in fact there is no
analogy whatever between the Welsh and Indian languages.

In 1808, this chief was the bearer of a long and exceedingly excellent talk

from the Senecas west of tlie Ohio, to the Indians of the interior of Canada,
about 100 miles from Niagara Falls. It was from a Prophet named Skanta-
DARIO.f
We learn also from Mr. Jansen that when Teyoninhokerawen was in Eng-

land, he " appeared to be about 45 years of age ; " tall, muscular, and well pro-
portioned, possessing a fine and intelligent countenance. His mother was a
Scotch woman, and he had spent two years in Edinburgh, in his youth,
namely, from his 13th to his 15th year, read and spoke English and French
welL He was married to a female of his own tribe, by whom l^e had two
children. He served in the last war with the English, as will presently be
related.

Because tliis chief spent a few years in Scotland when young, some his-

torians X have asserted that he was not an Indian, but a Scotchman ; and a
writer § of a sketch of the late Canada war says he was related to the

French. Of this we have no doubt, as it is not uncommon for many of those
who pass for Indians to have white fathers. We should think, therefore,

that, instead of his Diother's being a Scotch Moman, his father might have been
a Frenchman, and his mother an Indian.

Of J^orton^s oxTeyoninhokeraweii's exploits in the last war, there were not

many, we presume, as there are not many recorded. When Col. Murray sur-

prised Fort Niagara, on the 19 Dec. 1813, JVorton entered the fort with him,
at the head of a force of about 400 men.

||
Fort Niagara was garrisoned by

about 300 Americans, of whom but 20 escaped. All who resisted, and some
who did not, were run though with the bayonet. We only know that JVbrfo/i

was present on this occasion.

On the 6 Jime, 1814, General Vincent and .N'orton, with a considerable

force,1I attacked an American camp ten miles fi om Burlington Bay, at a place

called Fifty Mile Creek. The onset was made bt^fore day on a Sunday morn-
ing. The invaders seized upon seven pieces of cannon, and turned them
upon their enemies. The night was veiy dark, and the confusion was veiy
great. The American Generals Chandler and Winder, one major, five cap-
tains, one lieutenant, and 116 men, were taken prisoners. Nevertlieless the

Americans fought with such resolution that the attacking party were obliged
to abandon their advantage, leaving 150 of their number behind them. Thev.
however, carried off two pieces of cannon and some horses.

LOGAN was a great ShaA\'anee chief, who was more brave than fortunate.

He was no connection of Logan of 1774, but was equally great, and, in the
hands of a Jefferson, would have been equally celebrated. Shortly after Gen-
eral Tupper's expedition to the Miami Rapids, Captain James Logan, as he
was called by the English, was sent by General Harrv^on in tlie direction of
those rai)ids, with a small paity of his tribe, to reconnoitre. He met with a
superior force of the enemy near tliat place, by which he was so closely pur-
sued that his men were obliged to break and flee for safety in the true Indian
manner. Logan, with two of his companions, Ca|)tain John and Bright
HORN, arrived safe at General JVincJiestei's camp. When ho gave an account
here of what had happened, accustMs in the army stood ready to charge him
with treachery, and a design of aiding the enemy. He felt the false charge

• Monthly Repository, iii. 715, Lonflon, 1809. f Ibid. 709.

X James, Military Occurrences, ii. 16. § Mr. M- Smith, who lived then in Canada.

II
Some American historians say, "British and Indians;" but Mr. James (ii. 16.) says

there was but one "Indian," and he was a Scotciiman !

IT The number of rank auid file was 704. of llie Americans about 3000.
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with cutting severity, but without any inclination for revenge. On the con-
trary, he determined to prove by some unequivocal announcement that he
was not thus to be taken as a spy.

Accordingly, on 22 November, with the two men above named, he set out,

resolved either to bring in a prisoner or a scalp, or to hazard his life in the
attempt When he had proceeded down the Miami about 10 miles, on the
north side, he met with Captain Elliot, (son of him of infamous memory, before
mentioned in this book of our history,) accompanied by five Indians. As
this party was too strong for Logan and his two brave companions, four of
tliem being on horseback, he therefore determuied to pass them, pretend-
ing to be of the British party, and advanced with confident boldness and a
friendly deportment. But it unfortunately happened, that the noted Winne-
mak, of whom mention has been made in the life of Tecumseh, and who had
fought at the head of the Pottowattomies in the battle of Tippecanoe, knew
him and denounced him as a spy. Logan, however, persisted that he was
the friend of the British, and was then on his way to the Rapids to give in-

formation of the situation of the Americans. Alter conversing a while, he
proceeded on his way, and fVinnemak, with his companions, turned and fol-

lowed with him. Winnemak and his party closely watched the others, and
when they had proceeded about eight miles, he proposed to Captain Elliot to

seize and tie them; but he said it was not necessary, for if they attempted to

escape they could be shot down, or easily rim down with their horses. Lo-
gan, overhearing this, communicated it to his companions, and it was agreed
to make an attack upon them, although they were five to three. Until now,
Logan had intended to go on with them till night, and then escape.

No sooner was the resolution taken than the fight began. When they had
all fired three rounds apiece, the advantage was in favor of the three ; having
driven tlieir adversaries considerable distance, and cut them off from their

horses. Elliot and Winnemak had both fallen mortally wounded, and a young
Ottowa chief was killed. Towai-ds the close of the fight, both Logan and
Bright-horn were badly wounded. As soon as Logan was shot, he ordered a

retreat, and, seizing the enemies' horses, they effected it to Winchester''s cam^.
Captain John escaped unhurt, and after taking the scalp of the Ottowa chief,

followed, himself, and arrived there the next morning.
Logan had now indeed established his reputation, but he lost his lite ! His

wounds proved mortal two days after. In General Winchester''s letter to Gen-
eral Harrison, he says, "More firmness and consummate bravery have seldom
appeared on the military theatre." " He was buried with all the honors due to

his rank, and with sorrow as sincerely and generally displayed as ever I wit-

nessed." Thus wrote Major Hardin to Governor Shelby:—
" His physiognomy was formed on the best model, and exhibited the strong-

est marks of courage, intelligence, good-humor and sincerity. He had been
very serviceable to our cause, by acting as a pilot and a spy. He had gone
with General Hull to Detroit, and with the first Kentucky troops who marched
for the relief of Fort Wayne."

Winnemak, while in conversation with Logan before the fight, declared that

he commanded all the Indians in that quarter; and boasted that he had
caused the massacre of Wells and those who had surrended at the battle of
Chicago, after having gone with Wells, as a friend, to guard the garrison of
t!;at place to Fort Wayne.

In 1786, General Logan, of Kentucky, took Logan, then a boy, prisoner,

and ke])t him some time. After sending him to school till he had acquired

considerable education, he gave him his liberty and his own name. He was
ever afterwards friendly to the whites. His mother was own sister to Tecum-
seh and the Prophet. He said that in the summer preceding his death, lie had
talked a whole night with Tecumseh, ti7ing to persuade him against figliting

against the States ; but Tecumseh urged ,him as strongly to join the British.

His wife (probably before she was known to Logan) was taken prisoner by
Colonel Hardin, in 1789, and had remained in his family until the treaty of
Greenville. In the army Logan had formed an attachment to Major Hardin^

son-in-law of General Logan, whom, before he died, he requested to see that

what was due him for his services should be faithfully paid over to his family

53*
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which was done. His family resided at Wapoghoognata, which was called

Logan's village.*

BLACK-BIRD was a Pottowattomie chief, who made himself notorious bji

the massacre of the gamson of Fort Dearborn. Before it was known in the
western region of the upper lakes, that war had been declared by the United
States, Indian and Canadian forces were collected at several points ready for

the word to be given. That act seems to have been anxiously looked for by the
Indians, as well as some of their advisers, who seem to have been much
better prepared to meet the emergency of war than those who declajed it.

Mackanaw, or as it is generally written, Michillimakinak, was garrisoned

at this time with only 58 effective men, and the first news they had of the
declaration of war was the appearance of 500 Indians and about the same
number of Canadians ready to attack tliem. The fort was therefore surren-
dered by Lieutenant Hanks, on the 17 of July, 1812.

When General Hull heard of the fate of Michillimakinak, he rightly judged
that Fort Dearboi-n, now Chicago, would be the next object of attack. Ac-
cordingly he despatched orders to Captain Heald, then in command there, to

evacuate the place with all haste. But before this message reached him,
Black-bird, with a host of his warriors, was prepared to act according to cir-

cumstances. A large number of the neighboring Indians, who had pre-
tended friendship, hearing that the place was to be evacuated, came there to

receive what could not be carried away.
On the 13 July, Captain Wells, of Fort Wayne, arrived at Fort Dearborn,

with about -30 Miamies, to escort Captain Heald to Detroit. They marched
from the fort on the 15 July, with a guard of Miamies in front, and another
in the rear, under Captain Wells. They marched upon the shore of the lake,

and when they had proceeded about one mile, they discovered Lidians pre-

pared to attack them from behind the high sand-bank which bounded the

beach of the lake. Captain Heald then ascended the bank with his men, and
a fight was immediately begun by the Indians. The Indians being vastly

numerous. Captain Heald saw that it was useless to contend, and immediately
retreated to a small eminence in the adjacent prairie, and not being followed

by the Indians, was out of the reach of their shot. Meantime the Indians
got possession of all their horses and baggage.
The Indians, after a short consultation, made signs for Captain Heald to

advance and meet them. He did so, and was met by Black-bird, who, after

shakmg hands with him, told him, if he would surrender, the lives of the

prisoners should be spared. There was no alternative, and after all their arms
were surrendered, the party was marched back to the Indian encampment,
near the fort, and divided among the different tribes. The next morning,
they burned the fort, and left the place, taking the prisoners with them.
Captain Heald^s force was 54 regulars and 12 militia. In the fight on the

bank of the lake, 26 of regulars and all of the militia were killed; besides,

two women and 12 children. Eleven women and childi'en were among the

captives. Captain Wells and many other officers were killed, and Captain
Heald and his wife were both badly wounded, and were ttdten to the mouth
of the St. Joseph's, where they were taken into the family of an Indian

tradei-. Soon after, Black-bird set out with his warriors for the capture of
Fort Wayne, and Captain Heald hired a Frenchman to take him to Mich-
illimakinak. He was afterwards exchanged. What other successes this

chief had during the war is unknown.
Black-hawk, in speaking of the capture and treatment of Captain Heald

and his men, says,t it was owing to their not keeping their word with the Indians.

The night before the fort was abandoned by the whites, they threw all the

powder tliey could not carry with them into the well, which they had prom-
ised to give them.
The next chiefwe introduce chiefly to illustrate a most extraordinary mode

of doing penance among the nations of the west.

* Taken principally from Niles's Register, and Damall's Narratv

t In his lyif'e, written by iiimself, p. 42.
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WAAVNAHTON,* a bold and fearless diief, of the tribe of Yankton,f
(whose name, translated, is "

fie who charges the. enemy") was considerably
noted in the last war with Canada. " He had," says my author, " killed seven
enemies in battle with his own hand, as the seven war-eagle plumes in his

hair testified, and received nine wounds, as was shown by an equal number
of little sticks arranged in his coal-black hair, and painted in a manner that

told an Indian eye whether they were inflicted by a bullet, knife or tomahawk,
and by whom. At the attack on Fort Sandusky, m the late war, he received

a bullet and three buck shot in his breast, which glanced on the bone, and
passing round under the skin, came out at his back." This, and other ex-

traordinaiy escapes, he made use of, like tlie famous Tuspaquin, two ages
before, to render himself of greater importance among his nation. At this

time he was supposed to be about 30 years of age, of a noble and elegant

appearance, and is still believed to be living. J
Major Long's company considered Waiimahton a very interesting man,

whose acquaintance they cultivated ^vith success in the neighborhood of
Lake Ti-averse. They describe him as upwards of six feet high, and pos-

sessing a countenance that would be considered handsome in any country.

He prepared a feast for the part}', as soon as he knew they were coming to

his village. " When speaking of the Dacotas, we purposely postponed men-
tioning the frequent vows which they make, and their strict adherence to

them, because one of the best evidences which we have collected on this

point connects itself with the character of fVanotan, and may give a favora-

ble idea of his extreme fortitude in enduring pain. In the summer of 1822,

he undertook a journey, from wliich, apprehending much danger on the pait

of the Chippewas, he made a vow to the sun, that, if he returned safe, he
would abstain from all food or drink for the space of four successive days
and nights, and that he would distribute among his people all the property
which he possessed, including all his lodges, horses, dogs, &c. On his return,

wliich happened without accident, he eel 'brated the dance of the sun ; this

consisted in making three cuts through his skin, one on his breast, and one
on each of his arms. The skin was cut in the manner of a loop, so as to per-

mit a rope to pass between the flesh and the strip of skin which was thus
divided from the body. The ropes being passed through, their ends were
secured to a tall vertical pole, planted at about 40 yards from his lodge. He
then began to dance round this pole, at the commencement of this fast, fi'e-

quently swinging himself in the air, so as to be supported merel3'by the cords
whicli were secured to the strips of skin separated from his arms and breast
He continued this exercise with few intermissions during the whole of his

fast, imtil the fourth day about 10 o'clock, A. M., when the strip of skin from
his breast gave way ; notwithstanding which he interrupted not the dance,

although supported merely by his arms. At noon the strip from his left arm
snapped oflf': his uncle then thought that he had suffered enough," and with his

knife cut the last loop of skin, and Wanotan fell down in a swoon, where he
lay the rest of the day, exposed to the scorching rays of the sun. After this he
gave away all his propertj^, and with his two squaws deserted his lodge. To
such monstrous follies does superetition drive her votaries !

In Tanner's Narrative, there is an interesting account of an expedition of
an uncle of Wawnahton, at the head of 200 Sioux, against the Ojibbewas. Waw-
nahton was himself of the party, but he had not then become so distinguished

as he was afterwards. They fell upon a small band of Crees and Assinne-

boins, and after a fight of near a whole day, killed- all the Ojibbewas but one,

the IMtle-dam, two women and one child, about 20 in number. This hap-

pened not far from Pembina, § In 1822, he very much alarmed that post, by
murdering some Assinneboins in its neighborhood.

||

BLACK-THUNDER, or Mackkatananamakee, was styled the celebrated

patriarch of the Fox tribe. He made himselfremembered by many from an

* Wanotan, in Long's Expe I. to St. Peters, i. 448.

t Ynnktoan. (Lnn^. ih. 4(4,) which signifies descended from the fern leaves,

X Facts pulilished !)y tV. J. Smiling, Esq. It is said hy Keating, m Z.<wig-'s Exped i.

448. ihui he was aiioiit '28 vrars of age. This was in 1823.

i Tanmrs Nariaiivc, 138. II
West's Red River Colony, 84.
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excellent speech which he made to the American commissioners, who had
assembled many chiefs at a place called the Portage, July, 1815, to hold a
talk with them upon the state of their affairs

;
particularly as it was believed

by the Americans that the Indians meditated hostilities. x\n American com-
missioner opened the talk, and unbecomingly accused the Indians of breach
of former treaties. The fost chief that answered, spoke with a tremulous
voice, and evidently betrayed guilt, or perhaps fear. Not so with the upright

chief Black-thunder. He felt equally indignant at the charge of the white
man, and the unmanly cringing of the chief who had just spoken. He
began :

—

" My father, restrain your feelings, and hear calmly what I shall say. I

shall say it plainly. I shall not speak with fear and trembling. I have never
injm-ed you, and innocence can feel no fear. I turn to you all, red-skins and
•vhite-skins—where is the man who will appear as my accuser.? Father, I

understand not clearly how things are working. I have just been set at

jberty. Am I again to be plunged into bondage ? Frowns are all around
:ie ; but I am incapable of change. You, perhaps, may be ignorant of what
tell you ; but it is a truth, which I call heaven and earth to witness. It is a

act which can easily be proved, that I have been assailed in almost every

iossible way that pride, fear, feeling, or interest, could touch me—that I have
oeen pushed to the last to raise the tomahawk against you ; but all in vain. I

never could be made to feel that you were my enemy. If this be the conduct

of an enemy, I shall never he your friend. You are acquainted with my re-

moval above Prairie des Chiens.* I went, and formed a settlement, and called

my warriors around me. We took counsel, and from that counsel we never

have departed. We smoked, and resolved to make common cause with the

U. States. I sent you the pipe—it resembled this—and I sent it by the Mis-

souri, that the Indians of the Mississippi might not know what we were doing.

You received it. I then told you that your friends should be my friends

—

that your enemies should be my enemies—and that I only awaited your signal

to make war. If this be the conduct of an enemy, I shall never be yourfriend.—
Why do I tell you this? Because it is a truth, and a melancholy truth, that

the good things which men do are often buried in the ground, while their evil

deeds are stripped naked, and exposed to the world, f—When I came here, I

came to you in friendship. I little thought I should have had to defend my-
«:elf. I have no defence to make. If I were guilty, I should have come pre-

pared ; but I have ever held you by the hand, and I am come without ex-

cuses. If I had fought against you, I would have told you so : but I have noth-

ing now to say here in your councils, except to repeat what I said before to

my great father, the president of your nation. You heard it, and no doubt

remember it. It was simply this. My lands can never be surrendered ; I

was cheated, and basely cheated, in the contract; I will not surrender my
country but with my life. Again I call heaven and earth to witness, and I

smoke this pipe in evidence of my sincerity. If you are sincere, you will

receive it from me. My only desire is, that we should smoke it together

—

that I should grasp your sacred hand, and I claim for myself and my tribe

the protection of your country. When this pipe touches your lip, may it

operate as a blessing upon all my tribe.

—

May the smoke rise like a cloud, and
carry away tvith it all the aniinosities which have arisen between us." |

I'he issue of this council was amicable, and, on the 14 Sept. foUoviing,

Black-thunder met commissioners at St. Louis, and executed a treaty of

peace.
ONGPATONGA, § or, as he was usually called, Big-elk, was chief of the

Maha9, or Omawhaws, whose residence, in 1811, was upon the Missouri.
||
Mr.

* The upper military post upon the Mississippi, in 1818.

t
" This passage forcioly reminds us of that in Shakespeare :"

' The evil that men do lives after them
;

The good is often interred with their bones."

t Philadelphia Tiit. Gazette.

§ Ons;iie-pon-we , in Iroquois, was "men surpassing all others." Hist. Five Nations.

II

" 'I^he O'Mahas, in number 2250, not long ago, abandoned their old village on the south
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Brackenridge visited his town on tlie 19 31ay of tliat year, in his voyage u])

that river. His " village is situated about tliree miles li-om the river, aiid con-
tains about 3000 souls, and is 836 miles from its mouth."* We shall give

here, as an introduction to him, the oration he made over the grave of Black

huffalo, a Sioux chief of the Teton tribe, who died on the night of the 14

July, 1811, at " Portage des Sioux," and of wliora Mr. Brackenridge remarks: i

" The Black-buffalo was the Sioux chief with whom we had the conference at

the great bend ; and, from his appearance and mild deportment, I was induced
to form a high opinion of him." After being interred with honors of war,
Ongpatonga spoke to those assembled as follows :—" Do not grieve. Misfor-
tunes will happen to the wisest and best men. Death Avill come, and always
comes out of season. It is the command of the Great Spirit, and all nations

and people must obey. What is passed, and cannot be prevented, should not

be grieved for. Be not discouraged or displeased then, that in visiting your
father I here, [the American commissioner,] you have lost your chief A mis-
fortune of this kind may never again befall you, but this would have attended
you perhaps at your own village. Five times have I visited this land, and
never returned with sorrow or pain. Misfortunes do not flourish particularly

in our path. They grow every where. What a misfortune for me, that I

could not have died this day, instead of the chief that lies before us. The
trifling loss my nation would have sustained in my death, would have been
doubly paid for by the honors of my buri d. They would have wiped off*

evei-y thing like regret. Instead of being covered with a cloud of sorrow, my
wan-iors would have felt the sunshine ofjoy in their Iiearts. To me it would
have been a most glorious occurrence. Hereafter, when I die at home, instead

of a noble grave and a grand procession, the rolling music and the thundering
cannon, with a flag waving at my head, I shall be wrapped in a robe, (an old

robe perhaps,) and hoisted on a slender scaffold to the whistling winds,§soou
to be blown down to the earth

; ||
my flesh to be devoured by the wolves, and

my bones rattled on the plain by the wild beasts. Chief of the soldiers, [ad-

tlressing Col. Millei;] your labors have not been in vain. Your attention shall

not be forgotten. My nation shall know the respect that is paid over the
dead. When I return, I will echo the sound of yom- guns."

Dr. Morse saw Ongpatonga at Washington in the winter of 1821, and dis-

coursed with him and Ishkatappa, chief of the republican Paunees, " on the

subject of their civilization, and sending instructors among them for that

purpose." The doctor has printed the conversation, and we are sorry to

acknowledge that, on reading it. Big-elk suffers in our estimation ; hut his

age must he his excuse. When he was asked who niade the red and white
people, he answered, "The same Being who maile the white people, made
tJie red people ; brd the white are better than the red people." This acknowledg-
ment is too degrading, and does not comport with the general character of the
American Indians. It is not, however, very sm-prising that such an expression
should escape an individual surrounded, as was Ongpatonga, by magnificence,
luxury, and attention from the great.

Big-elk was a party to several treaties made between his nation and the

United States, previous to his visit to Washington in 1821.

PETALESHAROO was not a chief, but a brave of the tribe of the Pau-
nees. (A brave is a warrior who has distinguished himself in battle, and is

next in importance to a chiefA) He was the son of Letelesha, a famous chief,

commonly called the Knife-chief, or Old-knife. When Major Long and his

company travelled across the continent, in 1819 and '20, they became ac-

quainted with Petalesharoo. From several persons who were in Long's

side of llic Missoun, and now dwell on the Elk-horn River, due west from their old village

80 miles west-north-west from Council Bluffs." Morse's Indian Report, 231.
* Brackenridg-e, tit sup. 91. t Jour, up the Missouri, 240.

i Governor Edwards or Colonel Miller.

§ II is a custom to e.\pose the dead upon a scaffold among some of the tribes cf the west

See Brackenridge, Jour., 186. ', Pike's Expedition ; Long's do.

II
The engraving at the commencement of Book II. illustrates this passage.

^ Long's Expedition, i. 356 ; and Dr. Morsf'x Indian Report, 247.
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company, Dr, Morse collected the particulur of him which he gives in Iiia

INDIAN Report as an auecdote.

la the winter of 1821, Petrdesharoo visited Washington, being one of a

deputation from his nation to the American government, on a biisiiiess

matter.

This brave was of elegant form and countenance, and was attired, in iiis

visit to Washington, as represented in the engi-aving. In 1821, he was
about 25 years of age. At the age of 21, he was so distinguished by bis

abilities and prowess, that he was called the " bravest of the braves." But few
years previous to 1821, it was a custom, not only with his nation, but those

adjacent, to torture and burn captives as sacrifices to the great Star. In an
expedition performed by some of his countrymen against the Iteans, a female

was taken, who, on then- return, was doomed to suffer according to their

usages. She was fastened to the stake, and a vast crowd assembled upon
the adjoining plain to witness the scene. This brave, unobserved, had sta-

tioned two fleet horses at a small distance, and was seated among the crowd,

as a silent spectator. All were anxiously waiting to enjoy the spectacle of
the fii'st contact of the flames with their victim ; when, to their astonishment,

a brave was seen rending asunder the cords which bound her, and, with the

swiftness of thought, bearing her in his arms beyond the amazed multitude

;

where placing her upon one horse, and mounting himself upon the other,

he bore lier off safe to her fi'iends and country. This act would have endan-
gered the life of an ordinary chief; but such was his sway in the tribe, that

no one presumed to censure the daring act.

This transaction was the more extraordinary, as its performer was as

much a son of nature, and had had no more of the advantages of education

than the multitude whom he astonished by the humane act just recorded.

This account being circulated at Washington, during the young chief's

stay there, the j'oung ladies of Miss White's seminary in that place resolved

to give him a demonstration of the high esteem in which they held him 6n
account of his humane conduct ; they therefore presented him an elegant

silver medal, appropriately inscribed, accompanied by the following short but

aflTectionate addi-ess : "Brother, accept this token of our esteem—always

wear it for our sakes, and when again you have the power to save a poor

v^oman from death and torture, think of this, and of us, and fly to her

relief and her rescue." The brave's reply :—" This [taking hold of the

medal which he had just suspended fi-om his neck] vdllgive me more ease than

I ever had, and I ivill listen more than I ever did to white men. I am slad that

my brothers and sisters have heard of the good act I have done. My brothers and
sisters think that I did it in ignorance, bid I noio know ivhat I have done. 1

did it in ignorance, and did not know that I did good ; but by g'ivi7igm£ this

medal I. know it."

Some time after the attempt to sacrifice the Itean woman, one of the

warriors of Letelesha brought to the nation a Spanish boy, whom he had
taken. The warrior was resolved to sacrifice him to Venus, and the time
was appointed. Letelesha had a long time endeavored to do away the custom,

and now consulted Petalesliaroo upon the couree to be pursued. The young
brave said, "I will rescue the boy, as a warrior should, by force." His father

was unwilling that he should ex^iose his life a second time, and used great

exertions to raise a sufficient quantity of merchandise for tlie purchase of the

ca])tive. All that were able contributed, and a pile was made of it at the

lodge of the Knife-chief, who then summoned the warrior before him. When
he had arrived, the chief commanded him to take the merchandise, and
deliver the boy to him. The warrior refused. Letelesha then waved his

war-club in the air, bade the warrior obey or prepare for instant death.
^^ Strike," said Petelesharoo, ^^ I will meet the vengeance of his friends." But the

prudent and excellent Letelesha resolved to use one mort^ endeavor before

committing such an act. He tlierelbre increased the amount of property,

which had the desired eflfect. The boy was surrendered, and the valuable

collection of goods sacrificed in his stead.* This, it is thought, will be the

Long', 9it supra, 35-78.
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last time the inhuman custom will be attempted in the tribe. " The origin

of this sanguinary sacrifice is unknown
;
probably it existed previously to

their intercourse witli the white traders." * They believed that the success

of their enterprises, and all undertakings, depended upon their faithfully

adhering to the due performance of these rites.

In his way to Washington, he staid some days in Philadelphia, v/here

Mr. JVeagle had a fine opportunity of tjiking his portrait, which he performed

with wonderful success. It was copied for Dr. GodiTuttVs Natural History,

and adorns the second volume of that valuable work.

METEA, cliief of the Pottowattomies, is brought to our notice on account

of the opposition he made to the sale of a large tract of his country. In

1821, he resided upon the Wabash. To numerous treaties, from 1814 to

1821, we find his name, and generally at the head of those of his tribe.

At the treaty of Chicago, in the yeai- last mentioned, he delivered the follow-

ing speech, after Governor Cass had informed him of the objects of his mission.

"My father,—We have listened to what you have said. We shall now
retire to our camps and consult upon it. You will hear nothing more from

us at present. [This is a uniform custom of all the Indians. When the

couneil was again convened, Metea continued.] We meet you here to-day,

because we had promised it, to tell you our minds, and what we have agreed

upon among ourselves. You will listen to us with a good mind, and believe

what we say. You know that we first came to this country, a long time ago,

and when we sat ourselves down upon it, we met with a gi-eat many hard-

ships and difficulties. Our coimtry was then veiy large ; but it has dwindled

away to a small spot, and you wish to purchase that! This has caused us to

reflect much upon what you have told us ; and we have, therefore, brought

all the chiefs and warriors, and the young men and women and children of

our tribe, that one part may not do wliat the others object to, and that all

may be witness of wiiat is going forward. You know your children. Since

you first came among them, they have listened to your words with an at-

tentive ear, and have always hearkened to your counsels. AVlienever you

have liad a proposal to make to us, whenever you have had a favor to ask of

us, we have always lent a favorable ear, and oiu- invariable answer has been

'yes.' This you know! A long time has passed since we first came upon

our lands, and our old people have all sunk into their graves. They had

sense. We are all young and foolish, and do not wish to do any thing that

they would not approve, were they living. We are fearful we shall offend

their spirits, if ^ve sell our lands ; and we ai'e fearful we shall offend you, if

we do not sell them. This has caused us great perplexity of thought, because

we have counselled among ourselves, and do not know how we can part vnth

the land. Our country was given to us by the Great Spirit, who gave it to us

to hunt upon, to make our cornfields upon, to live upon, and to make down
our beds upon when we die. And he would never forgive us, should we
bargain it away. When you fii-st spoke to us for lands at St. Mail's, we said

we had a little, and agreed to sell you a piece of it ; but we told you we
could spare no more. Now you ask us again. You are never satisfied!

We have sold you a great tract of land, already ; but it is not enough ! We
sold it to you "for the henefit of your children, to farm and to live upon.

We have now but little left. We shall want it all for ourselves. We know
not how long we may Uve, and we wish to have some lands for our children

to hunt upon. You are gradually taking away om* hunting-grounds. Your

children are driving us before them. We are growing uneasy. What lands

you have, you may retain forever ; but we shall sell no more. You think,

perhaps, that I speak in i)assion ; but my heart is good towards you. I speak

like one of your own children. I am an Indian, a red-skin, and live by

hunting and fishuig, but my country is already too small ; and I do not know
how to bring up my children, if I give it all away. We sold you a fine tract

of land at St. Mary's. We said to you then it was enough to satisfy your

children, and the last Ave should sell : and we thought it would be the

.ast you would ask for. We have now told you what we had to say. It is

* Lonjf, ut supra, 357-S.
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what was determined on, in a council among ourselves ; and wliat I have
spoken, is the voice of my nation. On this account, all our people have
come here to listen to me; but do not think we have a bad opinion of
you. Where should we get a bad opinion of you ? We speak to you
with a good heart, and the feelings of a friend. You are acquainted with
this piece of land—the country we live in. Shall we give it up ? Take
notice, it is a small piece of land, and if we give it away, what will become
of us ? The Great Spirit, who has provided it for our use, allows us to keep
it, to bring up our young men and support our famiUes. We should incur hia

anger, if we bartered it away. If we had more land, you should get more
,

but our land has been wasting away ever since the white people became our
neighbors, and we have now hardly enough left to cover the bones of our
tribe. You are in the midst of youi- red children. What is due to us in

money, we wish, and will receive at this place ; and we want nothing more.
We all shake hands with you. Behold our warriors, our women, and cliil-

dren. Take pity on us and on our words."
Notwithstanding the decisive language held by Metea in this speech, against

selling land, yet his name is to the treaty of sale. And in another speech of
about equal length, delivered shortly after, upon the same subject, the same
determination is manifest throughout.

At this time he appeai'ed to be about forty years of age, and of a nolile

and dignified appearance. He is allowed to be the most eloquent chief of
his nation. Li the last war, he fought against the Americans, and, in the

attack on Fort Wayne, was severely wounded ; on which account he draws a

pension from the British government*
At the time of the treaty of Chicago, of which we have made mention,

several other chiefs, besides Metea, or, as his name is sometimes written,

Meeteya, were very prominent, and deserve a remembrance. Among theni

may be particularly named
KEEWAGOUSHKUM, a chief of the first authority in the Ottowa nation.

We shall give a speech which he made at the time, wliich is considered
very valuable, as well on account of the history it contains, as for its ujerits

in other respects. Indian History by an Indian, must be the most valuable

part of any work about them. Keewagoiishkum began :

—

"JVfy father, listen to me I The first white people seen by us were the

Frencn. When they first ventured into these lakes, they hailed us as children
;

they came with presents and promises of peace, and we took them by the

hand. We gave them what they wanted, and initiated them into our mode
of life, which they readily fell into. After some time, dm-ing which we had
become well acquainted, we embraced their father, (the king of France,) as
our father. Shortly after, these people that wear red coats, (the English,)

came to this country, and overthrew the French ; and they extended then-

hand to us in friendship. As soon as the French were overthrown, the British

told us, 'We will clothe you in the same manner the French did. We will

supply you with all you want, and will purchase all your peltries, as they did.'

Sure enough ! after the British took possession of the country, they fulfilled

all their promises. When they told us we should have any thing, we were
sure to get it ; and we got fi-om them the best goods.—Some time after the

British had b( en in possession of the country, it was reported that another
])eople, who wore white clothes, had arisen and driven the British out of the

land. These people we first met at Greenville, [in 1795, to treat with General
fFayne,] and took them by tlie hand.—When the Indians first met the Am(>ri-

can chief, [fVayne,] in council, there were but few Ottowas present; but he
said to them, ' When I sit myself down at Petroit, you will all see me.'

Shortly after, he arrived at Detroit. Proclamation was then made for all the

Indians to come in.—We were told, [by the general,] 'The reason I do not
[lush those British farther is, that wt- may not forget their example in giving

yon presents of cloth, arms, ammimition, and whatever else you may require.'

Sure enough ! Tlie first time, we were clothed with great liberality. You
gave us strouds, guns, ammunition, and many other things we stood in need

* Schonlrra/Vx Travels.
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of, and said, ' This is the way you may always expect to be used.' It waa
also said, tliat whenever we were in great necessity, you would help us.

—

When the Indians on the Manmee were first about to sell their lands, we
heard it with botli ears, but we never r«;eived a dollar.—The Chippewas,
the Pottowattomies, and the Ottowas ivere, originally, bid one nation. We
separated from each other near Michiliniackinac. We were related by the
ties of blood, language and interest ; but in the course of a long time, these
things have been forgotten, and both nations have sold their lands, without
consulting us."—" Our brothers, the Chippewas, have also sold you a large
tract of land at Sagauaw. People are constantly passing through the country,
but we received neither invitation nor money. It is surprising that the Pot-
towattomies, Ottowas, and Chippewas, who are all one nation, should sell

their lands without giving each other notice. Have we then degenerated so
much that we can no longer trust one another ?—Perhaps the Pottowattomies
may think I have come here on a begging joiu-uey, that I wish to claim a

share of lands to which my people are not entitled. I tell them it is not so.

We have never begged, and shall not now commence. When I went to

Detroit last fall, Governor Cass told me to come to this place, at tliis time,
and listen to what he had to say in council. As we live a great way in the
woods, and never see white people except in the fall, when the traders come
among us, we have not so many opportunities to profit by this intercourse as
our neighbors, and to get what necessaries we require ; but we make out to

live independently, and trade upon oiu- owti lands. We have, heretofore,

received nothing less than justice from the Americans, and all we expect, in

the present treaty, is a full projiortion of the money and goods."
"A series of misfortunes," says Mr. Schoolcraft, "has since overtaken this

friendly, modest, and sensible chief. On returning from tlietreaty of i*' icago,
while off the mouth of Grand River, in Lake Michigan, his canoe was struck
by a flaw of wind and upset. After making evei-y exertion, he saw his wife
and all his children, except one son, perish. With his son he reached the
shore ; but, as if to crown his misfortunes, this only surviving child has since
been poisoned for the part he took in the treaty."

The result of this treaty was the relinquishment, by the Ottowas, Chip-
pewas, and Pottowattomies, of a tract of country in the southern part of the
peninsula of Michigan, containing upwards of 5,000,000 acres, and for which
they received of the United States, in goods, 35,000 dollars ; and several other
sums Avere awarded to the separate tribes, to some yearly forever, and to

others for a limited term of years. Some of the chiefs who attended to the

treaty were opposed to this sale, and hence the reason that Keewagoushkuni's
son was poisoned.

CHAPTER Vin.

Black-hawk's war—Historical account of the tribes engaged in it— Treaty between

them—Murders among the Sioux and Chippewas—Red-bird—Taken for murder—Dies in prison— Trial and execution of Indians—Black-hawk—The Sacs murder
28 Menominies—Indians insulted— Their country sold without the consent oj a large

party— This occasions the war— Ordered to leave their country— General Gaines
drives them beyond the Mississippi— Conclude a Treaty— Treaty broken—Sacs re-

turn a<rain to their village—Determine onioar— General Atkinson marches against

them— They retreat up Rock River.

[t will be necessai-y, in this chapter, to give some account of such tribes of

Indians as will often be mentioned as we proceed. We shall, however, cnn-

fine ourselves to such tribes as took part in the late war in the neighborhood

of the Lakes Michigan and Superior, more especially ; and firstly, of the Win-
nebagos. This tribe inhabit the country upon the Ouisconsin, a river that

rises between the Lakes Superior and Michigan, and which disembogues

itself into the Mississippi, near the S. W. angle of the N. W. territory. They
were found seated here wiien the countrv was first visited by whites, about
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150 years ago, and here they still remain. In 1820, they were supposed to

number 1550 souls, of whom 500 were men, 350 women, and 700 children,

and lived m ten towns or villages.* A body of Winnebago warriors was in

the fight at Tippecanoe, under t)ie impostor EUskwalatva. Sanamahhonga,
called Stone-eater, and fVapamangiva, or fVhite-loon, were leaders of the Win-
nebago warriors. The latter was one that opposed General Wayne in 1794,
but was reconciled to the Americans in 1795, by the treaty of Greenville.

He also treated with General Hamson, in 1809, at Fort Wa} ne, and again at

Greenville in 1814 ; but he was active in the war of 1812, and on the British

side. Winnebago Lake, which discharges its waters into Green Bay, was
probably named irom this tribe of Indians, or, what is quite as probable, they
received their name from the lake.

Secondly, the Menominies. This tribe inhabits a river beai'ing their name,
and is situated about one degree north of the Winnebagos, from whom they
are separated by a range of mountains. Thej^ numbered in 1820, accordmg
to some, about 355 persons, of whom not more than 100 were fighters ; but
this estimate could apply only, it is thought, to the most populous tribe.

Thirdly, tho Pottowattomies, or Pouteouatainis. This nation was eai*ly

known to the French. In the year 1668, 300 of them visited Father Allouez,

at a place which the French called Chagouamigon, which is an island in

Lake Superior. There was among them at this time an old man ]00 years
old, of whom his nation reported wonderful things ; among otlurs, that he
could go without food 20 days, and that he often -saw the Great Spirit. He
was taken sick here, and died in a few days after.f

The country of the Pottowattomies is adjacent to the south end of Lake
Michigan, in Luliana and Illinois, and in 1820 their numbers were set down
at 3400. At that time tiie United States paid them ys arly 5700 dollai's. Of
this, 350 dollars remained a permanent annuity until the late war.

Fourthly, the Sacs and Foxes. These are usually mentioned together, and
are now really but one nation. They also had the gospel taught them about
1668, by the Jesuits. They live to the west of the Pottowattomies, generally

between the Illinois and Mississippi Rivers, in the state of Illinois. The chief
of the Sauks, or Sacs, for at least 14 years, has been Keokuk. Of him we
shall particularly speak in due course. The Sacs and Foxes were supposed
to amount, in 1820, to about 3000 persons in all ; one fifth of whom may be
accounted warriors.

Thus we have taken a view of the most important points in the history of
the tribes which were engaged in the late bonier war under Black-haivk, and
are, therefore, prepared to proceed in the narration of the events of that war.
It will be necessary for us to begin with some events as early as 1823; at

which period a chief of the Winnebagos, called Red-bird, was the most con-
spicuous. This year, the United States' agents held a treaty at Prairie du
Chien, with the Sacs, Foxes, Winnebagos, Chippeways, Sioux, &c., for the
pur|)ose, among other things, of bringing about a peace between the first-

named tribe and the others, who were carrying on bloody wars among them-
selves; the treaty stipulated that each tribe should confine itself to certain

boundaries, which were designated ; and as parties from them all were con-
stantly visiting the United States' forts, u|)on business, or various other occa-
sions, it was agreed that any party should be protected from insult or injury

from any otlicn- Indians while upon such visits. It would not seem, however,
that the makers of the treaty could have supposed that any such agreement
would avail much, where deep hatred existed between any of the parties;

for the V(!ry circurnstance of j)rotection being ofl^ered, would lead directly to

difficidty, by placing one party in a situation exactly to accommodate another,

in their peculiar method of surprise; nor- could any one have supposed that

any ie;ur of punishment from the whites would have been equal to the

gratification of reveuL'^c. Yet the motives of the whites were good, however
little was effected by them.
As was expected, frequent murders happened among the Indians ; and it was

* Dr. Morse rated them at 5000. fncl. Report. Ap. 362
Clicir/ei'oix, Hist, tie la Nouv. France, i. 395.
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not often that those guilty of them could be. found or recognized. At length,

in the summer of 1827, a party of 24 Chipijewas, on a tour to Fort Snelling,

were surprised by a band of Siou.x, who killed and wounded eiglit ol" tliem.

The commandant of Foil Snelling captured four of them, whom he delivered

into the hands of the Chippewas, who immediately shot tliem, according t«

tlie directions of the commandant. A Sioux chief, named Red-bird, resented

the proceedings of the commandant, and resolved upon a further retaliation

upon the Chippewas. Accordingly, he led a war party against them soon
atter, but was defeated; and upon his return home from the expedition, his

neighbors derided him, as being no brave.

What were the grounds of Red-bird's enmity in the first place is now un-
known, nor is it important to be inquired into in our present business ; but

certain it is, he had, or conceived that he had, just cause for his attack upon
the Chippewas ; his last and unsuccessful expedition against them, however,

was to revenge the execution of those at Fort Snelling, who, he had been
told, were executed for the murder of a family of seven persons, nauied

Melhode, near Prairie des Chiens. This, however, was not very likely the

case.

As he could not get revenge of the Chippewas, Red-bird resolved on seek-

ing it among the whites, their abettors ; therefore, with two or three other

desperadoes, like himself, ofwhom Black-hawk was probably one, he repaired

to Prairie des Chiens, where, on the 24 July, 1827, they killed two persons

and wounded a third. We hear of no plunder taken, but with a keg of whisky,

which tliey bought of a trader, they retired to the mouth of Bad-axe River.

Six days after, Jidy 30, with his company augmented, Red-bird waylaid two
keel-boats that had been conveying commissaiy stoi-es to Fort Snelling. One
came into the ambush in the day time, and, after a fight of four hours, es-

caped with the loss of two killed and four wounded. It was midnight before

the other fell into the snare, and, owing to the darkne.'^s, escaped without

much injury.

Notice has probably been taken by Black-hawk, in his nai-rative, of these

events ; but as he relates every thing without any regard to dates, it is impos-
sible to assign some of his incidents to their proper places in history.

Not long after these events, in September, 1827, General Atkinson marched
into the Winnebago counti-y, with a brigade of troops, regulars and militia, and
succeeded in making prisoners of Red-bird, and six other Whuiebngos, who
were held in confinement at Prairie du Chien until a ti'ial could be had on them.
On the 25 October, 1828, at a special term of the United States' Circuit Couit,

they were tried, all except Red-bird, who had died in prison. Waniga or the

Sun, and Chik-hong-sic, the Little-bidl, were each tried on two indictments ; one
for the murder of Registre Gagnier, as accomplices of Red-bird, in the mui-der

of which mention has already been made. On the second indictment, Chik-

hong-sic was tried for the miu'der of Solomon Lipcap ; and Waniga on the

saime, as his accomplice. On the third indictment, Waniga was tried tor

scalping Louisa Gagnier with intent to kill. On the fii'st indictment, both

were brought in guilty. On the second, Chik-hong-sic was brought in guilty,

and Waniga was acquitted. On the third, Waniga was found guilty, and
Chik-hong-sie was acquitted. They were sentenced to be executed on the 26

of the following December.
The two charged with the murder of Mr. Methode and family were acquit-

ted by a nolle prosequi. Black-haick, or Kara-zhonsept-hah, as his name was
then written, and Kanonekah, the Youngest of the Thunders, were among the

prisoners charged with the attack on the boats the preceding year ; but the

charge not being sustained for want of evidence, they wei'e discharged, as

was also a son of Red-bird.

Thus it appears a year had passed since these Indians were captured, before

they were brought to trial. Such a delay of justice was to the friends of the

imprisoned Indians ten times as insufferable, if possible, as any piuiishment

could have been, inflicted in any reasonable time after a crime had been com-
mitted. They cannot understand why, if one be guilty, he should not

at once be punished, as it seldom happens, with Lidians, that they deny an

act when guilty: the most of them scorn to do it. Hence, the wliite people'i
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keeping them imprisoned, they think an act of great cowardice
; presuming

they dare not punish the culprit. It has sometimes happened, that after an
Indian had been imprisoned for a long time, and been discharged for want of
evidence, although at the time of his capture there wi]-e no doubts of his guilt,

even upon his own confession, he has been shot by some skulking white bor-

derer on his way to his home. This, to the friends of such Indiim, is the

most abominable crime ; and these things had all happened in Olinoib before

the end of 1828.

Black-hawk, as we have just seen, was captured and held some time in du-

rance for attacking the boats, which, it seems, could not be proved against him,

as he was discharged; but if there were doubts of his guilt before, there can
De none now, according to his own confession, which, it would seem, he had
too much craft to acknowledge before his trial.

Matters continued in a ruffled state for about three years, though acts of
violence seem not often to have occurred. In 1831, it was the general opinion

on the frontiers, that the Indians intended to forbeai; no longer ; and it was
rightly judged by General Atkinson, that efforts had been, or were being made
by some of them to unite all the Indians from Rock River to Mexico in a war.

That this was the truth of the case we will hear Black-hawk in evidence.

He says, "Runners were sent to the Arkansas, Red-River and Texas—not on
the subject of our lands, but a secret mission, which I am not, at present, per-

mitted to explain."

The difference between the Sacs and Foxes, and Menominies and Sioux,

was one great cause of the troubles previous to the war of 1832. The whites

used their endeavors to bring about a peace between them, and finally effected

it, although at the very time murders were committed by one jiarty upon the

other, while on their way to attend a treaty for their own benefit. But such
is their thirst for revenge, that they will take it at the hazard of themselves
and all their connections. Black-hawk himself relates, that on a certain time,

which, I believe, was in the svmimer of 1830, the chiefs of the Foxes were
invited to attend a treaty at Prairie du Chien for the settlement of their dif-

ferences with the Sioux. Nine of the head men of the Foxes, with one
woman in their company, set out to attend the treaty', who, on their way, were
met by a comjjany of Sioux, near the Ouisconsin, and all of them, except one
man, were killed.

This murder went unrevenged until the next year, when a band of Sioux

and Menominies, who were encamped within a mile of the fort at Prairie du

Chien, were attacked by some Foxes i'rom Black-hatvk^s party, and 28 of them
were killed. Tiie whites now demanded the murderers, but Black-hawk said

they had no right to znake such a demand, for it was an affair between the

Indian nntions, over whom they had no authority ; and besides, lie said, when
the Menominies had murdere<l the Fox chiefs, the year before, they made no

such demand lor the murderers.

According to the treaty of the 15th of July, 1830, at Prairie du Chien, the

Sacs and Foxes sold their country to the United States, and tlie Sioux, Oma-
hahs, loways, Ottoes, and several otiier tribes and bands, i)artici|)aied in the

sale ; but Blnck-hawk had nothing to do with it. Keokuk, or the H'atchful-fox,

at diis time headed the paj-ty of Sacs that made the treaty , when Black-hawk

knew what was done, it very much agitated and displeased him ; but Keokuk

had pleased the whites, and sold his country, as the ill-advised JWIntosh had

done. The next summer, 1831, Black-hawk says, that while <ui a visit to the

Lidian agent at Rock Island, he heard, for the fiist time, "talk of our having

to leave my village. The trader (he says) explained to me the terms of the

treaty that had l)een made, and said we would be obliged to leave the Illinois

side of the Mississijipi, and advised us to select a good place for our village,

and remove to it in the spring." This tnider was the adf)pted brother of the

urincipal Fox chief, whom he had persuaded to leave his village and build

unother on the west side of the Mississippi. Keokuk had consented to go,

and was using all his influence to induce others to go with him.

A party now began to organize itself in op|)osition to that of Keokuli.

They called u\)on Black-lmiok for his opinion aliout it; and, says the old chief,

"
I iiii\i' it freely—and after (jucstioning Quash-qua-vic about tlie sale of the
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lands, he assured me that he never had consented to the sale of our village.'

I now promised this party to be their leader, and raised the standard of

opposition to Keokuk., with a full determination not to leave my village.*'

The Sac village was on the point of land formed by Rock River and the

Mississippi. Tlie tribe had here usually about 700 acres of planting land,

which extended about two and a half miles up the Mississippi. According

to the tradition of the Lidians, a village had stood here about 150 years.

The vvhole extent of the Sac country on the Mississippi, was from the mouth
of the Ouisconsin to the Portage des Sioux, almost to the entrance of the

Missouri, in length near 700 miles.

About the timt- of the treaty of which we have been speaking, some out-

rages were committed upon the Indians by the whites in kind like the follow-

ing:—One of Blnck-hawk^s men having found a hive of bees in the woods, in

a hollow tree, took it to his wigwam. Some whites, having learned the cir-

cumstance, repaired to tiie Indian's Avigwam and demanded the honey as

ttnirs, and he gave it up to them. They not only took the honey, but made
[jlunder of all the skins he had got during his winter's hunt, and carried them
off also. The case of the Indian was exceeding hm-d, for he owed the skins

to liis trader. Therefore he could not pay him, nor could he get necessaries

lor his family, in consequence of his inability to meet his former contract.

About this time Black-hawk met with gross ill treatment from some whites

Avho met him in the woods a-hunting. They fell upon him, and beat him so

severely that he was lame for some time after it. The whites pretended he

had done them an injurj^ Such outrages, added to those of a public nature,

had driven the Indians to desperation, and finally determined Black-hawk to

act on the offensive. But he was sadly deceived in his real strength when
he came to trial ; for he had been assured that the Chippewas, Ottovvas,

Winnebagos and Pottowattomies all stood ready to help and second him.

.Yeapope, who had been among some of them, was either deceived himselfj

or he intentionally dac^xyed his chief. But the Prophet, Wahokieshiek, w
doubtless the g?e^:e:;; ct ce.ver. He sent word to Black-hawk that he h:

received wamjjum Ircji :ae nations just mr ntioned, and he was sure of the

cooperation. Besides this strong encouraLrement, it was also told to t]

]}riiici|ial Sac chiefs, that ti:ieir British father at Maiden stood ready to he

them, in case of ^ATong being offered them by the whites ; but this we
without doubt, a stratagem of the Prophet, or .Yeapope, the bearer of t\

intelligence. The chiefs of the whites at Maiden and other places, had bee

visited by Black-hawk or his head men, and, on being told tiieir situation in

respect to being obliged to leave their country, these friends of the Indians

honestly told them that, if they had not sold their coimtry, it could not be

taken from them.
When the old chief. Black-hawk, found that Keokuk had sold the Sac

village, with the rest of then- country on the east side of the Mississijiju, he

saw and conversed with him about it, and Keokuk was so well convinced that

he had done what he had no right to do, that he promised to go to the whites,

and use all his end'>avors to get it back again by giving any otiier |)art of the

conntiy for it: Black-hawk said he would give up even the lead-mines, if

tliey could only be allowed to enjoy their old village, and the little point of

laiiJl on which were the beautiful cornfields which their wives had cultivated,

for years, undisturbed, and the adjacent burying-grounds oftheir honored dead.

VVith strong hopes that sometliing woiild be effected for thein, the Sacs

set out upon their usual winter's hunt, in the fall of 1830, and meanwhile

the whites came on and possesseii their beloved village! When the Indians

returned, they saw families of intruders in their ovm wigwams and lodges,

that they had left the fall previous—the wives and children of the poor

Indians wer' now upon the banks of their own Mississippi, but without a

home or lodge to cover them! This was insufferable to Black-hawk—where

is the white man that could endure ^uch things ? There are none that could,

even he most servile slave.

The Sics were encamped on the west bank of the Mississippi, having r

turned from their hunting-grounds earlier than usual, on account of inf

mation of tlie stiite of things in then- village. The ice had not left the M
54* 2Q
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sissippi; but before it was time to plant corn, the firm resolution of the chiefs

was taken, that their village tliey would again possess. They acted in accord-
ance with their resolution, and went on and took possession. The whites were
alarmed, and doubting of their aliiliiy to drive off the Indians then, said they
would live and plant together; but took care to seize upon all the best planting

land. The Indians were determined not to he the first to conniiit any hostile act,

and submitted to great insults; some of their women being shamefully beaten

by their white neighbors lor the most trifling offence, to wliich their new
situation had unavoidably subjected them, and one young man was actually

beaten to death, or so that he soon after died ; nevertheless, to the shame of
those whites be it told, there is no account which has ever come to me tliat

the Indians attempted to retaliate.

Other evils were experienced while the poor Sacs endeavored to live with
the whites in their own village. Ardent spii'its were bi'ought in, and used to

cheat the Lidians out of then- personal property, their guns, and articles

with wliich they hunted.

Li the fall of 1830, the Indians had been told that they must not come
again to the east side of the river. Meantime the lands of the Sac village

had been sold, or a part of them, and all the Indians were ordered to leave

them. Black-hawk and his band, however, would not obey, and some of
them remained on the unsold lands, while the others were on their hunting
expeditions. And early in the spring of 1831, after having used every means
for a reconciliation, without giving up their village, the Sacs in a body re-

crossed the river to their old cornfields, and in a menacing manner took
possession ; but if we can believe Black-hawk, he did not mean to be pro-

voked into a war by any thing less than the life-blood of some of his people;
which he said the whites dare not take, at least so long as he remained on the

government's land ; for by an article of the treaty which had caused these

troubles, the Indians were not obliged to leave the lands so long as they re-

mained unsold. But the settlers cried out against the encroachments of the

Indians upon them, which soon became so loud and clamorous that Governor
ReynoUls forthwith taking the responsibility, declared the state of Illinois in-

vaded by hostile Indians, although it does not appear that any of them were
upon other lands than those owned by the United States.

Accordingly, on the 28 May, 1831, Governor Reynolds wrote from Belleville,

the capital of the state of Illinois, to General Gaines, the military commander
of the western department, that he had received undoubted iuiormation tliat

the section of tht; state near Rock Island was at that time invaded by a hos-

tile band of the Sac Indians, headed by Black-haivk ; and that in order to re-

pel said invasion, and to protect the citizens of the state, he had called on
700 of the militia of the said state, to be mounted and ready for that service.

He therefore, "as executive of the state of Illinois," respectfully solicited his

cooperation. General Gaines said in answer, the next diiy, that he h;id ordered
six co:iij)anies of regular troops to proceed from Jefi'erson Biirracks the

day Ibllowing, May 30, for the Sac village, and if necessary he woidd add
two eoMii)aniPs more from Prairie du Chien. This force he considered suf-

ficient to put down the "hostile Sacs;" but, he said, if the Indian Ibrce had
been augmented by other Indians, then he would correspond with his excel-

lency by express, and avail himself of his offer of the 700 mounted voliuiteere.

Governor Reynolds had just Ijeibre (2G May) written to General Clark, the

superintendent of Indian affairs at St. Louis, and among other things said, he
had considered it necessary to order out troops "to protect the citizens" of
the state " near Roek Island from invasion and depredation ; " but from his

letter to Gaines, dated oidy two days after, the state was actually invaded^

Hence it appears, that in something less than two days, by thinking the mat-
ter over, the governor had, in his mind, changed the fear of invasion

into actual invasion. In the same letter he goes on : The object of the

government of the state is to jjrotect those citizens by removing said Indians,
" peaci ably if they can, but forcibly if they must." "I consider it my duty to

inform you of the above call on the militia, and that in or about I.') da> s, a suf-

ficient force will appear belbro these Indians to remove them, dead or alive,

over the west side of the Mississippi." Whether his excellency did not



Chap. Vlll
)

GENERAL GAINES'S EXPEDITION. 643

mean to stop with his Indians short of the Western Ocean, I cannot say, but
certainly he says nothing of leaving them any where on lands on the west side

of the Mississippi ; he, however, humanely adds, " But to save all this disagree-
able business, perhaps a request fron) you to them, ibr them to remove to the

west side of the river, would effect the object of procuring peace to the citi-

zens of the state." General Clark replied, two days after, that every eftbrt

on his part " had been made to effect the removal from Illinois of aW the tribes

who had ceded their lands."

Hence no alternative now remained but to proceed on with an army to

diive off the Indians. Accordingly General Gaines proceeded to the country
in dispute, and by his prudent management succeeded in settling the diffi-

culty, which, as matters immediately afterwards turned out, siems to have
amounted to but little ; and as General Gaines's account of his expedition
agrees very well with what Black-hawk has since said about it, we lay it before

the reader. It is contained in a letter dated Rock Island, 20 June, 1831.
"I have visited the Rock River villages, with a view to ascertain the locali-

ties, and, as far as possible, the disposition of the Indians. They confirm me
in the opinion I had previously formed, that, whatever may be their feelings
ofhostility, they are resolved to abstain from the use of their tomahawks and
fire-arms except in self-defence. But i^ew of their warriors were to be seen

—

their women and children, and their old men appeared anxious, and at fu'st

somewhat confused, but none attempted to run off. Having previously noti-

fied their chiefs that I would have nothing more to say to them, unless they
should desire to inform me of their intention to move forthwith, as I had di-

rected them, I did not speak to them, though within 50 yai'ds of many of
them. I had with me on board the steam-boat some artillery, and two com-
panies of infantry. Their village is immediately on Rock River, and so situ-

ated that I coidd from the steam-boat destroy all their bark houses (the only
kind of houses they have) in a few minutes, with the force now with me,
probably without the loss of a man. But I am resolved to abstain from firing

a shot without some bloodshed, or some manifest attempt to shed blooti, on
the part of the Indians. I have already induced nearly one third of them to

cross the Mississi})pi to their own land. The residue, however, say, as the
fi'iendly chiefs report, that they never will move ; and what is very uncommon,
their women urge tlieir hostile husbands to fight rather than to move and thus
to abandon their homes."
Thus stood matters previous to the arrival of the Illinois militia; neither

party wishing to flo any thing to bring on hostilities. On the 7th June,
Black-hawk met General Gaines in council, and plainly told him he would
not remove, and to let him know he was not afraid of his forces, went to the
council-house at the head of his band, armed and painted as though they ex-
pected to be attacked ; the consequence was, nothing was effected thus far.

But the general was satisfied that the reports of other tribes having engaged
to assist them were entitled to little credit. That the general well und.^rstood
the affairs of the Sacs at this time, no doubt will be entertained, on com|)ar-
ing his account with the statement of Black-hawk in his life. "Several other
tribes," observes the general, '-such as the Winnebagos, Pottowattotnies, and
Kika|)oos, have been invited by these Sacs to assist them ; but I caimot positively
ascertain that more tlian 200 have actually joined, and it is very doubtful
whether these will remain true to their ofi'ending allies."

As General Gaines found he could not effect a compliance with his demands,
he concluded to wait for the militia, who, on the 25 June, promj)tly arrived.
These the Indians thought it not proper to oppose, knowing well tliat border
militia would submit to no restraint from tluir officers ; they therefore fled
across the Mississi[)pi to avoid being massacred ; and on the following day,
June 20, the army took possession of the Sac village, without the firing of a
gun on either side. On the 27th, Black-hawk caused a white flag to be dis-

played to show his disposition to have a parley, which soon after ensued, and
this ended in a treaty.

Li his despatch to the secretary of war, General Gaines said he was of
opinion that "these Indians were as completely humbled, as if they had been
ciiastised in battle, and less disposed to disturb the frontier inhabitauts;"
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and that Governor Reynolds was of the same opinion. But in this they were
both mistaken, although when the treaty was made, Black-hauk without
doubt intended strictly to observe it

;
yet he could not Ibresee what would

happen. He had been promised corn to supply the wants of his people, in-

stead of that wliich they had been obhged to abandon ; but what they

received was far from sufficient, and they began to feel the encroachment of
famine. In this state of things, a paity of Sacs, as the old chief says, went
over the river to steal comfrom their ownfields ! and tlius began a new series

of troubles which ended in bloodshed.

Black-hawk, with his chief men, had signed the treaty, and it was broken
the same year by both parties. It was dated on the 30 June, 1831, five days
after the "flight," and among the signers we recognize, besides Mucata-Mu-
Hi-EATAK {Black-tiawk), as his name was then written, Pashepaho (Stabbing-

chief), Weesheat {Sturgeon-head), ICakekamah [JllUJish), and several others.

It was in the course of the same summer, that the party from Black-haivk^s

band killed the 28 Menomonies, of which we have before given an account,

and although the whites considered it their concern, seem not to have under-
taken to revenge it until the spring of 1832 ; and the probability is, they
would hardly then have undertaken it, had not some of the Sacs intruded
themselves again uito their old village, by which a new cry was raised

against them. Be this as it may, General Atkinson set out for the Upper Mis-
sissippi, about the first of April, at the head of the sixth regiment of United
States infantiy, at whose approach Black-hawk and his party abandoned their

camp on the Mississippi, where Fort Madison had been built, and ascended
Rock River. It was in this direction he expected to be reinforced by the
Pottowattomies, Winnebagos, and Kikapoos, but who in the end declined the

hazardous and unequal conflict.

As Black-hawk moved leisurely up Rock River, he received several ex-

presses from General Atkinson, ordering him in a peremptory manner to leave
the countiy ; but he constantly said he would not, and said he was going to

the PropheVs village to make corn, to which he had been invited, and the

whites might attack him if they dared ; that they might come on if they
chose, but they would not find him miprepared

;
yet he would not begin with

thinn.

Meanwhile General Atkinson, not judging it expedient to piu-sue the Indians
up Rock-River, made a stand at Dixon's Ferry, and waited for a rein-

forcement.

CHAPTER IX.

March of Major Stilhnan

—

Kills somr of Black-hawk's men—Stillman's defeat—
Talk with tlifi IVinnebarros—Menomonies join the whites—Settlement on Indian
Creek destroyed— Captivity of two young women—Murders—Plum River settle-

ment broken up— Congress orders out troops—Murders near Galena—Indians cut

off hy General Dodge—Snider's defeat—Stevenson's defeat—Attack on the fort at

Buffalo Grove—On that at Jipple River—Defeat of Major Dement

—

Murder at

Cincinawa Mound—Ravages of the cholera among the regular troops—Battle of
the Ouisconsin—Action with the steam-boat Warrior—Battle of the 2d of August,
and end of the war.

Before the arrival of General Atkinson at Ogee's or Dixon's Feny, General
Whilesides had proceeded tliere with a considerable !)ody of mounted men,
and a inarch of discovery was resolved u|)on. Accordingly, about the 13ih

of 3Tay, a company of 270 men proceeded on towards Sycamore Creek, under
Major Stilbnan. Bi,ack-hawk being aijjiii/.ed of the nuuch of this detach-
ment, sent out three young warriors with a white flag to meet tiiem, and in-

vite them to his camp ; but the whites, paying no regard to the flag, took the
bearers of it prisoners. Five others had been sent alter the first, to see what
enbued, and to report what nfight take place. These five were discovered
and pursued by a small party of the whit(-s, and, l-eing overtaken, two of
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them were killed, and the rest escaped. It was now near night, on the 14th

of May. The pai-ty that had killed, the two Indians returned to the main
body, which, it seems, was preparing to encamp lor the night when this cir-

cumstance took place ; all immediately mounted their horses and rusiied

forward in confusion. It does not appear that Black-hawk had any thoughts

that the whites would attack him, for he had not but about 40 of his men
with him at this lime, the others being 'out upon a hunting excursion ; but

when his spies returned, and reported that two of their number had been
barbarously murdered, the war-whoop was sounded, and the best prepaia-

tions were made, that the time would allow to meet the invaders.

When they approached Sycamore Creek, the whites proceeded to cross it

in the same disorderly manner they came to it, altliough the country was very
favorable lor ambushes. The Indians stood fom, and were doubtless sure of
a victory, seeing the enemy pass the creek man by man as they arrived

;

and when a sufficient number had crossed, the Indians rushed upon them
with their usual fury of attack. The whites say the Indians " showed them-
iSelves on every quarter, mounted and armed. They commenced the attack

with gims," and continued it with knives and tomahawks. Their situation

became in a moment desperate, and Major Stillman, who was in the rear,

learning the situation of tiie advance column, immediately ordered a retreat,

but none was effected—it was a most disorderly and wretched flight ! scarce
two flying together ; and it was owing to the smallness of Black-hawk''s force

that any were so fortunate as to escape.

Thus Black-hfiwk Avith about 40 men had put 270 to flight, and dispersed
them in such a manner, that it was reported at first by tiiemselves, that 60
or 70 had been killed ; but, as it proved afterwards, it was their great feai" of
tiie Indians, that had driven them so far from their conipanions, that thej'

did not all an-ive at Dixon's Ferry for several days aft:er the fight, although
the battle-ground was only 30 miles from that place. They generally came
in, one at a time, as they had crossed Sycamore Creek on the evening of the

14th; and in the end, all but 12 were accounted for, and 11 of these were
found afterwards on the battle-ground and interred. A letter from that

country says, " The dead that were found were cut and mangled in a most
shocking and indecent manner ; their hearts cut out, heads off, and every
species of indignity practised upon their persons. One alone escaped this

treatment : he was found dead, with his head nearly cut oft', embraced b}

the arms of an Indian who had been shot through the body, but yet had
strength enough remaining to tomahawk the man who had shot him, and
partly to cut off his head, dying in the very act—his last convulsive struggle

being an embrace of his enemy even in death." From Black-hawk''s own
account, it appears he lost but three men in the whole transaction, and that

these were killed who were sent out to meet the whites in tlieir approach to

Sycamore Creek.
Hence it appears that the whites were guilty ofthe first blood shed in this war.

The affair of Sycamore Creek caused a diie alarm to be sounded through-
out the western region. Black-hawk^s 40 warriors were magnified mto 1500,
and only the next day after Stillman's defeat. Governor Reynolds issued a proc-
lamation calling on the militia to assemble at Hennepin, on Illinois River, bj
the 10 of June, to the number of 2000 men ; which number, he said, he "con-
sidered necessary to subdue those Indians, and drive them out of the state."

Although the news of Major StUlman^s disaster flew over the country
among the whites with great rajjidity, yet it is mentioned as a circumstance
well worthy of remark, that messengers from the hostile Sacs, bearing to the
3Iissouri Indians the news of their victoiy, arrived at the Des Moines Rapid;-

24 horns before the express sent by Governor Reynolds at the same place.

About the time the proclamation of the 15th of May was issued, cidling for

2000 militia, an attempt was made by the whites to secure or draw oft" the
Winnebagos, and prevent their joining the war party. On the 26 May,
Mr. Gratoit, a sub-Indian agent, held a council at the head of the Four Lakes
with a number of the Winnebago chiefs, and they all signified their desire
ot remaining at peace with the white people. At this council, the chief
called the lAttle-hlick, made a speech, and among other things said
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" Fatlier, what you have heard of us is fi*om forked tongues, and what you
have heard of Man-eater is false. Man-eater is sick; but he has sent his sister

and daughter here to speak for him. Father, since I knew you, I have al-

^^ays heard your coimsel, and did what you told me. My father, the Great
Spirit, has sent you both here. You have taken me by the hand, and you
have held it fast in yours. We hope, in the name of the Great Spirit, and
all our women and children, that yoli will hold it fast, and we will hold on to

you so hard that you cannot shake us off. My father, I ask nothing but a

clear sky over our heads, which have been hanging down lately, and the sky
has been dark, and the wind has been blowing continually, and ti7ing to blow
lies in our ears, but we turn our cars from it ; but when we look towards you,

the weather is clear, and the wind does not blow. My father, our young
men do not travel much, for they are afraid of the Sacs, and afraid they will

be taken for Sacs by the troojjs. My father, we wish you to give us a paper
like the one General Atkinson gave us, that we may show it to tlie whites
whom we meet, that they may know we are friends and for peace."

As soon as the troubles began, there were many of the Menomonies and
Sioux, who, thirsting for the blood of the Sacs, came and offered themselves
to the whites, to fight for them, but their services were refused ; now they

had had a fight, and being beaten, they were glad to call upon the Indians
for assistance, and it was granted. Yet it should not be supposed that it was
from any love they bore towards the whites that they were glad to fight for

them, but from their natural inclination to war, and to seek revenge for in-

juries they had received from the Sacs during their former troubles. Con-
sequently several hundreds of them were soon upon the march in various

directions to surprise those belonging to the war party, and others attached

themselves to the army.
Blood had now been shed, and no one had any right to expect but that the

Indians would retaliate upon any whites, according to their manner, whetlier

m arms or the cradle. There was a small settlement upon Indian Creek,

near its confluence with Fox River, about 25 miles from the town ofHennepin,
the rendezvous of the army. On the 20th * of May, this settlement was
fallen upon by a small band of warriors, led by a Pottowattomie, who, after

killing 15 persons, took considerable plimder, and proceeded to Black-haick''s

camp.
The Indians gave as a reason for their attack upon this place, that not long

before, a man who lived there by the name of Hall, had severely beaten the

Pottowattomie who led the pai-ty that committed the murder. Yet the family

of tliis man, if not the man himself, had been told by a friendly Indian, that

a party would come and murder them, and advised them to fly lor their lives.

They immediately did so, but as vengeance had decreed, they appear to have
ri turned again very soon, as they were there found and murdei'ed, as before

stated. Two daughters of Mr. Hall were led away captive, one about 16, and
the other about 18 years of age ; two brotliers of these young women, who
were at work in the field when the massacre began, made their escape and
arrived safe at Dixon's Ferry. Black-hawk said the young women would
have been killed by the Pottowattomies when they were taken, but were
spared at the intercession of two oi' his men, who were with them. The
following account was written immediately after they were delivered from
captivity, by a iierson at Dixon's Ferry, where they were delivered, and is

probably correct.
" Of the 3Iisses Halls, whose case seems to interest every body, (and who

are now at Galena,) it may not be uninteresting to hear the Ibllowing, as the

best information that could be collected from the Indians who succeeded in

procuring tiieir liberation. After the bloody scene of despatcliing such of the

family as were about the house, (to which they could not avoid being eye-wit-

nesses,) those young women were each ])laced on a horse, which was led by

a man—other men walked alongside, to guard and keep them from falling off

" The editor of the Amfi-ican Antiiial Register is under a great mistake in placing- this

affair a mii.ih earlier. It changes the whole aspect of affairs ;
making the Indians the first

murderers, wliich is not fact.
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111 difficult passes.—At iiiglit a lodge was set apart, and blaukets spread foi

tlieni, and elderly squaws made to sleep ou each side, bj' whom they were
taken care of. Such food as the Indians had, was offered to them ; but they

cried and wept, and were too unwell to eat or be comforteii. All of which
the young women say is true, and that the Indian men offered no insult to

then!. They also confirm what is stated of Black-hawk^s camp, as seen in

going through a narrow passage, where their horses mired in the mud:

—

more of the camp, it is supposed, they were not allowed to see. It seems
tliere was more difficulty in procuring tlie liberty of one than tlie other : a
young warrior claimed her as his prize, and was very unwilling to give her
up ; but after using all the arguments they were capable of, the Winuebagos
say they had to use threats, which, together with an addition of ten horses to

the offer, obtained his consent. The young warrior cut from Miss HaWs head
a lock of her hair; wiiich, bythe by, has no affinity to a similar act among
whites, but is to be kept as a trophy of his warlike exploits. Tlae price paid
by the Wiiniebagos is stated to be forty horses, wampum and trinkets,—in

all to the amount of 2000 dollars."

Black-hawk was now in the neighborhood of Four Lakes, at the head
sources of Rock River, about 60 miles from Fort Winnebago, and General
Atkinson was in pursuit of him ; but before he reached his place of retreat, he
had retraced his steps, and was next discovered on the Ouisconsin.

About tliis time, a travelling preacher of the denomination called Dunkards
was killed on tlje road to Chicago. His head was severed from his body, and
carried off as a trophy. He was noted for his odd appearance ; his beard
being represented as near a yard in length. He had been informed that sus-

picious Indians were in the neighborhood, and a family, at whose house he
stopped, retreated towards the settlements on receiving the information ; but

th^' Duukard preacher thought proper to abide in the deserted house over

night, and was killed.

On the 22 May, a party of spies having been sent out by General Atkin-

son, with despatches for Foit Armstrong, were attacked by the Indians, and
four of them were killed. St. Train, an Indian agent, was among the num-
ber. They were all scalped, and their scalp** t^-^ » carried to Black-hawk^

s

camp. 5"^ Vrain had been odious to the Sacs troiu the part he took concern-

ing their removal.

About this time, a man by the name of Smith was murdered near the Blue
Mounds on the Galena fi-ontier, and IMr. Winters, a mail contractor at Galena,

was killed near Dixon's Ferrj^ The body of another man was found near the

same place, but it was so disfigured that it was not known.
On the 6th June, a small settlement at the mouth of Plum River, 30 miles

from Galena, was attacked, and the people retreated to a block-house, which
they had wisely taken the precaution to erect. This the Indians tried to take

for about an lioui", but could not effect their object, and di"ew off. The inhab-

itants then went down the river in a boat to Galena. Whether any persons

were killed, I do not find.

Bythe beginning of June, there were so many troops spread over the Indian

countrj', that Black-haiulc's party found but few opportunities to murder the

frontier inhabitants. And although there were about 3000 men in arms to

combat 500 Indians, yet congress ordered 600 mounted rangers to be raised

"for the defence of the frontiers."

On the 14th of June, five persons were killed not far below Hamilton's Fort,

near Galena, and on the 16th one man was killed within a mile of the same
place. GJeneral Dodge being in the neighborhood, marched with 30 of his

mounted men immediately in pursuit. When about three miles on his way, he

discovered 12 Indians, whom he took to be the party who had committed the

murders, and he pursued them with great spirit. Immediately after c.ossing

East Pichetoneka Creek, the Indians buried themselves in a thick swamp.
The whites dismounted, and after securing their horses, and placing a small

guard to watch for any that might attempt to escape, rushed in after the

retreating Indians. They presently came up with them, and began an indis-

criminate slaughter. No resistance was made, and eveiy Indian was killed



648 STEVENSON'S DEFEAT.—FORTS ATTACKED. [Book V

or murdered in a few minutes. Not satisfied with this, they tore off the
scalps of every one, and bore ihcin off in triumph.
On tlie same day, Captain Snyder nitt with and defeated a small Indian

force near Kellog's Grove. Four of the Judians were said to have been killed,

and one of the whites was mortally wounded. In their return march, they
were attacked by an ambush and defeated, having three of their men killed

and mortally wounded. The whites now escaped by flight.

On the 18th of June, as Captain Stevenson with a small force was scouting
near where General Dodge cut off the 12 Indians, he was met by a force under
Black-hawk, and a fierce contest ensued. The whites fought well, Itut they
were defeated. At one time. Captain Stevenson was left almost alone by his

party, and was severely wounded; but they rallied again, and effected a
retreat, with the loss of three only of their number. The fight was close

and desperate for a short time, in which bayonets, knives and tomahawks
were chiefly used.

An attempt was made on the 24 of June, by a considerable body of war-
'iors, to surprise the fort at Buffalo Grove, on Rock River, only about 12 miles
o the northward ofDixon's Ferry. It was guarded by 150 militia, who were
'Prepared to meet them, and a considerably sharp contest ensued. Sixteen
if the Indians were killed before they retreated. But few of the whites
»?ere wounded. The garrison was in great fear of being cut off, having ex-

pended all their ammunition before a reinforcement arrived, which had been
sent for while the attack was going on.

About this time, as Black-hawk was approaching a small fort on Apple
River, about 12 miles froin Galena, he fell in with four men who had been
sent express to this place. They did not discover the Indians until fired

upon, when they fled tor the fort, and the Indians pursued them ; one of the

men, a Mr. Welsh, was wounded before reaching the fort, and another man
was killed in the fort, who had raised his head aoove the pickets to make
discoveiy. The Indians contented themselves by taking away a considerable

quantity of flour, and a number of cattle and horses. They would doubtless

have burnt the fort and buildings, and killed all the people, but from fear

that the light of them would be seen by some large body of white soldiers,

who might pursue and overtake them.
On the 25th of June, a pretty severe fight took place between a company of

spies under Major Dement and a band of Indians, not far from Kellog's

Grove. He had arrived there only the evening before, and being informed
that an Indian trail was discovered in the neighborhood, set off immediately
with 30 mounted men to attack them. He had not proceeded far belbre the

Indians appeared, and confidently attacked him. The Indian yell so friglit-

encd the horses that they were thrown into confusion, and soon began a

retreat The Indians jjursued them a considerable distance, and lost nine oi'

their number, two of whom were chiefs. Five of the whites were killed,

and they lost about .30 of their horses.

On the 29th of June, three men were attacked in a field at the Cincinaway
Mound, about 10 miles from Galena, and two of. them were killed. Major
Steve7iso7i marched immediately in pursuit of the murderers. On aiTiving at

the Mound he found the bodies of the two men, Joh7i Thompson and James
Boxley, both shockingly mutilated. The heart of the former was taken out,

and both were scali)ed. Having left a kw men to bury the dead, Major
Stevenson followed the trail of the party to the Mississi])pi, where he found
they had stolen a canoe and effected their escape across the river.

Mention has been made of the prompt action of congress for the relief of
the irontiers. "General Scott was ordered from the sia-board with nine com-
panies ofartillery, and their cannon were to be drawn from tlie coast •. nine com-
panies of iniantry were ordered from the lakes, and two companies from
Baton Roug(>, to put an end to tlie war. Such was the promptness with

which these orders were executed, that five out of the six companies of

artillery ordered from Fort Monroe in the Chesapeake arrived in 18 days at

Chicago, 1800 miles distant in the interior of the country. Unibrtunately

this detachment was attacked by the ciiolera on the route, and the whole
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were rendered unfit to take the field before they arrived at the scene of action."

Accordingly General Scott informed General Atkinson that he could not

cooperate with him without endangering the troops already in the field, and
therefore directed liim to act without reference to his forces.

The scenes of horror occasioned by this most singular disease will doubt-

less be told of in after-times with an effect which has not been surpassed in

that of the histories of the plagues in ancient days. Several of the com-
panies before mentioned were entirely broken up. Of a corps of 208 men
under Colonel Twi<^-gs, but nine were left alive. Mr. John JVbrvell, at Detroit,

wrote on the 12th July, to the editor of tlie Pennsylvania Enquirer, concern
ing its ravages in that region, as follows :

—

" I regret to add, that the intelligence from the regular troops is disastrous.

Of the three com})anies of artillery under Colonel Tiviggs, and two or three

more companies of infantry with them, few remain. These troops, you will

recollect, landed from the steam-boat Henry Clay below Fort Gratiot. A great

number of them have been swept off by the disease. Nearly all the others

have deserted- Of the deserters, scattered all over the country, some have
died in the woods, and their bodies been devoured by the wolves. I use the

language of a gallant young officer. Others have taken their flight to the

world of spirits, without a companion to close their eyes, or console the last

moments of their existence. Their straggling survivors are oecasionally seen
marching, some of them know not whitlier, with their knapsacks on their

hacks, shunned by the terrified inhabitants as the source of a mortal pesti-

It-nce. Colonel Twiggs himself, and Surgeon Everett, are veiy low. They
were still living at the latest accounts from Fort Gratiot, and sanguine hopes
were entertained of their recover}'. No other oflScers have yet been assaile<l,

except Lieutenant Clay.

"You will remember that the ti'oops under Colonel Cummings, several of
whom died here, embarked on board the steam-boat William Penn, on Sunday
last, for Chicago. The sickness among them increased as they proceeded to

Fort Gratiot, and became so great by the time they arrived there, that they

were disembarked, and have returned to the vicinity of this city, and en-

camped at Springwells, about three miles below town. Seventeen or eight-

een of them have died, and some still remain sick, probably never to recover.

One half of the command of General Scott, ordered to Chicago by the lakes,

will never reach him; a large portion of them dying; a still larger number
deserting from an overwhelming dread of the disease, and the residue obliged

to march back again."

In pursuing the thread of events in our narrative, we left GJeneral Atkinson

in pm-suit of Black-haivk, whose camp was said to be at the Four Lakes.

Greneral Atkinso7i had got this information from a Pottowattoinie Indian, named
Wapanseth, whom, with several others, he had employed for the purpos3.

He said the old chief's camp was " inaccessible on all sides, except through a
nan'ow pass, which was muddy, being otherwise surroimded by water or

swamps. It was a little above the junction of a small creek, called White-
water, with the principal stream of Rock River, and between the two."

But, as we have already noted, when the army arrived at the Four Lakes,

Black-hawk had gone ; and so well did he manage his retreat that the whites

were deceived as to the direction he had taken,
" Gen. Atkinson, expecting, when he marched, to meet the enemy in a

short time, had taken with him but a small quantity of provisions, in conse-

quence of which he was obliged to halt and divide his forces at Lake Cosh-
ko-nong (one of the four) above named. He himself with the regulars, some
650 strong, remained at the lake ; the militia, consisting of three brigades,

under Generals Posey, Dodge and Henry, about 2000 men, were ordered to

march to Fort Winnebago, on the Ouisconsin, where stores were hoiu"ly ex-

pected. It was the intention of the commander-in-chief to consolidate his

forces, and renew the pursuit as soon as he had obtained sufficient stores."

Instead of crossing the country to escape beyond the Mississippi, as was
expected. Black-hawk descended tiie Ouisconsin to escape in that direction

;

by which mesms General Dodge cnme upon his trail and commenced a vigor-

ous pursuit. The old chief had received encouragement that in the country
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to which he had retreated, he should not ouly receive additional forces liv

which ho coidd withstand all the Americans could bring against him, bui

also provisions in abundance. He found too late that he had been deceived

m both particulars ; he was obliged to fly from Alkinsoii's army, without pro-

visions, nor luid he time to procure any upon the way. Dodge was imme-
diately upon his trail, but did not overtake him until near a lumdi'ed miles

pursuit.

On the 21 of July, General Dodge, with about 900 men besides Indians

came up with Black-hawk on the Ouisconsin, 40 miles from Fort Winnebago,
over against the old Sac village, and it was only by the superior management
of the old warrior chief, that himself or any of his people escaped capture. A
great number of Indians belonged to Dodge's army, who contributed much
to the successful result of the aifair. The whites came upon the Indians as

they were about to cross the river, and the time being evening, may account

for their not being all cut off; for immediately after the attack began, it was
so dark that the whites could not continne it without disadvantage to tliem-

selve-s. A letter dated at Fort Howard, 25 July, gives the following account

of the affair :

—

" Last evening we received the intelligence of a battle having been fought be-

tween Gen. Dodge and his division, and the Sacs and Foxes, in which the former

were victorious. The particulars, as stated in Capt. Pliinpton^s letter to Capt.

Clark, are these : Parquett, with a few Wiimebagos, left the Portage a lew

days since, to proceed to Gen. Dodge's army, and guide them to the Sac

cainp. On Saturday morning last, 21st inst.. Gen. Dodge sent his adjutant

to report to Gen. Atkinson of his movements. He had not proceeded tiir

before he came upon the Sacs' and Foxes' trail, directing their course to the

Ouisconsin river. He immediately returned and reported the circumstance

to Gen. Dodge, who pursued and overtook them about sundown of the same
day, (Saturday) on the left bank of the Ouisconsin, and about 40 miles from

Fort Winnebago, when the fight ensued ; the Indians at the same time re-

treating. The night being very dark, they found it impossible to pursue

them. They had found, when Parquctl left them, which was early the next

morning, IG Indians killed, and but one white man killed, and lour woundeil.

Parqudl thinks not less than 40 Lidians fell in the engagement."

We have the official account of the battle by General Dodge ; but as it

contains no additional facts, and is less minute than this, it was^not thought

worth while to insert it.

The truly dei)lorable condition of the Indians at this time cannot well be

conceived of. In their pursuit of them before the battle, the whites found

numbers dead in the way—emaciated, and starved to death ! When overtaken

by Gen. Dodge, they were not estimated to be but about 300 men, besides

women and children, and although the affair of the 21st is called a battle, it

<loes not seem that it can scarcely deserve that name, for if there had been
any thing more than a show of resistance, more of the whites would have

been killed.

The Lidians report that they were attacked about a mile from the river:

the ai)j)roach of the army was discovered, and Black-Jmwk, with only 50 or

60 Mien, met them, to give the remainder time to cross to an island. JVeapope,

who had bren ordered to march in the rear with about 20 warriors, to give

notice when the wiiites were discovered, liad been passed by them by an im-

expected route, and Black-hawk heard no more from him vuitil after the war.

He found there was no chance of success by continuing it, deserted his

braves, went to the Winnet)ago village, and soon afler became a prisoner to

the whites. M<;aiiwhile General Atkinson had marched from Coshconong,

and following in the trail of Dodge, had arrived within two days' inarch of

the place where the fight had been with tiie Indians, and was immediately

ready to cooperate with him. Afler receiving the newsoftlu^ battle, he marched
to the Hlue Mounds on the Ouisconsin, o])posite to where the flght had been.

The Indians were suri)rise(l tluit they were not pursued ; but for want of

boats or canoes, or the means of CMiistrucling rafts, they could not even cross

to the island to which the Indians had escaped ibr two days after, and in tha

mean time they escai)ed. Tiiat they were not pressed harder on the night of
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the battle, General Dodge urged in excuse, that his men were woi n down witli

fatigue, having marched 40 miles that day.

Among the prisoners taken by General Dodge's party, was t!ie wife of the

warrior called the Big-lake. She was a sister of Keokuk, and her husband
had been killed in the fight. Although the whites were satisfied before, they
were now informed by this squaw of Black-hawk^s final resolution ; which
nv;ls, for such of his men as had good horses to proceed with him and strike

the Mississippi above Prairie du Chien, while the remainder should proceed
iiy the Ouisconsin ; and a place of rend(^zvous was appointed for all to meet
on the west side of the gi-eat river. This squaw also stated that before the
battle on the Ouisconsin, in which she was taken, 200 of Blnck-haiv¥s men
Ik.cI been killed.

General Dodge having recommended a cannon to be placed on the bank
ol' the river, at a suitable place below the battle-ground, to cut off such us

should attempt an escape in that direction, marched with his army on the

23d, and joiued General Atkinson at the Blue Mounds, and every thing was
immediately put in readiness to pursue the main body of the Indians undei
Black-hawk.
As was intended, many fell into the hands of the whites as they descended

the Ouisconsin. Some of the boats conveying these poor wretches were
overset, and many of those in them were drowned ; the greater number, how-
ever, fell into the hands of their enemies in their passage. Many of the

children were found to be in such a famished state that they coidd not be

revived.

Several untoward circumstances now transpired to prevent the escape of
the main body under Black-hawk. The first was his falling in with a steam-
boat on the 1st ofAugust, just as they were preparing to cross the Mississippi, by
which means that day was lost. And upon the next day, the whole army of
A\hites under General Atkinson came upon them, which completed their

destruction. As in the affair of the 21 of July on the Ouisconsin, Black-hawk
did not wish to fight, but to escape ; and when the steam-boat fell in with
him he used every means to give the captain of her to understand that he
desired to surrender. He displayed two white flags, and about 150 of his

men approached the river without arms, and made signs of submission ; but
whether, as was said by the whites, the interpreter on board was so frightened

that he could not convey the meaning of those on shoi-e to tlie captain of the

boat, or whether, as it would seem, the whites were determined to kill Indians,

we will not take upon us to decide, but lay before the reader the account of
the affair by Captain /. Throcmorton, of the boat, which is as follows :

—

" Prairie du Chien, 3 Aug. 1832. I arrived at this place on Monday last,

[30 July,] and was despatched, with the Warrior alone, to Wapashaw's village,

120 miles above, to inform them of the approach of the Sacs, and to order
down all the friendly Indians to tins place. On nui- way down, we met one
of the Sioux bund, who informed us that the Indians (our enemies) were on
Bad-axe River, to the number of 400. We stopped and cut some wood, and
prepared for action. About 4 o'clock on Wednesday afternoon, [1 Aug.]
we found the gentlemen [Indians] where he stated he had left them. As we
neared them, tney raised a white flag, and endeavored to decoy us ; but we
were a little too old for them ; for instead of landing, we ordered them to send
a boat on board, which they declined. After about 15 minutes' delay, giWng
them time to remove a few of their women and children, we let slip a six-

pounder loaded with canister, followed by a severe fire of musketrj' ; and if

ever you saw straight blankets, you would have seen them there. I fought

them at anchor most of the time, and we were all very much exposed. I have
a ball which came in close by where 1 was standing, and passed through the

bulk-head of the wheel-room. We fought them for about an hour or more,

until our wood began to fail, and night coming on, we left, and went on to the

Prairie. This little fight cost them 23 killed, and, of course, a great many
wounded. Wc never lost a man, and had but one man wounded, (shot through

the leg.) The next morning, before we could get back again, on account of a

heavy fog, they had the whole [of General Atkinson's'] army upon them. We
found them at it, walked in, and took a hand ourselves. The first shot fro'ii
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the Warrior laid out three. I can hai-dly tell you any thing about it, i'ur I am
in great haste, as I am now on my way to tlje field again. The army lost

eight or nine killed, and seventeen wounded, whom we brought down. One
(lied on deck last night. We brought down 36 prisoners, women and children.

I tell you what, Sam, there is no fian in fighting Lidians, particularly at this

season, when the grass is so very bright. Every man, and even my cabin-boy,
fought well. We had 16 regulars, 5 riflemen, and 20 of ourselves. Mr. How,
of Platte, Mr. James G. Soulard, and one of the Roleties, were with us, and
fought well."

Lieutenant Kingsbury, an officer in command of the United States' troops on
board the Warrior at the time of the fight, reported that, about 40 miles above
Prairie dn Chien, a great number of the Sacs and Foxes were seen, who hoisted
a white flag, but would not send a canoe on board, although they were told

^hat, in case they did not, they should be fired upon, which was imme-
diately done. They seemed much alarmed when the sk-pounder was dis-

chiarged upon them, and all immediately covered themselves witli tr:'es and
whatever offered. Five or six were supposed to have been killed.

Early on the morning of the next day, August 2, tl'e whole combined army,
amounting to 1600 men, came up with the Indians ; and tlie following are
the particular details of that whole transaction, as published at Galena, four
days after it happened, namely, August 6.

" The whole army under General Atkinson, embracing the brigades com-
mandetl by Generals Henn/, Posey, and Alexander, and squadron under com-
mand of General Dodge, all crossed over to the north sitle of the Ouiscousin
at Helena, on tiie 28tn and 29th ult. They took up a line of march in a
northerly direction, in order to intersect the Indian trail. At the distance of
about five miles, the great ti-ail was discovered, leading in a direction N. of W.
towards the Mississippi, and suj)posed to be about four days old. General At-
kinson, seeing the direction of the enemy, knew well that it would require all

diligence and expedition to overtake them before they would cross tiie Mis-
sissippi, and hence commenced from that time a forced march ; leaving all

baggage wagons, and every thing else which was calculated to retard the
pursuit.

" The country through which the enemy's trail led our army between the

Ouisconsin Bluffs and the Kickapoo River was one continued series of moun-
tains. No sooner had they reached the summit of one high and almost per-

pendicular liill, than they had to descend on the other side equally steep to

the base of another. Nothing but a deep ravine, with muddy banks, separated
tiiese mountains. The woods, both upon the top of the highest mountains,
and at the bottom of the deepest hollows, was of the heaviest growth. The
uiuler-bushes were chiefly thorn and prickly ash. This is a short description

of the route, and siiows the difficulties of the pursuit. Notwithstanding all

this, our army gained on the enemy daily, as appeared from the enemy's en-

campments. The tedious mai-ch thus continued was met by our brave troops
vdthout a murmur; and as the Indian signs appeared more recent, the officers

and men appeared more anxious to push on. On the fourth night of our
march from Helena, and at an encampment of the enemy, was discovered an
old Sac Indian, hy om- spies, who informed them that the main body of the
enemy had, on that day, gone to the Mississippi, and intended to cross on the

next morning, Aug. 2d. Tiie horses being nearly broken down, and the men
nearly exhausted from fatigue. General Atkinson ordered a halt for a few
hours, (it being after 8 o'clock,) with a determination to start at 2 o'clock for

the Mississi|)pi, ahout ten miles distant. At the precise hour the bugles sound-
ed, and in a short time all were ready to march.

" General Dodge's squadron was honored with being placed in front ; the

infantry followed next ; General //e?i ny's brigade next ; General Alexander's next

:

and General Posey\i formed the rear-guard. General Dodge called lor, and
as soon received, 20 volunteer spies to go alieail of the whole army.

" In this order the march commenced. They had not, however, gone more
than five miles, I)efore one of our sjiies came back, aimoui'cing their having
come m sigiit of the enemy's i)icUet-gnard. He went ba* k, and the intelli-

gence was quickly conveyed to General Atkinson, then to all the cominandere
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of the brigades ; and the celerity of the march was instantly increased. In a
few minutes inoro, the firing commenced at about 500 yards ahead of the front

of the army, between our spies and the Indian picket guai-d. The Lidiana
were driven by our spies from hill to hill, and kept up a tolerably brisk firing

from every situation commanding the ground over which our spies had to

march ; but being charged upon and routed fi"oni their hiding-places, they
sought safety by retreating to tiie main body on the bank of the river, and
joining in one general eflfort to defend themselves there or die on the ground.

"L. St some might escape by retreating up or down the river. General At-
kinson verj- judiciously ordered General Alexander and General Posey to form
the right wing of the army, and mai'ch down to the river above the Indian
encampment on the bank, and then move down. General Henry formed the

left wing, and marched in the main trail of the enemy. The IL S. infantry,

and General Dodge's squadron of the mining troops, marched in the centre.

With this order our whole force descended the almost perpendicular bluff,

and came into a low valley, heavily timbered with a large growth of under-
brush, weeds and grass.—Sloughs, deep ravines, old logs, &c. were so plenti-

ful as to afibrd every facility for the enemy to make a strong defence. Gen-
eral Henry first came upon and commenced a heavy fire, which was returned
by the enemy. The enemy, being routed from their first hiding-places, sought
others. General Dodgers squadron and the U. S. troops soon came into action,

and, witli General Henry's men, rushed into the strong defiles of the enemy,
and killed all in their way, except a few who succeeded in swimming a slough
of the Mississippi, 150 yards wide. During this time the brigades of Generals
Alexander and Posey were marching down the river, when they fell in with
another part of the enemy's army, and killed and routed all that opposed
them.

" The battle lasted upwards of three hours. About 50 of the enemy's women
and childi'en were talien prisoners, and many, by accident in the battle, were
killed. When the Indians were driven to the bank of the Mississipjii, some
hundreds of men, women, and children, plunged into the river, and hoped by
diving, &c. to escape the bullets of our guns ; very few, however, escaped our
sharp-shooters.

" The loss on the side of the enemy never can be exactly ascertained, but,

according to the best computation, they must have lost in killed upwards of
150. Oiu- loss in killed and woimded was 27.

" Some had crossed the river before our arrival ; and we learn by a prisoner,

that Black-hawk^ while the battle waxed warm, had stolen off, and gone up
the river on this side. If he did, he took nothing with him ; for his valuables,

many of them, together with certificates of good character, and of his hav-
ing fought bravely against the United States diu-ing the last war, &c., signed
by British officers, were found on the battle-ground.

" It is the general impression in the army and at this place, that the Sacs
would be glad to conclude a peace on almost any terms we might propose.
On the morning of the 4th inst. a party of Sioux came to our camp, and beg-
ged premission to go on the back trail and have a fight with them. On the
same day, our whole army started to go down to Prairie du Chien, (about 40
miles,) and wait further orders.

"General Atkinson, accompanied by Generals Dodge and Posey, mth tho

U. S. infantry, arrived at the Prairie on the evening of the 4th, on board the

S. B. Warrior, and will remain until the mounted volunteers arrive. Tiie

Winnebagos, at Prairie du Chien, are daily bringing in Sac prisoners and
scalps.

" On the same day, a party of 15 men from Cassville, imder command of
Captain Price, were ri^connoitring the country between that place and the

Ouisconsin, and fell upon a Iresli Sac trail maldng towai'ds the Mississippi.

They rushed with full speed of horses, and soon came upon, killed and took
prisoners to the number of 12.

" General Scott and staff left here this morning for Prairie du Chien, in

the steam-boat Warrior, to join General Atkinson."

This was the finishinir stroke to the war with the Sacs and Foxes, althnugii

Black-hawk himself had made his escape. General Atkinson imnxMlialelj
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directed Keokuk to send out some of his Indians to demand a surrender of all

tlie warriors that had escaped, and if possible to capture Black-haiok, and
bring him in either alive or dead.

Respecting his last battle, Black-hawk has said, that when the whites came
upon his people, they tried to give themselves up, and made no show of re-

sistance until the soldiers began to slaugliter them, and then his braves deter-

mined to fight until they were all killed. With a small party he went to the

Winnebago village at Px-airie la Cross. Here he told the chief he desired to

give himself up to the whites, and let them kill him, if they wished to do so.

The squaws at this place made him a dress of white deerslcins, prepaiatory

to his (1; parture for Prairie du Chien, to which it appears he went voluntarily

with those that had been sent out after him.
The Sioux, ofwhom we have made mention, that had permission to go out

after the flying Sacs on the 3d of August, were about 100 in number. They
soon after met with the flying band on the west side of the Mississippi, and
indiscriminately murdered about 120 of the poor hall-starved creatures who
had escaped from the whites through so many perils.

A most distressing incident is related as having taken place in the battle of
the 2 August, which it may not be improper to lay before the reader, that ex-

amples of the horrors ofwar may not be wanting. " When our troops charged
the enemy in their defiles near the bank of the Mississippi, men, women, and
children, were seen mixed together, in such a manner as to render it difficult

to kill one, and save the other. A young squaw of about 19 stood in the

grass at a short distance from our line, holding her little gnl in her arms,

about four years old. While thus standing, app'arently unconcerned, a ball

struck the right arm of the child above the elbow, and, shattering the bone,

passed into the breast of its poor mother, who instantly tell dead to the

ground. She fell upon the child, and confined it to the ground also. During
the whole battle, this babe was heard to groan and call for relief, but none
had time to afford it. When, however, the Indians had retreated from that

spot, and the battle had nearly subsided. Lieutenant Anderson, of the

United States' army, went to the place and took from under the dead mother
her wounded daughter, and brought it to a place selected for surgical aid. It

was soon ascertained that its arm must come off"; and the operation was per-

formed upon the little sufferer without drawing from it a tear or a shriek."

At the last accounts it was doing well. When we are told that this Indian
child was sucking a piece of dry biscuit during the whole time of the ampu-
tation, it almost causes a disbelief of the whole story ; but such are the

facts given.

Although no further depredations could be feared from the Sacs, yet on the

9 August, six Indians approached a block-house on Cedar Creek, which runs
into Henderson's River, about 10 miles north of Wairen court-house, and shot,

tomahawked and scalped a young man named William Martin. They
left biihind them a pair of leggins and a loaded gun, and fled, as was sup-
posed, over the Mississippi. A company of 1.5 rangers went in immediate
pursuit, but could not come up with them. It was soon after discovered tiiat

tliis murder was committed by some of Keokuk's band, and he gave up his

nephew as the perpetrator of it.

CHAPTBR X.

Particulars in the lives uf the ciuef mcti—Neapope—His account of himself—Surren-

der of Black-hawk—Speeches on the occasion—His speech on the same—Particu-

lars in his earli/ history—Wabokieshikk, </te Prophet— Trciitij of September, 1832

—

—Jhcount of Black-li.'iwk's companinns—Jirrival of the Indians at Washington—
Black-hawk's interview with the President.

Neapope was second in command to Black-hawk, and in all the expeditions

Against the whites; he was taken prisoner in tlie fight with the Sioux, and ai
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"

his examination afterwards by General Scott, about the murders which had

been committed on tlie whites, he gave this account of himseU':

—

"I always belonged to Black-hawk^s band. Last summer I went to Maiden
;

when 1 came l)p.ck, I found tliat by the treaty with General Gnints, tlu^ Sacs

had moved across the ^lississippi. I remained during the winter witli tlie

Prophet, on Rock River, 35 miles above the mouth. During the winter, tlie

Prophet sent me across tire Mississippi, to Black-hawk, witli a message, to tel

him and his band to cross back to his village and make corn ; that if the

Americans came and told them to move again, they would shake iiands with

them. If the Americans had come and told us to move, we should have

shaken hands, and innnediately have moved peaceably. We encami)ed on

Syracuse Creek. We met some Pottowattomies, and 1 made a feast lor them.

At that time I heard there were some Americans [under Major Stillman]

near us. I prepared a white flag to go and see ihem, and sent two or three

young men on a hill to see what they were doing. Before the feast was
finished, I heard my young men were kdled. This was at sunset. Some of my
}oung men ran out; two killed, and the Americans were seen rushing on to

our camp. Mj"^ yoimg men fired a few guns, and the Americans ran off", and
my young men chased them about six miles."

JVeapope further said, that the Pottowattomies of the village immediately

lefl them, and that no Kikapoos joined them, but those who were originally

\vith Black-hawk ; but the Winnebagos did, and bi'ought in scalps frequent-

ly; tliat, at last, when they found the Sacs would be beaten, they turned

agauist them. It was also given in by some of those examined at this time,

tiiat Black-hawk said, when the steam-boat Warrior approached them, that he

pitied the women and childi-en, and began to make preparations to surrender

to the whites, and for that purpose sent out a white flag to meet the boat,

which immediately fired upon them. Then said he, "IJired too." Tlie truth

of this will not be questioned, iiiasumch as the facts agree with the captain

of the Warrior's own account. Hence the inference is clear, that much blood

might have been saved, but for the precipitancy of those who only sought a

fight with the Indians.

Pai'ties of the friendly tribes were so continually on the alert, that it seemed
very probable the principal chiefs would soon fall into their hands. These
expectations were soon realized; for at 11 o'clock, 27 x\ugu.st. Black-hawk and
his Prophet were delivered to Gieneral Street at Prairie du Chien. They were
brought by two Winnebagoes, Decorie and Chaetar, and, when delivered, were
dressed in a full dress of white-taimed deerskins. Soon after they were
seated in the presence of the officer, Decorie, called the One-eyed, rose and
spoke thus to him :

—

''My father, I now stand before you. When we parted, I told you I would
retm-n soon ; but I could not come any sooner. We have had to go a great

distance, [to the Dalle, on the Ouisconsin, above the Portage.] You see we
have done what you sent us to do. These [pointing to the prisoners] are the

two you told us to get We have done what you told us to do. We always

do what you tell us, because we know it is for our good. Father, you told us

to get these men, and it would be the cause of much good to the Winneba-
goes. We have brought them, but it has been very hard for us to do sg.

That one, MiLcatamishknkaekq, [meaning Black-hawk,] was a great way off.

You told us to bring them to you alive : we have done so. If you had told

us to bring their heads alone, we would have done so, and it would have been

less difficult than what we have done.—Father, we deliver tliese men into

your hands. We would not deliver them even to our brother, the chief of the

waniors, but to you ; because we know you, and we believe you are our

friend. We want you to keep them safe ; if they are to be hurt, we do

not wish to see it. Wait until we are gone before it is done.—Father, msmy
little birds have been flying about our eare of late, and we thought they whis-

pered to us that there was evil intended for us ; but now we hope these evil

birds will let our ears alone.—We know you are our friend, because you take

our part, and that is the reason we do what you tell us to do. You say you

love your red children : we think we love you as much if not more than you

love us. We have confidence in you, and you may rely on us. We have
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been promised a great deal if we would take these men,—that it would dc
much good to our people. We now hope to see what will be done for us.

—

We have come in haste ; we are tired and hungry. We now put these men
into your hands. We have done all that you told us to do."

General Street said, in answer :

—

"My children, you have done well. I told you to bring these men to me,
and you have done so, I am pleased at what you -have done. It is for your
good, and for this reason I am pleased. I assui-ed the great chief of the

warriors, [General Atkinson,] that if these men were in your country, you
would find them, and bring them to me, and now I can say much for your
good. I will go down to Rock Island with the prisoners, and I wish you who
have brought these men, especially, to go with me, with sucli other chiefs and
warriors as you may select. My children, the great chief of the warriors,

when he left this place, directed me to deliver these, and all other prisoners,

to the chief of the warriors at this place. Colonel Taylor, who is here by me.
—Souie of the Winnebagoes south of the Ouisconsin have befriended the

Saukies, [Sacs,] and some of the Indians of my agency have also given them
aid. Tills displeaseth the great chief of the warriors and your great father

the president, and was calculated to do much harm.—Your great father, the

president at Washington, has sent a great war-chief from the tar east, General

Scott, with a fresh army of soldiers. He is now at Rock Island. Your great

father, the president, has sent Jiim and the governor and chief of Illinois to

hold a council witii the Lidians. He has sent a speech to you, and wishes

the chiefs and warriors of the Winnebagoes to go to Rock Island to the

council on the tenth of next month, t wish you to be ready in three days,

when I will go with you.—I am well pleased that you have taken the Black-

haivk, the Prophet, and others prisoners. This will enable me to say much
for you to the great chief of the warriors, and to tlie president, your great

father. My chihh-en, I shall now deliver the two men. Black-hawk and the

Prophet, to the fiiief of the warriors hero ; he will take care of them till we
etart to Rock Island."

Colonel Taylor, having taken the prisoners into his custody, addressed the

chiefs as follows:

—

"The great chief of the warriors told me to take the prisonei-s when you
shall bring them, and send them to Rock Island to iiim. I will take them
and keep them safe, but 1 will use them well, and send them with you and

General Street, when you go down to the council, which will be in a few days.

Your fi-iend. General Sli-eet, advises you to get ready and go down soon, and
so do I. I tf'll you again I will take tiie j)risoners ; I will keep them safe, but

I will do them no harm. I will deliver tiicm to the great chief of the war-

riors, and he will do with them and iis(; them in such manner as shall be

oriii'red by your yi '.cit father, the president."

Chaetar, the other Winnebago, next spoke, and said, "My father, I am
young, and do not know how to make speeches. This is the second time

1 ever spoke to you before people.—I am no chief; I am no orator; but

I have been allowed to speak to you. If I should not speak as well as others,

still you must listen to me. Father, when you made the speech to the chiefs

Waugh kon Decorie Carramani, the One-eyed Decorie, and others, 'tolher day,

I was there. I heard you. I tliought what you said to them, you also said

to me. You said, if these two [|ioiuting to Black-hawk and the Pro|)het] were

taken by us and brought to you, there would never more a black cloud hang

over yoiu- Winnebagoes. Your words entered into my ear, into my brains,

and into my heart. I left here that same night, and you know you have not

se(;n me since until now. I have been a great way: 1 had much trouble;

btit when I remembered what you said, I knew what you said was right.

This made me continue and do what you told me to do. Near the Dalle, on

the Ouisconsin, I took Black-lmwk. No one did it but me. I say this in the

eare of all |)resent, and they know it—and I now appeal to the Great Spirit,

our grandl'alher, aiul the earth, oiu- grandmother, for the truth of what I say.

Fatiier, I am no chief, hut wiiat I have done is for the benefit of my nation,

and 1 ho|)e to see the good tliat has been pronnse<l to us. That one Wa-bo-

kie-shiek, [the Prophet,] is my relation—if he is to he hurt, I do not wish to
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see it. Father, soldiers sometimes stick the ends of their guns into the backs

of Indian prisoners when tliey are going about in the hands of the guard.

r hope this will not bo done to these men."
The following is said to be the speech which Black-hawk made when he

surrendered himself to the agent at Pairie du Chien :

—

" You have taken me prisoner with all my warriors. 1 am much grieved,

for I expected, if I did not defeat you, to hold out much longer, and give you
more ti-ouble beibre I surrendered. 1 tried hard to bring you into ambush,

out your last general understands Indian fighting. The first one was not so

wise. When I saw that I could not beat you bylnditui fighting, I determined

to rush on you, and fight you face to face. I fought hard. But your guns were
»vell aimed. The bullets" flew like birds in the air, and whizzed by our ears

like the wind through the trees in the winter. My warriors fell around me
;

it began to look dismal. I saw my evil day at hand. The sun rose dim on

us in the morning, and at night it sunk in a dark cloud, and looked like a

bah of fire. That was tlie last sun that shone on Black-hawk. His heart is

dead, and no longer beats quick in his bosom.—He is now a prisoner to the

white men ; they will do with him as they wish. But he can stand toi'ture,

and is not afraid of death. He is no coward. Black-hawk is an Indian,

"He has done nothing foi which an Indian ought to be ashamed. He has

fought for his countrymen, the squaws and papooses, against white men, who
came, year after year, to cheat them and take away their lands. You know
the cause of our making war. It is known to all white men. They ought

to be ashamed of it. The white men despise the Indians, and drive them
from their homes. But the Indians are not deceitful. The white men speak

bad of the Indian, and look at him spitefully. But the Indian does not tell

lies ; Indians do not steal.

" An Indian, who is as bad as the white men, could not live in our nation ; he

would be put ;'-* i'ffith, s/rl eat up by the wolves. The white men are 1

schoolmastert li^ir^ci:^] false looks, and deal fti false actions; they sn

in the face of lu: p^or s^Aaa to cheat hiui ; they shake them by the hand
gain their conficance, to nake thein di'unk, to deceive them, and ruin c

wives. We told them to et us alone, and keep avMxy from us ; but they {

lowed on, and beset our paths, and they coiled themselves among us, like t

snake. They poisoned us by their touch. We were not safe. We lived

danger. We were becoming like them, hypocrites and li!i:s, adulterei-s, la

drones, all talkere, and no workers.
" We looked up to the Great Spirit. We went to our great father. We were

encouraged. His great council gave us fair words and big promises ; but we
got no satisfaction. Things were growing worse. There were no deer in

die forest. The opossum and beaver were fled; the springs were dijing up,

and our squaws and [lapooses without victuals to keep them from starving;

we called a great council, and built a large fire. The spirit of our fadjers

arose and spoke to us to avenge our wrongs or die. We all spoke before the

council fire. It was warm and pleasant. We set up the war-whooj), and dug

up the tomahawk ; our kni\ es were ready, and the heart of Black-hawk swelled

high in his bosom, when he led his warriors to battle. He is satisfied. He
will go to the world of spirits contented. He has done his duty. His father

will meet him there, and commend him.

''Black-hawk is a true Indian, and disdains to ciy like a woman. He feela

for his wife, his children and fi-iends. But he does not care for himsell". He
cares for his nation and the Indians. They will sufler. He laments their fate.

The white men do not scalp die head; but they do worse—tli^y poison the

heart; it is not pure with them.—His countrymen will not be scalped, but they

will, in a few years, become like the white men, so that you can't trust them,

and there must be, as in the wliite settlements, nearly as many officers as uien,

to take care of them and keep them in order.

"Farewell, my nation! Black-hawk tried to save you, and avenge your

\vrongs. He drank the blood of some of the whites. He has been taken p
"

oner, and his ])lans are stojiped. He can do no more. He is near his t

His sun is setting, and he will rise no more. Farewell to Black-hawk."

2R
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It is somewhat, singular that the old chiefshould ever have been taken alive,

and he probably never would have been by the whites. When it was report-

ed currently that he had sacrificed himself in the stand that he made upon
the banks of the Mississij)pi, in the end of July, as has been related, Sptnse7-''s

famous lines were the first to discover themselves to oiu- mind, upon the great

event.

" Unto the mighty stream him to betake,

Where he an end of battle and of life did make.''

Fairy Qikek.
•

But we were soon glad to learn that the report, like the lines of Spensn; was
only poetry.

It can be scarcely necessary to add that the prisoners were set at liberty, and
tlie offenders were ordered again to be sought after.

On the 7 September, the Indian prisoners and their guards went on board
the steam-boat Winnebago, and were conveyed down tlje river to Jefferson

Barracks, ten miles below St. Louis. There were, besides Black-hawk and
the prophet, eleven chiefs or head men of the Sacs and Foxes, togethtr with
about fifty less distinguished warriors. These were landed just above the lower
rapids, on their pledge of remaining peaceable. Two days before, a boat

had conveyed to the barracks six or seven warriors, among whom was J\ea-

pope. On their arrival at the barracks, all of them were put in irons.

Black-hawk is not so old a man as was generally su})posed. Some, who
knew him well, said he was not above 48, although the toils of wars had made
him appear like one of 70.* He was by birth a Pottowattomie, but brought
up by the Sacs. His height is about six feet. As to his physiognomy, it is un-
necessary for us to add concerning it here, as that may be better had from an
mspection of the engraving of him, as oiu" likeness is said, by many who have
seen him, to be excellent.

Like other Indian names, his is spelt in as many ways as times used by
different writers. At a treaty which he made with the United States in 1829, at

Prairie du Chien, it is written Hay-ray-tshoan-sharp. In a description of him
about the time he was taken, we find him spelt Mus-cata-inish-ka-kaek ; and
several others might be added.
The Prophet, or ffabokieshiek, (White-cloud,) is about 40 years old, and nearly

six feet high, stout and athletic. He was by one side a Winnebago, and the

other a Sac or Saukie, and is thus desci'ibed :—He "has a large, broad face,

shoi't, blunt nose, large, full eyes, broad moutli, thick lips, with a full suit of
hair. He wore a white cloth head-dress, which rose several incites above the

top of his head; the whole man exhibiting a deliberate savag<^ness ; not that

he would seem to delight in honorable wai-, or fight, but marking him as the

priest of assassination or secret murder. He had in one hand a white flag,

while the other hung carelessly by his side. They were both clotiied in very

wliite dressed deerskins, fringed at the seams with short cuttings of the same"
This description, though written long before any jiainting was made of him,

will be found, we thiidv, to coiTespond very well with the engraving of him
which we liave given.

It is said by many, and is evident from Black-hawk''n account, that fVabokies-

hiek was the j)rimo mover of tliis war, and had jmwwowed up a belief among
his people, tliat he was able to conjure such kind of events as he desired;

and that he had made Black-hawk believe the whites were l>ut few, and could

not fight, and therefore might easily be driven from the disputed lands. It

seems, however, rather incredible that Black-hnwk should have believed that

the Americans icerefew and could not fight, when it is known that he was
opposed to them in the last war, and must, therefore, have been convinced
of the falsity of such a report long before this war.

In September, a treaty was made by the United States with the Winneba-

* In the account of his life, published by Mr. J. B. Patterson, in 1834, Black-liawk says he
. was born in 1767, on Rock River ; and hence, in 1832, he was in his 65lh vear. His father's

name was Pyesa. His great-grandfather's name was Na-na-ma-kke, or Thunder, who
was born in the vicinity of Montreal. " wlierc the (treat Spirit first placed the Sac nation "
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goes, and another with the Sacs and Foxes. The former ceded all their lanils

south of the Ouisconsin, and east of the Mississippi, amounting to 4,000,000
acres of valuable lands. The treaty with the Sacs and Foxes was on the 21
of that month, and 6,000,000 acres were acquired at that time, " of a quality

not inferior to any between the same parallels of latitude." It abounds in

lead ore, and the Indians saj' in others.

For these tracts the United States agreed to make the following considera
tions :—" To pay an annuity of 20,000 dollars for 30 years ; to support a black

smith and gunsmith in addition to those then employed ; to pay the debts of
the tribtis ; to supply provisions; and, as a reward for the fidelity of Keokuk
and the friendly band, to allow a reservation to be made for them of 400
miles squai-e * on the loway River, to include ^eoA;uA:'s principal village."

By the same treaty, Black-hawk, his two sons, the Prophet, JVaopope,. and
five others, principal warriors of the hostile bands, were to remain in the

hands of the whites, as hostages, during the pleasure of the president of the

United States. The other prisoners were given up to the friendly Lidians.

A gentleman who visited the captive Indians at Jefferson Barracks, Mis-
souri, speaks thus concerning them :—" We were immediately struck with
admiration at the gigantic and symmetrical figures of most of the warrioi-s,

who seemed, as they reclined in native ease and gracefulness, with their half-

naked bodies exposed to view, i-ather like statues from some master-hand,
than like beings of a race whom we had heard characterized as degenerate
and debased. We extended our hands, which they rose to grasp, and to our
question, ' How d'ye do.^' they responded in the same words, accompanying
them with a hearty shake." "They were clad in leggins and moccasins of
buckskin, and wore blankets, which were thrown around them in the manner
of the Roman toga, so as to leave their right arms bare." " The youngest
among them were painted on their necks, with a bright vermilion color, and
had their faces transversely streaked with alternate red and black stripes.

From their bodies, and from theii' faces and eyebrows, they pluck out the

hair with the most assiduous care. They also shave, or pull it out from their

heads, with the exception of a tuft of about three fingers' width, extending
from between the forehead and crown to the back of the head ; this they
sometimes plait mto a queue on the crown, and cut the edges of it down to

an inch in length, and plaster it with the vermilion, which keeps it erect, and
gives it the appearance of a cock's-comb."

The same author says, the oldest son of Black-hawk, JVasinewiskvJc, called

Jack, but for want of " that peculiar expression which emanates from a culti-

vated intellect," could have been looked upon by him "as the living personi-

fication of his beau ideal of manly beauty." He calls Black-hawk Mack-atama-
sic-ac-ac, and states his height at about five feet eight inches, and that he^
should judge his age to be 50. Those who have known him for years, say his

disposition is very amiable ; that he is endowed with great kindness of heart,

and the strictest integrity ; tijat, like Mi^hikinakwa, he was not a chief by
birth, but acquired the title by bravery and wisdom.

jYaseuskuck, or the Tliundercloud, is the second son of Black-hmvk, and accom-
panied liim in his captivity. He is said not to be very handsome.

Opeekeeshieck, or fVabokieshiek, the Prophet, of whom we have already given

some particulars, carries with him a huge pipe, a yard in length, with the

stem ornamented with the neck feathers of a duck, and beads and ribands

of various colors. To its centre is attached a fan of feathers. He wears his

hair long all over his head.

N E-A-FOFE, JVaopope, JVaapope, &LC., or Broth, of whom we have also several

times spoken, was brother to the Prophet, and "some years hisjiniior ;" and
our informant adds, "he resembles him in height and figure, though he is not

so robust, and his face is more sharp : in wickedness of expression they ai'e

par nobile fratrumy " When Mr. Catlin, the artist, was about taking tiie por-

trait of JVaapope, he seized the ball and chain that were fastened to his leg,

and raising them on high, exclaimed, with a look of scorn, ' Make me so, ana

* So says our authority, {Niles's Register,) but we very much doubt this enormous space

40 miles square gives 1600 square miles, which perhaps might have been the truth liut

wlien 160,000 square miles are considered, all probability is outraged.
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show me to the great father.'''' On Mr. Catlings refusing to paint him as lie

wished, be kept varying his countenance with grimaces, to prevent him from
catching a hkeness.

" Poivetshieck, or Strawiary, is the only Fox among them, the rest

being all Sacs. He is the son of the chief Epanoss: his parents dying while
he was an infant, he was adopted by JVaapope. He is 19 yeai's of age."

" Pomahoe, or Fast-swimming-fish, is a short, thick set, good-natured old

brave, who bears his misfortunes with a philosophy worthy of tne ancients."

The following act of congress we extract, as it throws light upon subse-
quent details :

—" For the expenses of 12 prisoners of war of the Sac and Fox
tribes, now in confinement, and to be held as hostages, under the seventh
article of the treaty of 21 Sept. 1832, embracing the cost of provisions and
clothing, compensation to an interpi'eter, and cost of removing them to a
place of safety, where they may be kept without being closely confined, the

sum of 2500."

On the 22 April, (1833,) the captive Indians arrived at Washington, and the

next day Black-hawk had a long intei-view with President Jackson. The first

words with which it is said he accosted the president were, " I AM A MAN,
AND YOU ARE ANOTHER."
The president, after a few brief observations, directed the articles of dress

provided for them to be exhiljited to them, and told Black-hawk that the

whole would be delivered to him to be distributed as, in his judgment, he
should think best. He then told them they must depart immediately for Fort
Monroe, and remain there contented, until he gave them permission to return

to their country. That time, he said, depended upon the conduct of their

people ; that they would not be set at liberty, imtil all the articles of the

treaty had been complied with, and good feelings were evinced by their

counti-ymen. The Prophet then said :

—

" We expected to return immediately to our people. The wai- in which
we have been involved, was occasioned by our attempting to raise provisions

on our own kinds, or where we thought we had a right so to do. We have
lost many of our people, as well as the whites. Our tribes and families are

now exposed to the attacks of our enemies, the Sioux and the Menominies.
We hope, therefore, to be permitted to return home to take care of them."
Black-hawk spoke some time to the president, giving a clear and compre-

hensive history of the rise of the war, and, towai^ds the close, said :

—

" We did not expect to conquer the whites ; no. They had too many
houses—too many men. I took up the hatchet, for my part, to revenge
injuries whicn my people could no longer endure. Had I borne them longer

without striking, my people would have said. Black-hawk is a woman ; he is

too old to be a chief^he is no Sac. These reflections caused me to raise tlie

war-whoop. I say no more of it ; it is known to you. Keokuk once was
here

;
you took him by the hand, and when he wished to return to his

home, you were willing. Black-hawk expects, that, like Keokuk, we shall be

peiinitted to return too."

The president added, that he was well acquainted with the circumstances
which led to the disaste>rs to which they had jiiluded. It was unnecessary to look

back uj)on them. He intended now to secure the observance of jjeace.

They need not feel any uneasiness, he said, about their own women and
children. They should not suffer from the Sioux and Menominies. He
would compel the red Jiien to be at peace with one another. That when he
was satisfied that all tilings would remain quiet, then they would be permitted

to return. He tlien took them by the hand, and dismissed them.

It is said, that, wh'ilv. in Washini;ton, the Lidians expressed more sin-prise

and pleasure at tliu portiaits of the Indian chiefs in the war department than

any thing else that was shown tliein.

On Friday, 2G April, the captives were conducted from Washington
towards Fort Monroe, which is upon a small island, at Old Point Comfort
on the west g'de of the Chesapeake Hay, in Virginia.

Hefbre closing the present chapt' r, a few other mteresting matters shall

y^ laid lietbre our readers. We have just given the descrijttion of the Indians

wiille at Jcfferseui Barracks, by one who visited them llure not long after

their confinement. We now intend lo give what the author of Knicker-
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booker says of them soon after. Mr. Irvhig^s account is contained in a letter,

dated Washington, 18 Dec. 1832.—"From St. Louis I went to Fort Jefferson,

al)out 9 miles distant, to see Black-hawk, the Indian warrior, and his fcUow-
prisoncrs—a forlorn crew—emaciated and dejected—the redoubtable chieftain

himself, a meagre old man upwards of 70. He has, however a fine head, a

Roman style of face, and a prepossessing countenance."
Since we are upon descriptions, the following will not be thought out of

place, perhaps, although we had reserved it for our next chapter. It is from
the pen of the editor of the U. States Literary Gazette, Philadelphia. " We
found time, yesterday, to visit the Black-hawk, and his accom|)anying Indian
chiefs, and the Prophet, at Congress Hall Hotel. We went into then- cham-
ber, and found most of them sitting or lying on their beds. Black-hawk was
sitting in a chair, and apparently depressed in vspirits. He is about 65, of
ujiddling size, with a head that would excite the envy of a phrenologist

—

cue of the finest thatHeaven ever let fall on the shoulders of an Indian. The
Prophet has a coarser figure, with less of intellect, but with the marks of
decision and firmness. His face was painted with red and white. The son
of Black- hawk is a noble specimen of physical beauty—a model for those who
would embody the idea of strength. He was paijited, and his hair cut and
dressed m a strange fantasy. The other chiefs had nothing in particular in

their appearance to distinguish them from other natives of the forest. The
whole of the deputation visited the water works yesterday, [June 11 or 12,] and
subsequently were taken to the Cherry-hill Prison, and shown the manner in

which white men punish. The exliibition of arms and ships at the navy-yard,
led the Hawk to remark that he suspected the greatfather was getting readyfor warJ"

It was remarked by some in Philadelphia that Black-haivk^s " pyramidal
forehead " very much resembled that of Sir fFalter Scott, Others observed that

his countenance strongly reminded them of their late worthy benefactor,

Stephen Girard. Li Norfolk it was noticed that the old warrior very much
resembled the late President Monroe.

CHAPTER XI.

From the time of the setting out o/ Black-hawk and his five * companionsfrom For-
tress Monroe, 5 June, 1833, to their arrival on the Upper Mississippi, on the first

of August following ; prefacedby some reflections upon the events of the war.

It is not difficult to perceive, without a formal commentary, that in the late

Indian war, much blood was shed which might have been avoided. Twice
had the despairing Indians displayed the white flag, to give notice of their

willingness to surrender; but, like the wretched Hallibees, the rifle was the

only answer they received. When Major Stillnian was on his m£U"ch to Syca-
more Creek, a few Indians were sent from JVaopope's camp with friendly in-

tentions, and under a white flag ; but such was the carriage of the whites,

no interview could be had, and they were obliged to fly to save their lives,

which all, it seems, were not fortunate enough to do. This, it will be said,

is Indian talk—it is even so. What say the whites ? They say, the Indians
whom they first discovered were only a decoy. This is mere assertion, and
proves nothing on their own side, neither does it disprove the Indian account
Is it not plain that Black-hawk caused a white flag to be exliibited before he
was attacked by the steam-boat Warrior ? He had resolved to fight no more,
if he could get terms of peace ; but his flag was at once fired upon ; then
says the old chief, ^^ Ifired too ,•" and the whites expected nothing else, and
too many of them, it would seem, desired nothing else. But we reflect no
more upon this matter.

The reader has, in the last chapter, been conducted through the principal,

* An anonymous author, of whom we have made considerable use in this chapter, gives

us their names, &c. as follows .

—

Mac-cut-i-niiek-e-ca-cac, Black-hawk, I Pamaho, Prophet's brother, Pish Fhu
Na-she-eacuck, his son, Lnud Thunder. Po-we-zhick, Prophet's adajited son,,. Strawberry
IV.a-be-ke-zhick, the Prophet, Clear Day. \ Napope, the icarrwr Strong Soup

56
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and all the important events of the war, and accompanied the chiefs of the

Indians engaged in it to Fortress Monroe, in Virginia. We are now to ob-

serve what passed in their travels from hence through several of our gi-eat

cities, and thence to their wilderness homes in the distant west.

Having been conducted to Fort Monroe, the captives found themselves in a

kind of elegant confinement ; and instead of balls and chains to their ankles,

were kindly treated, and saw nobody but friends. This state of things, how-
ever, must have become, in a short time, exceedingly irksome ; but an early

order for their liberation prevented such result. For,-on the 4 June, 1833, orders

came for tlieir being liberated ; and the next day. Major John Garland set

off with them in a steam-boat for Baltimore, by Norfolk, Gosport, Ports-

mouth, &c.
During their short stay at Monroe, the Indians became much attached to

Its commander. Colonel Eustis, and on the afiternoon of the same day that the

order of release arrived, Black-hawk went and took his leave of him, and at

parting made the following speech :

—

" Brother, I have come on my own part, and in behalf of my companions,
to bid you farewell. Our great father has at length been pleased to permit

us to return to our hunting-grounds. We have buried the tomahawk, and
the sound of the rifle will hereafter only bring death to the deer and the buffa-

lo. Brother, you have treated the red men very kindly. Your squaws have
made them presents, and you have given them plenty to eat and drink. The
memory of your friendship will remain till the Great Spirit says it is time
for Black-Hawk to sing his death-song.—Brother, your houses are as numer-
ous as the leaves upon the trees, and your young warriors, like the sands upon
the shore of the big lake, which rolls before us. The red man has but few
houses, and few warriors, but the red man has a heart which throbs as warm-
ly as the heart of his white brother. The Great Spirit has given us our hunt-

ing grounds, and the skin of the deer which we kill there is his favorite, for

its color is white, and this is the emblem of peace. This hunting-di-ess and
these feathers of the eagle are white. Accept them, my brother ; I have
given one like this to the White-otter, Accept of it as a memorial of Black-
hawk. When he is far away, this will serve to remind you of him. May
the Great Spirit bless you and your children—farewell."

Colonel Eustis, in his reply, said, the fortune of war had placed him in his

hands, and as it was not the practice of the whites to attack an unarmed
foe, he was safe ; but that if he had met him in the field of battle, his duty

would have required him to have taken his life. He rejoiced, he said, at

his prospect of speedily returning to his friends, and hoped he would
never again trouble his white neighbors. To which Black-hatvk added,
" Brother, the Great Spirit punishes those loho deceive us, and my faith is now
pledged"
On leaving Fort Monroe, the Lidians were taken to Portsmouth and Gos-

port, to see the navy-yard, the dry-dock, and men-of-war. At Gosport, they

went on board the 74 Delaware, where they could not but express much
astonishment at the vastness of the " big canoe," as they called it, and its

extraordinary uncouth furniture. Black-hawk seemed the most to admire
the ship, and wished to see the chief who commanded it, and especially the

man that built it ; for he wished, he said, "to take him by the hand." When
they left the ship, they passed around under her bow, which terminates

in a colossal statue of an Indian warrior. This the Indians beheld with

considerable emotions of surprise and evident demonstrations of high

gratification.

At Norfolk, the rush to see the Indians was very great, and many could

not be gratified even with a sight of them. This great curiosity in the very

vicinity where they had been for near 10 weeks, will not be thought strange,

when it is considered, that no one expected their immediate removal, and
therefore few had been to see them ; thinking they could do so when some
more convenient time offcn-ed.

Having taken lodgings at the hotel in Norfolk, the Indians were aware

of the great curiosity of the i)eo.|)le, and therefore they exhibited themselves

upon the balcony, from whence fVnbokieshiek, the Prophet, made the follow-

ing address:

—
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"The Great Spirit sent us here, and by the same fiat we are now hap|)ily

about to return to our own JMississippi, and our own people. It affords us
much happiness to rejoin our friends and kindred. We would shake hands
with all our wliite friends assembled, and ofl!er our best wishes for their pros-

perity. Should any of them go to our countiy on the Mississippi, we would
take pleasure in requiting the many kindnesses we have received from their

people here. We will go home with peaceable dispositions towards our
white brethren, and endeavor to make our conduct hereafter more satis-

factory to them. We bid you all farewell, as it is the last time we may
see each other."

Blnck-hawk then said a few words, expressing the same sentiments ; and
one o'clock having arrived, they departed. This was 5 June.
When the steain-boat was near Baltimore, it was discovered that there had

been a robbery committed on board ; and when this became kno\vn to Black-

hawk, he showed considerable concern, fearing some of his party should
be suspected; and when the boat lay to at considerable distance from the

wharf, to make search for the money, he said, " he desired that himself and
company shoidd be searched,for he loould let the whites know that the Sacs did

not steal."

President Jackson had arrived in Baltimore, and after Black-hawKs arrival

he had an interview with him. The Indians were conveyed in the steam-
boat Columbus, and arrived about 11 o'clock in the forenoon of the next
day, after leaving Norfolk, namely, June. Among the crowds who visited

them were many ladies, to whom, generally, the Indians said, " Pretty squaws,

pretty squaws."

The Indians and the president attended the theati-e the same night, and it

was remarked, that the attention of the house was pretty nearly equally divi

ded between them. On the next day occurred the interview between tiiem,

of which mention has just been made ; at which time, among other things,

the president said to the old chief:

—

" When I saw you in Washington, I told you, that you had behaved very

badly, in raising tlje tomahawk against the white people." He added, that

his conduct last year had caused him to send out his warriors against him,

and that he and those with him had been surrendered to him to be kept dur-

ing his pleasure, or until he should think there would be no danger from let-

ting him go. " I told you," he continued, " I would inquire whether your
people wished you should return, and whether, if you did return, tJiere

would be any danger to the frontier. General Clark and General Atkinson,

whom you know, have informed me that Sheckak, your principal chief, and
the rest of your people, are anxious you should return, and Keokuk has asked

me to s"nd you back. Your chiefs have pledged themselves for your good
conduct."—" You will see the strength of the white people. You will see

tliat our young men are as numerous as the leaves in the woods. Wliat can
you do against us ? "—" When you go back, listen to the counsels of Keokvk
and the other friendly chiefs."

To this the Prophet said a few words, as follows :

—

" Father, my ears are open to your words ; I am glad to hear them ; I am
glad to go hack to my people. I want to see my family. I did not behave

well last summer. I ought not to have taken up the tomahawk. But my
people have suffered a great deal. When I get back, 1 will remember your

words. I ^\\\\ not go to war again. I will live in peace. I will hold you by
the hand."

Black-hawk intended to have made a long speech at this time ; but the

president was unable to hear him out, on account of the great fatigues he

had undergone, and the old chief was, therefore, very short. He said, ''My

heart is big, for I have much to say to my greatfather," and closed, after many
expressions of affection and respect for him. The warmth of the weather

and the great crowed that surrounded the hotel in which the Indians were

lodged, caused them to retu-e to Fort M'Henry, about 3 miles below the city

The landlord said tlie crowd was so great about his house, that they had

carried away his banisters, windows, and he was feai-ful, if they remained

longer, that his whole house would be carried away also.
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They visited the Washington monument, among other places, while at

Bahimore, and were at first afi-aid to ascend in it, upon its circular steps

;

Baying it was the Manitou of the white people. At length JVaopope said he
would venture up. Black-hawk observed, that then they would all go ; for

if it fell down, he said thoy would not be safer on the ground at its base tlian

if they were in it.

They visited the circus also, while here, and were much better pleased

with the performances there, than at the tlieatre. The elegant horses pleased

them far more than the stars and garters of the mock lords and ladies of the

theatre, and it was very natural they should. To see a lady ride upon one
foot, while the horse was running at his utmost speed, was matter of fact to

them, and excited the greatest admiration. But to see a fellow popping out

fi-om behind a curtain, strutting about the stage, uttering to himself some
.nuitelligible nonsense, could not interest any one similarly situaterl. They
aid they believed those who rode in the circus could hunt buffalo even

-etter than the Sacs.

Considerable inconvenience was exi^erienced from the meeting of t\vo

ach conspicuous characters as the president cf the United States and
iack-hawk, at the same time, in populous plac ri and it was announced
-. a Philadelphia paper, of 9 June, that Major ]\.-land had arrived there,

at had left the Indians in Baltimore, and that 'tuey would not proceed to

N. York until the day after the president. Accordingly they did not arrive

in Philadelphia until 10 June, when they were conducted to lodgmgs in Con-
gress Hall. The next day there was a great military display, accompanied
by an immense procession, and the whole passed up Third Street, Ojiposite

Congress Hall, by which means the Indians had a fine opportunity to seo and
contemplate their numbers. Pointing to the soldiere. Black-hawk asked if

they were the same that were in his comitry last summer.
Having visited all places of amusement and curiosity in Philadelphia, the

Indians departed for N. York, where they arrived in a steam-boat of the

People's Line, about 5 o'clock, 14 June, on Friday. The arrival of Lafayette,

in 1825, could not have attracted a greater crowd than was now assembled
at and in the vicuiity of Castle Garden. As it happened, Mr. Durant, the

aeronaut, had just got ready to ascend in his balloon from the garden. The
steam-) )oat, therefore, rounded to, that the passengers might witness the

ascension. When it was known on shore that the Indians were on board,

the choering and clapping became tremendous; and it was not a little aug-

mented from those on board the numerous craft in the river. Those in the

boat answered as well as their numbers would admit. The Indians, at first,

were some terrified, supposing they had at last come to an enemy, and that

the noise about them was the wai--whoop of the whites, but were soon

undeceived.
Soon after the balloon had cleared the walls of the castle, and ]Mr. Durant

had unfurled his flag. Black-hawk was asked what he thought of it To
which he answered:

—

" That man is a great brave. / donH think he'll ever get back. He must be a
Sac.^^ Another said, " If he is a Sac, heHl get none of his brothers to follow in

his trail. JVone of 'em tinll ever see the smoke of his ungtvam. He will have to

live alone—without any squaw."
When the balloon had attained a vast height, and almost out of tlio oUi

chief's sight, (which had become considerably impaired,) he exclaimed,
^^ I think he can go to the heavens; to the Great Spirit." Ponmhoe then said,

"/ think he can see the country of the EnglisL" The Prophet, or Jf'abokie.thick,

having been asked what he tliought of the balloon, said, ^'^ I canH form uny

idea, but think he can go up to the cloud.<i if he will. Shoidd think he coiUd see

the Great Spirit now."

We can only conjecture what might have been ])assing in their minds at

this strange sight They were struck with wonder, and no doubt were ready

to exclaim, "What cannot the white people do? Why can they not send an

army in that way to hurl down destruction upon their enemies ? They sure-

ly will do it If they can ascend to the Great Spirit, tliey must he Great Spirits

too!"
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On tlieir landing, such was the dousity of the crowd, that lor a tinit- it

seemed impossible to etiect a passage for them. Aller some time, however,
by the aid of the police officers, they were taken up in caiTiages, and cairied
to their lodgings at the Exchange Hotel in Broad Street. The spacious
squai-e and street adjacent were instantly filled by the people, whose eager
ness to see the strangers was so great, that it seemed almost impossible to

prevent a forcible entrance into the house. Whereupon the directors of the
Indians let Black-Jmwk show himself several times at a window ; and imme-
diately after, the multitude quietly dispersed, without caiTying away banisters
or ^vindows, as had been complained of m Baltimore. Thus ended Friday.
On Saturday evening, they were conducted to the Bowery Theatre, and oi

Monday, the papers of tlie city annoiuiced that they would visit Castle G u -

den that evening, the Park Theatre on Tuesday, Niblo's on Wedn'isdiv,
Richmond Hill Theatre on Thm-sday, Vauxhall Garden on Friday, aid, on
Saturday, leave for Albany. Thus were the doings of every evening of their

stay allotted, which, we believe, came to pass accordingly. Of the manner
lU whicii the daytime was spent, we shall, in the next place, proceed to give

some account
On Monday, 17 June, the Hon. John A. GraJiam met the Indians, at their

i|uaiters, and made a speech to them, which is as well adapted to the Indian
manner, as any thing we have seen. He began

:

" Brothers, open yom* ears. You are brave men. You have fought like

tigers, but in a bad cause. We have conquered you. We were sorry, last

year, that you raised the tomahawk against us ; but we believe you did not
know us then as you do now. We think, that in time to come, you will be
^^"ise, and that we shall be friends forever. You see that w^e are a great peo-
ple—numerous as the flowers of the field, as the shells on the sea-shore, oi-

the fish in the sea. We put one hand on the eastern, and, at the same time,

tlie other on the western ocean. We all act together. If, sometimes, our
great men tallc loud and long at oiu* council fii-es, but shed one drop of white
men's blood, our young warriors, as thick as the stars of the night, wUl leap
OH board om- great boats, which fly on the waves, and over the lakes—swift

as the eagle in the air—then penetrate the woods, make the big guns thun-

der, and the whole heavens red ^^^th the flames of the dwellings of their en-
emies. Brothers, the president has made you a great talk. He has but one
mouth. That one has sounded the sentiments of all the people. Listen to

A\ hat he has said to you. Write it on yom- memories. It is good, very good.

Black-hawk, take these jewels, a pair of topaz ear-rings, beautifully set in

gold, for your wife or daughter, as a token of fi'iendship, keeping always in

mind that women and childi'en are the favorites of the Great Spirit. These
jewels are from an old man, wiiose head is whitened with the snows of 70
\\ inters ; an old man, who has thrown do^vn his bow, put off" his sword, and
now stands leaning on his staff*, waiting the coixunands of the Great Spirit.

Look around you, see all this mighty people, then go to yom* homes, open
yoLU- arms to receive your families. Tell them to bmy the hatchet, to make
bright the chain of friendship, to love the white men, and to live in peace
with them, as long as the rivers run into the sea, and the sun rises ai.d sets.

If you do so, you vnU be happy. You ^vill then insure the prosperitj' of un-

born generations of yom- ti'ibes, who Avill go hand and hand with the sons of

the white men, and all shall be blessed by the Great Spirit. Peace and hap-

piness, by the blessing of the Great Spirit, attend you.. Farewell."

When this was ended, Black-hawk said, '^Brother, ive like your talk, If^e

will be friends. We liJx the ivhite people. They are very kind to us. We shall

not forget it. Your counsel is good. We shall attend to it. Yoiir valuable

present shall go to my squaw. It pleases ii\e very much. We shall always be

friends."

The following circumstance is said to have occuiTed, while the Indians were
in New York : One day, after dinner, a gentleman got admittance to then- room,

whose object was to communicate to them some religious instruction. He
began with Black-hawk^s son ; but when the young fellow understood by tlio

interpreter what his object was, he said, "/ lazee" and, covering his lace with

ais blanket stietched himself out u\ nn a sofa, and went to sleep.

56*
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The Cherokee Phosiiix was shown to Blark-haick, in Nev.' York, bj' a gen-

tleman, who gave the chief to iniderstand tiiat it was the first and only news-

jjaper printed in Indian. Alter explainini^- the great use of papers to him, the

ihief was well pleased, said he knew the Cherokee tribe well, but did not

know they had such a thing among them as a newspaper. He requested the

gentleman to make the name of Black-haivk on it, which he did, and gave it

to liim ; when the old chief carefidly folded it up and laid it away, sajing he

vvould show it to his people when he got home.
On Thursday, 20 June, the Indians were shown the faniotis arsenal in

White Street. The great cannon, mortars and shells, on the fh-st fioor, filled

rheni with astonishment and awe, in spite of their philosophical indifference.

On visiting the second floor, their countenances were seen to enhven. The
sight of 10,000 stand of small arms, all as bright as polishing could maJve

them, with all the bayonets fixed, was evidently more agreeable to them than

the great, unwieldy cannon below. Their admiration was greatly heightened
on being shown the operation of Mr. Hiddon^s new patent artillery lock. It

had been fitted for the occasion, on the beautilul brass 3 pounder, which Gov
Tompkins gave the state in 1814. This gun being placed in the yard, anrl

charged with a blank cartridge. Gen. ./irndarhis, of the arsenal, di"ew the

string attached to the lock, and the discharge was instantaneous. Here
again they could not conceal their astonishment, which was much raised by
the mysterious operation of the lock. The cannon being again charged,

Black-hawk was invited to pull the string and discharge it ; but he declined

trom timidity, and all the rest followed his example. At length the Prophet
step])ed forward, with a great air of resolution, and discharged it. The re-

port startled him a little ; but the moment after, finding himself imharmed,
he laughed heartily. Then all the rest ventured to discharge it. When Mr.

Hiddon showed them the fuhninatmg wafer, upon which his lock acts, "the

vacant seriousness and gravity," says one present, "with which they returned

it, as a matter quite too profound for their comprehension, was irresistibly

comic."
Several of the captives had been attacked with an inflammation in their

eyes, accom])anied with some fever, supposed to have been brought on by

the fatigues they had experienced during their journey. But while they

remained in New York, they had nearly recovered.

When it was announced in the papers, that the Indians would not proceed
anj' farther north, great disappointment was lelt here ; but we heard no one
complain. All seemed sensible that to show them about Ironi place to place,

was inflicting a punishment upon them which could in no wise l.)enefit us.

There might be one exception, for we were informed that a gentleman liad

made large arrangements liere ibr writing Black-lmivk^s liie. But whether it

were the old cliiel's good or bad fortune tliat ])revented him fi-orii ialling into

the ambush of that biograi)her, we do not undertake to say; but there may
be those cold-hearted beings, who are glad that both Black-hawk and the pub-

lic have escaped.

On Saturday, 22 June, they left New York ibr Albany, where they arrived

the next day at evening. Here, as we should expect, the crowd was far

more savage tlian had .been witnessed any where in the journey, and it was
near three hours before a landing lor them could l)e effected; and even then

only by disguising them. Black-hawk was not recognized until h<; had got

alnlost to the tavern vyherc he and his party were to lodge. One observes,

that Albany, at this time, was more like an Indian camp, than the residence

of civilized beings. Some urged, that if Black-hawk had been permitted to

have shown himself to the multitude, and addressed them, they would at

once have ceased their boisterous clamors. It is said he was about to do so,

but his son would not consc^nt to it.

Whether the conduct of the ))0])u!ace was such, after they were in their

quarters, as to cause alarm for their safety, is not mentioned; but certain it

is, tiiey set off from Albany in the night, 24 June, and proceeded west upon
the railroad.

When they had got ujjou the grand canal, and soimi how they were trans-

ported by nieai's of locks, some of the jiarty said it must be the work of a
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Manitou, for it was the first river they ever saw go over hills ana across other

rivers.

The interview of our travellers, the Sacs and Foxes, vs^ith their comitry-

men, the Senecas, cannot fail to be interesting to all our readers. Having
arrived at Buffalo on Frida}'^, 28 June, they remained there until Sunday
morning. The next morning after their arrival, they rode over to Black
Rock, where they viewed the union of the grand canal with the lake at that

place. From this place they had a full view of the Canada shore, and Black-
hawk immediately pointed out Fort Erie, and seemed well accjtjainted with
the adjacent country; he having been there in the time of the 1 ist war with
England, in the British service, and at the time ^'^ lohen the Amerirnns loalked

into Fort Erie" as he expressed the capture of it. After the battle of Lake
Erie, he said, he was obliged to return with his band to his own country, In

the afternoon of the same day, the party visited the Senecas, who had col-

lected at the council house, on their reservation, to receive them. They were
addressed by the chief, Capt. Pollard, or Karlundawana, of whom we have
already spoken, an old and very lespectable man. After expressing the

pleasure which it gave him and his people to meet the chiefs of the Sacs and
Foxis, and after alluding to the present state of the aborigines, he counselled

his visitors to return home with a peaceable mind ; to cultivate the earth, and
no more to fight against so powerful a people as the whites. Black-hawk
replied as follows:—

" Our aged brother of the Senecas, who has spoken to tis, has spoken the words

of a good and ivise man. We are strangers to each other, though we have the

same color, and the same Great Spirit made us all, and gai'e %ts this country to-

gether. Brothers, we have seen how great a people the whites are. Thty are very

rich, and veri/ strong. It is folly for u^ to fight with them, ffe shall go home
loith much knowledge. For myself, I shall advise my people to be quiet, and live

like good men. The advice ivhich you gave us, brother, is vi'y good, and we tell

you now we mean to ivalk the straight path in future, and to conteiit ourselves

tvith ivhat ive have, and with cidtivating our lands.

The Prophet added a few sentences, but nothing worthy of notice, except
be said he wished all the tribes of Indians could be collected upon one spot,

west of the Mississippi.

From Buffalo the Indians were conveyed by water to Detroit, where they
arrived July. Here a curiosity was evinced by the inhabitants to spe them

;

not exactly such as had been shown in the Atlantic cities, but with that cold

indifference, their near vicinity to the late scenes of blood was calculated to

call forth. A writer has remai-ked, that they were soon seen walking the

streets "unknowing and unknown," and newspapers from that region say

they were burnt in effigy. Black-hawk had often been there in times past;

and when he visited the former residence of Gov. Cass, he said, " This is the

old council ground. I have heard much good counsel here ; but my trail led to the

opposite shore, and my ears tvere closed."

From Grern Bay they were to pass through the country of the Menominies
and Winnebagoes* to Chicago. As these tribes are bitter enemies to the

Sacs and Foxes, troops were detached from that place to attend them.
Having left Chicago, as they passed up Fox River and down the Ouis-

consin, Black-lmwk would point out the spots, where, once, he said, had stood

the fine villages of the Sacs. His depression at the sight was evident, and
he seemed much to regret their emigration beyond the Mississippi.

It was about the first of August, 1833, that the captives arrived at Fort

Armstrong, on the Upper Mississippi, where we are presently to take out

leave of them. The Prophet had been set at liberty a little before at Prairie

* This tribe is divided into five families—the Decorie, Black-leg, &c. One-eyed Decorie,

before mentioned, is one of their most conspicuous chiefs. He appeared about 50 years old

in 1826. Mr. W. J. Snelling saw him at the Portage in that year, accompanied bv a wife

of 15.

The name Winnebago is supposed to be that of a kind of duck, found o:i tlio lake of the

same name, in great abundance.
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du Chien ; he having declared his conviction of the power of the Americans
and tliat now he would return and live in peace. "His return," says om
informant, " is attended with as many unpleasant associations as that of any
of the party. The village over which he once presided has been broken up;
his wigwam has been burnt to the ground ; his family without a protector,

and he must find a home in the village of some neighboring chieftain."

The Indians were at first gloomy and tacitui-n, on entering their own
forests, but in a short time they began to be more communicative, and at

length would laugh and talk about the jokes and odd manceuvi'es they had
seen among the whites.

Being now at Rock Island, where it was concluded to dismiss the party,

they were considerably disappointed in not meeting with some of their

friends, from whom they might gain intelligence of their families. Mean-
while they examined their bundles and packages, containing the piesejits

they had received during their journey. These were by no means incon-

siderable, and were said, by those who saw them, to be in value of at least

1,000 dollars; which, when their friends arrived, were liberally distributed

among them. They had not been long in suspense when this happened. A
band of Foxes arrived the next day after them, who gave the desired intelli-

gence. To an observer of nature, their meeting must hav(; been exceedingly
interesting. Notwithstanding their long sej^aration, their first interviews were
nearly the same as though it had been but of a day's continuance. But they
very soon discovered to the spectators, that they had met with those who
were capable of enjoying again their society; and the freedom of early life

began gradually to show itself

" Fort Armstrong, Rock Island, Illinois, was selected as the most appro-

priate place for the liberation of^ Black-hawk and his party. It being the

most central point from the surrounding villages, a greater number of Indians
could be there assembled at a short notice, than at any other point on the

Mississippi. With most of the party, their return was the return of happy
days, and of those manners and customs which they had looked forward to

with much anxiety, during their long and arduous journey. But with Black-

hawk it was the revival of those scenes associated with his former greatness

and power—when no white man crossed his trail, or encroached upon his

hunting grounds. He is now hailed not as a chieftain, nor as a warrior, but

as a Sac, divested of his honors, an humble suppliant for the sympathies and
hospitalities of his tribe.

"It was understood, on their arrival, that Keocuck, the principal chict of

the tribe, was absent with most of his band, upon a buffalo hunt, and it was
doubtful whether he had yet returned. A courier, however, was despatched
to his village, with instructions, if returned, to request his immediate attend-

ance, with as many of his tribe as could conveniently accompany him. The
messenger retiu-ned the same night, saying that Keocuck was encamped about
20 miles below, with a large number of his tribe, and would arrive during
the day. About noon, the dull monotony of the Indian drum, accompanied
with occasional shouts, was heard, which announced his approach. He led

the van, with two large canoes, lashed side by side, with a large canopy
extended over him and his three wives, where he sat in all his dignity, with
the American flag waving over the bow. About 20 canoes followed in his

train, each containing from 4 to 8 of his companions, who made the 'welkin
ring' with their wild and savage songs. They proceeded up the river at a

moderate rate, and encamped on the opposite side from Black-hawFn camp.
After rcmaiifing about two hours to arrange their toilets, they again com-
menced their songs, making their way directly across the riv( r. Keocuck was
the first to land, decorated, as well as the rest of the party, with all their

medals, and in all the paraphernalia which distinguishes the braves from the

couinion Indi.ms. After the party had landed, he turned lo them and said,

' The Great. Spirit has sent our hrothcr hack. Let its shake hands in friendship.''

He then proceeded towards Black-haivk, who was seated with his party, in

front of their tent, leaning upon his cane, apparently lost in deep reflection.

He extended his hand, which the old man seemed lo shake with some cor-

diality. Having saluted the rest of the party, he took his seat in their imnie-
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diate vicinity. His companions followed the example, and & altered them-
selves upon the gromid. Not a murmiu- was heard among the crowd. Nc
one presumed to break the silence, until the chieftain had si)oken. Fifteen
minutes elapsed before a word was uttered by any one, when Keocuck asked
Black-hawk how long he had been upon the road ? ' That he had been expecting

him, and ivas coming up in the expedaiion of meeting him.'' Pipes were soon
introduced, and passed among both parties, as an interchange of good feel-

ing. After smoking and talking, alternately, for about an hour, a general
move was made lor tlieir departure. Keocuck arose, shook hands with all the

l>arty, saying, ^ to-morrow he should return.''" They now crossed the river in

silence, and the night was spent in songs and dances. On the next day, by
appointment, was to be opened the grand council.

" A commodious room in the garrison was prepai-ed for the reception of
both parties. About 10 o'clock, Keocuck was announced by the incoherent
and guttural strains of more than 100 savages. When they arrived at the

gai'rison, they followed silently in, preceded by then' chief, who was sho\vn
to the room, where he was to be elevated upon the ruins of an indiscreet old

man, with whom he had been struggling many years for supremacy. He
took his seat with Parsheparho, (the stabbing chief,) cliief of the Sacs, upon
one side, and Wapella, (the little prince,) chief of the Foxes, upon the other

He told his young bi-aves to sit immediatel}' behind liim ; and all maintained
the most profound silence dm-ing the interview. Keocuck, they said, would
speak for all of them.

" Black-hawk and his party soon made their appearance. As they entered

the room, the chiefs arose and shook hands with them. They passed round,

and took their seats immediately opposite. Black-hawk and his son appeared
quite dejected. They manifested some reluctance to the proposed council,

the day previous ; and that morning, as it would have too much impoi-tance

attached to it, the son felt keenly his situation. It was as lunniliating to him
as it was to his father. Maj. Garland was the first to break the silence in

council. He told them that he was grateful to fuid so much good feeling ex-

isting in the tribe towards Black-hawk and his paity. -He felt confident, from
what he had witnessed since his ai-rival, that they woidd hereafter live in

peace. He had but little to say, as the president's speech to Black-hawk and
party, at Baltimore, said all, which should be read to them. It was inter-

preted to them by an able iutei-preter, to which the whole company respond-

ed, at the termination of each sentence."

Keocuck then arose, shook hands with the most important personages pres-

ent, and commenced :

—

"I have listened to the talk of our great father. It is true we pledged our

honors, with those of om* young braves, for their liberation. We thought

much of it ; our councils were long ; then- wives and children were in our

thoughts. When we talked of them, our hearts Avere full. Theif wives and
children came to us, which made us feel like women ; but we were men.
The words which we sent to our great father was one word, the word of all.

The heart of our great father was good ; he spoke like the father of children.

The Great Spirit made his heart big in council. We receive our brothers in

friendship ; our hearts are good towards them. They once listened to bad
counsel ; now their eai-s are closed. I give my hand to them ; when they

shake it, they shake the hands of all. I vidll shake hands with them, and then

I am done."
Maj. Garland then told them, that he wished it distinctly understood by all

present, that the president considered, and should in future ackjiowledge

Keocuck as the principal chief of the nation ; that he wished and c.vpected

Black-haivk to listen and conform to his counsels; and that if aiiy discordant

feeling now existed, it must be buried here ; that the two bands that !iad

heretofore existed in the tribe must be broken u]). From the misajiplication

of some word on the part of the interpreter, Black-haivk understood iiim, that

he must conform to the counsels of Keocuck. Tlie old man became com-
pletely infuriated. The spirit and vigor of his youth broke forth like a vol-

cano ; he rose to speak, but was so much excited, he could scarcely ai-ticidate,

He said:

—
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" I am a man—an old man—I ^vill not conform to the counsels of any one.

1 will act for myself^no one shall govern me—1 am old—my hair is gray

—

I once gave counsels to my young men—am I to conform to others ? I shall

soon go to the Great Spirit, where I shall rest. What I said to our great

father in Washington, I say again—I will alwa3's listen to him. I am done."

The feeling which he evinced, caused a momentary excitement among all

present ; it was his last exjiiring struggle. The nature of the remark was
explamed to him—that the president requested him to listen to Keocuck. He
made no reply : he sat completely absorbed in his own feelings, when Keo-
cucL, in a suppressed tone, said to him, " Why do you speak so before the white

men ? / will speak for you ; you trembled ; you did not mean it." He consented
when Keocuck ai'ose and said :

—

" Oui" brot*^er, who has again come to us, has spoken ; but he spoke in

wrath—his tongue was forked—he spoke not like a man, a Sac. He knew
his words were bad ; he trembled like the oak, whose roots have been washed
by many rains. He is old ; what he said, let us forget. He says he did not
mean it ; he wishes it forgotten. I have spoken for him. What I have said

is his ovrat words—not mine. Let us say he spoke in councU to-day—that

his words wefe good. I have spoken."

Col. DavenpoH, who commands at Rock Island, then told Black-hawk that

he was gratified to meet him—that once he was his enemy, but now he met
him as a friend—that he was here by the commands of his great father, and
should always be glad to see him. If he wished for advice at any time, he
should be always ready to give it to him ; he had had, during his absence,

frequent talks with his tribe, who Avere anxious for his return ; and could
assure him, that his nation entertained for him and his paity the most friendly

feeling.

Maj. Garland told him, that he was now at liberty to go where he pleased

;

that he, and all the Americans, were pleased with his and his pai'ty's uniform
good conduct while among them ; that they were convinced that their hearts

were good, but they had listened to bad counsels. They had seen the pov/er

of the white men, and had taken theu- gi-eat father by the hand, who had re-

stored them to theu- families, upon his and his tribe's faithful assurances of
peace and friendship.

Black-hawk, after reflecting upon what he had said, I'equested that if his

remarks were put upon paper, a line might be drawn over it—he did not

mean it.

Wapella, chief of the Foxes, said he had nothing to say. "1 am not," said

he, " in the habit of talking—I think—I have been thinking all day

—

Keocuck
has spoken—I am glad to see my brothers—I will shake hands with them.
I am done." A general shaking of hands was commenced by the chief,

which was an indication that the council was adjourned sine die.

The impetuosity of Black-hmok^s speech was undoubted!}' influenced by
the presence of his son, who evidently governed his speech and actions dur-

ing their tour through the United States. He appeared anxious tliat his father

should maintain his former sttuid, in spite of all opposition, and no doubt
gave instructions to that effect. The old man's pride was deeply wounded ;

yet lie would have submitted to any degradation, rather than to have been
committed in the presence of so large a number of the most conspicuous men
of the nation. He felt convinced that he had erred, and endeavored to atone
for it, during tlie day, by saying, ''he did not know what he said."

That eveiiing, Maj. Garland invited the principal chiefs, together witli

Black-hawk, to liis quarters, as it would afford a good opportunity to ascertain,

explicitly, the feeling which existed among them towards their fallen foe.

About seven o'clock they arrived. They took their seats in silence, passed
the pipe for all to take a whiff, and in return quaffed a glass of champagne,
which seemed to have a peculiar relish. Parsheparha shook hands with all

present, a?id conunenced :

—

"We mi't this mornmg; I am glad to meet again. That wine is very

good ; I never drank any before. I have thought nnicli of our meeting to-

day; it was one that told us wo were brothers,—tliat we were Sacs. We had
ii*et returned fio?n a buftido-luuit ; we tliouglit it was time for our brothere
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to 1)6 liere, as our fathers at St. Louis told us tliis was the moon. We started
hetbre the rising sun to meet you : we have met, and taken our brolliers by
the hand in Iriendsiiip. They always mistrusted our counsels, and went I'rom
the trail of the red men, where there was no hunting grounds, nor friends re-
turned, and found the dogs howling around their wigwams, and wives look-
ing for then- hu.sbands and children. They said we counselled like women;
but they have found our counsels were good. They have been through the
coimtry of our great tiither. They have been to the wigwams of the white
men ; they received them in kindness, and made glad their hearts. We
thanked them ; say to them that Keociick and Parsheparho thank them. Our
brother has promised to listen to the counsels of Keocuck. What he said in

council to-day, was like the Mississippi fog—the sun has shone, and the day
is clear—let us tbrget it; he did not mean it. His heart is good, but his eai-s

have been open to bad counsels. He has taken our great father by the hand,
whose words are good. He listened to them, and has closed his eai-s to the
voice which came across the great waters. He now knows that he ought to

listen to Keocuck. He comiselled with us, and our young braves, who listened
to his talk. We told our great father that all would be peace. He opened
his dark prison, and let him see the rising sun once more, gave him to his

wives and children, who were without a lodge. Our great father made
straight his path to his home. I once took the great chief of the Osages
prisoner. I heard the cries of his women and childi'en ; I took him out by
the rising sun, and put him upon the trail to his village ;

' There,' said 1, ' is the
trail to your village

;
go, and tell your village, that I, Parsheparho, the chief of

the Sacs, sent you.' We thank our great father; say to him that I wish to see
him; I i-eacli out my right hand; he is a great way off, but I now shake him
by the hand ; our hearts are good towards him ; 1 vnW see him before I lie

down in peace ; may the Great Spirit be in his councils ; what our brother
said to-day, let us forget. I am done."

Keocuck, aher going tlii-ough the usual ceremonies, said, "We feel proud
that you have invited us here this evening to drink a glass Avith jou ; the
wine which we have drank, we never tasted before ; it is the wine which the
white men make, who know how to make any thing ; I will take another
glass, as I have much to say ; we feel proud that we can drink such wine

;

to-day we shook hands with our brothers, whom you brought to us ; we were
glad to see them ; we have often thought of our brothers ; many of our nation

said they would never i-eturn ; their wives and children often came to our
wigwams, which made us feel sad ; what Parsheparho has said, is true ; 1

talked to our young men, who had the hearts of men ; I told them that the

Great Spirit was in our councils ; they promised to live in peace ; those who
listened to bad counsels, and followed our brothers, have said their ears are
closed, they will live in peace ; I sent their words to our great father, wh jse

ears were open, whose heart was made sad by tlie conduct of our brothers;

he has sent to their wigwams ; we tliank him ; say to him that Keocuck thanks
hiitt ; om- brothers have seen the great villages of the white men ; they trav-

elled a long road, and found the Americans like the grass ; I will tell our
young men to listen to wliat they shall tell them. Many years ago I went
through the villages of our great fiither; he had many, that were like the

great prairies ; but he has gone, another is our father, he is a great war chief,

1 want to see him, I shall be proud to take him by the hand, I have heard
much of him, his head is gray, I must see him ; tell him that as soon as the

snow is off of the prairie, 1 shall come. What I have said, I wish spoken to

him, before it's put upon paper, so that he shall hear it as I have said it ; tell

him that Keocuck spoke it ; \^ liat our brother said in comicil to-day, kt us
forget ; he told me to speak ; I spoke his words. I have spoken."

Black-fiatvk then said, in a very calm and dejected manner, "I feel that 1

nm an old man ; once I could speak, but now I have but little to say ; to-day

we met many of our brothers, we were glad to see them ; I have listened to

jvhat my brothers have said, their hearts are good ; they have been like Sacs
since 1 left them ; they liave taken care of my wife and children, who had no
wigwam; 1 thanked them for it; the Great Spirit knows that I thank them;
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beiore the sun gets behind the hills to-morrow 1 shall see them, I want to see

them ; when I left them, I expected soon to return ; 1 told our great father,

when in Washington, that I would listen to his counsels ; I say so to you, I

will listen to the counsels of Keocuck ; 1 shall soon be far away, I shall have

no village, no band, I shall live alone. What I said in council to-day I wish

foi'gotten. If it has been put upon paper, I wish a mark to be drawn over

it. I did not mean it. Now we are alone, let us say we will forget it. Say
to our great father and Gov. Cans, that I will listen to them. Many years

asfo I met Gov. Cass in comicils, far acros.s the prairies, to the rising sun.

His counsels were good. My ears w(>re closed ; I listened to the great father

across the great waters. My father listened to him whose band was large.

My band was once large. Now I have no band. I and my son, and all the

party, thank oiu- great father for what he has done. He is old, I am old ; we
shall soon go to the Great Spirit, where we shall rest. He sent us through

his gn at villages. We saw many of the white men, who treated us with
kindness. We thank them ; say to them we thank them. We thank you and
Mr. Sprague for coming ^vith us

;
your road was long, and crooked. We

never saw so many white men before. Wlien you was with us, we felt a.«

though we had some friends among them. We felt safe
;
you knew them all.

When you come ujson the Mississippi again, you shall come to my wig\\ain.

1 have none now. On j^our road home, you pass where my village once was.

No one lives tliere now; all are gone. I give you my hand; we may iiever

meet again ; I shall long remember you. The Great Spirit will he with you,

and your wives and children. Before the sun rises I shall go to my family.

My son Nvill be here to see you, before we go. I will shake hands with my
brothers here, .then 1 am done."

The party separated with a most perfect understanding among themselves,

and in fellowship and good feeling; but Blnck-hmck was cast do^vn, his pride

was wounded, and he departed in silence.

CHAPTER Xn.

From the time. Black-hawk was set at Liberty in his own country, in 1833, to his deiif.n.

on October Zd, 1838, with other iirvportant matters connected with the Indians in ilir,

west.

" In pain and peril, when thy years were few,
And death'.s dark shadow on thy piitiiway fell,

Thou to the greatness of thy trial grew,
Hade fortune, friends, and blighted hope farewell."—S. L. Fairfield.

For about three years after the liberation of Black-hawk, few incidents of
imi)ortance seem to have transpired. The first we shall notice is X\w death

of a great Winnebago chief^ some of whose tt\mily have passed under our

notice in a former chapter, from the conspicuous part he acted in the capture

of Black-hawk. His name was Schachipkaka, or Decorie. He died in

Wisconsin, on the 3()th of April, 1836, in his 90th year. Died also, at the

Si neca res rvation. Major Berry, aged 74. He fought with the Americans
ill the war of 1812, and died a pensioner. His jjlace of residence was known
as Jack Berry's ti)WM. He was a distinguished chief! And on the 29th of

the same month died that celebrated pioneer of the west, Simon Kenton,
aged 82. He, it will be recollected, it was who was engaged as a |)ilot to the

army of Lord J)unmore, in 1774, being then about nineteen years of age.

He afterwards spent many years in a most wretched captivity among the

IVIiami Indiaits, and finally made some escapes, which, it seems to us, that

nothing short of miraculous interference could have brought about.

On the 24th ol May, 183(), a treaty of cession was made at Washington,

between a delegation of chiefs and others of the Chip|)ewas, and the United
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States, by which all tlie reservations heretofore held by them in the state of
Miciiigan is relinquished.

A report was current among us in the summer of this year, tliat a san-
guinary battle had been fought on the 20th of June, at a noted place on the
Red River, called the Cross Timbers, between 25 Shawanees and 350 Caman-
ches : that the battle lasted a whole day, and eventuated in the defeat of the
iatter, who lost 77 of their number.
On the 19th of Noveml)er, 1836, a large war party of Sioux surprised five

lodges of Foxes, on the lower loway, 1.5 or 20 miles from where the line of
the " Black-hawk purchase " crosses it, and killed about 20 of them. One
of the Foxes, a j^oung man, though severely wounded in the neck, made his
escape, and carried the news to Poweeshieck's village.

In Ma}', 1837, died at the Huron village, Lorette, or Grand Louis, whose
Indian name is Tandarelion, aged 74. He had been a great hunter and an
upii.'j'ht man, though at times intemperate. A man who had a grudge against
anotiier, endeavored to hire him to shoot his enemy, but Lorette replied,
" Je ne suis pas en guerre avec hii," " I have no causi? of war with that man,"
and turned scornfully from him. And on the 13th of the following June,
another respected chief paid the debt of mortality.

Capt. George, principal chief of the ancient and once famous tribe of the
Onondagas, died, aged 70. He was one of the most able orators of the Six
Nations, not only possessing the confidence of his own, but all the confederate
tribes, and was greatly esteemed by the white people.

In the order of time, the next event of importance was a severe battle

between the Sacs and Foxes, ajpd Sioux. And what makes it to be the moie
lamented is, in consequence of the criminal negligence of our government.
When the Sacs and Foxes sold us the best portions of Illinois, Missouri, and
Wisconsin, amounting to 26,500,000 acres, which included all the lead mine.s,

for the sum of THREE CENTS PER ACRE, certain provisions were to

be made them ; certain grounds \yere to be put in cultivation, certain amour
of money paid a', iertsiri ti:i!es,and, especially, they were promised protecti

fi-om their blowjj/ ecemies, the Sioux, when hunting upon certain groun
allowed to them. But none of the ])iomises made them had been performe
and famine forced them, v/-.:en they could wait for us no longer, to go unpi
tected into tlie wilderness to hunt for game.
The battle, of tvhich we are to give an account, happened about the 2d

August, 1837, and the histoi-y we have of it is derived from the chief of ti

Sacs and Foxes, wiio was mortally wounded in it. He had been to St. Louia
to see what could be done for his people, and he says, "when I returned, 1

foimd our people starving at the village. T divided all the provisions I had
received from our trader among them, and powder and lead to enable us to

make a hunt to supply our fainilies until our corn was ripe, or that our great

father had paid our money to enable our traders to furnish us.*' Having
divided his tnoe into two parties, that thej' might hunt to better advantage,
one was to proceed along the dividing countrj' between the loway and Red
Cedar Rivers, and the other to advance up the right bank of Cedar River.

At the head of the latter division was the chief of whom mention has been
made, svhose name was Wad-cosh-ao-she. He had in his company aliout

170 people, of whom but 40 were men, the rest women and children. They
found no game for many days, and, sa3's the old chief, " we had to depend on
fish, which we caught from the Cedar, to keep our people from dyir.g with
hunger.'" He was in great expectation, that, if he could reacl; a belt of
wooded country, between the Wapesepineca and Cedar, to find plenty of
game. Accordingly he sent out some of his young men in advance, and
followed as well as he was able with the rest, hut his pioneers soon returned,

and informed him that the Winnebagoes were hunting there. "This was bad
news,'* says Waucoshaushe, "in our starving condition, and we could not

return, for we had nothing to return to," and their nearest hope was about

the rrtouth of Otter River. He therefore bent his course thither.

On arriving on the confines of that countiy, he encamped, and sent c

some hunters, but, as before, they soon returned, and reported that tav

ground was in possession of the Sioux; and, he asks, " What was now to

57 2S
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done? My number of fighting men was small ; but to retreat was inipossiljle

;

for we must have been discovered by the Sioux, and followed; and whenever
you turn your back on an enemy, you are sure of defeat. My braves ;igreed

with me, that we should immediately start on the trail, leave our women and
childi'en at the camp, and go and ascertain their strength ; that if we found
them not too strong, to di'ive them out of our hunting-grounds. We followed

their trail across Otter River, and then it took a direction into the j)rairie, to-

wai'ds where the sun sets. About midnight, we thought we discovered the

Sioux lodges. We raised the war-cry, and rushed upon them ; but found no
Sioux there, only sand-hills instead of lodges. They were encanijted in a
hollow; and by this mistake we were discovered. We might now have re-

treated; but, reflecting on our condition,—our families starving, our hunting-

gromids possessed by our enemies, and the remembrance of our friends they

had murdered last winter on the Joway,—determined us to follow them as

far as the line.

"We had not proceeded fai', when the Sioux fired on us. 1, with my party,

rushed mto their camps, and, after fighting desperately for some time, found
they were m too strong a force for us. AH that could, retreated out of the

camps, and, taking a position back of a small rise, within gunshot of their

camps, fii'ed upon them until our ammunition was exhausted. We then re-

treated to our camp,—where we had left oiu- women and children,—bringing

thirteen wounded with us, and leaving eleven killed on the field."

Such is the account of the battle, by an actor in it. As soon as lie could,

Waucoshaushe sent two of his braves with this account, to the agency, at

Rock Island, where they arrived on the 8 of August. The chief closed his

talk in the following words: "My father, 1 am one of the wounded, and ex-

pect never to see you again. I have followed your advice, and done tlie best I

could for my nation, and / cto not fear to die. We have with the greatest dif-

ficulty reached om* village, and fear that many of our people will die of hun-
ger. Father, I have no more to say."

^V^lat was done for these poor, distressed Indians, I have no accoimt, but

doubt not it might be quickly told! However, a delegation of Sacs and Foxes,

and another of Sioux and loways, visited Washington in the end of the follow-

ing September; but we hear nothing of any redress for the former; yet the

government bought of the Sioux 5,000,000 of acres of their land, on the east

side of the Mississippi, at twenty cents an acre. These same Indians wci-e

induced to travel through our great cities by advice of the president, who
wished to make them acquainted with our power and consequence ; and
they accordingly arrived in Boston, the extent of their journey on the coast,

on the 27 October, 1837. They consisted of both deputations,—in all, 35.

Among the Sacs and Foxes were the well-known and celebrated okl ex-chief,

BLACK-HAWK, his son Nasheeskuk, (Loud Thunder,) Keokuk, and Wa-
PELLA. On Saturday morning, the whole party had an audience of the

mayor, Mr. S. A. Eliot, the aldermen, and conunon council of the city, in

Faneuil Hall. The Sacs and Foxes arrived first, in carriages, and were seated

on the right of the elevated platform ; and the Sioux, arriving inunediately

after, were seated on the left. As each party entered, a band of nuisic, sta-

tioned for the occasion, played martial airs. The mayor then welcomed
them in a short speech, through their interpreters. Gov. Everett was pres-

ent, and, being introduced to them, invited them to an audience in the State-

House, on 31onday ; for which civility Keokuk i)resented him with a bow and
aiTows. They were then shown the armories in the upper hall of the same
building, where they expressed high gratification at seeing so many bright

guns fit for use. They then returned to their lodgings in Concert Hall.

On Sunday morning, a p;u-t of the Sac and Fox delegation visited the navy-

yard, and in the afternoon the Sioux and loways were there. They were
presented by Capt. Percival to Com. Downes, who conducted them over the

yard, much to tlieir entertainment The ships of war most astoifished them,

and we are not sure they understood the use of that grand afliiir, the dry

dock; they approached and looked down its sides with evident feelings of

awe. To a handsome address from Com. Downes, they made an appropriiite

reply, and returned to their quarters. In the evening, some attended the
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oratorios at Boylston Hall and the Masonic Temple. On Monday, they held
a levee at Faneuil Hall, under the direction of the city marshal, lor the especial
accommodation of the ladies, which was closed at eleven o'clock, when pre-
parations were made lor meeting the governor at the State-House, agreeably
to previous arrangements.
As but a veiy small portion of the community could be admitted to the

"Indian coimcil" in the representatives' chamber, notice was given in the
newspapers to such as might expect admission, that "passes" had been pro-
vided for them, and were to be had between 9 and 11, A. M., at the offices of
the adjutant general and city auditor. These "passes" were cards, on which
was printed, "Pass to the Representatives' Chamber, 30th October,
1837."

Meanwhile, the Sioux left the city, and proceeded on their journey west.
It was evidently unpleasant to both parties to meet at the same time and
p ace, as the war between them, of which we have taken notice, had not
ceased, and, for aught they knew to the contrary, the friends of each were
falling by the hand of the other, in the country from which they were thus
temporarily absent.

The hour having an-ived for the Indians to make their appearance in the
hall of the State-House, it was crowded to overflowing, as was every avenue
leading to it. The governor occupied the speaker's chair, with his aids and
council aroimd him, when the chiefs came in and took seats in the adjacent
area. The governor then arose, and, in explanation, stated the object of their

visit. " They are," said he, " a most respectable deputation from the Sac and
Fox tribes, which are in amity with our government. The object of their

jnission to Washington, was to form a treaty explanatory of the great treaty

made in 1836, defining the boundaries between their territoiy and that of the

United States. Then* lands are situated between the Mississippi and Missou-
ri. The united tribes comprise about 5000, of whom about 1400 are biaves.

They are the descendants of the Algonquins, or Lennape, and speak the same
language as that anciently spoken by the Indians of this region." Some per-

sons in the galleries showing a disposition to manifest their ridiculous con-
ceptions, when the Indians came in, the governor observed to the audience,

that any such demonstrations by laughing, however seemingly ludicrous any
appearance might be, would be higlily improper, and the Indians might con-

strue such exhibition of mirth into disrespect.

The interpreter was then requested to inform them that the governor bade
them a hearty welcome to the hall of council of their white brethren. " We
have," said he, "before heard of the Sacs and Foxes, by our travellers; and
we have been told the names of their great men and chiefs ; and now we are

glad to see them with our eyes. We are called the people of Massachusetts

;

it is the name of the red people who once lived here. In former times, the

red man's wigwam stood on oiu- very fields, and his council-fire was kindled

on this spot. When our forefathers came to this counti-y, they were but a

small band. The red man stood on the rock on the sea-side, ajid looked at

them- He might have pushed them off, and drowned them ; but he took

them by the hand, and said, 'Welcome.' Our forefathers were hungry, and
the red man gave them corn and venison. They were cold, and the red man
spread his blanket over them, and made them warm. We are now grown
great and powerful

;
yet we remember the kindness of the red man to our

forefathers.

"Brothers! our faces are white, and yours are red; but our hearts are

alike. You dwell between the Mississippi and Missouri ; they are mighty
streams. One stretches out to the east, and the other away to the west, even

to the Rocky Mountains; but still they make but one river, and they run to-

gether to the sea. Brothers ! we dwell in the east, and you live in the far

west; but we are one family. Brothers! as you passed through the hall be-^

low, you stopped to look upon the image of our gi-eat father, Washington ; it

is a cold stone, and cannot speak ; but our great father loved the red man
and he commanded us to love you. He is dead ; but his voice made a deep

print in our hearts, like the footsteps of the great buffalo in the clay of the

prairie
"
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Keokuk had his sou with him, about 14 years old. The governor alluded

to him, when lie said, "May the Great Spirit presei-ve the lile of your son.

May he grow up by your' side, like the tender sapling by the side of the

mighty oak. May you long flourish together; and when the mighty oak is

fallen in the forest, may the young tree take its place, and spread out its

branches over his people. Brothers ! I have made you a short talk, and once

more bid you welcome to om- council hall."

Keokuk said in reply, " I am veiy much gratified at the pleasure of shak-

mg hands with the great chief of the country, and others about him. The
Great Spu-it, as you have said, made us the same ; we only speak different

languages. Brother ! I am very happy to be able to say, before 1 die, that I

have seen the house where your fathers used to speak with ours, as we now
do with you, and hope the Great Spirit is pleased at the sight. I hope he

will long keep peace between the white and red men."
Wapella next spoke. He said, " I am veiy happy to meet my friends m

the land of our ibretathers. I recollect, when a little boy, of hearing my fore-

fathers say, that at tliis place the red man first took the white man by the

hand. I am very happy that this island can support so many white men as

have come on to it ; I am glad they can find a living, and happy they can be

contented with living on it. I am glad to hear the white men call us their

orothers ; it is true" they ai'e the oldest; but where I live my tribe is the

oldest among the red men. 1 shall go home and tell my brethren that I have

been to tliis great place, and it shall not be forgotten by me nor my children.'^

Waacashaashee then came forwai'd, and said, " I have just listened to the

words spoken by you and mj chiefs about our forefathers. I have long

wished to see the shores where my fathers took the white men by the hand,

and I shall not forget it."

PowEESHiECK ncxt spokc as follows: "You have heard what my chiefs

have to say. They are much gratified with their visit to this to\vn. This is

the place where our ti-ibe once lived. I have oflen heard my father and
gi-andfather say that they once lived by the sea coast, where the white njan

fii-st came. I wish I had a book,* and could read in it all these things. 1

have been told that this is the way you get all yom- knowledge. I thuik tte

Americans are among the gi-eatest of the white people, that very few can

overpower them. It is so with the Sacs, though I say itf They call me a

great man where I live, and I am veiy happy that two such gieat men as you
and I should meet and shake hands together."

Next came the Indian who wore a buffalo skin all over him, its head on his

own, with horns erect. His name we could not get hold of; but he said, " I

am much pleased with .the conversation our chiefs have had vdth you. I am
glad you noticed Mausanwout, Keokuk's son. He will succeed his father, and
be a chief The chiefs who have spoken to you are all village chiefs ; for

my pait, I have nothing to do with the villages ; but I go to war, and fight for

the women and children."

Appanoseokemar next spoke : "I am very happy to shake hands with you.

I do it with all my heai-t Although we have no paper to put down words
on, we shall not forget this good council. I am a brave, and have my arms
in my hands. They are all my defence ; but I wish to leave them in this

house lor the white man to remember the red man of the far west My
presents may not be agreeable, but they are given with a good heart." And,
divesting himself of all his clothes, wampum belt, moccasins, &c., except a

blanket, he gave them and his ai'ms to the governor.

Black-hawk's turn now came. His voice was very shrill, and he was the

only one among them with any of the costume of the whites about him. He
began, " I like veiy well to hear you talk of the Great Spirit. He made us

both of one heart, though our skins ai-e of ditterent complexions. The first

white men that came to this island were French. They were our brothers as

* They probably knew no difference in books, and supposed that aii}' book would read sls

might be desired." 'I'hey look upon ihem as a kind of oracle, and suppose one a.s good as a

thousand, havinf^f no idea of their different contents. One might get such an idea from a

certain hymn of Dr. Watts, but it is original wiih the Indians.

t This caused a pleasing sensation in the house.
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you are. When at the president's village, yom- people put medals about our
necks. The French used to do so by our fathers. The Great Spirit is pleased

at oiu- talking together. I am a man. You ai'e a man. None of us are any
thing more. I live between the Mississippi and Missouri. I have now got

to be an old man. It is surprising to me how so many people can live in so

small a place as this village is. I cannot see where they get venison and corn

enough to live upon ; but if they like it, I am satisfied.* I cannot shake hands
with all my friends, but by shaking hands ivith you, I mean it for all."

Keokuk then presented his son to the governor, who caused his own son
to shake the hand of that of the chief apparent. Then came forward a brave,

Avho said his father was a Frenchman ; he presented the governor with a

pipe. His excellency then informed the Indians that some presents had been
prepared for them, in the balcony in trout of the hall, and that they should

pro'-eed there and receive them, which was accordingly done. The presents

consisted of guns, swords, trinkets, and clothes for their women and chil-

di-en, &c. To the son of Keokuk the governor gave an elegant little rifle,

and observed that he hoped he would soon be able to shoot buffaloes with it.

All these affairs took up much time, especially the speeches, as the inter-

preters had to repeat them sentence by sentence, as they were delivered, to

both parties of Indians. At the end of each sentence delivered to the Indians,

they would simultaneously utter assent to it in an inexpressible soimd, some-
thuag like what might be derived from a peculiai- pronunciation of the letters

a-ugh-yah, which must be done in the same breath, and a gradual raising of

the voice. And there was such a dissimilarity in language between one por-

tion of the chiefs and the others, that two interpreters were necessai'ily em-
ployed.

Agreeably to notice given, the Indians withdrew from the balcony of the

State-House to the senate chamber, where they paitook of a collation, and
then appeared on the common, where they performed a mock war dance, to

the great amusement of the immense multitude. In the evening, they visited

the Tremont Theatre, where Forrest took a benefit in the " Banker of Bogota."

The Sioux had before attended the National Theatre. On Tuesday, the 31st,

they left the city, taking their journey west.

Indian deputations were things new to this generation, in Boston, and when
some began to think they were satisfied with seeing one, another was an-

noimced ; and, on the 20 November, there anived in the Providence cars 26

chiefs, from a country far beyond that fi-om whence came the preceding ones.

They were said to represent the Grand Pawnees, Pawnee Loupes, and Re-
publican Pa^vnees, Otoes, and Omahas. The name of the principal chief is

Oddenissin, a descendant of the ancient IMohawks. They were lodged at

Concert Hall also, and the next day visited the navy-yard, theatre in the even-

ing, and on Wednesday left the city. They were dressed entirely in the far

forest costume, and fantastically painted ; and some of them were of immense
stature, and appeared as though they had endured the frosts of countless

winters.

Scenes of v^rretchedness'have been recorded in our early pages, occasioned

by malignant diseases, among Indians of our OAvn land. We are now to re-

late the doings of death on a broader scale, in the regions of the Upper Mis-

souri. In October last, (1837,) the small-pox was still raging over that vast

country. Up to the first of that rnonth, the INIandans were reduced from 1,600

to 31 souls ; the Minetarees from 1,000 to 500, and they Avere still dying fast.

The Ricarees, who had recently joined them, were hunting by themselves,

when the disease was raging among their friends, and were not seized by the

horrid malady until a month after. They numbered 3,000, and half of them
were in a few days swept away, and hundreds of the sui-vivors were killing

themselves in despair ; some Avith their oAvn spears and other instruments of

war, and some by casting themselves down the high precipices along the

Missouri. The great nation of Assinnaboiiies, 10,000 strong; the Crees,

3,000, are nearly all destroyed. The Black Feet had known no such foe be-

* None of the reporters did justice to the old chiefs speech ;
but my ears did not deceive

me. These last two sentences were omitted by all.

57*
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fore ; it had reached the Rocky Mountains, and swept away the people in n

thousand lodges. They were reckoned at 60,000 strong. It is impossible to

be accurate in these details, but such are the accounts from the west ; and
they are to this day, 1841, uncontradicted. Here is a commentary upon our

policy of settling the border Lidians among the wild tribes in the west ! of

which we have expressed our opinion in an earlier part of this work.

Proceeding in the order of events, we next find Black-hawk, his noted

son JVasheiiskuk, and his wife, a handsome squaw of the Sac tribe, attending a

ball, by invitation, at Fort Madison, in Wisconsin, in honor of Washington's

birthday, 22 February, 1838. On the 4th of the July following, Black-hawk
tvas again present at the same place, where a celebration was enacted. At
the table, Mr. J. G. Edwards honored him by the following sentiment: " Our
illustrious guest. May his declining years be as calm as his previous life has been

boisterous from ivarlike events. His present friendship to the ivhites fidly oJitles

him to a seat at our board." To which Black-hawk made the tbllowing very

sensible reply: " It has pleased the Great Spirit that I am here to-day. The
earth is our mother, and we are now permitted to be upon it A few snows
ago, I was fighting against the white people—perhaps I was wrong—but that

IS past, it is buried ; let it be forgotten. I love my to^vns and cornfields on
the Rock River,—it was a beautiiul country. I fought for it, but now it is

yours. Keep it as the Sacs did. I was once a warrioi", but I am now poor.

Keokuk has been the cause of what 1 am—do not blame him. I love to look

upon the Mississi})pi ; 1 have looked upon it from a child. I love that beau-

tiful river ; my home has always been upon its banks. I thank you for your
friendship. 1 will say no more."

Now we have approached the closing scene of the celebrated Black-
hawk. How long he had had his camp on the Des Moines, we are not in-

formed ; but about this time we find him there, and there he died, on the 3
of October, 1838, aged 73. When it was knoAvn that the spirit of the old

chief had departed, many, whites as well as Indians, assembled at his lodge,

and performed his last request, which was, that he might be buried as all Sac
chiefs anciently were, and it was in accordance done. No gi-ave was made

;

but his body was placed upon the ground in a sittmg position, with his cane

between his knees, and grasped in liis hands ; slabs or rails were then piled

up about him. Such was the end of Black-hawk. Here, however, his bones
did not long rest in peace, but they were stolen fi-om their place of deposit

some time in the following winter ; Ijut, about a year after, it was discovered

that they were in possession of a surgeon, of Quincy, Illinois, to whom some
person had sent them to be wired together. When Gov. Lucas, of loway,

became acquainted with the facts, they were, by his requisition, restored to

his friends.

" What fiend could thus disturb the peaceful dead .'

Remembrance pointing' to what last he said :

—

' Prepare the hollow tomb, and place me low,

My trusty bow and arrows by my side

;

For long the journey is that I must go,

Without a partner and without a guide.' "

—

Freneao.

9ilfgC

CHAPTER XDI.

Monakattodatiia, or Scaroyada. at Bniddorh's defeat— His son lulled there—His
coolness in liattle— His ffrtiit ronreni fur the frontier settlements after the defeat—
Visits Philadelphia—Speech to the Cldrernor and .'Issemhlij—His covnscl ne<rlccted.

— His friendship continues— Inriilcnts of the war in Pennsylvania—Murdered
people carried to Philadelphia—.Mm Churchman.—Treaty of Fort Stanwix.

Having in a foruier chapter given but a passing notice of a very prominent
chief, we shall in this place proceed with his biography. Monakattoocha,
or, according to I'eter Willianisoti, wlio knew him, Monokatoaihy, was also
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called ScARRooYDA, and Scaroyada. We believe him to have been a Wyan-
dot, as he, and also a son ofliis, were olti.n employed upon inessa<fes between
that nation and the government of Pennsylvania; yet the anonjnious author
of '-A Brief Viesv of the Conduct of Pennsylvania for the }'ear 1755," says
he was an lioquois, and had for a long time lived among "our friendly
Indians about Shamokin, and other places on the Susquehannah." He was
one of the tew warriors who escaped tlie perils of Braddock's bloody field;

having Ibught on the side of the English, he was among those who stood by
that uidbrtunate general to the last. His son, a bold and intrepid warrior, whom
we have just mentioned, lost his life there, though not by the enemy, it is

believed, but by his own friends, in their random discharges amongst them-
selves in tlieir amazed condition. Scai-oyada sincerely lamented him, espe-
cially as he had been killed by his own people, whom he was faithfully endeav-
oring to serve. When no more could be done, and a retreat was ordered,
finding he had fii-ed away all his ammunition, he coolly ligiited his pipe, and
seating himself under the branches of a tree, began smoking as though the
day liad gone the other way.
When tlie border war broke out anew in October, about three months

after Braddock's del'eat, it excited great alarm throughout Pennsj'lvania, and
although there was a continual domestic warlare between the general assem-
bly aniil their governor, R. H. Morris, yet Scaroyada was not forgotten by the
latter, who recommended that he and Andrew Montour, an interpreter, should
be rewarded to their satisfaction for their trouble and great service.

The friendly Indians were situated between the English and hostile party,

and they ajijilied to the governor for liberty to leave their coimtry and go out
of the way of the war parties. Scaroyada, Montour, and Col. Conrad Weiser
were employed to persuade them to join the English in the war. How the
chief viewed the crisis of this period, may better be learned from his own
account than from any other source. Several families having bten murdered
in the most revolting manner, Scaroyada proceeded to Piiiladelphia with Col.

Weiser and two other chiefs. "A mixture of grief^ indignation, and concern
sat upon their countenances." Scai'oyada immediately demanded an audience
of the governor and all the members of the assembly, to whom, when assem-
bled, he thus addressed himself:

—

" Brethren, we are once more come among you, and sincerely condole with
j'ou on account of tiie late bloodshed, and the awful clouds that hang over
you and over us. Brethren, you may be assured that these horrid actions

were committed bj" none of those nations that have any fellowship with us

;

but by certain false-hearted and treacherous brethren. It grieves us more
than all our other misfoi-tunes, that any of our good friends the English
should suspect us of having false hearts.

"Brethren, if you were not an infatuated people, we are yet about 300
warriors firm to your interest: and if you are so unjust to us, as to retain

any doubts of our sincerity, we offer to put our wives, our children, and all

we have, into your hands, to deal with them as seemeth good to you, if we
are found in the least to swerve from you. But, brethren, you must support
and assist us, for we are not able to fight alone against the powerful nations

who are coming against you ; and j'ou must this moment resolve, and give us

an explicit answer what you will do ; for those nations have sent to desire

us, as old friends, either to join them, or to go out of their way and shift for

ourselves. Alas! brethren, we are sorry to leave you! We remember the

many tokens of your friendship to us—but what shall we do? We cannot

stand alone, and you will not stand with us.

"Brethren, the time is precious. Wiiile we are here consulting with you,

we know not what may be the fate of our brethren at home. We do, there-

fore, once more invite and ref|U^\«t you to act like men, and be no longer as

women, pursuing weak measures, that render your names desi)icable. If you
will ])ut the hatchet into our hands, and send out a number of your young
men in conjunction with our warriors, and provide the necessary arms, am-
munition, and provisions, and likewise build some strong houses for the pro-

tection of our old men, women, and children, while we are absent in war
we shall soon wipe the tears from your eyes, and make these false-hearted

brethren repent their treachery and baseness towards you and us
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" But we must at the same time solemnly assure you, that if you delay any
longer to act heartily in conjunction with us, or think to put us oif, as usual,

with uncertain hopes, you will see our faces under this roof no more. We
must shift for our own safety, and leave you to the mercy of your enemies,
as an infatuated people, upon whom we can have dependence no longer."

Tears were standing in the old chief's eyes when he finislied his speech;
but he was doomed to suffer yet greater perplexity, from the delay of the
assembly to act upon the matter. This appeal of the chiefs was made on a
Saturday, and an adjournment was immediately moved and carried, and no
action could be had at that time. On the following Tuesday the assembly
met again, but several days passed and nothing was done. The Friends ha I

a majority of members in that body, and they would not believe that war on
any conditions was to be tolerated ; and thus the good intentions of Scaroyada
were thrown away, and the war was carried on with success by the enemy.
Notwithstanding the neglect shown him on this occasion, we find him

ijusily engaged in November following in his humane purpose of warding off
'.he calamities from the frontier families. At one time he learned that a party
of Delawares and Shawanees were preparing to strike a blow on the English
jorder, and he forthwith repaired to Harris's Ferry, and gave the information
a I time to prevent the intended mischief We hear no more of Scaroyada
.intil 1757, in which year he raised a company of Mohawks, and in May
inarched to the relief of Fort Augustus. In 1742 mention is made of a chief
named Skanarady, who was acting a conspicuous part among the Cayugas.
He may be the same person, but of that we have no other evidence than the
approximation in the spelling of the names. It may be mentioned that one
of the chiefs, Cayenquiloquoas, who went to Philadelphia with Scaroyada
in 1755, had two sons in an academy in that city, where they had been placed
the year before to be educated. They were supported by the province.
We will in this place recur again to an incident in the war of 1755, as it

was a fulfilment of the prediction of Scaroyada, which probably gave Penn-
sylvania more alarm, and caused her greater consternation than any other in

her whole history; not even excepting the war of the revolution, or the
" Westei'n InsiuTection."

The author of the view of that province in 1755, closes his work with tills

" POSTSCRIPT. I send you," he writes, " the following postscript to my
long letter. The scalping continues ! Yesterday [December 14th] the Dutch
brought down for upwards of 60 miles, in a wagon, the bodies of some of
their countrymen who had been just scaljjed by the Indians, and threw them
at the State-House door, cursing the Cluakers' principles, and bidding the com-
mittee of assembly behold the fruits of their obstinacy, and confess that their yre-
tended sanctify loould not save the province ivithout the use of means, at the same
tmie threatening, that if they shoidd come down on a like etrand again, and fnd
nothing donefor their protection, the consequences should be fatal. A Dutch mob
is a terrible thing ; but methods arc taking to pacify them, and prevent it."

The manner in which this serious affau* is spoken of by honest Johjv
Churchjian, in his life and travels, desei-ves to be noticed, as well for its

addition to llie stock of historical facts, as showing how it was viewed by one
of the strictest of the Friends' party. "The Indians," he says, " having burnt
several houses on the frontiers of this province, also at Gnadenhutten, in

Northampton county, and murdered and scalped some of the inhabitants,

two or three of the dead bodies were brought to Philadelphia in a wagon,
with an intent, as was supposed, to animate the peoj)le to unite i}i prepiu-a-

tions lor war, to take vengeance on the Indians, and destroy them. They
were carried along several of the streets, many j)eo])le Ibllowing, cursing the
Indians, also the Quakers because they would not join in war for destruction
of the Indians. The sight of the dead bodies and the outcry of the people
were very afflictive and shocking to me : standing at the door of a friend's

house, as they passed along, my mind was much liumbled, and turned much
inward, when I was made secretly to cry. What will become of Pennsylvania?"
'Vlw. good man also said to hinjsclfj that the sms of drunkenness, pride, pro-
faneness, and other wickedness, had not only ])ollutcd the borders w hero the

murders were connnittcd, but Philadelphia likewise, and that in the <lay of

retribution i)lood would be reijuired here also.
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Severe reflections were indulged in relative to the conduct of some of the
Quakers, JVathaniel Grubb, ineniher of the assembly, and a prominent char-
acter among them, was sent into the interior to learn the trutli respecting the
ravages comjjlained of; he is reported to have said that "those killed by the
Indians were only some Scotch-Irish, who could well enough lie spared;" and
such, it was further reported, was "the common language of many of that
sect.'" But these charges are to be taken with large allowances.

CHAPTER XIV.

Earhj western history—Incidents of buttles—Esrii,i/s defeat—Simon Girty—Siegt

of Bryant's station—Daniel Boone—Battle of the Blue Licks—Its disastrous
issue—Massacre of Major Doughty's men—Ilarmer's Campaign—Col. Hardin—
His first defeat—JVarroio escapes of individuals—Major Wyllys—Second defeat—Majors Fontaine and Jf'i/llys killed— Battle near Fort Recovery— Chiefs Under-
wood AND Sallad—McMahon's DEFEAT AND DEATH

—

Galldut action of Lieut
Drukc— Capt. Hartshornc killed—Fate of the chief Sallad—Piomingo.

" Of all men, suving Sylla th'^ nian-slayer,

Who passes for in life most lucljy

Of tlie great names, wliicli in our faces stare,

The General Booii, backwoodsman of Kentucky,
Was happiest among mortals anywhere

;

The present case in point I

Cite is, that Boon lived hunting up to ninety.

'Tis true he shrank from men, even of his nation,
When they built up into his darling trees,

—

Ho moved some hundred miles off, for a station

Where there were fewer houses and more ease."—Byron

As the tide of emigration rolled westward, farther and farther was carried

fi'om the Atlantic shores the van billow, which broke in blood as it rolled on-
ward, and which will not cease until it has met its kindred wave, progressing
from the western ocean, and both shall have swept down and buried in their

course those forms of humanity, in whose name there will remain a charm
forever ; and which mil strike the imagination sti-onger and stronger, as the
times in which they were are seen through the dim distance of ages. We
can yet view upon the hills of the west, as the sun sinks bej^ond them, the
figure of one of the race, with his bow in his hand, and its production by his

side, in his way to his humble wigwam in the glen to which its smoke above
the tops of the lofly ti-ees du-ects him. Is there a landscape in nature like

this? Who that has even read of the Indian can efface it from his memory.^
But it is our ruling maxim not to indulge in descriptions merely to delight

the imagination, but to give our space entirely to facts which should be
remembered, leaving poetn- to those writers better skilled in it.

We shall here proceed to the detail of the events of one of the most san-

guinary battles, considering the numbers engaged, ever fought in the west.

On the 22 March, 1782, a company of 25 W}'andots attacked Estill's station,

in Kentucky, killed one man and took a negro prisoner. The owner of tiie

station, Capt, James Estill,* a bold pioneer, was at the time absent engaged
in scouting in defence of his neighbors, and having received intelligence of

the attack upon his own house, hastened in pursuit of the party which liad

juade it. Their trail led across Kentucky River, thence towards the Ohio,

which Capt Estill followed with ardor; and when he came within about two
miles of Little Mountain, now the village of Mount Sterling, the Indians were
discovered on the right Ijank of Hinkston's branch of Licking River. They
immediately threw themselves into a position of defence, and Capt Estill

whose men mmibered the same as those of the Indian chief, drew up his in

* ]u all the edilioiis of }<ooiic's Narrative it is Ashton, but it is an error. A connly per

peluates the name of the brave Esiill.
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front of them on the opposite side. All now depended o, i the greatest exer-

cise of skill ; for neither could claim to be better marksmen than the other

if the whites were good, so wei"e the Wyandots. They waited tor the Ken-
tuckians to begin the battle, which they immediately did, and on tl)e first fire

the chief of the Indians was severely wounded. This so disconcerted bis

men that many of them were for making a rapid retreat; but his voice rallied

them to their posts, and the strite was now urged with the utmost determina-
tion on both sides. Each was confident in his own superiority in skill over

his adversary, and for some time but few fell, owing to the covered positions

both parties held.

At length it was apparent to the chiefs that it would require a long time to

decide the contest by that mode of action, and each waited impatiently lor the

other to make some advances by which advantage might be gained. It is un-
natural lor a white man to lie by a deer's path all day, waiting for it to pass,

at the end of which he is quite as uncertain whether it will come in the coiu'se

of another, or, perhaps, not till the end of ten days. It may be as unnatural

for the Indian ; but he will wait day in and day out without half the uneasi-

ness which a white man feels. Thus, at the memorable battle of the Little

Mountain, the whites would not wait for a change of position by the Indians,

and therefore resolved to make one themselves. Experienced tacticians sel-

dom divide their Ibrces. The Lidian chief kept his imbodied ; but the Ken-
tuckian divided his, and it proved his ruin.

Capt. Estill despatched Lieut. Miller, with six men, with orders to cross the

river, and come upon the backs of the Lidians, while he would occupy them
in tiont. Accordingly, Aliller marched out on this design ; and, to deceive
the Indians, the captam extended his line in front, with the view of closing in

on the flanks of the Indians the moment Lieut. Miller should divert them in

his direction. Unhappily for the whites, that time never came ; Miller was
easily deteated ; or, as some * say, came no more into action. Yet Estill was
enabled to continue the fight for more than an hour ; meanwhile, his centre

became weak, and being furiously charged by the Indians, his men broke and
dispersed. Each man shifted for himself as well as he could ; Capt. Estill,

and his second lieutenant, South, both escaped from the field of battle ; but

they fell by the tomahawk in then- flight Four only escaped from that san-

guinary strife,—excepting those under Miller,—and those four were all

wounded.
The Lidians were supposed to have lost half their number ; but they were

imboldened by this success, and other depredations followed.

In the following August, that noted fiend and miscreant, Simon Girty, now
twice a savage in disposition, came down upon Kentucky at the head of
above 500 Lidians, from the tribes of the Wyandots, Miamies, Pottowattomies,

Shawanees, and Cherokees. Their object was the destruction of Bryant's

station, on the Elk Horn, which fortunately had news of then* ai)proach in

time to prepare for them. Nevertheless, Girty, relying on his numl>ers, de-

termined to reduce it. A spring near the fort, which supplied it with water,

was unprotected, and he stationed a considerable body near it, in conceal-

ment, to cut off such as should venture to it during the siege. Another party

was ordered to post themselves m full view in front of the garrison, by which
feint it was expected the main strength of it would be drawn out; in which
event a third party was to storm a certain gate, and, if possible, force it, and
thereby gain possession.

The attack commenced in fi-ont; but Girty's design was fathomed by the

shrewd backwoodsmen. They at once saw that but a small party began the

onset, and rightly judged a much gi'eater one lay concealed in their rear.

They now determined to attempt a stratagem on Girty's camp, and wifn what
success we shall next proceed to state. Thirteen young men were sent out

to attack the Indians in front, while the remainder of the garrison (about 30)

were prejiared to receive tlie ]>arty in the rear. Girty was comjjletely de-

ceived by the manoeuvre, for su|)posing the main body had gone in pursuit

* Gov. Moreh?;ai), ill his acimirable address in Comnicmoration of ihe First Si'dlcmeiu

of KeiitucUy
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of the small pai'ty in front, he rushed up with great fury to execute this part
of his plan. At the same moment the gairison opened upon him a most
deadly fire. This was entirely unexpected, and "the whole Indian army"
fled with the utmost precipitation, leaving the 13 brave men, who had made
the sortie, at liberty to rejoin their friends. But the siege was not to termi-
nate here ; the fugitives returned in a short time, under cover of logs and
fences, and for several hours kept up a continual fii-ing upon the garrison.

Meanwhile, word had been received at Lexington, that Bryant's fort was in

unminent danger, and a party of about 50 men, horse and loot, set off to re-

lieve it. The besieging Lidians, being aware of their march, ambushed the
road near the garrison, and were exulting in the prospect of cutting off the
whole party ; but such was the dexterity of that company of men, that they
succeeded in dashing through the whole body of Indians, with the loss only
of six of their number ; and even those were lost, as it were, by accident.
The company approached the garrison in two divisions at the same time, and
the party first attacked did not lose a man, while the other, instead of pro-
ceeding directly to the fort, tacked and marched for the relief of their friends,

and thereby came directly into the hands of the Lidians, who had now noth-
ing to do but to turn their arms upon them. In this affair Girty was knocked
down by the force of a ball which lodged ui his shot-pouch, without doing
him any injiuy.

Girty, being now well aware that a further waste of time and ammunition
would be of no avail, resolved, as a last resort, to try the effect of a gascon-
ade. Accordingly, crawling up as near the fort as he could find a covert,

he hailed those within, and demanded a surrender ; said they now had an
opportimity to save their lives ; but if they held out longer, he could not be
accountable for their safety. And, besides, he said, he hourly expected two
pieces of cannon, and a thousand more Indians, who, when arrived, would
make deplorable havoc of every man, woman, and child ; that now was tlieir

only chance of escaping that scene of blood. And, after extolling their bra-
very and corn-age, he closed with the announcement of the name of Simo>
Girty, and that what had been promised was upon his honor ; and demanded
whether the garrison knew him.
A young man, named Reynolds, was appointed to reply to him, which he

did in a style of tamit which will long be remembered in Kentucky storj.

" Know you ? " said Reynolds ;
" Ay, that we do. I have a good-for-nothing

dog named Simon Girty. Bring up your reenforcements and artillery, and be
d d to you ; we will not fight you with guns, but have prepared switches
with which to drive you out of the fort if you should get in ;" with much more
in like kuid. If Girty was not satisfied before, he became so now ; and, on
the following morning, the whole army marched offtowards their own coun-
try. Thus ended the celebrated siege of Bryant's station, August 17th, after

about 36 hours' duration.

The country had become alarmed over a wide extent, and, on the next day
after the termination of the siege, a large number of men had assembled on
tlie ground, eager to pursue the Indians. Among them were several oflicers

of known valor, the chief of whom were Col. John Todd of Lexington, Lieut.

Col. Trigg of Harrodsburgh, Lieut. Col. Boone of Boonesborough, and Majs.

Harlan, McGary, and Levi Todd. Col. Logan had been notified, and was
believed to be on his march to join them ; but such was the ardor oi' the men
now assembled, though no more than 182, to have a fight with those Lidiaus,

whom they believed 600 strong, that they would not be restrained, and they

marched on the evening of the same day, on their trail. This irrational im-

petuosity, it should be remembered, did not extend to such men as Daniel

Boone,* who coolly gave it as his opinion, that it was not prudent to pursue
until a reenforcement should arrive ; but this sage counsel was scoiued by

some, while others attributed it to cowardice. Like Little Turtle, before the

* The writer of the life of '• Boon," in the " American Portrait Gallery," has not noticed

the distinguished part he acted in the battle of the Blue Licks. This justly-celebrated man
died in the house of his son, Maj. N. Boone, of Montgomery county, 26 September, 1820, in

his 83th year.
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battle of Miami, Boone bore the insult in silence, but did his duty in the bat.

tie Avhich ensued.
As tliis devoted band marched along, it was apparent to every man ot' ex-

perience which composed it, that the enemy expected pursuit, for they had,
in many ways, left traces of then- march, which an enemy not courting pui-

suit would never have made. Boone, and othei-s of his muid, who had doubt-
ed the propriety of the proceeding, hoped that the impetuous paity would
come to their reason as thej' approached the scene of danger, which doubtless
w^ould have been the case, but for the mad act of one man, and that was a
Maj. McGaiy.

After a march of about 40 miles, they came to Licking River, at the since
well-known point called the Bbie Licks ; and as the hill opened to their view
on the opposite side, a few Indians were discovered slowly ascending it, and
leisurely disappeared on the other side. Here a council of war was called,

and Col. Todd, the commander-in-chief, called on Col. Boone for his advice.

It was given with candor, and caution was strongly recommended, as it had
been betbre leaving Biyant's, on the preceding day. This course of the com-
mander ought to have silenced all clamors, especially as none could but ac-

knowledge the wisdom of Col. Boone. He well understood tlie nature of tlu-

adjacent country; he had made salt at the hck; hunted in its vicinity; and it

was there he fell into the hands of the Indians in 1778, and sutiered a long
captivity. These considerations availed little. Spies were st^nt out ; but they
returned without making any discovei-j . Boone described a ravine, in whicji
he did not doubt the Lidians lay concealed, and proposed two measures ; one
of which he thought should be adopted. The first was to wait for a reen-
fbrcement ; but if they v/ould not consent to that, he advised that a part of
their force should be detached up the river, to cross it and sin-prise the In-

dians; while the remainder should make a feint in front of their position.

Here all deliberations were suspended by the war-whoop, not from the In-

dians, but McGaiy, who, spmring his horse into the river, in defiance of all

subordination, called out for all that were not cotoards to follow him—he tcould

shoiv them the Indians. The miserable " example was contagious among the
fiery spirits;" and though a part remained with Todd and Boone for a short

time, all were soon over the river, and, says Boone,* "we discovered the
enemy lying in wait for us. On this discovery, we formed our cohnnns into

one single line, and maixhed up in their front within about 40 yards, before
there was a gun fii*ed. Col. Trigg commanded on the right, myself on
the left, Maj. McGtuy in the centi-e, and Maj. Harlan the advance party in

front. From the manner in which we had formed, it fell to my lot to bring
on the attack. This was done with a veiy heavy fire on both sides, and ex-
tended back of the line to Col. Trigg, Avhere the enemy was so strong that

they rushed up and broke the right wing at the first fire. Thus the enemy
got into oiu" rear, and we were compelled to retreat Avith tlie loss of 77 of oin*

men,f and 12 wounded." Sucli is the summary account of that sanguinary
battle by Col. Boone himself, a most conspicuous actor in it.

The right wing was dreadfully cut to pieces. Col. Trigg was killed, with
most of his men, while Boone sustained himself manfully in his position.

Maj. Harlan, whom no danger could daunt, maintained his ground until but
three of his men were left, Avlien he fell mortally wouiidcd. The tonuiliawk
was now resorted to by tlie savages, and the remainder of the little army gave
way, one wing after another, and a dismal i-out ensued. Some regained theii

horses, while others fled on foot. They were a mile from the lick where tliey

had crossed the river; and wlien they arrived there, the Indians in great num-
bers were if{)on them. No pen can describe the scene now begun. Col.

Todd was here numbered with the slain. Boone very narrowly escaped,
conveying away his son by a secret ])ath, who, to his lasting sorrow, he soon
found Avas mortally Avounded, and he was obliged to leave him in the way.

* In a letter to the governor of Virginia, dated on the 30 August following the battle, ap-

pended to Gov. Morehead's discourse.

t The Indians were said to have lost the same number ; but it is improbable. They burnt

at the slake several of the whiles who fell alive into their hands.
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The flying paily met Col. Logan with the expected reenforcemeut, before
they arrived at Bryant's station. That veteran officer shed tears when he
heard of the Wind late of so many vaUiable men. With Col. Booiic, and such
others as would join him, he marched for the battle-ground of the 19th, and
arrived there on the 21st ; from whence, after buiying the dead, he returned
to the settlements. " The news of this gi-ievous disaster went like a dagger
to the hearts of the people of Kentucky." But its strength was to be exerted
imder more favorable auspices in future. Gen. Clark destroyed the Indian
town of Chillicothe, and several other villages on the Miami, immediately
after, which tenniuated the war in Kentucky. In this expedition, too, Boone
was conspicuous.

Passing over minor events of border warfare, we come next to the detail

of Harmer's campaign, one of the most extraordinaiy incidents in western
histoiy. With the war of the revolution that \vith the Indians closed, only
to be revived according to circumstances on their pait, or when it suited their

convenience. Various acts of hostility were kept up, growing out of what
the Lidians Avith truth were made to believe were mtringements upon theii*

rights and privileges. That both parties had cause of complaint will not be
denied ; but that both had an equal chance for i-edress, is a question no one
\vill seriously propound. The Indians were by no means on equal footing in

this respect ; and hence the cause of their frequently attempting redi'ess by
retaliation. In fact, few of them knew any other remed}'. The complaints
from the western frontiers had become so loud in 1790, that congress re-

quested the secretaiy of war, Gen. Knox, to collect what information he
could, relative to depredations by the Indians upon the inhabitants of that

region. An able report was the result of the investigation, in which it was
stated that ^vithin two years past, upwards of 1,500 pei'sous had been killed

or carried into captivity, and a great amount of property destroyed. Among
other mischiefs, was an attack upon a company of govenunent soldiers, under
the following circumstances :

—

In the month of April, 1790, Maj. John Doughty and Ensign Sedam went,
with 15 men, in boats, upon some public business to the fi-iendly Chilvasaws.

Having performed then- mission, and, as they were ascending the Tennessee
River, 40 Indians approached them in canoes, under a white flag. They were
admitted on board ; and nothing but a friendly disposition being manifested,

presents were distributed to them, and they left in seeming good faith ; but

no sooner had they put off from then- fiiends, than they poured in upon tliem

a destructive fii-e. The Tlmeiicans were almost entirely unprepared for such
a salutation ; but they returned it as soon as their circumstances would al-

low, and the fight continued for some time ; and, notwithstanding the gi'eat

inequality of numbers, finally succeeded in beating off" the Indians, though
not until they had killed all but four of the company. Such are the incidents

of the massacre of Maj. Doughty's men. This, with other events of a less

atrocious character, caused the appointment of Gen. Josiah Harmer, then

commanding at Fort Washington, to be placed at the head of a force, to be
led against the Indians on the Miami ; an account of which, in the next place,

we shall proceed to give in detail.

Gen. Harmer was considered an able tactician, and was an officer of the

late revolutionaiy army ; and it was expected that he would find little diffi-

culty in breaking up the haunts of the Indians, and subduing them, if they

attempted to meet him in a general battle. He had 320 regular troops put

under him, with orders to call upon Kentucky and Pennsylvania for quotas

of militia to increase his force to 1,500 men. About the close of September,

the requisite number of men having arrived, the army mai'ched from Fort

Washington for the Indian countrj^ Col. Hardin was detached, with 600
men, with orders to proceed in advance of the main body; and, after a

march of 17 days, he an-ived at the Great Miami village, October 16. He
fomid it deseited and in flames. It was situated at the confluence of the

St. Joseph's and St Mary's Rivers—a site now included in Allen county,

Indiana. About 5 acres were enclosed by pickets, within which the army
encamped. In the burning buildings, great quantities of grain were discov-

ered ; and, on further search, abundance more was found in holes in the
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ground. At the same time, a detacliment of 300 men, under Col. Trotter

and Maj. Rhea, marched out upon discovery. They found 5 villages, all

burnt, and saw about 30 Indians. Thinking these a decoj^, they did not at-

tack them. The next day, which vi^as the 17 October, Maj. Fontaine, aid-de-

camp to Gen. Harmer, with a party of 200 foot and about 50 horsemen, pro-

ceeded to find Indians. Numerous signs were discovered ; and, at some 6
or 7 miles trom camp, he fell in with a party, and was defeated with a loss

of 70 men. Others state that there were but 170 men in all, 30 of whom
were regulars under Lieut. Armstrong and Ensign Hartshorn ; that 23 of the

latter were killed or taken, and seven escaped by flight. Lieut. Armstrong
saved himself by plunging into a slough, and remaining most of the night up
to his neck in mud and watei*. Ensign Hartshorn made an equally narrow
escape. I>ii his flight he stuzubled over a log, which, as he fell, he observed

contained a cavity of sufficient magnitude to admit his body. He crawled

into it, and eventually escaped unobserved. While he lay in the hollow tree,

he Avituessed tiom a knot-hole the burning and dreadful tortm-e of several of his

comrades on the same ground where thej- had been defeated. Ensign Harts-

horn is believed to be the same who i'ell afterwards in the battle at Foi't Re-
covery.

Never did Indians gain a more complete victory, and never was a plan

better laid to insure it. They drew the army after them by their trail ; then,

dividing themselves into two parties, marched back, on each side of it, to a

heath or plain, and there lay concealed in the bushes, while their pursuers

came directly into the snare. " The militia," Gen. Harmer said, " shamefully

and cowardly threw away their arms and ran, without scarcely firijig a gun ;"

and thus the regulars were left to fight the whole force of the Indians, wliich

could not have been less than a thousand warriors ; and it is matter of sur-

prise how even seven of the whites should have escaped.

This defeat was on the 17 October ; and the next day Harmer arrived with

the main body at the Great Miami village, having lost several of his scouting

parties on his march. Among these was Sergeant Johonnet, who published

a narrative of his captivity, after his escape, which is one of the most interest-

ing of the kind.

We are at great loss to account for the movements the general next made.
Why he began a retreat without any further operations, it is difficult to see.

Perhaps he had decided in his own mind that any further efforts would be
useless, and, without holding a council of his officers, had determined to re-

turn home. W such was his resolution, and had he kept it, he would have

saved many valuable lives, if he had lost his reputation
;

yet, as the case

turned, he not only lost his reputation, but what was of far greater moment
to the countiy, many valuable lives with it.

Whetlier conscious that he was gi-ossly reprehensible for what he had
done, or not, we can only infer the fact from the circumstances ; for he gives

us no journal of his marches from place to place, and we next find him about

8 miles on his way home, on the evening of 21 October. Here he made a

stand, and again detached Col. Hardin, with about 400 men, of whom 60 only

were regulars, with orders to return to the Great Miami village, which, it

seemed, the general had already been informed, was in possession of the

Indians, and to bring on an engagement with them. Under Col. Harden
went, at this time, Maj. Wyllys of Connecticut, Maj. Fontaine, Maj. McMul-
h'n, and Col. Hall. They marched in the course of the same night, and
about day, on the 22d, came to the village in lour divisions, to each of which
was assigned a different point of attack. They did not And the Indians un-

prepared ; but were met by them with a bravery and valor not to be over-

come. By one account, it is said the fight lasted three hours ; that, durvng it,

Maj. McMulIen drove a party of the Indians into the Miami. Maj. Wyllys,

with about tJO men, was cut off by a band of warriors, who came upon him
in the rear, under cover of a held of thick hazels. Maj. Fontaine, having

ordered his men to retreat, himself, "in a frenzy of courage," rode directly

back into tlu; thickest of tlie enemy, "cutting and slashing," till he was
wounded, and carri(>d off' by two of his men ; but he was overtaken, killed,

uiid scalped. Maj. Wyllys was left mortally wounded. He requested to be
tieiped ii|)()!i his horse, "that he might give them another charge; but, in the
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hiu-ry of the reti-eat, it could not be done;" and Lieut Frothingham, of his

command, was left among the slain.

A retreat was made in tolerable order ; and because the whites were noi

f)ursued, Harmer pretended to claim a victory ! But Indians will never
eave pkmder to pursue a flying foe, who has left all behind him.
There fell in this misei-ably conducted expedition, 214 men, of whom 183

were killed in battle, and 31 wounded ; several of these died of their wounds.
The proportion of officers was very great; besides those already named, there

were lost, Capts. Tharp, Scott, and McMutrey ; Lieuts. Sanders, Worley.
Clark, and Rogers; Ensigns Sweet, Bridges, Arnold, Higgins, and Thi-el-

keld.

On revicAving the conduct of Gen. Harmer in this affair, it would seem
that he was either crazj^, or utterly devoid of judgment. It must have been
apparent to eveiy subaltern of his command, that the first battle with the

Indians had not only increased their boldness, but their numbers also. Then,
at the very time, the troops are marched oft' the ground, leaving them in full

triumph ; and when at a safe distance ti'om danger, a fifth ])art is sent back
into the very jaws of destruction. With these glaring facts in full view, it is

difficult to comprehend on what ground a court martial could honorably ex-
onerate Gen. Harmer of all blame ; nor is it any easier to discover how he
could have been acquitted of unofficerhke conduct with honor.

In the battles with the Indians during this expedition, many of them fought
on horseback, having their horses equipped with a bunch of bells hanging
down tiie left side of their heads, and two narrow strips of red and white
cloth as a sort of pendants. The Indians themselves were painted red and
black, in a manner " to represent infernal spirits." Their most hideous and
terrific appearance, added to the noise of the bells and the flapping of the

pendent strips of cloth, rendered them so formidable to the horses of the

militia, that they shrunk back in dismay, and it was Avith the greatest diffi-

cult)'^ they could be brought to the charge.

The accounts of Harmer's campaign are of the most conflicting character,

no two agreeing in its important details. His official account of it is one of
the most meagre documents of the kind to be found any where. The most
we can learn from it is, that he had been somewhere to fight Indians, and
had got back again to Fort Washington, and had lost 183 men. But where,
or when, or how it was done, he has left us to conjecture. Judge Marshall
has imaccountably placed it under 1791, and Shallus, who is generally to be
relied on, places his march fi-om Fort Washington, and all his battles (which,

by the way, he never fought any) under the da»3 of 30 September.
I am aware that this account of Harmer's campaign differs considerably

from those before printed, but the main facts were long since obtained from
persons engaged in it, and may be received as substantially correct.

The next prominent event in western history occurred during the cam-
paign of Gen. Wayne, and has been referred to as the action near Fort
Recovery.

Fort Recovery was so named because it was built on the groimd wiiere

Gen. St Clair had been defeated ; and hence that ground was recovered out of
the hands of the savages. This fort became immediately very uotefl in

history, from a bloody battle Ibiight in its vicinity, on the 30th of June, 1794.

Fort Recovery was one of those advanced posts upon which Gen. Wayne
depended, in the event of his being obliged to retreat out of the Indian
country, upon any unforeseen disaster. It was on a small branch of the

Wabash, (uiistaken by Gen. St Clan- for the St. Mary's,) about 23 miles from
Greenville, and about 80 or 90 from Fort Washington, (Cincinnati,) and is

upon the southern border of Mercer county, Ohio, not 3 miles from the line

dividing Ohio from Indiana. It had been built in the winter of 1793, and m
June, 1794, the general ordered a quantity of provisions to be deposited there,

as a link in the chain of his supplies. It was not until the 29th of this month
that a convoy was ready to proceed thither from Fort Greenville.

Meanwhile two distinguished Indian chiefs, with a few followers, hud
marched for Fort Recovery, to learn what they could, in the way, of the

ricinity of the enemy. These two chiefs were named Capt. Underwood,
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and Capt. Bobb Sat.lad; tlie former a Chikasaw, and the latter a Choctaw
Tljey pertbnned their service tiiitiit'ullj', and arrived at Recovery the same
evening that the convoy did, but wliether betbre or after, is not mentioned

;

yet the value of their service upon this occasion was lost from want of a
proper arrangement ; lor on hailing the fort, they Avere taken lor the enemy,
and speaking a different language from the western Indians, could make no
communication to those within, and hence were obliged to retire witli morti-

fication. They were prepared to communicate the important intelligence,

that "a large army" of llidiaiks was hovering about the fort, and were to be
expected immediately to attack it. It was discovered afterwards, that the
Indians had learned the Aveakness of the garrison, and determined on cann-
ing it by storm, thus proving the value of the information which was lost;

the important post. Recovery, being then defended by but about 100 men,
under Ca])t. Gibson. Of these, yO were infantry, under the immediate com-
mand of Lieut. Drake, who, in the battle which followed, acted a most con-
spicuous part.

The convoy consisted of 300 pack-horses, 80 riflemen imder Capt. Harts-
horn, and 50 dragoons under Capt. Taylor; the whole under Major J. McMa-
HON. They arrived the same evening at their place of destination, without
accident. On the morning of the last day of .lune, as the convoy v.'as about
to resume its return march, it was fiercely attacked by a numerous body of
Indians, 3,000 or upwards, as was afterwards ascertained. Previous to march-
ing, the pack-horsemen had spread themselves along their road, and were
grazing their horses, and some were nearly a mile from the fort when the

onset begun. On hearing the firing, Major McMahon, supposing the Indians
but few, took only the .50 dragoons, and pushed forward to the point of attack.

Near the extremity of the line of pack-horses, he found himself almost en-
compassed by Lidians, who, showing themselves of a sudden, seemed to

cover the ground for a great distance. With their deafening yells they poured
an incessant fire upon the devoted band with deadly effect. Among the first

killed was the commander, who v.as shot dead fi"oni his horse. Capt. Taylor,

with the remainder of the troo])s, came immediately to the rescue, but finding

himself surrounded by the great numbers of the enemy, endeavored to cut

his retreat through them, and was likewise slain, as was also Cornet Terry.
Capt. Hartshorn, who commanded the riflemen, received a severe wound in

the knee, and notwithstanding he was carried some distance by his men, he
was finally overtaken and killed. They gained an eminence and continued
the fight

In the meantime the remnant of dragoons and other fugitives had gained
the cleared ground adjacent to the fort, and were contending at most fearful

odds with their victorious enemy. Seeing their desperate situation, Capt.

Gibson permitted Lieut. Drake, at his own request, to make a sally from the

fort in aid of his companions. " He accordingly sallied out, at the head of
his own men and a portion of the riflemen, skilfully interposed his detach-

ment between the retreatmg troops and the enemy, opened upon them a hot
fire, arrested their advance, and thus gave an opportunity to the wounded to

effect their escape, and to the broken and retreating com]}anies to reform and
again to face the enemy. Throughout the whole affair, Drake's activity, skill,

and extraordinary self-possession, were most consi)icuous. The enemy ob-

served it as well as his friends. The numerous shots directed at him, how-
ever, were turned aside by providential interference, until he had accom-
])lished all that he had been sent to perform. U-e then received 51 ball through
ins body and fell ; a faithful corporal came to his assistance, and with his aid

he reached the fort ; and those two were the last of the retreating party that

entered it—Drake making it a point of honor that it should be so." *

Lieut. Drake was not mortally, though veiy severely wounded, but never en-
tirely recovered. He returned home to Connecticut in the summer of 1796, on
a fin-lough, and died there shortly after, from the immediate effects of the yellow

* From a coniiminicalioii of our presoiU wortliy rliict" mag^islrale, Gkn. HAunisoN, by
which he ilhistrnted in tlie most happy nianiier, iJial it was no proof of cowariiice for an
officer to decline lighting a duel ; Drake having before refused to accept a challenge from,

notwithstanding he had been grossly insvihed by, another officer.
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fever, it is said, which he had contracted in passing through Phila.Aclphia, in

his way. The brave Capt Hartshorn, as has been mentioned, was wovinded,
and could not travel. He requested his men to leave him and take care of
themselves, and immediately a British officer (the notorious Capt M'Kee)
came to him, and told him to surrender and he should be well treated. But
he had determined never to fall alive into the hands of the Indians, and at

the same moment aimed a blow at M'Kee with his rifle, which knocked him
off his horse ; and betbre he recovered, his negro servant and an Indian were
upon Capt. Hartshorn, and had despatched him. Lieut. Mm'ks, of Capt. Harts-
iiorn's company, was surrounded and alone. He fought, and kept off the

Indians with his spoutoon imtil it was broken to pieces, and then jumping
over the heads of some, and knocking down with his fist one that had taken
him prisoner, escaped.

Li this protracted and desperate fight, 25 of the Americans were killed and
40 wounded, and all the pack-horses lost ; on many of which the Indians con-
veyed away their dead and wounded ; but their actual loss was never known.
Several other American officers deserve especial notice ; as Ensign Dodd of
Lieut Drake's command, and Lieut. 31ichael of Capt Hartshorn's. Michael
had been detached with a chosen part}^, all ofwhom were killed but three

;

himself escaping in a similar manner to that of Lieut Marks. The Indians

closely besieged the fort all that day and night, and the next day till about
noon, when they drew off. The Indians displayed great braveiT, ofi;en ad-

vancing in solid column within the range of the gims of the fort*

The well-kno^vn chiefs. Little Turtle and Blue Jacket, were among
the foremost leaders of the Indians in this battle. Of Capt. Underwood, we
have no further accoimt ; but the sequel of the life of his companion is soon
told. He had about this time been sent upon an excursion, and meeting with

a paity of the enemy, defeated them ;
pursued one into the midst of a lai-ge

encampment, where he despatched him : but at the same time, lost his

own life.

There were, li. G'rn. Wpyiie's army, 20 warriors out of the tribe of Che
taws. PiOMi^oc. "vh: hard ^een Avith St Clair, was also of the number, i

is believed to have been the same, afterwards called Gen. Colburt, in whi(

suggestion, if we are correct, he was the son of a Scottish gentleman by !

Indian woman, whose father was killed in an affair near the mouth of tl

Ohio, in 1781. His servaces under Gen. St Clair have been touched upor

and for those under Gen. Washington, he received a sword, and a commissic
of major; and Gen. Jackson gave liim a sword also, and a colonel's commit
sion. Having been always in the interest of the government of the United

States, he supported the "emigi-ation principle ; and that his example might

have weight, he went himself to Arkansas, in 1836, with the Ridge party.

But his years there were few, as doubtless they must have been in the land

of his nativity, for in 18.39 he had attained his 9.5th year, which ended his

earthly career. He died there in November of that year.

PiOMi.NGO was a true Indian. His men having taken a prisoner who had

beer, engaged in St Clau's defeat, he ordered him to immediate execution;

and that no wan-ior should be disgraced by the act, an old man was ap-

pointed to shoot him. He had joined Gen. St. Clau-'s army Avith 21 men.

CHAPTER XV.

EVEiVTS OF THE INDIAN WAR OF 1763 AND 1764, ON THE Omu.

Siege of Fort Pitt—.ibhj drfrnded hij Cnpt. Ecuyer— Col. Henry Bouquet ordered to

inarch to its relief—Extreme danger of the -undertaking—Throws succor into Fort

* 1 have been thus circumstaiuial in rletailing this important event in our Indian wars, be-

cause it has not been done by any writer; several have, however, noticed it, but ther i

counts are very incomplete. My chief authorities are, "A Letter datfd at Fort Greemnlle, fn
ianx after the battle," The Western Review, and Withers Chrotiides.
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Ligonier, as docs Capt. Ourry—Fort Bedford besieged—Battlk of Bushy Run—£ second battle—End of the campaign—4n army raised for another— Col. Bov-
quet commands it— Col. Brudstreet to cooperate by the Lakes—Indians completely

subdued and sue for peace—Surrender 206 captives.

Westward the waves of population roll,

Like the wild pyramid of awful flame,

Sweeping the broad prairie without control,

Urged by fierce tempests which no might can tame

JLn this chapter it is proposed to detail those events of Pontiak's wax not
before particularly considered. We have seen tlie termination of the siege of
Detroit, and we will now return into the distant south, to another besieged
fort, upon the Ohio, named Pitt, in' honor of the great statesman, Williaji
Pitt. It had been closely invested for many days, when Pontiak gave up
tlie siege of Detroit, and all communication was cut off from it, when an order
was given foi' an attempt to throw supplies into it by maixhing through the

wilderness. This fort stood upon a narrow tongue of land made by the con-
fluence of the Monongahela with the Ohio, and such was the boldness of the

Indians that "they had posted themselves under the banks of both rivers, by
the verj' walls of the fort, and continued, oS it were, bin-ied there, tiom day to

day, with astonishing patience
;
pouring m an incesoant stoi'm of musketry

and fu-e ai'rows ;
" by which they had counted upon starving or burning out at

length the beleaguered garrison.

Fort Pitt was commanded by Capt. Ecuyer, an officer who did himself"

much credit on the occasion, for he had not only the wily chiefs of forty bands
of savages to provide against, but the flood-gates of heaven had been opened
against him ; by which the swollen rivers had nearly destroyed the foundation
of his fortress. He was 200 miles, by any travelled path, from all settlements,

and could send no account of his distressed condition beyond the walls of
the foi't

Gen. Amherst was acquainted with the fate of some of the outposts, and he
had thrown succors into Detroit ; but whether Fort Pitt was in the hands of the

Indians or the English, there was nothing beyond conjecture. Such was the

condition of things when he magnanimously determined to send a force to its

relief. He had only the shattered remainder of the 42d and 77th regiments,

just returned from the West Indies, that he could spare for the enterprise, and
it was hazarding not a little to attempt it with men worn down Avith hard ser-

vice and disease ; when those in high spirits and sound health could scarcely

hope to pass Ihaddock's fatal fields with safety.

The forces destined for the expedition were ordered to rendezvous at Car-
lisle in Pennsylvania, and Col. Henry Bodqukt was appointed to lead them.
Melancholy forebodings occupied the minds of the frontier inhabitants ; a
great number of plantations had been plundered and burnt, mills destroyed,
" and the full ripe crops stood waving in the fields, ready for the sickle, but

tiie reapers were not to be found." But about 500 effective men were all that

the colonel could count upon, and it was feared that they would meet with a
defeat, which would leave the inhabitants in a vastly worse condition than if

tlie expedition had not been undertaken. And such was the despondency of
the people, that, notwithstanding a deposit of provisions had been ordered at

('arlisle early in the season, when Col. Bouquet arrived there in July, he found
nothing had been done ; and instead of finding supjilies for his men, he found
the wretched inhabitants expecting them of him, and he actually bestowed
some upon them out of his own stores. Yet in spite of these discouragements,
he was ready, in about eighteen days, to take up his line of march.
Meanwhile, Fort Ligonier, far advanced into tlie wilderness, and west of the

Alleghany Mountains, was in the greatest danger of falling into the hands of
tlie Indians, and all haste was made by Col. Bouquet to reach it with the army
to prevent such a catastrophe. This was of especial importance, inasnuicli

as that fort contained a large quantity of military stores, and was in a ruinous

condition, as well as weakly garrisoned, notwithstanding two other smidl forts

had been abandoned to strengthen it ; namely, one " at the crossings of the

JuniaUi," and the other at Stony Creek.
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Not being able to march with the main body as soon as he deemed it neces-

sary, Col. Bouquet determined to send thirty men in advance through the

woods to join the garrison. " For an object of that importance, every risk

was to be run," it was said ; and they set out on then- hazardous journey with

small hopes from then* friends. Contrarj' to what might have been expected,

as well as former experience, this little band succeeded, by forced marches,
without being discovered by the Indians, until they had got ^vithui sight of the

fort, by throwing themselves into it ; and although foed upon, escaped unin-

jured. Their having been anticipated, however, in their benevolent work,
detracts notiiiug from the honor of its pertbrmauce ; nor is Capt. Ourry the

less to be commended lor having encouraged twenty volunteers to march from
Fort Bedlbrd, where he commauded, upon the same difficult service. These
tew brave woodsmen met with a success proportionate to their corn-age.

" Here the distressed families, scattered for twelve or fifteen miles around,

fled tor protection, leaving most of their effects a prey to the savages."

Fort Bedford was as closely invested as Ligonier ; and about this time a

party of eighteen men were surprised in its very neighborhood and all cut off.

This happened but a few days previous to the arrival of Col. Bouquet at that

place, which was on the 25 .July, 1763. Fort Bedford was 100 miles beyond
the frontier, and the same distance from Fort Pitt.

As soon as the Indians became acquainted with the maixh of the English
ju-my, they broke up the siege of Fort Pitt, and proceeded to waylay the route

they knew it must take. There were many formidable leaders among them
at this period, as Kiktuskung, the Wolf, Delaware chiefs ; but the most
savage and dreaded were Shawanese, whose names have not reached us.

The colonel mai-ched from Fort Bedford on the 28 July, and having to pass

several dangerous defiles, he prudently determined to leave his wagons and
proceed only with pack-horses. Turtle Creek, along which he was to pass,

was commanded the whole way by high and craggy hills. This place he
intended to have passed on the night of the 29 July, by a forced march, thereby,

if possible, to have eluded the vigilance of his wily adversary ; but this he
was not able to effect ; and we will give, m his own words, Col. Bouquet's

account of the attack made upon his men on their march. His official de-

spatch was dated at Edge Hill, twenty-six miles from Fort Pitt, 5 August, 1763

;

and is as follows :

—

" The 2d instant the troops and convoy, intended for Fort Pitt, arrived at

Ligonier, where 1 could obtain no intelligence of the enemy ; the expresses

sent since the beginning of July, having been either killed, or obliged to

return, all tlie passes being occupied by the enemy. On the 4th, proceeded
with the troops, and about 340 horses laden with flour. 1 intended to have

halted to-day at Bushy Run, a mile beyond this camp, and, after having

refi'eshed the men and horses, to have marched in the night over Tmtle
Creek, a veiy dangerous defile of several miles, commanded by high and
craggy hills ; but at one o'clock this afternoon, after a march of seventeen miles,

the savages suddenly attacked our advanced guard, which was immediately

repulsed by the two light infantry companies of the 42d regiment, who drove

the savages from theu- ambuscade, and pursued them a good way. They
immediately returned to the attack, and the fu-e being obstinate on our front,

and extending along our flanks, we made a general charge with the whole

line, to dislodge the savages from the heights; in which attempt we suc-

ceeded, though without obtaining by it any decisive advantage ; for as soon

as they were driven from one post, they appeai-ed on another, till, by continual

reenforcements, they were at last able to surround us, and attack the convoy

left in our rear. This obliged us to march back to protect it. The action then

became general, and though we were attacked on eveiy side, and the savages

exerted themselves with uncommon resolution, they were constantly repulsed

with loss. We also suffered considerably : Capt. Lieut Graham and Lieut.

M'Intosh are killed, and Capt. Graliam wounded. Of the Royal Arnerican

regiment, Lieut. Dow, who acted as deputy quartermaster-general, is shot

through the body. Of the 77th, Lieut. Donald Campbell, and Mr. Peebles, a

volunteer, are wounded; in all, above sixty are killed and womided. The
action has lasted from one o'clock till night, and we expect to begin again at

daybreak."
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Thus ended the first battle " near Bushy Run," and both armies were deter-

mined on another as soon as they could distmguish Mend from foe, at the

earliest return of daylight. Accordingly, " in the morning," says Col. Bou-
quet, "the savages surroimded our camp, at the distance of about 500 yards,

and by shouting and yelping quite round that extensive circumference, thought

to have terrified us with their numbers : they attacked us early, and under
fiivor of an incessant fire, made several bold efforts to penetrate our camp

;

and though they failed in the attempt, our situation was not the less perplex-

ing, having experienced that brisk attacks had little effect upon an enemy who
always gave way when pressed, and appeared again immediately: our troops

were, besides, extremely fatigued with the long march, and as long action of
the preceding day, and distressed to the last degree by a total want of water,

much more intolerable than the enemy's fire."

Such was the commencement of the second battle neai* Bushy Run ; at

this stage of which many had been killed and wounded, and some had fallen

into the Indians' hands. Nothing seemed to be gained, but every thing wore
an mifavorable aspect. Tied to their convoy, the whites could neither pursue
tlie foe nor continue their march, and many of their horses were killed, and
their di'ivers had taken refuge in the woods. At length the colonel put in

practice a stratagem, which probably was the only means he could have
adopted to have saved his army fi-om a total defeat. He saw that the Indians

became evei-y moment more and more iniboldened, and to repidse them
effected nothing, while to him it would soon amomit to cei'tain defeat ; he
therefore made a feigned retreat, and so masterly was it performed, that the

Indians were completely deceived, and they pressed forward in a body from
their coverts to gain the centre of the circular encampment, while one of the

wings of the army, under Major Campbell, seconded by Capt. Basset, suddenly
closed in upon them from a pomt of the hill where he could not be observed,

pom-ing in at the same time a tremendous fire, and then charging them with

impetuosity. Many of them were killed, and though they returned the fire,

their ardor was damped, and \nictory was no longer doubtful. The whole
army was upon them before they could reload, and numbers were cut off by
a cross fire before they could regain their trees.

The battle having now closed, the arniy was enabled to encamp and take a

little repose, of which it was in extreme need. On mustering, it was found
that 115 had been killed, wounded, and missing of the regular troops, fifty of
which were of the former number. Of the Indians they learned sixty were
killed. Four days after Col. Bouquet arrived at Fort Pitt, without any other

accident than a few scattering shot from unseen Indians ; and here he was
obliged to end this campaign, not having sufficient force to pursue the enemy
beyond the Ohio, nor any prospect of a reenforcement
The next year it was detei-miiied to send out a larger force under the same

excellent commander, which should be able to strike an effectual blow upon
the Lidians in their strong-holds, or awe them into submission. Pennsylva-
nia was to raise 1,000 men ; Virginia was called upon, and 200 friendly Indians

tendered their services. With these, pai't of two regiments of regulars were
to be joined, and the whole were expected at Cai'lisle ready to march by
.fuly ; but it was the beginning of August before they were ready, and then

no men from Virginia appeared, and the fi'iendly Indians never came. Vir-

ginia excused herself by saying it had already 700 men in the field, and those

were insufficient to jirotect its owji frontier.

Meanwhile, as soon as the spring returned, the Indians fell anew upon the

itack settlements of Pennsylvania and Virginia, and spread a deplorable ruin

over a great extent of countiy, killing and carrying away the inhabitants with
tiunr wonted barbarity.

Gen. Gage was now commander-in-chief in the colonies, and he ordered
(^ol. Bradstreet, with a strong force, to act in conjunction with Col. Bouquet,

by proceeding by way of the lakes, and falling upon the backs of the Wyan-
dots, Ottawas, and Miamies.

Col. Bouquet marched from Cai-lisle on the 9 August, 1764, and reached
Fort Loudon on the 13th. In this march of four days, desertions had become
HJarming among the Pennsylvania troops, notwithstanding they h.-wl been
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warned, botii bj" tlie commander and Gov. Penn, of the ruin it would create,

and the condign manner in which it would be punished. The latter gentle
man had accompanied Col. Bouquet to Carlisle, and there appropriately ad
dressed the troops before they began their march. Nevertheless the Pennsyl-
vania troops bad decreased from 1,000 to 700 men, and the colonel weis obliged
to apply to the governor and commissioners to complete his complement.
And by the exertions of Gov. Fauquier of Virginia, the quota of men from
hat province were enabled to join the expedition at Pittsburgh.

Before leaving Fort Loudon, Col. Bouquet received despatches from CoL
Bradstreet, acquainting him that he had concluded a peace with the Dela-
wares and Shawanese ; but Col. Bouquet had no faith in their pretensions,

and on commmiicating %vith Gen. Gage, tlie treaty was rejected by him, and
offensive measm-es were not relaxed.

As soon as the army had an-ived at Fort Pitt, ten Indians were observed on
the north side of the Ohio, who signified a desu-e for a conference. This the

colonel looked upon as a stratagem made use of by them to get information
of his strength and intentions. Three of the partj^ were induced to visit the

fort ; and not being able to satisfy the whites of their good intentions, they
were held as spies, and their associates fled. On the 20 September the colo-

nel sent one of the three out with a message to his coimtrjanen, informing
them that he had heard of the treaty Avith Col. Bradstreet, but he had learned
too, that smce then they had conunitted several murders ; that he was now
prepared to distress them to the utmost, if they did not immediately stop

their depredations, and give assurances of their sincerity by leaving the path
open to Detroit, and safely retm-ning the messengers he was now to send to

Col. Bradstreet; and if the said messengers were detained or injured, he
would put his hostages to death, and show no mercy in future to any of them.
Twenty days were allowed them to perform the mission.

This talk had a salutary mfluence on the minds of the chiefs ; they had be-

come pretty well assured that Col. Bouquet was not to be trifled %vith, nor
caught asleep ; and on the 1 October, an Onondaga and one Oneida came to

Fort Pitt, pretending friendship, claiming to be friends under the ancient

league between tlie Five Nations and English. They offered him a little

friendly ad%ice, as that his force was too small to think of doing any thing

against so numerous an enemy as were the Indians, and that if he would wait

a little they would all come and make peace «ath him ; and especially if he
would set at libertj- those he held as hostages. But Col. Bouquet understood

Indian talk quite as well as they miderstood him, probably, when he told them
he should now proceed to Tuscarawas, and, if they had any thing further to

say, the)' might meet hun there ; but as to delay, that was out of the question.

-Vnd the next day, October the 2d, he was ready to take up his line of march,

and his entire force consisted of 1,500 men. Before lea^'ing, he found it neces-

sary to shoot two soldiers for desertion. All the women, except one to each

corps, and two nurses for the general hospital, were ordered to retiu-n to the

settlements, and every other enciunbrance was avoided before taking up the

line of march.
On the 6th the army reached Beaver Creek, and here a soldier joined it,

who had been taken near Fort Bedford, and now escaped from his captors.

He informed the colonel that the Lidians had watched the army, and were
siu-prised at its numbers. Two miles farther on was found the skull of a

child set upon a pole. On the 9th trees were seen, on the bark of which were
jnany hierogh^phical characters painted, said to have been done by the In-

dians to denote then- war exploits. On the 13th the army arrived at Tusca-

rawas, and here the colonel found the tsvo men who had been sent to Col.

Bradstreet Avith despatches, before spoken of. They stated that they had been

made prisoners by the Delawares, who carried them to one of their towns, 16

miles from Tuscarawas, where they kept them until the army reached here

:

and now, " making a virtue of necessity," set them at libertj-, and ordered them
to tell " the great white captain " that the head men of the Delawares and

Shawanese were coming as soon as possible to treat with him. On the 15th

they encamped on Margaret's Creek, and soon after a deputation of six In-

dians arrived, and informed Col. Bouquet that the chiefs were in council ready
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to ti-eat with him, about eight miles off. He returned answer that Jie would

meet them the next day at a bower at some distance trom his own camp, and

in the interim fortified his position, trusting nothing in tlieir protestations of

friendship.

On the 17 October tiie colonel marched to the bower, making the best dis-

play he could of his best troops, and soon after the Indians an-ived, and were

as follows: Kiyashuta, chief of the Senecas, with 15 wai-riore; Custaloga,

chief ofthe Wolf tribe of the Delawares, and Beaver, chief ofthe Turkey tril>e

of the same nation, with 20 warriors ; Keissinautchtha, achief of the Shaw-
anese, and 6 warriors. The Indian speakers were Kiyashuta, Turtle-heart,

Custaloga, and Beaver. These severally spoke, but we know not that their

speeches have been preserved ; but what they said went only to excuse them-

selves, and cast the blame on their young men, and the western nations, over

whom they had no control ; but " they sued for peace in the most abject maii-

uer," promising to deliver up all their prisoners without delay. The colonel

then dismissed them, and told them he would meet them again the next day,

but owing to the weather the meeting was deferred to the 20th. He then told

them their excuses amounted to nothing ; recounted to them the outrages they

had committed, as killing and cajitivating the traders sent among them at their

own request ; attacking Fort Pitt, which had been built by their consent, mur-

dering four men, who had been sent to them with messages; their attacking

his troops last year ; their falsifying their promise to Col. Bradstreet, of deliv-

ering up their captives to him by the 10 of last month, &c ; that they might

rest assured that the army would not leave their country mitil his terms were

complied \vith, and 12 days were allowed them to deliver the prisoners in,

which was to be done at Wakatamake. All persons were required, " English-

men, Frenchmen, women and children ; whether adopted, married, or livuig

among them under any denomination or pretence whatsoever ; and to furnish

horses, clothing and provisions, to cany them to Fort Pitt." When they had

fully complied with these terms, " they were to be informed on what terms

they might have peace."

It should have been observed, that at the first meeting, on the 17th, the

Delawai-e chiefs delivered up 18 white prisoners, and 83 small sticks, indica-

ting the number still remaining in their hands. Meanwhile Col. JBouquet

determined to march further into their countiy, knowing that his success in

getting prisoners depended much on the presence of his army ; and on the 2.5

October he arrived within a mile of the Forks of Muskingum, where, instead

of Wakatamake, the prisoners were to be delivered; this position being

veiy convenient for the Indians, most of their principal tOAvns lying around it.

Besides, it was a position from whence an effectual blow might be struck at

any moment. Here convenient houses were built tor the reception of the

captives. On the 28 October, Peter, the Caughnawaga chief, and 20 others

of that nation, aiTived from Sandusky, bringing a letter from Col. Bradstreet,

by which it appeared he had ascended the River Sandusky as far as he could

m canoes, but had not effected any treaty or received any prisoners, and was
about to leave that part of the country.

By the 9 November, there were delivered to Col. Bouquet 206 captives, of

which 90 were Virginians, and 116 belonged to Pennsylvania : among them
there were 125 women and children. There yet remained with the Shawa-
nese about 100 more, which, from their scattered condition, could not be had,

hut hostages were taken for their safe deliveiy the next spring. The separa-

ting of these captives from the Indians, and their meeting with their frientis

and relatives, (many of whom were present,) was a scene past description

;

children brought up among the Lidians clung to their adopted mothers, aiifl

the mothers to them, flying with feai" from their own parents. The Indian

li;is by many been denied that paternal affection so conmion to humanity

;

but had such witnessed this scene, their opinions would have changed. Some
would not be separated from their white captives, and even Ibllowed the army
in its march to Philadelphia. Thus ended one of the most brilliant Indiiui

expeditions upon record ; not brilliant by reason of sangumaiy battles, but

from lar more glorious deeds of humanity.

Tiiat the Indians were completely humbled by the firm and resolute con-
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duct of Col. Bouquet, has been remarked ; but we cannot, with justice to the
.subject, submit it, without letting the chiefs be fully heard. Notwithstanding
the Shawanese had, by their deputy, assented to the demands of the colonel,
as far as they could under present circumstances, they were considered " still

out in rebellion," and remained to be treated with. They had shown " a dil-

atoriuess and sullen haughtiness in all their conduct, which rendered it very
suspicious." Accordingly, a separate conference was had with them on the
l"i November, when there appeared the chiefs, Kkissinautchtha and Nim-
wHA, with the Red Hawk, Lavissimo, Bensivasica, Eweecunwee, Keig-
LEiGHQUE, and 40 warriors. Tliere were also present, the Caughnawaga,
Seneca, and Delaware chiefs. Red Hawk was chief speaker of the Shawa-
nese, and he thus addressed the English :

—

" Brother, listen to us, your yoimger brothers. x\s we see something in

your eyes that looks dissatisfaction, we now clear them. You have credited
had stories against us. We clean your ears, that you may hear better here-
after. We wish to remove every thing bad from your iieart, that you may be
as good as yom- ancestors, [.i belt] We saw you coming with an uplifted

tomahawk in your hand. We now take it from you, and throiv it up to God
Let him do with it as he pleases. We hope never to see it more. Brother,
as you are a warrior, take hold of this chain [handing a belt] of friendship, and
let us think no more of war, iii pity of oiu- old men, women, and children.

We, too, are warriors." i

The remarkable figure made use of in this speech, of throwing the hatchet up
to God, is new; and it was remarked by Thomas Hutchins, who heard it, that

by it the speaker wished probably to be understood that, by this disposition

of it, it would be out of the reach of bad men, and would be given only to the

party in fitture, to whom the right of revenge belonged ; whereas if it were
buried in the ground, any miscreant might dig it up.

The English did not much like the talk of Red Hawk ; they saw no sup-
plication, but a manly independence, which they ought to have admired, rather

than reprobated. That the Lidians, especially the Shawanese, did not ac-

knowledge themselves entirely in the wrong, is evident fi'om their producing
at this time, through their speaker, the treaty made with Pennsylvania in 1701,

and tlu-ee messages or letters from that government, of different dates, by which
they undoubtedly intended to show that the English had been guilty of bar-

barities as well as the Indians. However, Red Hawk promised, on behalf of
hisliation, that all the prisoners should be delivered up at Fort Pitt the next
spring.

Col. Bouquet finding no more prisoners could be obtained, owing, as has
been stated, to their being scattered with their masters upon very distant hunt-

ing grounds, gave up his campaign, and retmTied to Philadelphia, where he
arrived in the beginning of January, 1765. Before leaving " these remote
parts," however, the colonel gave the Indians a talk, in which he observed,

that what tlie Shawanese had said would have been agreeable to him, provi-

ded tlieir acts had corresponded with it. He reminded them that they had
promised, at Tuscarawas, a month before, that all the prisoners should be
delivered to him at his present encampment in 10 days, and demanded what
light they had to expect better terms than the Delawares and others, who
had, without delay, brought in their captives. This was rather um-easonable

on the part of the colonel, inasmuch as he was well aware that he was press-

ing an impossibility. " But," he says, " I will cut this matter short with you
;

and before I explain myself further, I insist on yom* immediate answer to the

following questions: 1st. Will you collect and deliver up all the prisoners,

taken in this or former wars, whether French, English, or negroes, and with-

out any exception or evasion whatsoever ? 2d. Will you deliver 6 hostages

into my hands as security for the performance of your promise, and as a

guaranty tliat your people shall commit no more hostilities on his majesty's

subjects ?
"

Bensivasica said the Shawanese would comply, excepting as regarded the

French ; but over them they had no control, and the English might do with

them as they pleased ; but he believed they had nearly all returned to their

own cr/untry. And here it will be proper to remark that tlie captives were
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delivered at Fort Pitt agreeable to this treaty. After the hostages were deliv-

ered, Col. Bouquet remarked to them, " that though he had brought the tonj-

ahavvk in his hand, yet as they had now submitted, he would not let it fall on
their heads, but let it drop to the ground," and exhorted them to be kind to

the prisoners, and said he should send along with them some of the friends

of the captives, to aid in the collection of them. At the same time the chiefs

of the other tribes present, severally addi'essed the Shawane chiefs, whom
they called grandchildren and nephews, and urged them " to perform their

promises, and be strong in doing good, that this peace might be everlasting."

These transactions occm-red on the 12 November, 1764.

In the narration of the delivery of captives on the 9 of the same month, the
relation of a captive was passed over, which shall here be given. A Mr.
Smallman, who had been a major of Pennsylvania troops, and had been made
prisoner in the smnmer of 1763, near Detroit, by the Wyandots, who delivered

him to the Shawanese, was among those surrendered at that time. He proved
of great service to the whites, as well as IncUans, on this occasion, by being
able to confirm much of the information given by the latter. He told Col.

Bouquet that all the Indians who had heard of his demand had come on im-
mediately witli their captives. It had been reported among the Shawanese
hat the object of the English was to put them all to death. As soon as this

aews came to be circulated among them, they began to prepare to kill all the

captives ; and a French trader among them, who had many baiTels of powder
and ball, offered it all to them to go out and fight the English army. When
they were about to commence murdering the prisoners, the message from the

colonel was received, stating that he only wanted the captives and to make
peace with them, and thus a horrid tragedy was prevented. Soon alter,

when many prisoners had been collected, and marched as far as Wakauta-
mikie, news came that a soldier had been killed near the camp of the army
at Muskingum. This the Indians thought woidd blast all their hopes of
mercy, and they again resolved to put the captives to death ; and when they
had even got them into a small compass for that pinpose, another exjiress

arrived from Col. Bouquet, which assured them that he had no suspicion that

they had any knowledge of the murder, and thus a second calamity was
happily averted.

Several eminent chiefs, it will have been perceived, make their appearance
in this part of our work, and to them we can add the name of Hopocan, or

Capt. Pipe. He was one of the two Indians whom we have mentioned as
having been detained as spies at Fort Pitt ; the name of the other was Capt
John. These were set at liberty when the 206 captives were given up. Of
the melancholy and barbarous murder of Red Hawk, notice has been taken.

The causes of this war were well known in P^ngland, and the complaints
of the Indians were acknowledged " to have been too well founded." They
had long watched the progress of settlements upon the Susquehannah, and
the building of torts in theii* country, against treaty stipulations. They had
not oidy submitted to this, but to treatment the most insolent. They resolved,

in the spring of 1763, to di'ive back their oppressors ; not, however, without
first remonstrating in respectful terms to the English, in one of their capitals,

through a deputation of their chiefs. Here they declared that whatever deeds
might be produced by one J. II. Lydias of Albany, or others, pretending to

claim lands upon the Susquehannah, they were utterly ialse, and would not
be allowed ; and that they would defend them to the last extremity. The
result we have seen.

Thus we have traced the events of Pontiak's war to its close— a glorious

termination, inasmuch as it was a bloodless one. Many years of comparative
peace ensued ; indeed the troubles with the Indians were not very serious

for the next ten years. Cresap's war was the next, which terminated in the

sanguinary battle of Point Pleasant. Then succeeded the calamities of the

Revolution, from which the Indians never recovered.
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CX)ND]TION IN 1859, OP THE INDIAN TRIBES REMOVED FROM
THEIR ORIGINAL LANDS.

The Indian tribes west of the Mississippi occupy the territory bounded by
the Red river and the Nebraska, between the 34th and 40th degrees of north
latitude, and the 94th and 100th degrees of west longitude. The Cherokees
hold 15,000,000 acres on the north bank of the main channel of the Arkansas
river, and an adjoining tract of 300,000 acres; the Choctaws and Chickasaws
own jointly 15,000,000 acres ; and the Creeks and Seminoles 13,140,000 acres.

Adjacent, on the east, are the Quappas, possessing 96,000 acres of land; the
Senecas, owning 67,000 acres ; and the mixed Senecas, holding 100,000 acres.

The latest census returns present an aggregate population of 97,657, exclusive

of the indigenous tribes within the same area of territory, which number
7,355 persons ; but, as these returns are not of recent date, and as the tribes

have, meanwhile, been increasing and prospering, the gross population of the

four most important tribes, the Choctaws, Cherokees, Chickasaws, and Creeks,
with the affiliated Seminoles, may now be estimated to exceed 100,000 souls.

Mr. Schoolcraft, who explored this territory in 1819, thus narrates its peculiar

characteristics and advantages

:

" Geologically viewed, its surHice consists of a drift deposit of sand, loam,
clay, marl, and comminuted gravel, arising from the broken down silurian

series, in which the leading strata of sandstone, limestone, and slate, are the

parent elements. Over this, deposits of leaves, of the decayed forms of

organic life, and of carbonaceous matter from the forests, have formed a rich

mould, making the soil mellow and easy to cultivate. Much of it is level, or

lying in gentle slopes, unencumbered with a heavy forest, difficult to be
removed by the axe. It is, nevertheless, well watered, and there is a full

supply of timber for building fences, and for firewood.

"Among the advantages of the country may be mentioned the saline forma-
tion. Salt springs exist in many localities, and this geological trait is attended
with the usual accompaniment of this formation, namely gypsum and coal.

The discovery of efflorescent bodies of salt on the prairies, originated the once
prevalent opinion that masses of rock-salt were deposited beneath the soil.

Through these beds, which lie on gently sloping hills and in valleys, the Red
river, the Washitaw, the Arkansas, and the Kanzas, flow out of, or from the

direction of, the Rocky mountains, and, with their numerous affluents, water
the entire country ; the Missouri washes its borders for several hundred
miles; the Red river bounds its southern line to the distance of six degrees

of longitude ; and the States of Missouri and Arkansas lie between its eastern

limits and the Mississippi.
" Geographically, this great tract of arable land is bounded by the Ozark

hills, or mountains, a very broad midland range, resting on azoic rocks, ex-

tending from the Hot Springs of Arkansas, to the head waters of the River

St. Francis, of Missouri. At both terminal points there arises a series of

these rocks ; that at the south, consisting of slate, schist, and quartz ; and at

the north, of granite, sienite, trap, and porphyry. Superimposed upon these,

and frequently concealed altogether for a considerable distance, are the

characteristic sandstone and limestone formations of tlit.- region. Through
these the Red river, Washitaw, Arkansas, White river, and St. Francis, pursue

their way to the Mississippi, producing rapids, but no striking falls. Cou-

59 ( «"^
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nected with this central upheaval of the old rocky strata, are developments
of mineral wealth.

" Of the climatic phenomena of the Indian territories, thus bounded, we
cannot speak from instrumental observations. It may suffice to observe that

travellers, official agents, and missionary teachers, all concur in describino;

the climate as mild, genial, and favorable to the growth of all the varieties

of cereals and esculents. The cotton plant thrives, and is cultivated in the

southern portion. Wheat and Indian corn are its staples ; and grazing is

nowhere more profitably pursued. Its water-power is sufficient for the pur-

poses of mills and manufactories."

The industrial condition and resources, the governmental polity and moral

status of tbe four principal tribes cannot be better exhibited to the reader,

than as set forth in the language of Mr. Armstrong, the western superintend-

ent of Indian aifairs. We will quote from his report to the government in

detail

:

Choctaws and Chickasaws.— The Indians of the former tribe have long

since justly acquired for themselves, not only from the Government of the

United States, but from the citizens with whom they have intercourse, a name
for honesty and fidelity, at least not surpassed by any of our Indian tribes.

They have, by a steady attention to their own business, since they emigrated

to their present homes, greatly increased in wealth : they have not been un-

mindful, at the same time, of educating the rising genei-ation, and they have,

by these means, added to the general intelligence and standing of the nation.

This favorable change is indicated more clearly on Red river than with that

portion of the nation on the Arkansas ; and the wealth as well as the intelli-

gence of the nation are confined mainly to the two districts on Red river.

The Choctaws may be considered as an agricultural and stock-raising

people—farms on Red river will compare with any in the States. They have

great advantages over other tribes, as a portion of their country is located in

the cotton region. The past year they cultivated this valuable staple to a

considerable extent; they have eight or ten cotton gins, and shipped between

700 and 800 bales of cotton. Many of the Choctaws live in comfortable

houses, and, with very few exceptions, even the poorer class have good, sub-

stantial log cabins. They own large stocks of horses, cattle, hogs, and sheep,

which constitute the wealth of those who may be termed the poorer class. It

is rare indeed to find a family that has not a good supply of stock ; and the

richer class, in addition to stock, own, many of them, a number of slaves,

who are engaged generally in cultivating cotton. The manufacture of salt

is carried on at two points in the Choctaw nation. The works owned by Col.

David Folsom, a Choctaw of respectability and energy, are perhaps the most
extensive; about twenty bushels a day are manufactured —-a supply equal to

the demand, which no doubt will be increased as the article is wanted.

The Choctaws have mechanics in the nation, in addition to those furnished

by the United States. These consist of four blacksmiths, two of whom are

native Choctaws, and all the strikers or assistants are youths selected from
the nation. There is also a millwright, who has been engaged in erecting

mills for the Choctaws. Trade is carried on at suitable and convenient places

in the nation. The most extensive trading is at Doaksville, within a mile of

Fort Towson. There are five stores at this place, three of which are owned,
in part, by Choctaws; the other two are exclu>sively owned by citizens of the

United States. The stocks of goods are large, and the assortments such as

are usual in stores— sugar and cofiee being used by all classes in the nation,

to an extent at least equal to the whites. It may not be uninteresting to

state, that the village of Doaksville is one of the most orderly and quiet towns
that may be found in the West. In addition to the five stores, there are a

resident physician, a good tavern, blacksmith's shop, wagon-maker, and
wheelwright ; a church has also been erected, in which there is preaching
usually once or twice every Sabbath, ])y the missionaries who reside in the

neighborhood; a temperance society is also organized, wliit;h numbers a large

portion of the most respectable Choctaws and Chickasaws, as well as our own
population. I have been at this village a week at a time, without seeing

anything like ardent spirits or a drunken Indian,
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Tlie Choctaws and Chickasaws, to a great extent, may be regarded as one

people; they speak the same language, and intermarried with each other,

oven before the emigration of the Chickasaws. By an arrangement between

the tribes, the Chickasaws obtained what is now calleil the Chickasaw district

of the Choctaw nation, making a fourth district, entitling them to an equal

representation in the general council, which passes all laws for the govern-

ment of the people. They enjoy equal privileges, according to the treaty, to

settle in whatever district thoy may choose, and each to vote and be eligible

to any office within the gift of the people. The only difference is, that each

tribe manages its own annuities or public moneys without any interference

from the other. The country owned by the Choctaws, according to the treaty

and the patent received from the department, commences near Fort Smith,

running up the Arkansas to the mouth of the Canadian, up the same to the

limits of the United States, and with those limits to Red river, down the same
to wliere a due south line, from the beginning near Fort Smith, will strike

the Red river, which is the dividing line between the State of Arkansas and
the Choctaws. The line from the Canadian to the Red river has not been run.

The Choctaws are governed by written laws and a constitution ; elections

are held annually for members to the general council. The nation is divided

into four districts (one being the Chickasaw). Each district elects, by the

qualified voters, a chief, who holds his office for four years, and is eligible for

two terms. These chiefs receive a salary from the United States of $250 each,

per annum, by treaty stipulation. The general council, consisting of forty

members, convenes on the first Monday in October ; a speaker and a clerk is

elected ; the speaker is addressed as is customary in legislative bodies, and
the whole business of the council is conducted with the utmost decorum.
Each chief delivers a message in person to the council, recommending such

laws as he may deem conducive to the interests of the people, and as thei-e is

but one representative body, all laws that are passed by the council are sub-

mitted to the chiefs ; if approved, the same become laws ; if not, the bills are

returned to the council, and if passed by two-thirds, become laws. The
council-house, a large and commodious building, with committee-rooms,

and also seats for spectators, was erected under the treaty stipulations.

Much interest is manifested by the people in electing councillors, and also

when they meet together ; they usually remain in session from ten to fifteen

days, and receive a per-diem pay of $2. Judges are nominated by the chief of

the district, and receive a small compensation ; and trial by jury is guaranteed

in all capital offences ; but there is no law enforcing the collection of debts.

It will be seen that the Choctaws have materially bettered their condition

by an exchange of country ; are fast approximating to our own laws

and institutions ; and feel a deep interest in the success and prosperity of

our own people, as well as the perpetuity of our Government. They have

school funds sufficient to educate a large portion of the people, beside annu-

ities from the United States, and also an investment of $500,000, at five per

cent., in bonds of the State of Alabama, for the benefit of the whole people.

They have also other sources of wealth. Their laws are generally respected.

and when violated, punishment is inflicted. It is very rare that acts of

violence take place between themselves ; every individual feels safe in his own
property ; and travellers pass through the nation with as much safety as they

do in any country.

The Chickasaws number about 5000. They have settled promiscuously

among the Choctaws ; lately they are beginning to move up to the district

assigned them, which they did not do at first, owing to the scarcity of pro-

visions and the exposed situation of the frontier. The Chickasaws have

obtained greater pecuniary advantages by the exchange of their country than

any of the tribes. Their lands were surveyed and sold at a time when specu-

lation was at its highest, and when the most enormous prices were paid.

The funds thus arising were invested for the benefit of the nation, alter each

head of a family had obtained a reservation. Some profited by receiving

large amounts ; but in most cases, the money having been easily obtained,

was as freely spent. It is, however, the home the Chickasaws obtained from

the Choctaws that compensates them. They are now fairly settled in a
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country at Jeast as fertile as the one they left, and removed, to a great extent,
from the evils that were fast destroying them as a people. They unite with
the Choctaws in forming the fourth district, and come into the general council
of the nation -with a representation corresponding to their population. The
Chickasav7S have ample national funds to extend the mechanic arts, as well
as education, among their people. Some of the more wealthy are planting
cotton, and, with few exceptions, the people are getting around them small
stocks of horses, cattle, and hogs, which, with care and attention, in a country
so well adapted to stock-raising, will soon greatly increase.

Ckerokees.— This people combine more intelligence than any of the tribes.

They have intermarried more with the whites, have had the advantages of
education, and, by their location, have had an opportunity of observing
more immediately the customs and manners of a civilized people than any
other of the Indian tribes. There are many intelligent and well-educated
Cherokees.
The nation consists of about 18,000 souls, spread over an extent of country

sixty miles square, comprising several varieties of soil. Estimating one
warrior to every five souls, would give 3600. They are improving in intel-

lectual condition ; have executive, legislative, and judicial departments ; an
organized government ; a principal and assistant chief, elective every four

years ; a council and committee, organized somewhat upon the principle of

the House of Representatives and Senate of the United States— the former
consisting of twenty-four members, and the latter of .sixteen, elective every
two years. They sit annually, and are usually in session from three to four
weeks. The judiciary is composed of a supreme bench, a circuit court, and a
district court ; the first consisting of five members, the second of four, and
the latter of eight. They have written laws, and a criminal code. The circuit

court sits spring and fall ; the supreme court once a year; the district court
whenever an emergency arises. They have juries, and hear pleadings. The
judges of the circuit and district benches are appointed more for their probity
and personal worth than on account of their legal attainments, and will com-
pare, in point of moral worth, with any similar body in the United States.

They are rigid in the execution of their laws
;
generally impartial in the

administration of justice, as yet necessarily in a rude state. As many as four
executions have taken place in one year. The people are very tenacious of

the management and regulation of their internal affairs.

There are about 2000 professors of the Christian religion, consisting of

Baptists, Methodists, and Presbyterians : the former, comprising much the

largest jlase, may be considered the first both for intelligence and general
integrity. The greater part of the Cherokee people are half-breeds, or
what are known to be the middle class, who are ardent and enterprising, and
passionately fond of gaming. When not under the influence of ardent spirits,

they are hospitable and well disposed ; but, when under such influence, their

worst passions seem to be roused. They have a school fund of their own,
which they are wisely appropriating to the difi'usion of knowledge throughout
the nation, by appointing trustees to superintend the disbursements.
The Cherokees are not naturally disposed to labor ; but there is a manifest

change in this particular, both from necessity and inclination, and they are
now engaged in agricultural pursuits. Their country is well watered, and
supplies abundantly all the products known to that latitude, such as corn,

wheat, rye, oats, tobacco, and hemp. Within the limits of the nation, tiiere

are two abundant and valuable salt springs ; one of them is leased to a
Cherokee for an inconsiderable sum, but is not worked to much advantage,
either to the proprietor or the nation. Stone coal of the finest quality abounds
in two adjacent sections.

The Cherokees have received from the Government of the United States

large sums of money ; some have profited by the money received, while others
have lavished theirs away, leaving only a desire to be supplied, without any
disposition to do so by their own labor. Their country is well adapted to

raising corn, wheat, oats, &c., with the usual varieties of garden vegetables,

and farms, as well as neat houses, are found in many parts of the nation,

exhibiting signs of wealth and intelligence unusual in an Indian country. A
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large portion of the country is well watered, is generally divided into wood-
land and prairie, and the lands are rich and very productive. Large stocks
of cattle, horses, hogs, and sheep, are owned by the natives, and many have
also paid attention to planting orchards, which are very unusual in an Indian
country. Salt water is found in great abundance, and the Grand Saline, if

judiciously managed, is capable of supplying a large portion of our own
population with salt. Stone coal is to be found in several places, and if the
country was examined, it would, no doubt, exhibit great resources of wealth
in minerals and salt water.

They are furnished by the United States with four blacksmiths and assist-

ants, iron, and steel; also, a wheelwright and wagon-maker ; independent of
whom they have mechanics of different kinds in the nation. They also hold
a large fund for educational purposes, placed by treaty under the control of

the national council, which, if properly applied, will go far to educate a large
portion of the people. They are governed by a constitution and laws adopted
and passed by the people. Debts are collected in the usual way, by issuing
executions ; letters of administration are also granted on estates of deceased
persons in the nation ; and, indeed, all the forms and regulations are ob-
served, usually in use in the States. In government the Cherokees are in

advance of any of their red brethren.

Creeks.—These are more numerous than any of the tribes, numbering at least

20,000. The census of the nation has not been taken since the emigration,
the annuity not being paid to the heads of families. As a people, they have
less education and intelligence than either the Choctaws or Cherokees ; but
lately they have given better evidences of a disposition to encourage education
than at any previous time. Many of the Creeks have separate fields ; but
their ancient custom of making a town field is still, to a great extent, observed.
They raise large quantities of corn, melons, pumpkins, beans, and are culti-

.

vating rice to some extent, which is said to grow well, and will be a great
accession to their living. They have four blacksmiths and assistants, with
iron and steel furnished by treaty stipulations, and also a wheelwright and
wagon-maker. Possessing but few, if any, native mechanics, they rely mainly
for their work upon mechanics furnished by the Government. They have
quite a large annuity, which is paid to the chiefs, and by them divided
among the different towns, in accordance with existing laws, and their

own request, which at least makes it satisfactory to the chiefs. They have
commenced passing regular laws, which are recorded by the clerks appointed
for that purpose ; but they do not elect representatives, their chiefs being the
law-makers generally. The principal chief. Roily M'Intosh, is a man of un-
doubted attachment to the United States Government, and the same may be
said of most of the chiefs. The certainty that the country they own is really

theirs, does much to reconcile old feelings.

The late emigrants, or what are termed the Upper Creeks, although very
much dissatisfied for a length of time after their removal to their new homes,
owing mainly to their sufferings from sickness, and the great mortality that
prevailed among them, are now a happy, healthy, and contented people, are
much in advance of the Lower Creeks (or early emigrants) in the variety,

quality, and quantity of their agricultural products, as well as in the man-
agement of their farms, and have larger and better stocks of domestic
animals. They are likewise much in advance of the Lower Creeks in domestic
or household manufactures, making quantities of cotton cloth from the raw
material, planted and cultivated upon their own farms ; have also several
useful native mechanics among them, such as carpenters, wheelwrights,
loom-makers, smiths, &c. ; and all reside in good comfortable houses of their

own construction.

Seminoles.—This tribe have from time to time removed, until it is now under-
stood they have generally emigrated. Unfortunately for the Seminoles, the
chief of each party, as they landed at or near Fort Gibson, endeavored to settle

away from the others. This was done by the chiefs, with the hope of keeping
around tht-m a party of which they were the head, fearing that if they become
united, some other more favored leader would supersede them, and by this

means they were scattered not only in the Creek but also in the Cherokee
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country. Micanopy, and other leading Seminoles, settled on t'" P ii'ork

of the Canadian, in the country assigned them. Efforts hav be CJ made
to concentrate the Seminoles at this point ; but this is difiScult to do, and does
not meet with much favor from the Creeks. They are willing for them to

settle in a-ny part of the Creek nation promiscuously, giving as a reason that

the Seminoles themselves are not suited, from their present feelings, to locate

in a body, and become quiet and orderly neighbors. That portion of the

Seminoles who settled on the Deep Fork of the Canadian have raised a
surplus of corn, beans, pumpkins, and melons, all of which grow to great

perfection, and a few have raised small patches of rice. The labor, however,
is principally performed by their negroes, who were participants in the Florida

war, but who have thus far conducted themselves with great propriety.

Whatever may have been the importance or distinction of the Seminole
chiefs in Florida, they seem to lose their greatness in the crowd of other
Indians who are engaged in the cultivation of the soil.

The twenty-one tribes transferred from the old States and settled in the

territory partially included in Kansas, comprise the Delawares, Shawnees,
Wyandots, Miamies, Weas, Piankashaws, Ottowas, Chippewas, Pottawattamies,
Kickapoos, Sacs and Foxes, Senecas, mixed Senecas and Shawnees, Peorias
Kaskaskias, lowas, Stockbi'idges or Mohicans, Munsees, and portions of the

Iroquois, forming together an aggregate population of 30,893. The indi-

genous tribes residing in the territory are the Quappas, Osages, Kanzas,
Pawnees, and Arapahoes, numbering 7358. The Otoes, Omahaws, Missouries,

Cheyennes, and some other indigenous tribes, have not been enumerated.*
The local agents, writing to the head of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, a short

time after the period of colonization, present a report of the condition of the

Indians under their jurisdiction, from which we make a few extracts.

Quappas.— This tribe have greatly changed their habits within a few
years ; from having been a whiskey-drinking, squalid, poverty-stricken race,

they have become temperate, frugal, and industrious, directing their attention

to agriculture, and to the general improvement of their condition. They are

now well clothed, and have enough to eat. This change is in part owing to

the fact, that the venders of spirits in the Cherokee settlements north of the

Quappas, whence their supplies were principally drawn, have abandoned the

trade, in consequence of the opposition of some of their more respectable

neighbors. A great deal of credit is, however, due to the Quappas them-
selves, for they could, if so disposed, procure liquor from the whites; but

they have listened to better counsels, and resisted the temptation.

Mixed Senecas and Shawnees.— These Indians have never been as mucli

inclined to intemperance as some of the other bands, and there has not been
so great a change among them. They continue to raise corn, wheat, oats,

garden vegetables, &c., and, on the whole, are improving rather than
otherwise.

The country occupied by these tribes is high, rolling, healthy, and finely

watered ; containing springs of the best water in every direction, sometimes
gushing out of the solid rock in streams large enough to turn a mill. Where
it is fit for (Cultivation at all, the land is fertile; but much of it is hilly and
barren, worthless except for the timber. The lands on the water-courses are

of the best quality, well suited to the cultivation of tobacco, hemp, corn, and
the small grains, and the upland prairies are scarcely inferior ; but there is

a much greater quantity of good land than the present occupants will ever

use. The heavily-timbered bottoms on the Pomme de Terre and the Neosho
afford not only good winter range for cattle, but an abundance of marsh for

hogs. The Quappas have a coal-bank immediately on the Neosho, the coal in

which is bituminous, of good quality, easily obtained, and the supply appa-
rently inexhaustible. In the vicinity of this coal there are several tar-springs.

or rather springs of sulphur-water and mineral tar, or petroleum, together

;

the latter substance rising with the water, and separating from it immediately
after it issues from the earth.

Osages. — This tribe has made but little perceptible improvement in agri-

• History, (.'onditioD, and Prospect* of the Indian Tribes. Vol. VI.
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cultural pursuits, though some ten or twelve families of Pa-ha-sca's (George
White Hare) and Clermont's bands, have lately fenced and ploughed their

fields. They are still living, with few exceptions, in large towns, where it

will be impossible to make much progress in stock-raising or farming ; Tab-
hu-sca, the principal chief, and a bad man, being much opposed to the farming
operations of his people. They have adopted a short code of penal laws for

the government of their people, which forbid, not the introduction, but the

sale, of ardent spirits in their country, under the penalty of the destruction

of the spirits, and lashes on the offender. The people meet in general council

once in each and every year, assisted by their agent and interpreter, for the

purpose of law-making, &c.

Shawnees.— This tribe own a tract of country twenty-five miles north and
south, and one hundred east and west, bounded on the east by the State of

Missouri, and on the north by the Kanzas river, which, in point of soil,

timber, and water, is equalled by but few tracts of the same size in any
country ; though there is, however, hardly a sufficient proportion of timber for

the prairie. The Shawnees have become an agricultural people ; their buildings

and farms being similar to those of the whites in a new-settled country

;

enclosed by rail fences, and most of them in good form; each string of fence

being straight, sufficiently high to secure their crops, and many of them
staked and ridered. They all live in comfortable cabins, perhaps half or

more being built of good hewn logs, and neatly raised, with outhouses, stables,

and barns.

Delawares.— The Delawares own a tract of country sixty miles east and
west, and about twenty-four miles north and south, bounded on the south by
the Kanzas river, and on the east by the Missouri river, or State of Missouri.

The soil, timber, and water, are generally very good. Like the Shawnees,
they depend for a subsistence mainly on their farms, which, with their horses,

are nearly or quite equal to those of the Shawnees. They cultivate Indian
corn, wheat, oats, beans, peas, pumpkins, potatoes, cabbage, turnips, and
many other vegetables in abundance, and raise a great number of horses,

cattle, and hogs.

Kickapoos.— The Kickapoos own a tract of country immediately north of

the Delawares, about sixty miles east and west, by thirty north and south,

bounded on the east by the Missouri river, or State of Missouri, and on the

south by the Delaware country. They raise a large surplus of Indian corn;
also beef and pork for sale.

Stockhridges.— By permission, this little band of Stockbridges settled on
the Delaware lands, near the Missouri river, and about seven miles below
Fort Leavenworth, some time in February, 1840, since when they have built

for themselves a number of neat log cabins, opened several small farms, and
raise more Indian corn than they need for their own use. They grow pump-
kins, beans, peas, cabbage, potatoes, and many other vegetables, and have
made good root-houses to preserve them ; all of which they have effected with
very little means.

Christian Indians. — The Christian Indians came with, and at the same
time as the Stockbridges, settled among the Delawares, built comfortable little

cabins, and made small farms.

Kanzas.— The Kanzas Indians, located on the Kanzas river, about eighty
miles above its mouth, make many excuses for not turning their attention to

agricultural pursuits ; the principal one being, that they are afraid to work,
for fear the Pawnees will come on them and kill them all off. They raise but

little grain, in fact, not enough to subsist them ; and their only dependence
for a subsistence is on the buffalo, and what few deer and turkeys they can
kill. They follow the chase.

Ottoes and Missonrias.— These Indians are in a most deplorable situation,

notwithstanding they have had the assistance of the Government extended to

them for many years, and that, during certain periods they bid fair to follow

the example of some of their more advanced red brethren of the west in the

pursuits of agriculture and civilization—having been furnished with teachers,

blacksmiths, and farmers, for these purposes; but the evil spirit found its

way, through various channels, into their lodges, and generated among them
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discontent, jealousy and strife, which eventually terminated in butchery and
bloodshed. This state of things produced in their minds a settled prejudice

against the spot which they then occupied, on the north side of the river

Platte, under the impression that an evil spirit hovered over and around
them ; and, acting under this belief, they, in a moment of drunkenness and
riot, set fire to their village, which was soon reduced to ashes. Their farm,
which was located contiguous to the village, suffered a similar fate ; the

greater part of the fences having been torn down and burnt, and the whole
is now lying waste and uncultivated. They have totally abandoned this ill-

fated spot, and settled, rather temporarily, in various lodges or villages on
the south side of the River Platte. The village of the Missoui-ias stands on
the prairie, on the bank of the river, while the Ottoe villages, four in number,
are located a short distance from the river, between a point five miles above
its mouth, and one eighteen miles higher up.

Oniahas.— These Indians follow the chase as usual, and claim the country
bounded by the Missouri river on the east, by Shell creek on the west, by the

River Platte on the south, and on the north by the Poncas country. The
Elkhorn, which runs in a southerly direction and empties into the Platte about
twenty miles above its mouth, is the largest stream which passes through
their territory. Their favorite village once stood near the Missouri river, and
about one hundred miles above Fort Leavenworth ; but several years since

they were driven from this location by the Sioux, and since then have settled

temporarily on the Elkhorn, where they now suffer from extreme indigence,

not using even ordinary savage exertion in the culture of corn.

Pawnees.— The four principal chiefs, with a number of their respective

bands, have removed to their new homes on the Loup fork of the Platte.

They generally evince a peaceable and friendly disposition, though they have
an unsettled difficulty with the Ottoes, growing out of murders heretofore

committed by the latter on some of their people.

Kaskaskias, Weas, PiankasJiatvs, and Pottaivaitamies.— These tribes have
made but little change in their condition ; owning some cattle and hogs,

work-oxen, farming utensils, &c., and depending entirely on agricultural pur-

suits for a subsistence ; though if it were not for the ruinous practice pursued
by those lawless individuals who are settled immediately on the line of the

State of Missouri, and, in violation of the State laws, furnish them with
whiskey, their improvement would be rapid.

Ottowas. — This people is still advancing in agricultural pursuits ; they

may be said to have entirely abandoned the chase ; all of them live in good,

comfortable log cabins ; have fields enclosed with rail-fences ; and own
domestic animals. Out of their annuity they have erected a good horse-mill

;

many of them are sowing wheat, and ere long they will raise grain enough
to supply themselves with flour and meal for their own consumption.

lowas.— This tribe is located on the waters of the Namaha, a tributary of

the Missoui'i, and their principal village is situated one mile above the mouth
of the Great Namaha. These Indians are much given to intemperance, and
while under the influence of liquor act very ill toward each other, as well as

toward the whites.

Sacs and Foxes.—These Indians are a proud, independent people, pursuing
the chase during the hunting season. They are not so much given to intem-

perance as the lowas, and entertain much more respect and love for the white

man than do the latter ; frequently boasting of their friendship to the whites,

and their peaceable disposition toward their red brothers.

Some years, later, the chief officer of the Indian Bureau at Washington,
makes use of the following language, after having visited personally the

colonized tribes

:

" The condition of the Indians located west of Missouri and Iowa is not as

pi'osperous, or their advance in civilization as rapid, as the official reports

annually received from that part of the country would authorize us to expect.

In several tribes are to be found some educated, intelligent men ; and many
are able, by the cultivation of the earth, to subsist themselves. Among these

classes there are some sincere professors of religion ; but the mass of the
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Indians are indolent and intemperate, and many of them are degraded and
debased.

'
' The transplanting of these Indians, and the dedication of their present

country to their use, and for their future home, was an emanation of the

purest benevolence, and the dictate of humanity. Vast sums of money have
been expended by the Government for the sustenance, comfort, and civiliza-

tion of these unfortunate people, and the missionary has occupied that field

of labor long and faithfully ; but, notwithstanding all that has been done by
the Government and good men, the experiment has measurably failed.

Located generally on large tracts of land, separated into small and distinct

bands, roaming at will, and wandering in idleness, tlie mass of these tribes

are in a degraded state, with no hope of a considerable degree of reformation

(even with such improvements as are practicable in their present manage-
ment), without a change of residence."

APPENDIX.
But little change occurred in the status of the various Indian tribes until

the discovery of gold in California. Then, the migration of Americans to

that rich country brought the men in transit over the plains and the moun-
tains right in contact with several powerful tribes, of whom little had been

popularly known.
Before reverting to the annals of any of these tribes, we will follow the

fortunes of the Cherokees, and other partially civilized tribes.

The troubles breaking out upon the election of President Lincoln placed

the Cherokees and their affiliated tribes in a very peculiar and distressing

situation. The lands which they occupied were surrouuded by slave States,

most of which were actually or sympathetically in alliance with the Confed-

erate government. Some of the most prosperous and influential of those

Indians were themselves the owners of black slaves, and the active agents of

the Southern Confederacy lost no opportunity of impressing upon the Indians

that it was the object Of the United States to release all slaves. A large

number of the Indians accordingly threw in their lot with the Southerners.

A powerful minority, however, struggled hard to retain their fellow-country-

men in loyalty to the Union. Among the latter was the principal chief, John
Ross. But in spite of all the powerful arguments of Ross and other loyal

Indians, first the Choctaws, then the Chickasaws, and finally the Cherokees,

enlisted under the Confederates. The wife of Ross was the last person who
yielded to the Secession torrent, and she, personally, prevented the Confederate

fiag from being hoisted over the Council House. These Indians contributed

several regiments toward the Southern quota, but, as ever with their peo-

ple, failed to make any great mark upon battle-fields where regular

military organization prevails. It must be said in their favor, that at the

outset of the war the United States was unable to give those tribes any kind

of physical support, and they only saw a probability that all their lands,

crops, dwellings, and slaves would be confiscated by the then victorious

Southerners. At the end of the war these tribes resumed their former

relation to the general government.
The annexed will be found a reliable statement of the present condition

of the following named tribes :

The Delewares have a reservation in Kansas. They number about 1,000,

and each individual has a personal property of at least .$1,000. The bulk of

these people have taken kindly to civilization. Many of them are thrifty

farmers, while others are traders in cattle and goods, dealing with Indians

and whites on the prairies and mountains.
The Missouri lowas devote themselves almost entirely to agriculture ;

reverting to hunting only as a pastime. They number something over 300,

and have quite a large sum secured to each individual.

The Kicapoos have at times been on the verge of starvation. But they
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took diligently to farming ; raising wheat and other food. They have a
reserve fund of $40,000 among 350 of them.

The Omahas are among tlie most prosperous of the Indians. They have
fine farms, on which they cultivate corn, wheat, and sorghum. They have
also extensive pasture lands. They have a regular police force, and give
much attention to schools.

The Pottawatomies have some 30 miles square of property belonging to
them, in a fine healthy situation, on the Kansas river. They number more
than 4,000 souls, and are prosperous. They have not entirely abandoned the
chase. Schools and churches are tiourishing.

The Sacs and Foxes, once a most powerful and warlike tribe, still cling
to the garb and many of the primitive usages of their race. They number
over 1,300 individuals, and eke out their subsistence by annually hunting tin?

buffalo and depending upon the yearly sums paid them by the government.
The Shawnees, always an intelligent people, number nearly 1,000. The

property held by the tribe is estimated to be worth about two millions of
dollars. They appear to be progressively improving in all the best points of
civilized life.

The Winnibagoes number about 2,200, and have property worth at leafifc

$70,000. Each family has a farm of 80 acres ; each male unmarried, 40
acres.

One band of the Sioux, the Yanctounnais, have always been fierce and
untamable, preferrring to continue their roving habits. This section of
the Sioux amount to nearly 4,000, and yield very reluctantly to any proffer.s

from the government looking to the sale of their lands.

Another large party of the Sioux take kindly to a more civilized state of
existence, cultivate farms and assume many of the ways of the whites,
dwelling in houses and dressing in the fashion of the neighboring whites.
The Sioux proper are calculated to be little short of 7,000. Their wealth is

counted largely in horses and cattle.

THE SIOUX WAR.

A large force of Indians, composed in the main part of Sioux, with an
addition of many wandering portions of other warlike tribes, had located
themselves in a very advantageous position upon the Big Little Horn river,

in the Yellowstone country, in the year 1876. On the 25th of May, of that
year, General Custer, who had greatly distinguished himself as a cavalry
officer during the civil war, was ordered by his superiors to hunt up and
attaclv this Indian force. The situation of the savages was not at all well
known, and the customary scouting does not appear to have been done. The
sad result of this neglect we know too well—the immediate particulars of the
action we know only by surmise. Tlie gallant Custer, in this instance,
instead of surprising, was himself surprised. Hiding at the head of five hun-
dred as brave men as ever bestrode a war-horse, he rushed right into a deathly
vortex. The soldiers, to a man, were shot, brained, or stabbed. Not one
individual remained alive to rehearse the dreadful scene. Dumb evidence
enough remained to inform spectators of the bloody field that the heroic
Custer, and his no less heroic officers and soldiers, fought bravely, and only
fell before the onslaught of the Indians, who greatly outnumbered them.
A wily Sioux chief, with the strange name of Sitting Bull, is presumed to

have been the leader of the Indians. While this fight with Custer was going
on, the Sioux, either by extraordinary luck for them, or most wonderful
.strategy, contrived to find employment for two or three other detachments of
cavalry, so that they could not come to Custer's aid. The prudence of Major
Reno, and the fortunate arrival of General Terry, possibly saved the rest of
the expedition from the same fate.

Apart from the fatal rencontre with Sitting Bull, the Sioux had several
other encounters with United States troops, Avhich resulted in a different man-
ner. General Crook, who commanded about 2,000 men, during eight months
of 1876, marched over 3,000 miles, in a very rough country. During this

campaign, Croolv's force killed and captured over 700 Indians, wounded 500,
and destroyed 400 lodges, which sheltered at least 3,000 persons.

Under the leadership of Sitting Bull, the Indians managed to elude all
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plans laid to prevent their escape, and contrived, with little loss, to get across
the line into the neighboring British possessions. Here they have since
remained. So far they have scornfully rejected all offers made by our gov-
ernment for their return to our jurisdiction. It is but justice to remark
that the Canadian government and our own are in perfect accord upon this

subject, the former having given the Indians peremptory orders to remain
T)eaceful, and not attempt to make any raids across the border.

The Cheyennes and Arapahoes, ranging between the upper Arkansas,
Texas, and Colorado, are a very bold, warlike people.

The Pah- Qte tribe, occupying a part of Nevada Territory, during the
war prevented any interruption with the coach and telegraph service. They
might have given us a great deal of trouble had they struck at these import-
ant lines of communication and travel.

The Washoe Indians have not the least aspirations toward a better mode
of life. They look to the natural, unartificial products of the soil and various
insects to enable them to drag out their ill-fed existence.

The Navajoes and Apaches, who live in New Mexico, are seldom really

at peace with our people. They are a martial race, admirable horsemen,
skillful in the use of arms. They frequently make incursions upon the
defenceless villages of Mexico, often recrossing the border with much spoil

and many captives. These two tribes, together, it is estimated by the best

authorities, count about 20,000.

The Pueblos and Mohuache Utahs are not so savage in their nature, and
during our late war evidenced, by word and deed, a friendly feeling toward
us. These two tribes united fall little short of 30,COO individuals.

The Utah Indians originally numbered at least 17,000 people. The
Mormons are accused of having used these Indians to make depredations
upon the whites opposed to their peculiar tenets.

The California Indians, in spite of the self-sacrificing missions long kept
up by the first Spanish settlers, have failed to make anything like satisfac-

tory advances in civilization. They are a poor, degraded specimen of the
Indian race, proving that something else is needed to elevate man than a
fertile .soil and a glorious climate.

THE MODOCS AND THE MODOC WAR,

In the year 1867, the Modocs, a small, but brave tribe, living on the
boundaries between California and Oregon, began to give much trouble to

the settlers. Their hostile speeches and movements, however, excited but
little apprehension, as they were not deemed any way formidable, on account
of the pancity of tlieir numbers.

One Modoc Jack acquired ]>opulariTy with his tribe by his wisdom iu

council and by his rash bravery in the field.

The Modocs resided on Lost River.

The chief was Schonches ; and although his father had been shot and
killed by the whites—in which respect he resembled Modoc Jack—yet he was
willing to lead a quiet life.

Troubles between the Indians and the whites became quite common.
The whites continued to settle the country in the region of Lost River, near
the boundary of Upper California and Oregon, until a disposition prevailed

to send the Indians to a reservation. The Indian Commissioner, about the
year 1864, made an effort to get the Modocs upon the Yinax reservation on
Martin River, in Oregon, fifty miles north of Lost River.

This at once raised up two parties among the Modocs—Schonches, the
chief, being in favor of going to the reservation, while Jack opposed it.

Jack exhorted the Modocs to resist the palefaces, until he fired them with
enthusiasm.

Finally, after a great deal of talk, Schonches consented to go to the reser

vation, and he set out with about thirty warriors, with their squaws and
pappooees.

The rest of the tribe remained, intending to fight it out with the whites

to the last, and these chose Jack for chief. Then it was that Jack drew
upon himself the notice of the whites: his fame began to be carried abroad.

Captain Jack was a stem, dignified man.
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Besides Jack were several other noted characters, who united with him
in opposing the encroachments of the palefaces. Among these were Scar-
faced Charley, the next noted one of the tribe. Shack Nasty Jim, a young-
ster of not over twenty or twenty-two. Hocker Jim, though quite young,
looked as if he could be guilty of anything.

When it was found that Jack was placed at the head of the Modocs,
great efforts were made to prevail upon him and the rest of the tribe to

remove to the reservation where Schonches had gone, but Jack and others only
went to examine the place. They expressed their preference for the plenti-

ful supply of fish in Lost River ; and so they went back to their old home.
But the troubles continued. The borderers hated the Indians, and they

made no secret of it, while, on the other hand, the Indians regarded the
borderers as interlopers on their domain.

In the fall of 1867, Mr. Lindsay Applegate induced Captain Jack and his

band to accept the hospitality of Uncle Sam, and they consequently moved
up to Yinax reservation. They remained there until January, and then
returned to their quarters on Lost River. The Modocs since that time lived

in this locality.

The first treaty was made with Ike, an Indian, who claimed the right

over that section of the country. A second treaty was made with Big Jack,
and finally a third with Captain Jack, Schonches and others. A consideration

was paid the Indians on each occasion. Mr. Odincal, the present Indian Com-
missioner, annoyed by the perpetual complaints of Oregon settlers, deter-

mined to remove the Modoc Indians to Yinax reservation. A combined
movement was consequently made on Thanksgiving Day. There was a brisk

fight between the United States troops and Captain Jack's band, in which
upward of fifty Indians and several soldiers were killed, and many wounded.
In the meantime the settlers had nearly prevailed on the Curly-headed
Doctor's band to go to the reservation, as they stated that Captain Jack's party
had surrendered ; but hearing the firing on the other side of the river, they
refused to go, and presently both sides began firing. The citizens finally

retreated, leaving one of their party dead on the field, and the Indians state

the whites killed a squaw and two pappooses in the fight. This party then
broke loose over the country and murdered some twelve or thirteen white
settlers, and then going round the northern end of Tule or Rhett Lake,
joined Captain Jack in the Lava Beds. Captain Jack and his party had
retreated there immediately after their fight with the soldiers, but kept on
the California side of the river, and went into the Lava Beds from the south
ern side. They did not murder any citizens on their retreat, and, in fact,

told a settler named Samuel Watson to go home, as they only wanted to fight

with soldiers, not settlers.

The Indians all started off one night and joined Captain Jack in the Lava
Beds, reinforcing his command. Captain Jack refused to go back to the

reservation. The principal Peace Commissioners sent to the Modocs
were Mr. Meachara, Rev. Dr. Thomas, and Mr. Dyer. The labors of these

Peace Commissioners proved abortive, and Cai^tain Jack persisted in remain-
ing with his tribe, in the Lava Beds.

These Lava Beds present a strange appearance. If one could imagine a
smooth, solid sheet of granite, ten miles square and five hundred feet thick,

covering resistless mines of gunpowder scattered at irregular intervals under
it—that these mines are exploded simultaneously, rending the whole field

into rectangular masses from the size of a matchbox to that of a church,
heaping the masses high in some places and leaving deep chasms in others.

Following the explosion, the whole thing is placed in one of Vulcan's cruci-

bles and heated up to a point where the whole begins to fuse and run togeth-

er, and then suffered to cool. The roughness of the upper surface remains
as the explosion left it, while all below is honeycombed by the crevices

caused by the cooling of the melted rock.

From the top of one of these stone pyramids an Indian can shoot a man
without even exposing a square inch of himself.

The country along the line separating California from Oregon, in which
the lava beds are situated, has been the tlieatre of military operations against

the Indians at different times during the past twenty years. It has been

traversed by emigrants who settled in the neighborhoo'' and it is wel I and
favorably known as a cattle range.
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The Lava Beds cover au area of 100 square miles. They appear to
have been brought into existence by upheavals from below. The largest
cave is known as Ben Wright's cave. It contains fifteen acres of open space
under ground, in which there is a good spring and many openings through
which a man can crawl, the main entrance being about the size of a common
window. In this cave Jack and his followers fortified themselves.

In the Lava Beds, are a number of small plots abundantly supplied with
bunch grass.

The troops were well posted, so as to prevent the Indians escaping. Their
only line of retreat would seem to be in a southerly direction into the Pitt
River Mountains. The tribes in that quarter are of a warlike character, and
have given the government considerable trouble in times past. In 1858 and
1859 their ambushes were so effective and their manner of warfare so advan-
tageous that at first very little progress was made in reducing them to sub-
mission.

The troops, in pursuing the Modocs, had to follow them on foot, and in
passing through the gulches and crevices must expect to find the enemy on
the high bluffs above them at every point, or making their way through con-
cealed passages to secure retreat. The cannon and howitzer commanded all
approaches to and from the cave.

The peculiar geological features of the lake country in California
resemble the county Antrim, in Ireland, in which is located the celebrated
Giant's Causeway.

In this delightful country Jack lived like an Italian bandit.
Our allies, the Warm Spring Indians, are a band of friendly Indians

brought from the Warm Springs reserve in Oregon, and were entrusted
with an important duty. They acted as scouts and also to intercept
any movement of the Modocs to escape in a southerly direction.
These Indians are known as the confederated bands in Middle Oregon, and
comprise seven of the Walla Wallas, Wacos, Teninoz and Deschutes tribes,
numbering 626 men, women and children. Their leader, Donald McKenzie,
no doubt a half-breed, was well acquainted with the mode of warfare Jack
and his party adopted. The Warm Springs reservation contains over a mil-
lion acres, located in the central part of the State, and the tract of countrv is

such that nobody wants it. The tillable portion occupied by the Indians con-
sists of five hundred acres, and though even this portion is not very good land,
many of the families, by reason of their industry, have succeeded measurably
in their farming operations, and are considered self-sustaining.

The trouble with the Modoc Indians commenced as far back as 1872. At
that time the Modocs were prowling around Lost River, on the banks of which
romantic stream they had their camp. They were great cattle thieves, and
annoyed the Oregonian settlers terribly, and occasionally a settler would Idll
a Modoc, or vice versa.

The government finally came to the conclusion to put the Modocs in the Kla-
math reservation. They were informed of this action of their Great Father
at Washington, but they positively refused to go. They wanted to stay where
they were.

When the government was told of the Modoc stand, it was decided to use
force, as long as moral suasion didn't work.

So on the 28th day of November, 1872, Major Jackson, of Company B,
First Cavalry, with thirty-five men, moved on their camp at Lost River.

The Modocs were a band of seventy-five, armed with Springfield rifles,

revolvers and bowie knives.

A fight took place at Lost River, which resulted in a victory for the
United States over the Modoc nation.

Captain Jack lost fifteen braves, and Uncle Sam lost one soldier. After
the fighting Jack, his band, squaws and jiappooses retreated to the Lava
Beds.

Skirmishing was kept up from that time until January.
Tlie government of the United States sent a Peace Commission, com-

pasedof Mr. A. B. Meacham, Jesse Applegate, Samuel Chase, and Oliver Apple-
gate, Indian Agent at Yinax, as clerk, which met at Fairchild's ranche about
the middle of February, 1873. Mr. Steele and Mr. Fairchild, both old settlers,

were engaged to assist them in their negotiations with Captain Jack.
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After much unsatisfactory discussion in council the following terms wei-e

offered to the Modocs through Mr. Steele :

Mrst—To surrender to General Canby and receive full amnesty for the

past.

Second—To be removed to Angel Island, where they are to l>e fed with

soldiers' allowance and clothed until a new home can be provided for them
and they are able to support themselves in it.

Third—To be furnished by General Canby with transportation for their

women and children to the island, and thence to their new home, perhaps in

Arizona.
Fourth—General Canby is of the opinion that he can promise that Jack

and some of his head men should go to visit the President, and that the

President will permit them to select for themselves a new home in a warmer
climate.

They had a long talk over the matter; but from the first evinced a

marked dislike to leaving the home of their forefathers, and finally sent back

word by Mr. Steele that they would only live in their own country.

General Canby was opposed to granting the claims of the Modocs, and

gave the following reasons :

Jpifst—They cannot live there without stealing, as their country i)roduce8

nothing for their support.

Second— If the government intends to feed them it will cost 200 per cent,

more in the Lava beds than on any other reservation of a more appropriate

nature.

Third—The country will be perpetually disturbed by quarrels Ijetween

the Oregon settlers and the Indians; and
Fourth—Such acquiescence to all their wishes, after the United States

troops had received a whipping, would be an encouragement to the Snakes

and Pitnes, already disaffected, to make war and demand their own terms.

The second Commission, composed of Meacham, Judge Roseborough, Mr.

Thomas, and Mr. Dyar, was as unsuccessful as the previous one. Several

interviews were held with the Indians, and Mr. Meacham sent a dispatch to

Washington, in which he stated the principal impediment to peace negotia-

tions was the fear that the Indians indicted by the Jackson County Grand Jury

would be given up for punishment.

There were at this time about six hundred United States troops in the

neio-hborliood, stationed in different detachments. General Canby, com-

mander of the district of the Pacific, and the United States Peace Commis-

.sioners, used every means in their power to arrange peace with the Modocs.

In their efforts in this direction they were not aided by the Governor of

Oregon, who strongly protested against a peace. The Governor was in favor

of a war of extermination against the savages. Captain Jack, among other

audacious acts, burned a log hut in view of the troops. A message was sent

to the Indians stating that the President of the United States, General Grant,

had heard about the war and was very sorry his children were fighting.

The Modocs refused all offers of peace, and the Commission proved a

total failure. A. B. Meacham, of the Commission, telegraphed these facts to

Washington.
On the 20th of March, 1873, it was decided to surround the Indian CAUip,

and reinforcements were ordered to the Lava Beds.

About the first of April there was a conference with the Modocs, which

lasted several hours, and, at the request of Captain Jack, only Judge Rose-

borough, Mr. Meacham, and Mr. John Fairchild were present. There were

ten or twelve of the leading Modocs with Captain Jack. Judge Roseborough

commenced the talk by explaining to the Indians the position they were in,

and how he had come from Yreka to try and make peace. Captain Jack

and John Schonchin, in reply, reiterated their determination to remain where

they were. They gave up the claim to Lost River, and said they would be

satisfied to remain in the Lava Beds.

The U. S. cavalry then commenced reconnoitering with a view to active

aggressive movements. The Indians said they would have " no more talk."

Captain Jack was very defiant.

The Indians built rock fortifications and otherwise prepared themselve.s

for a desperate resistance. The U. S. troops were held in readiness to move
on the Lava Beds in force.
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General Canby, Mr. Meacliam and Dr. Thomas paid a visit to the Indian
chiefs. General Edward Richard Spigg Canby of the United States Army
was born in Kentucky in the year 1819. He graduated at West Point in 1839
and served in the Florida war from that year to 1842, and was made Assist-

ant Adjutant-General with the rank of Captain, March 3, 1847, and was dis-

tinguished at Cerro Gordo. He was appointed Brigadier-General U. S. Army,
July 28, 1866. During the reconstruction campaign he commanded succes-
sively the Fifth and First Military Districts, and was finally in command of
the department of Columbia, with headquarters at Portland, Oregon.

Mr. Meacham is a prominent citizen in Oregon, and a friend of Attorney-
General Williams, at whose suggestion he was appointed one of the Peace
Commissioners to visit the Modocs and see if some arrangement could not be
made by which a war with this band could be averted.

Rev. Eleazar Thomas, D. D., of the California Conference, was the Pre-
siding Elder of the Methodist Church in the Petaluma Circuit, State of Cal-

ifornia.

In the latter part of March the prospect of peace with the Modoc
Indians was not very promising, as they appeared to grow more independent
every day, and consequently more grasping in their demands.

As General Canby,was evidently getting rather tired of peace manipula-
tions the troops would soon be moved into position surrounding the Lava
Beds, and then some aggressive movement would be made in order to impress
the Modocs with an idea of the number of soldiers that could be brought
against them.

General Canby now received a message from the Indians, that Captain
Jack and Schonchin would talk with Generals Canby and Gillem at tlie

juniper tree, half way between the foot of the bluffs and their present
position. Jack did not show any very great eagerness for an interview, and
thought Gen. Canby had better come where he was. But, when two host-

ages were left behind, he seemed better satisfied and started to meet the
Generals, acccompanied by Scar-Faced Charley, Steamboat Frank, the Curly-
Headed Doctor, and three others.

The interview took place. Captain Jack was not very well satisfied with
it; he said that he wanted peace, and the interview proved abortive.

Such was the state of affairs when the Modocs pretended they were
going to remove to the reservation. A day was appointed and agreed to for

the surrender to take place. Wagons were sent by the Commissioners to

convey Captain Jack's baggage over the rough ground; but no signs of the
Indians were discoverable. Days passed, and at length an Indian appeared,
who complained that Captain Jack and his fellows were fearful of the troops,

and that they wanted to go to their old Lost River Reservation. Tlie troops
under General Canby now moved forward again and commenced to encircle

the savages in their fortress. The circle was drawn gradually closer, and
vlie Indians again professed a desire for peace conferences. They saw the
troops drawing closer and closer, and now set up a new demand. They
objected altogether to leaving the lava beds, and wanted the troops sent
away. Notwithstanding this preposterous demand the Peace Commissioners
listened to the palaver of the braves. Several interviews took place.

The Commissioners, together with General Canby, had labored hopefully,
and had apparently gained several points over the Indians looking to a
peaceful solution of this question.

For some time, all the Modoc schemes of treachery had been thwarted
through the fidelity of the interpreter, Mrs. Riddle, who was a Modoc woman.
Terms were agreed on for a meeting which were satisfactory to Dr. Thomas
and Gen. Canby, but not to Mr. Meacham or Mr. Dyar, or to Mrs. Riddle,
who expressed her apprehensions that mischief was breeding in the Modoc
camp. But Gen Canby said that the Modocs dared not molest them, as his

forces commanded the situation, and Dr. Thomas declared that where God
called him to go, lie would go, trusting to His care.

On the afternoon of April 10th, 1873, five Indians and four squaws came
into the camp and were made presents of clothing and provisions by the
Peace Commissioners, and a message was sent out by the Commissioners a.sk-

ing for a talk next morning at a point about a mile from the picket line.

Later in the evening Bogus Charley came in and told the picket that he could
take his gun ; that he (Charley) did not intend to go back any more. The
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picket brought him in and took him to tlio tent of General Canby, where
Charley left his gun and remained at the tent of Frank Riddle during the
night. Next morning Boston Charley came in and told the Commission that
Captain Jack and five other Indians would meet the Commission outside the
lines. Boston Charley and Bogus Charley then mounted a horse and started

for the Lava Beds. About an hour after their departure, General Canby
started for the place appointed. The party arrived at the appointed place,

and were closely watched by the signal officer. Lieutenant Adams, from the
signal station on the hill overlooking the camp.

It was between ten and eleven o'clock in the morning when the Peace
Commission party— comprising Gen. Canby, Mr. A. B. Meacham, Dr.
Thomas, Mr. Dyar, Riddle, the interpreter, and squaw, and Bogus Charley
and Boston Charley—went out to the designated spot. There they nret Cap-
tain Jack, John Schonchin, Black Jim, Shack JS'asty Jim, Ellen's Man, and
Hawker Jim. They had no guns with them, but each carried a pistol at his

belt. This, however, was not much noticed, as in previous interviews they
iad their guns with them. They sat down in a kind of broken circle, and
General Canby, Meacham, and Dr. Thomas sat together, faced by Captain
Jack and Schonchin. Mr. Dyar stood by Jack, holding his horse, with
Sawker Jim and Shack Nasty Jim to his left.

Meacham opened the talk, and gave a long history of what they wanted
to do for them, after which General Canby and Dr. Thomas both talked for

some time. The Commissioners reaffirmed that the soldiers would never be
withdrawn until the difficulty was settled, still extending the offer of

amnesty, a suitable and satisfactory home, and ample provision for their

welfare in the future. The reply from Jack and Schonchin—both chiefs

—

was :
" Take away your soldiers, and we will talk about it."

Captain Jack then talked in an apparently good, serious strain, and when
he finished stepped back to the rear, near where Meacham's hoi'se was hitched.

Jack asked for Hot Creek and Cottonwood, the places occupied by Fairchild

and Dorris, for a reservation. Mr. Meacham told Jack that it was not pos-

sible to give him what he asked. John Schonchin then began to talk. He
told Mr. Meacham to say no more; that he had said enough on that subject,

and while Schonchin was speaking, Capt. Jack was heard to say '

' All

ready !" At the same time Mr. Dyar heard a cap miss fire, and, looking
around, he saw Captain Jack to his left, with his pistol pointed at General
Canby. This was the signal for a general massacre, and a dozen pistols were
fired inside of half a minute. Mr. Dyar, after hearing the cap miss fire,

turned and tied, followed closely by Hawker Jim, who fired two shots after

him. Dyar, finding that Hawker Jim was gaining upon him, turned and
drew his d(;rringer, whereupon Hawker Jim retreated and made the best of

his way to the Modoc camp.
Captain Jack fired again on General Canby, who ran off to the left; but

the ball of Jack's pistol struck him under the eye, and he fell dead to the

ground. Meacham was shot at by Schonchin and wounded in the head. He
tried to draw his derringer, when two Indians ran up and knocked him
down. Boston Charley and another Indian fired at Dr. Thomas. The first

discharge brought him to his knees, and the second killed him. Riddle ran

off, and it appears they did not fire at him, but they knocked his squaw
down. Dyar, Riddle and the squaw returned in safety to the camp.

About half an hour after the party of General Canby had reached the

place of meeting with Jack and the other savages, a cry from the signal

station was heard, saying that the Indians had attacked the Peace Commis-
sion, and that an engagement had commenced between the Indians and Col.

Mason. In a moment the troops were under arms, and deployed as skirmish-

ers, under the command of Col. Green, and orders were given to forward,

double-quick. Very shortly afterward Mr. Dyar returned niid stated that

the Indians had attacked them, and that he thought he was the only one who
liad e.scaped; but in a few inpnients after Riddle and his scpuiw were seen

within the picket. Col. Miller and Major Throckmorton's two batteries,

that were leading the skirmish line, rushed out, and, after about five min-

utes' tramp over the broken rocks, they arrived at the scene of the massacre
In the distance were seen three of the perpetrators of the murders, run-

ning round the edge of the lake on their way back to their rocky fastness.

About a hundred yards to the west of the place of mectiii'^- was found Mr. A.
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B. Meacham, badly wounded with a pistol-shot over the left eye. He wus
immediately attended to and carried back for medical treatment. Fifty yards
further on was the body of the Rev. Dr. Thomas, lying on his face and
stripped to the waist. Life was extinct from pistol-shot wounds in his head.
The body of General Cauby, the hero of many a tight, Avas stripped of every
vestige of clothing, and lay about one hundred yards to tlie soutlivvard, with
two pistol-shots iu his head.

Pausing only to cast a glance on the body of the man they both loved
and respected, the troops dashed on and the two leading batteries were within
a mile of the murderers Avhen the bugle-call sounded a " halt." I/ieutenant

Egan and Major Wriglifs companies of the Twelfth Infantry were behind
the artillery, and then came the cavalry.

General Gillem and Colonel Green and staff were up with the men, but
as soon as they found that the Indians had all got back to their stronghold
the troops were ordered to fall back with the inU-nt of commencing active
operations on the next day. That the Indians intended a general massacre
is sufficiently evident.

Nothing of note transpired until April 26th, when a reconnoitering
party, composed of Companies K and A, Fourth Artillery, and Company E,
Twelfth Infantry, left camjD at half imst seven o'clock in the morning, in th(;

direction of the stronghold of the Modocs. They were commanded by Cap-
tain E. Thomas of the Fourth Artillery. A dozen W arm Spring Indians
were expected to co-operate on Captain Thomas' left. The troops having
formed a line of skirmishers, advanced without mole.station until they arrived
at the foot of the bluff south of the Lava Beds, having, meanwhile, signaled
to the camp that no Indians were to be found. On reaching the bluff the
Modocs opened a severe fire, causing the troops to seek such shelter as they
could find in the crevices, chasms, etc. As usual, the foe was unseen. TIk^

first position soon became untenable, owing to the fact that the Indians were
able to deliver both a cross-fire and an enfilading fire, the enemy enjoying
every advantage of position and knowledge of the ground. They were also

well armed.
In more than one instance a Modoc has been known to have two or more

Spencer rifles, enabling him to keep up a rapid fire from his natural or arti-

ficial breastwork of rock. The surface of the ground in many places is torn

up by volcanic actions, which form crevices, and these are adaptable to the

purposes of either hiding or for points of defence. In several instances the

soldiers, knowing nothing of the topography, have come unawares on such
fissures, and before they could escape were confronted with a wily Indian,

rifle leveled and finger on the trigger. Death, or at least a dangerous wound,
is the result.

It was impossible to estimate the number of Modocs wounded. It was
reported that the Warm Spring Indians took four scalps. This may be the

whole or it may be only a portion of the killed, the Modocs being very careful

to destroy as far as possible all traces of their casualties, carrying their

wounded into caves and burning the dead bodies. The wounded were sup-

posed to be hidden in caves, but few of them have ever been found. Justice

to the memory of the gallant dead compels the record of the following well-

authenticated facts: Wlieu Captain Thomas found himself and his men sur-

rounded by his vindictive foe, true to his nature as a soldier, he sought to

cheer the soldiers on to the bitter end, and obtain, if possible, life for life,

and to sell their lives dearly, saying: " Men we are surrounded; we mu.st

fight and die like men and soldiers."

In his noble efforts to sustain the courage of his small command he was
ably seconded by Lieutenant Howe and Lieutenant Wright. After receiving

a mortal wound, he liuried his gold watch and chain among the rocks and
emptied his revolver among the enemies before dying.

If living he would also write in terms of well-deserved praise of the

conduct of Lieutenant Harris, who was similarly situated. Captain Thomas,
•with a portion of his Battery K, Fourtli Artillerj% set an example of bravery

and determination to his men, tittering some such sentiments as those already

quoted. Not that it required such expressions to stimulate the men to deeds

of bravery, when every man would willingly have followed either officer

wherever they chose to lead; yet it showed the mutual confidence existing

between them. Since they were to fall, it is a pity it had not been when
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opposea to worthier foes. Yet it is a mournful consolation that each, Cap-
tain Thomas, Lieutenant Howe, and Lieutenant Wright, the sons of soldiers,

met a soldier's death in defence of tlie Government and laws of the country.
Of the men killed or wounded it is perhaps sufficient to say they showed
their bravery with their blood—the former with their lives, the latter in total

(jr partial disability. The victory of the Modocs was complete. The news
of this defeat created quite a sensation in army circles, where the three young
officers who were Icilled were well known. Army officers attributed this

disaster to the inefficiency of the cavalry, which was dismounted because of

the epizootic.

The two batteries of artillery and the one company of infantry that were
iirdered to advance into the Lava Beds with such fatal results, were intended
as a reconnoitering party, to find out whether the Modocs had really absconded.
The suspicion that they had, and a too confident presumption that they
would not fight in a body, may explain the disastrous blunder cf exposing
two companies of brave soldiers to be shot down like dogs by an unseen foe

lying in ambush. It seems too apparent that the Indians practiced successful
feints upon General Gillem. They made him believe, or at least suspect,

they had fled and scattered, and thereby disarmed his wariness and entrap-

ped him into an ambuscade. We accordingly lost, in killed and wounded,
more soldiers than the whole number of fighting Modocs. On their part there
was no random firing. They were all expert marksmen, and from their

places of concealment every shot told. After this defeat of our troops, General
Davis arrived and took command of the Modoc expedition. He sent out
scouting parties, had his men disciplined in Indian dodges, and put his first

grand movement in operation.

About this time it was discovered that the Modocs had escaped from their

stronghold by three routes, and finally encamped on Snow Mountain, twenty
miles south of Sorass Lake. Fights without any decided results were taking-

place occasionally, causing the loss and wounding of our troops. But, not-

withstanding those successes of the Modocs, it seemed that the peace men in
* the Modoc camp were dissatisfied, and preferred to trust to the good faith of

the palefaces. Accordingly, fifty-five members of Captain Jack's band of

Modocs surrendered to our army. Fifteen of these were warriors, and the

rest were women and children. Captain Jack then had twenty warriors left,

and he resolved to fight to the end, being relieved of two obstacles, viz.: the
women and children, and the peace party among the Modocs.

After a series of reverses befalling our soldiers operating in the Lava
Fields, their bravery was crowned with success. Deserted and in despair,

the Modoc chief surrendered, a prisoner of war, and with three captured com-
panions, upon trial by court-martial, was condemned to death and soon after >

publicly hanged.

THE NEZ PERCES WAR.

The Nez Perces Indians are the insignificant, as far as numbers
go, remains of a once numerous and powerful tribe, who roamed as

their choice dictated over a vast country on the Pacific side of the Rocky
Mountains. For years they had been on friendly terms with the

whites. They had abandoned hunting to a great extent, and were yearly

relying more "and more on agriculture and grazing for a living. Close investi-

gation fails to discover, on either side, an adequate reason for the violent

outbreak which occurred. As usual, both sides accuse the other. So peace-

ful were the Nez Perces that many people on this side of the Rocky Moun-
tains hardly knew of their existence. As we have the advantage of telling

the story, the Indians appear, of course, to be in fault. What we do know
is, that Chief Joseph, who was the leading man among the Nez Perces, was
ordered to give up some lands which he had held from a long line of ances-

tors. He resolutely refused to do so. General Howard, commanding in that

military division, tried to take them by force. The Indians made a stout

resistance. When the chief found himself greatly outnumbered, and learned

that large reinforcements were advancing to the help of Howard, he formed
the bold resolution of retreating almost across the continent, in hopes of

forming a coalition with the Sioux and f)ther Indians then at war with the

United States— a resolve as brave as that of Cortez when he burned his



APPENDIX- 715

ships on the shores of Mexico. Chief Joseph set out on this retreat in the

presence of superior numbers, led by an educated military officer. He suc-

cessfully foiled all efforts to outflank him or bring him to an engagement,
only turning upon his pursuers when it seemed necessary for him (Joseph)

to fight. This retreat was not like that of Braddock's, for instance : it never
became a rout. But Joseph carried nearly all his large stock of cattle and
horses with him, this, too, through hundreds of miles of the most difficult

campaigning country upon earth. Eventually he only surrendered to very

superior numbers, and tlien not to his pursuer, (general Howard, but to th(;

gallant Indian -fighter, General Miles, this officer having been apprised by
telegraph, in a roundabout way, where to station his troops in order to inter-

cept this swarthy Xenoplion. What adds greatly to the deservedly great

fame of Chief Joseph, is that he treated prisoners humanely, and never scalped

or otherwise mutilated the dead. Joseph and his remaining people were well

treated by General Miles, and placed temporarily on reservations, while

their future homes were determined on.

THE UTE WAR OF 1879.

The unexpected outbreak of the Utes at the White River agency seems to

have been brought about, as far as can be ascertained, by local causes. The
Indian agent, Mr. Meeker, wished them to engage in farming, and many of

them were uncompromisingly hostile to anything in the way of labor, which
might assist in making them self-supporting. As soon as a knowledge of the

trouble was communicated by the Indian Bureau to the military authorities,

a force which was deemed more than sufficient by the agent was sent from
the nearest post, under command of Major Thornburgh, Fourth Infantry.

Before the troops reached the agency, the agent, Mr. Meeker, and most of his

employees were murdered by the Indians, who then came out and attacked

Major Thornburgh's force at a point eighteen miles distant from the agency.

The narrative of the Ute massacre at the White River agency, in the

northwestern portion of Colorado, the fight with Major Thornburgh's men,
and the relief of the beleaguered survivors by a company of colored cavalry

is, in a few words, one of the most thrilling and romantic stories of Indian

life. For quickness of action, baseness of motive, and cruelty of execution,

it far surpasses any episode in Indian warfare.
This story opens with an encounter on the 29th of September, 1879,

between the Ute Indians and Major Thornburgh's command, which had been

ordered to the relief of Indian agent Meeker. The field of battle was admir-

ably chosen for defense by the Indians, and had it not been for Major Thorn-

burgh's advance guard, commanded by Lieutenant Cherry, discovering the

ambuscade, the entire command would have been annihilated. He saw a

small party of Indians disappear over a hill half a mile in front, and at once

divided his party to reconnoitre, and only discovered the Indians when he

had flanked their position by about 200 yards. Lieutenant Cherry rode back

at full speed with one or two men who were with him, and notified Major
Thornburgh, who had already begun the descent into the deep ravine which
was intended to engulf the command. The Indians were dismounted and
lying down along the crest of the high, steep ridge for a hundred yards from

the point where the deadly assault would have commenced. The troops

were withdrawn a short distance, dismounted, and deployed in line of battle,

with orders to await the attack of the Indians. Lieutenant Cherry was here

ordered by Thornburgh to take a detachment of fifteen picked men and make
a reconnoissance and communicate if possible with the Indians, as it was
thought that they only desired to oppose his approach to their agency, and

would have a big talk if they could be communicated with. Cherry moved
out at a gallop with his men from the right flank, and noticed a like move-

ment of about twenty Indians from the left of the Indian position. He
approached to within a couple of hundred yards of the Indians, and took off

his hat and waved it, but the response was a shot fired at him, wounding a

man of his party, and killing his horse. This was the first shot, and was

instantly followed by a volley from the Indians.

The work had now begun in real earnest, and seeing the advantage of

the position he held. Lieutenant Cherry dismounted his detachment and
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deployed along the crest of the hills to prevent the Indians flanking his

position, or to cover the retreat, if it -was found necessary to retire upon the
wagon train, which >vas then coming up slowly, guarded by Lieutenant Pad-
dock, Company D, Fifth Cavalry. Orders were sent to park the wagons and
cover them with the company guarding them. The two companies in the

advance were Captain Payne's, Company F, Fifth Cavalry, and Captain Law-
son's, Company E, Third Cavalry, which were dismounted and deployed as

skirmishers. Captain Payne on tlie left and Captain Lawsou on the right.

From Lieutenant Cherry's position he could see the Indians were trying to cut

him ofE from the wagons, and at once sent word to Major Thornburgh, who
then withdrew the line slowly, keeping the Indians in check until opposite

the point which his men held, when, seeing that the Indians were concen-

trating to cut ofE his retreat. Captain Payne, with Company F, Fifth Cavalry,

was ordered to charge the hill, which he did in gallant style, his horse being
shot under him and several of his men wounded. The Indians having been
driven from this point, the company was rallied on the wagon-train. Major
Thornburgh then gave orders to Lieutenant Cherry to hold his position and
cover Captain Lawson's retreat, who was ordered to fall back slowly with the

horses of his company. Cherry called fcr volunteers of twenty men, v-ho

responded promptly and fouglit witli deEferatijc. Nearly every man wm
wounded before he reached the camp. Two mca were killed. Cherry
brought every wounded man in with him. Captain Lawson, the brave old

veteran, displayed the greatest coolness and courage during this retreat,

sending up ammunition to Cherry's men when, once, they were nearly with-

out it. Major Thornburgh started back to the wagon-train after giving his

final orders to Captain Payne to charge the hill and to Captain Lawson and
Lieutenant Cherry to cover the retreat. He was shot dead when barely half

way there, as his body was seen by one of Captain Lawson's men, life extinct,

lying on his face.

Captain Payne, then in command, at once set about having the wounded
horses shot, to be used for breastworks, dismantling the wagons of boxes and
bundles of bedding, corn and flour-sacks, which were quickly piled up for

fortifications. Picks and shovels were used vigorously for digging intrench-

ments. Meantime, a galling fire was concentrated upon the command from
all the surrounding bluffs which commanded the position. Not an Indian

could be seen, but the incessant crack of their Sharp and Winchester rifles

dealt fearful destruction among the horses and men.
On October 1st, the besieged men were suddenly alarmed by heavy and

responsive firing, but approaching their position. Sharper and nearer came
the rattling, desultory discharges, and soon afterwards, dismounted and lead-

ing their horses, which fell fast under the Ute rifles, they saw a colored troop

of cavalry approach and force its way into the barricade. It proved to be

Captain Dodge's company, numbering forty-five men, of the Ninth (colored)

Cavalry. Their approach had been most dangerous and difficult, but hearing

of the situation they had persisted, without halting and without fear. During
the remainder of the six days' siege, they shared the perils and discom-

forts with patience that cannot be too highly praised.

At five o'clock on the morning of the 5th, General Merritt relieved the

command, having marched his men about 170 miles over " the worst road

ever traveled " in a little more than forty-eight hours. He found the com-
mand much as reported in the original dispatches. The casualties were
twelve killed and forty-three wounded. All the animals of the command
Avere killed, except twelve mules and three horses of the four companies of

cavalry.

The funeral of Major Thornburgh took place at Omaha on October 22d,

under Masonic management. A halt was ordered in the march of the

troops after the fugitive Utes, confidence being placed in the ability of

General Adams, the special agent, to elTect a peace, with the tribe. General

Charles Adams came into General Merritt's camp on the morning of the 24th

with the women and children of the Meeker and Price families.

The last letter written by Mr. Meeker before his death Avas to Major
Thornburgh, dated one o'clock, September 29th, three hours after the attack

Lad comjnenced and Thornburgh 's death, stating that "all was quiet at the

agency and that Douglass had the United States flag flying above his house."

The last authentic accounts state that Douglass took no part in the fight, and
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that he was guarding Mrs. Meeker and the other women from injury. It

will surprise many who have had faith in the fidelity of Douglass to read
Miss Meeker's assertions of his treachery and brutality as detailed in her
narrative. Jack, to whose cam]i Mrs. Price and her children were conveyed,
after the captives were separated, is one of the war chiefs of the White
River band, and is supposed to have been one of the leaders in the attack at
the agency. He is next in rank to Douglass, and is noted for his shrewdness
and cunning.

The history of the prisoners during their captivity forms a most pathetic
chapter. After the killiug of Agent Meeker the women attempted to escape
into the brush from the burning buildings. Mrs. Meeker was fired at, with
tlie result of a flesh-wouud^ in the hip four inches in length. Miss Meeker
and Mrs. Price were called to: "Indians no shoot wliite women. Stop!
Indians no hurt." They were then mounted—Miss Meeker, with Mrs.
Price's eldest child, four years old, tied behind her ; Mrs. Price, with her
infant in her arms, and Mrs. Meeker, who is sixty-four years of age, and
lame from her wound.

When they struck the camp at midnight, Mrs. Meeker was dismounted,
and fell to the ground unable to move, and the Indians surrounded her and
added to the misery of the situation by jeering and taunting " the old white
squaw." The next morning they were separated, Douglass retaining the
charge of Mrs. Meeker, and Persune taking Miss Meeker, while Mrs. Price
and children were in the charge of an Uncompahgre Ute. The sufferings of
Mrs. Meeker were indescribable during her stay with Douglass, whose squaw
abused her by neglect, pushing, striking, and taunts.

On one occasion Douglass threw down blankets and compelled Miss
Meeker to dismount, saying that they were going into camp. He then said
that they were going to stab them, and exhibited the butcher knives to be
used for the purpose. Then he placed a musket to her forehead and said:
" Indian going to shoot." The courageous girl never flinched, and laughed
at the burly savage. He asked her if she was afraid, and her ready response,
' I am not afraid of Indians or death, " elicited the admiration of the Indians.
They turned upon Chief Douglass with derision, and he slunk from the
presence of the brave woman.

Soon after this they were placed in charge of Chief Johnson, and through
tiie instrumentality of Johnson's squaw their condition was very much
improved and further indignities prevented.

After their rescue by General Adams, their condition was made still more
comfortable. Their costume, as they appeared on their arrival at Denver,
October 30th, after a journey of five hundred miles by stage or ponies, is

thus described : Miss Josie's costume was the most striking. Her dress was
made of an Indian blanket, plain skirt, and long jacket-waist with tight

sleeves. The blanket stuff was dark-brown, the broad yellow stripes in the
goods acting as a border around the bottom of the dress and the flowing
waist. Her feet were incased in moccasins, and by her side lay a broad white
sombrero. Miss Meeker, though by no means a handsome young lady, is

bright and attractive in appearance. She is a blonde, and naturally of fair

complexion, though now sunburned. Her hair is cut short to the neck.

Mrs. Price is a young lady yet. Though but twenty-three years of age,
.she has been married several years. She is naturally bright and active, but
just now the death of her husband and her terrible experience has saddened
her. Mrs. Price was dressed in a plain woolen dress, which she said she
wore when taken captive. She, however, exchanged it for a "blanket"
dress similar to that worn by Miss Meeker, and saving it, reassumed it when
she reached Alamosa. Mrs' Price also wore a sombrero.

Mrs. Meeker wore, when she arrived, a long wrapper and a hood, with
which she was provided at Los Pinos. The two little children, May and
Johnnie, wore their agency clothes, sadly tattered and torn.

The " blanket " suits of Miss Meeker and Mrs. Price were made by them
while in camp on Gr^nd River, their captors furnishing the material, thread,
needles, etc.



HISTORICAL AND MYTHOLOGICAL TRADITIONS
OF THE ALGONQUIN^?.

with a tbanslation of the walum-olum, or bark record of the
lenni lenape.*

By K G. Squier.

The Algonquins were a numerous family of Nortli American Indians,

once spread over all the northern part of the Rocky Mountains, and south of

the St. Lawrence. Their language was heard from the bay of Gaspe to the

valley of the Des Moines, from Cape Fear to the land of the Esquimaux

;

from the Cumberland river, of Kentucky, to the western banks of the Miss-

issippi. It was spoken, though not exclusively, in a Territory that ex-

tended through sixty degrees of longitude and more than twenty degrees of

latitude. All the tribes of New England were Algonquins; the tribes in

Maine, the great tribe of the Delaware Indians, the Creeks in the region of

the Great Slave Lake, and the Ottawas and Pottawatomies in Michigan claimed
the same origin. Traces of the primitive Algonquin language appear in the

names of places, such as Alleghany, Connecticut. At present the Algonquins
do not number more than two hundred warriors, included in the tribe of the

Chippewas.
The discovery of America, in the fifteenth century, constitutes a grand era

in the history of the world. From it we may date the rise of that mental en-

ergy and physical enterprise, which has since worked such wonderful changes
in the condition of the human race. It gave a new and powerful impulse to

the nations of Europe, then slowly rousing from the lethargy of centuries.

Love of adventui'e, hope, ambition, avarice—the most powerful incentives to

human action—directed the attention of all men to America. Thither flocked

the boldest and most adventurous spirits of Europe ; and half a century of

startling events sufficed to lift the veil of night from a vast continent, unsur-

passed in the extent and variety of its productions, abounding in treasures,

and teeming with a strange people, divided into numberless, families, exhib-

iting many common points of resemblance, yet differing widely in their condi-

tion, manners, customs, and civil and social organizations.

Along the shores of the frozen seas of the north, clothed with the furs

of the sea-monsters whose fiesh had supplied them with food, burrowing in

icy caverns during the long polar nights, were found the dwarfed and squalid

Esquimaux. In lower latitudes, skirting the bays and inlets of the Atlantic,

pushing their canoes along the shores of the great lakes, or chasing the buffalo

on the vast meadows of the west, broken up into numerous families, subdi-

vided into tribes, warring constantly, and ever struggling for ascendency over
each other, were the active and fearless hunters, falling chiefly within the

modern extended denominations of the Algonquin and Iroquois families.

Still lower down, in the mild and fertile regions bordering the Gulf of Mexi-
co, more fixed in their habits, half hunters, half agriculturists, with a syste-

matized religion, and a more consolidated civil organization, and constituting

the connecting link between the gorgeous semi-civilization of Mexico, and the
nomadic state of the northern families, were the Floridian tribes, in many re-

spects one of the most interesting groups of the continent. Beneath the
tropics, around the bases of the volcanic ranges of Mexico, and occupying her
high and salubrious plains, Cortez found the Atzecs and their dependencies

—

nations rivaling in their barbarous magnificence the splendors of the oriental

world—far advanced in the arts, living in cities, constructing vast works of

public utility, and sustaining an imposing, though bloody religious system.
Pa.ssing the nations of Central America, whose architectural monuments chal-

lenge comparison with the proudest of the old world, and attest the advanced
condition and great power of their builders, Pizarro found beneath the equa-

* Reprinted from The American Whig Review (New York), lor February, 1849.
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tor a vast people, living under a well-organized and consolidated government,
attached to a primitive Sabianism, fixed in their habits and customs, and hap-

py in their position and circumstances. Still beyond these to the southward,
were the invincible Araucaniaiis, together with numerous other nations, with
distinctive features, filling still lower places in the scale of advancement, and
finally subsiding into the squalid counterijarts of the Esquimaux in Patagonia.

These numerous nations, exhibiting contrasts so striking, and institutions

so novel and interesting, it might be supposed, would have at once attracted
the attention of the learned of that day, and insured at their hands a full and
authentic account of their government, religion, traditions, customs, and modes
of life. The men, however, who subverted the empires of Montezuma and
the Incas were bold adventurers, impelled for the most part by an absorbing-
avarice and unfitted by habit, as incapable, from education and circumstances,
of transmitting to us correct or satisfactory information respecting the nations
with which they were acquainted. The ecclesiastics who followed in their

train, from whom more might have been expected, actuated by a fierce bigot-

ry, and eager only to elevate the symbol of their intolerence over the emblems
of a rival priesthood, misrepresented the religious conceptions of the Indians,

and exaggerated the bloody observances of the aboriginal ritual, as an apology,
if not a justification, for their own barbarism and cruelty. They threw down
the high altars of Atzec superstition, and consecrated to their own mum-
meries the solar symbols of the Peruvian temples. They burned the pictured
historical and mythological records of the ancient empire in the public square
of Mexico ; defaced the sculptures on her monuments, and crushed in pieces

the statues of her gods. Yet the next day, with an easy transition, they pro-

claimed the great impersonation of the female, or productive principle of na-

ture, who in the Mexican, as in every other system of mythology, "was the
consort of the Sun, to be no other tlian the Eve of the Mosaic record, or the
Mother of Christ ; they even tracked the vagrant St. Thomas in the person of

tlie benign Quetzalcoatl, the Mexican counterpart of the Hindoo Buddha and
the Egyptian Osiris !

All these circumstances have contributed to throw doubt and uncertainty

over the Spanish accounts of the aboriginal nations. Nor were the circum-

stances attending European adventure and settlements, in other parts of the

continent, much more favorable to the preservation of impartial and reliable

records. The Puritan of the north and the gold-hunter of Virginia and Caro-

lina,looked with little interest and less complacency upon the "wilde salva-

ges" with which they were surrounded and of whom Cotton Mather wrote,

that, " Although we know not tcJien nor how they first became inhabitants of

this mighty continent, yet we may guess the devil decoyed these miserable

salvages hither, in hopes that the gospel of the Lord Jesus Christ would never
come to destroy his absolute empire over them."

The Jesuits and other enthusiasts, the propagandists of the Catholic

faith among the northern tribes, were more observant and correct, but their

accounts are very meagre in matters of the most consequence, in researches

concerning the history and religion of the aborigines. All treated the relig-

ious conceptions and practices and transmitted traditions of the Indians with

little regard. Indeed it has been only during the last century, since European
communication with the primitive nations of Southern Asia, and a more inti-

mate acquaintance with oriental literature, have given a new direction to re-

searches into the history of mind and man, that tlae true value of the religious

noti(ms and the recorded or transmitted traditions of various nations, in deter-

mining their origins and connections, and illustrating their remote history, has

been ascertained. And even now there are few who have a just estimation of

their importance in these respects. It may however be claimed, in the lan-

guage of an erudite American that "of all researches which most effectually

aid us to discover the origin of a nation or people, whose history is either un-

known, or deeply involved in the obscurity of ancient times, none are perhaps

attended with such important results, as the analysis of their theological dog-

mas, and their religious practices. To such matters mankind adheres with

the greatest tenacity, and though both modified and corrupted in the revolu-

tions of ages, they still preserve features of their original construction when
language, arts, sciences and political establishments no longer retain distinct

lineaments of their ancient constitutions."

The traveler Clarke, maintaining the same position, observes, "that by a
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proper attention to the vestiges of ancient superstition, we are sometimes en-

abled to refer a whole people to their original ancestors, with as much if not

more certainty, than by observations made upon their languages, because the

superstition is engrafted upon the stock, but the language is liable to change."

However important is the study of military, civil and political history, the

science is incomplete without mythological history, and he is little imbued

with the spirit of philosophy, who can perceive in the fables of antiquity

nothing but the extravagance of a fervid imagination. ^ It is under this view,

in the absence of such information derivable from early writers, as may form

the basis of our inquiries into the history of the American race, its origin,

and the rank which it is entitled to hold in the scale of human development,

that the religious conceptions and observances, and authentic traditions of the

aboriginal nations, become invested with new interest and importance. And
although the opportunities for collecting them, at this day, are limited, and

much care and discriuiiuation is requisite to separate that which is original

from what is derivable, still they perhaps afford the safest and surest means
of arriving at the results desired. Not that I would be understood as under-

valuing physical or philological researches, in their bearings upon these ques-

tions ; for if the human mind can ever flatter itself with having discovered the

truth, it is when many facts, and these facts of different kinds, unite in pro-

ducing the same result.

Impressed with these views, I have, in pursuing investigations in another

but cognate department of research, taken considerable pains to collect from
all available sources, such information as seemed authentic, relating not only

to the religious ceremonies and conceptions, but also to the mythological and
historical traditions of the aborigines of all parts of the continent. An ana-

lysis and comparison of these have led to some most extraordinary results,

which it would be impossible, in the narrow scope of this paper, to indicate

with necessary fullness. It may be said generally, that they exhibit not only

a wonderful uniformity and concurrence in their elements and more import-

ant particulars, but also an absolute identity, in many essential respects, with

those which existed among the primitive nations of the old world, far back

in the monumental and traditional periods.

Among the various original manuscripts which, in the course of these

investigations, fell into my possession, I received through the hands of the

executors of the lamented Nicollet, a series by the late Prof. C. S. Rafinesque

—well known as a man of science and of an inquiring mind, but whose en-

ergies were not sufficiently concentrated to leave a decided impression in any
department of research. A man of unparalleled industry, an earnest and in-

defatigable collector of facts, he was deficient in that scope of mind joined to

severe critical powers, indispensable to correct generalization. While, there-

fore, it is usually safe to reject his conclusions, we may receive his facts,

making proper allowances for the haste with which they were got together.

Among these manuscripts (" rudisindigestaque tiioles"), was one entitled

the Walum Olum (literally, pai)ded sticks), or painted and engraved traditions

of the Lenni-Lenape, comprising five divisions, the first two embodying the

traditions referring to the creation and a general flood, and the rest compris-

ing a record of various migrations, with a list of ninety-seven chiefs, in the

order of their succession, coming down to the period of the discovery. This

manuscript also embraces one hundred and eighty-four compound mnemonic
symbols, each accompanied by a sentence or verse in the original language,

of which a literal translation is given in English. The only explanation

wliich we have concerning it, is contained in a foot note, in the hand of Ra-

finesque, in which he states that the manuscript and wooden originals were
obtained in Indiana in 1822, and that they were for a long time inexplical)le,

" until with a deep study of the Delaware, and the aid of Zeisbergcr's manu-
script dictionary in the liln'ary of the Philosophical Society, a translation was
effected." This translation, it may here bo remarked, so far as I have been

able to test it, is a faithful one, and tliere is slight doubt that the original

Is what it professes to be, a genuine Indian I'ccord. The evidence that it is

1 ' Tho existence of similar religious Ideas in remote regions, iiihiibitod by tliflVr-

ent races, is ;iii Intcrestiiis subject, of study; furnishinR as it docs, one of tho most
Important links iu llio great chain of communication which binds together the dis-

tant families of nations."

—

I'rescott's Mexico.
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SO, is however rather internal and collateral than direct. ' The traditions

which it embodies coincide, in most important respects, with those which are

known to have existed, and which still exist, in forms more or less modified,

among the various Algonquin tribes, and the mode in which they are recorded

is precisely that which was adopted by the Indians of this stock, in recording

events, communicating intelligence, etc., and which has not inaptly been de-

nominated picture-toriting.

The scope of this system of picture-writing, and the extent to which it

was applied, have not been generally understood nor fully recognized. With-

out, however, going into an analysis of the system, its principles and ele-

ments—an inquiry of much interest—it may be claimed, upon an array of

evidence which will admit of no dispute, that under it the Indians were not

only able to communicate events and transmit intelligence, but also to record

chants and songs, often containing abstract ideas—allusions to the origin of

things, the power of nature, and to the elements of their religion. " The In-

dians," says Heckewelder, "have no alphabet, nor any mode of representing

words to the eye, yet they have certain hieroglyphics, by which they describe

facts in so plain a manner, that those who are conversant with their marks,

can understand them with the greatest ease—as easily, indeed, as they can

understand a piece of writing."^ This writer also asserts that the sirnpie

principles of the system are so well recognized, and of so general application,

that the members of different tribes could mterpret with the greatest facility

the drawings of other and remote tribes. Loskiel has recorded his testimony

to the same effect. He says :
" The Delawares use hieroglyphics on wood,

trees and stones, to give caution, for communication, to commemorate events

and preserve records. Every Indian understands their meaning, etc."^ Mr.

Schoolcraft also observes of the Ojibwas, that " every path has its blazed

and figurated tree, conveying intelligence to all that pass, for all can under-

stand these signs, which,'" he adds, " are taught to the young as carefullyas

our alphabet." Testimony might be accumulated upon this point, to an in-

definite extent, were it necessary to our present purpose.

Most of the signs used in this system are representations of things: some

however were derivative, others symbolical, and still others entirely arbitrary.

They however were not capable of doing more than to suggest classes of ideas,

which would not be expressed in precisely the same words by different indi-

viduals. They were taught in connection with certain forms of expression,

by which means they are made essentially mnemonic—a simple or compound
sign, thus serving to recall to mind an entire sentence or a series of them. A
single figure, with its adjuncts, would stand for the verse of a song, or for a

circumstance which it would require several sentences to explain.

Thus the famous Met'li song of tho Chippeways, presented by Mr. Catlin,

although embracing but al^out thirty signs, occupied, in the slow, monoton-

ous chant of the Indians, with their numerous repetitions, nearly an hour in its

delivery. James observes, respecting the recorded Indian songs—" Theyare
usually carved on a flat piece of wood, and the figures suggest to the minds

of those who have learned the songs, the ideas and the order of their succession.

The words are not variable, but must be taught; otherwise, though from an

inspection of the figure the idea might be comprehended, no one would know
what to sing." Most of the Indian lore being in the hands of the priests or

medicine-men, the teaching of these songs was almost entirely monopolized

by them. They taught them only to such as had distinguished themselves

in war and the chase, and then only upon the payment of large prices. Tan-

ner states that he was occupied more than a year in learning the great song

for "medicine hunting," and then obtained his knowledge only at the expense

of many beaver skins. After the introduction of Christianity, among sorue

of the Western tribes, pravers were inscribed on pieces of wood, in mnemonic

sj-mbols, in the mailing and teaching of which to their followers, .some of the

Christian chiefs obtained a profitable monopoly.

1 Pinco the aliovo wns wi iften, .a copy of r.afinesqne's American Nations, published in

1836, hns fallen uiuler 7nv i.oUce. It is jv'.siii-rulai- jiunble of ficts nn<l f:iiicies, and it I8 per-

baps unfortunate for tli« ninnnscript, spoken of in the text, that it falls in such a conncc

tion. The only additional informalion we have respecting it, i.s that itwas obtained by

the late Ur. Ward of Indiana, of tho remnant of the Dela^vares on the White l.,ivor.

2 Hist. Acct. of the Indian Nations, p. 118.

* Hist. United BrcChren in America, p. 25.
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Admitting tlien, as we must do upon this evidence, that the Algonquins
had the nieaus of imperfectly recording their traditions, songs, etc. , we can
readily understand how these miglit be taught by father to son, and perpetu-
ated in great purity througli a succession of priests—the sages of the abori-

ginal races. The fact that tliey were recorded, even in the rude way here indi-

cated, would give them a degree of fixedness, and entitle them to a considera-

tion which they would not possess if handed down in a simple oral form.^
In illustration of the manner in which the manuscript is written, the first

two songs or chants are presented as they appear in the original. We have
first, the original sign ; second, the suggested verse or sentence in the Dela-
^vare dialect ; and third, a literal translation of the same in English.

SONG I.—THE CREATION.

/^^==^ 1. Say ewitalli

At first there

Hackung-kwel ik
Above much water
Kitanitowitessop. •*

Creator he was.

wemiguma
all sea-water

ov/anaku

wokgetaki."
above land.

wakyutali
foggy (was) and (or also) there

S.'* Sayewis^ hallemiwis^ nolemiwi Kitanitowit-

First-being, Eternal-being, invisible Creator

essop.

he was.

4. Sohalawak kwelik hakik owak
He causes-them much water much land much air (or

awasagamak.
clouds) much heaven.

Sohalawak gishuk
He causes them the Sun

nipanum
the moon

alankwak.
the stars.

6. Wemi-sohalawak
All he causes

yulik yuch-aan.
these well to move.

/^/V

-^x

7. Wich-owagan kshakan moshakwat
With action (or rapidly) it blows (wind) it clears up

kwelik kshipelep.

great waters it ran off.

8. Opeleken mani-menak delsin-epit.

It looks bright made islands is there at.

9. Lappinup Kitanitowit manito manitoak.
Again when Creator he made spirits or makers.

10. Owiniwak Angelatawiwak chichankwak
First beings also and Angels Souls also

wemiwak.
and all.

^ "Were it not^" says Dr. Barton, in his paper on the Origin of the American N'ations.

publishc.il in the Transactions of the Philosophical Snciety—" TTere it not for the tniilitions of
many of tlio Amoricnn nations, wo niiglit for pver remain in tlonbt concernins their real
orisin. These traditions are entitled to nnich consideration; for, notwitlistandins the
rnde condition of most of the tribes, they are often perpetuated iu great purity, as 1 have
discovered hv mneii attention to tlieir liistory."

2 The terminal aid Is a contraction of kaklci, land, and freqiieutly denotos place
simply.

3 Written Qatanif.owil by Heckewelder, p. 422.
* Figure 3 Is a representation of the sun, whloli was the .\Igonquln symbol of the

Great Spirit.
» The termination wiss or iss makes according to Mr. .Schoolcraft, whatever preceries

it personal (.-t'r '^ Rrs., vol. i, p. 201). The better iranslalion would thorofore bo, "The
First," "The Eternal,', &c.

6 AUowini, more, and widik, good, enter into most designations of the Supreme.—
Ileck., J). 422.
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Sliukand elikimi mekenikink
But then while secretly on earth

powako init'ako.

priest-snake worship suake.

Mattalugas pallalugas maktatin
Wickedness crime unhappiness
payat-chikutali.

coming there then.

wakon
snake god'

owagan
actions.

23. Wactapan-payat
Bad weather coming

wihillan
distempers

mboagan.
death.

4. Wonwemi wiwunch-kamik atak-kitahikan
This all very long aforetime beyond great water.s

netami-epit. •

first land at.

PARAPHRASE OF THE ABOVE SONG.

1. At the first there were great waters above all the land,

3. And above the waters were thick clouds, and there was God the

Creator :

3. The first being, eternal, omnipotent, invisible, was God the

Creator.

4. He created vast waters, great lands, and much air and heaven ;

5. He created the sun, the moon and the stars
;

6. He caused them all to move well.

7. By his power he made the winds to blow, purifying, aad the deep

waters to run off :

8. All was made bright and the islands were brought into being.

9. Then again God the Creator made the great Spirits,

10. He made also the first beings, angels and souls :

11. Then made he a man being, the father of men
;

12. He gave him the first mother, the mother of the early bom,
13. Fishes gave he him, turtles, beasts and birds.

14. But the Evil Spirit created evil beings, snakes and monsters :

15. He created vermin and annoying insects.

16. Then were all beings friends :

17. There being a good god, all spirits were good

—

18. The beings, the first men, mothers, wives, little spirits also.

19. Fat fruits were the food of the beings and the little spirits :

30. All were then happy, easy in mind and pleased.

21. But then came secretly on earth the snalie-(evil) god, the saake-priest

and snake-worship

:

22. Came wickedness, came unhappiness.

23. Came then bad weather, disease and death.

24. This was all very long ago, at our early home.

The grand idea of a Supreme Unity, a Great, Good, Infinite and Eternal

Creator, so clearly indicated in the foregoing song, may be regarded by many
as the offspring of European intercourse, or as a comparatively late engraft-

ment upon Algonquin tradition. Without denying that the teachings of the

early missionaries had the effect of enlarging this conception, and of giving

it a more definite form, it may at the same time be unhesitatingly claimed

that the idea was an original one with the Indian mind. The testimony of

the earliest travelers and of the earliest missionaries themselves, furnishes us

Tho suake among the Algonquiii.s was symbolical of evil or maliguaut foroo.
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abundant evidence of the fact. " Nothing," says Qiarlevoix, " is more certain

than that the Indians of this continent have an idea of a Supreme Being, the

First Spirit, tlie Creator and Governor of the world " ' And Loskiel, not less

explicit in his testimony, observes, "The prevailing opinion of all these

nations is, that there is one (iod, a great and good Spirit, who created the

heavens and the earth ; who is Almighty ; who causes the fruits to grow,
grants sunshine and provides his children with food." ^ Says Schoolcraft,
'

' They believe in the existence of a Supreme Being, who created material

matter, the earth and heavens, men and animals, and filled space with subor-

dinate spirits, having something of his own nature, to whom he gave part of

his power." From this great and good being, it was believed, no evil could

come ; he was invested with the attribute of universal beneficence, and was
symbolized by the sun. He was usually denominated Kitchi-Manitou or Gitchy-

Monedo, literally. Great, Good Spirit. Various other names were employed
to designate him under his various aspects, as Waskednd, Maker ; Waosemi-
goyan. Universal Father.

Subordinate to this Supreme, Good Being, was an Evil Spirit, MitcJii-

Manitou, or Mudje-Monedo (Great Bad Spirit), who, according to IMr. School-

craft, was a subsequent creation, and not coexistent with the Kitchi-Manitou.

This seems implied in the song, where he is first spoken of after the creation

of men and beings. Great power was ascribed to him, and he was regarded

as the cause and originator of all the evils which befall mankind. Accordingly

his favor was desired, and his anger sought to be averted by sacrifices and
offerings. The power of the Mitchi-Manitou was not, however, supposed to ex-

tend to the future life.^ He is represented in the text as the creator of flies and
gnats, and other annoying insects, an article of belief not exclusively Indian.

While the symbol of the Good Spirit was the Sun, that of the chief of the

Evil Spirits was the Serpent, nnder which form he appears in the Chippeway
tradition of his contest with the demi-god Manabozho.

The idea of a destruction of the world by water seems to have been gen-

eral amongst the Algonquin nations. The traditionary details vary in almost

every instance where they have been recorded, but the traditionary event

stands out prominently. The catastrophe is in all cases ascribed to the Evil

Spirit ; who, as already observed, was symbolized as a great Serpent. He is

generally placed in antagonism to Manabozho, a powerful demi-god or inter-

mediate spirit. These two mythological characters have frequent conflicts,

and the flood is usually ascribed to the final contest between them. In these

cases the destruction of the world is but an incident. As recorded in the

Walum Olum, it originates in a general conflict between the Good Spirits,

" the beings," and the Evil Spirit, Maskinako. The variation is, however,

imimportant, for in this, as in all the other versions of the tradition, Mana-
bozho appears in the character of Preserver. The concurrence in the essen-

tial parts of the several traditions, is worthy of remark.

SONG II.—THE DELUGE.

Wulamo maskan-ako-anup
Long ago powerful snake when
makowini essopak.

bad beings had become.

leunowak
men also

Maskanako shingalusit

Strong snake enemy
shawalendamep
became troubled

1 Gmada, vol. ii, p. 1*1.
- Umied BrfUtrai in jimT.
3 Oaroer's Travels, p. 381,

a, p. 34.

nijini -essopak

beings had become
ekin-shingalan.

together hating.
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Nishawi palliton nishawi maclaiton,

Both fighting both spoiling

matta Jungundowin.
not peaceful (or keeping peace).

nishawi
both

4. Mattapewi
Less men

wiki
with

nihanlowit
dead keeper

mekwazuau.
fighting.

Maskanako gichi penauwelendamep
Strong snake great resolved
lennowak owini palliton.

men beings to destroy (fight).

6. N'akowa petonep, amangam ]>etonep

Black snake he brought, monster he brought
akopehella petonep
rushing snake water lie brought.

Pehella-pehella, pohoka-pohoka,
Much water rushing, much go to hills,

eshohok palliton-palliton.

penetrating, much destroying.

eshohok
much

Tulapit menapit NanSboush,
At Tula (or turtle land) at that island Nanabush
maska-boush, owinimokom linoAvimokom

(strong) of beings the grandfather of men
the grandfather.

9. Gishiltin-pommixin
Being born creeping
move and dwell.

tulagishatten -lohx in

.

at Tula he is ready to

10. Owini linowi wemoltin pehella gahani
Beings men all go forth flood water

pommixin naliiwi t^talli

creeping (floating?) above water which
tulapin.

way (wliei-e) turtle-back.

11. Amangamek makdopamek alendguwek
Monsters of the sea they were many some of

metzipannek.
them they did eat.

12. Manoti-dasin
Spirit daughters

payat payat
coming coming

mokol-wicheraass
boat helped
wemichemap.

all helped.

papal
come, come
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13. Nanaboush, Nanabousli, wemimokoni
Nanabush, Nanabush, of all the grandfather.

winimokom linnimokom tula-
of beings the granfather, of men the grand-

mokom.
father, of turtles the grandfather.

14. Linapima
Man then

tulapima
turtle then

tulapewi
turtle they

tapitawi.

altogether.

patanian
praying

15. Wishanem tulpewi
Frightened (startled?) turtle he

tulpewi paniton wuliton.
turtle he let it be to make well.

16. Kshipehelen penkwihilen kwamipokho
"Water running off it is drying plain and moun-

sitwalikho maskan wagan
tain path of cave powerful or dire action
palliwi.

elsewhere.

PARAPHRASE.

I^ng ago came the ]-iowerful .serpent (Maskanako), when men had
become evil.

The strong serpent was the foe of the beings, and they became embroiled,
hating each other.

Then they fought and despoiled each other, and were not peaceful.
And the small men {Mattapewi) fought with the keeper of the dead

{NihanloiDit).

Then the strong serpent resolved all men and beings to destroy im-
mediately.

The black serpent, monster, brought the snake-water rushing.
The wide waters rushing, wide to the hills, everywhere spreading,

everywhere destroying.

At the island of the turtle {Tula) was Manabozho, of men and beings
the grandfather

—

Being boi-n creeping, at turtle land he is ready to move and dwell.
Men and beings all go forth on the flood of waters, moving afloat,

every way seeking the back of the turtle (Tnlapin).
The monsters of the sea were many, and destroyed some of them.
Then the daughter of a spirit helped them in a boat, and all joined, saying.
Come help !

Manabozho, of all beings, of men and turtles, the grandfather !

All together on the tuitle then, the men then, were all together.

Much frightened, Manabozho prayed to the turtle that he would make
all well again.

Then the waters ran off, it was dry on mountain and plain, and the
great evil went elsewhere by the path of the cave.

The allusion to the turtle, in the tradition, is not fully understood. The
I urtle was connected, in various ways with the mythological notions of the upper
Algonquins. According to Charlevoix and Hennepin, the Cliippeways had a
tradition that the mother of the human race, having been ejected from heaven
was received upon the back of a tortoise, around which matter gradually
accumulated, forming the earth. ^ The great turtle, according to Henry, was
a chief spirit of the Cliippeways, the "spirit that never lied," aud was often

consulted in reference to various undertakings. An account of one of these
ceremonies is given by this author.- The island of Michilimnkanak (literally,

great turtle) was sacred to this spirit, for the reason, probably, that a large

1 Charlevoix, vol. ii. p. 143; Hennepin, p. 55.

2 Henry's Travels, \<. 1C8.
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liill near its centre was supposed to bear some resemblance, in form, to

a turtle.' The turtle tribe of the Lenape, says Heckewelder, claim, a

superiority and ascendency, because of their relationship to the great turtle,

the Atlas of their mythology, who bears this great island (the earth) on his

back.*^

With these few illustrative observations, which might be greatly ex-

tended, I pass to the second or historical portion of the traditional record,

with the simple remark that the details of the migrations here recounted,

particularly so far as they relate to the passage of the Mississippi and the sub-

sequent contest with the Tallegwi or AUegwi, and the final expulsion of the

latter, coincide, generally, with those given by various authors, and well known
to have existed among the Delawares.

The traditions, in their order, relate first to a migration from the north

to the south, attended by a contest with a people denominated Snakes, or

Evil, who are driven to the eastward. One of the migrating families, the

Lowaniwi, literally northlings, afterwards separate and go to the snow land,

whence they subsequently go to the east, towards the island of the retreating

Snakes. They cross deep waters, and arrive at Shinaki, the land of Firs.

Here the Wiuikciiapi, or Westerners, hesitate, preferring to return.

A hiatus follows, and the tradition resumes, the tribes still remaining at

Sldnaki or the Fir land.

They search for the great and fine island, the land of the Snakes, where
they finally arrive, and expel the Snakes, They then multiply and spread to-

wards the south, to the Akolaki or beautiful land, which is also called Shore-

land, and Big-fir land. Here they tarried long, and for the first time cultiva-

ted corn and built towns. In consequence of a great drought, they leave for

the Shillilakiny or Buffalo land. Here, in consequence of disaffection with
their chief, the-y divide and separate, one party, the Wetammn, or the Wise,
tarrying, the others going off. The Wetamoici build a town on the Wim-
icana or Yellow river (probably the Missouri), and for a long time are peaceful

and happy. War finally breaks out, and a succession of warlike chiefs fol-

low, under whom conquests are made, north, east, south and west. In the
end Opekasit (literally east looking) is chief, who, tired with so much warfare,

leads his followers towards the thejsun- rising. They arrive at the Messussipi,

or Great river (the Mississippi), where, being weary, they stop, and their first

chief is Yagawanend, or the Hut-maker, under whose chieftaincy it is dis-

covered that a strange people, the Tallegwi, possess the rich east land. Some
of the Weiamowi are slain by the Tallegwi, and then the cry of pallitoii !

pallitonH war ! war ! ! is raised, and they go over and attack the Tallegwi.

The contest is continued during the lives of several chiefs, but finally termi-

nates in the Tallegwi being driven southward. The couquerers then occupy
the country on the Ohio below the great lakes—the S/iairanipekis. To the

north are their friends, the Talamatun, literally not-of-theinselves, translated

Harons. The Hurons, however, are not always friends, and they have occa-

sional contests with them.
Another hiatus follows, and then the record resumes by saying that they

were strong and peaceful at the land of the Tallegwi. They built towns and
planted corn. A long succession of chiefs followed, when war again broke
out, and finally a portion under Linkewinnek, or the Sharp-looking, went
t;astward beyond theTalegac/iukung or Alleghany mountains. Here they
spread widely, warring against the Meyigwi ov Spring-people, the Pungelikn,
Lynx or Eries, and the Mohegans or Wolves. The various tribes into which
they became divided, the chiefs of each in their order, with the territories

which they occupied, are then named—bringing the record down until the

arrival of the Europeans. This latter portion we are able to verify in great

part from authentic history.

SONG HI.—MIGRATIONS.

1. After the flood the true men {Lennajjewi) were with the turtle, in the
cave house, the dwelling of Talli.

12. It was then cold, it froze and stormed, and

> lb., 37, 110.
2 Heckewekler, p. 246:
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3. From the northern plain, they went to possess milder hiuds, abounding-
in game.

"^

4. That they might be strong and rich, the new comers divided tlie lands be-
tween the hunters and tillers {Wikhichik, Elowichik).

5. The hunters were the strongest, the best, the greatest.
6. They spread north, east, south and west;
7. In the white or snow country {Linnowalci), the north country, the turtle

land and the hunting country, were the turtle men or Linapiwi.
The Snake (evil) people being afraid in their cabins, the iSnaJie8. priest

{Nakopowa) said to them, let us go away.
9. Then they went to the east, the Snake land sorrowfully leaving.

10. Thus escaped the Snake people, by the trembling and burned land to their
strong island (Akomenaki).

11. Free from opposers, and without trouble, the Northling (Lowaimm) all
went forth separating in the land of snow (Wiiiiaken).

12. By the waters of the open sea, the sea of fish, tarried the fathers of the
White-eagle (tribe?) and the White-wolf,

lo. Our fathers were rich ; constantly sailing in their boats, they dis-
covered to the eastward the Snake island.

14. Then said the Head-beaver
( Wihlamok) and the Great-bird, let us go to

the Snake land.

15. All responned, let us go and annihilate the Snakes.
16. All agreed, the northerlings, the easterlings, to pass the froaen

v?aters.

17. Wonderful! They all went over the waters of the hard, stony sea,
to the open the Snake waters.

18. In vast numbers, in a single night, they went to the eastern or Snake
island ; all of them marching by night in the darkness.

19. The northerlings, the easterlings, the southerlings {Sliaicanapi), the
Beaver-men {Tamakwapis). the Wolf-men, the Hunters or best men,
the priests {Poicatapi), the Wiliwapi,^ii\\ their wives and daughters, and
their dogs.

20. They all arrived at the land of Firs {SJiinaking), where they tarried ; but
the Western men

(
Wunkenapi) hesitating, desired to return to the old

Turtle lajid (Tulpaking).

It may be suggested that the account of the second migration, across
frozen waters, is so much in accordance with the popular prejudice, as to the
mode in which the progenitors of the American race arrived in America, that
it throws suspicion on the entire record. It is not impossible, indeed, that
the original tradition may have been slightly modified here by the dis-

semination of European notions among the Indians. McKenzie, however,
observes of the traditions of the northern Ohippeways :

" The Indians say
that they originally came from another country, inhabited by a wicked people,
and had traversed a great lake, which was shallow, narrow and full of islands,

where they sufferred great hardships and much misery, it being always winter,
with ice and deep snows. "' * * They describe the deluge when the
wat<?rs spread over the whole earth, except the highest mountain, on the top
of which they were preserved."'

The preceeding songs have something of a metrical character, and there
is in some of the verses an arrangement of homophones which has a very
]»leasing effect. For instance, the last verse of the above .song is as
follows

:

Wemipayat guneunga shinaldng
Wunkenapi clianelendam payaking
Allowelendam kowiyey-tulpaking.

How far this system was carried it is difficult to say, but it is not unlikely

that most of the transmitted songs or chants had something of this form.

The next song resumes, after the lapse of an indefinite period, as

follows :

• McKenzie, p. 113.
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SONG IV.—THE CHRONICLE,

1. Long ago our fathers were at Shinaki or Fir land.

2. The White Eagle (
Wapalaneica) was the path-leader of all to this place.

3. They searched the great and fine land, the island of the Snakes.

4. The hardy hunters and the friendly spirits met in council.

5. And all said to Kalawil (Beautiful- head) be thou chief {sakima) here.

6. Being chief he commanded they should go against the Snakes.

7. But the Snakes were weak and hid themselves at the Bear hills.

8. After Kalawil, Wapagokhas (White-owl) was sakima at Fir land.

9. After him Jantowit (Maker) was chief.

10. And after him Ghilili (Snow-bird) was sakima. The south, he said

11. To our fathers, they were able, spreading, to possess.

13. To the south went Chilili ; to the east went Tamakwi (the Beaver).

13. The South land {S/iawanaki) was beautiful, shore-land, abounding in tall

firs.

14. The East land (WapariaM) abounded in fish ; it was the lake and buffalo

land.

15. After Chilili, Againek (Great warrior) was chief.

16. Then our fathers warred against the robbers, Snakes, bad men, and stony

men, Chikonapi, Akhonapi, Makatapi, Assinapi (Assiniboins ?)

17. After Agamek came ten chiefs, and than were many wars, south, east

and west.

18. After them was Langundowi (the Peaceful) sakima, at the Aliolaking

(Beautiful land).

19. Following him Tamkamend (Never bad), who was a good or just man.

20. The chief after him was Pemaholend (Ever-beloved), who did good.

21. Then Matemik (Town-builder), and Pilwihalen.

22. And after these, in succession, GUmokeni, who was father long, and Man-
gipitak (Big-teeth).

23. Then followed Olumapi (Bundler-of-sticks), who taught them pictures

(records).

24. Came then TakwacM (Who-shivers-with-cold), who went southward to tlie

Corn land {MinihaJdng).

25. Next was Huminiend (Corn-eater), who caused corn to be planted.

26. Then Alko-ohit (the Preserver), who was useful.

27. Then Shiwapi (Salt-man), and afterwards Penkwonowi (the Thirsty)

when
28. There was no rain, and no corn, and he went to the east, far from the

great river or shore.

29. Passing over a hollow mountain {Oligommk) they at last found food at

Shililaking, the plains of the Buffalo land.

oO. After Penkwonowi, came Mekwochella (the Weary), and Chingalsawi (the

Stiff).

;U. After him Kwitikwund (the Reprover), who was disliked and not willingly

endured.
\\2. Being angry, some went to the eastward, and some went secretly afar off.

33. The wise tarried, and made Makaholend (the Beloved) chief.

;^. By the Wisawana (Yellow river) they built towns, and raised corn on tlio

great meadows.
35. All being friends, Tamenend (the Amiable, literally bcaver-like) becajuo

the first chief.

36. The best of all, then or since, was Tamenend, and all men were his

friends.

37. After him was the good chief, Maskandsil (Strong-buffalo), and
38. MacMgoklios (Big-owl), and Wupikicholen (White-crane).

39. And tiien Wingenund (the Mindful or Wary), who made feasts.

40. After him came Lapamn (the White), and WuUauia (the Painted), and
41. Waptiwapit (White-bird), when tuere was war again, north and south.

42. Then was Tamaakan (Strong-wolf), chief, who was wise in council

and
43. Who made war on all, and killed Maskenidni (Great-stone).

44. Mcssissuioi (the Whole) was next chief, and made war ou 'the Snakes
{Akowini).
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45. GMtanwuUt (Strong-and-good) followed, and made war on tke northern
enemies {Lowanuski).

46. Alkouwi (the Lean) was next chief, and made war on tat* Father-snakes
{Toicakon).

47. Opekasit (East-looking) being next ehief, was sad b<^cause of so much
warfare,

48. Said, let us go to the sun-rising {WapagisJiek) ; and many went east

together.
49. The great river {Messussipu) divided the land, and being tiied, they

tarried there.

50. Yagmoanend (Hut-maker) was next sakima, and then the Tallcgm were
found possessing the east.

51. Followed Chitanitis (Strong-friend), who longed for tlie rich easMand.
53. Some went to the east, but the Tallegiri killed a portion.

53. Then all of one mind exclaimed, war, war !

54. The Talmatan (Not-of-themselve.?), and the Nitiloiraa, all go united (to

the war).
55. Kinnehepend (Sharp-looking) was their leader, and they wer.t over the

river.

56. And they took all that was there, and despoiled and slew the Tallogim.
57. Pimokhasum (Stirring-about) was next chief, and then the Tcdlcgifi

were much too strong.

58. Tenchek&nsit (Open-path) followed, and many towns were given up to

him.
59. Paganchildlla was chief, and the Tollegici all went southward.
60. Sattanwulatou (the Possessor) was sakima, and all the peo[)le were

pleased.

61. South of the lakes they settled their council-fire, and north of the lakes
were their friends the Talamatan (Hurons ?)

62. They were not always friends, but conspired when 'hinitakan was
chief.

63. Next was Linniwalamen, who made war on the Talamatan.
64. Shakagapeici followed, and then the Talamatan trembled.

SONG v.—THE CHRONICLE CONTINUED.

1. All were peaceful, long ago, at the land of the Tallegiri.

2. Then was TaTrmganend (Beaver-leader) chief at the White river ( Wapala-
neng, Wabash).

3. Wapushuwi (White-lynx) followed, and much corn was planted.

4. After came Walichinik, and the people became very numerous.
5. Next was Lekhihitin, and made many records {walum-olumin, or painted-

sticks).

6. Followed Kolachuisen (Blue-bird), at the place of much fruit or food
{Makeliming).

7. Pematalli was chief over many towns.
8. And Pepomahemen (Paddler), at many waters (or the great waters).

9. And Tankawon (Little-cloud) was chief, and many went away.
10. The Nentegos and the Bhawanis went to the south lands.

11. Kichitamak (Big-beaver) was chief at the White lick {Wapahoning).
12. The Good-prophet (Onowatok) went to the west.

13. He visited those who were abandoned there and at the south-west.

14. Pawanami Water-turtle) was chief at the TalegaJionah (Ohio) river.

15. Lakwelend (Walker) was next chief, and there was much warfare.

16. Against the Toicako (Father Snakes), against the Sinako (Stone or Moun-
tain Snakes), and against the Lowako (North Snakes).

17. Then was Mokolmokoni (Grandfather-of-boats) chief, and he warred
against the Snakes in boats.

18. Winelomch (Snow-hunter) was the chief at the North land (Lowashkin).

19. And Linkwekinuk (Sharp-seer) was Chief at the Alleghany mountains

( Talegachukang).
20. And Wapalaidkioan (East-settler) was chief east of the Tallegm land.

21. Large and long was the east land
;

22. It had no enemies (snakes), and was a rich and good land.
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33. And Qikenopalat (Great-warrior) was chief towards tlie north
;

24. And Ilanaholend (Stream-lover) at the branching stream {Saskwihanang
or Susquehanna).

25. And Oattaioid (the Fat) was sakima at the Sassafras land, {WinaJci).

26. All were hunters from the big Salt water (GisMkshapipek, Chesapeake,
or literally Salt sea of the sun), to the again (or other) sea.

37. Makliuamp (Red-arrow) was chief at tide water {Lapihaneng.)
38. And Wolomenap y>a,s chief at the Strong ial\s{3Iaskekitong, Trenton?)

29. And the Wapene^id and the Tumewand were to the north.

30. WcUitpallat (Qood-flghter) was chief, and set out against the north.

31. Then trembled the Mahongwi (the Iroquois ?) and the Pungelika (Lynx-
like, or Eries).

33. Then the second Tamenend (Beaver) was chief, and he made peace with
all.

33. And all were friends, all united under this great chief.

34. After him was Kichitamak (Great-good-beaver) chief in the Sassafras
land.

35. Wapahakey (White-body) was chief at the Sea shore (Sheyabi).

36. Ela/igo7iel (the Friendly) was chief, and much good was done.

37. And Piterauneti was chief, and people came from somewhere.
38. At this time from the east sea came that which was white (vessels ?}

39. Makelomush was chief and made all happy.
40. Wulakerdngus was next chief, and was a warrior at the south.

41. He made war on the Otalimako (Cherokee snakes or enemies), and upon the
Akowetako (Coweta ? snakes).

42. Wapagamoski (White-otter) was next chief, and made the Talamatans
(Hurons) friends.

43. Wapashum followed, and visited the land of Tallegid at the west.'

44. There were the Hiliniki (Illinois), the Shawanis (Shawanoes), and the
Kenoioiki (Kenhawas ?)

45. Nitispayat was also chief, and went to the great lakes.

46. And he visited the Wemiaraik (Beaver-children, or Miamis), and made
them friends.

47. Then came Packimitzm (Cranberry-eater), who made the Taica (Ottawas)
friends.

48. LoiDaponska was chief, and visited the Noisy place (Oanshowenik).
49. And Tashawinso was chief at the Sea shore {Shaycibing.

50. Then the children divided into three parts, the Unmnini (Turtle tribe),

the Minsimini (Wolf tribe), the Chikimini (Turkey tribe).

51. EpaUahchund was chief, and fought the Mah(mgwi, but failed.

53. Laugamuwi was chief, and the Mdhongici trembled.

53. Wangomend was chief, yonder between. (?)

54. The Otawili and Wasiatowi were his enemies.
55. Wapachikis (White-crab) was chief, and a friend of the Shore people.

56. NenacMpat was chief towards the sea.

57. Now from north and south came the WapagacJiik (White-comers).
58. Professing to be friends, in big-birds (ships). Who are tliey ?

Here stop the pictured records. There is, however, a fragment in the
original manuscripts, which may be taken as a continuation, and concerning
which Rafinesque says nothing more than that it " was translated from the

Lenai)e by John Burns." The references, so far as I am able to verify them,
are historically correct. It is here given in its original form, with no attempt
at paraphrase. It resumes with an answer to the question which concludes
the last song,

'

' who are these Wapsinis ?
"

SONG IV.—THE MODERN CHRONICLE.

1. Alas, alas ! we now know who they are, these Wapsinis (East-people),

who came out of the sea to rob us of our lands. Starving wretches !

they came with smiles, but soon became snakes (or enemies).

' "At present," says Loskiel, "the Delawares call the whole country as far aa the
entrance of the river Wabash Into the Ohio, AUigexvi-nengk, that is, a land. Into which they
eame Irom distant parts."

—

IlUt. United Brethren, p. 127.
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3. The Walumolum was made by LekhiUt (the writer), to record our glory.

Shall I write another to record our fall 'I No ! Our foea have taken
care to do that ; but I speak what they know not or conceal.

3. We have had many others chiefs since that unhappy time. There
were three before the friendly Mikwon {Miquon or Penn) came.
Mattanikum} (Not-strong) was chief when the Wiiiakoli (Swedes)
came to Wiiiaki ; Ndhumen (Raccoon) when the Sinalici (Dutch) came,
and Ikwahon (Fond-of-women) when the Tankiois (English) came.
Miquon (Penn) and his friends came soon after.

4. They were all received and fed with corn ; but no land was ever sold
to them : we never sold any land. They were allowed to dwell with
us, to build houses and plant corn, as friends and allies. Because
they were hungry and we thought them children of Gishaki (or Sun-
land), and not serpents and children of serpents.

3. And they were traders, bringing fine new tools, and weapons, and cloth,

and beads, for which we gave them skins and shells and corn.

And we liked them and the things they brought, for we thought
them good and made by the children of Gishaki.

fj. But they brought also fire-guns, and fire-waters, which burned and killed;

also baubles and trinkets of no use, for we had better ones before.

7. After Mikwon, came the sons of Dolojo-sakima (King George), who said,

more land, more land we must have, and no limit could be put to their

steps.

8. But in the north were the children of LoiDi-sakima{Kmg Louis), who were
our good friends, friends of our friends, foes of our foes

; yet with
Dolojo wished always to war.

9. We had three chiefs after Mikwon came

—

SkalicM, who was another
Tamenend, and Sasunam-WiktdkJion (Oiir-uucle-the-builder), and
Tutami (Beaver-taker), who was killed by a Tankwako (English-snake),

and then we vowed revenge.

10. Netatawis (First-new-being) became chief of all the nations in the west.

Again at Talligewink (Ohio, or place of Tallegwi) on the river Cuya-
hoga, near our old friends the Talamatans. And he called on all them
of the east (to go to war).

11. But Tadeskung was chief in the east at Mahoning, and was bribed by
Tankwis ; tlien he was burnt in his cabin, and many of our people were
killed at Hickory (Lancaster) by the land-robber Yankwis.

13. Then we joined Lowi in war against the Tankwis ; but they were strong,

and they took Loicanaki (North-land, Canada) from Lo^ri, and came to

us in Talegawink, when peace was made, and we called them KicMkani
(Big-knives).

13. Then Alimi (White-eyes) and Gelelenund (Buck-killer) were chiefs, and
all the nations near us were friends, and our grand-children again.

14. When the Eastern-fires began to resist Dolojo, they said we should be an-

other fire with them. But they killed our chief Unamiwi (the Turtle)

and our brothers on the Muskingum. Then Hopokan (Strong-pipe) of

the Wolf tribe was made chief, and he made war on the KicJiikani-

Tankwis, and became the friend of Dolojo, who was then very strong.

15. But the Eastern-fires were atronger ; they did not take Lowinaki, but be-

became free from Dolojo. We went to WapaJmni (White river) to be
further from them ; but they followed us everywhere, and we made
war on them, till they sent Makhiakho (Black snake. General Wayne),
who made strong war.

16. We next made peace and settled limits, and our chief was Hackingpou-
skan (Hard- walker), who was good and peaceful. He would not join

our brothers, the S/iawa?7i.i and Ottawas, nor Dolojo in the next war.

17. Yet after the last peace, the Kichikani-Yankms came in swarms all

around us, and they desired also our lands of Wapahani. It was
useless to resist, because they were getting stronger and stronger by
joining fires.

18. Kithtilkand and Lapanibit were the chiefs of our two tribes when we

1 Note by Rafinesrptc. " Malfanikum was chief in 1645. He is called Matta-hom by Holm,
who by a blunder, has made his name half Swedish. Horn is not Leoapl. Mattawlkum
means Not-Homed, without horns, emblem of having little strength."
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resolved to exchange our lauds, and return at last beyond the Masispek,

near to our old country.

19. We shall be near our foes the Wakon (Osages), but they are not worse
than the Tankwisakon (English snakes) who want to possess the whole
Big-island.

20. Shall we be free and happy, then, at the new Wapalmni ? We want rest,

imd peace, and wisdom.

So terminate these singular records. It is unfortunate that they lack
that kind of authentication, which depends upon a full and explicit account of

the circumstances under which they were found, transcribed and translated.

Rafinesque was not particular in these matters, and his carelessness and often

extravagant assumptions, have rendered his name of little weight in matters

of research. Still, upon neither of these grounds may we reject these records.

As already observed, they have the internal evidence of genuineness, and are

well supported by collateral circumstances. Some of these circumstances

were presented at the outset, and need not be recapitulated. Rafinesque him-
self has anticipated, and thus disposes of one objection, not among the least

formidable :
" That so many generations and names can be remembered, may

appear doubtful to some ; but when symbolical signs and paintings are accom-
panied with songs, and carefully taught from generation to generation, their

retention and perpetuation is not so remarkable." To this may with pro-

pi-iety be added the subjoined observations of Loskiel :

'

' The Delawares de-

light in describing their genealogies, and are so well versed in them, that

they mark every branch of the family with the greatest precision. They also

add the character of their forefathers : such an one was a wise and intelligent

counsellor ; a renowned warrior, or a rich man, etc. But though they are in-

different about the history of former times, and ignorant of the art of reading
and writing, yet their ancestors were well aware that they stood in need of

something to enable them to convey their ideas to a distant nation, or preserve

the memory of remarkable events. To this end they invented s.omething

like hieroglyphics, and also strings and belts of wampum, etc."'

I have alluded to the general identity of the mythological traditions here
recorded, with those which are known to have been, and which are still cur-

rent among the nations of the Algonquin stock. The same may be observed
of the traditions which are of a historical character, and particularly that

Avhich relates to the contest with the people denominated the Tallegici. The
name of this people is still perpetuated in the word Alleghany, the original

significance of which is more apparent, when it is written in an unabbreviated
form, Tallegioi-henna, or Tallegwi-Jianna literally river of the Tallegwi. It

was applied to the Ohio (the present name is Iroquois, and literally rendered
by the French La Belle Ridiere), and is still retained as the designation of its

northern or principal tributary. The traditionary contest between the Len-
ape and the Tallegwi is given by Heckewelder, and is adduced in further

illustration of the general concurrence above mentioned. The details vary in

some points, but I am inclined to give the first position to the tradition as pre-

sented in the Walumolum ; it beingaltogetherthemost simple and consistent.

It must be observed, that Mr. Heckewelder's diffuse account is much con-

densed in the following quotations, and that part which refers to the wars
with the Cherokees, etc. , is entirely omitted

:

" The Lenni-Lenape (according to the traditions handed down to them
from their ancestors) resided many hundred years ago, in a very distant

country, in the western part of the American continent. For some reason,

which I do not find accounted for, they determined on migrating to the east-

ward, and accordingly set out together in a body. After a very long journey,

and many nights' encampment (' night's encampment ' is a halt of a year in a
place), they at length arrived on the NaTnaesi-djm,'^ where they fell in with
the Mengwi (Iroquois), who had liltewise emigrated from a distsmt country,

and had struck upon this river higher up. Their object was the same with
that of the Delawares; they were proceeding to the eastward, until they should

' United Brethren In America, p . 24.
2 This (liffors from the foregoing record, and is undoubtedly incorrect. It is difficult

to derive MissiHsippi from 7in7«ncsi-.?rp« which is made up ot na7nae»t, a flsli, and »'ipu,

river. The etymology is clearly missu, messi, or michi, signifying great, or as Mr. Gallatia
8Uggests,tho whole and sip%i, river.
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find a country that pleased them. The spies which the Lenape had sent
forward for the purpose of reconnoitering, had long before their arrival
discovered that the country east of the Mississippi was inhabited by a verv
powerful nation, who had many large towns built on the great rivers flowing-
through the land. These people (as I was told) called themselves Tallegwi
or TalUgem. Col. John Gibson, however, a gentleman who has a thorough
knowledge of the Indians, and speaks several of their languages, is often of
opinion that they were called ^l^Z{ye?ct." ******

" Many wonderful things are told of this famous people. They are said
to have been remarkably tall and stout, and there are traditions that there
were giants among them. It is related, that they had built to themselves
regular fortificatious or entrenchments, from whence they would sally out.
but were generally repulsed. * * * When the Lenape arrived on the
banks of the Mississippi, they sent a message to the Alligewi, to request per-
mission to settle themselves in their neighborhood. This was refused them ;

but they obtained leave to pass through the country, and seek a settlement
further to the eastward. They accordingly commenced passing the Mississippi,
when the Alligegwi discovering their great numbers became alarmed, and
made a furious attack upon those who had crossed. Fired, at their treachery,
the Lenape consulted on what was to be done ; whether to retreat, or try the"ir

strength against their oppressors. While this was going on the Mengwi, who
had contented themselves with looking on from a distance, offered to join the
Lenape, upon condition that they should be entitled to a share of the country,
in case the combination was successful. Their proposal was accepted, and
the confederates were able, after many severe conflicts, to drive the Alligewi
down the Mississippi river. The conquerors divided the country between
themselves ; the Mengwi selecting the lands in the vicinity of the great lakes,
and on their tributary streams, while the Lenape took possession of the country
below them. For a long period of time, some say many hundred of yhars, the
two nations lived peaceably, and increased their numbers with great rapidity.

Ultimately some of the most adventurous among them crossed the mountains
towards the rising sun, and falling on streams running to the eastward

.

followed them to the great Bay river (Susquehanna), and thence to the ba}'

(Chesapeake) itself. As they pursued their travels, partly by land and partly

by water, sometimes near and sometimes on the great-salt-water lake (as they
call the sea), they discovered the great river which we call the Delaware";
and still further to the eastward, the Sheyibbi country, now called New Jersey.
Afterwards they reached the stream now called the Hudson. The reports of
the adventurers caused large bodies to follow them, who settled upon the four
great rivers, the Delaware, Hudson, Susquehanna and Potomac, making the
Delaware, which they call Lenapeioihittuch (the river of the Lenape) the centre

of their possessions.
" They add that a portion of their people remained beyond the Mississippi,

and still another portion tarried between the Mississippi and the mountains.
The largest portion, they supposed, settled on the Atlantic. The latter were
divided into three tribes, two of which were distinguished as Undinis, or
Turtle, and Wnalachtgo, or Turkey. These chose the lands lying nearest the
coast. Their settlements extended from the Mohicanittuck (river of the Mohicans
or Hudson) to beyond the Potomac. * * * The third great tribe, the
Mirisi (which we have corrupted into Monseys), or tribe of the wolf, lived

back of the others, forming a kind of bulwark, and watching the nations of

the Mengwi. They were considered the most active and warlike of all the
the tribes. They extended their settlements from the Minimik, where they
had their council-fire, quite to the Hudson on the east, and westward beyond
the Susquehanna, and northward to the head waters of that stream and the
Delaware. * * * From the above three divisions or tribes, comprising
together the body of the people called Delawares, sprung many others, who,
having for their own convenience chosen distinct spots to settle in, and in-

creasing in numbers, gave themselves names, or received them from others.
* * * Meanwhile trouble ensued with the Mengwi, who occupied the

southern shores of the lakes and resulted in fierce and sanguinary wars. The
reverses of the Mengtoi induced them to confederate, after which time the
contests with the Lenape were carried on with vigor until the arrival of the
French in Canada;"
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It will be seen tliat there is a difEerence between the traditions, as given by
Heckewelder, and the Walum-olum in respect to the name of the confederates

against the Tallegwi. In the latter the allies are called TaZamatcm, literally

Not-of-themselves, and which, in one or two cases, is translated Hurons, with
what correctness I am not prepared to say. Heckewelder calls them Mengtci,

Iroquois. This must be a mistake, as the Mengin are subsequently and very
clearly alluded to in the Walum-olum, as distinct fron the Talaviotan.

It is remarkable that the traditions of almost all the tribes, on the eastern

shore of the continent, refer, with more or less distinctness, to a migration
from the westward. " When you ask them," says Lawson, speaking of the
Carolina Indians, " whence their fathers came, that first inhabited the country,

they will point to the westward and say, ' Where the sun sleepjs, our fathers

came thence.' " Most of the nations speak of the passage of the Mississippi

river. The Natchez, who assimilated more nearly to the central American
and Peruvian stocks (the Toltecan family), informed Du Pratz that they once
dwelt at the south-west, "under the sun." The Muscogulges or Creeks,

according to Bartram's manuscript, assert that they formerly lived beyond
the Mississippi, and that they relinquished that country in obedience to a
dream in which they were directed to go to the country where the sun rises.

They claim that they crossed the river in their progress eastward, about the

period that De Soto visited Florida. The Cherokees (a cognate tribe) have a
similar tradition. They assert that " a long time ago all the Indians traveled

a great distance and came to a great water. Upon arriving there, and imme-
diately before or immediately after crossing, it is not remembered which, a part

went north and another part south. Those who went northwai'ds settled in two
towns called Ka-noAco-gi and Nii-ta-gi ; the others at Ka-ga-U-u, or old town,
and because they took the lead in the journey were considered the grand-
fathers of the Indians." Roger Williams informs us that the south-west, or

Sawaniwa, was constantly referred to by the Indians of New England. "From
thence, according to their traditions, they came. There is the court of their

great god, Gawtantowit ; there are all their ancestors' souls ; there tliey also

go when they die, and from thence came their corn and beans, out of Cantan-
towit's field."

It will thus be seen that the general tenor and some of the more import-

ant details of the traditions of the Indians of the Algonquin stock, as they
have been presented to us by various authorities, are the same with those of

the foregoing remarkable records. These records are peculiar, chiefly as

giviAg us a greater number of details than we before possessed.

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE BLACKFEET INDIANS.

The Blackfeet originally inhabited that region of country watered by the
Saskatchawain and its tributaries, never extending their war parties farther

south than the head waters of the Marias river, or farther east than the head
waters of the Milk river, a tributary of the Missouri, into which it empties
about one hundred and fifty miles above the Yellowstone river.

The cause of their separation and dispersion over a wider range of country
grew out of a civil war regarding the claims of two ambitious chiefs, each
claiming sovereign powers, and each having different-colored banners or flags

—the one red, the other black. The warriors being divided, enrolled them-
selves under the two banners, and after many skirmishes and assassinations, a
pitched battle ensued, which resulted in the disastrous defeat of the black
chief.

The original tribe is now divided into three bands—the Blood Indians,

Blackfeet, and Peigans. The Blood Indians still remain in the noith, though
a portion of them make an annual visit to their relatives on the Missouri,

when their friendly feelings are such as to justify it. Tlie P{ngan3 formed a
treaty of alliance and friendship with tlie Flatheads, .which, with few inter-

i-uptions, has lieen kept in good faitli up to the present time.
The section of country that may now be considered as claimed and occu-

pied by the three bands, generally known as the Blackf(^et Nation, extends
from the waters of the Hudson Bay, south to the head walers of the Missouri
river, and to the northern sources of the Yellowstone river.
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Their only occupations, beyond the social circle, are war and
hunting. War, however, absorbs all other considerations, and this will be the
case, so long as their present laws and regulations exist. As soon as a youth
is capable of using the bow and arrow, he enlists under the wolf-skin banner
of some favorite war chief, and joins in the first campaign against their

hereditary enemies, the Crows and Assiniboins. These war parties frequently
last for one or more years, it being considered disgraceful to return without
scalps; and on one occasion, a war party, consisting of 300 young men, were
absent for four years, without seeing or hearing from their own people. The
cause of this extraordinary perseverance may be traced to their fundamental
laws, one of which prohibits a youth to marry, or have a lodge of his own,
until he has taken a scalp, or performed some other military exploit that will

entitle him to rank as a brave. Neither is he permitted to sit in council, or

be present at a feast ; and, what is still more mortifying to youth, he is not
allowed to join in a war or scalp-dance, when all the belles of the tribe are
seen in gayest feathers, jingling bells, and fancy paints.

The laws or regulations by which a Blackfoot camp is governed, are well
adapted to their peculiar condition, being legislative, judicial, and military.

The chiefs, as a general rule, are elective, though great respect is paid to

hereditary chiefs ; but they have little or no powei', unless they have distin-

guished themselves as warriors, and are supported by a band of braves. In
every camp there is a military police, which consists of all the unmarried
who rank themselves as braves, and a lodge for their accommodation is erected
in the centre of the camp, which is generally of a circular form. When any
matter of sufficient importance occurs, the subordinate chiefs are summoned
to attend at the lodge of the head chief, where the subject is gravely discussed,

and the decision made known to the war chief, whose duty it is to assemble
his soldiers, and carry the orders of the chief into immediate execution.

Though these orders from the chief sometimes condemn to death a father or

a brother of one or more of the soldiers, yet they never hesitate to obey. On
one occasion a wife of one of the chiefs being condemned for infidelity to be
stripped of all her clothing, her nose cut oflf, to be whipped out of the camp,
and to become the slave of any one who chose to take her, two of her brothers
assisted in carrying the sentence into execution.

All questions of peace or warf of the time for raising the camp, or in regard
to the regulations for a general hunt, are decided upon by the chiefs, and
carried into execution by the soldiers. Notwithstanding the camp might be
in a state of starvation, and there were plenty of buffalo or other game in

sight, no one, not even the head chiefs, would be allowed to disturb them,
without the consent of the council. The policy of this is obvious, as one
individual might frighten off a herd of buffalo sufficient to feed the whole
camp.
The Blackfoot has always been regarded as a treacherous, blood-thirsty

savage ; but this is a mistake, growing out of ignorance of his true character.

It is true, they killed and scalped a great many of the mountain trappers
;

but they found them trespassing on their hunting-grounds, and killing off the

game upon which they relied for subsistence ; and any other tribe, or even
civilized nation, would have retaliated for much less cause of provocation.

Those who have long resided among them, have always found them frank,

generous, and hospitable— ready at all times to repay any kindness they
might receive from the whites.

INDIANS OF CALIFORNIA.*

The men are generally tall — living in a state of nature, so far as dross

goes, not even possessing that natural article of clothing, a breech clout. The
dress of the female consists mostly of a Tal6 skirt, fastened around the waist

with a cord, and extending loosely to a little below the knees. They wear
their hair long behind, but so cut in front as to shade their eyes ; tattoo their

* History, Condition, and Prospects of the Indian Tribes, Appendix to Vol. V.
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chins with three lines ; and wear ornaments in their ears, formed of the leg

bones of fowls, ornamented with carving, and used also as a pipe.

The tribes living in the valley of the San Joaquin river inhabit houses

formed of mats laid on a framework of willow or cotton-wood ; but the Sacra-

mento tribes construct a more permanent habitation, made of a framework
of heavy timber, covered with mud and grass—the floor being about two feet

below the level of the ground. There are but two openings, a door for

entrance, and a hole at the top, for the escape of the smoke of their fires,

which they build on the ground. The men are indolent, doing only the

lighter labor, such as making their arms and nets, while the women collect

the grass seeds, acorns, &c., for their subsistence, in which occupation they

are attended by one or more of the elders of the villages.

Their food consists of grass seeds and acorns, pounded together, mixed
with water, and baked in the sand, whereby all the deleterious properties of

the acorn, as well as its bitter taste, are removed. Grasshoppers and crickets

also form a part of their subsistence, and these they collect by setting fire to

the prairies in a circle, when, moving in a body towards the centre, they drive

the insects into the flames, by which their legs are burned off. They are then

collected, and pounded with deer tallow, or any kind of grease they may
have, and used for food. As soon as the acorns commence falling, they collect

great quantities of them, which they put up in cylindrical stacks, from eight

to ten feet high, made of willows bound together by cords of wild hemp.
Their weapons for war and the chase consist of bows and arrows ; the

former being made of a kind of cedar, covered on the back with the sinews

of a horse or elk, which make them very strong and elastic ; the latter are

chiefly of cane— those used in the chase having a point of hard wood, those

intended for war are pointed with small heads of flint, beautifully barbed.

They are superstitious, knowing but little of the Christian religion, except

what they have learned from association, either with the whites, or with other

Indians who have been educated at the old Catholic mission, under Spanish

rule. The first fish of the season they offer to the Deity, on a platform erected

in the middle of a stream ; the fish being hung on a high pole, decorated

with feathers and other ornaments, beside which the medicine man takes his

place, and harangues for nearly the whole day, after which the fish is left to

decay.

Every village has its sweat-house, which is generally built near the edge

of a stream, so that when individuals have perspired sufficiently within its

walls, they may have the pleasure of an immersion in the cold water, which
is their usual mode of relieving fatigue.

The tribes of California are divided into small bands, speaking different

languages, and warring on each other, though living but a few miles apart.

Their general domestic habits vary but little, feeding upon the same kind of

food, and preparing it in the same manner. In their disposition they are

cowardly ; treachery and theft, as with most Indians, forming part of their

creed. Their animal food consists of the game of the country, except the

grizzly bear, which the uncivilized ones will not eat. Horses, both wild and
tame, form, particularly among those residing near the coast settlements,

their principal animal diet.

In the manufacture of their baskets and socks they manifest much neatness

and taste, particularly in those covered with feathers, which generally con-

sist of those of the summer duck, and scalps of the red-headed woodpecker,

bound round the top with beads of their own manufacture. They are also

very expert in weaving blankets of feathers, many of which have really

beautiful figures worked on them.

SUPERSTITIONS OF THE DAKOTAH INDIANS.

According to the Rev. Gideon H, Pond, of Minnesota, " Every Dakotah

warrior looks to the wakan-nian as almost his only resource. From him he

receives a spear and tomahawk, constructed after the model furnished from

the armory of the gods, and also those paints which serve as an armature for
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his body. To obtain these things, the proud applicant is required to become
a servant to the Ztiya-wakan, while the latter goes through those painful and
exhausting performances which are necessary preparatory to the bestowal of

them ; such as vapor-baths, fastings, chants, prayers, &c. The implements
of destruction being thus consecrated, the person who is to receive them,
wailing most piteously, approaches the war-prophet and presents the pipe to

him as to a god; while in the attitude of prayer, he lays his hands upon his

sacred head, and penetrated with a sense of his own impotency, sobs out his

request in substance as follows :
' Pity thou one who is poor and helpless—

a

woman in action— and bestow on me the ability to perform manly deeds.'

The prophet then presents the weapons desired, saying, ' Go thou, try the

swing of this tomahawk and the thrust of this spear, and witness the power
of the god to whom they belong ; but when in victory thou shalt return,

forget not to perform thy vows.' Each warrior is required to paint himself
for battle in the same manner as his arms have been painted by the prophet

;

and must never paint in the same manner at any other time, except it may be
in the performance of extraordinary religious rites. In this manner every
young man is enlisted for life into the service of the war-prophet. These
weapons are preserved as sacredly by the Dakotah warriors as was the ' ark
of the covenant,' by the Israelites, are carefully wrapped up in a cloth cover,

together with plumes and sacred pigments, laid outside of the tent every day,

except in the storm, and must never be touched by a female who has arrived

at the age of puberty. Every warrior feels that his success, both in war and
hunting, depends entirely upon the strictnesss with which he conforms to the

rules and ceremonies imposed upon him by the wakan warrior. The ' armor
feasts' are of almost daily occurrence in the Dakotah camp, when the fruits

of the chase are sufficient to supply them, at which time these arms are

always religiously exhibited. Thus the influence of the medicine-man, as a
warrior, pervades the whole community, and it is hardly possible to over-

estimate it ; though, however, vastly weakened by coming in contact with
civilization and Christianity. The medicine-men themselves seem to be well

aware of the fact, that the dissemination of knowledge among the people

tends directly to the destruction of their influence.
" In the capacity of a doctor, or wapiya, the influence of the Dakotah

medicine-man has scarcely any limits, as health is hardly more necessary to

the happiness of the Indian than the wakan-man is for the preservation of

health. It is believed that they have in their bodies animals (gods), which
have great powers of suction, and which serve as suction-pumps, such as the

lizard, bull-frog, leech, tortoise, garter-snake, &c. Other gods confer on
them vocal powers, and their chants and prayers are the gifts of inspiration.

" If the doctors are long without practice, they sufl'er great inconvenience

from the restlessness of the gods within them, to pacify whom they sometimes
take blood from the arm of some person and drink it. When one of them,

having been respectfully and reverently called upon, and liberally prepaid, is

about to operate upon a suffering patient— ' a little ox struggling on the

earth'— he has him placed upon a blanket on the ground, in a tent, with the

body chiefly naked, and also generally strips off his own clothes, except the

middle-cloth. After chants, prayers, the rattling of the gourd-shell, and
innumerable other trite ceremonies, making a variety of indescribable noises,

and muttering something like the following, ' The god told me that having
this, I might approach even a skeleton and set it on its feet,' he gets down
upon his knees, and applying his mouth to the affected part of the patient,

sucks with an energy which would seem to be almost superhuman— the

gourd-shell still rattling violently. In this manner the god which is in the

doctor pumps the disease from the sufferer. After sucking thus for a con-

siderable time, the doctor rises on his feet in apparent agony, groaning so as

to be heard a mile if the atmosphere is clear, beating his sides, writhing, and
striking the earth with his feet so as almost to make it tremble, and holding

a dish of water to his mouth, he proceeds with a sing-song bubbling to

deposit in the dish that which has been drawn from the sick person. This

laborious and disgusting operation is repeated at short intervals, for hours, and
the operator is thus enabled not only to relieve the sufferer, but also to discover
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the sin on account of which he has been afflicted, the spirit of which he sees

rush into the lodge, and violently lay hold of the unfortunate sinner, as if he
woald rend him to atoms. The doctor now makes an image of the offended

mimal whose enraged spirit he saw, and causes it to be shot by three or four

t^rsons in quick auccessicn, when the god that is in him, leaping out, falls

apon, not the image, but the spirit of the animal which the image represents,

and kills it. Now the sick man begins to convalesce, unless other offended

spirits appear to afflict him ; but sometimes the doctor is overcome by these

spirits and the patient dies, unless one of greater wakan powers can be ob-

tained ; for they are wakan to different degrees, corresponding to the strength

of this attribute as it exists in the gods by whom they are respectively

inspired. It seems to be tlje general impression that there are wakan-men
who are able to subdue any foe to health till the superior gods order other-

wise ; bat it is difficult to obtain their aid ; for if they are not properly

respected at all times, and well remunerated for their services, they let the

sufferers perish without exerting their power to save them—doing their work
deceitfully. It is also believed that they can inflict diseases as a punishment
for sins committed against themselves, that death is often the effect of their

wakan power, and that when they thus kill a person, they cut off the tip of

his tongue and preserve it as a memento of the fact. The people stand in

great fear of these medicine-men, and when sick will give all they possess,

and all they can obtain on credit, to secure their services ; frequently giving

a horse for a single performance. They are always treated with the greatest

respect, and generally furnished with the best of everything ; and if there

are impostors, this fact turns decidedly to the advantage of those who are

believed to be true. There are from five to twenty-five of these men and
women at each of the villages, most of whom have a fair reputation and con-

siderable employment ; and that, notwithstanding these Indians are now
receiving so much aid from our own people who follow the medical profession.

I do not believe that an individual Dakotah can be found, who does not

believe that these jugglers can heal diseases without the help of vegetable or

mineral medicines, except as this faith has been destroyed by the introduction

among them of science and Christianity ; and, even at this day, the persons
who do not employ them as waAiara j ugglers are very few indeed."

MYTHOLOGY OF THE SIX NATIONS.*

"An unlimited expanse of water once filled the space now occupied by the

world we inhabit, and here was the abode of total darkness, which no ray of

light ever penetrated. At this time the human family dwelt in a country
situated in the upper regions of the creation, abounding in everything con-
ducive to the comfort and convenience of life ; the forests were full of game

;

the lakes and streams swarmed with fish and fowl ; while the earth and fields

spontaneously produced a profusion of vegetables for the use of man ; an
unclouded sun enlivened their days, and storms and tempests were unknown
in that happy region.

" The inhabitants were strangers to death, and its harbingers, pain and
disease ; while their minds, freed from the corroding passions of jealousy,

hatred, malice, and revenge, were perfectly happy.
"At length, however, an event occurred which interrupted their tranquil-

lity, and introduced care and anxiety, till then unknown. A certain young
man, of high position, was observed to withdraw himself from the circle of

their social amusements ; the solitary recesses of the grove became his favorite

walks ; care and chagrin were depicted in his countenance ; and his body,
from long abstinence, presented to the view of his friends the mere skeleton

of a man. Anxious friends again and again vainly solicited to know the

cause of his grief, until, debilitated both in body and mind, he yielded to the

importunities of his associates, and promised to disclose the cause of his

troubles, on condition that they would dig up by the roots a certain white

• Paper by James Dean, Esq., of Oneida County, New York, in History, Ac, of Indians, Vol. VI.
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pine tree, lay him on his robes near the edge of the hole, and seat his wife
by his side. Complying with his request, the fatal tree was taken up by the
roots ; in doing which the earth was perforated, and a passage opened to the
abyss below, when the robe was placed by the side of the opening, and the
youth laid thereon ; his wife taking her seat by his side. The multitude,
eager to learn the cause of such strange and unusual conduct, pressed around

;

when, on a sudden, to their horror and astonishment, he seized upon the
woman, then enciente, and precipitated her headlong into the darkness
below ; then, rising from the ground, he informed the assembly that he had
for some time suspected the chastity of his wife, and that having now dis-

posed of the cause of his mental suffering, he should soon recover his usual
health and vivacity.

"All the birds and amphibious animals which now inhabit the earth, then
occupied the watery waste, to which the woman in her fall was hastening.
The loon first discovered her coming, and called a council to prepare for her
reception. Observing that the animal which approached was a human being,

they knew that earth was indispensably necessary for her accommodation,
and the first subject of deliberation was, who should support the burden.
The sea bear first presented himself for a trial of his strength, when instantly

the other animals gathered around, and seated themselves on his back ; but
the bear, unable to support the weight, sunk beneath the surfq^ce of the water,

and was judged by the whole assembly unequal to the task of supporting her,

and her prerequisite, the earth. Several others in succession presented them-
selves as candidates for the honor, and with similar ill-success. Last of all,

the turtle modestly advanced, tendering his broad shell as the basis of the

earth, now about to be formed. The beasts then made trial of its strength

to bear weight, and finding their united pressure unable to sink the turtle

below the surface, adjudged to him the honor of supporting the world. A
foundation being thus provided, the next subject of deliberation was, how to

procure earth, which, it was concluded, must be obtained from the bottom of

the sea. Several of the most expert divers went in quest of it ; but invariably,

when they rose to the surface of the water, they were dead. The mink at

length took the dangerous plunge, and when, after a long absence, his carcass

floated to the surface, a critical examination discovered a small quantity of

earth in one of his claws, which he had scratched from the bottom, and this

being carefully preserved, was placed on the back of the turtle. In the mean-
time, the woman continued falling, and at length alighted on the back of the

turtle, on which the earth had already grown to the size of a man's foot, and
on this she stood with one foot covering the other. Shortly after she had
room for both feet, and was soon able to sit down. The earth continued to

expand, and soon formed a small island, skirted with willow, and other

aquatic plants and shrubbery ; and at length it stretched out into a widely-

extended plain, interspersed with rivers and smaller streams, which, with
gentle current, rolled forward their tributary waters to the ocean. Atahent-
sic, the woman, then repaired to the sea-shore, erected a habitation, and
settled in her new abode, where, not long after, she became the mother of a
daughter, and was supported by the spontaneous productions of the earth

until the child arrived at adult years, when the latter was solicited in marriage
by several animals, changed into the form of young men. The loon first pre-

sented himself as a suitor, in the form of a tall, well-dressed, fine-looking

young man, but after due consultation with the mother, his suit was rejected.

Several others presented themselves, and were rejected by the mother ; until,

at length, the turtle, with his short neck, short bandy legs, and humped back,

offered himself as a suitor, and was received. After she had laid herself

down to sleep, the turtle placed upon her abdomen two arrows in the form of

a cross, one headed with a flint, the other with the rough bark of a tree, and
took his leave. In due time she became the mother of two sons, called, in

Iroquois, Yoskiki and Thoitsaron ; but died in giving them birth. When the

time arrived for the children to be born, they consulted together about the

best mode of egress from their place of confinement, and the youngest deter-

mined to make his exit by the natural passage, whilst the other resolved to

take the shortest route, by breaking through the walls of his prison ; ia
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effecting which he consequently destroyed his mother, thus giving the brst

evidence of his malignant disposition. The grandmother, enraged at her
daughter's death, resolved to destroy the children, and, taking them in her
arms, threw them both into the sea, but scarcely had she reached her wigwam,
when the children appeared at the door. The experiment of drowning them
was several times repeated, but in vain,

" Discouraged by her ill success, she determined to let them live. Then,
dividing the corpse of her daughter into two parts, she threw them upwards
towards the heavens, when the upper part became the sun and the lower part

the moon, which is the reason why the latter has always presented the form
of the human face. At this time began the succession of day and night in

our world. The children speedily became men, and expert archers. The
elder, whose name, in Oneida, was Tliau-wisk-a-lmi (a term expressive of the

greatest degree of malignity and cruelty), used the arrow of the turtle pointed

with flint, and killed with it the largest beasts of the forest ; while the younger,
whose name, in the same dialect, was Tau-lou-gliy-au-wan-goon (a name de-

doting unbounded goodness and benevolence), had the arrow headed with
bark ; but the former was, on account of his malignant disposition, and his

skill and success in hunting, a favorite with his grandmother. They lived in

the midst of plenty, but would not permit the younger brother, whose arrow
was not sufficiently powerful to destroy anything but birds, to share in their

abundance. As this young man was one day wandering along the shore, he
saw a bird, perched upon a bough projecting over the water, which he
attempted to kill ; but his arrow, till that time unerring, flew wide of the

mark and sank in the sea. He determined to recover it ; and, swimming to

the place where it fell, plunged to the bottom, when, to his astonishment, he
found himself in a small cottage, in which a venerable old man was sitting,

who received him with a smile of fraternal complacency, and thus addressed
him :

' My son, I welcome you to the habitation of your father. To obtain

this interview, I have directed all the circumstances which have conspired to

bring you hither. Here is your arrow, and here is an ear of corn, which you
will find pleasant and wholesome food. I have watched the unkindness both

of your grandmother and your brother, and while he lives the earth can never

be peopled
;
you must, therefore, take his life. When you return boms, you

must traverse the whole earth ; collect all the flint-stones into heaps which
you find, and hang up all the bucks'-horns, as these are the only things of

which your brother is afraid, or which can make any impression upon his

body, which is made of flint. They will furnish you with weapons, always
at hand, wherever he may direct his course.' Having received these and
other instructions from his father, he returned to the world, and began imme-
diately to obey his father's directions, which being done, the elder resolved

on a hunting excursion. On their way to the hunting-ground, he inquired

of the younger what were the objects of his greatest aversion. He informed
him (falsely) that there was nothing so terrific to him as beech-boughs and
bulrushes, and inquired in turn of Thau-wisk-a-lau what he most dreaded

;

he answered, nothing so much as flint-stones and bucks'-horns, and that

nothing else could injure him ; and that lately he had been much annoyed by
them wherever he went. Having arrived at their place of destination, the

elder went in quest of game, leaving the younger to attend to the menial

occupation of erecting his hut, and preparing such other accommodations as

he required. After an absence of some time, the elder returned exhausted

with fatigue and hunger, and partaking of a hearty repast, prepared by his

brother, he retired to his wigwam to sleep ; but when he had fallen into a
profound slumber, the younger kindled a large fire at its entrance. After a
time, the elder found himself extremely incommoded by the heat ; and the

flinty materials of his body, expanding by its intensity, were exploding in

large scales from his carcass. In a great rage, and burning for revenge, he
broke through the fire in front of the hut, hastened to a neighboring beech,

armed himself with a largo bough, and returned to chastise and destroy his

brother ; but finding that his repeated and violent blows had no effect upon
his brother, who pelted him with flint-stones and belabored him with bucks'-

horns, which caused the flinty scales to fall from his body in copious showers,
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he betook himself to a neighboring marsh, where he supplied himself with a
bundle of bulrushes, and returned to the contest, though with the same ill

success. Finding himself deceived, and failing of his purpose, he sought
safety in flight. As he fled, the earth trembled. A verdant plain, bounded
by the distant ocean, lay before him ; behind him, the earth sunk in deep
valleys and frightful chasms, or rose into lofty mountains or stupendous pre-

cipices ; the streams ceased to roll forward their waters, and, bursting their

barriers, poured down the cliffs in -"ataracts, or foamed through their rocky
channels to the ocean. The youuger brother followed the fugitive with
vigorous steps, wounding him continually with his weapons, and at length, in

a far distant region, beyond the savannahs of the west, he breathed his last,

loading the earth with his flinty form.
" The great enemy of the race of the turtle being destroyed, they came up

out of the ground in human form, and for some time multiplied in peace, and
spread extensively over its surface. Atahentsic, the grandmother, roused to

furious resentment for the loss of her darling son, and resolving to be
revenged, for many days successively, caused the rain to descend in torrents

from the clouds, until the whole surface of the earth, and even the highest

mountains, were covered ; but the inhabitants fled to their canoes, and escaped
the impending destruction. The disappointed grandmother caused the rains

r ) cease, and the waters to subside, when the inhabitants returned to their

former places of abode. Determining to effect her purpose in another manner,
she covered the earth with a deluge of snow, to escape which new evil they
betook themselves to their snow-shoes, and thus eluded her vengeance.
Chagrined at length by these disappointments, she gave up the idea of destroy-

ing the whole human race at once, and determined to wreak her vengeance
upon them in a manner which, although less violent, should be more efficacious.

Accordingly, she has ever since been employed in gratifying her malignant
disposition, by inflicting upon mankind all those evils which are suffered in

this present world. Tarenyawagon, in Oneida, Tau-lou-gliy-au-ivan-goon, on
the other hand, displays the infinite benevolence of his nature by bestowing
(in the human race the blessings they enjoy, all of which flow from his

bountiful providence. This personage afterwards dwelt among his brethren

under the name of Hiawatha. The name Tarenyawagon, literally translated,

is ' the Holder, or Supporter of the Heavens.' Hiawatha was the minister

of Tarenyawagon, and agent of his good will to mankind."
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NOTES, ADDITIONS, AND CORRECTIONS.

P. 47.—The whole of the letter of Gov. Bradstreet is tww printed in the New
Eng. Hist, and Genealog. Reg. ii. 150.

P. 51.—MuRDEB. OF Miss McCrea. Among the many versions of this tragedy-

there is one in Barber's Hist. Coll. of Neio York, pp. 569, 570, which may be

worth consulting; it would be, doubtless, had he informed ns how he got his

information. Perhaps from people in the neighborhood of the murder. We do
not like inferences when easily avoided.

P. 69.—This early voyage to New England has been reprinted entire, in 3 CoU.
Mass. Hist. Soc. vol. viii.

P. 83.—Respecting the visit of Sir Francis Drake to the coast of New England
before the settlement of Plimouth, our account is pretty full. The conclusion
there arrived at, that Drake did actually land somewhere in the neighborhood of

Cape Cod, we thought our authorities clearly justified. But some critical writers

since my work was published, questioning the fact, I am ready to confess that
the subject is not, nor did I ever consider it, settled beyond a doubt ; yet, after

all, it may be quite as difficult to settle it the other way, namely, that he did not

land in New England.

P. 111.—On this, and the pages immediately before and after it, notices are

contained of several chiefs and others who were living between Boston and Sa-
lem when the English came. The most of them had more or less to do with
all the whites who settled near them, and especially with those who settled at

and about Saugus, afterwards called Lynn. This circumstance brought their

history particularly under the investigation of the accomphshed historian of that

town, Alonzo Lewis, Esq. Oxlt text was written before the appearance of his

second edition, to which is added a great amount of the most valuable infor-

mation, of which we were not in possession. Therefore, instead of making a
long note here, of extracts, corrections, &c., we must refer oux readers to the
work of Me. Lewis, where the numerous facts will be found, clothed in the easy
and polished style of that writer.

P. 111.—Concerning SAGAMORE JOHN, we have a note as early as

1631. Li his letter to the coimtess of Lincoln, Gov. Dudley a&ys, "John is a

handsome young man—conversant with vs, affecting Enghsh Aparell and bow-
ses, and speaking well of our God."

—

James, the brother of John, *' commanded
not above 30 or 40 men." Dudley, ib.

P. 122.—" The most common pronunciation of the name of Miantonomo will ap-

pear, I imagine, in the following couplet from S. Danforth's Almanack for 1649 :

' And by thy fall comes in the English wo
If it may be by Miantonomo.' "

MS. note by John Farmer.

P. 182.—CAPT. TOM, ahas Wattasacompanum. Some of the proceedings

against this man have of late been brought to hght. His case is one of most
melancholy interest, and his fate will ever be deeply regretted ; inasmuch as the
proof against him, so far as we can discover, would not at any other time have
been deemed worthy of a moment's serious consideration. The younger Eliot

pleaded earnestly for him, that he might even have a new trial, but without
avail. In our MS. " Chronicles of the Indians," we have this entry

:

" 22 June, 1676. Death warrant signed for Captain Tom's execution." It is

directed to " Edward Mitchelson, Marshall GeneraU," who is ordered to see that
" Captain Tom Indian and Jno. Oultuck, Indian enemys be hanged on this day
after y« lecture till they be dead."

P. 183 SAMPSON OCCOM. There was a portrait taken of this distm-

guished Indian while he was in England, painted by M. Chamberlain, from
which a fine mezzotinto engraving was made by J. Spilsbury, and published on a

foHo sheet. It is thus entitled : " The Reverend Mr. Samson Occom, the first

Indian minister that ever was in Europe, and who accompanied the Rev. Nath'l

Whitaker, D. D., in an application to Great Britain for Charities to support y"

Rev. Dr. Wheelock's Inc^an Academy, and Missionaries among y* Native Sav-

ages of N. America." Published according to act of Parhament, Sept. 20
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1768, by Henry Pai-kcr, at No. 82 in Comhill, London. Portrait in possession of
the author.

P. 218.—The following curious document is added, to throw some light on the
Narraganset expedition of Dec. 1675 :

—

" "Whereas at the fireinge of Majo' Appletons Tent at Narragansitt Diuers
ai"mes and Clothes were lost by the fire belonging to perticuler persons, a
list of whom is taken and in the hands of Capt. Swayne, then Leiut. to Majo'
Appleton, who heretofore haue rec. no satisfaction for the same. This Court
[Gen. Ct. of Ms.] Doth order that repayration be made by the Country to the
persons Damnifyed by the b^ fire, and that the Committees of MHitia in the
severall Townes, doe allow Damage vpon the Accounts afibresd, and enter them
amongst the Disbursements of the s"! townes. The Deputyes haue past this

Desiruig the Consent of o' Honor^ Magistrates hereto.

William Torrey, Cleric.

15 Sept. 1676. Consented to by the magists. Edw. Rawson, Secrety."

P. 222.—Following other printed accounts of the war, we gave the name of
" Captain Crowell," which should be " Coxoell." James Cowell was of Boston,
before and after this war. In our MS. " Chronicles," above cited, we have a
circumstantial account of the affair which at this time brought him to the notice
of the historians. The account is by himself, as he gave it in a deposition, at
the trial of Capt. Tom, and is as follows :

—

" As I was returning from Marlborough to Boston, in the Contoryes searvice,
and had 18 men under my conduct, and about 3 miles from Sudbury wee ware
Suprysed with divors hundred of Indians, whereof this Indian Tom was one,
none by a grombleing sign or noyse y' he made ; as in my Judgement was y*^

cause of our bejng ffyored vpon ; at which tjme fower of my Company -was
killed and one wounded ; beside ffive horses were disinabled, [being] shot.

Vpon Capt. Wadsworth's ingadgen wjth [y*] Indians, I wentt backe and buryed
y* ffower men which ware kLLLed, whereof was Thomas [Ear ] and Hopkinses
son of Roxbury, Goodman, a son of Robert Wayles of Dorchister." " Sworn
in Court, 19 June, 1676."

P. 263.—MATOONAS. The following characteristic reflections and observa-
tions of Dr. Increase Mather, which the consideration of the acts and fate of
this chief seemed to excite in his mind, are extracted, as worthy of preservation
in this connection :

—

" Sow often have we prayed, that the Lord would re-member the cruelty, treachery,

and above all the blasphemy of these heathen

!

—This prayer has been heard in
Heaven. As for their cruelty, God hath remembered that, many of them falling

into the hands of the Mohawks or other Indians, who fought in our quarrel, used
their enemies after their own kind. And it hath been observed, that the ven-
geance from the Lord did pursue them presently upon the perpetration of some
horrid acts of barbarous cruelty towards such as fell into their murderous hands.
And as for their treachery, God hath retaliated that upon them ; as for the per-
fidious Narragansets, Peter Indian was false and perfidious to them, upon a dis-

gust received amongst them, and directed our army whereto find them. Treach-
erous Philip, one of his own men ran away from him, and told Capt. Church
where that grand enemy had hid himself, the issue of which was, another Indian
shot a bullet into the treacherous heart of that covenant-breaking infidel. Yea,
many of those cloudy and deceiptful Indians who were taken by Capt. Church,
would frequently destroy and betray their bloudy and false-hearted comrades.
Matoonas, who was the first Indian that treacherously shed innocent English
blood in Massachxisetts Colony, he some years before pretended to something of
religion, being a professor in general (though never baptized, nor of the in-

churched Indians) that so he might the more covertly manage the hellish design
of revenge that was harbored in his divelish heart."

P. 263.—" The murder at Wobum here referred to by Hubbard, apparently
as perpetrated a little before Philip's war, was not improbably the same as one
committed in the west part of "Wobum, now Burlington, the story of which has
been transmitted there by tradition from time immemorial, and is briefly as

follows : On a certain Sabbath, an Indian concealed himself in a hop house, the
site of the kiln of which is still pointed out, about a mile from Burlington meet-
ing-house, close to the north side of the road to Bedford, between the houses of
Deacon George Mclntire and of Miss Ruth "Wilson. "When he supposed the
neighbors generally had gone to meeting, he came out from his lurking-place,

and went to the house which then stood on the spot where Miss "Wilson's now is.

Upon entering, he asked for cider of a young woman that had been left at home
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In compliance with his request, she went to draw some ; but upoii her return,

he knocked her in the head as she reached the top of the cellar stairs. The
cellar door was dashed with her blood, the stain of which was never wiped off;

and when the house came to be taken down, not far from a century ago, to

build another on its site, this blood-stained door was removed as it was to the

barn, and there, and at a house m the neighborhood to which it was subse-

quently conveyed, it continued for years to be exhibited as a memorial of this

instance of savage cruelty." [Tradition in the AVilson family, &c.]

—

MS. Letter

from, Rev. Samuel Sewall, of Burlington, Ms., to the Author.

P. 264.—In the History of Framingham, Ms., by the Rev. Mr. Bakry, will

be found m.any important facts relative to the destruction of the family of Thom-
as Eames, of Sudburj% which that diUgent author derived from original MSS.
We have many others, shedding further light, in our MS. Chronicles above re-

ferred to, but our limits do not allow of theu- admission here. A few items from
himself are all we can at present add.

Thomas Eames came to New England about 1634. He served in the Pequot
wai% after which he was " maimed by the hand of God in his limbs." He was
born in the year 1616, and in 1668, was "the father of many children," " but
had not one foote of land in y<= countray of his owne," and was " very poore."

His fortune seems to have been much improved not long after, for when his

house was destroyed by the Indians, in 1676, he saj'-s, "Yea, I am now left des-

titute, and bereaved of almost all comforts of my life, and of euerj- bitt of my
estate, which the other day amounted to no less than aboue 350 pounds. And
being very lame and aged, and have half a dozen children, each under a dozen
years of age." This was about the close of PhiUp's war, at which time he asks

the General Court to grant him the land which had been possessed by those In-

dians that had destroyed his family; "seeing," he says, " the ten owners and
inhabitants yi'of are not now extant, 6 of them burned my house and family, 3

of whome haue been hanged, and the others are all fled %aito y« enemy." The
government granted him 200 acres of land, but he did not live long to enjoy it.

He died 07i the 25th of January, 1680, set. 64. For an account of his posterity,

consult the Histonj of Framinghatn.

P. 280.—The treaty entered into by the chiefs of the Eastern Indians and
English in the midst of Philip's war, seems not to have fallen within the notice

f the chroniclei-s, citlier of that time or since. Possibly Hubbard may refer to

in his Indian Wars. It being a document of great importance, is liore in-

serted entire, from the Massachtigcffs Archives.
" Pascataqua River, Cochecho, 3 July [1676.]

At a meeting of y Com« appointed by y-' Hon'' Genl. Ct. for to treat y^ Inds.

of the Eastern Parts in order for y« procuring an Hon" Peace with y'". Wee
w"" y« mut" consent of y Sagamores Underwritten in behalfe of themselues and
ye men—Indians belonging to them being about 300 in Number, have agreed as

followeth

:

lly. That hence forwards none of y" said Indians shaU offer any %'ioleiice to ye

persons of any Enghsh, nor doe any Damage to theyrs Estates in any kind what-

soever. And if any Indian or Indians shall offend herein, they shall bring or

cause to bee brought y« offender to some English authority, there to be prosecuted

by y^ English Lawes according to y" Nature of y" Offence.

21y. That none of said Indians shall entertain at any time any of our enemies,

but shall giue pscnt notice to y^ Comt'' when any come among them, ingaging to

goe forth w"' y" English agamst them (if desired) in order to y* seizing of them.

And if any of s'' Indians shall themselues at any time bring sucli o'' Enemies

\Tito vs, they shall for their reward haue £3. for each they shall so bring in.

31y. The Indians performmg on their part, as is before expressed, wee y= com-
ittee doe ingage in y behalfe of y" Enghsh not to offer any violence to any of

their persons or estates, and if any injury be offered to said Indians by any
English, they [their] complaints to Authority, y<= offender shall be prosecuted

by English Lawes according to y"^ nature of y' offence. In witness to each and

all y* prmises we haue mutually shaken hands and subscribed our names.

C Richard Waldern .-''^ Wanalanset, Sagamore

Comittee < Nic : Shapleigh ^^ Sampson Aboquacemoka
( Tno : Daniell '^^ Mr. Wm. Sagamore

V C^l Sqiiando Sagamore^ DoNY
AJ Serogumba

Sam" Numphow
The mark Warockomeb.
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P. 303.—A more precious document than the subject of this note, we seldom
have the satisfaction of laying before the public. It elucidates a passage in

New England's history of the deepest interest ; and had we space, much explan-
atory matter might be given.

" Honoured Mother
After my duty and my wifes presented to yourselfe these may inform you of

[our] present health of our present being when other of our friends are by the
barbarous heathen cut off from having a being in this world The Lord [of] late

hath renewed his witnesses against vs, and hath dealt very bitterly with us in

that we are deprived of the societie of our nearest friends by the breaking in of

the adversarie against vs ; On Friday last in the morning your own son with
your two sons in Law Anthony and Thomas Bracket and their whole families

were killed and taken by the Indians, we know not how, tis certainly known by
us that Thomas is slain and his wife and children carried away captiue, and of

Anthony and his family we haue no tidings and therefore think that thay might
be captivated the night before because of the remoteness of their habitation from
neighborhood, Gm Corban and all his family Gm Lewis and his wife, James
Ross and all his family, Gm Durham, John Munjoy, and Daniel Wakely, Ben-
jamin Hadwell and all his family are lost, all slain by siin an hour high in the
Morning and after, Gm WaUis his dwelling house and none besides his is burnt
there are of men slain 11, of Avomen and children 23 killed and taken, we that

are aUve are forced upon !Mr. Andrews his Island to secure our own and the
lines of ovtr families we haue but little provision and are so few in nimiber that

we are not able to bury the dead till more strength come to us, the desire of the
people to your selfe is that you woiild be pleased to speak to Mr. Munjoy and
Deacon Philii^s that they would entreat the Govemour that forthwith aid

might be sent to vs either to fight the enemie out of our borders that our Eng-
lish Corn may be inned in whereby we may comfortably hue or remoue vs out
of Danger that we may provide for our selues elsewhere having no more at

present but desiring your prayers to God for his preserv^ation of us in these

times of danger, I rest Your dutifuU Son
Thaddeus Clark.

ffrom Casco- :«.y 16. 6. 76. remember my Love to my Sister &c.

These ffoc Lii hctxCvXec Mother M.v'^ Elizabeth Han'ey living in Boston."

?. 312..-—" } iere •s:£.<<y«\cod that the Ic -<-•- cf Moultonbctruga was named in
• r.or of ©eiii Ji*MM'' ht<ifUion, of E[as:Ti;r- wr-o was a jrx.c:pal proprietor."

MS. note of John Farmer in a copy of the 3d Ed. of the Book, op the Indians.

P. 313.

—

Prof. Upham, of Bowdoin College, is the author of the ballad there

given. Farmer, as above cited.

P. 522.—CAPT. WHITEEYES. In the Narrative of Richard Bard's Adven-
tures among the Indians wiU be found some interesting details for an enlarge-

ment of thehfe of this chief. See Loudon's Selection of hid. Nars. ii. 57— 71.

P. 531.—BLALFKING. Besides the different Indian names which we have
given for this chief, another has been published in the " History of Westei-n Petm-
sylvania." He is there called Tanacharison, where it is also stated that he died

at Harris Ferry, (Harrisburg,) Oct. 1st, 1754. In another part of the same
work, (p. 71,) it is stated that he died at the house of John Harris, of that place,

and was buried by him.

P. 572.—Note %. In the Boston Courier of 31th August, 1843, it is mentioned
that the Capt. Neioman, who fell in St. Clair's defeat, was of Boston ; that he
was of the class of 1766, in the Latin school, while of the same class were Isaac

Coffin, since Admiral Sir Isaac, Dr. Jona. Homer, late of Newton, Dr. James
Freeman, &c.

P. 683. In our note stating the age and death of Daniel Boone, we have
made an alteration in conformity to information received from Rev. J. M. Peck.
It now agrees with what he has since published in his excellent life of the old

Pioneer, and corresponds very nearly with the facts in Niles's Register, printed at

the time.
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INDIAN LANGUAGES OF THE PACIFIC STATES AND TERRITORIES.*

BY ALBERT S. GATSCHET.

A few decenniums of research in our newly acquired western dominions

liave acquainted us with the singular fact that clusters of very numerous,
and for the larger pare narrowly circumscribed areas of languages exist in

these vast and remote regions. In California, and north of it, one stock of

language is generally represented by several, sometimes by a large number of

dialects and sub-dialects; but there are instances, as in Shasta and in Kla-

math, where a stock is represented by one idiom only, which never had
diverged into dialects, or the sub- dialects of which have become extinct in

the course of time. Although certain resemblances between them may be
traced in their phonological morphological character, they are totally distinct

in their radicals, and by this criterion we are enabled to attempt their classi-

fication by stocks or families. Any other than a genealogical classification is

at present impossible, for we do not possess even the most necessary gram-
matical data for the majority of the languages spoken along the Pacific coast. ,

For the western languages, and those of the great Interior Basin, our main
sources of information are (and will be for many years to come) vocabularies

of one hundred to two hundred terms each. Those obtained and published

frequently bear the stamp of dilettantism, sometimes that of profound igno-

rance of linguistic science on the part of word- collectors, who wholly under-

rated the great difficulty of taking down a set of disconnected words in a
totally unknown and phonetically unwieldy idiom. These word-gatherers

would have fared much better, and collected more reliable material, if they

had taken short sentences of popular imjwrt or texts containing no abstract

ideas. For an Indian is not accustomed to think of terms incoherent, or

words disconnected from others, or of abstract ideas, but uses his words
merely as integral parts of a whole sentence, or in connection with others.

This is the true cause of the large incorpoi-ative power of the American
tongues, which in many of them culminates in an extended polysynthetism,

and embodies whole sentences in one single verbal form.

At a time when the principal languages and dialects of Asia, Africa and
Australasia, the living as well as the extinct, are being investigated with un-

common ardor ; myths, popular songs, dirges and speeches collected, pub-
lished and commented upon with erudition and corresponding success, very
few of the American languages, north and south, have been the object of

thorough research. There is no scarcity of thorough linguists among us, but
the reason for their want of activity in this direction simply lies in the want
of proper encouragement from the authorities, the publishers, the press and
the public. This is very discouraging, we confess; but it shall not hinder lis

from examining somewhat closer this topic, and from trying to get at the

true facts.

The general public is very ignorant of languages and linguistics, and as a
rule confounds linguistics with philology. Many people have a horror of

philology because the Latin and Greek paradigms which they had to study in

college classes recall to them the dreariest days of compulsory education,

juvenile misery and birch-rod executions. From these two languages they
infer, superficially enough, that the study of all other foreign tongues must
involve similar mental torments. Others believe that the Indian languages
are not real tongues, deserving to be termed so; but only thwarted produc-
tions of the diseased heathen mind, because they do not agree with classical

models nor with the grammar of the primeval language of the world, the

Hebrew, " which was spoken in Paradise."

The majority, however, suppose that any Indian language is simply a gib-

berish not worth l)othering al)out; they ought to remember that every lan-

guage, even the most harmonious and perfect, is a gibberish to those who do

* Jloprinted from The Magazinf of American History (New York), for March, 1877.
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not understand it, sounding unpleasantly to their ears, because they are uu-
Rccustomed to its cadences and phonetic laws. The mastering of a language
is the only remedy against a certain repugnance to it on tiie side of tlie

listener.

A further objection which is sometimes raised against studying the tougues
jf the red niarij consists iu the erroneous assertion that they have no litera-

ture of their own. This statement is founded on a profound ignorance of
t'xisting facts, and moreover, is only the expression of the old-fashioned, uiis-

taken idea that languages should be studied only on account of their litera-

tures, thus confounding philology with linguistics. Indians never did and
do not write down their mental productions, simply because they do not
trace their immediate origin from the Eastern races, from whom we have re-

ceived the priceless gift of alphabetical writing; but that they really possess
such productions, as well as the Malays, Polynesians and South Africans, no
one can doubt who has read of Indian prophets, orators and story-tellers,

with their fluency and oratorical powers, who has listened to their multiform,
sometimes scurrilous mythological tales or yarns, heard their war-shouts, the
words accompanying their dancing tunes, or in the darkness of the night
overheard some of their lugubrious, heart-moving dirges sung by wailing
women, as tliey slowly marched in file around the corpse of some relative,

the whole scene lit iip by the flickering flames of the lurid camp-fires. A
volume of Schoolcmft's Indians contains a large number of Odjibway songs,

and the author of this article has himself obtained over seventy most inter-

esting and popular songs from the Cayuses, Warm Springs, Klamaths, Taos,

Iroquois and Abnakis, in their original fomi. So the wliite race alone is to

blame for its unperfect knowledge of the unwritten, often highly poetical

productions of an illiterate race.

The science of linguistics is of so recent a date, that few men have yet

grasped its real position among the other sciences. We must hencefortli

consider it as a science of nature, and reject the old conception of it as a

science of the human mind. Stylistics and rhetorics of a language may be
called the province of the human mind, but language itself is a product of

nature, produced through human instrumentality. Man does not invent his

language, any more than a bird does its twittering, or a tree its leaves. It

requires a whole nation to produce a language, and even then such nation

must start from phonetic elements already understood.

The innumerable agencies which give to a country its climate will also, by
length of time, shape man and his language. Nothing is fortuitous or arbi-

trary in human speech and its historical developments ; the most insignificant

word or sound has its history, and the linguist's task is to investigate its

record. Thus every language on this globe is perfect, but perfect only for

the purpose it is intended to fulfill ; Indian thought runs in another, more
concrete direction than ours, and therefore Indian speech is shaped very

differently from iniogermanic models, which we, in our inherited and un-

justified pride, are prone to regard as the only models of linguistic perfection.

The Indian neglects to express with accuracy some relations which seem of

paramount importance to us, as tense and sex, but his language is largely

superior to ours in the variety of its personal pronouns, in many forms

expressing the mode of action, or the idea of property and possession, and

the relations of the person or persons addressed to the subject of the sentence.

Another prejudice against the Indian tongues is derived from the filthy or

uninviting appearance of the red-skinned man himself. It is true that most

Indians seem veiy miserable, disgusting, poor, silly, even grotesque and

comical; yet this is partly due to the state of degradation to which he has

been reduced by the land-grabbing Anglo-American settler, who has deprived

him of his former, natural ways of subsistence ; but it is also a characteristic

of his cinnamon-complexioned race, and has been so for times immemorial.

In the numerous settlements, where the condition of the Indian has un-

doubtedly undergone a great change for the better, through the advent of

the white population, he seems just as miserable, shy, sad and filthy a;-,

before. To draw conclusions from the exterior appearance of a people on

their language, and to suppose that a man not worth looking at cannot spealc

a language worth studying, would be the acme of superficiality, and worthy

only of those who in their folly trust to appearances alone.
' Pursuant to these intmiations, I judge that the only means of bringing
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about a favorable change in public sentiment concerning tbe tongues of our
aborigines, is a better understanding of the real object and purpose of
linguistic science. Languages are living organisms, natural growths, genuine
productions of race and country, and scientilically speaking, it is as importajit

to investigate them as to describe minutely a curious tree, a rare plant, a
strange insect or aquatic animal. But to gather information on them with
success, a much more accurate method of transcription or transliteration than
those generally used by word-coJ lectors must be adopted. The old nonsensi-
cal method of using the English orthography, so utterly unscientific and
unbearable to the sight of every instructed man, has at last been discarded
almost universally. Only scientific alphabets must be here employed, and
an alphabet can be considered as such only when one sound is constantly ex-
pressed by one and the same letter only. Such alphabets have been proposed
by G. Gibbs, Professors Richard Lepsius, Haldeman, Alex. Ellis, and many
others, and it would be a fitting subject for a congress of linguists to decide
which system is the most appropriate for transcribing Indian tongues.
Cursive Latin characters must be used, and in some cases, altered by dia-

critical marks, to convey peculiar meanings ; the invention of new alphabetic
systems or syllabaries lilte those of Sequoyah, and the hooks and crooks
recently used for transcribing Cree and other northern tongues are not a help
to science, because they are not readily legible or reducible to the accepted
old-world systems of transcribing languages. A debate may also be started

by a linguistic congress, what term should be employed instead of Indian,
Avhich is unsatisfactory in many respects ; a thorough remodeling of the
terminology used in Indian grammars would form another fruitful theme of
discussion. Our indogermanic ideas of grammar must be entirely disre-

garded if we would Avrite a correct grammatical sketch of some Indian
language.

The vocabularies,""^" in the shape as we possess them now, are useful in

many respects. They do not give us much information about the structure
of the languages, but serve at least for classifying jjurposes, and the small
number of them which bear the stamp of accuracy in their notation of tlie

accent and the use of a scientific alphabet, at least give a foothold for Indian
phonology.

But men of science need a great deal more than tliis. Language is a
living organism, and to study it, we must not only have the loose bones of its

body, but the life-blood wdiicli is throbbing in its veins and forms the real

essence of human speech. Not the stems or words alone, but the inflectional

forms, the syntactical shaping of the spoken word and the sentence itself are

desideratums mostly craved for. Linguists must therefore, as reliable gram-
mars and full dictionaries (all the words properly accentuated !) cannot be
expected at once, place their hoijes in collections of texts illustrating the

native customs and manners, the religious beliefs, superstitions, scraps of

Indian history, speeches, dialogues, songs and dirges, descriptions of man-
ufactured articles, and of the houses, tools, implements and dress of each
nation and tribe visited.

These texts should be given in the Indian language, and accompanied by
a very accurate, and if possible, an interlinear and verbal translation of the
items. All the commentaries and remarks needed for a full understanding
of the texts should be added to it. The more material is furnished in this

way, the better our linguists will be enabled to disclose the hidden scientific

treasui-es stored uj) in these curious, but now almost unknown, forms of

liuman speecli, and to present them to the world, in the shape of grammars,
dictionaries and anthologies of aboriginal prose and poetry. To the ethnol-

ogist such texts will be just as valuable as to the historian and the linguist.

THE I-ANGUAGES OP THE "WESTEUN SLOPE.

A most singular fact disclosed by the topography of language-stocks all

over the world is the enormous difference of the areas occupied by the
various families. In the eastern luMuisphere, we see the Uralo-Altaic, the
Chinese, the Indogermanic, Semitic and Dravidian, the Pullo and tlie Congo-

* In 1875, thn 29th year from its foundation, tho Smithsonian Institution, in
AVashinf^ton, lia<l collectod texts, jihraseology, and 771 vocabnlarios of about 200 words
i\nch, but for unknown reasons had published only a small portion of this enormous
liiiRuistii; material.
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Kafriaii or Ba'-ntu family of languages, extending over areas mucli wider or
as "wide as the Tinue, Slioslioni, Algonkiu, Dakota, Cliahta-Maskoki anil
Guaraiii stock, while small areas are, perhaps, as numerous in the eastern
hemisphere as in the western. Their size evidently depends on the config-
uration and surface-quality of the lands, which again determine the mode of
the subsistence of their inhabitants.

The natives of a country, when not influenced by the civilization of the
white race, will in barren plains, steppes, prairies and woodland, generally
become hunters ; on the shores of the sea and on the banks of the larger
rivers, they will resort to fishing, and sometimes, when settled on the coast,
turn pirates or form smaller maritime powers, while the inhabitants of table-
lands will till the fields, plant fructiferous trees, or collect esculent roots for
their sustenance. Of these three modes of sustenance we see frequently two
combined in one tribe. The fishers live peacefully and in small hordes,
because large settlements, on one spot of a river bank at least, could not be
sujjplied at all seasons of the year with a sufficient supply of fish from the
river. Hunters become, from their nomadic habits, accustomed to a restless,

adventurous life, and in their thus acquired warlike disposition will con-
stantly threaten their weaker neighbors ; if opportunity offers itself will
declare Avar, overwhelm and enslave or destroy them, and thereby extend
the dominion of their own language over a wider area. Agricultural pur •

suits bear in themselves the germs of steadiness, of order and progress
;

countries settled and improved by agriculturists will gradually, when the
population becomes more dense, consolidate into oligarchies or monarchies,
generally of a despotic character. Such political bodies have frequently
absorbed neighboring communities engaged in similar pursuits, and turned
with them into powerful empires, as in the case of the Aztecs, Mayas, Chib-
chas and Quichhuas, in the western hemisphere. For obvious reasons pas-
toral pursuits were almost entirely unknown in America, but were powerful
agents of culture in Asia and Europe, since they facilitated the transition
from the hunter or nomadic state to the state of agriculturists.

California and portions of the Columbia river basin, with their numerous
rivers and the enormous quantity of salmon, trout and lamprey eel ascending
annually their limpid waters, were essentially countries occupied by fisher-

tribes, and before the advent of the white man, are supposed to have har-
bored a dense native population. Among these fisher-tribes we also find the
smallest areas of languages ; six of them are crowded on the two banks of the
Klamath river and many more around the Sacramento, although these
streams do not exceed in length, respectively, 250 and 400 miles. To pro-
duce or preserve so many small language families, totally distinct from each
other in their radicals, these tribes miist have lived during very long periods
in a state of comparative isolation, and have remained almost untouched by
foreign invaders, protected as they were by the sea-coast, and by the high-
towering wall of the snow-capped Sierra N evada.

In tlie wide basin of the upper Columbia river several tribes hunting the
bear, buffalo, elk, deer and antelope, roam over the thinly populated prairies,

and occupy enormous tracts of barren and sage-brush plains. Hunting
tribes need a wide extent of territory, and when it is refused to them they
will fight for it. Thus originate the constant wars of extermination among
many of these tribes, and their encroachments over others in regard to terri-

tory. Of this we find the most conspicuous instances among the nomadic
tribes roving between the Rocky mountains and the Mississippi river.

In their morphological character the languages of America do not differ

materially from the Asiatic tongues of agglutinative structure, except by
their more developed power of polysynthetism. But in many of their num-
ber this faculty remains only in an embryonic state, and by dint of a far-go-
ing analysis, some of them approach the structure of our modern European
analytic languages. Still, in a number of others, the incorporative tendency
prevails in a high degree; they are synthetic as much as the Latin, Greek or
Gothic—many of them superlatively so. They use not only prefixes and af-

fixes, as we do, but also infixes, viz. : particles, or particle-fragments, in-

serted into the stem. As a general thing, American languages are not sex-
denoting, though we find a distinction of sex in the dual of the Iroquois
iierb, and in some Central American verb-inflections, where ?U' is distinguished
frojn ylu h\ the personal pronouo. A true substantive verb to he is not found
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in any American language,* and the word-stems liave not undergone that

process of thorough differention between noun and verb which we observe

in German, English, and French. These three languages we call accentuating,

since the quantity of their syllables is of relative importance only, the iniiu-

snce of the accentuation being paramount. In many American languages we
observe, on the contrary, that accent shifts from syllable to syllable, though

only in a restricted number of words, and that instead of the accent length

and brevity of the syllables receive closer attention. Such idioms we may
call quantitating languages, for their system of prosody does not seem to

differ much from those of the classical languages.

No plausible cause can as yet be assigned for the frequent perhaps uni-

versal, interchangeability of b with p, d with t and n, g with k, x, and the

lino-ual k, in with b and v {w), hh with k, x J but as there is nothing fortui-

tous in nature or in language, a latent cause nnust exist for this peculiarity.

No preceding or following sound seems to have any influence on this alter-

nating process, and the vowels alternate in a quite similar manner.
From these general characteristics, to which many others could be added,

we pass over to those peculiarities which are more or less specific to the lan-

guages of the Pacific slope. It is not possible to state any absolute, but only

some relative and gradual differences between these western tongues and
those of the east, of which we give the following :

The generic difference of animate, inanimate, and neuter uouna, is of

little influence on the grammatical forms of the Pacific languages. A so-

called plural form of the transitive and intransitive verb exists in Selish dia-

lects, in Klamath, Mutsun, San Antonio (probably also in Santa Barbara,)

and in the Slioshoni dialects of Kauvuya and Gaitchin. Duplication of the

entire root, or of a portion of it, is extensively observed in the formation of fre-

quentative and other derivative verbs, of augmentative and diminutive nouns,

of adjectives (especially when designating colors), etc., in the Selish and Sa-

haptin dialects, in Cayuse, Yakon, Klamath, Pit River, Chokoyem, Cop-eh,

Cushna, Santa Barbara, Pima, and is very frequent in the native, idioms of

the Mexican states. The root or, in its stead, the initial syllable, is redoubled

regularly, or frequently, for the purpose of forming a (distributive) plural of

nouns and verbs in Selish dialects, in Klamath, Kizli, Santa Barbara, and in

the Mexican languages of the Pimas, Opatas (including Heve), Tarahumaras,
Tepeguanas, and Aztecs.

A definite article tlie^ or a particle corresponding to it in many respects, is

appended to the noun, and imparts the idea of actuality to the verb in Sahap-
tin, Klamath, Kizh, Gaitchin, Kauvuya, Mohave. In San Antonio this article

is placed before the noun. The practice of appending various classifiers or

determinatives to the cardinal numerals, to point out the different qualities of

the objects coimted, seems to be general in the Pacific tongues, for it can
be traced in the Selish proper, in the NisquaUi (a western Selish dialect), in

Yakima, in Klamath, in Noce or Noze, and in Aztec. In De la Cuestas' Mut-
sun grammar, however, no mention is made of this synthetic feature.

The phonological facts most generally observed throughout the coast lands,

from Puget sound to San Diego, are as follows ; Absence of the labial sound
F and of our rolling R (the guttiual kh or x is often erroneously rendered by
7') : comparative scarcity of the medial or soft mutes as initial and final conso-

nants of words; frequency of the k, or croaking, lingual k, identical with the

c cmtanuelas of the south ; sudden stops of the voice in the midst of a word or

sentence; preponderance of clear and surd vowels over nasalized vowels.

From all the information obtainable at present, we can properly infer that all

the above mentioned peculiarities will by future investigators be discovered to

exist also in many other tongues of our Pacific states. In the northern sec-

tions the consonantic elements predominate to an enormous degree, sometimes
stifling the utterance of the vowels ; many southern tongues, on the contrary,

show a tendency towards vooalism, though (he consonantic framo of the

words is not in any instance disrupted or obliterated by tlie vocalic element, as

we observe it in Polynesia. Languages, with a sonorous, sweet, soft, and
vocalic utterance, and elementary vocalism, are the Mohave, Hualapai, Mee-
woc, Tuolumne, and Wintoon (and Kalapupa further north), while the dialects

* Full and detailed information concerning tlie structure prevailing In American
languages will be found in Prof. J. H. Trumbull's article on Indian Lmgua^ges, iu ,Tohn-

son's Now Cyclopajdia, vol. II. New York, 1875.
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of the Santa Barbara stock seem to occupy an intermediate position between
ihe above and the northern languages.
Unnumbered tongues liave in the course of centuries disappeared from the

sm-face of these western lands, and no monuments speak to us of their extent,
or give a glimpse at the tribes which used them. Many others are on the
verge of extinction : they are doomed to expire under the overpowering influx
of the white race. Other languages labor under the continued influence of
linguistic con-uption and intermixture with other stocks, and the Chinook jar-

gon seems to make havoc among the tongues of the Columbia river. To
transmit these languages to posterity in their imadulterated state, is not yet
altogether impossible in the decennium in which we live, and would be a
higliiy meritorious undertaking. It would be equivalent almost to rescuing
these remarkable linguistic organisms from undeserved obUvion.

In the subsequent pages I attempt to give a synoptical survey of our Pacific
language-stocks west of the Rocky mountains (excluding the pueblos of
New Mexico and Arizona), based on the writings of such predecessors as
George Gibbs, Latham, H. H. Bancroft, Stephen Powers, and I have taken
pains to carefully compare their data with the linguistic material available.

For obvious reasons, I have found myself frequently constrained to dissent from
them, and I claim the decision of m^en of undoubted competency concerning
the correctness of my classifications.

Shoshoni.—The Shoshoui family borders and encircles aU the other stocks
of the Pacific slope of the United States, on the eastern side, and mj' enumer-
ation, therefore, commences with the dialects of this populous and widely-
scattered inland nation. The natives belonging ro this race occupy almost the

whole surface of the great American inland basin, extending from the Rocky
mountains to the Sierra Nevada. To the northeast, and all along the western
border, they have crossed these towering- land-marks, constructed by nature
itself, but do not appear to have interfered considerably with the original dis-

tribution of the tribes in the Californian valleys and mountain recesses. The
flispositions evinced by them are more of a passive and indolent than of an
aggressive, offending or implacable nature, though they are savages in the

truest sense of the word ; some bands of Utahs, for instance, really seem too

low-gifted ever to become a cause for dread to peaceful neighbors. We do
not yet understand any of their numerous dialects thoroughly, but as far as

the southern dialects are concerned, a preponderence of surd and nasalized a,

and u vowels over others is undoubted. They all possess a form for the
plural of the noun ; the Comanche, even one for the dual. Their dialects

are sketched in the rough as follows :

Snake.—This dialect received its name irom the Shoshoni, Lewis, or

Snake river, on whose shores one of the principal bands of Snake Indians
was first seen. Granville Stuart, in his Montana as it is (New York, 1865),

gives the follovdng ethnological division : Washakeeks, or Green river

Snakes, in Wyoming ; Tookarikkah, or Salmon river Snakes (literally,

Mountain-sheep eaters), in Idaho. These two bands he calls genuine
Snakes. Smaller bands are those of the Salt Lake Diggers in Utah, the

Salmon Eaters on Snake river, the root-digging Bannocks or Panasht, on
Boise, Malheur and Owyhee rivers, and a few others, all of whom differ

somewhat in their mode of speech. Snakes of the Yahooshkin and WalpahjJe
bands were settled recently on Klamath reserve in Oregon, together with a
few Piutes.

JJtaJi ( Yiitah, Mitaw, Ute ; Spanish, Ayote), is spoken in various dialects in

parts of Utah, Wyoming, and Arizona territories, and in the western desert re-

gions of Colorado, where a reservation of Confederated Utes has been estab-

lished, with an area of twelve millions of acres. To draw an accurate limit

between the numerous bands of the Utahs and those of the Snakes and Payutes
seems to be impossible at present, since all of them show the same national char-

acteristics ; I give the names of some of the more imjKjrtant bands of Utah
Indians, which no doubt differ to a certain degree in their sub-dialects: Elk
Mountain Utahs in southeastern Utah ; Pah- Vants on Sevier lake, southeast

of Salt lake ; Sampitches, on Sevier lake and in Sampitch valley ; Task- Utah
in northern Arizona ; Uinta- Utahs in Unitah valley reserve ; Weber- Utahs,

northeast of Salt Lake ; Yampa- UtaJts, south of the Uinta-Utahs.

Palate (Pali Utah, Pi- Ute—literally, River Utah; Utah, as spoken on
Colorado river), a sonorous, vocalic dialect, spoken throughout Nevada, in
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parts of Arizona and California. The dialect of the Southern PajTites on
Colorado river closely resembles that of the neighboring Chemehuems, but
differs materially from that spoken in northern Nevada, and from the dialect

of Mono and Inyo counties, California. Other Payute tribes are the Washoes
and Gk)sh-Utes.

Kauouya (Cdmio ; Spanish, Cahuillo). This branch of the Shoshoni
stock prevails from the Cabezon mountains and San Bernardino valley, Cal-

ifornia, dovm to the Pacific coast, and is at present known to us in four
dialects : Serrano, or mountain dialect, spoken by Indians who call them-
selves Takhtam, which means men, people ; Kauvuya, in and around San
Bernardino valley ; OaitoJiin or KecM, a coast dialect in use near the mis-
sions of San Juan Capistrano and San Luis Rey de Francia ; NetUa is another
name for it ; Kizh, spoken in the vicinity of the mission of San Gabriel by a
tribe calling itself Tobikhar, or settlers, and of San Fernando mission, almost
extinct. The two last mentioned dialects considerably differ among them-
selves, and from the mountain dialects of the Takhtam and Kauvuyas.

Co-manehe, formerly called Hietan, Jetan, Na-uni, in northern Texas, in

New Mexico and in the Indian Territory. They are divided into three

principal sections, and their language resembles in a remarkable degree that

of the Snakes.
Various Shoshoni dialects have largely influenced the stock of words of

a few idioms, which otherwise are foreign to this family. We mean the
Pueblo idioms of New Mexico, the Moqui of Arizona, and the Kiowa, spoken
on Red river and its tributaries. There exists a deep-seated connection
between the Sh6shoni stock and several languages of northern Mexico in the
radicals, as well as in the grammatical inflections, which has been pointed
out and proved in many erudite treatises by Professor T. C. E. Buschmann,
once the collaborator of the two brothers Alexander and William von Hum-
boldt.

Yuma.—The Indians of the Yuma stock are scattered along tjie borders
of the Lower Colorado and its affluents, the Gila river and the Bill Williams
fork. Their name is derived from one of the tribes—the Yumas—whom
their neighbors frequently call Cuchans or Ko-u-tchans. Some dialects, as

the Mohave, possess a large number of sounds or phonetic elements, the
English th amongst them, and are almost entirely built up of syllables which
contain but one consonant followed by a vowel. The verb possesses a plural

form. At present we know of about seven dialects : Mohave (Spanish Mqjave),

on Mohave river and on Colorado river reservation ; HuaZapai, on Colorado
river agency ; Maricopa, fonnerly Cocomaricopa, on Pima reservation, Middle
Gila river ; Tonto, Tonto-Apaches or Gohun, on Gila river and north of it

;

Cocopa, near Fort Yuma and south of it ; Cuchan or Yuma, on Colorado
river ; their former seats were around Fort Yuma ; Diegeflo or Comoyei,

around San Diego, along the coast, on New river, etc.

Scattered tribes are the koninos, and the Yavipais or Yampais, east of

the Colorado river. The term opa,, composing several of these tribal names,
is taken from the Yuma, and means man ; the definite article -tch joined to it

forms the word epach or Apache, man, men, people.

Pima.—Dialects of this stock are spoken on the middle course of the

Gila river, and south of it on the elevated plaias of southern Arizona and
northern Sonora (Pimeria alta, Pimeria ba ja). The Pima does not extend
into California, unless the extinct, historical Cajuenches, mentioned in Mexican
ajinals, spoke one of the Pima (or Pijmo, Pimo) dialects. Pima, on Pima
reserve, Gila river, a sonorous, root-duplicating idiom ; Nevome, a dialect

probably spoken in Sonora, of which we possess a reliable Spanish grammar,
published in Shea's Linguistics ; Pdpago, on Piipago reserve in southwestern
Arizona. The Pima language bears a close relationship to the various dialects

of the Opata family and to a number of languages spoken in the interior

Mexican state«.

Santa Barbaka.—We are not cognizant of any national name given to

the race of Indians who spoke the intricate dialects of this language-family.

Its northern dialects differ as much from the southern as Minitaree does
from Santee-Dakota, or Scandinavian from the dialects of southern Germany.

The southern dialects are : Santa Inez, near Santa Inez mission ; liturgic

specimens, translations of parts of catechisms, etc., of this dialect, and of
that of Santa Barbara mission, were forwarded to the Smithsonian Institution
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by Mr. Alex. S. Taylor, of Santa Barbara city ; Santa Ba/rbara, around Santa
Barbara nussion, closely related to Kasud or Kashwdh (Spanish Cieneguita),
three miles from Santa Barbara mission ; Santa Cruz island, this dialect re-

duplicated the root in forming the plural of nouns, and probably extended
over the other islands in its vicinity ; it is extinct now.

The northern dialects are : San Luis Obispo ; stock of words largely
mixed with Mutsun terms : the Indian name of the locality was Tixilini

;

San Antonio, spoken at or near San Antonio mission, known to us through
Padre Sitjar's dictionary. The plural of nouns is fonned in more than
twelve different ways, and the phonology is quite intricate.

MuTSXTN.—This name, of unknown signification, has been adopted to

designate a family of dialects extending from the environs of San Juan
Bautista, Cal.^ in a northwestern direction up to and beyond the bay of San
Francisco and the straits of Karquines, in the east reaching probably to San
Joaquin river. It is identical with the language called Bunsien or Bumsen,
and shows a great development of grammatical fonns. Its alphabet lacks
the sounds of b, d, f, and of our rolling i: We can distinguish the following
dialects : San Juan Bautista ; Padre F. Felipe Arroyo de la Cuesta has left

us a grammar and an extensive phraseological collection in this idiom, which
were published by John G. Shea, in two volumes of his Linguistic Series

;

Mission of Carmelo, near the port of Monterey, the Eslenes inhabited its

surroundings ; Santa Cruz, Jnorth of the bay of Monterey, vocabulary in

Netc York Histm'iad Magazine, 1864 (Feb.), page 68 ; La Soledad mission—
if this dialect, of whose grammatical structure we know nothing, really be-

longs to the Mutsun stock, it is at least largely intermixed with San Antonio
elements ; the tribe living around the mission was called Sakhones ; CostaAo,

on the bay of San Francisco, spoken by the five extinct tribes of the Ahwastes,
Olhones, Altahmos, Romonans, Tulomos. See Schoolcraft's Indians, vol. ii,

page 494.

Under the heading of " Mutsun " I subjoin here a series of dialects spoken
north of the bay of San Francisco, which, judging from the large number of
Mutsun words, probably belong to this stock, but show also a large amount
of Chocuyem words, which dialect is perhaps not, according to our present in-

formation, a Mutsun dialect. This point can be decided only when its gram-
matical elements, as verbal inflection, etc., will be ascertained.

The dialects, showing affinities with Mutsun, are as follows : Olamentke.
spoken on the foiTner Russian colony about Bodega bay, Marin Co., vocabu-
lary in Wrangell, Nachrichten, etc., St. Petersburg, 1839, and reprinted by
Prof. Buschmann ; San Rafael mission, Marin Co., vocabulary taken by
Mr. Dana, printed in Hale's Report of Exploring Expedition, and in Trans-
actions of American Ethnological Society, ii, page 128 ; the words are almost
identicaJ with those of Chocuyem ; Talatui or Talantui, on Kassima river,

an eastern tributary of the Sacramento, is clearly a dialect of Chocuyem
;

vocabulary by Dana, Tr. Am. Etlvn. Soc, vol. ii ; Ghokuyem or Tchookoyem
was the name of a small tribe once inhabiting Marin county, north of the
Golden Gate ; their language extended across San Antonio creek into Sonoma
valley, Sonoma Co. G. Gibbs' vocabulary, published in Schoolcraft, lii, 428-sq,

discloses the singular fact that almost all Chocuyem words are dissyllabic,

and frequently begin and terminate in vowels. A Lord's prayer in Chocu-
yem was published in Duflot de Morfras' Explorations, n, 390, and repro-

duced by Bancroft ; the name of the tribe living around the mission of San
Rafael was Youkiousme, which does not sound very alike, nor very different

from Chocuyem. Some of the more important terms agreeing in the Chocu-
yem and in the Mutsun of San Bautista, are as foUows :

ENeLISH.
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The supposition that the Chocuyem belongs to the Mutsun stockis greatly
strengthened by the mutual correspondence of these terms, but cannot be
stated yet as existing on this ground alone, for the terms for most numerals,
parts of human body, and those for fire, water, earth, sun, moon, and star

disagree entirely.

The Chocuyem stock probably included also the Petaluma or Yolhios, as

well as the Tomalo and other dialects spoken beyond the northern limit of

Marin county. From a notice published by Alex. S. Taylor, Esq., we learn

that Padre Quijas, in charge of Sonoma mission from 1835 to 1843, composed
an extensive dictionary of the idiom spoken in the vicinity of this religious

establishment.
YOCUT.—This tribe lives in the Kern and Tulare basins, and on the middle

course of the San Joaquin river. Consolidated in 1860 into one coherent
body by their chief, Pascual, the Yocuts show more national solidarity than
any other California nation. In the Overland Monthly, Mr. Stephen Powers
gave a sketch of this remarkable tribe, and described at length one of their

terrific nocturnal weeping dances, called Kotewachil. The following tribes

and settlements may be mentioned here : Taches {Tatches), around Kings-
ton ; Ghewenee, in Squaw valley ; Watooga, on King's river ; Chookchancies,

in several villages ; a King's rioer tribe, whose vocabulary is mentioned in

Schoolcraft's Indians, vol. iv, 413-414; Coconoons, on Merced river, their

vocabulary in Schoolcraft, iv, 413 ; a tribe formerly living at Dent's Ferry,

on Stanislaus river, in the Sierra Nevada of Calaveras county, vocabulary
given by Alex. S. Taylor in his California Farmer. In former years many
individuals of the Yocut nation were carried as captives to San Luis Obispo,

on the coast, and were put to work in the service of the mission.

Meewoc.—Stephen Powers {Overland Monthly, April, 1873), calls the
Meewoc tribe tKe largest in California in population, and in extent. " Their
ancient dominion reached from the snow-line of the Sierra Nevada to the

San Joaquin river, and from the Cosumnes to the Fresno : mountains, valleys

and plains were thickly peopled. " Bands of this tribe lived in a perfectly

naked state in the Yosemite valley, when 'this spot first came into notice.

The language is very homogeneous for a stretch of one hundred and fifty

miles, and the radicals and words are remarkably vocalic. Meewoc, mi-ua,

mivie, is the word for Indian, and osoamit, whence Yosemite, which means
the grizzly bear ; wakdlumni is a river, hence Mokelumne was formed by
corruption ; kossumi a salmon, hence Cosumnes river. Some of the Meewoc
bands were called by the following names, which probably represent as many
dialects or sub-dialects : Choomteyas, on middle Merced river ; Gawnees, on
Cosumne river ; Yulonees, on Sutter creek ; Awnaees, in Yosemite valley

;

GhoiDchillas, on middle Chowchilla river ; Tuolumne, on Tuolumne river.

Their vocabulary was taken by Adam Johnson, and published in School-

craft's Indians, iv. 413. Four Creek Indians ; vocabulary published in the

San Francisco Wide West in July, 1856, under the name of Kahweyah, but

differing considerably in the words given by Mr. Powers. Some further

Meewoc bands are called after the cardinal points of the compass.

Meidoo.—The Meidoo nation formerly extended from Sacramento river

to the snow-line, and from Big Chico creek to Bear river, the cognate
Neeshenams from Bear river to the Cosumnes, where the language changed
abruptly. The Meidoos are a joyful, merry and dance-loving race. Their
language is largely made up of vocalic elements ; vowels and n's terminate
more than one-half of their words. We possess vocabularies of the follow-

ing bands : Yuba, opposite the mouth of Yuba river, a tributary of Feather
river. A collection of some forty words was made by Lieut. Edward Ross,

and published in Historical Magazine oi New York, 1863, page 133. Gushna,
on mountains of South Yuba river, Nevada county. Vocabulary by Adam
.Johnson, an Indian agent, published in Schoolcraft, ir, page 494. Pvjvni,
or Bushuranes, on western bank of Sacramento river . Sccumnes, also west
of Sacramento river. Short vocabularies of hcii\\ dialects were collected by
Mr. Dana, and reprinted in Tr. Am. Ethnol. Sor.., vol. ti. Neeshenam,
south of Bear river ; Powers separates thein as a distinct nation from the
Meidoos ; but from the words given, it appears that both speak dialects of
the same language. Their bands are partly called after the points of the

(•ompa.ss. Of other Meidoo tribes or bands, we mention the Otdkumne, in the
Otakey settlement ; the OUas, opposite mouth of Bear river, and the Gon^ows
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or Cancows, in Concow valley. Mr. Powers gives the uunies of about a
dozen more. Perhaps the little tribe of the undersized iV'wt* or JVozes. in

Round mountain, Oalt run and vicinity, should be classified here, because a
few of their numerals, which almost all end in mona, agree with those of
the Cushnas. Mr. Powers supposes these and the ferocious Mill Creek
Indians to be of foreign origin.

WiNTOON.—The timid, superstitious, and grossly sensual race of the
Wintoons is settled on both sides of upper Sacramento and upper Trinity
rivers, and is found also in the lower course of Pit river. Stephen Power.s
calls their language rich in forms and synonyms ; their dialect, studied by
Oscar Loew, forms the plurals of its nouns by means of a final -t preceded by
a reduplicated vowel of the root. Loew's vocabulary, published with one of
the Uinta-Utah and thirteen others by the author of this article in liis recent
publication, Zwvlf Hprachen aits dem Siidwesten Nord-Amerikas ; Weimar,
1876 (150 pages), offers a few words of very difficult guttural pronunciation ;

but in general the language (called Digger in that vocabulary) is of a soft and
sonorous character.

Some of the more noteworthy Wintoon tribes are as follows : Doicpum
Wintoons, on Cottonwood creek, the nucleus of this race : Noemocs or
southern people ; Poomeocs or eastern people ; Nome Lakees or western
talkers ; Wikainmocs, on extreme upper Trinity river and Scott mountain ;

Normocs, on Hay Fork :. Tehdmas, near Tehama Town ; Mag Reading
Wintoons, vocabulary taken about 1852, by Adam Johnson, and published in

Schoolcraft, iv, p. 414. Cop eh. A tribe of this name was found at the head
of Putos creek, the words of which are mostly dissyllabic, and partake of
the vocalic nature of southern languages.

Stephen Powers calls by the name Patween a race inhabiting the west
side of the middle and lower Sacramento, Cache and Putos creek, and Naps
valley. Physically, the Patweens do not differ from the Wintoons. Their
complexion varies from brassy bronze to almost jet-black, they walk pigeon-
toed, and have very small and depressed heads, the arch over their eyes
forming sometimes a sharp ridge. They are socially disconnected and have
no common name ; but their language does not differ much in its dialects,

and belongs, a.s far as we are acquainted with it, to the Wintoon stock.

Powers (Overland Monthly, December, 1874, p. 542, sqq.) classes under this
heading a number of clans or bands, of which we mention ; Stdsiins, in
Suisun valley, Solano Co. ; Ululatos, in Ulatus creek, near Vacaville ; Leicytos
and Putos, in Putos creek ; Napas, in Napa valley ; Lolsels, east of Clear
lake ; Corusies, near Colusa, on Sacramento river ; Chenposels, on Cache
creek ; Noyukies, intermarried with Wintoons, on Stony creek ; Giiilulos or
Guillilas, in Sonora valley. A Lord's prayer given in their dialect, by Duflot
de Mofras, ii, p. 391, differs entirely from the Chocuyem, hence the Guilulo
may belong to the Patween stock. The words of the Napa root-diggers,

collected by Major Bartlett, and another vocabulary of the Napa have not
yet been been published by the Smithsonian Institution.

YuKA.—The Yuka or Uka language extends over a long and narrow
strip of territory parallel for a hundred miles to the Pomo dialects and the
coast, in and along the coast range. The area of the Pomo language, how-
ever, breaks across that of the Yuka from the west at Ukiah and surrounds
Clear lake. The revengeful race of the Yukas, who are conspicuous by very
large heads placed on smallish bodies, originally dwelt in Round valley, east

of Upper Eel river. Nome Cult, meaning western tribe, is the Wintoon
name for this solitary and fertile valley, which has become the seat of an
Indian reservation. Of the Yuka we have a short vocabulary by Lieut.

Edward Ross, in Neio York Historical Magazine for April, 1863. Surd
vowels, perhaps nasalized, are frequent ; also the ending -trm, -un, which is

probably the plural termination of nouns. No connection with the Chokuyem
is perceptible, but a faint resemblance with the Cushna can be traced in a
few words. Other tribes speaking Yuka are the Ashochemies or Wappos,
formerly inhabiting the mountain tract from the Geysers down to Calistoga

Hot springs ; the Shumeias, at the head of Eel river ; and the Tahtoos, on the
middle and south forks of Eel river, and at the head of Potter valley

Pomo.—The populous, unoffending Pomo race is settled along the coast,

on Clear lake and on the heads of Eel and Russian rivers ; a portion of them
now inliabit the reservation of Round valley, together with their fomier
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tormentors, the Yukas. Those of the interior show more intelligence and a,

stronger physical constitution than the coast Pomos. The Oahto Pomos and
the Ki Pomos, on Eel river, have adopted the Tinue dialect of the Wi Lakee,

which is closely allied to the Hoopa. Powers considers as the nucleus of the

numerous Porno tribes the Pome Pomos, living in Potter valley, a short

distance northwest of Clear lake. The language rapidly changes from valley

to valley ; but the majority of the dialects are sonorous, and the vocalic

element preponderates.

We enumerate the following bauds : Pome Pomos, earth people, in

Potter valley. Ballo Ki Pomos, Wild Oat valley people, in Potter valley.

GTwan Ghadela Pomos, Pine- pitch people, in Redwood valley. McUomey Ki
Pomos, Wooded valley people, around Little lake. Ifsdls or CamMel Pomos,
on Usal creek. Shehalne Pomos, neighbor people, in Sherwood valley.

Gallinomeros, below Healdsburg ; a few grammatical informations given in

H. H. Bancroft's Native Races, vol. iii, part second. Yuka-i or JJkiali, on
Russian river (not to be confounded with Yuka in Round valley); vocabulary

by G. Gibbs in Schoolcraft, vol. m (1853). GJwwesliak, at the head of Eel
river ; Gibbs' vocabulary in Schoolcraft, in, pp. 434, sqq. Batemdikaie, at

the head of Eel river, called after the valley in which they live ; vocabulary

in Schoolcraft, in, 434, sqq. Kulanapo, on southwest shore of Clear lake

;

vocabulary in Schoolcraft, in, 438. Bancroft has called attention to the fact

that many words of this and other dialects, spoken south of it, correspond to

Polynesian and Malay terms, but on account of the uncertain nature of

Oceanic consonantism, he is unwilling to draw any ethnological deductions
from this coincidence. Kulanapo agrees pretty closely with Choweshah and
Batemdikaie, but differs somewhat from Chwachamaju. Ghwachamaju, to

*he north of Bodega bay. The words in Wrangell's vocabulary (see 01a-
mentke, mutsun) appear to agree more closely with Yuka-i than with any
other Poiuo dialect.

WisiiosK.—Spoken ou a very small area around the mouth of Eel river,

on the sea-coast, and called so from the Indian name for Bel rives. We
know of two sub-dialects almost entirely identical, and showing a rather
consonantic word-structure. Vocabularies were collected with care by George
Gibbs, and published in Schoolcraft, in, p. 423. Weeyot, or Veeard, on
mouth of Bel river ; Wish'^tsk on northern part of Humboldt bay, near mouth
of Mad river ; Pataioat, identical with G. Gibbs' Kowilth, or Koquilth ; and
about a dozen other settlements speaking dialects of the same language.
Proceeding through the basin of the Klamath river, we meet with a number
of small, socially incoherent, bands of natives, engaged in salmon or trout
fishing on the shores of this stream and of its tributaries. Some do not
possess any tribal name, or name for their common language, and were in a
bulk called Klamath river Indians, in contradistinction to the Klamath lake
Indians, E-ukshiknit on the head of Klamath river. These latter I call here
Klamaths.

EuROK.—The Euroc tribe inhabits both banks of the Klamath river,
from its mouth up to the great bend at the influx of the Trinity river. The
name simply means down (down the river), and another name given them by
their neighbors, Pohlik, means nearly the same. Their settlements fre-
quently have three or four names. Requa is the village at the mouth of the
Klamath river, from which they set out when fishing at sea. The language
sounds rough and guttural ; the vowels are surd, and often lost between the
consonants, as in mrpr, nose; chlh, chlec, earth; wrh-yenex, child. In con-
versation, the Eurocs terminate many words by catching sound (-h"-) with a
grunt

;
with other Indians we observe this less frequently. They are of

daricer complexion than the Cahroks, and in 1870 numbered 3,700 individ-
uals in the short stretch of forty miles along the river.

Weits-pek.—In Schoolcraft we find a' vocabularv named after the Indian
encampment at Weits-pc^k, a few miles above the great bend of Klamath
river, on the North shore, whose words totally disagree with Eurok, Cahrok,
Shasta, or any other neighboring tongue.

Cahkok.—Gahrok or Garrook, is not a tribal, but simply a cx)nventional
name, meaning above, upwards (up the Klamath river, as fiurk means
down, and Modoc—probably—at the head of the river). The Cahrok tribe
extends along Klainntli river from Bluff creek, near Wcits pek, to Indian
creek, a distance of eighty miles. IVbtsik is n locnl imme for «. ps.rt of tlm
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Caliroks ; another section of them, living at the junction of Klamath and
Salmon (or Quoratem) rivers, go by the name of Ebnek. Stephen Poweiis
thinks that the Cahroks are probably the finest tribe in California ; that their

language much resembles the Spanish in utterance, and is not so guttural as
the Euroc. In Schoolcraft vre find vocabularies from both tribes.

ToLEWA.—The few words of the Tolewa, or Tablewah language, on
Smith river, between Klamath and Rogue rivers, which were given to G.
Gibbs by an unreliable Indian from another tribe, show a rough and guttural
character, and differ entirely in their radicals from any other language
spoken in the neighborhood.

Shasta.—At the time of the Rogue river war the Shastas, or Shastee-
ca.s, became involved in the rebellion of their neighbors, and after their
defeat the warriors of both tribes were removed, with their families, to the
Grand Ronde and Siletz i-eserves in Oregon. Hence, they almost entirely

dlsapijeared from their old homes in the Shasta and Scott valleys, which are
drained by affluents of the Klamath river, and also from their homes on
Klamath river, from Clear creek upwards. Nouns form their plurals by
adding oggara, ukara, many, and the language does not sound disagreeably
to our ears. We know this vocalic tongue only through a few words, col-

lected by Dana ; the Smithsonian Institution ovras three vocabularies. The
Scott's valley band was called Watsahewa ; the names of other bands were
T-ka, Iddoa, Hoteday, We-ohow.

Pit River.—The Pit river Indians, a poor and very abject-looking lot

of natives, live on upper Pit river and its side creeks. In former years they
suffered exceedingly from the raids of the Modocs and Klamath Lakes, ^\ho

kidnapped and kept them as slaves, or sold them at the slave-market at

Yanex in southern Oregon. Like the Pomos and most other Californians,

they regard and worship the coyote-wolf as the creator and benefactor of

mankind. Powers calls their language " hopelessly consonantal, harsh, and
sesquipedalian, veiy unlike the sweet and simple tongues of the Sacramento
river. " Redoubling of the root seems to prevail here to a large extent. A
few words from a sub-dialect are given by Mr. Bancroft, which do not differ

materially from the Palaik (or mountaineer) vocabulary printed in Trawf-

ii<:tvjns of Am. Ethnol. Soc, vol. ii, p. 98. After a military expedition to

their country, General Crook ordered a removal of many individuals of this

tribe to the Round valley reserve, where they are now settled. Pu-.sx,

Pu-isu is the Wintoon name of the Pit river Indians, meaning eastern people.

According to Mr. Powers' statement {Overland Monthly, 1874, pp. 412, sgg.),

the Pit river Indians are sub-divided in : AclioiMwes in the Fall river basin :

from achoma river, meaning Pit river. HamefcutteHes, in Big valley.

Astakaywas, or Astakywich, in Hot spring valley ; from astakdy, hot spring.

Illmawes, opposite Fort Crook, south side of Pit river. Pdco,moMies, on Hat

creek.

Klamath.—The watershed between the Sacramento and Columbia river

basin consists of a broad and mountainous table land rising to an average

height of four to five thousand feet, and embellished by beautiful sheets of

fresh water. The central part of this plateau is occupied by the Klamath
reservation, which includes lakes, prairies, volcanic ledges, and is the home
of the Klamath stock of Indians, who inhabit it together with the two

Shoshoni tribes mentioned above. The nation calls itself (and other Indians)

Mdklaks, the encamped, the settlers, a term which has been transcribed into

English MiKkalucJcs, and ought to include all the four divisions given below.

About 145 Modocs were, after the Modoc war of 1873, removed to Quapaw
agency, Indian Territory. The language is rich in words and synonyms, only

slightly polysyuthetic, and lacks the sounds / and r. They divide themselves

into : Klainaihs, or Klamath Lakes, E-uJcshikni, from e-ush. lake. ; on Big

Klamath lake. Modocx, originally inhabiting the ' shores of Little Klamath
lake, now at Yanex. The Pit Rivers call them Lutuam ; and they call the

Pit Rivers, MwUuash. or southern dwellers. Kdmbatvo^h, grotto or cave

dwellers, from their abode in the Lava Bed caves—a medley of different

races. Some Molele. or Molale, renegades of the Cayuse tribe, have recently

become mixed with Rogue Rivers and Klamaths, and have adopted the

Klamath language in con.sequence. No Klamath sub-dialects exist, the

idioms of all these tribes being almost identical. Klamaths and other south-
• rii <-)re.gouians communicate with other tribes by ine.ins f)f the Chino<ik jaigoa.
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The Tinne Family.—The Tinne family of languages, which extends
from the inhospitable shores of the Yukon and Mackenzie rivers to Fraser
river, and almost to Hudson's bay, sent in bygone centuries a powerful off-

shoot to the Rio Grande del Norte and the Uila rivers, now represented by
the Apache, Lipan, and Navajo. Other fragments of the Tinne stock, repre-

sented by less populous tribes, wandered south of the Columbia river, and
settled on the coast of the Pacific ocean ; they were the Kwalhioqua, Tlat

skanai, Umpqua, Rogue Rivers (or Rascal Indians), and the Hoopa. Follow-
ing them up in the direction from south to north, we begin with the Hoopa.

Hoopa.—The populous and compact Hoopa (or better, Hupo) tribe has
its habitation on the Trinity, near its influx into Klamath river, California,

and for long years kept in awe and submission the weaker part of the sur-

rounding tribes and clans, exacting tributes, and even forcing their language
upon some of them, as upon the Chimalaquays on New river, the Kailtas on
Redwood creek, and upon the two Pomo bands above mentioned. Powers
holds their language to be copious in words, robust, strong in utterance, and
of martial simplicity and rudeness. The Wylakies, or Wi Lakees, near the

western base of Shasta butte, speak a Hoopa dialect No information is at

hand to decide whether the Lassies on Mad river, the Tahahteens on Smith
river, and a few other tribes, speak, as the assumption is, Tinne dialects or

not.

jRogm River.—The Tototen, Tootooten, or Tututamys tribe, living on

Rogue river, and its numerous side creeks, Oregon, speak a language which
is, like the majority of Oregonian and northern tongues, replete of guttural

and croaking sounds. According to Dr. Hubbard, whose vocabulary is pub-

lished in Taylor's California Bhrmer, this nation comprised in 1856 thirteen

bands, consisting in all of 1,305 individuals. (See article Shasta). The
appearance of the numerals, the terms for the parts of the human frame, many
other nouns, and the pronoun, 7nine, my (ho, hwo, hu), induced me to com-
pare them with the Tinne languages. They differ considerably from Hoopa
and TacuUi, but singularly agree with Apache and Navajo, and Tototen has,

therefore, to be introduced as a new offshoot of the coast branch into the

great Tinne or Athapascan family of languages. The Smithsonian Institution

owns two vocabularies, inscribed " Rogue River," two "Tootooten," and one
" Toutouten."

Umpqua.—TheUmpquas live in and around Alsea sub-agency, on the

sea coast, together with the Alsea, Sayustkla and Coos Indians. Their idiom

is softer than the other branches of the Tinne stock. Further north we find

two other small tribes of the same origin, whose languages were studied only

by Horatio Hale, of Wilkes' exploring expedition. One of them was the

Tlatskanai, south of Columbia river ; the other, the Kwalhioqua, at the out-

let of this stream, both extremely guttural. On account of the smallness of

the tribes speaking them, these idioms have pi'obably become extinct ; their

owners merged into other tribes, and were identified with them beyond recog-

nition. They roved in the mountains at some distance from the coast and
the Columbia, living on game, berries, and esculent roots.

Yakon.—Before 1848, the Yakon tribe was settled on the Oregon coast,

south of the Tillamuks, numbering then about seven hundred individuals.

In the collection of fifty Yakon words, given in Transactions of Am. Ethn.

Soc, II, part 2d, pp. 99 sqq., we discover very few monosyllables, but

many clusters of consonants, not easily pronounced by English speaking

people, as kwotx^, fingers ; pusunt;<^l;t^a, three.

Cayuse.—The national appellation of the Cayuses, whose home is in the

valley of Des Chutes river, Oregon, is Wayiletpu, the plural form of Wa-tlet,

one Cayuse man. The Wayiletpu formerly were divided into Cayuses and
Moleles, but the latter separated, went south and joined other tribes (see

Klamath), or were removed to the Grand Ronde reserve. The Cayuses are

rapidly assimilating, or identifying themselves, with the Walawalas ou

and around Umatilla agency, about seventy miles east of De-s Chutes river

outlet, and a majority of them have forgotten already their paternal idiom.

Judging from tlie Cayuse words printed in the Transactions of Am. Ethn.

Society, II, p. 97, this language prefers consonantic to vocalic endings, and

possesses the aspirate th and /. The occurrence of both sounds, especially

of/, is not uncommon in Oregonian languages.

Kalapuya.—The original seats «f this tribe were in the upper Willa-
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!)i<:tte vaJiey. The laws of euphony are numerous in this languag-e, whose
utterance is soft and harmonious ; thus it forms a remarkable contrast with
all the surrounding languages, the sounds of wliich are uttered with consid-
erable pectoral exertion. The personal pronoun is used also as a possessive ;

no special termination exists for the dual or plural of nouns. Yamkalli, on
head of Willamette river, is a dialect of Kalapuya.

Chinook.—The populous, Mongol-featured nation of the Chinooks once
dwelt on both sides of the Lower Columbia ; but after the destruction of
four-fifthe of their number in 1823 by a terrible fever-epidemy, a part of the
survivors settled north, and now gradually disappear among the Chehalis.
The pronunciation is very indistinct, the croakings in lower part of the
throat frequent, the syntaxis is represented as being a model of intricacj.

To confer with the Lower, the LTpper Chinooks had to use interpreters,

although the language of both is of the same lineage. The dialects and
tribes were distributed as follows : Loicer Chinook, from mouth of Columbia
river up to Multnomah island, Clatsop; Chinook proper ; Wakiakum ; Kat
lamat. Middle Chinook—Multnomah, Skilloot. Upper Chinook—Watalla
or Wat;[;l^la, showing a dual and a plural form in the inflection of the noun ;

Klakamat, south-east of Portland, a tribe once dispossessed of its homes by
the Moleles ; the idiom of the Cascade Indians, and of the extinct Waccan-
essisi. Following the authority of George Gibbs, I mention also as an Upper
Chinook dialect the Wasco or Cathlasco language. From their original

homes east of the Dalles, the Wascoes were removed to the Warm Spring-
agency.

OaiNOOK Jargon.—The location of the Chinooks in the central region
of western border commerce, and on the outlet of the international roadway
of Columbia river, rendered the acquisition of the Chinook, or Tsinuk lan-
guage very desirable for the surrounding tribes. But the nature of this lan-
guage made this a rather difficult task, and so a trade language gradually
formed itself out of Chinook, Chehali, Selish, Nootka, and other terms,
which, on the advent of the whites, were largely increased by French, and
in a less degree by English words. The French words were derived from
the Canadian and Missouri patois of the fur traders. Two-fifths of the
jargon terms were taken from Chinook dialects, and as the inflectional forms,
prefixes and affixes of these unwieldy idioms were dropped altogether, and
replaced by particles or auxiliaries, the acquisition of the jargon became easy.
A comprehensive sketch of this idiom will be found in the preface to George
Gibbs' Dictionary of the Chinook Jargon, New York, 1863 (in Shea's Lin-
guistics).

We have similar instances of medley jargons from very disparate lan-

guages in the Lingua Franca of the Mediterranean ports, in the Pidgin Eng-
lish of Canton, the Negro-English- Dutch of Surinam, the Slave on the Upper
Yukon river, in a Sahaptin slave-jargon, and in the numerous women-lan-
guages of South America.

Sahaptin.—This name belongs to a small affluent of the Kooskooskie or
Clearwater river, and has been adopted to designate the stock of languages
spoken in an extensive territory on the middle and lower Columbia river,

and on its tributaries, Yakima, Paluse, Clearwater and Snake rivers. The
morphological pai-t of the Sahaptin grammar is rich and well developed, and
polysynthetism is carried up to a high degree. The exterior of the race

recalls the bodily structure, not the complexion, of the Mongolian type of

mankind. The easternmost tribe is :

Ne&-Percis, the most numerous and powerful Sahaptin tribe, settled on

a reserve in northern Idaho (about 2,800 Indians), or roaming in the neighbor

hood. A sketch of their grammar was published in Transactions of Ameri-
can Ethn. Society. The Avestern and northern Sahaptin tribes are the follow-

ing : Wida-wdla (rivermen), on Umatilla agency, in northeastern Oregon

PffZiwor Paloose, on Palus river and Yakima reservation ; Ydkama or Yakima,

on Ytoiraa resei-ve, Washington Territory. Rev. Pandosy wrote a Grammar,
Texts and Dictionaiy of this dialect, which were published in Mr. Shea's

Linguistic Series. From their habitat they are called Pshuanwappum

,

dwellers in the stony country. Klikitat, on Yakima reserve and vicinity,

formerly roaming through the woodlands around Mount St. Helens. UmatiUa,

on Oregon side of Columbia river nnd on Umatilla agency. No vocabularies.

Warm Spring Indians on west sidiG oi'MXMle Des ('liute.>^ river. They call
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themselves Tish^aui-hhlama, after a locality on that water-course, or Milli-

hlilama, from the thermal sources surging on the territory of their reserva-

tion {miili, bubbling, or tepid, hJildma belonging to, pertaining). A slave

jai-gon exists among the Nez-Perce Indians, which originated through their

intercourse with prisoners of war, and contains expressions for eye, horse,

riian, woman, and other most common terms, which are entirely foreign to

Sahaptin.

Selish.—The Selish family extends froin the Pacific ocean and the

straits of Fuca, through America and partly through British territory to the

Rocky mountains and the 113. meridian. This race is most densely settled

around Puget sound, and its main bulk resides north of Columbia river. By
joining into one name their westernmost and easternmost dialect, their language
has been called also Tsihaili-Selish, or Chehali- Selish. A large numL)er of

words of this truly northern and superlatively jaw-brealcing language are

quite unpronounceable to Anglo-Americans and Europeans—i. e., tsat;i;lsh,

shoes; skai^lent^l, tooman, in Tsihaili ; shit^ltso, shoes, in Atnah. This
stock abounds in inllectional and syntactical forms, and redoubles the root or

part of it extensively, but always in a distributive sense. It divides itself

into a large number of dialects and subdialects, among which we point out
the subsequent ones as probably the most important, going from west to north,

and then to the east ; JVsiefshaicus or 'lillamuk (Killamuk), on Pacific

coast, south of Columbia river ; Tsihaili, Ghehdli ; on or near Pacific

coast, Washington Territory : has three subdialects ; Tsihaili proper on Che-
hali river and "in Puyallup agency ;

Quiantl, Quaianfl or Ktmntlen ; Qiten-

inuitl. A few Ch<;hnUs and Chiuooks inhabit Shoalwater bay. Cowlitz or

Kd-iuditsk, spoken on Puyallup agency. Their ancient home is tlie vaUey of

the Cowlitz river, a northern tributary of the Lower Columbia river.

SoaicUlpi, west of Olympia city. This tribe once included the Kettlefalls

Indians. Nisqiudli, N'skimli ; east of Olympia, on Nisqualli river, settled

there in company with the Squaxins, on Puyallup agency. GbjJjlo.'m {S'Clal-

lam), on S'Kokomish agency, northwest of Oylnipia city. Twana, in same
locality. Dwamish, partly settled on Tulalip sub-agency. Lummi, on Nootsak
or Lummi nver, near the British boundary. This dialect is largely impreg-

nated with Nootka and other foreign elements. The ShusJ^vx/p, Saiwapa-

muck or Southern Atnah belongs to the Selish stock, but does not extend
from middle course of Eraser river and its affluents so far south as to reacJi

American territory. It closely resembles Selish proper. The eastern SeQLsIi

dialects are : (/Kinakane {Okanagan), with the subdialect St'lakam, on Okan-
agan river, a northern tributary of LTjjper Columbia river and on ColviDe

reserve, which is located in the northeastern angle of Washington Territory.

K'uUespelm, Kallispelin, or Pend d'Oreille of Washington Territory, on Peud
d'Oreille river and Lake Callispelm. The Upper Pend d'Oreille are settled

on Flathead or Jocko reservation, Montana. Spokane, on Colville resei-ve

and vicinity ; three subdialects ; Sngomenei, Snpoilschi, Syk'eezilni. SkiL-

s-uish or Coeur d'Alene ; on a reservation in northern Idaho. Selish propei' or

Flathead. Tlie tribe speaking it resides on Flathead reservation, and is

called so without any apparent defonnity of the head. The dialect lacks t3ie

sounds b, d, f, r ; it has been studied by a missionary. Rev. Gregory Menga-
rini, who at present is writing a second edition of his Oramimatical linguae

Selicae; the fir.st edition was published in New York, 1861 (in Shea's Lin-

guistics). Pi^kwau^ or Piskwas, on middle Columbia river and on Y&kiaiia

reservation, Washington Territory.

Nootka.—The only dialect of this stock spoken within the limits of the

United States is that of the Makah, Classet or Klaizzaht tribe in Neah bay

near Cape Flattery. The Smithsonian Institution published in 1869 a very

elaborate ethnological sketch of this fisher-tribe, written by James G. Swan.

Nootka dialects are mainly in use on Vancouver's island, which i,s divided in

four areas of totally different families of languages.

Kootenai.—'The Kootenai, Kitunaha, or Flatbow language, is siwken

on Kootenay river, an important tributary of Upper Columbia river, drainuig

some remote portions of Idaho, Montana and the British possessions A
lord's prayer in Kootenai is given in Bancroft's Native Ea-ces, vol. ni, p. bM.

in bestowing the greatest care and accuracy on the compositon of this

topographical survey of Pacific languages, my principal purpose was to give
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a correct division, of the idioms into stocks, and their dialects and subdialects,
and I shall be very grateful for suggestions correcting my statements, if any
should be found erroneous. To have given another location for a tribe than
the one it occupies at present, cannot be considered as a grave error, for many
American tribes are nomadic, and shift constantly from one prairie, pasture,

or fishing place to another, or are removed to distant reservations by govern-
ment agents. For want of information, 1 was unable to classify the Hhana
in Sacramento valley, the Hagnaggi on Smith river, California, the Chitwout
or Siniilkameen on the British-American border, and a few other tongues

;

but, in spite of this, I presume that the survey wUl be useful for orientation

on this linguistic field, where confusion has reigned supreme for so many
generations.

For the better guidance of students in ethnology and linguistics. I propose
to classify all the Indian dialects in a very simple and clear manner, by adding
to their dialect name that of the stock or family, as it is done in zoology and
botany with the genera and species. In the same manner as the Mescaleros
and Lipans are called Mescalero-Apaches and Lipan-Apaches, we can form
compound names, as : Warm Spring Sahaptin Piskwaus Selish, Wat^lala
Chinook, Kwalhioqua Tinne, Hoopa Tinne, Dowpum Wintoon, Gallinomero
Pomo, Coconoon Yocut, Kizh Shoshoni ( or Kizh Kauvuya ), Comoyei Yuma,
Ottare Cherokee, Seneca Iroquois, Abnaki Algonkin, Delaware Algonkin,aud so
forth. The help afforded to linguistic topography by this method would be as
important as the introduction of Linneaa terminology was to descriptiv^e nat-

ural science, for genera and species exist in human speech as well as among
animals and plants.

The thorough study of one Indian tongue is the most powerful incentive
to instructive and capable travelers for collecting as much linguistic material
as possible, and as accurately as possible, chiefly in the shape of texts and their

translations. It Ls better to collect little information accui-ately, than much in-

formation of aa unreliable nature. The signs used for emphasizing syllables,

for nasal and softened vowels, for explosive, lingual, croaking, and other con-
sonantic sounds, must be noted and explained carefully ; and the whole has to

be committed to such publishers or scientific societies as are not in the haMt of
procrastinating publications. Stocks and dialects become rapidly extinct in the
west, or get hopelessly mixed, through increased inter-tribal commerce, so
that the original shape, pronunciation and inflection can no longer be recog-
nized with certainty. The work must be undertaken in no distant time by
zealous men, for after " the last of the Mohicans" will have departed this

life, there \vill be no means left for us to study the most important feature

of a tribe— its language— if it has not been secured in time by alphabetical

notation.

COMPARATIVE VOCABULARIES OF THE SEMINOLE AND MIKA-
SUKE TONGUES.*

\

BY B U C K I X G II AM SMITH.

These words were recently taken down in Washington from the mouth
of a Seminole delegation from Arkansas—Foos-harjo, an educated Indian,

and Johnson, a black, speaking the Mvskoke, and Chocot-harjo, the Mikasuke,
the last communicating through the Mvskoke, and sometimes himself writing

out the words in his own tongue. The Indians were born in Florida, the

negro in Alabama.
Major Caleb Swan, U. S. A., in a report to the department of war re-

specting the Seminoles in the year 1790-1, states that they were inhabiting

country in Alabama, Florida, and the state of Georgia ; and, according to

tradition, that they came originally in roving bands from the northwest with

* Reprinted from The Historical Jfagazim (Slorrisania, N. Y.), lor August, 1866.
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the name Seminole ; that subsequently they conquered the Alabamas. and,
according to their policy, united that people to their own nation, called

Mvskoke ; that later, the Apalaches were added, and, at the time of writing,

he speaks of their having Mikasuka and some other permanent villages on
the Apalachicola river. The language had then undergone so great change
among the wandering hordes, still called Seminoles, that it was hardly under-
stood by the Creeks (Mvskokes inhabiting fixed settlements), or, in general,

even by themselves. It must be remembered, that, at the time he writes, the
nation had already added to their number the remnants of the Alabamas
or Coosadas, Uchees, Natches, Hitchitis, and Shauanos, with their several

languages, six constituting the number spoken by the members of the con-
federacy.

The Hitchitis resided on the Flint and Chatahooche rivers. They are
near of kin to the Mikasukes, to judge from the words of a small vocabulary
taken by Mr. Gallatin from a Chelaqui, reprinted here with numerals taken
at Tampa by Capt. Casey, and entitled :

" Hitchittee or Chel-o-kee Dialect,

spoken by several tribes of the great Muskokee Eace." Those speaking the
Mikasuke in Florida probably went from Georgia with the Mvskoke family,

and some of them, at the time of the cession of the province to the United
States by Spain, were living at a well-known lake bearing their name. From
names borne by geographical objects, they appear to have widely extended
their wanderings over the peninsula.

Whatever may be the theoretic histoiy of the early migration of the
Seminoles or Mvskokes, this much seems certain : the meaning of the word
Seminole is toandercr, strayed off, and is applied to the nomadic Mvskoke ;

that, while traditions among an unlettered people become vague and uncertain
in less than three generations from the time of the event they would com-
memorate, names preserved in the narratives of the march of Hernando de
Soto, attest that the Mvskoke language was in use among the Indians of
Georgia, over three centuries since.

ENGUSU.
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ENGU6H.

leeth
beard
neck.
arm
hand
fingers
thumb
nails
body
chest
belly
female breasts
teg
foot
toes
toone
beart
blood
town, village
cliief

warrior
friend
house
bread
kettle
bow
arrow
axe, hatchet
knife
canoe
moccasins
pipe
tobacco
sky
sun
moon
star
day
night
morning
evening
spring
summer
anitumn
winter
wind
thunder
lightning
rain
snow
fire

water
ice
earth, land
sea
river
lake
valley
prairie
hill, mountain
island
stone, rock
salt
iron
forest
tree, wood
leaf
bark
grass
pine
maize
squash
flesh, meat
dog
buffalo
bear
wolf
fox
deer
elk
beaver
rabbit, hare
tortoise

8EUIK0LE.
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ENGLISH.
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KNGUSU.



INDEX.

NoTS.—The names of Indians are printed in CAPITALS ; and all names of Crtbe* and In-

dian names of places are set in Italic type. This method of distinguishing articles the atMbor has
found, by experience, greatly to relieve the eyes.

Not only names of tribes, nations, and countries are italiciied, but such English names are

printed in the same letter as have been given to tribes, nations, and places inhabited by ladians.

A few baptismal or Christian names, and some names of places, will be foua4 in brackets.

Those are additions, and are not found in the body of the work.

A.
Abbio&dasset, sachem ofSwan

Island, 285.

Menaldes, their location, 9, 321.

Aben%uio, murder of, 306;
another, 333. .

Abi&ca, (Sam Jones,) 463,487.
.\BRAHAM,(a noted JVegrv chief,)

417, 433, 462, 479.

Actbon, greatexploitof, 336, 7.

Adair, James, Hist. Ind. 365, 385.

Adams, B. T., his exploit in

Florida, 481.

Adams, Henry, killed, 221

;

John, 287 ; John O., 108, 394,

456, 463 ; Lieut., 481 ; Mrs.—

,

killed, 221 ; Mr. — , escapes
massacre, 434.

Aqamcus, (Capt. Tom,) exploit

of, 334.

Agavoam, Ind. troubles there,110.

Ahatok, counsellor to Wampa-
TUCK, 109.

Ahattawan, Tahatta wan,&c.
112, 181.

AiTTON, John, chief of the Pe-

nobsrots, 320.

Akkompoin, (Unkompoin,) 92,

224.

Alcock, Eliz., captivated at

York, 292.

Alden, Col., killed, 586; Eliza-

beth, 255; John, 242, 306;
Rev. T., 227, 615.

.Aloerhan, betrays and kills

Philip, 226.

Alexander, son of Massasoit,
91, 92, 284, 187—190, 191, 200,

201.

.\llen, John ; Mason's Hist. I'e-

quot War, erroneously ascribed

to him, 170.

Allen, Wilkes, Hist, of Chelms-
ford, 181,282.

Allen, W., his Biographical Dic-

tionary, 51.

Allen, Lieut. H., killed at Point

Pleasant, 540.

AU.IGATOR, a noted Seminole

chief, 261, 318, 322, 331, SJS.

Au-muiPA, squaw chief of Vo-

hogany, 533.

.\llison, a capL in the Florida

war, 431.

Alma, Mr., .77 ; John, ib. 249,

250; Simon
J

ib.

Alna, the bng, wreck of, in

Florida, 487.

.\lston, Capt. in the Florida war,
4S4.

Ambrister, Col., wounded at

fVacasa, 406, 484.

America, why so named, 19

;

how peopled, 20—34.

Amherst, (Jen., 318, 547, 551, 2.

Amidas and Barlow's Voyage,
83, 114, 344.

Amoskeag Falls, Ind. ace. of, 283.

Amo9, Capt., exploits of, 269,
970.

Anasagnntacooks, country of, 6,

320, 336.
Anderson, G., in the fight at

Dunlawton, 425.

Anderson, Mrs., her plantation
ravaged, 425.

Andover, surprised by Ind., 306.

Andrew, his services, 295, 300.

Anecdotes, Ind., 34—45,516,596.
Androscoggin, signification of,

318 ; dispersion of the tribe

of, 316.

Annawon's Rock, description
of, 237.

Annawon, Capt., 82, 200, 201,
226, 235—239.

Anne, Queen, her reception of
Indian chiefs, 509, 510.

Antiquities, American, 55—64,
366, 604.

Appleton, Capt., his defence of
Hatfield, 217, 698.

Aquav iischioni, (Iroquois,) 499.

Aquidnek, purcliase of, by the
whites, 124.

Aratomakaw, anecdote of, 41.

Arbuckle, Col., 465.

Arbuthnot,A.,amongtlie Creeks,

405, 406
Archihau, a sachem of Polo-

mack, 41.

Arexus, his visit to Boston, 333.

Argal, Capt, seizes Pocaho.n-
TA3, 357.

Aristotle, supposed to refer to

America, 21.

Armistead, Gen., in the Florida
war, 394, 478, 494.

Armstrong, Col., destroys Kit-

tanning, 534.

Armstrong, Gen., in the Florida
war, 475.

Armstrong, Lt., falls at Emuk-
fait, 399.

Armstrong, Lieut., in Harmar's
campaigns, 686.

Arnold, Gen., 157; Quebec ex-
pedition, 319, 338.

Arnold, Lieut., killed in Har-
mar's defeat, 687.

Anecdotes, Ind. 34—45, 516, 596.

Androscoggin, signification of,

318 ; dispersion of the tribe

of, 316.

Arrahawikwabgut, p<i( to

death, 304.

Arthur, Lt in the Florida war,
493.

AscassasOticc, 138; hta war,
143, 144.

Ashby, Capt, 471 ; seizes Osce-
ola, 482.

AsHPETOH, hia exploit at Deer-
field, 282.

Aspi NET, sach. of fifsMstt, 78, 80.

AspiNtioiD, a Tmrradne, fables

about, 278.

As3ACAUBUiT, a Tarratine, 294,

323, 324, 340.

AssAcuMET, sold into slavery,

70, 73.

A8siMiNA94UA,a TarraHne tb\e{,

285,289.
Assinnaboints, IS ; devastated by

small-pox, 677.

AsuHMEQuiN, a nam«i of Maa-
9AS0IT, 81,239.

Atherton, Maj. Humphrey, 122.

134, 145, 155.

Atkinson, Theo., a prisoner, 292.

Atkinson, General, in Black
Hawk's war, 644—654.

Attakullakulla, 373—376.

Atwater, C.,( n westera mounds,
57, ."ig.

Aubert, first carries Indians to

France, 68.

Aucosiseo, (Abenakiea) '-.otintry,

112,277.
AuMSAQUEN, (Awa>a4.i;inJ 134.

Aulossa, massacre of Indians at,

391,397.
Avery, Captin Philip's war, 333.
AwASHAW, a noted JCirragan-

set, 261, 262.

AwASHoNES, of Sogkcnate, H9,
—257.

Atanemo, (Niniokbt,) which
see.

B.
Badlock, Captain, tortured at

Wyoming, 585.

Bagnal, Walter, murder of, 112.

Bailey, Col., at battle •fOuiUila-
cooche, 423.

Baker, Ensign, killed at Point

Pleasant, 540.

Bakor, Mr., himself and family
cut off, 487.

Bald Eagle, BHrrler at, ttf

whites, 538.

768
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BaUimore, Indians visit to, 663,

Bancroft, Lieut., relieves Exeter.
334.

Bancroft, George, his History of
U. States, 84, 356, 361, 362.

Bangs, J., juror to try IndsL, 196.

Barbour, J., Gov. Troup's threat
against, 455.

Barclay, Robert, 627.

Barker, S.,of Plymouth coi., 249.

Bajlow, on death of Miss Mc-
Crea, 51 ; on character of Po-
cahontas, 359.

Barnard, a noted CAeroAe« war-
rior, 398.

Barre, Governor, his Indian ex-
pedition, 501—503.

Barrow, Sam, taken and put to

death, 246, 247.

Barry, W. T., (P. M.) 455.

Barry, Rev. W., History of
Frainingham, 715.

Barton, Dr. B. S., 64, 542, 544.
Bartram, W., travels in Florida,

63, 64.

Bashaba, a name of eastern
chiefs, 71, 277.

Basset, Captain, in the eastern
wars, 270, 692.

Bassinger, LL, killed in Dade's
fight, 418.

Bateman, Edward, buys lands
of the Inds., 284.

Battles.—The first with Indians
in New England, 73; Strick-
land's Plain, 133 ; Punkatee^
set, 210 ; Pocasset, 911 ; Sugar-
Loaf Hill, 215; Rehoboth
Plain, 212; Bloody Brook,
216 ; JVurraa'anset Swamp, 219

;

Sudburv, 222; Bridgewater,
223 ; Pawtucket, 231, 234 ; Mat-
tapoiset JVeck, 246 ; Tur-
ner's Falls, 259 ; JVonid(rewok,
311; Pequawket, 313; Wheel
Wright's Pond, 335 ; Falls of
.Tames River, 363 ; FXchoe.

377 ; Jivlo.-ise, 391, 397 : Horse-
shoe, (Tohopeka,) 391—400;
TdUushatches, 396 ; Talladega,

397 ; Holy Ground, 398; Emuk-
fau, 399; Enotochopko, 399;
Davis's Creek, 406 ; near Sa-
vannah, 407 ; Ouithlacooche,

422 ; IVetumka, 424 : of Oke-
chobe, 483 ; Great Meadows,
532; Dunlawton, 425; Lake
George, 5j5 ; of Natc/ie Luste,
478 ; Lake Monroe, 479 ; Pt.

Pleasant, 539 ; Detroit, 551

;

St. Mary's, 57 ; Miami Rap-
ids, 576 ; Oriskana, 579 ; John-
ston, 587 ; of Newtown, ib.

;

Sllinisink, 588 ; Fort George,
596 ; Monongahela, 608 ; Tip-
pecanoe, 620 ; Thames, ib. ; Ma-
gaugo, 621 ; River Raisin, 625

;

Sycamore Creek, 645; Ouis-
CQnsin, 650; Mississippi, 652.

Baxter, Mr., of Kerniebunk, .'(36.

Baylies' History of New Plym-
outh, 226.

Beall, Captain, 487 ; exploits of,

488, 493.

Beal, Col., his exploit in Ala-
bama, 436.

Beane, Joseph, a captive, 292.

Beard, Inds. not without, 588.

Beaty, narrative among Indi-
ans, 53, 54, 117.

Beasley, Major, surprised and
slain, 389.

Beaujeu, M. de, commands at

Braddock's defeat, 608.

Beck, L. C, on western antiqui-
ties, 62.

Beekman, Capt., battle of San
Felasco, 474.

Beers, Capt., his defeat and
death, 215.

Bellamy, Capt, in Flor. war, 424.

Bellows, Col., his signal ex-
ploit, 338, 339.

Belton, Major, in the Florida
war, 416.

Benton, Thos. H., 427,448,449.
Berkeley, Governor, defeats Op-
ekankano, 361.

Berrt, Major Jack, 606 ; death
of, 672.

Bible, the, in Indian, 26, 33, 115,
17&

Bigelow, Col. Timothy, 320.
Big Elk. See Ongpatonga.
Bio Kettle, a Seneca chief, 606.

Big Tree, 607 ; his death, 601.
Big Warrior, speech of, to
Jackson, 409.

Biles, William, of Pennsylva-
nia, 529.

Billings, Rev. Mr., 257.
Billington, John, lost in the
woods, 78.

Black Bird, takes Fort Dear-
born, 630.

Black Buffalo, a Sioux chief,

dies, 633.

Black Dirt, 419, 433, 468.

Black Feet, destroyed by small
pox, 677; history of, 705.

Black Hawk, 43; in N. York,
665 ; escapes a biographer,
666 ; visits the Sencas, 667

;

liberation of, 668 ; his visit to

Boston, 674—676 ; his wars,
637—664.

Black Kettle, of Oncndaga,
503 ; killed, 505.

Black Snake, a Sen. chief, 597.

Black Thunder, a Fox chief,

631.

Black Willi AM, murder of, 112.

Black Poi nt, Ind. ravages at, 294.

Blind Will, killed by Mo-
hawks, 32Q.

Bliss's History of Rehoboth, 330.

Block Island, expedition against,

116, 168, 169 ; called Manis-
ses by the Indians, 167.

Blome, R., his account of -•Amer-

ica, 517.

Bloodhounds, used against Indi-
ans, 489—494.

Bloody Brook, disastrous battle

of, 216.

Blueford, Captain T., killed at

Point Pleasant, 540.

Blue Jacket, defeated by
Wayne, 576 ; his daring at
Fort Recovery, 689.

Blue Licks, battle of the, 684.
Bolton, Commodore, on the

Florida station, 429.

BoMAzEEN, 383—305 ; impris-
oned, 332 ; death, 304.

Bonilhon, Capt., defends Saco,
286,

Boudinot, Dr., on origin of the
Indians, 126.

Boudinot, E., 459, 460; execu-
tion of, 460.

Bouquet, Col., Ohioexpeditiona,
522, 694—9.

Bowlegs, a noted Seminole war-
rior, 406.

Bowers, J., attacked at Mosqui-
to, 425.

Bowles, W. A., 386, 387.
Boyle, Hon. R., 115, 282, 283.
Boyer, Mr., on N. E. nations, 23.
Brackenridge, on west, mounds,

56, 57.

Bracket, Capt. Anthony, cap-
tivity and death of, 29b, 302,
308, 334, 700.

Braddock, e.xpedition and death
of, 607—609.

Bradford, Gov. William, anec-
dote of, 37.

Bradford, attacked by Indians,
281, 295.

Bradford, Captain, killed at Mi-
ami, 572; another, wounded
at Emukfau, 399.

Bradford, Maj., ^t Pocasset, 255,
Bradford, Col., in the Florida
war, 476.

Bradstreet, Gov., 47, 697; Col.,
expedition of, 5^, 553, 692.

Branham, J., kid. in Flor., 471.
Brant, a Mohawk chief, 577

—

593.

Brewster, CapL Benjamin, 156:
Mrs., 145.

Briggs, Major, killed in St
Clair's defeat, 27L

Bridges, Lieut., killed in HaT-
mar's defeat, 687.

Bridgewater, alarmed, 223 ; fight
there, ib. ; burnt, 242.

Bright Horn, exploit of, 628.
Broadhead,Col., his expeditions,

557.

Brock, General, and Tecukseh,
623.

Brocklebank, Captain Samuel,
killed, 229.

Brooke, Lieut., killed at Okee-
chobee, 483.

Brookfield, besieged and burnt,
213, 214, 263.

Brooks, Wm., juror to try Indi-
ans, 196.

Brooks, Mary, murdered, 327.
Brown, Col., in the Florida war,

476.

Brown, James, of Swanzey,
198, 205, 206.

Brown, Sir T., on color of Indi-
ans, -37, 28 ; Mary, 255: John,
200, 284.

Bruten, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 473, 474.

Bryant's Station, memorable
seige of, 682.

Buffon, on Amer. animals, 98.
Bull's garrison taken and burnt,

262.
Books, notions of Indians con- I Bull, Capt., at Schenectady, 47.

cerning, 53, 676 ; written with
one pen, 178.

Boone, Dan., 681, 683—685, 716.
Bostick, Mr., wounded in Flor-

ida, 471.

Bo.ston, {Shawmut,) discovered
by the Pilgrims, 104; early
visits of Indians to, 91 ; first

Indian sachem of, known to
the English, 94, 108, 110, 111,

113 ; Indians send word they
will dine there on Election
day, 222; they threaten to

burn it, 266.

Bunch, Mr., family ef, cut off in
Florida, 489.

BuoKONOAHELAs, 558—561.
Burgoyne, Gen., employs Indi-

ans, 219.

Burr, Col., bis Quebec expedi-
tion, 320.

Burton, J., murders an Ind.,362
Burton, Col., wounded at Mo-

nongahela, 609.

Bushy Run, battle of, 691,698
Butler, Richard, Ind. com., 607.
Butler, Col., killed at St, Clait'a

defeat, 570
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Butler, John, commander at

Wyoming, 585, 590.

Butler, Mr., missionary to the

Cherokees, 456.

Butler, Walter, a tory leader of

Indians, 587.

Butler, Col., in the Florida war,
432.

Butrick, Mr., missionary to the

Indians, 395.

Butterfield, Mr., killed by the

Pequots, 169.

c.

Cabot, S., takes Indians to Eng-
land, 67.

Cabrera, P. F., on peopling

America, 33.

Cffisar, 25, 85 ; never fought In-

dians, 477.

Calhoun, J. C, Ind. Rep. of, 445.

Calieres, De, his Iroquois expe-

dition, 504.

Califomians, unlike the Asiatics,

23 ; present condition, 706.

Call, Gov. of Florida, 416, 475—
479, 490.

Callender, John, Century Dis-

course of, 208, 25a
Calumet, 100 ; origin of the

name, 554, n.

Calvert, Gov., arrives in Mary-
land, 41.

Cambi!eleng,Mr., on the Florida

war, 428.

Campbell, T., his Last Man, 80,

584.

Campbel, Lt. Col., at Oriskana,

581.

Cammett, S., wrecked on coast

of Florida, 48a
CaTiada, why so named, 39.

CaiuijoJiarrie, destroyed by the

Indians, 588.

Cakasatboo, a Delaware chief,

514—516.
Candiff, Ensign, killed at Point

Pleasant, 540.

Ca!»onchet, (Nanuntbnio,)
which see.

CANoi«icu3,a JVorra^ojisrt chief,

118—121.
Oapron, Lieut., in the Florida

war, 423.

Card, F., hie captivity, 294.

Carlton, Gov., employs Indians,

340.
Carpenter, John, perilous escape

of, 519.

Carpenter, W., distress in Phil-

ip's war, 220.

Carroll, Gen.. 399 : Cherokee

mission of, 442.

Carthaginians, peopled Amer-
ica (?) 21.

Cartier, carries Inds. to France,
69.

Carver, Capt. J., his western
travels, 548, 549.

Casco, anciently Aucocisco, 112
;

battle of, 86 ; siege of,174 ; de-

struction of, 176,303,716; Col.

Church's operation« at, 270.

Cabhawasset, 131, 174, 199.

Cassassinnamon, 163, 174, 233.

Cass, Col. L., 621
;

governor,

635, 637, 672.

Castiens, Baron, notice of, 290
—293.

Caswell, Capt., in the Florida
war, 424.

Catafazat, a Pequol, 146, 233.

Catatauoh, broUier of Pow
MATA If, 363.

Catlin, George, his sketches of
Indians, 659.

Caughnewaga, a place of pray-
ing Indians, 611.

Caunbitant, 93 ; a war with
him, 94.

Cawlfield, Col., in the Florida
war, 478.

Center,Adj., kid. at OA-feAo*c,483.

Chaikika, surprised and killed,

495.

Chairs, Mr. G., family of mur-
dered, 489.

Challons, Capt., voyage to N.
England, 70.

Chalmers, George, Political An-
nals, 75.

Chamberlain, John, kills Pau-
avs, 306.

Chambers, Lieut., his successes
in Florida, 478.

Chanco, betrays Opekankano's
plot. 361.

Chandler, Gen., taken prisoner,

628.

Chapin, Cor., in the battle of

Ouithlecoochee, 423.

Chaplain, Abraham, on JVel^k

Indians, 54.

Charles I. did not name New
England, 83 ; Charles V., 366 ;

Charles III. of Spain, 385; of
England, 38, 207.

Charles River, falls of, (Cowate,)
179.

Charlevoix, Hist, of N. France,
48 ; on the destruction of .Afor-

ridgeiook, 311 ; on Assacam-
EuiT, 323 ; ilia account of the
destruction of Haverhill, 325

;

of Deerfield, 327,328 ; of Sche-
nectady, 47—50 ; observations
of, 499, 500, 506, 509, 546.

Charlotte Harbor, attack upon,
471.

Chelmsford, (JVamekeake,) 179;
troubles there, 180 ; Indians
massacred there, 301 ; Allen's
History of, 181, 282

Cherokees, 364—366 ; expatria-,

tionof,437—472; 700, news?
paper, 454, 458, 459

Cherry Valley, destruction of,

582, 585, 6.

Chikataobut, 94, 99, 107—
109.

Chikatomo, depredations of,

565, 569.

Chikon, a JVarraganset chief,

killed, 269.

Chinnabv, relieved by Jackson,
395.

CHLncco, a Seminole chief, 379,
380.

Chocobua, legend concerning,
285.

Chokfaws, country of, 7, 365, 698.
Cliopart, M., killed for his

abuses, 382, 383.

Christianity, why it has de-
clined among Indians, 175.

Chronicles of the Indians, 713.

Chrysostom derides philosophy,
30.

Chubb, Capt., 305 ; killed at

Andover, 306.

Church, Col. Benj., 188, 189,197,
200, 210, 219, 223—227, 235—9,
242—257, 270, 294, 307, 330,
334 ; Caleb, 263.

Churchman, John, on Indian
troubles in Pa., 680.

CHUtlUACUTTAOUE, (OoDBLE-
HCAD,) killed, 46L

Claiborne, Gen., expeditions of,

398.

^lark, T., his letter on the de-

struction of Casco, 716.

Clark, R., escapes from Dade't
massacre, 418.

Clarke, (Thomas.') family de-
stroyed, 245 ; Gen., G. R.,

561 ; his e.\peditions, 685;
Lieut., killed in Hariner's de-
feat, 687.

Clay, Henry, 426, 439, 448.

Clayton, Judge A. S., and the
Cherokees, 453—455.

Clinch, Gen. D. L., 416, 422,
469—471.

Clinton, De Witt, 34, 597.

Close, Mrs., has the first child

born in Georgia, 369.

Cloyce, Sarah, accused of witch-
craft, 184.

Clyde, Major, in the fight at

Oriskana, 581.

CoACHoocHE, (Wild Cat,) 481,
483.

CoAHAJO, (Alligator,) 261,
318,322,331,338.

Gobbet, Thos., his captivity, 290.

Coburn, R., Indian agent, 340.

Cocheco, (Dover, N.d.,) 280,281
;

serious troubles there, 296—9;
destruction of, 298, 299 ; treaty
vfith eastern Inds. there, 716.

Cocke, Gen., in the Creek war,
39Z.

Coddington, W., purchases R,
Island, 124.

Coffee, Gen., in the Creek war,
391, 395, 396, 399.

Cog^eshall, John, 199.

Cohen, Mr., his Hist, of the
Florida War, 426.

Cold, Capt., in tight at Foit
George, 597.

Colden, Hist, of Five JVati<ms,48.
Cole, Hugh, 199, -206.

Collicut, (Culaciit in text,) in the
Pequot war, 171.

CoLBURT, Gen., a Chikasaw, 401
Coligni sends a colony to Flori

da, 366.

Collins, Mr., killed by the In-
dians, 133.

Colman, John, killed, 68,

Colooshatchie, ni.issacre at, 489.
Columbus takes Indians to

Spain, 67, 68.

Colton, Mr., killed by lnds.,435
Comets, viewed as ominous, 80.

Concord, Mass., (JHusketaquid.)

112, 181.

CoNjANA<i0oWD, a JVarraganset
chief, 122.

CoNNECTicoTE, a Molugtm
chief, 166.

Converse, Capt. J., his heroic de-
fence of Wells, 291, 335.

Conway, Peter, a J\A;imu4,275.
Consert, Cornelius, 208, 209, 215.

328.

Cook, Caleb, had the gun that
killed King Philip, 226.

Cook, John, of ^aishnet, 246.

Cook, Zarock, killed in Florida,
271.

Cooly, Mr., family murdered in

Florida, 415.

Cooper, Maj., in the Florida
war, 422, 470.

Cooper, (Osuchee,) killed, 478.

Copp, W., an early resident of
Boston, 104.

Corban, goodman, killed at CSm-

eo, 716.

Cornelius See Consert.
Corlis, George, 46.

CoRHAN, 231 ; insulted in Bo*
ton, 329
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CornhUl, W., family of mur-
dered by Indians, ]33.

CoHwpuBT, a Seneca chief, 606
—616.

CennsTALK, tiShaioanee, 538-546.
Corey, Martha, accused of

witchcraft, 184
Coshocton, taken and destroyed,
557.

Cotterel, Sir Clement, 370.

Cotymore, Capt., killed, 375.
Courcy, Mr., family murdered,

493.

Cowell, Capt. .iames, ;S2, 698.

Couietaws, a nil o of Creeks, 397,
500.

Cox, Col., killed at Oriekana,581.
Crane, King, (Tarhe,) 627.

Cranfield, Gov., perfidiously at-

tempts to bring down the Mo-
hawks on the N. E. Inds.,297.

Crawford, Col., expedition and
death of, 563—365.

Crawley, Mr., his house plun-
dered, 295.

Creeks, geography of their coun-
try, 11, 394, 395; west, 701.

Crees, destroyed by small pox,
677.

Cresap, Col., brings on a war,
537, 696.

Creus, Dr., kU'd in Florida, 471.
Crevier, M., killed at Salmon

Falls, 301.

Crocker, William, juror, 196.

Croghan, Col., 525, 590,591, 608.
Cross Timbers, battle of the, 673.
Crowell, [Cowell,] Captain,

[James.'] 229, 696.

Crowell, Col., his plantation
ravaged, 433.

Crown, John, the poet, 38.

Cruger, Lieut. Col., of S. C, 53

;

Cruger, Mr., his plantation rav-
aged, 416.

Cudworth, James, 109.

Gumming.Col., in Black-hawk's
war, 649.

Gumming, Sir A., travels of,

366, 367.

CusTALOOA, [Kustalooa,] 694.

Cuthbert, Lieut., at Battle of
Ouitlilecoochee, 423.

Cuthbertson, Cuthbert, of Ply-
mouth, 99.

CUTSHAMOKIN, 105, 109, 110, 115
—117, 147, 159, 164, 172, 174,

177, 279.

CuTTAquiN, attempts (Jwcas's
life, 137.

».

Dade, Major, defeat and death
of, 416, 417.

Dallas, Com., on Florida sta-

tion, 429.

Dalton, a soldier, killed in Flo-
rida, 470.

Dalyell, Capt., killed at Detroit,

552.

Dancy, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 422.

Danforth, Jonn., 181 ; Thos.,206.
Daniel, a capt unaer Church,

270.
Daniel, CoU, expedition of, 41.

Daniel, Thomas, signs Indian
treaty at Dover. 715.

Dark, Col., under St. Clair, 570.

Dartmouth, Lord, 183.

Davenport, Lieut., 168, 171;

another, 670.

Davey, John, it Welebman, 53.

Davideon, CapL, death of, 496.

Davie, H., purchases Swan Isl-

and, 285.
Davis, Capt. William, commis-

sioner, 206.

Deane, Samuel, Hist, of Scitu-

ate, 231,232.
Dearborn, Gen. Henry, 320.

Decalieres, his Iroquois expedi-
tion, 504.

Deckard, John, a Seneca chief,

611.

Decorie, death of, 655, 667, 672.

Dedham, (fVoollommonuppogue,)
198 ; murder there, 263.

Deerfield ,(PocomptuK,) attacked,

263 ; destroyed, 325.

De Foe, his Robinson Crusoe, 87.

Dekanisora, an Iroquois chief,

505,

Delaware, Lord, cruelty to In-

dians, 355 ; takes Pocahon-
tas to court, 358.

Denison,Cap., 231, 233, 234,260

;

Gen. 270.

Dennis,Mr.,proceedings against,

455.

Denny, Gov., 527, 598.

Depeyster, Mr., Iiis plantation
ravaged, 416.

Dermer, Capt., voyages of, 74,

84, 85.

Devil's Hole, massacre at, 605.

Devil, singular charges against,

25, 100 ; a true prophet to the
Indians, 303.

Diamond, John, tortured at

Wells, 291.

Dieskaw, Gen., defeated and
slain, 536.

Dickinson, Y., killed at Point
Pleasant, 540.

Dighton, supposed inscription

there, 60.

Diodorus supposed to refer to

America, 21.

Doddridge's Indian Wars, 519,

20, 537, 539—54
1
, 543 557, 558.

Dodd, Ensign, in the Battle of
Fort Recovery, 689.

Dodge, J., 52 ; Gen., against
Black-hawk, 647—657.

Dogs employed against Indians,
489-494.

DoNAcoNA, the chief, dies in

France, 69.

Donaldson, Col., killed at Emuk-
faa, 399.

Done, J., juror to try Inds., 196.

Dony, his fort taken, 308, 309
;

signs a treaty, 715.

Dorchester, [Jilatapan,'] Kut-
sHAMAKiN, its first sachem
known to the English, 106.

Dorsey, Mr., his house burnt.

494.

DouBLEHBAD, 44 ; murdered,
461.

Douglas, Mr., in a fight at Dun-
lawton, 425.

Douglass, Dr., on the Indian
Bible, 178.

Doughty, Major, disaster of, 685.

Dover, N. H., (Cocheco,) great

massacre there, 298, 299 ; In-

dians surprised there, 180
;

Indians imprisoned there, 295.

Downing, E., of London, 111.

Drake, Abraham, of Hampton,
296; Daniel, on Western An-
tiquities, 56,57 ; Capt. George,
first Englishman in the River
St. Lawrence, 84 ; J. R., 499

;

Lieut., gallant exploit of, 688
;

Sir Bernard, 84 ; Sir Francis,

83, 87, 114, 346, 713; Samuel,
Indian teacber, 117.

Drane, Capt, in the Florida
war, 422.

Drane, (Fort,) attack upon, 471.
Dudley, (Ckabanakonekomun,)

179.

Dudley, Col., his defeat and
death, 620 ; Gov., 35, 112, 126,
294.

Duer, William, escape of from
captivity, 566.

Dumas, M., at Braddock's de-
feat, 608.

Dummer, Rev. S., kid., 991, 332.
Dummett, Col., his plantation
ravaged, 416—425.

Du Muis, M., goes against St
John, 323.

Dunbar, Col., under Braddock,
607.

Duncan, Lieut, in the Florida
war, 416.

Dunham, Mr., his house plun-
dered, 416.

Duponceaii, P. S., on Penn'g
Treaty, 517.

Dunjnt, Mr., jtscends at N.York,
664.

Durham, affairs at, 303, 304.

Durham, goodnian, killed at

Casco, 716.

Durill, Philip, family destroyed,
335 ; John, 336.

Duston, Han., her narrative, 45.

Dutch, of N. York, their Indian
war, 132.

Duvall, Gov , distresses the In-
dians, 411, 463.

Dwieht, Dr. T., on the destruc-
tion of Peqtwts, 173.

Dwight, Timothy, of Dedham,
180.

E.

Eames, Thomas, hiR family de-
stroyed, 264 ; further account
of, 715.

Eastman, Amos, taken captive,

336, 7.

Eastman, Philip, a captive, 281.

Eaton, Majdr J. H., 448.

Edson,Jos., of Bridgewater, 223
Eckota, a Cherokee town, 442.

Egerehet, a Tarratine chief,

287, 304.

Eliot, John, 109, 115, 145, 176,
181,298,269,280.

Elizabeth, Queen, 84, 114, 344.

Ellinipsico cruelly murdered,
545.

Elliott,Mr., proceedings against,

45.5.

Ellis, Capt, his exploit, 487.

Ellskwatawa, a Shav>anese pro-

phet, 624.

Emathla, Charles, 465, 475.

Emistessioo, his defeat and
death, 407.

Endicot, Gov. John, expedition
against the Peqtwts, 116, 168

;

allows NiMORET "to right

himself," 144.

Ensenore entertains early voy-
agers, 344.

Epano w, (ApANow,) 71—74, 94.

Ephraim, Capt., 940, 272, 276.

Estill, Capt, defeat and death
of, 681.

Ethrington, Major, surprisal of,

548.

Etowohkoam visits Eng., 510.

Evans, Mr., about IVeUh In-

dians, 64.

Everett, Gov. Ed., 216, 674, 676
Everett, surgeon in U. S. army,

649
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F.
Falany, Mr., wounded in Flori-
da, 495.

Fall-fight, [Turner's Falls] 258.
Panning, Col., in the Florida
war, 4-22, 479.

Farmer's Brother, 596, 603

—

606.

Farmer, John, communications
of, 284, 294.

Farrington, Thomas, killed, 139.
Farwell, Lieut. J., under Love-

well, 315.

Pelt, J. B., his Hist, of Ipswich,
110, 111, 323.

Fenner, Capt. Arthur, captures
Tift, 219.

Field, Col., wounded at Point
Pleasant, 539 ; at Braddock's
defeat, 609.

Pipe, Jim, fights under Jack-
son, 399.

Fights. — See Battles.
Filson, J., his Hist, of Kentucky,

Fisher, Capt., in the Florida
war, 472.

Fiske, Mr., his interview with
Wanalancet, 282.

Pitch, James, missionary to tlie

Moliegans, 149.

Five JVatwTis, erroneously so
called, 510.

Plagg, Lieut., killed, 335.
Flamingo, visits Philadelphia,

44.
'

Plamstead, Dr., visited by In-
dians, 511.

Flat-heads, their country, 8;
their name, 3G5.

Fleming, Peggy, a captive, re-
leased, 568.

Fleming, Capt. W., killed at
Point Pleasant, 540.

Flinton, Mr., murdered in Flori-
da, 415.

Florida, why so named, 366.
FloridaWar, 410—416, 461—496.
Flournoy, Colonel, killed, 433.
Floyd, Capt., his retreat from
Lee, 335.

Floyd, Gen., wounded at ^u-
tossee, 397.

Fluelle n, an eastern chief, 275.
Fontaine, Maj., killed atMiami,

212; Presq'Isle, 549, 576;
Prince George, 377; Recov-
ery, 571,576,687,688 ; Sandus-
ky, 549 ; Shirley, 534 ; Stan-
vvix, 613 ; St. John's, 323

;

St. Joseph's, 549; Venango,
582, 549; Washington, 569,
687 ; Wayne, 569, 573, 574 :

Wintermoot, 583.
Foster, Col., in the Florida war.

477, 484.
Fowler, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 484.

FoxoN, a witness for Uncas, 161.
Fox Pu, N. H., destroyed, 334.
Francis, of JVajtscf, 201 ; a

Seminole, executed, 400, 403:
of Penobscot, 320.

Franklin, Ben., 28, 41, 42 ; 615.
Frazer, Capt., in the Florida
war, 416—419.

Freeman, Mr. John, 205.
Frenchmen taken by Indians.

84, 85.
'

Frontenac, Gov., anecdote of.
334.

'

Frost, Capt., 981, 290; killed,
302.

Frye, Jonathan, killed at Pirr.
wokcl, 315.

'

Fullam, Jacob, killed at Picnco-
ket, 317.

Fuller, Dr. Samuel, of Ply-
mouth, 191.

Fuller, Capt., fights Philip at
Pocajiset, 210, 211.

Fuller's Worthies of England,
70, 178 ; Worthies of Devon,
85.

Furnis, T., about the Walking
Purchase, 529.

"

FuxiE, murd. in Florida, 470.

Georges, Sir F., his proi^edings
about New England, 69, 74.

Georgia, early historj' of, 369
;

first white child born in, 3U9.
Gibbons, Major Edward, 156.
Gibes, John, an Indian preach

er, 202.

Gibbs, Capt., [Benjamin .'] bis
treatment of the Praying In-
dians, 180.

Gibson, Col., 520.
Gibson, Capt., at Fort Recovery,

o.

Foot, Capt. Samuel, tortured to
death, 335.

Foote, E. T., note of, on the
Senecas, 615.

Forbes, escapes Indians in Flor-
ida, 492.

Ford, capt. in St. Clair's armv.
572.

Pott Augustus, 680; Cataro-
quoy, 504, 505, 506, 510 ; Cum-
berland, 609; Dearborn, 630;
Defiance, 569, 576 ; Deposite,
576 ; Detroit, 546—552

; Du-
quosne, 007, 608; Edward,
547; Erie, 067; Franklin, 007;
Greenville,576,577; Hamilton,
570 ; Harmer, ("07, 613 ; In-
dustry, 575; Jefferson, 570,571,
661

; Katarokkui, 504,505,510
;

La Ba-", 549 ; Leboeuf, 549
;

LouQon,375—7; Madison, 678
;

Maum'^e, 576 ; Meigs, 620 ;

Miami, 549 ; Michilimakinak,
548 ; M'Henry, 663 ; M'ln-
tosh, 561, 564 ; Mimms, 389

;

Mistick, 169 ; Monroe, 662 :

Narragunset, 217; Necessity,
532 ; Niagara, 628 ; Oiichta-
non, 549 ; Pitt, 549 ; Pocasset,

61

Gadsden, Col., agent in Florida.
463, 464.

'

Gage, Gen., at Braddock's fight,
608. ^ '

Gaines. Gen., in fVisconsin, 643

;

in the Florida war, 429.
Gallup, Capt., exploit, 167 ; ex-

ecutioner, 170.
Gamble, Col., in Florida war,

423, 494.

Games. Indians addicted to. 89.
548. ' '

Gansevoort, Col., at Fort Stan-
wix, 579—581.

Gardner, Capt., in Dade's fight,
417, 418 ; killed, 261.

Gardner, Major, in the Florida
war, 476, 480.

Gary, Major, mad prank of, 684.
Gates, Capt., in the Florida
war, 422.

Gates, Gen. Horatio, 51.
Gatlin, Dr., killed in Dade's

battle, Florida, 418.
Gedney, Col., 306.
Geiger, Mr., murdered in Flori-

da, 494.

Gellemend. — See Kelala-
MAND, 561.

Gemeraye, Lt.,defeated,504,505.
Gendal, Capt., seizes Muoo,

289.
'

Gentry, ("ol., killed at Okeecho-
bee, 483.

Geoffrey, a noted j*frenafti,295.
GEORf;E, i;apt., death of, 673.
George Sec, 367—369; Third,

coolers lands on Brant, 591.
Georoe, Saoamorb, (fFinne-

purket,) 105, 111, 278.

2V

Gilbert, Sir Humphrey, 114.
Gill, Col., in the Flori-U war.

475.

Gilmer, Gov. of Ga., 443, 453.
Gilmore, Mr., killed at Point

Pleasant, 545.
Girard, Stephen, and Bi.ack-
HAWK, 661.

Girty, Simon, leader of Indians
550—570, 683.

Gist, Mr., with Washington, 44,
533.

-6
. >

Gladwin, Maj., Gtav. of Detroit,
547—560.

Glen, Ale.x., at Schenectady, 48.
Glikhikan, 518 ; murdered,5I9
Gnadenhuetten, massacre there,

519, 520.

Godfrey, Mr., bis mani&ge, 355.
Godfrey, T., escape of his fam-

ily in Florida, 415.
Godman, J. D., his Nar. Hii-

tory, 635.
Goff, Capt., in the Florida wai,

475.

Golding, Capt. Roger, 210, 225.
226.

Gold, Miss H. R., marries a
Cherokee, 459.

Good, Dorothy, 184 ; Sarah,J84.
Goodman, LieuL, killed at PL

Pleasant, 540.
Good-Peter, taken prisoner,

602.

Goodwin, Col., in Florida war,
471.

Gookin, Major Daniel, 176, 18S,
181, 195, :>12, 223, 298, 966,
273, 276 ; death of, 195, note,

Gordon, Major, in the Florida
war, 475.

Gorham, Major, in the Florida
war, 478.

Gorton, Rev. Samuel, U9, 138,
189, 225, 257.

Gosnold, Capt., his voyage to
New England, 84.

Gould, E., lost in the fight at
Dunlawton, 426.

Grafton, (Hassanamesit,) a town
of Praying Indians, 179.

Grafton, duke of, 371.

Graham, Capt., in the Florida
war, 422, 423.

Graham, J. A., speech to Indi-
ans, 665.

Graham, Lieut., wounded at
Ouithlecoochee, 422.

Grand Sun resists the French,
382, 383.

Granoanemeo, aVirginiachief, .

346, 347.

Granger, Mr., on the Ftorida
war, 427, 428.

Granqula, speech of to De U
Barre, 502.

Grant, Col., his expeditions, 379.
Gray, Edward, 942; a family
murdered, 488.

Grayson, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 417.

Great Mortar, a aoted JMim-
Jlre^-ee, 384.



INDEX 773

Gregory, (Pope,) reforms tne
calendar, S5.

Green, C,oL, exploit of, 492;
Mrs., killed, 493.

Green, B., printer of books in

Indian, 115.

Greenland, N. H., depredations
at, 205.

Greenville, Sir R.;345—347; 360.

Griffin, Mr., an original grantee
of Sudbury, 117.

GrotiuB, H., on peopling Amer-
ica, 22—96.

Groton, Mass., attacked by the
J^ipmuks, 22

1
, 266, 332.

Groves, Capt., in the Florida
war, 476.

Guiss, George, invents letters,

364.

GvRisTEBsieo, his defeat and
•ieatk, 407.

Grantwaia, (Cornplanter,)
606—616.

Gyles, J., 291 ; Cap., killed, 332.

H.
Eadley, troubles there, 284.

HadwelL Benj., killed at Casco,

716.

Hahaton, (Akation,) 109.

Halec-Hago, his parley with
JesKup, 486.

Halec-Tustenugge, 493, 494.

Half-King, a Huron, 5.18, 519,

531, 532, 554, 555, 716.

HALF-Tow!»,a Seneca chief, 597,
606,607.

Halket, Sir Peter, killed at Mo-
nongahela, 609.

HalketJ, John, Notes on the In-
dians, 178.

Sallibees, massacre of the, 397.

Hall- Mr., family of, captivated,
646.

Hamble, Mr., attacked at Cherry
Valley, 586.

Hamden, Mr.,conjectures about,

83,89.
Hamilton, Capt., wounded at

Emukfau, 399.

Hamilton, Dr., at Oitithlecoochee

fight, 423.

Hammond, W., killed by a
giant-like Indian, 138.

Hampton, [ WinMicumct,] attack

upon, 307.

Hamtramk, Col., with Gen. St.

Clair, 570.

Hanam, Capt., voyage to New
England, 70.

Hand, Gen., bis Indian expedi-

tion, 546.

Hanno, his voyage about Africa,

20.

Han9-Jacob, son of Canassat-
EGO, 516.

Hanson, Col., 493. 494 ; Lt. W.
K., 494.

Hanson, Hans, anecdote of, 515,

516.

Hardice, Datid, siirprisal of,

436.

Hardin, Col. John, a prisoner,

559 ; killed, 560, 629 ; officer

under Harmer, 685.

Harding, Capt., ambassador to

Mai^ragansets, 157.

Harding, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 48'!.

Harjo, Jus embaFsy to Florida,

417.

Harlan, Ma>or, hilled at Miami,
684i

Harmer Cen., hie disastrous

campaign, 569, 685 ; treaty of
Fort Harmer, 607, 613.

Harmon, Major, takes M'or-

ridgewok, 311.

Harney, Col., disaster at Si/ne-

bal, 480, 489, 495 ; among "the

everglades, ib.

Harper, Col., famous exploit of,

602.

Hacpersfield, destroyed by In-

dians, 588.

Harris, Capt., in the Florida
war, 478.

Harris, Dr. John, Collection of
Voyages, 39, G8.

Harris, Dr. T. ftl., on Western
Antiquities, 58, 109.

Harris, Thomas, o(JVarraganset,
220.

Harrison, Gen., his campaigns,
617—620.

Harrison, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 484.

Harrison, , buys lands of
Pequots, 150.

Hart, Maj., in the Florida war,
47:i.

Hartshorn,Capt.,686—688; kid.,

689.

Harvey, Eliz., of Boston, 700.

Harwood, John, killed at Pig-
woket, 313.

Hassanamesit, its etymology, 115,

179.

Hatch, Wm., buys lands of In-

dians, 109.

Hatfield, Indians attempt upon,
217, 281, 283.

Hatherly, Timothy, buys Indian
lands, 109.

Hatliorhe, Capt., surprises In-

dians, ^1.
IIatuav, a chief, burnt at St.

Domingo, 44.

Haverhill attacked, 45 ; sacked,
324.

Havens, Jack, a Wampanoag,
255.

Hawkins, (Kankamaous,)297—
300.

Hawkins, Ben, severely woun-
ded, 391.

Hawkins, Sam, executed, 394.

llawley. Rev. Gideon, of Jlarsk-
pee, 536.

Haynes, J., detects Uncas's per-

fidy, 123, 125, 141.

Haywood, Dorothy, killed at

Dartmouth, 245.

Haywood, John, History of
Tennessee, 376.

Heads of Englrshmen, some
sent by the J^arragansets to

the JVipmuks, 273 ; that of
Philip set on a gibbet, 227;
that of SIatoonas, 264 ; of
Perots, set upon Saybrook
fort, 169.

Heald, Capt., defeated and kid.,

360.

Hearne,S., journey to Northern
Ocean, 40.

Heckewelder, John, captivity

of, 519, 534.

Heillman, Major, dies in Flori-

da, 471.

Henchman, Capt., expedition
of, 276, 280.

Henderson, Col., in the Florida
war, 478.

Henderson, William, 385; Col.,

478.

Henderson, Lieut., killed in

Dade's fight, 418—420.

Hendrick, kid. at Lake George,
535.

Henouepushei, a noted DeUk-
ware, 561.

Hennepin, Father, Travels in
America, 365.

Henry, Alexander, Travels in
the West, 548.

Henry, Patrick, and Cornstalk,
546.

Henry Seventh, of England, 67.

Herkimer, Gen., 579 ; "killed at

Oriskana, 581.

Hernandes, Gen., 478, 480—482.
Hertell, sacks Salmon Falls,

301—302 : defeated by Blac«-
KETTLE, 504; kille^d, 324.

HiAcooMEs, a Christian Indian,
182.

Hicks, C. R., a Cherokee chief,

45.5.

Hicks, (Tuko-See-Mathla,)
395, 412.

Hicks, Levi, a captive, 53.

Hide, Richard, his account ot

Miantunnomoh's death, 131

Hide, Sam, a noted Indian,
death of, 37.

Higginbotham, Mr., escape ii>

Florida, 472—473.
Higgins, Benj., a juror, 196;

Paul, a captive, ^0.
Higgins, Ensign, killed in Har-
mer's defeat, 687.

HiGGON, Ned, 298, 302, 308,
310.

Hill, Col., is defeated by Indi-
ans, 363.

HiLLisHAGo, 398—403 ; hanged,
404.

Hilton, Capt., his garrison at-

tacked, 334.

Hindly, Lieut., at battle of San
Felasco, 474

Hinkley, Gov., 4 ; Mr. Thomas,
205.

High, chief of New Albion,

( California,) 83.

History, true, little read, 299

;

is not always the same, 363.

Hitchcock, Capt., in the Florida
war, 419, 433.

Hitchcock, Prof., on Geology,
259.

Hitzler, Mr., killed at Camp
King, Florida, 421.

Hix, John, a Seminole, 463,481.
Hoare, Mr. John, 109 ; ambas-

sador, 240, 275.

HoBOMOK, a Wampanoag, 93

—

104.

HoBsoN, Capt., voyage to New
England, 72.

Hogtown, murder of Indians
there, 414, 470.

HOLATOOCHEE, 479, 494.

Holioke, Capt., at Turner's
Falls, 259.

Holmes, J., Travels in America,
44.

Holloman, Capt^killed at camp
McLemore, 432.

Homer, Jonathan, History of
Newton, 180.

Homer, supposed to refer to

America, 21.

Hooder, Capt.,jhis fight at Lake
Suanee, 426.

Hooke, Capt., meets Indians at

Casco, 298.

Ho-NEC-yETH-TAW-NO-RoW,
visits England, 510.

HoPEHooD, 289, 297, 298, 300,

302, 308, 334, 335.

Hopkins, Edward, treaty with
Indians, 125.

Hopkins, Stephen, anecdote of

29, 37, 40.
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Hopkins, History of HousaUmic
Indians, 381.

Hopkiiiton, (Magurikaqaog,)
Praying Indians of, 179.

Hop^on, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 496.

Horace, supposed to refer to

America, 21.

HoRNOTLtMED taken and
banged, 404.

Horseneck, Indians defeated
there, 133.

Hostages, Indian, 137, 149;
murder of, 531.

Howard, Mr., wounded in Flor-
ida, 470.

Howell, Mr., his family de-
stroyed, 493.

Howland, Isaac, Lieut in Phil-
ip's war, 225, 255.

Howland, Lieut. J., 235, 236,

239 ; John, 2j5.

Hoyt, Gen. E., his Antiquarian
Researches, 214, 215, 217, 223.

Hudibras, ludicrous passage
from, 50.

Hudson, Capt., discovers the
river of the name, C8. [Its

Indian name was Mauhekum,'\
Hulbert, Lieut., killed, 489.

Hull, Gen. W., in the war of
1812, 629.

Hull, Mrs., redeemed from cap-
tivity, 305.

Hume, Mr., his Indian charity,

369.

Humphrey, Col., of Florida, 462,

482.

Hunter, Capt., a JVipmuk war-
rior, 272.

Hunter, Lieut., at the battle of
Ouithlecoochee, 423.

Hunter, ^r., his plantation rav-

aged, 416.

Hunnewell, Lt., wounded, 308.

Hunt, Capt., voyage of to New
England, 72, 78.

Hunter, Mr., remarkable escape
of, 474.

Hutchinson, Ann, murd., 132.

Hutchinson, Capt., ambushed
and killed, 211, 213.

Hutchinson, Gov. T., 132, 536.

Hutchinson, Mr., commissioner,
305.

Hussey, Mrs., killed at Hamp-
ton, 307.

I.

Iberville, M., takes Fort .St.

Johns, 323.

Ijasocke, a fVampanoag, 188.

Indian Bible, account of the
printing of, 115.

Indian Billv, killed in Florida,

475.

Indian Creek, HI., murder
there, 646.

Indian Key, Florida, massacre
at, 493.

Indians, origin of their name,
19 ; some have no tradition

of their origin, 23 ; render
good for evil, 34 ; their man-
agement of wives, 36; toler-

ant in religion, 36 ; first seen
in Europe, (>8 ; cannibals, 68,

129, 160. 568 ; their proceed-
ings Willi the English at Ply-

mouth, 75, 76 ; dance when
visited by strancers, 79

;
great

plague or mortality among, 80„
81, 83, 139 ;

" so many, God
caiiniit kill them," 80; never

forget injuries, 85 ; their beds,

89 ; some whipped at Boston,

108 ; ravages of the small-pox
among. 111, 677 ; addicted to

gaming, 89 ; will play away
the skins from their wives
backs, 95 ; employ games as
stratagems, 548 ; exact in the
bounds of their lands, 120,

124 ; abuse squaw captives,

145 ; never insult white
squaws, 229 ; never abandon
their slain except to save their

own lives, 207 ; their sagacity
in following a track, 224

;

made slaves of, 72, 171, 224,
262, 288; dress of those of
New England, 86, 240 ; natu-
ral swimmers, 286 ; first em-
ployed in the Revolution, 320,

340; why called Flatheads,
305 ; not without beard, 588;
manner of burial, 107 ; enu-
meration of the tribes of, in N.
America, 9—16 ; specimen of
their laws, 120, 124, 177 ; rude
epithets applied to, 228, 698.

Innes, Judge, accpunt of Lo-
gan's speecii, 544.

loway River, Indians defeated
near, 652, 653.

Ipswich, (jlgawam,) expediticm
against fails, IIU.

Iroquois, (Five JVations,) 499,501.
Irving, Washington, visit to

Black-hawk, 39, 661.

Irwinstown, Ga., burnt by Indi-
ans, 433.

Ishkatappa, a Pawnee chief,633.

Itean, {Padoucas,) captive, res-

cued, 634.

Itopatin, (Opitchepan,) 353,
355.

Iwikties, ( Twighticees,) 16, 502.

IvANouoH, a IVampanoag chief,

78, 96.

Izard, Lt., killed in Florida, 429.

J.

Jack-of-the-fkathpr, (Nem-
ATTANOW,) 360.

Jack Berry, a Seneca iflterpret-

er, 606.

Jackson, Gen., 390—392, 395—
400, 442—448, 455, 458.

Jackson, Serg., wounded near
Fort King, 492.

Jackstraw, servant to Sir W.
Raleigh, 113.

James First, his grant to the
Plymouth company,75,76 ; his

treatment of Raleigh, 114
;

acknowledged by the English
of New England, 104, 107.

James Second, treaty in N. H.
under, 298.

Jacob, Capt., [John,] in Philip's

war, 221, 222.

Jacobs, Capt., 533, killed at

Kittannug, 534.

James-the-printer, 114, 115,

240, 265, 331.

James, Sagamore, (Montow-
AMPATE,) 105,111,697.

Janemo, (Ninigret,) 131, 153.

Japazaws, betrays Pocahon-
tas, 357.

Jaques, Lieut., kills the Jesuit
Rasle, 311.

Jaquet, Peter, an Oneiifa chief,
603.

Jeflerson, Pres., answer to Buf-
t fon, 28; on Am. Antiquities,

55, 56 ; on the murder of Lo-

gan, 536, 537 , <>a lad. rights,

449, 550.
Jefferv, a fyamptaKM", 243,

249.

Jenks, Gov. Joseph, anecdote
of, 44.

Jennings, Lt., killed in Florida.
481.

Jenyson, Lieut., in the Pequot
war, 168.

Jeoffrev, (Geopfrev,) an Ab-
enaki, 295.

Jesup, Gen., in Florida, 435,436,
475-480, 486.

Jethro, Olj>, 265 ; TANTiMOC*,
267.

Jethro, Peter, " that abomi-
nable Indian," 265, 967, -'74.

Jewell, Aaron, killed in Uaile's

fight, 417.

Jews, not the ancestors of In-

dians, 24.

JiM-BoT, employed bv the
whites, 436, 474.

Job, Col., insolence of, at a
treaty, 336 ; dies in prison at

Boston, 310.

John Num, a Wampanoag, ex-

ecuted, 245.

John Sky, a Seneca chief, 599,

606.

Johns, Mrs., barbarously killed,

473.

John, Sagamore, (Wonoha-
9,UAHAM,) 104,713.

John, Sagamore, of Pawtuck-
et, 113.

John, accused of witchcraft,

184.

Johnson, Serg., in the Florida
war, 423.

Johnson, Capt. Edward, 98

;

Isaac, 276 ; Gov. Robert, of
Carolina, 368 ; Cd. P„ M.,

620; Sir William, 535, 577;
a chief, 597.

Johnson, Mr. J., his house at-

tacked and people killed at

Oscilla, 490.

J'ohnson, Capt. E., Wonder-
working Providence, 111, 134.

Johnson, Jemmy, a Seneca

chief, 599.

Johnston, Charles, bis captivity,

565, 566.

Johonnet, Serg. Jackson, 686.

Jones, Capt. David, 51 ; W., 493
Jones, Major, wounded at the

ft'acasa, 484.

Jones, Gen. E., in the Florida

war, 488.

JosiaH, (Wampatdck,) 108, 201.

JosiAH, Capt., (Pehnahamt,)
180.

JosiAS, Charles, (Wampa-
TUCK,) 109.

Jossclyn, John, on Indian mon-
ey, 229.

Judd, Lieut., falls into an ant-

bush, 495.

Juet, R., journal of H'idson's
voyage, 68.

Jumonville, expedition and
death of, 532, 533.

Jumper, 433,464,478,479 ; death
of, 487.

JusKAKAKA, (Little Billy,)
532, 606.

Kadarakkui, 504—."SOf- , Us ety-

I
inology, 510.

j

Kaimes, Lord » in^iii ct( Iii

I dians, 32.
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Kankahacus destroys Dover,
997—300.

Kattenanit, Job, 271—273.

Keais, Lieut., killed in Dade's
6ght, in Florida, 41&—420.

Keewagoushkum, an Ottawa
chief, 636.

Keissinautchtha, a Shaiea7ic^

chief, ti94.

KELELAMAND,a Delaware chief,

ofil.

Kellog's Grove, fight there, 648.

Kelly, Mr., saves the life of his

commander, 474.

KenisUne, John, killed at

Greenland, 294.

Kennebis, an ancient Tarratine

chief, 285.

Kenjubunk, depredation there,

335.

Kennedy, Cap., embassy of, 318.

Kenton, Sergeant, wounded at

Ouithlecoochee, 243.

Kenton, Simon, a pioneer, 541 ;

dies, 672.

Kent, Chancellor, on the Chero-

kee case, 439.

Kent, W., messenger in Philip's

war, 265.

Keokuk, 640, 641, 668, 669, 671

;

at Boston, 674.

fcer, Henry, discovers ff'elsh

fndians, 54, 55.

Keweenam, a ffampanoao- war-
rior, 245.

Keyendeasde, a Seneca chief,

606.

Keys, Solomon, killed in Love-
well's fight, 316.

KiANDOGEWA, a Scnsca chief,

607.

Kichtan, a name for God, 96.

KlENEMO, (N'iMGRET,) 153.

Kikapoos, 12 ; some sent to

Florida, 480; west, 703.

Kilbum, John, defends Wal-
pole, 338, 359.

Kimbal, Thomas, of Bradford,
killed, 281,295.

King, absurd name for Indian
chiefs, 387.

King-crane, a IVyandot, 568,
626.

KiNG-PAiNE, desperate fight and
death of, 406, 404.

Kinshon, the Iroquois name for

New England, 501.

KiTAGUSTA, (SKIJAGt;STA,) 375,

Kiitaning, Indians burnt there,

534.

Kittel, Mrs., a captive, 274.

KiVASHUTA, chief of tlie Sen-

ccas, 694.

Knight, Mrs., travels in New
England, 87.

Knight, Dr., perilous escape
from captivity, 563.

Knox, Gen. H., 386, 449, 685.

KoNKAPOT, John, a Stockiridge

chief, 536.

Koquethagaeehlon, (White
Eyes,) 550.

Koskiusko, General, interview

with Little Turtle, 574.

KuMsKAKA, brother to Tecum-
SEH, C23.

KusTALOGA, a noted Delaware,
5o3, 694.

KUTSHAMAKIN, 105, 109, 110, 115

—117, 147, 159, 164, 172, 174,

177, 279.

L..

Labrocre, G€n. of the French,
Killed at Wells, 291.

Lafayette, Gen., 402, 600

Lafittau, J. F., on the origin of
Indians, 29.

Laliiintan, Baron, travels in

America, 79, 90, 293, 499,

501, 502.

Lane, Gov., his conduct in Vir-

ginia, 344; Col., 474; death
of, 475; John, 340.

Lane, Col., in the Florida wax,
474 ; dies, 475.

Lane, Mr., an original grantee

of Sudbury, 117.

Lane, Capt. John, ordered to

raise a company of Inds., 340.

Language, Indian, 87, 90 ; spe-

cimen of the Mohegan, 151

;

of the WampaJioag and JVip-

muk, 224, 283 ; of the Tarra-

tine, 318, 321 ; of the southern
tribes, 364 ; of the Five JVa-

tions, or Iroquois, 501 ; of the

Skawanese, 623 ; Indian and
JVelsh. compared, 628.

Lambert, J., his travels in N.
America, 625.

Lamb, Mr., his family destroyed,

492.

Lancaster, {J^ashaway,) dest'yed

by Inds., 239, 264—260.
Laslev, Mr., murdered in Flori-

da, 487.

Laud, Lt., wounded at Point
Pleasant, 540.

Lauderdale, Major, in the Flori-

da war, 487.

Lawrence, Dr., on Nat. History
of Man, 27, 31.

Lawrence, Dr., in the Florida

war, 431.

Lawson, C, buys lands of the

Indians, 285.

Lawson, John, on money of

Indians, 328.

Lee, Arthur, Indian commis-
sioner, 561, 607.

Lee, CapL, in the Florida war,
476—478.

Lee, R. H., compared to Cokn-
STALK, 546.

Lee, Rev. Samuel, of Bristol,

death of, ^8.
Leffingwell, Lt., relieves Un-

CAS, 156, 157.

Leitner, Dr., killed in Florida,

484.

Leonardson, Samuel, captivity

of, 46.

Letelesha, (Old Knife,) 633,

634.

Letters written by Indians, 221,

267, 331.

Leverett's JVarraganset expedi-

tion, 147 ; Gov., 206, 280, 331.

Levin, Col., killed in St. Clair's

defeat, 571 ; in Braddock's de-

feat, 609.

Lewis, A., his History of Lynn
105, 110, 111, 713.

Lewis, Col., killed at Point
Pleasant, 539.

Lewis, goodman, killed at Cas-

co, 700.

Lewis Ninth, of France, 25.

Levus, Tom, a western depre-

dator, 567.

Lightfoot, Capt., a Wampa-
noag, 224, 270.

Lightfoot, Capt. John, of Bos-

ton, 141.

Lincoln, W., History of Wor
cester, 268.

Lindsay. Col., in the Florida

war, "431, 471

Littafuche, town of, captured,

396.

Little BiLxr, a Senec« warrior
532, 597, 606.

Little Black, speech of, to

Gen. Gaines, 645, 646.

liiTTLE Carpenter, (Attak (I

LAEULLA,) 373—376.

Little Cloud, 417, 479, 4«l
483.

Little Eyes, a JVampa^ioag
warrior, 252, 270.

Little Turtle, (Muhikina-
KWA,) 569, 689,

Little, Thomas, buys lands in

Middleboro', 241.

Littleton, (J^fashobaJi,) a town
of Praying Indians, 179, 180.

Lofton, Serg., in the fight at

Ouithlecoochee, 423.

Logan, Col., his Indian expedi-
tion, 685.

Logan, James, of PennsyHvania,
a37.

Logan, a Cayuga chief, 537

;

his famous speech, 542 ; its

genuineness doubted, 543.

Logan, the Shav>anee, death of,

628.

Long, J., the Indian tiader, 40.

Longevity in N. Eiig, 113, 255.

Long-Knives, Indians so name
Virginians, 543, 4(S.

Lorette,(Grand Louis,) death
of, 673.

LoRON, his embassy to Boston,
333.

Lothrop, Captain, defeat and
death of, 215,916.

Lothrop, Isaac, Esq., of Ply-

mouth, 296.

Loudon, A., his collection of
Indian Narratives, 716.

Louis Fifteenth, of France, 378.

Louisbourg, capture of, 319.

Lotett, a Creek chief, 394.

Lovewell, Capt., expeditions of,

312—317.
Low, Capt. A., relieves Capt.
Church, 254, 255.

LowRv, Col., a Cherokee chief,

401.

Ludlow, Mr. Roger, 171, 173.

Lucas, Thomas, of Plymouth,
killed, 225.

Lumpkin, Gov., and the Chero-

kees, 455, 457.

Lynn, {Saugus,) History of. —
See Lewis, A.

Lytle, Major, at the battle of
the OuiMecoochee, 423.

m.
Macomb, G«n., 454, 488; hia

treaty, 489.

McClenehan, R., killed at Point

Pleasant, 540.

Macy, Mr. ZaccJieus,302 ; Obed,
202.

Mad-dog, u Creek warrior, 387.

Mad-dogs-son, in Autos^ee bat-

tle, 391.

Madokawando, 288—193,302,
331, 342.

Madoc, a Welsh voyager, 54,

294.

Mad-wolf, a Mihasauky, killed,

432.

Magaugo, Inds. defeated there,

621.

Magnus, (Squaw Sachem,)
killed, 248, 254. .

Maitland, Lieut., in the Florida

war, 422, 423.

Malone, Capt., in the Florida

war, 470, 471.



Mammoth bones, discovery of
44, 45. '

^Mx'"677^'
destroy 'd by small-

Man, does not degenerate in
America, 28, 255.

MANATAHquA, murder of, 112
Manteo, early known in Vir-

ginia, 347.

''^'^^'''Capt., besieged at Casco,

-^larks, Mr., escape from Dun-
lawton, 426.

Marks, Lt., signal exploit of, 689.
Marlborough, (Okommakamesit,)
Indians surprised there, 2^.

451 5S)"'"''"'
°" ^"''- "^'"^'

Marshall, fe., about the Walkin<r
Purchase, 529.

"

Mar|l>e, VVitham, interpreter,

Marshpees,( »'ampanoa^s,)ia,536

""i'.o^'^'-''-'
<="' °ff '" Flori-

da, 648.
Martin, Com., brings Indians
Irom England, 511.

'"^J^o^ONOMOjOf Ipswich, 105,

Mascus, brother of Canonicus,

Mason Capt., shot by accidentm Florida, 492.

^'ifi^^'xcS'^P'- •''"'"' "2, 155,
lo4, 169. '

^3^"' ^'*P'- ""gll. »t Sudbury,

JVassachusetts, origin of the

'J''!?^'.^*'
^"^ ' '""e of, vis-

ited, 104; country of, 106.
A1A3SAND0WET, a Peiuiaknnk
297—299.

t-ennakook,

Massasoit receives the Pil-I

*-728'^]^.' (^^'^'^'^^.) 125

'^^_^j]e^^'eazer, of Northamp-

Mather, Dr. <7otton,93, 283: his
Magnalia, 25, 46, 129, 177 178

5^io:l3':l^:^^'^'^««
Mather, Dr. Increase, 170 • re-
markable expressions of '^28

^44 ; death of, 283 ; his Brief
History, 93, 115, 184, 189, 193
211, 216, 218, 221, 231, 234
^^5, 247, 249, 259, 260, 262
~bd,286; his Relation, 92, lU
122, 194, 133, 134, 142 I47'

3'}^^' ^^^' ^™> 174, 190J
195, aOl , 203, 223, 228, 231, 233,
fSi; his Remarkable Provi-
dences, 282.

'^'L^3,°^!'69^^""*'
^•^^'^"'«''.

Mattahamado, killed at Pema-
qutd, 303.

Matthew, [nepb. to Sholan,]

"'^07/**"'' * •*'>"»"* chief, 206,

Mauxis, [perhaps Moxus,! 323.Mayhew, Experience, and Nin-
IGUET, 178.

Mayhew, Rev. Thomas, 182.
McArthur, General, 621.
McArthur, Lieut., in the Flori-
da war, 484.

McCrabb, Mr., dies at St. Au-
gustine, 490.

McCrea, Miss Jane, murder of
ol, 713. '

McCulloh, Dr. J. H., his re-
sea rchefj, 30, 31.

61* '
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McGary, Major, rashness in
danger, 684.

McGavock, Capt., wounded at
F.mukfau, 399.

McGiLLivRAY, Gen., a Creek
chief, 385-387.

*'423'°4M
^'''' ^^°"''*'^'='""^A.e,

^^^klV *^^"- '^•'SaS; Fort,
Sol, 564.

McInto3h, Gen., 367,391-393,
447 ; Chilly, 394, 465.

Mcintosh, Col., property de-
stroyed in Florida, 471.

McKean, Capt., operations to
entrap Brant, 582, 586

McKee, Capt., leader of Inds
559, 576, 689.

'

atcKrimmon, rescued from tor-
ture, 403.

^"^^Ih ^^^-^ ^'^ f^'ni'ly cut
off, 492.

McLane, Mr., on In-dian rights,

McLemone, Major, in the Flori
da war, 431.

McMahon Major, defeat and
death of, 688.

McMullen, Major, in Harmer's
I

expedition, 686.
McMurtrie, H., on western an

tiquities, 62.
McMurtrie, Capt., killed in Har-
mer's defeat, 687.

McNeal, Mrs., account of Miss
McCrea, 51.

McNeill, Lt., killed in the Flor
Ida war, 481.

McClUEEN, a Creek warrior, 400
McRea, Rev. Mr., killed, 491.

SJ^i i^«^''''"''«'* ^y Indians,

Meganumby, a Tarratine, at
Boston, 333.

^^^^"'^^I"'-*^,
a 7'arraij«e,shot,

Mellon Capt., 422; killed in
Florida, 479.

Memecho, a friendly Indian
warrior, 213, 214.

*^Qr,"o°,'^'"'' ^ Virginia t.'iief,
o44, 345.

Menaway, a Creek chief of
note, 393.

*\?'^''"'n.o^""''^'"nan killed
there, 203.

Menomines, 13, 549, 638—640 667
Mercer, Captain, (afterw'ards

general,) 534.

'^o" 50
^^'^' '' """'"^ '=°"'^"<=^

Mesambomet, a Tarratine of
Androscoggin, 308.

Messesa^nes, 13 ; Join the Five
•Nations, 500.

Metacomet, (Philip of Poka-
noket,) 187.

AIetea, a Pottowattomie chief
fa.j5.

'

**'*"TU^N0M0H, Chief of the
J^arragansets, 91 ; accused of
plots, 119; at war with the
fVampanoags, 120; conquest
oyer the I'e^iots, 121 ; his
birth and parentage, 122- a
great friend to English 122-
without his aid the /'cguoll
could not have been conquered
by the English, 12.) ; sells R.
Island, 124 ; falsely accused,
125

; appears at Boston to con-
inmt his accusers, 126 • is
there insulted— his magnani-
mous conduct, 126 ; his war

1
with the Mokegms, 127 ; hig
capture and death, 128—131 •

oronunciation of his name,'

MicANopY, a Seminole chief 41-'>—414, 463—469, 494.
Michael, Lieut., distinguished

at Fort Recovery, 689
Middleboro', Indians captured

there, 243.
Miflin,Gen., gives lands to Corx
Planter, 612.

Mikj^aukies, {Scminoles,) 9, 433
468. '

Miller, Col., 621 ; John, 53.
Milfort, General, his residence
among Indians, 385, 386

Mills, Lt. Col., in the Florida
war, 423, 473.

Milton, {Uncataxpiisset,) 116
Mims, Fort, surprise and mas-

sacre there, 389.
Mnatarees destroyed by small-
pox, 677.

Minisink destroyed by the In-
dians, .588.

MioxEo, Indian of Martha's
Vineyard, 182.

MiSHIKINAKWA, (LiTTLE TuR-
tle,) a Miami chief, 569 ; op-
posed Harmer and St. Claijr
5b9; defeated by Gen.Wayue'
5<2; his interview with the
traveller Volney, 573 574-
anecdotes of, 575.

'

Mistic, Fort,where situated, 169
MisTic, George, a Prayins In-
dian, 181.

jVIitchell, Jacob, killed, 245
Mitchell, Experience, of Brid-^e-

water, 241.
"

Mitchell, N., his Hist.of Brid"e-
water, 223, 245.

'

Mitchel, W. S., marries an In-
dian, 394.

Mitchelson Edward, Marshal
of Suffolk, 697.

Mitchill, Dr. S. L., on origin of
Indians, 29.

MoGG, a Tarratine chief, 310 •

killed, 311, 312.
Mohaxcks, 109, 113, lo> 140 c,^,

count of them, 500.
Moliegans, geography of their

country, 150 ; their langun<re
151; their troubles, 152, 153'

MONAKATOOCHA, (HaLF-King ^
531, 679.

''

MoNCACHTAPE, narrative of hi*
travels, 380.

Money, hnw made by the Indi-
ans, 229, 328; Sewan, hl3.

A^i-^"'
**''•'•' ^'"'^d "« n-ahoo,

476. '

MoNoco, a mpmnk chief "64
hanged, 266. "

'

MoNOHOE, a Creek prophet,
killed, 400.

MoNONOTTO, a Pequot, 116, UUJ
171, 173, 174. ' ' ' '

MoNopoiDE, a Pequot warrior,

Monroe, Capt., in battle of
Okeechobee, 48.3.

Monroe, Prcs., 451, 452, 661
Moiitfort, Major John, in the

Florida war, 417, 418
Montgomery, Col., in Cherok.-g
war, 377.

Montgomery. Mrs., killed in
Florida, 496.

Montour, And., interpreter, 679
MONTOWAMPATE, a JVm««i

chief, 105, 111.
'^
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Montigny, M., his Indian expe-
dition, 363.

Montreal sacked by the Iroquois.

504—506.
M00AN*M,(ALE![AN'DEK,)which

see.

Moody, Mrs., and family, mur-
dered, 13a

Moody, Mr. Joehua, 322.

Moore, Col., 41 ; Governor, 372.

Moore, J. B., on the avalanche
of the White Mountains, 315,
316.

MoravUm Indians, massacre of,

520—525.
Morgan, Co!. George, his em-

bassy, 513.

Morgan, Gen. Daniel, 320.

Morris, Major, in the Florida
war, 478.

Morris, Robert, 60G ; wounded
at Mononerahtla, G09.

Morrison, Capt., in the Chero-
kee war, 377.

Morton, T., of Merry Mount, 22,
81, 100, 107.

Morton, William, 159, 160.

ftlorse. Dr. J., his report on In
dian Affairs, 633, 634

Blosely, Capt. S., 148, 208, 21C
—218, 261, 265, 266, 273, 279,
280.

MosE?, Capt., a depredator, 337.
Mosis, Sam, killed aXCasco, 270,

Mo99ur, a name of Pessacus,
122.

Mott, Mr., killed in Florida, 471
Moulton, Joseph, of York, 292.
Moulton, Capt., surprises JVor-

ridgewok, 311.

Moultonborough, whence its

name, 716.

Moxus, a Tarratiite chief, his

attempt upon Wells fails, 291

;

goes to surprise the fort at

Casco, 294 ; makes peace, 308

;

destroys Pemmaquid, 332.

MouiKis, traditions concerning,
30,604.

Mount Hope, description of, 82,
83.

MoYTOT, a Cherokee chief, 367,
368.

MRIK3AH, 120, 124, 134, 139, 140,

148, 149.

Muchin, Christopher, a cap-
tive, 274.

Mudge, Lieut., killed in Dade's
fight, 418.

MuGO, a noted Tarratine. chief,

289,294.
Munjoy, John, killed at Fal-
mouth, 303, 716.

Murray, Capt., killed at Point
Pleasant, 540.

Murray, Col., surprises Fort
JVia^ara, 628.

Muskciaquidy since Concord,
Maes., 112.

Mitskogees, {Creeks,) 364.
MlJSKALATUBEE, a CAorfffiMJ, 402,
48a

MnsHquASH, a Wampano'ag, 245.

Rlyrick, B. L., his History of
Haverhill, 45.

RIyrick, Lieut., in the Floiida
war, 47f,

, (Na «ISHC01V,)NaANAS<)II
113.

JVaamKfkt, 1;9, 277, 279, 980
;

meaning of, 283.

NAMONT^ra. a Virg;inia chief,

sent by Poxhatan to live with
the English, and to learn their

arts and customs, 351 ;
goes

to England, 351.

Namumpum, (Weetamoo,) 187

189.

NANAHEUNT,a Wmnpaiwag, 193.

Nananuntnew, a Wampanoag,
199.

Nanapashemet, a Jfipmuk of
great fame near Shawmut, 104

;

his residence and place of
interment, 105.

Nantaquas, a son of Foic/iatan,

350.

Nanuntenoo, a M'arraganset
chief of great renown, 230

;

his men defeat the English
under Capt. Pierce, 231 ; sur-

prised and taken prisoner,

233 ; his magnanimous beha-
vior in captivity, 234 ; Eng-
lish advise his execution,
235 ; he is shot at Stonington,
234, 235, 329, 330.

Naoa3, a JV^pmuk chief, 114,180.

Naopope, a Sac chief, second to

Black-hawk, 655 ; his ac-
count of himself, 655.

Napoleon, Miantunnomoh
compared to, 129.

J\rarraganset, variously written,

85, 102 ; its meaning, 87 ; ge

ography of the country, 117
;

war with the Pequots, 83

;

conduct of the English to-

wards, 158 ;
participate

Philip's war, 207 ; send some
of the heads of the English
to the J^pmuks, 272, 273;
great destruction of them in

the Fort Fight, 217; desert

Philip, 275.

M'asfiobak, [Littleton,] a town
of Praying Indians, 180.

Nashoo.non, a Christian J^ip-

muk, 94, 106.

Nasheeskuk, son of Black-
hawk, 661.

Na30tt, Job, a J^ipmuk coun-
sellor, 108.

Nassowanoo, son of Nashoo-
>(0N, 106.

Natani3 in Arnold's expedition

to Quebec, 319 ; wounded and
taken, 320, 496.

JVatch.es oppressed by the

French, 383 ; they massacre
the colony, o83.

JVatick, meaning of the name,
178.

Natombamet, sachem of Saco,

298.

Nattahanada, a Tarratine

chief, 285.

Nattahattawants, a JVipmuk
chief, 183.

Nattawahunt, (Nashoono?!,)
94.

Nattawobmet, father of Nat-
tahanada, 281.

Nauhnocomw it, ordered to Ply-

mouth, 244.

Nawashasuck, quarrels with
PUMHAM, 258.

Neagle, Mr., paints portraits of
Indians, 635.

Neal, Daniel, his Historv of N.
England, 106, 176—178.

Neamathla, a Seminole chief,

411, 434—436.
Nebine, an jibcnaki warrior,

333.

Neff, Mary, 47 ; William, 47.

Nelson, Gen., in the Florida

war, 327, 328.

Nelson, Col. of a Georgia guard
455.

Nemattanow put to death, 360.

Nepanet,Tom, a JVipmuk Chris-
tian, 240 ; ambassador in

Philip'9 war, 274, 275, 330,
331.

Nepeof, a fVampcmoag warrior,
93.

Neptune, John, a Penobscot
captain, 320.

Ne3Utan, Job, a JVipmtik, as-

sists Eliot to translate the
Bible into Indian, 115, 176:
killed in Philip's war, 176.

Netaump, (Mautahp ?) 271.

Netawatwees, a Z>elaware,92-2,

523.

Netu3, a M'ipmuk, his depreda-
tions, 264.

New Albion, Drake's discovery
of, 83.

New Arrow, a Seneca chief,

607.

Newbury attacked by the Indi-
ans, 295 ; the first white child

born there, 255.

Newbury, Capt., massacres 100

Indians, 249.

.\'ew Echota, Indian treaty there,

442.

New England, so named from
Nova Albion, 83 ; called by
the Five JVations, Kinshon,
501 ; first white child born
in, 255.

Newman, Capt., killed in St.

Clair's defeat, 572, 700.

Newman, Gen., in the Florida
war, 398, 406.

Newman, Rev. Noah, of Reho-
both, 213, 231.

Newport, Gov., duped by Pow-
hatan, 352.

New River, settlement at, de-
stroyed, 415.

New Smyrna, Florida, de-

stroyed, 416.

New Style, an explanation of,

85.

Newspapers,in CftcroS:cc,554, 558
—560 ; used to the disadvan-
tage of the Indians, 463.

Newton, (JVonantum,) Eliot be-

gins to preach at, 176.

Newtown, Bbant defeated
there, ,587.

JViagara described by an Indian,
381.

JVianticks, country of the, 131.

Nicholson, Colonel F., 47, 372,
511.

NicKOTAWANCE, a Virginia
chief, 362.

NiHORONTAGOWA, (BiG TrEE,)
607.

NiMROD, (WONASHUM,) 199

—

204, 212.

NiNiGRET, chief of the .Vraw-

tiks, 131 ; his troubles with
other chiefs, 134 ; threatened
by the English, 136 ; new
difficulties, 137 ; his war with
A9CAS9A330TIK, 138 ; rcsldcs

among the Dutch, 139 ; speech
to them, 140, 141 ; mortgages
his country, 145 ; his contempt
of Christianity, 146—148 :

known by various names,
15:i ; determines on a war
with the Mohegans, 154 ; will

have the head of Unca3, 155 :

screens fugitive Pequots, 170 ;

shrewd reply to Mr. Mayhew,
178 ; opposes the introduction
of Cbri.stianity among his
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people, 260; "an oid, crafty

sachem," 145.

NiKioBKi', family of, 146, 149.

Jfipmuks, their country, 82
;

under SquAW Sachem, 104
;

at war with the Moh:zans,
IGl, 164; they abandon Phil-
ip, 215.

NiTTANiHOM, a sachem on L.
Island, 143.

M'obscuU Hill, near Sudbury ,267.

NoMAN, a Wampanoag, 249.

NoMONV, John, a Pennakook,
298.

?{oMPASH, a fT'impaiioag, 189;

ANnMPA9H,251 ; of Sogkonate,

353 ; death of, 257.

NONSKQUESSEWIT, GEO., a JV/j}-

naUi, 2G5.

Northampton attacked by the

Indians, '3SQ.

Northfield, {Squkeag,) 929.

Norton, Capt., killed by the

Pequots, 167.

Norton, John, (Tetoninhoee-
RAWEN,) 627, 628.

JVorridgeinok, 303 ; capture of,

311.

Norvell, J., on the cholera in

the West, 649.

NowEq.UA, his expeditions, 161.

NuMPHOw, S., 184, 268 : makes
a treaty at Dover. 715.

Nurse, Rebecca, accused of

witchcraft, 184.

o.

Oakman, Tobias, taken, 293.

Oakmulge Fields, antiquities

there, 665.

Oakes, Lieut., [Edward,] ex-
ploit of, 210, 212.

Oebatinkua, sachem of Sliaw-

mut, 94, 104.

Obeal, son of Coen-Plakter,
.597, 599, 615.

Obechikwod, of the Pequot
tribe, 160.

Obtakiest, a noted Wampanoag,
99.

OccoM, Sampson, a Mohegan
preacher, 183, 713.

OcKONOSTOTA, renowned Creek
chief, 373; treats with Gov.
Littleton, 374 ; takes Fort
Jjoudon, 375 ; attempt upon
Fort Prince George fails, 377.

OcoNNOECA, a Cherokee chief,

374.

Oconas, (or Oconee/,) a tribe of
Cherokres, 369.

Oddebussin, his \isit to Bos-
ton, 677.

O'DriscoIl, Mr., killed in Flori-

da, 489.

Oetan, a name of Opitchepan,
359.

Offscow, Jeremiah, order for

his apprehension, 180.

OGEE3E, a Creek warrior, 369.

Oglethorpe, Gen., brings a col-

ony to Carolina, 3(i9 ; his

speech to the Indians, 370

;

takes several of them to Eng-
land, 371.

Ohiiijamehud, a Wampanoag,
94.

Dkase, Okoko, (Uncas,) 151.

Okcclwbe, battle of, 483.

Old Brim, a noted Creek chief,

;W9.

Oldham, Mr. John, killed by
Pc^uois, 167.

Oldham, Major, killed in St.

Clair's defeat, 571.

Old Indian Chronicle, what it

is, 197 ; references to, 67, 189,

209, 2n 216, 217, 220, 222,

i23, 241, ,^90.

Old Jethro, (Tantamous,) a
JVipmuk chief, betrayed and
hanged, 265, 266.

Old-Knike, (Letelesha,) 633,

634.

Oldraixon, [J.,] his America, 41,

306, 509—511.
Old-Queen, (Quaiapes,) 134,

248, 249.

Old Style, explanation of, 85.

Oliver, Capt. James, in Philip's
war, 219, 261.

Oliver, A., his house attacked
by Indians, 490.

Omahas, their country, 14, 632,

633 ; some visit the Atlantic
cities, 677 ; we.st. 704.

Omathla, Charles, a Seminole,

412.

Onamoo. a Christian JVipmuk,

113, 180, 181.

Onas, Indians so named Win.
Penn, 517.

One-eyed-john, (Monoco,)
964 ; hanged, 266.

Oneco, son of Uncas, a noted
depredator, 92, 149.

Oncidas, their countiy, 14 ; 500.

503.

Ongpatonga, (Bio Elk,) an
Omaha chief, 632 ; visit to

Washington, 633.

Oaondaa-as, one of the Five JVa-

tions, 14, 500, 503.

Okope^uin, a sachem of Qua-
baog, 164.

Onus, one of the wives of
CiUINNAPIN, 240.

Opachisco, uncle of Pocahon-
tas, 358.

Opekankano, sachem of Pa-
munky, 348 ; brother ot Pow-
hatan, 253 ; his oricjin, 329

;

seized by Capt. Smith, 360
;

leader in a great massacre of
the English, 360 ; is taken
and killed, 362.

Opitchapan, brother of Pow-
hatan, 353; (Itopatim,)3,55

;

(Oesan,) 359.

Oppamvluah, a Deluvmre chief,

44.

Oriskana, Indian victory tliere,

579.

Orme, Capt., wounded at Mo-
noviruhel-a, 609.

Ormond, IJiike of, visited by
Indians, 511.

Orono, chief of the Pcnobscots,

339, 340.

Orvilliers, D', sent against the
Scnecas, 504.

Osborn, Sarah, accused ofwitch-
craft, 184.

Osceola, a Florida chief, 410
;

early difficulties with, 412;
seized and put in irons, 413

;

not a chief by birth, 420 ; his

town destroyed, 425 ; meets
Gen. Gaines on the Ouithle-

cuochee, 499, 430 ; a parley

with Gaines, 431 ; kills t'.math-

la, 465 ; review of earlier

events in his life, 470; at-

tacked near Fort Urane, 472
;

makes a narrow escape, 475

;

fights Gen. Call in the It'aAoo,

476, 477 ; report of cowardice,
479 ; appears at Fort Mellon,
480 ; his capture by Gen.

Jessup, 481, 462 , Sent to Port
Moultrie, and there dies o(
fever, 485 ; his cliaracter, 48f

Osgood, William, 295.
Usteen, Mr. J., bis bouse as

saulted, 489.

OsucHEE, Euri)rised and lulled

478.

Otacite, a Ckeroliee chief, 372
treats with Gov. Littletonj

375 ; visits England, 367.

Otoes, country of, 14 ; some
visit Bostoni 577; west, 703.

Ottowas, their country, 14 : their
origin, 537; west, 704.

Ottsoghkoree, Til Iroquois
warrior, 507

OucHEE Bili.v,(Uohee Billv.)
431.

OuEKACHfjiPA, chief of 0C0!UU,
375.

OiiLTUcK, a jVipmuh, hanged at

Boston, 713.
Ol'naka.vnoivine, aC?ee^- chief,

367.

OuRAOi-HABE, a famous Iroquois,

507.

OuTHLATARoA, ti Creek chief,

369.

OusAME(iUiN, a name of Mas-
S.ASOIT, 91.

OusANATANAH, a Ckerokee, iiiur-

(lerud, 375.

0.\ford, {Maixchage,) a lovvn
of Praying Indians, 179.

Ovster River, deoredations at,

"303, 304, 492.

Paddy Carb, goea '.j Florida,

474, 479.

Paddy, Mr. William, de;Uli of,

285.

Pagatt, Joseph, a Wanipaiioag,
12-2.

Paget, Corporal, in the fight at
Ouithlecocchee, 423.

Pahkehpunnasoo, a Praying
Indian, 189

Paige, Col. Nicholas, [of Bos-
ton,] 211.

Paine, Mr. J. EI., vi.vitb] J. Rost,
459.

Paine, Nathaniel, J98.

Paine, Thos., of Eastham, 941.
Paint Creek, antiquities tbere^

58.

Pakanke, ^Delaware ciiief, 517.

Pakachoog, a town of Praying
Indians, 179.

Palmer, Major, in Philip's war,
333.

Paniese, conjurors or superior
chiefs, 100.

Panis, a nation upon the Mit-
souni, 11, 104, 180.

Parish, Col., in the Seminole
war, 494.

Paris, Mr., implicated in witch-
craft,- 183, 184.

Parkill, Col., at the battle of
OuithUcoochee, 423.

Parsheparho, his visit to Boa-
ton, 670.

PiSSACONAWAY, Chlttf Of MCT-
rimack country. 111, 159; a
Bashaba, 277 ; his farewell
speech, 978; his -leath, 278,
280.

Passamaquoddy, 14 . definitioB

of, 319.

Path-kili.er, 395, S96 ; Gen.
Jackson and, 446.
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Patrick, Mrs., murdered in Flor-

ida, 493.

pATucEsoN accused of the mur-
der of Sassamon, 195.

Patuxet, the Indian's name of
Plymouth, 95.

Paugus, sachera of Peguawket

;

conducts the memorable fight

with the English under Love-
well, and is killed, 312—317.

Pawsa^uens, counsellor to

Philip, 199.

Pawtucket, bloody fight there,

331, 233.

PiXNous, a warrior chief of the
Shawanese, 524.

Peabody, BIr., marriage of, SJ55.

Peak, Mr., [John] killed atWai-
pole, N. H., 339.

Peas-creek-John, a Seminole
warrior, 479.

Pechmo, signal exploit of, 71.

Peddock, Leonard, a pilgrim, 85.

Peeee, counsellor to PHILIP,
killed, 200, 210.

Peepy, Josiah, interpreter, 53.

Peck, J. M., on Western an-
tiquities, 64.

Pegin, his JVipmvJi expedition,
270.

Peirse, Capt., expedition and
death, 231, 232, 270. [He was
a brother of Capt. Peirse, of
London.]

Peiskaret, his adventures and
death, 507, 508.

Pciepscot, depredations there,

299.

Peeanimne, one carried off by
Harlow, 71.

Pekillon, a traitorous Dela-
ware, 557.

Pekoath, mistake for Pequot, 113.

Peksijot, a noted IVampanoag
Paniese, 95, 100; killed by
Capt. Standish, 100.

Pemissapan, (Wingina,) 344,
345.

Pemmaquid, destruction of, 332.

Penachason, a Wampanuag
warrior, 270.

Pennacooks, 14 ; their troubles,

278, 279.

Pennahanit, a JVipmuk con-
vert, 180, 181.

Pendarvis, Mr., family of,cut off,

488.

Penn, Wni., his treaty, 51tj,517,

528, 615.

Penobscot, meaning of the name,
321.

Pepper, Robert, escape at Beer's
fight, 215.

PeqiLoLi, 14 ; "a great Saga-
vuire," 113 ; their country de-
scribed, 165, 172 ; at war
with the JtTarragansets, 107

;

their wars and final destruc-
tion, 165—174; map of their
country, 166 ;

" Pequot souls
brought down to hell," 170

;

some executed and cast into

the sea, 170 ; many sold into
slavery, 171.

Perkins, John, of Jigaicavi, 110.

Perkins, Samuel, History of the
Late War, 391, 393.

Perrine, Dr. H., killed in Flori-

da, 49a
Pessacus, a noted JiTarraganset

chief, 122 ; visits Boston, 137
;

invaded by the English, 148;
his war with Uncas, 154

;

sends presents to the governor
o* Mass., 156 ; killed by the

MohMBks, 123, 333.

Petalesharoo, a Pawnee brave,
his visit to Washington, 633;
a great exploit of, 634.

Petananuet, husband of Wee-
TAMoo, 229.

Peters, Thos., Hist, of Connecti-

cut, 34 ; letter about the Pe-
quots, 133, 150, 159, 166.

Peter, a Tarratine, attacks
Bradford, 295.

Peter, son of Avashonks, a
traitor to Philip, 235 ; a chief
captain, 253 ; serves under
Church, 255 ; one betrays the
'JVarragansets, 218, 714.

Pbwazegsake, o( J\re^usset, 284.

Peyrouny, Capt., at Brnddock's
defeat, 609.

Peyton, Ijieut., his exploit, 481,
483.

Phagan, Maj., agent in Florida,

464, 465.

Philadelphia, its Ind. name, 63.

Philip, sachem of the Wamya-
noags, 92 ; why called Philip,

187 ; his people hold a war
dance, 189 ; causes of his be-
ginning a war, 193 ; his tnie
name, 197 ; sales of his lands,
198—200 ; calli'd Wcwasowaa-
uet, 200 ; Philip a nick-name,
other causes of war, 202

;

English prepare for hostilities,

203 ; Philip disclaims war,
and agrees to pay a tribute,

203 ; his difficulties with Ply-
mouth, 204 ; refuses to treat

with inferiors, 207 ; his men
begin the war, 207 ; fights the
English at Pocasset, 211 ; re-

treats and is attacked on Re-
hoboth Plain, 212; cuts off
Capt. Beers, 215 ; surprises

and cuts off Capt. Lothrop,
216 ; his attack on Hatfiild,

217 ; besieged in a fort in
Jfarraganset, and desperately
defends it, 218—220 ; retreats

into the country of the JVip-

mufo, 220; imputed murderer
of some Mohawks, 221 ; sacks
Lancaster, Medfield, and cuts
off Capt. Wadsworth at Sud-
bury, 222 ; retreats into Ply-
mouth colony, 223 ; driven
from place to place with loss,

233 ; his sister and uncle
killed, 233 ; his wife and son
taken, 224 ; surprised in a
swamp, but escapes, 225 ; flies

to Pokanoket, where he is pur-
sued and killed, 225; inci-

dents attending this last trag-

edy, 226—228 ; religious an-
ecdote of, 228

i
a " blasphe-

mous leviathan," 228 ; Mrs.
Rowlandson's anecdotes of,

229, 240 ; his ornaments pos-

sessed by Capt. ^nnawon,'i39
;

other facts, 254, 275.

Philip, a Seminole chief, 416

;

attacks New Smyrna, 416

;

of Topkolikij, 325, 331 ; taken
prisoner, 481.

Philip, sachem of Pigwoket,
316 ; at the taking of St. Fran-
cis, 318 ; at the taking of Lou-
isbourg, 319 ; defeated at Wal-
pole, 338.

Philip II., ludicrous error con-
cerning, 38.

Phillips, Adj., at the battle of
Ouitlilccoochee, 423.

Phillips, Maj., [William,] suc-

cessfully defends his garrison

at Saco, 986, 287.

Philosophical Trans., K.S., 274
Phips, Sir William, 292, 305.

Piambohou, a JVipmuk, ruler <a

Natick, 180.

Piankatanks, a tribe of Virgin-
ia, 14, 349.

Pickens, General, in the war
with the Cherokees, 407

Pickering, Sarah, a witneas,
329.

Pidgeon, Major, interpreter,
510.

Pierce, Major, in the Florida
war, 472, 475, 476.

Pilgrims, their arrival at Ply-
mouth, 75; account of their
landing there, 76; their inter-

course with the Indians, 77
—79.

Pinchon, Major, 147, 164, 173,

179, 322.

PlOMINOO, (CoLBURT,) 401, 402,
689.

PiowANT, a Wampanoag, 188,

198, 242.

Pipe, Capt., 519; of the Wolf
tribe of Dilawares, 554^556,
561, 563, 696.

Pipe of Peace, (Calumet,) 554.

Pitt, William, Fort Pitt named
for, 690.

PiTYME, Andrew, a Jv'ipmuk,

272, 276.

Plague among the N. England
Indians, 80.

Plastowe, fJosias,] degraded lor

robbing Indians, and loses his

title of Mr., 108.

Plato, supposed to refer to

America, 21.

Pluminer, Capt., cast away on
Florida, and killed, 487.

Plymouth, first settlement of,

75; {Patuxit,) 95; {Jipaum,
Umpane,) 251.

Pocahontas, daughter of Poib-
hatan, preserves the life of
Capt. Smith, 350 ; reveals a
plot against his life, 354 ;

saves the life of Mr. Spilman,
357 ; betrayed into the hands
of the English, 357 ; marries
Mr. Rolfe, an Englishman,
and goes to England, where
she dies, 358.

Pocasset, swamp fight there, 211.

PoGGAPAN0330, (Tobias,) exe-
cuted, 194, 242.

Point Pleasant, battle of, .039
;

serious troubles there, 545.

Polianoket, description of, 82, 83.

PoKATTAWAGG, a Wampanoag,
251.

Pole, [Poole,] George, of Ply-
mouth, 86.

Pollard, Capt., a Seneca chief,

597, 606 ; visited by Blac k-

hawk, 667.

Poison, Capt., at Braddocfc's
defeat, C09.

Polwhele, Dr. Richard, nis»o-

rian, 114.

PoMASE, a Ji'arraganset warrior,

159.

PoMETACOM, (Philip,) 197.

Pompaquase, a Wampanoag', 198.

Pomroye, E., troubled by the

Indians, 146.

PoMUMSKs, a JVarraganset, 148.

PoNTiAK, chief of the Ottawas,

546 ; begins a war with the

English, 549 ; defeats them
with great loss, 551 ; capturei
several vessels, 552 ; raisei

the siege of Detroit ; is assa»
sinated, 553.
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Poor, Gen., defeats the Western
Indians, 587.

Poole, Capt., [Jonathan,] in

Philip's war, 217.

Pope, John, murder of, 245.

Popham, Lord, sends Prin to

New England, 70, 71.

VofiuiN, (PoquoiM,) a JVarra-

ganset, 146.

Portsmouth, depredations at,

295.

•>osey, Gen., in Blackhawk's
war, 652, ti53.

Post, Frederick, western mis-

sion of, 516, 535.

PoTOK, opiwsed to Christianity,

260 ; taken in Philip's war
and executed, 261.

Potter, E. R., History of JVar-

raganset, 230, 241.

Potter, Ser<!., in the battle of

OiiitAlecooche, 423.

Potter, W., Hist, of the Florida

War, 462.

Pottowatomies, account of, 14,

610, 638.

Powaw, or Powwow, conjurers

or prophets, so called among
Indiana, 105, 175.

Powell, Lieut., his defeat, 484.

•Powhatan, great sachem of

Virginia, 347 ; extent of his

country, 347 ; surprises and

destroys the Payankatanks,

348 ; orders the execution of

Capt. Smith, 350 ; outwits

Gov. Newport, 351 ; a house

built for him, 353, 354 ; orders

his men to kill Smith, 355 ; a

crown sent over from Eng-
land, and he is crowned, 351

;

his death, 355.

Powhatans, tribes of Virginia,

14, 344.

Pownal, Gov. Thomas, on the

colonies, 48, 507.

Prat, Phineas, his narrow es-

cape, 99, 507.

Praying Indians, account of, 175

—184.
. .

'rentice, Thomas, captain in

Philip's war, 258.

fresque Isle, Indians defeated

there, 576.

Priest, Joeiah, on western an-

tiquities, 62.

'rinn, or Prin, Martin, his voy-

age to New England, 70 ; car-

ries Indians to England, 70.

^rince, Gov. T., Awashonks's
letter to, 250.

Prince, Thomas, his Annals,

81, 104, 111; Williams's Re-

deemed Captive, 325.

Prince, John, Worthies of Eng-
land, 70, 84, 3.58.

Proctor, J., missionary to Cher-

okees, 454.

Proctor, Gen., defeated at the

Thames, 620 ; his conduct at

the River Raisin, 625, 626.

Proctor, John, accused of witch-

craft, 184 ; Elizabeth, 184.

Proctor, Lieut., 310, 311.

PnoPHET, the Shawanec, (Ells-

KWATAWA,) his agency at

Tippecanoe, 620 ; his singular

history, 623—625.
Prophet, the Seminole, (Hil

LIBHAQO,) 403.

Prophet, the Winnebago, (Wa
BOKIESHIEK,) 658.

Pdkbesheno, father of Tecum-
•BH, 623.

PuMHAM, a noted J^arraganset

chief, 92, 120 ; claims Shao-

INDEX.

met, 96 ; troubles, 156, 159 ;

kind to the English, 257 ; his

town burnt, 260 ; his melan-

choly fate, 260.

PuMPASA, (NiMROD,) which see.

Punkateeset, great fight there,

210.

PupoMPooEs, brother of Sassa-

CU3, 165.

Purchase, Thomas, wrongs In-

dians, 299.

Purchas, Samuel, his Pilgrims,

84, 355, 366.

Pushmataha, death of, 398

—

402.

PuTTAquppnuNEC,a Pcfuot,172.

Psalter, The, printed in Indian,

115.

Putnam, General, and Corn-
planter, 612.

Putnam, Major, in the Florida

war, 425.

Q,iuibaogs attacked by Uncas,
163 ; cut off Capt. Hutchinson

in Philip's war, 213.

duADEQuiNA, brother of Mas-
SASOiT, 85 ; visits the Pilgrims,

86 ; treaty with, 94.

ClUAiAPEN, of great note and
authority among the JVarra-

gansets, 134 ; killed in Phil-

Tp's war, near Warwick, 248,

249.

Cluakers, friends to the Indians,

220.

QuAME, a Pequot prisoner, 172.

(iUANNAPOHiT, James, a JVSp-

mulc, 264 ; serves the English

as a spy, 265, 271.

Guannapohit, Thomas, 272,

273, 276.

GuANONCHET. — See Nanun-
tenoo.

Q,UAN0WiN, a fVampanoag, 188.

auAquALH, wounded in a fight,

258.
GuAquEqcuNSET, of Qitaba-

bakonk, 163.

Quatoghies, country of, 14 ; Ha-
rons, 508.

Q,uebeck, meaning of the name,
546.

duimby, Mrs., assaulted by In-

dians, 295.

CluiNNAPiN, a noble JVarragan-

set, son of Conjanaquond,
brother-in-law to Philip, pur-

chases Mrs. Rovvlandson,239;
her account of him, 241 ; falls

into the hands of the English,

and is shot at Newport, 241.

Q,UE(iUEGUNENT,a JVaT-raffariset,

son of auAiAPEN, 145; called

Gideon, 248.

QuiNEMmoET, daughter of

aUAIAPEN, 248.

duissoquus, a JVarraganset,

145.

Qfwchccho, (Dover, N. H.,) prop-

erly Cochecho, which see.

R.

Rains, Capt., defeated in Flor-

ida, 492.

Raisin, (River,) battle of the,

625.

Ralegh, Sir Walter, settles Vir-

ginia, 34 ; anecdote of, 113 ;

beheaded, 114.

Ralle, or Rasle, Jesuit mission

ary, 310 ; is killed aXJforridgt-

wok, 311, 312.

Ramegin, sachem of tfegusset,

284, -'85.

Randolph, Dr., at the battle of

Ouithlecooclie, 42:!

Randolph, John, ot Roanoke,
dies, 359.

Rapp, Mr., of New Harmony,
20,21.

Ratcliff, Mr., his house burnt in

Florida, 416.

Rawhunt, of Virginia, anec-

dote of, 350.

Rawson, Edward, letter of to

Indians, 2d0, 696.

Read, Capt. L., in the Florida

war, 432.

Rechahecri-ams, war with them,
31 i2.

Recovery, (Fort,) 571, 576 ;

battle of, 689.

Redbird, a Siouz,die3in prison,

638, 639.

Redhawk, murder of, 545, 695.

696.

Red Jacket, (Saootewatha,)
anecdote of, 42, 593 ; speech

of to a missionary, 594, 595
;

in the war of 1812, 596 ; letter

to the governor of N. York.
596—599 ; in a witchcraft case,

599 ; interview with Lafay-

ette, 600 ; at Philadelphia,

601 ; death of, 603. •

Redsticks, a tribe of Seminoles,

404.

Reed, Joseph, anecdote of his

patriotism, 139.

Reed, W., wrecked and mur-
dered in Florida, 487, 488.

Rees, Dr. A., his Encyclopedia.

30.

Rehoboth, bought of the Indi-

ans, 91 ; distressed in Philip's

war, 276 ; burnt, 262.

Reid, Col., at the battle of Chiitk-

lecooche^ 423.

Removal of Indians, its policy

e.xamined, 466.

Rhode Island, (^guidneck,) bo't

of the Indians, 124.

Ricarees, destroyed by small-

pox, 677.

Richmond, Capt.,of Sogkonate,
253.

Richards, Major, [John
.'J

his

Mohawk agency, 322.

RiDOE, Major, a CAeroAcce chief,

401, 440, 448 ; murdered by
his own people, 460.

Ridgely, Lt., wounded at Ouith-

lecooche, 423.

Riley, Col., his exploit in Flor-

ida, 492.

Ringe, Andrew, Jr., 196.

River Indians,l\\e\i locality, 281,

510.

Roanoke, first English settle-

ment there, 344.

Robbins, Lt., lost at Lovewell's

fight, 317.

Robertson, Dr., his manner of
peopling America, 22 ; all

men have one origin, 26; in

error respecting the name of

New England, 83.

Robeson, Lieut., filed at Point

Pleasant, 540.

Robinhood. — See Rameoin.
Robinson, life saved by Looan,

538.

Robinson, John, reproves tba

Pilgrims, 102.

Robin M., his speech of LooAB
543.
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Robin, a Creek war captain, 369,

Robin, a Tarratiue, seHs Jfegua-
ftt, 284.

Robin, o( Agaioam, prevents the
Tarratines from destroying
Ipswich, 110.

RocKleff, G. W., attacked at

Mosquito, 435.

Rodney, Lieut, dies in Florida,
490.

KoDONNONAKUs, a Tarrotine
chief, 297.

Rogers, Major, 40, 54 ; surprises
and makes captives of the St.

Francis Indians, 318, 338.

Rogers, Erastus, killed in Flor-
ida, 421.

Rogers, Lieut., killed in Har-
mer'8 defeat, 687.

RoooMOK.— See Rameoin.
Rolfe, John, marries Pocahon-

tas, 358.

Rollins, Mr., his family cut off,

488.

RoNNEsooEE, a A'ipmuk of Na-
tick, 143.

Ross, Adjutant, a Cherokee
chief, 401.

Ross, John, 393, 440, 447, 448,
458, 481.

Ross, James, killed at Casco,

700.

RocNDHEAD, a Wyandot chief,

225 ; takes Gen. Winchester
prisoner, 225 ; at the capture
of Detroit, 226.

Rouville, H. De, his expedition,
328.

Rowell, Capt., defeated in Flor-
ida, 488.

Rowe, N., a passage from his

Lucan, 238.

Rowlandson, Mrs., her captiv-
ity ; interview with Philip,
229 ; incidents of her captiv-
ity, 240, 241, 266, 267 ; other
incidents, 274, 275.

RowLEs, an ancient Tarrotine
chief, 322.

RuMNEYMABSH, George.— See
WiNNEPURKiTT. — See also
276.

Russell, Capt., ambushed in

Florida, 488.

s.

Sabatis, a Tarrotine chief, cap-
tured at Su Francis, 319 ; Sab-
badis, 320 ; another of the
name, murdered, 338.

Sabine, \V., a juror lo trv Indi-
ans, 196.

Sachem's Head, why such a
name, 151.

Saco, burnt, and people killed
there, 386, 287.

Sacs, (Saiiks,) early visited by
Jesuits, 638 ; incorporated
with the Foxes, 638 ; their
war Willi the Menominies, 640

;

make partial sale of their
country, 640 ; description of
their village, 641 ; insulted by
intruders, 641 ; Gov. Rey-
nold's proclamation against
them, 642; driven from their
country by whites, 643 ; war
ensues, 645—653 ; war with
the Sio-ux, 673.

Sagadahock, English first settle

at, 71.

Bauamore John, a J^ipmuk
ebief. 263.

Sagamore Sam, (Shoshanim,)
269.

Sagamore, its signilicatioii, 104,
277.

Sagayeathruagethton, [spelt

in the Genealogical and An-
tiquarian Register,SAGAYEAN-
ftUARAsHTow, who was the
grandfather of Brant,] his
visit to England, 510.

Sagoyewatha (Red Jacket,)
593—603.

•Saguarum, (Lobon,) 333.
Sakaweston, a N. England In-

dian, taken to England by
Capt. Harlow, and thence goes
in the war against Bohemia,
72.

Salmon Falls, destruction of,

300, 301.

Saltonstall, Sir Richard, 111.
Sam IliDE,a noted lying Indian,

37.

Sam Jones, (Abiaca,) 479, 461,
483.

Samkama, counsellor to Philip,
203.

Samoset welcomes the Pilgnims
to Plymouth, 76 ; his services
to them, 77 ; goes with them
to Pokanoket, 86, 87.

Sampson, H., buys land of In-
dians in Middleboro', 241.

i

Sampson, a barbarous Tarrotine,
304, 715.

Sampson, an attorney to Philip,
198.

Samuel, Capt., 308 : speech of,

309, 310.

Sanamahonga, (Stone-eater,)
638.

Sanderson, Lt., defeat and death
of, 492.

Sanders, John, of Wessagxisset,
99.

Sanders, Lt., killed in Harmer's
defeat, 687.

Sanders, Mr., killed in Florida,
492.

San Felasco, battle of, 473.
Sanford, Major, goes to attack
Phi MP, 226.

Sanford, J., complaint against,
188.

Sannap, the station or office of
a, 12>.

Saquarexis, a Tarratine, a hos-
tage, 333.

Sassacus, chief of the Pequots,
116 ; " malignant and furi-

ous," 137 ; " a terror to his

neighbors," 165 ; the English
make war upon him, 170 ; his
sales of land, 172 ; killed by
the Mohawks, 173.

Sassenow, a Tarratine of Sag-
adahock, 71.

Sa33amon, John, a missionary
to the Peguots, 172 ; secretary
to Philip, 193 ; preacher at

JtTamasket, 193
;

goes in the
war against the Fequots, 194

;

found dead in a pond, 195

;

supposed murderers detected,
195 ; the proceedings against
them, 196 ; other items in his
Jiistory, 198, 202.

Sassauon, Roland, interpreter
to Aleia.sder, 191 ; brother
to John, 198.

Sassemore, daughter of John
Sassamon, 194.

Saugus, (Lynn,) 111, 697. — See i

Lynn.
Saunders, Capt, disaster of,

333.

Saunders, Lt., barbsritv of, ir

Florida, 494.

Sau3ema>-, a principal Sogko-
naU, 250.

Savage, Ensign, wounded, 209 ;

Major, 273.

Savage, Mr., travels in the
West, 62.

Savage, Captain T., marches
against Philip, 206.

Scalps, first taken in Philip's
war, 210 ; English offer a re-
ward for, 311, 373.

Scarborough taken by Maa<:,
294.

SCAROYADA, (MoNOKATOOCHA.)
531, 679.

Schenectady, destruction of, 47.
Schermerhorn, Rev. J. F., 441.
Scoffield, Serg., in the Ouithle-

cooche fight, 423.

Schoolcraft, H. R,, on Mounds,
62.

Schuyler, Major, his expedition
against the French, 503 ; ac-
companies Indians to Eng-
land, 511; Colonel, 48.

Scott, Gen., in Florida, 432, 435 :

sent to reduce the Cheroktes,
443 ; in Florida, 471.

Scott, Sir Walter, said to re-

^ semble Blackhawk, 661.
5cRANY, Old, wonderful escape

of, 39.

Scuttup^, a JVarrarranset chief,
145, 248.

Scythians, said to resemble In-
dians, 25.

Sealy, Lieut., iu the Peguot
war, 155.

Searle, Lieut., in battle of Hat
chee Lustee, 478.

Searle, Capt., in Florida, killed,
490; Fort, 493.

Seat of Kino Philip, descrip-
tion of, 227.

Seminoles, their name and origin,
521 ; wars with, 403—406.
410—436 ; removal by the V.
S. from their country, 405

;

tliey resist, and war ensues,
461—496 ; west, 701.

Senauki, his visit to England,
370.

Seneca, supposed to refer to
America, 22.

Senecas, fourth nation of the
Iroquois, 500 ; west, 702.

Sequasson, chief under Mian-
tunnomoh, 128 ; one of his
men wounds Uscas, 152.

Seiiuin, a Pequot, supposed au-
thor of a cruel massacre at
Weathersfield, 142.

Sewall, S., New Heaven, iic,
255 ; Rev. Samuel, 715.

Shallisloske, a hostage, mur-
dered, 375.

Shamokin, Daniel, meets with
G. F. Post, 535.

Shapleigh, N., signs Indian
treaty at Dover, 715.

Shattookquis, sachem !>f

Brookfield, 266.

Shattuck, L., Hist, of Concord,
Mass., 104—106, 112.

Shawanese, facts in the history
of, 15, 500; west 703.

Shaw, [Charie.-,] History of
Boston, 104.

Shaw, J., a juror to try Indians
196.

Shaicmul, since Boston, whict
see.

Sheed, Mr., tutor to the ciiiAf

M'GiLLivBAY, 385.
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Sheefscott, John, a Tarratine,

305.

Sbeftall, Dr., wounded at JVa-

easa, 484.

Shelby, [Iraac,! Gov. of Ken-
tucky, 629.

IShelokta, a Creek, son of Chi-
NABv, ;i95.

Shelton, Gen., wounded, 432.

Slierburn, Capt., skirmish with
HoPEHooDj 335.

Sherwood, Lieut., killed, 496.

Shikellimus, father of Logan,
513; at Philadelphia; a Caij-

tiga ; his death, 514.

Shingis, a Delaioare chief, vis-

ited by Washington, 531; dis-

appoints him, 532 ; a bounty
offered for his head, 533

;

great warrior of his time, 534
;

befriends Frederick Post, 535,

Shirley, Gen., warns the fron-

tiers against surprise, 338.

Sholan, sachem ofJVashua, 159,

269.

Shoshanim, (Sagamore Sam,)
169 ; betrayed into the hands
of the English, who hang him,
267 ; change of his name to

UsKATUHGi'N, 269 ; his letter

to his enemies, 274 ; other
letters from, 267—269.

Sbrimpton, Samuel, of Boston,
135,328.

Shurd, Abraham, of Pemaquid,
110.

Sibly, Mary, confesses witch-
craft, 184.

Sill,
I

Joseph,] Capt., in Philip's

war, 281.

SiLOUE, saves the life of Col
Bird, 378.

SiLTER-HEELs, in the War of
1812, 597.

SiMMo, Capt., a Tarratine, chief
speaker at the treaty of 1703,
308, 309.

SiMorr, John, anecdotes of, 39,
257.

Simpkins, Capt., and the Indi-
ans, 141.

Singletary, Mr., himself and
family murdered, 487.

SiNiiuiSTER, a Creek prophet,
398 ; killed in the battle of
Tohopeka, 4O0.

SiNToucHi, his visit to Eng-
land, 370.

Sioux, 15 ; at Boston, 674 ; at

war, 674.
Sitz, Peter, taken prisoner by
Brant, 582.

Six J^Tations. — .See Pine J^alions,

Iroquois; mytliolocry of 709.

SHENANDo,an Onciiia, anecdote
of, 525.

Sketwarroes, carried to Eng-
land by Capt. Weymouth, 70;
returns again, 70.

Skijaousta, head warrior of
Passetchie, 367 ;

goes to Eng-
land, 368 ; makes a speech to

the king, 368 ; death of, 369.

Seiko, a sachem of Virginia,
344.

Blaine, Mr. John, a merchant
of London, 78.

Slaves, Indian, 72, 171, 224, 288.

3malley,Wm., narrative of, 560.

Smallman, Mr., his captivity,
696.

8mall-pox, its ravages, 111,677.
Wraith, Capt. John, surveys the

coast of, and names New
England. 83: brought to no-
tie« by Sir W. Ralegh, 113;

learns the Indian names of
places in N. England, 277

;

goes to Virginia, 348 ; his

severity to the Indians there,

348; they take him prisoner,
348 ; show him about the

country, 348; he is delivered
to Powhatan, 348; practise

conjurations upon him, 349

;

Powhatan determines to

have him killed, 350 ; his life

is spared by tlie entreaty of
Pocahontas, 350 ; is made
armorer to the chief, 351 ; he
is at length liberated, 351 ; an
anecdote, 351 ; elected gov-
ernor of Virginia ; Powhat-
an plots his death ; Pocahon-
tas frustrates the design, 354

;

meets with an accident, and
returns to England ; dies in

London, 354.

Smith, Col., in the Florida war,
487.

Smith, James, buys J^egusset,

284.

Smith, Riehard, buys lands of
Massasoit, 92 ; at M'arragan-
set, 117, 139, 140, 145, 146,220,
231.

Smith, S. S., on the Human
Species, 26, 28.

Smith, T., about the Walking
Purchase, 529, 531.

Smith, William, of Rehoboth,
267.

Smith, Zachary, killed by In-
dians, 263.

Smith, Lt. C, kid. in Flor.,421.
Smyth, Francis, messenger to

Pkssacus, 154.

Snelling, Col., [Josiah,] and
Red-Jacket, 596; takes a

chief prisoner at Tippecanoe,

620 ; in the battle of Magaugo,
621.

Snelling, W. J., on Indian cus-
toms, 588, 667.

Snow, C. 11., History of Boston,
104, 109.

SocHoso, a great Pequot chief,

121.

SocoNONOCO, a Jfarragaiiset

chief, 120 ; difficulties with
the English, 155, 156, 159, 258.

Sompointeen, a Wampanoag,
199.

SoNcoNEWHEW, a Wampanoag,
200.

SoNOREEHOOD, a TViTratine, 284.

SooNONOQisE, a Seneca, puts a
woman to death for witch-
craft, 599 ; tried for murder
by the whites, 599.

Soto, Ferdinand de, ravages
Florida to find gold, and dies

in the country, 366.

Southack, Capt., relieves Casco,

294.

South worth. Constant, 199,205,
212, 242, 255.

Southworth, Lieut. N.,255, 330.

Sparkman, Mr., tragedy at the
residence of, 473.

Sparks, Jared, note on Halk-
KiNo, 531,577.

Sparks, Major, wounded at

Braddock's defeat, 609.

Sparks, Capt., in St. Clair's

army, 401.

SPECKLED-SNAKE,Speech of,450.

Speeches ; Massasoit to the
Pilgrims, 88; of Canonicus,
100 ; MiANTUNNOMOH, 126

;

name to Waiandance, 127
;

UncaS to MlAKTUIfNOMOH,

130 ; of Ninioret, at Boston.
136 ; of Mexam, 139 ; of Pe*^
3ACUS and Ninioret, 140 ; of
Pessacus, 148 ; of Philip
207, ^9; of Passaconaway
278; of Wanalakset, 282
of A3siMiNAS(iUA, 289; of

Madokawando,291 ; ofKAN
KAMAGUS, 297 ; of Capt. Sim-
mo, 309; of Capt. Samuel,
309 ; of John Neptune, 321

;

of Powhatan, 352—354 ; of
ToMocoMo,355 ; of Pocahon-
tas, 357 ; of Opekankano,
362 ; of Skijagusta, 368 ; of
a chief to Gen. Oglethorpe,
370 ; of ToMocHiCHi, 370 ;

of Attakullakulla, 374 ; of
MoNCACHTAPE, 380 ; of Mad
Dog, 388; of Weatherford,
390 ; of MusHALATOBEE, 402

;

of Poshamata, 402 ; of Gran-
QULAcoppAK, 408 ; of Big
Warrior, 409 ; of Osceola,
412; of Granoula, 502; of
Adario, 505 ; of the five

chiefs to Queen Anne, 510;
of Canasatego, 515 ; of Glik-
HiKAN, 518 ; of Half-king,
518 ; of Netawatwees, 522

;

of TadeU3Kund,522 ; of Red-
jacket, 594 ; on witchcraft,

600; to Lafayette, 600; to

Gov. Penn, 601 ; of Farmer's
Brother, 604 ; of Cornplan-
TER to Washington, 609; of
Tecumseh, 617 ; of Black-
thunder, 632 ; of Ongpa-
TANOA,633 ;of Petaleshakoo,
634 ; of Metea, 635 ; of Keb-
WAOOU9HKUM,&i6 ; ofBLACS-
HAWK, 640 ; of Little-black,
645; of Neapope, 655; of
Decori,655; Black-hawk on
his surrender, 657 ; his speech-
es to Jackson, 660; of Wa-
BOKIESHIEK, 663.

Speen, Abraham, a Christian
J^ipmuk, 265.

Speen, James, a Christian JVSp-

muk, 272 ; narrow escape
from Mohawks, 282.

Speen, John, teacher at M'ntiek,

dies a drunkard, 180.

Speen, Thomas, a Christian
JVatick, 180.

Spilman, Henry, his life saved
by Pocahontas, 357.

Spoonant, Joseph.— .See Wa-
TAPACOSIN.

Sprague, Charles, Poem on the
Indians, 226.

Springfield attacked by the In-

dians, 216.

Spring, Dr. S., chaplain with
Arnold, 220.

SquABsEN, a Wampanoag, 188
Squamauo, counsellor to Wam-

PATUK, 108.

SqUAMATT, son of AWASHORKS,
251.

Squanakonk Swamp, description
of, 236, 2;!7.

SquANDO, sagamore of Saco, his

singular vision, 286 ; his wife
and child insulted, '286 ; bums
Saeo, 287 ; restores a captive,

288 ; a powwow, -'88 ; makes
a treaty at Cochecho, 716.

SquANTo, a Wampanoag, carried
to England by Capt. Wey-
mouth, 69, 70 ; errors of au-
thors about him, 71 ; inter-

preter to the Pilgrinwi, 78 ;

his death, 79 ; the only Indiaa
who escaped the great placua
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80 ; saves the Jife of Capt.

Denner, 84 ; accompanies!
Massasoit to Plymouth, 87 ;

shows them how to take eels,

87 ; taken prisoner by Caun-
BiTANT, 93 ; set at liberty, 93

;

accused of deception, i02
;

pilots the Pilgrims to JVassa-

chusetts, 104 ; Squantum so

named from, 106.

5qoAW Sachem, of Massacku-
.:ptts, 101; widow of Nana-
PASHAMET, marries VVebco-
vviT, 105 ; treaty with the
English, 106. — See Maonus
and Weetamoo.

SquiDRAYSET, hanged for mur-
der, 112.

Standish, Alexander, great age
of, 255.

Standish, Capt. Miles, his diffi-

culties with the Indians, 80,

87 ; takes part with Massa-
90IT against other Indians, 91,
93 ; discovers an Indian plot,

9.'"i ; sent against them, 99

;

kills sevenil of them, 99.

Stafford, Capt,, massacres Indi-
ans, 345.

Stanley's plantation, attack on,
492.

Stanton, John, 23a
Stanton, Robert, 233.

Stanton, Thomas, 135, 139, 149,

153, 162.

Stanwix, Fort, 53-2, 579, GIO, 611.

Staples, William R., 262.

Stark, John, 336 ; captivity of,

337.

St. Clair, ^r John, wounded at

MoTiongahda, 609.

St. Clair, Gen., 401 ; his account
of the disaster of his army,
570 ; some account of, 572,607.

Stebbins, Benjamin, a captive,

282.

Stedman, John, killed at Point
Pleasant, 540.

Sterling, nVeshakim,) 267.

Steuart, Capt., a prisoner, 377,
378.

Stevenson, Maj., defeated, 638.

Stevens, Capt. Phineas, 3.37.

St. Francis, origin of the tribe

of, 316 ; destroyed, 318.

St. Gregory, opinion of, respect-

ing a country west of Europe,
22.

Stinson, David, killed, 337.

St. James's palace, Indians visit

there, 511.

St. Johns, Fort, taken, 33.X

Stiles, Ezra, his edition of the
History of Philip's War, 82,
218.

Stillman, Major, his defeat, 645.

St. Leger, Gen., invests Fort
Stanwix, 579.

Stockwell, Uuentin, his cap-
tivity, 282.

Stokes, Gen., rn the Florida
war, 46&

Stone, Capt., killed by the Pe-
quots, 166, 177.

Stone, Simon, extraordinary es-

cape of, 334.

Stone-eater, (t~ANAMjH0W0A,)
620, 638.

Stone-wau^John, 261 ; his

death, 262.

Stoughton, Capt., in the Pequot
war, 171 ; Lieut. Gov. Wil-
liam, 332.

Stoughton, {Pakenia, Punkapa-
og,) a town of Praying Indi-

ttnt, 170, 179.

Street, Gen., Black-hawk de-

livered to, 656.

Strickland's Plain, battle of, 133.

Strong, (Kahalsta.) a Seneca
chief, 606.

Stuart, Arabella, implicated in

tlie charge against Sir Walter
Ralegh, 114.

Stuart, .1., his account of H'eUh
Indians, 52.

Studson. Robert, of Scituate,

109.

Stukely, Sir Lewis, receives the
son of Pocahontas to educate
him, 358, 359 ; his nefarious
conduct to Sir W. Ralegh,
360 ; dies in wretchedness,
360.

Sturgeon Creek, depredations
there, 295.

Sturgis, Edward, a juror to try

Indians, 196.

Stuyvesant, Gov., his troubles
with the English, 142.

Style of commencing the year,
85 ; difference between Old
and New Style, 301, 30^

Sudbury, its purchase of the In-

dians, 117 ;
" sore defeat " of

the English there, 222.

Sugar-loaf-Hill, bloody fight

there, 215, 216.

Suggs, Mr., killed at Camp
King, 421.

Sullivan, Gen., his Indian expe-
dition, 587.

Sunday, Capt., an Mbenaka
chief, 277.

SuNGEBAUOUNDo, a Tarratins,

336.

SCNK-SqUAW, (QUAIAPEN,) 134,

248, 249.

Sunseto, epitaph on, at Molie-
gan, 149.

SusEP, a Penobscot, tried for

murder, 320.

Sutton, Benjamin, a captive, 53.

Swan Island purchased of the

Indians, 285.

Swayne, Lieut., at the ..Vn/z-o-

ganset fight, 714.

Sweet, Lieut., killed in Har-
mer's defeat, 687.

Swamp Fights ; at Pocassf,t,'i\l ;

in JVarraganset, 218 ; near
Taunton River, 224 ; near
Warwick, 249. — See Battles.

Swanzey, Philip's war begins
there, 207, 208.

Swift, Dean, his notice of Indi-

ans, 510.

Swinton, Dr., on origin of Indi-
ans, 32.

Syll, (Sill,) Capt., in Philip's

war, 273.

Symon, a notorious Tarratine
depredator, attacks Newbury,
295 ; Sturgeon Creek, l'95

;

Casco, 296; completely ruins
Casco, and kills many people,

303.

T.

Taamet, (Winslow, Me.,) 285;
treaty of, 288, 289.

Tadeuskund, a noted Delaware
chief, 524.

Tahatoneb, his son murdered,
181.

Tahatawan, (Nattahatta-
WANT9,) 181.

Talcott, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 423, 471.

Talcott, Maj. .1., cuts off QuiH-
APEN, 249.

Talladega, severe battle of, 397
Talmage, Lieut., killed at Sche-

nectady, 47.

Talmon, Peter, complains of
Philip, 80.

Tame-King, a Creek chief, 386,
387.

Tammany, an ancient Delatoare,
512 ; a society of whites take
his name, 513 ; legends con-
cerning, 513.

Tamoueesam, (Jeffeby,) a
Wampanoag, 249.

Tanner, Nicholas, about the
Dutch Plot, 143.

Tantamous, (Old Jethro,)
265, 266.

TANToquiE30N,a Mohcgan capt.,

seizes Miantunnomoh, 128;
his life attempted, 1;J3.

Tantum, a N. England Indian,
assists Capt. Smith in his sur-
vey of the coast, 72.

Ta<iuan91cke, a fVavmanoar,
198.

Tarhe, or the Crane, a Huron
chief, 627.

Tarratines, 15 ; dreaded by the
Massachusetts, 81, 104, 106

;

their expedition against Aga-
icani discovered and prevent-
ed, 110 ; situation of their
dominions, 277.

Tarumkin, a chief of the An-
droscoggins, 289 ; speech of in
the Taconnet council, 289.

Tashtassuck, ancient chief of

the M'arraguTisets, and father
of Canonicus, 117.

Tassaquannawit, a JVarragan-
set, 159.

Tassucke, brother of Natta-
HANADA, 285.

Tatamomok sells lands in
Swanzey, 188 ; others near
Pokanoket, 199

;
(Atunka-

momake,) 199.

Tachiquochi, aCrecA chief, 369.

Tatoson, a noted fVampanoag
captain under Philip, 344 ;

takes a garrison at Plymouth,
245 ; surrenders to the Eng-
lish, and is beheaded, 246 ; in-

cidents in his history, 269.

Tattacommet, 249, 251 ;
(Tok-

amona,) 257.

Taunton, attack upon by King
Philip, 223.

Tavoser, one of Philip's coun-
sellors, 203.

Taweraket, a noted Iroquois
chief, 47, 48.

Taylor, Capt., a Cherokee chief,

401.

Taylor, Capt., at Fort Recovery,
688.

Tavlor, Major J. S., his house
burnt, 490.

Taylor, Col. Zachary, fights the

Indians at Okeechobee, 483;
gen., 487 ; recommends blood-
hounds, 489 ; a col. in Black-
hawk's war, 656.

Taylor, Rebecca, a captive, 304.

Tea9Laegee, son of CoBif-

PLANTEH, 616.

Tecumseh, chief of the Shawa-
nees, exerts himself to drive

back the whites, 395 ; an early

expedition against the whites,

616; a speech to Gov. Harri-

son, 617 ; continued difficul-

ties with the whites, 620 ; de-
feats a body of troops under
Vanhorn, ^1 ; various traits

of character, 622 ; iocidenta
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nnd anecdotes of, 623 ; de-

feated at the River Thames,
and killed, 620.

1 EEYEBNEHoaAEow,vi9it3 Eng-
land, 510.

Telfair, Gov., and Gen. M'Gil-
LI VRAY, 386.

Temple, Lieut., in the Florida

war, 471.

Tensau, settlement of, de-

stroyed, 395.

Tewksbury, (fPamesit,) a town
of Praying Indians, 179.

Teyohinhokebawen, (Nor-
ton,) visit to England, 627

;

at the capture of JViagara, 628.

Thacher, Anthony, of Plym-
outh, 86.

Thacher, Dr. James, of Plym-
outh, 585.

Tharp, Capt., killed in Harmer's
defeat, 687.

'J'hebe, (Peebe,) killed in

Philip's war, 900, 210, 272.

Theopompus, supposed to refer

to America, 19.

Thomas, Capt., cast awav in

Florida, 487.

Thomas, John, dies above 100

years old, 113.

Thomas, J., escapes from Dade's
massacre, 416.

Thomas, Lt., at battle of Lake
Monroe, 479, 488.

Thomas, of JVasheba, 182.

Thomas, of JVemasket, 194.

Thomas, a Tarratine, of JVegus-

set, 284.

Thompson, Col., killed in Flor-

ida, 421, 462, 483.

Thompson, Gen., Indian agent,

464.

Thompson, J. W. B., extraordi-

nary escape of, 471.

Thompson, Rev. Mr., of Brain
tree, chaplain in the JVarra-

ganset war, 147.

Thompson, John, missionary to

Cherokees, 454.

Thompson, William, mission-
ary to Cherokees, 454.

Thorowgood, T., on origin of
Indians, 24, 269.

Thornton, Mr., and Teyonik-
HAKERAWEN, 627.

Threlkeld, Ensign, killed in

Harmer's defeat, 687.

Throgmorton, J., family of,

murdered, 133.

Tift, Joshua, executed as a trai

tor, 219.

Tiger-tail, a noted Florida
chief, 489, 494.

Tilden, Joseph, buys land of
Indians, 109.

Tilly, John, murdered by the

Pequots, 169.

Tilton, Lieut., [Jacob,] his de.-i-

perate combat and extraordi-

nary escape from three Tar-
ratines, 310.

Timpoochie-Barncel, (Bar
NARD,) 398.

Tippecano, battle of, 620.

Tippin, (T.ippan?) Lieut., kill:

a chief, S94.

TiSPAqUIN, (Wataspe^oin,)
193, 196- 244.

TiSClUANTL'M, (SqUAKTO,) G9,

70.

TiTUBA, accused of witchcraft,

302, 303.

Tobacco-eatbr, a Muscogee,
640.

'Pobacco, act against disorderly
drinking of, 86 ) the first

62

known in England, carried

by Drake's mariners, 113
;

uppuwok, 346.

Tobias, 194 ; one of the sup-
posed murderers of Sassa-
MON, 135, 242.

Toby, (Nauhnocomwit,) 244.

TocKAMocK, a Wampanoag, 198.

Todd, Col., killed at the Blue
Licks, 684.

Tohatooner, (Nattahatta-
WANT3,) 181.

Tohapeka, bloody battle there,

391, 400.

ToKAMAHAMON, 3 Wampanoag,
78; faithful to the English,
89-—93; goes against Caunbi-
tant with Standish, 93.

ToKAMONA, sachem of Seconet,

204
;
goes with Philip to Ply-

mouth, to confirm a treaty,

204 ; killed by the J^arragan-
sets, 204.

Tokinosh, an Indian preacher,
182.

ToLONY, a husband of Awa-
sHONKS, 249, 251.

Tom, Capt., (Wattasacompo-
NOM,) 181, 277, 334, 697.

Tom, Capt., a mischievous
Tarratine, kills people at

Hampton, N. H.,307.
Tom Jemmy, (Soonangise,) 599.

Tomoka, John, taken prisoner,

481.

Tomochichi, sachem of Yama-
craw, 369 ;

goes to England
with Gen. Oglethorp, 370 ; his

speech to the king, 370 ; re-

turns to Carolina ; dies ; mon-
ument to his memory, 371.

ToMocoMo, counsellor to Pow-
hatan, who sends him to

England as a spy, 354 ; his

attempt to enumerate the

people, 355 ; marries a sister

of Pocahontas, 355.

Tompkins, Capt, in Florida
war, 474, 470.

Tompkins, D. D., Gov. of New
York, 666.

Tompson, John, of Barnstable,
242.

TooNAKOwi, goes to England,
369, 370.

ToquELMUT, a Tarratine chief,

306.

Torrey, J., buys land of Indi
ans, 109.

Torrey, William, clerk of Gen-
eral Court of Mass., 714.

Toskegee, defeats Lt. Powell,
484, 485 ; has a talk with Gen.
Jesup, 486 ; escapes, 488, 489,

Toxus, (Moxus,) 291, &c.
ToTOPOTOMoi, 217 ; chief of

Pamunky, and successor of
NiKOTowANCE ; killed in the

Rechakechrian war, 363.

ToTosoN, a spelling of Tato-
soN, which see.

Tour, Lord de la, 307.

Townsend, [P.,] treats with In
dians, 305.

Traditions, not to be relied

upon, 199, 130, 156, 365.

Traske, Joseph, (Baoesson,)
298.

Treaties ; with Massasoit, 86 ;

with nine chiefs, 94 ; with
the Massachusetts, 104, 105

;

JVVpmuJt.9, 106 ; Mohcgans and
JVarragansets, 124 ; JViantiks

and Jfarragansels, 134 ; with
Pessacus and others, 158, 159;

with the Pequots, 166 ; with

Miantunnomoh, Ibl) , with
Philip, 201 ; M'arroffon.iets

^

211 ; Tarraiines,^Q ; of Pent-

maquid, 293 ; of 1676, at Coche-
cho, 715 ; of 1703, 306, 309 ; of
1717, 320 ; of 1737, 337 ; of
1742, at Philadelphia, 514 ; of
1754, 336 ; with seven chiefs
in England, 368 ; of Paine's
Landing, 411, 463, 464; of
Fort Greenville, 577 ; of Fort
Harmer,607,613 ; with Black-
hawk, 643; of Indian Springs,
392 ; of Schermerhorn with
the Cherokees, 441, 442

;

Delawares and Pennsylvania,
514 ; William Penn and the
Indians, 517 ; at Portsmouth
with the E. Indians, 304 ,

with MuGo at Boston, 389;
with Madokawando at Ta-
connet, 288, 289 ; at Eaaton,
Pa., 525 ; of Miami, 592 ; of
Moscow, 616 ; of Detroit, 627

;

of Broken Arrow, 392.
Treat, Major, relieves Captain

Mosely, 216.

Trewsdale, Col., in Florida
war, 475, 476.

Trigg, Col., killed at the Blue
Licks, 684.

Trott, Rev. Mr., proceedings
against, 455.

Troup, Gov. G. M., his oppres-
sive conduct towards the Che-
rokees, 393, 394, 444, 446, 455.

Trueinan, iMajor, and others,
murdered, 559.

Trambull, H., bis Indian Wars,
129, 130.

Tuckabatches, 388 ; Tuckabatche,
391.

Tuckerman, Mr. E., on Indian
names, 115.

TucKPoo, (Watuckpoo,) 199,

245.

TuKAPEwiLLiN, a preacher, 114,
272.

TuMMADOKYOu, a Tamitine,
284.

Turner, Capt. Nathaniel, sent
against the Pequots with En-
dicott, 116, 168.

Turner, Ephraim, of Boeton,
135.

Turner, Capt., [William,] killed

in a desperate fight at the
falls above Deerfield, 259.

[He had a grandson (William
Turner) living in Swaniey in

1736.]
Turner, Humphrey, buys lands

of Indians, 109.

Tuscaroras, 16
;

join the Iro-

quois, 500.

TuSGUOOEN, (TiSPAQUIN,) 242.

Tuskihajo, a Seminole chief^

405.

Twenty Canoes, a SenooacbitC,
(06.

Twiggs, Col., 429 ; exploit in

Florida, 487, 490, 491, 649.

Tmightwies, 16 ; at war with
the Iroquois, 502.

Two Guns, a Seneca chief, 606.

Tyashq, one of Pmilip'i cap-
tains, 247.

V.

Ubry, Capt., killed in Va»
horn's defeat, 621.

Uchees, their country, 9, 1(5

Uchee Billt, woundM, 431
killed, 481.
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fJlJI«ASHUM,(\V00NASHUM,) 200.

Umpame, an Indian name of
Plymouth, 251.

Umptakisoke, a ffampanoag,
200.

Uncas, sachem of the Mohe-
gans ; his conduct to the JVar-

ragatisets, 123 ; the English
favor him, 126 ; his war with
Sequasson, 125 ; war with
iliANTUNNOMOH, 127 ; be-
sieged in his fort, 130 ; an
attempt to kill him, 134 ; com-
plains of witchcraft, 135

;

commits depredations upon
NiNiGRET, 138, 139 ; the Eng-
lish blind to his villanies, 141,

142 ; nmrders eight of his

neighbors, 147 ; outlived his

enemies ; his artifices in the
Pequot war, 150 ; his services
to the English, 150 ; wounded,
152; plots against Miantun-
NOMOH, 152 ; war with Pes-
sacus ; assisted by the Eng-
lish, 154 ; attacks a J^arra-
ganset sachem, 159 ; the Eng-
lish affect to try him, 160

;

they pronounce him guilty of
a " devilish falsehood," 160

;

forcibly takes another's wife,
160; another similar outrage,
161 ; makes war on Ousame-
quix, 162 ; English send a
force against him, 164 ; inci

dents, 169 ; a sorry Christian,
149 ; with the English in
Philip's war, 212

;
protests

against the introduction of
Christianity among his people,
177.

[jNCATAquissET, since Milton,
Mass., 116.

Underbill, Capt. John, assists

the Dutch against the Indi-
ans, 132 ; in the Pequot war,
168—170.

[JsDERwooD, a C/iickasaie chief,

killed, 687, 688.

Unkompoin, (Akkompoin,) un-
cle to Philip, 92 ; his chief
counsellor, 78 ; claims lands
in Swanzey, 80; executes a
treaty at Plymouth, 81 ; called

Woonkaponehunt, 83 ; and
VVoHKOMPAHENiTT,84; killed

near the close of Philip's war,
92, 224.

tJpham, T. C, his Poem on
Lovewell's Fight, 313, ^00.

Uppanippaquem, aJVipmiik, 268.

Vppowoc, Indian name of to-

bacco, 346.

Upsawa, an Abenaki, 298.
Uptegrove, Mr., and wife killed

in Florida, 474.

Uring, Capt., his voyage to iS\

England, 35.

UsKUTUHGUS, (ShOSHANIM,)
269.

[JsSAMEqUIN, (OwSAMEqUIN,)
81.

Uttamatomakin, (Tomocomo,)
354.

Uttsooweest, a ffampanoag
warrior, 245.

Uxbridge, {fi'aeantag.) Praying
Indian settlement, 179.

T.

Van Biiren, Martin, 443, 467.

Vane, Gov., Sir Henry, 168, 171.

Vaicn, Datid, a Cherokee sena-
tor. 455.

Vannes, Lt., wounded at Pt.

Pleasant, 540.

Vanhorn, Major, defeated by
Tecumseh, 621.

Vanswearingen, Capt., killed in

Florida, 483.

Vaudreuil, Gov., expedition
against N. England, 324.

Venegas, Father, on peopling
America, 23.

Verazzini, Capt., his voyage
and death, 68.

Vercheres, Capt., killed at Ha-
verhill, 324.

Vetch, Col., in the French war,
511.

Viall, John, complains against
the ^arragan/iets, 148.

Vincent, Gen., in the war of
1812, 628.

Vines, R., an early settler in

N. England, 81.

Vinton, flir., speech on the In-

dian Bill, 467.

Virginia, (
fVingandacoa,) first

settlement of, 354—364.

Vixon, Robert, a juror to trv

Indians, 196.

Volney, C. F., his travels among
the Indians, 573, 574.

Voltaire, M. de, on Indians, 21,

28, 517, 588.

Waban, a well-known Praying
JVipmuk ; his marriage, 113

called, in 1646, "a new sa-

chem," 117 ; his first reception

of Eliot, 176; his residence
and age, 178 ; settles at Na-
tick ; its chief governor or

civil officer, 179 ; specimen of

a writ issued by him, 180;

time of his death uncertain

180 ;
gives notice of the hos

tile designs of Philip, 195

Sagamore Sam's letter to, 968.

Wabinga, (^River Indians,) 281,

510.

Wabokieshiek, a Winnebago,
641—659.

Wacasa Swamp, fight there, 484.

fVacliuset, (Princeton,) 104, 110,

229, 274.

VVartsworth, Capt., defeat and
death of, 222, 223, 273, 698.

Wadsworth, John, of Plymouth,
196.

Wagctsoke, {Philip,') a Wain-
panoag, 188, 200, 268.

Waggoner, J., escape of from
Tecumseh, 616.

Wahgumacut, his visit to Bos-
ton, 113, 172.

Wahoo Swamp, bloody battles

there, 484.

Wahowah, (Hopehood,) 114,

313.

Waiandanse, a Long Island

chief, 127, l.'?8.

Waite, Serg. Richard, 139, 148,

268.

Waire, Col., in the Florida war,
476.

VVakelv, T.. himself and family
cut off, 287.

Wakely, Isaac, killed at Casco,

303.

Wakely, Daniel, killed at Casco,

700.

Walcut, called a "ruler" of
Ki.NG Philip, 195.

Waldron, Major R., 122, 281
;

murdered, 299 ; his treaty
with the Indians, 715.

Walker, .Major, a Cherokee
chief, 401.

Walker, Jas., of Plymouth, 205.

Walker, Serg., killed at the
fight in Lee, N. H., 335.

Walker, Capt., in the Florida
war, 473-477.

Walking purchase, in Pennsyl-
vania, 529.

Walk-in-the-water, 622, 626,
627.

Wallace, Wm , his family mur-
dered, 519.

Waller, the poet, extract from,
344.

Wallis, goodinan, killed at Cas-
co, 700.

Walpole, brave defence of, 339.

Walton, Col., his eastern expe-
dition, 304.

Walumbe, (Worombo,) 291,
297, 300, 306.

WiMBERquASKE, a Pequot, 173.

fVamesit, Indians cruelly burnt
there, 181.

Wampanoags, country of, 16, 82.

Wampapaquan, executed for

murder, 196.

Wampatuck, sachem of JVamas-
sakcset, sells Boston and coun-
try adjacent, 109,201 ; his son
sells Braintree, 106 ; some of
his tribe killed by Uncas,
144

;
goes against the Jilo-

liaicks, and is killed, 109.

Wampey, G., 109; "a sage In-
dian," 196.

fVampum, how valued, 135,250;
how manufactured, 229

;

" neither Jew nor Devil can
counterfeit," 229 ; significa-

tion of the word, 239.

Wamsutta, (Alexa.nder,)
which see.

Wanaduguneuent, a Tarra-
tine, 308.

WanaMatanamet, of Jlquid-

nek, (R. I.,) 124.

Wannalancet, sachem of Mer-
rimack, 181 ; made prisoner bv
the English, 279 ; friend of
them, 279; governor of Mass.
writes a letter to, 280 ; re-

stores English captives, 281
;

Mosely sent into his country
and commits depredations,
281 ; imprisoned for debt, 282;
sachem of Pennakook, 298

;

makes a treaty at Dover, 715.

Wanso, a ffampanoag, 194, 196,

199, 244.

Wanuho, a Jiloheo-an sachem,
149.

Wanungonet, a noted Tarra-
tine, 294.

VVapanseth, a Pottowattomic

649.

Wapella, a Sauk chief, at Bos-

ton, 674.

Ward, Capt., in battle of San
Felasco, 474.

Ward, Capt. James, killed ;it

Pt. Pleasant, 5-10.

Ward, N., his Simple Cobler el

.^gawam, 25.

Warham, John, first of the name
in N. England, 327.

War, the first proclaimed hv the
English in N. England^ 99;
land the chief cause of, with
Indians, 590 ; all wars barba-
rous, 590.

Warner, Capt. John, in Florida

war. 423.
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Warren, Col., in tlie Florida
war, 416—420, 473, 474.

WARRUNGUNT.a Penobscot chief,

Warwick, (jipponau^, Shaomet,)
troubles at, 124, 258.

Waucoshaushe, kid., 673, 674.
Washington, Gen., anecdote of
a medal of, 43 ; Indians visit
him at Cambridge, 340 • at
New York, 386 ; his embassy
to the French on the Oliio",
531—533; takes measures for .anusons accou

triber^^r^fi? V'
^^^tern WEHAr.ow.vow,T,

tribes, 559, 569 ; his services Swamscot, 284.under Braddock, 608, 609
; Weiser, Conrad

Ills answers to Cornplanter, 514, 515 679 '

h-.jJ^',^
k'ndness towards Welborne; Mr., messenger tohim, 614; monument, 664. M-arra.anset, 157^ ^ "

t'ne'aor^"'
'^ ""'"'* ?'--<^- Welford: MajJ.r, at battle ofline, juo.

Ouitldecooche, 423.

'^T"KtE"r9"9:''
''"'''"

"'^^-r'j'i'^'''
^'--^a, battle .here,

Webster, Hon. Daniel, on Flor-i WhitPhill cPn^ \r j- .

ida war, 426, 427, 439.
'^n"«n|».(Eng.,) Indian treaty

Wecopauhim, a »-««.?««<.«„-, White Hills, description of, 315

Weedman, Mr., killed near St 62o"
^'°'''' "" ^^"'''" ^^'^^'

DER, J87; complains against 427,428
""urt war,

l^^}^^f^K^^i^-hi^' Mr., his *.mi.y attacked,

189, 190
; drowned in 'J'aun-

ton River, 190 ; Mrs. Row-
landson's account of, 240.

sachem of

interpreter.

takiest, 99.

Washemet, a Tarratine chief,
285.

Watapacoson, a Mpmuk war
nor, 265.

»Vatafatahue, a Wampanoag,

Watombamet, a Tarratine, 306.
Watson, Capt., defeated at Bry-
ant's Ferry, 428.

A'atson, John, Indian messen-
ger, 265.

Watson, Major, in battle of
Oriskana, 581, 582.

Watson, Major, in the Florida
war, 474.

Wattanumon, a Tarratine, 308
309. '

'

Wattasacomponom, e.xecuted
181, 277. 713, 714.

'

Watts, John, a Creek warrior,
386.

Watukpoo, a fVampanoair, coun-
sellor to Philip, 199

,°

taken
prisoner, 24.'}.

WATUSPEIiUlN, (TiSPEqUIN,) a
great Wampanoag captain, and
sachem of Jissawomset, 193 :

becomes surety for other In-
dians, 196; sells lands jointly
with Philip, 200 ; other sales
242 : his depredations '

471.

Wells, Capt., massacred at Fort
Dearborn, 630.

Wells, Mr., killed at Cherry
Valley, 586.

Wells, {Webhannet,) attacked,
291.

Welsh Indians, 52, 64, 294, 627.
Wenamovet, an Menaki, 292,

Wenew, a JVarraganset war-
rior, 211.

WeowcHiM, a J\rarraganset, 211.
Wepiteamok, his son and 30

otliers killed, 144
; (Webata-

ML-K,) 148, 159, 166.
WEquASH, 131, 138, 159, 160

166, 169.
'

Weshakom Pond, many Indians

W'i'e, Nathaniel, a captive.

White, Peregrine, the first white
child born in N. England, 255.

White Thunder, an Iroquois
chief, 532.

"

Whitley, Lieut., in the Florida
war, 471.

Whitman, Vallentine, interpret-
er, 139.

^

Wickabaug Ponds,ambush there,

Wickford, {Cocumscussuc,)
troubles at, 220.

Wightman, Dr., at the battle of
OuUhlecooche, 423.

Wilberforce, W., assists in
translating Indian language,

Wilcox, Daniel, interpreter, 253.
WiLDBow, Sam, a JVarraganset,

2bl. '

Wildcat, (Coacoochee,) 479,
492; attack on some players
493

; bold exploit of, 494, 495.
Willard, J., his History of Lan-

caster, 265.
Willard, Major, II2

; sent
against Uncas, 283 ; relieves
Brookfield, 213; his house
burned, 221.I -1. . — ' ...i*«iv xiiuiaiis ournea yyi

killed there, 276; Sterling, Willet, Capt. 'Thomas, 190, 192,

Westbrook, Col., his expedition, Willet, Col. Marrinus, 386, 579
Westerly, R. I., (^.i«p...,) Williamson, Col., expedition of,

!^f"'y;/L^r'.!l' L^"'"^ P"t Weth;rsfield,

331.

Western antiquities, 55—64.
West, Francis, complains of

Philip, 210.
We3t, John, a Cherokee, 115.
Weston, Capt. Thomas, 79, 97.
West, Sir B., his "Finn's
Treaty," 517.

wJ|"hwa„ino, a J^arraganset, '"'biir'^ir 095
'"''''""'' "'^ """"''

WA^U.AM,Wife Of MlANT„N-|^ri^^^;^ %^-l^NOMOH, 125.

Wawnahton, a Yankton chief,
631.

Wayles, Robert, killed at Sud-
bury, 714.

Waymoiitli, Capt., voyage to
N. England, 69, 70, 697.

Wayne, Gen., his Indian names,
573

;
his western expedition'

576
; a hard fight with the

_south^rn Indians, 407.
Weatherkord, a great Creek

chief, 388 ; takes Fort Mimms,
389; surrenders himself to
Gen. Jackson, 389

; makes a
masterly speech to him, .^90.

Webatamuk, (Wepiteamok.)
148, 159, 166.

'

Webcowit, a JVipmuk powwow,
106.

Webb, Capt., on the Florida
stc^ition, 429. 1

Webb, Wm., about the Walkintr]
Purchase, 514 °

519, 521, 566.
Williamson, Hugh, on origin of

the Indians, 23.
Williamson, Peter, his Narra

tive, 678.
Williams, Col. E., killed at L
George, 535.

Williams, John, Narrative of
his captivity, 325.

Williams, J. L., his account of
Florida, 465.

Williams, Major, killed in Flor.
Ida, 472.

Wilhams, Roger, 81 ; kind to
Indians, 91 ; his account of
the JVarragansets, 119

; not
allowed to visit Boston, 125
interpreter, 157.

Willis, Comfort, of Bridgewater,

Wilson, Capt. Samuel, killed at
Point Pleasant, 540.

WiNCUMBONE, wife of MoffO-
notto, saves the lives of two
captive girls, 173

; of an Eng-
lishman, an enemy, 17^.

Winchester, Gen., his defeat
625. '

Winder, Capt., his exploit, 484.
n

I

\\ inder. Gen., taken prisoner,

606.

Whjg'^'er, Capt., badly wounded,

Wheeler, J. F., Cherokee printer
454. '

Wheelock, Dr. E., Indian labors
of, 183.

Wheelock, Lieut., dies in Flor
ida, 471.

Wheelwright, Rev. J,, his In
dian deed, 284.

Wheelwrighl's Pond, battle of,
3.i5.

Whitaker, Mr., wounded
Florida, 489.

Whitoheiist, Lt., in the Florida W.Ni^l': an early Virginia

y^^^^^^r^oHair'^'^'^^l "PP-- Tecum-
Ubeel, 397. ^ ""^ '^'''"

I

""'
^^%i

fought at Tippecanoe,
'

1 629 ; killed by Looak, 629.
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VViSNEPURKiTT. son of Nan.v-
PASHAMEf, 105 ; his marriage,
111 ; anecdote of, 278.

ff'innipisiuiree, (A'ipisipique,) 324.

Winslow, Edward, 83, 88, 89,

92, 95.

Winslow, Major, 191, 199
;

commands in the J^Tarraganset

tight, 219; wounded, 25.5.

Winslow, Nathaniel, of Plym-
outh, 196.

Winslow's Rock, Long Reach,
284.

Winstanly, W., his Worthies
of England, 113,437.

Winthrop, Gov. John, 91, 107,

126.

Winthrop, Gov. J., Jr., HO, 141,

160, 161, 172, 206.

Wirt, William, 439; his death,
440.

WiSPOKE, (WOOSPASUCK,) 210.

WiSSEMEMET, (NiTAME-MET,)
305, 312.

Wiswall, Capt., killed in Lee,
N. H., 335.

Withers, A. S., his Chronicles,
539, 540, 541, .545, 565.

Wittawash, a JVarraganset,
134, 159.

VViTTUWAMET, a H'ampaiwag
chief, 96; surprised and bar-

barously slain, 100.

Woburn, murders there, 263,
714.

WoHWA, (HoPEHOoD,) which
see.

Wolcott, Oliver, Indian com-
missioner, 607.

Wolcott, R., his Poem on Indi-
ans, 165, 171, 173.

WoLF-KisG, a Creek chief, 363.

Wolf, a Jloliegan, 380 ; a Shaw-
anee, 546.

WooHAQUAHAM, (Sag. John,)
son of Nanapashamet, 104

;

aids Canonicus in war, 106
;

his house burnt. 111.

Woodcock, a Wampanoag, 245.

Wood, Henry, of Middleboro',
242.

Wood, Joseph, of Pennsylvania,

Wood, W., his New England's
Prophet, 23, 112,290,291.

Woodward, T., a Cherokee, im-
prisoned, 455.

Woodstock, (Maanexit, Qitan-
tisset, IVubquisset,) 179.

Woody, R., complains of Pes-
3ACU3, 147.

WooNASHENAH, a fVampaiwaa;
245.

WOOMASHUM, (NiMROD,) 199
;

(MuNASHUM,) 200 ; makes a
treaty at Plymouth, 201 ; coun-
sellor to Philip, 203 ; makes
another treaty, 204 ; killed in

the fight on Rehoboth Plain,
212.

WoosPAsucK, a counsellor to

Philip, 203.

WoOTONEKANUSKE, wife of
Philip, 194 ; discovery of the
name, 197 ; sister to the wife
of auiNNAPiN, 239; (Tata-
MUMAqUE,) 199.

WoquACANOosE, a JVarragmtset,
145.

Worcester, Mr. S. A., impris-
oned, 454, 457.

Worley, Lieut., killed in Har-
mer's defeat, 687.

Wormwood, Lieut., killed, 582.

WoROMBo, a Tarratine, 291 ; his

residence, 297 ; his fort taken,
300 ; treaty with, 306.

Worthington, E., History of
Dedham, 108, 198.

WoTOKoM, a counsellor to Phil-
ip, 203.

Wrentham, (fVollomonopoag,)
purchase of, 198.

Wright, Capt., W., messenger
to Canonicus, 148.

WuTTACKquiAKOMiN, 3 Pcquot,
166.

Wyejah, a Cherokee, 375.

Wver, E., wrecked in Florida,

488.

Wyffin, R., his life saved by
Pocahontas, 356.

Wyllys, Major, killed in Har-
mer's defeat, 686.

Wyman, Seth, kills Paugus,315.
H'yoming, destiuction of, 271.

X.

Xavier, Francis, an MeiialA
chief, 333.

I

Yahanlakee, a Creek chief,

525.

Yaholoochie, (Little Cloud,)
417, 479.

YahyahtUstanage, (Great-
MORTAK,) 384.

Yamacraw, settlement tliere,

369.

Yamasees, country of, 16; th«
last of the race, 478.

Yamoyden, a Tale of ilie Wars
of King Philip, 170, 190.

Yankee, origin of the name,
39.

Yaioos, country of, 10 ; de-

stroyed, 365.

Yeardly, Sir George, Gov. of
Virginia, 360.

j

Yeates, J., on the Walking Pur-
I

chase, 529.

I Yeoman, Lieut., wounded, 423.

York, Me., (Agamcntacus,) de-

stroyed, 290, 292.

YOTASH, (YOTNESH, &C.) Se*
Otash.

Youngest-of-the-Thunder3,
639.

Young, Dr., his Revenge, 238.

YotJNG-KiNG, a Seneca chief,

606.

Younglove, Dr., his captivity,

579.

z.

Zeigler, Serg., his Florida fight,

493.

Zeisberger, David, missionary,

519, 555.

Zinzendorf, Count, a mission-

ary to the Delawares, 514.

INDEX TO APPENDIX.

Algonquins, The, 718.

Blackfeet Indians, 736.

Chinook, 761.

Chinook Jargon, 761.

Gamanche, 7.54.

Oahi-ok, 758.

Cayuse, 760.

Cherokees, 705.

Delawares, 705.

Eurok, 758.

Indian Languages, 748.
Kicapoos, 705.
Klamath, 7.59.

Kauraya,' 754.
Kootenai, 762.
Kolapuya, 760.
Language of the Western

Slope, 750.

Mutson, 755.

Meewoc, 756.

Meldoo, 756
Missouri lowas, 705.

Modocs and War, 707.

Nez Perces War, The, 714.

Nootka, 762.

Oniahas, 706.

Pottawataniies, 706.

Payute, 7.53.

Pyma, 754.

Porno, 757.

Pitt River, 759.

Santa Barbara, 754.

Sahaptin, 761.

Selish, 762.

Shasta, 759.

Sacs and Fo.xes, 706.

Shawnees, 706.

Sioux War, 706.

Shoshoni, 753.

Snake, 753.

Tolewa, 759.

Tinne Family, 760.

Ute War of 1879, 715.

Utah, 753.

Vocabularies, 76:!.

Winnebagoes, 706.

Wintom, 757.

Wishosk, 7.58.

Weltspek, 758.

Yanctounnais,
Yuma, 7.54

Yocut, 756.

Yuka, 757.

Yakoii, 760.

706,
















